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This book is dedicated to the Allied soldiers who liberated Belgium and Luxembourg a second time in the winter of 1944/1945, and all victims of the Ardennes Battle.
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GLOSSARY AND GUIDE TO ABBREVIATIONS

Ia, German operations officer.

Ic, German intelligence officer.

2nd Tactical Air Force, British tactical air corps, comprised of around 1,500 aircraft.

2nd TAF, abbreviation of 2nd Tactical Air Force.

3èmé Regiments de Chasseurs Parachutistes, French 3rd Paratroop Regiment.

4e Bataillon d’Infanterie de l’Air de l’Armee de l’Air, French 4th Airborne Battalion.

9th Air Force, U.S. tactical air corps comprised of around 2,000 aircraft.

IX Troop Carrier Command, U.S. airborne troop transport command on the Western Front.

A 4 (Aggregat 4), German ballistic flying bomb, also called V 2.

A-20 Havoc, U.S. twin-engine Douglas attack bomber.

A-26 Invader, U.S. twin-engine Douglas attack bomber.

Abteilung, battalion in German cavalry, armored troops, antitank troops, artillery and signal units.

Adlerhorst, (Eagle’s Nest), Hitler’s headquarters on the Western Front, in Schloss Ziegenberg near Bad Nauheim.

Air Chief Marshal, military rank in the Royal Air Force, the equivalence of the German Generaloberst.

Air Division, unit in the US Air Force, comprised of several Groups.

Air Vice Marshal, military rank in the Royal Air Force, the equivalence of the German Generalleutnant.

APCBC (Armour Piercing, Capped, Ballistic Capped), British armor-piercing shell.

APDS (Armour-piercing discarding sabot), British armorpiercing shell.

Ar 234, German twin-engine jet-propelled Arado bomber and reconnaissance aircraft.

Armé, military unit comprised of two or more corps.

Armee, army (German).

Armeegruppe, army group (German).

Armeekorps, army corps (German).

Armeeoberkommando, the headquarters of a German numbered army.

Armored Cavalry Squadron, the reconnaissance battalion of a U.S. armored division.

Armoured Brigade (British), usually comprised of three British Tank Regiments with an assigned strength of 49 tanks apiece.

Armoured Division, (British), in December 1944 with an assigned strength of 343 tanks.

Army group, military formation, comprised of two or more armies.

Artillerie, artillery (German).

Assault gun, armored tracked combat vehicle, tasked to support the infantry with a cannon firing explosive shells. The German StuG III was a combined assault gun and tank destroyer.

Aufklärungs-Abteilung, German reconnaissance battalion.

Ausf. (Ausführung), model (German).

B-17 Flying Fortress (Bomber-17), U.S. Boeing four-engine heavy bomber.
 
B-24 Liberator (Bomber-24), U.S. Consolidated four-engine heavy bomber.

B-26 Marauder (Bomber-26), U.S., Martin twin-engine medium bomber.

BArch, Bundesarchiv.

Bataillon, battalion (German).

Battalion, military unit, sub-unit to a brigade or a regiment, with an assigned strength of 860 men in both the German and the U.S. armed forces.

Bazooka, American anti-tank weapon.

Bf (Bayerische Flugzeugwerke), alternative designation of certain German Messerschmitt aircraft.

Bf 109, German Messerschmitt single-engine fighter.

Bletchley Park, the place outside of London where the British decrypted German Enigma coded messages,

Bomber Command, the strategic bomber force of the Royal Air Force.

Bomb Group, also Bombardment Group, U.S. air unit with an assigned strength of (regarding Heavy Bomb Group) 72 bombers, or) regarding Medium Bomb Groups or Light Bomb Groups) 96 bombers.

Bomb Squadron, U.S. aviation unit; three Bomb Squadrons formed a Bomb Group.

Brigade, (brigade) German military unit of varied size, between a company’s size and that of a half division.

C-47 (Carrier-47), U.S. Douglas twin-engine transport plane.

Cavalry Group, American mechanized and armored regiment.

Cavalry (Reconnaissance) Squadron, U.S. equivalence of an armored reconnaissance battalion.

CCA (Combat Command A), see Combat Command.

CCB (Combat Command B), see Combat Command.

CCR (Combat Command Reserve), see Combat Command.

CCS (Combined Chiefs of Staff) Allied top military command.

Chaffee M24, U.S. light tank.

Combat Command, a sub-unit of an American armored division, comprised of one tank battalion, an armored infantry battalion, an artillery battalion, and a platoon of antitank guns or tank destroyers.

Combat Command Reserve, see Combat Command.

Company, military unit, sub-unit to a battalion, with an assigned strength of around 200 men in both the German and the American armies.

Consumption unit (Verbrauchseinheit), German military term for in principle full fuel tank for all vehicles in a military unit.

Corps, military unit, comprised of two or more divisions.

Division, military unit, usually comprised of three regiments and support units with a total of between 10,000 and 20,000 men.

Fallschirmjäger, paratroopers (German).

FBB (Führer Begleit Brigade), (Leader-Escort-Brigade) German armored brigade.

Feldjägerkommando, (Field hunter command) German field gendarmes.

FGB (Führer Grenadier Brigade), (Leader-Grenadier Brigade) German armored brigade.

Field gun, field artillery piece able to fire at an angle of less than 45°.

Field howitzer, an artillery piece able to fire at an angle both larger and smaller than 45°.

Fieseler, German aircraft and rocket designer.

Fighter-bomber, fighter plane attacking target son the ground with automatic weapons, bombs or rocket-projectiles.

Fighter Group, U.S. aviation unit comprised of three Fighter Squadrons with a total of 111-126 fighters/fighter-bombers.

Fighter Squadron, see Fighter Group.

FK, (Feldkanone), field gun (German).

Flak (Fliegerabwehrkanone), antiaircraft gun (German).

Flak-Regiment 155 (W) (Flak-Regiment 155 Werfer), German regiment in charge of the launching of V 1 flying bombs.

Flieger-Division, (aviation division), German aviation unit comprised of several Geschwader.

Flight Lieutenant, military rank in the Royal Air Force, the equivalence of the German Hauptmann (captain).

Focke Wulf 190, German Focke-Wulf single-engine fighter.

Führer Begleit Brigade, see FBB.

Führer Grenadier Brigade, see FGB.

Fw, abbreviation of Focke Wulf.

General der Artillerie, German general in the artillery.

General der Infanterie, German general in the infantry.

General der Jagdflieger, a German position (not a military rank) as top responsible for the German fighter aviation.

General der Kampfflieger, a German position (not a military rank) as top responsible for the German bomber aviation.

General der Panzertruppen, German general in the armored forces.

Gepanzerte, armored (German).

G.I. Joe, slang for the ‘ordinary’ U.S. soldier.

Greif, (griffon) the codename of the German operation with German soldiers in U.S. uniforms behind Allied lines.

Grenadier-Regiment, see Volksgrenadier-Regiment.

Gruppe, (group) German aviation unit comprised of (in December 1944) four Staffel of each 16 aircraft plus a staff Schwarm of 4 aircraft in the fighter aviation and three Staffel of each 12 aircraft plus a staff Kette of 3 aircraft in the bomber aviation.

Halifax, British Handley-Page four-engine heavy bomber.

Half-track, vehicle that combines wheels and tracks.

Hanomag, German half-track Sonderkraftfahrzeug 251 armored troop carrier.

Heeres-Flak-Abteilung, army-antiaircraft battalion (German).

Heeresgruppe, army group (German).

Hellcat M18, American 76mm Gun Motor Carriage M18 tracked tank destroyer.

Herbstnebel, (autumn fog) the code name of the German Ardennes Offensive.

Hetzer, German Panzerjäger 38(t) tracked tank destroyer.

Intelligence officer, an officer in a military headquarters, responsible for intelligence information concerning the enemy.
 
Jabo (Jagdbomber), fighter-bomber (German).

Jackson M36, American 90mm Gun Motor Carriage M36 tracked tank destroyer.

Jagd-Division, (fighter division) German aviation unit comprised of a number of Geschwader, however smaller in size than a Luftflotte.

Jagdfliegerführer Mittelrhein, (fighter leader Mittelrhein) German commander of the fighter aviation in the Mittelrhein area.

Jagdgeschwader, (fighter wing) German fighter unit comprised of (in December 1944) four Gruppe of each 66 fighters and a staff Staffel of 16 fighters.

Jagdkorps, (fighter corps) German fighter aviation unit comprised of a number of Geschwader, however smaller in size than a Luftflotte.

Jagdpanther, German tracked tank destroyer.

Jagdpanzer, tracked tank destroyer (German).

Jagdpanzer IV, German tracked tank destroyer.

Jagdpanzer 38(t) Hetzer, German tracked tank destroyer.

JG (Jagdgeschwader), see Jagdgeschwader.

Ju, abbreviation of Junkers.

Junkers Ju 88, German Junkers twin-engine bomber or night-fighter.

Junkers Ju 188, German Junkers twin-engine bomber.

Kampfgeschwader, (fighting wing) German bomber unit comprised of in general three Gruppe of each 40 bombers plus a staff Staffel of 12 bombers.

Kampfgruppe, (fighting group) in the German ground forces an ad-hoc unit of a size between that of a regiment and that of a battalion; in the German bomber aviation, an aviation unit comprised of three Staffel of each 12 bombers plus a staff Kette of three bombers.

KG (Kampfgeschwader), see Kampfgeschwader.

Knights Cross, see Ritterkreuz.

Kompanie, company (German).

Korps, corps (German).

Kübelwagen, Volkswagen car, the German equivalence of the jeep.

KwK (Kampfwagen-Kanone), tank cannon (German).

Königstiger (Tiger II), German Panzerkampfwagen VI Tiger Ausf. B heavy tank.

Lancaster, British Avro four-engine heavy bomber.

Lehrgeschwader, (training wing) in practice (December 1944) a German bomber wing, synonymous with a Kampfgeschwader.

LFH 18/40 (leichte Feldhaubitze 18/40), German light field howitzer.

L-4 Grasshopper, American Piper single-engine artillery observation aircraft.

Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler, (Life Guard Adolf Hitler) the name of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division.

Lightning, American Lockheed P-38 twin-engine fighter/ fighter bomber.

Long Tom, U.S. 155mm field gun M1.

Luftflotte, (air fleet) the largest German aviation grouping, comprised of two or more Korps or Division.

Luftflotte Reich, (Reich Air Fleet), the German Air Force’s command organization for the air defense of the homeland.

Luftwaffe, (air arms) the German Air Force.

Luftwaffen-Feld-Division, (aviation-field division) ground unit formed from personnel of the German Air Fore.

Luftwaffenkommando West, the German Air Force’s command organization in the West.
 
M4 Sherman, U.S. medium tank.

M5 Stuart, U.S. light tank.

M8, U.S. armored car.

M10, U.S. 3-inch Gun Motor Carriage M10 tracked tank destroyer.

M18 Hellcat, U.S. 76mm Gun Motor Carriage (GMC) M18 tracked tank destroyer.

M20, U.S. armored car.

M24 Chaffee, U.S. light tank.

M36 Jackson, U.S. 90mm Gun Motor Carriage M36 tracked tank destroyer.

Marauder, U.S. Martin B-26 twin-engine medium bomber.

Marschbataillon, (march battalion) German replacement battalion.

Me 262, see Messerschmitt 262.

Mechanized, mechanized infantry is infantry equipped with armored fighting vehicles.

Messerschmitt Me 262, German Messerschmitt twin-engine jet-propelled fighter and fighter-bomber.

MG 42 (Maschinengewehr 42), German machine gun.

Mortar, simple infantry support weapon able to fire grenades at an angle of above 45°.

Mosquito, British de Havilland twin-engine bomber, reconnaissance aircraft and night fighter.

Mustang, U.S. North American P-51 single-engine fighter.

Nachtjagdgeschwader, (night fighter wing) German night fighter unit comprised of two to four Gruppe with 40 night fighters apiece.

Nachtrichten-, German signals (-unit).

Nebelwerfer, (fog launcher) German rocket artillery.

Night Fighter Squadron, U.S. night fighter aviation unit comprised of 18 night fighters.

NJG, (Nachtjagdgeschwader), see Nachtjagdgeschwader.

Null-Tag, (Zero-Day), German code for the attack day in the Ardennes Offensive.

Oberbefehlshaber West, (supreme commander west) German supreme commander on the Western Front.

Oberleutnant zur See, military rank in the German Navy, the equivalence of the Army’s Oberleutnant.

OB West, abbreviation of Oberbefehlshaber West.

OKW (Oberkommando der Wehrmacht), (Armed Forces High Command) the German Armed Forces High Command.

Operations officer, a staff officer responsible for the planning of a certain unit’s military operations and trainings, as well as the development of tactics.

P (Pursuit), U.S. designation for fighter aircraft.

P-38 Lightning, U.S. Lockheed twin-engine fighter/fighter-bomber.

P-47 Thunderbolt, U.S. Republic single-engine fighter/ fighter-bomber.

P-51 Mustang, U.S. North American engine fighter.

P-61 Black Widow, U.S. Northrop twin-engine night fighter.

PaK (Panzerabwehr-Kanone), antitank gun (German).

Panther, German Panzerkampwagen V medium tank.

Panzer IV, German Panzerkampwagen IV medium tank.
 
Panzer IV/70, the development of the German tracked tank destroyer Jagdpanzer IV.

Panzerarmee, tank army (German).

Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment, (armored artillery regiment) the artillery regiment of a German armored division.

Panzer-Aufklarungs-Abteilung, armored reconnaissance battalion (German).

Panzer Brigade, armored brigade (German).

Panzer-Division, armored division (German).

Panzerfaust, (armored fist) German hand-held antitank weapon.

Panzer-Füsilier, (armor-rifle) German armored reconnaissance troop.

Panzer Grenadier, German mechanized infantry.

Panzer-Grenadier-Division, German division comprised of mechanized infantry and often also tanks.

Panzerjäger-Abteilung, antitank battalion (German).

Panzerkorps, armored corps (German).

Panzer Lehr, (armor-training) the designation if the German armored division 130. Panzer-Lehr-Division.

Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon, the engineer battalion of the German armored units.

Panzer-Regiment, armored regiment (German).

Panzerschreck, (armor horror) German Raketenpanzerbüchse 54 antitank weapon.

Pionier-Bataillon, German engineer battalion.

PIR, abbreviation of Parachute Infantry Regiment.

Platoon, military unit, sub-unit to a company. A German infantry company comprised of three platoons, the American infantry company of four platoons. The assigned strength of a platoon was 48-50 men in the German infantry and 41 men in the American infantry.

POZIT (abbreviation of Proximity Fuse), a fuse that detonates an explosive device automatically when the distance to the target becomes smaller than a predetermined value, used for air burst shells in the U.S. artillery.

Quad Fifty, U.S. weapon, four parallel mounted 12.7mm M51 .50-Cal. anti-aircraft machine guns.

RAF (Royal Air Force), see Royal Air Force.

RCT (Regimental Combat Team), se Regimental Combat Team.

Regiment, military unit, sub-unit to a division, with an assigned strength of around 3,000 men in both the German and the U.S. armies in December 1944.

Regimental Combat Team, an American infantry regiment reinforces with, e.g., a tank battalion.

Ritterkreuz, (Knight’s Cross) the German highest award for valor in combat during World War II. The Knight’s Cross had three additions: with oak leaves (Ritterkreuz mit Eichenlaub), with oak leaves and swords (Ritterkreuz mit Eichenlaub und Schwertern), and with oak leaves, swords and diamonds (Ritterkreuz mit Eichenlaub, Schwertern und Brillanten).

Royal Air Force, British Air Force.

Red Army, (krasnaya armiya) the Soviet Army in WW II.

SAS (Special Air Service), British special forces during WW II.

Schlachtgeschwader, (strike wing) German ground-attack aviation wing.
 
Schwere Panzer-Abteilung, heavy tank battalion (German).

Schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung, heavy tank destroyer battalion (German).

Sd.Kfz. (Sonderkraftfahrzeug), se Sonderkraftfahrzeug.

sFH 18, (schwere Feldhaubitze 18) German heavy field howitzer.

SHAEF (Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force) see Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force.

Sherman, U.S. M4 medium tank.

Silver Star, the third highest U.S. award for valor in combat.

Spitfire, British Vickers Supermarine single-engine fighter.

Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force, the headquarters for the supreme commander of the Allied forces in Western Europe, General Eisenhower.

Sonderkraftfahrzeug, (special vehicle) designation of German armored vehicles.

SS (Schutzstaffel), (defense group) the German Nazi Party’s paramilitary and also purely military force.

SS-Reichsführer, (SS Reich leader) the title of the leader of the SS, Heinrich Himmler.

Staffel, (squadron) the German aviation’s squadron, with a strength of 12-16 aircraft.

Stalag (Stammlager), German POW camp.

StG 44 (Sturmgewehr 44), see Sturmgewehr 44.

Stuart, U.S. M5 light tank.

StuG III (Sturmgeschütz III), see Sturmgeschütz III.

StuK, (Sturmkanone), see Sturmkanone.

Sturmgeschütz III, German tracked assault gun.

Sturmgeschütz-Brigade, assault gun brigade (German).

Sturmgewehr 44, (assault rifle 44) German automatic carbine.

Sturmkanone, the gun of a German assault gun.

Sturm-Zug, the advance platoon of a German infantry or paratroop battalion.

TAC (Tactical Air Command), see Tactical Air Command.

Tactical Air Command, the command of the tactical air support of a certain U.S. numbered army. Each Tactical Air Command of the U.S. 9th Air Force in December 1944 was comprised of four to six Fighter Groups and a Squadron each of reconnaissance aircraft (24 aircraft) and night fighters (18 aircraft).

Tank destroyer, most commonly the designation of a tracked armored vehicle with the purpose of destroying the enemy’s tanks with an anti-tank gun. However, in the U.S. Army, a tank destroyer battalion was comprised of either 36 towed antitank guns or 36 tracked (self-propelled) tank destroyers.

Thunderbolt, U.S. Republic P-47 single-engine fighter/ fighter-bomber.

Tiger I, German Panzerkampfwagen VI heavy tank.

Tiger II, German Panzerkampfwagen VI Ausf. B Königstiger heavy tank.

Time on Target, an American artillery firing method where the firing was calculated so that all fired shells hit the target at the same time.

TOT (Time on Target), see Time on Target.

Troop, the approximate equivalence of a company in the U.S. (mechanized) Cavalry.

Troop Carrier Group, U.S. troop transport aviation unit, comprised of 80-110 troop transport aircraft.

Troop Carrier squadron, U.S. troop transport aviation unit; each Troop Carrier Group comprised of Troop Carrier Squadrons.

Troop Carrier Wing, U.S. troop transport aviation unit, comprised of two to five Troop Carrier Groups.

TUSA Third U.S. Army.

Typhoon, British Hawker single-engine fighter-bomber.

Ultra, code of the British decrypting of the German Enigma-coded messages.

USAAF, United States Army Air Force.

V 1 (Vergeltungswaffe 1), (Vengeance Weapon 1) German Fieseler 103 rocket-propelled flying bomb.

V 2 (Vergeltungswaffe 2), (Vengeance Weapon 2) German ballistic bomb, also designed as A 4.

V 3 (Vergeltungswaffe 3), (Vengeance Weapon 3) German (extremely) long-range artillery piece.

Volksartilleriekorps, (People’s Artillery Corps) German artillery corps.

Volksgrenadier-Division, (People’s Grenadier Division) designation from the fall of 1944 of German infantry divisions.

Volksgrenadier-Regiment, (People’s Grenadier Regiment) designation from the fall of 1944 of German infantry regiments.

Volkswerfer Brigade, (People’s Launcher Brigade) designation from the fall of 1944 of German rocket-artillery brigade

Wacht am Rhein, (Rhine guard) the code-name of the German plan for the Ardennes Offensive, later changed into ’Herbstnebel.’

Waffen-SS, (Arms-SS) the purely military forces of the German SS.

Wehrmacht, (Defense Force) the German Armed Forces.

Wehrmachtbefehlshaber Niederlande, (Armed Forces Commander Netherlands) the supreme commander of the German armed forces in the occupied Netherlands.

Wehrmachtsbericht, (Defense forces report) the German Armed Forces’ daily news broadcast.

West Wall, line of fortifications along Germany’s western border.

Wing, American Wing: a U.S. aviation unit comprised of two or more Groups; two wings usually formed a U.S. Air Force Division. British Wing: the equivalence of the U.S. Air Force’s Group. Here also used as a designation of a Luftwaffe Geschwader.

z.b.V. (zur besonderen Verwendung), for special purpose (German).

Zug, German platoon.
 




MILITARY RANKS DURING WORLD WAR II—AN APPROXIMATE COMPARISON

[image: images]

* Only one man held this the highest rank, the Luftwaffe commander Hermann Göring.
 
In addition, the U.S. Army had so-called technical specialist ranks, with the following equivalences: 
First Sergeant – Master Sergeant 
Technical Sergeant – (no equivalence) 
Technician Third Grade (T/3) – Staff Sergeant 
Technician Fourth Grade (T/4) – Sergeant 
Technician Fifth Grade (T/5) – Corporal





HEADING FOR THE MEUSE

On the evening of 22 December 1944, the advance force of German 2. Panzer-Division paused in the small Belgian village of Hargimont. The palace yard of the partly dilapidated medieval castle Château de Jemeppe, just at the end of the hurst leading down to Hargimont from the east, was filled with German combat vehicles. Similarly, in the narrow village streets, in the fields and in groves around the village—everywhere German combat vehicles of all kinds were parked, nearly one thousand in total. It was like an exhibition of the German Army’s vehicle park at the end of World War II: Half-track Hanomag armored personnel carriers, eight-wheel Puma armored cars, big 11-and 18-ton Sonderkraftfahrzeug 7 and 9 towing vehicles, four-wheel-driven 4.5 ton MAN 4500 trucks, slightly smaller Opel Blitz trucks, Maultier half-track trucks, small Volkswagen Schwimmwagen amphibious cars, various anti-aircraft vehicles, several motorcycle types, captured U.S. vehicles of all kinds, and an abundance of civilian vehicles. On the hills that surrounded the village, Panther and Panzer IV tanks and Sturmgeschütz III assault guns were strategically placed. Inside the dark village, German sentinels, shivering in the freezing December night, sauntered about between parked vehicles. Others manned positions just outside the village, and some of the least fortunate were out on patrol missions in the surroundings. Several others lay asleep in the forcibly requisitioned houses, where many were so exhausted that they did not even wake up to the bangs from the German artillery that sporadically shelled the town of Marche, a couple of miles to the northeast.

Major Ernst von Cochenhausen, the commander of the German advance force, waited for the sunrise when he would resume the advance in what was expected to be the final leg to—and across—River Meuse. Forty-four-year-old von Cochenhausen was a veteran who had participated in the German seizure of the Czech Sudeten area in 1938. He had been wounded already on the fourth day of the war against Poland in 1939, but returned to first-line service and commanded a motorcycle battalion on the Eastern Front. After completion of the regimental commander training, he was in December 1944 transferred to the 2. Panzer-Division, where he became deputy commander of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 304. In this position he led the combat group that was named after himself, Kampfgruppe Cochenhausen. Along with the armored reconnaissance battalion, this constituted the 2. Panzer-Division’s advance force.

On the crest of the hill above Château de Jemeppe, American military vehicles that had been knocked out by German fire a couple of hours ago, were still smouldering. These belonged to a combined task force from two American divisions—the 84th Infantry and 3rd Armored—that was routed on the evening of 22 December, after which the Germans could take Hargimont. This was but the latest of a series of successful engagements between the 2. Panzer-Division and various American forces since the Ardennes Offensive had begun one week earlier.

From their perspective, the men of the 2. Panzer-Division had all the reason to feel proud of the division’s accomplishments in the war. The division had been founded already in 1935, when Hitler reintroduced military conscription and began the reconstruction of the German Armed Forces. The first commander of the division was no one less than Heinz Guderian, the father and founder of the new German Armored Force. The 2. Panzer-Division participated in the march into Austria (Anschluss) in March 1938, and the occupation of the Czech Sudeten area following the Munich agreement in September that same year. In World War II, the 2. Panzer-Division fought with great success on almost all theaters of war—Poland in 1939, the West in 1940, the Balkans in 1941, the Eastern Front 1941 to 1944, and finally the Western Front, including Normandy, in 1944.

The 2. Panzer-Division reached the zenith of its career on 20 May 1940, during the Blitzkrieg in the West, when it became the first German unit to reach the English Channel. Thus, a whole Allied army group was caught in a huge ’sack’ in the north. This settled the fate of France. One month later, France, Germany’s old arch enemy, had to surrender under humiliating circumstances. However, the question the men of the 2. Panzer-Division could ask themselves there in that little Belgian village called Hargimont on the cold night of 22 December 1944, was whether they were not actually on the verge of superceding even the accomplishments of 1940.

During the week that had passed since the opening of the German Ardennes Offensive on 16 December 1944, the 2. Panzer-Division had advanced about sixty miles on miserable country lanes and muddy fields, subduing any resistance which the mighty U.S. Army had confronted them with. ‘Enemy morale seems strongly shaken,’ the divisional commander, Oberst Meinrad von Lauchert, wrote in a report which he compiled on the evening of 22 December 1944. Von Lauchert continued:

‘Since our fight at Noville we have encountered only weak resistance that was easily overcome—except south of Marche today.’

This was the result of a whole series of utterly devastating defeats dealt by the 2. Panzer-Division to its American opponent.

It all started in the wee hours of the night of 1516 December 1944, as specially selected assault troops from the division silently paddled across the German border river Our, and under the cover of darkness and fog crept past the American positions in the mountains on the other side. Meanwhile, tens of thousands of other German troops from fifteen other divisions advanced in the same silent way to assume attack positions along the Ardennes Front. The attack caught the unprepared Americans completely by surprise. Soon the panzer division’s armor was able to cross a hastily completed bridge, and at the small village of Marnach, three miles into Luxembourg, the 2. Panzer-Division smashed the first armored force that the Americans put up against them.
 
The 2. Panzer-Division’s next task was to secure the crossing of River Clerve at Clervaux, seven miles from the point of departure. This was achieved on the second day of the offensive, in a tank battle in which the Americans lost sixty and the 2. Panzer-Division not more than four tanks. The regiment from the U.S. 28th Infantry Division that tried to stop the Germans here, was completely annihilated, and the regimental commander, Colonel Hurley Fuller, was among the large number of Americans who were taken as prisoners.

In the space of forty-eight hours, the victorious and confident American Army on the Western Front had been thrown completely out of the way, and its demoralized soldiers fled headlong to the west, pursued by German armored columns that seemed to be absolutely invincible. Among the most advanced German troops was Meinrad von Lauchert’s panzer division.

On the third day of the offensive, U.S. 9th Armored Division brought forward its reserve force in an attempt to halt the 2. Panzer-Division. The ensuing combat ended with the American force being almost completely obliterated. Leaving the hulks of forty-five burning Sherman tanks behind, what remained of the American armored unit withdrew. Among those that were killed, was the commander of U.S. 2nd Tank Battalion. That evening, the 2. Panzer-Division stood four miles to the west of its point of departure, and so far it had suffered no more than marginal losses of its own.

The Americans now brought a third division—the 10th Armored from Patton’s Third Army—against the 2. Panzer-Division’s southern flank. But during two days of violent tank battles, even this American division had to see its tanks getting knocked out in the dozens. The final, decisive battle took place at Noville, a small community northeast of Bastogne. When the 2. Panzer-Division stood victorious in Noville, having mowed down another task force of U.S. 10th Armored Division, it might well have been able to capture the strategic town of Bastogne through an attack from the north. But the German commanders had other plans for von Lauchert’s division: It was to form the spearhead of the lightning offensive that sought to establish a bridgehead across River Meuse, forty miles further to the west. The German report of 20 December 1944 stated, ’The enemy is fleeing towards the west.’

What seemed to be a final American attempt to stem the German advance was made at Hargimont in the afternoon on 22 December. It ended with American 3rd Armored Division and 84th Infantry Division having to retreat.
 
By now German 2. Panzer-Division not only appeared to be completely invincible; on its left flank stood German Panzer Division Lehr, led by the renowned Generalleutnant Fritz Bayerlein. To the right stood German 116. Panzer-Division, the famous ’Windhund’ Division, which just like the 2. Panzer-Division had surged forward like a steamroller, crushing any American resistance in its way. This armored division also had advanced sixty miles in less than a week. A bit further to the east, two more panzer divisions had marched up—the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich,’ and the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’—along with an infantry division. When the offensive was initiated, these German forces had a combined strength of over four hundred operational tanks, of which nearly two-thirds were of the model Panzerkampfwagen V Panther—far superior to anything the Western Allies could muster in the shape of tanks.

At the sunrise which von Cochenhausen waited for in Hargimont, the 2. Panzer-Division would take the shortest route across the fields on the frozen plateau towards the bridge over the Meuse at Dinant. Indeed, the distance that had to be covered to reach this place was twenty-five miles, but there was nothing but quite weak Allied forces between Hargimont and Dinant, so the Germans could expect to reach their goal during the next day, 23 December. Quite confident, the divisional commander von Lauchert reported to the Corps headquarters on the evening of 22 December 1944:

’We will continue our advance with our main force. […] We will occupy the zone Celles, Conjoux and prepare to cross the Meuse at Anseremme [just south of Dinant].’

Through its rapid crossing of River Meuse at the French city of Sedan in May 1940, the 2. Panzer-Division had played a crucial role in the blighting of the Allied defensive strategy in the West in 1940. This opened the way for the rapid advance to the English Channel, where the British Expeditionary Force was driven out to sea at Dunkirk. Now, four and a half years later, it looked as though the division was about to repeat a similar feat. If only this armored division crossed the Meuse, it would probably force the Allies to a general retreat behind the river; otherwise its units would run the risk of getting cut off. This in turn could lead to a situation where the two German armored armies in the Ardennes Offensive—the 5. Panzerarmee and the 6. SS-Panzerarmee—would succeed in their aim to reach the port of Antwerp. Thus, the whole British-Canadian 21 Army Group, including U.S. First and Ninth armies, would be cut off in the north. In view of the prevailing circumstances, such a German victory would eclipse even the great victory in the West in May and June 1940.

At Dinant on the evening of 22 December 1944, British 3rd Royal Tank Regiment was instructed to prepare a withdrawal to Saint-Gérard, three miles west of the Meuse. The road really seemed to lay open to the German panzers. How was it possible that such a situation could happen at all—in the sixth year of the war, half a year after the successful Allied landing in Normandy, and the following liberation of France? That was a question asked by a whole world.
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German Panther tanks pass through a small village during the offensive in the winter of 1944/1945. The German attack in the Ardennes came totally unexpected to the Allies. (BArch, Bild 183-1985-0104-500/Dr Paul Wolff)
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CHAPTER 1

THE ROAD TO THE ARDENNES OFFENSIVE: TOWARDS THE ABYSS

"If we continue to advance at the same pace as that of recent weeks we should be in Berlin on 28 September." General John Kennedy, Assistant Chief of the Imperial General Staff in London, 6 September 1944.1

The rain was pouring down as the Soviet assault companies left their positions and hurried forward between the German positions. Supported by tracked tank destroyers they hurled themselves over the German enemy. One German position after another was fought down.

It was late afternoon on Thursday 22 June 1944. Operation ’Bagration,’ the Red Army’s greatest offensive ever—the greatest Allied offensive during World War II—had just commenced, and the Germans were completely unaware of this! The fighting continued throughout the night, when Soviet units specialized in night fighting were deployed. Meanwhile, around one thousand Soviet aircraft came buzzing in over the German lines. Since Belorussian partisans already had completed the task of knocking out much of the German rail lines, the aircrews could focus on German artillery positions and strongpoints in the defense.2 However, to the headquarters of German Army Group Center, Heeresgruppe Mitte—one of the most powerful army groups of the entire German Army, the one which had withstood attacks of the Red Army longer than any other force—it appeared to be nothing but an expansion of the deep armed reconnaissance thrusts that had been carried out by the Red Army during the recent months. According to the textbook, a major attack was initiated by artillery and large tank concentrations, but here was only a rather limited artillery fire, mainly infantry with self-propelled guns, and only quite few medium tanks.

At five in the morning on 23 June, General Ivan Bagramyan, the commander of Soviet 1st Baltic Front, ordered his artillery to open fire. But what followed was not a general, massive fire all along the line, but rather a shelling of selected points where infantry thrusts had been halted in front of German points of resistance. Not even when the Soviets despatched more powerful armored units—including two regiments equipped with the new heavy Josef Stalin 2 tanks—into the gaps that the infantry had opened in the German lines, did the German High Command fully understand what was actually developing.

North and south of the Belorussian city of Vitebsk, less than one hundred miles southeast of the Latvian border, German 3. Panzerarmee was locked into a desperate battle. Wherever the Germans managed to halt their opponent, Soviet ground-attack aircraft or bombers dropped out of the clouds to wipe out the German positions. During the course of 23 June, Soviet 1st and 3rd Air armies carried out nearly seventeen hundred individual combat sorties in the Vitebsk section alone. The German Air Force remained almost invisible—the local Luftwaffe commander still was of the opinion that this was nothing but a Soviet diversion attack.’3

The Soviet preparations for the offensive had been so skillfully masked that the Germans knew nothing of the huge concentration of forces that had been made against Army Group Center: 1.67 million men with 4,000 tanks and assault guns, plus 24,000 artillery pieces and mortars.

Only on the third day of the Soviet offensive, 24 June, did it dawn on the German High Command that the Red Army in fact had launched a major attack aiming at nothing less than the destruction of Heeresgruppe Mitte.4 But by then it was too late. The armored forces of the 1st Baltic and 3rd Belorussian fronts already had achieved deep incursions. At Vitebsk, 38,000 men from German 3. Panzerarmee were surrounded. Farther to the south, at Bobruysk, a major part of German 9. Armee was enveloped.

From the initial hour, the Soviet Air Force controlled the skies, and air attacks played a crucial role to the rapid collapse of Heeresgruppe Mitte. On 2 July, the Red Army’s pincers closed around 105,000 troops of German 4. Armee at the Belorussian capital Minsk. A couple of days later, the 4. Armee’s last resistance had been completely broken. Sixty thousand men marched into Soviet captivity. At this stage, Heeresgruppe Mitte had lost 350,000 of the 490,000 soldiers which had stood at its disposal only a fortnight earlier. During the following weeks, another 100,000 men would be added to the German army group’s loss list.

Following the Battle of Kursk in the summer of 1943, the Germans had been pushed back bit by bit by the Red Army, but with the exception of the breakdown on the Crimean Peninsula in the spring of 1944, this had taken place with mainly coherent German front lines. Until Operation ’Bagration,’ the hope had remained that somewhere it would be possible to ’lock’ the Red Army along powerful defensive lines on the Eastern front. The collapse of Heeresgruppe Mitte during the first days of July 1944 gave the German High Command the painful realization that the war against the Soviet Union inevitably was lost.

On 13 July, the Soviet offensive expanded as Marshal Ivan Konyev’s 1st Ukrainian Front attacked German Heeresgruppe Nordukraine in northwestern Ukraine. Here too, the Soviet air supremacy played a decisive role to the outcome of the ground battle. Due to the air support, Konyev’s troops succeeded in surrounding and annihilating a large German force at Brody. By 29 June, the 1st Ukrainian Front had inflicted 198,000 casualties on Heeresgruppe Nordukraine, against its own losses of 37,400 men. While Konyev’s forces pushed the Germans out of the Ukraine and severed the connection between Heeresgruppe Nordukraine and Heeresgruppe Mitte, the battered remnants of the latter German army group fled more or less in panic towards the west. By the end of July, the Red Army had reached the Gulf of Riga, thus cutting off yet another German army group—Heeresgruppe Nord—in Estonia and northern Latvia, while Soviet 1st Ukrainian Front was closing in on Warsaw.
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German paratroopers in Normandy in the summer of 1944. At this time, Germany was under heavy pressure on all fronts and it was rather obvious that the war was lost, which also was reflected in the morale of the troops on both the Eastern and the Western fronts. However, this insight on the German side would not last throughout the year. (BArch, Bild 101I-586-2225-11A/Slickers)





Only a rapid deployment of strong German reinforcements—including some that had been brought from Normandy, where the Germans and the Western Allies were locked into positional warfare following the landings on 6 June—could halt the Red Army, just to the east of Warsaw. The connection with Heeresgruppe Nord barely could be reestablished.

These Soviet breakthroughs were the climax of the serious crisis which the Germans had been hurled into after the first days after the Allied invasion of Normandy in northwestern France as it stood clear that the British-American bridgehead could not be eliminated. The heavy artillery of the Allied warships which controlled the area around the landing beaches, the massive Allied air superiority—against around 10,000 Allied fighters and bombers stood an average of slightly more than one thousand German aircraft on the Western Front—as well as the increasing numerical superiority of the Allied ground forces, made it clear beyond doubt that it merely was a question of time before the Germans would have lost their control over France. Throughout July 1944, the German commanders expected a major Allied breakthrough any day.5 By the third week of July, the relation of forces at Normandy was about the same as at Operation ’Bagration’—around 1.5 million Allied troops faced 380,000 men on the German side.6

On 20 July 1944, a group of conspirators struck against Hitler in a final desperate attempt to save a hopeless situation. The result is well-known—the plot failed, and the powerful grip which the Nazi dictator already held on the German Armed Forces was even further strengthened.

On 24 July, the Americans despatched 350 heavy bombers against the German positions at the southwestern corner of the Allied bridgehead in Normandy, where the cornerstone of the German defense consisted of the armored division Panzer Lehr under Generalleutnant Fritz Bayerlein. This bombing cost Panzer Lehr a loss of 350 men and ten armored vehicles, but this was not more than the Germans could take. Bayerlein, who assumed that this was the prelude to yet another American attempt to break through, despatched his reserves. These had barely occupied their forward positions when the Americans on the following day unleashed a new massive aerial assault. This began at 0938 hrs, when fighter-bombers from eight fighter groups from U.S. 9th Air Force struck the German positions along a four-mile wide front. This continued for nineteen minutes, and then no less than fifteen hundred heavy bombers of U.S. 8th Air Force lumbered in and dropped three thousand tons of bombs over the same area. These aircraft had barely disappeared before another seven fighter groups of the 9th Air Force appeared and started to bomb and machine gun the totally devastated German positions. This was in turn followed by a fifty-minute bombardment by five hundred and eighty medium bombers.

These three hours of air attacks had, in the words of Bayerlein, a totally ’exterminating morale effect on the troops,’ who in several cases ’surrendered, deserted to the enemy or escaped to the rear, as far as they survived the bombing.’7 Others ’got crazy or paralyzed and were unable to carry out anything.’8 After the end of the war Bayerlein admitted that ’for me, who during this war was in every theater committed at the points of the main efforts, this was the worst I ever saw.’9
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U.S. soldiers, supported by M10 tank destroyers, advance in the vicinity of Avranches in France in August 1944. (The Paul Warp Collection)





With Panzer Lehr ’totally exterminated’ and other German units—like the 116. Panzer-Division—prevented by Allied fighter-bombers from intervening in the battle, the American ground forces finally managed to achieve the operational breakthrough which they had sought for two months. On 30-31 July, the German positions at Avranches crumbled.

Next day, the American units in Normandy were lifted out of the Allied 21 Army Group, which under command of the British General Bernard Montgomery until then had had the unified command of all Allied ground forces in Normandy. Certainly, General Montgomery continued to hold the position as supreme commander of the Allied ground forces in France for another couple of weeks, but now the 12th Army Group was formed under the command of the previous C.O. of U.S. First Army, Lieutenant General Omar Bradley, with the task of directing the operations of the two American armies: First Army, which now was placed under command of Lieutenant General Courtney Hodges, and the new Third Army, which was formed from units brought from First Army. Lieutenant General George S. Patton was appointed to command the Third Army.

The Allied main force—812,000 American soldiers with 2,450 tanks and tank destroyers—was positioned on the western flank.10 The Germans, who had concentrated 645 of their slightly more than 800 tanks at Normandy against British 2nd Army and Canadian 1st Army on the eastern flank, had no chance against Patton’s armored forces once these had started their advance towards the south.11 Displaying a brilliant organizational ability, Patton managed to bring seven U.S. division across a single bridge at Avranches in only 72 hours.12

According to plans, a new tactical air command was formed within the U.S. 9th Air Force, XIX Tactical Air Command under Major General Otto P. Weyland, assigned with the task of providing the Third Army with close air support.13 XIX Tactical Air Command would develop a new American close air support tactic—the Armored Column Cover method, according to which an air controller with direct radio communication with airborne aircraft was assigned to the leading column of the advancing armored units, while fighter-bombers simultaneously were in the air above, ready to strike down on anything the forward air controller would direct them onto.

Patton’s Third Army spread out fan-shaped towards the west, the south, and the southeast from the gap at Avranches, and carried out a lightning offensive while Weyland’s airmen covered its flanks. In reality, Major General Middleton’s VIII Corps of the Third Army hardly encountered any resistance. The ’sweep’ through Britanny in the West was made in an area mainly evacuated by the Germans, where villages and towns had been taken over by the French resistance.14 The remnants of the four German divisions in this area hastily withdrew in order to establish strong defenses of the Atlantic ports of Brest, Lorient, and Saint-Nazaire.
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A formation of American Douglas A-20 attack bombers from the 9th Air Force heading for France to support the battle at Normandy. Allied aircraft played a decisive role on the Western Front in 1944. (US Army)





Neither were the Germans able to offer any effective resistance against Patton’s advance towards the southeast, and on 8 August, Le Mans, ninety miles south of the German positions at Caen on the eastern flank at Normandy, was liberated. Thus, Heeresgruppe B, the German army group in Normandy, was threatened to become cut off west of River Seine. Generalfeldmarschall Günther von Kluge, who on 2 July had succeeded Generalfeldmarschall Gerd von Rundstedt as this army group’s commander, suggested a retreat from Normandy to a new defensive line from the Seine’s mouth into the English Channel and further southeast to the Franco-Swiss border.

But Hitler instead ordered a counter-attack against Avranches with the aim of cutting off Patton’s army in the south. Such a counter-attack might have had a chance to succeed, had it not been for the Allied air supremacy. To von Kluge and his generals, it was absolutely clear that the whole operation was doomed beforehand, but in the climate of fear which dominated in the wave of terror that had followed on the failed 20 July Plot, hardly anyone dared to oppose.

Most German commanders agree that what halted the German counter-attack was the Allied aviation. ’They came in hundreds, firing their rockets at the concentrated tanks and vehicles. We could do nothing against them and we could make no further progress,’ wrote the commander of the 2. Panzer-Division, Generalleutnant Heinrich von Luttwitz.15 Next, the Allies attacked from both the north and the south in order to capture the entire Heeresgruppe B in a ‘sack’ at Falaise south of Caen. In the middle of this dramatic battle—on 17 August—Hitler fired von Kluge and brought in Generalfeldmarschall Walter Model as his succeessor.*

When Model arrived in France, 100,000 German troops were trapped in the so-called ’Falaise pocket.’ Their only very narrow line of escape to the east was subject to relentless air attacks; one of the Allied pilots reported the whole area to be burning. 16 However, as one among only a few senior German commanders by this time, Model enjoyed the Führer’s unreserved confidence. He had just arrived from the Eastern Front, where he had contributed to the halting of the great Soviet offensive. Hence, he could allow himself to order his troops to evacuate the Falaise pocket.
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German Jagdpanther tank destroyers from schwere Panzer Jäger-Abteilung 654 pass through a French village during the fighting on the Western Front in the summer of 1944. With its 88mm PaK 43/3 L/71 anti-tank gun, the Jagdpanther was a feared weapon that could knock out Allied tanks at a distance of up to two miles. Although the German panzer force was significantly superior to their opponents’ tanks, the battle was decided to the latter’s advantage through the Anglo-American air superiority. (BArch, Bild 101I-301-1951-06/Kurth)





Even though German tanks were able to prevent the Allied ground forces from closing the ’sack,’ the evacuation was made extremely difficult due to the massive Allied air attacks. Around 50,000 men managed to escape to the east, but the bulk of their heavy equipment was abandoned in the Falaise area—chiefly as a result of the assault from the air.* The entire German strategy in France—which until this stage had consisted of the ambition to drive the Allies back into the sea—now fell apart completely. On 15 August, an Allied force under Lieutenant General Alexander Patch landed in southern France, where it was able to establish a bridgehead without encountering any serious difficulties. Hitler was left with no choice. On 16 August he ordered Armeegruppe G, which until then had held positions in southwestern France, to perform a rapid withdrawal towards the northeast.17 This coincided with Model’s evacuation of the Falaise pocket, which descended into a precipitous retreat from France when Patton’s Third Army on 20 August crossed the Seine south of Paris.

On the same day, 20 August, the Red Army opened its next great offensive on the Eastern Front—this time against Rumania, Hitler’s faithful ally for four years. In spite of fairly equal relations of strength—1.3 million Soviet troops were launched against 900,000 men on the Axis side —the German-Rumanian defenses rapidly disintegrated. Here too, this was to a great extent the result of the Soviet onslaught from the air.18 The new German 6. Armee—which had been assigned with the same number as the army that had been annihilated at Stalingrad in January 1943—was, just as its predecessor, surrounded by Soviet forces; the only major difference was that in this latter case, destruction came quicker. By early September 1944, even this second 6. Armee had ceased to exist. The losses amounted to 200,000 German troops, among whom 115,000 ended up in Soviet captivity. Thus Germany had lost a disastrous 1.27 million soldiers—900,000 of them on the Eastern Front—in just three months.19

The news of the loss of the Rumanian oil fields —which had been responsible for the bulk of Germany’s supply of crude oil—barely had reached Hitler, when two of Germany’s former allies abandoned the Nazi dictator. From Rumania, the Red Army continued into Bulgaria, which on 8 September declared war on Germany. Only four days earlier, Finland—subject to a heavy pressure through the Soviet offensive that had begun in June 1944—had signed an armistice with the Soviet Union. This was a serious blow to the German strategy on the Eastern Front, which had rested on the Finnish ability to tie down considerable Soviet forces. These now could be shifted to the front against Germany itself.

In fact, there was only one war theatre—the Italian front—where the German lines did not completely collapse during the summer of 1944. Here, in spite of a marked numerical superiority, the Allies failed to achieve anything but relatively limited territorial gains through the major offensive that was launched on 25 August. Hence, the Germans could bring forces from the Italian Front to more endangered combat zones. Military historian John Ellis is pitiless in his judgement of the Allied military command in Italy:

’Almost all the Allied generals made a poor showing, displaying a conspicuous lack of either tactical or strategic flair. Often enough they could not even agree between themselves as to what should be done. The whole Italian campaign was badly vitiated from the start by profound American and British disagreements.’20 The Germans of course did not fail to observe these circumstances, and based on this, they drew several vital conclusions. As a matter of fact, the situation in this regard was not much better on the Western Front, where the Allies failed to fully exploit the profitable situation immediately after the German evacuation across the Seine. Generalfeldmarschall Model, serving both as the commander of Heeresgruppe B at Normandy, and as the supreme commander on the Western Front (OB West), summarized Heeresgruppe B’s situation on 29 August: The army group’s eleven infantry division could muster a combined force of not more than the equivalence of the assigned strength of four divisions, disregarding the fact that they had lost almost all their heavy equipment. The eleven panzer and panzer grenadier divisions mustered on average between five and ten tanks apiece.21 Considering these circumstances, Model told Hitler that there was no other option but to retreat back to Germany as fast as possible.

British military historian Basil H. Liddell Hart concludes that the war fairly easily could have been ended in September 1944.22 With nearly three thousand tanks, a million and a half troops, and fourteen thousand aircraft at their disposal, the Allies theoretically had the possibility to annihilate the last remnants of the German Armed Forces in the West in the fall of 1944—but in this, they failed utterly.

The fact that the German Armed Forces in the West not only survived, but also were able to stabilize the Western Front during the first half of September 1944, was—not without reason—described by the German propaganda as a ‘miracle.’ By mid-September 1944, the Allied armies had chiefly become locked into positional warfare along a line that extended across the Netherlands from the sea and to the east, along the (present) German borders with Belgium and Luxembourg, and finally running almost straight to the south along River Moselle.*

The explanation for this abrupt reversal may in no small part be sought in the German High Command. Of course, Hitler was far from the ‘Greatest Military Commander of all Time,’ which one of his henchmen once had called him—for instance, the German disaster at Falaise was caused by Hitler’s misguided attack order—but among his generals were to be found some of the most skillful military commanders of World War II. One of them was Generalfeldmarschall Walter Model, who previously had saved many a desperate situation on the Eastern Front. In January 1942, when the Red Army came close to routing German 9. Armee west of Moscow, Model’s personal interference turned the whole situation. German military historian Paul Carell (Paul Karl Schmidt) wrote:

’Model appeared everywhere. […] He suddenly bolted out of a staff Kübelwagen in front of a battalion command post, he came galloping on a horse through the deep snow in the first line, incited the troops, gave words of praise or criticism, and even, waving his pistol, he led a battalion in a counter-attack against the enemy’s breakthrough-force. This highly energetic general was everywhere. And where he was not present for the moment, everyone felt his spirit.’23

With the bulk of their vehicles abandoned on the western side of River Seine, pursued by masses of Allied tanks, and subject to incessant attacks from the air, the German withdrawal on the Western Front in late August 1944 rapidly degenerated into chaos and panic. In this pandemonium, the fighting spirits collapsed. A few lines jotted down by a German soldier during these days are indicative of the prevailing mood, ’I won’t stay with them very long. I really don’t know what we are still fighting for. Very soon I shall run over to the Tommies if I am not killed before I get there.’24

In the German retreat columns, gallows humor spread the slogan heim ins Reich—back to the Reich, i.e. back to Germany.* The Allied Combined Chiefs of Staff Joint Intelligence Committee in Washington concluded that the German armies would collapse one by one, and that it was ’improbable that any organized resistance under the German High Command could continue beyond 1 December 1944 … it might even end earlier.’25

Without any doubt, when this assessment was made, it rested on solid grounds—however, two factors had not been taken into due consideration: the errors made by the Allied Supreme Command, and the German High Command’s ability to turn a difficult situation. Model carefully selected trusted staff officers and despatched them to the front. In cooperation with military police and field gendarms—the special army force whose main task was to maintain military order by e.g. tracking down deserters—these fought panic among the troops, rounded up dispersed units, and tucked individuals or groups of fleeing soldiers into newly formed front units.

In the meantime, a virtually completely new line of defense was built along the German western border, stretching from the Swiss border in the south to Roermond near the Dutch city of Maastricht in the north. Although the construction of this so-called West Wall—known to the Allies as the ’Siegfried Line’—had begun already in 1936, it still had not been complete when the German armies launched their Blitzkrieg in the West in May 1940. Because of the rapid German victory over France, this defense line fell into decay during the following years, and when the West Wall now again, in late summer of 1944, was needed, it was anything but sufficient. The anti-tank obstacles—the so-called ’dragon’s teeth’—were too small to be able to stop the tanks of 1944, the pillboxes were too thin to withstand the modern air bombs and too small to harbour the larger anti-tank guns which were in use in 1944.26 However, on 20 August 1944 Hitler ordered a strengthening of the West Wall through a ‘people’s posse,’ and before long 211,000 workers had been mobilized for this purpose.27

At the same time, about a hundred garrisons and fortress battalions in the rear area, as well as training regiments and officer cadet schools, were converted into first-line units. The badly mauled Luftwaffe, and the Navy—whose large surface ships mainly lay inactive in port—were instructed to despatch all ‘dispensable men.’ These were grouped into new kinds of infantry divisions—‘people’s grenadier divisions.’* The designation  Volksgrenadier-Division  was connected with the German-nationalist/ Nazi concept  völkisch,  which in essence meant a kind of mythologizing of the German people. The inspirer of this was SS Leader Heinrich Himmler, who had been appointed to command the so-called Replacement Army after its former commander, General Friedrich Fromm, had been arrested for having been acquainted with the 20 July plot against Hitler without interfering against it.*

The idea was that these ‘people’s grenadier divisions’ would become a new kind of units, even more loyal to the Führer and with no ties to what was perceived as old and conservative values within the German Army. The Volksgrenadier divisions nevertheless were subordinated to the regular German Armed Forces, Wehrmacht, and were formed around a nucleous of experienced veterans from a division which previously had been practically obliterated. Quite often a volksgrenadier division was numbered according to the old infantry division out of which remnants it was formed. For instance, the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division was formed around a nucleous of surviving veterans from the 26. Infanterie-Division, which had been largely annihilated on the Eastern Front. What was new with these volksgrenadier divisions mainly was that they had been reduced to six battalions apiece instead of nine, which previously had been the standard in German infantry division—giving them an assigned strength of around 10,000 troops instead of 17,000.

Apart from these units, the Luftwaffe had six new paratroop regiments with a total of twenty thousand men at its disposal. To these were added ten thousand men from various air units, and these were despatched to the front as the First Paratroop Army—1. Fallschirmarmee—under General Kurt Student.

On the same day as the 1. Fallschirmarmee was formed, 4 September 1944, sixty-eight-year-old veteran Generalfeldmarschall Gerd von Rundstedt returned to the Western Front to reassume the position of Oberbefehlshaber West (OB West). Two months earlier, Hitler had discharged him from this post, but when the Nazi leader now realized his mistake, von Rundstedt willingly heeded to the call. Thus, Model was able to concentrate fully on the command of the army group Heeresgruppe B.

Overall, however, the German defense in the West in September 1944 was quite fragile. On 10 September, von Rundstedt reported that it would take another five to six weeks of intensive work before the West Wall would be able to withstand a serious attack by a modern military force.28 The fact that the 1. Fallschirmarmee was named an army, although it mustered no more than 30,000 men—the equivalence of a normal army corps—illustrates the situation quite well. In mid-September, Heeresgruppe B was composed of no more than twelve divisions with altogether only eighty-four operational tanks and tank destroyers to defend of a 250-mile-wide front sector—against which Montgomery and his American support units employed over a million troops and 1,700 tanks.29 Most of the German units left much to be desired. Thus, for instance, due to the general lack of available reserve forces, the still incomplete West Wall was manned by second-class soldiers, men who under normal circumstances were given an exemption warrant. These were divided into so-called Magen-Bataillon  (Stomach Batallions) and Ohren Bataillon  (Ear Batallions); the former were constituted of men with chronic stomache diseases and who received special rations, while the latter were constituted of men with severe hearing defects, given tasks adopted to their handicaps. Thereby, another 70 to 80,000 men could be mobilized for the defense of Germany’s western borders.30 That such a weak force was able to halt the Allied offensive is highly remarkable.

The single most important reason why the British and Americans failed to fully exploit their numerical superiority on the Western Front in the fall of 1944, was supply difficulties. Until September 1944, the forces landed in Normandy only had a single shipping port at their disposal, Cherbourg. Furthermore, there was a severe shortage of transport means on land, this due to several factors, of which the most important was that the rail networks in northern France still lay in shambles after the Allied bombings in the past spring and summer. But on top of that, the Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF) under General Dwight D. Eisenhower had failed to bring ashore more than one hundred and sixty truck companies, even though the U.S. Transportation Corps had advised that at least fifty percent more would be needed.31 Moreover, fourteen hundred British three-ton trucks broke down in France as a result of faulty pistons.32

In this situation, the supplies to the front ought to have been concentrated on fuel. This would have enabled the motorized units to pursue, envelop and annihilate the withdrawing German armies. But nothing of the kind happened. Instead, the Allies wasted much of their relatively limited transport capacity to replenish their stocks of ammunition, which was fairly superfluous since their enemy by this time—late August and early September 1944—was in a state of disintegration.*

In addition, just like in Italy, the Allied warfare on the Western Front was impaired by rivalry and jealousy between British and the American commanders. While Eisenhower was the Supreme Commander, the Englishman Montgomery—the victor at el-Alamein—commanded the ground forces in Normandy. However, as we have previously seen, in connection with the breakthrough at Avranches, the U.S. forces were removed from Montgomery’s 21 Army group to form the all-American 12th Army Group under Lieutenant General Bradley. Montgomery would remain in command of all Allied ground forces in northern France for another while, but through the creation of the 12th Army Group, the chain of command became vague.

In Montgomery’s opinion, the difficult supply situation made it impossible to carry out a powerful offensive all along the front line. On 17 August 1944, he introduced Bradley to what he called his ’reversed Schlieffen Plan.’ According to this, the two Allied army groups would be held together in a ’solid mass’ of forty divisions which would advance towards the northeast, from the Paris area and across River Seine. The main thrust would be made by 21 Army Group against Pas de Calais and western Flanders in order to secure the port of Antwerp and southern Netherlands. The American 12th Army Group was to form the eastern flank and advance towards the Ardennes and the German cities of Aachen and Cologne. Lieutenant General Patch’s U.S. Seventh Army, which had landed in southern France during Operation ’Dragoon,’ was supposed to advance in a northerly direction towards Nancy in eastern France and the German Saar area, but Montgomery’s and Bradley’s army groups were not supposed to stretch out to the right to reach connection with Patch’s forces, since this would cause ‘an imbalance in the strategy.’ Montgomery’s plan was mainly aimed at establishing ‘a powerful air force in Belgium, to secure bridgeheads over the Rhine before the winter began, and to seize the Ruhr quickly.’33

Although Bradley initially seemed to agree with Montgomery, the tensions between Americans and Britons soon grew stronger. ’From that time onwards,’ Montgomery wrote after the war, ‘there were always “feelings” between the British and American forces till the war ended. Patton’s remarks from time to time did not help. When stopped by Bradley at Argentan he said: “Let me go on to Falaise and we’ll drive the British back into the sea for another Dunkirk”’34 Bradley, on the other hand, wrote in his memoirs about what he called the ‘skirmishing’ which ‘continued through several major showdowns and did not end until the spring of 1945 when Eisenhower finally turned me loose at Remagen for encirclement of the Ruhr.’35 This conflict continued, and to some extent continues even today in the two countries’ respective historiography.

On 20 August, Eisenhower convened a staff meeting in Normandy where it was decided that the command system would be changed on 1 September, so that Eisenhower also would assume command of the ground forces. This would reduce Montgomery’s command to only the British-Canadian 21 Army Group. Furthermore, it was decided that the American 12th Army Group, quite contrary to what Montgomery had suggested, was to advance towards Metz in eastern France, and the German Saar area, in order to link up with the ‘Dragoon’ forces. Montgomery protested vehemently when these decisions were presented to him at his advanced command post that same evening.

On 23 August, Montgomery flew to Bradley’s command post to discuss the matters, and found that his American colleague had changed opinion regarding the plan which had been decided upon at Eisenhower’s staff meeting three days previously. Montgomery then went immediately to Eisenhower’s command post, and told the supreme commander that ‘if he adopted a broad front strategy, with the whole line advancing and everyone fighting all the time, the advance would inevitably peter out, the Germans would be given time to recover, and the war would go on all through the winter and well into 1945.’36

Montgomery also opposed the idea that the supreme commander would ‘descend’ to the battlefield to assume command of the ground troops. ‘The supreme commander,’ Montgomery said, ‘must sit on a very lofty perch in order to be able to take a detached view of the whole intricate problem—which involves land, sea, air, civil control, political problems, etc. Someone must run the land battle for him.’37 This has sometimes been interpreted as a personal power greed on behalf of Montgomery, but he in fact declared that he most willingly would serve under Bradley if it was decided to make him the commander of ground operations. The meeting on 23 August resulted in what could best be described as a compromise. Eisenhower agreed to make Hodges’ U.S. First Army available to Montgomery’s planned concentrated attack towards the northeast, but refused to accept the proposal to halt Patton, whose Third Army was advancing on the Allied southern (right) flank, thus stretching the supply lines both to the south and the east. ’The American public opinion would never stand for it; and public opinions win wars,’ said Eisenhower—to which Montgomery replied, ’Victories win wars. Give people victory and they won’t care who won it.’38 

Nevertheless, during a couple of days, the flow of supplies to Patton’s army was reduced to two thousand tons per day, while U.S. First Army, which constituted the southern flank of Montgomery’s advance, received five thousand tons a day.39 As a result, fuel shortage halted Patton’s armor at the French city of Verdun on 31 August—following a lightning advance of 140 miles in just ten days, from River Seine south of Paris, without encountering any noteworthy resistance. Since Patch’s Seventh Army still remained far down in southern France, this enabled the bulk of German Armeegruppe G to slip through from southwestern France, in order to establish defensive positions in Lorraine in northeastern France just in time to counter Patton’s resumed offensive.

In the meantime, the British-Canadian army group and U.S. First Army surged forward in the north, also without encountering much resistance. On 3 September, the news was cabled out that the Belgian capital Brussels had been liberated. But while this took place, German 15. Armee, which Montgomery’s 21 Army Group simply had bypassed in the Calais area in the west, escaped fairly mildly. There hardly is any justification for the British neglect on 4 September, when Antwerp was seized, to block the evacuation routes farther to the west. Instead, these remained open for the Germans, who thus not only were able to evacuate 82,000 troops and 580 artillery pieces of their 15. Armee, but also had the opportunity to establish powerful garrisons on both sides of the Scheldt Estuary, and in several French Channel ports—which served to prolong the Allied supply problems.40

During these weeks in September 1944, which could have decided the outcome of the war, the Allies were left with only three ports for all supplies arriving from the British Isles—Cherbourg, Dieppe and Ostende. Cherbourg, far distant in western France, had been taken already before the breakthrough at Avranches. Dieppe was occupied by 1st Canadian Army on 1 September, but the road from that place and to the front lines was between 250 and 300 miles.
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Two U.S. soldiers, Private First Class Lawrence Hoyle (left) and Private Andrew Fachak from the 357th Infantry Regiment, 90th Infantry Division, holds positions near Maizeres Les Metz in France. In September 1944, the Allied offensive on the Western Front had largely stalled. Hoyles holds a Browning Automatic Rifle (BAR). This was capable of both semi-automatic and fully automatic fire, but the magazine held only 20 rounds of ammunition.(NARA, SC 196133/ W. J. Tomko)





The small Belgian fishing community of Ostende, which was captured by the Canadians on 8 September, indeed was located closer to the front, but its port had a very limited capacity. Access to the great international port of Antwerp was, as we have seen, blocked by the German troops who held the Scheldt Estuary. The French Channel ports of Boulogne, Calais, and Dunkirk in the Pas de Calais area were firmly held by German garrisons who had managed to fortify themselves while Montgomery’s forces had just passed by. It would cost the British and Canadians bitter fighting before Boulogne (on 22 September) and Calais (on 30 September) could be captured. In the meantime, the Germans were able to destroy the port installations and block the harbor entrances with sunken ships. Not until the middle of October could the port of Boulogne be taken into use, and the port of Calais was opened to traffic only in November 1944. Neither could the port of Antwerp be taken into service until the Germans, following heavy fighting, had been forced to abandon their positions at the Scheldt Estuary after the first week of November. In Dunkirk, a German force of 10,000 men held out until the end of the war.

The errors committed by the Allied supreme command, as well as the faulties displayed by its troops, was carefully noted by the Germans. These were also quite aware of the growing tension between British and Americans, not least through media in the UK and the USA. To his dismay, Eisenhower found that the modified chain of command, in which he himself succeeded Montgomery as the commander of the Allied ground operations, was received with ’great resentment’ in the British press, which asserted that Montygomery had been pushed aside because of his successes. At the same time, the American press exulted over the fact that the U.S. forces, as they saw it, had gained ’a truly independent basis.’41 (To compensate Montgomery, he was promoted to field marshal on 1 September, the same day as Eisenhower assumed command of ground operations.)

On 2 September, when the British troops reached the Franco-Belgian border southeast of Lille, Bradley and Patton met Eisenhower in an attempt to make him change the priorities at the front. ’My men can eat their belts, but my tanks gotta have gas,’ Patton lamented. Eisenhower agreed to detail one of the army corps of Hodges’ First Army, V Corps, to Patton’s attack towards the east. Two days later, Eisenhower swung completely in favor of Bradley: He now granted Patton’s eastbound advance towards the Saar area a share of the supply that was equal to that of Hodges’ First Army. With the supply lines of both Allied army groups already overstretched, this new decision resulted in Montgomery’s forces being unable to advance for three whole days—which in turn gave Model time to organize his Heeresgruppe B against Montgomery’s 21 Army Group.

Meanwhile, Patton’s Third Army banged its head against the German fortifications around the French city of Metz. Here, at the old Franco-German border (between 1871 and 1919) along River Moselle (Mosel), the so-called ’Mosel Line,’ over forty miles wide, had been constructed by the Germans before World War One. When Patton now resumed his offensive, German Armeegruppe G—which on 11 September was re-organized into Heeresgruppe G—had had time to evacuate 130,000 troops from southwestern France, and these now confronted Patton’s forces in the fortifications of the ’Mosel Line.’ Moreover, two fullstrength German divisions, the 3. and 15. Panzergrenadier divisions, had been released from the Italian Front, and these played a crucial role in the checking of Patton’s attack at Metz.

The Germans were completely astonished at the American approach on the battlefield. Generaloberst Johannes Blaskowitz, C.O. of Armeegruppe G, is not gentle in his review of Patton’s decision to launch a headlong attack straight into the fortifications at Metz: ’A direct attack on Metz was unnecessary … In contrast, a swerve northward in the direction of Luxembourg and Bitburg would have met with greater success and would have caused our 1st Army’s right flank to collapse, followed by the breakdown of our 7th Army.’42 The famous military strategist Liddell Hart remarked laconically, ’Patton’s Third Army began to cross the Moselle as early as 5 September, yet was little farther forward two weeks later—or, indeed two months later.’43

Hodges’ U.S. First Army was no more successful as it in the meantime crossed the German western border further to the north. Its V Corps penetrated into Germany on 12 September and crossed the Our River just north of Luxembourg’s northern border. This sector was defended by German I. SS-Panzerkorps, which on 7 September reported a field strength of not more than 800 troops and one (1) single tank along a frontline of over forty miles.44 Its troops did not even suffice to occupy all the pillboxes of the West Wall in this sector, and in each manned pillbox there were just two or three soldiers, armed with rifles, occasionally a single machine gun or a Panzerfaust.

Although the Americans captured the first line of fortifications in this part of the West Wall, the Germans —to their own astonishment—soon managed to halt the offensive. On one occasion, barely eighty German soldiers, supported by two armored personnel carriers equipped with flame throwers, made a counter-attack which caused panic among the American ranks. The intrercepted radio call from the affected American unit—part of U.S. 28th Infantry Division—revealed quite a lot about the state of the American troops to the Germans: ’King Sugar to anybody! King Sugar to anybody! Help! We are having a counterattack—tanks, infantry, flame throwers!’45

Military historian Peter Elstob wrote, ’After two days of fighting the tired 28th Division’s soldiers had only succeeded in forcing two small breaches through the West Wall. When the Germans counter-attacked, the exhaustion of the long pursuit took its toll and the men who had formerly fought bravely and well fell back in panic before fairly light attacks.’46 While Brigadier General Norman D. Cota, the American divisional commander, had the commander of the 109th Infantry Regiment dismissed for the shortcomings, the Germans carefully analyzed the American setback—and thereby paid attention not least to the fact that this had occurred at a time when rain and a low cloud ceiling had prevented the Allied aviation from providing the ground troops with direct close support. That the attackers had lacked tank support, while the difficult supply situation forced them to reduce the artillery support to twenty-five fired shells per day and gun, reinforced the impression that the U.S. infantry was totally dependent on a powerful fire support in order to act effectively.

’This setback,’ Elstob wrote, ’marked the beginning of the steep rise in “combat fatigue” which later, as the proportion of non-combat casualties rose to twenty-five percent, caused considerable alarm to commanders.’47

Meanwhile, the Allied supply situation deteriorated by the day. The fuel supply occasionally dwindled to just two days of consumption. The shortage in ammunition became even worse. During the first week of October, only one ammunition ship could be reloaded in France, while another thirty-five waited offshore for docking space.48 On 2 October, ammunition rationing was instituted. At the beginning of the second week of October it was obvious that even in spite of this rationing, the ammunition stocks in France would be exhausted within a month.49

In the German camp, combat spirits were boosted through a combination of Goebbel’s propaganda and hopes tied to the new ‘wonder weapons’—top modern weapons which outclassed anything the Allies had at their disposal. By this time, the first among these—the jet propelled combat aircraft Messerschmitt 262 and Arado 234 and the rocket propelled fighter plane Messerschmitt 163—had begun to take part in the fighting, albeit in small numbers.* On 8 September the next ’wonder weapon’ was taken into use—the ballistic missile bomb A 4 (Aggregat 4). This was launched into the stratosphere and thereafter plunged at a speed of one mile per second (3,600 m.p.h.) towards its target. The 27,600lb heavy missile, carrying a warhead containing 2,200 lbs of explosives, hit the ground with a terrible impact. A scientific study made in the year 2010 showed that an A 4 created a sixty foot wide and twenty-four feet deep crater, hurling 3,000 tons of debris into the air.50

Shortly before noon on 8 September 1944, the first A 4 came down in southeastern Paris. Seven hours later, London was hit by two other A4s. This caused consternation in the Allied headquarters, where this type of weapon was already well known—the parts of a test-launched A 4 which had exploded over Bäckebo in Sweden two months earlier, had been handed over to the British by the Swedish government. By this time, the British were just coming to grips with the unmanned rocket propelled robot bombs of the model Fieseler 103—better known as V 1 (Vergeltungswaffe 1,  ’Vengeance Weapon 1’)—which the Germans had been launching mainly against London since June 1944. Because the V 1s approached at altitudes of around 2,000 to 3,000 feet and at a speed of 400 m.p.h., they could be fought with fighter planes and antiaircraft guns, and by the end of August, 70 percent of all incoming V 1s were shot down over southern England.

But against the A 4 there were no countermeasures. When it was discovered that the A 4s were launched from the German-occupied Netherlands, Eisenhower promptly decided to approve Montgomery’s proposal to air-land the joint Allied airborne army at the Dutch river crossings at Eindhoven, Nijmegen, and Arnhem. The purpose of this operation, codenamed ’Market,’ was to establish a corridor along which British XXX Corps would advance in order to break up the German defenses—Operation ’Garden.’ The attack had the dual objective of capturing the A 4 launching sites and to gain new momentum in the Allied offensive to seize the Ruhr area.
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The German jet plane Messerschmitt Me 262 undoubtedly was the best fighter plane of World War II. (Creek)





But the difficulties that already hampered the Allied offensive had not changed, to the detriment of the combined operation ’Market Garden.’ Montgomery informed Eisenhower that if nothing was done about the 21 Army Group’s strained supply situation, it would take nearly two weeks before he would be able to attack. Eisenhower immediately switched back the supply priority to the British-Canadian army group, and then Montgomery set the attack date to 17 September. The British field marshal believed that Patton’s resource-consuming attacks at Metz would be cancelled so that most of the American army group’s supplies could be diverted to Hodges’ First Army, which according to the plan would act in support of ’Market Garden.’ But he had underestimated the creativity of the American generals.

When Bradley on 12 September informed Patton of Eisenhower’s decision, Patton suggested that he would make his Third Army so strongly committed on the other side of River Moselle that it would be impossible to halt it. Bradley gave Patton two days to execute this plan, and in a new twist, Eisenhower declared that the Allied northern flank could not be given top priority until Patton’s army had been thoroughly established on the eastern side of River Moselle. This was in effect a charte blanche for Patton. Australian war correspondent and historian Chester Wilmot wrote:

’By his advance from the Marne to the Meuse and then from the Meuse to the Moselle, Patton had distorted the Allied Front and dragged it too far to the south. Third Army had become a magnet drawing forces and supplies away from what Eisenhower had declared should be the main drive.’51

Hitler’s decision on 8 September to despatch one of his new so-called armored brigades in an attack against U.S. Third Army further bolstered Patton’s position in the rivalry over Allied supplies. With the emphasis on armor and less on support troops in the shape of panzer grenadiers and artillery, Hitler believed that these armored brigades would be more agile than ‘traditional’ panzer divisions. But this structure, contradictory to the basic idea of panzer units, only left the tanks of these armored brigades on their own on the battlefield, without the necessary support. The first attack by one of these armored brigades on 8 September ended with the annihilation of the German unit. Up to 18 September another three armored brigades were hurled into counter-attacks against U.S. Third Army: they were all largely wiped out.*

This not only led the Germans to reconsider the idea of armored brigades; no further supplies were diverted from Patton’s Third Army to Hodges’ First Army —with the result that the latter was unable to support Operation ’Market Garden’ in the Netherlands.

To the British-American airborne army, the situation became quite the opposite to that of the German armor brigades farther south. In the absence of the required armored support—owing to inadequate supplies, only three out of nine British divisions could be deployed during first days of the operation—’Market Garden’ ended in a disaster for the Allied Airborne Army. While eighty percent of British 1st Airborne Division was annihilated, U.S. 101st Airborne Division lost 2,100 troops; in U.S. 82nd Airborne Division, 508th Parachute Infantry Regiment alone sustained 796 casualties, and ’C’ Company, 504th Parachute Infantry Regiment was dealt 50 percent losses.

The A 4 bombardment continued unabated. During the last days of September 1944, up to fourteen missiles were launched each day. From 7 October, Antwerp was added to the targets list for these rockets, which soon were dubbed V 2 by German propaganda. When the 1,000th V 2 was launched on 26 November, 556 had been sent against Antwerp, and 254 against London.

Even though the material crisis was far from overcome for the German Western Front—by the end of September 1944, Heeresgruppe B mustered no more than 239 tanks or tank destroyers and 821 artillery pieces—the acute military crisis had at least temporarily been overcome. On 27 September, Generalfeldmarschall Model reported: ’Combat spirits improving by the day.’ After the war, the operations officer of Heeresgruppe B, Oberstleutnant Günther Reichhelm, recalled that ’the possibilities of capitulation were discussed in the most intimate circles of Army group staff, but had to be dropped because of the existing, excellent morale of both troops and civilians.’52

However, on the Eastern Front, things looked different. With their supply lines strung out, the power of the great Soviet summer offensive in Belorussia and the Ukraine also withered down, and by August 1944 the Red Army had been checked along River Vistula in Poland and at East Prussia’s border with Lithuania. But this could be achieved only when the Germans had brought in very strong reinforcements. At Warsaw alone, they despatched five hundred tanks and tank destroyers at the end of July and early August.53 In early September 1944, the Germans could muster two million men on the Eastern Front, against the Red Army’s 6.5 million troops (three times more than the total strength of the Allied forces on the Western Front). Of Germany’s ten so-called heavy armored battalions (schwere Panzer-Abteilung)—equipped with heavy Tiger tanks—— seven were deployed on the Eastern Front, only one on the Western Front, and two in Italy. Moreover, the German Air Force was incomparably better on the Eastern Front than in the West or in Italy.

When the Red Army attacked Heeresgruppe North in the Baltic States on 14 September, 1.5 million Soviet troops with 4,400 tanks were pitted against 700,000 men and 1,000 tanks on the German side. 54 The Soviets completely smashed the German positions. When they took Tallinn and Pärnu on 22 September, almost all of Estonia had been captured by the Red Army. The Germans launched four hundred tanks in a counter-attack in Latvia, but the ensuing five-day tank battle cost them a loss of nearly 150 tanks and tank destroyers. 55 In early October, the Soviet forces reached Lithuania’s Baltic Sea coast, thus isolating Heeresgruppe Nord in the so-called ‘Courland Pocket’ in the north.

The ‘Courland Pocket’ nevertheless also tied down sizable Soviet forces, which also the fighting in Hungaria and Yugoslavia did—in September and October 1944 the Red Army was working its way through these two countries—why the Soviets for the moment were unable to bring forward sufficient forces to launch an offensive in Poland and against Germany at the Vistula Front. Hitler realized that the only way to avert the looming disaster, was to act during the respite of a few months that he would be granted before the Red Army had managed to gather strength for a new major offensive at River Vistula, and it was quite clear to him how and where he would act. All lessons from the battlefield during the previous three months seemed to be clearly pointing in one direction.





* Two days later, von Kluge committed suicide.

* Allied airmen made huge overclaims during their operations over the Falaise pocket. An examination undertaken a while after the area had been seized by the Allied showed that among 101 examined German tanks and assault guns in the Falaise area, only six had been destroyed as a direct result of air attacks, 44 through ground fire, and twelve through other or unknown causes. Another 22 were found to have been abandoned by their own crews. This has led to the misinterpretation that the Allied aviation after all was not that effective at Falaise, but this is a conclusion which must be refuted. The number of tanks which were made to halt through air activity, which enabled anti-tank gunners to hit them, has never been established. But above all, the efficiency of the Allied aviation at e.g. Falaise constituted mainly not in its ability to directly destroy heavily armored vehicles, but in its capacity to knock out transport vehicles going to and from the front area. The same Allied examination as above also showed that almost half of the other German vehicles (‘soft-skinned vehicles’) destroyed in the Falaise pocket were knocked out through air attacks, and the majority of the remainder were abandoned by their own crews—in the latter case to a large extent as the result of air attacks. It might be safe to assume that the greater part of the 40,000 German troops who were captured in the Falaise pocket, can be attributed to the direct or indirect effect of Allied air attacks against their retreat routes.

* By this time, since May 1940, the Belgian Eupen-Malmedy area was annexed by Germany, whereby Germany’s border with Belgiumran about six miles further to the west than today.

** Heim ins Reich was really the Nazi slogan that meant that all Germans living outside of Germany were to be included in Hitler’s
 
* Volksgrenadier-Division should not be confused with the Nazi Home Guard Forces, Volkssturm.

** The German Ersatzheer organized troop training and replaced losses in the regular first-line units.

* Both soldiers at the front and military commanders took out their frustration over this situation on the supply organization, known as the Communications Zone (ComZ). Its commander, Lieutenant General John C. H. Lee—who also was Eisenhower’s deputy in the SHAEF and thus the second highest Allied military commander in Europe—was subject to particularly virulent attacks. His initials were scornfully read as ‘Jesus Christ Himself,’ alluding to the sumptuous life which he was supposed to have led on the front soldiers’ expense. A U.S. general wrote, concerning what was apprehended as Eisenhower’s ‘indulgence’ of Lee that ‘Alexander the Great loved flatterers.’ (Hastings, Armageddon, p. 25.) This bitterness—which has continued to be echoed in more recent narratives, where anecdotes and sharp statements made by military commanders have come to play an important role in the description of ComZ— nevertheless disregards from the fact that under Lee’s command, 37 million tons of military supplies were shipped from the USA and Canada prior to the invasion, and after the invasion, 41 million tons were transported to the Continent. In his extensive review of the U.S. maintenance organization in Europe during World War II, U.S. military historian Roland G. Ruppenthal points out that ‘lack of confidence in the Communications Zone was hardly a new phenomenon. Suspicions engendered by the differences over organization and planning in the U.K. period had never subsided, and relations between the Communications Zone and the field commands were never completely cordial. Part of the mistrust undoubtedly stemmed from the traditional and probably unpreventable feeling that rear area troops were better supplied than those at the front, particularly in such items as clothing and food.’ (Ruppenthal, United States Army in World War II European Theater of Operations: Logistical Support of the Armies. Volume II: September 1944-May 1945, p. 349.) Indeed, Lee was a highly controversial character, but in no small part was this due to the fact that he was the first senior commander in the by this time segregated U.S. Armed Forces to challenge the Army’s racial prejudices. Up until this time, the doors to first-line service had been practically shut to African Americans, and no single military commander played a greater role than Lee in tearing down these racist barriers. For instance, he he issued a spectacular memorandum that demanded that ‘commanders of all grades will receive voluntary applications [from African Americans] for transfer to the Infantry.’ (Memo from John C. H. Lee, December 26, 1944. Security Classified Records, Record Group 220: Records of the President’s Committee on Equality of Treatment and Opportunity in the Armed Services. Harry S. Truman Library and Museum. http://www.trumanlibrary.org/whistlestop/study_collections/desegregation/large/documents/index.php?documentdate=1944-12-26&documentid=12-12&studycollectionid=&pagenumber=1&sortorder=. 1 November 2012.) This was not looked upon with favour by many of Lee’s colleagues, but as a result of Lee’s intervention, African- American military units were deployed in the Ardennes Battle, with quite good results—as we shall see later.

* By this time, no more than one regular bomber group actually was operating with Me 262 bombers, I. Gruppe/ Kampfgeschwader (Jagd) 51. Since early August 1944, a couple of Ar 234s had conducted reconnaissance flights on the Western Front and over the British Isles, and a few dozen Me 163s took part in the air defense of Germany.

* The commander of Heeresgruppe G, Generaloberst Johannes Blaskowitz, made the scapegoat for these failures, was replaced on 21 September by General Hermann Balck. When Balck nevertheless later on failed to hold back the Americans from the German border, even he was dismissed, and on 24 December 1944, Blaskowitz was reinstituted as the C.O. of Heeresgruppe G.





CHAPTER 2

THE PLAN TO ATTACK: ’A MOMENTOUS DECISION!’

"Split the British and American armies at their seam, then a new Dunkirk!" Adolf Hitler in the "Wolf’s Lair" on 16 September 1944.

After the daily military situation conference in the ’Wolf’s Lair’—Hitler’s secretly located Headquarters in a forest outside of Rastenburg in East Prussia—on Saturday 16 September 1944, the Führer asked a small group of men to stay a little while for a ’second conference.’

Generaloberst Alfred Jodl, chief of operations in the staff of the German Armed Forces (OKW), opened this by reviewing the relation of forces on the Western Front, but he was silenced by Hitler who cried, ’Stop!’1

A moment of uneasy silence followed. The men in the room looked at each other. Some, among them General Werner Kreipe, chief of staff of the Luftwaffe that Hitler in recent times had lamented so much over, felt a strong discomfort. Finally Hitler spoke again.

’I have come to a momentous decision. I shall go over to the counterattack!’2

Hitler rose from his chair and walked over to the large wall map, took the ruler from Jodl and banged the edge of the ruler against the Ardennes on the map, as he clarified, ’That is to say here, out of the Ardennes, with the objective Antwerp!’3

The Ardennes—the hilly and forested area in eastern Belgium and northern Luxembourg, the place where German troops had launched their great offensives in the West at every previous occasion: This had been done by the Prussian Army in 1870, by the Kaiser’s Forces in 1914, and by Hitler’s armored spearheads on 10 May 1940. Each time their opponents had allowed themselves to be caught off guard because the Germans had chosen this area with its rough terrain.

Would the enemy fall for the same trick a fourth time? The assembled generals looked at each other. But Hitler was certain that it would work. The attack, he explained, was to be led by von Rundstedt and would be launched around 1 November. Recent events on the Western Front, he said, had shown that the the German defense positions were strong enough to withstand the numerically superior Allied armies until the attack was launched. He continued:

’The present front can easily be held! Our own attacking force will consist of thirty new Volksgrenadier divisions and new panzer divisions, plus panzer divisions from the Eastern Front.’4

According to German intelligence reports, U.S. First Army, grouped in the Ardennes sector, consisted of eight infantry and three armored divisions, but the bulk of these were concentrated to the Aachen area. A sixty-milewide sector between Monschau (at the present German-Belgian border) and Echternach (on the border between Germany and Luxembourg further to the south) was held by only four American divisions, and this was where the Germans were going to strike. Moreover, the wooded Eifel area offered good opportunities to to conceal the German assault force. Once a breakthrough had been achieved, the troops would strike towards the northwest, through the Ardennes, to cross River Meuse between Liège and Namur, with Antwerp as the objective.5 If this was accomplished, Hitler expected that between twenty and thirty Allied divisions would be cut off and annihilated to the east of Antwerp. ’Split the British and American armies at their seam, then a new Dunkirk!’ he enthusiastically exclaimed.6

Those present were just as astonished at Hitler’s suddenly regained energy at the bold plan. Generaloberst Heinz Guderian, acting chief of staff for the German Army Staff (OKH), objected by asking whether the difficult situation on the Eastern Front really admitted such a concentrated effort on the Western Front.7 Hitler replied that the Russians would have to pause for several months before they were able to resume their great offensive—an assessment which proved to be correct—and that the Germans had to act within that period.

Jodl referred to the great air superiority of the Western Allies—would that not render such a venture impossible? Hitler countered by requesting that the Luftwaffe concentrate 1,500 aircraft to the Western Front on 1 November. Furthermore, he explained, the attack would be launched in a period of bad weather, and added acidly—clearly addressing Kreipe:

‘In bad weather the enemy’s air force does not either  fly!’

While the generals’ objections were restricted to a strictly military viewpoint, Hitler proceeded from a broader perspective. Chester Wilmot interprets and summarizes the Nazi dictator’s reasoning:

[Hitler] realized that he had neither the forces to inflict a serious defeat on the Red Army, nor the petrol to maintain an advance deep enough to deprive Stalin of any essential resources. His best opportunity of regaining the initiative lay, he decided, in the West. Here with smaller forces and less petrol he might capture an objective of critical significance. In addition, it appeared to him that the Western Allies were more vulnerable and less tenacious than the Russians. He believed that the British were nearly exhausted and that the Americans had no real interest in the war against Germany. Lacking the toughness and the incentive of the Russians, American troops would quickly lose heart in adversity. Their victories had been won, so he thought, only by air-power, but, once winter deprived them of their customary air support, the Americans would collapse under the impact of a powerful assault.8

Hitler felt quite assured that if the Western Allies were dealt such a devastating defeat—whereby half their military force in the West would be obliterated in a single strike – public opinion in the USA would enforce a separate peace with Germany. And even if this result was not achieved, such a victory would afford Hitler with what he needed most of all, time. It would grant him time to, covered by the bad winter weather, rebuild his destroyed factories, so that his new, superior ’wonder weapons’ could be produced in large numbers. With great quantities of jet planes, V 2s, and the new ’electric submarines’ he assumed that he would be able to drive the British-American armies off the Continent. Then he hoped he would be able to concentrate almost the entire German Armed Forces to the Eastern Front in order to attain at least a stalemate against the Soviets. It was, he admitted, a clutch at straws—but from his perspective it was the only possible way out.

Hitler also had thought about how the attack would be militarily feasible. Hence, he for instance ordered the armored units I. SS-Panzerkorps and II. SS-Panzerkorps, with the 1., 2., 9., and 12. SS Panzer divisions, and the Panzer Lehr Division, to be immediately withdrawn from the front line and to regroup to the rear area east of the Rhine river. There, under the supervision of Generalfeldmarschall Model, they would be replenished for the upcoming offensive.9 The Nazi dictator had a special confidence in the Waffen SS—the armed wing of the Nazi SS. Although Waffen-SS was operationally subordinated to the Wehrmacht, the recruitment of its personnel was handled by SS-Reichsführer Himmler’s SS, which also took care of the training. Another speciality of the Waffen-SS was its very own military ranks.

A prerequisite for the success of the operation, Hitler declared, was that the enemy would be taken by surprise. Therefore, preparations were to be surrounded by a particularly strict secrecy. Percy E. Schramm, responsible for the war diary of the German Armed Forces High Command (OKW), referenced Hitler’s continued briefing, ’If these measures succeeded, the leadership and the troops were to be guided by the single principle of both thrusting deeply into the enemy zone of operations and refusing to be diverted from their original objective by counter-attacks against their flanks. Only then could the offensive be completely successful. Any tendency of turning against the flank of the enemy forces, such as those around Aachen, had to be strictly opposed from the onset, because the German forces thereby would only run into the enemy’s strongest forces, and would never again be able to obtain a complete success.’10

Under oath not to divulge a word to anyone, the men left the conference room. Jodl’s task was to prepare a first draft of an operations plan according to Hitler’s guidelines.

Without doubt, Hitler had drawn many vital conclusions from the past three months of warfare. The assessment that the Red Army was too powerful to allow any similar offensive on the Eastern Front was correct. From a military strategic point of view, it was entirely proper to strike against the weakest enemy, the Western Allies, and this at the spot where they were weakest. Some particular observations that had been made during the operations on the Western Front between June and September 1944 seemed to justify a certain optimism regarding the planned attack.

The first of these was the Allied dependence on the ports on the English Channel for the supply of their armies. Therefore it was only logical that the attack was aimed at reaching Antwerp, whereby large Allied forces would be encircled, while at the same time the other Allied forces in the area would be deprived of their main supply port.

Concerning the battlefield, the most important realization was that the attack under no circumstances should be launched in a situation where the Allied aviation could operate freely. Already on the third day after the Allied landing in Normandy in June 1944, the diary of the High Command of the German Armed Forces noted that the fighting was ’dominated by the enemy aviation, which covered the battle area and a large portion of the rear area and thus could stifle [German] armored attacks already at the onset, strike [German] headquarters and sever lines of communication to the front,’ all of which had an ’absolutely crucial impact on the combat’11 On 22 July 1944, the supreme commander on the Western Front, von Kluge, reported, ’ In face of the enemy’s complete command of the air, there is no possibility of finding a strategy which will counter-balance its truly annihilating effect’12

An American report established that ’a fighter-bomber attack concentrated on close-in enemy positions was worth more than any artillery preparation, if the air attack was followed immediately by a determined infantry attack.’13 According to a compilation of Allied battlefield analyses made by military historian Ian Gooderson, the effect of fighter-bombers on German combat spirits quite often was higher than what could be achieved by artillery shelling.14

While the Luftwaffe on the Eastern Front even by this time could be regarded as an élite force, with a cadre undoubtedly belonging to the most experienced combat fliers of the entire war, the German aviation in the West was almost completely broken, and by all means in no shape to challenge the Allies for aerial superiority. Incredibly costly air combats against large formations of American heavy bombers with a steadily growing number of escort fighters had bled the German Air Force in the West white—to a point where it, by late summer 1944, ceased to be an opponent which the Allies could expect to meet regularly. Following the devastating aerial battles over Normandy between June and August 1944, the Luftwaffe almost completely vanished from the skies in the West.
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At an air base in Belgium in the fall of 1944, Lockheed P-38 Lightning fighter-bombers from U.S. 9th Air Force’s 370th Fighter Group are parked in front of the wrecks of German aircraft previously destroyed during Allied air raids when the airfield was in German hands. The Allied air superiority was one of the main reasons for concern on the German side when the Ardennes Offensive was planned. (NARA, 3A-5150)





Almost without exception, each aerial encounter resulted in terrible German losses while the Allies sustained no more than marginal losses. These losses forced the Germans to radically shorten their pilot training, which increased the already quite wide gap regarding quality between their aviation in the West and the Western Allied aviation. By this time, German fighter pilots arrived at first-line units after just 110-125 flight hours at the flight training schools. The Americans, who had far greater opportunities to replace their own losses, still were able to provide their fighter pilots with 340 to 400 flight hours of training.15

In the fall of 1944, the German Air Force took to the air in the West more or less only when the Allies directed large-scale air attacks against the Achilles heel of the German war economy, the hydrogenation plants where synthetic fuel was produced. On 11 September, 305 German fighter planes went into battle in order to defend one of these plants. One hundred and ten of these were shot down. Of 1,131 U.S. heavy bombers and 440 escort fighters that had taken off from England, forty bombers and seventeen fighters were lost. The attacked ground targets were severely damaged. This in turn contributed to a further reduction of German pilot training; whereas the Luftwaffe’s chief of staff Kreipe reckoned that flight schools would need between 60,000 and 80,000 tons of aviation fuel per month to be able to replace the losses, only 6,300 tons could be allocated in September 1944.16 Nevertheless, by intensifying the efforts to repair the bomb damage on the hydrogenation plants as quickly as possible, the Germans were able to increase the production of aviation fuel from 6 percent of the original capacity in September 1944 to 29 percent in November. Production of aviation fuel rose from 10,000 tons in September to 49,000 tons in November.17 Meanwhile the aviation in the West was spared from combat missions inasmuch as possible. This created the conditions for the large-scale operation by the Luftwaffe during the Ardennes Offensive as prescribed by the attack plane.

Hitler however had completely lost confidence in the Luftwaffe on the Western Front, and for that reason he decided to wait to launch the offensive until weather reconnaissance could foresee a long period of bad weather that would keep the Allied aircraft grounded.* This perhaps was the most important lesson from the fighting on the Western Front after the Allied landings in Normandy.

Another observation made by the Germans, one which also had to do with the aviation, was that the efficiency of the Allied ground troops appeared to be dependent on the scale of air support that they received. ’The morale of the enemy infantry is not very high,’ a report by the 10. SS-Panzer-Division stated. ’ It depends largely on artillery and air support. In case of a well-placed concentration of fire from our own artillery the infantry will often leave its position and retreat hastily. Wherever the enemy is engaged with force, he usually retreats or surrenders.’18 Generalmajor Friedrich Wilhelm von Mellenthin, chief of staff in Heeresgruppe G, described the behavior of U.S. ground troops in combat as ‘cautious and hesistant.’19

The numerous errors made by the Allied military command, as depicted in the previous chapter, of course also contributed to Hitler’s feeling that there might be some justification to expect success for a concentrated attack in the Ardennes. The conflict between the Americans and the British also was no secret to the Germans. Moreover, an observed general slowness in the response of Allied ground forces to rapid changes in the situation on the battlefield gave the Germans further reason to expect their attack to be at least initially quite successful. A German military report found that ‘in contrast to the Eastern theater of operations, in the West it was possible to still straighten out seemingly impossible situations because the opposing armies there […] despite their enormous material superiority, were limited by slow and methodical modes of combat.’20

On 11 October, Generaloberst Jodl presented Hitler a first draft of the attack plan. According to this, the main thrust would be undertaken by the newly formed 6. Panzerarmee —with a spearhed consisting of four SS panzer divisions -on the right flank, while the 5. Panzerarmee would attack further to the south—with a spearhed consisting of four panzer divisions—and the southern flank covered by the 7. Armee with six infantry divisions. The two panzer armies would also be assigned five and three infantry divisions respectively.21 The 6. Panzerarmee would be tasked to cross River Meuse at Liège, and, with its northern flank covered by the Albert Canal, to continue towards Antwerp. The 5. Panzerarmee was supposed to advance along a twenty-mile wide front mainly through northern Luxembourg, seize the important road junction Bastogne in southwestern Belgium (slightly to the west of the frontier with Luxembourg), cross the Meuse at Dinant and Namur, bypass Brussels from the south, and link up with the 6. Panzerarmee at Antwerp.

The 6. Panzerarmee was a most special creation. This army—or rather, its headquarters, Armeeoberkommando 6. Panzerarmee—was formed on 14 September 1944 to assume command of the two SS panzer corps that were pulled behind the Rhine in order to replenish their strength. It was placed under the command of a rough SS general who, owing to political reasons, was among Hitler’s favourites, SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer Josef ‘Sepp’ Dietrich. Since this army was led by an SS general and consisted of a nucleous of SS panzer divisions, Sepp Dietrich sought and received Hitler’s permission to design it as the 6. SS-Panzerarmee.22 Formally, however, it remained registered as a Wehrmacht army up until April 1945, when it was officially designed an SS Panzer Army.23 In different sources it is interchangeably referred to as the 6. Panzerarmee or the 6. SS-Panzerarmee. Because it essentially acted with the character of an SS Army, the designation 6. SS-Panzerarmee will be used here.
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Jodl’s draft also involved the southernmost army corps of the 15. Armee (grouped immediately to the north of the sector where the 6. SS-Panzerarmee would launch its attack); this corps would attack in order to cover the northern flank of the breakthrough.

Just as the Red Army had done during the opening phase of Operation ’Bagration,’ the attack would not be initiated according to the classic approach with massive waves of tanks, but instead the first attack wave was to be comprised of infantry groups supported by assault guns and artillery. It was only when these had accomplished gaps in the American defense lines that tanks would be deployed massively—just as the Soviets had done in ’Bagration.’ Another important part of the plan was that the attack would not be launched until the weather prospect forecasted a period of ten to fourteen days of such bad weather that the Allied aviation could not be deployed.

On the whole, Hitler agreed with Jodl’s draft. However, he was of the opinion that the proposed attack front—from Monschau to the confluence of the rivers Our and Sauer at the German border with Luxembourg forty miles further to south—was too narrow. Therefore, he ordered the attack to be extended southwards, so that the U.S. troops in the ’wedge’ between Echternach and Wasserbillig also could be encircled and destroyed. This was intended to reduce the American opportunity to strike against the 7. Armee’s southern flank.24

Moreover, Hitler emphasized how important it was that all artillery and rocket artillery units were to be organized with scrutiny, so that the artillery fire could be opened exactly at same time, in order to achieve a maximum effect. He also said that both panzer armies had to be supplied with ’experienced senior artillery commanders, who were to coordinate all the artillery forces, flak units, and rocket launchers for the purpose of a sudden concentration.’25 Hitler also requested that the troops tasked to carry out the initial attack would be selected with particular care, and he stressed the importance of the assault troops being properly equipped with engineer equipment, particularly for mine clearing. He also felt that the greatest menace to the offensive would come from the enemy units concentrated in the Aachen area, only a dozen miles north-northwest of Monschau. Therefore, he ordered that ’only the best German divisions were to be committed in this area.’ He specified this to the 3. and 5. paratroop divisions and the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division, which had distinguished themselves quite well during the Battle of Aachen. Furthermore the 6. SS-Panzerarmee received priority in the allocation of the new tank destroyers.26

Once again the Führer repeated that the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s armor on no conditions should allow itself to be ’be diverted by or involved in fighting on their right flank.’27 Finally he gave the plan a code name, ’Wacht am Rhein.’ This was taken from a popular patriotic song on how the Germans stood on guard against the enemy (implicitly the traditional enemy France) at the Rhine, but the name (’on guard at the Rhine’) also implied that it was a defensive plan, which was part of the cover.

Both Jodl and Hitler felt that the attack could be launched no sooner than 25 November. They also agreed on the strictest secrecy surrounding the plan, whereby not even Model or von Rundstedt would be privy to it for some time; they would be told that the build-up of forces only aimed at the creation of a powerful defensive reserve.

In the following days Jodl drafted a plan for the groupment of the assault forces in anticipation of the attack date: They were to be deployed in such locations that they would give the impression of a defensive reserve, ready to be brought into action in the event of an enemy breakthrough. No earlier than two days ahead of the attack should any of these units be transferred to the front. This called for a march to the first line proceeding quickly and smoothly, and without being noticed by the Allied air reconnaissance. In response to this, exact march routes for each unit were determined, and along these, facilities necessary for the marching units were placed. This plan was completed and approved by Hitler on 21 October.

Meanwhile a number of special operations were added to the attack, which gradually developed into one of the most carefully prepared military operations of the entire war. On the afternoon of 22 October 1944, a 6’3” tall, strongly built man strode into Hitler’s ’Wolf’s Lair.’ A fencing scar ran the length of the blond giant’s left cheek down to his chin. It was SS-ObersturmbannFührer (lieutenant colonel) Otto Skorzeny, a man that Hitler held in the greatest regard.

Born in Vienna in 1908, Skorzeny had joined the Austrian Nazi Party at the age of twenty-two. After Anschluss,  the absorption of Austria into the Third Reich in 1938, Skorzeny became an officer candidate in the SS-Leibstandarte, Hitler’s personal bodyguard. There he soon displayed his talent for ’special operations.’ When Hitler invaded the Soviet Union in 1941, Skorzeny was appointed to lead an SS force tasked to seize the Soviet Secret Police’s headquarters Lubyanka in Moscow. Nevertheless, the German attempt to capture the Soviet capital failed utterly, and shortly afterward Skorzeny was wounded by shrapnel.

During his hospital stay in Vienna he read all he could lay his hands on about secret military operations, and he bombarded the SS High Command with ideas on commando operations. Skorzeny’s superiors in the SS were most attentive to his proposals, not least because the Army’s commando force, the so-called Brandenburgers, by that time superceded the SS by a wide margin regarding such ventures. In 1943 Skorzeny was appointed to command the new SS commando force, SS-Sonderverband z.b.V. Friedenthal. The Zenith of his career was reached in September 1943, when he led the airborne operation to rescue the toppled Italian dictator Mussolini.

Hitler did not hesitate to initiate the loyal Skorzeny into the plan for ’Wacht am Rhein.’ This he did by assigning Skorzeny the task of forming a special force composed of English-speaking commando troops who, dressed in American uniforms and supplied with captured American equipment, would infiltrate the enemy lines to capture vital bridges across the Meuse, spread confusion in the Allied camp, and undertake reconnaissance.*

This was supposed to be just one among several special operations in support of Operation ’Wacht am Rhein.’ Alongside with Skorzeny’s infiltrators, a paratroop unit would be airdropped behind the Allied lines on the night before the attack. The objective of this operation was to take and hold the strategically important crossroads Baraque Michel, seven miles to the west of Monschau on the northern flank of the German attack. The aim was to prevent the Americans from regrouping forces from Aachen against the northern wing of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee.

Several other special operations were undertaken in order to reinforce or support Operation ’Wacht am Rhein.’ What has been overlooked in many depictions of the Battle is the contribution given by German submarines. Operating far out in the Atlantic, some of these wired regular weather reconnaissance reports to the German High Command. Due to these weather reports, the German Weather Service managed to spot an extensive low pressure area that would cover the entire region during the first days of the offensive, thus creating the indispensable prerequisite for success. Other submarines entered the English Channel, where their sinking of Allied troop transport ships considerably reduced the flow of reinforcements to the Ardennes Front once the German offensive had been launched—more on this later. In additon to this, the brand new electric two-man midget submarine XXVII B Seehund would enter combat against Allied shipping on the way to Antwerp, this also in support of the Ardennes Offensive.28

Antwerp and the Allied headquarters in Liège would be subject to a massive air offensive by flying bombs—V 1s and V 2s. Against the City of Luxembourg—where e.g. the headquarters of Bradley’s 12th Army Group was located—another of Hitler’s latest ’wonder weapons,’ the ’super gun’ V 3 (Vergeltungswaffe 3)  would be employed. With its 160 ft long barrel—along which multiple propellant charges were fired as the shell passed in order to provide an increased muzzle velocity—it had a greater range of fire than any other artillery piece, over 100 miles. When the first V 3 shells began hitting Luxembourg during the Ardennes Offensive, it evoked a panic which was added to the general uneasiness caused by the German attack.

Many more of Hitler’s so-called ’wonder weapons’ would see their baptism of fire or be employed in large scale for the first time during the Ardennes Offensive. The Luftwaffe’s only jet bomber wing—Kampfgeschwader 51, equipped with Messerschmitt 262s which easily could outrun any Allied fighter plane—was prepared to support ’Wacht am Rhein.’ The Arado 234 would also see its operational debut as the world’s first regular jet bomber in support of the Ardennes Offensive.

Moreover, the Wehrmacht’s new Volksgrenadier divisions in ’Wacht am Rhein’ were to be equipped with the revolutionary new assault rifle Sturmgewehr 44 as their standard hand gun. According to issued directives, two-thirds of the companies in these divisions were to be fully equipped with StG 44s. Furthermore, numerous soldiers in the panzer divisions were equipped with this firearm —hence, on 1 December 1944, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division mustered 418 of these automatic guns.

The Sturmgewehr 44 is considered to be the first modern assault rifle, and would have a wide-ranging effect on post-war arms designs. With a rate of fire of 550-600 r.p.m., an effective range of 1,800 feet (900 feet at automatic fire) and a 30-round box magazine which could be easily and quickly detached, this 7.92mm assault gun was totally superior to the hand guns of all other armies at that time. The U.S. Army’s semi-automatic M1 Garand rifle with its eight-round bloc clip could not be fired at a rate higher than about 30 rounds per minute.

Two special devices that made the StG 44 even more revolutionizing was the so-called Krummlauf  and Zielgerät 1229.  The former (’curved barrel’) was a bent barrel attachment which, along with a periscope sighting device allowed shooting around corners. Zielgerät 1229  was an active infrared device for night fighting. However, it is uncertain whether Zielgerät 1229  actually was produced in time to be brought into action during the Ardennes Offensive, although this was the intention.

Infrared night fighting devices—totally revolutionizing by that time—also were developed for German tanks. One of these, Fahrgerät FG 1250,  could be mounted on Panther tanks. This could be supplemented with a larger infrared ’searchlight’ with a 600mm diameter which was attached to an accompanying half-track vehicle. This system was called ’Uhu’ (eagle-owl). However, although the Americans believed so, no infrared night fighting dervices were used by German tanks in the Ardennes.*

The German industry that the Western Allies leaders at the same time were discussing the dismantling of after the war, meanwhile managed to maintain an astonishing high level of arms production, in spite of intense Allied bombings. This can be explained by several factors. The dominant reason was that the industry steadily was increasing the war production at the expense of production of civilian goods, which further aggravated an already serious shortage of ordinary consumer goods in German civil society. In addition to this, not least due to Armaments Minister Albert Speer, an extensive rationalization and streamlining of the military production was effectuated—including an increase of the working week from 48 to 60 hours. Furthermore, a relocation of the production from large plants, vulnerable to aerial bombing, to a multitude of smaller, well-masked locations was carried out at a rapid pace. ’It was an absolute miracle,’ recalled the Inspector of the German fighter aviation, Generalleutnant Adolf Galland. ’Having been concentrated to twenty-seven large facilities, the German aircraft production was relocated to more than seven hundred smaller plants—in unused tunnels and mine shafts, deep in dense forests, in valleys and small villages. The most astonishing of it all is that under these circumstances production volumes even could be increased.’29 In 1944 German military production reached its highest level during the entire war, nearly three times as high as in early 1942.30 Through 1944, the ammunition industry produced 108 million cartridges and grenades, as compared to 93 million in 1943.31

The accumulative effect of an increased bomber offensive and the loss of vital areas where raw material was produced led to a certain decrease during the third and fourth quarters of 1944, but ahead of the Ardennes Offensive, between September and November 1944, Speer used the reserve stocks to maintain the high level of production.

In September 1944, a total of 4,103 combat aircraft were manufactured, the highest monthly figure throughout the war (about twice the average monthly figure for 1943), and during the following three months another more than 10,000 German combat aircraft left the production lines.32 Output of the tanks Panther, Panzer IV, and Tiger nevertheless dropped from the all-time high figure of 2,438 during the period June-August 1944 to 1,764 between September and November.33 This chiefly was due to Allied bombing raids that destroyed 48 percent of the factory space at the Henschel Works where the Tiger was manufactured. The average monthly production of Tiger tanks dropped from 622 during the first six months of 1944 to just 380 in the period July-December.34 However, the effect of this could to some extent be balanced by an increased production of tracked tank destroyers (Panzerjäger). These were manufactured at plants in Czechoslovakia, which due to the large distance from Allied air bases were damaged by bombing only to a limited extent. During the last three months of 1944, more German tracked tank destroyers were produced than during all of 1943. Thus, a large part of the shortage of tanks in the units earmarked for the Ardennes Offensive could be covered by tank destroyers.

In the long term, however, German industry was in a steep decline. A large number of strategic raw material, such as oil, rubber, manganese, tungsten, chromium, nickel, copper, and zinc, became increasingly difficult to obtain. Steel production fell from 9.2 million tons in the first quarter of 1944 to 3.9 million tons during the last quarter.35 To a decline in the quality of the produced military materiel which was the result of strategic metals being replaced with substitutes of lesser quality, was added the effects of deliberate sabotage by foreign slave workers; the latter came to play an increasingly important role in German industry when a growing share of the German working class was mobilized for military service. The deepened crisis in civilian production also had the effect that the military fatigues had to be made of artificial fibre, which did not give the same protection against cold as ordinary wool or cotton, a fact that would have severe repercussions for the German soldiers during the Ardennes Battle. The declining food production-further aggravated in the fall of 1944 through the loss of previously occupied farmlands outside of Germany, along with an intensified Allied air offensive against German communication routes-also had a long-term effect on the physical condition of the German soldiers.


THE MORGENTHAU PLAN

Combat morale among the German soldiers on the Western Front was restored in September 1944, not least through Generalfeldmarschall Model’s harsh methods to halt the disorderly retreat. This made it possible to halt the Allied advance, which in turn further reinforced the German morale. In addition, the expectations elicited on the first so-called ’wonder weapons’—jet planes and V weapons—contributed to give the battered front soldiers hope.

Involuntarily, and through an incomparable tactlessness, the Allies themselves helped to strengthen the German will to resist against the Western Allies. At the Western Allied war conference in Quebec on 14-16 September 1944, U.S. President Roosevelt and Treasury of the Secretary Henry Morgenthau persuaded British Prime Minister Winston Churchill to sign a memorandum on the fate of Germany after the war which in essence was based on a plan created by Morgenthau.1 According to this memorandum, the Allies would de-industrialize Germany after the war and convert it into ’a country primarily agricultural and pastoral in its character.’2

Morgenthau himself had previously studied the fairly detailed information that at this time was available on the Nazi Holocaust of the Jews, and had reacted strongly on this. Meanwhile Roosevelt expressed a desire to somehow neutralize Germany for a long time to come. Professor of Sociology and History at the University of Virginia, Jeffrey K. Olick, who has studied the background of the Morgenthau Plan, concludes that these were the grounds upon which Morgenthau appointed the committee to start drafting the plan.3

Along with Secretary of State Cordell Hull, Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson and Roosevelt’s close associate, Harry Hopkins, Morgenthau was included in the U.S. government committee that was appointed to coordinate the various U.S. government agencies’ proposals in relation to Germany after the war. When Stimson on 23 August 1944 was introduced to Morgenthau’s plan, he protested vigorously. He argued that such a plan could have worked in 1860, when Germany had only 40 million inhabitants, but that now, in the 1940s, it would mean ’the removal of a large number of people from Germany.’4 But Roosevelt went into polemics against Stimson, and two days later he told him in a letter that he considered it to be of the utmost importance that every individual in Germany is made to understand that Germany this time is a defeated nation. It was not his intention that the Germans would starve, but he said that ’if they need food … they can be fed three times a day with soup from Army soup kitchens,’ so that ’they will remember that experience the rest of their lives.’5

In addition to the de-industrialization of Germany, the plan was that Germany would lose the Saar region, the areas between rivers Rhine and Moselle, southern Silesia, and East Prussia. Furthermore, the Rhineland, Westphalia, the North Sea coast and the Kiel Canal area would form an international zone, and with Austria separated again, what remained of Germany would be divided into two smaller states.

It did not take many days before the plan was leaked to the media. On 23 September 1944, it was published in great detail in the Wall Street Journal,  which ran the front-page headline ‘Department of the Treasury plans Division of Germany, Dismantling of Heavy Industry.’

The Germany Propaganda Minister Joseph Goebbels could not have received a better gift. Three days after publication in the Wall Street Journal,  the front-page headline of the Nazi party newspaper Völkischer Beobachter  read, ’Roosevelt and Churchill made Judaism’s murder plan their own.’ The German propaganda claimed that the purpose of the Morgenthau Plan was to ’surrender 30 million Germans to starvation.’ Goebbels linked the Morgenthau Plan with a book published in 1941, Germany must Perish,  by the American businessman Theodore N. Kaufman, who argued that ’sterilization of the German people cannot but be considered a great health measure promoted by humanity to immunize itself forever against the virus of Germanism.’6 In a radio speech on 4 October 1944, Goebbels set the tone by stating that ’hatred and vengeance of character the Old Testament characterizes this plan, created by the American Jew Morgenthau. The industrialized Germany will be literally turned into a gigantic potato field.’

The fact that Roosevelt, following the revelations in the press, on 27 September publicly distanced himself from the plan, did not help. During the remainder of the fall of 1944—during the preparations for the Ardennes Offensive—what the Nazis called the ’Jewish murder plan’ became a constantly recurring theme in the German propaganda against the Western Allies. For instance, in the journal Das Reich  on 21 October 1944, Goebbels wrote, ‘It does not matter if the Bolsheviks destroy the Reich in their own way, or if the Anglo-Saxons do it their way. They both agree on the goal: to annihilate thirty to forty million Germans.’

It was with this in mind that the German soldiers at dawn on 16 December1944 pounced on the American positions to launch the Ardennes Offensive. A few days earlier, the American intelligence agent William Donovan sent President Roosevelt a memorandum from Bern apropos the Morgenthau Plan. There he quoted the Swiss Neue Zürcher Zeitung:

’The conviction that Germany had nothing to expect from defeat but oppression and exploitation still prevails, and that accounts for the fact that the Germans continue to fight. It is not a question of a regime, but of the homeland itself, and to save that, every German is bound to obey the call, whether he be Nazi or member of the opposition.’7

1 Suggested Post-Surrender Program for Germany av Henry Morgenthau jr. docs.fdrlibrary.marist.edu/psf/box31/a297a01.html. 16 April 2014.

2 Olick, In the House of the Hangman: Th e Agonies of German Defeat, 1943-1949, p. 84.

3 Ibid., p. 77.

4 Ibid., p. 79.

5 Blum, Roosevelt in Morgenthau, p. 575-577; op. cit. in Olick, p. 78.

6 Germany must Perish by Th eodore N. Kaufman. en.wikisource.org/wiki/Germany_Must_Perish. 16 April 2014.

7 Memorandum for the President av William Donovan, 11 December 1944. docs.fdrlibrary.marist.edu/psf/box32/a298m03.html. 16 April 2014.



Jodl estimated that 17,000 cubic meters of fuel and 50 train loads of ammunition would be required for Operation ’Wacht am Rhein.’ These amounts could be obtained by using up supply stocks to compensate for what German industry was not able to produce, and the quantities needed were estimated to be ready well before the attack.36 This would rather, in view of the damages wrought upon the German railway net by Allied bombings, depend on whether it would be possible to bring forward these quantities to the front area.
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In the fall of 1944, most major cities in western and central Germany lay in ruins after extensive Allied bombing. (US Army)





On Tuesday, 28 October 1944, Generalmajor Siegfried Westphal, chief of staff at von Rundstedt’s Oberbefehlshaber West Headquarters, and Generalleutnant Hans Krebs, chief of staff in Model’s Heeresgruppe B, were summoned to Hitler’s headquarters where they were duly informed of the attack plan. Hitler opened by telling them that ’Germany could not remain on the defensive, or else her collapse would be inevitable.’ 37 The aim, he explained, was ’the destruction of the bulk of the Allied Western armies’ and to render a new Allied landing in France impossible.38 Having gone through the main outlines of the plan for the offensive and the units which were supposed to be assigned to Heeresgruppe B, Hitler proceeded to describe the support the ground troops were to receive. The two generals were informed that the Luftwaffe would support the offensive with ’incessant waves of 4,000 of the newest type fighter planes,’ where ’each plane will fly two sorties daily to gain aerial superiority over the battlefield and the rear operational area.’39 Furthermore, V weapons would be launched ’in larger numbers than in the past, against Antwerp and Liège.’40

Concerning ammunition, he promised two consumption units in the first line from the first day of the attack, and the troops would then be provided with another three consumption units during the course of the offensive. Regarding fuel he guaranteed three consumption units in the first line on the day the attack opened, followed by a continuous supply. Additionally, 17,000 cubic meters of fuel from the OKW reserves had been stockpiled at the Rhine. A pipeline would even be constructed across the river.41

Percy E. Schramm, secretary at the High Command of the German Armed Forces (OKW), noted that these two experienced generals both were in favour of the offensive plan; the only objection they voiced was that the proposed attack date, 25 November, seemed to be a bit too early to allow all the necessary preparations to be made.42 The operations officer in Heeresgruppe B, Oberstleutnant Reichhelm, also reacted with enthusiasm when he was informed of the plan.43 Reichhelm nevertheless admits that Generalfeldmarschall Model’s first comment was more restrained. ’To me,’ he said, ’the entire thing seems to stand on damned wooden feet.’44

Two days later, Jodl sent field marshals von Rundstedt and Model written information on the plan. This was supplemented with the additional information that Heeresgruppe H also would participate.* This would take place either in the form of an attack by the 15. Armee from the Sittard area (northwest of Aachen), and directed southwards, in conjunction with the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s push towards the west, to envelop the Allied troops in the so-called ’Maas Wedge’ at Maastricht and Aachen right in the seam between Heeresgruppe B and Heeresgruppe H. Or it could be launched from Venlo, twenty miles farther to the north, directed towards the west or the southwest. According to the plan, the progress of the offensive would decide which of these two alternatives would be chosen.45 Nevertheless, Heeresgruppe H would not go into action until the 6. SS-Panzerarmee had achieved an operational breakthrough.

Von Rundstedt and Model immediatley called for a conference to discuss the proposed plan at the headquarters of Heeresgruppe B east of Krefeld.** At this meeting, which took place on 2 November, the forty-seven-year old commander of the 5. Panzerarmee, General der Panzertruppen Hasso von Manteuffel, would become something of the main character. Since Model’s army group would carry out the main onslaught, von Rundstedt declined to utter any opinion on the matter until he had heard what Model had to say, and Model in turn decided to wait until the highly experienced von Manteuffel had spoken.

Following a short introduction by von Rundstedt, Krebs gave the assembled men more details on the plan. Among other things, he informed them that the attack was to be launched sometime between 1030 and 1100 hrs, following a two-hour artillery preparation by all armies of Heeresgruppe B. This artillery preparation would, in combination with air attacks, be launched exactly simultaneously all along the front line.46 When Krebs had finished talking, von Manstein took the floor. ’Only on the condition that the following “promises” are met,’ he said, ’will I be able to reach and cross the Meuse,’ and then he listed what he considered to be the basic conditions:

First of all, a local air supremacy over the front area as well as the supply bases and the supply routes must be ensured as soon as the bad weather period in which the offensive shall be launched has ended. Furthermore, the assault units must have full strength, be rested and be in place in their points of departure in due time before the attack. In addition to this, the mobility of the motorized units, of the reconnaissance units of all divisions, of the artillery, the anti-aircraft and the bridge construction units had to be ‘decisively’ improved. Moreover, the aim of having the needed quantities of ammunition, communication equipment, fuel, oil, spare parts, etc at the direct disposal of the first-line units no later than on the attack day, must be fully reached.47 Should not all these conditions be met, von Manteuffel maintained, the assault units would be able to reach ’no further than the Meuse, and establish bridgeheads there.’48

The commander of 6. SS-Panzerarmee, the main assault force, SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer Sepp Dietrich, remained silent.49 Model, who had been listening with the greatest attention, asked for a follow-up meeting with von Manteuffel. This took place that same afternoon, with von Manteuffel, Model, and Krebs present.

When the three men met, Model opened by saying that he basically agreed with von Manteuffel, but that he wished him to develop his ideas further. To what he had previously said, von Manteuffel now added the importance of the reserves arriving in due time, thus preventing any interruption in the advance, and ’an immediate and highly prioritized’ assignment of additional motor vehicles to the first-line units.50 But first and foremost, he stressed that a local air supremacy over the entire are, extending from the battlefield and back to River Rhine, was the prerequisite for any success at all.51

Von Manteuffel also had objections against the use of the preparatory artillery fire. First of all, he said, the proposed time for the opening of the attack, between ten and ten thirty in the forenoon, was far too late in the day, since it meant that the assault forces would have no more than seven hours of daylight during the first day of the attack. Furthermore, a two-hour artillery preparation was too long and would unnecessarily alert the Americans.52 Von Manteuffel was opposed to a ’general’ artillery fire. Instead he advocated a flexible use of artillery against enemy points of resistance, but only when assaulting units requested so. He said that he might consider ’doubtlessly identified strong [American] points of resistance and artillery positions’ to be ’occasionally shelled by artillery at a time that had to be decided upon in advance—on the condition that the caliber of their own artillery pieces, the supply of ammunition, and the terrain made it possible to expect success from such an artillery fire.’ But even such a use of artillery had to be restricted to no more than 45 minutes. ’In general,’ von Manteuffel said, ’we must strive as far as possible to attack without any “spectacular fireworks”.’ He would rather see a ’hunter’s stealth’ toward the American positions, without—as he expressed it—any ’awakening with music.’ 53

Von Manteuffel also suggested that the time for the launching of the attack would be moved back to 0530 hrs, combined with an initial infiltration of the American lines while it still was dark, on a wide front and conducted by small assault units, before any artillery fire at all was opened.* The latter, he added, was ’a method that both we and the Red Army has used with great success on the Eastern Front’—it was to the letter the method the Soviets had used in order to puncture the German defense lines when Operation ’Bagration’ was launched on 22 June 1944.54 He also argued that the attack date should be moved forward from 25 November until no sooner than 10 December, in order to grant the preparatory work sufficient time.

Model wanted to sleep on it, and when the three men met again on 3 November, this time at one of the corps headquarters in the 5. Panzerarmee, he expressed his support for all of von Manteuffel’s proposals.55 During the continued discussion, Model and von Manteuffel agreed on an alternative operational plan: Instead of advancing across the Meuse, once the operational breakthrough had been achieved, the two panzer armies would turn north, with their left flank protected by the Meuse and the 7. Armee covering the southern flank. Simultaneously, the 15. Armee would strike from the Sittard area in the southeasternmost corner of the Netherlands, and linking up in the Tongres area northwest of Liège in eastern Belgium, the two attack forces would trap between twenty and twenty-five British and American divisions. Which step to take next was left open, depending on how the battle developed, but both commanders could imagine a resumed advance towards the west, with the objective of reaching Antwerp once the enveloped enemy forces had been annihilated.56 They called this the ’small solution,’ opposite to the original plan, which they referred to as the ’big solution.’** Nevertheless, in his reply to Jodl’s proposed offensive plan which the supreme commander in the West, Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt, sent Hitler on 3 November, there was no hint of any questioning of Antwerp as the prime target. Quite to the contrary, von Rundstedt declared that he ’basically was of the same opinion as the High Command.’57 However, he did suggest that the northern pincer attack would be launched simultaneously with the main attack, which might be regarded as a kind of combination of the ’small’ and the ’big’ solutions. But this, as well as the ’small solution,’ was turned down by Hitler, who argued that it would mean that the spearhead of the German attack prematurely would become sucked into costly fighting with strong Allied forces.

Percy E. Schramm, in charge of the war diary in the headquarters of the German Armed Forces (OKW) between 1943 and 1945, characterizes the differences between the military commanders and Hitler in this regard as a meeting of different approaches.58 On one hand, Model, von Manteuffel, and von Rundstedt represented the scientific approach—the science called art of war, and which includes a falsification of the hypothesis which each military plan actually can be described as. This ’cooler’ scientific approach, deriving from a strictly military viewpoint, met Hitler’s thinking, which can be described as both holistic and idealistic (here in contrast to materialistic), as well as strongly emotional. Hitler had grown accustomed to regarding his generals as overly cautious and narrow in their thinking. After all, the Nazi dictator’s personal experience—his almost unequalled political career from his time as a member of an inconspicuous political sect in 1919 to becoming the Leader of one of the world’s most powerful states fourteen years later—seemed to indicate that ’the impossible was possible’ for a man with ’a will of steel.’

Not without reason, Hitler felt reassured because there had been a similar disagreement between him and his generals before the previous great offensive in the West, the one which was launched on 10 May 1940, ending in Great Britain’s expulsion from the Continent and total victory over France. When Hitler on that occasion ordered preparations to be made for the great offensive in the West, the commander of the German Army at that time, von Brauchitsch, and his chief of staff, Halder, had expected the German offensive to become ’stalled at the Franco-Belgian border, where a positional war of attrition would ensue.’59 The army group commanders on the Western Front also had submitted their misgivings in writing, and this was distributed to the commanders of all armies.60 Then, when a bold lieutenant general by the name of Erich von Manstein in the fall of 1939 suggested that the attack was to be launched in the Ardennes, which won Hitler’s appreciation, the Army High Command had dismissed the idea of ’an attack through the Ardennes, poor in adequate roads, broken by deep valleys running in a north-southerly direction’ as something completely impossible.61 And still, it would be precisely this plan which just a few months later resulted in one of the brightest victories in military history.

However, it would be an error to think that Hitler was totally insusceptible to objections from the military commanders—after all, he held many of them in the highest regard, not least of whom was Model. On 5 November 1944, the Führer ordered the assault force to be reinforced, much in line with von Manteuffel’s proposals. According to the original draft of 11 October, the attack force would consist of twenty-three divisions with another seven held in reserve; this force now was expanded to thirty-eight divisions, including fifteen panzer or panzer grenadier divisions.62 And although Hitler did not immediately agree to move forward the attack date as far as von Manteuffel and Model requested, on 10 November he decided to postpone the date until 1 December. Eight days later, when he issued modified instructions, he also had restricted the preparatory artillery fire to one hour.

Hitler’s promise that the offensive would be supported by ’incessant waves of 4,000 of the newest type fighter planes’ may have sounded as merely an expression of wishful thinking, but as a matter of fact, this assertion was based on actual strength reports from the Luftwaffe. As we have seen previously, German aircraft production reached its peak in September 1944, when over four thousand aircraft were manufactured. Following the retreat from France that same month, the Inspector of the German Fighter Aviation, Generalmajor Galland, had accomplished a great work in the rebuilding of the Luftwaffe’s fighter force. By the formation of new fighter wings, tucking away several units to the reserve, and strictly limiting the combat operations of those remaining in first-line service, Galland was on 12 November 1944 able to report a never hitherto seen strength of the German fighter force: 3,700 aircraft and pilots. To this figure should be added around twelve hundred night fighters, of which several would be used as night attack aircraft during the Ardennes Offensive, plus nine hundred ground-attack aircraft (of which the bulk served on the Eastern Front) and over five hundred bombers.63 Hence, in total, the Luftwaffe disposed around 6,500 aircraft by that time.*
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Generalfeldmarschall Walter Model (left), Generalfeldmarschall Gerd von Rundstedt (center), and Generalleutnant Hans Krebs (chief of staff in Model’s Heeresgruppe B) study the map over the Ardennes during a conference at von Rundstedt’s headquarters on the Western Front in November 1944. (BArch, Bild 146-1978-024-31)





On 14 November, the C-in-C of the Luftwaffe, Reichsmarschall Hermann Göring, presented the outlines for the Luftwaffe’s participation in Operation ’Wacht am Rhein.’64 In September 1944, Generaloberst Hans-Jürgen Stumpff’s Luftflotte Reich, responsible for the air defense of the Reich, also took command of Luftwaffenkommando West, which organized and led air operations in the West.* Luftwaffenkommando West, which on 16 November was subordinated to Generalleutnant Josef Schmid, was tasked to despatch the fighter and ground-attack units of the II. Jagdkorps, as well as the bombers, night ground-attack, and night fighter aviation of the 3. Flieger-Division to the support of ’Wacht am Rhein.’

The II. Jagdkorps (Generalmajor Dietrich Peltz), with its subordinate 3. Jagd-Division, Jagdfliegerführer Mittelrhein (Fighter Command Middle Rhein), and 5. Jagd-Division, would be used to neutralize the menace from the Allied aviation and provide the advancing ground units with close air support. The 3. Jagd-Division (Generalmajor Walter Grabmann)—consisting of Jagdgeschwaders 1, 6, 26, and 301, plus the ground-attack wing Schlachtgeschwader 4—was tasked to lead the air operations over the Netherlands, the German territory just to the east of the Netherlands, and the northernmost part of Belgium.**

The bulk of the units in II. Jagdkorps—Jagdgeschwaders 2, 3, 4, 11, 27, 53, and 77—were stationed in the area from the Bonn region and southward, operating directly under Jagdfliegerführer Mittelrhein (Oberstleutnant Hans Trübenbach) in the north, and the 5. Jagd-Division (Generalmajor Karl Hentschel) in the south.

The 3. Flieger-Division (Generalmajor Sigismund Freiherr von Falkenstein) was assigned with the task of providing air support at night: Twin-engine Junkers Ju 88s and Junkers Ju 188s of I. Gruppe/ Kampfgeschwader 66 and Lehrgeschwader 1, Me 262jet planes from Kampfgeschwader 51, and Arado 234s from Kampfgeschwader 76 were to carry out bombing attacks against lines of communication in the Allied rear area. The night ground-attack groups Nachtschlachtgruppe 1 and 2 (equipped with old Junkers 87 dive bombers) and NSGr 20 (Fw 190) were to strike at night against Allied airfields and troop concentrations. The night fighter wing Nachtjagdgeschwader 2 (Ju 88) would also be deployed in these operations, but its main task was to cover the German troop assembly areas against Allied air attacks during the hours of darkness. Furthermore, the special unit III. Gruppe/Kampfgeschwader 66 (incorporated into Kampfgeschwader 200) was supposed to launch so-called ’Mistel’ planes against particularly important bridges in the Allied rear area.***

On 16 December 1944, a total of 1,492 fighters, 171 bombers, 91 ground-attack aircraft, and 40 reconnaissance aircraft were ready to support the Ardennes Offensive.65

The cooperation between air and ground forces was carefully prepared. Each of the army divisions that would take part in the offensive was assigned with an air surveillance unit, and strong efforts were made to secure a smooth direct radio connection between the various headquarters of the first-line Army units, the Luftwaffe liaison officers assigned to ground units, and the Luftwaffe’s various operational headquarters.

Fliegerführungstruppe 1, where Oberst Gordon Gollob led the fighter operations and Major Heinrich Brücker led the close air support, was to lead the direct air support of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee. The direct air support of the 5. Panzerarmee was led by Fliegerführungstruppe 2, where Oberstleutnant Karl-Gottfried Nordmann was in charge of fighter operations and Oberstleutnant Alfred Druschel directed the close air support.66 These were well-versed and highly decorated air officers: Gollob was the first pilot of the war to reach 150 aerial victories, Brücker was one of the early Stuka and ground-attack fliers of the Luftwaffe, Nordmann had flown more than 800 fighter missions since 1939, and Druschel was the first and most experienced unit commander of the German ground-attack aviation, in action since 1938.

The Luftwaffe anti-aircraft corps III. Flak-Korps under General Wolfgang Pickert also was tasked to cover the attacking ground forces and their rear area against Allied air attacks. This AAA corps’ 2. Flak-Division (Oberst Fritz Laicher), with 35 heavy and 37 medium or light antiaircraft batteries, was assigned to the 6. SS-Panzerarmee; Flak-Brigade XIX (Oberst Paul Schluchtmann), with 20 heavy and 44 medium or light anti-aircraft batteries, to the 5. Panzerarmee; Flak-Brigade I (Oberst Oskar Schöttl), with 16 heavy and 15 medium or light anti-aircraft batteries, to the 7. Armee. Each of these anti-aircraft batteries was composed of two or three groups of eight guns apiece. Apart from the Luftwaffe’s anti-aircraft batteries, the various Army and SS units had their own air defense units. Moreover, three battalions of anti-aircraft searchlights were allocated to the Ardennes Offensive.67

While the attack plans were developed and refined, the turn of events at the front would influence the German assault force as well as the German assessment of the chance the attack had to achieve success. Repeated attacks by U.S. First Army against the German city of Aachen, close to the location where Germany’s, the Netherland’s and Belgium’s (present) borders meet, provided the Germans with new and important lessons regarding their American opponent. To begin with, the object of the attack, Aachen, with its strong fortifications (the city had been incorporated into the West Wall), can hardly be regarded as a good choice: The German generals shook their heads in disbelief as they watched the Americans run headlong into this strong point in the German defense instead of simply bypassing the city to the south, where the defense was considerably weaker. In spite of their manifold numerical superiority, the Americans were pushed back with bloody losses when they assaulted the city in the second half of September.

Here another American weak spot became obvious. It turned out that they rapidly replaced their losses with insufficiently trained recruits and officers who displayed an amazing lack of tactical knowledge. On 1 October, U.S. 1st Infantry Division, which had been bloodied at Aachen, had been rebuilt to its assigned strength, but 70 percent of the troops were hastily trained recruits.68 The Germans noted that the Americans were yet another opponent who seemed to favour quantity over quality. It was not until the Americans brought forward an entirely new army—the Ninth under Lieutenant General William Simpson—that they finally managed to squeeze the German defenders out of Aachen. On 21 October, the city was in American hands.

But the capture of Aachen was a hollow victory. The Ninth Army was unable to continue further into Germany because of the River Rur/Roer, which flows past in a northeastern direction to the east of Aachen, until four miles further to the north it joins the Maas/Meuse.* Since the Germans controlled the large Roer dams at Schwammenauel, about fifteen miles southeast of Aachen, they were in the position to let the Roer overflow its banks at any time. To save his troops from a veritable deluge, Lieutenant General Simpson had little choice but to hold back his forces.

In this situation, Lieutenant General Courtney Hodges despatched his U.S. First Army straight into the Hürtgenwald, a 50 square mile area of dense forests in a terribly rugged terrain half-way between Aachen and the Roer dams. Here the Americans got stuck in a battle lasting several months against a numerically inferior opponent who with utmost skill used the terrain to his own advantage. Military historian John Ellis is harsh in his judgement of this American operation:

Another fastness that the Americans would have done well to avoid was the Hürtgen Forest, just to the south of Aachen. The dense and dark terrain, worthy of the grimmest fairy-tale vision, formed a tactical quagmire for any attacking force. In September and October, however, the Americans insisted on plunging straight in, claiming that it represented a serious threat to their right flank. This was doubtful, as the Forest sheltered only one weak infantry division and was too dense to screen the assembly of a substantial force. By attacking into the Forest the Americans both multiplied the combat effectiveness of the incumbent division, fighting from strong prepared positions, and nullified the effects of their own aircraft, artillery and tanks.69

Having been repulsed by the German defense force, including the 116. Panzer-Division, the Americans despatched 4,000 aircraft, of which 2,400 were heavy bombers, against Hürtgenwald on 16 November. Around 10,000 tons of bombs were dropped, which of course had a terrible impact on the German defenders. However, when this massed air effort was made, the U.S. ground troops had pulled back several miles, and when they finally were able to move forward across the cratered ground to attack the Germans, these had already managed to re-organize their defense positions. This led the Americans to the somewhat erroneous conclusions that not even the strongest air assault sufficed to break the defense of the Hürtgenwald. The Battle of the Hürtgenwald nevertheless provided the Germans with further lessons ahead of ’Wacht am Rhein.’ The OKW noted, ’The fact that an average of around 200 U.S. troops were captured each day, although we fought a defensive battle, is a clear evidence of the superiority of our own troops.’70

The Battle of the Hürtgenwald ended with a German defensive victory that cost U.S. First Army at least 33,000 casualties, whereby two entire divisions were so badly mauled that they had to be pulled out of combat. One of these, the 28th Infantry Division, had sustained 7,500 casualties in only a few weeks starting on 2 November. The fact that the 28th Infantry Division on 28 November was regrouped to the south to man an important sector of the Ardennes Front, was a clear indication that the Allies might be running out of reserves.

But the Battle of the Hürtgenwald also had a strong impact on the forces intended for ’Wacht am Rhein.’ On 21 November, von Rundstedt reported that both the 9. and the 116. Panzer divisions, as well as the 3. and 15. Panzergrenadier divisions would be ’tied down for a long time’ by this battle; he also reported that the 47. and 340. Volksgrenadier divisions had been sucked into the battle, and that this might also apply to the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division; it was impossible to detach the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division from Hürtgenwald, and the 10. SS-Panzer-Division probably also would have to be committed.71 The situation was quite similar further to the south, where German 1. Armee was under heavy pressure since 7 November, when Patton’s Third Army had resumed its offensive. Meanwhile, the newly formed U.S. 6th Army Group was attacking from the south, ousting the Germans from Belfort on the 21st and Strasbourg on 23 November. In this sector, the Germans had no chance to release any forces for ’Wacht am Rhein’—quite to the opposite, on 21 November, when Metz was lost, one of the panzer divisions intended for the Ardennes Offensive, the élite Panzer Lehr, was employed in an effort to halt Patton’s offensive. But this met with little success, and Panzer Lehr soon was pulled back to the reserve again. Von Rundstedt’s report concerning this sector on 21 November, reads, ’At Heeresgruppe G it is impossible to release the 11. and 21. Panzer divisions, the 17. SS-Panzergrenadier-Division or the 21. Panzer Division’s task force. From this follows that about four Volksgrenadier divisions and perhaps nine motorized units will be unable to participate in the upcoming [Ardennes] offensive.’72
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American soldiers of the 110th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division during the bloody battles in the Hürtgen Forest in the fall of 1944. (NARC/G. W. Goodman, US Army Signal Corps)





With over 800 tanks and an overwhelming air support at his disposal, Patton steadily came closer to the German border.73 German 1. Armee, which mustered not more than seventy-four tanks and tank destroyers, barely managed to check the American attack at the West Wall in the Saar area.74 But in mid-December, Patton prepared his army for a new great offensive into the Saar, ’the biggest blitz in the Third Army’s history,’ as the colorful General expressed it.75 However, this was something that the German Ardennes Offensive would thwart.

The forces assembled for ’Wacht am Rhein’ also could have dealt a severe blow against the joint offensive which by the same time involved U.S. First and Ninth Army further to the north—with much more far-reaching consequences to the Americans. The American breakthrough at Aachen and Hürtgenwald had created a thirty-mile wide wedge into the German front lines between Monschau and Sittard in the north. The Germans estimated that their opponent had massed eleven infantry and three armored divisions in this sector. On 20 November, Model proposed the launching of the 15. Armee and the 6. SS-Panzerarmee ’in a pincer operation aimed at dealing a deadly blow against the tightly grouped enemy units.’ Thus, he argued, not only would the preconditions for a successful envelopment of U.S. Ninth Army and the closest elements of U.S. First and British 2nd armies be created, but this would also help facilitate a continued advance towards Antwerp.76 Hence, this was a new combination of the ’small’ and the ’big’ solutions—or rather, the former’s successive transformation into the latter—and the idea immediately received von Rundstedt’s unreserved support. But the proposal was rejected already on 22 November by Hitler, who feared that anything similar would turn the offensive into ’a battle of attrition, which presumably would have spared so few of the reserve units, that the initial phase could not possibly be succeeded by a second one.’77 Hitler’s reply also contained directives concerning further reinforcements to the forces which were being made ready for ’Wacht am Rhein,’ in order to compensate for the forces that had been tied down by the American offensives:

The 167. and 560. Volksgrenadier divisions and the 10. SS-Panzer-Division were to join the attack force during the first half of December. These were not expected to arrive in time to take part in the initial onslaught, but further reserves would be assigned, in part by pulling out units from other sectors of the Western Front, and in part by regrouping three Volksgrenadier divisions (79., 259., and 320.) and a mountain division (6. SS-Gebirgs-Division) from Norway. In addition to this, the first-line units in the Ardennes would be provided with a number of replacement battalions (so-called Marschbataillon) with altogether 50,000 recruits—20,000 men before 1 December, another 20,000 up until 8 December, and 10,000 more before 15 December.78

On 26 November Jodl visited Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt at his headquarters in Ziegenberg outside of Bad Nauheim, around a dozen miles to the north of Frankfurt. Jodl stressed that the Führer irrevocably stood firm with ’the big plan.’ Jodl also had a further aim with his visit—to inspect the well-masked and heavily fortified castle Schloss Ziegenberg. Located just in the vicinity, this had been modified in 1939-1940 to serve as the ’Führer Headquarters.’ However, it was better known by its code name—Adlerhorst  (’Eagle’s Nest’). Next day, Hitler announced that he accepted von Manteuffel’s and Model’s suggestion to move back the time for the launching of the infantry assault to some time between 0600 and 0630 hrs, following a preparatory artillery fire which had been further reduced to 30-60 minutes. Moreover, he postponed the attack date by another week to 7 December.79 Shortly afterward, the decision was made to shift the attack date (Null-Tag)  to 10 December.80

On 29 November, Model issued the attack order, based on Jodl’s guidelines from 10 November. But he and von Manteuffel still wished to meet with Hitler at a conference in order to once and for all thoroughly analyze the pros and cons of the ’big’ and the ’small’ solutions, as well as to discuss a couple of practical details concerning the attack. Hitler agreed, and the conference was held in the Reich Chancellery in Berlin on 2 December. Present at this meeting were, apart from Hitler, the military commanders Model, von Manteuffel, and Dietrich, as well as around fifty other officers. Von Rundstedt was conspiciously absent. Model and von Manteuffel had visited the Western Commander in Ziegenberg in an attempt to win his support for the ’small’ solution, but by now von Rundstedt had no interest in yet another debate around the attack plan. He had himself represented at the conference in Berlin by his chief of staff Westphal.

At the conference on 2 December it was clear from the beginning that Hitler had no intention to abandon the ’big solution.’ He admitted, which von Manteuffel found to be quite remarkable, that the relatively distant objective Antwerp was a ’hazardous game,’ but he also said that the present situation made it necessary to ’stake everything on one card.’81 Continuing, the Führer stressed that immensely much was to be gained if the so-called ’big solution’ became a 100-percent success: Not only U.S. First and Ninth armies, but also British 21 Army Group would thereby become enveloped and annihilated. Hitler pointed at the disagreements between the U.S. and British military commands, and maintained that if the objective of the German offensive could be reached, these disagreements would deepen and even spread to the political level. ’Canada,’ he said, ’might even withdraw from the war for a prolonged time as a result of the loss of the main part of its armed forces in the battle of encirclement.’82

Hitler also explained that the offensive had quite good opportunities to be successful; it would be launched in a sector where, bearing in mind the weak Allied forces, ’our available forces most certainly will achieve a breakthrough.’ Since the offensive also would be opened at a time when bad weather prevented the Allied aviation from interfering, a rapid breakthrough could be expected. ’Thus,’ he continued, ‘the armored units will have gained freedom of movement and will be able to surge forward rapidly to establish bridgeheads across the Meuse between Liège and Namur, after which they will continue to the northeast, bypass Brussels and reach Antwerp.’83 Even if the offensive will be only partially successful, he said, it will force the Allies to postpone their own offensive plans by at least eight to ten weeks, which will provide Germany with a badly needed breather.84

The result of the conference on 2 December was that the ’big solution’ remained the major attack plan. However, the difference of opinion between the advocates of the ’small solution’ and those in favour of the ’big solution’ should not be exaggerated. The difference was mainly of tactical nature: Those arguing for the ’small solution’ intended to create better conditions for the ’big solution,’ while Hitler believed that this threatened to wear down the German assault units—for an aim that still would be reached if the ’big solution’ was crowned with success. Still, according to Schramm at OKW, both ’sides’ agreed that ’the question of adhering to Antwerp as the objective could be shelved for the time being,’ since this would be decided only when and if the Germans crossed the Meuse.85 In the event that it would be impossible to cross the Meuse, the advocates of the ’small solution’ expected that they would be allowed to carry out their alternative plan, i.e. a more restricted pincer operation, through which the conditions for a renewed assault towards the west could be created. As we shall see further on, they had all the reason to expect this, since Hitler, when it later on turned out that the Meuse could not be reached, promptly adjusted and modified the aim of the offensive. If, on the other hand, the Germans could succeed in pushing their enemy back across the Meuse, it would at that stage be easier to establish whether the available forces were strong enough for a continued thrust towards Antwerp. In consequence, the differing opinions concerning the operation never resulted in a command crisis. ’Besides,’ Schramm pointed out, ’insofar as Generalfeldmarschall Model was concerned, he approached the Führer’s point of view by his inclination of always demanding the impossible in order to obtain the utmost.’86

Furthermore, Hitler met Model’s and von Manteuffel’s requests in several instances. By large, he undertook measures to satisfy the demands presented by von Manteuffel—with the support of Model—as preconditions for a successful offensive. Von Manteuffel’s top priority, that his supply lines under no conditions were to be disturbed by enemy air attacks, was met to the best of ability, partly placing the attack at a time of a prolonged period of bad weather, and partly by a maximum concentration of German aircraft to support the offensive.

Model and von Manteuffel had requested that the armored reserves were to be assigned to the 6. SS- Panzerarmee and the 5. Panzerarmee instead of, as the original plan envisaged, using them in the flank attack by the 15. Armee. Hitler, wrote Schramm, ’inclined towards the point of view of Generalfeldmarschall Model and General der Panzertruppen von Manteuffel, that it was preferable—once the offensive was progressing successfully—to bring up all available reserves behind the attack divisions in order to take advantage of the breakthrough, instead of unnecessarily using them up for unsuccessful containing attacks on other sectors of the front.’87 Thereby, powerful second and third attack waves were created.

Model and von Manteuffel also asked for the first attack wave to be reinforced, which was approved by Hitler. Similarly, their proposal to postpone the attack date had gained Hitler’s acquiescence, and von Manteuffel had managed to restrict the timelength of the preparatory artillery fire.

At the meeting with Hitler on 2 December, von Manteuffel even was able to convince the Führer that the time of the attack should be moved back until 0530 hrs, and he gained Hitler’s support for the idea that the 5. Panzerarmee would open its attack through ’infiltration,’ without any preceding massed artillery fire. Nevertheless, SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer Sepp Dietrich did not believe in the latter, which is why the 6. SS-Panzerarmee would launch its attack in a more ’classic’ manner with an opening artillery barrage. In addition, von Manteuffel obtained permission to create a so-called ’artificial moonlight’ during the initial hours of the attack—anti-aircraft searchlights would be brought forward to the 5. Panzerarmee’s forward positions in order to illuminate the low clouds over the front area, whereby the own troops would be helped to locate the direction in the dark winter morning.

With the exception of a few minor adjustments which were made on 4 December, and another couple of small modifications made on Hitler’s demands on 9 December, the final attack plan now was established. In order to hide the intentions even further, Model changed—on 29 November—the operation’s code name from ’Wacht am Rhein’ to ’Herbstnebel’ (Autumn Fog).88 The countdown to the attack had begun.


HIDE, MISLEAD, CONCEAL!

A prerequisite for the success of the operation was that the Germans managed to take the enemy by surprise, and because of that it was imperative that the preparations were surrounded with the strictest secrecy. This was emphasized by Hitler already at the conference on 16 September 1944, when the idea of an offensive in the Ardennes in 1944 was presented for the first time. Preparations were carried out with an extensive operation of the kind known in German as Verschleiung  -which in a military context means to hide, mislead and conceal. To begin with, the attack plan was kept secret to everyone but a very small circle of initiates until the very last moment. Not even the Fighter General Galland had any idea of what was coming when he on 20 November was ordered to transfer large parts of his fighter force back to the Western Front.

Spreading the information on the plan of attack also took place in compliance with strict confidentiality, and in the following order:

16 September: At the Führer Headquarters near Rastenburg, Generalfeldmarschall Wilhelm Keitel, commander of the German Armed Forces High Command (OKW), Generaloberst Jodl, commander of the German Armed Forces’ Operations Command (Wehrmachtführungsstab), Generaloberst Guderian, commander of the German Army Staff, and, via his chief of staff, General Kreipe, the Luftwaffe’s C-in-C, Reichsmarschall Göring, are informed.

11 October: In conjunction with Generaloberst Jodl’s presentation of his first draft of a plan of attack, the personnel of the Wehrmachtführungsstab are also informed.

22 October: Hitler personally introduces SS-ObersturmbannFührer Otto Skorzeny into the fundamentals of the plan and instructs him to prepare his secret support operation with Germans in American uniforms.

28 October: Generalmajor Westphal, chief of staff of the Superior Command on the Western Front (OB West) and Generalleutnant Krebs, chief of staff in Heeresgruppe B, are introduced to the plan, and through them, also the C-in-C on the Western Front, von Rundstedt, and the commander of Heeresgruppe B, Model. In connection therewith, the commands of the relevant armies (6. SS-Panzerarmee, 5. Panzerarmee, 7. Armee, and 15.Armee) are also informed. In these armies, however, only the commander, the chief of staff, the operations officer (Ia), and one more particularly trusted officer are informed. The intelligence officer (Ic), the quartermaster, and the commanders of the engineer troops, and the signal and artillery units within each army are not briefed on the plan until it is absolutely necessary for the operation, and the Army Group has given its consent thereto.

The corps commanders were not briefed until the end of November 1944, and the divisional commanders only from 1 December 1944 onward—but in fact, for instance Bayerlein, C.O. of the Panzer Lehr Division, still had not been oriented about the impending attack as late as on 10 December. The regimental commander were notified of the imminent offensive only on 13 December, the battalion commanders on 14 December, and the company commanders not until the evening of 15 December—when the troops were oriented about what was coming. In certain units the men were not oriented until early on 16 December.1

During the war, in a top-secret facility at Bletchley Park northwest of London, the British decrypted German radio broadcast messages that were encrypted with the help of Enigma cipher machines—one of which the Brits had come across a functional copy of. This was called operation ’Ultra,’ and it often played a crucial role on the battlefield. But ahead of precisely the Ardennes Offensive, the Allies did not have much use of Ultra, since Hitler prohibited his men to discuss anything relating to the coming offensive by phone, teleprinter or radio. In addition, all orders and messages concerning the Offensive were ordered to begin with the phrase ’in preparation for an expected enemy offensive…,’ and they could be passed on only personally by the initiates or well trusted officers. Couriers were not allowed to use aircraft.2 During visits at the front, senior commanders were instructed not to wear their General’s Uniform, but had to carry a uniform with a lower-ranking officer’s insignias.3

Moreover, great efforts were made to hide, mislead and conceal the formations of the attack units, as well as their deployments. In order to release the staff of the 5. Panzerarmee (Panzerarmee-Oberkommando 5) for the preparatory work and the build-up ahead of the offensive, the staff of the 15. Armee was released from Heeresgruppe H in the Netherlands, and on 14 November assumed command of the sector which hitherto had been held by the panzer army. In order to mislead the opponent, the staff of the 15. Armee changed its designation to ’Gruppe von Manteuffel’—the name of the 5. Panzerarmee’s commander. On 16 November, the new 25. Armee—which was formed on 10 November through the redesignation of Wehrmachtbefehlshaber Niederlande in the Netherlands—was officially designated ’15. Armee.’ The real headquarters of the 5. Panzerarmee was transferred to the Eifel region in western Germany—i.e. the area bordering to Belgium and northern Luxembourg—and was assigned with the cover name ’Military Police Command for Special Purposes’ (Feldjägerkommando z.b.V.).4 The units that were withdrawn from the front in order to replenish their strength under the 5. Panzerarmee’s supervision, were carefully masked in the dense forests of the area. The troops were quartered in small and modest villages throughout the Eifel region. Any movement of troops intended for the offensive was allowed only with rigorous masking and in the hours of darkness. The air defense was ordered to under no circumstances fire at enemy aircraft at any greater extent than before. Total radio silence was ordered.

The staff of the new 6. SS-Panzerarmee was assigned with the name of ’Reconstruction Staff 16’ (Auffrischungsstab 16). The various units submitted to the 6. SS-Panzerarmee transferred to northwestern Germany, where they were officially designed ’construction staffs.’ or ’construction battalions’ while they had their strength replenished.5

Several false and misleading orders and directives were despatched. To simulate the assembly of the 6. Panzerarmee northwest of Cologne, radio messages were sent to give the impression of this, while conspicuous troop movements were carried out in this area during daytime.6 On 20 November a separate operation was initiated to create the impression that the 25. Armee grouped in the area around Cologne with ten divisions—including some of those who in fact were part of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee—for the alleged purpose to serve as a reserve against a possible Allied breakthrough at Aachen. Small groups of soldiers and radio stations worked frantically to reinforce this impression. Fictional troop quarters were established in villages in the area, and ditto directional signs were put up. In order to further mislead, large troop marches were also carried out a bit further north.7 On 7 December, a false rumor was planted that the 5. Panzerarmee would be deployed for an offensive at Trier in January-February 1945.8

The real deployment of the assault units to their starting positions for the attack took place only in the very last days and hours before the offensive. To reduce the risk that the march was revealed by deserters, all so-called ’Volksdeutsche’ (Polish Germans, Ukrainian Germans, etc., but primarily soldiers from the German-annexed areas of Belgium and Luxembourg and the former French Elsass/Alsace) were temporarily removed from the assault units, to be returned not before the offensive had begun. Moreover, Hitler demanded a special daily report from von Rundstedt about all deserters during the past 48 hours. As it would turn out, the number of deserters on the Western Front was surprisingly low—there were only five of them between 1 and 12 December 1944.

Altogether, these Verschleiungs  operations resulted in the attack hitting the Allies with a total surprise at dawn on 16 December 1944.

1 Diary Horst Helmus, 26. Volksgrenadier-Division.

2 OB West Ia Nr 9548/44 g.Kdos. 25.10 1944; OKL Führungsstab Ia Nr 10321/44 g.Kdos. 10.11 1944; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 126.

3 OKL Führungsstab Ia Nr 10320/44 g.Kdos 20.10. 1944; Jung, p. 126.

4 OB West Ia Nr 890/44 g.Kdos. 13.11 1944; Jung, p. 125.

5 Lehmann, ISS Panzer Corps (15 Oct.-16 Dec. 1944). B-577, p. 3.

6 Schramm, The Preparations for the German Offensive in the Ardennes (Sep to Dec 1944). A-862, p. 228.

7 Lehmann, B-577, p. 4.

8 Schramm, A-862, p. 227.
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Reichsmarschall Hermann Göring, the Luftwaffe’s C-in-C, during an inspection tour in Germany. (Trautloft)







* On 23 August, Hitler dismissed the commander of German Luftflotte 3 on the Western Front, Generalfeldmarschall Hugo Sperrle. In early September 1944 Hitler was even prepared to dismantle the Luftwaffe on the Western Front altogether, and on 19 September he fired Kreipe, whom he characterized as as both ‘a defeatist and unreliable.’

* Before Skorzeny had the opportunity to execute this mission, he undertook another operation with at least as far-reaching consequences . Over the course of the summer of 1944 the German Eastern Front collapsed, and in this context Hitler lost his old ‘brothers in arms’ Rumania, Bulgaria, and Finland. Hungary seemed to be next in line. When Hitler learned that this country’s leader, Admiral Miklós Horthy, was holding secret negotiations with the Soviet Union, he summoned Skorzeny and asked him to ‘do something about it.’ Skorzeny went into action, as quickly as mercilessly. In the afternoon of 15 October 1944, Admiral Horthy had barely spoke on the radio, announcingHungary’s withdrawal from the war, when Skorzeny and his commandos assaulted the Presidential Palace and took the admiral as their prisoner. The plan was to force Horthy to accept that a Hungarian puppet government take over to continue the war on the German side. The admiral probably would have rejected this, had it not been for Skorzeny’s very special trump card: Just a few hours earlier, Skorzeny had tricked the Hungarian leader’s son into a trap, beat him unconscious and abducted him—wrapped in a Persian rug, like in a classic Agent movie. Fearing for his son’s life, Admiral Horthy signed the paper that guaranteed Hungary’s continued participation in the war on Germany’s side.

* The rumour that the 116. Panzer-Division received such equipment probably derives from the fact that this panzer division received a number of Panther tanks from Panzer-Regiment 24, which was due to receive night fighting devices.

* On 27 October an order was issued to form Heeresgruppe H under Generaloberst Student in order to organize the northern wing of the Western Front—the so-called Wehrmachts-Befehlshaber Niederlande (later 25. Armee), 1. Fallschirmarmee, and 15. Armee.

** Invited to this conference were, apart from the two chiefs of staff Westphal and Krebs, the commanders of the three armies in Heeresgruppe B as well as General Gustav-Adolf von Zangen and Generaloberst Kurt Student, the commanders of the two armies in Heeresgruppe H, 15. Armee and 1. Fallschirmarmee, that were supposed to take part in the pincer attack from the north.

* Von Manteuffel used the German expression einsickern, (‘seep into’) to express the infiltration of – or rather between – the American lines, and this quite vividly describes how he imagined this.

** In the headquarters these plans became known as Little Slam and Grand Slam from the card game bridge.

* Nevertheless, Hitler was a bit too optimistic regarding the possibilities to bring forward large quantities of the new jet planes within reasonable time; only 19 Messerschmitt 262s were produced in September, 52 in October, and 101 in November 1944, while at the same time 18 Arado 234s were produced in September and 40 each month October and November 1944. Still, the ‘stab-inthe- back myth’ concerning the Me 262, according to which the production of this aircraft was decisively delayed because of Hitler’s demand that it must be constructed with a bomb-carrying capacity must be dismissed as a pure myth. It was only in the winter of 1944/1945 that serious technical faults in the construction could be overcome, allowing serial production to commence. The Ar 234s that flew on operations in August and September 1944 actually were prototypes that had been sent into action. Even in December 1944 and January 1945, no more than 124 and 153 respectively Me 262s and 35 respectively 35 Ar 234s were produced. Production figures from Vajda and Dancey, German Aircraft Industry Production.

* Previously, Luftwaffenkommando West was designated Luftflotte 3, but was re-organized in conjunction with the discharge of its commander, Generalfeldmarschall Hugo Sperrle, because of the failure at Normandy in the summer of 1944.

** Schlachtgeschwader 4, equipped with the specially designed assault version of Focke Wulf 190, Fw 190 F-8, was assigned with the special task to operate over the Meuse river crossings.

*** ‘Mistel’ was the designation of a single-engine fighter of the type Messerschmitt 109 or Focke Wulf 190 which carried an unmanned twin-engine bomber with a warhead containing several tons of explosives. With the aid of the engines of both aircraft, this load could be carried at quite a high speed. At the target, the unmanned bomber was detached, directed as a missile against the target. Tests had shown that the ‘Mistel’ was able to penetrate even very thick armored concrete. However, due to various reasons, no ‘Mistel’ planes were used in action to support the Ardennes Offensive.

* The river is called Rur in Germany and Roer in the Netherlands, but to avoid a confusion with the Ruhr, the Dutch name will be used here.





CHAPTER 3

THE OPPONENTS: COUNTDOWN TO THE GREAT BATTLE

"The conduct of war is an art, depending upon free, creative activity, scientifically grounded." Field Manual of the German Armed Forces, Truppenführung: Heeresdienstvorschrift 300.

Most of the German senior military commanders in the Ardennes Offensive can be counted among the war’s most professional and accomplished military leaders. They had a first-class training and were raised in an environment which provided them with the best of both a lengthy military tradition and the radical new ideas which were the fruit of a combination of the lessons learned by the defeat in World War One, and the fact that Germany after this war had been forced to concentrate only the absolute élite of its military commanders, since the country was only allowed to maintain an Army of 100,000 men. It certainly is not the author’s intention to glorify these military commanders, who served the most inhumane political system the world has ever seen, Nazism, but the fact remains that these German commanders appear in pretty stark contrast to their counterparts on the Allied side. This insight is relevant to an understanding of the events before, during, and after the Ardennes Battle.

That the British tabloid press almost from the onset came to call this the ’Rundstedt Offensive’ hardly was far-fetched. Generalfeldmarschall Gerd von Rundstedt, the Supreme Commander on the Western Front, was one of the German field marshals that the Allies had the greatest respect for. ’He was looked upon as one of the most brilliant strategists in the Heer, and according to some evaluations, he was rated superior to the Generalfeldmarschalls von Manstein and von Kluge,’ wrote Percy E. Schramm at the OKW.1

Karl Rudolf Gerd von Rundstedt was born on 12 December 1875 into a family of the German noblility with military roots going back to Medieval times. His father, Gerd Arnold Konrad von Rundstedt, had served as a major general in the Franco-German war of 1870-1871. After primary school, von Rundstedt junior was accepted at a so-called military cadet school at the age twelve, and he would remain in the military until the end of World War II in May 1945. When the Great War broke out in 1914, von Rundstedt had graduated from General Staff Training at the famous Prussian War Academy in Berlin, and served with the rank of a captain (Hauptmann) as the operations officer in an infantry division.

In the Reichswehr—the small 100,000-man army allowed to Germany by the Versailles Treaty—von Rundstedt advanced rapidly, and when Hitler seized power in 1933, he was a Generalleutnant and commanded the troops in the whole of eastern Germany. According to Percy E. Schramm, von Rundstedt can be described as the ’personification of that tradition which the German General Staff had inherited from Moltke and Schlieffen,’ whose ’significance—apart from inborn gifts which can never really be replaced by education and training—was methodical cultivation of the power of thinking and, by that means, a special faculty of seeing and judging which maintains a distinct ratio between imagination and sobriety.’2

Shortly before the outbreak of World War II, von Rundstedt retired from the Army with the rank of Generaloberst, but he returned to active duty in August 1939 and led the German Southern Army Group during the invasion of Poland. His chief of staff by that time, Generalleutnant Erich von Manstein, describes von Rundstedt as ’an operationally brilliant soldier. He always took note of what was essential and concentrated fully on that. He was absolutely indifferent to all trifle matters. His personality was one that can be described as a chevalier of the old school.’3

In May 1940 von Rundstedt led Heeresgruppe A which carried out the great breakthrough in the Ardennes, and then in just ten days advanced to the coast of the English Channel to surround the Allied armies, and forcing them to undertake the evacuation at Dunkirk. Thus, his army group laid the foundation for one of Germany’s most brilliant military victories. After the surrender of France he was himself, in July 1940, promoted to the rank of field marshal. One year later, von Rundstedt led Heeresgruppe Sud in the invasion of the Soviet Union, and in the double envelopment battles at Uman and Kiev he won the war’s greatest victories in numerical terms, with the result that most of the Ukraine fell into German hands, together with 665,000 Soviet prisoners of war.

Being a self-conscious conservative military commander, von Rundstedt frequently was at odds with Hitler—concerning anything from opposition to the appointment of von Reichenau to Chief of the General Staff in 1934, to criticism of the invasion of the Sudeten area in 1938, the ousting of an Einsatzgruppe from von Rundstedt’s sector in southern Poland, and the unauthorized retreat during the Red Army’s counter-attack at Rostov in November 1941. The latter resulted in von Rundstedt getting dismissed by Hitler—and it would not be the only occasion. But von Rundstedt’s high capacity as a military commander over and over again forced Hitler to turn to him and ask him to reassume his former command, which the faithful nationalist von Rundstedt always accepted. As early as in March 1942, he was appointed Supreme Commander in the West, OB West. In this position he encountered the Allied landing in Normandy on 6 June 1944, a day when he was up at three in the morning to lead the defensive battle.

Von Rundstedt’s experience told him that if the Allied bridgeheads were not wiped out by the end of the first day of the Invasion, the battle would be lost, which indeed proved to be a correct assessment. Having permitted an armored force to withdraw out of the range of the Allied naval artillery at Normandy, in clear defiance of Hitler’s instructions, von Rundstedt was yet again dismissed from his post. But as we have seen, Hitler had him reinstated as OB West in September 1944. By that time, von Rundstedt was an aged man—he was about to turn sixty-nine—but as it would prove, his military capacity was unimpaired. The weaknesses resulting from von Rundstedt’s relatively advanced age were offset by his young and energetic chief of staff, Siegfried Westphal, who at the age of only 42 was a general.

Von Rundstedt’s counterpart on the Allied side, the American four-star General Dwight D. Eisenhower—Supreme Commander of the Allied forces in Northwestern Europe, Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF)—was different from the aged nobleman von Rundstedt in several respects. To begin with, Eisenhower was twenty-five years younger, and grew up in a poor Kansas family in the ’Wild West Era’ at the end of the Nineteenth Century. At twenty-one, ’Ike,’ as he was called already by then, began his studies at the U.S. Military Academy West Point. English was his best subject, but otherwise there was nothing special about his study results.4

When Eisenhower in November 1942 was appointed Supreme Commander of Allied Forces of the North African Theater of Operations, he neither had any combat experience, nor any previous experience commanding a larger military unit. Throughout World War One, he had served as a troop trainer in the USA, and in 1918 he was promoted to the rank of major, a rank he would keep for sixteen years. In the years between the wars he served as a staff officer under several generals, including Douglas MacArthur in the Philippines and the future Chief of Staff of the U.S. Army, George C. Marshall. But during the fourteen years that preceded America’s entry into World War II in December 1941, Eisenhower had spent no more than nine months as a commander of a military unit, an infantry regiment during training.

In December 1941, recently promoted to Brigadier General, Eisenhower was posted to the General Staff in Washington, where he was charged with the responsibility for creating major war plans against Japan and Germany. The talent he displayed during this work led Marshall to appoint him Commanding General, European Theater of Operations. In June 1942 he was sent to England to prepare the invasion of France. Shortly afterward, he also was appointed to become Supreme Commander of the Allied Force of the North African Theater of Operations. In this theater of war, a counter-attack by Rommel in February 1943 dealt the U.S. Army a stinging defeat. Although Eisenhower had his merits when it came to selecting skilled staff officers and subordinate commanders, the ability to develop budding talents was not his forte. ’Subordinate commanders and staff had to perform or leave. When an officer disappointed him, he immediately asked Marshall for a replacement.’5 Eisenhower dismissed the commander of the Army Corps that had sustained the hardest blow from the Germans, and re-organized the troops, but the turning point in North Africa was more due to a growing Allied superiority—not least in the air.

In early 1944, Eisenhower reassumed command of the military forces in England, and in February 1944 was officially designated as the Supreme Allied Commander of the Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF)—the position where we shall find him during the Ardennes Battle. Chester Wilmot describes Eisenhower as ’the most successful commander of Allied forces in the history of war.’ 6 Omar Bradley, commanding U.S. 12th Army Group, nevertheless felt that ’Ike’s African record clearly demonstrates that he did not know how to manage a battlefield.’ 7 British Field Marshal Montgomery wrote in his memoirs:

It was always clear to me that Ike and I were poles apart when it came to the conduct of war. My military doctrine was based on unbalancing the enemy while keeping well-balanced myself. I planned always to make the enemy commit his reserves on a wide front in order to plug in holes in his defences; having forced him to do this, I then committed my own reserves on a narrow front in a hard blow. […] Eisenhower’s creed appeared to me to be that there must be aggressive action on the part of everyone at all times. Everybody must attack all the time. 8

American military historian Steven Metz concludes his analysis of Eisenhower as a strategist: ’As a product of the American strategic tradition Eisenhower was imminently comfortable with the direct, linear, materialistic mode of warfare mastered by Grant.’ Metz also opines that Eisenhower ’was cautious, sometimes to the point of debility,’ which partially was due to ’a desire to minimize Allied casualties,’ but possibly also ’a lack of confidence in untested American troops and leaders.’9 One of many harsh—if also laced—assessments made by Montgomery on Eisenhower’s military capacity, was: ‘Nice chap, no general.’10 Nevertheless, as we shall see, Eisenhower’s strategic overview was no worse than that it would play a decisive role to the Allied victory in the Ardennes Battle; a truly weak and incompetent Supreme Commander would rather have panicked and become paralyzed, which is the direct opposite of ’Ike’s’ own reactions during the first days after the German breakthrough.

Something that everyone seems to agree on is that one of Eisenhower’s strongest sides was his ability to reconcile the British and the Americans, which, during the prevailing circumstances, was absolutely invaluable. According to Stephen Ambrose, who has written an extensive biography of him, ’Eisenhower’s emphasis on teamwork, his never-flagging insistence on working together, was the single most important reason for his selection [to Allied Supreme Commander], much more important than his generalship, which in truth had been cautious and hesitant.’11 This actually is well in line with the German file on Eisenhower during World War II, which reads, ’His strongest point is said to be an ability to adjust personalities to one another and smooth over opposite viewpoints.’12
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Three of the key figures on the American side during the Ardennes Battle: From left to right, Lieutenant General Omar N. Bradley, the supreme commander General Dwight D. Eisenhower, and Lieutenant General George S. Patton. Bradley advanced to become the Chairman of the NATO Military Committee after the war. He passed away in 1981 at the age of 88. Eisenhower made a post-war political career as the Republican Party’s presidential candidate, and was the president of the United States in 1953-1961. Eisenhower passed away in 1969. Patton was killed in a car crash in Germany a few months after the war ended in 1945. (NARA, US Signal Corps 199996)





In some respects, Generalfeldmarschall Walter Model, the commander of German Army Group Heeresgruppe B, had more in common with Eisenhower than with his superior von Rundstedt. Model and Eisenhower were of almost the same age. As the son of a humble music teacher in a small German town, the former was quite far from the spheres of the Nobility. Just as Eisenhower, Model was a devout Christian, and there also was a certain similarity in appearance between them. But apart from their military careers, the similarities between the two end there.

Model’s merits on the Eastern Front rendered him the nickname of ‘the Führer’s Fire Soldier,’ and Hitler described him as ‘my best field marshal.’ Walter Model was one among very few men who were able to subdue Hitler. It has been said that during a heated discussion between the two on a tactical matter on the Eastern Front, Model looked Hitler straight in the eyes and said, ‘Who is actually in command at the Front—you or I, mein Führer?’ —whereafter Hitler backed down.

Model’s military career began as a staff officer during World War One and in the Reichswehr. Early in World War II he served as chief of staff in the 16. Armee, and during the invasion of the Soviet Union in 1941 he advanced from a divisional commander to a corps commander, and in January 1942 was appointed to lead the 9. Armee. In this position he contributed most decisively to overcome the German crisis caused by the Red Army’s great Winter Offensive. Model’s character has already been described in the previous chapter. However, it must be added that it has been asserted that he was at his best on the defensive. After all, he had utterly failed when in July 1943 he had attacked the Red Army north of Kursk, but on the other hand the opponent he was up against in the Ardennes in December 1944 was not as powerful as his enemy on the Eastern Front had been eighteen months earlier.

Omar Nelson Bradley, commanding U.S. 12th Army Group which stood against Model’s forces, was born in 1893, also as the son of a school teacher. ’Brad’ Bradley graduated with the score ’Excellent’ at West Point in 1915, in the so-called ’Class the stars fell on,’ to which not only Eisenhower, but also several among the future commanders in the Ardennes Battle belonged. He never participated in World War One, but in the inter-war years he studied at the War Academy at Fort Leavenworth, and served as a troop trainer at the Infantry School at Fort Benning. In North Africa in 1942 he was Eisenhower’s closest associate, and he commanded U.S. II Corps during the final battle of Tunisia in the spring of 1943 and the invasion of Sicily.

The assessments of Bradley differ quite substantially. Eisenhower called him ’the greatest battleline commander I have met in this war.’13 On the other hand, the American general Patton characterized Bradley as ’insufferably cautious, predictable and orthodox.’14 However, it should be kept in mind that the difference in temper hardly could be greater than between the choleric and flamboyant Patton and the more phlegmatic, and quiescent Bradley. Chester Wilmot is of the opinion that Bradley was a skilful tactician but less able in the strategic field. Wilmot wrote, ’[Bradley] was successful in conducting operations so long as someone else was controlling the battle as a whole, preserving the balance of the force, maneuvering the enemy into a vulnerable position and then developing the concentration necessary for a decisive stroke. Bradley could deliver the stroke but he was less able to create the opportunity for it. The basic difference between Bradley and Montgomery was that, whereas Bradley moved at the dictates of the situation responding tactically, Montgomery endeavoured to mould situations to his will acting strategically.’15

Field Marshal Bernard Law Montgomery, the commander of the British-Canadian 21 Army Group, was born in 1887 as the son of a clergyman. His grandfather was a well-known British colonial administrator in India. Having graduated from the Royal Military College, Sandhurst in 1908, Montgomery junior served as an officer in India, and in World War One on the Western Front, where he was highly decorated for bravery in combat. After studies at the Staff College, Camberley, he held various positions, among them as the commander of an infantry brigade which fought the Irish Rebellion in the 1920s. Early in World War II he commanded first a division, and then an army corps which was evacuated at Dunkirk in 1940. However, owing to his outspoken and fearless candor, it took quite some time before he was promoted again.

His victory against Rommel at el-Alamein in 1942 decided Montgomery’s continued military career as well as his obituary. Montgomery undoubtedly was one of the most able among the Allied senior commanders.* In the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945, he was without question the most experienced allied senior commander. Chester Wilmot summarizes the difference between Montgomery and the American generals in the conduct of military operations as: ’Montgomery’s approach was scientific; theirs [the American generals] was emotional.’16 Patrick Delaforce describes Montgomery as ’the master of the totally planned battle, usually with attritional artillery, tank and air support.’17 The file on Montgomery in von Rundstedt’s headquarters agrees that he was ’very systematic,’ adding—perhaps not without bitterness—‘which is all right if you have sufficient resources and sufficient time.’18

Military historian John Ellis is strongly critical of Montgomery, who, according to Ellis, ’relied, like a latter-day Verdun [the notorious battle of attrition during World War One] on brute force and sheer material preponderance.’19 Ellis is of the opinion that Montgomery’s ’aggressiveness was that of the energetic fencer, not that of the general who annihilates enemy armies, of Napoleon, of Grant, of Moltke.’20 On Montgomery’s accomplishments during the sweep through France and Belgium in August 1944-1945, Ellis writes, ’Just as with Patton during the dash to the Meuse, the advance to Antwerp was simply a case of the British taking up the slack as the Germans withdrew. The hallmark of the good mobile commander would have been to catch the Germans rather than simply to plough along in their wake. And surely even a moderately competent commander would have put the lid on the [German] Fifteenth Army Kessel around the Scheldt Estuary.’21 Moreover, Ellis asserts that the failure of Operation ’Market Garden’ showed ’Montgomery and the army he had created in the worst possible light, revealing serious lapses in planning as well as severe shortcomings in operational and tactical command.’22
 
Montgomery indeed made a number of mistakes, particularly so during the pursuit operation in late summer of 1944, but the ’caution’ he often is accused of also can be regarded as an expression of a realistic assessment of the ability of his own troops against their German opponent, as we shall see in conjunction with Montgomery’s counter-offensive in the Ardennes further on. It also is the author’s opinion that the criticism voiced by Ellis against Montgomery during the Ardennes Battle is exaggerated and fails to take take some vital conditions into consideration. More on this later.

The flamboyant George Smith Patton, Jr., born on 11 November 1885, commanded U.S. Third Army in France and belonged to Montgomery’s harshest antagonists. Patton was both eccentric and exhibitionistic, and became famous for his outspokenness. Patrick Delaforce describes him as ’a swashbuckling aristocrat, egotistical, bombastic and frequently reckless, […] nevertheless a brilliant armored formation commander.’23 As an athlete—he represented the United States in modern pentathlon at the Olympic Games in Stockholm in 1912—Patton had a remarkable physical and mental energy. His indomitable energy, fighting spirit and optimism were invaluable when it came to instilling courage and motivation in his troops—who knew him as ’Ol’ Blood and Guts.’ None of the other American generals in the Ardennes Battle could compete with Patton in that regard. He was born in an American family with strong military traditions; his grandfather—after whom Patton Junior received his name—had fallen as a Confederate colonel in the American Civil War. Having participated in the ’punitive expedition’ against Mexican rebel leader Pancho Villa, Patton Junior took part in the fighting on the Western Front during World War One, as the first officer of the new U.S. Armored Corps.

Stationed in Hawaii during the inter-war years, Patton drafted a defensive plan that foresaw the Japanese air attack on Pearl Harbor—ten years before this took place, which says quite a lot about Patton’s strategic ability. Patton also pioneered the development of armored warfare doctrine in the USA, and with the rank of a major general he commanded the U.S. troops that landed in Morocco in November 1942. During the subsequent invasion of Sicily—where he with the rank of a lieutenant general commanded U.S. Seventh Army—his brusqueness came into the limelight through a couple of incidents. Ahead of the invasion, he encouraged his men not to show the enemy any mercy. This was taken too literally by some of his soldiers, resulting in the infamous ’Biscari Massacre,’ when American soldiers killed a number of prisoners of war. In his diary, Patton described this as ’a great error,’ and he wished the officers to ’certify that the dead men were snipers or had attempted to escape or something, as it would make a stink in the press.’24 To the German Army, such events were commonplace, at least on the Eastern Front—Model, for instance, was described as ’undeniably harsh in his dealings with Russian civilians’25—but the American Army claimed to serve a Democracy, and also was scrutinized by a relatively free press. When Patton a few days later assailed a U.S. soldier who had been admitted to medical care because of post-traumatic stress, the press got wind of it, with the result that he was deprived of his command.

Patton’s rivalry with Montgomery has been discussed earlier.** According to Wilmot, one of the main differences in the way the two Allied commanders led military operations lay in how they regarded reserves. ’Patton took the view that, since attack is the best method of defense, all the forces at a commander’s disposal should be employed in the line, and, if possible, aggressively. […] Montgomery, on the other hand, believed in Wellington’s precept that reserves are the foundation of victory.’26
 
American myths have been woven around Patton, in particular after his tragic death in a car accident in Germany only a few months after the end of the war. The fact remains that Patton’s Third Army achieved great victories on the Western Front in 1944-1945, but in his analysis of Patton, John Ellis arrives at the conclusion that his greatness mainly came from being ’a masterly logistician who could do things on a limited road net that most formations would require a computer to work out,’ but Ellis also argues that Patton was ’not a particularly successful combat commander.’27 This of course is quite controversial, but Ellis explains, ’General Patton should always be remembered as one of the best traffic policemen in the history of warfare, but in no other way does his advance really stand up as a significant military achievement,’ since ’throughout the whole pursuit [through France in August-September 1944], indeed, except for a few scattered outposts, the Germans remained just out of Patton’s reach’—which Ellis does not hesitate to characterize as ’an American failure.’28 He describes Patton’s ’tremendous talent for probing into a disintegrating defence,’ but adds that this was coupled with ’a much less sure grasp of the attack proper.’29

Asked after the end of the war to review Patton’s armored tactics, SS-Brigadeführer Max Simon (who commanded the XIII. SS-Korps against Patton in Lorraine in November 1944) compared this to ’breaking down a wall by taking out one brick at a time.’ Simon said that Patton spread out his tanks ’among several local attacks instead of being concentrated at one point,’ and added that ’had you made such attacks (an attack of 5-20 tanks accompanying the infantry) on the Eastern Front, where our anti-tank guns were echeloned in depth, all your tanks would have been destroyed.’30 As we shall see further on, such assessments of the enemy nevertheless must be regarded with some skepticism, and Ellis might be too harsh in his review of Patton. Indeed, Patton made some tactical and strategic errors, but he also achieved some of the American Army’s greatest victories in Europe during World War II, and beyond all doubt Patton’s personality played a significant role to the U.S. troops on the Western Front in 1944-1945.

A comparable role to the Germans during the Ardennes Battle was played by General von Manteuffel, the commander of the 5. Panzerarmee. Hasso-Eccard Freiherr von Manteuffel was born on 14 Januari 1897 in an old Pomeranian noble family with military traditions. Although short-statured—he measured only five foot two—he enjoyed a tremendous respect. Like so many sons of the German nobility, von Manteuffel began his military career in the cavalry. He participated in World War One, where he was wounded. After the war he was tempted to join the new armored force, starting with officer training in Heinz Guderian’s 2. Panzer-Division and advancing to become a professor at Panzer Training School II.
 
At the outbreak of World War II, he had reached the rank of an Oberstleutnant. Two years later he applied to be transferred to a first-line unit, and commanded a batallion of the 7. Panzer-Division during the invasion of the Soviet Union in 1941. Being a lower ranking officer of the German nobility, he was like a red rag to his superior on the Eastern Front, Walter Model. The relation between these two diametrically opposed personalities reached its lowest ebb when von Manteuffel on one occasion refused to comply with Model’s order to carry out an attack which he felt was suicidal. If it had not been for the intervention of a superior, von Manteuffel would have been court-martialed.

Having led an armored force against the Americans in Tunisia in the spring of 1943, von Manteuffel returned to the Eastern Front to lead at first the 7. Panzer-Division, and then the crack division Grossdeutschland. In 1943 and 1944, von Manteuffel conducted several impressive counterattacks against the Soviets in the Ukraine, Moldova, and Lithuania. In February 1944 he was awarded the Swords to the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves—as one of at that time only fifty German soldiers. Even though von Manteuffel never attempted to hide his contempt for the Nazi ideology, he became one of Hitler’s favourites, and in September 1944 the Führer promptly promoted him to the rank of General der Panzertruppen and assigned him to command the 5. Panzerarmee on the Western Front.
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General der Panzertruppen Hasso von Manteuffel commanded German 5. Panzerarmee during the Ardennes Battle. After the war, von Manteuffel made a political career in the German liberal party FDP, which he represented in the German Bundestag from 1953 to 1957. In early 1953, he played an important role when the West German Bundeswehr was formed. Von Manteuffel passed away in 1978. (BArch, Picture 146-1976-143-21)
 




When von Manteuffel reported to Model, his superior on the Western Front, there was a palpable tension in the air. Model watched him coolly and said, ’We had our differences on the Eastern Front.’ Von Manteuffel nodded. ’Well, it is a closed chapter,’ Model continued, ’now we have a common task and have to get along.’ Thus the conflict was removed from the face of the earth. It was an expression of the professional attitude of the two commanders. In his new assignment, von Manteuffel would decisively contribute to the stabilization of the German Western Front.

The contrast between von Manteuffel and the commander of 6. SS-Panzerarmee, Josef ’Sepp’ Dietrich, could not have been larger. Born out of wedlock by a working class woman in Bavaria in 1892, Dietrich was a butcher’s apprentice in his early teens. Having participated as a Gefreiter and Unteroffizier in World War One, he joined a right-extremist militia, one of the so-called Freikorps, and took part in the crushing of the Bavarian Soviet Republic in 1919. Dietrich migrated from one job to another—including waiter, farm laborer and customs officer—and joined the Nazi Party in 1928, where he rose to become the commander of Hitler’s personal bodyguard. Without any real officer training, Dietrich was appointed to command the first front-line unit of the SS, Leibstandarte SS Adolf Hitler, which became notorious for a row of bestial encroachments. On Hitler’s birthday on 20 April 1942, Dietrich was promoted to the rank of an SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer (the equivalence of the Wehrmacht’s Generaloberst).

’Ordinarily, he would make a fair sergeant major, a better sergeant and a first-class corporal,’ was the assessment on Dietrich by the SS general Paul Hausser, who served with Dietrich on both the Eastern and the Western fronts.31 SS-Obergruppenführer Wilhelm Bittrich, who commanded one of the panzer corps in Dietrich’s 6. SS-Panzerarmee, related to one less flattering incident regarding his superior: ’I once spent an hour and a half trying to explain a situation to Sepp Dietrich with the aid of a map. It was quite useless. He understood nothing at all.’32 Model and von Rundstedt were quite concerned that Hitler on mainly political and sentimental grounds had appointed a man deccribed by von Rundstedt as ’decent but stupid’ to command the most powerful panzer army of the Ardennes Offensive.33 At this time, Dietrich was also only a shadow of his former energetic self. Percy E. Schramm relates how Dietrich by this time mostly engaged in ’noisy parties with plenty of drinks […] he had meanwhile lost his enthusiasm for self-sacrifices. Now, he first considered himself and his family. He was therefore also no longer capable of inspiring his divisions with the enthusiasm which had formerly emanated from him.’34
 
Lieutenant General Courtney Hodges, the commander of U.S. First Army, which would take the brunt of the German attack, differed from all of these commanders. Born in 1887, Courtney Hicks Hodges neither was particularly well-educated, nor a colorful personality. He has been described as a quiet and withdrawn man. Bewhiskered and with a sad, almost pessimistic facial expression, he had the appearance more of a traveling salesman than an Army general. As a commander he was ’little known to his troops despite significant efforts to enhance his image and popularity.’35 Hodges was accepted at the Military Academy West Point in 1904, but failed to graduate because of poor test scores.36 In 1906 he enlisted in the U.S. Army as a private, served under Patton in Mexico and was highly awarded and promoted for bravery in combat during World War One. In the inter-war years, Hodges worked his way up ’the long way’ and was promoted to major general in 1941. When Bradley in August 1944 was assigned to lead the 12th Army Group, Hodges took over the vacant post as the commander of U.S. First Army.

If any of the generals on the German side during the Ardennes Battle should be compared with Hodges’ relatively anonymous appearance, it would be General Erich Brandenberger, the commander of the 7. Armee on the southern flank. Balding and fitted with a pince-nez, fifty-two-year old Brandenberger corresponded to the stereotype of a German general staff officer. Having participated as a front soldier in World War One and a staff officer in the interim-war years, Brandenberger commanded an armored division on the Eastern Front. Prior to being appointed to command the 7. Armee, he had led an armored corps on the Eastern Front since 1943.

Percy E. Schramm depicts Brandenberger as ’the typical general staff officer, thoroughly trained and used to obeying orders; his features were somewhat similar to a scientist’s, and he corresponded to the type of the “working-bee.”’37 But Brandenberger also was in continual contact with his first-line soldiers, had ’a good understanding of their worries and plight, and was recognized for his personal courage.’38 However, to place a man like the scrupulous Brandenberger under the command of the brusque Field Marshal Model perhaps was not a very good choice; these two diametrically opposed personalities would soon clash, and the rising tension between them eventually led to Model’s dismissal of Brandenberger in February 1945.39 Still, in view of the available resources, none of the other military commanders—on both sides—performed better than Brandenberger and his 7. Armee during the Ardennes Battle in 1944/1945.

On a Corps level the Germans also had gathered some excellent commanders for ’Herbstnebel.’ Forty-eight-year old General Heinrich Count von Lüttwitz commanded the XLVII. Panzerkorps on the 5. Panzerarmee’s southern flank. Embellished with a monococle in his right eye, he was a veteran of World War One and had served as the commander of various units—including the 2. Panzer-Division at Normandy in 1944—since the beginning of World War II. The LVIII. Panzerkorps, in the center of the 5. Panzerarmee’s front, was commanded by General Walter Krüger, of the same age and with a military career quite similar to that of von Lüttwitz. They had both been transferred to the 5. Panzerarmee on the request of von Manteuffel, who wrote, ’They were the most able panzer commanders on the Western Front, and they also brought along well-functioning staffs’40
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SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer Josef ’Sepp’ Dietrich, the commander of 6. SS-Panzerarmee, here along with some of his SS troops during the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945. In 1946, Dietrich was sentenced to 25 years in prison for ordering the execution of prisoners of war. Released on parole on 22 October 1955, he was rearrested in 1956 and brought to trial for his participation in the Night of the Long Knives. He was sentenced to another 19 months in prison. Released from jail, Dietrich worked for the Hilfsgemeinschaft auf Gegensei-tigkeit der Angehörigen der ehemaligen Waffen-SS (HIAG; Mutual Help Association of Former Waffen-SS Members). He died of a heart attack in Stuttgart in 1966. (BArch, Picture 183-J28625/Roeder)
 




Ten years older General Walther Lucht commanded the LXVI. Armeekorps on the 5. Panzerarmee’s northern flank. Lucht served as an officer in the German General Staff in World War One, and participated in the Spanish Civil War in the 1930s as the Artillery Commander in the Condor Legion. In World War II he continued to serve with the Artillery until he was appointed to command an infantry division, whereby he distinguished himself during the defensive battle to the west of Stalingrad in the Winter of 1942/1943. The LXVI. Armeekorps previously had served as a reserve corps in southern France, under Lucht’s command since November 1943.

Immediately to the left (south) of von Lüttwitz’s Panzer Corps stood the northernmost Corps of the 7. Armee, the LXXXV. Armeekorps under General Baptist Kniess (Knieβ). In pure numbers, this corps, with its 24,000 troops, equalled just one and a half division in the U.S. Army. Fifty-nine-year old Kniess had a career quite similar to that of the corps commanders of the 5. Panzerarmee. Having led an infantry division in the West in 1940 and on the Eastern Front in 1941-1942, he served as a corps commander in occupied France. Neither was the LXXX. Armeekorps, the other Army corps in the 7. Armee and the southernmost attack force in ’Herbstnebel,’ composed of more than a pair of divisions. The Corps commander, fifty-two-year old General Franz Beyer, served as a Navy officer in World War One and advanced from regimental commander to corps commander on the Eastern Front between 1941 and 1944. His merits as a unit commander earned him the Knight’s Cross. In addition to these two corps, the 7. Armee had the LIII. Armeekorps in reserve. This was commanded by General Edward Graf von Rothkirch und Trach, whose accomplishments as a corps and divisional commander on the Eastern Front in 1942-1943 had gained him the appraisal of his superiors.

The front sector that the six army corps of these two German armies were assigned to attack was held by a single corps of U.S. First Army—the VIII Corps. The corps commander, fifty-five-year old Major General Troy H. Middleton—with his headquarters located at the Heintz Barracks in Bastogne—was a veteran from both the war against Pancho Villa and the Western Front during World War One. In 1937 he retired from the Army and instead became dean of administration at Louisiana State University. Nevertheless, he was recalled to military service in 1942, and commanded an infantry division on Sicily and in Italy in 1943-1944. When the commander of U.S. VIII Corps in England in March 1944 was demoted to the position of a divisional commander, Middleton was assigned to lead this corps, earmarked for the Normandy Invasion.*
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Major General Troy Houston Middleton commanded the VIII Corps of U.S. First Army on the Western Front in 1944-1945. Here he is seen during an inspection tour in the Ardennes in January 1945. (NARA/ Mallinder, US Signal Corps)





The Commander of U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps, Major General Matthew B. Ridgway, who worked in close cooperation with Middleton during the Ardennes Battle, described him as ’a magnificent soldier with a wonderful combat record in two wars.’41 Patton is said to have characterized Middleton as ’a man who knows how to fight.’42 In April 1945 Patton sent Middleton a letter where he praised his contribution to the victory in the Ardennes. ’Your decision to hold Bastogne was a stroke of genius,’ wrote Patton, who also described Middleton’s decision to hold Bastogne’—which Patton himself at that time, in December 1944, failed to see the wisdom of—as an expression of ’tactical prescience.’43

Without doubt, Middleton’s decision to hold Bastogne, in the face of the fact that several first-line units on this sector had been badly mauled, was one of the most important Allied decisions during the entire Ardennes Battle—in essence, it determined the outcome of the Battle. Later, Middleton would hand over direct command in Bastogne to Brigadier General Anthony McAuliffe of the 101st Airborne Division (which had been called in from U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps in the reserve)—a most able commander who would put his personal mark on the defensive battle.

However, some of the decisions made by Middleton as the commander of the VIII Corps were sharply criticised by his superior, Patton. Although Middleton’s corps formed the spearhead of the American Normandy breakthrough at Avranches in July/August 1944, and despite the fact that he had the two perhaps best armored divisions of the U.S. Army at his disposal—the 4th and the 6th—Patton found the way in which Middleton led the operation to be too cautious. On 1 August 1944 Patton wrote in his diary, ’I cannot make out why Middleton was so apathetic or dumb. I don’t know what was the matter with him.’44 When Middleton shortly afterward halted the 6th Armored Division’s lightning advance towards the French port of Brest and instead directed it against against a German pocket of resistance at Dinan, 125 miles further to the east, Patton exploded with rage. ’Don’t take any notice of [Middleton’s] order,’ he told the commander of the armored division, Major General Grow. ’Get going and keep going until you get to Brest!’45

According to one military analyst, Middleton was ’overwhelmed at times in command of the pursuit operation.’46 Nevertheless, both Eisenhower and Patton testified to Middleton’s ’extraordinary abilities’ as a Corps commander. Following the Ardennes Battle he led the VIII Corps straight through Germany, whereby the corps reached one of the concentration camps at Buchenwald, the first of its kind to become liberated by U.S. troops. With 480 days in combat during World War II, Middleton held the record among all American generals in that war.

The commander of U.S. V Corps, Major General Leonard T. Gerow, perhaps was the most able among all senior commanders in the U.S. Army during the Ardennes Battle. Born in 1888, Gerow graduated as Number One in the class at the Advanced Course at Infantry School at Fort Benning in 1924.** Next, Gerow attended the U.S. Army Command and General Staff School (at the same time as Eisenhower), graduating in 11th position among 245 students.

Gerow played an important role in the planning of the Normandy Invasion, and on 6 June 1944 he was the first corps commander to set his foot on the landing beaches. Gerow had more service years than both Bradley and Eisenhower, and during the Ardennes Battle he displayed a military judgment which outmatched that of all his superiors. Still, he has been relatively neglected in American military history, and in his legacy, it seems as though his full military capacity has not been fully appreciated—which could be partly because he never won Marshall’s full approval, and besides neither bothered too much about his own publicity. However, in a personal letter to Gerow, Eisenhower wrote, ’In every respect you have deserved recognition far above myself.’47

On the sector held by the V Corps, the northern flank of the Ardennes Front, the least able German commanders were also to be found. We already have dealt with the C-in-C of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, Sepp Dietrich. SS-Gruppenführer Hermann Priess (Prieβ) commanded the I. SS-Panzerkorps—the incomparably strongest among the various corps launched by the Germans in Operation ’Herbstnebel.’ Forty-three-year old Priess had served for twelve years with the Reichswehr when in 1934 he joined the SS. Here, Priess commanded various Waffen-SS units in combat during most of World War II, and thus accumulated a considerable military experience.

However, he was restricted by his superior Dietrich. In a strongly critical report, Oberst Heinz Kokott, commanding the Wehrmacht’s 26. Volksgrenadier-Division during the Ardennes Battle, fumes at the ’total lack of discipline’ and pure ’stupidity’ that characterized I. SS-Panzerkorps.48

The II. SS-Panzerkorps constituted the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s reserve force. Its commander, SS-Obergruppenführer Wilhelm Bittrich, also was a veteran of World War One and the Reichswehr when he joined the SS. Sepp Dietrich had less influence on the II. SS-Panzerkorps once this was brought into action, since this panzer corps cooperated closely with von Manteuffel’s Army, whereby Model took a more active part in the coordination of the II. Panzerkorps’s actions with the 5. Panzerarmee. Partly because of this, Bittrich’s corps would operate with larger success than Priess’ SS corps.

Far to the north stood German LXVII. Armeekorps under Generalleutnant Otto Hitzfeld—another quite experienced and highly decorated German commanding officer. Nevertheless, this army corps would be neutralized by Gerow’s V Corps even before the German offensive opened, as we shall see later.

Having conducted a thorough-going analysis of the U.S. Army in World War II, military historian Martin van Creveld arrived at the conclusion that ‘the American officer corps of World War II was less than mediocre.’ He continues, ‘Owing partly no doubt to pressure of time, the methods used to select and train officers were none too successful. Far too many officers had soft jobs in the rear, far too few commanded at the front. Those who did command at the front were, as the official history frankly admits and the casualty figures confirm, often guilty of bad leadership. Between them and their German opposite numbers there simply is no comparison possible.’49 Statistics show that during the Ardennes Battle, 40.7 percent of the officers of the American (ground) Army were to be found in the Army Services (Engineer Corps, Medical Corps, Signal Corps, Quartermaster Corps, Military Police, Chemical Warfare Service, and Transportation Corps), while the corresponding share in the Wehrmacht in 1944 was 17.4 percent.50

This of course often resulted in a significant difference between both sides in combat, where the Germans often reacted with greater swiftness and efficiency than their American opponent. This was not only due to generally more qualified officers on the German side, but can also be explained by a superior German military doctrine. The military experiences of Prussia and Germany during the Eighteenth and Nineteenth centuries, led to the development of what was called Auftragstaktik (Mission Command), an expression coined in the 1890s.51 This does not refer to a special kind of tactic, but it should rather be understood as a leadership or command philosophy. The essence of Auftragstaktik is that the troops—including unit commanders at lower levels and even rank and file soldiers—are to be carefully informed about the purpose and objectives of a certain operative mission, and then the smallest unit on the front lines is relatively free to be flexible to achieve this objective in the way it sees fit. Basically, it relies on profound psychological and sociological insights, which quite interestingly is the basis for much of our time’s most advanced leadership philosophy.

However, the U.S. Army never developed anything similar to the Auftragstaktik. Martin van Creveld points out that ‘America, after all, was the home of Taylorism; a system of management that tried to foresee and dictate the operative’s every movement with the aim of turning him into a human machine as reliable as the mechanical ones he attended.’52

The thinking which formed the foundation of Auftragstaktik permeated the German Army Field Manual, Truppenführung (Heeresdienstvorschrift 300), which set the tone already in the introductory paragraph, ’The conduct of war is an art, depending upon free, creative activity, scientifically grounded’53 The U.S. equivalence of Truppenführung (Heeresdienstvorschrift 300) was U.S. Army Field Manual FM 100-5, which was published in 1941 and revised in June 1944. Indeed, the latter version of FM 100-5 declared that ‘every individual must be trained to exploit a situation with energy and boldness and must be imbued with the idea that success will depend upon his initiative and action’54 This was clearly inspired by, although not as clearly expressed as in Truppenführung,  which emphasized that ‘independence of action, properly used, is often the basis of great success’55 But FM 100-5 also clarified that decision-making was a matter for the commander and only the commander: ‘Decision as to a specific course of action is the responsibility of the commander alone. While he may accept advice and suggestions from any of his subordinates, he alone is responsible for what his unit does or fails to do’56 FM 100-5 of 1941 had exactly the same wording.57 In contrast, Truppenführung stressed that ‘the commander must permit freedom of action to his subordinates’58
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American soldiers and a Sherman advance in a Belgian town in September 1944. (NARA, 111-SC-193903/ Spangle)
 




The German Army encouraged individual initiatives on the grounds of the shifting situation on the battlefield to a degree that even refusal to follow orders was encouraged, which English and Gudmundsson comment on: ’To a degree unheard of in other armies, the German soldier was expected to do whatever the situation required. […] In extreme cases, this philosophy required that a soldier disobey orders that were inconsistent with the situation.’59 For example, this meant that German ‘units which encountered resistance […] were expected to leave their own assigned sector and follow in the wake of whatever neighbor was making better progress’—which, English and Gudmundsson point out, ’in other armies might result in a court martial.’60

This nevertheless does not induce any dissolution of command; these individual initiatives were unconditionally required to fit within, and promote, the general objective. Truppenführung is quite clear that the commander must permit freedom of action to his subordinates only ’insofar that this does not endanger the whole scheme’ and emphasizes that the commander ’must not surrender to them those decisions for which he alone is responsible.’61 Truppenführung also gives emphasis to the commander’s role of ‘a leader and a master,’ and urges the commander to seek to gain the confidence of his subordinates not only through ‘his superior knowledge and experience, his earnestness, his self-control and high courage,’ but also by understanding and paying attention to the ’feelings and thoughts’ of his subordinates, and ’through never ceasing care of their needs’62 A key sentence reads, ’Mutual trust is the surest basis of discipline’63

After the end of the war, a group of German senior officers led by Franz Halder, previously the Chief of the German Army’s General Staff, made a comparative analysis of U.S. FM 100-5 and the German Field Manual. They arrived at the conclusion that ‘as compared to the German conception of war, the American regulations display a repeated tendency to try and foresee situations and lay down modes of behavior in great detail. This procedure limits a commander’s freedom of action and, by rendering him incapable of handling in accordance with the actual situation, robs him of a very important prerequisite for victory’64
 
American military historian Steven Metz selfcritically asserts that ‘Americans tend to associate strategy with a formal plan. They see it as something that emerges from a byzantine process of coordination and review to be approved by appropriate authorities, assigned a document number, and distributed. Lower echelons then take the newly sacrosanct document, craft miniature replicas, and apply them. This attitude clearly reflects our political culture and our bureaucratized approach to planning in general.’65

Indeed, U.S. FM 100-5 speaks of ‘a willingness to accept responsibility’ as ‘the foremost trait of leadership’66 But the German Army raised its soldiers, NCOs, and officers to what was called ’readiness/joy to take responsibility’ (Verantwortungsfreudigkeit), which can be described as a permanent readiness to take a personal responsibility for the situation on the battlefield.67 German ’NCOs received training that, in other armies, was usually associated with junior officers. This included the playing of tactical decision games, shot scenarios that forced the player to quickly assess the situation, make a decision, and promulgate that decision in the form of orders’68
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Comradeship in the primary group was the alpha and omega of the German armed forces. It also was one of the reasons for the endurance of many German units during World War II. (Krigsarkivet)
 




 In general, the German soldier training and the treatment of the individual soldiers derived from psychological insights to a far greater extent than what was the case in the U.S. Army. Sociological studies have shown that soldiers tend to fight more for their comrades in the next foxhole than for ‘higher’ objectives such as Nation or Ideology. Hence, the German Army emphasized more than any other army the importance of creating so-called primary groups of soldiers. As far as possible, it was sought to bring together soldiers from the same region into the same unit. In contrast, U.S. military units were composed of, in the words of van Creveld, ‘men called up from any part of the nation’s 3,615,000 square miles without regard to geographical origin’69 Having completed their military training, German recruits were grouped together in up to one thousand-men strong so-called March Battalions (Marschbataillon), each of which was intended for one and the same division. To maintain the primary groups, the Germans even allowed the strength of their first-line units to drop far below the assigned strength before they replaced the losses by sending in another march battalion. This then became the subject of a careful process of integration into the first-line unit. Ideally—and this surprisingly often also was achieved—a sense of ‘family membership’ was sought to be created in the German soldier groups.

 In the U.S. Army, things looked quite different, as described in a critical American report after the war, ‘Replacements arrived in divisional and regimental areas tired, bewildered and disheartened, after having been shunted from one replacement depot to another, led by officers temporarily appointed for convoy or escort purposes who themselves were more or less bewildered. Field train bivouacs usually were within the sound of guns, and the replacements were acutely and nervously aware that their entry into combat was imminent. They frequently did not know how to take care of themselves’70

 The different ways in which the recruits were treated was directly reflected in the mental health of these. Between June and November 1944, twenty-six percent of the soldiers in the U.S. first-line units were subject to psychiatric treatment. In the German Army on the Western Front during the same period, the share of soldiers treated for psychological disorders was only one-tenth as large.71 A large portion of the American soldiers treated for psychological problems were recruits who broke down within the first five days of their arrival at the front.
 
 The German recruits not only received a better military training than their American opponents, but just like the soldiers of the Red Army, they also had a thorough ideological education. This ideological education was not just apprehended as empty phrases, which one may believe if it is looked upon through the spectacles of today’s society; quite to the contrary, it imbued the young recruits with a sense of what they put their lives at risk for. After growing up in a totalitarian society where a conformistic school and Hitler Jugend formed their mindset according to Nazi guidelines, many German teenagers were more than susceptible to the Call of the Front.

 ‘Ideology, idealism, and firsthand experience was a potent contribution to the extraordinary endurance of the [German soldier], as many […] believed that they were fighting for the very existence of the German community,’ wrote Stephen G. Fritz.72 The young German boys were inculcated that they belonged to ’a selected generation’ which would lay the foundation for an almost Messianic Thousand-Year Realm. Shortly before the Ardennes Offensive, an examination among German soldiers in American captivity showed that two-thirds of them still expressed an unbroken confidence in Hitler.73 Taken together, this contributed to an endurance—even under extremely harsh circumstances—that their opponents often regarded as quite inconceivable.*

 By the time of the Ardennes Offensive, the German soldiers were significantly affected by years of inadequate nutritional supplements—a result of Germany’s isolation—and this had a long-term impact on their physical strength and health conditions.74 Bad soldier’s tobacco, coffee surrogates, uniforms made of artificial fiber that neither lasted nor protected against cold, as well as other defective facilities created a grim ’crisis awareness’ among the German soldiers. In quite a sharp contrast to this situation, the U.S. soldiers were more accustomed than the troops of any army to ample rations, cigarettes of the best quality, genuine coffee, and uniforms of the highest quality.

 But the ordeals of the German soldiers—the Landser, as they were called—helped to bolster their need for the fellowship of the primary groups. Numerous testimonies show that the morale on the German side was sky high in December 1944—even ’better than at the beginning of the war,’ according to Oberst Joachim Gutmann of the 2. Panzer-Division.75 For several days, the operations officer of the headquarters of Heeresgruppe B, Oberstleutnant Reichhelm, carried out an inspection of all corps and division staffs, and even some regiments and battalions, in Heeresgruppe B, and found that ’the determination of the leaders and the troops to force a decision, now or never, was present to the greatest degree and the morale of the attack divisions was outstanding.’76

 The commander of the 5. Panzerarmee, von Manteuffel, hardly can be accused of harboring any sympathies for the Nazi ideology; he showed his opposition to those ideas already during the war, and after the war’s end he joined the German Liberal Party FDP. In a report on the Ardennes Offensive issued after the war, he testified to the fact that the average Landser by the time of the Ardennes Offensive was fully convinced that ’Hitler somehow would “solve the matters”.’77 Von Manteuffel proceeded:
 
’To some extent, this owed to the official communiques, which constantly kept talking about the new weapons, about a massive use of new Germn aircraft types and large numbers of U-boats on the oceans, of growing production figures of the German Industry, and so forth. Moreover, he—the simple soldier—had nothing more to lose. In the fall of 1944, hardly any German family had been spared the loss of at least one of their kin. The simple soldier believed in the propaganda that said that it was virtually certain that the German people would be enslaved in the case of an enemy victory. As far as own sacrifices were concerned, the man at the front did not wish to be any worse than the Home Front, where young and old daily made great sacrifices in the foulest conditions—at the cost of their health and sometimes even their lives.’78
	
However, the ordinary American soldier—G.I.*, as he called himself—had no such clear, at least not commonly held, perception of just why he put his own life at risk in the war with Germany. The concept that the Americans fought mainly in order to liberate Europe from the Nazi yoke, to a large extent is a post-war invention.

 Paul Fussell, who served as a soldier on the Western Front in 1944-1945, asserts that to the average ‘G.I. Joe,’ the war simply was ‘a bad job that had to be got through.’79 This was particularly valid when it came to the war against Germany. ‘To most Americans soldiers and sailors the United States,’ Fussell proceeds, ‘at least, was pursuing the war solely to defend itself from the monsters who had bombed Pearl Harbor without warning. […] For most Americans, the war was about revenge against the Japanese, and the reason why the European part had to be finished first was so that maximum attention could be devoted to the real business, the absolute torment and destruction of the Japanese.’80 This led many to regard the enemy ‘simply as an impediment to returning home.’81


HOW YOUNG WERE THE SOLDIERS?

One concept of the soldiers in the Ardennes Battle that has become entrenched in the public awareness, is that of inadequately trained German teenage soldiers—many of whom were sixteen to seventeen years old—pitted against well-trained and more mature U.S. soldiers. To some extent, this is true regarding the combat fliers (although there hardly were any German airmen below the agee of eighteen), but as far as the ground troops are concerned, this must be dismissed as a myth. The German soldiers in the Ardennes definitely were not younger than their opponents, but many among them were of ‘normal’ soldier’s age. A random sample of 440 German soldier graves at the war cemetery at Recogne north of Bastogne, where 6,807 fallen German soldiers are buried, shows the following:

No one was under the age of 17 6.4 per cent were born in 1927 (i.e. 17 years old in 1944) 17.3 per cent were born in 1926 8.6 per cent were born in 1925 Thus, 32.4 percent of these fallen German soldiers were teenagers at the age of between 17 and 19 131 of these 440 fallen soldiers—29.8 percent—were 30 or older (born in 1914 or earlier, the oldest born in1897) The largest group of fallen soldiers, about 38 percent, were 20-29 years old (born between 1915 and 1924).

In fact, the average American soldier in the Ardennes was younger than his German opponent. A statistical study of the personnel of U.S. 75th Infantry Division in the Ardennes Battle shows that no less than 65 percent of the soldiers were teenagers, aged between 18 and 19.82 Michael Collins, author of the book Voices of the Bulge and the documentary with the same name, summarizes the situation in the Ardennes: ‘Twenty-year-old Americans led platoons of 18-and 19-year-old soldiers through the cold and fog.’83



Nor were the American soldiers better trained than their German enemies. Up until 1943, recruits in the U.S. Army received no more than thirteen weeks of military training before they were sent to the front. The training of the German infantrymen was not only of a higher quality, but during most of the war it also was longer than that in the U.S. Army. Only in 1944 was it reduced from sixteen to between twelve and fourteen weeks, but in the Panzer troops it remained at a level of twenty-one weeks throughout the war. On top of this, the recruits received additional training by front veterans in the replacements battalions before they were sent to the frontline.84 However, it is an inescapable fact that a large part of the German infantry in the Ardennes Battle was inadequately trained, but the situation was even worse on the American side.**

In the USA, the ambition was to increase infantry training to seventeen weeks, but this was not of the same quality as the German training; according to van Creveld it aimed at producing ’men who could serve their weapons automatically, without thought.’85 Throughout the war, the American Army emphasised quantity rather than quality.*** One effect of this was that American infantrymen, according to a survey made by the U.S. Army, ‘in the great majority, continued to hold a low opinion of the importance of their own branch.’86

Moreover, the American Army lacked a regular infantry reserve, as pointed out by military historian S.L.A. Marshall.87 The increasing losses at Normandy in the summer of 1944 and at the West Wall during the following fall compelled the Americans to shorten the infantry training. This in turn produced absolutely disastrous results, and at no other time was this more evident than during the Ardennes Battle, where four-fifths of the American soldiers were young recruits with often nothing more than a rudimentary infantry training.88 George Wilson, who served as a lieutenant and company commander with U.S. 4th Infantry Division during the Ardennes Battle, recalls that on one occasion he received one hundred recruits, none of whom had been at the shooting range more than once, and all of whom lacked experience on how to throw grenades or fire a bazooka, a mortar or a machine gun.89 Belton Cooper, a captain in U.S. 3rd Armored Division, meanwhile received a batch of recruits that had been categorized as ’tank crews,’ but where the majority never even had been in or even close to a tank.90
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Paul Warp, who later servedinfhe 6th Armored Division and participated in the Ardennes Battle in the winter ^1, during his basic military training in the United States. (The Paul Warp Collection)





Taken together, all of this resulted in a certain difference between the soldiers on the battlefield. To the experience the German soldiers had of their opponent at the front, the effect of the Nazi propaganda on the German soldiers’ self-image and image of their opponent should be added. Throughout World War II, the perception thrived within the German Armed Forces that the German soldiers more or less by nature were superior to their opponents. Personal experience on the battlefield, but also ideological indoctrination gave the German soldiers some respect for the British, but for the Americans—Amis, as they called them—very little, according to Paul Fussell.91 This also is expressed in several German accounts, as the one below, which is taken from the Ardennes Battle:

When it came to a fight, the American soldier undoubtedly fought with great tenacity. But he also was well aware that his side disposed over a tremendous material superiority, on the ground as well as in the air. In addition to that, he was, contrary to the German soldier, rested and his physical condition was on the same level as had been the case with the German soldiers during the war years of 1939-1941—most of whom had fallen by this time. The American soldier often acted according to the principle of ‘better safe than sorry’—which meant that when he had no tank support, a few German assault rifles would sometimes suffice to make entire companies take cover until a wall of fire had driven off the Germans.92

Such statements always have to be taken with a grain of salt, since they actually tell us more about the German attitudes than about the actual character of their enemies. The German soldiers were both exposed and susceptible to a heavy political indoctrination that made them feel superior to their opponents, whom they were taught to look down upon—even in an exaggerated manner.*
 
Certainly, because of the above-mentioned differences in military training, there was a certain difference between German and American soldiers, particularly regarding the recruits, but after some time in the field, these differences tended to be equalized. The fact that the American soldiers often became less willing to put their lives at risk during the fighting at the West Wall in September 1944—which gave rise to the German soldiers’ self-glorifying myths—in fact is not particularly remarkable. It is a well-known phenomenon that soldiers who feel that their own side more or less has victory in the war secured, will be less willing to expose themselves to risks than otherwise. The German Army suffered from the same phenomenon in front of Moscow in the fall of 1941.

In reality, the ordinary American soldier was just as brave as anyone else during circumstances that demanded so—which we shall see in the account of the Ardennes Battle. In particular, he was dutiful and excellent at following orders to the letter; when instructed to hold a certain position, he usually did so until all possibilities were exhausted. This was something the Germans would become painfully aware of already on the first day of ’Herbstnebel.’ The underestimation of the opponent created by German propaganda, led some German units to excessive losses during the Offensive’s first day.

One must remember that World War II took place at a time when centuries of slave trade and colonialism had created a whole series of racist clichés, which inspired the modernist stereotypes of diverse ’national characters.’ Any conflict between two groups of people—where war is the ultimate consequence—naturally creates and reinforces certain stereotypes of ’the Other.’ During World War II, as in all wars, clichés of the opponent were created by—and for—the ordinary soldiers. Even the Americans had their cliche of their German opponent, or Kraut as they condescendingly called him: ’a perverse type, cold, diagrammatic, pedantic, unimaginative, and thoroughly sinister,’ according to Paul Fussell’s decription of the general stereotype image.93 Another common concept was that the ’instinct for discipline’ made the German soldiers ‘especially dangerous,’ and that their ‘admitted distinction in technology made their cruelty uniquely effective.’94

In organizational terms, the two armies were quite similar. The basic unit was the division, which usually was divided into three regiments (’Regiment’ also in German)—or three Combat Commands in most American armored divisions—as well as various support units. In most cases the U.S. division was significantly stronger than its German counterpart. The assigned strength of a U.S. infantry division was 14,253 troops, while the German divisions in the Ardennes usually consisted of ten to twelve thousand men. In addition, the U.S. infantry division, unlike its German counterpart, usually had an armored battalion with 76 tanks at its disposal.


THE GERMAN RAILWAY MIRACLE

 Among those who contributed most to the German Ardennes Offensive was General der Infanterie Rudolf Gercke, the German Army’s transport chief. Everything basically depended on the ability to bring all that was required for the offensive to the Western Front, and for this purpose no other transport means than railway trains could come into question. Therefore, Gercke was one of the first to be informed of the attack plan.

His task was really delicate. A quarter of a million troops, and thousands of vehicles and artillery pieces, as well as huge amounts of fuel, ammunition, spare parts and rations had to be brought forward to a relatively small area immediately behind the Western Front. And this at a time when a massive Allied air campaign was directed against the German railway network, and train services constantly were exposed to attacks by fighter-bombers who in the hundreds swept the skies above the German countryside. As early as on 17 September 1944 Gercke began to reorganize the road and rail network in Germany. A large emergency system was created, and an extensive network of traffic control and repair stations was formed.

Since River Rhine separated the frontal area at the Ardennes from the rest of Germany, Gercke began, already in September, to mobilize thousands of construction workers to reinforce the bridge piers and bridge railings to make these more resistant to bombs. Each bridge was fitted with a repair force, and bridge spans and other repair equipments were placed nearby, allowing for damaged bridges to be rapidly restored. Several bridges were fitted with rails. In October, many bridges were reinforced to carry 70-ton heavy Königstiger tanks. Twelve river ferries also were rebuilt to carry locomotives across the river. Gercke even planned to extend two mining tunnels that ran under the Rhine so that troops would be able to cross the river through these. On the Rhine’s eastern riverbank, numerous well masked army supply stores were established.

Experience showed that Allied fighter-bombers often managed to halt trains by killing or wounding the crew of the locomotive with their machine guns, while the locomotive itself escaped with fairly light damage. Therefore, armor plates were mounted around the locomotive cabs, which quickly had the desired effect. Additionally, hundreds of opensided rail wagons were equipped with rapid-firing light anti-aircraft guns.

The rail traffic control system also was considerably enhanced, and was linked to the air surveillance services. Thus, as soon as Allied aircraft were reported in the vicinity, trains could rapidly be led into cover in railway tunnels or onto sidings where they could be masked. In addition, most rail traffic within a distance of 100 to 125 miles from the front was restricted to the hours of darkness or days with bad flight weather. Even the most insignificant German railway station in the area was continuously supplied with weather reports, so that it would be possible to quickly take advantage of rapidly deteriorating weather to put the trains in motion. In clear weather during daytime, the trains stood in places where they were hidden from detection from the air, and positioned with precise calculation, so that at night and on days with poor visibility they could be deployed at high speed and according to an extremely tight schedule. Lines with double tracks were systematically utilized for running trains in parallel in the same direction—all in order to exploit the absence of Allied aviation to a maximum.

Between 9 September and 15 December 1944, Allied aviation caused 125 breaks on rail lines leading to the deployment area in front of the Ardennes, including 60 in the key area between Koblenz and Cologne. In spite of this, Gercke’s transport apparatus was able to bring 1,500 troop transport trains and about 500 trains with nearly 145,000 metric tons of supplies and 7,500 cubic meters of fuel to the offensive’s deployment area until 11 December. Gercke’s railway organization was so effective that some army divisions even could disembark at railway stations just a couple of miles from the front.

In close cooperation with Jodl, Keitel and armaments minister Albert Speer, Major General Alfred Toppe, the Army’s general quartermaster, accomplished greatly in raising the necessary quantities of ammunition and fuel. The 50 railway trains with ammunition that was calculated to be needed for the offensive were delivered on time.1 On 13 December, Generalfeldmarschall Keitel reported that 15,099 metric tons of ammunition had been delivered, and that an equal quantity was en route.2

Concerning engine fuel for the Ardennes Offensive, this is a topic that has been clouded by many misconceptions and myths. It is often argued that the offensive was ’doomed in advance,’ because the units are supposed not to have been provided with the required quantities of fuel —estimated at 17,000 cubic meters—and that the attack plan was based on the necessity to capture Allied fuel. Nothing of this holds true.

That the German plan was built on the premise that U.S. motor fuel or ammunition dumps were captured, has been dismissed as a myth by von Manteuffel: ’The notion that captured fuel should have been part of the plan is not true, because our experience from the Eastern Front, Africa, Italy, etc. showed how quickly such dumps could be destroyed by the opponent. In addition, we did not know the whereabouts of such depots.’3

Moreover, significant quantities of fuel were delivered. In fact, on the evening before the attack, 12,000 cubic meters of fuel had been received by the assault units.4 Another 8,000 cubic meters was about to be delivered, and the OKW had assigned 3,000 cubic meters from its reserve stock. It was estimated that it would require between 12,000 and 15,000 cubic meters to advance from the Meuse to Antwerp.5

General Horst Stumpff, inspector of the armored troops in the German Ersatzheer, confirmed after the war that the German units that began the Ardennes Offensive were supplied with ’enough gasoline to carry us a considerable distance, three consumption units per tank’6 This was exactly the OKW’s objective when the attack plan was prepared in October 1944.7 SS-Brigadeführer Fritz Kraemer, chief of staff of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, confirms that the Germans had ’sufficient gas for an initial advance of 200 kilometers [125 miles]’8

But owing to both the effort to conceal the attack preparations, and the danger of Allied air attacks, most of the propellant was stored along the Rhine river. The Achilles heel of the German supply system was that all maintenance—particularly fuel—had to be transported to the front from the unloading stations in the rear area with trucks on small roads through the hilly terrain. Von Manteuffel said that ’it was not primarily the fuel as such that was lacking [in sufficient quantities], but the inadequate transport facilities’9

After the war, SS-Brigadeführer Kraemer told his American interrogators, ’The gas was not all with the divisions; it was partly in dumps west of the Rhine, and partly on the way […] We expected to receive one new consumption unit per day from our own depots. […] Actually, we did not get this additional consumption unit per day because of your air force, road conditions, and other difficulties’10 General Stumpff added, ’Once it snowed, [the fuel reserves] could not be brought up because of the intolerable road conditions. For this reason, we could only use a small number of the tanks available to us, and, in addition, lost many of our tanks through lack of fuel; however, our plans did not contemplate the use of captured gasoline’11

But the German Army High Command did not fail to raise the required quantities. ’It was after all possible to accumulate the 17,000 cubic meters [of fuel] which had been promised in the beginning,’ confirms Percy E. Schramm, in charge of the OKW war diary.12 As late as on 19 January 1945, the German Wehrmacht High Command’s war diary spoke of the ’large gasoline storages available’13

1 Schramm, The Preparations for the German Offensive in the Ardennes (Sep to Dec 1944). A-862, p. 237.

2 Toland, Battle: The Story of the Bulge, p. 22.

3 von Manteuffel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen-Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). B-151, p. 130.

4 Schramm, A-862, p. 241.

5 Ibid.

6 Stumpff, Tank Maintenance in the Ardennes. FMS #61, p. 2.

7 Reichhelm, Report of Colonel (GSC) Reichhelm of the General Staff, concerning his activity as operations officer of Army Group B during operations in the West from fall 1944 to Spring 1945. A-925, p. 12.

8 Kraemer, Sixth Panzer Army in the Ardennes. ETHINT-021, pp. 4-5.

9 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 128.

10 Kraemer, ETHINT-021, pp. 4-5.

11 Stumpff, FMS # 61, p. 2.
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A German military train in the vicinity of the Ardennes. Painting by German artist Horst Helmus, who served as a soldier in the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division during the Ardennes Offensive.
 







HOW MUCH DID THE ALLIES KNOW?

It is not uncommon to see literature on the Ardennes Battle make extensive lists of supposed ’early warnings’ of the impending attack that the Allied commanders are reproached for having ’ignored.’ Examples of such are the information provided to Allied troops by a handful of German POWs, deserters and civilians, of ’an imminent offensive’ in the days preceding 16 December 1944, and/or of the assembly of strong German Army units at the Ardennes Front. However, the fact that the Allied headquarters refused to be affected by this to regroup reinforcements to the Ardennes, is not particularly noteworthy; the planting of false reports by ’deserters,’ false ’attack plans,’ etc are legion in war. From the Allied commanders’ horizon, it was quite logical that the Germans tried to trick them to transfer units from the north and the south, where the Germans found themselves under heavy pressure from Allied attacks.

Next to Pearl Harbor in December 1941, the Ardennes Offensive in December 1944 is to be regarded as the intelligence failure that had the greatest impact on the U.S. Armed Forces during World War II. Therefore, it should not surprise that efforts have been made after the war to give the image of Allied intelligence organizations ’really’ discovering what was coming, and that it ’only’ was due to the Allied commanders’ ‘failure to listen’ to the warnings that things got out of hand. This kind of reasoning, however, ignores a number of important facts and circumstances, the most important of which is this: One of the major tasks of military staffs is to discuss the enemy’s possible options, and in any case it would be inconceivable that Allied military staffs in late fall and early winter of 1944 would not have devoted some attention to the possibility of a German attack in the Ardennes. But these thoughts were just a small part of all Allied assumptions of German alternative courses of action at this time. Overall, there actually were not very many visible signs from the German side that prior to 16 December 1944 could have given the Allies reason to regroup forces into the Ardennes.

It is often pointed out that Eisenhower, when he noticed the thinly held American positions during a car drive through the Ardennes on 7 December 1944, expressed concern that the VIII Corps could run into ’a nasty little Kasserine,’ alluding to the defeat the Americans were inflicted at that place in Tunisia in February 1943.1 But there is nothing to suggest that this was more than a spontaneous and transient reflection. After all, we have to consider that Eisenhower—who had all the power thereto—took no action that would suggest any real concern about this prior to 16 December.

That the Germans pulled out a number of panzer divisions from the front line could not be hidden from the Allies. Major General Kenneth W. Strong, chief intelligence officer of the Allied Supreme Headquarters in northwestern Europe (SHAEF), concluded that these could be used in one of three ways: They could be sent to the Eastern Front, they could be used defensively against an Allied breakthrough, or they could be used for a ’relief attack in the Ardennes.’ But this was not a particularly dramatic insight; Strong stated the probabilities of these in the above order, and therefore assumed that they most likely would be shifted to the East. The assumption that they would be used defensively was just what the Germans wanted the Allies to believe. What Strong assumed to be the least likely option, a relief attack in the Ardennes, was by definition something different than Hitler’s and von Rundstedt’s mighty offensive. As we shall see, it was precisely the rejection of the German offensive as ’merely a relief attack’ that caused the Allied headquarters to react so slowly during the first day of the offensive.

Lieutenant General Bradley, the commander of U.S. 12th Army Group, said that he was aware that the Germans could attack in the Ardennes, but dismissed it as unlikely. ’When anyone attacks,’ he said, ’he does it for one of two reasons. Either he is out to destroy the hostile forces or he is going after a terrain objective,’ and he expressed the opinion that neither of these could be attained in a ’broken, relatively roadless country’ such as the Ardennes.2

In Situation Report No. 18 of 12 December 1944, the intelligence officer in Bradley’s staff, Brigadier General Edwin L. Sibert, spoke of the German infantry divisions’ ’deathly weakness,’ which he said could lead to an early breakdown of the German army in the West. The conclusion he presented, was this: ’With continuing Allied pressure in the south and in the north, the breaking point may develop suddenly and without warning.’ Continued Allied pressure in the south and in the north may collapse come suddenly and without warning.’3 The success of the German Verschleiungs operation can not be more clearly expressed.

The efforts made after the war to argue that the Allied ’really’ knew that a German offensive was impending, are mainly based on a report despatched on 10 December 1944 by U.S. First Army’s intelligence officer, Colonel Benjamin A. Dickson. In this, Dickson made the assessment that the German strategy to defend the Reich was ’based on the exhaustion of our offensive to be followed by an all-out counter-attack with armor, between the Roer and the Erft, supported by every weapon he can bring to bear.’4 This single sentence has been taken as evidence that the Allies actually were warned in advance, but this conclusion ignores some basic facts.

Firstly, Dickson’s assessment was just one out of several, and nothing gave the Allied generals any reason to measure Dickson’s report as one of particular importance. (On the contrary, Dickson had compromised himself when he in September 1944 burst into Hodges’ bedroom with the ’great news’ that von Rundstedt had staged a coup against Hitler and the SS; actually, what Dickson had heard was a false Allied radio broadcast intended to sow confusion on the German side.) But above all, what Dickson ’foresaw’ was not the German Ardennes Offensive—the area where he assessed that an attack could take place, is located west of Cologne, between fifty and fifteen miles north of the section where the Germans unleashed their attack on 16 December 1944.

On 14 December, Dickson noted that several German POWs had talked of an attack that would be launched ’between 17 and 25 December,’ but many of these claimed that the offensive was intended to ’retake Aachen as a Christmas gift for the Führer’—therefore once again in a section to the north of the Ardennes.5 The report Dickson drafted on the following day gives no sign of any great concern for a German offensive. Although he mentioned the possibility of a German ’limited scale offensive,’ he also said that such an attack probably only would have a propaganda purpose—to raise the morale of the civilian population. The only thing he mentioned about the Ardennes, was that the reports of German troop movements received from the first line probably concerned nothing but ’a very recently arrived Volksgrenadier Division coming in to relieve 212 Volksgrenadier Division.’6 Furthermore, Dickson’s worries were no greater than to allow him to set off for a four-day leave in Paris on that same day.

At the Ardennes Front, tU.S. VIII Corps meanwhile had—in a report dated 9 December 1944—estimated the German troop strength at only 24,000 men. The intelligence officer of the VIII Corps, Colonel Andrew R. Reeves, wrote, ’The enemy’s present practice of bringing new divisions to receive front line experience and then relieving them out for commitment elsewhere indicates the desire to have this sector of the front remain quiet and inactive.’7

It may be objected that the Allies should have realized that the Germans could be expected to strike against such a weakly manned sector as the Ardennes, and therefore should have taken steps to be able to quickly transform such a venture to a great victory. In fact, among the Allied commanders, Lieutenant General George Patton was the only one who—with the aid of his brilliant intelligence officer, Colonel Oscar W. Koch—drew that conclusion. On 24 November, he wrote in his diary that ’the First Army is making a terrible mistake in leaving the VIII Corps static, as it is highly probable that the Germans are building up east of them.’8

Alongside the success of the German Verschleiungs operation, the Allies’ own superiority made them blind to the approaching storm. Through ’Ultra,’ the British had been able to decrypt German radio broadcast messages since the beginning of World War II. But this backfired when, owing to the strict German radio silence concerning the upcoming Ardennes Offensive, no messages that indicated an impending attack were intercepted. This led the Allied to the erroneous conclusion that the absence of such messages meant that there probably was no reason for any anxiety.

In fact, an American deceptive operation backfired against the Allies themselves. In early December 1944, the U.S. special unit 23rd Headquarters Special Troops was tasked to give the enemy the impression that the 75th Infantry Division was regrouped to Luxembourg, in order to discourage the Germans from sending reinforcements from the Ardennes to the Roer area, where the Americans fielded a new attack.* Code-named ’Koblenz,’ this operation only led the Allies to regard the shifting of German assault troops to that section of the Ardennes as the Germans having allowed themselves to be duped by the 23rd Headquarters Special Troops. Jonathan Gawne, who has written a study on the 23rd Headquarters special Troops, describes operation ’Koblenz’ as ’one of the more embarrassing operations of the war.’9 In actual fact, the Germans never were taken in by Operation ’Koblenz,’ but realized that the alleged grouping of the 75th Infantry Division in Luxembourg was just a scam.10

Finally, the German capacity to build up large fuel stocks for the assault force—which was totally ruled out by the Allies—is a vital key to the fact that the Allies actually were taken by such surprise by the Ardennes Offensive. Forrest C. Pogue, one of the U.S. Army’s official historians, noted that ’the Allied intelligence chiefs clearly assumed that, since the Germans knew of the Allied intention to push toward the Ruhr, they had built an armored force to cope with it. Anxieties about the strength of a counterstroke were dispelled by the belief that bad weather and fuel shortages would interfere with anything more serious than a spoiling attack.11

1 The 23rd Headquarters Special Troops, ’the Ghost Army,’ was a secret American unit, consisting of 1,100 men, who with the help of audio recordings of motor vehicles, inflatable tanks, fake radio messages, etc, sought to give the false impression of the existence of strong U.S. military units in order to mislead the Germans on the Western Front. The unit’s existence was kept secret until 1996, and part of its activities during World War II still remains classified. A documentary about the unit, ’The Ghost Army,’ premiered in 2013.

1 Pogue, United States Army in World War II: European Th eater of Operations: Th e Supreme Command, p. 361.

2 MacDonald, A Time for Trumpets, p. 71.

3 Ibid., p. 73.

4 FUSA G-2 Estimate 37, 10 Dec 44; Pogue, p. 366.

5 MacDonald, p. 76.

6 Ibid.

7 Ibid., p. 74.

8 Blumenson, Patton Papers 1940-1945, p. 582.

9 Gawne, Ghosts of the ETO: American Tactical Deception Units in the European Th eater 1944 – 1945, p. 165.

10 Ibid., p. 175.

11 Pogue, p. 364.



An ordinary American armored division typically consisted of three armored battalions, three battalions of armored infantry, and four field artillery battalions, and one each of an engineer battalion, an anti-tank battalion, an anti-aircraft artillery battalion and a reconnaissance battalion—with an assigned strength of 10,500 men and 263 tanks (177 Shermans and 86 Stuarts). However, most of the armored divisions in the Ardennes had been expanded to number about 12,000 men. Moreover, in the Ardennes the Americans were able to field two so-called heavy armored divisions, each consisting six armored battalions and an infantry regiment with a total of 14,000 men and 390 tanks (including 252 Shermans).

Each German panzer division in the Ardennes consisted of an armored regiment, two panzer grenadier regiments, an artillery regiment, and one each of an engineer battalion, an anti-tank battalion, an anti-aircraft artillery battalion and a reconnaissance battalion—with a total strength varying from 14,400 (2. Panzer Division) to more than 21,000 men (1. SS-Panzer-Division). The number of tanks in a German panzer division was lower than that of its American counterpart. Thus, at dawn on 16 December 1944, the three panzer divisions of the 5. Panzerarmee mustered a total of only 212 tanks (125 Panthers and the remainder Panzer IVs)—not even the equivalence of a common American armored division.

However, regarding the equipment, the German tanks—the heavy Königstiger (Tiger II) and the medium Panther and Panzer IV—were quite superior to the American M4 Sherman, the standard medium tank in the U.S. Army at the time. Both sides had excellent tracked tank destroyers; some of the German types were significantly better than their American counterparts, especially M10, but the American M18 Hellcat and M36 Jackson were, in their field, more than one step ahead of the Sherman tank. A specific characteristic of the German tank destroyers was that they had no turrets and thus were equipped with a fixed gun, while the American tank destroyers had turrets that were open at the top. M36 Jackson distinguished itself from the other two American tank destroyers M10 and M18 through its powerful armament (a 90mm 3.5inch gun) and a stronger armor; otherwise the American tank destroyers were lighter armored and faster than their German counterparts.

Hand guns have already been discussed—the German assault rifle Sturmgewehr totally outperformed the American hand guns. Concerning anti-tank guns, the German 88mm and the American 3.5-inch guns were more or less equal—they were readily able to knock out any enemy tank. Each side also had their own man-portable recoilless antitank rocket launcher weapon. Model M9 of the American Bazooka could penetrate a 120 to 126 mm thick armor plate sloped at 30 degrees from the vertical with an M6A3 rocket. The German Panzerschreck rocket launcher (Raketenpanzerbüchse 54) could knock out a Sherman at a distance of up to 650 feet. This could be supplemented with the disposable preloaded launch tube Panzerfaust, which actually had a bigger impact (200 mm of armor) than the bigger tubes, but with a range of normally just 60 yards. However, the new and improved Panzerfaust 100, with an increased range to over 100 yards, arrived just in time for the Ardennes Offensive.
 
Regarding the artillery—the strongest single asset of the U.S. Army—the Americans were significantly superior to their German opponent. The U.S. 155mm (6.1inch) so-called ’Long Tom’ simply had no counterpart in the Wehrmacht. In addition, the Americans had a highly developed artillery technology—including shells equipped with proximity fuses that made them explode just above the ground, and the so-called Time-on-Target method whereby all shells hit the target simultaneously. American military historian Richard C. Anderson, Jr. is not without reason when he describes the American artillery during World War II as ’the best in the world.’95 However, to some extent the Germans could compensate for this by their Nebelwerfer rocket artillery, whose psychological impact was at least as great as its physical effect.

Another area where the American equipment was superior was the Army’s transport capacity. The U.S.Army was completely motorized, mustering a formidable vehicle fleet, while the Wehrmacht to a large extent still was horse-drawn. Thus, for example the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division needed five thousand horses for its transports.96 Moreover, the American trucks generally were better than the German ones.

In the air, the Americans were qualitatively superior to the Germans in all respects—with the exception of the few German jets. Their four-engine B-17 Flying Fortress and B-24 Liberator heavy bombers had no equivalence in the Luftwaffe. For several months, the American P-47 Thunderbolt and P-51 Mustang singleengine fighters had proved to be quite superior to the German standard fighters Messerschmitt Bf 109 G and Focke Wulf 190 A. The fact that the German bombers had been pushed back to the hours of darkness, while the twin-engine B-26, A-20 and A-26 bombers and attack bombers of U.S. 9th Air Force were able to operate freely in broad daylight, speaks volumes. The new German Focke Wulf 190 D-9 (the ’Long nose’), which entered service in late 1944, could compete with the best Allied fighter aircraft, but by then the difference in pilot quality between the German and the Allied air forces had become too large. When the Ardennes Offensive was launched, the Luftwaffe on the Western Front was strategically defeated since six months back.* When the weather forecast for 7 December 1944 suggested a few days of cold and pretty clear weather, Hitler once again decided to postpone the attack date, this time to 13 December.97 This proved to be the right decision. On 10 December, the previous attack date, U.S. fighter-bombers were very active along the whole front, despite the overcast, and one hundred and thirty B-26 Marauder bombers from the 9th Air Force attacked two fortified German cities. On 11 December, a cloudy but cold day, Hitler moved into the so-called ’Eagle’s Nest,’ Adlerhorst, at Schloss Ziegenberg, just west of Bad Nauheim, where he intended to supervise the offensive personally.
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A crew member paints an M36 Jackson white during the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945. The U.S. tank destroyer M36 Jackson was developed to meet the threat from the new heavily armored German tanks. Armed with a 90mm gun, the M36 entered combat in September 1944. (US Army)
 




He immediately summoned the commanders of all units that would participate in ’Herbstnebel,’ from corps level and above, as well as several staff officers. These were divided into two groups, with the first arriving for the Führer’s briefing on 11 December and the other group the next day.98 The first group was brought by bus in the early winter darkness to a place unknown to them, where they were led into some kind of a barracks where Hitler received them. ’He slowly entered the conference room and immediately took place at the table,’ Oberst Ludwig Heilmann, the commander of the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division, wrote.99 Von Manteuffel recalled how shocked he was to see Hitler’s transformation since their previous meeting just slightly more than a week earlier: The senior commanders met a broken man, with a pathologically pale face and a completely slumped posture.100

Hitler sank down into a chair behind a table, with Generalfeldmarschall Keitel to his right. He put on a pair of glasses, and with trembling hands picked up a manuscript and started to speak. This was no inflammatory speech to rouse his audience, but a low-key attempt to convince the military commanders of the necessity of the coming offensive. SS-SturmbannFührer Hein Springer, Generalfeldmarschall Model’s escort officer, recalled that Hitler, ’began, as so often when he held his lectures, by wandering far into history,’ this time by talking about Frederick the Great’s famous victory at the Battle of Leuthen in 1757, when a Prussian force utilized mobility to defeat a numerically superior Austrian army.101 Next he spoke of the ’incredible sacrifices made by the German people, and the brave posture of the Home Front, particularly the women,’ and declared that the German people had proven its greatness by resisting all the great powers of the world for five long years. He explained that the war years neither had gone by him personally unnoticed—they had strongly affected his own health, but he would ’serve his people to the last breath.’102
 
Then Hitler went on to talk about the offensive, which he said might lead to a turning point of the war if Antwerp could be seized. Hitler acknowledged that the participating divisions were of widely varying quality, but on the other hand, the opponent had just as battered divisions. He proceeded to describe his vision of the attack: ’Once the enemy lines have been breached, we won’t encounter anything in the enemy’s rear area than American officers who are nothing but uniformed bank clerks. We hardly need to fear that the enemy will be able to deploy their reserves so soon.’ Hitler continued, ’If we will succeed in advancing through Belgium, I will find new reserves—there still are some viable divisions in Norway—to march on towards France.’103

A precondition for the attack was the element of surprise and bad weather, he explained. Therefore he stressed the necessity of the strictest secrecy. The bad weather, he said, would prevent the enemy air force from operating, while the German soldiers, who had endured fighting during the Russian Winter, would cope with the Winter Campaign in Belgium and France far better than their American enemies. However, the Luftwaffe would only be employed in concentrated attacks against critical spots, but it would be preferable if it could be spared during the initial phase, ’so that it can be employed with greater force at a later date.’ Hitler also envisaged the deployment of jet aircraft on a large scale. ’The German war industry,’ he said, ’has been working for several months at the expense of the Eastern Front for this venture alone,’ but to produce all this equipment a second time would hardly be possible.104
 
The Führer declared that if the offensive succeeded, he would give the generals the full credit. Otherwise, he would take full responsibility upon himself. He ended his lecture with some fateful words: ’Gentlemen, if the breakthrough over Liège to Antwerp will not succeed, we will meet a very bloody end of the war. The time is not working for us but against us. This really is the last chance to turn the fortunes of war to our favor. I thank you, gentlemen.’105

Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt stood up and declared with a loud voice, ’We stake our last card, and we cannot fail!’106 Hitler withdrew to a smaller conference room with von Rundstedt, Model, the army commanders and their chiefs of staff. There Sepp Dietrich asked for yet another postponment of the offensive, in order to allow the forces to replenish sufficiently. Hitler agreed to postpone the attack until 15 December. Oberst Heilmann remembered how he caught a final glimpse of Hitler in the conference room, and how he was struck by the contrast between the vigorous generals and the ailing dictator: ’Among the strong soldier heads, Hitler gave the impression not only of a sick man, but in him I could see a mass murderer whose face reflected the soul.’107

Next day, when the weather forecast from—among other sources—the weather reconnaissance U-boats far out on the Atlantic suggested frost and fairly clear weather on 15 December, followed by several days of really bad weather, Hitler decided to postpone Null-Tag one last time—until 16 December 1944.108

When the German commanders returned to their headquarters, the successive transfer of the assault units to their points of departure was in full swing. In order not to reveal their intentions for the opponent, the Germans moved the assault forces forward to their points of departure only at the very last moment.109 Hence, the panzer divisions were located between thirty and forty miles away from the front, but on 8 December the artillery started to move forward. All movements were made only at night, while observing the greatest silence. No lights were used and not a word was uttered. The artillery pieces were pulled to their positions with horses—this for dual reasons: to save fuel and so that no engine noise would warn the Americans. So far, no motor vehicles were allowed closer to the front than ten kilometers (six miles). A group of soldiers followed close behind each carriage, carefully covering ruts in the mud and snow on the little forest roads with brooms and shovels. When the carriages approached the front area, the wagon wheels were draped in cloth and straw to dampen the sound of the movement. The ammunition was driven to a distance of eight kilometers (five miles) from the main line. Then German soldiers carried it by hand the final stretch. This of course was quite strenuous, but ‘the soldiers willingly performed this duty,’ according to Percy E. Schramm.110
 
On 13 December, almost all of the artillery had been moved into its well-masked positions. Then the next phase in the moving forward commenced. During the bitterly cold night between 14 and 15 December, the panzer units moved to a distance of some ten miles from the frontlines, while the infantry marched to a distance of between three and five miles from the first line.111 This massive movement proceeded without any lights and was carried out with an astonishing efficiency. The difficulties that could have arisen because the 5. Panzerarmee’s divisions were deployed to the 7. Armee’s rear area, while this army’s units moved westwards, were smoothly resolved through close cooperation between the staffs of the two armies. Traffic order was upheld by an extensive traffic control organization. Repair and salvage units were deployed everywhere along the transport routes, allowing for vehicles that stopped due to mechanical failure or other reasons to be whisked away from the roads before sunrise. Any motor vehicle that failed to reach its destination before sunrise, was put away in carefully masked positions. Specially selected officers were responsible for the masking of such vehicles. The large forests in the area facilitated the accommodation of the tens of thousands of soldiers and the concealement of the heavy equipment while it stood waiting for the next nocturnal march. A Tarnmeister  (masking officer) was stationed in every village in the area, and among other things he supervised that the ban on making fire was followed.

Total radio silence had been commanded, and civilian telephone lines across the area were scrupulously monitored. No street signs that could show the way or indicate phone or radio stations were allowed. In addition to the military police company that was included in each corps and each division, each panzer army was equipped with an MP regiment of three hundred men apiece, and these patrolled the area, halting all civilian road traffic that was not absolutely necessary.

On 15 December, the weather cleared up slightly, and American fighter planes roared past above the thousands of German soldiers and combat vehicles that were hidden in the woods, small villages and valleys in the region—without even a single pilot noticing anything of particular interest. When the sun sank below the treetops at 1639 hrs, an extensive low pressure—the largest in a long time—began to settle over the area. While a light, cold rain seeped into the collars and made the soldiers’ uniforms drenched, the attack forces assumed their final starting positions. Meanwhile Luftwaffe planes flew at low altitude over the area to hide the sound of tank engines. Moreover, giant chunks of corduroy, covered with thick layers of straw, were laid across the roads to dampen the sound of the tank tracks.

While this took place, engineers silently brought forward mobile ramps to the tank obstacles—the ’dragon’s teeth’—of the West Wall, so that these could be crossed by the vehicles. The movement forward was mainly completed by midnight on 16 December 1944.
 
At the same time another deployment to the same area, but on the other side front, took place. This began in October 1944, when the newly formed U.S. 106th Infantry Division started to be shipped across the Atlantic. The vanguard, led by Colonel Thomas J. Riggs, commander of the 81st Engineer Combat Battalion, embarked on the famous ocean liner RMS Queen Elizabeth in the port of New York on 8 October. After crossing the Atlantic Ocean at full speed while zig-zagging to avoid U-boats, the venerable British ship entered the port of Greencock in Scotland four days later. Meanwhile, on 10 October, the remainder of the engineer troops, the artillery, the reconnaissance troops and other maintenance troops were packed into the American troop transport ship USS Wakefield in Boston, and were shipped to Liverpool, where the ship arrived on 17 October. By that time, the Queen Elizabeth had returned to New York, where she on 14 October took the 423rd Infantry Regiment and elements of the 424th on board. The ship was unable to sail for three days, but on 22 October she arrived at Gourock in Scotland. On 20 October, the last elements of the 424th Infantry Regiment, and the entire 422nd, embarked the RMS Aquitania —another of the world-famous British Atlantic liners—in New York, and eight days later the seasick young men staggered ashore in Greencock.

The 106th Infantry Division was one among ninety new units that hastily had been formed for overseas service. The Division was assigned the name ’the Golden Lions,’ and a round emblem with a yellow lion’s head against blue background, surounded by a red edge, was sutured to the soldiers’ uniform sleeves. The divisional commander, Major General Alan W. Jones, was a forty-seven-year old, slightly tubby ’West Coaster’ with a thin moustache above the lip. Jones, who could be described as an average American senior military commander, had served on the Western Front during World War One, and spent the interim-war years in various staff positions. His son, Captain Alan W. Jones, Jr., served as operations officer in one of the battalions of the division’s 423d Infantry Regiment.

After acquainting themselves with the damp British autumn, the division was shipped from Liverpool, Weymouth, and Southampton on 1 December. High seas forced the ships to lay bobbing about in the English Channel for three full days. Many of the soldiers were badly worn out when they finally docked at Le Havre in France. There they immediately were driven out to some large, open fields, where they set up their army tents and bivouacked. The weather was raw, and cold rain sprinkled down during their first night on the European continent.

On 6 December, the division was instructed to regroup to Sankt Vith in eastern Belgium. A seemingly endless truck column drove up, the soldiers were ordered up on the tarp-covered loading platforms, and then the long trip began. In pouring rain and decreasing temperatures, the trucks bumped across eastern France. The trip took two whole days, during which many of the young men went down with illness because of the cold weather and that they were so tightly packed on the loading platforms. The soldiers’ gallows humor soon re-baptized the division to ’Hungry and sick’—a pun on the divisional number 106.
 
Meanwhile, on 7 December, the leading Allied commanders on the Western Front met in Maastricht. As usual, the British and the Americans disagreed. Montgomery reiterated his demand for an assembly of forces for a concentrated drive towards the Ruhr industrial area, while Bradley wanted to go for a major breakthrough in the Aachen area, and Patton advocated a continued offensive into the Saar. In the end it was agreed to go for a combined attack against the Saar in the south and against the Ruhr area in the north. However, before that could take place, the Allies had to take control of the Roer dams, to prevent the Germans from flooding them to prevent any Allied advance in the north for the foreseeable future. Montgomery suggested that the bulk of resources should be invested in this venture, while other sections would economise the resources, but met American resistance. Eisenhower argued that the Allies should not ’sit still,’ but had to continue the offensive to the extreme limit of our ability.’112

On the same day Hodges, the commander of U.S. First Army, ordered Major General Gerow to launch his V Corps in a renewed effort to capture the Roer dams, located not far from (the present) German-Belgian border. The operation was planned as a pincer attack, from Monschau in the north and from the so-called ’twin villages’ Rocherath-Krinkelt ten miles further south. The 78th Infantry Division would carry out the northern attack, but on the southern flank Gerow only had the inexperienced 99th Infantry Division. Therefore, two units were brought from Middleton’s VIII Corps a little further to the south—the highly experienced 2nd Infantry Division, and Combat Command B of the 9th Armored Division.

Ever since the end of September, U.S. 2nd Infantry Division had held positions inside Germany, on the eastern side of the Our river, along a twelve-mile wide front between the communities Roth in the north and Grosskampenberg in the south, in the immediate vicinity of the point where the present borders of Belgium, Germany, and Luxembourg meet. Now, this division would be relieved by the newcomers in Sankt Vith.

At dawn on 9 December, the numb soldiers of ’Hungry and Sick’ were roused from their slumbers in the tents where they had bivouacked on the soaking wet fields alongside the road from Sankt Vith to Schönberg, seven miles farther to the east. During the following night, in blackout conditions and total silence, they took over the positions previously held by the 2nd Infantry Division.

The sparsely populated area where the 106th Division was grouped, was known as the ’Ghost Front,’ and this for two reasons—partly because it was militarily silent, and partly because it was dominated by large, dark and desolate spruce forests.

Colonel Francis H. Boos, one of the regimental commanders in the 2nd Infantry Division, left the commander of the 423rd Infantry Regiment, Colonel Charles C. Cavender, with the encouraging words, ’It has been quiet up here and your men will learn the easy way.’113 J. Don Holtzmuller, by that time a corporal in the 106th Infantry Division, recalls that this indeed seemed to be true, ’Everything was peaceful. We were told that this was a quiet sector and that we were just to get used to combat.’114
 
The 106th Infantry Division went into position with River Our in the rear. The 422nd Infantry Regiment established itself in the conquered West Wall pillboxes up on the Schneifel—a ten-mile long, wooded and completely uninhibited ridge that almost seemed to guard the Losheimer-Graben, the valley to the north and west which gave a free passage from Germany into Belgium. The regimental commander, thirty-five-year old Colonel George L. Descheneaux, Jr., was one of the most experienced officers of the division. Until recently, he had served on the Italian Front. To the south of the 422nd Infantry Regiment, the 423rd was grouped around the German village of Bleialf. Two miles southwest of Bleialf, from Grosslangenfeld and across the rolling fields that extend three miles down to Heckhuscheid in the south-southwest, the 424th Infantry Regiment occupied positions.

While Major General Jones established his headquarters in the Sankt Josef monastery in Sankt Vith, the men at the front made it as comfortable as possible in the positions abandoned by the 2nd Infantry Division. ’Most of the effort in the first few days after the regiment moved into the line was devoted toward making conditions more liveable rather than extensively reconnoitering positions, or sending out many patrols,’ said Major Douglas E. Post of the 422nd Infantry Regiment.115

History writing has emphasized the fact that the 106th Infantry Division was a ’green’ division, but Major General Jones and his regimental commanders were at least as well-trained as the commanders of most U.S. divisions in Europe at this time. A great advantage was that Jones had commanded the division for two whole years—the unit was officially formed in March 1943—and hence was well-acquainted with his staff. As far as the troops are concerned, they had received a training which was significantly better than that of most of the rudimentary trained recruits who by this time flooded ’more experienced’ American units. After completing a thoroughful basic training, they took part in the great military maneuvers in Tennessee between January and March 1944. Moreover, with a strength of 18,000 men, supported by 41 tank destroyers, 36 anti-tank guns, 86 armored cars, and 73 artillery pieces, the 106th Infantry Division was the numerically strongest division in the entire First Army. However, the fact remains that the division—with the exception of a handful of individuals—lacked battle experience.

While the men on the ’Ghost Front’ stared into the dark and desolate winter night, the storm broke loose in the north. On 13 December, the V Corps launched its pincer attack aimed at capturing the Roer dams. Both sides were locked into a terrible battle of attrition with nothing more than limited American territorial gains, but in the ’Eagle’s Nest’ Hitler grinded his teeth. Through this American attack, Generalleutnant Hitzfeld’s LXVII. Armeekorps with its 272. and 326. Volksgrenadier divisions became tied down in a defensive battle which prevented them from launching the attack which was supposed to cover the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s northern flank. This was merely the first disappointment to the Germans in this sector.
 
Meanwhile the soldiers in the 106th Infantry Division’s first line noted some alarming signs. The night of 15 December was vibrant in a completely different way than any of the previous nights. In the darkness, engine noise and the clinking cries of metal against metal could be heard afield the German side of the front. But when Major General Jones reported this to the Corps commander Middleton, his observations were casually dismissed, ’Don’t be so jumpy, the Krauts are just playing phonograph records to scare you newcomers!’116 The following evening a German aircraft appeared in the air over the Americans—the first of its kind the men of the 106th had seen—and flew in a remarkable way, back and forth, back and forth, close above their heads, while the aircraft engines roared so that the men hardly were able to hear what they said.

On the other side of the frontline, sixteen German divisions with altogether more than 200,000 soldiers, 420 tanks and 282 tank destroyers and assault guns waited for the attack order. Already this first attack wave enjoyed a numerical superiority against its opponent by two to one in troops, and soon a second attack wave would follow with another eight divisions and two brigades, numbering over 100,000 soldiers, 469 tanks (70 Tigers, 218 Panthers, 180 Panzer IVs, and a captured Sherman), and 335 tank destroyers and assault guns. Hence, all in all a totally overwhelming force of 300,000 men and 1,500 armored vehicles.117 They would strike against the sector where the Allies were weakest and no one expected anything serious to happen. After the second attack wave waited a third wave, comprised of around a dozen more divisions—the exact number could not be established at this time since it was unclear if they would be needed in other sectors. Among these were at least five panzer or panzer grenadier divisions (the 11. and 21. panzer divisions, the 10. SS-Panzer-Division, the 25. Panzergrenadier-Division, and the 17. SS-Panzergrenadier-Division).118 These were estimated to contribute 500 more tanks, tank destroyers and assault guns.

At dawn on 16 December, Generalfeldmarschall Gerd von Rundstedt, Oberbefehlshaber West, issued the following order of the day to his men:

’Soldiers of the Western Front! Your great hour has arrived! Today, strong attacking armies have attacked the Anglo-Americans. I need not say more. You all feel that this is it! Consider the sacred commitment to give everything and to perform beyond human possibilities for our Fatherland and our Führer!’119
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The American soldiers of the 106th Infantry Division knew nothing of what awaited them when they in December 1944 went into position on the so-called ‘Ghost Front.’ (US Army)





RELATIONS OF FORCES IN THE ARDENNES, 16 DECEMBER 1944

German troop strength in the first line ahead of operation ’Herbstnebel’ on 16 December 1944

Source: Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble.
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U.S. troop strength in the first line ahead of operation ’Herbstnebel’ on 16 December 1944

Source: Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble.
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 * Transferred to VIII Corps on 16 December 1944.

German armored strength in the first line ahead of operation ’Herbstnebel’ on 16 December 1944

 Source: Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 —February 1945 – Ardennes and Nordwind—Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I.
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Since the German armored divisions had been equipped with tank destroyers as a substitute for an insufficient number of tanks, these have been included. Additionally, other German divisions mustered the following numbers of tank destroyers/assault guns in the first line on 16 December 1944: 12. Volksgrenadier-Division four; 277. Volksgrenadier-Division eleven; 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, 62. Volksgrenadier-Division, and 352. Volksgrenadier-Division fourteen each; 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division thirteen; 212. Volksgrenadier-Division four. Thus, the German forces that stood in readiness for Operation ’Herbstnebel’ had a total of 277 tank destroyers/assault guns in the first line on 16 December 1944.

The American units reported the following numbers of tank destroyers on 16 December 1944: 106th Infantry Division 41; 28th Infantry Division 17; 9th Armored Division 129; 7th Armored Division 137; 99th Infantry Division 18; 2nd Infantry Division 22; 4th Infantry Division 46—in total 410.* However, this is not comparable to the number of German tank destroyers/assault guns, since the U.S. figures also include Stuart tanks. The discrepancy between the figures above and the table below is due to different sources of information. Overall, U.S. data on military equipment in the Ardennes Battle—particularly concerning own losses—are both fragmentary and contradictory, as will be discussed later.

* Source: Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble.

** Including one captured Sherman.

American armored strength in the first line ahead of operation ’Herbstnebel’ on 16 December 1944

Source: Richard C. Anderson Jr., historian and analyst working for the U.S. Government.
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Note: In all, U.S. First Army mustered 937 Sherman tanks on 12 December 1944, but not all of these were included in the units that stood against the German units that attacked on 16 December.





* This however is far from uncontested. Montgomery was, and still is, a highly controversial character; the causes thereof will be discussed later.

** Occasionally this even had some humorous expressions, like when Patton one day in France 1944 exhorted one of his officers, ‘Take this 5-gallon gasoline can to Montgomery with this message: “Although I am sadly short of gasoline myself, I know your admiration for our equipment and supplies and I can spare you this 5 gallons. It will be more than enough to take you as far as you probably will advance in the next two days.”’ WW II Musings. Volume 2, Issue 7, Sep. 1994.

* According to Middleton’s biographer, Frank James Price, Patton dismissed the former Commander of the VIII Corps, Major General Emil F. Reinhardt because he lacked combat experience: ‘“Reinhardt?” Patton said. “Never heard of him. What’s his combat record?” Told that Reinhardt had none, Patton said, “Get rid of him. I want a man who knows how to fight. Get me Troy Middleton.”’ (Price, Troy Middleton: A Biography, p. 175.)

** Meanwhile, Omar Bradley graduated second in the class.

* Of course, not all German soldiers felt in that way. There also were those who had seen through the Nazi propaganda. ‘If this idiotic war would end!’ wrote Heinz Trammler of 18. Volksgrenadier-Division in his diary in December 1944. ‘Why should I fight? It only goes for the existence of the Nazis. The superiority of our enemy is so great that it is senseless to fight against them.’ (Annex No. 5 to G-2. Periodic Report No. 51 106th Inf Div. Translation of Diary captured by 424 Inf Reg 106 Us Inf Div. Vic Henumont (P-7297), 13 Jan 45.)

* This acronym—which actually can not be spelled out—originated from the equipment of galavanized iron, marked G.I. which was used by the U.S. Army on the Western Front in World War One.

** The training level on the German side was generally lowest within the Waff en-SS. According to what was reported by Sepp Dietrich, 60 percent of the men in the 6. SS-Panzerarmee had received less than six to eight weeks of training. (Dietrich, Sixth Panzer Army, Ardennes. ETHINT-015, p. 2.)

*** This was not least due to the rapid expansion of the American Army: Between 1940 and 1945 the USA developed from a country oriented towards peace and with an Army consisting of 243,000 offi cers and soldiers, to a country on war footing with over eight million men in the Army. (Van Creveld, p. 166.) In order to accomplish this huge growth, of which there was no experience in the USA, lessons were sought from the Industry with its assembly-line principles. Meanwhile, the German Armed Forces grew from 3.1 million men in 1939 to slightly above 6 million in 1940 and 9.4 million in 1944. (Van Creveld, p. 66.)

* After all, Nazism is based on a pseudo-scientific nonsense on race and ‘national character’ in general, as well as a romanticized glorification of the German nation in particular. Obviously, any statement made by German soldiers regarding their opponents—be it British, Americans, or Russians—during World War II, are often strongly affected by this Nazi propaganda (which, unfortunately, several military analysts and historians after the war apparently have failed to take into consideration).

* There was a dramatic difference in quality between the mostly inadequately trained German pilots on the Western Front and the veteran pilots on the Eastern Front - who in late 1944 undoubtedly were the most experienced and skilled fighter pilots of the entire World War II. Göring’s failure to shift this crack force in the East to the support of the Ardennes Offensive may decisively have affected the entire course of the battle to the German disadvantage.





CHAPTER 4

5. PANZERARMEE: PANZER MARCH TOWARDS THE MEUSE!

“The night between 15 and 16 December 1944 was pitch dark. There was frost. The enemy’s artillery was about as active as in the past evenings and nights. Nevertheless, his infantry remained passive, so we were able to occupy our points of departure for the attack completely unnoticed. Thus, the element of surprise seemed to have been achieved.”

General Hasso von Manteuffel, commander of German 5. Panzerarmee on 16 December 1944.1

SILENT INFILTRATION

Night fighting has always been one of the most terrible forms of warfare, particularly before the era of nocturnal fighting devices. This of course is even more terrible when the night fighting takes place in a hilly terrain, and especially so in winter time when snow, ice or mud turn hillsides and precipices into death-traps to soldiers who grope forward while they anxiously listen and stare into the dark for something that might be an enemy ambush. All of this was at hand when the Germans began their assault in the early morning hours of 16 December 1944.

Quietly, without any preparatory artillery fire, small groups of soldiers of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division left their positions at dawn on 16 December. It was four o’clock in the morning and still pitch dark.2 The soldiers shivered in the raw and chilly night. They did not know whether it was because of the temperature, which was just below the freezing point, or because of their tense nerves. During their march, they met weary pioneer troops who had cleared passages in the American minefields. As the assault groups disappeared into the darkness, they appeared to be half-dressed because each man only had a half snow oversuit. There simply were not enough white snow oversuits, remembered Hans Poth, one of the soldiers of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division that morning. ’Everyone got one piece; either a pair of trousers or a jacket.’3

These soldiers were no veterans. The 18. Volksgrenadier-Division had been formed as recently as September 1944, around the 18. Luftwaffe-Feld-Division, which consisted of men who had been regarded as dispensable by various German air units. However, most of the troops in the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division consisted of sailors that the German Navy had transferred to the Army. Nevertheless, in the assessment of General Hasso von Manteuffel, commander of the 5. Panzerarmee, the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division was, as he put it, ’well suited for attack operations.’4
 
Although prohibited by Hitler, von Manteuffel had regularly despatched reconnaissance patrols across the front lines during the days preceding the offensive. Thus, the Germans had been able to get a quite good idea of the American line of defense east of the Losheimer-Graben, the two to six mile-wide valley that runs from a point roughly about twenty miles northeast of Luxembourg’s northern border and southwestwards, between two mountain ridges, offering an easy passage between Germany and Belgium. The Losheimer-Graben had played a central role in three German military penetrations of Belgium—in the wars of 1870-1871, of 1914, and of 1940. Now, this little valley occupied the minds of the military strategists a fourth time.

To the east of and parallel to this valley, the mile-wide ridge of Schneifel rises about three hundred feet above the surrounding landscape. From the area east of Bleialf—a village with a railway station and 800 inhabitants in 1939, located three miles northeast of Luxembourg’s northern border—this ridge extends ten miles to the northeast. Here, among one hundred and seventy concrete pillboxes in the West Wall, U.S. 106th Infantry Division had taken up positions with its 422nd Infantry Regiment and two battalions of the 423rd Infantry Regiment. Although the portholes of the German-built pillboxes were facing the ’wrong’ direction for the Americans, it is safe to say that the 106th Infantry Division felt pretty certain that there would be no German attack in this sector, so the troops were mainly concentrated in the villages and farms beneath the Schneifel to the west. The positions held by American soldiers in the dark and desolate spruce forest on the ridge were only sparsely manned. Consequently, the Germans had a good chance to silently infiltrate the enemy lines in the same way as the Soviet troops did at the opening of Operation ’Bagration.’

The 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, the northernmost division of the 5. Panzerarmee, had perhaps the most difficult task of all units in von Manteuffel’s Panzer Army. It was positioned along a ten-mile wide front—a larger sector than any of the armored units further south—and faced most of U.S. 106th Infantry Division and 14th Cavalry Group (a mechanized force of about a regiment’s size). With the emphasis on its right flank, the division’s first goal was to secure the Losheimer-Graben valley. Next, the important road and rail junction of Sankt Vith, six miles from the German lines, was to be seized, and the American troops in the area were to be surrounded. This indeed was a delicate task, but the divisional commander, Generalmajor Günther Hoffmann-Schönborn, was convinced that his troops would be able to handle all of these tasks.
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The German assault gun Sturmgeschütz III (StuG III) was used with great success throughout the war both as an infantry support vehicle and a tank destroyer. The main armament consisted of a 75mm Sturmkanone StuK 40 L/48. It also had a 7.92mm machine gun. Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 244, which supported the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, was reported to have destroyed 54 American tanks against own losses of not more than two StuG IIIs during the Ardennes Battle. (BArch, Picture 101I-276-0702-07/Wehmeyer)





Hoffmann-Schönborn was an experienced ’fox.’ He had been awarded the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves for several successful surprise attacks against the enemy—including the capture of the Greek Metaxas Line in April 1941. Von Manteuffel held Hoffmann-Schönborn in very high regard and felt confident that his personal courage, cunning and experience would compensate for his men’s lack of experience.

The soldiers who were the first to leave their positions and slip past the American lines were of Grenadier-Regiment 294 and Grenadier-Regiment 295, the main assault force of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division. They had been selected to play a key role in Operation ’Herbstnebel’s opening attack.

To climb the slippery slope of the Schneifel’s northern projection in the darkness, and in observance of silence, cost the grenadiers great efforts. But while tired and cold American soldiers sat in their positions, staring into the darkness among the spruce trees in the spooky woods, the Germans, breathlessly silent, sneaked past a few dozen yards away. German veterans of the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945 remember that they were able to notice the presence of U.S. soldiers in the vicinity by the sweet smell of the Virginia tobacco smoked by the ’Amis.’ These Germans could not help but feel a pang of jealousy—they themselves had to make do with the acrid Turkish tobacco, or, more commonly at this time, surrogate tobacco.

Down on the plains on the western side of the Schneifel—where the Losheimer-Graben begins—the landscape was dominated, then as now, by large, rolling cattle fields, occasionally separated by long and narrow planted copses of pine or hardwood. Here Hoffmann-Schönborn’s men were divided into three task forces for a quick but absolutely silent march on the small country roads and over the half frozen grass fields towards the villages of Roth, Weckerath, Kobscheid, and Auw, between one and two miles to the west of the Schneifel’s northern projection. They were to assume attack positions just outside of these villages—that were filled with American soldiers—still observing total silence, and wait for the signal to attack. Farther back, Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 244 (equivalent in size to a company) stood ready with fourteen Sturmgeschütz StuG III assault guns. The moment when the assault companies began the attack against the American-held villages, the StuG IIIs would surge forward at full speed to provide support.

Some seven miles to the south of Grenadier-Regiments 294 and 295, the men of Grenadier-Regiment 293 crawled forward across the Schneifel’s southerly projection, cut the barbed wire and made it to their goal, Bleialf, nine miles southwest of Roth. This was the southern pincer of the division’s operation. Between 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s southern and northern attack forces, to the east of the Schneifel, the German three-mile front line was held by no more than a few hundred men from the rifle/reconnaissance battalion 18. Füsilier-Bataillon. Their task was to make as much noise as possible one hour after the main forces had departed, in order to distract the Americans.

Grenadier-Regiment 295 was divided so that one part of its I. Bataillon went into position on the fields outside of Roth, a village of six hundred inhabitants, less than a mile beneath the Schneifel. The II. Bataillon continued down the rural road towards the south and assumed assault positions in the small spruce groves outside of Kobscheid, a mile from Roth. Grenadier-Regiment 294 marched on towards the west, across the fields north of Roth, until it reached a position a few hundred yards outside of that village, and then split up so that the II. Bataillon sneaked northwards, and went into position among the leafless deciduous trees outside of Weckerath, slightly to the northwest of Roth, while the remainder of the I. Bataillon veered off towards Auw, a slightly larger community of twelve hundred inhabitants, located on a hill two miles southwest of Roth. In these communities, Major General Middleton, the commander of U.S. VIII Corps, had grouped a mechanized force of about a regiment’s size, the 14th Cavalry Group—with thirty-M5 Stuart tanks—on the 106th Infantry Division’s left flank, next to the 99th Infantry Division further north.

The commander of the 14th Cavalry Group, forty-seven-year old Colonel Mark Andrew Devine, Jr., had earned fame as a very demanding commandant at the Tank Destroyer Center’s Officer Candidate School when he in May 1944 was appointed to lead the 14th Cavalry Group. Neither Devine nor his 14th Cavalry Group had any combat experience when the unit was shipped over to France in September 1944, to be shifted to the Ardennes in mid-October. Another officer in the unit described Devine as a ’hard nosed, blunt talking, spit and polish’ officer.5 Devine was personally acquainted with the corps commander Middleton, who respected and esteemed his military capabilities.

Although the 14th Cavalry Group also contained elements of the 275th Armored Field Artillery Battalion and the 820th Tank Destroyer Battalion—the latter equipped with thirty-six 3-inch (76.2mm) M5 anti-tank guns—the area it was expected to hold was too large for such a limited force. Therefore Devine had decided to concentrate his troops to a number of populated areas—where service to vehicles and other heavy equipment also was easier—instead of trying to hold a continuous line of trenches. This was appreciated not least by the men, who by this time had had more than enough of the icy and wet trenches. Most of them were sleeping in houses in villages and farms in the area when the soldiers of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division crept up to their starting positions for the attack. The Americans did not suspect anything.
 
Shortly after five in the morning, ’A’ Troop (about the eqivalent of a company) of the 14th Cavalry Group’s 18th Cavalry Squadron in Roth reported the sighting of a red flare somewhere over the Schneifel in the east. On the other side of Roth, an American jeep and a Dodge Weapons Carrier truck came roaring at full speed up the hill, on the road from Auw. Apparently, the Americans must have detected the troops of Grenadier-Regiment 294 that came marching across the fields on both sides of the road, or the Germans at least assumed that they did so. In any case, the Germans opened fire with their Sturmgewehr, knocking out both vehicles. Corporal Howard Hoffmeyer (592nd Field Artillery Battalion) was killed and remained lying in the roadside next to the wrecked jeep. He may have been the first fatality of Operation ’Herbstnebel.’

In fact, the Americans realized that something was afoot only when the rumble of the Maybach engines in the German StuG III assault guns reached them from the darkness to the east. Built on the chassis of the by then obsolete Panzer III tank and armed with a 75mm gun, the StuG III—Sturmgeschütz III—was a terrifying infantry support vehicle. Personally led by Generalmajor Hoffmann-Schönborn, fourteen of these steel monsters came clanking to support the infantry attack. At a quarter past five the last U.S. soldiers woke up to a terrible artillery fire. The artillery of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, farther to the north, had began its firestorm a few minutes too early. Soon, parts of the 5. Panzerarmee’s artillery also mingled in.

A German soldier remembers:





[image: images]
 
A German field howitzer shelling American positions before sunrise on 16 December1944. (BArch, Bild 101I-279-0919-09/Bergmann)





’In the north and in the east the horizon behind the treetops suddenly lit up. Then the shells came roaring above our heads, heading towards their targets on the American side. The rumbling and howling sound of hundreds of artillery pieces and Nebelwerfer hit us with an almost physical force. Although we knew it was not directed against us, it felt awkward. Then it exploded on the American side. A wall of smoke rose up in front of our eyes, and inside the smoke there were red, yellow, and white flashes.’

Howitzers, field guns, and Nebelwerfer showered shells and rockets over selected targets on the U.S. side. Heavy long-range guns mounted on railway wagons subjected the larger resorts such as Sankt Vith and Schönberg to fire. Villages, farms, and artillery positions down in the Losheimer-Graben, pillboxes and other positions up on the Schneifel—all disappeared into a vortex of exploding shells. Vital telephone lines were cut by the explosions, which complicated communications between the American headquarters and their units. The Nebelwerfer—or ’Screaming Meemies’ as the Americans called them—was particularly feared. This was a rocket artillery weapon whose psychological impact was just as effective as its physical effect. Fired from a five-tube launcher, the rockets let out a blood-curdling howl on their way to the target. Emil Frie, who served in Volkswerfer-Brigade 18 during the Ardennes Battle, said:

’The whole unit always fired together, meaning that three batteries of six launchers each were fired, making a salvo of ninety rockets. […] The firing and the flight of the rockets caused an ear-splitting howl and whine that had a demoralizing effect on the enemy, rather like the howl of the Stuka. […] After a frightening, unnerving howl, ninety detonations took place at once in the enemy lines. The more concentrated the impacts were, the greater damage was created. The blast and shock wave of the exploding projectiles was enormous. Fragments of the rockets were less dangerous. A mixture of liquid gases in a special kind of rocket created tremendous air pressure when this mixture was released by the detonation and united with the oxygen in the air. Thus enemy soldiers were killed by the air pressure.’6

Colonel Devine radioed the headquarters of the 106th Infantry Division:

’I am receiving heavy artillery fire on all—repeat—all my forward units and my Command Post! No damage reports have come in yet and I’ll advise you as soon as info is available. What’s going on? This is a hell of a lot of artillery for a Ghost Front!’

But not all shells hit where they were supposed to. Leutnant Hans Joachim Neutmann, one of the men in German Grenadier-Regiment 295, recalls, ’After we assembled for the attack, we waited for our designated artillery support. However, the artillery was employed too late. Located too far back, the artillery fire hit our own men from the regimental 6th and 7th companies. Moreover, the Americans recognized the situation and subjected the regiment to heavy fire. At this point, the battalion commander, Hauptmann Lorenz, was seriously wounded. I was able to pull him out of the killing zone behind a small wall.’7
 
A few miles farther to the south, German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division attacked. Located on the top of a hill a mile southeast of the country road between Habscheid and Sankt Vith, the small village of Heckhuscheid, with by this time 250 inhabitants, was occupied by the 3rd Battalion of U.S. 424th Infantry Regiment. Here, Private Martin L. Company received a brutal awakening as an NCO stumbled into the bivouac, yelling, ’The Germans are coming! We will all be killed!’ Martin Company and his mates stumbled out and saw rows of shadowy figures advancing across the crest of the hill. They approached the Americans, howling and screaming. A strong odour of good old German liquor—Schnaps —met the American soldiers; they could smell it at a surprisingly long distance. Before each attack, German officers used to distribute richly amounts of Schnaps—’bottled courage,’ as the men called it—among their men. This had proven to enhance the effectivity of attacking troops.*

DEPLOYMENT

In military historiography, the Ardennes—the hilly area in southeastern Belgium and northern Luxembourg—often is associated with high, steep mountains and deep, impenetrable forests, more or less like Switzerland, or (for U.S. accounts) the Rocky Mountains. Indeed, this image is true for large parts of northern Luxembourg. But that was not where the greatest battles took place during the Ardennes Offensive; these mainly were fought in southeastern Belgium, which certainly also is part of the Ardennes. This area is dominated by gently rolling fields, here and there spruce forests, but it can’t be decribed as a montainous area.

The most dramatic montainous area actually begins where the Ardennes ends in the east. Here, inside Germany, the Eifel region—with its majestic mountain ridges, dark spruce forests and deep river gorges—takes over. Here the mountains are higher, the ravines steeper and the forests far deeper than in most of the Ardennes. The Eifel’s westernmost protrusion is called the Schnee Eifel (not to be confused with the smaller ridge Schneifel) and extends from the north to the south like a mighty frontier barrier, bounded in the west and in the south by the rivers Our, Sûre (Sauer in German), and Moselle. Here the Germans had taken advantage of the terrain to further reinforce the West Wall, which of course gave the Germans great difficulties now that they attacked this section of the West Wall, which was in the opponent’s hands. Moreover, in the west, the Schnee Eifel descends steeply into the deep gorge excavated by River Our, which flows to the south from eastern Belgium, forming the stream that marks the border between Germany and Luxembourg.

On 16 december 1944, the northernmost corps of German 5. Panzerarmee, the LXVI. Armeekorps under General Walther Lucht, had positioned the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division on its left, and the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division on its right flank, closest to the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s southern flank. Here the front line ran to the east of River Our, since U.S. 28th Infantry Division had penetrated into this area during the first attack on the West Wall in September 1944. The landscape in this area is gently undulating, with farmland dominating the east and deep spruce forests in the western part.
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View from the German side of the Our river towards Dasburg and the Luxembourgian countryside. This painting was made in the winter 1944/1945 by the German artist Horst Helmus, who served as an Unteroffizier in the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division during the Ardennes Offensive.





The 62. Volksgrenadier-Division, which stood against mainly U.S. 424th Infantry Regiment, was provided with two tasks on this first day of the offensive: To capture the bridge over the Our at Steinebrück, four miles west of Bleialf, and to secure the highway that ran in a northwesterly direction from Habscheid in Germany, via Steinebrück and on to the strategically important junction of Sankt Vith. On 16 December 1944, Steinebrück was at a distance of about eight miles from the front, and to Sankt Vith there was another good three miles.
 
Unlike the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division was an old and experienced German division; basically it was 62. Infanterie-Division, which had participated in the war since the invasion of Poland in 1939. Cohesion in the division was strengthened by the fact that the majority of the men and officers came from Silesia in south-eastern Germany. But by this time only about forty percent of the men had any combat experience—many of the recruits had until recently toiled as miners in Silesia—but this was offset by the fact that the majority of the division’s officers and about two-thirds of the NCOs were seasoned veterans.8 The divisional commander, Generalmajor Friedrich Kittel, however, had spent much of the war in various staff positions, and on 16 December 1944 he was one of the few German generals on the Ardennes Front who had not been awarded with the Knight’s Cross. Von Manteuffel was not too happy with Kittel. ’He lacked,’ von Manteuffel wrote, ’experience, both regarding service on the front and regarding commanding a division on the battlefield.’9 Kittel deployed Grenadier-Regiment 183 south of the highway Habscheid –Sankt Vith, and Grenadier-Regiment 190 north of the highway. Once a decisive breakthrough had been achieved, the ’mobile battalion’ (bewegliche Abteilung) under Oberst Arthur Jüttner was to be launched. Consisting of the headquarters unit and the bicycle infantry battalion in Jüttner’s Grenadier-Regiment 164, plus three Jagdpanzer 38 (t) Hetzer tank destroyers and a battery of 105mm field howitzers, this was tasked to make a rapid advance along the road up to Steinebrück.10 Oberst Jüttner was one of the most distinguished regimental commanders on the German side during the Ardennes Battle. As a company commander, he had distinguished himself already during the first day of the attack on Poland in 1939. In almost continuous service on the Eastern Front from 1941 to 1944, he had managed to save quite difficult situations on several occasions, through both his skill and strong leadership. While other German units completely collapsed during Operation ’Bagration’ in June 1944, Jüttner brought an encircled unit back to the German lines through a forty-four day march. For this he was awarded the Oak Leaves to his Knight’s Cross.

South of the LXVI. Armeekorps, the LVIII. Panzerkorps under General Walter Krüger was deployed on an eight-mile wide frontline to the east of the point where Germany’s, Belgium’s, and Luxembourg’s current borders meet.* The landscape here was much the same as at LXVI. Armeekorps’ front sector. At Sevenig—in the center of LVIII. Panzerkorps’ front sector—began the bridgehead on the eastern side of River Our that the Americans had established in September 1944. At dawn on 16 December, 112th Infantry Regiment of U.S. 28th Infantry Division and, further north, the 424th Infantry Regiment of the 106th Infantry Division were positioned between one and four miles to the east of River Our.
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Generalmajor Siegfried von Waldenburg commanded the 116. Panzer-Division during the Ardennes Offensive. Von Waldenburg passed away in 1973, at the age of 74. (BArch, Bild146-1983-123-28A)
 




116. Panzer-Division on the LVIII. Panzerkorps’ northern flank also was an ‘old’ division: Early in the war it had been an infantry division, 16. Infanterie-Division, and it served on the Eastern Front during most of the war. Having been badly mauled in the winter of 1943/1944, it was withdrawn to Germany, where it was converted into an armored division. Then it was deployed to France, where it fought at Normandy, again sustaining heavy casualties. In mid-December 1944, the 116. Panzer-Division, however, had recovered its strength, and according to von Manteuffel’s assessment, it was ’well suited for attack operations.’11 The divisional commander, Generalmajor Siegfried von Waldenburg, had been in active service since the first day of the war. When Hitler’s armies moved to assault through the Ardennes on 10 May 1940, von Waldenburg was operations officer of VI. Armeekorps, in which, incidentally, 16. Infanterie-Division was included.** Therefore, he had organized a breakthrough in the very same area once before. On 19 September 1944, von Waldenburg was appointed to command the 116. Panzer-Division, and when the Ardennes Offensive began, he had made a name for himself in the battles against both the air landing forces at Arnhem and the Americans in the Hürtgenwald. A week before the Offensive, the barely forty-six-year-old von Waldenburg was awarded with the Knight’s Cross.

During the Battle of the Hürtgenwald in November 1944, the 116. Panzer-Division—which now had assumed the name ’Windhund-Division’ (Greyhound)—inflicted heavy losses on U.S. 28th Infantry Division, which the German gallows humor called the ’Bloody Bucket Division.’ These two divisions now would meet again.

The first task of the 116. Panzer-Division was to capture the bridges over the Our at Burg Reuland and Oberhausen, slightly to the north of the point where Germany’s, Belgium’s and Luxembourg’s current borders meet.12 At Burg Reuland—about six miles deep into the area controlled by the Americans—one of the main roads in the area was located. According to the plan, the 116. Panzer-Division would march from this area and straight on to the Meuse. The division opened its attack with four assault companies of Panzergrenadier regiments 60 and 156 infiltrating the American lines on a three-mile wide front between Heckhuscheid and Leidenborn, three miles to the east of River Our.13

The LVIII. Panzerkorps’ second division, 560. Volksgrenadier-Division, deployed farther to the south, was arguably the weakest among the 5. Panzerarmee’s divisions. When the attack began on 16 December, only parts of the division’s strength had arrived at the front, so each of its three regiments rather was of battalion strength. In addition, the division lacked all its heavy weapons, including tank destroyers. Von Manteuffel laconically labeled the divisional commander, Oberst Rudolf Langhauser as ’not very experienced.’14 In the case of the men, he noted, ’Many very young without any first-line experience.’15

Similar to Generalmajor Hoffmann-Schönborn, Langhauser had divided his unit into two battlegroups: on the right (northern) flank, Kampfgruppe Schumann (Volksgrenadier-Regiment 1130) was directed towards the river crossing at Ouren, just north of the meeting point of Germany’s, Belgium’s and Luxembourg’s current borders. To the left of this battlegroup, Kampfgruppe Schmitt (Volksgrenadier Regiment in 1128) was to advance towards Kalborn and Heinerscheid, three to four miles further south, inside Luxembourg.

South of the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division was the southernmost corps in the 5. Panzerarmee, General Heinrich von Lüttwitz’s XLVII. Panzerkorps, whose front ran for about six miles along the eastern side of the Our. The two panzer divisions of this corps were focused on two river crossings: the 2. Panzer-Division on Dasburg, four miles south of Kalborn, and Panzer Lehr on Obereisenbach, a little bit further to the south.
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The Eifel region of western Germany is characterized by dark spruce forests. In the photo, a U.S. air defense unit advances on one of the narrow roads that wind through this hilly area. The gun is a 40mm Bofors anti-aircraft gun. (NARA, SC 196217)





The 2. Panzer Division was anything but a ’green’ division. It had been in first-line service since the first day of the war. On 10 May 1940—when Hitler’s armies launched their Blitzkrieg in the West—the division had crossed the Our at Vianden. And now, four and a half years later, the division was prepared to attack across the same river for a new ’Western Campaign.’ Although it had sustained very heavy casualties during the fighting in France in the summer 1944, the 2. Panzer-Division also had regained much of its strength. Von Manteuffel’s assessment of this division on the morning of 16 December 1944 was the same as for the 116. Panzer-Division: ’well suited for attack operations.’16 The divisional commander, the merely 39-year-old Oberst Meinrad von Lauchert, had been specially selected by von Manteuffel, who described him as ’a good battle technician from the Eastern Front.’17 As with his colleague von Waldenburg, von Lauchert had been in the first line since the neginning of the war. Von Lauchert also had participated in the attack in the West on 10 May 1940, serving as a battalion commander in the 4. Panzer-Division. He fought for more than three years on the Eastern Front, where he was awarded with the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves. Owing to his qualifications as a panzer unit commander, he was appointed to lead the first regiment equipped with the new Panther tanks in the summer of 1943. In the fall of 1944 he earned reputation for his successful command of an ad hoc armored unit in the defense of East Prussia.
 
However, one disadvantage for both von Lauchert and the 2. Panzer-Division during the beginning of the Ardennes Offensive in 1944, was that he assumed his position as unit commander only on the day before the launching of the attack. But this could be offset by the high quality of both the rank-and-file and the NCOs and officers in the division. According to the commander of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2, Oberst Joachim Gutmann, all unit commander replacements—down to the level of company commander—were battle experienced men drawn from other units. Even among the NCOs and the troops, no more than one third of the replacements were fresh recruits, who nevertheless received an additional four-week training at the unit.18

Inside Luxembourg, on the other side of the river in this area, lay the 110th Infantry Regiment of U.S. 28th Infantry Division. Indeed, this was a pretty combat-experienced unit, but as mentioned above, the division had suffered griveous losses during the fall of 1944. The 28th Infantry Division had been shipped to France on 22 July 1944, and immediately was hurled into the fierce final battle of Normandy. The division’s greatest trial came when it was employed in the Battle of the Hürtgen Forest on 2 November 1944; twelve days later, its 110th Infantry Regiment had lost more than eighteen hundred men, including the regimental commander, Colonel Theodore Seeley, who had been injured. He was succeeded by 50-year-old Colonel Hurley Fuller. As we shall see later, Fuller would prove to be one of the most farsighted unit commanders in the entire VIII Corps during the first day of the German attack.

By this time, the 110th Infantry Regiment had been upgraded to a Regimental Combat Team (110th RCT), which meant that it was supplied with additional support troops—including armor—so that it reached a strength of nearly five thousand men, instead of slightly more than three thousand, which was the standard for a U.S. Army regiment. The recruits that had arrived to fill the gaps after the severe losses, however, left much to be desired in terms of infantry training.

Fifteen miles as the crow flies to the west of the positions held by Fuller’s men, was the small town of Bastogne—the strategic Belgian communications junction on the road towards River Meuse—the conquest of which Hitler especially had stressed the importance of. That task fell on von Lüttwitz’s shoulders.

Von Lüttwitz’s Panzerkorps not only had to cross River Our—on the other side of the river, a serpentine road led up to the high ridge which rose between 120 and 200 feet above the forest-clad slopes descending down to the river gorge in the east. On the crest of this ridge, parallel to the river from the north to the south, ran a paved road which the Americans called ’Skyline Drive’ (the same name as the highway which runs on the mountain ridge of the Blue Ridge Mountains in Virginia). This high ridge extended westwards with rolling fields and farmland, until the terrain descended fairly steeply into the next natural obstacle, three miles west of Dasburg—River Clerve, which in the middle of northern Luxembourg had carved a 75-foot-deep gorge running from the north to the south. On the western side of this river, around the town of Wiltz, twelve miles southeast of Bastogne, is a large area of such a heavily forested mountaneous landscape that has become the general image of the Ardennes. On the third day of the attack, the two southernmost divisions of von Lüttwitz’s Panzerkorps would find themselves congested on the narrow main road that winds through the mountains in this sector. But just a few miles further to the north—in the area northeast of Bastogne—the 2. Panzer-Division could surge ahead through a beautiful, undulating farmland. It was here that Hitler’s armies had rushed forward during the Lightning War in May 1940.
 




[image: images]
 
In the morning on 16 December 1944, German anti-aircraft searchlights illuminated the low cloud cover to help the troops through a so-called ‘artificial moonlight.’ Painting by former Unteroffizier Horst Helmus, 26. Volksgrenadier-Division.
 




Already at one o’clock in the morning, eighty-man-strong assault companies from the 2. Panzer-Division’s 38. Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon and II. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment 304 put rubber assault boats into River Our’s ice cold water at Dasburg for a ’silent infiltration.’ Obscured by mist and darkness, the soldiers quickly made it across to the other river bank, and began to climb the steep and muddy slopes. When the XLVII. Panzerkorps artillery opened up at 0530 hrs, the stormtroopers had already taken up positions around the U.S. defense positions at Marnach on the road the panzers would take on the way westward from Dasburg towards Bastogne, and at Munshausen, about a mile and a half farther to the southwest. Others grouped among the trees on the heights of Our’s eastern side opposite to Dasburg, where engineers hastened to bring forward semimanufactured bridge parts that would be laid across the river. Two men with a radio managed to sneak a few miles through the U.S. controlled area, to the hills above the town of Clervaux at River Clerve, where they set up an artillery observation position.
 
To the left (south) of the 2. Panzer-Division, soldiers from two regiments of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division—Grenadier-Regiment 77 and Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39—crossed the Our with rubber assault boats at three in the morning on 16 December. This was the infantry support division of von Lüttwitz’s Corps. The German infantrymen also managed to cross the river without being detected by their opponent. Still without the Americans sensing that something was amiss, they climbed the slopes to assume positions around the U.S. defense posistions at Hosingen, Holzthum, Walhausen, and Weiler—on a three-mile wide front, between four and six miles south and southwest of Dasburg. One task force went into position at the Our opposite Obereisenbach—five miles south of Dasburg—where a bridge would be built for Generalleutnant Fritz Bayerlein’s Panzer Lehr Division.

At the appointed time, at 0530 hrs, the assault groups of 2. Panzer-Division and 26. Volksgrenadier-Division—in most cases individual platoons, but at Hosingen a whole battalion—attacked the 110th RCT’s positions along the whole sector between rivers Our and Clerve.19 In the meantime, the main force started to cross the river. At Obereisenbach, heavy infantry weapons and armed motorcycles were initially brought across on makeshift ferries while engineers toiled to construct temporary bridges both at that location and at Dasburg.20

Amidst all this, at 0535 hrs, an eerie glow lit the night sky in the east. The air defense searchlights that von Manteuffel had placed behind the frontlines now went into action to illuminate the low cloud cover in order to help troops to find their way. This spooky so-called ’artificial moonlight’ has served to give the term ’Ghost Front’ a new meaning for many of the American veterans who survived the battle.
 
THE STRUGGLE FOR A BREAKTHROUGH

’0530 hours: armed attack,’ wrote German Unteroffizier Horst Helmus in his diary for the first day of the attack. ’The low cloud cover above the front is lit up by searchlights, an artificial moonlight, and we become spectators to magnificent “fireworks.” The sound of firing guns and the shell explosions hardly can be distinguished from each other. Nebelwerfers howl like wild animals, the artillery thunders like a bomb carpet. Me and my comrades are absolutely wild with excitement. Is this 1940 or 1944?’21

As so often in the early part of a great battle, the first hours of the German attack were characterized by varying success and confusion on both sides. At 0610 in the morning on 16 December, Colonel Devine of U.S. 14th Cavalry Group in the Losheimer-Graben valley again radioed the 106th Infantry Division’s headquarters in Sankt Vith:

’Enemy troops are in many locations in the Losheim Gap and are attacking Krewinkel, Afst [half a mile northwest of Krewinkel] and Roth. My scattered forces are fighting for their lives, and it appears the main enemy attack is continuing to the west —repeat—main attack is continuing to the west!’
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The American resistance was much tougher than the Germans anticipated when they launched their attack, which resulted in some very high German losses. (NARA, SC 197682)
 




What Devine could imagine—a German flanking movement—had not yet dawned on Major General Jones, the 106th Infantry Division’s C-in-C. While German 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s two northern regiments struck the villages of Weckerath, Roth, Kobscheid, and Auw—at the same time as the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division of 6. SS-Panzerarmee assaulted the adjacent village Krewinkel—its Grenadier-Regiment 293 further to the south attacked Bleialf, held by a battalion of U.S. 423rd Infantry Regiment.
 
In Spa, information about the German attack reached the commander of U.S. First Army, Lieutenant General Courtney H. Hodges—as his two aides, Major William C. Sylvan and Captain Francis C. Smith noted in the diary they kept on the general’s behalf, ’First word that something was brewing came from VIII Corps sector shortly before seven o’clock this morning when an attack of infantry supported by tanks retook the town of [Roth].’22 However, Hodges assumed that this was nothing more than ‘spoiling attacks to take the pressure off the important V Corps drive towards the Roer River Dams.’23
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U.S. soldiers cleaning a 105mm howitzer in the field. The M2A1 was the U.S. Army’s standard howitzer during World War II and was used for infantry support. The gun had a firing range of about 7 miles. (NARA, SC 195503
 




The report sent by radio by the 423rd Infantry Regiment’s commander, Colonel Charles C. Cavender, at 0730 hrs is quite indicative of the desperate situation of the U.S. troops in the front line who were left alone during those first fateful morning hours: ’Enemy advancing on Bleialf is threatening to cut off Troop B, 18th Cav [18th Cavalry Squadron of 14th Cavalry Group] and I …’ There the transmission was interrupted, and when it was resumed again, Cavender’s tense voice was heard crying out, ’Enemy is now in Bleialf—repeat—enemy are in Bleialf now! They wiped out one of my platoons defending there and I urgently need permission to use my 2nd Battalion so I can launch a counterattack! I fully understand that 2/423 is part of the division reserve, but the Bleialf situation is serious and is a threat to the division’s defence. Have alerted Service Company and Cannon Company to move to the support of Bleialf. I’ll try and do my best with what I have, but if we want to kick those people out, I need my 2nd Battalion released to me now!’

But Major General Jones still refused to give his permission to use the reserve force; just like the army commander Hodges, he was of the opinion that this was not a major German offensive.
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A column German Panzer IV tanks. With its 75mm KwK 40 L/48 gun, the Panzer IV could penetrate an American Sherman tank’s 64mm frontal armor at a distance of 2,000 yards. The Panzer IV had a 80 mm front armor at 80 ° slope. The 30mm side armor was supplemented by spaced armor in the form of armored skirts, Schürzen—six 5 mm thick steel plates that slightly overlapped and hung from a long rail.
(BArch, Bild 101I-708-0298-26/Scheerer (e))





However, the order to the American soldiers to stay put was conscientiously followed, with an admirable persistence. In the small village of Grosslangenfeld, slightly more than a mile southwest of Bleialf, on the other side of the muddy fields between the two villages, another force from Colonel Cavender’s 423rd Infantry offered a stiff resistance against Grenadier-Regiment 190, the northernmost of 62. Volksgrenadier-Division’s regiments. Here the 106th Reconnaissance Troop—with one hundred and fifty soldiers and thirteen M8 armored cars, each armed with a 37mm gun—managed to repel the attackers after a short battle. Kittel, the German divisional commander, decided to commit the Bicycle Infantry Battalion, Oberst Jüttner’s ’mobile battalion,’ prematurely, in an attempt to circumvent the Americans through a rapid advance on the main road from Habscheid and northwards. But this was almost doomed in advance. This road passes just beneath the small plateau on the right side where Grosslangenfeld is located, and on the road’s left side an American company held positions in a grove.
 
Jüttner, who personally led the bicycle advance, was a quite demanding commander. While his soldiers painstakingly wobbled forward on their heavily laden bicycles on the slippery road, the cries of their officers—’Schnell! Schnell ’—could be heard to the American positions.24 Shortly afterwards, U.S. 591st Field Artillery Battalion had directed its 105mm howitzers against the German squad. The shells struck on both sides of the bicycle column, which were scattered to the winds while the men hurled themselves into the water-filled ditches. When the sound of the explosions subsided, the screams of the wounded filled the air.

During the remainder of the day repeated assaults were made against Grosslangenfeld, but each time Kittel’s troops were repulsed with bloody losses. When Leutnant Gerhard Wurm, one of the platoon commanders in Grenadier-Regiment 164, shortly after midnight on 17 December inspected the foxholes dug by the Germans in the wooded hill south of Grosslangenfeld, he came upon dead or wounded everywhere. All around in the snow lay frozen body parts and bloody corpses, contorted into grotesque shapes—the remnants of what had been Wurm’s men. It turned out that eight combat-ready men was all that remained of his platoon.25

For some reason American First Army’s report, the FUSA Inspector General report, afterwards claimed that ’most of the officers and men’ at Grosslangenfeld ’surrendered the next morning without a fight.’26 The Germans who survived the battle, however, tell a different story. It was only when 62. Volksgrenadier-Division on the next day employed heavy artillery that the Americans withdrew from the hamlet.

The southernmost regiment of the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division, Grenadier-Regiment 183, fared no better as it thrust towards the hills south of the highway where Jüttner’s regiment was stalled. Having seized Heckhuscheid—four miles south of Grosslangenfeld and three miles northeast of Lützkampen—at dawn on 16 December, Grenadier-Regiment 183 ran out of luck. Located on top of a hill, the small village of Heckhuscheid was left at the mercy of an intense fire from American mortars. The 3rd Battalion of U.S. 424th Infantry Regiment—the battalion where Private Martin Company had been woken up by a panicked NCO who thought everyone was going to die—had regrouped in the wooded hills to the west, and their mortars now showered shells over the Germans in the village.

When even the howitzers of the 591st Field Artillery Battalion mixed in, the Germans fled. The Americans immediately assaulted Heckhuscheid and took one hundred and seven prisoners, most of them wounded by shrapnel. Von Manteuffel commented that ’the interaction between the different units [of the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division] was carried out insufficiently, and was absolutely inadequate when it came to exploiting the local successes attained.’27

While this took place, the assault companies of the 116. Panzer-Division’s II. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment 60 clashed with a pair of American companies in the large spruce forest southwest of Heckhuscheid. There are no German reports on what happened there, but an American soldier’s recollections reveal that the Germans encountered ’B’ Company, 1st Battalion of U.S. 112th Infantry Regiment. On 16 December 1944, this battalion was based in Lützkampen—a small German community of about five hundred residents at this time, located two miles northeast of the spot where Germany’s, Belgium’s and Luxembourg’s current borders converge at River Our. Private First Class George Knaphus recounts, ’Here they came, a whole regiment of Germans, somewhere around a thousand people came right down that road. They were yelling, a lot more than you would expect in this kind of case. One of them said “Yankee sons of bitches,” and then the other one said some nasty things about [the famous baseball player] Babe Ruth.’
 
’B’ Company of 820th Tank Destroyer Battalion had positioned their anti-tank guns a bit further to the west. Its after action report reads, ’At 0715 hrs, heavy long range enemy machine gun fire coming from the woods to the east. Wires were cut and broken by shell fragments and falling debris, stopping all communication with the 424th Regimental Headquarters and with the First and Third Platoons. At 0800 hrs, heavy fighting along entire Regimental front but lines continued to hold. At 1000 hrs, very heavy mortar fire reported at Second Platoon area and stragglers from Cannon Company area toward the front came thru the Tank Destroyer area. The stragglers reported that the Cannon Company was almost entirely wiped out.’28

The 424th Infantry Regiment’s 2nd Battalion soon came to the aid, with fire support from the anti-tank company that fired explosive grenades right into the ranks of German soldiers. The battle was terribly bloody. One of the German companies was almost completely wiped out, and ’B’ Company of 1st Battalion, 112th Infantry Regiment lost one hundred and thirty men killed, wounded or missing. ’There were just two to three hundred bodies,’ George Knaphus said, ’lying there like they were sleeping peacefully.’

A bit farther to the south, near the village of Sevenig, about a mile southwest of Lützkampen, a platoon of ’L’ Company from the 112th Infantry Regiment’s 3rd Battalion was obliterated. The German troops responsible for this came from Kampfgruppe Schumann of 560. Volksgrenadier-Division. This division’s infiltration attack began at five o’clock in the morning, in total darkness and without any artillery support. 29 The left battalion’s Assault Company (Stosskompanie) discovered that there were no barbed wire barriers in the fields on both sides of Sevenig, and thus was able to bypass Sevenig quickly to surprisingly descend upon their opponent. The soldiers advanced across the fields and through the spruce forest west of Sevenig, and at seven o’clock captured the little stone bridge over the Our river.30

But by then the battle was in full swing. The air was filled with all hellish sounds of a battlefield—the deafening crashes of exploding grenades and clatter of automatic weapons, soldiers screaming with fear or to instill courage in themselves, the cries of the wounded for medics, and blood-curdling howls of pain. The night turned into day. Everywhere explosions and fires flashed and blazed, and on top of that the winter darkness was lit up through the ghostly glow from the anti-aircraft searchlights on the German side that lit up the thick, low cloud cover. The powerful U.S. artillery was not late to respond, and soon villages and towns on the German side went up in flames.

At Sevenig, American artillery observers equipped with a radio vectored the 229th Field Artillery Battalion’s 105 mm howitzers against Kampfgruppe Schumann’s main force which was advancing across the fields in the footsteps of the assault companies. This artillery fire was supplemented with mortar shelling, machine guns, and small arms from the pillboxes in the West Wall that the Americans held occupied since September. With their comrades falling to the left and to the right, the surviving men of Kampfgruppe Schumann hastily took cover. When a small American unit of the 2nd Battalion, 112th Infantry Regiment made a determined counterattack against the stone bridge, the German soldiers were completely taken by surprise; these men, who through a prolonged indoctrination had been induced to believe that the Americans were unable to accomplish much ’man to man’ in the field, were totally unprepared and surrendered quite easily. Afterwards the Americans described these Germans as ’awfully green.’ 31
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German infantry advancing during one of Ardennes Offensives first days. Already at midday on 16 December, Hoffmann-Schönborns main force had taken the villages of Weckerath, Roth, Auw, and Kobscheid in a two mile-wide and three mile-deep area on the plains west of the Schneifel Ridge. (NARA, III-SC-333946)





The American after action report reads, ’Lt. Flores, and T Sgt. Stephens with 5 men of the 3rd squad of the 3rd Platoon captured about 30 men trying to protect the bridge. They also captured the rest of the company in a patch of woods. Their mission was to take and hold the bridges for their own use. They were armed with auto rifles & bazookas. From 9 to 12 of their company were killed, and from 18 to 20 killed by our men. We had no casualties.’32

Kampfgruppe Schmitt (Volksgrenadier-Regiment 1128) on 560. Volksgrenadier-Division’s southern flank had a much easier task, since the Americans here were on the west side of the river. Schmitt’s men were able to secure their first goal, the stone bridge over the Our at Tintesmühle, four miles southwest of Lützkampen, already in the morning. This nevertheless was found to be destroyed. But the soldiers of Kampfgruppe Schmitt made it across the river’s icy waters and established a small bridgehead where they managed to hold out against American counter-attacks, while they waited for the trucks that would bring the bridge construction material.

Meanwhile, the Corps commander, General Krüger, and Generalmajor von Waldenburg, the 116. Panzer Division’s commander, knew nothing of what the 116. Panzer-Division’s four assault companies had accomplished. There was no radio connection, and for most of the day, nothing was heard from these troops. When the two generals at four o’clock in the afternoon on 16 December still had not heard anything about the assault troops, the decision was made that the 116. Panzer-Division would deploy the remainder of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 156, with the support of eight Panzer IV tanks, on the division’s southern flank.

The Panzerkampfwagen IV (Panzer IV) medium tank really was the German armored force’s workhorse during World War II. It stemmed from an idea by armored warfare theorist Heinz Guderian, who wanted a robust infantry support tank to fight the opponent’s fortified positions. Later on, in 1941, when the Germans were confronted with the superior Soviet T-34 tanks on the Eastern Front, the Panzer IV was modified with a larger gun and more armor to fight other tanks. In the latest version, Ausführung J, the electric generator that powered the tank’s turret traverse had been removed due to production considerations, so the turret had to be rotated manually.

After a Nebelwerfer battery sent their howling rockets in the direction where the American positions were believed to be located—in fact without knowing if their own ’disappeared’ assault companies were where the deadly explosives hit—Hauptmann Werner Brinkmann, commanding the II. Abteilung/ Panzer-Regiment 16 ordered his tanks forward, ’Panzer Marsch!’ Thundering and squeaking, the 25-ton armored vehicles rolled out of Leidenborn.

They moved north, in column on the road leading towards the Our crossing at Burg Reuland. At sunset, half past four, they rumbled through Lützkampen, which was occupied by Panzergrenadier-Regiment 156.33 On the other side of the small community, the road passed through a dense forest. It was here that II. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment 60 had sustained such heavy casualties a few hours earlier. Everywhere in the forest were dead and dying men. Among the wounded who struggled back towards their own lines was Major Wilhelm Carstensen, the German battalion commander. But Hauptmann Brinkmann’s tank crews knew nothing of this as they drove forward on the narrow road towards Diedrichsborn. Neither did they know that the 3rd Platoon of ’B’ Company, U.S. 820th Tank Destroyer Battalion held positions just a bit further north.

The tank destroyer battalions of the U.S. Army were either equipped with thirty-six tracked tank destroyers or with a similar number of 3-inch (76.2 mm) M5 towed anti-tank guns. The 820th Tank Destroyer Battalion was one of the latter. Its 2nd Platoon had been pushed back and abandoned three of its guns during the previous battle, but the 3rd Platoon remained in position. Private First Class Paul C. Rosenthal sighted what he later reported as ’five enemy tanks, a hostile pillbox and two German-occupied buildings,’ and directed the 23’4” long barrel of his antitank gun against the tanks.34
 
The Germans had reached a point no more than about a hundred yards from Lützkampen when a sharp bang was heard. The leading Panzer IV, with Leutnant Hans Einwächter as commander, was hit frontally and burst into flames. Einwächter slumped forward, dead in the turret hatch.35

The U.S. M5 anti-tank cannon had a teriffic firepower. It was able to slam straight through the heavy frontal armor of a Panzer IV at a distance of over five hundred yards. Rosenthal’s gun was reloaded and fired again. A new hit, a new German tank was set on fire. Rosenthal continued firing. The American after action report reads, ’Private First Class Rosenthal put his gun into position and fired eighteen rounds of APC and HE shells causing complete destruction of the tanks, the ammunition truck, the pillbox, the two buildings, and also inflicting ninety casualties on the enemy personnel.’36

The war diary of II. Abteilung/ Panzer-Regiment 16 gives the German perspective, ’From an antitank position somewhere in the vicinity of Diedrichsborn –Bock our tanks were exposed to heavy fire. Within a few minutes, six tanks are knocked out. The road is blocked. Covered by fire from the pillboxes, the other tanks pull back. Our tanks manage to neutralize three anti-tank guns, but our attack had to be cancelled.’37

It is interesting to see how the confusion during the first hours of the German attack also has characterized various depictions of the events on the 116. Panzer-Division’s southern flank. According to American military historians Hugh M. Cole and Charles B. MacDonald the German tank losses in this sector during the first day were ’at least fifteen’ and ’at least thirteen tanks’ respectively.38 The German divisional commander, von Waldenburg, gives a completely different description of the same events:

In general the American resistance was weak except in the woods west of Berg where the enemy fought very bravely and fiercely. The commitment of German tanks west of Lützkampen soon forced the enemy to withdraw from this position. Weak enemy harrassing fire was reported from Kesfeld, Uttfeld and Leidenborn and from the road Uttfeld -Leidenborn -Lützkampen. […]

The two assault companies sustained heavy losses. The assault company of the 60 Regt was nearly destroyed, the assault company of the 156 Regt was seriously weakened and joined the regiment the next day. The other losses during the first day were small. Two or three tanks were knocked out by the enemy during the fighting between Lützkampen and Ouren.39

The difference between von Waldenburg’s data and the German battalion’s war diary above regarding German tank losses, may possibly be due to the former counting only total losses in tanks, while the war diary (written on the day when this happened) also included such tanks that the Germans afterwards could repair. In general the Americans exaggerated the German tank losses during the Battle of the Ardennes. An important explanation for this may be that the German tanks often managed to withstand frontal hits from many U.S. weapons, without being significantly damaged—hits that would have destroyed any American tank. In the heat of battle it is understandable that American gunners often assumed that they destroyed a German tank that they scored a direct hit on.
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A German Panther tank passing through anti-tank obstacles in the West Wall in the winter of 1944/1945. The German medium tank Panzerkamp-fwagen V Panther was developed as a response to the Soviet T-34, which outshone all German tanks in 1941. The Panther entered service on the Eastern Front in the summer of 1943. The Panther is regarded by many as the best medium tank of World War II. (BArch, Bild 183-P0213-501)
 




The uncertainty in the headquarters of the 116. Panzer-Division on 16 December 1944 only cleared the next day, when contact again was reached with the two assault companies of II. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment 156. It turned out that these ravaged behind the American lines during an entire day, taking a total of two hundred and fifty prisoners.40

But partly due to the resistance met by the 116. Panzer Division on the northern flank, and the fact that huge anti-tank obstacles (called ’dragon’s teeth’) were discovered there—a serious intelligence failure—the Corps commander, General Walter Krüger, ordered the division to turn south instead and cross the Our at Ouren, a small hamlet southwest of Lützkampen. Since the assault companies of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 60 on the panzer division’s northern flank also had been repulsed, American 423rd Infantry Regiment had the opportunity in the afternoon on 16 December to assemble a strike force with sufficient strength to drive the Germans out of Bleialf south of the Schneifel ridge. Thereby Grenadier-Regiment 293 on the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s southern flank was halted. At 1930 hrs, the American regimental commander, Colonel Cavender, reported:

’Situation is not the best, but we’re still holding. Denied my 2nd Battalion. I have no reserves and B Troop, 18th Cavalry is bottled up in Winterscheid. My right flank, and maybe my left, are up in the air and I’ve lost contact with 424th. Again, we are holding and we will continue to improve our present positions.’

At around the same time, Colonel Devine, the commander of the 14th Cavalry, made it to SanktVith with the intention to personally ask Major General Jones for reinforcements. But Jones refused to see him, claiming that he was too busy, and demanded that the tough cavalry colonel should wait. When the next morning dawned, Jones had still not received Devine, who by that time was so furious that a present officer described him as ’a volcano about to erupt.’41

The fact that Major General Jones still was so relatively calm probably was because Lieutenant General Hodges, the First Army’s C-in-C, at half past eleven in the morning on 16 December decided to shift the equivalent of an armored regiment—Combat Command B (CCB) of the 9th Armored Division—from the V Corps in the north and to the 106th Infantry Division’s support.

Unlike the German panzer divisions, each of which consisted of a ’pure’ armored regiment equipped with all of the division’s tanks, and two ’pure’ panzer grenadier regiments and an artillery regiment, the Americans divided the various components of their regular armored divisions equally between three Combat Commands—A, B, and R (Reserve). Such a combat command generally consisted of an armored battalion, a battalion of armored infantry, an artillery battalion, and a tank destroyer platoon. The assigned strength of a combat command was fifty M4 Sherman medium tanks and seventeen light tanks, mainly M5 Stuarts, thus almost as many tanks as in many of the German armored divisions in the Ardennes. With one hundred and eighty-six Shermans and eighty-three Stuarts divided between its three Combat commands, the relatively newly formed 9th Armored Division had more than its assigned strength on 16 December 1944.42
 
Later in the day on 16 December, Major General Jones met the commander of Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division, Brigadier General William Hoge, who reported that his armored units had already departed from the Malmedy area, between twelve and twenty miles north of the 106th Infantry Division’s battle area. Shortly afterwards Middleton, the commander of the VIII Corps, called and informed Jones that the C-in-C of the 12th Army Group, Bradley, also had ordered the 7th Armored Division to be detached from the Ninth Army in the Maastricht area in the north. At 1730 on 16 December, the 7th Armored Division was assigned with the orders to prepare for a rapid movement southwards, where it was to support the 106th Infantry Division.43 Jones learned that Combat Command B of the 7th Armored Division was expected to arrive at Sankt Vith at seven in the morning on 17 December. The Americans reckoned that the Germans hardly would be able match these two armored combat commands.

Had he had a better overview of the situation, Jones would have realized that there was every reason not only to worry, but also to act quickly.

Generalmajor Hoffmann-Schönborn had, as we have seen, placed the emphasis of his 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s attack on the northern flank, just south of the seam between the 5. Panzerarmee and the 6. SS-Panzerarmee. This also was one of the most important sections during the first day of Operation ’Herbstnebel.’ That Grenadier-Regiment 293 on Hoffmann-Schönborn’s southern flank was repulsed in the afternoon on 16 December, was of secondary importance, since the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s powerful northern attack force managed to achieve an operational breakthrough in the sparsely manned sector entrusted to Colonel Devine’s U.S. 14th Cavalry Group.

Already by noon on 16 December, Hoffmann-Schönborn’s main force had seized the villages Weckerath, Roth, Auw, and Kobscheid in a three mile-wide and four mile-deep area on the plains west of the Schneifel ridge. The Americans had been completely taken by surprise. Grenadier-Regiment 295 took eighty-seven American prisoners in Roth, and in Kobscheid they captured all the vehicles of two U.S. cavalry platoons. The 18. Füsilier-Bataillon, the small force in the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s center, played a perhaps decisive role in this German breakthrough, when its noisy fake attack gave the Americans up on the ridge the impression that they were much stronger than what was the case. This had the effect that Jones did not dare to release the 422nd Infantry and most of the 423rd Infantry—the bulk of the 106th Infantry Division—for counter-attack in the flanks, which secured Hoffmann-Schönborn’s operational breakthrough. The Losheimer-Graben valley thus lay wide open to the Germans. In the sector just north of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s mighty armored forces meanwhile broke through right at the junction between Major General Jones’ Division and U.S. 99th Infantry Division, threatening to cut off the promised American armored reinforcements before these had time to join the 106th Infantry Division.

While the Germans continued to push forward across the snowy fields towards the west, the already bad weather turned even worse. Soon, a whirling blizzard whipped the young and weary soldiers, but this was greeted with joy by the Germans, since it effectively kept the feared Allied aviation away. U.S. 9th Air Force under Lieutenant General Hoyt ’Van’ Vandenberg mustered 2,300 aircraft—about a thousand medium bombers of General Samuel Anderson’s IX Bomber Division, and around thirteen hundred fighter-bombers. The latter were divided into three tactical air commands—each responsible for the air support of one U.S. ground army: IX Tactical Air Command (IX TAC) for the First Army, XIX TAC for the Third Army farther south, and XXIX TAC for the Ninth Army in the north. In addition, fifteen hundred aircraft of British 2nd Tactical Air Force under Air Marshall Arthur Coningham were tasked to support British-Canadian 21 Army Group on the Allied northern flank. But on this first day of ’Herbstnebel’—a quite appropriate name (Autumn Mist)—not even a single of General Anderson’s bombers could take off, and in IX Tactical Air Command (led by veteran General Elwood ’Pete’ Quesada), only ninety aircraft were able to take to the air.44 A couple of pilots from the 67th Tactical Reconnaissance Group indeed reported the observation of ’seventy-seven German trucks and tanks’ in the section opposite to U.S. 28th Infantry Division. But this did not suffice to lead the American air commanders, who simultaneously met at Quesada’s headquarters in Verviers, to the conclusion that the Germans had launched one of the war’s largest offensives. Instead the focus of the conference was on how to provide air support for the offensive against the Roer dams when the weather cleared up.

Neither did Major General ’Dutch’ Cota’s 28th Infantry Division manage to prevent von Lüttwitz’s XLVII. Panzerkorps from achieving a decisive breakthrough on 5. Panzerarmee’s southern flank. The relation of forces simply was too uneven. As we have seen, the 112th Infantry Regiment of Cota’s division basically held positions against the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division and the 116. Panzer-Division throughout the first day. But farther to the south, one of the links in the chain of defensive positions that Colonel Hurley Fuller’s 110th Regimental Combat Team had established in northern Luxembourg finally broke.
 
In this sector, the battle was undecisive for most of the first day of the attack. At sunrise on 16 December, the men of the 110th Regimental Combat Team fought desperately to hold the villages of Marnach and Hosingen along ’Skyline Drive’—the main road on the ridge—as well as Munshausen, Holzthum, and Weiler, on the slopes of the ridge. The German plan expected the assault companies of the 2. Panzer-Division (in the north) and the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division (in the south) to have seized these objectives at this point, paving the way for the following panzers, but the American resistance proved to be much more stubborn than what had been anticipated. In addition, extensive rainfalls in the past few weeks had caused such strong currents in River Our that the construction of the makeshift bridges at Dasburg and Obereisenbach was considerably delayed.45 Of course, small ferries were available to bring heavy equipment to the western side—this was possible at Obereisenbach but not at Dasburg, because of the steep river gorge at the latter place—but once across, the Germans encountered extensive roadblocks. During their retreat in September 1944, the Germans themselves had shed large amounts of trees over the three small roads leading to the west from Obereisenbach, and the trees were still there. The Americans also had neglected to repair the large holes that the Germans had blown in the roadways. As a consequence, the German troops on the river’s western side had to do without close support of heavy weapons during the first hours of the battle. The Americans of course did not have the same problem.

Colonel Hurley Fuller reacted with commendable swiftness that fateful morning. As soon as the first reports of the German attack came in to his headquarters in Clervaux, he phoned the divisional commander Cota in the town of Wiltz, about a dozen miles southwest of Hosingen, and asked him to employ the reserve troops. Cota thought it was a remarkable request, as he considered it too early to assess the situation—it was not even six in the morning and the fighting around the American positions west of the Our had just begun. But Fuller asseverated that his regiment was in real trouble, and managed to get Cota to agree to deploy the 707th Tank Battalion, attached to his 28th Infantry Division. With seventy-four tanks—including fifty Shermans—this was numerically just as strong as a German panzer regiment. At 0600 hrs, the tank battalion received its orders: ’A’ and ’B’ companies will immediately move to support the 110th Regimental Combat Team, ’C’ Company to the 109th Regimental Combat Team in the south, and ’D’ Company to 112th Infantry Regiment in the north!46 ’A’ and ’B’ companies, which had bivouacked in Wilwerwitz in River Clerve’s gorge, six miles southwest of Hosingen, immediately set its thirty-four Sherman tanks in motion on the winding road that climbs up the ridge towards Hosingen.
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The Sherman was the U.S. Army’s standard medium tank during WWII. However, in June 1944, it would prove to be inferior to the better armed and stronger armored German tanks in Normandy. In the Ardennes, the relations were slightly better with the new Sherman with a 76mm gun. However, of U.S. First Army’s 937 Sherman tanks on 12 December 1944, only 314 were equipped with the 76mm gun (NARA, SC 196127/Meyer)





The M4 Sherman was the most widely used American medium tank during World War II. It had been developed according to the so-called cruiser tank concept, which meant that such tanks would operate in independent formations to penetrate gaps in the enemy defense lines that had been accomplished by the infantry, and then sever the opponent’s lines of communication. When the M1A1 Sherman was introduced in 1942, its 51 mm thick frontal armor and its 75mm M3 gun put it on pair with the opponent’s best tanks. However, the situation was completely different in the Ardennes in late 1944, when the Sherman was outclassed by the new German tanks and tank destroyers. Even though this had been the situation for more than a year, not even the new version, Sherman M4A3, was able to compete with its opponents. The main improvement to be introduced was when the shorter 75mm M3 gun began to be replaced by the longer 76mm M1, which had a much better penetration impact. However, the introduction of this gun was delayed because of the opposition from several senior officers (including General Patton), who preferred the old gun, as it had more firepower in the explosive shells (used against ‘soft’ targets such as infantry). The fact that many of them also vigorously resisted the idea to mount the British 17-pound gun—probably the most effective anti-tank gun in Western Allied service—to the U.S. Shermans, also speaks volumes. Had the 17-pounder been the standard gun in the U.S. Sherman tanks, the Ardennes Battle definitely could have taken an entirely different course. But the American opposition to the 17-pounder was in part because of a relatively lower explosive power in the 17-pounder’s explosive shells, and partly because of the disadvantage it meant to have a 17-pounder’s 13 ft 9 in long barrel instead of the M3’s 9 ft 10 in. American national prestige may also have had an influence in this case.

Regarding armor protection, the Shermans in service in the Ardennes had a 63 mm thick front armor sloped back at 47 degrees from the vertical, which proved to be totally inadequate against the German anti-tank guns. A Sherman even could be knocked out by a single Panzerfaust—the hand held anti-tank weapon which the German infantry was richly equipped with—at a distance of between sixty and one hundred yards. Where the German infantry had access to the Panzerschreck (Raketenpanzerbuchse 54), a Sherman could be destroyed at a distance of over 200 yards. But the German assault troops on the ridge west of River Our at dawn on 16 December 1944 apparently lacked anti-tank weapons. The Shermans of the two tank companies split up into four groups, and were able to drive the German infantry out of Holzthum, Hosingen, Munshausen, and, shortly afterward, Marnach without much difficulty.
 
At three in the afternoon on 16 December, however, German Pionier-Bataillon 600 had completed the bridge over the gorge at Dasburg.47 Among the first German vehicles to cross the bridge were the fourteen Panther tanks of 1. Kompanie in the 2. Panzer-Division’s armored regiment, Panzer-Regiment 3. But new difficulties waited just on the other side of the river. There, a serpentine road wound up the hill with steep hairpin bends. At each such spot, the German tank drivers had to reverse to a new position in order to take the bend, which meant that a large distance had to be maintained between the different vehicles. To top it all, the driver of one of the Panthers made a too sharp turn and crashed into a bridge span, plowing straight through, and then tipping over, crashing into the river. It took two hours to repair the damage to the bridge.
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The bridge over River Our at Dasburg. To the left of the photographer, the road bends to the left up the steep, wooded hillside with sharp hairpin bends, just behind the photographer. Here the German Panther tanks had great difficulties in getting through. (The Paul Warp Collection)
 




In any case, ten tanks were across. When they finally had managed to climb the difficult road, the next obstacle waited them: Again, it was found that the scores of trees felled across the road by the Germans during their retreat in September remained in place. It was only after these had been cleared that the tanks could join the battle. The men of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 340 at Marnach cheered when the Panthers came clanking down the road from the east. Now the roles were reversed! The Panzerkampfwagen V Panther was totally superior to the M4 Sherman. With its long 75mm Kampfwagenkanone (KwK) 42 L/70 gun, the Panther could penetrate a Sherman’s frontal armor at a distance of over 2,700 yards. Even with the new American 76.2mm M1 gun, the Sherman had to close in to a distance of five hundred yards before it could penetrate the Panther’s 80mm frontal armor, sloped back at 55 degrees from the vertical. A Sherman with a 75mm gun needed to fire its shell from a distance of just 50 yards to have a chance to penetrate a Panther frontally—practically an impossibility. An American tank soldier remembers a clash between a Sherman and a Panther:
 
’A tank commander reported that he had come face-to-face with a Panther that had its gun turret turned ninety degrees from the forward position. He fired the first round from the 76mm gun and struck the Panther square in the middle of its forward glacis plate. There was a tremendous flash of sparks, like a grinding wheel hitting a piece of steel. When it was over, the tank commander realized that the round had ricocheted and not penetrated the tank. He quickly reloaded, fired the second round, and struck the glacis plate again as the German slowly turned its turret in his direction. Before the Panther could get its gun zeroed in on the M4, the tank commander got off a third round, with equal results. The Panther was finally able to fire its high-velocity 75mm, which penetrated the M4 tank like a sieve. Fortunately, the tank commander survived to tell this story.’48

Before the American armor at Marnach had time to retreat, the German tanks had disposed of four Shermans and five of the 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion’s anti-tank guns.49 However, during the battle of Marnach, five or six tanks from the 2. Panzer-Division were put out of action when their own shells exploded inside the barrels. An analysis afterward showed that a shipment of armor piercing shells to the 2. Panzer-Division had been sabotaged, presumably in the manufacturing by foreign slave laborers.50

With Marnach in German hands, Oberst von Lauchert’s 2. Panzer-Division continued towards the west. But Panzer Lehr, the armored division on the XLVII. Panzerkorps’ southern flank, did not have the same fortune. The 130. Panzer Lehr-Division—usually referred to as just Panzer Lehr—originally was an élite unit. As the name ’Lehr’ (’training’) suggests, it had been formed by instructors from various armor schools in 1943. The division was commanded by one of the most famous German generals of World War II, Generalleutnant Fritz Bayerlein. He had served as a staff officer under the command of both Guderian in 1939-1940 and Rommel in North Africa, and had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves and Swords.
 
Just as the two other panzer division commanders von Waldenburg and von Lauchert, Bayerlein had participated in the breakthrough on the Western Front on 10 May 1940, when he served as the operations officer of Generaloberst Heinz Guderian’s XIX.Panzerkorps (of which the 2. Panzer-Division was a part). Under Bayerlein’s command, Panzer Lehr performed very well during the fighting in Normandy in 1944, but was also heavily decimated. When the Ardennes Offensive began, the division had not yet had time to be fully replenished, its two panzer grenadier regiments reaching only 89 and 73 percent recpectively of their assigned strength, and the panzer regiment mustering no more than twenty-nine Panthers and thirty-four Panzer IVs, of which twenty-six and thirty respectively were in serviceable condition.51 In return, the division was provided with a heavy anti-tank battalion, schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 559 under Major Erich Sattler. This mustered eighteen Jagdpanzer IVs, fifteen StuG IIIs, and even five Jagdpanthers—the teriffic tracked tank destroyer that combined the Panther’s thick armor with the 88mm PaK 43 (Panzerabwehrkanone 43) anti-tank gun. The PaK 43 was the most powerful mass-produced German anti-tank gun of the entire war. At 30 degrees angle of impact it could penetrate 139 mm of armor at a distance of more than 2,000 yards. The Jagdpanzer IV was built on the chassis of a Panzer IV and had this tank’s armament and armor protection, which in the case of the tank destroyer version was combined with a small height of only 6 ft 1 in, allowing it to often sneak up unobserved on the opponent.

Although the recruits who arrived at Panzer Lehr to fill the gaps after the losses in France left much to be desired in terms of training, they received supplemental training by experienced front-line soldiers once at the unit, and Panzer Lehr also still had a cadre of highly capable officers and NCOs. Ahead of the Ardennes Offensive, its armored regiment (Panzer-Regiment 130) and schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 559 were integrated into three battlegroups—Kampfgruppe von Fallois (the reinforced armored reconnaissance battalion), Kampfgruppe 901, and Kampfgruppe 902 (the reinforced Panzergrenadier regiments 901 and 902), quite similar to the U.S. combat commands.





[image: images]
 
Generalleutnant Fritz Bayerlein, the commander of the Panzer Lehr Division during the Ardennes Offensive. Bayerlein had previously served as a staff officer under both Guderian in 19391940 and Rommel in North Africa, and carried the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves and Swords. Bayerlein died in 1970 in suites of the jaundice he caught during the war in North Africa.
(BArch, Picture 146-1978-033-02/Dinstühler)
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German automotive columns work their way up on the heights east of the river crossing at Obereisenbach on 16 December 1944. Horst Helmus, then an Unteroffizier in the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, has drawn what he himself experienced.
 




Unsurprisingly, von Manteuffel had particularly high expectations for Bayerlein’s division.52 These would nevertheless not be immediately fulfilled, which during the first days of the offensive primarily was due to the stubborn resistance offered by a few hundred U.S. troops—mostly from the 110th RCT ‘s 3rd Battalion under Major Harold F. Milton—against two regiments of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division.

The correlation of forces between Milton’s battalion and the attacking German units in this section were not as uneven as it may look on paper. Milton’s men enjoyed the support of armor and artillery, as well as of a company from the 103rd Engineer Battalion. And while at least some of the troops of the 28th Infantry Division—of which the U.S. battalion was a part—were quite combat experienced, the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division had just months earlier been formed on the remnants of the 26. Infanterie-Division, which had been virtually wiped out by the Red Army in late summer 1944. The large gaps caused by the losses had largely been covered by older, discarded men from the Luftwaffe and the German Navy—men who had spent many years at airfields or behind desks, and who had no combat experience. Additionally, the division had not yet been fully equipped, and only amounted to 10,600 men.53 These were supported by no more than fourteen tank destroyers of the type Jagdpanzer 38 (t) Hetzer.

However, the divisional commander, forty-four-year old Oberst Heinz Kokott, was highly experienced. He had been in first-line service on the Eastern Front for two years, and after being wounded, he served as a troop trainer until in the fall of 1944 he was called to lead the new 26. Volksgrenadier-Division.

The division’s assault companies crossed the Our early on 16 December, undetected by the opponent. Grenadier-Regiment 77 on the northern flank was to advance as far as the bridge over the next river, Clerve at Drauffelt, while Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39, on the southern flank, was supposed to take the Clerve bridges at Wilwerwiltz. It was an ambitious goal—the distance from the Our to Wilwerwiltz was eight miles, in extremely rugged terrain.

Having scaled the slippery, wooded slope up to the ridge where the ’Skyline Drive’ ran, a force from Grenadier-Regiment 77 managed to descend upon and destroy a platoon of the American battalion’s ’K’ Company on the rolling fields south of Hosingen. On the southern flank, II. Bataillon of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39 meanwhile captured Wahlhausen, two and a half miles southeast of Hosingen. Next it attacked Wahlhausener Dickt, a mile farther to the north-west, in conjunction with the regiment’s I. Bataillon, which came out of the forest in the north. Grenadier-Regiment 77 continued to advance, and just outside of Bockholz—four miles west of Hosingen—it attacked ’C’ Battery of the 109th Field Artillery Battalion, which in the ensuing battle lost sixteen men, including the battery commander.54

But the element of surprise soon was over. When II. Bataillon/ Grenadier-Regiment 77 entered the larger village of Hosingen, the Germans became embroiled in fierce street fighting with ’D’ Company of Major Milton’s battalion and ’B’ Company, 103rd Engineer Battalion. At the small village of Weiler—five miles southeast of Hosingen and two miles southwest of the river crossing at Obereisenbach—the battalion of Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39 that constituted the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s southernmost force, clashed violently with ’I’ Company of Milton’s battalion, supported by 81mm mortars and a tank destroyer platoon. At first, the Germans marched into Weiler without any incident, but when they reached the center of the village, they suddenly were exposed to a raging fire from American soldiers who had taken up positions in windows, on rooftops, and behind house corners. ’We are shot at from all sides,’ wrote Horst Helmus, who took part in the Battle of Weiler as a young Unteroffizier in Panzerjäger-Abteilung 26. ’We dash from the vehicles and take cover. I am so afraid that I can’t see or hear anything. Enemy bullets hit the ground, spraying mud, both in front of me and behind me. The cries of the wounded drown everything else. […] Get out of the Weiler! We rush from house to house while an undefined shooting continues. Who is shooting at whom? It is totally insane, but leapfrogging over fences and hedges, with fighter-bombers in the sky above us, we reach the last house on the outskirts of the village, and there we remain lying. I procure some hand grenades. Are we dealing with partisans or regular troops? A hit in the roof behind us makes debris fly all around us. Then we dash across a 100-yard wide open field and hurl ourselves into a ditch. We managed to get away!’55

The Germans soon launched a counter-attack, and savage fighting raged from house to house. Despite bloody losses on both sides, the Americans allowed the Germans twice over the course of the morning on 16 December to send their medics into no-man’s-land in the center of the village to take care of their wounded.56 Of 238 casualties suffered by the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division on this first day of the attack, 126 were from Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39.57

The reinforcements that Fuller had requested soon arrived. The Germans barely had attacked the American battery at Bockholz, when five Sherman tanks from the 1st Platoon of ’B’ Company, 707th Tank Battalion appeared farther down on the road.58 Exposed to the fire from the American tank guns and machine guns, and with no available anti-tank weapons, the Germans made a hasty withdrawal up the road. Shortly afterward, more American tanks arrived, and at noon on 16 December, the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s plan of attack was completely in tatters.

The engineer troops of Panzer Lehr’s Pionier-Bataillon managed to complete the bridge over the Our at Obereisenbach only at four o’clock in the afternoon on 16 December. But that did not bring any immediate relief to the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division. The steep and narrow serpentine roads leading from Obereisenbach to the west turned out to be in a deplorable state. The sleet that fell throughout the day—in the afternoon the temperature rose to just above the freezing point—softened the roadways, which soon were totally rutted by all German heavy vehicles. Oberst Kokott describes the situation, ’Densely packed together, the tracked vehicles of the Panzer Lehr Division’s reconnaissance battalion laboriously struggled ahead on the muddy, steep forest roads. Stalled vehicles and horse drawn ammo carts created a terrible congestion. Enemy artillery and mortar fire hit the woods and the road, causing additional losses and gridlock.’59

Only towards the evening on 16 December, when Panzer Lehr’s reconnaissance battalion could be deployed to support the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, were the Germans able to recapture Weiler. Horst Helmus describes this in his diary, ’Armed with hand grenades and small arms, we go from house to house and search them from the basement to the attic. “Come out!” we call. 28 prisoners are put behind bars. Mayer brings his “shot” [cannon]. We fire explosive shells through suspected windows. A few houses are on fire, and infantry ammunition explodes.’60

However, in Hosingen, and—three miles farther to the south—Consthum, the Americans continued to hold out, thereby blocking Panzer Lehr’s advance. Indeed, Major Milton’s men would tie down the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division and Panzer Lehr—which eventually would be forced to bring in reinforcements from both 2. Panzer-Division and the 7. Armee’s 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division—for two whole days of bitter fighting. This gave the slowly reacting American high command time to bring forward reinforcements at the last moment to prevent the important road junction Bastogne from falling into German hands.

The story of the battle in the Eifel region on 16 December 1944, is the history of American steadfastness against an absolutely overwhelming German numerical superiority. What the Germans had expected, that the Americans would thrown up their arms and flee, had not occurred at very many places. The American soldiers, who more than anything else had been trained to follow orders, in most cases stayed put according to recent orders. The problem was higher up in the military hierarchy. Inexperienced officers often did not know what to do when the situation around them changed from a static position to something that one of the American generals afterwards would describe as ’fluid.’ Higher up in the hierarchy, the headquarters of divisions, corps, First Army, and the 12th Army Group had a hard time getting a handle on what actually was happening; there the response in most cases came with remarkable slowness. In the absence of clear directives from the top, the U.S. Army, where the troops were not as trained to take initiative as their German opponents were, reacted with a paralysis that initially could serve as a breakwater against the German onslaught, but which turned out to be purely disastrous when the German spearheads penetrated deep into the rear of the American positions. On the evening of 16 December, the 5. Panzerarmee’s operational breakthrough was a fact, both at Dasburg, opposite to Bastogne, and in the Losheimer-Graben opposite to Sankt Vith on the Panzer Army’s northern flank.
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After the battle. Destroyed U.S. military equipment. At the front of the picture, an M3 half-track vehicle. To the right, a Stuart tank.
(David E Brown.)
 




THE PANZER MARCH BEGINS

Halfway between the two breakthrough areas in the north and in the south, the 16. Panzer-Division was regrouped during the night of 16 December, and at dawn on 17 December it surged towards the southwest from Lützkampen. The goal now was the bridge over the Our at the small hamlet of Ouren, from where the division was supposed to continue to Weiswampach on the other side of the river, and thence on towards the town of Houffalize, a dozen miles farther to the west.

Colonel Gustin M. Nelson, commanding the 112th Infantry Regiment of the 28 th Infantry Division, had foreseen this movement, and therefore had positioned his tank destroyer and artillery companies at Ouren. These also received reinforcements from Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division in the shape of a platoon of tank destroyers from ’C’ Company of the 811th Tank Destroyer Battalion. Air support also was promised, in spite of the continued bad weather. But the Americans still were outnumbered by the German assault force, which consisted of Kampfgruppe Bayer—Panzer-Regiment 16 under Oberst Johannes Bayer, a battalion of Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 156, a reinforced battalion from Panzergrenadier-Regiment 60, and a company of sappers—plus the 560. Volksgrenadier division’s Grenadier-Regiment 1130.61 During the course of the morning of 17 December, the Germans succeeded in sweeping away all American forces immediately to the west of Lützkampen.62
 
Surrounded by high, forested mountains, Ouren is located deep down in the gorge of River Our, just where the river bends sharply to the west, inside of this arc, with the river on all sides except the south-east—where a small road to Lützkampen climbs uphill. When the first eight Panther tanks of Kampfgruppe Bayer at noon on 17 December crept up to the crest at the top of this hill, they were met by an intense fire.63 Colonel Nelson had positioned his tank destroyers in well masked battle positions among the trees on the hills on the other side of the river, and from there they were able to shell the German tanks as these appeared behind the trees. There are two American versions of this battle. According to one, ’C’ Company, 811th Tank Destroyer Battalion destroyed no less than fourteen German tanks, whereafter the Americans had to withdraw, having lost two Hellcat tank destroyers, an M20 armored car, and five jeeps.64 According to the second version, four Hellcats knocked out four of the German tanks before these returned fire and destroyed three Hellcats.65

Then American fighter-bombers appeared and forced the German armor to seek cover in the forest. The American pilots reported the destruction of four tanks with another two damaged.66 Hence, if the American reports are to be believed, the 116. Panzer-Division should have lost between eight and eighteen tanks in the Ouren section alone. The actual German losses were confined to three Panthers.67


SLOW REACTION IN THE ALLIED COMMAND

While the Germans struck U.S. First Army in full force, the American military command reacted with an astonishing slowness. To some extent, this was because the information failed to arrive in time, and once it reached the responsible commanders, these had a tendency to downplay the incident.

For the Allied Supreme Commander General Dwight D. Eisenhower in Paris, 16 December 1944 began quite gently. He was in a good mood because he knew this was the day when the U.S. Congress would officially approve his promotion to a five-star general.

The 54-year old general began the morning by reading a letter from the commander of the British-Canadian 21 Army Group, Field Marshal Montgomery, who asked for permission to celebrate Christmas with his son in England. In the letter, Montgomery also reminded Eisenhower of the bet he had made a year before for five pounds that the war would be over by Christmas 1944, and Montgomery claimed to have won the bet.1 Then Eisenhower attended the wedding of his orderly in the Versailles palace chapel. Afterwards, he hosted the wedding dinner in his own villa in Saint-Germain-en-Laye, Paris—known as the ‘Rundstedt-Villa,’ since the German commander-in-chief on the Western Front, Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt, had lived there before. There Eisenhower received a message that the commander of U.S. 12th Army Group, Lieutenant General Omar Bradley, had arrived, and he went to Hôtel Trianon in Versailles.2 There the Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF) under Eisenhower’s command was located.

Neither did Bradley feel any need to worry when he on the morning of 16 December found that the weather was too uncertain to allow a flight from his own headquarters in Luxembourg to Versailles for the planned conference with the commander-in-chief. Therefore, he chose to take his Cadillac to Paris.

At Hôtel Trianon, Eisenhower, Bradley and the staff officers of the SHAEF were discussing the need to reinforce the forces taking part in the offensive against the Roer dams, when a G-2 (intelligence officer) at around four in the afternoon appeared and handed Major General Kenneth W. Strong, chief intelligence officer at the SHAEF, a note. Strong read it and asked for the floor to announce that the Germans at dawn had attacked at five places along the front held by U.S. VIII Corps. This made the men at the conference somewhat perplexed.

Both the reporting and the realization of what was going on took place at an astonishing slow and uncoordinated manner on the American side. At seven in the morning the first information on the German breakthrough reached the headquarters of U.S. First Army in Spa. But the commander of the First Army, Lieutenant General Courtney H. Hodges, dismissed this as nothing but a German relief attack, and he took no specific action.3 Consequently, at the briefing in the 12th Army Group headquarters in Luxembourg at 0915 hrs—just before Bradley left for Paris—First Army only reported ‘all quiet on the VIII Corps front.’4 At eleven in the morning, however, the reports to Spa on German breakthroughs on different sections had piled up to the point that Hodges finally concluded that the Germans were ‘staking all on this drive’ and that they were ‘putting their maximum strength against the 106th Div.’ 5 But in the situation report submitted to the SHAEF at noon on 16 December, the capture of three villages by U.S. forces on the Roer front were mentioned, and apart from that nothing but ‘all quiet along the rest of the front.’6

U.S. V Corps, which was subjected to massive attacks by the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, reported nothing about this until at 1244 hrs on 16 December, and it took until 1450 hrs before it was recorded in the First Army headquarters in Spa.7 Then it took more than another full hour before the information finally reached the SHAEF.

Like Hodges, Bradley initially thought that this only was a German relief attack. ‘The other fellow knows that he must lighten the pressure Patton has built up against him,’ he said. ‘If by coming through the Ardennes he can force us to pull Patton’s troops out of the Saar and throw them against this counter-offensive, he’ll get what he’s after. And that’s just a little more time.’8

But Eisenhower was not as certain. He felt that this was something bigger than a relief attack and urged Bradley to send two armored divisions—the 7th from the Ninth Army in the north, and the 10th from the Third Army in the south—to bolster the First Army. Bradley still was hesitant about this when he telephoned Patton, the commander of the Third Army. He confided to Patton that he ‘hated it,’ but that he had to order him to deploy the armored division.

Without really worrying that much about the German attack, Eisenhower and Bradley withdrew to the villa in Saint-Germain-en-Laye, where they opened a bottle of champagne to celebrate Eisenhower’s promotion. As late as 2300 hrs on 16 December, the following report was written by the Intelligence Department of the 12th Army Group:

‘The sudden attack and the apparent superiority of the six enemy divisions identified in the last twelve hours should not be misinterpreted. The quality of the involved divisions, the scattered efforts to implement small-scale attacks, and the apparent lack of a large-scale objective restricts the specific threat from the enemy. Apparently, the enemy launched a major relief attack to force us to withdraw our divisions from the vital Colgne [sic] and Saar river basins to meet the threat in the Eifel region.’9

The report despatched by U.S. VIII Corps twenty minutes earlier obviously had not been quite understood: ‘The enemy has crossed the Our River in the 28th Infantry Division’s section. Most of our units have been cut off… the situation is changing rapidly.’

In fact, it would not be until on the second day of the attack that the American military command understood that this actually was a German major offensive. By then the First Army’s defence lines were crumbling like a house of cards.

1 Toland, Battle: Th e Story of the Bulge, p. 148.

2 Ibid., p. 148.
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4 Toland, p. 148.

5 Sylvan and Smith, p. 214.

6 Toland, p. 148.

7 Ibid., p. 148.

8 Ibid., p. 32.

9 National Archives and Records Administration: Twelft h Army Group, G-2, Periodic Report. RG 407, US Army, WWII; WW II Musings, Volume 3 Issue 2, April 1995.



It took a fierce battle before Kampfgruppe Bayer succeeded in driving the Americans from their defensive positions, and could capture the bridge at Ouren undamaged. But again, the inadequacy of German intelligence reports was shown. ’Now it proved,’ wrote von Waldenburg, ’that the bridge was too small and too weak for tanks and heavy artillery and a reinforcement of the bridge by the Division engineers would have required 12-15 hours.’68 Nor could the armor cross the river at Tintesmühle, three miles further south. As we have seen, during the first hours of the attack, the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division’s southern task force, Kampfgruppe Schmitt, had established that the stone bridge at this place was destroyed. Also here it would prove that the Germans had been fighting in vain. The trucks carrying bridge construction material were unable get through because of large amounts of felled trees across the narrow little road that wound down the hills east of the river. It was only in the afternoon of 17 December that German engineer troops were able to complete a new bridge at Tintesmühle.69

Hence, the 116. Panzer-Division was instructed to swing to the south and cross the river at Dasburg, where the 2. Panzer-Division moved across the Our. It has been argued that this cost the 116. Panzer-Division a delay of fifteen hours, but the fact is that the commander of the LVIII. Panzerkorps, General Walter Krüger, had sent the 116. Panzer-Division’s Kampfgruppe Stephan to Dasburg while the main part of the division struck towards Ouren.70 Kampfgruppe Stephan consisted of the division’s armored reconnaissance battalion, one artillery battalion, an antiaircraft battery, a Nebelwerfer battery, and a company with six StuG IIIs.71 Its commander, Major Eberhard Stephan, had been in first-line service since 1939.
 
While the battle for Ouren was raging, Kampfgruppe Stephan moved across the Our at Dasburg together with the 2. Panzer-Division. This caused some traffic jams on the narrow winding road on the other side, but after a good three miles, Stephan’s motorized column took the first top turn right. The vehicles rolled downhill on a narrow little dirt road between rolling fields. Having jolted along this path for a mile, the Germans took the hard-surfaced ’Skyline Drive’ which runs north parallel to the Our.

Weather on 17 December 1944 was not as bad as on the previous day. Indeed, the sky still was covered by thick, low-hanging clouds that hampered air operations, but with two or three Centigrades below the freezing point in the morning, the mist had at least eased, and the sleet turned into a light snowfall. The reconnaissance battalion’s Puma armored cars took the lead.

The eight-wheeled armored car Puma (SdKfz—Sonderkraftfahrzeug—234) was produced in several different versions. Kampfgruppe Stephan had ten of the model SdKfz 234/1, armed with a 20mm machine gun in an open turret, and two 234/2, equipped with an armored turret with a 50mm gun. The Czech-made Tatra V 12 diesel engine allowed the Puma to reach a speed of 52 mph on road, and it also had an excellent performance in rough terrain. The frontal armor, 30 mm thick sloped back at 20° from the vertical, gave no effective protection against anything more than small arms fire, but as an armored reconnaissance vehicle, the Puma fulfilled all expectations.
 
The Germans now drove along the ridge, with snow-covered fields, circumscribed by cattle fencing, on both sides. They had barely passed the first tiny hamlet, Fischbach, just over two miles north of Marnach, and were driving down the hill, when they discovered a column of small olive green tanks on the brow of the hill, about half a mile away, coming straight against them on the road. These were the M5 Stuart tanks of U.S. 707th Tank Battalion’s ’D’ Company. This company had previously been ordered north to support the 112th Infantry Regiment, but when reports came in that German armor had crossed the Our at Dasburg and was heading towards Clervaux, the company was instructed to turn around and despatch its seventeen Stuarts to cut off this advance at Marnach.
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An image of Ouren, taken before the war. The picture is taken from the wooded heights overlooking the Our river in the west, where Colonel Gustin M. Nelson, C.O. of the 112th Infantry Regiment of U.S. 28th Infantry Division, had positioned his tank destroyers and artillery at dawn on 17 December 1944. The road that runs down the slope on the other side of the village, on the right hand side in the photograph, was the road the Germans had to take when they attacked. The river band is visible from top to bottom in the center of the photograph.
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Stuart tanks heading for the front. The U.S. light tank M5 Stuart was hopelessly inferior to the German tanks and tank destroyers in the Ardennes, and ped units were inflicted terrible losses. D’ Company of the 707th Tank Battalion was completely obliterated on 17-18 December 1944. (US Army)





It was a decision just as desperate as ill-considered. The tank crews were in practice sent towards their own destruction. Their light infantry support tanks, each provided with a 29 mm frontal armor and equipped with a small 37mm cannon, possibly were evenly matched with the German Puma, but stood off badly against Major Stephan’s Sturmgeschütz Ills.

The 7 ft 6 in high and only 14 ft 2.4 in long Stuarts looked like little blocks where they came rattling on their narrow (11 5/8-in) tracks. The Germans were first to react. Their StuG IIIs descended down on the lower lying fields to the right of the road and opened fire on the Americans. Before these could react, several Stuarts already were burning. Within the space of ten minutes, fifteen U.S. tanks were turned into blazing wrecks.72 Moreover, two hundred American soldiers were captured by the Germans, who did not lose a single Sturmgeschütz in this engagement.73 Only two Stuarts managed to escape, and these sought refuge in Clervaux, three miles farther to the southwest.

The picturesque small Luxembourgian town of Clervaux is nestled between high, forested mountains in the Clerve river’s gorge, just where the river makes a tight, U-shaped bend. The resort is dominated by the hefty medieval fortress, located on a hillside above the city streets, inside the river bend, in the center of the town. Several sturdy bridges over the Clerve, and a station on the north-south railway line made the town a major transportation hub. Here the Americans had decided to stop the German advance. Colonel Fuller was ordered shortly to hold the town at any cost.

Fifty-year-old Colonel Hurley Edward Fuller was, according to historian Charles B. MacDonald, known to be a curmudgeon.74 As a veteran of the First World War, he went ashore at Normandy on the second day of the invasion, in the position of a regimental commander. But ten days later, Fuller was stripped of his command because his regiment had failed to achieve its assigned objective.75 Then it took until the end of November 1944 before he received a new command, in the lead of the 110th Infantry Regiment in ’Dutch’ Cota’s combat-experienced division.76 At his disposal for the defense of Clervaux, Fuller had a considerable albeit motley force: The Stuart tanks that in the morning on 17 December took refuge down to Clervaux, where they joined other remnants of the 707th Tank Battalion, plus what remained of the 110th Regimental Combat Team, backed by the 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion. Moreover, the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve (CCR) had sent the nineteen Shermans of ’B’ Company, 2nd Tank Battalion to the town. To emphasize the importance of the order he gave Fuller, ’Dutch’ Cota added, ’No one comes back!’77—which more or less was what actually happened.

At nine thirty in the morning on 17 December, the 2. Panzer-Division struck Clervaux. Half a dozen Sturmgeschütz Ills from 1. Kompanie/ Panzerjäger-Abteilung 38 and about thirty armored vehicles with panzer grenadiers carefully motored down the glassy road that goes in a steep downhill south of the small town. Visibility was obscured by a dense snowfall, which favored the alert crews of five Shermans from the 707th Tank Battalion that lay in ambuscade where the road enters the first of three hairpin bends. Two StuG IIIs were hit and set ablaze.78 Although the Germans equalized by knocking out three Shermans, any further German advance this way was made impossible by the destroyed armored vehicles that blocked the narrow road.79
 
The Germans now decided to take a detour to the north to attack Clervaux via the bridge over the river at the rail station, north of the river bend. But there, still on the Clerve’s eastern side, they came upon the Sherman tanks of ‘B’ Company, 2nd Tank Battalion, supported by anti-tank guns of the 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion. Two platoons of Panzer IV tanks from II. Abteilung/ Panzer-Regiment 3 decided the outcome of the battle. Although surpassed by the more heavily armed Panther, the German medium tank Panzerkampfwagen IV (Panzer IV) was superior to the American Sherman by a wide margin. With an 80 mm thick frontal armor, sloped back at 80 degrees from the vertical, the later models of the Panzer IV could withstand hits from a Sherman’s 75mm cannon at normal battle distance. Meanwhile, the Panzer IV’s 75mm KwK 40 L/48 gun could penetrate a Sherman’s frontal armor from a distance of 2,000 yards.

One of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2’s battalions raced past the burning U.S. tank hulks on the road towards the north, high above Clervaux, which lay hidden by the spruce furs on the hills to the west. At dusk, the men of one of the battalion’s companies made it down the steep, wooded slopes just east of the rail station in the northern end of the town. While some waded across the Clerve’s icy water and undetected fell upon the rail station, other grenadiers raced towards the bridge across the river. The attack came as a total surprise, and both objectives soon were in German hands.80 The Panzer IVs immediately were radioed, and soon came clanking down the hill and across the bridge. They continued along the Grand Rue street towards the center of the town, and as they rumbled in among the houses, with guns blazing, all organized American resistance collapsed. In the words of U.S. veteran Charles B. MacDonald, this was the kind of ’disintegration not uncommon among hastily formed provisional units where the individual soldier has no unit loyalty.’81 The bridge at the southern end of the town soon also was in German hands.

From his headquarters at Hôtel Le Claravallis, just next to the rail station and that same bridge, Colonel Fuller contacted Major General Cota and asked for permission to withdraw in order to save his remaining forces, but the request was denied. When Fuller at six thirty was informed that another large number of German tanks—these were the Panthers of I. Abteilung/ Panzer-Regiment 3—were heading down towards Clervaux, he again rang the 28th Infantry Division’s headquarters to ask for permission to retreat, but Cota’s chief of staff, Colonel Jesse L. Gibney, only repeated what Cota had said earlier.82

As an old Texan, Fuller saw a clear parallel to the legendary Battle of Alamo during the War of Texan Independence 1835-1836, when an American force of two hundred men under Lieutenant Colonel William Travis held out against two thousand Mexicans for thirteen days. ’I told Colonel Gibney,’ Fuller wrote afterward, ’that since he was transmitting to me the general’s orders, I had no alternative but to obey them and to “fight in place.” I reminded him that I was in the same predicament that Colonel Travis found himself at the Alamo and that “we will never surrender nor retreat.”’83 But the situation changed rapidly before Fuller even was able to finish the phone call:
 
While we were still talking, one of the German tanks fired three rounds of cannon shells into the S-1 office in the room beneath me. This fire came from a range of about fifteen yards, the tank being in the street in front of the CP. The Chief of Staff heard those explosions and asked what they were. I told him. I asked him to send Co G to Eselborn by truck immediately. I told him that I would have it met there and guided by a staff officer to the place I intended to employ it. The chief of staff started to say something more, but I told him that I had no more time for talk and rang off. I asked the operator for HQ, 2nd Bn. While he was trying to get this connection, a blast of machine gun fire came from below through the window of the room I was in, knocking plaster off the ceiling over my head. I heard more tank firing outside, and then I was unable to get anything more out of the phone.84
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A destroyed Stuart. The tank battle at and around Clervaux was a disaster to the participating U.S. armored units. Of 51 tanks in the ‘A,’ ‘B,’ and ‘D’ companies, 707th Tank Battalion, no more than six tanks, all of them damaged, remained afterwards.
(National Museum of Military history, Diekirch)
 




Hôtel Le Claravallis is located in the narrow river gorge with the front facing the street Grand Rue, which runs along the western bank of the river. Fuller and a handful of soldiers made their escape through a window on the back side of the Hôtel. Here they immediately came upon the steep wooded cliffs that rise almost vertically 150 feet above the Hôtel. Steps were carved into the cliff, and they toiled their way upwards along these. When Fuller reached the top he was totally exhausted. By this time, he could hear that the battle was dying down in the town.
 
When the German Panther crews drove into the center of the town, which burned in several places, they found that the majority of the American garrison had surrendered. Along with the U.S. soldiers, large amounts of heavy equipment was captured or destroyed. However, up in the fortress, a group of around a hundred American soldiers under the command of Captain John Aiken, signals officer of the 110th Regimental Combat Team, and Captain Clark Mackey, commanding the regiment’s Headquarters Company, would offer a frantic resistance for almost another day. From this position they were able to open fire against all traffic that passed through Clervaux, which meant that the Germans could get through only with armored vehicles.85

The most commonly used German armored personnel carrier, the Schutzenpanzerwagen 251 (Sonderkraftfahrzeug SdKfz 251) half-track—also known as Hanomag—had an up to 14.5 mm thick armor which gave protection against fire from small arms (unlike its American counterpart, the M3 half-track, which, because of its susceptibility to fire even from small-caliber weapon used to be called the ’Purple Heart Box’—alluding to the U.S. medal which was awarded to soldiers who were wounded or killed in action). The Hanomag had space for ten fully equipped soldiers, and was present in large numbers in the German divisions in the Ardennes Battle. But since it was open at the top, soldiers could not pass through Clervaux even in Hanomag vehicles, other than at the risk of getting fired upon from the fortress.

How many men the Americans lost in the Battle of Clervaux has never been clarified. According to a report issued by Colonel Fuller, the 110th Regimental Combat Team sustained a total of 2,750 casualties during the first days of the Ardennes Offensive, but it is not known how many of those were lost in Clervaux. ’B’ Company, 103rd Engineer Combat Battalion was inflicted 100 percent losses, and the 109th Field Artillery Battalion lost about one hundred men.86 In addition to that, the 110th Regimental Combat Team lost more or less all of its vehicles and the six howitzers of its Cannon Company.87 The 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion lost thirty of its thirty-six anti-tank guns on 17 December, most of these in Clervaux.88 Of an original strength of fifty-two tanks—thirty-four Shermans and eighteen Stuarts—in the morning of 17 December, ’A,’ ’B’ and ’D’ companies, 707th Tank Battalion were left with only six damaged tanks, plus five tracked tank destroyers, twenty-four hours later.89 These were rapidly pulled back to Wiltz in the south.90 ’B’ Company, 2nd Tank Battalion of the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve fared no better, losing fourteen Shermans and most of its tank crews.91 All in all, the first tank battle of the Ardennes Offensive cost the Americans nearly sixty tanks, while German 2. Panzer-Division lost four tanks.92

Together with a small group of soldiers, Colonel Fuller worked his way through the woods and fields to try to get back to the American lines. What could have ended up as a feat in the history books ended ingloriously two days later when the tired and hungry men in a dense forest stumbled into a night camp set up by a group of soldiers from the 2. Panzer-Division. Fuller felt a heavy blow against the back of his head, and when he came around he found that he was in captivity.
 
The Germans listed another tactical success when they in the morning on 18 December finally were able to crush the resistance in Hosingen, southeast of Clervaux. Here, three hundred and twenty American soldiers were captured.93 At last, Generalleutnant Bayerlein’s Panzer Lehr Division could begin its real advance.

By now, the American combat morale appeared to have suffered a major blow. Large masses of defeated and demoralized American troops poured westwards in disarray, away from the German panzer columns. ’Many soldiers,’ wrote Michael E. Weaver in the 28th Infantry Division’s Chronicle, ’just wanted away from the fighting. Some pushed their way toward Bastogne, thinking that was a means of escaping the onslaught.’94 Private Donald Burgett, of the 101st Airborne Division, described his encounter with the retreating soldiers, ’They shambled along in shock and fear, blocking the road completely, eyes staring straight ahead, mumbling to themselves. I have never before—or since—seen such resolute terror in men.’95 A U.S. Army report reads, ’Hundreds of stragglers jammed the roads moving south and west. […] At times the confusion and terror of these bewildered refugees bordered on panic. One artillery organization abandoned their guns right in the city streets; although later an officer made them return to get them.’96

Oberst Kokott, commanding the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, said, ’After the fall of Hosingen, the enemy’s resistance apparently had become completely paralyzed. Their fighting spirit seemed to be broken, and the only resistance—to the extent that you even can speak of such a thing—seemed to be highly incoherent.’97
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Soldiers from the U.S. 28th Infantry Division giving way before the German advance in the Ardennes in December 1944. (Signal Corps Photo #ETO-HQ-44-30380/Tec 5 Wesley B. Carolan)
 




The disorderly American retreat in turn caused panic among civilians, who hurriedly packed their belongings on carts, wagons, and bicycles and took to the roads on the same kind of somber trek that has always been the fate of civilians in war. The sleet, the soggy dirt roads, the surrounding waterlogged fields, the rumble of artillery, and the leaden sky above gave the scenes a tragic framing. When the frozen and drenched refugees passed by farms or stottered through small villages on their way to the west, they were frightened even more to venture out on the roads. Over the course of 18 December, the crowds began to fill the streets through Bastogne, where they told the residents that the Germans were ’burning all the villages in their path.’98
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Soldiers from a German Volksgrenadier-Division on the Western Front advance across a muddy field. Their equipment is typical for the variety of equipment of the German troops at this late stage of the war. The soldier closest to the photographer carries a Sturmgewehr 44 (StuG 44) assault rifle, a revolutionary firearm at the time. The soldier to the left has a Karabiner 98 Kurz 7.92mm repeating rifle. This Mauser-designed gun was the German infantry’s standard rifle during World War II. The gun had good accuracy up to 500 yards, so when equipped with telescopic sights it also could be used by snipers. The soldier to the right carries a Panzerfaust anti-tank weapon. (BArch, Picture 183-J28344/Lohrer)





TOWARDS SANKT VITH!

While this took place, the situation looked just as grim to the Americans on the 5. Panzerarmee’s northern flank. After Grenadier-Regiment 294 of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s northern attack force had captured the small German village Auw—four miles northeast of the important Our crossing at Schönberg, on the other side of the current Belgian border—at noon on 16 December, the Germans were halted in this sector. They paused during the night, and in the morning on 17 December, with the help of the StuG IIIs in Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 244, managed to break through. Thereby, this force was advancing in the rear of U.S. 106th Infantry Division ‘s 422nd Infantry Regiment. From Auw, the Germans worked their way westwards along narrow paths winding between rolling fields until they arrived at Andler at the Our, barely three miles farther to the west. This thrust took the Americans completely by surprise. In Andler, they had nothing more than a Troop (company) from the 32nd Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron (approximately the equivalent of an armored reconnaissance battalion) without any heavier equipment than a handful of M8 armored cars. After a brief skirmish, the Germans were masters of the tiny village.

The 18. Volksgrenadier-Division now approached Schönberg from two directions. From Andler in the north came Grenadier-Regiment 294, and from Bleialf in the south came Grenadier-Regiment 293, personally led by the divisional commander, Generalmajor Hoffmann-Schönborn. Both of these forces were supported by assault guns from Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 244.

Steep slopes, covered by thick forest, rose on the right side of the narrow road from Bleialf to Schönberg, creating ideal conditions for an ambush. But the demoralized American soldiers passed at full speed, heading towards the looming Our crossing at Schönberg. Corporal Minturn T. Wright from the 106th Infantry Division recounts, ’The guys thought they had let the Army down and endangered every other outfit in the line by being driven back. All of us had read the stories from Anzio and we heard at Camp Atterbury in Indiana how bad the beaches were on D Day. We knew that no American soldiers had retreated since the Kasserine Pass, and we had a feeling we’d failed in our first test.’99
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A column of American POWs are herded off on a road in the Ardennes on 18 December 1944. German 18. Volksgrenadier-Di-vision captured Schönberg with its bridge over the Our through a lightning attack on 17 December 1944, and thus had cut off most of U.S. 106th Infantry Division, including its support units, on the river’s eastern side. The operation was led by Generalmajor Günther Hoffmann-Schönborn, who earned fame as an expert of maneuver warfare. (NARA, 111-SC-198240)
 




U.S. 589th Field Artillery Battalion was about to establish new positions with its towed guns south of Schönberg when an officer suddenly came running, shouting, ’March Order! Get out of here, the Germans are coming!’ By that time, the first assault guns from Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 244 already were entering the northern outskirts of Schönberg, just behind the church. It was the gray morning of 17 December, and the clock on the church tower showed a quarter to nine as the first StuG IIIs rumbled in among retreating American vehicles at the crossroads between the little church and the bridge, in completely chaotic scenes. One of the gunners of the 589th Field Artillery Battalion, Sergeant Randolph C. Pierson, had just stepped from his truck in Schönberg when the German fighting vehicles appeared. Pierson desperately rushed for an American truck that was running towards the stone bridge at full speed. The truck slowed down, allowing Pierson to hang on to the tailgate, where four strong arms grabbed him. He heard a sharp voice ordering the driver to ’hit it.’ The truck skidded down along the icy road to the bridge over the Our. The last thing the men on the truck saw before they rounded the curve was the black outline of a Sturmgeschütz III on the road behind them.100
 
Meanwhile the artillery battalion’s next group of vehicles came speeding into Schönberg. When they reached the crest of the downhill leading into the town and straight on to the stone bridge, the driver of the first truck saw a Sturmgeschütz III standing in the middle of the intersection in front of the bridge. Apparently, the German crew failed to observe the Americans, because in the next moment the assault gun departed in a cloud of blue exhaust fumes and disappeared around a corner. An officer called on the American column, ’Let’s go!’ But when they came down the hill, they saw another Sturmgeschütz III in position next to one of the houses in the village. Some of the American vehicles managed to escape at full speed across the bridge, but on the other side of the river they faced another Sturmgeschütz III with its barrel pointing straight at them. Corporal J. Don Holtzmuller and some of his comrades dashed from the truck before it was blown to bits by a shell from the tank destroyer. The game was over for these Americans, who stood up in the ditch with their hands above their heads. Holtzmuller remembers that the Germans searched the Americans’ pockets and took their provisions, watches, cigarettes, and other stuff that they found useful. Then they pointed up the hill and told the prisoners to ’start marching in the direction of Germany.’

With Schönberg and its stout stone bridge over the Our undamaged in German hands, the 422nd and 423rd Infantry Regiments—two-thirds of Major General Jones’ 106th Infantry Division—were trapped east of the Our, in the area between Bleialf and Roth. Along with support units—five artillery battalions and elements of the 14th Cavalry—probably more than ten thousand American soldiers, a large number of artillery pieces and as many as one hundred and fifty tanks and tank destroyers were caught in the sack.

The German units that held these forces encircled, were significantly inferior, both numerically and in terms of heavy equipment: General Hoffmann-Schönborn had assigned no more than three to four thousand men against the encircled Americans. But the enveloped Americans were completely unaware of this. Instead of assembling for a counter-attack at least in order to test the strength of the surrounding German forces, they remained inactive, waiting for the promised rescue from the 7th Armored Division and Combat Command B of the 9th Armored Division. They also expected the Air Force to show up and clear up the situation soon—after all, the skies had cleared at least to some extent. They still could not imagine that they would be utterly defeated.

In general, the bad weather persisted, although it was slightly better than on the previous day. On this 17 December, the fighter-bombers of the 9th Air Force made strong attempts to support the hard-pressed ground forces, carrying out a total of 647 sorties over the course of the day. But the Germans had a new surprise in store for these pilots. The Allies had no idea what a large force the Luftwaffe Commander Göring had assembled for the support of the offensive. All in all, the German fighter aviation on the Western Front made about 650 combat sorties on this day, with ’Jabo-Jagd’—to fight Allied fighter-bombers—as the main task.101 The fliers of the 9th Air Force had not seen that many German aircraft in the air for a long time, and were completely off guard.
 
Time and again, American fighter-bombers found themselves bounced by German fighters and had to jettison their bombs in order to defend themselves. For example, the twin-engine Lockheed Lightning fighter-bombers of U.S. 474th Fighter Group performed two missions on this day: During the first one, they were attacked by seventeen Messerschmitt Bf 109s from the Luftwaffe fighter group I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 11, which forced them to jettison their bombs, with an unaccomplished mission as a result.102 On the next mission, the same unit took off to attack a bridge in the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s area, but was intercepted by Focke Wulf 190s from two entire Luftwaffe fighter groups—I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 26, and IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 54—and lost four of their eight Lightnings.

But these missions also were quite costly to the German air units themselves. When the fighter pilots of I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 11 returned from the first encounter with the 474th Fighter Group on that day, nine Bf 109s were missing, while only four Lightnings were reported downed. During its next air combat, the 474th Fighter Group managed, despite its numerical disadvantage, to shoot down three Focke Wulf 190s.103 In total, the aerial activity on the Western Front on 17 December 1944 cost a loss of eighty-one German and thirty-six Allied fighter planes.104 However, the Luftwaffe pilots generally managed to accomplish their task—to cover their ground troops against Allied air attacks.

Not least through this, the German ground troops were able to prevent the American armored reinforcements from arriving in time to bail out the enveloped U.S. forces. At the 106th Infantry Division’s headquarters in the Sankt Josef monastery in Sankt Vith, Major General Jones urged the 7th Armored Division to put in ’an immediate attack east from Sankt Vith to take and hold Schönberg in order to provide an escape corridor for the two surrounded combat teams.’105 But due to various reasons, such a relief operation was never undertaken. The American armored division’s after action report noted:

’The east route was cut by the enemy [the 6. SS-Panzerarmee] south of Malmedy between Division Headquarters and Division Artillery, necessitating the latter and all following elements to turn back and place themselves on the west route in rear of the troops already moving thereon. This was successfully accomplished, but resulted in a considerable delay in the arrival of the artillery to its firing positions. Traffic on the west route continued to roll fairly well until noon on the 17th, then it was slowed by congestion resulting from the ever thickening stream of friendly troops flowing west and northwest from the threatened Poteau - Vielsalm - Beho - St. Vith area. Towards nightfall the traffic congestion increased, and the 7th Division column stretching from Poteau through Vielsalm, Trois Ponts, and Stavelot to the north was brought to a complete standstill.’106

Combat Command B of the 9th Armored Division—the other unit sent south to support the 106th Infantry Division—also ran into the 6. SS Panzerarmee in the north, but was fortunate enough to escape a skirmish with its most powerful element, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, with relatively modest losses. Still, this unit would not either be able to arrive in time to save the 106th Infantry Division. When these American armored forces eventually reached Sankt Vith, the situation in this sector had changed drastically, owing to the initiative of a German general.
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General Günther Hoffmann-Schönborn commanded German 18. Volksgrenadier-Division during Ardennes Offensive. Hoffmann-Schönborn was one of the ablest generals on both sides during the Ardennes Battle. He had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross after his battalion had breached the Metaxas Lin in Greece in April of 1941. On the Eastern Front in 1941, he distinguished himself in several battles, for which he received the Oak Leaves to the Knight’s Cross, but he also was wounded in December 1941. Hoffmann-Schönborn returned to front service only when he in September 1944 was assigned to command the new 18. Volksgrenadier-Division. In February 1945 he was appointed deputy commander of the 5. Panzerarmee, and in this position he was seriously wounded on the Eastern Front three weeks before the war ended. Hoffmann-Schönborn passed away in 1970. (BArch, Bild 183-B7259)





Generalmajor Günther Hoffmann-Schönborn was wellknown as a master of mobile warfare. As a battalion commander in August 1941, during the invasion of the Soviet Union, he managed to capture an important bridge over River Dnepr at Gornostaypol through a lightning attack before the Russians were able to destroy it, thereby securing the continued march towards Kiev. Now he tried to ’snatch’ Sankt Vith through a similar ’coup.’ On the previous day, Hoffmann-Schönborn reckoned that he would not be able to reach Sankt Vith—the road junction that would play a significant role in the continued advance towards the Meuse—until on 18 December, but now it looked as though this could be attained through a bold lightning attack. For this purpose he ordered the leading elements of Grenadier-Regiment 293 and Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 244 that had reached Schönberg—three assault guns and about two platoons of grenadiers—to immediately continue across the river and on to Sankt Vith. Hoffmann-Schönborn himself took the lead.107 The infantrymen mounted captured American CCKW trucks, and the vehicle column hurriedly set off.*

It all went so fast that for an hour or so, there barely were any German troops in Schönberg. The confusion was complete when a column of three U.S. M8 armored cars and six jeeps from the 14th Cavalry came racing at full speed behind Hoffmann-Schönborn’s small force. These managed to get across the bridge in Schönberg, and now they attempted to reach the American lines on the other side of the river. The American cavalrymen had no chance to avoid the Germans on the narrow forest road, and a Sturmgeschütz III knocked out three armored cars and five jeeps in quick succession.

By that time, there were almost no American forces available to counter the German advance towards Sankt Vith. At Heuem, a mile and a half west of Schönberg, Hoffmann-Schönborn’s three Sturmgeschütz IIIs ran into three of U.S. 168th Engineer Combat Battalion’s tanks. In a brief firefight, two of these were set ablaze while the third managed to escape.108 Presumably, it was this tank’s crew that radioed a warning to the Americans in Sankt Vith about Hoffmann-Schönborn’s thrust—a message that was passed on to the 9th Air Force.

As so often came to be the case in the latter part of the Ardennes Battle, it would be the U.S. artillery and aviation that saved the situation at Sankt Vith, at least on this 17 December 1944. While the StuG IIIs fought back the small American force at Heuem, Major Richard Leary came buzzing in the air in his Thunderbolt fighter-bomber. The Republic P-47 Thunderbolt was one of the largest and heaviest single-engine aircraft of World War II. At a distance, the chubby P47 looked like a giant bumblebee. Even though the heavy aircraft had a turning radius that would cause the proponents of turning combats to faint, it surpassed most German fighters in terms of speed.* By striking down from above on German formations instead of allowing themselves to get drawn into a turning combat, the U.S. Thunderbolt pilots had gained the opponent’s healthy respect. But it was in the role as a fighter-bomber that the Thunderbolt reaped its greatest successes. With a 500lb. bomb under each wing, and eight .50 in (12.7mm) machine guns, the aircraft could inflict considerable damage on the enemy on the ground, and its rugged construction made it able to sustain a lot of fire. ’For the low-level job we had to do, where you couldn’t keep out of the light flak and small arms fire, there wasn’t a better plane than the P-47,’ said one of the Thunderbolt fighter-bomber pilots, Don Clark. ’It would keep going with damage with which other types would have fallen out of the sky.’109

Major Leary knew only too well what the ground troops had to endure. A few months earlier he had been wounded by German gunfire when he visited the 3rd Armored Division. Back in action after a two-month hospital stay, Leary was determined to pay back. When he called ground control over the radio to ask for a target, he received a detailed response: ’Our troops are holding Saint Vith, but there is a very strong enemy column about a mile and a half away. If you can knock out the leading tank and slow them, we may be able to hold the town tonight.’110

With adrenalin pulsing in his veins, Leary shoved the control stick forward and went down beneath the thick clouds. There he saw the great forests east of Sankt Vith, and after a little searching, he discovered a clearing, and there, on the road to Sankt Vith which became visble, was a column of vehicles heading for the west. This must be the German column! Without hesitation, Leary dived down with rattling machine guns and dropped his bombs. These exploded in huge fireballs while the gray-clad soldiers on the road below scattered in all directions. Now it was Leary’s time to strike back! No less than eight times, he floated down on the road with blazing machine guns. When he finally departed, he could see a whole series of black smoke columns rising from the shattered German column.

For this effort, Major Leary received America’s third highest military award for valor in action, the Silver Star. It certainly was well deserved. His persistent low-level attacks took a heavy toll on Hoffmann-Schönborn’s little advance force. The British Ultra code breakers intercepted a desperate German request for immediate fighter cover against enemy fighter-bombers that attacked the force that was advancing towards Sankt Vith.111 But when nothing of the kind appeared, Hoffmann-Schönborn ordered what remained of his force to leave the road and instead push forward across the terrain—which was easier said than done. The left (south) side of the road could not be taken, since it descended quite steeply down to the gorge of the Eiter brook. So the vehicles and soldiers had to climb the wooded slopes to the right. There they labored forward with utmost exertion through the dense spruce and deciduous forests, in hilly terrain where large snow drifts remained, despite the thaw and rain. It was only in the evening that the exhausted men reached the western end of the forest. They made their way down a steep slope to the mill at Wallerode, and then up the hill to the west. Only a mile away, Sankt Vith lay nestled like in a huge pot, surrounded by large heights, but when the Germans began to receive a fairly heavy artillery fusillade from the west, Hoffmann-Schönborn decided to postpone the attack until reinforcements arrived. From Wallerode he sent a radio message that hardly served to please the 5. Panzerarmee’s commander, General von Manteuffel, ’Heavy resistance east of Sankt Vith!’

However, through his bold thrust, Hoffmann-Schönborn made such an impression on Major General Jones that he decided to hold back the reinforcements that arrived during the following night, instead of immediately despatching them to break the encirclement of his 106th Infantry Division. At eight thirty in the evening on 17 December, the 7th Armored Division received a report stating that there were ‘as many as sixty enemy tanks in our sector.’112 The American perception that Sankt Vith was heavily threatened was further reinforced during the following night, when a task force from the 6. SS-Panzerarmee made a thrust from the north.

As we have seen, U.S. 7th Armored Division’s regrouping to Sankt Vith along the ’eastern route’ from Malmedy in the northwest was halted by the advancing 6. SS-Panzerarmee. Over the course of 17 December, the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s I. SS-Panzerkorps covered twelve miles during its advance to the west. En route to the 106th Infantry Division’s area of operations in the afternoon on 17 December, a small force from U.S. 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command B was eliminated in Ligneuville, ten miles northwest of Sankt Vith. While the bulk of the SS Army continued westwards, SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen veered to the southwest on the evening of 17 December. Commanded by SS-Standartenführer Max Hansen, this task force consisted of 4,500 men with 750 vehicles, including about twenty Panzer IV/70 tank destroyers. After them followed 1,500 men and 150 vehicles from another SS task force.

Hence, a considerable threat from the north suddenly loomed against Sankt Vith. This soon became painfully clear to Colonel Mark Devine, the thick-skinned cavalry colonel who now was ordered to set up defensive positions at Recht, five miles north-northwest of Sankt Vith, with what remained of his 14th Cavalry Group. But Hansen’s force made it there before the Americans, and in the evening on 17 December, Devine’s Headquarters Company clashed with a scouting group of the SS force. In the ensuing fight, all of the American vehicles were knocked out. Devine and another officer escaped to the adjacent village of Poteau on foot. When he later reported the incident, Major General Jones refused to believe that there were any German troops that far to the west, and promptly dismissed Devine from his command.

Just as the 7th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve was approaching Sankt Vith, it received instructions from the divisional commander, Brigadier General Robert Hasbrouck, to hold Recht ’for as long as possible.’ By that time, the American unit had a very unclear image of the situation, as displayed by its after action report for the night of 17 December: ’At midnight of the 17th December, Combat Command R was almost completely ignorant of the enemy situation. Having received increasing numbers of reports of enemy in the vicinity of Recht and information indicating that the 14th Cavalry Group had been withdrawn from their north, northeast and east, Combat Command R increased local security with all available personnel and equipment. After continued reports of enemy activity, including an ambush 1-1 1/2 miles east of Recht, one tank company of the 17th Tank Battalion moved into town to outpost to the west, north and east, supported by existing outposts.’113

In full darkness, SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen’s advance force pushed vigorously into Recht, striking from the high terrain in the north and the east. The savage battle lasted only forty-five-minutes. At 0245 in the morning on 18 December, the American force was ordered to pull back.114 Lieutenant Colonel Fred M. Warren, the acting commander of Combat Command Reserve, 7th Armored Division, had realized that he was close to losing an entire company of medium tanks.115 Abandoning four Shermans, the Americans withdrew.116

Having waited a while for the arrival of additional elements from his task force, SS-Standartenführer Hansen decided to press on down the road towards Poteau—two miles southwest of Recht—before sunrise on 18 December. In the meantime, the remnants of U.S. 14th Cavalry Group had assembled at that place under the command of Major James L. Mayes. He received instructions to counter-attack in conjunction with the 17th Tank Battalion of Combat Command R, 7th Armored Division, to retake Recht. At seven in the morning on 18 December, the two opposing units clashed on the main road north of Poteau. What is often described as a German ambush, in fact was a pitched battle between two mechanized forces.

The Germans, who caught sight of the American vehicles when these came out from behind the trees at the road bend some five hundred yards north of Poteau, were first to react. Moreover, their Panzer IV/70s were clearly superior to the American equipment. The Panzer IV/70 was a Jagdpanzer IV tank destroyer that instead of the Jagdpanzer IV’s usual 75mm L/48 gun (as on the Panzer IV) had the longer and more powerful 75mm L/70 gun, like the Panther tank. With their 15.75-in wide tracks, the Panzer IV/70s could leave the road embankment quickly, and moved out into the terrain to maneuver around the U.S. vehicles. For the wheel-driven American M8 armored cars of the 14th Cavalry Group, this was not quite as easy.

William Barton, gunner on one of these armored cars, recalls how the first shell fired by the Germans hit and killed both the radio operator Charly Yost and the driver, and wounded Ray Bacon in the turret. While Barton went into position on the outskirts of Poteau, he witnessed how the Germans quickly broke up the American task force. He remembers how a battery of 8-in M1 howitzers from the 740th Field Artillery Battalion that had got stuck in the marshy fields southwest of Poteau was riddled by German fire, with seven gunners getting killed and the remainder abandoning the seven guns. At least ten of 14th Cavalry Group’s armored cars were destroyed or captured by the Germans, and on the field to his left, Barton saw ’perhaps ten Sherman tanks lined up as if for parade inspection (CCR 7th AD).’117 Following a bitter struggle, the Americans retreated from Poteau. All that managed to escape was a tank, a tank destroyer, three armored cars, and a couple of jeeps.118
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German soldiers among captured American equipment near Sankt Vith in December 1944. The Germans were astonished at the large amounts of heavy equipment, often in full working order, that the U.S. Army abandoned during the retreat in the Ardennes in December 1944. The photo also clearly illustrates the weather conditions in the Ardennes during the first days of the German offensive. (NARA, III-SC-198246)





But in the meantime, the promised U.S. reinforcements arrived at Sankt Vith. On 18 December, a considerable force had been gathered to the town’s defense: The tattered remnants of the units that had retreated from the east—elements of the 106th Infantry Division’s 424th Infantry Regiment, the 28th Infantry Division’s 112th Infantry Regiment, and the 14th Cavalry Group—were joined by the entire 7th Armored Division and Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division. Altogether, these units mustered over 300 Sherman tanks, plus substantial artillery. In addition, some quite skilled American generals arrived at Saint Vith.

Brigadier General William Hoge, the commander of Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division, was known to be an experienced and brave officer. He had been awarded for valour in combat already during World War One. During the landing at Omaha Beach on D Day, he led a special task force of engineer troops. The armored battalion in Hoge’s combat command, the 14th Tank Battalion, also was the first unit to become equipped with the new M4A3 Sherman armed with the 76mm M1 gun. However, the 9th Armored Division was a relatively ’green’ unit. After the war, William Hoge made the following comment about the men of Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division by that time, ’They had more discipline, but we were still short of experienced officers particularly in the higher groups. We had so few that were competent in the battalion grades or anything like that. That was the big problem. The men were all right and willing.’119

The 7th Armored Division had seen action on the Western Front for four months, and had gained much valuable experience at Normandy, at Metz, Holland, and the Roer sector. When the division was sent into the front line in August 1944, it had been characterised as ’a welltrained division with high morale.’120 However, it suffered a row of setbacks in Lorraine (at River Seille) and in the Netherlands in September and October. Major General Lindsay McDonald Silvester, who had commanded the 7th Armored Division since it was formed in March 1942, was replaced by Brigadier General Robert W. Hasbrouck, the previous commander of Combat Command B, on 31 October 1944.121 Hasbrouck was highly versed in military theoretics. He held the title of Professor of Military Science and had previously served inter alia as deputy chief of staff of the 12th Army Group.
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Paratroopers from the 3. FaHschirmjäger-Division and soldiers from SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen near Poteau on 18 December 1944. Confidence in victory is clearly written in the faces of these German soldiers. By this time it seemed as though the entire U.S. Army in the Ardennes was on the verge of collapsing. (NARA, III-SC-341648)





Hasbrouck’s successor as commander of the 7th Armored Division’s Combat Command B, 44-year-old Brigadier General Bruce Clarke, had previously led Combat Command A of the legendary 4th Armored Division during Patton’s ’sweep’ through France. Major General Jones’ last action as operational commander in Sankt Vith was to take the fateful decision to postpone the intended attack to relieve the troops that had become surrounded to the east of the Our. Then he turned to Brigadier General Clarke and handed over the command of Sankt Vith’s defense to him. This created a quite confusing command structure in the defense of this town: Clarke was lower in rank than Jones, had fewer service years than Hoge, and he of course was subordinate to his own divisional commander, Brigadier General Hasbrouck. It was the latter who on 18 December ordered Colonel Rosebaum’s Combat Command A, 7th Armored Division to attack immediately in order to recapture Poteau.

From Jones’ and Hasbrouck’s viewpoint, the shifting to the defensive at Sankt Vith rather than attempting to relieve the 106th Infantry Division perhaps was the most rational thing to do. If Jones had underestimated the German threat on the first day, he by now clearly understood the magnitude of the disaster that threatened the Americans at Sankt Vith. At that time he could of course not know that this threat was not as acute as he believed. Indeed, according to the original German plan, SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen was supposed to continue from Poteau along the road to Vielsalm on River Salm, around five miles southwest of Poteau. Had this been accomplished on 18 December, the fate of the Americans at Sankt Vith would have been sealed. But just when such a victory was within reach, Hansen’s unit ran out of petrol. Supplies of fuel were hardly to be expected within the nearest hours—which to some extent was due to the SS troops themselves. In order to move on faster, SS-Standartenführer Hansen had split up his column so that the I. SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung with its twenty-one Panzer IV/70s took the road through Andler, just northeast of Schönberg. Thus, the SS clambered into the 5. Panzerarmee’s operation area—and even claimed the roads that the LXVI. Armeekorps needed for its advance towards Sankt Vith.

The huge German vehicle columns that began to move on the roads east of the Our over the course of 17 December soon created huge congestions that in a classical way slowed down until large parts moved forward at a snail’s pace. Hoffmann-Schönborn’s possibilities to receive reinforcements were additionally hampered by American fighter bombers that bombed Schönberg, where several houses were hit and rubble partially blocked the village street.122 The traffic chaos in the 5. Panzerarmee’s rear area was compounded by the often extremely arrogant SS men who forced their way onto the already overcrowded roads. To his despair, Oberstleutnant Moll of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division could establish that ’all attempts to move ahead were hampered by the insubordination of SS officers who refused to obey any orders from army officers.’ According to Moll, the SS ‘applied their own traffic organs who halted the Army’s vehicles, and in some cases even forced them to drive into the ditch, so that their own columns could pass.’123

General Walther Lucht, the commander of the LXVI. Armeekorps, and his chief of staff had to make it to the area in order to interfere personally. ’In order to liquidate the road jam occasioned by vehicles of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee,’ Lucht wrote, ’a barrier was established near Schönberg, where vehicles were allowed to pass only when the road ahead was free. In spite of that, SS formations again and again tried to circumvent the regulations, and, on several occasions either the Commanding General or the C-of-St had to take energetic measures including arrests.’124 This also explains why Generalfeldmarschall Model personally participated in the traffic control in this area—a fact that has puzzled several historians.

 While waiting to get through the Wehrmacht area, some SS men vented their frustration on a group of eleven soldiers of the African-American 333rd Field Artillery Battalion who had been cut off behind the German lines near Wereth, just north of Andler. The SS men were seen leading away the Americans, and afterward all eleven were found in a ditch, bearing signs of torture and shot to death.* As far as the traffic jam on the German side is concerned, the situation was pretty much the same all along the front. From the north to the south, the demands on the narrow dirt roads were just too great. On 18 December, the temperature also rose to 39 degrees, and heavy rainshowers turned these dirt roads into pure streaks of mud. At bottlenecks such as hairpin bends and bridges, huge traffic jams were created, and when a larger vehicle broke down or was forced to halt for any other reason, a road could get totally blocked, causing an abrupt halt extending several miles backwards. The Germans could only say a prayer of gratitude that the Luftwaffe and the bad weather kept most Allied fighter-bombers at a safe distance!** The fact that large parts of the 106th Infantry Division’s artillery had been destroyed of course also was of great importance to the long vehicle columns that snaked toward Schönberg. Another reason for the traffic jams on the German side was the decision on 17 December to bring one of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s reserve divisions, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen,’ forward to the front, where it would be subjected to the I. SS-Panzerkorps.125

The 9. SS-Panzer-Division took its name from the medieval German Imperial dynasty of Hohenstaufen, where, among others, Friedrich Barbarossa (whose name was lent to the plan for Hitler’s invasion of the Soviet Union) was included. The division was formed late in the war by unskilled laborers of the Reich Labor Service, and in the spring of 1944 it was deployed to the Eastern Front to face the Red Army’s offensive in southern Poland. There it sustained terrible losses. The division had barely recovered from these when it was redeployed to Normandy in the summer of 1944. Having participated also in the Battle of Arnhem in September 1944, merely 7,000 of the division’s original 16,000 troops remained. The resulting gaps were filled with inadequately trained recruits who had received perhaps just too much SS indoctrination of heroism and sacrifice in order to become truly professional soldiers. This would put its mark on the ’Hohenstaufen’ Division’s operations in the Ardennes Battle. As was the case with other SS divisions, it was quite richly equipped, and on 16 December 1944 it mustered nearly one hundred tanks, twenty-eight StuG III assault guns, and twenty-one Jagdpanzer IVs.126 Since July 1944, the division had been commanded by Sylvester Stadler—who at the age of only thirty-three on 14 June 1944 was promoted to SS-Brigadeführer, thus becoming one of the war’s youngest generals. In December 1944 he wore the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves for his accomplishments in the Waffen-SS on the Eastern Front.

However, this division immediately found itself in serious trouble on the bad and clogged up roads leading to the front. A report to Generalleutnant Krebs, chief of staff in Heeresgruppe B, is quite telling of the situation, ’Road Arhuette - Dollendorf blocked by stragglers of the 9. SS-Panzer-Division. Strict traffic control and the immediate clearing of the vehicles off the road is necessary.’127

In Poteau, the advance force of SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen received orders at two o’clock in the afternoon on 18 December to pull back to the main force in Recht, two miles up in the northeast. Colonel Rosebaum’s Combat Command A, 7th Armored Division reached Poteau just as Hansen’s men were about to evacuate. At five in the afternoon on 18 December, Poteau was back in American hands.128

Frustrated that the march towards Sankt Vith seemed to have stalled, both Model and von Manteuffel visited the headquarters of the LXVI. Armeekorps to discuss the situation with the Corps commander General Lucht. The 5. Panzerarmee now faced two difficulties. Since the best roads in the area converged in Sankt Vith, the strong American force at this place blocked the 5. Panzerarmee’s continued advance. Additionally, the region’s only east-west railroad line—absolutely indispensable if the Germans would have a chance to support their army once it was across the Meuse—ran through the town, so Sankt Vith had to be taken at all costs. The second difficulty was constituted by the American 106th Infantry Division, which the Germans had enveloped east of River Our. In view of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s relatively limited strength, these circumstances amounted to a significant problem for the Germans. Model and von Manteuffel saw the risk of losing everything—not just the possibility of seizing Sankt Vith and the annihilation of the encircled enemy units, but the entire 18. Volksgrenadier-Division could also be lost if the Americans pulled themselves together and counter-attacked, both from Sankt Vith and from within the ’cauldron’ east of the Our.

It was quite clear that the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division needed to be supported by other units, so Model decided to employ the Führer Begleit Brigade from the 5. Panzerarmee’s reserve in order to flush out the resistance at Sankt Vith and advance to Vielsalm on River Salm, slightly more than ten miles farther to the west.129

But when the Führer Begleit Brigade’s more than ninety tanks and assault guns, accompanied by hundreds of other motor vehicles, entered the roads to the front on 18 December, it made the traffic situation immensely worse. The Führer Begleit Brigade’s commander, Oberst Otto Remer, wrote, ’As for myself, I drove ahead on the designated road and did not reach the forward command post of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division in Wallerroder Mühle until about morning. The ordered road of advance was completely jammed and in bad condition. Traveling off the road was impossible, even for tracked vehicles. I therefore reckoned with a considerable delay of the march movement and reported this fact to the Corps.’130

 At nine in the evening, the advance force of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division was in position on the forested hill southeast of Sankt Vith, with other elements, and the troops of Führer Begleit Brigade that had arrived thus far, at Hünningen, a mile northwest of the town.131 At the meeting between Model, von Manteuffel, and Lucht at the headquarters of the LXVI. Armeekorps, it was decided to launch all available forces in an attempt to seize Sankt Vith on 19 December.
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German soldiers at Poteau. (NARA, III-SC-341641)
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(NARA, III-SC-341616)





POTEAU, MONDAY 18 DECEMBER 1944

On 18 December 1944, SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen, supported by paratroopers from the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division, wiped out a U.S. mechanized force north of Poteau. A couple of German war correspondents arriving at the scene of these events shortly afterward, took some shots that have gone down in documentary film history.
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The battle is over and SS men and German paratroopers appear to be searching the area for hiding American soldiers. In front, an American M3 is burning fiercely. (NARA, III-SC-198252)
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(NARA, III-SC-198253)
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Dressed in winter greatcoats, these German soldiers move along the waterlogged grass field beneath the road north of Poteau, where the combat took place. This image clearly shows the foggy and damp weather, with a temperature just a few degrees above the freezing point, that dominated during the first days of the Ardennes Offensive. This weather prevented the Allied aviation from interfering at any larger scale. (NARA, III-SC-19572)
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Triumph and fatigue is painted in the face of this SS soldier, who has endured 48 hours of uninterrupted advance. (NARA, III-SC-197569)
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An SS-Schütze (private), to the left, and two paratroopers from the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division enjoy their war booty in the shape of American cigarettes. That the SS soldier is a machine gunner is obvious from the cartridge belts he is carrying. He also is wearing a captured U.S. rain poncho. His personal weapon is a Pistole 640(b), the German designation of the American 9 mm Browning Hi-Power pistol that was made on license by the Belgian arms producer FN. In the background, an American M8 armored car from the 14th Cavalry Group. (NARA, III-SC-198249)





[image: images]

In the background, an American 3-in M5 anti-tank gun. Behind this, the wreck of an M3 half-track with a .50-in machine gun above right front seat. Far to the right, a jeep that obviously has been hastily abandoned. This photo was taken by a German war reporter, a so-called PK photographer, and was meant to illustrate the successful offensive in the Ardennes. That the photo is arranged is evident by the soldier who quite unconcerned walks along the ditch to the left. (NARA, SC-III-198250)
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Another arranged ’combat photo.’ However, the burning American vehicle in the background is from the actual combat, which nevertheless was over when this photo was taken. (NARA, III-SC-341618)
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The row of destroyed or captured U.S. military vehicles extended for more than a hundred yards along the road north of Poteau. (NARA, III-SC-341639)
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SS soldiers and paratroopers comb through the area, searching for hiding U.S. soldiers. (NARA, III-SC-341616)
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With victory in sight? The German troops at Poteau knew little of what awaited them further on in their offensive. (NARA, III-SC-341647)
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(NARA, III-SC-341615)
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This image shows the steep roadside at the road north of Poteau, which gave the Americans difficulties during the combat, while the German Panzer IV/70s rapidly could descend down on the surrounding grass fields. (NARA, SC-III-341614)
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Three of the 14th Cavalry Group’s knocked out or abandoned M8 armored cars. In the distance can be seen what appears to be one or two knocked out tanks from Combat Command Reserve, 7th Armored Division. (NARA, III-SC-341642)





THE TANK BATTLE AT BASTOGNE

On 5. Panzerarmee’s southern flank, the German advance proceeded at a considerably higher pace, even though the traffic jams in the rear area were nearly as severe here as farther north. On the third day of the offensive, Major General Cota’s U.S. 28th Infantry Division was more or less neutralized. This division’s 110th Regimental Combat Team, in the center, had been largely wiped out, along with most of the 707th Tank Battalion, in Clervaux. On the left flank, German 116. Panzer-Division drove the 28th Infantry Division’s 112th Infantry northwards, in the direction of Sankt Vith. On the right flank, the 109th Infantry retreated to the south and southwest. As Cota and his headquarters withdrew to the west, he literally was a general without troops!

Into the gap that had been torn in the American lines, General von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps now poured, with von Lauchert’s 2. Panzer-Division to the right and Bayerlein’s Panzer Lehr Division to the left. Kampfgruppe von Fallois—Major Gerd von Fallois’ reinforced armored reconnaissance battalion of Panzer Lehr—crossed River Clerve at Drauffelt at nine in the morning on 18 December.132 The armored Kampfgruppe 902 followed duly. The goal was set on River Meuse and the road junction of Bastogne.
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Belgium, December 1944. These American soldiers have dug their fox holes behind a hedge to avoid detection by the advancing German troops. (NARA, SC 199254)
 




The commander of U.S. 9th Armored Division, Major General John W. Leonard, was a former student of the so-called ’class the stars fell on’ at West Point, along with, among others, the prospective Supreme Commander Eisenhower and Omar Bradley, who now commanded U.S. 12th Army Group. But when Leonard’s ’green’ 9th Armored Division arrived at First Army and VIII Corps in October 1944, it was dispersed to different sections of the Ardennes where its men were to acquire combat experience. Only one of the division’s three Combat commands—CCA, opposed to the southernmost German assault forces—stood under Leonard’s direct command when Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt struck on 16 December 1944. Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division was subordinate to the V Corps at the Roer dams, but—as we have seen—it was immediately diverted southwards, to Sankt Vith, where it was subordinated to the 7th Armored Division.
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At the exit road at Feitsch, Lieutenant Colonel Ralph Harper positioned Sherman tanks from the 2nd Tank Battalion among the pine trees in the forest clearing that lines the main road’s west side. (NARA, SC 196963)





Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division, under Colonel Joseph H. Gilbreth, actually was the only American unit available to meet the full brunt of XLVII. Panzerkorps’ attack towards Bastogne on the morning of 18 December. This of course was a totally inadequate force. Moreover, ’B’ Company of CCR’s 2nd Tank Battalion had been heavily decimated in Clervaux on 17 December. As if the dispersed state of the division was not enough, Colonel Gilbreth received an order from Corps commander Middleton in the evening on 17 December to divide his weakened Combat Command into three different task forces instead of concentrating the available forces.133 But since there were no natural barriers on the road to Bastogne after Clervaux—the landscape between these two towns is dominated by gently rolling fields and fields without any rivers or mountains—Middleton deemed it necessary to cover a sector as wide as possible.

The most advanced among Gilbreth’s combat groups, Task Force Rose, was sent all the way up to Antonihushof, five miles west of Clervaux. Here, in the middle of vast open fields, the highway from Clervaux joins the wide main road N 12 (National Route 12) which leads from Sankt Vith in the north. The Americans assumed that the Germans would come through here on their way to Bastogne, a quite correct assumption. Task Force Rose, led by Captain Lyle K. Rose, consisted of nineteen Sherman tanks from ‘A’ Company, 2nd Tank Battalion, and the infantry of ’C’ Company, 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion, plus a platoon from the 9th Armored Engineers.134
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A column Panther tanks on the advance. The German armored spearheads seemed to be impossible to halt as they surged forward on the muddy roads of the Ardennes during the first days of the offensive in December 1944. (BArch, Bild 183-H28153)





Three miles farther down the road, at the exit road at Feitsch, N 12 continued southwards while the N 20 led farther westwards towards Bastogne. At this place, Task Force Harper—the 2nd Tank Battalion’s ’C’ Company and what remained of the tank battalion’s ’B’ Company (which had lost fourteen of its nineteen Shermans in Clervaux), plus ’B’ Company, 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion went into position.135 The commander Lieutenant Colonel Ralph Harper, who also led the 2nd Tank Battalion, positioned the tanks among the fir trees in the edge of the forest that lines the road’s west side. Five hundred yards away, the infantry was ordered to dig foxholes. A cold rain was pouring down as the G.I.s put their shovels in the wet mud. When the holes were completed, it didn’t take long until muddy water stood ankle-high in them.

Another two to three miles farther to the west, Task Force Booth lay in position on the moist hills near the village of Moinet. Under the command of Lieutenant Colonel Robert Booth, the commander of the 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion, this group consisted of Headquarters Company, 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion, two platoons from the 52nd AIB’s ‘A’ Company, a platoon of tank destroyers from the 811th Tank Destroyer Battalion, and a platoon of Stuart tanks from ‘D’ Company, 2nd Tank Battalion. The orders issued to Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division read routinely, ’Hold on at all costs.’136 One of the soldiers in the 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion recalls that he overheard Lieutenant Colonel Booth getting informed via radio that ‘you are a sacrifice unit and you will hold your position at all costs.’137

What many of these men apprehended as the worst thing, was that no one—neither the officers, nor the NCOs or the ordinary soldiers—had any idea of what awaited them. One of the officers, Major Eugene A. Watts, complained about ’the almost complete lack of dissemination of enemy information,’ and afterwards said, ’The seriousness of the situation occasioned by the enemy breakthrough was never completely realized by us because we did not know until a few hours before contact with the enemy that our positions were being threatened.’138

According to certain sources, a small group of heavy Königstiger tanks from schwere Panzer-Abteilung 506 arrived to take the lead in the 2. Panzer-Division’s advance, but this has proved difficult to verify. Both German and U.S. sources suggest that what Captain Rose’s men at half past ten in the morning on 18 December saw emerge on the highway from Clervaux, was nothing but a couple of armored reconnaissance vehicles from Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 2. While anti-tank guns boomed, the American infantry jumped into their foxholes. The German thrust was fought back quite easily, and through the drizzle the Americans could see the enemy vehicles disappear behind a small copse.

After one hour, German reinforcements in the shape of Panzer IV tanks arrived. Covered by a smoke screen, these joined the reconnaissance force, but since the Germans still lacked the required infantry support, no attempt was yet made to attack the American positions. As we have seen, the German march through Clervaux was hampered by an American force that held out in the fortress on the hill in the center of the town. At noon on 18 December, a Panther tank sped up the hill leading to the castle and crashed right through the wooden gates. A lone 707th Tank Battalion Sherman which stood in position in the courtyard tried to knock out the attacker, but failed. In the next moment, the Panther’s gun had put the American tank out of commission. A hit in the turret’s race ring decided the fate of the crew. Inside the castle, the brave garrison realized that the game was over. A white flag was hung out through one of the windows.
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A German PaK 40 anti-tank gun in action during the Ardennes Offensive. (Horst Helmus)





At three in the afternoon on 18 December, Oberst von Lauchert, the 2. Panzer-Division’s commander, had brought forward a force sufficient to launch an attack against Antonihushof. The Germans charged from three directions, with Panzer IVs and Panther tanks as well as assault guns and infantry. Seven Shermans were knocked out immediately, and this caused the U.S. infantry to panic and disperse in all directions.139

Via radio, Captain Rose requested permission to withdraw, but Middleton personally repeated the order to hold at all costs. The rain-laden air at the intersection was filled with thick black smoke where red, flickering tongues of flame loomed from burning Sherman tanks and other military vehicles. German shells ceaselessly hit into this inferno. An American howitzer battery abandoned its positions. Captain Rose realized that the game was over. With his five last remaining tanks and a couple of SPGs, he retreated down the slope north of the intersection. The after action report of the 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion reads, ’Many of our vehicles were destroyed and our casualty rate was high. Aproximately 50% of the personnel at this position managed to withdraw by foot and in vehicles and attached themselves to the task force commanded by Lieutenant Colonel Harper.’140
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Oberst Meinrad von Lauchert commanded German 2. Panzer-Division during the Ardennes Offensive. Von Lauchert, considered as one of Germany’s best panzer unit commanders, was appointed to this position as late as the day before the offensive. His panzer division came to take the lead during Operation ‘Herbstnebel.’ After the war, he served as a German specialist adviser during the production of the famous film ‘Battle of the Bulge’ from 1965. The film’s German protagonist, colonel Martin Hessler (Robert Shaw) is clearly inspired by the German panzer colonel. Meinrad von Lauchert passed away in 1987.
(BArch, Bild146-1973-005-16/ Dr. Paul Wolff)





While the German armor and the bulk of the infantry were occupied fighting this battle, the 2. Panzer-Division’s armored reconnaissance battalion had continued southwards on N 12, and clashed with Task Force Harper at Feitsch at a quarter to four in the afternoon. Shortly afterward—by which time darkness had set in—the advance force of Panzer-Regiment 3 also could be redeployed against Task Force Harper. Twenty-four German tanks went into position on top of a hill in the fields a few hundred yards to the east of the road.141 At midnight, Oberst von Lauchert gave the signal to attack.

After the war, the Americans concluded that the Germans had used Panther tanks equipped with night sighting devices in this battle.142 However, according to the commander of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2, Oberst Joachim Gutmann, the reason for the German success was much simpler than that: Since the Americans had lined up their tanks along the edge of a forest on the western side of the road, the Germans simply could aim at the treetops, which stood out clearly against the slightly brighter night sky.143 Oberst Gutmann describes the battle:

’The German tanks retained their full mobility and each time they fired their guns they rapidly withdrew down the slope. A full hit on an American tank set this ablaze, whereby we got a clear view of all the enemy tanks in the glare of the flames, while the Americans themselves became so dazzled by the glare that they could not see a thing.’144 Only three Shermans managed to put up any resistance before the German Panthers and Panzer IVs had shot the entire American armored force to smithereens. ’Within ten minutes,’ Oberst Gutmann wrote, ’24 enemy tanks had been set ablaze and another ten could be captured undamaged. Our own total losses were confined to two tanks’145

The German armor surged forward, towards the American infantry, setting their vehicles on fire with tracer ammunition from their machine guns, and then started to mow down the U.S. soldiers in the glare of the fire. Among the Americans who got killed here were the commander of the 2nd Tank Battalion, Lieutenant Colonel Harper, and the commander of ’B’ Company, 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion, Captain Lewie F. Hayse.146
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After the battle. The terrain is littered with the wrecks of knocked out Sherman tanks and other U.S. combat vehicles. (US Army)





While all of this took place, the third combat group of Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division—Task Force Booth at Moinet—had no idea of what was taking place. Indeed, the men could hear the thunder of guns in the east, and in spite of the rainy night the flickering light of the fires on the battlefield could be seen, but this was nothing special to men at war. At six thirty in the evening, Lieutenant Colonel Booth’s reconnaissance patrols reported the sighting of German armor south of the positions held by the combat group.147 At that stage, Booth had lost radio contact with Colonel Gilbreth, and none of the runners who tried to reach his headquarters in Longvilly had returned.148 The 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion’s after action report reads, ’Recon. patrols sent out in all directions revealed that we were completely surrounded by enemy armor from the northeast and south by what was estimated as about at least a German Panzer Division. The C.O. decided that the only chance we had was to attempt to escape to the NW and make our way toward Bastogne thru Bourcy.’149

The vehicles were hastily loaded and then the entire combat group set off on the muddy little dirt road that leads up towards Bourcy, a couple of miles northwest of Moinet. There the Americans clashed with a small German force—probably a reconnaissance patrol from von Lauchert’s division. Following a twenty-minutes firefight, the Germans disappeared and Booth’s men could carry on. They took what they believed to be the road towards Hardigny in northwest (presumably with the intention of continuing to the main road that leads to Bastogne from the north), but apparently they chose the wrong exit in the darkness. Instead, they embarked on the road that led to Tavigny, six miles farther northwest. Thus Task Force Booth was out of the game—in more than one way, as we shall see later.

It may seem as if von Lauchert followed Booth as the 2. Panzer-Division just hours later—when the battle at Feitsch/Allerborn was over—took to the right from the N 20 to follow the same country lane as Booth’s column had used to reach Bourcy. But von Lauchert had set his sights westward—his task was to bypass Bastogne in order to reach the Meuse river in the shortest time possible. Neither Booth nor von Lauchert had a clue about the American build-up that meanwhile took place in Longvilly, barely a thousand yards downhill south of the by now well-worn country lane.

It has been asserted—by among others the well-versed but also occasionally strongly criticized U.S. military historian S.L.A. Marshall—that the U.S. Army lacked a proper infantry reserve on the Western Front in 1944. 150 However, this is not quite true. Only days before the German attack on 16 December 1944, two brand new American divisions—the 11th Armored and the 75th Infantry Division—were about to be shipped across the English Channel to France. Another two newly formed divisions—the 66th Infantry and the 17th Airborne—were being readied to follow suit in the following weeks.*
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This Sherman apparently has received a hit that resulted in an ammunition fire, with the result that the over 30-ton-heavy vehicle has been overthrown. 
(National Museum of Military history, Diekirch)
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Sherman tanks in combat. (NARA, SC 196413)





But there was a lack of reserves in the sense that these new divisions still were at a great distance from the front lines. The only options left to get new forces to plug in the gaps created by the German attack, was to either bring in units that had recently been taken out of action in order to recuperate after sustaining heavy casualties, or to thin out the lines on other front sectors—which would have the effect that planned offensives had to be aborted. The crisis was of such magnitude that Eisenhower quite soon saw himself compelled to do both.

In the area north of the German breakthrough, the 7th Armored Division and Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division were, as we have seen, regrouped south on 16 December to assist the 106th Infantry Division. During the following two days, first the 30th Infantry Division, and then also the 3rd Armored Division were ordered south towards the northern flank of the breakthrough. Thus the Americans were forced to cancel the offensive against the Roer dams which had cost so much blood, now in vain.

In the area south of the German breakthrough, U.S Third Army was ordered in the evening on 16 December to redeploy its 10th Armored Division, ’Tiger Division,’ to the Bastogne sector, where it would be subordinated to the VIII Corps already on the following day.151 Lieutenant General George S. Patton, the Third Army’s hot-tempered commander, only reluctantly agreed to relinquish this division. By that time his full attention was directed at the offensive that was supposed to break into Germany in the Saar Region. Extensive preparations had been made, and according to the plan the attack would open with three days of massive air strikes starting on 21 December.152 ’It will be the biggest blitz in the Third Army’s history,’ Patton enthusiastically told his staff officers.153

The 10th Armored Division was a cornerstone in the planned attack, so the removal of this division—and shortly afterward of several other divisions—effectively meant the death knell to Patton’s offensive plan. When the Superior Commander ’Ike’ Eisenhower informed Lieutenant General Omar Bradley, C-in-C of the 12th Army Group, that Patton would have to give up one of his armored divisions, Bradley commented that this would infuriate Patton. Eisenhower, who occasinally could get quite irritated at Patton’s wilful manners, snapped, ’Tell him that Ike is running this damn war!’ 154 As Bradley had foreseen, Patton protested vehemently. ’Hell, it’s probably nothing more than a spoiling attack to throw us off balance down here and make us stop this offensive,’ he lamented. Bradley was not entirely sure that Patton was mistaken, but an order was an order. 155 ’I hate like hell to do it, George,’ he confided, ’but I’ve got to have that division.’156

At 1320 hrs on 17 December, the 10th Armored Division ’Tiger’ departed for the transfer northwards. Meanwhile, the extent of the German breakthrough began to dawn on the U.S. commanders. When Clervaux in the evening on 17 December appeared to be about to fall, which would mean that the Germans were across the last river on the way to Bastogne, Eisenhower decided to bring in also the XVIII Airborne Corps. The two divisions of this corps rested in Mourmelon and Sissonne in the vicinity of Reims, France, following the bloody battles in the Netherlands in connection with the airborne operation against Arnhem in September, but at 1930 hrs on 17 December, they were ordered to urgently regroup to Bastogne in order to defend this important junction. There they were to be incorporated into Middleton’s VIII Corps. This order, which was sent in clear text over the radio, was picked up by the Germans.

Von Lüttwitz, the commander of German XLVII. Panzerkorps, received a translated version on the evening of 17 December, and reacted with satisfaction. ’If the Americans,’ he said, ’are having to use two formations which have suffered so heavily in battle, that proves that they will not be undertaking any airborne operations in our rear. They can’t have any reserves left if they have to put their best strategic reserve divisions into the battle.’157 He looked forward to the clash between his XLVII. Panzerkorps and the American XVIII Airborne Corps.

In the course of the next few hours, the situation would prove to be even worse than the Allied Supreme Commander had feared. During the transfer, one of the divisions of the airborne corps, the 82nd Airborne Division, was issued with new orders—instead of deploying to Bastogne, the division was to continue through Bastogne and up towards Houffalize in the north. At that place, MPs were waiting to direct the way to the unit’s new area of deployment, Werbomont—some twelve miles west of Stavelot, which was reached by the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s spearhead on the evening of 17 December. The crisis on the Allied side is illustrated by the 82nd Airborne Division, which when it finally arrived at its new destination immediately was hurled against both the 6. SS-Panzerarmee west of Stavelot and the 5. Panzerarmee’s northernmost force in the Sankt Vith area.

Thus, only one of the airborne divisions, the 101st ’Screaming Eagles,’ could be deployed to the defense of Bastogne. Since the commander of this division, Major General Maxwell Taylor, at the moment was in the USA, the division’s artillery commander, Brigadier General Anthony McAuliffe, came to lead the ’Screaming Eagles’ in the first phase of the Battle of Bastogne.

Due to the mounting crisis, neither U.S. VIII Corps, nor the 101st Airborne Division, could be supported by the whole 10th Armored Division; since the 4th Infantry Division on Patton’s northern flank was heavily beset by German 7. Armee, the 10th Armored Division’s Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve were vectored to this sector, in order to save the connections between the Third and First armies from getting severed. Hence, only this armored division’s Combat Command B, which was led by the 3rd Tank Battalion’s commander, Colonel William L. Roberts, could be deployed to Bastogne.

When Roberts arrived at the VIII Corps headquarters in the Heintz Barracks in Bastogne at four in the afternoon on 18 December, he was instructed by Middleton to split its armored regiment into three smaller battlegroups. This had been feared by Roberts, but he had no choice but to follow orders.158 Between seven in the evening on the 18th and midnight, Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division was divided into Team Cherry, Team O’Hara, and Team Desobry, which were sent to the east, the southeast, and the north respectively.

Another visitor at the VIII Corps headquarters in Bastogne that evening was the tough commander of XVIII Airborne Corps, Major General Matthew B. Ridgway. He found ’the gloom inside that headquarters thicker than the fog outside.’ In his memoirs, Ridgway wrote, ’This atmosphere of uncertainty was in no way the fault of General Middleton, a magnificent soldier with a wonderful combat record in two wars. But the most disquieting thing in any war is to be in a completely unknown situation. General Middleton knew that some of his units had been overrun. […] Nearly all his communications with his forward elements were out, and he had no knowledge of where his forces were, nor where the Germans were, nor where they might strike next.’159

The situation was, if possible, even worse in the headquarters of U.S. First Army. During a visit on this 18 December 1944, Brigadier General Thomas J. Betts, Eisenhower’s deputy intelligence officer, found the First Army’s headquarters ’in shambles.’ He wrote, ’They just didn’t know what was going on. As far as fighting a war was concerned, the First Army was thinking in terms of a battalion here and something else there but they seemed to have no plan at all for meeting the attacks. And I couldn’t see any orders going forth.’160

All day on 18 December, anxious American commanders wondered when the Germans would reach Bastogne. The men of the 101st Airborne Division kept arriving throughout the day, but most of their artillery still was underway, and the last troops would not arrive until late in the following night. The Americans did not even know if the 10th Armored Division’s Combat Command B or the 82nd Airborne Division would arrive before the Germans. But whereas a few groups of stalwart American soldiers had stalled the Germans on the day before, it was the poor accessibility in the mountains in northwestern Luxembourg that on 18 December saved these American units from being blocked by Generalleutnant Bayerlein’s Panzer Lehr Division in cooperation with the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, whose task was to advance straight on Bastogne.
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On 20 December, four days after the German armored attack began, the terrain both north and east of Bastogne was strewn with the wrecks of American Sherman tanks. (US Army)





As we have seen earlier, Panzer Lehr Division’s advance force—Kampfgruppe von Fallois (the reinforced armored reconnaissance battalion) under Major Gerd von Fallois—crossed River Clerve at Drauffelt at nine in the morning on 18 December. At that time, nothing more than scattered American units stood between them and Bastogne, less than twenty miles farther to the west.

One and a half hours later, U.S. 82nd Airborne Division’s vehicle columns left Sissonne and began the 115-mile trip to Bastogne.161 The journey would continue through Houffalize towards Werbomont. As we shall see, during its ride towards Werbomont on 18 December, this division would come a hairsbreadth from getting cut off by various German panzer units, and this on two occasions. But while the Americans were able to run at full speed on a paved highway that ran nearly dead straight across an almost entirely flat agricultural landscape all the way to Bastogne, Panzer Lehr had to take narrow, winding roads through the kind of mountainous forest area that constitutes the epitome of the ’the impenetrable’ Ardennes.

Major von Fallois’ primary task was to cover the main force against flank attacks. Therefore he and his unit made it down to Erpeldange, just north of the town of Wiltz, five miles southwest of Drauffelt. There the Germans tore into a U.S. force consisting of, inter alia, three Shermans from the 707th Tank Battalion and some of the 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion’s anti-tank guns. This was what had managed to get out of Clervaux on the previous day, before total annihilation struck the Americans in this town. The Germans immediately opened fire. The 707th Tank Battalion’s after action report reads, ’Battalion assault platoon and 3 tanks, “B” Company were defending Wiltz from attack from NW, and fought off continual heavy enemy attacks throughout the day and inflicted heavy damage to enemy personnel and vehicles.’162 However, according to German sources, Kampfgruppe von Fallois managed to oust the Americans from both Erpeldange and, a bit farther down the road, the Wiltz suburb of Weidingen.163

Meanwhile, Panzer Lehr’s main force was underway, but it was not alone. Since the American resistance in Hosingen had been broken on the morning of 18 December, both the Panzer Lehr Division and the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division broke loose. These two divisions set in motion simultaneously towards a single crossing of the Clerve river, the narrow bridge at Drauffelt, three miles south of Clervaux. In all, about twenty thousand soldiers began to move towards this bottleneck. Added to this was not only hundreds of combat vehicles of all kinds, but also the five thousand horse-drawn conveyances of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division. This whole mass was directed down on the narrow road that winds down the slope towards Drauffelt—a small village of a hundred inhabitants around a railway station. It was the same route as Kampfgruppe von Fallois had taken, but with this huge mass of troops, horses and vehicles, it was a completely different matter.

Officers and traffic control units worked with sweat pouring to bring order to the traffic across the bridge. But the situation was not brighter on the other side of the river. New traffic jams formed on the long and steep uphill leading out from Drauffelt. Once out of the community, the dramatically undulating landscape confined the Germans to the narrow Wëlzerstroos (Wiltz Road), which cuts through the mountains from Drauffelt towards the town of Wiltz, six miles to the southwest.

Just hours before, withdrawing American soldiers had passed here, leaving ample signs of a panicky retreat. Weapons, helmets, and other equipment littered the road and the surroundings. Trucks and combat vehicles abandoned by the Americans could be pushed aside quite easily or, further on along the road, tipped over the steep bank on one side of the road. The difficulties grew worse about a mile from Drauffelt, where one side of the road was lined with almost vertical cliff walls while the other side descended steeply into the deep river gorge. Here the entire column came to a halt when a German tank or a tractor stopped because of a malfunction. In pouring rain, shivering and cursing infantrymen and motorcyclists tried to push forward between trucks and tanks, contributing even more to clog up the road.

Oberst Kokott, in command of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, became absolutely terrified by the chaotic scenes. ’For several hours’ he wrote, ’the narrow road was blocked by individual tanks or towing vehicles that have been standing. No vehicles could get past. From the rear area a motorized column came roaring into the mass of vehicles, pushed the infantry’s horse-drawn ammunition or weapons conveyances to the side, trying to squeeze through, and finally encountered a vehicle which, despite strict prohibition, drove from the west to the east. Finally the entire column became standing along several kilometers.’164

It was only after the main part of the column had remained practically stationary on this road for several hours, that the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39 managed to disengage and march down to Erpeldange, where it took over from Kampfgruppe von Fallois. While the latter now could take the main road N 12, which from Erpeldange paves its way through the mountains towards the north-west, the German main force took to the right about a mile north of Erpeldange.

Just a thousand yards further ahead, the main force came upon a small American force at Eschweiler, four miles drive from Drauffelt. The Americans had no chance to withstand the immense power of the German force, and after a brief firefight the long German column could resume its advance.165 The terrain was a much more difficult opponent for the Germans. After Eschweiler, their march continued steeply uphill, on a backroad that wound through among desolate mountains and dark forests in an area so rugged that it was virtually uninhabited. As darkness fell at twenty to five in the afternoon, it became even more difficult to get around along the mountain roads. In the cloudy and hazy weather, the night turned absolutely pitch black, and because of the danger of air attacks the headlights could not be used.
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Unteroffizier Horst Helmus of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division drew a group of German soldiers inspecting knocked out Sherman tanks to the east of Bastogne in December 1944.





At six in the evening on 18 December, Kampfgruppe von Fallois reached the houses of Niederwampach, six miles east of Bastogne.166 Here it paused briefly to wait for the rest of the division. When the leading vehicles of the main force, Oberstleutnant Joachim Ritter von Poschinger’s Kampfgruppe 902, arrived at nine in the evening, the advance resumed. The plan was to take Bastogne through a nocturnal surprise attack.

The Germans were relieved to have left the difficult hilly terrain behind, but in the area they now entered, there were virtually no proper roads. They had to advance along nothing but small tracks that ran between the fields in this fertile farmland. The terrain continued to be their worst opponent. The Germans entered the hamlet of Benonchamps, which proved to be abandoned by the Americans.167 In the neighboring village Mageret a force from U.S. 158th Combat Engineer Battalion was swept away without much difficulty. The village itself was found to be almost completely deserted; many of its inhabitants had joined the stream of refugees towards Bastogne. It was midnight when Panzer Lehr established itself in Neffe—some twenty stonehouses that lined the main road just before the eastern entrance to Bastogne. No more than a mile of the best highway remained to Bastogne, but the German offensive against this strategically important town would not reach further.

The divisional commander, Generalleutnant Bayerlein, ordered a halt. He saw what he believed to be a looming threat that his advance force would be encircled by U.S. forces that moved into position north and south of the road to Bastogne.168 But there was no such American plan, nor did the Americans have the resources to do so. Instead, Middleton simply sent his reinforcements forward as they arrived from the south. The 158th Engineer Combat Battalion was ordered to Neffe (whence they were driven out by Panzer Lehr) and Bizory, the adjacent village a mile farther north. The small force that arrived at the latter place, hardly had the strength to envelop Panzer Lehr, but the Germans were unable to see that in the dark.

Just south of the road that Panzer Lehr had taken from Mageret to Neffe, a long column U.S. combat vehicles, including a large number of Sherman tanks, moved out of Bastogne to take up positions in the small village of Wardin, three miles south of Mageret. This was Team O’Hara, one of the three battlegroups of Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division ’Tiger.’ Consisting of the 21st Tank Battalion’s ’C’ Company, a tank platoon from the 3rd Tank Battalion’s ’D’ Company, and two companies from the 54th Armored Infantry Battalion, plus engineer troops and an armored reconnaissance squadron, Lieutenant Colonel James O’Hara’s combat team could have posed a serious threat to Panzer Lehr’s advance force. Von Fallois despatched a force against Wardin to test the American strength, but when it arrived the Germans found the place abandoned. For some reason, O’Hara had withdrawn his troops to Marvie, another mile to the southwest. Thus, his battlegroup no longer constituted an immediate threat to Panzer Lehr. Nevertheless, it was held under close observation. Bayerlein himself observed the troops of Team O’Hara with binoculars at dawn on 19 December.169

Due to the U.S. withdrawal from Wardin, the Germans were able to concentrate against the larger American force observed in Longvilly two miles northeast of Mageret, midway between Panzer Lehr and the 2. Panzer-Division. Just before Panzer Lehr had taken Mageret and Neffe, Team Cherry—another of the battlegroups in Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division—had passed through these two villages in accordance with Middleton’s orders to take up positions in Longvilly, northeast of Bastogne. Led by Lieutenant Colonel Henry T. Cherry, this combat group consisted of most of the 3rd Tank Battalion (except ’B’ Company and two platoons of ’D’ Company), ’C’ Company of the 20th Armored Infantry Battalion, and a platoon each from the 609th Tank destroyer Battalion, the 90th Cavalry Squadron, and the 55th Armored Engineer Battalion.170

Team Cherry’s leading unit, the 3rd Tank Battalion’s ’A’ Company, with fifteen Sherman tanks under First Lieutenant Edwards. Hyduke, reached the farmland area in the little valley just to the west of Longvilly at twenty past seven in the evening on 18 December.171 The men of the 3rd Tank Battalion were used to success, and watched the chaotic scenes that met them with horror. Not least the demoralized soldiers of the 28th Infantry Division’s 110th Regimental Combat Team and 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve, that had escaped German 2. Panzer-Division’s attacks at Antoniushof and Allerborn, and now poured into Longvilly, stunned the men of the ’Tiger Division.’

An American Army Report noted that ’the town, which nestled in a depression, between several adjacent hills, was jammed with the vehicles of elements of CCR, 9th Armored Division.’172 In the midst of all of this was Colonel Joseph H. Gilbreth, the by now rather disoriented commander of Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division. But Lieutenant Colonel Cherry quickly organized the forces around Longvilly. His own unit consisted of the troops that had formed the spearhead of Patton’s breakthrough into Germany on 19 November 1944. They took for granted that they would halt the Germans at this village.

On the morning of 19 December, a quite sizable American force was concentrated at Longvilly. In addition to Team Cherry were the elements of Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division which had arrived the day before, and other troops in the shape of retreating soldiers from 110th Regimental Combat Team and four anti-tank guns from the 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion arrived. Moreover, two artillery battalions—the 58th and 73rd Armored Field Artillery battalions—had taken up positions and started to shell the Germans in the east.173 However the Americans still could not expect any major air support; the low pressure clung stubbornly across the region, with low, dark clouds, rain and fog. On 19 December, the temperature rose further and throughout the day remained between 37 and 42 degrees. By now, the snowdrifts in the terrain had shrunk considerably: this definitely was not a winter war—at least not yet.

The Germans also had built up a strong attack force against Cherry. Over the course of the night other elements of Panzer Lehr and Grenadier-Regiment 77 from the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division had arrived to the forward positions that had been taken in the previous evening.174 The task of destroying the American force in Longvilly was assigned to Grenadier-Regiment 77. The regimental commander, Oberstleutnant Martin Schriefer, immediately organized a plan of attack: ’A Grenadier battalion sneaks forward to positions about 500 yards southeast of Longvilly. Two companies take up positions in the front with a third company a bit further back to the right. The 2nd Battalion positions one company plus anti-tank arms in the forest area 1,000 yards west of the village, with its front facing the east, to cut off the main road. The other two grenadier companies sneak forward to positions 800 yards southwest of the village.’175 In addition to these, Bayerlein assigned twelve Panther tanks from Kampfgruppe 902 to the infantry force that was deployed on the wooded hill southwest of the village. 176

Nevertheless, the communications apparently did not function with the 2. Panzer-Division, which was totally caught by surprise when its marching columns on the forenoon of 19 December were subject to fire from what was assessed as an ’up to 100 vehicle strong’ American armored unit about a thousand yards northeast of Longvilly.177 These Germans had thought that they had annihilated all U.S. forces in the area, and did not expect the enemy to be able to bring forward new units so rapidly. But by attacking the 2. Panzer-Division, Team Cherry also got involved in a firefight with this unit. Von Lauchert immediately ordered a group of tanks from Panzer-Regiment 3 to the area northeast of Longvilly, where the tank crews made contact with Oberstleutnant Schriefer who included them in the German attack plan against Team Cherry.178 At 1300 hrs, the German attack commenced with a devastating artillery fusillade. This is what it looked like from the German horizon:

To the sound of rattling machine guns and muffled explosions from artillery shells, the groups and platoons of the Grenadier companies bolted out of their positions and advanced while well spread out towards the village and the road. Firing from all guns, Panzer Lehr’s tanks surged forward from the southwest. A complete confusion erupted on the enemy side, where only single machine guns opened fire from house windows and behind garden hedges, while a large number of soldiers rushed back and forth in the fire storm. A couple of American tanks turned their turrets and opened fire on the attacking troops, but many other tanks already stood in flames. Other tanks tried to make it out of the village to the west, only to collide with vehicles that tried to enter the village. Others tried to escape north, but these were exposed to fire from the German tanks on the main road Bourcy -Longvilly179

When the German attack began, Lieutenant Colonel Cherry was in CCB’s headquarters in Bastogne, and command of the troops in Longvilly had been assigned to Captain William F. Ryerson. The Americans were driven down into the village. This is located like in a pot between high hills, and through the German pincer attack it transformed into a veritable ’kill sack,’ in the words of American historian John C. McManus.180 The German narration describes the final battle:

Our infantry advanced from the west and southwest, crossed the main road and entered Longvilly where all opposition was swept away by the tanks from Panzer Lehr. At half past two the battle was over. Our opponents had sustained heavy casualties. A large number of officers and more than 100 men were taken into captivity. More than 50 tanks and armored vehicles were destroyed and lay torn and burning on the road and the streets in the village. A large number of other motor vehicles were captured in usable condition or were shot to pieces all around. Only a few tanks and a few scattered groups of soldiers managed to escape to the north or northwest.181

’Compared with the success,’ wrote the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s commander, Oberst Heinz Kokott, ’our own losses were negligible. As far as I can recall, they amounted to two killed or wounded officers and about fifty soldiers in the entire Regiment 77.182 Additionally, eight German tanks were knocked out.183

Colonel Joseph H. Gilbreth, in command of the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve, barely managed to escape to Bastogne, where he arrived in a state of total exhaustion.184 Meanwhile, twelve Panther tanks attacked Colonel Cherry’s headquarters in the grandiose castle Château de Neffe south of Neffe. Team Cherry’s Headquarters Company and the armor of Reconnaissance Platoon, 3rd Tank Battalion were without any chance. Colonel Cherry sent a desperate radio message to headquarters of Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division in Bastogne before he and what remained of his force withdrew westwards, ’We’re not driven out; we’re burned out!’185 Here the Germans counted another six destroyed American tanks, several destroyed or captured trucks, and more than fifty prisoners.186 The Germans took over a battlefield completely littered with burning American military vehicles. According to certain U.S. sources, the Americans lost ’over 200 vehicles,’ including twenty-five tanks, fourteen armored cars, and fifteen M7 105mm SPGs.187 But the actual U.S. losses at the tank battle at Longvilly-Neffe on 19 December 1944 have never been clarified. Von Manteuffel, the 5. Panzerarmee’s C-in-C, recorded fifty destroyed American armored vehicles, with another twenty-three Shermans, fourteen armored cars, fifteen SPGs, twenty-five lorries, and thirty jeeps captured undamaged by the Germans.188 These figures are in line with those recorded by the 2. Panzer-Division and Panzer Lehr.189

Thus, the U.S. armored force at Bastogne had been largely annihilated. To the heavy losses at Longvilly on 19 December should be added the thirty-one Shermans lost by Task Force Rose and Task Force Harper on 18 December. Together with the fourteen Shermans lost by U.S. 2nd Tank Battalion at Clervaux on17 December, this single battalion’s Sherman losses consequently amounted to forty-five in just two days.190 Moreover, a large number of tank destroyers were lost. In ’C’ Company, 811th Tank Destroyer Battalion—part of Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division—the 3rd Platoon lost three Hellcats, while the 2nd Platoon was forced to abandon all of its vehicles.191

A few hours later, Major General Middleton and the VIII Corps headquarters left the Heintz Barracks in Bastogne—which were taken over by Brigadier General McAuliffe and the headquarters of the 101st Airborne Division—and withdrew to Neufchâteau in the southwest.

The diary that Major William C. Sylvan and Captain Francis C. Smith kept for Lieutenant General Hodges, C.O. of U.S. First Army, reads for 19 December 1944, ’Situation in VIII Corps extremely fluid. […] There are reports that Bastogne has fallen and has not fallen; the same applies to Hoffleize [Houffalize].’192 The Allies still had no grasp on which German units they were being attacked by, or how powerful these were. When Ultra in Bletchley Park on 20 December decrypted a German radio message saying that ’Armee Manteuffel’ was making good advance, the comment was added that this could be ’an indication that Manteuffel may again be with his former command. 5 Pz Army and the Gruppe named after him [apparently Gruppe von Manteuffel, the code name the Germans—obviously with quite good effect—had assigned to the 15. Armee during the preparations for the Ardennes Offensive; see page 45] may have ceased to exist.’193

Hodges also seemed to be worn down. This at least was the impression Field Marshal Montgomery got when he visited him at his headquarters on the following day.194 Even the Allied Supreme Commander Eisenhower expressed great anxiety. On 20 December he sent an officer’s delegation under Major General Ray Barker, deputy chief of staff in the SHAEF, to the USA with an urgent request for further reinforcements in troops and materiel. This was the message that Eisenhower forwarded to the War Department in Washington: ’Unless we are supported more strongly, we might lose the war!’195


MONTGOMERY MAKES HIS ENTRANCE

After the near annihilation of U.S. 106th Infantry Division and the collapse of the 28th Infantry Division’s positions east of Bastogne, the situation looked grim to the Americans. When the Supreme Commander Eisenhower summoned the American generals for the conference in Verdun on 19 December (see page 274), he was glad that he could not see any signs of panic among those gathered.1 But the briefing of the situation delivered at the conference by Major General Strong, intelligence officer at the SHAEF, was, as the Third Army commander, Lieutenant General Patton put it, ’far from happy.’2 Quite symptomatically, the First Army’s commander, Hodges, did not attend the conference in Verdun because of his headquarters’ almost headlong evacuation for fear of being overrun by the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper. This had made a two-mile deep inroad on the Ardennes Front’s northern flank in just two days.

Meanwhile, Field Marshal Bernard Law Montgomery, commander of the British-Canadian 21 Army Group, studied the map. He noticed that the German breakthrough was about to cut General Bradley’s U.S. 12th Army Group in half: While the VIII Corps on the American First Army’s southern flank appeared to be pushed to the southwest, other parts of the First Army were pushed due north, towards the positions held by U.S. Ninth Army. It was clear to Montgomery that if the Americans would not be able to prevent the Germans from crossing River Meuse, his own army group would soon find itself exposed to a serious threat. In that case, Montgomery’s forces and the American forces that had been pushed northward needed to cooperate closely, which presupposed a unified command. But to be on time to defuse such a situation, he opined, the most rational thing to do was to establish such a unified command immediately. To Montgomery, it was natural that he take this unified command.

He summoned Major General John Whiteley, operations officer at the SHAEF headquarters, and suggested that he himself would assume command of the northern U.S. forces, which he felt Bradley would find it hard to lead.

Whiteley agreed with the logic of Montgomery’s proposals, and along with Major General Strong, the SHAEF intelligence officer, he visited the SHAEF’s American chief of staff, General Walter Bedell Smith, to discuss the matter that same evening. At first, Smith reacted against the the proposal, calling it a product of ’a damned British staff officer.’3 Whiteley not only had the cultural divisions between the Old World and the New World against him, but also the reluctance that many felt toward the eccentric and often arrogant Montgomery.

But Strong soon understood the organizational logic and called Eisenhower to forward the proposal. Eisenhower replied that he would answer the next morning. Shortly afterwards, the British Prime Minister Churchill phoned Eisenhower to discuss the matter.

When Eisenhower woke up the next morning, he took out a map of the combat zone and with a thick crayon he drew a straight line from Givet on the Franco-Belgian border, due east, across Luxembourg’s northernmost tip, to the German town of Prum. All U.S. forces north of that line—of the First and Ninth armies—were to be placed under Montgomery’s command until the crisis in the Ardennes was settled. Sankt Vith, Malmedy, Marche, and Dinant ended up north of the line. Eventually the area between Dinant and Rochefort also was transferred to Montgomery’s ’zone.’ This meant that Bradley would be deprived of the control of about half of his forces.

Eisenhower was aware that this was a sensitive issue. He had Bedell Smith convey the matter to Bradley. As expected, his first reaction was a complete shock. Bradley at first regarded it as a sign of panic in the SHAEF, but, like Bedell Smith, he ultimately allowed himself to be persuaded that after all it was a sensible decision.

At the same time, the two Tactical Air commands in the 9th Air Force responsible for the direct air support of U.S. First and Ninth armies—IX TAC and XXIX TAC under major generals Quesada and Nugent—were placed under the command of British 2nd Tactical Air Force. However, three of the six Fighter groups of the IX TAC simultaneously were shifted to the XIX TAC, which supported Patton’s Third Army—which also took over the First Army’s VIII Corps. British 2nd TAF was commanded by Air Chief Marshal Arthur Coningham, who in the position of supreme commander of the Allied air force that supported British 8th Army in North Africa had developed advanced and highly effective methods of direct air support—methods that the USAAF reluctantly but successfully had adopted.

The ratings in the postwar depictions of Montgomery in the Ardennes range from the eulogies of certain biographies to a purely scornful dismissal of his accomplishments. The depiction of Montgomery is confined to anecdotes about his person in quite a few accounts of the Ardennes Battle. Thus, it is not uncommon to read that Bradley after the war called the concession to Montgomery’s wish to command U.S. forces ’one of my biggest mistakes of the war.’ Similarly, it is often said that the news that Hodges’ U.S. First Army and Simpson’s U.S. Ninth Army would be subordinated to the British field marshal created an ’undercurrent of dissatisfaction’ at the Palace Hôtel in Chaudfontaine, where the First Army staff settled down after the evacuation. At noon on 20 December, Montgomery arrived at this headquarters, accompanied by his chief of staff, Major General ’Freddie’ de Guingand. An accompanying British staff officer felt that it was as if the field marshal strode into Hodges’ headquarters ’like Jesus who came to clear the temple.’ This story has been propagated in several books and articles. Furthermore, it is narrated that Montgomery then insulted the Americans (probably unintentionally) by turning down an invitation to join them at lunch, and instead sat down, as he used to when he was not in his own headquarters, and had a sandwich and drank coffee from a thermos.

Montgomery himself found the American front sector to be in quite a bad shape. He felt that Hodges seemed worn and tired, and in a report on the state of the First Army’s headquarters he wrote that there definitely was a lack of control over the situation, and that ’no one’ had ’any clear idea of the situation.’

He also felt that the northern part of the indentation of the Ardennes Front was extremely disorganized. He was critical of the fact that U.S. Ninth Army had two corps and three divisions, whereas U.S. First Army had three corps and fifteen divisions. After the war, Montgomery said that at that stage, none of the commanders of the various U.S. armies had met Bradley or any of the higher officers from Bradley’s staff, and that they therefore had no instructions regarding the battle plan.4








[image: images]

Field Marshal Mongomery (left), Lieutenant General Omar Bradley, and (right) Lieutenant General William Simpson, the commander of U.S. Ninth Army. (NARA, SC 197799/Miller)








Certainly Montgomery had a rather special personality, and his way of life was like a red rag to conservative American generals. An objective military analysis, however, shows that his strategic decisions helped to save the day for the Allies.

Hence, during his visit at Chaudfontaine on 20 December 1944, Montgomery instructed Hodges to shift Major General ’Lightning Joe’ Collins’ U.S. VII Corps from the Roer area to the Meuse sector in front of German 5. Panzerarmee. In Montgomery’s eyes, Collins—who had commanded the American forces during the battle against the Japanese at Guadalcanal in 1942-1943 with great success—was the best general available on the American side. He stressed that he would not consider any other American commander than Collins. Montgomery also decided to assemble his British XXX Corps, also under a very capable commander, to the west of Collins’ corps on the Meuse Front.

Previously it had been decided that U.S. 75th and 84th Infantry divisions would be subordinated to the VII Corps, and Hodges liked the idea that Collins would be despatched against the German offensive. But Hodges wanted the VII Corps to be used for a counter-attack against the Germans at Sankt Vith. This section, where a horseshoe-shaped pocket was being formed with strong German forces on three sides, became a bone of contention between Montgomery and Hodges. Montgomery demanded the immediate evacuation of this hazardous wedge, and Hodges and some of his subordinate U.S. commanders did their best to procrastinate this. In their opinion, it was absolutely inappropriate for a British field marshal to order Americans to give up territory that had been defended with American blood.

But Montgomery refused to budge. He believed—and was proved to be completely correct—that the Germans were just too strong at Sankt Vith. He stood by that Collins’ corps should be transferred to the Marche area south of River Meuse, in order to strike at the Germans when their supply lines had become stretched out. This was a strategy he had learned in North Africa, where he defeated the German Africa Corps.

Next, Montgomery turned to Lieutenant General Simpson, commander of U.S. Ninth Army, which also had its headquarters located to Chaudfontaine, and asked him to transfer his powerful 2nd Armored Division ’Hell on Wheels’ to Collins’ VII Corps at the Meuse.

Although many American generals expressed strong negative viewpoints on Montgomery, he made a very good impression on Americans under his command in the Ardennes. One of them was Brigadier General Bruce Clarke, a highly experienced armor commander who led Combat Command A, 4th Armored Division during Patton’s ’sweep’ through France, and then, during the Ardennes Battle, Combat Command B of U.S. 7th Armored Division. In Clarke’s opinion, Montgomery was ’magnificent,’ and he described him as ’the complete master of the situation. He was calm and relaxed and refused to be shaken by the enormity of the problem with which he was confronted. Contrary to the practice of some U.S. commanders, Montgomery believed men would fight better and accomplish more if they were given an opportunity to rest and refit. He would keep a unit in combat for three days and then pull it out for a day. The men in these units were far more effective than those who were kept constantly in the line. It was a practice, however, that galled many of Montgomery’s associates.’5

According to Clarke, the troops of the 7th Armored Division, which on 20 December 1944 was placed under Montgomery’s command, felt great confidence in the British field marshal: ’They sensed that he exercised integrity, courage and common sense in the crucial days of this bitter battle.’6

1 Eisenhower, Crusade in Europe, p. 350.

2 Fox, Pattons Vanguard: The United States Army Fourth Armored Division, p. 300.

3 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, Hitlers Last Gamble, p. 143.

4 Montgomery, The Memoirs of Field-Marshal the Viscount Montgomery of Alamein, K.G, p. 308.

5 The Bulge Bugle, Volume XIII, No. 1, February 1994. www.veteransofthebattleofthebulge.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/1994-Feb.pdf. 17 April 2014.

6 Ibid.
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This Sherman has in vain tried to take cover between two houses. (National Museum of Military history, Diekirch)







THE BATTLE OF SANKT VITH

Demoralization spread from top to bottom in U.S. First Army. Over the course of 19 December, the frightened and partly leaderless American soldiers that retreated into Bastogne triggered a mass exodus of civilians from the town. People had begun to leave the town on the day before, but now such large numbers of refugees filled the roads that the military transports became severely disrupted. Scenes reminiscent of the gloomy days of May 1940, when half the Belgian population fled to avoid the German Blitzkrieg, occurred on the roads out of the little town. These refugees in turn frightened even more people farther to the west, and it is estimated that no less than 200,000 civilian Belgians and Luxembourgers fled the fighting.196

Meanwhile, the surrounded U.S. 106th Infantry Division on the northern flank approached its final destiny. The divisional commander, Major General Jones, who had decided to concentrate the considerable reinforcements he had received to the defense of Sankt Vith, where his headquarters was located, had nothing to offer his surrounded men than the following orders:

’Attack Schönberg; do maximum damage to enemy there; then attack toward Sankt Vith. This mission is ’of gravest importance to the nation. Good luck!’197

Jones himself had new reason to worry when German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division crossed the Our at Steinebrück, four miles southeast of Sankt Vith.

By this time the commanders of the two surrounded U.S. regiments, Colonel Descheneaux of the 422nd and Colonel Cavender of the 423rd, had given up all hope. When he received the orders from Jones, ’Colonel Descheneaux bowed his head and almost sobbed: “My poor men—they’ll be cut to pieces”’198 Cavender found the passage of gravest importance to the nation’ to be insulting. None of them were aware of the fact that their own forces were three times larger than the German units that barely held them surrounded. Generalmajor Hoffmann-Schönborn had left the task of annihilating the ’American cauldron’ to his chief of operations, Oberstleutnant Dietrich Moll—who had grenadier regiments 293 and 295, plus a small battalion of former Russian POWs that had volunteered to fight on the German side, at his disposal. Moll characterized the American passivity as ’totally incomprehensive.’ He continued, ’The enemy really showed no activity at all. He neither disturbed us by attacking our advancing regiments, or carried out any larger troop movements. We didn’t either see much battle activity in the rear area.’199

The impression persisted that the inexperienced Americans seemed to have become almost totally paralyzed when they discovered that there was no support available. The Air Force seemed to have let them down—not only was there almost no tactical air support, Cavender’s and Descheneaux’s requests for air-dropped supplies seemed to fall on deaf ears. Indeed, the Americans had a large number of twin-engine Douglas C-47 Skytrain transport aircraft, but ’air force bureaucracy had grounded the C-47s. A second mission was requested. This time the C-47s landed at a field in Belgium, but no fighter protection was available and no map coordinates for the scheduled drop were provided. Once again, the mission was scrubbed.’200

Weather on 18 December still was too bad to allow efficient operations by the Tactical Air Force, and the Luftwaffe remained very active, forcing most fighter-bombers to jettison their bombs just as on the previous day. All in all, the German fighter force carried out 849 sorties while U.S. 9th Air Force despatched 500 fighter-bombers and 165 medium bombers. In a repetition of the previous day’s bitter air fighting, the Germans lost fifty-nine fighters and recorded twenty-six enemy aircraft shot down.201 On 19 December, the weather deteriorated further: an overcast covered the whole area, and a heavy sleet made it almost impossible to carry out any flights at all.

Devoid of any air support, their ammunition running low, and with empty bellies, the Americans conducted the counter-attack as demanded by Major General Jones against Schönberg on 19 December. Oberstleutnant Moll’s troops were waiting for them with assault guns that mowed down the U.S. ranks. Then the Germans attacked. This caused the resistance of the surrounded men to collapse. Staff Sergeant Richard McKee from ‘A’ Company, 1st Battalion, 422nd Infantry Regiment, recalls:

We ran back. I only had enough time to jump on the last jeep in the convoy. It was panic, pure and simple, no withdrawal. We were running for our lives. As we entered Schönberg the lead jeep hit a land mine and blew up. The CO [Lieutenant Colonel William Craig, commander of the 1st Battalion] was killed. All the vehicles stopped. It was around 9 a.m. and one of the officers holding a white flag told us to destroy our guns, other equipment and surrender. We couldn’t believe it. We were not under fire and we could not see any Germans. Everyone was told to get rid of family pictures, money, billfolds and knives. Keep only your dog-tags, blankets, canteen. Around 10.30 a.m. the Germans came up and took over. They were like a bunch of kids with new toys, trying to start the trucks and going through them. Our captors told us to get rid of our helmets and put our hands on top of our heads. They took our watches and anything else they wanted. They told us that if anyone attempted to escape they would shoot everyone. The war was over for me.202

Among the American soldiers who had been scattered after the failed assault on Schönberg, the Germans took three thousand prisoners on the morning of 19 December. The Germans continued to mop up the Americans in the wooded area, which was subject to a furious artillery fire. ’My God,’ Descheneaux exclaimed, ’we’re being slaughtered … I’m going to save the lives of as many men as I can, and I don’t care if I’m court-martialled.’203 At 1430 hrs, he surrendered with the men of his 422nd Infantry Regiment. Sergeant Leo Leisse of the Regiment’s 2nd Battalion remembers:

’We had begun to retreat, some of the men in frightful disorder, towards the wooden area when the next order came to “Stand fast.” A bit later we got another order from the Colonel to destroy our weapons. We threw them into the creek and broke our rifles over the rocks.’

At 1600 hrs, Colonel Cavender, unaware of the fact that his neighboring regiment had surrendered, decided to surrender with his 423rd Infantry Regiment.

One of the German soldiers, Leutnant Behmen of Artillerie-Regiment 1818, wrote down his impressions of 19 December 1944 in his diary:

’Endless columns of prisoners pass; at first, about a hundred, later another thousand. Our car gets stuck on the road. I get out and walk. Generalfeldmarshall Model himself directs traffic. (He’s a little, undistinguished looking man with a monococle.) Now the thing is going. The roads are littered with destroyed American vehicles, cars and tanks. Another column of prisoners passes. I count over a thousand men. In Andler there is a column of 1,500 men with about 50 officers, and a lieutenant colonel who had asked to surrender.’204

As so often is the case when it comes to American losses in the Ardennes Battle, U.S. sources fail to give any conclusive information regarding losses in the battle of annihilation east of the Our. According to a report issued by the Information Section, Analysis Branch, Hq Army Ground Forces in Washington, the 106th Infantry Division lost a total of 8,663 men, including more than 7,000 recorded as missing in action.205 But this appears to be a too low figure, not least in view of the fact that the Division had mustered more than 18,000 men on the morning of 16 December, and after the surrender east of the Our the 106th Infantry Division was regarded as more or less ceased to exist—all that remained were the tattered remnants of the 424th Infantry Regiment and the poor remainder of some support units that had managed to cross the river and run westwards. To the 106th Infantry Division’s losses should be added those inflicted on other U.S. units that had been caught in the ‘cauldron’: Elements of the 589th and 590th Field Artillery battalions, the 820th Tank Destroyer Battalion, the 634th Antiaircraft Automatic Weapons Battalion, the 18th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron, the 81st Engineer Battalion, and the 331st Medical Battalion.206

In what is usually regarded as the main U.S. work of reference on the Battle of the Bulge, American military historian Hugh M. Cole wrote that ’the number of officers and men taken prisoner on the capitulation of the two regiments and their attached troops cannot be accurately ascertained. At least seven thousand were lost here and the figure probably is closer to eight or nine thousand.’207 Once again it might be that the figures issued by the Germans—who after all were those who registered the POWs—are the most reliable ones. According to the Germans, 10,000 Americans surrendered east of the Our.208

By now, the U.S. tactic of stubbornly trying to hold permanent lines seemed to provide the Germans with a chance of enveloping another large American force, the one at Sankt Vith. But at the same time, the U.S. positions from Sankt Vith and southwards constituted an important ’breakwater’ because they cut several main roads that connected Germany with the 5. Panzerarmee’s area of operations around Bastogne. Thus the Germans were confined to a single paved road—the one that ran from Dasburg, through Clervaux and into Belgium—to supply the 5. Panzerarmee’s two panzerkorps.
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A column of captured American soldiers in Ardennes on 18 December 1944. The exact number of American soldiers that were captured when the 106th Infantry Division surrendered, is not known, but the Germans counted 10,000 prisoners. American sources indicate slightly lower numbers. (BArch, Bild 183-J28589/Büschel)





Lieutenant General Hodges, C-in-C of U.S. First Army, openly defied Field Marshal Montgomery—his superior since 20 December (see sidebar)—by refusing to comply with the British field marshal’s calls to withdraw the troops from the exposed wedge at Sankt Vith. This now became increasingly threatened by the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s advance in the north. Since 18 December, the I. SS-Panzerkorps stood in the area Ligneuville - Stavelot, between ten and twelve miles northwest of Sankt Vith. In Rech, just five miles north-northwest of Sankt Vith, stood SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen—albeit temporarily halted by fuel shortages.

Twenty-two miles southwest of Sankt Vith, Houffalize was captured on 19 December by the 5. Panzerarmee’s 116. Panzer Division, which continued to advance towards the northwest—against Hotton, twenty-five miles straight to the west of Sankt Vith. Close after this armored division followed the infantry of the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division, whose Kampfgruppe Schumann (Volksgrenadier Regiment 1130) on 19 December was less than ten miles southwest of Sankt Vith. Thus, the American lines on both sides of Sankt Vith formed a twelve-mile deep horseshoe-shaped wedge with enemy forces both in the north and in the south, and perhaps soon also in the west.

As we have seen, on 17 December, the commander of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, Sepp Dietrich, had ordered the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ to the front section north of Sankt Vith, with the task of taking over SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen’s planned march to Vielsalm on River Salm, west of Sankt Vith. It was the Americans’ good fortune that this division also had major problems in reaching the front on the narrow and jammed roads in the east.

In order to hold the whole Sankt Vith wedge, Brigadier General Bruce Clarke, the commander of the 7th Armored Division’s Combat Command B—assigned with the task to defend this sector—had to divide the powerful force that had arrived to defend the town. He handed over the direct command of his own Combat Command B to Lieutenant Colonel William H. G. Fuller, the 38th Armored Infantry Battalion’s well-versed commander who had been awarded the Silver Star for his accomplishments during the fighting in the Netherlands in October 1944. Thus the command of the direct defense of the town of Sankt Vith also was handed over to Fuller. Since German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division on 19 December crossed the Our at Steinebrück, four miles farther southeast, and from that place advanced towards Sankt Vith, it became necessary to deploy a strong force to the south of the town—the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command B, with the remnants of the 106th Infantry Division’s 424th Infantry Regiment and the 28th Infantry Division’s 112th Infantry Regiment on its right flank. These units held a six-mile wide front between Sankt Vith and the road junction at Oudler in the south.

In the northwest, Clarke positioned the remnants of the 7th Armored Division’s Combat Command A at the previously disputed village of Poteau, and the depleted tank battalion that remained of Combat Command Reserve went into position at Vielsalm, a good three miles farther to the southwest. In the rear area, a new battle group, Task Force Jones, was formed under the commander of the 814th Tank Destroyer Battalion, Lieutenant Colonel Robert B. Jones. This consisted of hastily pulled together units—mainly from the 7th Armored Division’s Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve, with the 17th Tank Battalion and the 440th AAA AW Battalion as the most powerful units, but also single platoons from e.g. the 112th Infantry Regiment.

The core of Task Force Jones was a small force under the command of Lieutenant Colonel Robert O. Stone, C.O. of the 440th AAA AW Battalion (Anti-Aircraft Artillery-Automatic Weapons). On 17 December, the AAA battalion’s Headquarters Battery and a tank platoon from ’D’ Company, 40th Tank Battalion received instructions to take up positions at Gouvy—a small town with a couple of thousand inhabitants and a station on the railroad between Sankt Vith and Bastogne, surrounded by wide open fields, about ten miles southwest of Sankt Vith.209 Lieutenant Colonel Stone found two hundred and fifty men from various support and staff units in Gouvy, in addition to about seven hundred and fifty caged German POWs.210

Already on the next day the first German troops reached Gouvy from the south. First to arrive were three German tanks which shot up three or four of the American vehicles.211 But Stone would not budge. ’By God, the others may run, but I’m staying here and will hold at all costs!’ he said, and organized the support and staff units to the defense of the town. They managed to hold out until other elements of Task Force Jones arrived on 20 December. By that time, the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Kampfgruppe Schumann also had reached the area, following a long march from the east. But after the bloodletting that this unit sustained during the first day of the offensive, Schumann could muster no more than five hundred and fifty men.212 Task Force Jones was able to repel the attack without any great difficulty.

The Germans fared no better when their still relatively limited forces were launched against Sankt Vith on 19 December. This little town with its 2,800 mostly German-speaking inhabitants is located about six miles inside Belgium from the German border, but in 1940 it had been incorporated into the German Reich. A U.S. soldier from the 7th Armored Division wrote in a letter to his wife, ’This was old Germany or new Belgium. These people were German. On the walls there were pictures of husbands, brothers, and sons, all in the uniform of the German army. It was fear more than hospitality that caused them to bring out bread, jam, and jellies, and to sit up all night making coffee for us.’213 The Americans had noticed the town’s proGerman character already when they marched into Sankt Vith in September 1944, and none of the town’s residents were on the streets to welcome them, unlike the joyous scenes that were seen in other Belgian cities farther west. According to U.S. accounts, there even were instances during the final battle in December 1944 when residents of Sankt Vith opened fire on U.S. troops on the streets below from residential buildings in the town.214
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20 December 1944. Soldiers of a U.S. tank destroyer battalion who lost their vehicles during the retreat have hastily dug fox holes to meet the German attack. 
(NARA, Signal Corps Photo ETO-44-30382/Carolan)





Generalmajor Günther Hoffmann-Schönborn, the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s C.O. who had been assigned to command all the German forces in the Sankt Vith section, received instructions that Sankt Vith must be taken on 19 December, ’at any cost.’ He was told that this was absolutely crucial if the offensive was to continue at all—not just in this section, but also for the rest of the 5. Panzerarmee farther south, where access to the paved roads that ran through Sankt Vith and southwards was badly needed. But that was easier said than done. Although the encircled U.S. troops east of the Our surrendered on this day, a large part of Hoffmann-Schönborn’s division still remained east of the Our in order to handle the mass surrender. Additionally, the troops that attacked Sankt Vith on 19 December barely had any artillery support.215 Nor could Hoffmann-Schönborn hope much from the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen,’ since only its armored reconnaissance battalion, SS-Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 9, had reached the front by this time. Still, this battalion was launched towards Poteau on the morning of 19 December, in an attempt to cut off Sankt Vith from the west. But it was a futile attempt. The more powerful force of Combat Command A, 7th Armored Division not only repulsed the attack, but also improved its own positions by ousting SS-Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 9 from the forest to the east of Poteau.216
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German soldiers attack in the vicinity of Sankt Vith in December 1944. (NARA, III-SC-341644)





In the evening on 19 December, a dejected Hoffmann-Schönborn reported, ’The 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s attack on Sankt Vith encounters superior enemy forces. Heavy own losses.’217 The Führer Begleit Brigade, which had started to arrive at the front section northeast of Sankt Vith on the previous day, still had not been able to assemble a sufficient force. Its commander, Oberst Otto Remer, reported that the attack was repulsed by American artillery fire.218

Realizing that the possibility to cut off and annihilate the Americans in Sankt Vith was about to slip out of his hands, Model decided on 19 December to deploy even the second armored division in the 6. SS Panzerarmee’s reserve, the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich.’ This division probably was the best among the Waffen-SS divisions that Hitler employed for the Ardennes Offensive. Although the ’Das Reich’ Division was renowned for the massacre in the French village of Oradour in June 1944, it also had an impressive military track record. Having produced quite mediocre results at the beginning of the war, the division learned many valuable lessons during the fighting on the Eastern Front, and when it was shifted to Normandy in June 1944, it could be regarded as an élite unit. By 16 December 1944, the material losses inflicted on the division in Normandy had been replaced, so that it had ninety-two tanks, twenty-eight StuG IIIs, and twenty Jagdpanzer IVs on hand.219 Although many of its recruits were inadequately trained, this was, according to SS-Obersturmbannführer Günther Wiscliceny, one of the division’s battalion commanders during the the Ardennes Battle, offset by ’the totally self-sacrificing attitude of all the officers and NCOs.’220

After the war, the divisional commander, SS-Brigadeführer Heinz Lammerding—famous for his many anti-partisan operations—was convicted in absentia by a French court to death for the massacre at Oradour, but he never was extradited from West Germany.

To avoid getting stuck in the same traffic jam as the 9. SS-Panzer-Division, the ’Das Reich’ Division was ordered on 20 December to turn south and assemble south of the U.S. wedge at Sankt Vith. The aim was to seal off the American forces in interaction with the ’Hohenstaufen’ Division in the north. The movement of this entire armored division along fifty miles of roads in winter conditions, however, resulted in considerable delays. In fact, the ’Das Reich’ Division needed two full days to complete this march. It could not establish battle positions at Reuland, opposite the U.S. strongpoint at Oudler, six miles south of Sankt Vith, until 22 December.

Meanwhile both sides reinforced their positions at Sankt Vith. On 19 December, U.S. 82nd Airborne Division began to arrive to establish a rear line at River Salm, about nine miles west of Sankt Vith. On 20 December, Major General Matthew B. Ridgway, commanding the American XVIII Airborne Corps, was appointed supreme commander of the U.S. forces in the sector between rivers Amblève and Ourthe—in other words against both the I. SS-Panzerkorps and the 5. Panzerarmee’s northern flank.* Forty-nine-year-old Ridgway has been described as a stalwart soldier. He acted with absolute toughness and did not hesitate to criticize soldiers for cowardice or to dismiss commanders who he considered useless. This true fighter was an if possible even stronger opponent than Hodges to Montgomery’s plan to evacuate the Sankt Vith wedge.

On the German side, Hoffmann-Schönborn requested air operations against the American artillery positions west and northwest of Sankt Vith ahead of the planned attack on 20 December.221 Deteriorating weather allowed no such German air support to be carried out, but because of the rapid collapse of the American troops east of the Our, the bulk of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, as well as considerable amounts of artillery, were able to march up in front of Sankt Vith during the course of 20 December. In order not to waste resources on another attack against an overwhelmingly superior enemy, Hoffmann-Schönborn decided to hold back his troops on 20 December. Meanwhile, he ordered the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division to detail its Grenadier-Regiment 183 to support the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, while the division’s other two regiments were to attack the American flank immediately south of the town.

The 62. Volksgrenadier-Division attacked on the night of 21 December. Grenadier-Regiment 183 met an unexpectedly great success: without encountering any major resistance it succeeded in capturing advantageous positions at Breitfeld a few miles southeast of Sankt Vith. On the division’s southern flank, two miles farther to the south, Grenadier-Regiment 164 overpowered an advance force of Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division, which lost three tank destroyers. Here the Germans used three captured Soviet tractors to tow their artillery. After the war, the German regimental commander, Oberst Arthur Jüttner, learned that the noise from the engines of these had led the Americans to believe that they were subject to an armored attack.222 But Grenadier-Regiment 164 soon was halted, to the east of the Grüfflingen (Grufflange), and the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division’s center regiment was repulsed by U.S. 7th Armored Division’s Combat Command B already in their jump-off positions. These attacks nevertheless prevented the Americans from reinforcing the defense of the town of Sankt Vith before Generalmajor Hoffmann-Schönborn launched his attack.


U.S. SOLDIERS FROM THE ARDENNES IN GERMAN CONCENTRATION CAMP

Among the soldiers of the 106th Infantry Division that fell into German captivity was the aspiring author Kurt Vonnegut. He served as a private in the 423rd Infantry Regiment, and was a prisoner of war in Dresden when the city was subjected to the devastating bomb raid on 13-14 February 1945. What Vonnegut experienced here would become the starting point for his partly autobiographical book Slaughterhouse Five.

The German treatment of prisoners of war during World War II varied considerably and was primarily based on Nazi ideas of ’race’ and ’nation.’ Of the 5.7 million Soviet soldiers in German captivity, about 3.3 million perished, i.e. 57 percent. Western Allied POWs were affected, particularly towards the end of the war, by the difficult supply situation in Germany, but with some notable exceptions they were treated more or less in accordance with the Geneva Convention. Among the 93,941 registered American prisoners of war in Germany during World War II, the mortality rate until the war ended was about one percent.1

But among one category of prisoners of war that were captured during the first days of the Ardennes Offensive, and interned at POW Camp Stalag IX-B, mortality was as high as 20 percent. On 18 January 1945, the German Camp Command at Stalag IX-B demanded that all Jewish prisoners of war presented themselves. These were placed in a separate barracks surrounded with barbed wire—a kind of ’ghetto’ in the POW Camp—and received smaller rations and less fuel for the stove than the other POWs.2

In February 1945, these Jewish POWs, plus a number of other American POWs that the Germans believed had Jewish names, and some branded as ’troublemakers’—in total 350 men—were transported to the Concentration Camp Berga. Located about thirty-five miles south of Leipzig, this slave labor camp had been established to house concentration camp prisoners that would be put to work to construct tunnels where a part of the German production of synthetic fuels would be located. The majority of the slave workers in Berga consisted of Jews and political prisoners from the Concentration Camp Buchenwald.

The American POWs who ended up in Berga, were subjected to the same inhumane treatment as the rest of the Concentration Camp inmates. They were forced to a daily twelve hours of hard labor under extremely dangerous conditions, exposed to the guards’ brutal treatment, and on a starvation diet. Of the 350 American POWs deported to Berga, 73 died, more than one in five, in just two months.3

1 National Archives and Records Administration: Statistical and Accounting Branch Offi ce of the Adjutant General. Army Battle Casualties and Nonbattle Deaths in World War II. Final Report, 7 December 1941 - 31 December 1946. Department of the Army, p. 5.

2 Whitlock, Given Up for Dead: American GI’s in the Nazi Concentration Camp at Berga, p. 121.

3 Cohen, Soldiers and Slaves: American POWs Trapped by the Nazis’ Final Gamble, p. 272.



The final assault against Sankt Vith began at three in the afternoon on 21 December with an artillery and Nebelwerfer fire that was described by an American narrative as ’one of the heaviest and longest-sustained barrages the veteran American combat command had ever encountered.’223 Hans Poth, who participated in the assault of Sankt Vith as a soldier in the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, remembers how the volleys of the feared Nebelwerfer rocket batteries came howling straight over the heads of the German soldiers, who trembled with fear even though the rockets were not intended for them.
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A column of German soldiers with Panzerfaust anti-tank weapons are advancing towards Sankt Vith. These Panzerfausts took a terrible toll among U.S. 7th Armored Division’s tanks during the final battle of Sankt Vith. (BArch, Bild 146-1985-129-16)





The bombardment continued for a full hour. Then the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division attacked. The Germans had the tactical advantage of attacking in the twilight, with the U.S. defense positions lit up by the flames from the raging fires that had been caused by the shelling of the town. Moreover, the Germans also came downhill from the heights just east of Sankt Vith.

’The Americans formed a defense belt with their tanks along the outskirts of the village,’ recalls Hans Poth. ’The tanks were positioned behind an earthen wall, exposing only the turrets that raked the wall. We circumvented the wall on the right side, which allowed us to attack them from the side and rear. Individual soldiers with Panzerfausts were able to destroy as many as five tanks. Additional tanks that were destroyed stood in the road. Looking into the tanks from above down through the cupola revealed a horrific sight.’224

On one occasion, five Shermans from U.S. 31st Tank Battalion came clanking up the hill that leads out of the town in order to encounter the German infantry. They were confronted by six StuG IIIs from Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 244. The Germans fired flares that illuminated the American tanks, and in rapid succession they set all Shermans burning. Next the StuG IIIs fell upon the American infantry positions.

Since the German artillery fire had severed all telephone lines to the 38th Armored Infantry Battalion’s headquarters—where the battalion commander, Lieutenant Colonel William Fuller, had been assigned with the command of the town’s defense—Major Donald S. Boyer, Fuller’s operations officer, tried to organize the defense from his advanced position. At 1735 hrs, Boyer received a phone call from Lieutenant John Higgins of ’B’ Company, who yelled into the phone, ’My god, my men are being slaughtered! Where the hell are the tank destroyers?’225 Boyer desperately phoned another of the Battalion’s officers and asked him to ’tell Colonel Fuller if we don’t get some TD support damn fast those Jerry tanks will get through!’226 But all Boyer could do was to helplessly witness the catastrophe. Fuller had left his headquarters, telling the commander of the 81st Engineers, Lieutenant Colonel Thomas J. Riggs to take over, and departed to Brigadier General Clarke’s headquarters, where he told Clarke ‘he couldn’t take it any more.’227 While the medics in Clarke’s headquarters evacuated Fuller as a sick case, the U.S. forces at Sankt Vith collapsed.*

In his forward position, Major Boyer received a phone call from the commander of the 2nd Platoon, ‘B’ Company, Second Lieutenant Morphis A. Jamiel. ’Don,’ Jamiel said as calmly as he could, ‘I need help fast! That tank section from Company A that’s supposed to be covering the Schönberg road, they’re either knocked out or pulled out. Two Panthers are going up and down my foxholes!’228 When Jamiel called again a while later, he sounded different—this time he was so upset that Boyer barely could hear what he said, ’God damn it, they’ve got two more tanks here on the crest! They’re blasting my men out of their holes one by one. The same thing is happening on the other side of the road. Damn it, Don, can’t you do something to stop them? Please!’ Boyer heard three explosions in the phone, and then Jamiel’s cry: ’One of the tanks is on the other side of my house! We’re getting the hell out of here!’229
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Two Panzer IV tanks advance through the slush. (BArch, Bild 101I-708-0299-01/Scheerer)





Of the men who had been under Lieutenant Colonel Fuller’s command in Sankt Vith, only a few hundred managed to escape, half of whom were wounded. The rest were killed or became German prisoners. Among the latter was Lieutenant Colonel Riggs. The rapidity with which Sankt Vith was captured is illustrated by the fact that Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt—who of course was kept continuously informed of the developments at the front—at 1930 hrs on 21 December demanded that St. Vith ’urgently’ had to be seized, and merely two hours later the battle was over. When the German troops advanced into the town, they were welcomed by some inhabitants, and previously hidden swastika flags hung from many windows.230

But while the Wehrmacht forces were in the process of completing the conquest of Sankt Vith, both of the SS divisions that had been brought in failed in their mission to block the retreat of the defeated U.S. forces. A crucial mistake on the German side was that the SS split up their forces.

The additional elements of the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’—II. Abteilung of SS-Panzer-Regiment 9, and II. Abteilung of SS-Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 9—that arrived at the front in the north on 21 December, were almost immediately hurled into a new effort to seize Poteau. Combat Command A of U.S. 7th Armored Division, which had established positions at this place, was instructed by divisional commander Hasbrouck to hold Poteau ’at any cost.’ Hasbrouck also had instructed the commander of Combat Command A to deploy his troops along the road from Poteau to Recht.231 Since the road outside of Poteau still was littered with the American combat vehicles that SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen had destroyed a few days earlier, the SS division’s Panzer IV tanks and tank destroyers slowly crawled across the marshy fields on both sides of the road. There they were subjected to a devastating fire from the flank and had to pull back after sustaining heavy losses.232

Another attempt to cut off the American forces was made by the ’Hohenstaufen’ Division’s SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 19, which also reached the front area on 21 December. But instead of supporting the attack against Poteau, this regiment was ordered to continue another three miles westwards, to the sector south of Stavelot, where it was to attack southwards against Grand-Halleux on River Salm. The aim was to cross the Salm and attack Vielsalm—a few miles farther south and six miles west of Sankt Vith—from the western side of the river. This SS Regiment began its assault on the evening of 21 December, but by that time the U.S. 82nd Airborne Division had arrived at the Salm. Its 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment was unable to prevent the ’Hohenstaufen’ panzer grenadiers from capturing the eastern part of Grand-Halleux, but by blowing up the bridge over the river and getting entrenched on the opposite side, the airborne troops averted an immediate German advance into the rear of the quite substantial U.S. forces that still remained north and south of Sankt Vith.

The other SS division to be deployed in the Battle of the Sankt Vith Wedge, the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich,’ failed to arrive in time. As we have seen, this division had been ordered south to encircle the Americans. Over the course of 21 December it began to assemble in the area south of the Sankt Vith Wedge. Initially the Americans noticed nothing. But to assemble the whole SS division at Burg Reuland, six miles south of Sankt Vith, took quite some time, and once this was completed, the whole situation had changed: By now, the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division had reached not only Gouvy but also Cherain, another three miles to the west. Hence, the 2. SS-Panzer-Division was ordered to the former place, from where it was to seal off the U.S. forces at Sankt Vith. But thus the Germans lost their element of surprise. During the long march to Gouvy, a sapper from the 2. SS-Panzer-Division was captured by the Americans. The news that the 2. SS-Panzer-Division had arrived at the sector south of the Sankt Vith Wedge compelled Ridgway, the C.O. of U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps, to order the withdrawal of the most endangered units—the 112th and 424th Infantry regiments on the Wedge’s southeastern flank. Task Force Jones was tasked to secure the withdrawal of these units from Beho (three miles northeast of the Gouvy) to Bovigny, four miles to the west; the order was to hold this position ’like grim death.’233

However, Ridgway—called ’the Lion’ by his men—regarded the order to withdraw as nothing but an exception. ’Wars are won not by giving up terrain, but by conquering and holding terrain,’ he said. Indeed, he saw the need to shorten the defense lines, but he also demanded that the Americans hold what he somewhat peculiarly called ’a fortified goose egg’ from an area just to the west of Sankt Vith to River Salm; Ridgway felt that this could be a good point of departure for a flank attack against the 6. SS-Panzerarmee in the north. For this reason, he left the two armored units Combat Command B, 7th Armored Division and Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division north and just south of Sankt Vith.
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A direct hit has blown off this Sherman tank’s turret. According to the U.S. Army’s official historian Hugh M. Cole, the exact American losses during the Battle of Sankt Vith can not be accurately determined, partly because many documents have been destroyed. According to available statistics, the 7th Armored Division alone lost 88 tanks at Sankt Vith. Figures on U.S. personnel losses vary between 3,400 and 5,000 men. (National Museum of Military history, Diekirch)





Ridgway’s subordinate generals were not as enthusiastic. Brigadier General Clarke said that Ridgway’s idea of a ‘fortified goose egg’ sounded like a plan for ’Custer’s last stand’ (alluding to the Battle of Little Big Horn in 1876 when George Armstrong Custer’s 7th Cavalry was wiped out by a superior Indian force).234 Hasbrouck, Rosebaum, and Hoge were of more or less the same opinion.235 Their concerns about a scenario similar to ’Custer’s last stand’ could have materialized had it not been for the shortcomings of the two SS divisions—particularly the 9. SS-Panzer-Division. But even the Führer Begleit Brigade had a slow start in its attack when this unit finally was able to get started once sufficient forces—including twenty-five Panzer IV tanks—of that brigade had reached the front.236

Despite its name, the Führer Begleit Brigade (FBB) was a pure Wehrmacht unit. It was formed from the army’s equivalence of Hitler’s SS bodyguard, Wachtruppe Berlin. The commander of the Berlin Force, Major Otto Remer, had played a crucial role in the crushing of the 20 July Plot against Hitler. When the Führer Begleit Brigade was formed in November 1944 for the purpose of being used in the Ardennes Offensive, 32-year-old Remer—promoted from Major directly to Oberst—was awarded by being assigned to command the unit. With troops drawn from Division ’Grossdeutschland’ on the Eastern Front, the FBB was a crack unit from the onset. It consisted of an armored brigade with fifty Panzer IV tanks and forty Sturmgeschütz III assault guns, a panzer grenadier regiment, an anti-aircraft regiment with twenty-four 88mm guns, and an artillery battalion with eighteen howitzers. The troop strength amounted to six thousand men.237 As far as the number of tanks and assault guns was concerned, this brigade was about as powerful as the Wehrmacht panzer divisions that participated in ’Herbstnebel,’ but the number of supporting troops was weaker. Among his subordinate officers, Remer had Major Hubert Mickley, a veteran carrying the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves who had been in combat since the first day of the war. In the Führer Begleit Brigade, he was made the commander of the panzer grenadier regiment’s II. Bataillon.

The Führer Begleit Brigade’s first task was to block the American retreat from Sankt Vith through a flanking movement from the area north of the town. At midnight on 22 December, Remer positioned the bulk of his panzer regiment—the I. Abteilung with two companies with twenty-five Panzer IVs, and the II. Abteilung with StuG IIIs—at Nieder-Emmels, with Sankt Vith on the other side of the hills in the southeast, only a mile and a half away. Meanwhile the panzer grenadier regiment’s III. Bataillon went into position on the left flank.
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German panzer grenadiers and Panzer IV tanks advance through the fresh snow. (BArch, Bild 101I-277-0844-13/Jacob)





Remer took personal command of the Panzer Regiment and started by despatching a strong reconnaissance force along the little dirt road that runs southwest from Emmels towards Rodt (Sard-lez-Sankt Vith), slightly more than two miles west of Sankt Vith. Meanwhile it had started to snow. The Germans worked their way up the long uphill and soon were able to establish that the marshy fields on both sides of the road absolutely were not navigable. A couple of Panzer IVs got stuck there and had to be pulled out. As the Germans were moving through the forest on the hill midway between Ober-Emmels and Rodt, they were subjected to enemy fire and observed several American armored cars.

When the reconnaissance troop returned with its report, Remer decided to instead go straight westwards, across the wooded hill west of Ober-Emmels, and from there turn south towards Rodt. To ’soften up’ the American positions, the twelve 105mm and six 150mm howitzers of the brigade’s Artillerie-Bataillon began to shell Rodt. But the advance was not as simple as Remer had imagined. His tanks constantly got stuck in the marshy terrain below the slope. Finally one tank at a time had to be conveyed by soldiers on foot in order to find the most passable terrain in the dark. But by the sound of engines running as the drivers tried to get the tanks out of the mud, the German position was revealed to the Americans. However, covered by the darkness and an increasing snowstorm, the soldiers of the panzer grenadier regiment’s III. Bataillon managed to make their way to combat positions atop the hill of Tommberg, just north of Rodt. But the attack was further delayed when the main tank at dawn drove on a mine at the outskirts of the forest north of Tommberg, which then had to be cleared of mines.238

But still, in spite of all these German difficulties, it was only a matter of time before the Americans would be enveloped south and west of Sankt Vith, unless they pulled back rapidly. Early in the morning on 22 December, U.S. 7th Armored Division’s commander, Brigadier General Hasbrouck, wrote Ridgway a strongly critical PM, ’The withdrawal of CCB, 7th Armored Division, last night from Sankt Vith was expensive. So far we are missing at least one half of Clarke’s force. Of course many of them will show up, but they will be minus weapons, ammunition, blankets and rations as well as at a low physical level. I don’t think we can prevent a complete break-through if another all-out attack comes against CCB tonight due largely to the fact that our original three infantry battalions have at present melted to the equivalent of only two very tired battalions.’239

Hasbrouck barely had written these lines when he was reached by discouraging news from the section south of Sankt Vith, where Hoge’s Combat Command B of the 9th Armored Division was positioned. While the Führer Begleit Brigade attacked north of Sankt Vith, German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division had renewed its attack south of the town during the wee hours of 22 December. After a heavy artillery fusillade—whereby Hoge’s headquarters was severely hit and several officers were killed or wounded—the German troops took advantage of the darkness and the thick snowfall to sneak up to and overpower the foremost American positions.240 U.S. 27th Armored Infantry Battalion retreated to Neubrück, slightly more than two miles south of Sankt Vith. Thus left without infantry support, the American 14th Tank Battalion found itself surrounded when the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 190 joined the attack.

Meanwhile, it was reported that Clarke’s Combat Command B, 7th Armored Division, which had been scattered north, west and south of Sankt Vith following the defeat at that town, was getting outflanked by Remer’s Führer Begleit Brigade, coming from the northeast.241 Hasbrouck, who still had not sent his PM to Ridgway, hurriedly added, ’A strong attack has just developed against Clarke again. He is being outflanked and is retiring west another 2,000 yards refusing both flanks. I am throwing in my last chips to halt him. Hoge has just reported an attack. In my opinion if we don’t get out of here and up north of the 82d before night, we will not have a 7th Armored Division left.’242

As soon Ridgway received this message he rushed to Hasbrouck’s headquarters in Vielsalm. The airborne general snarled when he met the armor commander. He held up Hasbrouck’s message and asked with a critical tone of voice if he had even read what it said before signing it. Hasbrouck replied, equally sharply:

’Yes, sir, I most assuredly did!’243

By that time the American possibility of holding out east of the Salm river eroded rapidly. The Führer Begleit Brigade had broken through north of Sankt Vith. The 7th Armored Division’s after action report for 22 December 1944 reads:

’The two platoons of Company C, 38th Armored Infantry Battalion, which had been with Task Force Jones were attached to Combat Command A at 0830. They were sent at once to patrol towards the north and east the heavy woods southeast of Poteau, for at this very time it was known that approximately one company of German infantry was encircling our troops southeast of the town. At 0945 a platoon of B Company, 40th Tank Battalion, was sent to the vicinity of Rodt to repel an enemy company south of that town. By 1100 that platoon plus one from Company A, 40th Tank Battalion, were engaging 16 enemy tanks. At about the same time enemy infantry infiltrated through our positions in the heavy woods southeast of Poteau into the vehicle park of the 48th Armored Infantry Battalion where they managed to destroy several of our vehicles. The remainder were withdrawn to Petit-Thier. Hostile tanks gained control of Rodt, but two platoons of the 40th Tank Battalion still held on.’244

Oberst Remer describes the battle of Rodt from his perspective: ’The III. Battalion broke into the locality and fought from house to house. The village was stubbornly defended by enemy tanks. Individual combat groups were halted by enemy tanks and even temporarily taken into captivity, including the battalion commander. It was not until we attacked from the edge of the woods on a broad front that we were able to take the village and restore the situation. The III. Battalion had considerable losses, especially inasmuch as enemy tanks concentrated fire at close range on the many wounded men who were in several cellars. At about noon Sard-lez-Sankt Vith [Rodt] was fully cleared and in our firm possession.’245

In this situation Colonel Rosebaum ordered two of the tank companies in Combat Command A, 7th Armored Division to counter-attack. They clashed with the tanks of the Führer Begleit Brigade, and after a bitter tank battle in a swirling blizzard, the Americans were forced to withdraw, leaving behind several burning Shermans.246 The Germans recorded twenty destoyed or captured American tanks during the battle at Rodt on 22 December 1944.247

The American resistance south of Sankt Vith also collapsed. Indeed, the 14th Tank Battalion of the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command B managed to break out of their encirclement and retreated westwards over the course of 22 December, but German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division’s breakthrough on this front sector was a fact. Its Grenadier-Regiment 190 surged forward and seized Neubrück, slightly to the south of Sankt Vith, where it captured a large number of trucks and prisoners that were reported to be ’really shook up.’248

Thereby the lines held by Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division collapsed, allowing the regiment on 62. Volksgrenadier-Division’s northern flank, Grenadier-Regiment 183, to break through the positions of the battered Combat Command B, 7th Armored Division just south of Sankt Vith. Task Force Jones just had been ordered to deploy the 17th Tank Battalion to this Combat Command’s support, but when this armored battalion arrived at the village of Crombach, two miles southwest of Sankt Vith, it was ambushed by Grenadier-Regiment 183. Unnoticed, the German soldiers sneaked into positions where they laid an ambush and fired on the American tanks with anti-tank weapons. Having lost eight tanks, the Americans retreated.249 It was the American good fortune that Sankt Vith’s roads were blocked by rubble which prevented German 18. Volksgrenadier-Division from immediately attacking to the southwest from the town to isolate the American armored unit that according to Ridgway’s orders still hung on in the south.

Even farther to the south, the withdrawal of American 112th and 424th Infantry regiments enabled the southernmost regiment in German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division, Oberst Jüttner’s Grenadier-Regiment 164, to advance six full miles across apparently endless, now completely snow-covered plains over the course of 22 December. The scattered U.S. troops encountered by the Germans during this march proved to be utterly demoralized, and surrendered quickly, with large numbers of artillery pieces, tanks, and other vehicles falling into German hands.250 Grenadier-Regiment 164’s own losses were quite limited.251 It was only in Beho, six miles southwest of Sankt Vith, that Jüttner’s men paused late in the evening on 22 December. As the Germans saw it, they thus had crossed the border to Belgium—the new border drawn up by Hitler in May 1940 when he incorporated this area into Germany.

The German successes contributed to reinforce the contradictions in the Allied High Command, which owing to a German radio message that Ultra at Bletchley Park decrypted were quite aware of the German intentions. Sent on the evening of 22 December, this message read: ’Heeresgruppe B intentions for 23 December: Continuation attack 5. Panzer-Armee and 7. Armee to the west and northwest over the Ourthe sector, and with 6. Panzer-Armee to carry out concentrated attack to destroy Allied forces in the Sankt Vith area.’252 Montgomery now saw himself compelled to intervene with greater strength than before against the American generals that opposed his order to withdraw. After the war, he wrote:

I, personally, did not visit the Seventh Armored Division; the situation in which the division was placed was reported to me by one of my liaison officers who had been there and had talked to Gen. Hasbrouck. As soon as I heard about the division, and about Ridgway’s order, I went at once to the headquarters of the First Army, discussed the matter with Hodges, and ordered the division to be withdrawn. I instructed Hodges to inform Ridgway that I had canceled his order and to tell him that I was not prepared to lose a very good American division because of the sentimental value of a few square miles of ground; men’s lives being of more value to me than ground which is of no value. Ridgway never forgave me for canceling his order, I was informed. His philosophy was that American troops never withdraw …253

At first, Task Force Jones was ordered to retreat behind River Salm and take up positions along a line between Bovigny and Vielsalm, four miles farther north. Quite symptomatic of the confused situation on the U.S. side in the battle east of the Salm, the 112th Infantry Regiment—whose withdrawal Task Force Jones had been assigned to cover—was ordered to turn around and cover the retreat of Task Force Jones!

Meanwhile, the first elements of Gerrman 2. SS-Panzer-Division—a company of Panzer IVs and StuG IIIs from SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 4 ’Der Führer’ under SS-Obersturmbannführer Otto Weidinger, and the reconnaissance battalion under SS-Sturmbannführer Ernst August Krag—started to move from the area northeast of Houffalize, nine miles southwest of Vielsalm. These forces advanced due north in a raging blizzard, and the most advanced armor column attacked the retreating forces of Task Force Jones just as these made their way over on the west side of the Salm. A report from the 7th Armored Division describes the battles that took place just west of River Salm on the afternoon of 22 December:

The withdrawal of Task Force Jones started at 1430 […] and proceeded north towards Salmchâteau [a river crossing less than a mile south of Vielsalm] along the exit route. A few hundred yards south of that town an enemy ambush destroyed one light tank of the 14th Cavalry Group with bazookas, and in Salmchâteau two light tanks of D Company, 40th Tank Battalion, were destroyed by 88mm (?) fire. […] The column withdrew to 11/2 miles south of Salmchâteau at 1700, and the 112th Infantry Regiment attempted to clean out the town with an attack at 1930. Meanwhile a reconnaissance for an alternate route in the vicinity of Sainte Marie was completed. Simultaneously the rear of the column was attacked by tanks from the south and east which destroyed four M36 tank destroyers, a medium tank, two towed guns and two other vehicles. Six of the tanks were destroyed. The majority of the personnel escaped on foot. As the enemy was pressing strongly, the alternate route was taken. In the creeks west of Sainte Marie an enemy ambush destroyed two armored cars and three 1/4-tons. At (865692) two Mark IV tanks attacked the column, destroying two more armored cars and three 1/4-tons. Part of the column attempted to move towards Provedreux and met an enemy column of unknown strength, losing one armored car. The balance of the vehicles negotiated the creeks (two 1/4-tons and one armored car mired and abandoned) and moved on road north from Sainte Marie until they reached the road Salmchâteau -Baraque de Fraiture where contact was made with the outpost line of the 82nd Airborne Division.254

The armored division’s report on the evening of 22 December 1944 indicates that the situation had deteriorated further:

Morale was not good and the combat efficiency was down to about 80%. The enemy did not rest. […] During the late afternoon and night of the 22 December 1944 the enemy was pressing strongly on all positions. It was also definitely confirmed that the enemy was in strength along the Salm River from Trois-Ponts to Grand-Halleux and along the high ground from south of the highway running west from Salmchâteau. This meant that the 106th Infantry Division, Combat Command B of the 9th Armored Division, the 112th Regimental Combat Team [previously 112th Infantry Regiment], what remained of the 14th Cavalry Group, some corps troops including some corps artillery which had been attached to the 7th Armored Division, and the entire 7th Armored Division with attachments less Trains, were left east of the Salm River, low on supplies, and completely fatigued by five or more days and nights of continuous fighting, with only one sure exit route, a secondary road running west from Vielsalm, and one probable route, the road Salmchâteau - Joubival -Lierneux.255

Only through the intervention of U.S. artillery in the evening on 22 December could the 2. SS-Panzer-Division be brought to a halt, slightly to the south of the important road from the river crossing at Salmchâteau to the crossroads of Baraque de Fraiture, eight miles farther to the west.

’It is difficult to determine with surety how much of the 7th Armored Division, CCB, 9th Armored, 424th Infantry, 112th Infantry, and the numerous attached units had been lost during the fight for Sankt Vith and in the subsequent withdrawal,’ wrote U.S. military historian Hugh M. Cole. ’Many records were destroyed during the final retreat, units were put back in the line on the 23rd with no accounting of their existing strength, and the formations of the 106th Division and 14th Cavalry Group had taken very severe losses before the defense of Sankt Vith began.’256 The available loss statistics may be regarded as underestimated. According to these, the Battle of Sankt Vith cost the 7th Armored Division a loss of eighty-eight tanks—fifty Shermans and twenty-nine Stuarts—plus twenty-five armored cars.257 Figures on U.S. personnel losses vary between 3,400 and 5,000 men.258 Two powerful U.S. divisions—with a total of about thirty thousand men and more than three hundred tanks and tank destroyers—that had been assembled against Generalmajor Hoffmann-Schönborn’s 18. Volksgrenadier-Division less than a week earlier, were largely neutralized as fighting units. British military historian Peter Elstob, who himself served as an armored soldier in Belgium at the time, wrote:

’A conservative estimate for the period from 16 December to 23 December in the Sankt Vith area including the Schnee Eifel debacle would be about fourteen thousand casualties and over one hundred tanks, forty armored cars, hundreds of other vehicles, many guns of all sizes and large quantities of other equipment lost.’259 By now, the Germans counted a total of 20,000 POWs since the beginning of the offensive.260 The German losses since the opening of the offensive were sixteen hundred casulaties in the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division and the Führer Begleit Brigade, and about half a dozen tanks in the latter unit. The 62. Volksgrenadier-Division lost twelve hundred men between 16 and 23 December, a large share of these losses occurring during the first day of the attack in attempts to assault well-fortified American positions.

Major General Alan W. Jones, C.O. of the 106th Infantry Division, now had sustained two major defeats in less than a week. In the evening on 22 December, Major General Ridgway visited him at 106th Infantry Division’s Headquarters. Ridgway noted that Jones’ ’attitude seemed strange,’ that ‘he appeared to be casual, almost indifferent.’ 261 Ridgway wrote. ’After talking to him a few minutes, I sent everyone from the room except the general officers and Colonel Quill, my Deputy Chief of Staff. On a scrap paper Colonel Quill at my direction wrote down in longhand my orders relieving this officer of his command.’262

A couple of hours later, Major General Jones suffered a heart attack and was taken for emergency treatment at the hospital in Liège. Ridgway appointed Hasbrouck to assume command of all U.S. forces east of the Salm, and informed him that he would ’approve whatever you decide.’263 In so doing, the rapid evacuation of all territory east of the Salm started.

It was a badly mauled American 7th Armored Division that poured back across the two only river crossings in American hands, south of Salmchâteau and at Vielsalm. Hugh M. Cole wrote, ’Unit integrity had been lost, the armored components were far below strength, and many of the armored infantry were weary, ill-equipped stragglers who had been put back in the line after their escape from Sankt Vith.’264

Lou Berrena, a sergeant in the 517th Parachute Infantry Regiment of U.S. 82nd Airborne Division—which just arrived and taken up positions at River Salm—remembers the meeting with the retreating soldiers from 7th Armored Division: ’These guys hardly had any equipment. The weapons were gone. And they say it’s a mess. And all the tanks are coming back.’ The withdrawing troops were happy to meet the reinforcements of which Berrena was part, until he told them that there was just one battalion. ’A battalion?’ one of them exclaimed. ’Hell, there are divisions out there of Germans! I’m not kidding you. You’ll never stop them!’

This 7th Armored Division soldier actually had a quite realistic idea of the German force: At dawn on 23 December, U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps—the 82nd Airborne Division and the ragtag remnants of the American units that had escaped from the Sankt Vith Wedge—was pitted against two panzer divisions, a panzer brigade, and two infantry divisions: the 2. SS-Panzer-Division on the southern flank, the 18. and 62. Volksgrenadier divisions in the center, and the 9. SS-Panzer-Division and the Führer Begleit Brigade on the northern flank. Furthermore, the most advanced force of the powerful 1. SS-Panzer-Division, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper—stood at La Gleize, ten miles west-northwest of Vielsalm.

Indeed, U.S. 3rd Armored Division’s Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve were brought into position at Hotton some twenty miles west of Vielsalm, to the right (west) of U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps, but these forces were held back by another German panzer division, Generalmajor von Waldenburg’s 116. Panzer-Division. Already on the evening of 20 December, its spearheads reached a point just northeast of Hotton, following a lightning advance of eighteen miles in thirty-six hours. The 82nd Airborne had just barely avoided getting its march northwards, to the Salm, cut off by von Waldenburg’s panzers. But the crisis was far from over. A glance at the map on 23 December revealed that the XVIII Airborne Corps was in a new vulnerable position in a six to twelve-mile deep, horseshoe-shaped wedge from the west to the east, surrounded on both sides by German panzer forces.

THE WINDHUND DIVISION’S BLITZ ATTACK

Although German 116. Panzer Division on the second day of the Ardennes Offensive had been divided into two groups as Major Eberhard Stephan’s advanced task force, Kampfgruppe Stephan, crossed River Our at Dasburg far ahead of the main force—which had to turn around at Ouren in the north (see page 94)—Generalmajor von Waldenburg did not hesitate to allow the advanced battalion to continued the advance westward on its own.

Having wiped out the tanks of U.S. 707th Tank Battalion’s ’D’ Company at Marnach on 17 December, Stephan’s troops encountered tougher resistance in Heinerscheid, four miles north of Marnach. Here, the 1st Battalion of U.S. 28th Infantry Division’s 110th Infantry Regiment, supported by five Sherman tanks, made a brave attempt to halt the German advance. After a fierce battle in which three Shermans were knocked out, the Americans were compelled to withdraw to Hupperdingen (today called Hupperdange), two miles to the west. There the fight continued until this village also was in German hands. But by that time darkness had set in, so Major Stephan allowed his troops to rest for the night.

When Kampfgruppe Stephan resumed the advance on the morning of 18 December, the Germans advanced against Troisvierges (five miles northwest of Heinerscheid), which was taken after a short battle, and then continued on the road that led via Asselborn to Hoffelt, four miles southwest of Troisvierges, and on to the junction at Buret, another three miles farther to the west. By penetrating into the area midway between Sankt Vith in the north and Bastogne in the south, Kampfgruppe Stephan—in conjunction with the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division—pushed U.S. 28th Infantry Division’s 112th Infantry Regiment northwards. This secured the northern flank of German XLVII. Panzerkorps and its continued advance towards Bastogne and the Meuse. On December 18, U.S. 28th Infantry Division’s headquarters reported, ’In the 112th Infantry sector the enemy attacked continually throughout the day and late in the day all communications to the Regiment were lost and the situation became obscure.’265
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The U.S. retreat from Sankt Vith on 22 December was accompanied by a heavy snowfall. (US Army)





On the evening of 18 December, Major Stephan’s troops bivouacked in Tavigny, only about three miles southeast of Houffalize and twelve miles from Heinerscheid. A few hours earlier, they had captured a large ammunitions dump that had been abandoned by the retreating Americans.266 For these achievements Major Stephan was awarded with the Knight’s Cross. Even though his small force by that time was left with only two serviceable StuG IIIs (out of originally six), it would deal the Americans another hard blow before sunrise.267

As we have seen (page 117), Task Force Booth—the force from Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division that had escaped the disaster east of Bastogne on 18 December—withdrew northwards from the area of Longvilly on the night between 18 and 19 December. During the retreat, some of the battered remnants of the other two task forces in this division’s Combat Command Reserve joined up. Having narrowly escaped being completely crushed by German 2. Panzer-Division, these units were, in the words of one of the participating soldiers, ’really shook up.’268 They were in such a hurry that they failed to notice that Tavigny was in enemy hands as they roared into this village, heading west at midnight on 18/19 December.

The Germans were taken by surprise when the first American vehicle column emerged around the road bend and continued down the hill above the little castle château de Tavigny. But the small town is located in a valley, and while Americans shifted down to work their way up the hill leading out of Tavigny towards the west, the Germans assembled to strike against them. The first armor-piercing shells soon were fired, and before the Americans had reached the crest of the hill west of the village, all fourteen tanks had been turned into blazing torches. These were identified as Shermans, but this possibly could have been a German misidentification of the fourteen Stuart tanks that U.S. 2nd Tank Battalion lost.269 Shortly afterwards, a second column of seven Shermans came rumbling from the south. According to the war diary of German II. Abteilung/ Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 146, all seven were destroyed by Panzerfausts.270

Then the German infantry attacked. The commander of 6. Batterie in the II. Abteilung/Artillerie-Regiment 146, Oberleutnant Egon Steinmeier, took charge of a group of soldiers who stormed the shocked Americans, who quickly surrendered. In triumph, Steinmeier’s men brought ninety-eight American prisoners, six captured half-tracks, and three anti-tank guns to Tavigny.271 Among the prisoners of war was Lieutenant Colonel Robert Booth, C.O. of the 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion.
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The roads along which the German armored forces advanced in the first days of the offensive in December 1944 were filled with destroyed or abandoned U.S. combat vehicles. The image shows a row of Sherman tanks. (NARA, SC 197374)





Task Force Booth was completely wiped out. Losses amounted to 600 men.272 ’Almost without losses the reconnaissance battalion dissipated and destroyed a number of enemy groups, knocked out some enemy tanks, captured a lot of personnel and all types of vehicles,’ the German divisional commander Generalmajor von Waldenburg noted with satisfaction.273 For some reason, many American depictions of the Ardennes Battle—including such that are considered to be major reference works on the subject—remain silent about the U.S. armor losses in Tavigny, but locals remembered how the road through the village and the fields beyond Tavigny were littered with American tank wrecks.274

Thus, not only Task Force Booth, but also U.S. 9th Armored Division’s entire Combat Command Reserve was almost completely obliterated. All three battalion commanders had been lost. The 2nd Tank Battalion had lost fifty-nine tanks.275 The 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion recorded a loss of 697 men, among which only three were killed while most were missing or captured.276 In the space of twenty-four hours, this battalion had lost both of its battalion commanders and all of its company commanders, ’B’ Company even lost its company commander as well as his successor. The material losses amounted to seventy-three half-track vehicles, thirty-five trucks, and three M8 SPGs.277

Major Stephan had decided to remain in Tavigny and await the rest of the division, instead of going straight on Houffalize, which had proved to be in the hands of a strong U.S. unit (82nd Airborne Division, which over the course of 18 December raced through Houffalize, in its rapid march from Reims in the south to River Salm in the north). Meanwhile, some of Tavigny’s residents—including people from Château de Tavigny—took on the task of burying the fallen Americans. One incident showed that Wehrmacht soldiers of the 116. Panzer-Division had a completely different view of the opponent than that of many SS troops. When some of the German soldiers saw a civilian Belgian pulling the corpse of a U.S. soldier in a rope that was attached around the neck of the dead American, they harshly reproached the Belgian for not respecting the dead.278

Early the next morning, 19 December, the first elements of the 116. Panzer-Division’s main force arrived in the area, Kampfgruppe Bayer, consisting of its entire Panzer Regiment, supported by Panzergrenadier-Regiment 60 and artillery. Bayer’s troops immediately attacked the American force that Kampfgruppe Stephan had detected on the heights east of Wicourt, south of Houffalize, completely obliterating the American force. Kampfgruppe Bayer reported several U.S. tanks knocked out and took more than four hundred prisoners.279

But since Oberst Johannes Bayer, the commander of Kampfgruppe Bayer, believed that an entire American division had moved into position in Houffalize, while he himself had no more than one regiment of supporting infantry, the divisional commander von Waldenburg decided not to assault Houffalize, situated among wooded heights. However, here the Germans missed out—U.S. 82nd Airborne Division hurriedly raced through Houffalize on 18 December and the following night. On the morning of the 19th, its main force was on the way to assume positions at River Salm, twelve miles farther to the north. ’The tail of the column beat the enemy out of Houffalize by approximately five minutes early in the morning of 19 December,’ reported Major John Medusky of the 508th Parachute Infantry Regiment. ’Some MPs were cut off from their vehicles in Houffalize and had to escape on foot. The rest of the column continued north on N15 to Werbomont, where the regiment closed at 0300 on 19 December still without having contacted the enemy.’280 But unaware of this, von Waldenburg ordered Kampfgruppe Stephan and Kampfgruppe Bayer on the morning of December 19 to advance southwards in an attempt to circumvent Houffalize while waiting for the division’s second regiment, Panzergrenadier-Regiment 156.

At Bertogne, six miles southwest of Houffalize, Kampfgruppe Stephan clashed with a composite force from at least three American units—the 203rd Antiaircraft Battalion, the 129th Ordnance Maintenance Battalion, and a vanguard force from the 705th Tank Destroyer Battalion—that passed Houffalize heading south to reinforce the garrison at Bastogne.281 The Germans reportedly set two American tanks and twenty trucks ablaze, and captured twenty vehicles.282 Here too it has proven difficult to use U.S. records to establish the exact U.S. losses. The captured American vehicles, however, came in handy as the Germans continued their rampage.

When Major Stephan shortly afterwards reported that the bridge over the Ourthe (Ourthe Occidentale) north of Bertogne was found to be demolished, he was ordered by von Waldenburg to continue southwestwards on the highway, which five miles further on joined the N 4—the highway that leads northwest from Bastogne to Marche.* His aim was to reach the Meuse via this road; a recently arrived report from the German air reconnaissance indicated that this could be possible to achieve without major difficulties.
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German panzer grenadiers charging through the Ardennes in a leichter Schützenpanzer Sd.Kfz. 251 armored troop carrier, armed with a 7.92mm MG 42 machine gun. On the side of the armor is a log to be used when the vehicle got stuck and needed firm ground. It also served to reinforce the protection against shrapnel etc. (BArch, Bild 183-J28519/Gottert)





In August 1944, Oberleutnant Erich Sommer conducted the first reconnaissance flight with a jet plane in history. Flying a twin-engine Arado 234, he had since carried out regular strategic high-altitude reconnaissance flights without the Allies being able to do anything about it—for a long time even without the opponent being aware of these German air operations. On this 19 December 1944, Sommer took off at ten to eleven in the morning with the task of mapping the situation in the Meuse-sector in front of the 5. Panzerarmee. When he landed at 1222 hrs, he reported, ’Road bridges area Namur undamaged, road bridges Dinant and Givet in use. Railway bridge 10 km north of Dinant repair work in progress. Railway bridge 3 km south of Dinant destroyed.’283 He also had observed signs of massive American retreat movements: ’From Marche to Emptinne very heavy lorry column traffic in direction Namur. From Bastogne to Marche very heavy lorry traffic in direction Marche.’284

Just before Major Stephan’s motorized force reached the N 4, in the forest glade on the N 4’s northern side, the Germans came upon yet another American unit. U.S. 101st Airborne Division’s field hospital had settled here, seven miles northwest of Bastogne, in the belief that they were far away from the fighting. A tank destroyer positioned exactly in the road fork was immediately eliminated, and several other American vehicles were set ablaze. Field surgeon Captain Williss McKee remembers how just before midnight he heard violent gunfire. He rushed out of his tent and saw a German motorized force consisting of U.S. half-track vehicles, jeeps, and a captured Sherman tank approaching from the road in the northeast. A surgery tent was riddled with machine gun fire. Captain Charles Van Gorder, a field surgeon of Dutch origin who could speak pretty good German, shouted that they were medical personnel and unarmed. The Germans held their fire and told Van Gorder that the Americans had forty-five minutes to load the wounded and themselves onto trucks for further transport.

When the German commander—presumably Major Stephan—heard the screams of wounded men from inside one of the burning vehicles, he ordered a German soldier and the American Technician Fourth Grade Emil Natalie to save them. Emil Natalie remembers the strong impression this German officer made on him: ’The [German] officer in command was a typical Prussian. He was wearing well-polished black boots and his uniform looked as if he had just come back from a Berlin pass. In his right eye was a monocle. I remember all the details. He was such a contrast with the ordinary fighting men.’285
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During the advance through the Ardennes, three German officers have left their vehicle to consult the map at the roadside. They are dressed in the Wehrmacht’s rubber coated motorcycle coat that gave good protection against the rain and sleet that dominated during the Ardennes Offensive’s first days. Behind them are soldiers in a column of armored troop carriers, closest a Sonderkraftfahrzeug Sd.Kfz. 251/1 Ausführung D. Equipped with a 100-hp Maybach HL 42 engine, this 7.4-ton half-track vehicle could reach a speed of over 30 m.p.h. on surfaced road. The vehicle was protected by a 12mm frontal armor and a 8mm side armor.
(BArch, Bild 183-J28477/Kriegsberichter Göttert)





The whole 326th Airborne Medical Company fell into German hands. Along with the patients, eighteen officers and 125 soldiers were taken into captivity. This was a heavy blow against the Americans in Bastogne, who soon would be completely encircled.

While the POWs were rounded up, a patrol from Kampfgruppe Stephan continued the N 4 northwards and discovered an undamaged Bailey bridge over the Ourthe (Ourthe Occidentale) at Ortheuville, two miles northwest of Salle. In view of the weakening resistance met by the 116. Panzer Division and ’the high morale of the their own troops,’ von Waldenburg decided to change the ’Windhund’ Division’s march route, and instead go full speed over the bridge and continue straight ahead towards the Meuse.286 This could have become a ’hussard coup’ in the style of the ’Desert Fox’ Rommel! The ’Windhund’ Division could very well have reached the Meuse already on 20 December if von Waldenburg’s plan would have materialized. By that time, there actually was nothing but very weak U.S. troops in the region. The British units that Montgomery had ordered to secure the Meuse bridges would not be in place until 21 December.287

But scarcely had von Waldenburg issued his new orders than a counter-order arrived from Corps commander Krüger. As soon as General von Manteuffel was informed of von Waldenburg’s bold initiative, he had contacted Krüger and in harsh terms clarified that the 116. Panzer Division was not allowed to deviate from the established march route; the division was to immediately turn back to Houffalize to continue its advance towards the Meuse from that place.288 Through von Waldenburg’s turn south, he had entered the march route that was intended for the 2. Panzer-Division’s advance.

It may be objected that von Manteuffel could have taken advantage of the situation created by the 116. Panzer-Division as it took the forefront of all other German units to allow this unit to take over the 2. Panzer-Division’s march route, and instead pit the latter against Bastogne. This might have succeeded—had it not been for one complicating factor: For it was not just U.S. 82nd Airborne Division that arrived in the Salm area to block the German forces in the Sankt Vith region; through an intercepted U.S. radio message, von Manteuffel had learned that U.S. 3rd Armored Division was on its way from the north to plug the gap in this area. This was one of the so-called ’heavy armored divisions’ with an assigned strength of 14,000 men and 390 tanks instead of 10,500 men and 263 tanks, which was the standard.289 Hence, von Manteuffel needed the 116. Panzer-Division farther north.

Since the 116. Panzer Division had been divided into two task forces on 17 December, von Manteuffel’s directives caused no delay to the division’s march forward; von Waldenburg’s own report shows that the 116. Panzer-Division’s Panzergrenadier-Regiment 156, and the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 1129 by now had reached Houffalize, which was taken without any resistance worth mentioning.290 The German panzer division’s own losses were quite limited also on 19 December—they were mainly confined to a couple of armored cars that got stuck in the marshy terrain at Tavigny.291

On the other side of River Ourthe (Ourthe Orientale), the 116. Panzer-Division surged forward with Panthers, Panzer IVs, and assault guns with mounted panzer grenadiers, passing through a large area completely abandoned by the U.S. Army. On the evening of 20 December, the western column reached the small town of La Roche, wedged between towering mountains in the Ourthe’s gorge just where the river winds northwest. Three miles farther to the northeast, the eastern column meanwhile approached Samrée, where one of U.S. 7th Armored Division’s large fuel dumps was located. The quartermaster in the American armored division, Lieutenant Colonel Andrew A. Miller, expected that he would be able to hold back the Germans with a small force from the 7th Armored Division and promised reinforcements in the shape of Task Force Tucker from the 3rd Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve. But this was a serious misjudgment. Miller’s heavy equipment—one tank and four half-tracked vehicles armed with .50 caliber quadrupel machine guns were in quick succession knocked out by a single Panzer IV.
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Two U.S. soldiers, Staff Sergeant Urban Minicozzi and Private First Class Andy Masiero, in position on a rooftop at Beffe, near Marcourt, awaiting the approaching Germans. (NARA, 111-SC-198884)





When the vanguard of Task Force Tucker arrived, it met the same fate and lost all six Shermans and both of its armored cars.292 Shortly afterwards, the 7th Armored Division’s Headquarters Company under First Lieutenant Denniston Averill made an attempt to drive off the Germans from Samrée with three Shermans, all of which were lost in the uneven fight. The 7th Armored Division’s maintenance unit noted, ’1st Lt Averill, Company commander Trains Headquarters Company was dispatched with three medium tanks, one of which was known to have been knocked out, to relieve the Quartermaster. Lt Averill and the two other tanks are still missing on 31 Dec 44. The Quartermaster had to finally pull out, the AAA Bn lost three guns from enemyfire.’293

During the following night, the Germans repulsed another armored attack against Samrée, this time from the east by ’D’ Troop, 87th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron.294 The persistent American attempts to retake Samrée is highly understandable, because here the Germans captured 25,000 U.S. gallons of gasoline, plus 15,000 rations. The 116. Panzer Division reportedly destroyed twelve American tanks at Samrée on 20 December.295 The 116. Panzer-Division’s own tank losses on 20 December was limited to two tanks and an assault gun. But during the following night further combat vehicles were knocked out by artillery fire.296

While Kampfgruppe Bayer continued towards the northwest, the second division of German LVIII. Panzerkorps, the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division, took up positions at Samrée. On the evening of 20 December, I. Abteilung of Oberst Bayer’s Panzer-Regiment 16 stood in front of Hotton, eighteen miles south of River Meuse. Through that day’s rapid advance, an American armored unit of the 3rd Armored Division, Task Force Hogan—a company of Sherman tanks and about four hundred men under Lieutenant Colonel Samuel M. Hogan—had been enveloped at Marcouray, between La Roche and Hotton.

Another unit from the 3rd Armored Division, Task Force Orr, made a new attempt to retake Samrée and relieve Task Force Hogan through an attack from the northeast on 21 December. But this force, commanded by Lieutenant Colonel William R. Orr, mustered no more than a single tank company plus a reinforced armored reconnaissance company.297 560. Volksgrenadier-Division’s infantry repulsed the American attack with Panzerfausts. Gefreiter Kurt Sielemann of Grenadier-Regiment 1129 was reported to have destroyed six Shermans with Panzerfausts.298 Without doubt, it seemed as though the116. Panzer-Division would be able to neutralize the threat from the powerful 3rd Armored Division. By 22 December, it had destroyed an average of ten American tanks for each tank loss of its own since the offensive had begun six days earlier.

PAST BASTOGNE, TOWARDS THE MEUSE!

To the south, General von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps meanwhile found itself divided between two tasks: To continue the march to the Meuse and at the same time to take Bastogne, the important junction on the way west. While the Panzer Lehr Division and 26. Volksgrenadier-Division were ordered to stay behind to deal with Bastogne, the 2. Panzer-Division, on the Corps’ northern flank, was instructed to bypass the town to the north and race on towards the Meuse. This fragmentation of forces was considered justified because von Lüttwitz had annihilated the American forces east of Bastogne on 18-19 December. Model and von Manteuffel assumed that the XLVII. Panzerkorps would be able to handle both tasks without any major difficulties.

As we have seen earlier (page 117), in the early hours on 18 December, Oberst von Lauchert’s 2. Panzer-Division—having defeated the American Task forces Rose and Harper along the main road from Clervaux to the west—swung off from the main road N 20 at Chifontaine, about a thousand yards north of Longvilly, and took the narrow back road that ran almost straight towards Bourcy, two miles to the northwest. At half past six in the morning on the 19th, the German panzers clanked into Bourcy, a village with a station on the railroad between Bastogne and Sankt Vith.299 The armored reconnaissance battalion of von Lauchert’s division continued to the next village, Noville, another two miles farther west. But when the armored reconnaissance vehicles and tanks emerged from the little grove eight hundred yards east of Noville, they faced a U.S. battlegroup. After a brief skirmish in which two Shermans were shot up, the Germans pulled back again.

This was one of two surprises that met the 2. Panzer Division this morning. As we saw earlier, on the previous day the Americans had despatched new units from the south to fill the gaps that had been torn open by the XLVII. Panzerkorps. The clashes with American 101st Airborne Division and Team Cherry of U.S. 10th Armored Division’s Combat Command B east of Bastogne, have already been described. In Noville, four miles north-northeast of Bastogne—on the main road between Bastogne and Houffalize—Team Desobry, another task force of U.S. 10th Armored Division’s Combat Command B, had taken up positions. With no more than four hundred men and fifteen Sherman tanks at his disposal, Major William R. Desobry was assigned with the impossible task of halting German 2. Panzer-Division.300
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A column of U.S. troops pass an abandoned supply dump. (NARA, US Signal Corps)





Throughout the night of 17 December, a steady flow of more or less terrified soldiers from various shattered U.S. units arrived at Noville, attempting to escape the approaching panzer forces. ’There are more Germans coming than you have ever seen before. There’s no use staying here. They’ll run over you in no time!’ these soldiers said.301 But Major Desobry was just as certain as his colleague Colonel Cherry had been that he would be able to halt the Germans, so he took command of the withdrawing men and organized them for Noville’s defense. One of Desobry’s company commanders, Captain Gordon Geiger, afterwards reported that several among them had protested, claiming that they had been ordered to withdraw, to which Cherry replied, ’I’m the one giving orders now! Hold your ground and fight!’302
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A U.S. M18 Hellcat tank destroyer is made ready to open fire on approaching German tanks. With its 76mm M1 anti-tank gun in a turret, the Hellcat was a most dangerous opponent to the German tanks, especially since its high speed enabled it to quickly maneuver in the side of the German tanks, where these were not as heavily armored. A weakness of the Hellcat was its own weak armor, not more than a 25mm frontal armor.
(NARA, SC 196436)





On the German side, Oberst von Lauchert needed to cross the wretched little mud roads north of Bastogne in the shortest possible time in order to reach the paved road that runs southwards from Houffalize, so he went in to try to take Noville through a surprise attack. He despatched fourteen tanks on an arduous detour over what was nothing but farm tracks on the wide, open fields to the north, to reach the main road that runs into Noville from the north and attack the Americans from that direction. This turned out to be easier said than done; several days of thaw and rain had turned the fields and these small paths into pure marshlands where several tanks got stuck.303 In the morning on 19 December, the landscape was covered by a thick, damp fog as the 2. Panzer-Division, with the tanks of Panzer-Regiment 3 in the lead, rumbled forward along the muddy road from Bourcy to Noville (today called Rue Général Desobry). Just as the Germans were about to attack, the fog dispersed, so that the armored force was completely vulnerable to American firepower out there in the open fields.

Team Desobry’s tanks and anti-tank guns, which had taken up positions behind buildings, walls, or haystacks, immediately opened a furious fire against the Germans. The fight had just begun when a platoon from the 609th Tank Destroyer Battalion came roaring into Noville to reinforce Desobry’s force. This unit was equipped with the M18 Hellcat tank destroyer, armed with the new 76mm M1 antitank gun. In particular the Hellcat could utilize its superior speed—it was able to reach a full 60 m.p.h., making it more than twice as fast as for example the Jagdpanzer IV or the Panther—to get a shot from the side or behind the German tanks, where these were significantly more vulnerable. In order to reach this high speed the Hellcat nevertheless had been ’stripped’ so that it only had a 25mm frontal armor and an open turret. Therefore the Hellcat crews also developed a tactic they called ’shoot and scoot.’

Several German tanks were hit by armor-piercing shells. Following a brief skirmish, the Germans found it best to withdraw. Since they were on top of the hills east of Noville, they could get out of the enemy line of fire fairly quickly, but not until, according to the U.S. report, nine German tanks had been hit, four of which caught fire.304

Von Lauchert realized that it would not be possible to break the American resistance at Noville without infantry support, but the bulk of his infantry still was far away in the rear area. Since the resistance pockets in Clervaux were not cleared until late in the afternoon on 18 December, generally only armored vehicles had been able to make it through the town until then.305 While von Lauchert waited for the infantry, his artillery began to shell Noville.

When it now dawned on Major Desobry what a terrible force his limited unit was up against, he contacted his commander, Colonel Roberts, in Bastogne and requested permission to withdraw, which nevertheless immediately was turned down. Instead, further reinforcements were sent to Noville—a platoon from the 705th Tank Destroyer Battalion, and the 1st Battalion, 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment.
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Panther tanks in combat in December 1944. (BArch, Bild146-1975-015-03/Valtingojer)
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German anti-tank soldiers at a 75 mm PaK 40 L/48 anti-tank gun. This gun could knock out a Sherman frontally at a distance of 2,000 yards. (Månsson)





It took until dawn the next day, on 20 December, until von Lauchert had assembled a force sufficient to take on Desobry. After a fierce battle in sleet and thick fog, the Americans were forced back, and finally the deputy commander of the 101st Airborne Division, Brigadier General McAuliffe, gave the permission to withdraw. The battle for Noville cost the Americans a loss of four hundred men, eleven Shermans, and at least five tank destroyers.306 Among the casualties were to be found Major Desobry, who was injured, and the C.O. of the airborne battalion in Noville, Lieutenant Colonel James L. LaPrade, who was killed.

The fact that Desobry’s task force had managed to stall the dreaded 2. Panzer-Division for a whole day was in itself a remarkable achievement, and of course this is the explanation for the myths that have come to surround the Battle of Noville in history writing. But even if the Americans here mis-identified German assault guns as tanks, the figures for German tank losses are exaggerated—various American sources claim the figures to be twenty or even thirty. In regard to the 2. Panzer Division’s actual strength after the Battle of Noville, von Lauchert’s division hardly could have lost more than around ten tanks and five assault guns at Noville.

With American opposition at Noville broken, nothing seemed to stand in the way of 2. Panzer-Division’s march to River Meuse, and General von Lüttwitz expected the imminent fall of Bastogne. The overwhelming German victory east of Bastogne, and the weak resistance encountered in the area following this, caused Panzer Lehr’s C.O., Bayerlein, to conclude that the road to Bastogne lay basically open.307 Moreover, the weather continued to be on the German side. 20 December was the worst day so far in terms of flying weather. The temperature fluctuated between 44 and 28 degrees. A thick mist hung in the air, sleet poured down, and heavy squalls made it difficult even to get around on foot on the icy runways on Allied airfields in the area. That twelve aircraft managed to take into the air—the lowest number for the 9th Air Force during the whole campaign in the West—testifies to a marvel of skill in the pilots in question. Major General Troy Middleton, commanding U.S. VIII Corps, swore woe and cursed the weather, which meant that he could not even get a Piper Cub liaison plane airborne. ’The fog sat right on the ground,’ he recalled. ’We had to use lights on vehicles during the day.’308

On the morning of 20 December, German Corps commander General von Lüttwitz submitted a situation report: ’The 2. Panzer Division has seized Noville. The enemy withdraws head over heels from the 2. Panzer-Division through Foy and southwards. The 2. Panzer-Division pursues the fleeing enemy. Foy is expected to fall at any time, if this has not already occurred. After the conquest of Foy, the 2. Panzer-Division, will swing to the west according to orders, and enter open terrain. The Panzer Lehr Division still is in front of Neffe, but has taken Wardin and is moving fast towards Marvie. There the enemy appears to be weak and unprepared. Marvie may already have been taken.’309

Middleton assigned Brigadier General McAuliffe, deputy commander of the 101st Airborne Division, to assume command of all U.S. forces in Bastogne, and on 20 December Middleton and his own staff personnel departed from Bastogne to Neufchâteau, nineteen miles farther down southwest. The instructions Middleton issued McAuliffe shortly before his departure, were to say the least wordy: ’The [101st Airborne] Division will stabilize their front lines on the front P798945 [Recht] to Sankt Vith, south along a general line east of [highway] N 15 […] to connect with the 4th Infantry Division at Breitweiler.’310 McAuliffe had no intention of adhering to this order, which meant that his division, supported only by remnants of the forces that had escaped the German onslaught east of Bastogne, was expected to hold a fifty-mile wide front—against virtually the entire 5. Panzerarmee and 7. Armee. Instead, he concentrated his forces in a series of defensive positions around Bastogne. The second part of Middleton’s orders, he nevertheless took literary: ’There will be no withdrawal!’ Indeed, this was the same directive that Middleton almost routinely had issued to virtually all of his subordinate units at more or less any given point from River Our and westwards during the previous five days, but with McAuliffe and the 101st Airborne Division, the Americans had a unit and a commanding officer who—for the first time—really would fulfill this order.
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In the outskirts of Noville, a knocked out Sherman. (National Museum of Military history, Diekirch)





Forty-six-year old Anthony McAuliffe may have been short in stature—he measured only 5 ft 9 in—but without doubt he belonged to the toughest U.S. commanders during the Ardennes Battle. He had no combat experience prior to D-Day in June 1944, but because of his proven qualities he had helped develop both the Bazooka and the American Jeep. Having graduated at West Point in November 1918, he served long in the artillery. That was why he was placed as the Artillery Commander in the 101st Airborne Division. McAuliffe was skeptical about parachute jumping, which he said was tough ’for an old crock like me’—a statement which earned him the nick-name ’Old Crock’ His name is forever associated with the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945. Two years after the war, the central square of Bastogne was renamed from Place du Carre to Place McAuliffe, and there was erected a bust of McAuliffe, who in 1949 was awarded the title of honorary citizen of the town of Bastogne.
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Forty-six-year old Brigadier General Anthony C. McAuliffe, acting commander of the 101st Airborne Division during the Battle of Bastogne, was called ‘Old Crock’ by his men. His personal attitude contributed greatly to the American resistance in the encircled Bastogne. McAuliffe passed away in 1975, at the age of 77. In Belgium, he has gained the status of a hero for his heroic defense of Bastogne. (NARA)





The German force that on 20 December 1944 made a first attempt to take the town—Panzer Lehr and the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division—appeared to be strong enough for the task. But neither of these divisions was complete at the time of the attack, as both had detailed one regiment each to cover the southern flank twelve miles farther to the southeast. The fact is that the Americans were numerically superior: The 101st Airborne Division, and what was left of the armor of Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division and Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division, plus whisked together remnants of various units that had been mauled in the tank battle east of Bastogne, were at least 50 percent stronger than the Germans at Bastogne. The American superiority was particularly strong in artillery.

The 26. Volksgrenadier-Division employed Grenadier regiments 77 and 78, reinforced with eight tank destroyers, against Bizory, about two miles northeast of Bastogne. This thrust was initially supported by the 2. Panzer Division, which following the capture of Noville continued south on the road to Bastogne and ousted Team Desobry and the 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment from the small village of Foy, just two miles northwest of Bizory. Here the 2. Panzer-Division was halted, however not by the Americans, but by its own supreme command. Oberst von Lauchert had proposed that his 2. Panzer-Division would continue along the main road from Noville and Foy to attack Bastogne from the north, but was rebuffed by his Corps commander, General von Lüttwitz: ’Leave Bastogne and continue against the Meuse according to orders!’

Even Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt, Oberbefehlshaber West, had made it clear that the 2. Panzer-Division under no circumstances was allowed to deviate from its march route to the Meuse: From his headquarters, von Rundstedt contacted Model and von Manstein to inform them that the main emphasis of the offensive from now on was on the 5. Panzerarmee and its advance towards the Meuse. It was essential, von Rundstedt said, that this Army rapidly established itself on the west bank of the river, thereby ’preventing the enemy from bringing reinforcements across the river.’311

When von Lauchert’s armor left Foy, the 3rd Battalion of U.S. 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment followed suit to recapture the village. Backed by tanks from Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division, the 506th and 501st Parachute Infantry regiments were able to halt the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, but not before the Germans had occupied Bizory.

Farther south, Panzer Lehr’s attack collapsed in the concentrated fire from six U.S. artillery battalions.312 Although the Germans only lost three tanks, their infantry battalions were heavily depleted.313 The meadows between the villages of Neffe and Mont east of Bastogne were partitioned by barbed wire fences in intervals of thirty to fifty feet, which the Germans apparently had failed to notice. The advancing soldiers of Kampfgruppe 902 had to stop to climb over each of these fences, and there they were mowed down in droves. Afterwards these sheep fences were marked by evenly spaced rows of corpses dressed in field gray uniforms.314

To German 2. Panzer-Division, 20 December looked entirely different. Having made it through the ruins of Noville on the way back from Foy, von Lauchert’s armored columns paved their way across a narrow and wretched backroad to the main road that ran southwestwards from Houffalize. They no longer had any contact with the enemy, but their main opponent now was the marshy land on the terrain off the main roads. Von Lauchert’s proposal to strike directly against Bastogne from the north had to some extent been dictated by the fact that there were no proper westbound roads in the area immediately north of Bastogne. On the previous day, the wheel-driven vehicles in his column had with only great efforts made their way across the narrow and muddy backroads to reach Noville. But when they reached the highway from Houffalize at noon on the 20th, things began to run smoothly. The tanks followed the same route the armor of the 116. Panzer-Division had taken on the day before, and reached Ortheuville, where they took possession of the unscathed Bailey Bridge and established a bridgehead across River Ourthe (Ourthe Occidentale).
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A German soldier makes his way under a cattle fence on a field in the Ardennes. In the background, a knocked out American armored car. (NARA, III-SC-341638)





Under the command of Leutnant Ernst Gottstein a reconnaissance force of two armored reconnaissance vehicles set off from Ortheuville on Highway N 4 to reconnoitre up to the highway intersection of Barrière de Champlon, three miles further on. Gottstein took the shortest route across the hills northwest of Ortheuville until his two vehicles came up on the tarmac where the beech forest begins, a mile or so south of the crossroads. No U.S. soldiers could be seen at the crossroads. Gottstein ordered a halt, and boldly stepped into the little café at the crossroads with his pistol drawn, while his men were in position outside. Shortly afterwards Gottstein came out again, with two American POWs. He switched on the radio in his armored car and reported to his commander at the bridge, ’Road junction cleared of enemy forces!’315

Von Lauchert’s main force went into position at Tenneville, two miles farther back, but on the northern side of the Ourthe. Ahead of them lay a single straight stretch of the paved highway from Bastogne to Namur on the Meuse, forty miles away. However, they had to take a one-day break to wait for supplies of fuel and ammunition. The supply transport had fallen far behind due to traffic congestions and bottlenecks formed at the narrow road bridges.316

In the area south of Sankt Vith, two paved highways led to this road from Germany, but both still were blocked by the U.S. forces in the Sankt Vith section (this was the day before the fall of Sankt Vith). Because of this, the bringing up of supplies to the 5. Panzerarmee’s two panzer corps was confined to only one paved road from Germany—the one that from Dasburg snaked through Luxembourg and on to the west.

Indeed this was an asphalt road, but it was totally inadequate to supply most of the 5. Panzerarmee. At Dasburg the cliffs descend almost vertically into River Our. A narrow serpentine road led down to the bridge that had been laid across the river gorge, and on the other side, the narrow road bent to the right and then climbed up the hill. Steep, forested mountainsides and hairpin bends made it impossible to pull over to allow other vehicles to pass. The slippery winter road conditions and the limited visibility due to the fog that often lay thick on the ground, further worsened accessibility. This road was used by the bulk of the 5. Panzerarmee’s supply traffic in both directions.

The Germans were not only confined to the river crossing at Dasburg—they also could use the bridge at Obereisenbach a bit farther downstream (south). But the narrow dirt road that wound uphill from this river crossing to Hosingen and the main road ’Skyline Drive’ three miles farther west, was described by German 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s C.O., Oberst Kokott, as ’completely worn out.’317 In some places the roadside descended steeply. It goes without saying that on the slippery winter road any trip along this route was quite hazardous to weary German drivers. Neither did the route from Obereisenbach through Hosingen offer any real alternative but to join the road from Dasburg at Marnach, three miles west of Dasburg. Especially in the first days of the Ardennes Offensive, Marnach became a hell for German military traffic controllers—at this bottleneck, where vehicles could pass in both directions, huge traffic jams formed, exposing the traffic controllers to immense challenges.
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Not just wheel-driven vehicles sank into the miserable dirt roads that had turned into pure marshes through the thaw. This Sherman tank has been abandoned by its crew since it got stuck in the mud and ran down both tracks. (NARA, SC-197209)
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In a small community southeast of Saint-Hubert, west of Bastogne, American soldiers take cover from German gunfire. (NARA, lll-SC-193835/Gedicks)





More often than not, a huge traffic jam extended all the way to Clervaux and its bridges over the next river, the Clerve, another three miles to the west. After Clervaux the main road passed an undulating farmland with soft hills, and here the tracks of dozens of U.S. and German tanks had ruined the asphalt, so that truck drivers often were forced to edge along in order not to destroy the axles, and this further contributed to the congestion at Marnach.

Had the Germans been able to go on through Bastogne, which would have led them straight onto the wide highway N 4 towards Marche and then Namur on the Meuse, the supply situation would have been completely different. But after traveresing twelve miles on the rutting road from Clervaux towards Bastogne, the transport vehicles now instead had to turn right from the main road and take the much poorer backroad northwards via Arloncourt, Bourcy, and Noville northeast of Bastogne. This was the dirt road that von Lauchert’s division had such difficulty in getting about two days earlier—now with the difference that it had been so utterly ruined up by the passing tanks that in the thaw that dominated the early days of the Ardennes Offensive, the road could hardly be distinguished from the surrounding fields. Here trucks and horse-drawn carriages often sank down to their axles, and even individual soldiers found it difficult to move forward because for every step they sank down to the ankles in the soft mud.318

On the windswept fields along a stretch of six miles this road became bordered with vehicles broken down or stuck, between which cursing officers and field gendarms trudged around yelling, while fatigued soldiers struggled to push stalled vehicle aside, all while rain and sleet poured down. Moreover, the road that ran southwards from Houffalize to the area where the advanced units of the 2. Panzer Division stood, had already become quite run down by the heavy tracked vehicles.

Defeated generals rarely are to be considered the most reliable historical source, but immediately after the war many American writers were only too happy to use the German generals’ subjectively marked accounts to get an idea of ’the other side’ during the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945. Unfortunately, many of the explanations offered by these defeated generals have been forwarded quite uncritically. For that reason, historiography often tends to portray the German supply difficulties during the first week of the Ardennes Offensive as something extraordinary.

In actual fact, the rapid motorized advances during World War II quite frequently were beset by temporary halts because the spearheads had run out of fuel.
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General Heinrich Freiherr von Lüttwitz commanded German XLVII. Panzerkorps during the Ardennes Offensive. Von Lüttwitz, awarded with the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves, had led the 2. Panzer-Division during the Battle of Normandy in the summer of 1944. He passed away in 1969. (BArch, Bild 146-1972-031-44 / Photo: Unknown.)





This actually was almost unavoidable, especially where road conditions made it difficult for wheel-driven vehicles to get around. This was commonplace on the Eastern Front, where German armored units sustained weeklong attack breaks for similar reasons in the summer of 1942, but still it did not bring the overall offensive to a halt. The most fundamental difference between the Blitzkrieg of the previous years and the Ardennes Offensive in this regard was that earlier the Germans enjoyed air superiority—unlike what was the case on the Western Front in 1944. For this reason, the Germans in the Ardennes in December 1944 welcomed the heavy rainfall, despite its negative impact on road conditions.





[image: images]

The American defense of Bastogne was far more stubborn than the Germans had anticipated, and inflicted heavy casualties on the attackers. A German report even described the American resistance at Bastogne as ‘fanatical.’ (Via Warren Watson)





It has been said that von Manteuffel had expected his troops to reach the Meuse in two or three days, but this has been denied by von Manteuffel himself: ’I had never expected to reach the Meuse river in two or three days, but rather, I felt that if all went well, we should be able to reach it in from six to eight days,’ he said when he was interviewed by the U.S. military shortly after the war (although he later corrected this to ’four to six days.’ 319

General von Lüttwitz also was quite optimistic on 20 December when he reported, ’Enemy Situation: Opponent feels defeated, is retreating and confines himself to try to defend his withdrawal’320

Perhaps the main evidence that the German commanders at the time did not regard the 2. Panzer-Division’s involuntary stop as any serious setback in the plans is to be found with the Supreme Commander on the Western Front, Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt. Although it stood clear that the 2. Panzer Division would be left without fuel throughout 21 December, von Rundstedt did not hesitate to shift the main emphasis of the offensive from the 6. SS-Panzerarmee to the 5. Panzerarmee on the evening of 20 December.

That this temporary fuel shortage at the front lines was due to difficult road conditions and stretched supply lines, and not—as is often claimed—a supposedly inadequate assignment of fuel prior to the offensive, is illustrated by the fact that Panzer Lehr, the second armored division of General von Lüttwitz’s XLVII. Panzerkorps, was not affected by these difficulties on 20-21 December. Since this division on 20 December still stood in the area east of Bastogne, its supply lines were not as stretched as those of the 2. Panzer-Division.

On the evening of 20 December, Panzer Lehr and 26. Volksgrenadier-Division received orders from General von Lüttwitz to set their respective reconnaissance battalions in motion to bypass Bastogne in the south. These joined the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39, which two days previously had taken up positions north of Wiltz in order to cover the Army’s southern flank. Over the course of 21 December these units, in conjunction with the 7. Armee’s 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division, swept through the area south and southwest of Bastogne, where Assenois, just outside Bastogne’s southern industrial area, was taken by Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39. A little further west, the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s 26. Aufklärungs-Abteilung under Major Rolf Kunkel met a hard-necked American resistance in Sibret. On 19 December, Major General ’Dutch’ Cota had shifted his U.S. 28th Infantry Division headquarters to this place, a small town of some 1,000 inhabitants and a station on the railway line between Libramont in the southwest and Sankt Vith, fifty miles further to the northeast. In connection with this, most of the battered remnants of the 28th Infantry Division’s 110th Regimental Combat Team—mainly the 1st and 2nd battalions—were brought together into Task Force Caraway, which under Lieutenant Colonel Forrest Caraway’s command was assigned to defend Sibret. Caraway and Cota also had the support of the artillery from the 109th and 687th Field Artillery battalions.321 In addition, what was left of the 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion was positioned north and south of the town. The defense of Sibret was facilitated by the fact that it is located on a hill dominating the surrounding fields.
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German panzer grenadiers and Panther tanks of the type Ausführung G on the march. (BArch, Bild 183-H28356)





The first German attempt to attack Sibret, made by a small group of 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division paratroopers during the night of 20 December, failed. But the next morning, Major Kunkel’s force struck from four different directions. After several hours of street fighting, the American resistance finally collapsed, and the Germans took a large number of prisoners. They also captured twenty artillery pieces, and large numbers of tanks, armored cars, and other motor vehicles—some of which had been left in a hurry with the engines still running.322 The two American commanders, Cota and Caraway, managed to get away and took refuge in Vaux-les-Rosieres, farther south on the main road from Bastogne to Neufchâteau.

Kampfgruppe von Fallois—Major Gerd von Fallois’ reinforced armored reconnaissance battalion of Panzer Lehr—surged forward on the southern flank, next to the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division. Over the course of 21 December, von Fallois’ troops took Chenogne, two miles northwest of Sibret, captured an entire column of sixty American trucks and twenty-two jeeps, seized Libramont, fifteen miles southwest of Bastogne, and surrounded U.S. 58th Armored Field Artillery Battalion near Tillet, a bit further west of Bastogne.323

When the commander of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, Kokott, followed the tracks of Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39, he found the march route in the area south of Bastogne to be littered with burned out and shot up U.S. tanks.324

In the evening of 21 December, the German positions in the area south and southwest of Bastogne were reinforced as Panzer Lehr’s Kampfgruppe 902 was ordered to follow von Fallois and advance towards Saint-Hubert, twelve miles west of Bastogne. Only Kampfgruppe 901 (also known as Kampfgruppe Hauser) was left in the area southeast of Bastogne.

Thus, Bastogne—with 18,000 U.S. troops and 3,500 civilians—was totally surrounded. Owing to an expedient intervention by the acting mayor Leon Jacquin, a large amount of flour had been brought into the town, so that there were 7.5 tons of food to the 22,000 Americans and Belgians.325 To this could be added fairly rich amounts of meat from cattle in a large number of farms in the vicinity. Brigadier General Anthony McAuliffe, the airborne general entrusted with the task to lead the defense of Bastogne, felt no particular cause for concern; after all, paratroopers were trained to fight in a situation where they were surrounded. The stratagem next attempted by General von

’There is only one possibility to save the encircled U.S.A. troops from total annihilation: that is the honorable surrender of the encircled town.’ Such read the message that von Lüttwitz via two German officers and two soldiers under parliamentary flag forwarded to McAuliffe on the afternoon of 22 December 1944. It is hardly surprising that McAuliffe was not put off balance by his opponent’s ultimatum.

The German message was conveyed to McAuliffe by the U.S. division’s deputy chief of staff, Lieutenant Colonel Ned Moore. McAuliffe had just been awakened from an afternoon nap in the basement of one of the Heintz Barracks, where he had set up his headquarters. In his dazed state he first perceived it as though the Germans wanted to surrender. When Moore pointed out that it in fact was an offer to the Americans to surrender, the still drowsy McAuliffe exclaimed, ’Oh shit!’ Then he ordered Moore to reject the German offer to surrender.

The major who led the German parliamentary group however required a written response from the U.S. commander, and this made McAuliffe perplexed.
 
’I don’t know what the hell to say to them,’ he told his staff officers.

’How about the first remark of yours?’ suggested his planning officer, Colonel Harry W. Kinnard, provoking loud laughters.

Eventually McAuliffe grabbed a pen and wrote a single word on a sheet of paper: ’NUTS.’

Hellmuth Henke, an English-German Leutnant who served as an interpreter in the German parliamentary group, explained in embarrassment to the German major that he did not really understand the answer. At the major’s request, he asked the American escort, Colonel Joseph Harper, for a clarification. Harper asked Private First Class Ernie Premetz, who served as interpreter, to explain, and he turned to Leutnant Henke and said, ’It means: “Du kannst zum Teufel gehen”—you can go to hell!’ That McAuliffe actually responded with ’Nuts’ is confirmed by General von Lüttwitz in his report on XLVII. Panzerkorps during the Ardennes Battle.326

When the American resistance at Sankt Vith was wiped out, the previously congested roads loosened up. ’Finally we were able to push on towards St Vith,’ SS-Sturmmann Helmut Semmler of 9. SS-Panzer-Division’s SS-Flak-Abteilung 9 noted in his diary. ‘Meanwhile countless vehicles taken from the enemy were in the hands of our own units, mainly Studebaker truck with the slantedoff “nose.” On the left and right of the road stood several Sherman tanks that had been abandoned. Individual dead soldiers were lying by the side of the street.’327
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With brush and pencil, Horst Helmus, one of the German soldiers who took part in the Ardennes Offensive, depicted how German soldiers in a captured U.S. M8 half-track, towing a PaK 40 anti-tank gun, are pursuing the retreating American forces.
 




On 21 and 22 December, the German supply columns drove at full speed on the highways from the east and the north. ’After Sankt Vith was taken, traffic flows continuously,’ wrote Leutnant Behmen in Artillerie-Regiment 1818 in his diary on 22 December, but he also added, ’If enemy planes had appeared it would have been a terrible disaster.’328 But the poor weather still kept the Allied aviation grounded, and the offensive was resumed. General von Lüttwitz wrote, ’For 22 December the corps expected the two panzer divisions to advance far to the northwest. Our reconnaissance units had not encountered serious resistance anywhere. It seemed as though the enemy so far had not brought forth any new forces.’329

As soon as the first fuel trucks arrived at the bridgehead at Tenneville, von Lauchert immediately had the half-tracks of Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 2, a couple of Panther tanks and some StuG IIIs refuelled. Designed Kampfgruppe von böhm (after the commander of the armored reconnaissance battalion, Hauptmann von böhm) these set off on Highway N 4 against Marche and Namur early in the morning of 22 December.

Two and a half miles from Tenneville, the road enters a hilly wooded area. Here the American 51st Engineer Combat Battalion had made great efforts to block accessibility during the previous afternoon. They had blown a huge hole in the road, and in the woods they had felled large amounts of the naked, frozen trees over the road. In addition, a small rearguard force was in position in the forest fringe. It took a couple hours of fighting in the morning before the Americans withdrew. Hauptmann von böhm’s force resumed its advance. But when they shortly afterwards reported the deep trees latches along the forest road, von böhm was ordered to bypass this stretch of the N 4 on the small dirt road that wound up the hills westwards towards Nassogne, five miles away, and from there, continue north towards Marche.330 The German advance was supported by at least one captured jeep with American-speaking German commandos, dressed in U.S. combat fatigue, who infiltrated behind the American lines in order to sow confusion— so-called ‘Greif’ soldiers.* Meanwhile, fuel trucks kept arriving at Tenneville in a steady stream. This enabled von Lauchert to assemble his next task force, consisting of II. Abteilung/ Panzer-Regiment 3, Panzergrenadier-Regiment 304, Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 74, and two-thirds of the 273. Heeres-Flak-Abteilung. Commanded by Major Ernst von Cochenhausen—the deputy C.O. of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 304—its tanks, Puma armored cars, tractors, air defense vehicles, armored personnel carriers, and many other types of vehicles, with about two thousand mounted panzer grenadiers, set off in a long column.
 
The rugged terrain on both sides of the road in the forest made it impossible to bypass the tree obstacles, so these had to be cleared away, which took four hours to complete.331 But then the Germans entered completely open plains at Nassogne. It was a considerable force of nearly nine hundred vehicles, and when the leading tanks reached the N 4 west of Bande, four miles southeast of the city of Marche, the last vehicles had not even entered the forest six miles farther back.

Here the Germans discovered so many fresh vehicle tracks in the snow that it was assumed that the Americans had assembled a large force in Marche. This was reported to von Lauchert, who forwarded the information to the Corps commander von Lüttwitz, who instructed the 2. Panzer-Division to veer to the northwest and instead cross the Meuse at Dinant.332 The German conclusion proved to be entirely correct. Powerful elements of both U.S. 3rd Armored Division and 84th Infantry Division had just marched up to defend Marche. The 3rd Armored Division, led by the stalwart Major General Maurice Rose, was, as we saw earlier, a so-called heavy armored division— that is, it was considerably stronger than a regular armored division—and well over a hundred of its tanks were in the Marche region. The 84th Infantry Division was, as it would soon turn out, one of the toughest U.S. infantry divisions in the Ardennes. The division was called ’the Rail Splitters’— which caused the Germans to call its soldiers ‘the Axe Men.’333

Von Cochenhausen left a battalion of panzer grenadiers, a half air defense battalion, and a small Luftwaffe Flak unit south of Marche.334 Then the main force continued the advance in accordance with von Lüttwitz’s new instructions. At the place where the N 4 bends right towards Marche, the German main force took the minor road that runs westwards south of the city. Here the landscape changes into an increasingly hilly, forested terrain. This was a perfect place for ambushes, which the Americans also took advantage of.

The 335th Infantry Regiment of U.S. 84th Infantry Division had positioned its 3rd Battalion on some of these hills. Just before the Germans approached, the ’Rail Splitters’ received a welcome reinforcement from the 3rd Armored Division. Its Combat Command A had ordered Task Force Doan—elements of the 32nd Armored Regiment, the 36th Armored Infantry Regiment, and the 67th Field Artillery Battalion—to take up positions at the N 4 between Marche and Bastogne. This task force barely had left the city when it clashed with Kampfgruppe von Cochenhausen at Hargimont, two and a half miles southwest of Marche.335

It was about five in the afternoon of 22 December, when von Cochenhausen’s column slowly rumbled forward on the winding road south of Marche, in the direction of Hargimont. To the right of the road there were steep cliff walls, covered by deciduous forest. It was dark and in the snowy mist visibility was not more than a few yards. Suddenly flares were lit in the sky overhead, and from the heights above the road heavy weapons opened fire. Five of the German armored vehicles were hit and burned with a fierce glow. The Germans immediately fell back on the defensive.

But the battle soon was decided by the surprising emergence of Kampfgruppe von böhm south of Hargimont. This force had taken the backroad through Nassogne, and now came roaring past the old Château de Jemeppe down in the hollow behind the American positions. Before the Americans got a grasp of what was happening, von böhm’s troops had made their way up the slope and attacked them in the back. The Americans hastily abandoned their positions and retreated towards Marche. Certain of victory, von Lauchert sent von Lüttwitz the following report:

’Our parachutists and Greif commandos have sown panic in the Allies’ rear areas. Enemy morale seems strongly shaken. Since our fight at Noville we have encountered only weak resistance that was easily overcome—except south of Marche today. Enemy planes have been little active. The Luftwaffe has not yet intervened in the battle. Revictualling and refuelling is insufficient and irregular, strongly restraining the tactical mobility of the division. We will continue our advance along the axis Buissonville, Chapois, Conneux with our main force. We will put in a roadblock at Leignon [NW of Chapois] awaiting our promised flank guard. We will occupy the zone Celles - Conjoux and prepare to cross the Meuse at Anseremme [a railway bridge 1½ miles from Dinant].’336

Meanwhile the Luftwaffe was instructed that under no circumstances must it attack the Meuse bridges to the west of the line Verviers - Bastogne, so that these would be unscathed when they were seized by German troops.337
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While the Ardennes was covered with snow over the course of 22 December, U.S. First Army was on the retreat almost along the whole line. (NARA, SC-197350)






ANTITANK GUN VERSUS SHERMAN

Unteroffizier Horst Helmus, anti-tank gunner in Panzerjäger-Abteilung 26, described an encounter with a Sherman tank at Sibret in his diary on 21 December 1944:

We hold a position with the main road Bastogne - Neufchâteau half a mile in front of us. Next to us there is a 7.5cm light howitzer on a 3.7cm gun carriage. The infantry occupies readiness postures. 10.5cm howitzers open up a preparatory fire. The infantry will attack at 1100 hrs. […] We encounter infantry fire from automatic weapons, and I had to throw myself flat on the ground …]

Suddenly a cry, as from a thousand throats: TANK! The infantry tries to locate it. From all sides the yell is heard: Paanzer!—drawn out and with each syllable emphasized. In a forest beyond the road we see the outlines of a Sherman (at least we imagine that it is a tank of that model). Slowly it moves forward. Then the engine suddenly roars. The Yankee gives full throttle and at high speed it comes bumping out of the forest. In spite of the engine sound, we hear Leutnant Gutbier give fire permission. Unteroffizier Mayer gives a barely audible fire command with direction, ammunition type, distance, and the number of shells, but I am unable to see or hear anything but the tank. Distance knob set to armor-piercing shell, distance 800 meters. Easy now, a little deflection, and then I press the button. Bang! The first shot! Hoorraaaay! A hit in the road wheels! I can hear it but I see nothing because I am blinded by the smoke. […] The second shot hits one of the tracks. Now the tank halts. The tank commander had bailed out already between the first and second hits. The third shot: Hit in the upper part of the chassis side. Ammunition Fire! A huge puff of flame and smoke shoots up. End of the show…

My face is blackened by gunpowder. I look really ‘dangerous’! My ears ring and I can barely hear anything. But I understand the congratulations from Hauptmann Reinecke and Leutnant Gutbier.

Source: Horst Helmus, diary.
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Horst Helmus illustrated this event with his pencil.







CONCLUSIONS AND RESULTS

The first seven days of the Ardennes Offensive caused the U.S. Army some of the heaviest setbacks in its entire history, most of all perhaps in terms of military prestige, but even in practical terms these setback were of a significant scale, decidedly larger than what is discernible in many depictions of the Ardennes Battle. The latter is particularly true regarding U.S. loss statistics, which at a close study prove to be both imperfect and contradictory. In fact, it simply is impossible to obtain reliable American loss statistics, since much of this was destroyed during the war or shortly thereafter—which from the perspective of historiography, of course is quite remarkable.*

The German offensive clearly was both skillfully undertaken and masterfully prepared. The fact that the Germans at such a late stage of the war again were able to carry out a Blitzkrieg operation—albeit in a modified form—stunned the world. That they also managed to attack their opponents with such a great surprise merits the Ardennes Offensive the attention of higher strategic studies for a long time to come.

A prerequisite for these German successes was the bad weather that kept the Allied aviation grounded, and in this field both the military planners and the meteorologists had made completely accurate assessments. Extensive air strikes against the narrow and at times quite congested transport routes to the front would undoubtedly have rendered these successes impossible.

In one respect the Germans, however, made a grave miscalculation—regarding the endurance of the U.S. soldiers, which they grossly underestimated. The use of any other word than brave to describe the G.I.s who were in the forefront in the Ardennes on 16 December 1944 would be utterly unfair. Offering a fierce resistance against the numerically superior attackers in the first hours—in some cases the first few days—these small groups of young Americans created an important prerequisite for the Allied recovery later in the battle. For example, Bastogne was saved basically by a single battalion of U.S. soldiers from the 28th Infantry Division—Major Harold F. Milton’s 3rd Battalion from Colonel Hurley Fuller’s 110th Regimental Combat Team—which tied down German Panzer Lehr and 26. Volksgrenadier-Division in Luxembourg long enough to allow the 101st Airborne Division to reach the town before the Germans. *

However much of the strategic possibilities created by these brave front soldiers, were wasted by an often appalling lack of strategic—and often also operational— competence in the headquarters. This is clearly illustrated by the actually completely unnecessary collapse of the 106th Infantry Division east of River Our, and the American defeats in the different tank battles at Bastogne on 18-19 December. That this dealt a serious blow to American morale, is something that the U.S. soldiers hardly can be accused of.
 
Still, although several U.S. headquarters seem to have panicked and been characterized by helplessness during the first days of the Ardennes Offensive, the Allied supreme command reacted relatively swiftly and took measures which dampened the effect of the German offensive. Bradley’s decision to regroup the 7th Armored Division prevented the Germans from taking the intersection of Sankt Vith during the second day of the attack. Even more significant was Eisenhower’s orders to move the XVIII Airborne Corps to the Ardennes, through which Bastogne remained in U.S. hands, while at River Salm a reserve was formed that was able to absorb the retreating forces from Sankt Vith. At the latter front sector, Field Marshal Montgomery played a crucial role in preventing the American front from collapsing entirely. Without these efforts by Bradley, Eisenhower, and Montgomery, German 5. Panzerarmee would probably have been able to break through to the Meuse on the offensive’s fifth or sixth day.

Another interesting aspect of German 5. Panzerarmee’s successes during the first week of the Ardennes Offensive is that these often primarily were the result of a numerical superiority on the German side. This was in some contrast to the German soldiers’ self-image, according to which his own qualitative superiority in the field was the deciding factor against a numerically superior opponent. This German perception was to some extent based on the actual context of the defensive battles on the Western Front in the fall of 1944.

Without any doubt, the American soldiers exposed to the German attack in the Ardennes on 16 December 1944 performed significantly better than what generally had been the case with the U.S. Army during the previous months on the Western Front. Possibly this can be explained through the realization of the G.I.s that no air support was to be expected, and that they now were in a completely different situation than previously. In any case, the tenacious American resistance during the Offensive’s first two days—and in the Sankt Vith section even longer than that—was quite different from what many on the German side had expected. But, as the Germans established, with the exception of the troops in Bastogne and the 82nd Airborne Division on River Salm, this will to resist had generally been broken in front of the 5. Panzerarmee by 20 December, and the road to the Meuse lay open.

The fact that U.S. 101st Airborne Division with support units managed to hold the intersection of Bastogne indeed was a major impediment in the German plans, but as long as the Allied aviation stayed away the Germans could use other routes for their supplies, particularly since the Sankt Vith Wedge had been eliminated.
 
In the evening of 22 December, German 2. Panzer-Division prepared itself for the last leg towards the Meuse at Dinant, with Panzer Lehr on the division’s left (southern) flank. Indeed, at Marche, Combat Command A of 3rd Armored Division and 84th Infantry Division had assembled, but these two U.S. divisions were themselves subject to a serious threat from the northeast, where German 116. Panzer-Division, 2. SS-Panzer-Division, and 560. Volksgrenadier-Division came marching. Seven miles east of these forces stood yet another German armored division, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division. All of these units were focused on one aim: to cover the 2. Panzer-Division’s march towards the Meuse at Dinant. This was the largest concentration of forces the Germans ever made in such a limited area during the Ardennes Battle—when the offensive began, these divisions mustered more than four hundred serviceable tanks, about half of which were Panthers. The question the German commanders could ask themselves was if there were any Allied troops that could resist this force.
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The soldiers of this German armored troop carrier appear to be quite confident. In the evening on 22 December 1944, the 2. Panzer-Division was preparing itself for the last leg towards the Meuse. Until then, the Germans had swept aside all resistance in their way, and it seemed as though there were not many new American units that might hinder them. The German Army in the Ardennes was well supplied in terms of winter gear—a result of the lessons learned on the Eastern Front—and the vehicle and soldiers’ steel helmets apparently have just been coated with white paint. (BArch, Picture 101I-691-0241-33A/Kripgans)
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Sherman in the gun sight. Illustration by Horst Helmus.
 




* However, the German Army was in no way unique in this regard. Fussell quotes a U.S. Army report which established that ‘the problem of alcoholic beverages […] needs serious consideration. The American soldier will find a substitute which may be poisonous, if a supply is not available.’ (Fussell, Wartime: Understanding and Behavior in World War II, p. 103.) According to Fussell, the explanation is quite simple. Apart from the need to still his fear, ‘the soldier, especially the conscript, suffers so deeply from contempt and damage to his selfhood, from absurdity and boredom and chickenshit, that some anodyne is necessary. […] In the Second World War the recourse was to drunkenness.’ (Fussell, p. 98.) According to U.S. Army Medical Corps, American troops were’so eager to drink that numbers of them consumed captured buzz-bomb fluid (i.e. methyl alcohol) and died.’ (Fussell, p. 102.)

* At this time, since May 1940, the Eupen-Malmedy area was incorporated into Germany, whereby Germany’s border with Belgium was situated about six miles farther west.

** The operations officer—Ia, as the Germans called it—led the operational department of a military unit, and was in charge of preparing general operational orders given by the unit commander. The equivalent in the U.S. Army was called S3 at battalion and brigade level, and G3 at division and corps level.

* The five-ton General Motors CCKW truck was one of the U.S. Army’s most common vehicles during World War II. This was a 6x6, which means a six-wheel vehicle and all-wheel driven. The designation CCKW means: the first letter C indicates the design year 1941, the second letter C stands for ‘cab’ (closed cab), K means all-wheel driven, and W that the vehicle is equipped with tandem rear axles.

* The P -47D Thunderbolt was at its best at an altitude of around 21,000 feet, where it was was 50 to 60 m.p.h. faster than the Messerschmitt Bf 109 G -6, and at least 50 m.p.h. faster than the Focke Wulf Fw 190 A-8. At lower altitudes, such as 6,500 feet, the P-47D was roughly equal with the Fw 190 A-8 in top speed, but still about 25 m.p.h. faster than the Bf 109 G-6. The speed figures of course are optimal and varied, not least depending on how much fuel and ammunition the aircraft carried.

* These Wereth Eleven—Curtis Adams, Mager Bradley, George Davis, Thomas J. Forte, Robert Green, Jim Leatherwood, Nathaniel Moss, George W. Moten, William Edward Pritchett, James Aubry Stewart, and Due W. Turner—were honored with a memorial by the local inhabitants, but received no official monument as quickly after the war as the victims in Baugnez/ Malmedy and Ligneuville, and it was not until in 2001 that the U.S. Army garrison in Chièvres ‘adopted’ the tombs of the murdered at the church yard Henri-Chapelle in Liège.

** In the evening on 17 December, the British Ultra code breakers overheard an order from II. Jagdkorps that during 18 December all available fighters were to be despatched in order to cover their own marching columns against enemy fighter-bombers. The order specified that the fighter units were to operate in formations of 100-200 aircraft. (National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/633. CX/MSS/T 401/92. West.)

* In the book Hitler’s Last Gamble—which can be considered a major reference work on the Ardennes Battle—the military researchers Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson list a number of U.S. divisions that are said to have been in reserve, but in one way or another all of these were involved in other combat operations. (Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 34.) Hence, for instance, the 7th Armored Division formed an important part of the force that U.S. Ninth Army intended to launch against the Roer dams. The 94th Infantry Division was neither new, nor in reserve: between 8 September 1944 and the end of the year it was engaged in fierce battles to capture the French Atlantic ports of Lorient and Saint-Nazaire, which were held by lingering German forces.

* In regard to Fuller’s contribution to the town’s defense, however, the U.S. Congress decided on 11 January 1945 to award him with a second Silver Star ‘for conspicuous gallantry and intrepidity in action against the enemy while serving with the 38th Armored Infantry Battalion, 7th Armored Division, in action in Belgium, from 17 to 21 December 1944.’

* The Belgian river Ourthe really consists of two rivers: on one hand, the Ourthe Occidentale (Western Ourthe), which from the Libramont runs to the northeast, about nine miles northwest of Bastogne. At a point west of Houffalize it flows into the Ourthe Orientale (Eastern Ourthe), which from the heights just north of the northernmost tip of Luxembourg’s border with Belgium flows to the southwest and west. The two joined river branches then continue from the area west of Houffalize in a northwesterly direction, passing through the resorts of La Roche and Hotton, and a bit further north it bends to the north to eventually flow int the Meuse.

* See Chapter 6.

* This may seem to be a far-reaching assertion, but for researchers who have specialized in the subject, it is a quite uncontroversial statement. In order to obtain reasonable estimates of U.S. losses, the author and several other researchers have put together bits and pieces based on extensive and in-depth studies of the enormous amounts of primary sources. But even the loss of data due to be presented by such a work should be considered as incomplete. The true extent of U.S. losses during the Ardennes Battle probably will never be fully clarified; thereto the primary material is too heavy-handed to weed out.

** Shortly afterward, both Fuller and Miltons’ battalion met a fairly inglorious end in the Ardennes Battle—which we in the latter case shall see in the next chaper.





CHAPTER 5

7. ARMEE: SECURE THE FLANK!

"During our rapid advance, the Americans scarcely offered any opposition. On the contrary, I must say today that during the entire war I rarely saw soldiers in such a confused state, leaving their gear and equipment behind or throwing it away undamaged. "Major Goswin Wahl, commander of Fa llschirmjager-Regiment 13 in December 1944.1

THE FIRST DAY—ACROSS THE RIVER!

River Sûre runs from the hills around seven miles southwest of Bastogne. From the west to the east, it cuts through northern Luxembourg. At Wallendorf on the border between Luxembourg and Germany, it flows together with River Our, coming from the north. Thence, the Sûre—or Sauer as the Germans call it—bends towards the southeast, marking the border between Luxembourg and Germany along some thirty miles. This is where the front line ran in mid-December 1944. On the evening before 16 December 1944, the southernmost army in Operation ’Herbstnebel’— General Erich Brandenberger’s 7. Armee—was deployed on both sides of the place where the Our confluxes with the Sûre/ Sauer. The task assigned to this the weakest among the three armies in the German Ardennes offensive—it neither had any armor in the first line, nor the same amount of artillery as the other two armies—was to cover the 5. Panzerarmee’s southern flank against Lieutenant General George Patton’s powerful Third Army in the south. Brandenberger only had slightly above 47,000 first-line troops, supported by less than fifty assault guns/tank destroyers.2

The strongest corps in the 7. Armee was the LXXXV. Armeekorps under General Baptist Kniess on the northern flank. This corps consisted of two divisions, the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division and the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division, which together disposed over 24,000 troops supported by forty-four assault guns/tank destroyers. Kniess nevertheless enjoyed an almost three-fold numerical superiority against his enemy, for the Americans had deployed not much more than a single infantry regiment, the 109th of the 28th Infantry Division, in this sector. This regiment also had suffered terrible losses—a devastating 44 percent of its total force—during the fighting in the Hürtgen Forest in October and November 1944, and on 18 November it had been brought to this part of central eastern Luxembourg because it was regarded as so calm; the idea was to allow the 109th Infantry Regiment to rest and recuperate here.3
 
With 34-year-old Lieutenant Colonel James E. Rudder, the 109th received one of the U.S. Army’s most daring mid-level commanders on 8 December 1944. He had previously commanded a Ranger battalion which distinguished itself particularly well during the invasion of Normandy. At the end of World War II, Rudder was one of the highest decorated American servicemen. His awards included the Distinguished Service Cross, the second highest U.S. award for gallantry in combat, and the Belgian Ordre de Léopold. Like the adjacent regiment to the north, the 110th, Rudder’s regiment had in December 1944 been upgraded to a regimental combat team (109th RCT), and therefore had an assigned strength of 4,985 men (instead of an American infantry regiment’s normal assigned strength of 3,257), heavily supported by artillery and armor, as well as engineer and signal units.4

The 28th ‘Keystone Division’ was a veteran unit that had been in action on the Western Front since July 1944. That was one of the reasons why this division was assigned to such a broad section on this so-called ‘Ghost front’—around 25 miles wide. The divisional commander, 51-year-old Major General Norman ‘Dutch’ Cota, also was a veteran. He had served as the chief of staff in the 1st Infantry Division during the landing in Algeria in November 1942 (Operation ‘Torch’). Later on, he took part in the planning of the Normandy invasion, and on 6 June 1944 he was the first Allied general to set foot on the landing beaches. Cota commanded the 28th Infantry Division since August 1944, and hence he knew his men quite well. Furthermore, the unit had served in this section of the Ardennes for four weeks, so the men were well acquainted with the area. Cota felt confident when he assigned the front along River Our between Stolzembourg in the north and the Our’s confluence with River Sûre in the south—a five mile-wide section—to Rudder’s reinforced regiment. Farther to the north stood his division’s 110th Regimental Combat Team under Colonel Hurley Fuller, and even elements of this regiment would be drawn into combat against German 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division.

The terrain in the area where the 7. Armee was supposed to advance really can be described as the emblem of the Ardennes—deep woods of foliferous trees in a landscape dramatically intersected with hills and valleys with sharp quarry rocks, steep mountain walls, and rivers coiling through deep ravines, surrounded on both sides by huge, forested hills. This was a terrain definitely not suited for a fast armored advance.

Just like the 5. Panzerarmee farther to the north, the LXXXV. Armeekorps opened its offensive silently, with assault troops crossing the river in rubber boats early on 16 December. Covered by the darkness and the fog, this was accomplished without the Americans noticing anything.
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Particularly good progress was made by the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division, which was employed next to the 5. Panzerarmee’s southern flank. German 7. Armee’s chief of staff, Oberst Rudolf Freiherr von Gersdorff, described the men in this division as ‘young and fresh,’ who despite an inadequate military training displayed ‘generally high combat spirits.’ In his opinion, the divisonal commander, Oberst Heilmann, was ‘excellent.’5 Heilmann himself agreed that his troops, most of whom were younger than 20 years of age, were ‘highly motivated, but with an inadequate infantry training.’ However, he was quite critical of the officers; he felt that ‘the majority’ of the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s officers—who came straight from flying units—were ‘unwilling to their new use as infantry, spoilt and weakened through their previous life on airfields and the like.’6 But he made one exception for the commander of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15, Oberstleutnant Kurt Gröschke, who was one of the German Paratroop Force’s most experienced unit commanders, with combat experience since 1940. According to Heilmann’s judgement, the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s best sub-units were Gröschke’s regiment, Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon 5, and Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 11.7 However, as we shall see, other elements of this division also performed quite well during the coming fighting, and many of the officers would surpass Heilmann’s expectations.
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Oberst Ludwig Sebastian Heilmann, commander of the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division during the Ardennes Offensive. Heilmann was one of the most capable German officers in the Ardennes Offensive. He had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross for his paratroop battalion’s accomplishments during the conquest of Crete in May 1941. Following the Allied landings in Sicily in July 1943, Heilmann’s paratroop regiment was airdropped in the Catania Plains to relieve an enveloped German troop force. This operation was a total success, and for this Heilmann was awarded with the Oak Leaves to the Knight’s Cross. In May 1944, Heilmann received the Swords to the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves, which only sixty-six other German soldiers held at that time—this for his feats during the Battle of Monte Cassino. The picture was taken when Heilmann with the rank of a Major was awarded the Knight’s Cross in June 1941. Heilmann died in 1959, at the age of only 56. (BArch, Bild 146-1973-005-06) -





Between 0430 and 0500 hrs on 16 December, the assault companies of Fallschirmjäger regiments 14 and 15 crossed the Our at Stolzembourg—three miles to the south of Obereisenbach, where the engineers of Panzer Lehr would construct a bridge later in the day—and at Roth, four miles further downstream (to the south). This was accomplished according to plan, without their enemy detecting anything.8 At Roth, the engineers of Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon 5 also crossed the river, followed by Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 13. The pioneer battalion’s main task was to construct bridges for the division’s assault guns and artillery, but its 4. Kompanie under Fahnenjunker-Oberfeldwebel Hans Prigge was assigned with a special task—to seize the town of Vianden, fifteen hundred yards upstream from Roth, where there was a partly demolished stone bridge across the river.9 This task was successfully completed; soldiers in the American platoon that held a checkpoint beneath the medieval castle in the small town were taken by surprise, and all of them were killed or captured.10

At 0530 hrs, the 7. Armee’s artillery opened fire. The shelling was particularly heavy in the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s section, where half of the Army’s more than four hundred artillery pieces and Nebelwerfer were deployed. ’ Astonishingly,’ said Fahnenjunker Ulrich Krüger from Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15, ’we met with no resistance on our advance. Random harassing fire from medium-caliber artillery fell on the area, but it did not bother us or cause us any losses.’11

Without being detected by the Americans until after several hours, Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14 surged forward in the seam between U.S. 109th and 110th Regimental Combat Teams, and soon was ordered to support the 5. Panzerarmee’s 26. Volksgrenadier-Division in the fight for Weiler and Hoscheid, two and four miles respectively west of Stolzembourg. On the paratroop division’s southern flank, Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 made a rapid advance across the hilly terrain west of Roth. The small village of Walsdorf, two miles to the west of River Our, was found to be unoccupied by the Americans. After another mile or so of arduous march across the broken terrain, the paratroopers reached the so-called ’Skyline Drive,’ the highway that runs from the north to the south parallel to River Our. Through this thrust, the paratroopers, in collaboration with the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 915, managed to cut off the troops of’E’ Company, 2nd Battalion, 109th Regimental Combat Team, at Fouhren (Fuhren), a mile southeast of Walsdorf. From positions on the hills to the east of Fouhren, surrounded by open fields, the Americans could observe and lead their artillery against the German river crossing at Roth, only a mile farther down to the east. Hence, this section was one of the prime targets for both the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division and the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division on the first day of the attack.
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Equipped with Sturmgewehr 44 assault rifles, troops of the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division advance through a deciduous forest in eastern Luxembourg. (BArch, Bild 183-1985-0104-501/Lange)
 




The 352. Volksgrenadier-Division under Generalmajor Erich Schmidt consisted of over 10,000 men, and was characterized by Oberst von Gersdorff as ’a good division.’12 This division’s northernmost regiment, Grenadier-Regiment 915 under the command of Oberstleutnant Johannes Drawe, hardly met any resistance as it crossed the Our south of Roth in the morning on 16 December. These German troops then made it through the valley south of Roth, towards Fouhren. Right here, a more than mile-wide gap yawned between the positions of 2nd and 3rd battalions of U.S. 109th Regimental Combat Team, so the Germans could continue forward without incidents. But while these soldiers were marching towards the west, the night sky suddenly lit up by explosions in the south, and a heavy artillery rumble told them that everything was not as well with Grenadier-Regiment 916 on the division’s southern flank.

Grenadier-Regiment 916 actually also managed to avoid detection by the Americans as its troops crossed River Our, and they set about to march towards the west to establish a defensive screen west of Gentingen, two miles south of Roth, where engineer troops began to construct a bridge. But as they came out on the open fields less than a mile west of the river, they were observed by a U.S. force that radioed in artillery. U.S. 107th and 108th Field Artillery Battalions were positioned on the hills north of Diekirch, three miles farther south.13 From these positions they opened up a devastating fire against Grenadier-Regiment 916 and Gentingen. This not only halted Grenadier-Regiment 916, which was dealt bloody losses, but also stopped the construction of the bridge at Gentingen. Because of that, the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division’s tank destroyers could not be brought across the river to support the infantry.
 
Another good three miles downstream (to the south, or rather southeast), River Sûre/Sauer was crossed by German 276. Volksgrenadier-Division. This was the northernmost division of the LXXX. Armeekorps, the German offensive’s southernmost attack force. The LXXX. Armeekorps, under General Franz Beyer, consisted of two divisions and was assigned a fifteen-mile wide front along the Sûre’s/Sauer’s river bend northwest of the city of Trier. With only just over nine thousand men, the 276. Volksgrenadier-Division was one of the weakest German divisions in the offensive. It had been formed just recently, and the troops consisted mainly of recruits whose training standards Oberst von Gersdorff characterized as inadequate.14 The division, however, was commanded by the highly experienced Generalmajor Kurt Möhring, who had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross for his exploits during the Battle of Kursk on the Eastern Front in 1943. As judged by the Americans, based on POW interrogations, the combat spirits of this division were quite high.15

The 276. Volksgrenadier-Division was pitted against an opponent worthy of respect—Combat Command A of U.S. 9th Armored Division. Despite the rugged terrain, the Americans had chosen to position an armored regiment here. As we have previously seen (Chapter 4), the three combat commands of Major General John W. Leonard’s fresh 9th Armored Division were divided between three different sections. Here in the south were the Divisional Headquarters and Combat Command A, under Colonel Thomas J. Harrold, each with a tank battalion, an armored infantry battalion, and an artillery battalion, plus an antitank company and various support units. But Möhring’s troops saw nothing of this considerable force as they under the cover of darkness and fog at dawn on 16 December put their inflatable rafts and improvised ferries into the cold river. In fact, at this time, the U.S. armored regiment only had the 60th Armored Infantry Battalion in the front line, which was so thinly held that the Germans were able to establish a beach head without the Americans noticing anything. But Möhring confined his attack to the seizure of the first village, Bigelbach, located on the narrow lowlands to the west of the river. Here— at the foot of high, forested mountains, intersected by sharp cliffs and steep ravines— his troops went into position for the remainder of the first day, to the Army commander Brandenberger’s dismay.

The second division of the LXXX. Armeekorps, the 212. Volksgrenadier-Division, was just about the opposite to the 276. Volksgrenadier-Division—it certainly also was relatively newly formed, but had amassed a good deal of combat experience during several weeks of first-line service at the West Wall. ’Good division with good fighting spirit and command,’ was Oberst von Gersdorff’s review.16 Its eleven thousand soldiers mainly came from Bavaria, and many of them were only 17 years old. The divisional commander, Generalleutnant Franz Sensfuss, also was an experienced officer who had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross during the fighting on the Eastern Front.

The 212. Volksgrenadier-Division crossed the Sûre/Sauer with Grenadier-Regiment 423 on the northern and Grenadier-Regiment 320 on the southern flank.17 ’It was easy to cross and to reach the highland,’ Sensfuss reported.18 Here, too, the Germans initially managed to get through undetected, covered as they were by the morning mist. But the cooperation between the two divisions of the LXXX. Armeekorps was hampered by the Schwarze Ernz (Ernz Noire) river, which runs down from the heights ten miles farther south and joins the Sûre/Sauer southwest of Bollendorf. High forested mountains rise almost vertically from the deep river gorge of the Schwarze Ernz, and both sides of the river are dominated by the extremely rugged terrain that compelled Möhring to halt his Division at Bigelbach, three miles northwest of the confluence between the Schwarze Ernz and the Sûre/Sauer. On their eastern side of the Schwarze Ernz however, the men of the 212. Volksgrenadier-Division met with some good success. The American regiment assigned to hold this sector—the 4th Infantry Division’s 12th Infantry Regiment—soon found that it had one company each encircled at Echternach, Lauterborn, Osweiler, and Dickweiler, at a distance of up to two miles from the Sûre/Sauer.
 
U.S. artillery however managed to prevent the 212. Volksgrenadier-Division from constructing bridges across the river. Within a short time, the Americans also despatched the 70th Tank Battalion with forty Shermans and seventeen Stuart tanks for a counter-attack, which succeeded in relieving all of the encircled U.S. units except the company in Echternach.19 This armored thrust also put a resolute end to the 212. Volksgrenadier-Division’s advance. Moreover, additional U.S. reinforcements were on their way. On the very next day, Patton, the Third Army’s commander, ordered the 10th Armored Division’s Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve northwards to block German LXXX. Armeekorps.

It might seem ironical that Patton made this quick and powerful draw against the weakest among the corps in the German offensive. The LXXX. Armeekorps lacked both armor and anti-tank guns, and it only had the four StuG IIIs that had been assigned to the 212. Volksgrenadier-Division.20 The artillery, in all one hundred and ninety pieces, consisted of a hodgepodge of German guns and howitzers, captured Soviet and French weapons, and even a few old pieces used in the Imperial Austrian army during World War One.21 The weakness of the corps, however, was to some extent relative to its fairly limited task—to seize the heights on the wesern side of River Sûre/Sauer to ensure that U.S. artillery would not interfere with the German transport of supplies across the southernmost reaches of the river. The task of this German corps really was of a defensive nature. But to the Americans, it was vital to make Sûre that the connections between their First and Third armies were not severed, hence the strong effort against German LXXX. Armeekorps.

On the German side, however, the 7. Armee placed the emphasis on General Kniess’ LXXXV. Armeekorps on the northern flank, where some spectacular success was achieved.

THE PARATROOPERS ADVANCE WESTWARDS

On 17 December, the Americans counter-attacked with both the 9th Armored Division and the 109th RCT. But unlike the counter-attack against the 212. Volksgrenadier-Division on the previous day, all of these attempts were stymied. A force from the 89th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron and 811th Tank Destroyer Battalion was ambushed and forced to retreat under heavy fire from Panzerfausts, leaving several burning tanks behind. The American troops had no idea that there were any enemy soldiers in that area.

What had happened was that Generalmajor Kurt Möhring—who had been reproached by German 7. Armee’s C-in-C, Brandenberger, for halting his 276. Volksgrenadier-Division at Bigelbach on the first day of the attack—had taken advantage of the previous night’s darkness, to circumvent the American positions through the dense forests. With the American force that was supposed to deliver the counter-attack pushed back, U.S. 60th Armored Infantry Battalion’s headquarters in Beaufort was overrun and captured. Suddenly the whole American battalion found itself surrounded!
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The German Jagdpanzer 38 (t) Hetzer tank destroyer was built on the chassis of the Czech-made tank LT-38, and had been provided with better armor and a Pak 39 L/48, 75mm anti-tank gun. The Hetzer first entered service in July 1944 ami became one of the most common late-war German tank destroyers. (Marion Schaaf - MNHM Diekirch)
 




The counter-attack launched by Lieutenant Colonel Rudder, commanding the 109th Regimental Combat Team, at dawn on 17 December to relieve ’E’ Company of his 2nd Battalion at Fouhren, fared no better. All that Rudder was able to assemble for this operation were two companies of the 2nd Battalion and a tank company. On the day before, he had disposed the 707th Tank Battalion, but because of the crisis for the two other regiments of the 28th Infantry Division farther to the north—the 110th and the 112th—the divisional commander Cota had ordered all the armored battalion’s companies but ‘C’ Company northwards, as we have seen in the previous chapter.

This relatively weak force was repulsed by German II. Bataillon/ Grenadier-Regiment 915, plus a replacement battalion from Grenadier-Regiment 914 and III. Bataillon of German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15, using Panzerfausts with good results. In connection with this fight, the paratroopers also managed to capture the artillery positions at Bastendorf, southwest of Fouhren, from where the Americans had inflicted such severe losses on Grenadier-Regiment 916 on the first day of the attack. Here, German Grenadier-Regiment 915’s commander, Oberstleutnant Drawe, was badly wounded, but the artillery fire against the river banks was stopped. Thus, over the course of 17 December, the Germans could complete the bridge at Gentingen, and before sunset the fourteen Hetzer tank destroyers of the 352. Panzerjäger-Abteilung were across on the other side of the river.22

The tank destroyer Jagdpanzer 38 (t) Hetzer basically was a modified Czech-made LT-38 tank without a turret, equipped with a stronger armor protection, and—above all—the powerful 75mm Pak 39 L/48 antitank gun, which could knock out a Sherman frontally at a distance of up to 2,000 yards. The three Hetzers that showed up at Fouhren obviously frightened the Americans so much that they reported them as ’Tiger tanks.’23 This decided the outcome of the battle for this little village. The American relief force was driven back with bloody losses, and inside the village, the remaining thirty-five American soldiers of ’E’ Company took cover in a large building. The Germans called in the 352. Pionier-Bataillon, which used flamethrowers to drive the surviving Americans out of the building. One of these, Bill Alexander, tells the story:

Sergeant Martin Slota and I, who were down in the root cellar, threw our rifles out into the fire and came upstairs. I think we were the last of E Company or of the 2nd Bn to come out of that house. The men were crying or cursing as they came out. We were taken shortly after that across the Our river—there was a bridge at Roth—and were eventually moved to Bitburg. The German soldiers who captured us, were of a paratroop unit. They treated us well. I remember one of them searching me, put his hand in my pocket and I said, ’Cigarettes’ ’Ah, Zigaretten,’ he said and made a motion for me to take them out and I thought that this was my last draw. I handed them to him and he said, ’ja Zigaretten,’ and put them back.24

The section where this fighting took place is surrounded by rivers on three sides—the Our in the east, and the Sûre both in the west and the south. Thereby, the Germans had to make it across more rivers. While elements of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 still were fighting at Fouhren, the regimental commander, Oberstleutnant Gröschke, ordered his 5. Kompanie towards the Sûre’s western branch. Over the course of the day, this company managed to seize the bridge at Goebelsmühle, six miles west of Fouhren, through a magnificent coup. Thus, the way to the west lay open.

At dawn on 18 December, the 352. Volksgrenadier-Divisionߣs Grenadier-Regiment 916 attacked Bettendorf on the Sûre’s southern branch under the cover of a smoke screen, and forced U.S. 109th Regimental Combat Team’s 3rd Battalion to withdraw to Diekirch, two miles to the west. Meanwhile, the American regiment’s 2nd Battalion retreated from the heights in the north down towards the same town. Farther to the south, on the other side of this branch of the Sûre, U.S. 9th Armored Divisionߣs Combat Command A meanwhile renewed its attempts to relieve the surrounded 60th Armored Infantry Battalion, but again this was stymied by German 276. Volksgrenadier-Division. ’There appeared to be a Panzerfaust behind every tree,’ wrote Charles B. MacDonald. ‘In what seemed to be only minutes, the Panzerfausts knocked out a light tank and six Shermans. The commander of the leading medium tank company, Captain Arthur J. Banford, Jr., his own tank shot from under him, ordered withdrawal.’25

The troops of U.S. 60th Armored Infantry Battalion had no option but to attempt a break-out. In absolutely chaotic scenes, around 350 men managed to slip back to their own main line, while all of the remainder were killed or captured.26 However, the Germans also took some heavy casualties. Among those killed on 18 December was the C.O. of the 276. Volksgrenadier-Division, Generalmajor Möhring.

This was just as far as the LXXX. Armeekorps would get, no more than three to six miles into Luxembourg. On 18 December, the U.S. forces which stood against German 7. Armee’s southern flank received a significant reinforcement through the arrival of 10th Armored Divisionߣs Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve. Together with Combat Command A, 9th Armored Division, these merged into the so-called Combat Command X. Next day, German LXXX. Armeekorps was compelled to revert to the defensive, at most six miles from its jump-off positions. A final success could be netted on 20 December, when the last American recistance in Echternach was broken. ’The neighboring division paused even on the first day,’ lamented the commander of the 212. Volksgrenadier-Division, Generalleutnant Sensfuss. ’Further success was denied because the neighbors failed.’27

The 7. Armee was far more successful on the northern flank—and this also was what the Germans had expected. On 17 December, engineer troops had constructed a bridge across the Our, allowing Fallschirm-Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 11 to cross over with its thirty StuG III assault guns, a most welcome support to the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division.28 After Hoscheid had been taken—at the seam between the 7. Armee and the 5. Panzerarmee—the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division was ordered to leave the 5. Panzerarmee’s operational area and continue due west according to the original plan. The paratroopers rapidly made it across River Clerve and advanced towards the town of Wiltz, which readily could be surrounded.

By now, the C.O. of the 28th Infantry Division, Major General Cota, could see the outlines of a total disaster for his division. Indeed, his 112th Infantry Regiment still held out in the Sankt Vith area far to the north, but his 110th Regimental Combat Team had disintegrated into scattered and demoralized groups of soldiers that withdrew westwards in more or less disorder. The 109th Regimental Combat Team appeared to be about to suffer the same fate. In order to save what could be saved of his division, Cota issued an order on 18 December to pull back what remained of the 109th to the northwest, to Bastogne. But the regimental commander, the ’fighter’ Rudder, opposed this, and he managed to get his way.29

However, not much was left of the 109th Regimental Combat Team either. The remains of its main force were pushed back to the southwest. In Diekirch, a small town twelve miles southeast of Wiltz, Rudder decided to make an effort to halt the German attack. But this was a hopeless venture. On 18 December, German 352. Volksgrenadier-Division took up positions on the hills north of Diekirch and started shelling the small town, which is wedged in the river gorge of the Sûre’s southern arm. It was a pure trap. A hellish fire from artillery and Nebelwerfer rockets inflicted terrible losses on the American troops. When it was rumoured that the Americans were preparing to abandon the town, panic broke out among the four thousand residents. Many of them had participated in the liberation of their town in September 1944, and now they feared German reprisals. Thousands of people streamed out of the town, blocking the road from Diekirch that winds up to the mountains south of the Sûre. Thus, U.S. Combat Command X was unable to get through to support Rudder’s troops.
 
On 19 December, the soldiers of the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division came down the hill to attack the town itself. The assault was led by the divisional commander Generalmajor Schmidt personally—with the result that he himself was badly wounded. By that time, a couple of hundred exhausted troops was all that remained of the 109th Regimental Combat Team in Diekirch, and now even Rudder realized that the game was over. At eight in the evening on 19 December he called Cota and informed him that his regiment ’could fight it out’ if necessary, but that ’that would be the end.’30 He was given a free hand, and during the following night the Americans left Diekirch.

After the retreat from Diekirch, the 109th Regimental Combat Team was more or less finished as a fighting force, so Rudder had no choice but to to disengage the remainder of his unit from the enemy as quickly as possible. The 352. Volksgrenadier-Division’s gray-clad soldiers triumphantly marched into Diekirch. Advancing between burning and ruined houses in the otherwise picturesque little town on the morning of 20 December, they marveled at how eerily deserted everything was; nearly all of the residents had fled.

With the 109th Regimental Combat Team virtually wiped out, what was left of the 110th Regimental Combat Team was cut to pieces by German 5. Panzerarmee in cooperation with Oberst Heilmann’s German paratroop division. On the evening of 19 December, the 1. Kompanie of Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon 5 under Leutnant Walter Sander overpowered U.S. 687th Field Artillery Battalion at the main road junction three miles southwest of Wiltz. While the American artillerymen took refuge in the neighboring Café Schumann, a whole column of U.S. combat vehicles suddenly appeared with their headlamps on. These carried two hundred men of Major Harold F. Milton’s 3rd Battalion, 110th Regimental Combat Team. This was the remains of the gallant battalion that by clinging on to Hosingen and Consthum for two days had delayed the Panzer Lehr Division’s advance in a most decisive manner—thus saving Bastogne. After this epic battle, the Americans withdrew to Wiltz, and managed to get out of there before this town was surrounded, and now they came along the road to Bastogne—not knowing that the Germans had reached that far west.
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Café Schumann still remains at the famous road intersection Schumann’s Eck. (Photo: The author)
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The town of Wiltz, photo from the winter of 1944/1945. (NARAl111-SC-199378/Zinni)
 




The engines screamed as the heavy lorries slowly worked their way up the icy hill on the lowest gear, towards the crossroads. Leutnant Sander’s stunned men paused for a moment, but then a Panzerfaust set a half-track vehicle burning, and another one knocked out a tank farther back in the column. 31 Major Milton’s men hastily abandoned their vehicles and jumped headlong straight into the darkness. They tumbled down the slope into the beech forest, and before they got to their feet, they had been overpowered by the paratroopers and surrendered. According to Horst Lange, one of the participating German paratroopers, the Americans lost between six and eight tanks in this ambush.

Meanwhile, the artillerymen in Café Schumann were left with no option. One of them, Sergeant Gene Fleury, remembers how the brazen paratroopers yelled at them from the darkness outside: ’No more zig-zig [sex] in Paris!’32

The Americans decided to surrender, and shivering with fear they went out through the front door where they were apprehended by the Fallschirmjäger, who were described by Private First Class Ervin McFarland as ’wild and very young, no doubt teenagers.’33 Sergeant Austin remembers that ‘they slapped and banged you around, stripped you down, took your watch, took your wallet, pen knives, and even made me take off my shoes.’34 Then the small group of paratroopers brought their several hundred prisoners and a large number of captured vehicles and artillery pieces to the east. Two months later, Leutnant Sander was awarded with the Knight’s Cross.

On 20 December, Oberst Heilmann ordered most of his 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division to continue westward over Doncols, four miles west of Wiltz, and on through the forests and fields in the area south of Bastogne, with Sibret and Vaux-les-Rosières, southwest of Bastogne as their goal. The distance to Sibret was almost ten miles, and Vaux-les-Rosières was located another five miles to the southwest. Furthermore, the area that the paratroopers would have to pass hardly had any roads leading from the east to the west. But Heilmann felt that he had to take advantage of the opportunity that had emerged when the 109th Regimental Combat Team was neutralized, while other U.S. forces east of Bastogne were in a state of utter confusion. U.S. 101st Airborne Division just had arrived at Bastogne, but if Heilmann’s division quickly managed to reach Sibret and Vaux-les-Rosières, all roads to Bastogne would be blocked for additional U.S. reinforcements.
 
Only one of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14’s battalions and two of Fallschirm-Pionier Bataillon 5’s companies were left behind to take care of Wiltz.35 This actually proved to be quite sufficient. Inside the surrounded town, morale among the U.S. troops crumbled. Just like farther to the north, where the 106th Infantry Division succumbed, these Americans had no idea of just how small the German forces that surrounded them were. Instead of launching a counter-attack, the troops in Wiltz were ordered to attempt a break-out by ’infiltration’ of the German-controlled area. Technical Sergeant Harvey H. Hamann recounts:

We got orders on the night of the 19th to evacuate to a small town on the other side of Bastogne. The 44th Engineer Combat Battalion was spearheading the evacuation along with a few tanks and half tracks of the 707th Tank Battalion. We ran through three road blocks and were stopped at the fourth. By that time we had about 75 to 100 wounded and I don’t know how many killed. The captain of the engineers decided to surrender the convoy with the wounded and the rest of us took off in groups of three and four’s. The little group I was with didn’t make out so well. On the morning of the 22nd I was by myself with a lot of Jerries looking at me. I went into a deserted farmhouse and in about ten minutes the Jerries moved in following my footsteps in the snow. That changed my status to POW.36
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American soldiers passing a jeep that has just been hit by German mortars. (NARA, SC 198550/T/5 Albert J. Gedicks)
 




Other American soldiers inside Wiltz simply refused to obey orders and just waited for an opportunity to surrender, as Captain Benedict B. Kimmelman, a U.S. military judge, recalls. He told a group of soldiers that they had been ordered to evacuate the town, but the reaction he received was not what he had expected: ’None of the soldiers got to his feet. They were through with the war, ready to be taken prisoner. I bent down to shake hands and say good-bye. I felt no obligation to order or persuade them—infantrymen who had been in the line for days on end, over many months, and now had decided “no more”I stumbled on to a little group of soldiers huddled in a heap, too demoralized to fire their weapons. Half-hallucinating and in a burst of crazy humor, I asked one man with the shakes, whom I recognized, if he was taking his rifle apart to clean it.’37

Captain Kimmelman was one of the military judges who just a month earlier had sentenced a deserter from the 28th Infantry Division, Private Eddie Slovik, to death. The verdict was confirmed by the divisional commander Cota on 27 November 1944, and on 21 January 1945, Slovik was executed by a firing squad. During World War II, nearly 50,000 American soldiers deserted from the armed forces,38 but—probably under the impact of the widespread collapse of morale during the Ardennes Offensive—Slovik became the only one who actually was executed. By that time, Kimmelman was in German captivity.
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An M3 half-track vehicle cautiously passes an intersection where a Sherman tank is burning after taking a hit in the rear. The tank commander’s dead body is seen in the turret hatch. (NARA, SC 196909T/4 Clifford O. Bell)





In addition to one thousand prisoners of war, the German paratroopers captured twenty-five Sherman tanks and numerous other military vehicles in Wiltz. Meanwhile, the paratroop division’s main force advanced towards the west at a breath-taking speed. After the war, Major Goswin Wahl, deputy commander of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 13, wrote:

During our rapid advance, the Americans scarcely offered any opposition. On the contrary, I must say today that I rarely saw soldiers during the entire war in such a confused state, leaving their gear and equipment behind or throwing it away unharmed. In the first couple of days, almost 1,000 soldiers were captured in the regiment’s sector. I am still surprised to this day that our attempted offensive was not suspected by the other side. The main reason may be a lack of air reconnaissance, caused by a zone of bad weather that remained over us. Naturally, it was comparatively simple for us to capture large quantities of equipment, food and vehicles, especially jeeps and the like, with this mass flight of Americans in our sector.39

Over the course of 20 December, the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division cut off the N 4, one of the two highways leading to Bastogne from the south, and in the evening it reached Sibret at N 85, the next highway to Bastogne from the south. At this place, where Major General Cota had brought his 28th Infantry Division headquarters from Wiltz, the Americans managed to halt the Germans, at least temporarily. While the German paratroopers went into position outside the town, Major General Cota was seen running around in the streets of the small town in the search for cooks, truck drivers and other other non-combat troops to organize into Sibret’s defense.
 
During the following night, the German paratroopers at Sibret were joined by elements of the reconnaissance battalions of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division and Panzer Lehr Division, and, shortly thereafter also by the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39. When these forces attacked on the next day, the Americans had to budge. Cota managed to get away and set up his headquarters in Vaux-les-Rosières, further down the N 85. On 21 December, the Germans advanced to Libramont, fifteen miles southwest of Bastogne.

In the meantime, Oberst Heilmann sent Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon 5 marching south to cover the southeastern flank.40 On the evening of 21 December, the 7. kompanie of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 took Martelange, where the N 4 crossed River Sûre, twelve miles south of Bastogne. Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14, ’hitch-hiking’ with the vehicles of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s motorized reconnaissance battalion, meanwhile pursued Major General Cota, drove him out of Vaux-les-Rosières too, and forced the 28th Infantry Division to transfer its headquarters to Neufchâteu, even farther south—where Major General Middleton had arrived with the headquarters of U.S. VIII Corps on the previous day. Only there was the headquarters of the 28th Infantry Division able to disengage from the enemy.41

In the evening of 21 December, Brandenberger’s 7. Armee had occupied a large area extending from the border between Germany and Luxembourg at Echternach in the east, and northwestwards through Luxembourg, all the way to Libramont in Belgium—nearly forty miles to the west of the Army’s point of departure five days earlier. The defenders of Bastogne thus were cut off to the south by an up to twelve-mile-wide wedge.
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The chief of staff of German 7. Armee, Oberst von Gersdorff, held the soldiers of the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division in high regard, describing them as ‘young, healthy men’ with a generally high morale.’ He characterized the divisional commander, Oberst Heilmann, as ‘excellent.’ The division would not make von Gersdorff disappointed. Hardly any of the German divisions that participated in Ardennes Offensive performed as well as the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division, which against own losses of only 50 killed, during the offensive’s first five days played a vital role in the neutralization of U.S. 28th Infantry Division. This picture shows two of the unit’s paratroopers who help each other to paint their steel helmets and their other equipment white after the snow has begun to cover the ground in the Ardennes. (BArch, Bild 183-2005-0519-500)
 




During a week-long onslaught, General Kniess’ LXXXV. Armeekorps—and in particular Heilmann’s paratroop division—had practically wiped out all U.S. forces in the whole area southeast, southwest, and south of Bastogne. The main opponent of the German Army Corps, 109th Regimental Combat Team, had been dealt a terrible bloodletting—according to official figures, its losses amounted to 3,381 men, of whom 2,498 were captured or missing.42 The 110th Regimental Combat Team, the next regiment of ’Dutch’ Cota’s 28th Infantry Division, was in no better shape, having lost 139 men killed, 333 wounded, and 2,148 captured or missing in the space of only a few days.43 The 28th Infantry Division in fact had been so severely mauled that Eisenhower had no choice but to withdraw the division from combat—and this in the midst of the worst Allied crisis in Europe since the fall of France in 1940! In fact, the 28th Infantry Division would not return to first-line service until February 1945.

A further indication of the German paratroop division’s success was that its own losses during the first five days of the Ardennes Offensive were limited to only fifty killed.44 Hardly surprising, Oberst Werner Bodenstein, chief of staff in German LIII. Armeekorps, found the fighting spirits in the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division to be sky high when he arrived to inspect the unit on 22 December.45 On the same day, the paratroop division’s commander, Ludwig Heilmann, was promoted to Generalmajor.

In view of its limited resources, the accomplishments of General Erich Brandenberger’s 7. Armee were quite astounding. On 21 December, its most advanced unit, the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division, stood in front of a huge area—in the south and in the west—that had been more or less cleared of troops from U.S. First Army, which was tasked to hold this section. To Brandenberger, it appeared as though nothing remained but to bring up the second attack wave to continue the offensive westwards. On 22 December, the 7. Armee’s reserve, LIII. Armeekorps, was set in motion towards the front lines in the west. This new and fresh corps included the armored elite unit Fuhrer Grenadier Brigade,* mustering seventy-eight serviceable tanks and tank destroyers.46

While the 5. Panzerarmee was preparing for the final assault across River Meuse, the 7. Armee seemed to be holding the southern flank secured.

* Not to be confused with Föhrer Begleit Brigade, which was employed in the Sankt Vith sector.





CHAPTER 6

6. SS-PANZERARMEE: RUTHLESSLY FORWARD!

"These units—characterized by their arrogance and extremely inflated pretentiousness—had, through their total lack of discipline (which in itself was an integral part of their system) and an ill-considered recklessness, in combination with a great deal of stupidity, a directly harmful influence on the outcome of the battle. They always were an obstacle to any methodical command." Oberst Heinz Kokott, commanderofthe26.Volksgrenadier-Division.1

SS CONTRA THE WEHRMACHT

On the northern flank of the Ardennes Offensive, things looked completely different. Here, SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer Josef ’Sepp’ Dietrich’s 6. SS-Panzerarmee was intended to play the main role in Operation ’Herbstnebel.’

According to the operation plan, the I. SS-Panzerkorps under SS-Gruppenführer Hermann Priess would perform a rapid advance through the Losheimer-Graben, the two- to six-mile-wide valley where the Germans had carried out their main attacks in the invasions of Belgium in 1870, 1914, and 1940. Once Priess had reached the Meuse, the II. SS-Panzerkorps under SS-Obergruppenfuhrer Wilhelm Bittrich was supposed to join the offensive to give extra impetus to the final assault towards the prime goal, Antwerp.

As an additional support, two special operations were assigned to the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s advance. One of these, code-named ’Operation Greif’ (Griffin), was to be carried out by SS-Panzer Brigade 150 under SS-Obersturmbannführer Otto Skorzeny. These troops would be wearing American uniforms. This unit consisted of basically two different forces: 150 men—among them those who spoke the best English—formed Einheit Stielau, whose task it was to infiltrate the American lines on the first day of the attack, in order to carry out sabotage, spread confusion, and reconnoitre in the enemy’s rear area. The rest of the brigade’s about 2,500 men were divided into three task forces—Kampfgruppe X, Y, and Z. These would join the advance units of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division, the 12. SS-Panzer-Division, and the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division. The plan was that these task forces would infiltrate the American lines when these divisions had reached the Malmédy area, and utilize their American disguises to capture the Meuse bridge at Huy as well as the bridges at Amay and Andenne, on both sides of Huy.

The second special operation assigned to the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, was Operation ’Stösser’ (Pestle). Commanded by paratroop veteran Oberstleutnant Friedrich August Freiherr von der Heydte, twelve hundred German paratroopers were to be air dropped behind the American lines during the night before the offensive. The aim was to take and hold the key crossroads of Baraque Michel, seven miles north of the town of Malmédy.

But much in the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s participation in ’Herbstnebel’ was skewed from the outset. Firstly, no more than ten appropriate commando soldiers who spoke the perfect American English that ’Operation Greif’ presupposed could be found, and only one serviceable Sherman tank was available. Skorzeny had to put up with four hundred men who could speak a reasonable English, and two thousand men with no English skills at all, and with Panther tanks that had the turret coverings removed and plates mounted to at least vaguely resemble U.S. M10 tank destroyers.

The paratroop operation was terribly ill-prepared, and this soon became clear to Oberstleutnant Freiherr von der Heydte. When, on 8 December, he was oriented on the operations plan by Generaloberst Kurt Student—the first commander of the German paratroop force, at that time C.O. of the 1. Fallschirmarmee and Heeresgruppe H in Holland—he felt that a force of 1,200 troops was too small for the task. Von der Heydte had commanded paratroopers during the air landings on Crete in May 1941, and he knew what he was talking about. Student agreed, but explained that it was an unyielding ’Führer Order.’ Von der Heydte then asked for premission to use of paratroop veterans from his old regiment, Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 6. Led by von der Heydte, Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 6 had fought gallantly against, among other units, U.S. 101st Airborne Division ’Screaming Eagles’ at Normandy in June 1944. But Hitler turned down von der Heydte’s request—he did not want to risk losing the entire paratroop elite, which was basically grouped in Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 6. Instead, he ordered each paratroop regiment to despatch ’a hundred of their best men’ to Kampfgruppe von der Heydte. Of course, the opposite was what happened—under the pretext of having selected the elite’ German regimental commander took the opportunity to get rid of men regarded as a burden to their units.
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GERMANS IN AMERICAN UNIFORMS

Operation ‘Greif’—German soldiers in American uniforms and with U.S. military vehicles behind the Allied lines— actually was the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s perhaps most successful undertaking during the Ardennes Offensive. On the evening of 16 December, at least six small groups from Einheit Steilau (led by SS-Hauptsturmführer Helmut Steilau) managed to infiltrate the American lines.1 One of these was reported to have reached the Meuse at Huy, where it went into position at an intersection to observe American troop movements. Shortly afterwards, an American armored column arrived. The German officer is said to have managed to trick the Americans into taking a big detour by claiming that the roads in the south were blocked by ‘those damned Germans.’ On the way back to their own lines on the following day, this group cut telephone lines at Marche and removed road signs or turned them the wrong way.2 Another group is reported to have reached the Liège area where they localized a major U.S. ammunition storage, which it reported to headquarters. This group also caused a U.S. unit to take a detour to the front area.3 A third group also located a U.S. fuel supply dump, which was reported to headquarters.

Another group crossed the Meuse at Amay and could report that the Americans took no special precautions at the Meuse bridges. On the way back to the German lines, this group blocked the road that led to the front with mines, mine warning signs, and tree barriers.4

The greatest damage, however, was done to the Allies through Steilau men in captivity. At least two of the commando groups were captured by the Americans. Some of these soldiers were executed, but before that they had managed to plant the false rumor that similar commando groups were on their way to assassinate General Eisenhower. This gave rise to the widespread fear of the Germans in American uniforms that came to characterize the situation behind the Allied lines for several days.

How half a million American soldiers, in Bradley’s words, played cat and mouse with each other to try to discover if they were disguised Germans, has passed into history. Among thousands of Allied soldiers who mistakenly were arrested by suspicious American soldiers, was, on 20 December, Brigadier General Bruce Clarke, the commander of Combat Command B of the 7th Armored Division, sent to relieve 106th Infantry Division at Sankt Vith. He had to put up with being called ‘one of those Nazi murderers’ by his American captors.5 Even Field Marshal Montgomery was at one time held in captivity for a couple of hours.6

In Versailles, the supreme commander Eisenhower was compelled to go underground. The SHAEF headquarters was surrounded by barbed wire, the guards were quadrupled, and even tanks were brought forward to protect the headquarters. In the heated atmosphere, all kinds of rumors spread. On 20 December, Eisenhower received an ‘urgent warning’ about German soldiers in American uniforms that were supposed to have been seen near Èpernay, south of Reims. French police reported that the Germans in American uniforms had landed in parachute in the immediate vicinity of the SHAEF headquarters, and another report even spoke of Germans dressed as nuns (!) that had landed in parachutes near Valenciennes.

An American officer who resembled Eisenhower, Lieutenant Colonel Baldwin B. Smith, was dressed in one of the supreme commander’s uniforms and was driven in a car back and forth between Eisenhower’s home and the headquarters in Versailles to serve as a target for the Germans.7 One of the captured ‘Greif’ men had claimed that Skorzeny and fifty of his commandos would meet at the Café de la Paix in Paris. Therefore, the Americans positioned two tanks at this location. Eisenhower himself ordered the printing of thousands of ‘wanted’ posters with a picture of Skorzeny’s face. After 17 December no more Steilau groups were despatched on ‘Grief’ missions, but the commando forces were used by German units for reconnaissance missions for several weeks.

1 Skorzeny, Special Missions, p. 169.

2 Ibid., p. 170.

3 Skorzeny, Ardennes Off ensive (Role of Commandos and 150th Panzer Brigade). ETHINT-12, pp. 6-7.

4 Skorzeny, Special Missions, p. 169.

5 Whiting, Skorzeny: The Most Dangerous Man in Europe, p. 69.

6 Infi eld, Skorzeny: Hitler’s Commando, p. 88.

7 Toland, Battle: The Story of the Bulge, p. 222.



Von der Heydte had to start by sending back the hundred worst men to their original units, and replaced them with volunteer youths from the Paratroop School. These were rated as better, although many of them had not yet made any jump. Just as things looked quite dark, 250 paratroop veterans from Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 6 turned up. When the rumor had reached them that von der Heydte was looking for men to form a new unit, these had ’deserted’ to report for duty under their old boss. This act won the approbation of sentimentally inclined German commanders, who agreed to endorse the irregular unit change. In some ways this captures the state and mentality of the Nazi Armed Forces in a nutshell.

But von der Heydte’s problems were not solved with this. Even his veterans proved to be insufficiently trained for the impending task. Since the air landings in Crete in 1941, the German paratroopers had been used mainly as a ’fire brigade’ in pure infantry fighting. In Kampfgruppe von der Heydte, there were not even three hundred men who had made a combat parachute jump, and many of the veterans had not jumped since the invasion of Crete three and a half years earlier. Very few were prepared for a combat jump at night over a forested area.
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The 6. SS-Panzerarmee was by far the best equipped among the three German armies that participated in Operation Herbstnebel.’ Among many things, it had a battalion of the huge 70-ton Königstiger tanks, which, with its 88mm KwK43 L/71 Kampfwagenkanone had an almost unmatched firepower. A Königstiger could knock out a Sherman frontally at a distance of up to two miles, whilst its own frontal armor was almost invulnerable to the fire of a Sherman at basically any distance. (BArch, Bild 146-1975-102-14A/Hamann)
 




On top of this, von der Heydte met no cooperative attitude from the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s boorish commander Sepp Dietrich. Four days prior to the start of the Offensive, Oberstleutnant von der Heydte reported to SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer Sepp Dietrich. Two men more different from each other than von der Heydte and Sepp Dietrich could not have been found. If there were contradictions between the SS and the Wehrmacht, this was even more pronounced in the relationship between SS commanders who often had a proletarian background (as in Sepp Dietrich’s case) and Wehrmacht commanders of Noble Family. Baron von der Heydte, descendant of an ancient Bavarian Noble Family with family ties to most of the Noblesse in Europe, ’looked down on Dietrich, the son of a butcher, as an uneducated street brawler.’2

On one occasion, Baron von der Heydte described Sepp Dietrich as ’a cur dog.’3 The blue-blooded lieutenant colonel’s negative impressions were reinforced when he noted that Dietrich, at least according to von der Heydte, was drunk and reeked of alcohol when the two men met to confer. Von der Heydte’s patience was further strained by Sepp Dietrich’s chief of staff, SS-Brigadeführer Fritz Kraemer, who during the entire conference wandered about, repeating, ’It’s crazy! What a lunatic operation!’4

Sepp Detrich probably already had made up his mind about the baron. During World War One, Dietrich served as a simple artillery soldier in the Royal Bavarian Army, where Friedrich von der Heydte’s father was a senior officer. For some reason Sepp Dietrich was ashamed to have belonged to the artillery, and afterwards invented the story that he had been a cavalryman.5 In fact, his first period of service in the Royal Bavarian Army took an abrupt end when, after just one month, he fell off a horse and was badly injured. It should have hurt if he knew that Friedrich von der Heydte carried his second name August after his grandfather who served as the commanding officer of the cavalry regiment böhmische Dragoner Regiment ’Graf Paar’ No. 2. That the paratroop officer von der Heydte also was related to the man behind the 20 July Plot against Hitler, Baron Claus von Stauffenberg, however, hardly was unknown to the SS general. Sepp Dietrich’s attitude towards von der Heydte perhaps can’t be better illustrated than by the answer he is said to have given the baron when he asked about the U.S. forces in the landing area:

’I am not a prophet! You will learn earlier than I what forces the Americans will employ against you. Besides, behind their lines there are only Jewish hoodlums and bank managers!’6

When von der Heydte suggested that his paratroopers would bring along carrier pigeons in the event that their radio equipment was lost during the air drop, Sepp Dietrich laughed scornfully and said: ’What do you think I am? Running a zoo?’7

The original idea was that the paratroopers would be the first to attack, but they rather became the last: At ten in the evening on 15 December, when the transport planes were supposed to take off, only four hundred of von der Heydte’s twelve hundred men were present at the airfields at Paderborn and Lippspringe. The others were stranded at their barracks at far distance, because no trucks had arrived to carry them to the airfields. As it would turn out, these trucks had not been not assigned with any fuel! Operation ’Stösser’ was postponed by one day.

Unlike most Wehrmacht units, the SS units were abundantly equipped with both personnel and materiel. When the assault began, SS-Oberführer Wilhelm Mohnke’s 1. SS-Panzer-Division ’Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler’ (LAH) mustered over forty Panthers and thirty-seven Panzer IVs in SS-Panzer-Regiment 1.8 Meanwhile, the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ under SS-Brigadeführer Hugo Kraas could field forty-one Panthers and thirty-seven Panzer IVs—all of which were ready for operations—in SS-Panzer-Regiment 12.9 Additionally, these two panzer divisions, who were supposed to be some kind of elite, were assigned with one ’heavy’ special battalion each. In the case of the ’Leibstandarte,’ this was schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501 under SS-Sturmbannführer Heinz von Westernhagen, with forty-five Königstigers.10

The ten-foot-two-high and twelve-foot-four-wide Königstiger (Tiger II) was a terrifying armored beast with no equivalence on the Allied side in the Ardennes Battle. Its 20 foot long 88 mm KwK 43 L/71 anti-tank gun was absolutely unsurpassed, able to destroy a Sherman at a distance of 3,800 yards. With a 5.9-in frontal armor sloped at 40°, the Königstiger was more or less invulnerable to frontal hits. Also, the side armor was 3.5 in thick. It has been asserted that the Königstiger with its weight of 70 metric tons was too heavy and cumbersome to move offroad and across bridges, but as a matter of fact the ground pressure of a Königstiger was lower than that of both the Panther and the Panzer IV.

The ’Hitler Jugend’ Division’s equivalence of schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501 was schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 560, a Wehrmacht unit equipped with twenty-eight Jagdpanzer IVs and fourteen Jagdpanthers—the latter also armed with the dreaded 88mm gun.11 Moreover, the two divisions had one anti-tank battalion each— the ’Leibstandarte’ had SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 1 with twenty-one Panzer IV/70 (Jagdpanzer IV/70) tank destroyers and five StuG IIIs, and the ’Hitler Jugend’ had SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12 with twenty-two Panzer IV/70s. In addition to these, each SS panzer division was equipped with eight Flakpanzer IVs—a Panzer IV chassis converted into an anti-aircraft vehicle.*

Mustering over 21,000 troops on 16 December 1944, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division was the numerically strongest division in the Ardennes Battle—on both sides!12 The 12. SS-Panzer-Division came not far behind, with 20,000 men.13 That ’Leibstandarte’ was the strongest of the two divisions is explained through the fact that it was meant to be ’Herbstnebel’s’ absolute spearhead—or rather, its mighty advance force, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper under the barely 29-year-old SS-Obersturmbannführer Joachim ’Jochen’ Peiper. All of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division’s 124 tanks were concentrated into SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper.14

Perhaps the greatest weakness of Operation ’Herbstnebel’ was that the SS men entrusted with the task of carrying out the main thrust were not exactly the ones most suitable for this task. The majority of the men in these two SS divisions were inadequately trained recruits. When the Ardennes Offensive began, about 60 percent of these had less than six to eight weeks of training.15 After the war, Sepp Dietrich admitted that the troops of the 5. Panzerarmee had been better trained than those of his 6. SS-Panzerarmee.16This reinforced the negative effects of the particular ‘SS culture’ that to a more or less large extent permeated many Waffen-SS units, where such things as Nazi masculinity ideals and a willingness to sacrifice were nourished. The recruits often were taught to regard the fighting on the battlefield as an end in itself. The empty phrases picked up by the SS men during their training, naturally disipated after a while in combat. But since the majority of the troops in the two panzer divisions of the I. SS-Panzerkorps in December 1944 lacked any combat experience, they were quite heavily influenced by these unrealistic attitudes during the first days of the Ardennes Offensive—to a far greater extent than earlier and in other combat zones. This is perhaps the most important reason why the I. SS-Panzerkorps performed significantly less well at the beginning of ’Herbstnebel’ than often before.

Although the officers in the SS divisions were not inexperienced in battle, they also were negatively impacted by the dilettantism that characterized the Waffen SS. This was true throughout the entire Waffen-SS.* The ideological approach of military tasks created an audacity that ever since the invasion of Poland in 1939 had caused Wehrmacht commanders to shake their heads in disbelief. One of these was Oberst Heinz Kokott, who led the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division during the Ardennes Offensive, and who during the Battle of Bastogne got better acquainted with the way in which these two SS divisions acted on the battlefield. In a report, Kokott wrote the following on the two SS Divisions, ’These units—characterized by their arrogance and extremely inflated pretentiousness—had, through their total lack of discipline (which in itself was an integral part of their system) and an ill-considered recklessness, in combination with a great deal of stupidity, a directly harmful influence on the outcome of the battle. They always were an obstacle to any methodical command.’17
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This SS-Schutze from the 1. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler,’ photographed during the advance westward in December 1944, has come to symbolize the German soldiers in the Ardennes Offensive. Contrary to what is often assumed, the average age of the German soldiers in Operation ‘Herbstnebel’ was not particularly low. In fact, the average American soldier was slightly younger. SS soldiers were less well trained than the men of the 5. Panzerarmee, a fact which was acknowledged even by the 6. SS-Panzerarmees commander, SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer ‘Sepp’ Dietrich; about 60 percent did not even have six to eight weeks of training, which was assessed as a minimum. (NARA, m-SC-197561)





Indeed, the Königstiger needed skilled drivers and required constant maintenance to keep it operational, but the large number of SS Konigstigers left standing because of non-combat related damages during the advance in the Ardennes, still is quite conspicuous. According to Edmund Zeger of schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501, only two of the tanks of his company were able to reach the battle area; the other twelve suffered ’non-combat related damages.’18Several among these had to be left behind where they had been stranded when the Americans captured the area. Out of thirty-two available Konigstigers on 30 December, only thirteen were serviceable.19

BLOODBATH AT DAWN

’The earth seemed to break open. A hurricane of iron and fire went down on the enemy positions with a deafening noise. We old soldiers had seen many a heavy barrage, but never before anything like this.’20 Even though it was the opponent who received all this fire, Major Günther Holz, the commander of the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12, afterwards described how he was paralyzed by the SS Army’s preparatory artillery fire that began at 0530 hrs on 16 December. The 6. SS-Panzerarmee had a considerably larger artillery than the other two German assault armies, and it hit the Americans with a tremendous impact. On the American side, Staff Sergeant John Hillard of 394th Infantry Regiment describes the psychological effect of this massive artillery fire, ’Several of our men went mad and left their shelters in order to get killed or mutilated.’21
 
The ‘rolling fire’ was chiefly directed first against the main defense lines; then against command posts, road junctions, villages near the front line and other fortified points, and finally against more remote villages and fortified points and roads along which American reinforcements could arrive. But even if the artillery continued to pound on the American lines until seven in the morning, the material damage inflicted on the U.S. forces actually was fairly limited.22 ’Wire communications went out almost everywhere, but so widely spaced were the positions that many of the shells fell on undefended sectors, and elsewhere the men were well dug in.’23 This was just one of many setbacks suffered by the 6. SS-Panzerarmee on the first day of the attack.

The LXVII. Armeekorps under Generalleutnant Otto Hitzfeld had been assigned with the task to cover the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s northern flank; its 272. and 326. Volksgrenadier divisions were supposed to strike towards Monschau and Eupen in the area south of Aachen. But as we have seen, the Americans struck first by launching an offensive to seize the Roer dams on 10 to 13 December (see Chapter 3). This attack was directed against the LXVII. Armeekorps’ both flanks—with U.S. 78th Infantry Division moving towards Kesternich in the north, and the 2nd Infantry Division, ’Indian Head,’ against Wahlerscheid on the southern flank. This forced the main part of the LXVII. Armeekorps onto the defense, thereby reducing its attack strength.

With 78th Infantry Division’s capture of Kesternich on 15 December, the threat loomed of an American incursion into the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s rear area, so Generalleutnant Hitzfeld had to counter-attack. On the evening of 15 December, his 272. Volksgrenadier-Division struck, and after a full night of bloody battles, Kesternich had been retaken. But even if U.S. 78th Infantry Division sustained more than fifteen hundred casualties between 13 and 16 December, it remained strong enough to compel the Germans to refrain from using the 272. Volksgrenadier-Division as had been intended according to the plan for ’Herbstnebel.’
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An American soldier in the trenches in front of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee. It is just before the German attack and the first snow has just fallen in the Ardennes. (NARA, SC 196342)
 




On the LXVII. Armeekorps’ southern flank, U.S. 2nd Infantry Division managed to dislodge German 326. Volksgrenadier-Division from the important crossroads at Wahlerscheid at dawn on 16 December. The American dual thrust against the Roer dams had the effect of considerably weakening the 326. Volksgrenadier-Division’s assault force—two of the division’s six battalions had to be detailed in support of the 272. Volksgrenadier-Division, and two others were deployed to defend Wahlerscheid. Added to these troubles, by 16 December, the 326. Volksgrenadier-Division still had not received the promised Panzerjäger-Abteilung 653—equipped with the huge 70-ton Jagdtigers with 128mm guns. Bombed railway tracks had prevented the timely transfer of this battalion to the front area. Hence, the already weakened LXVII. Armeekorps had to launch its attack without the support of either tanks or tank destroyers.

The four battalions of the 326. Volksgrenadier-Division that attacked at six in the morning on 16 December, were met by a new secret American weapon: artillery shells fitted with a proximity fuze that caused them to explode a couple of feet above the ground, with a far greater deadly effect. Although this new device—called the POZIT—had been at hand for some time, the Allied commanders had prohibited its use in situations where there was a risk that it might fall into German hands. But when the C.O. of the 405th Field Artillery Group, Colonel Oscar Axelson, saw how U.S. positions were getting overrun by the 326. Volksgrenadier-Division, he ignored these directives and ordered his 196th Battalion to deploy the top secret POZITs. The proximity fuze shells had a devastating effect. The German infantry attack formations were literally torn to pieces. The most advanced infantry units sustained up to twenty percent losses.24 The Americans soon could report that the Germans were in ‘a headlong retreat.’25The advance of the LXVII. Armeekorps was halted in its starting positions. The German offensive certainly forced the Americans to cancel their own attack against the Roer dams, but this was due more to developments farther south than to the LXVII. Armeekorps.

Just south of Wahlerscheid, a ten-mile long mountain ridge, rising to an altitude of 2,000 feet, marks the present German-Belgian border. A dense, dark spruce forest covered the hillside to the west. Here the Germans had taken advantage of the terrain to reinforce the West Wall, but it was also in this opaque area that the I. SS-Panzerkorps would launch its attack.
 
This northern part of the Ardennes is called the High Ardennes, but this name can be misleading. Just a few miles west of the current nationale border, the mountain ridge and the spruce forests are succeeded by a high plateau without any dramatic elevation changes. Located at an altitude of between 1,500 and 1,800 feet, this area is dominated by moors and bogs. Since the altitude makes it difficult to grow anything here, the area still is quite sparsely populated, with mainly small villages surrounded by large fields. The Ardennes Offensive’s armored main force was supposed to advance through this area in the direction of Liège, River Meuse, and Antwerp. With a predominantly German-speaking population, this part of Belgium was annexed by Hitler in May 1940, and the German soldiers felt that they were retaking the westernmost part of Germany during the first seventeen miles of the advance.

Initially, the 6. SS-Panzerarmee was opposed by not even a complete American Infantry Division, the 99th. Only a few weeks previously, this unit had taken up positions along eighteen miles of the present German-Belgian border between Monschau in the north and the hills just north of the Losheimer-Graben Valley in the south. The idea was that the 99th—like the neighboring division in the south, the 106th—would gain combat experience in this ’quiet front sector.’ The 99th Infantry Division has been described as a ‘fresh’ unit, but its troops actually were in a much better shape than many of its opponents. Formed at Camp Van Dorn, Mississippi, in November 1942, the 99th was sent to Europe in October 1944, by which time the troops had a quite solid military training. Robert Walter, who served as a Technical Sergeant in the Division’s 393rd Infantry Regiment, explains, ’The 99th was a relatively green unit as far as combat goes, but we were well trained. Most of us had been with the division from its early days at Camp Van Dorn, Mississippi, through advanced instruction at Camp Maxey, Texas. By the time we shipped out of Boston Harbor in September 1944, most of the division’s citizen soldiers had nearly two full years of training.’

However, the divisional commander, 51-year-old Major General Walter E. Lauer, had no combat experience, and although his Division amounted to no less than 16,000 men, it had no armor of its own. Moreover, only two of its regiments, the 393rd and 394th, stood in the frontline against German 6. SS-Panzerarmee on 16 December 1944. Since the division held the southern flank of U.S. V Corps, its 395th Infantry Regiment was assigned to cooperate with 2nd Infantry Division in the assault at Wahlerscheid. Nevertheless, the 99th Infantry Division was assigned with a quite experienced anti-tank battalion—the 801st Tank Destroyer Battalion, which had been in first-line service since it landed on Utah Beach in Normandy on 13 June 1944.26 This unit was equipped with thirty 3-in M5 towed anti-tank guns. Overall, however, the two regiments of the 99th Infantry Division that at dawn on 16 December 1944 took the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s full onslaught, were totally outnumbered by their opponent.

The 393rd Infantry Regiment was lined up along five miles on the wooded mountain ridge south of Wahlerscheid. The regimental commander, Lieutenant Colonel Jean D. Scott, also had been compelled to deploy his 2nd Battalion to the 2nd Infantry Division’s attack against Wahlerscheid farther north. At dawn on 16 December, he therefore only had two battalions at his disposal to counter German 277. Volksgrenadier-Division, tasked to open a gap for the 12. SS-Panzer Division ’Hitler Jugend’ on the northern flank of the I. SS- Panzerkorps. The 277. Volksgrenadier-Division had been formed on the remnants of 277. Infanterie-Division in the fall of 1944, but was definitely more combat-experienced than the American regiment that constituted its main opponent. The German unit commander, Oberst Wilhelm Viebig, characterized his division as ’well versed in the tasks of defence’ with ‘several companies trained for offensive operations.’27 Although the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division also faced a battalion of U.S. 394th Infantry Regiments on its northern flank, its over 7,000 men made it more than twice as numerous as its opponent.

The 394th Infantry Regiment, on U.S. 99th Infantry Division’s southern flank, was pitted against not only the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division’s southernmost formation, but also the whole 12. Volksgrenadier-Division. Mustering 9,500 men, this was numerically stronger than its northern neighbor, which to some extent offset its other weaknesses; the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division had been pulled back from the terribly bloody battles at Aachen as late as on 3 December, and its commander, Generalleutnant Gerhard Engel, described the unit as ’completely exhausted. In the infantry all regiments were worn out, having had no personnel replacements during the battles; the companies had a battle strength of some 15 to 20 men.’28 The hastily trained recruits that arrived to fill the gaps in the badly mauled division barely had the time to prepare themselves before the division thus was ordered to the Ardennes Front. However, the task of defeating a single and inexperienced American regiment would seem to be something that even such a rundown German division would be able to accomplish. Once this was accomplished, the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s spearhead, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division ’Leibstandarte,’ would begin its march forward along the route that the German plan called Rollbahn D (Runway D) to cross the Meuse at Huy.

South of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, another armored task force of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division, SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen, stood ready to advance through the Losheimer-Graben Valley along Rollbahn E, Krewinkel - Manderfeld towards Born, north of Sankt Vith, and thence westwards, in order to cover Peiper’s southern flank. First of all, the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division was supposed to open the way for SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen.

SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer Sepp Dietrich’s opening attack differed in important respects from von Manteuffel’s initial operations. Unlike the Wehrmacht generals farther south, Dietrich did not open the offensive through an infiltration of the American lines, but started with the infantry assaulting the American lines following the initial artillery barrage. Nor did the 6. SS-Panzerarmee employ anti-aircraft searchlights all along the frontline to illuminate the skies over the battlefield, as the Wehrmacht armies did.29

We have seen how Generalmajor Hoffmann-Schönborn’s 18. Volksgrenadier-Division (part of the 5. Panzerarmee) took advantage of the darkness to sneak past the opponent’s positions in the southern part of the Losheimer-Graben. In the northern part of the valley, where the SS sent the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division into battle, things looked completely different. Actually, this was the section of the Ardennes front where the Americans were at their weakest. Here, on U.S. 106th Infantry Division’s northernmost flank, the Americans had, as we have seen in Chapter 4, nothing but Colonel Devine’s 14th Cavalry Group, which based its defense more on motorized patrols than fixed positions. Moreover, at night Devine held his troops in the area’s villages. The German paratroop division ought to have been able to conduct a rapid and easy advance to clear Krewinkel and Manderfeld along the route that SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen would take.

But the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division was not in the best condition. Only a few weeks earlier it had been withdrawn from the fighting in the Hürtgen Forest, where the division had been bled white: Its Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 9 alone had been inflicted with a hair-rising fourteen hundred casualties, and these losses were replaced with absolutely inadequately trained recruits.

Furthermore, the German artillery fire had alerted the Americans—often even without causing them much harm, since the Germans, due to their efforts to conceal the preparations for the offensive, had refrained from reconnoitering the area properly. As the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s spearhead—the 5., 6., and 7. Kompanie, the Sturm-Zug, and the Nachtrichten-Zug of II. Bataillon/Fallschirmjäger Regiment 5—assaulted Krewinkel in cooperation with Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 8, the Germans became aware that the U.S. positions had not at all been wiped out by the artillery. On the contrary, the few American soldiers in the small hamlet offered a dogged resistance that took the Germans several hours to put down. Then the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division was halted again by other U.S. troops at Manderfeld, a little larger village slightly more than a mile farther west.

While Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 5 stayed behind to complete the seizure of this place, the I. Bataillon of Oberst Helmut von Hoffmann’s Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 9 swung north to circumvent the American positions. Two miles north of Manderfeld lies Lanzerath, another small hamlet. At this place, a detachment from U.S. 14th Cavalry Group had been stationed, but as soon as the German artillery opened fire at dawn, these soldiers packed their equipment and rolled out of the village, to the north. The only U.S. troops left remaining in Lanzerath were eighteen men of the Intelligence & Reconnaissance Platoon of the 3rd Battalion, 394th Infantry Regiment, 99th Infantry Division, so it should have been quite easy for the paratroopers to take this small village.*

The American platoon commander, First Lieutenant Lyle Bouck, called regimental headquarters and said, ’The tank destroyers are pulling out, what should we do?’ The answer was clear, ’Hold at all costs!’ Bouck thought that he probably would not live to see his twenty-first birthday— which happened to be on 17 December 1944— but set about to deploy his troops in the gunner positions covered by logs on top of the hill just northwest of the village. From there, they had an overview of the main road and the open terrain below to the south and southeast. It was precisely from this direction that the German paratroopers came marching. Bouck again contacted headquarters and again he was ordered to ’remain in position.’
 
Bouck told his men to hold their fire, when he suddenly saw a young woman approaching the German soldiers on the road sloping down to the left of the American positions. He saw her point towards the hill. For more than sixty years, Bouck thought that she had betrayed the American position, but when he met her in 2006, she could inform him that the Germans only had asked her where the Americans were, and then she told them that they had left in vehicles uphill on the road towards Buchholz in the north. She had no idea that Bouck’s men were in the trenches to the left of the road. In fact, the Germans were alerted only when a nervous U.S. soldier fired his gun.The inexperienced paratroopers assaulted on foot straight up the hill. First Lieutenant Bouck recalls:

’They came screaming and yelling in a direct frontal attack up the snow-covered hill. They were firing at us but they had no targets. The paratroopers had to climb over a typical farm fence that bisected the hill. For us it was like target practice. […] I could see blood all over the snow. I heard screaming, hollering. It was a bizarre scene, hard for me to realize it was really happening.’
 
That the Germans did not immediately withdraw to instead circumvent the U.S. positions through the dense forest that surrounded First Lieutenant Bouck’s men on both sides, but instead continued to charge straight into the American fire, is completely incomprehensible. They made three attempts to neutralize the U.S. positions through frontal assaults. After the last attempt, at three o’clock in the afternoon, the paratroopers had enough of the idiotic orders. A small group made the only logical choice—they crept into the woods at the side of the U.S. positions, which then could be taken quite easily.

The Americans, who by that time were short on ammunition, immediately surrendered. The Germans could hardly believe their eyes when they lined up their prisoners—no more than fifteen American soldiers, most of whom were wounded—and failed to find more than one man killed in the American position. (The two other Americans had been sent to get ammunition, and had been captured.) As the Americans raised their hands to the air, it appeared as though some of the German paratroopers were about to shoot them, but a German officer rushed forward and yelled at them to lower their weapons.30

First Lieutenant Bouck’s Intelligence & Reconnaissance Platoon was awarded with a Presidential Unit Citation—the special award for gallantry that was instituted shortly after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor and awarded to entire military units. Each of the men in the platoon was decorated one way or another. In German captivity, First Lieutenant Bouck was awarded with the Silver Star, and twenty-two years later he received the Distinguished Service Cross. Today a small memorial adorns the little hill where a handful of American soldiers held the German advance down for almost an entire day.

Quite commonly, it is asserted that the Germans lost five hundred men at the slope in Lanzerath—a figure that is quite unreasonable considering both how small that hill really is, and given that there actually was only a handful of U.S. defenders. Dutch researcher and expert on the Ardennes Battle, Hans Wijers, has found the actual German losses to be forty men killed and wounded—quite a substantial number for such a small area, not more than the size of about two football fields.
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American soldiers on guard in a foxhole with an M1919 Browning .30 caliber medium machine gun. This 7.62mm machine gun is one of the most commonly used machine guns of the Twentieth Century, and was used both as an infantry machine gun, as vehicle-mounted, as aircraft armament (both fixed and flexible), and as an AA gun. The weapon was in use from 1919, through World War II, the Korean War, and the Vietnam War. It had a rate of fire of 400-600 rounds per minute, a firing range of 1,500 yards and was fed with a 250-round belt. First Lieutenant Lyle Bouck’s American platoon in Lanzerath was armed with two such machine guns, plus a .50 caliber heavy-machine gun mounted on a jeep, besides the soldiers’ own Browning Automatic Rifles and M1 Garand rifles. (US Army)





Meanwhile, one of the regiments of the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s northern neighbor, the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division, ended up in a similar situation. Grenadier-Regiment 48 advanced through Losheim (just 2,500 yards across the fields east of Lanzerath) along the highway Pr ümer Strasse to the northwest. The C.O. of this regiment, Oberst William Osterhold, says he had no idea of the whereabouts of the U.S. positions as he led his regiment to attack: ’We had not been informed and had been forbidden to carry out reconnaissance. We had to stay in Kronenberg until night fell, and then we were directed west in the direction of Losheimergraben. That was all! I never took part in an attack that was worse prepared.’31

Slightly north of Losheim, Osterhold’s men found that the road viaduct that crossed the railroad still had not been repaired after it had been blown up by retreating Germans during the previous fall. Hence, the advance could only resume with soldiers on foot until the 1. SS-Panzer-Division’s Pionier-Bataillon had constructed a new bridge towards the evening.32

Without the support of heavy weapons, German Grenadier-Regiment 48 was halted at the village of Losheimergraben (not to be confused with the valley with the same name), which was held by the 1st Battalion of U.S. 394th Infantry Regiment. The scenes here were reminiscent of those at Lanzerath. Here too, the Germans advanced up a hill, where the Americans held position with machine guns and mortars. One of the American soldiers, Sergeant Eddie Dolenc, moved his heavy machine gun to a new position right up to the Germans. Before he was subsequently listed as missing—fate unknown—he was seen firing continuously, with a pile of killed Germans in front of his fox hole.33 SS-Gruppenführer Priess characterized the American resistance at Losheimergraben as ’skilfull and dogged.’34 However, it also cost the defenders dearly. On this first day of the German offensive alone, U.S. 394th Infantry Regiment recorded the loss of nine hundred fifty-nine men killed, missing or wounded. Losheimergraben’s defenders also were to be honored with a memorial after the war.

Bypassing Losheimergraben from the north, another German unit, 12. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Füsilier-Regiment 27, at four in the afternoon managed to oust 394th Infantry Regiment from the railway station Buchholz, in the middle of the forest, a mile southwest of Losheimergraben. (This regiment would have been able to relieve the paratroopers at Lanzerath by simply taking the road down the hill to the other side of the woods where Bouck’s men held their positions, a mile and a half away. That this never took place illustrates the lack of communication between the various German units.)
 
In the meantime, the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division clashed with U.S. 99th Infantry Division’s 393rd Infantry Regiment in terribly bloody battles in the hilly forest area in the north. Oberst Wilhelm Viebig, the German divisional commander, had been assigned with the task to pave the road for the 12. SS-Panzer-Division. This had to be done by clearing two small forest roads that from Hollerath and Udenbroth on the German side wound across the forested mountain ridge south of Walherscheid and down to the twin villages of Rocherath and Krinkelt, capture them, and then continue up towards the Elsenborn ridge in the west.35 That meant that the soldiers had to make it through dense forests in a rolling terrain where the Americans lay in ambush. ’The enemy,’ reported the commander of the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 989, Oberst Georg Fieger, ’was offering tenacious resistance. His islands of defense were so well camouflaged as to be extremely difficult to detect even at very close range; the terrain features were particularly unfavourable for the attacking forces.’36 Oberst Viebig reported his division’s first day in Operation ’Herbstnebel’:

’In the course of the day, the 989. Regiment succeeded, after heavy and costly combat in the woods, in pushing forward up to the Jans Stream, where enemy resistance increased considerably. The 990. and 991. Regiments, on the other hand, were not able to gain much ground during their attack towards the west, due to the difficult wooded terrain with its particularly dense underbrush and numerous young trees. They failed in their intention to penetrate the wooded region quickly and by surprise, and to thus clear the roads for the armored units. For the moment, nothing was heard from the rifle company. Due to the fact that no other forces were following, it had been compelled, because of strong enemy resistance, to take up an all-around defense position in the area of the road intersection, 2 km southwest of Udenbreth. The reinforcements promised by the Corps in the form of assault guns and engineer equipment, either failed to appear or came too late. Already during the initial phase of the attack, the regiments suffered heavy casualties, especially as regards officers and NCOs.’37

The commanders of Grenadier regiments 990 and 991, Oberstleutnants Josef Bremm and Otto Jaquet, both were wounded during the fighting on 16 December. The third Regiment of the Division, Grenadier-Regiment 989, lost both of its battalion commanders. The next morning, the commander of this regiment, Oberst Fieger, collapsed at his Headquarters in Hollerath and became unconscious. Afterwards he wrote, ‘I was transferred to a hospital, and did no longer take part in any action of this war.’38 The losses were no less severe on the U.S. side, where the two battalions of the 393rd Infantry Regiment lost about seven hundred men in this day’s terrible forest fighting. Today, just where the forest begins, on the German side of the border, is a memorial dedicated to those who died on both sides during this battle.

On 17 December, the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division was reorganized into two battle groups—one under Oberst Fieger’s successor, Major Johe, the other led by the commander of Grenadier-Regiment 991, Oberstleutnant Josef Bremm, who although he had been wounded by shrapnel remained in first-line service.
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Firing their guns from the hip and shouting ’hooray’—according to the German photo caption—these German soldiers from a Volks-grenadier Division are assaulting a U.S. position in a wooded area on the first day of the Ardennes Offensive, 16 December 1944. (BArch, Bild 183-J28586/Kriegsberichter Lange)





PEIPER MAKES HIS ENTRANCE

The headquarters of some of the U.S. units hit by the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s attack did not react with the same confusion as was the case with the VIII Corps and its subordinate units that were attacked by the 5. Panzerarmee. However, when Major General Clarence R. Huebner, deputy C.O. of U.S. V Corps, and the commander of the 99th Infantry Division, Major General Lauer, met at the latter’s headquarters in Bütgenbach at eight thirty in the morning on 16 December, both were of the opinion that the German attack was nothing serious, that it was probably only an attempt to distract the Americans from their attack against the Roer dams.39 Shortly afterward, Major General Walter Robertson, the commander of U.S. 2nd Infantry Division, visited the 99th Division’s headquarters in Bütgenbach where he found Major General Lauer sitting and playing a piano. Lauer maintained that his 99th Infantry Division ’had matters in hand.’40 At midnight on the night of 16 December, Lauer reported to the commander of the V Corps, Major General Leonard T. Gerow, that his division’s entire front was more or less established on its original line and ’the situation was in hand and all quiet.’41
 
But the Corps commander Gerow and Major General Robertson were more experienced. Of the fragmentary reports that arrived at V Corps’ headquarters until noon on 16 December, Gerow drew the conclusion that this was a large-scale offensive, and that the 2nd Infantry Division in the north would soon end up in a vulnerable position. Because of that, he requested permission from U.S. First Army’s commander, Hodges, to cancel the attack at Wahlerscheid and shift the 2nd Infantry Division to the Elsenborn ridge, the plateau to the west of the ‘twin villages’ Rocherath-Krinkelt. This request, which also was repeated by Robertson, was rejected by Hodges. But Gerow’s and Robertson’s view on the situation was so clear that the latter, supported by Gerow (and Huebner), decided to defy the Army commander. Robertson’s orders to his units to discontinue the assault contributed in a decisive way to saving the situation for the Americans, as we shall see later.


FLYING BOMBS SUPPORTING THE ARDENNES OFFENSIVE

The German robot weapons V 1 and V 2 played a significant role during the Ardennes Offensive. This became apparent to the Allies during the first day of the attack, on 16 December, when a V 2 hit a cinema in Antwerp, killing 296 Allied soldiers and 271 civilians. Antwerp, the main unloading port for Allied supply shipments to the Ardennes, had been fired at with these missiles since Hitler had ordered this on 12 October 1944. The following month, Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt ordered this missile offensive to be extended to include Liège—the city in eastern Belgium where Allied depots and headquarters for the Ardennes Front were concentrated.1

V 1s, equipped with a warhead of 847 kg (1,867lb), were fired by the Luftwaffe Flak-Regiment 155 (W) under Oberst Max Wachtel. As the greater part of its launchers were localized to the area east of Cologne and Bonn, the V 1s passed over the section of the Ardennes where the 6. SS-Panzerarmee attacked. For the soldiers on both sides in this area, the fighting was accompanied by a steady stream of these flying bombs that passed heading west at an altitude of about

2,500 feet. The Allies came to know this area as the ‘Buzz Bomb Alley.’

The diary of Sergeant Alfred Di Giacomo, telephone operator in the headquarters of the XIX Tactical Air Command in Liège, gives an image of the extent of the bombardment. On 17 December Di Giacomo noted that 120 V 1s were launched against Liège. Two days later he wrote, ‘They are coming over every 12 to 15 minutes. There is an occasional explosion from V-2s as well. It is all very nerve racking and dangerous. As some infantrymen who were on rest leave said to me, “It is like a continuous artillery barrage."’

Liège had a brief respite when the German Armed Forces High Command on 19 December ordered the shelling of the city to cease when it was expected that it soon would be captured.2 But already in the evening on the next day, the V 1 bombardment of Liège was resumed. All in all, the missile offensive against Liège claimed 1,649 human lives and another 2,558 people were injured. Much of the town was destroyed.

The V 1 offensive against Antwerp was less effective, since this city had a very strong air defense. This defense force, designated Antwerp-X under Brigadier General Clare Hibbs Armstrong, eventually came to include more than 500 guns of 40mm, 90mm and 94mm (3.7in) caliber, and a troops force of around 22,000 men. Already from the onset, Antwerp-X managed to shoot down 60 percent of the V 1s approaching Antwerp—a share that later in 1945 increased to 98 percent. However, the V 1s that managed to reach Antwerp inflicted a great deal of destruction.

Most of the V 2s fired during the Ardennes Battle were also directed against Antwerp. Commanded by SS-Gruppenführer Hans Kammler, most of the V 2 launchers were located in the Netherlands. There were no defense measures against this ballistic rocket. It was the Allies’ good fortune that an increasing fuel shortage prevented the Germans from firing more V 2s. In December 1944, an average of four of these rockets hit Antwerp every day. At the end of the year, the whole city center of Antwerp was devastated. A total of 8,000 of the city’s houses had been destroyed or damaged, 1,736 people had been killed and 4,500 wounded by V weapons.

In January 1945 the frequency of V 2 strikes in Antwerp increased to an average of five a day. In addition to the V 1s and V 2s, Antwerp also was bombarded by a total of 220 so-called Rheinbote, a smaller ballistic rocket with a 40 kilo (88lb.) warhead.

According to a U.S. military analysis made after the war, the German flying bombs had a strong negative impact on the unloading of supplies in the port of Antwerp. Altogether, 1,812 military personnel and close to 10,000 civilians were killed or wounded by V 1s and V 2s in Antwerp in World War II.
 
1 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv RL 12/76: Kriegstagebuch Flakregiment 155(W).

2 OKW/WFSt/Op (L) Nr. 0014875/44 g.Kdos. 19.12. 1944; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 157.
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This V 1 was shot down near Antwerp during the winter of 1944/1945. (NARA, 600-850 via Peter Björk.)







In the German camp, the SS commanders meanwhile felt frustrated. In most places, the infantry that was supposed to open the way for the powerful armored forces during the first hours, had failed in their task.

The operation plan for ’Herbstnebel’ had divided the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s intended march to the west into five routes. The northernmost, Rollbahn A/B, began in Hollerath, following one of the two small forest roads that the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division was tasked to clear. It then continued via the villages of Rocherath and Elsenborn to Sourbrodt, just a few miles south of the crossroads Baraque Michel that von der Heydte’s paratroopers were supposed to occupy. In Sourbrodt, the planned march route was divided into Rollbahn A which bent right towards Baraque Michel, while Rollbahn B continued to the west towards Flemalle on River Meuse, south of Liège. During roughly the first six miles, Rollbahn A was basically nothing but small muddy backroads that wound across the hilly forest area or between fields and meadows. It was a gamble to send such heavy forces onto these bad roads— and in heavy rain. The following elements of 12. SS-Panzer-Division would take this route to cover the Division’s main armored force: SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 25, SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12, an artillery battalion, and an engineer company. The main force—the division’s armored regiment, the armored reconnaissance battalion, the heavy tank destroyers of schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 560, SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 26, an artillery battalion, and an engineer company—would advance along Rollbahn C. This began just south of Rollbahn A in Udenbreth and ran westwards through Murringen, Bütgenbach, and Malmédy towards the Meuse bridge at Engi just west of Liège. The first few miles of Rollbahn C consisted of the other small forest road that the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division fought to secure. In the evening on 16 December, both Rollbahn A and Rollbahn C remained blocked by the Americans.

Rollbahn D began in Losheim, about four miles south of Udenbreth, on the other side of the forest, and ran in a northwesterly direction—through Losheimergraben two miles further ahead, and on to Murringen, another two miles further on. That all forces on Rollbahn C and Rollbahn D would converge in the small community of Murringen perhaps was not very prudent. From Murringen, Rollbahn D continued to the southwest, for five to six miles along nothing but small rural backroads that ran between fields and meadows, to Möderscheid. From that place, the same kind of mud roads continued for another twelve miles, until the town of Stavelot on River Amblève was reached. On the other side of the river, Rollbahn D continued along the paved highway N 23 (now designated N 66), which forty miles further ahead reached Huy on River Meuse. Rollbahn D was assigned to the bulk of SS-Brigadeführer Wilhelm Mohnke’s 1. SS-Panzer-Division. The lead was to be taken by the powerful SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, to be followed by SS-Kampfgruppe Sander—SS-Obersturmbannführer Rudolf Sandig’s task force with two battalions of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2, an artillery battalion, and most of the SS division’s air defense and engineer troops. Rollbahn D also remained blocked by the Americans in the evening on 16 December.

The 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s only real success on 16 December was that Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 5 on the 3. Fallschirmjäger Division’s southern flank—aided by the successes attained by 5. Panzerarmee’s 18. Volksgrenadier-Division—managed to seize Krewinkel and the adjacent village of Afst (where part of the predominantly Germanspeaking population openly showed their sympathy for the Germans when the Americans withdrew in the afternoon of 16 December).42 Thus, Rollbahn E became open for SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen, which was tasked to cover Peiper’s southern flank. This route ran through Krewinkel and Manderfeld in the northern part of the Losheimer-Graben Valley, four miles south of the village of Losheimergraben, and on to Amel, two-three miles southwest of Möderscheid, and from there to Born, three miles further on to the southwest, and three miles north of Sankt Vith. It then continued to Recht (five miles northwest of Sankt Vith), and via Poteau to Vielsalm and Lierneux on the western side of River Salm. From there, Hansen’s troops were supposed to continue to Werbomont, thirteen miles west of Stavelot, where they would join Peiper’s force on Highway N 23.
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SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper was led by the barely 29-year-old SS-Obersturmbannführer Joachim ‘Jochen’ Peiper, to the right in the picture along with his soldiers. Peiper took part in the invasions of Poland in 1939, of France in 1940, and of the Soviet Union in 1941. Occasionally he served as the SS commander Himmler’s adjutant. When Peiper in November 1943 was appointed to command SS-Panzer-Regiment 1 of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division Leibstandar-te Adolf Hitler,’ he had already been awarded with the Knight’s Cross. In January 1944 he was awarded with the Oak Leaves to the Knight’s Cross. Following SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper’s failure in the Ardennes, he left front service, but at the request of the divisional commander Mohnke, he received the Swords to the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves. After the war, Peiper was sentenced to death for war crimes, but the verdict was changed to a prison sentence. After more than 11 years in prison, he was pardoned in December 1956. In July 1976, Peiper was assassinated in an unclarified fire bomb attack against his residence in France. (Månsson)
 




SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen, under the command of SS-Standartenfuhrer Max Hansen, consisted of the I. SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung with twenty-one Panzer IV/70s, SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 1, and motorized artillery, in all 4,500 men with 750 vehicles. This task force was followed by the motorized infantry of Schnelle SS-Gruppe Knittel, fifteen hundred men with 150 vehicles under the command of SS-Sturmbannführer Gustav Knittel. But even though the paratroopers had cleared the way for Hansen’s troops, these were delayed by old German minefields that the SS commanders had neglected to take notice of.

Probably no one on the German side felt more frustrated than the hot-tempered SS-Obersturmbannführer Jochen Peiper. He had hoped to begin his advance as early as the morning of 16 December, but when he visited the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division’s commander, Generalmajor Engel, at the latter’s command post at two in the afternoon, Peiper learned that the infantry still had not been able to open the way for the armor. Two hours later, Peiper just had enough and gave his unit march orders.

By that time, what seemed to be the entire I. SS-Panzerkorps was clogged in huge traffic jams on the roads behind the front. Without any regard to what the commanders of the other task forces had to say, Peiper ordered his one hundred and twenty-four tanks, including the Konigstigers of schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501, to ruthlessly ‘sweep aside any obstacle in their way.’43 Truck drivers and terrified coachmen on horse-drawn artillery pieces drove off the road in order to avoid getting crushed by the huge tanks that were driven as though they were on the attack.44

It had grown dark when Peiper’s long vehicle column at five in the afternoon rumbled into Losheim just behind the front. Outside the village, it turned out that the German engineer troops still had not constructed a bridge in place of the demolished road viaduct over the railway. A truck carrying the vital bridge material had collapsed en route. As the SS men stood there, the gunfire from the battle between 12. Volksgrenadier-Division and the U.S. defenders at Losheimergraben, a mile farther up the forest road, could be heard. Peiper’s tanks gently made it down the slope to the railway, clawed their way across the tracks, and then began to climb the grassy slope on the other side. They had barely done so, when a counter-order arrived from SS-Obergruppenfuhrer Priess, the commander of the Panzer Corps: turn back and advance to Lanzerath (two thousand yards to the southwest), and from there, in cooperation with Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 9, attack the Americans in Losheimergraben from the southwest!45 Through this maneuver, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper blocked and delayed SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen—which just had finished the clearing of the old German minefield. However, this could be regarded as justified since Peiper’s force after all was to take the lead.
 
Peiper’s vehicles barely had left Losheim when they too ran into a minefield that had been laid by retreating German troops in September 1944. This had been overlooked by the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s planners. SS-Obersturmbannführer Werner Sternebeck, commanding the advance force (6. and 9. Kompanie of SS-Panzer-Regiment 1) remembers:

’Immediately outside of Losheim’s western exit, the first Panzer V [Panther] ran into a minefield and was lost for the rest of the operation. In the meantime, the sun had set. Uncertainty increased, we still saw nothing of the enemy. There was another explosion and the second Panzer V drove into the minefield, approximately 500 yards west of Losheim. Again the mines had to be removed. This took a lot of time. Our two Panthers, which were thought of as battering rams, were lost for the rest of the deployment without having made any contact with the enemy.’46

The Panzer-Regiment’s 9. Kompanie—the pioneer company under SS-Obersturmführer Erich Rumpf—had not finished the clearing of mines until later that dark evening, and in the meantime Peiper’s impatience grew. But the tanks had just started moving again when Peiper sustained his next setback, as Sternebeck recalls, ’Immediately southwest of Merlscheid [half-way between Losheim and Lanzerath] at an open road obstacle, my panzer jumped and came to a stand-still after a detonation. Now it was also lost. I climbed into Unterstumführer Asmussen’s panzer. The advance was again delayed. The panzer had to be pulled from the road obstacle and mines had to be removed.’ Shortly afterward, Peiper’s command Panther, No. 001, sustained engine failure and had to be abandoned. He himself continued the advance in an armored personnel carrier.

The few houses in Hüllscheid shivered and shook as the heavy tanks rumbled through the village street. During the continued march, two armored personnel carriers were lost. Peiper was in a bad mood as towards midnight, he drove into Lanzerath. He exploded with rage when he discovered that the paratroopers lay fast asleep instead of fighting!

These were the men of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 9 who had fought for the bitterly defended hill for several hours. When the resistance finally was broken, towards evening, the paratroopers were exhausted and hungry— they had not been fed in all day. They pillaged the little village of Lanzerath for food, and their commander failed to make them continue their march. The paratroop regiment’s 3. Bataillon went into position on the crest of the forest hill where the road leads to Buchholz, and the sound of gun fire that seemed to come from inside the woods sufficed to convince them that the area was heavily occupied by U.S. troops.47 In reality, what they heard was the fighting at Losheimergraben, on the other side of the forest, a mile farther to the northeast; Buchholz, a mile north of the paratroopers, had by that time already been taken by 12. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 27, but owing to inadequate communications between the various units, the paratroopers knew nothing of this.

A furious Peiper stormed into Café Palm, where the commander of the paratroop regiment, Oberst von Hoffmann, had established his command post. Disregarding the fact that he was addressing a superior—displaying the contempt typically felt by the SS for Wehrmacht officers— he gave the colonel a complete dressing down. Afterwards, Peiper described this:

’I asked him for all the information that he had on the enemy situation. His answer was that the woods were heavily fortified, and that scattered fires from prepared “pill boxes” plus mines in the road were holding up his advance. He told me that it was impossible to attack under these circumstances. I asked him if he had personally reconnoitered the American positions in the woods, and he replied that he received the information from one of his battalion commanders. I asked the battalion commander, and he said that he had got the information from a Hauptmann in his battalion. I called the Hauptmann and he answered that he had not personally seen the American forces but it had been “reported to him.” At this point I became very angry and ordered the Fallschirmjäger Regiment to give me one battalion and I would lead the breakthrough.’48

Von Hoffmann apparently was stunned by the behavior of this SS officer. In any case, he agreed to attach his regiment’s II. Bataillon—under Major Siegfried Taubert—to SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper.

While Peiper and von Hoffmann quarelled in Lanzerath, the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s two special operations were launched. Several among Skorzeny’s Steinau commando groups managed to infiltrate the U.S. lines already during the first day, and a couple of these reached the Meuse in the vicinity of Huy already that same evening. In the meantime, one hundred and thirty-six Junkers 52 transport planes of aviation wing TG 3 (Transportgeschwader 3) were heading in over the frontlines, carrying Kampfgruppe von der Heydte.

But added to Oberstleutnant von der Heydte’s concerns regarding the lack of combat experience of his men, was added a corresponding problem with the crews of the transport planes. Most of these were completely new out of the flight schools, and the majority had not even been trained to fly the trimotor Ju 52. Almost all lacked any training in formation flight, and their navigational skills were absolutely inadequate. Owing to the secrecy ahead of Operation ’Herbstnebel,’ the commanders of the air units in question had been told that the mission was nothing but an airdrop training, and consequently took no measures to prepare their air crews for a combat mission; they learned of the true nature of the mission only on 13 December.

In order to facilitate the navigation, searchlights and flares from anti-aircraft guns showed the way through the darkness. At the jump area, a Junkers 88 night-fighter crew, specially trained in instrument flying, would drop flare bombs fifteen minutes ahead of the arrival of the first transport plane, and then each aircraft would mark the drop zone with flares.

This may have looked well on paper, but in reality things were much more complicated. The transport planes were shot at by both their own and the enemy’s AAA, and although this did not bring down many of the aircraft, it caused several pilots to get lost as they maneuvered to avoid the exploding shells. Heavy winds that made transport planes drift off course, created even greater problems. To half of the nervous and anxious aircrews, this was their first combat flight ever. Most transport planes signalled clear to jump in the wrong position; the ten planes that had drifted mostly off course, were as far away as Bonn, sixty miles from the jump zone. Only thirty-five transport planes managed to bring the paratroopers more or less to the intended drop zone, but merely ten of these were in the exact position. All in all, eight hundred and seventy paratroopers and thirty dummies in parachutes—the latter dropped in order to create confusion on the Allied side—were spread across a large area in eastern Belgium.

Oberstleutnant von der Heydte was one of the few who were lucky to land precisely in the assigned drop zone. When he located the strategically important road intersection of Baraque Michel in the wooded area north of Malmédy, he had been joined by no more than twenty paratroopers.49 A couple of hours later, the group had grown to one hundred and fifty men. During the course of 17 December, their number increased to around three hundred, but they lacked both radio equipment and heavy weapons.

Von der Heydte decided to change tactics. Since he only had such a small force at his disposal, it was imperative for him to avoid direct combat. Hence, the paratroopers hid in the spruce forest next to the road junction, in order to occupy it as soon as other German troops approached. From these positions, the Germans were able to observe and count the number of U.S. vehicles that passed on their way to the front. Patrols sent out also were able to attain valuable intelligence information. But since the radio equipment had broken during the parachute drop, this valuable information did not reach the 6. SS-Panzerarmee.
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Paratroopers from Major Siegfried Tauberts II. Bataillon/ Fallschirmja-ger-Regiment 9 on one of the big Königstiger tanks of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper on 17 December 1944. (NARA, III-SC-341659)





In fact, the SS Army’s headquarters knew nothing about the paratroop force. Shortly before midnight on the night of 17-18 December, the British Ultra codebreakers decrypted a German radio message concerning von der Hedte’s force: ’Situation with parachute troops dropped in area 20 km south south-east of Eupen not clear. No communications.’50
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Kampfgruppe von der Heydte’s participation in the offensive ended in a miserable failure, not least because of the lack of experience of the crews that flew the three-engine Junkers 52 transport aircraft from Transportgeschwader 3 that carried the paratroopers. The picture shows one of these Ju 52s after it had been shot down and crash-landed in American controlled territory. (NARA, 56271 via Peter Bjork)
 




In effect, Kampfgruppe von der Heydte would accomplish nothing to the benefit of the German offensive. The paratroopers only managed to carry out a few ambushes against single U.S. military vehicles, which temporarily resulted in the capture of about thirty POWs.

The paratroopers were not even relieved by the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend,’ as had been the intention. This was partly due to the fact that the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division still had not been able to crush the resistance of U.S. 99th Infantry Division’s 393rd Infantry Regiment, despite the fact that the German assault was reinforced by a panzer grenadier regiment from the 12. SS-Panzer-Division.51 In this sector, the Americans were able to beef up their positions because of Major General Robertson’s self-indulgent decision to cancel his 2nd Infantry Division’s attack against the Roer dams. Thus, already early on 17 December, Robertson could shift his 9th and 38th Infantry regiments southwards to take up positions at the so-called ’twin villages’ Rocherath and Krinkelt, and at Wirtzfeld, a mile further to the west. The 741st Tank Battalion, the 644th Tank Destroyer Battalion, and two of the 2nd Infantry Division’s artillery battalions also joined in at these places, and once these had been established in their new positions, the 393rd Infantry Regiment was pulled back to this new line. Meanwhile, the 26th Infantry Regiment, 1st Infantry Division was attached to the 99th Infantry Division and ordered to take up positions at Bütgenbach, farther to the southwest.

Not far to the south, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper meanwhile resumed its advance from Lanzerath during the small hours on 17 December. The II. Bataillon of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 9 had been subordinated to Peiper, who immediately—at four in the morning— ordered the paratroopers to reconnoiter the forest hill up to Buchholz. It did not take long before these returned to report nothing more than ’weak American positions’ that were ’quickly overcome.’ When Peiper learned that no such strong U.S. positions as Oberst von Hoffmann had spoken of existed, he totally lost his confidence in the paratroop colonel. Irritated by the unnecessary loss of time, Peiper immediately gave his Kampfgruppe a new march order: Full speed ahead!

With the paratroopers mounted on the big Konigstigers, the Germans paved their way along the forest road. ’Snow-covered terrain lay ahead of the Kampfgruppe in the early morning hours of 17 December,’ said SS-Unterscharfuhrer Karl Wortmann. ’A path through the woods leading from Lanzerath to the railroad station, located outside of the village, showed the fresh tracks made by the armored vehicles of the vanguard. The main body followed a few minutes later. American soldiers were seen on both sides of the path. They fired machine guns and other light weapons at the moving column. A few bursts from the four-barreled Flak forced them to flee farther into the woods. Mortar shells were a little more uncomfortable as they hit the ground close to the Panzers. The powder snow, thrown up by their explosions, obscured visibility for seconds at a time.’52

According to orders, the column did not stop to deal with the American troops that appeared on the flanks, but continued at full spead ahead—aiming at River Meuse. Near the railway station of Buchholz, the Germans met fire from anti-tank guns that rapidly were destroyed by fire from the Panther tanks. At four thirty in the morning, Peiper’s column surged into Honsfeld, three miles from Lanzerath. They found the village filled with parked military vehicles— tanks, armored cars, trucks with towed anti-tank guns, jeeps. These belonged to the 612th Tank Destroyer Battalion, the 801st Tank Destroyer Battalion, and ’A’ Troop of the 32nd Cavalry Squadron. Nearly all the U.S. soldiers were asleep in the houses. Private First Class Bill Hawkins of the 612th Tank Destroyer Battalion remembers how he was woken up by a young Belgian boy as he was sleeping on the third floor in one of the houses. ’Jump up, jump up, the Germans are all around us,’ shouted the boy. At first, Hawkins thought the boy was cracking a joke, but then another man of his platoon, Sergeant Briney, came up the steps and said, ’No fooling boys, they got us, they are everywhere!’53

Through this rapid coup, Peiper’s men took three hundred U.S. prisoners and captured seventeen antitank guns and around fifty military vehicles. But several Americans managed to escape, and these soon returned in a minor counter-attack. One of the SS soldiers afterwards said, ’There was Amis everywhere. We disarmed them at once and broke up their weapons. Then we drove them out into the street and started to count our loot in chocolate and cigarettes. Just when we were about to mount up to move out, all hell broke loose; firing from windows at the far end of town, cannon fire, tracers zipped back and forth, men screaming in pain.’54
 
U.S. soldiers opened fire on the Germans from various house windows in the village. Several Germans fell before the snipers had been eliminated. Two Wirbelwind AA panzers of 10. (Flak) Kompanie/SS-Panzer-Regiment 1 were knocked out by U.S. anti-tank guns, which immediately afterwards were destroyed by fire from a third Wirbelwind. The commander of the German Flak Kompanie, SS-Obersturmführer Karl-Heinz Vögler, was injured in this exchange of fire.55 U.S. 612th Tank Destroyer Battalion’s Sergeant Devers Bryant, manning an anti-tank gun in Honsfeld, recalls that ’the Germans had taken cover in a barn about fifty yards away and were shooting at the house. I put a shell into the barn; hay, wood, men flew everywhere.’56

Just as the Germans thought that the last resistance had been subdued, two Panther tanks—Nos. 232 and 235 under SS-Unterscharführer Willi Kritzler and SS-Unterscharführer Walter Puplik respectively— were knocked out by an anti-tank gun. A Königstiger also received four hits from two anti-tank guns, but remained unscathed and blew both guns to smithereens.

By that time, further German soldiers had arrived at Honsfeld. While Peiper and the spearhead of his Kampfgruppe continued northwards along the little backroad towards the next locality, Büllingen, some of the remaining Germans took a dreadful revenge on their American prisoners, as Elmer Haynes records:

We went downstairs and out the door. Some of the men were already standing alongside of the tanks with their hands over their heads. One tank fired just as I got to the steps and knocked down about five men. A friend of mine had both legs shot out from under him. As he was calling for help, the tank swerved to the left and ran over him. It went right by me and kept going. […] At first, the killing seemed to be random incidents. Two of us were walking side by side past the moving tanks when a single shot hit the man next to me in the chest. I grabbed him, but he was dead by the time I got him lowered to the ground. The rest of the tanks just drove on by. […] I was lucky, I dropped in a drainage ditch alongside of the road. I could feel the bullets going over me but I didn’t get hit. The firing stopped and I got to my feet. Most of the men around me were dead. I started walking to get back to the group, no one shot at me again. […] As they were pushing and prodding us back in line, our guys could see buddies laying in the street and ditches, shot down with their hands over their head.57

There is irrefutable proof that the Germans killed nineteen unarmed Americans in Honsfeld.58 In addition to that, they executed two Belgian civilians who were accused of ’collaboration with the enemy’—this was the part of Belgium that Hitler had annexed in 1940.
 
Büllingen, a small rural town with about two thousand residents by this time, is embedded between wide cattle fields on rolling hills in the German-speaking region of northwestern Belgium. This was the place where Major General Lauer had located the command post of his 99th Infantry Division; here was a fuel depot and a small airfield used by U.S. artillery observer planes. U.S. 254th Engineer Combat Battalion also was stationed here. Although the Americans were caught by surprise as SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper’s advance force attacked, a Panzer IV was kocked out by a Bazooka just outside of the town. SS-Obersturmbannführer Sternebeck describes what next followed, ’The armored advance force rumbles into Büllingen in full career, with all guns blazing. This created total confusion among the enemy. We had managed to catch them by surprise, and met no organized resistance.’59

According to Hugh M. Cole, there is evidence that the Germans executed prisoners—in total fifty—at this place too.60 However, U.S. military historian Charles B. MacDonald is of another opinion. He wrote, ’There were to be reports later that in Büllingen, Peiper’s men killed fifty American prisoners who had helped them fill their vehicles with gasoline. The reports were false. Kampfgruppe Peiper took about two hundred prisoners in and around Büllingen […] but there was no repetition of the mass atrocities committed in Honsfeld.’61
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One of SS-Kampfgruppe Peipers armored personnel carriers enters Honsfeld. When this photograph was taken, the Germans had already conquered the village and seized a large number of U.S. combat vehicles, including the M3 half-track left in the road side. (NARA, IU-SC-198248)
 




The men of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper had no reason to feel frustrated after the seizure of Büllingen, where they not only captured twelve aircraft on the airfield; one of the residents, an elderly man with a swastika armlet, showed them the way to the location outside of the town where the Americans had stockpiled fuel, all of which proved to be unscathed.62

The C.O. of the 99th Infantry Division, Lauer, nevertheless managed to slip away. The fact that a Panzer IV a couple of hours later was destroyed by an American anti-tank gun north of Büllingen, whereby the commander got killed, hardly would have made the SS men as furious as when they were attacked by a force that they imagined had surrendered in Honsfeld. This tank was part of SS-Obersturmbannführer Sternebeck’s lead force, which during the rapid advance through Büllingen mistakenly took the wrong exit road, and continued a mile or so to the north—towards Wirtzfeld—instead of to the south, towards Möderscheid, as the plan prescribed. If there was any reason to feel frustrated on the German side, this would have been due to the strict orders which told them to continue straight ahead, towards River Meuse, without any regard to the circumstances.
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American prisoners of war killed in Honsfeld on 17 December 1944. At the trough in the picture, a memorial to the American soldiers has now been erected. (NARA, 111-SC-198245)
 




In Büllingen, Peiper’s Kampfgruppe stood only slightly more than a mile south of Wirtzfeld. Had Peiper been allowed to make just a small deviation from the assigned march route to capture this location—which his task force without any doubt could have accomplished in a couple of hours—the road would have been opened to the 12. SS-Panzer-Division, which thus had been spared the costly battle of the ’twin villages’ Rocherath and Krinkelt (see pp. 191). Such a maneuver also would have enabled the two panzer divisions of the I. SS-Panzerkorps to carry out a pincer movement to surround and annihilate both U.S. 2nd and 99th Infantry divisions. This in turn would probably have resulted in a total collapse for the U.S. defenses in the sector assigned to the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, possibly allowing Sepp Dietrich’s troops to reach the Meuse within a couple of days. Moreover, von der Heydte’s paratroopers could have been relieved. But, as we have seen, Hitler had made it quite clear to the 6. SS-Panzerarmee that on no condition was it allowed to deviate from the assigned march route, and hence, Peiper continued westwards.

U.S. 2nd Infantry Division’s commander, Major General Robertson, felt a moment of strong anxiety. Early on the morning of 17 December he phoned the commandant of the Division’s Special Troops and told him that the Germans had broken through, and wanted him to get every man he could bring up—even cooks, truck drivers, and clerks—to form a last ditch defense of the command post. These were the troops that Sternebeck’s tanks had encountered north of Büllingen. But as the feared German attack from the south never materialized, Robertson soon was able to concentrate on the defense of the ’twin villages’ Rocherath and Krinkelt.

After Büllingen, Peiper’s column continued along the paved main road N 32, and about a thousand yards from Büllingen’s western exit they reached the estate of Domane Bütgenbach. ’The Americans had established a dressing-station at that place,’ said SS-Obersturmbannführer Sternebeck. ’Although the doctors approached us in order to surrender their station, we turned left and entered the road Büllingen - Möderscheid.’63 While Peiper’s force kept surging ahead, the bulk of the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division was left far behind. As it would turn out, the regiment assigned by U.S. 1st Infantry Division to the 99th Division would make it to Domane Bütgenbach before these paratroopers—which would cost the 12. SS-Panzer-Division dearly a couple of days later.

In front of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, all American resistance collapsed. By noon on 17 December, news about the powerful German panzer column had caused widespread panic on the American side. Major Donald P. Boyer, operations officer in U.S. 38th Armored Infantry Battalion—part of Combat Command Reserve, 7th Armored Division, which was underway to join the 106th Infantry Division in the Sankt Vith area—describes the sight that met him at around one in the afternoon on 17 December, as he reached the road intersection at Poteau, some ten miles southwest of Büllingen:
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A squadron of Piper L-4 Grasshopper U.S. Army artillery observation aircraft at an airfield in Belgium in the winter of 1944/1945. Although Grasshopper was the official designation, this military aircraft usually was known under its civilian name, Cub. The L-4 was used extensively in several roles—as a reconnaissance aircraft, a liaison aircraft, as an air ambulance, and in the role of an artillery observer. With its low cruising speed, 75 m.p.h., and a stall speed of only 38 m.p.h., coupled with its long flight endurance, three hours, the L-4 was an excellent artillery observer. Equipped with a radio transmitter the pilot of an L-4 could direct the fire of his own artillery while the Germans on the ground often did not dare to fire on his aircraft for fear of themselves becoming the next target for the artillery. (US Army)
 




’We were hit by a sight that we could not comprehend, at first; a constant stream of traffic hurtling to the rear (to the west) and nothing going to the front (to the east). We realized that this was not a convoy moving to the rear; it was a case of “every dog for himself”; it was a retreat, a rout.

Here would come a two and one-half ton [truck] with only a driver, then another with several men in it (most of them bareheaded and in various stages of undress), next perhaps an engineer crane truck or an armored car, then several artillery prime movers—perhaps one of them towing a gun, command cars with officers in them, one quarter ton [jeep]—anything which would run and which would get the driver and a few others away from the front; it wasn’t a pretty sight—we were seeing American soldiers running away.

About a mile farther up the road at the little town of Petit-Thier, all traffic had stopped. In fact, it was the most perfect traffic jam I had ever seen. We had run into this hopeless mass of vehicles fleeing to the rear on a narrow road which would barely support two-way traffic at slow speeds. Vehicles streaming to the rear had attempted to pass each other in the intervals between the tanks of the 31st Tank Battalion, which was leading CCB, and now no one could move…’64

This was the traffic jam that prevented Combat Command Reserve, 7th Armored Division and Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division from relieving the 106th Infantry Division in time. At around two in the afternoon on 17 December, the C.O. of the latter unit, Brigadier General Bruce Clarke, held a meeting with the 106th Infantry Division’s C.O., Major General Jones, at the latter’s command post in Sankt Vith, when suddenly the 14th Cavalry Group’s commander, Colonel Mark Devine burst in, his face red.65 ‘General,’ Devine gasped, ’we’ve got to run. I was practically chased into this building by a Tiger tank, and we all have to get out of here!’66

After Büllingen and Domane Bütgenbach, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper barely encountered any American troops for several hours. ’Every now and then a few stray jeeps would enter our main route of advance from side roads, apparently not realizing that we had penetrated that far,’ Peiper said.67 The Germans pushed on through the terrain as though it was nothing but a simple transfer in friendly territory. A bit to the west of Möderscheid, two to three miles southwest of Büllingen, they captured a group of U.S. officers and soldiers from the 3rd Armored Division’s 32nd Armored Regiment. These were interrogated by Peiper personally, who thus learned that Brigadier General Edward W. ’Big Ed’ Timberlake, C.O. of the 49th Antiaircraft Artillery Brigade, had established his command post in Ligneuville, two miles further on. This meant that the Germans perhaps would be able to capture some quite valuable documents on U.S. troop positions, so Peiper ordered full speed ahead. In the next little village, Schoppen, one of the residents, Frau Dollendorf, stood at the small chapel as the huge tanks came clanking up the hill that leads to the village. ’How does one get to the coast from here?’ asked one of the tank commanders as he stood in his turret hatch.68
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The same German paratroopers on the Königstiger as on the previous image are offered captured American Camel cigarettes from an orderly on a DKW NZ-500 motorcycle. The paratrooper standing up on the tank to the left is armed with a Gerät Potsdam submachine gun type, a German copy of the British 9mm STEN gun. (NARA, III-SC-341622)
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A German soldier contemplates at military equipment and personal gear left behind by American troops during their retreat to escape the advancing 6. SS-Panzerarmee in December 1944.(NARA, III-SC-197571)
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American troops leaving Malmedy in December 1944. (Via Warren Watson)
 




At eleven in the forenoon on 17 December, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper entered Thirimont, seven miles from Büllingen. By that time, the Königstigers had been left behind. As these at about this time left Büllingen, they were attacked by eleven Thunderbolt fighter-bombers of the 366th Fighter Group. As we have seen previously, U.S. 9th Air Force took advantage of a slight improvement inthe weather on 17 December to despatch 647 fighter-bombers, but an even larger Luftwaffe activity prevented these from interfering with any efficiency on the battlefield. Nevertheless, a couple of American aircraft managed to get through, and the bombs dropped by these Thunderbolts damaged the tracks of one of the Königstigers so that it had to be abandoned; later on, when the Germans withdrew from the area, it was lost. But the fighter-bombers would not accomplish anything more against the SS-Kampfgruppe on this occasion; in the next moment, they were attacked by around a dozen Messerschmitt 109 and Focke Wulf 190 fighters, which forced the Americans to jettison the remainder of their bombs and defend themselves.
 
Peiper—who meanwhile was in Thirimont— knew nothing of this; his mind was occupied with other matters. In Thirimont the mud road bent sharply to the right, towards Baugnez, slightly more than a mile farther north, where a paved road led to Ligneuville. Slightly before Peiper’s lead force had reached this area, the long vehicle columns of the 7th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve had passed from the north to the south on the same road, heading for Sankt Vith.69 Most of these barely evaded SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, but an artillery battery did not have the same fortune.

In his eagerness to reach Ligneuville in shortest possible time, Peiper ordered his vehicles to take a shortcut through the moist wooded area of Hauts Sarts in the west, but there a couple of his tanks got stuck, so the column had to turn back and take the mud road northwards from Thirimont. In that moment, ’B’ Battery, 285th Field Artillery Observation Battalion passed the road intersection at Baugnez, two miles southeast of the town of Malmédy. SS-Obersturmführer Sternebeck describes what happened there:
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On their way west on muddy roads, Königstiger-tanks of schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501 pass by columns of American POWs. (NARA, III-SC-198241)
 




On the road leading northwestwards from Thirimont, I made a reconnaissance halt about 900 to 1,200 yards east of the road junction at Baugnez, and saw an enemy vehicle column passing the crossroads heading south. Our armored lead force opened fire with explosive shells against the enemy column, which by that time was about two to three hundred yards from the junction. Some of the vehicles immediately caught fire, and the column dispersed and stopped. The vehicle crews bailed out and took cover. In that situation we advanced towards the crossroads, along the road between Waimes and Baugnez. Before we had arrived, we were subject to machine gun and small arms fire. We fired back, using the machine guns of our tanks, and increased speed against the halted enemy column. When my tank, which took the lead, had reached within sixty to seventy yards from the enemy, the Americans stood up from the road ditch, their hands raised.

We slowly approached the column. By signs with the hands I made the Americans understand that they were to march back towards the crossroads. I radioed a report on the firefight and its result to the armored group. Once again I was ordered to continue at full speed to Engelsdorf [Ligneuville]. Between the armored lead force and the main force, where the command post was, there was a time lapse of about ten minutes.70

’Eleven to fifteen of their trucks were destroyed, and we moved through their convoy with little difficulty and pushed into Ligneuville,’ Peiper reported.71 What next took place at the road intersection at Baugnez was a great and well-known tragedy. A large number of the U.S. soldiers that surrendered at Baugnez were mowed down in cold blood by German troops.

Meanwhile, Peiper’s efforts to catch the Americans at Ligneuville by surprise, failed. Brigadier General Timberlake had been warned via radio about the German breakthrough already on the morning of 17 December. He thus had the time to destroy all vital documents at the command post, and to prepare its evacuation. ’Big Ed’ Timberlake even took his time to have lunch at Hötel du Moulin before he left the small town. However, a small group of stragglers from the 14th Tank Battalion of 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command B—en route from the Malmédy area to Sankt Vith—remained in the town as the leading SS tanks approached. The Americans had two Shermans—one of which was an M4A3 with the new 76mm Ml gun —and an M10 tank destroyer. Even though the German entrance into Ligneuville was accompanied by fire from their tank guns, the Americans were not fully prepared as Peiper’s column, shortly before three in the afternoon, began to move downhill on the main street.72


THE BLOODBATH AT BAUGNEZ

In May and June 1946, a U.S. military court sentenced forty-three former SS soldiers—among them Jochen Peiper—to death for the events at Baugnez on 17 December 1944. Others received lengthy prison terms, like Sepp Dietrich. However, the trial and the verdicts would soon be challenged. The defense attorney, Colonel Willis M. Everett, Jr., took hold on the prisoners’ sworn descriptions of beatings, torture, starvation diet, threats of reprisals against their families, and more if they did not admit what they were accused of.1

All of the death sentences—none of which were carried out—were converted into prison sentences. The famous U.S. Senator Joseph McCarthy later appeared to defend the prisoners, and over the course of the 1950s, they were all released— the last to be released was Jochen Peiper, in 1956. These acquittals also stirred up strong emotions and created controversy. On 14 July 1976, Peiper’s house in France was attacked by six unknown persons with fire bombs. Afterwards, Peiper’s charred corpse was found in the remains of his burned home. The identities of the assaulters, who called themselves ‘the Avengers,’ have never been identified.

There is no doubt that the American proceedings against the accused SS soldiers were conducted in a most remarkable way. This has created an unfortunate situation where there still is no real consensus as to what exactly occurred at Baugnez south of Malmédy on 17 December 1944. Military historian and the international expert on the SS Martin Månsson, however says:

‘Countless books and articles have claimed to tell the â€œtruth” about this tragedy. But even today, not all records are public, so we will have to wait to get the full picture. Clearly, however, there is no doubt that this was a massacre and that many of the American soldiers were executed at close range, that is, with a shot in the head from a distance of less than three feet.’ 2

This is supported by, among others, German historian Jens Westemeier.3

After the war, Samuel Dobyns, Private First Class and an ambulance driver in the 575th Ambulance Company who managed to escape at Baugnez, testified in the so-called Malmédy trial: ‘I saw three or four German soldiers shoot the wounded that were crying for help. ’4 Another U.S. soldier who survived the massacre gave this testimony: ‘Then they stopped shooting them and went around kicking them. Anything that moved, they shot them.’5

No one questions that a large numbers of American soldiers were shot dead in Baugnez. In the trial of the suspected culprits, the number of fatalities was given at eighty-four. According to writer Gerd J. Gust Cuppens, however, six of these men were killed in other places and on other dates.6 Those who managed to escape told of how the American soldiers who surrendered to SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper at Baugnez were ordered to line up on a field, whereafter German soldiers suddenly opened fire.7 Everyone agrees that a large group of American POWs were shot dead on the field, but the circumstances have never been fully clarified. It has been asserted that a certain number of the fatalities in fact were killed when Sternebeck’s troops attacked the vehicle convoy, before the Americans had surrendered.8 Cuppens also refers to eyewitnesses who claim that some of the American POWs who were in the back of the peloton tried to sneak away, and that this was the reason why the Germans opened fire. 9 Cuppens points out that an American officer was supposed to have shouted ‘stand firm.’

In Samuel Dobyns’ testimony at the 1946 trial, he said that the German whom witnesses had identified as the one who had fired the first shots against the prisoners with his pistol, had waved this pistol for a while, and as a reaction to this, an American prisoner had shouted ‘stand firm’ to his comrades. It was then that this gun-toting German had opened fire, hitting one of the soldiers in the first line. Dobyns said that he himself then broke the line and ran backwards, and it was only when he was a bit away that the German machine guns opened fire.10

According Cuppens, one of the officers in SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper after the war commented that in such a situation it takes little to trigger a disaster.11 Due to that version, the Americans scattered in panic and tried to escape the gunfire— which caused more German soldiers to open fire.

The American side gives a different version. For example, according to military historian Charles B. MacDonald, someone on the German side is supposed to have shouted ‘kill them all,’ after which machine guns opened fire on the defenseless prisoners.12 According to Jens Westemeier’s Peiper-biography, SS commanders in place gave explicit orders to his subordinates to shoot the Americans.13

Owing to mistakes committed by the U.S. military during the 1946 trial, the true circumstances of the carnage at Baugnez on 17 December 1944 may never be fully clarified. To the disadvantage of the SS soldiers, there was not only several other incidents during these days when they executed American prisoners or Belgian civilians, but also a long list of Waffen-SS atrocities against POWs and civilians during World War II. Many of the men of ‘Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler’ had been brutalized in the German war of extermination on the Eastern Front.

The autopsy conducted by the U.S. military after the dead Americans had been found in January 1945, came to the following conclusions: Among 82 dead American soldiers, the cause of death for forty-one was gunshot in the head— with, in most cases, gunpowder injuries showing gunfire at close range.14 In the cases of nineteen others, the cause of death was bullet wounds from machine guns and small-caliber weapons, another four died by bleeding, three of blows to the head, three by shrapnel, three by grenade explosions, and twelve due to other causes.15

In any event, the ‘Malmédy massacre’—as the incident came to be known as—immediately had far-reaching consequences. The very next day the stories of those Americans who managed to escape appeared in a report widely distributed among the Allied troops:

’SS troops in vicinity L8199 captured U.S. soldiers, traffic MP with about two hundred other U.S. soldiers. American prisoners searched. When finished, Germans lined up Americans and shot them with machine pistols and machine guns.’16

That soldiers who surrendered individually or in small groups simply were shot down in the heat of battle, was nothing unusual, and something not only the Germans were guilty of. But what happened on 17 December 1944 still was different. Because the U.S. Army immediately gave this incident the widest possible publicity, the news of the ‘Malmédy Massacre’ came to put a mark on the Ardennes Battle. In a situation where many of the soldiers on the American side were demoralized, confused, and wavered in their confidence in their own military leadership, the news of the German atrocity had an electrifying effect: ’The Malmédy massacre would have repercussions reaching far wider than one might expect of a single battlefield atrocity in a long and bitter war. This “incident” undoubtedly stiffened the will of the American combatants.’17 Not least the soldiers of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper would soon notice this new, hardened attitude of their opponents.
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The dead bodies of the executed Americans as they were found when the area was recaptured in January 1945. (US Army)
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SS-Obersturmbannführer Werner Sternebeck stopped in front of Hötel du Moulin, located just after the entrance into the town, jumped out of his vehicle and rushed inside. There he was met by the hotelkeeper, Peter Rupp, who addressed the SS officer in perfect German: ’Guten Tag, Herr Offizier, the Herr General has left with his staff a few minutes ago, but will return by Christmas.’ To his great surprise, Sternebeck found that a table in the hotel restaurant in the room to the left had still not been cleared, and in an ashtray were still burning cigarettes!

In that moment, Sternebeck heard loud detonations from outside, followed by excited screams and more bangs. The American force had taken up positions on the little hill above the main street that runs downhill straight through Ligneuville. A hundred yards farther down the road, a Panther stood in flames. This had just passed the church on the left hand side of the street and reached the adjacent Hôtel des Ardennes when a 76mm grenade hit the rear of the chassis, where the top armor was only half an inch thick. Peiper saw the tank commander, his personal friend SS-Untersturmführer Arndt Fischer, bail out, his uniform on fire. Peiper grabbed a Panzerfaust, but a Königstiger destroyed one of the Shermans with its 88mm gun, and the second Sherman also soon was neutralized. With their hands above their heads, twenty-two U.S. soldiers came staggering down the hill above Hôtel du Moulin. The SS men were raging at what they apprehended as a cowardly ambush.

Some years after the war, Peter Rupp told of how he saw two SS NCOs shoot down eight of the American prisoners just next to the hotel.* Next, the two SS soldiers took the remaining fourteen prisoners into the hotel lobby. ’Murderer! You killed eight of them! I saw you put the pistol in their mouths!’ Rupp exclaimed. The SS trooper struck Rupp across his mouth. At that moment, an SS officer emerged and said, ’Shoot them all, the Belgian swine too!’ The situation looked grim when a senior SS officer suddenly entered the hotel and put an end to any further killings. ’Leave them alone,’ he barked at the NCOs, and turning to Rupp he said, ’You are right, mein Herr. It’s a shame how some people treat prisoners.’ Then he gave the NCOs an order: ’Put these men in that room and treat them as you’d want the Amis to treat you.’73
 
At that stage, Peiper’s task force had become spread out all the way from Honsfeld—where the bulk of the paratroop battalion still remained—to Ligneuville. He had lost five Panthers, two Panzer IVs, and a Königstiger, and another eight Panthers, four Panzer IVs, and no less than about twenty Konigstigers had been left standing along the road due to technical malfunctions, so Peiper decided to pause in Ligneuville in order to assemble his troops, and to snatch a meal.

Peiper’s pause in Ligneuville not only saved U.S. 7th Armored Division’s artillery column, which en route to Sankt Vith had been forced to turn around in Malmédy— because the Germans had reached Baugnez—and instead take Highway N 23 from Malmédy via Stavelot; it in fact also decided the outcome of whole SS offensive. After only two hours, at five in the afternoon on 17 December, Peiper gave his men a new march order. By then it was already dark. While Peiper himself chose to remain in Ligneuville—where the C.O. of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division, SS-Brigadeführer Mohnke, arrived for a meeting—he ordered a company of Panther tanks to continue to the town of Stavelot. The Germans tanks took the nearest way—straight westwards, through the small villages of Villers Beaumont and Lodomez.

Although the distance to Stavelot was less than six miles, and hardly any American resistance could be expected, the Panther force would not reach the town with its vital bridge across River Amblève on that day. In the darkness and without a clue as to where the enemy was, the Germans moved cautiously along a narrow, winding road, lined with trees to the right and steep cliffs rising to the left. In two places the road bended so sharply that the tanks first had to reverse before they, one by one, could get past. Still, one of them damaged its gun barrel when it bumped against the cliffs on the roadside at one of these hairpin bends. At that time the scouting unit had been on the road for two hours, and only a few miles remained to Stavelot. The Panther had barely damaged the barrel in the collision with the cliff, when an explosion occurred. The lead tank had been hit by a Bazooka. Even though the tank was only slightly damaged, it sufficed to halt the SS force.

Unbeknown to the Germans, they had encountered nothing more than an American rearguard troop consisting of exactly twelve men (plus a truck driver) under the command of 21-year-old Sergeant Charles W. Hensel of the 291st Engineer Combat Battalion. These had arrived to the site to set up a roadblock just half an hour before the Germans. Hensel and his men fired their weapons more in panic than anything else when the Germans appeared in the darkness, and then promptly left the scene. Their effort halted the strongest single armored force that stood against the Western Allied armies, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper.

When Peiper himself received the report that the tanks had been stopped outside Stavelot, he went there to see for himself. He arrived at eleven in the evening on 17 December. By that time, both sides had, to put it mildly, a quite unclear image of just where the enemy was. While the Panther group stood south of Stavelot, U.S. 7th Armored Division’s artillery column was passing through the town on their way from Malmédy to Sankt Vith. As Peiper saw how the Americans fearlessly had their headlamps switched on, he thought that his own force faced a very strong enemy unit, so he decided to wait until daylight before he launched an attack. Indeed, a platoon of SS panzer grenadiers waded across the narrow river a bit upstream, and took control of some of the houses closest to the bridge on the northern side of Amblève, but apparently these also failed to detect how weak the Americans actually were.74

If Peiper, instead of pausing at Ligneuville, had carried out an attack on the afternoon of 17 December, his armor would have been able to get around along the narrow road to Stavelot in daylight, this vital town could have been captured before nightfall, and Peiper would probably have been able to reach the Meuse over the course of 18 December.

When Peiper, on the evening on 17 December, halted his powerful Kampfgruppe at Stavelot, with its unmolested stone bridge over River Amblève, the U.S. forces in the region were in a state that can only be described as on the verge of a breakdown. Sergeant Lloyd Jelleberg from the 99th Infantry Battalion, which marched from Spa to Malmédy that same evening, describes the situation on the U.S. side, ’On the way to Malmédy, the road was full of rear area people coming out. They were scared. Some with no helmets or weapons saying to us you can’t go. The Germans were behind them. They were so wild and scared they wouldn’t get off the road, especially officers and their cars. I was ashamed that they were Americans.’75
 
The 99th Infantry Battalion (Separate) was an independent ‘Norwegian’ infantry battalion, called the ’Viking Battalion,’ in the U.S. Army. It was composed mainly of Norwegian immigrants to the United States, second generation Norwegian Americans, and Norwegian sailors who had volunteered. The 526th Armored Infantry Battalion—which at the time was being trained in rear area—and ’A’ Company of the 825th Tank Destroyer Battalion, equipped with anti-tank guns, were attached to the 99th Infantry Battalion to form Task Force Hansen under the 99th Infantry Battalion’s commander, Lieutenant Colonel Harold D. Hansen. In the evening on 17 December, these units received orders to depart from the Spa area to take up positions at Malmédy.76 Meanwhile, the 30th Infantry Division was instructed to shift from U.S. Ninth Army in the north to the V Corps and First Army. Two of its regiments were set marching to Malmédy and the third to Aywaille, west of Spa.

While Peiper thus got the Norwegian-American Task Force Hansen on his northern flank (which was supposed to be covered by the 12. SS-Panzer-Division), his southern flank was covered by the SS troops of SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen under SS-Standartenfuhrer Max Hansen, with about four thousand men and twenty Panzer IV/70s. Although the American resistance on Hansen’s southern Rollbahn was broken up already on the first day—owing to the 5. Panzerarmee’s 18. Volksgrenadier-Division—it took until the morning of day two before Hansen’s motorized task force could begin its advance. There was not much the Americans could launch against SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen, which raced forward at a Blitzkrieg speed. As we saw in Chapter 4, SS-Standartenfuhrer Hansen chased Combat Command Reserve, 7th Armored Division, and Colonel Devine’s 14th Cavalry Group from Recht and Poteau, northwest of Sankt Vith, in the evening on 17 December. But then SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen had to halt because no fuel reserves could get through on the jammed roads in the east.
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After the war, this memorial was erected to honor the American POWs who were gunned down in cold blood at Hötel du Moulin in Ligneuville on 17 December 1944. (Photo: The author)
 




THE BATTLE OF THE ’TWIN VILLAGES’

Meanwhile, the other panzer division of the I. SS-Panzerkorps—the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ under SS-Brigadeführer Hugo Kraas—had got stuck in some of the bloodiest battles during the entire Ardennes Offensive.

As we have seen, the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division failed in its task to break up the U.S. Army in the forests west of Hollerath and Udenbroth on the first day of the attack: this division was almost completely obliterated by the so-called ‘green’ American troops of the 99th Infantry Division. Therefore, the commander of I. SS-Panzerkorps, SS-Gruppenführer Hermann Priess, instructed 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ already on the first day of the attack to take over from the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division, and advance towards the ’twin villages’ Rocherath and Krinkelt, and then on towards the Elsenborn Ridge.77

The condition of the 12. SS-Panzer-Division when the Ardennes Offensive began is described by the divisional commander, SS-Standartenfuhrer Fuhrer Hugo Kraas, ’This young division had been formed as recently as mid-1943, and had been fighting in France, where it sustained very heavy casualties, creating a particular shortage in combat experienced soldiers, NCOs, and officers. The replacements consisted of volunteers who had received a very brief training. There was only left a small core of older, combat experienced soldiers. Most officers, especially the staff officers, lacked combat experience as well as combat command experience. This deficiency was particularly evident in the panzer grenadier regiments, which in no way could be described as powerful and cohesive units, and therefore not suited for offensive tasks.’78 However, according to Kraas, the division’s panzer regiment had ’seasoned and experienced soldiers, NCOs, and officers.’79

The 12. SS-Panzer-Division began its march to the front at four in the afternoon, just before sunset on 16 December. It would be a slow advance. The entire division moved along a single, muddy and narrow forest road. With its surface softened up by the snow and rain that fell throughout the day, this road became completely broken, as more and more heavy vehicles passed, and in the darkness, confusion soon arose in traffic. SS-Untersturmfuhrer Willi Engel, platoon commander in 3. Kompanie, I. Abteilung/ SS-Panzer-Regiment 12, depicts the arduous march:

The 3. Kompanie had just left the resort Hollerath and drove up the mountain. For two hours it was night, with the typical December darkness that almost seems to wrap all the contours in black velvet. It felt like we were running inside a tunnel, anxious about what awaited us on the other end. You could only imagine the dampened lighting on the vehicle ahead, so the pace in which we rolled along was extremely slow. […] At low altitude—and with a terrible noise—V 1 rockets, blinking as if position lights on aircraft, passed above our heads. In front of us we could see the muzzle fire of the American artillery, which made a row of treetops get silhouetted against the horizon.80

About three miles west of Hollerath, the thick forest ended and open fields took over all the way to Rocherath and Krinkelt. Here the U.S. artillery on the Elsenborn Ridge lay such a heavy artillery barrage that the Germans were held back throughout the entire day on 17 December.81 Hereby, SS-Oberscharführer Rudolf Roy, the leading ‘Panzer ace’ of SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12, was killed. Sitting in the open hatch of his Panzer IV/70, he was hit in the head by a bullet from an American sniper.

Only after dark in the late afternoon on 17 December were the Germans able to resume their advance on the ’twin villages’ The attack was carried out by SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 25 with three Panzer IV/70s under SS-Obersturmführer Helmut Zeiner, supported by about forty panzer grenadiers from SS-Sturmbannführer Siegfried Müller’s SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 25. The Germans advanced along the dirt road that leads from the east into the center of the ’twin villages’ When the engine noise from the tank destroyers reached the U.S. soldiers who were in foxholes on the fields east of the Rocherath, two of the Americans rose and walked towards the road in the belief that it was their own reinforcements. The sight that met them made their blood freeze in their veins: Without paying any notice at the two Americans, the SS men passed by, unconcernedly romping and laughing. After them followed the low-profiled Panzer IV/70s. They reminded of giant tortoises as they crawled on through the darkness on the muddy road. One of the American soldiers afterwards swore that he had seen the commander in the top hatch on one of these put up a middle finger to the two completely paralyzed Americans.82
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SS-Untersturmfuhrer Siegfried Stiewe, SS-Sturmbannführer Gustav Knittel’s adjutant, and an SS-Rottenfuhrer take a breather under the shelter of a captured U.S. M8 armored car. Stiewe survived the Ardennes Battle but was killed in combat on the Eastern Front on 27 March1945. (NARA, III-SC-341640)
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A group from the 1. SS-Panzer-Division is taking a rest during the advance westwards on 18 December 1944.The soldiers in the picture have been described as SS-Oberscharführer Persin and SS-Unterscharführer Ochsner from the 3. Kompanie/ SS-Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 1, but none of the surviving veterans of this unit can recall anyone with these names in the unit. Behind the soldiers, a Sd.Kfz. 250 half-track vehicle has parked at the roadside. The place is Kaiserbaracke, 8 miles southeast of Malmedy and 5 miles northwest of Sankt Vith, as is evidenced by the road sign (on which someone has hung a U.S. rifle). (NARA, III-SC-341658)
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The smiling SS soldier sitting on the side of a Volkswagen 166 Schwimmwagen, has sometimes been misidentified as Jochen Peiper. Some sources claim that it is SS-UnterscharfÜhrer Ochsner, which has not either been possible to confirm. (NARA, III-SC-341620)
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While the two Americans rushed away, the German force entered the village along the uphill leading to the church, located on a hill in the center of the community. Apparently they took the Americans by surprise. Some shots were fired, but the panzer grenadiers could clear the houses on both sides of the road rapidly, and soon had taken eighty enemy soldiers as prisoners. Three Sherman tanks lined up on the other side of the large stone church were hit and caught fire as soon as they came forward to meet the German force. They continued to burn throughout the night.

It was only now that most of the American soldiers in and around Rocherath-Krinkelt became aware that the enemy penetrated the village. One of them, Staff Sergeant Richard H. Byers, recalled, ’ About 10 pm we woke up to the sound of a firefight and tank battle in Krinkelt/Rocherat. I saw a scene I can’t forget. There was a fire blazing in front of Krinkelt’s church. It was a burning Sherman, one of three knocked out by Panthers. The flames lit the height of the church spire. Through binoculars I could see figures running back and forth silhouetted by fire, and watched tracers from tanks at either side of the town’

In the bold thrust, which was crowned by the seizure of the center point of the elongated ’twin villages,’ and the destruction of three U.S. tanks, Zeiner’s small force gave the impression of being much stronger than it really was. The Americans, who had been able to rapidly drive them out of the village, had they only known how weak they were, decided to stay on the defensive. Throughout the night, Germans and Americans lay opposite each other in a semicircle around the eastern fringes of community, while the open area around the church was lit by firelight from the three burning Shermans and, eventually, the growing flames from the church tower. But when the intended reinforcements from the rest of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 25 still was held up by fighting in the woods east and northeast of Rocherath-Krinkelt, Zeiner decided to withdraw. Under the cover of darkness the Germans slipped back to their own lines.

Zeiner could report the presence of very strong American forces in Rocherath-Krinkelt. This was also confirmed by the information that the Germans were able to gather from the American POWs.83 By defying Hodges’ orders to continue the attack against the Roer dams, the C.O. of U.S. 2nd Infantry Division, Major General Robertson, had been able to concentrate the entire 38th Infantry Regiment and the 1st Battalion of 9th Infantry Regiment to this section. These were supported by the 741st Tank Battalion, the 644th Tank Destroyer Battalion, and elements of 801st Tank Destroyer Battalion, plus a powerful artillery. Additionally, the defenders integrated retreating troops from three of the 99th Infantry Division’s infantry battalions over the course of 17 and 18 December.
 
In this situation, the 12. SS-Panzer-Division could have easily circumvented Rocherath and Krinkelt in the south, to take the road over Büllingen, just a mile and a half farther to the southwest—which had been captured by SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper on the morning of 17 December— and Bütgenbach, three miles northwest of Büllingen. This also would have had the advantage that this road, Highway N 32, was significantly better than the small roads from Udenbreth and Hollerath. By this time, this area also was held by nothing but small and disorganized U.S. forces that the German panzers could have swept aside without any difficulty. All of this could have been readily carried out by the forces that arrived at the front during the night of 17 December—two Panther companies and two Panzer IV companies from SS-Sturmbannführer Arnold Jurgensen’s I. Panzer-Abteilung/SS Panzer -Regiment 12, along with the ’Hitler Jugend’ Division’s artillery regiment and a Nebelwerfer battalion. But instead, the order was given that the tanks were to take the main road straight into Rocherath and Krinkelt on the morning of 18 December, although only a weak supporting infantry force—two battalions of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 25—was available.

Just before sunrise on 18 December, SS-Sturmbannführer Jurgensen’s armor rumbled towards Rocherath along the country road from the northeast. There, six hundred men of the 1st Battalion, U.S. 9th Infantry Regiment attempted to hold positions. Here the American and the German accounts differ widely. According to the American version, the U.S. troops held out for several hours, fighting an uneven battle outside of Rocherath. Hereby, the Americans called the own artillery by radio and requested that they would direct their fire against the own positions. For thirty minutes, artillery shells kept coming in on this section.84 German SS-Unterscharführer Heinz Stork, commander of a Panzer IV in 6. Kompanie/SS-Panzer-Regiment 12, tells a different story: ‘We reached the outskirts of the village without any difficulty, apart from some sporadic artillery fire and a couple of rifle shots’85 Whatever happened, only 217 men of the American battalion managed to withdraw to Rocherath. Of ‘A’ Company, no more than twelve men remained.
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German soldiers advance in the Ardennes fog in December 1944. (NARA, III-SC-341637)
 




The twin villages Rocherath and Krinkelt extend for a mile from the northeast to the southwest. The community is bounded to the east and west by two longitudinal streets two to three hundred yards apart. The entire community is located on a ridge, in the middle of which the church is located. In the surrounding lowlands, large, open fields spread out. Since the fields on both sides of SS-Sturmbannführer Jurgensens tanks were expected to be mined, and also were quite marshy, all the tanks drove in a single column on the road which runs in a drawn-out, rising left turn into Rocherath. Inside the village, the road, Wahlscheider Strasse, continues, with a slight ascent, and after about six hundred yards it reaches the church in the center of the twin villages.

This time, the Americans were prepared. In the two-story stout stone buildings that lined Wahlscheider Strasse, soldiers had prepared firing positions. In alleys and behind walls and house corners, anti-tank guns, Sherman tanks and tank destroyers lured. It was, as SS-Oberscharführer Willi Fischer, one of the German tank commanders, later would put it, ’a perfect tank grave’86

The Americans waited until the entire armored column was lined up along the narrow village street. Two dug down Shermans, with Sergeant Neidrich and Corporal Curtis Hall as tank commanders, opened the battle when the leading Panthers came clanking towards the still burning church. Neidrich and Hall fired against the side armor of the Panthers, which was less thick. Within minutes they had knocked out five Panthers, and the whole German advance stalled.87 SS-Untersturmfuhrer Engel, tank commander on a Panther in the same company as Fischer, remembered:

As I approached the church I was met by a horrific sight. [SS-Oberscharführer Johann] Beutelhauser’s tank was knocked out in front of me. […] Beutelhauser managed to jump out and reach safety. The gunner was killed by a bullet when he tried to jump out. I brought my tank in cover behind a house without knowing what would happen.

Next to me stood [SS-Hauptsturmführer Kurt] Brodel’s tank [No. 318], lightly burning, with Brodel hanging lifeless in the turret hatch. All tanks along the street in front of me had been put out of action, and some of them were burning. One tank was still moving—I think it was Freier’s—and thanks to my cover fire it managed to withdraw to the Battalion CP. […]

Behind me came SS-Sturmbannführer Jurgensens tank. I realized that I had to abandon my position and intended to pull back behind the road crossing. At the same time, I realized that the American anti-tank gun crew figured had this out and was ready to open fire at the crossing. This also took place! The first shot was a miss, but the second hit the track and the side of the tank. Luckily it cost no loss of life, but the radio was destroyed and the track almost broke. I just managed to follow Jurgensens instructions when the track broke and the drive wheels on one of the sides sank into the mud.88
 
Rocherath-Krinkelt turned out to be a death trap for the tanks. Additional armor losses were inflicted by artillery fire guided by observers who were hiding in the immediate vicinity of the tanks. One of the tanks hit by artillery inside Rocherath-Krinkelt was the Panzer IV with SS-Sturmmann Max Söllner as gunner. A shell slammed into the tank’s turret, ripped open a hole three feet wide and killed the driver and injured two other crew members.89

The battle that raged all day and well into the 19th was like a Stalingrad in miniature. The sight that met Hedwig Droesch, one of Rocherath’s residents, who during a break in the fighting, ventured up from the basement where she had sought shelter, was someting she would never forget: Wounded German soldiers lay moaning on the floor of the house, and when she stepped out the front door, she saw the houses on both sides of the street in flames, and the street was riddled with gas masks, steel helmets and rubble.90 A veteran of U.S. 741st Tank Battalion afterwards said, ’Never since St Lo had we been through such fighting, suffered such losses or felt such utter weariness and exhaustion.’91

It was only on the night of 20 December that the Americans left Rocherath-Krinkelt and withdrew to the Elsenborn ridge in the west. By that time, the 2nd and 99th Infantry divisions each had sustained about twelve hundred casualties since 16 December. By holding out for so long in the ’twin villages’—combined with the German decision to send their armor headlong into the community—the Americans gained valuable time. By now, their 2nd Infantry Division and the remnants of the 99th Infantry Division had entrenched themselves well on the Elsenborn Ridge behind Rocherath and Krinkelt, heavily supported by artillery and three battalions of tank destroyers, and south of this ridge, at Bütgenbach, the 1st Infantry Division’s regiment had taken up positions. The Germans never would break through these defenses.





[image: images]

A destroyed American M10 tank destroyer. (David E. Brown)
 




The fact that the 12. SS-Panzer-Division got stuck in Rocherath-Krinkelt and was unable tomove forward, also compelled Hitler to cancel the planned attack from the north by German 15. Armee, which according to the original plan would have attacked in connection with the breakthrough on the I. SS- Panzerkorps’ northern flank. This decision indeed was also influenced by the bloody losses inflicted on LXVII. Armeekorps (272. Volksgrenadier-Division and 326. Volksgrenadier-Division) on 16 December, but the 12. SS-Panzer-Division’s failure was what prompted Hitler to make the final decision.92
 
The true German losses in the Battle of Rocherath and Krinkelt have never been clarified, since the relevant German documents apparently have been lost. The participating U.S. troops claimed to have destroyed far more than one hundred German tanks. This is a huge exaggeration, which probably is due to both an underestimation of the ruggedness of the German tanks, and that the Americans left the scene after the battle—which meant that they were not able to verify the German losses, while the Germans could salvage damaged combat vehicles. Military historian Samuel W. Mitcham claims that the real figure was sixty-seven destroyed German tanks.93 Steven J. Zaloga presents lower figures, thirty-one German tanks and tank destroyers lost in Rocherath and Krinkelt.94

But even these figures seem too high. According to documents available to Jeff Dugdale—a military historian who studied the loss statistics for German armor in close detail—the 12. SS-Panzer-Division lost a total of not more than eighteen Panthers, eight Panzer IVs, and eight Jagdpanzers through the period 16-31 December 1944.95These figures correspond well with other sources. Hence, on 17 December, the 12. SS-Panzer-Division reported a strength of thirty serviceable Panzer IVs (with an additional nine in repair works), thirty-four Panthers, and fifty Jagdpanzers.96 These figures had dropped by eighteen Panthers, twelve Panzer IVs, and twenty-four Jagdpanzers on 20 December, but the decrease also includes damaged vehicles that were under repair. As we shall see, this division also sustained the bulk of its Jagdpanzer losses at Domane Bütgenbach on 19-20 December.

Due to historian Michael Reynolds, there are photographs of fifteen different Panthers, a Panzer IV, and two Panzer (Jagdpanzer) IV/70s abandoned in or near the ’twin villages.’97 Taking all these facts into account, it can be assumed that these photographs represent virtually all tanks and tank destroyers lost by the Germans in Rocherath and Krinkelt. Since a large number of damaged tanks and tank destroyers must be added to these figures, it represented a quite strong depletion of the 12. SS-Panzer-Division, and hitherto the largest single German tank losses during the Ardennes Offensive.

Generalmajor Walter Denkert, whose 3. Panzergrenadier-Division was called in to take over from the 12. SS-Panzer-Division at Rocherath-Krinkelt on 20 December, describes the harrowing sight that met him on the road to the ’twin villages’:

The road through the forest west of Hollerath (which formerly was in American hands) was in exceptionally bad condition due to the terrain and the bad weather. Bogged down and turned over vehicles, mostly from the 12 SS Pz Div, blocked the road, and minefields made a detour impossible. After a short while, I had to continue my reconnaissance by foot and it took me hours to get to the edge of the wooded area east of Rocherath-Krinkelt. One could see, especially in the small and narrow paths, the fury of the past battles.
 
This walk in wet and cold weather, through knee deep mud, past destroyed and bogged down vehicles, and the horrible sight of the dead and disfigured soldiers will always remain one of my most horrible war remembrances. 98

While the battle for Rocherath-Krinkelt was raging, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper had advanced far to the west and lost contact with the other units of I. SS-Panzerkorps. That was the reason why the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ eventually was withdrawn from the ’twin villages’ and was directed westwards, south of Krinkelt—the path the division could have taken instead of slamming in among the houses in Rocherath and Krinkelt. After the war, former SS-Untersturmfuhrer Willi Engel of 3. Panzer-Kompanie in the 12. SS-Panzer-Division’s Panzer Regiment was interrogated by an American major who participated in the Battle of Rocherath-Krinkelt. The American told him that what had puzzled him was why the Germans had not simply bypassed the twin villages via the Jans-brook gorge in the south: this was not mined and at that time there were no available anti-tank weapons in that sector. Fischer simply had no answer.99

SS-KAMPFGRUPPE PEIPER CROSSES RIVER AMBLEVE

When the ’Hitler Jugend’ Division finally resumed its march to the west, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper had ended up in real trouble—mainly as a result of the 12. SS-Panzer-Division’s loss of time, resources, and human lives in the ’twin villages.’

As we have seen, a dozen American soldiers under Sergeant Charles Hensel had caused Peiper to believe that the small town of Stavelot—twelve miles west of Rocherath-Krinkelt—was too heavily defended for him to venture on an assault in the dark evening of 17 December. While Peiper during the wee hours of 18 December lay asleep in Ligneuville, and his tank crews waited in front of an initially practically undefended Stavelot, more U.S. unit arrived at the town.

In the afternoon on 17 December, Task Force Hansen, led by Lieutenant Colonel Harold Hansen, had been ordered to decamp from Spa and move into position in Malmédy, the slightly larger town just northeast of Stavelot. ’As we marched towards Malmédy that night, we went against the current,’ recalls Sergeant Morten Tuftedahl from the Norwegian-American 99th Infantry Battalion ’Viking,’ the main unit in Task Force Hansen. ’We met American troops who were suddenly chased by the Germans. We did not see any Germans yet, but our own troops came toward us. At a checkpoint, we were stopped and the guard asked us where the heck we were going. When we replied that we were going to Malmédy, he said that we must be absolutely mad.’100

When Lieutenant Colonel Hansen and Major Bjørnstad reached the town at half past nine in the evening on 17 December, they found it vacated by all U.S. units except for sixty men of the 291st Engineer Combat Battalion under a quite young lieutenant colonel by the name of David Pergrin. These were fully engaged in the mining of bridges and planting thread mines in trees. Sergeant Lloyd Jelleberg, one of the men of the 99th Infantry Battalion, recalls the obvious signs of a hasty departure from the town by the American forces who had been there: ’The kitchen of a medical unit was empty but food was on the stoves. We had our last hot meal for a long time.’101
 
Hansen took command of Pergrin’s little force and decided to position the bulk of his troops—the 99th Infantry Battalion (Separate), the 526th Armored Infantry Battalion, and ’B’ Company of 825th Tank Destroyer Battalion—to the defense of Malmédy. He placed the 526th Armored Infantry Battalion’s ’A’ Company and a platoon of anti-tank guns under the command of the 526th Armored Infantry Battalion’s deputy commander, Major Paul J. Solis, and sent them off to Stavelot.

Solis’ small force fought bravely against Peiper’s leading units—the I. Panzer-Abteilung’s 1. Kompanie under SS-Obersturmführer Karl Kremser, and 2. Kompanie under SS-Obersturmführer Friedrich Christ—which at dawn on 18 December came blasting down the hill that leads into Stavelot, aiming for the bridge across River Amblève. SS-Obersturmführer Heinz Tomhardt, who led the attack, was wounded, one of his platoon commanders was killed, and even SS-Obersturmführer Kremser was wounded when his Panther was hit by a 57mm anti-tank gun. Panther No. 111 with SS-Untersturmfuhrer Hans Hennecke as commander also was hit by a 57mm anti-tank gun and caught fire. But the relation of forces was too uneven. Peiper afterwards described the battle: ’The first Panther tank was hit, and it burned, but it had so much initial speed that it penetrated the anti-tank obstacle at the curve and damaged two Sherman tanks. The second Panther used this opportunity to drive through and seize the bridge in Stavelot. We followed up with other vehicles, and the Americans evacuated the town, leaving some materiel.’102

Peiper now had a foothold on the north side of the Amblève, and the road to the Meuse basically lay open to his panzers. It would have seemed as though the most logical thing would have been for Peiper to continue the road up the steep hill to the north—in the direction of Spa, ten miles further on. Had the Germans done so, they would have, less than three miles north of Stavelot, rolled right into one of U.S. Army’s largest fuel dumps in Belgium, which in this case could have provided SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper with enough fuel to reach the Meuse. But it did not suffice with this. The American units that were available in this area on 18 December, hardly would have been able to halt Peiper’s mighty force if this would have had all the fuel it needed.
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One of the 12. SS-Panzer-Divisions Panther tanks, burning at Krinkelt on 18 December 1944. The American units that took part in the battle of the ‘twin villages’ reported major successes against the German tanks. The 741st Tank Battalion, which was awarded a Presidential Unit Citation for its exploits in the battle, reported the destruction of 27 German tanks (mostly Panthers), a Jagdpanzer IV, two armored cars, two half-track vehicles, and two trucks against own losses of eleven Shermans. (NARA Unit Journal, 741st Tank B, 1 December 44 to 31 Dec 44. RG40, Box 16703, ARBN-741-0.1.) The 644th Tank Destroyer Battalion, equipped with M10 tank destroyers, reported the destruction of 17 tanks, with three more put out of action, plus two German tank destroyers knocked out. (NARA After Action Report, 644th Tank Destroyer Bn, 1 December 44-31 Dec 44. RG407, Box 23636, TDBN-644-0.3.) The 801st Tank Destroyer Battalion, equipped with M5 anti-tank guns, reported 12 Panzer IVs and two Panzer VI Tigers destroyed, against own losses of 17 anti-tank guns. (NARA After Action Report, 801st Tank Battalion Dest. June 44 thru Feb 45, Apr 45. AAR # 581 U.) The infantry of U.S. 2nd Infantry Division was reported to have destroyed 56 German tanks, including 37 with Bazookas and 19 with anti-tank guns. (NARA, 111-SC-198469/PFC J.F. Clancy)
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Stavelot. This photograph was taken from the hills above the northern, American-controlled area of Stavelot during the fighting on 18 or 19 December 1944. Several buildings have been demolished by German artillery. Beneath the tall house at the center of the image, the stone bridge across River Amblève can be seen. On the other side of the town, the road winds down from the hills to the south. This was where SS-Kampf-gruppe Peiper made their attack at dawn on 18 December. To the left, on the far side of the river, stands a Königstiger of schwere SS-Panzer-Ab-teilung 501. At either end of the bridge and on the bridge itself, destroyed military vehicles can be viewed. (NARA, 111-SC-198340)
 




’I have no doubt that the 99th Battalion was lucky,’ said one of the veterans of the Norwegian-American Battalion, Sergeant Claus Høie. ’If they [SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper] decided to go north, they could easily have overrun one battalion. There is no doubt about it; we could not have kept them back. They drove over whole divisions in this battle; they could just as easily have overrun a thousand men who were trying to hold the road through Malmédy. By pulling the headquarters out of Spa, they had probably expected them there. I don’t know where the headquarters were, but they must have pulled them back to another place. It was a panic situation. It was unbelievable, unbelievable, because the front was so lightly manned by us. And the Germans arrived with their most experienced forces, tough panzer divisions through this weak line.’

Indeed, U.S. 30th Infantry Division also was being redeployed to the area from the Ninth Army in the north. Its 117th Infantry Regiment had been ordered to march towards Stavelot, the 120th Infantry to Malmédy, and the 119th Infantry Regiment to First Army’s headquarters in Spa. But by 18 December these units still were en route, and moreover, the 30th Infantry Division hardly had the strength to withstand SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper if this was well supplied with fuel and ammunition—as it might well have been.*
 
The large fuel depot north of Stavelot was only one of a whole series of major U.S. Army depots in the area. Within a twenty by twenty mile-wide area around the towns of Spa, Verviers, and Liège, the Allies had laid a huge network of depots with ammunition, fuel, military equipment, and provisions. This had been stored for the planned major offensive against the Rhine. The distance from Spa to Verviers—the railway junction where most of these supplies were unloaded—was only eleven miles. And from the latter place, there were no more than about twenty miles of excellent highways to Liège and River Meuse. It is hard to imagine that the Americans would have been able to assemble forces sufficient to prevent Peiper from reaching there if he had chosen the northern route—and if the 12. SS-Panzer-Division immediately had followed suit to cover his flank.

This also was the advance route that the Americans feared that Peiper would take, and therefore Lieutenant General Hodges decided to evacuate the headquarters of his First U.S. Army from Spa to Chaudfontaine near Liège, seventeen miles to the northwest. Even in Verviers, six miles north of Spa, American headquarters hurried to pack. Brigadier General ’Pete’ Quesada remembered what it looked like in the headquarters of his IX Tactical Air Command, which was housed in the old courthouse Palace de Justice in Verviers:

’Up to 1130 hours on 18 December we continued to work as usual, and only occasionally we thought of the heavy fighting going on nearby Monschau and Malmedy. But our complacency was shaken at 1145 when we were told that all administrative personnel would IMMEDIATELY go to Charleroi. By noon a tremendous change had taken place in the Palace de Justice and all the staff sections were hastily packing up their equipment.’103

Hodges nevertheless took the time to meet two important unit commanders over the course of 18 December. The first among these was Major General ’Slim Jim’ Gavin, whose 82nd Airborne Division was on its way from the Reims area in France to take up positions at River Salm, three miles southwest of Stavelot. Later—when the First Army’s headquarters had moved to Chaudfontaine— Major General Matthew B. Ridgway, commander of the XVIII Airborne Corps, arrived. He had just flown to Belgium from England. Ridgway was informed at once that his Corps was to command not only the 82nd Airborne Division, but also the 30th Infantry Division and Combat Command B, 3rd Armored Division. But neither the 82nd Airborne Division nor Combat Command B, 3rd Armored Division would have a chance to beat the Germans to Spa if Peiper had chosen to take the road to the north.
 
Panic grew in Spa. To the great relief of Hodges’ staff personnel, the evacuation columns started moving on the evening of 18 December, and rolled out onto the highway towards Chaudfontaine, where Hodges settled in at Palace Hôtel. On the way north, the staff vehicles met other columns—U.S. soldiers on their way to the front. One of them, Frank Towers of the 30th Infantry Division’s 120th Infantry Regiment, expressed what these soldiers felt when they saw the headquarters of the First Army retreating: ’We met convoy after convoy heading north! It was the headquarters of the First Army, which had been in the vicinity of Spa, getting the hell out of there. They had left behind all kinds of maps, orders, etc., integral to the battle that was going on. All they wanted was to get out of there and save their asses!’104

During the headquarter’s withdrawal from Spa to Chaudfontaine, a V 1 flying bomb hit in the midst of the vehicle column, killing fourteen men. ’On the trip from Verviers to Charleroi,’ recalls IX TAC’s Brigadier General Quesada, ’we saw marker flares dropped on Liège by the German Air Force, and the flying bombs continued to land in that unhappy city with annoying regularity. That night Liège was bombed, and so was Verviers.’ 105

Panic and chaos were further diluted through the fear of Skorzeny’s commandos who appeared disguised as American soldiers behind the Allied lines. Claus Høie, a veteran of the 99th Infantry Battalion, described his disheartening experiences on 18 December:

Colonel Hansen, who had not received any directives, tried to get instructions from the First Army. After all, we were the First Army’s reserve troops and it was impossible to establish contact. So he said to me, ’Take a driver and drive back to Spa and find out if you can obtain any kind of information.’ At that time, the Germans dropped down a lot of soldiers who were supposed to cause a lot of confusion; they dropped them down in American uniforms. They had trained Germans who spoke with perfect American accents and put our uniforms on them, then dropped them by parachute in order to create complete confusion, make a mess of traffic and send fake messages. That’s dangerous business.

It was afternoon when Colonel Hansen asked me to go, and this driver, a really courageous fellow, and I left. Darkness fell while we tried to find the road in between everyone who was coming down the road. We finally arrived in Spa at midnight on the 18th of December.

Not a soul was there—the place was deserted. And this was the Headquarters of the First Army! The only thing we managed to find was an Air Force troop, so we talked to them and they said, ’Everyone left here yesterday.’ It was impossible to imagine that there was a war going on. Everything was so quiet and peaceful and dark. So we turned around and started on our way back and now everything was in complete confusion, as a result of these Germans in American uniforms arriving in American jeeps. The guards stopped everything that came by. Whether you looked like an American soldier or rode in an American jeep, the suspicion remained that you were in reality a German.

So they started asking all these strange questions like, ’What’s the nickname of the Brooklyn Dodgers?’, questions which only a native-born American would be able to answer. There was a lot of trouble and work finding out who was really whom. Many in the 99th Battalion spoke broken English (with heavy Norwegian accents) and they were taken for Germans and imprisoned by the Americans (not aware of our special force). There was a funny story about a general who was hurrying to get back to the unit and an MP arrested him, holding him for 12 hours, because he could not answer which division some baseball team or other played in. He was under suspicion for being a German in disguise, because of his Norwegian accent. In reality, he had no interest in baseball.
 
We finally returned to Malmedy. That was my assignment, to try to find out what was going on. No one knew what was going on. The First Army Headquarters had dissolved into thin air. It was a panic situation. It was unbelievable, unbelievable, because the front was so lightly manned by us. And the Germans arrived with their most experienced forces, tough panzer divisions through this weak line.

I found out that there was an enormous gasoline depot south of Spa, enormous, and if the Germans had found out and gotten hold of it, they would have had enough fuel to get all the way to the English Channel. The depot belonged to the American Army and it was practically unguarded.

In Spa, a dramatic change occurred. Residents lowered American flags, removed pictures of President Roosevelt and any other Allied emblems, and released twenty suspected collaborators from the local jail.106

But instead of doing what his opponents feared most, and continuing north towards Spa, Peiper ordered his force to the left on the Highway N 23—to the west—on the other side of the bridge at Stavelot. The road towards Spa was the one called Rollbahn C in the German attack plan, and this route was assigned to the 12. SS-Panzer-Division— which by that time had become bogged down in street fighting inside Rocherath-Krinkelt far to the west. Peiper’s force remained on Rollbahn D, which in Stavelot followed the N 23 westwards. He only had one thing in view: to reach the Meuse along the designated march route.

According to what he admitted after the war, Peiper actually was aware of at least one major U.S. fuel depot at Spa.107 His decision to continue westwards instead of at least making an attempt to capture the fuel depot through a quick raid northwards, may have been an expression of his confidence in Hitler’s orders that he on no account may get ’distracted’ by the flanks. Peiper’s decision nevertheless is remarkable for several reasons. Firstly, at that stage Peiper did not know if the 12. SS-Panzer-Division had actually managed to cover his northern flank at Malmedy, or if the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division was ready to secure the territory behind his Kampfgruppe.108 In fact, both of these units failed to fulfill their task to support Peiper’s force. Because of American radio jamming, Peiper was unable to maintain any regular radio contact with headquarters.109 In general, but especially in such a situation, any commander would have been expected to send out reconnaissance patrols on his flanks—for instance towards Malmedy—but Peiper failed to do so. The reason is simple—he did not have the fuel required for such a thing.110 All in all, under these circumstances, Peiper’s decision to ‘blindly’ follow the assigned route westwards instead of making an attempt to capture the fuel that he knew existed only twenty minutes’ drive from Stavelot is quite difficult to explain.
 
From Stavelot, Highway N 23 snaked westwards between high, forested mountains on River Amblèves northern side. At Trois-Ponts, about three miles southwest of Stavelot, the Amblève meets large heights to the west and southwest, and therefore bypasses these in two fairly sharp bends, first to the north, and then to the west again. Exactly where this river turns north, the Salm river runs from the south into the Amblève. Just at the river confluence, Highway N 23 at first crossed a bridge to the Amblève’s southern side, and then, some five hundred yards further on, it swung to the right on a bridge across River Salm. Another mile upstream the Salm (to the south), another bridge crossed the Salm—hence the name Trois-Ponts (’three bridges’). According to the plan, Peiper would follow the N 23 on those river crossings, and then continue west towards River Meuse at Huy, forty miles west of Stavelot. Since he did not know if any of these important bridges was demolished, he despatched two separate task forces towards Trois-Ponts. From Stavelot, north of River Amblève, 1. and 2. Kompanie/ I. Panzer Abteilung and 10. (bepanzerte) Kompanie/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2 advanced along Highway N 23. In parallel with this force, the II. Panzer-Abteilung’s 6. and 7. Kompanie advanced across the marshy land on the river’s south side, on much worse roads, virtually nothing but farm tracks.111

By that time, ’C’ Company of U.S. 51st Engineer Combat Battalion had just set up a roadblock near Trois-Ponts. This small force perhaps had not been able to perform so well, had it not been for the unexpected arrival of reinforcements in the shape of a 57mm M1 anti-tank gun, which together with two half-track vehicles had lagged behind when the 526th Armored Infantry Battalion marched to Malmedy during the previous night. In addition to these, a group of engineers from Lieutenant Colonel Pergrin’s 291st Engineer Combat Battalion—subordinate to the ’Viking’ Battalion—arrived. These engineers primed explosives on the bridge south of Trois-Ponts.
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In search of‘Greif’ men, Germans in American uniforms. An American patrol has stopped a jeep and carefully controls the identity of the driver. (NARA, SC 198390)
 




The anti-tank gun was positioned in the middle of the road, just west of the frail little wooden bridge that connects the Amblève’s northern and southern sides, half a mile east of the main road bridge. Suddenly the Americans saw a German tank appear around the bend a few hundred yards ahead to the east. This was Peiper’s leading armor force— nineteen or twenty Panthers—that came rolling on the narrow road that winds westwards between the steep river gorge to the left and wooded slopes on the right hand side. A group of courageous U.S. soldiers pulled a string of daisy chain mines—a string with anti-tank mines attached—on the road in front of the leading Panther, No. 131. The tank commander, SS-Hauptscharführer Erich Strelow, ordered a halt, jumped to the ground and kicked the mines aside.
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With exhaustion painted their faces, two SS officers study the map during the continued advance. (NARA, III-SC-341661)
 




But no sooner had the German column set in motion again before a loud bang was heard and Strelow’s tank stopped with a jerk. A shell from the American antitank gun had hit and broken one track. Strelow quickly responded with an explosive shell which destroyed the anti-tank gun, while his frontal machine gun sprayed the American position with fire. Captain Robert N. Jewett, in command of the small American force from the 526th Armored Infantry Battalion, describes the event from his perspective:

’At approximately 1230 hrs the first tanks approached and were stopped by two men pulling a string of mines in front of the lead tank. Although there were eight tanks visible, the men showed no panic and manned the 57mm anti-tank gun with the result that the lead tank was disabled and possibly the second one. A direct hit in the gun resulted in the gun being disabled and the crew killed. The remainder of the men escaped.’112

Suddenly, a terrible explosion was heard behind the Americans, and there the great road and rail bridge south of Trois-Ponts came crashing into the river. The engineers had accomplished their task in the last moment.
 
Peiper could have re-deployed his attack to River Amblève’s southern side—although this area hardly had any suitable roads—but when the Panzer IVs approached the southernmost of the Trois-Ponts bridges that ran across the Salm, U.S. Sergeant Jean Miller of the 51st Engineer Combat Battalion pushed down the detonator to an explosive charge—and this bridge also collapsed.113

These watercourses were no deeper than Peiper’s men could have waded across, but they would not have been able to bring their vehicles along.114 The river banks simply were too steep. The fact that Peiper’s lead units had not been assigned with any of the vehicle-towed bridge construction equipment that Sepp Dietrich’s SS Army had been fairly richly equipped with, is quite remarkable. The loss of the bridge at Trois-Ponts was a heavy blow against the German the advance on this front section. After the war, Peiper said: ’If we had captured the bridge at Trois-Ponts intact and had had enough fuel, it would have been a simple matter to drive through to the Meuse River early that day.’115

With the crossing at Trois-Ponts blocked, Peiper decided to continue along the Amblève to the next major bridge across the river. This was located about five miles from the first bend in the river at Trois-Ponts. From there, it would be possible to carry on to the southwest, to return to Highway N 23 at Hâbièmont, at the Lienne creek, another ten miles to the southwest. Peiper took this decision although no fuel trucks still had been able to make it to the front on the congested roads from the supply bases, twenty-five miles farther to the east. The first among Peiper’s tanks to stop with empty fuel tanks were the twenty-two Panzer IVs that had been sent towards Trois-Ponts south of the Amblève.

At one o’clock in the afternoon on 18 December, Peiper’s advance force reached La Gleize, four miles northwest of the Amblève’s river bend at Trois-Ponts. While the frightened villagers threw themselves out of the way, the panzer column rumbled straight through the village street, past the small square with a church perched on a hill, and out of the village on the small road that in a long downhill ran down to the Amblève, a few miles to the southwest. When they came out of the woods about four hundred yards above the river—by then it was just before half past one in the afternoon—SS-Untersturmführer Hans Hennecke could see that the stone bridge across the river was unmolested. In the next moment, the first tanks of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper were racing across the Amblève. They carried on straight into the village of Cheneux, where they surprised an American jeep that was shot to smithereens by German machine guns.

But the Americans would strike back sooner than the SS soldiers expected. Already when the Germans were at Trois-Ponts, a Piper L-4 Cub artillery observation aircraft from the U.S. Army had observed their column, and without himself being detected, the pilot of this aircraft shadowed them on their way in the direction of La Gleize while he radioed his sighting to the ground station. The information was passed on to the C.O. of the IX Tactical Air Command, Brigadier General ’Pete’ Quesada. He contacted the 67th Tactical Reconnaissance Group, which despatched two F-6 aircraft—the reconnaissance version of the single-engine fighter plane Mustang. But when the pilots of these aircraft, Captain Richard H. Cassady and Second Lieutenant Abraham Jaffe, spotted the German troops at Stavelot at 1315 hrs, four fighter-bombers were already heading straight for SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper’s lead force southwest of La Gleize.
 
While Quesada called the reconnaissance unit, the operations officer of IX Tactical Air Command, Colonel Gilbert L. Meyers, had phoned the C.O. of the 365th Fighter Group ’Hell Hawks,’ Colonel Ray J. Meyer, and informed him that the Germans had broken through, and that unless Meyers aviator intervened, ’the bastards will soon be in Liège… there is now nothing between them and the English Channel but service troops, cooks and bakers!’ At 1305 hrs, Major George R. Brooking, Captain James G. Wells, Jr., Lieutenant Robert C. Thoman, and Lieutenant Roy W. Price took off with their bomb-laden Thunderbolt planes from the base at Chièvres, southwest of Brussels, and flew straight into the fog—towards the assigned area. Other four-plane groups would follow at twenty-minute-intervals. The Thunderbolt pilots found the target area covered by thick clouds extending almost to the ground. Brooking decided to make a try to break through the cloud cover, and dived into the ’soup.’ When he came out of the clouds with his Thunderbolt—named ’The Fickle Finger’—at an altitude of no more than a few feet above the Amblève, he immediately caught sight of the German vehicles. Both sides were so surprised that no one came round to open fire.116 But Brooking called his companions, and soon the Thunderbolts came roaring down over the German column with rattling machine guns. It was exactly 1335 hrs.

Captain Wells managed to drop both of his 500lb. bombs in the middle of a formation of eight tanks, with the result that Panther No.131 caught fire and burned with such an intensity that the torsion bar suspension burst of heat, so the tank had to be abandoned.117 Then Major Brooking called the air commander of the IX Tactical Air Command and asked him to send in more fighter-bombers. ’When they get here,’ Brooking said, ’tell them to call me and I’ll put them on the target. There’s plenty for all!’118

Within short, several fighter-bombers appeared, from various units—at first the 365th Fighter Group, then more planes from the 368th, then also from the 366th and 404th Fighter groups.119 In total, Peiper’s column was attacked by thirty-four U.S. Thunderbolts. Two RP-armed Typhoon fighter-bombers of British 2nd Tactical Air Force are also supposed to have participated.120

In defiance of the terrible flying weather and German anti-aircraft fire, the pilots continued to attack the German column until ten past four in the afternoon, when the approaching dusk and the thick heavy smoke made it impossible to carry on. One of the American pilots, Captain Neal E. Worley said, ’It was the hairiest and scariest of days for the Hell Hawks. The weather was snowy all over Belgium, with ceilings of 250 to 350 feet and nine-tenths cloud cover. In that fog, squadron-sized missions were impossible. We had to go with individual flights. […] I told my wingman and second element to come in close. We broke out of the clouds so low that off my wing I could see this big black raven sitting on a tree branch.’121

To the amusement of some of his subordinates, Jochen Peiper dove into a bunker which turned out to be filled with muddy water. But not everyone was to be intimidated by the fighter-bombers. Captain Worley remembered, ’On my first run I spotted the biggest, tallest SS officer I ever saw, standing there in his black uniform, emptying his pistol at me.’122

’When we left,’ said Thunderbolt pilot Worley, ’half-tracks and trucks were burning, and smoke was going up to about three thousand feet.’123 For his efforts against Peiper’s column, Major George R. Brooking was awarded with the Silver Star.

The fact that American airmen made large overestimations of their own successes, is quite characteristic for air strikes against ground targets: They reported the destruction of thirty-two armored vehicles and fifty-six trucks.124 Although there is some ambiguity about the real German losses, it is quite clear that they only were a fraction of the U.S. data—between one and three tanks, four or five armored vehicles, and forty wounded soldiers.* The fact that the German losses after all were quite limited, mainly was due to the two anti-aircraft tanks—each equipped with a quadrupel 20mm automatic cannon—which ’put up a general defensive fire,’ according to SS-Unterscharführer Karl Wortmann, ’making the pilots uncertain, and thus prevented well-aimed attacks. The amount of explosive shells from the eight barrels was phenomenal, and the burst clouds proved it. The faces of the men at the guns were covered with sweat, fear likely in their minds, as they were attacked time and again by the aircraft. The turrets of the panzers swung left or right at lightning speed as they tried to fight off the enemy aircraft again and again. Some of the Panzer crews removed their machine guns from their mounts and also fired at the aircraft, which would just not give up.’125

But the most important effect of these air strikes was the delay they caused; without them, Peipers might have captured the bridge across the Lienne at Hâbièmont unmolested. Peiper himself described what happened:

We had a bad break when the weather cleared and American fighter-bombers came over. We lost two to three tanks and five armored half tracks. The tanks blew up in the road, and the road was too narrow to bypass them, thus causing additional delay. About 1800 on 18 December 1944 we moved up towards our old route of advance near Hâbièmont and started to cross the Lienne River. Just when we were starting to cross, this bridge also was blown up.126
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This 500lb. HE bomb under the wing of a 365th Fighter Group ‘Hell Hawks’ Thunderbolt fighter-bomber carries a quite ironic inscription. It was such bombs, dropped by the 365th Fighter Group, that delayed SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper at Cheneux on the afternoon of 18 December 1944. (Allen Mundt via Don Barnes)
 




A small group of engineers from U.S. 291st Combat Engineer Battalion managed to blow up the bridge at the last moment. According to a popular story, Peiper sank down on his knees and in frustration hammered his fist against one knee (or threw his officer’s cap in the ground) and cursed, ’The damned engineers! The damned engineers!’

The Lienne runs down from the hills at Lierneux, and about ten miles further north it joins River Amblève at Târgnôn, four miles west of La Gleize. This little creek hardly would have constituted any serious obstacle to SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper—demolished bridge or not. Although the current, due to the recent rainfalls, was quite a strong by this time, the watercourse at Hâbièmont was no deeper than than what woud be possible to wade across, and the creek was only a few dozen yards wide. Moreover, the riverbanks here were quite low, without any dramatic elevation changes. The construction of a provisional crossing of stone from the demolished bridge and timber from the spruce forest on the eastern side of the creek, could have been readily carried out within a matter of hours. In fact, the Americans were able to quickly construct two temporary bridges across the Lienne in this area on the following day, when Peiper’s force had retreated.127

Peiper despatched two companies of armored troop carriers downstream along the creek in order to search for another suitable bridge, able to carry a tank. At Forges, about a thousand yards to the north, the crews of two armored personnel carriers from the 11. (gepanzerte) Kompanie/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2 found a bridge across the creek.128 This was deemed to be indeed strong enough to carry tanks, but it was too narrow for them. However, the Germans could cross it with their Hanomag (SdKfz 251) armored personnel carriers. With no Americans in sight, a couple of these traversed the bridge and continued south on the western side of the creek. One of the vehicles was blown up by a mine, but the others carried on. In the darkness, however, the Germans missed Highway N 23, and instead ended up at Trous de Bra, almost two miles south of the demolished bridge at Hâbièmont. There they received an order via radio to return to the main unit.129
 
The second reconnaissance force, from the 10. (gepanzerte) Kompanie/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2 under SS-Obersturmführer Georg Preuss, found and crossed a bridge at Moulin Rahier, another mile downstreams from the Forges. This bridge proved to be too fragile for tanks, but Preuss’ five armored reconnaissance vehicles came across with ease and advanced southwards.

While Peiper’s column approached the Lienne from the east, the 2nd Battalion of U.S. 30th Infantry Division’s 119th Infantry Regiment, along with four M10 tank destroyers from ’A’ Company, 823rd Tank Destroyer Battalion, were heading south towards the area at Hâbièmont on the other side of Lienne. They stayed away when one of Peiper’s Königstigers shelled Hâbièmont from the road above the demolished bridge. But on the forest road south of Chevron, right next to the bridge at Forges, ’F’ Company under Lieutenant Edward Arn, supported by two M10s, ambushed SS-Obersturmführer Preuss’ reconnaissance force.

An M10 set the leading German armored personnel carrier burning. A second vehicle was hit as it tried to turn around on the narrow road. The third armored vehicle was quickly abandoned by its soldiers, and the two rearmost vehicles were destroyed by Bazooka hits. This cost the Germans a loss of fifteen panzer grenadiers. Shortly afterwards, the Americans also blew up the bridge at Forges. It is likely that this clash had a major influence on Peiper’s decision late in the evening on 18 December not to attempt to construct a provisional bridge across the Lienne, but instead withdraw his combat force north. However, had the bridge been intact, he might have attempted a tank assault to mow down the Americans. At this site, a monument was erected after the war to honor the U.S. engineers.

However, the bad news that arrived from Stavelot on that day, probably also contributed to Peiper’s decision to call back his force from the Lienne. SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper’s lifeline back to the rest of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee consisted of two bridges across River Amblève. The nearest one was at Petit Spay, just east of Trois-Ponts. But this was a frail wooden bridge, unable to carry tanks. Therefore, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper was completely dependent on the hefty stone bridge at Stavelot. But according to orders, Peiper had left only a rather small force in the town, and the 3. Fallschirmjäger Division’s main force was tied down in fighting with U.S. reinforcements from the V Corps that rushed forward to the area left behind by Peiper, far to the east of Stavelot.
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When he detected SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper at Cheneux on 18 December 1944, Major George R. Brooking flew this P-47 Thunderbolt. The mostly unpainted aircraft had the tactical call-code ‘D5: F’ (Robert Brooking via Don Barnes)
 




SS-Kampfgruppe Sandig was supposed to have followed immediately in the wake of Peiper’s force. Led by SS-Obersturmbannführer Rudolf Sandig, this consisted of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2 (except III. Bataillon), an artillery battalion, and most of the air defense and engineer units in 1. SS-Panzer-Division. But because of the congestions on the small and increasingly rutting roads, Sandig’s force was unable to leave its departure positions at the West Wall until 18 December, and thus had not reached Stavelot by the time the American 117th Infantry Regiment counter-attacked to retake this vital town.

Over the course of 18 December, the 117th Infantry Regiment’s 1st Battalion, supported by three tank destroyers from the 823rd Tank Destroyer Battalion, three Shermans from the 743rd Tank Battalion, and—most importantly—the 118th Field Artillery Battalion arrived at the outskirts of Stavelot, and immediately launched a counter-attack. Soon, the Americans had captured several blocks in the town. In the midst of this battle, a column of six Panzer IVs and four Königstigers appeared at the turn of the road. These were part of 1. Kompanie/ schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501 under SS-Obersturmführer Jurgen Wessel. The tank crews had not been informed of the ongoing battle, but were subjected to ferocious attacks by Thunderbolt fighter-bombers. One of the American soldiers, Private Lee Galloway in ’A’ Company, 526th Armored Infantry Battalion, managed to accomplish the almost impossible—to knock out a Königstiger with a Bazooka. He hit SS-Obersturmführer Wessel’s Königstiger No. 105 in the front with the result that Wessel ordered his driver to reverse. The driver gave full throttle and backed right into a three-story building, which collapsed with the result that the huge tank got stuck in the rubble.

At dusk on 18 December, the Germans attempted to take back what had been lost in Stavelot, but were repulsed by the Americans, with great help from artillery. By now, the 117th Infantry Regiment’s 2nd Battalion also had arrived at the scene, and Stavelot—Peiper’s main link to the rear area—had been turned into a battlefield. Peiper found that he had to act both offensively, in the west, and defensively in the east, in order to break the American blockade at Stavelot, while he seriously began to run out of fuel. Hence, it should not be surprising that he refrained from crossing the Lienne to rush forward towards the Meuse at Huy; he did not have the strength to hold the bridgehead at La Gleize and at the same time advance across the Lienne in the southwest. The most rational choice in that situation was to gather his forces at La Gleize, lest what happened at Stavelot would not be repeated at that place too.
 
Peiper, however, also decided to try to establish a new bridgehead across the Amblève. Just three miles west of La Gleize there was another bridge that led across the Amblève on the western side of the Lienne. If the Germans managed to secure that river crossing, they would, as soon as new fuel arrived, be able to continue the road down to the main road N 23 at Hâbièmont, another six miles farther to the south. On the way to this bridge lay a village called Stoumont, two miles west of La Gleize, where the Americans had assembled some troops. At first, the Germans attempted a surprise attack during the night of 19 December, in the dark and fog, but when an armored personnel carrier hit a mine and exploded in a bright flash of light, the Americans were alerted.130 An intense fire from the American positions effectively held the Germans down for several hours.

The small community of Stoumont is located on a hill above the Amblève river gorge in the south. To get there from La Gleize, the Germans had to take the road in a long uphill, with rising ground to the right and a fairly steep incline to the left (south) of the road. During the final five hundred yards to Stoumont, the road ran across open fields, denying the attacker the opportunity to sneak up on his enemy. Moreover, Stoumont was quite heavily defended— by the 3rd Battalion of U.S. 30th Infantry Division’s 119th Infantry Regiment, supported by ’A’ Company of the 823rd Tank Destroyer Battalion, ten Shermans from the 743rd Tank Battalion, and an ‘C’ Battery from the 143rd AntiAircraft Artillery Gun Battalion.131

When the Germans finally resumed their attack, their tanks drove in a column on the highway. As they rounded the last road bend and had passed the first houses on the outskirts of Stoumont, the leading Panther was hit by fire from a 90mm M1 anti-aircraft gun. Six hits not only set the Panther ablaze, but also brought the German attack to a halt. According to what Jochen Peiper later said, the commander of the assault force, SS-Sturmbannführer Werner Potschke—a veteran decorated with the Knight’s Cross for his exploits on the Eastern Front—intervened resolutely. He stood up in front of the leading tank and yelled ’Fahren —’Carry on!’—while he pointed a Panzerfaust against the vehicle. Whether the story is true or not, the Germans stormed into Stoumont at full speed, prompting the defense to collapse. All of this was documented by a pair of ’embedded’ German war photographers, whose film has become an important part of the documentation of the Ardennes Offensive.

Two hundred and eighty-four American soldiers who were unable to get out in time, surrendered. Additionally, eight of the 823rd Tank Destroyer Battalion’s anti-tank guns, two 90mm anti-aircraft guns, and three 57mm anti-tank guns were captured.132 However, the ten Sherman tanks managed to get away.

While Americans fled in more or less disorder westwards, the Germans pursued them with five Panthers, which soon were reinforced by more tanks and troops. Without incidents, the Germans raced along Highway N 33 through deciduous forests northwest of Stoumont, and quickly passed through the village of Târgnôn, a mile and a half farther ahead. But in the meantime, the 119th Infantry Regiment’s C.O., Colonel Edward M. Sutherland, managed to halt the retreating U.S. troops. Reinforced by a company each from the regiment’s 1st Battalion and the 740th Tank Battalion, plus a 90mm gun from another anti-aircraft battalion, these forces established a defensive position at Stoumont’s railway station, just west of Târgnôn.133 Moreover, the 823rd Tank Destroyer Battalion’s ’A’ Company was bolstered with four 3-in M5 anti-tank guns and two previously captured German 75mm PaK 40 anti-tank guns.* The leading Panther, No. 222 with SS-Oberscharführer Walter Ropeter as the commander, was set on fire by the 90mm gun, and trying to bypass the burning wreck, the next Panther also was badly damaged by multiple hits from the American gun. Next the Americans destroyed Panther tanks Nos. 211, 215, and 232 in quick succession, plus several other combat vehicles. The German attack already was in tatters, with thick smoke covering the battlefield, when the Americans sent in their artillery. That was just too much for the Germans, who hastily fled back to Stoumont. Thus, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper was definitely halted.
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During the Battle of Stavelot on 18 December 1944, a Bazooka managed to neutralize a Königstiger. This took place when four Königstigers from the 1. Kompanie of schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501 worked their way up the narrow and steep Rue Haut Riva-ge street on the northern side of River Amblève in Stavelot, and Private Lee Galloway in A’ Company, U.S. 526th Armored Infantry Battalion scored a hit in the front of the leading tank, No. 105. The grenade could not penetrate the tank’s almost six inches thick, 40° sloped frontal armor, but the explosion caused the tank commander, SS-Obersturmführer Jurgen Wessel, to order the driver to reverse. The tank then drove straight into a three-story building, which collapsed over the vehicle, with the result that it had to be abandoned. It should, however, be noted that the 825th Tank Destroyer Battalion (825th Tank Destroyer Bn. After Action Report: Appendix B’ From 17 to 31 December 1944) argues that it was a hit by its tank destroyers that made this Königstiger drive into the house. (NARA,111-SC-198341)
 




While this fight still was raging on—it would continue well into the afternoon on 19 December— Peiper received further negative reports from Stavelot. As soon as the first units of SS-Kampfgruppe Sandig arrived at the battlefield on the morning of 19 December, they were launched against Stavelot in an attack that can be described as nothing but premature. ’When half of us reached the north side of the bridge we were shot to pieces,’ recalled Friedrich Pfeifer, by that time a 19-year-old SS-Untersturmführer participating in the unfortunate attack. The northern side of Stavelot now was in American hands.

On the afternoon of 19 December, the two companies of SS-Kampfgruppe Knittel that had joined Peiper’s force, attacked Stavelot from the west, on the northern side of the Amblève, only to meet a similar fate. From their positions on the heights north and northeast of Stavelot, the 105mm howitzers of U.S. 118th Field Artillery Battalion fired no less than three thousand shells against the attacking enemy.134 Moreover, according to what was reported to Peiper, the American soldiers here fought with far greater resolve than earlier.135 Peiper assumed that this was because the 30th Infantry Division was generally better than other units that he had encountered. It is possible that this was the case, but the SS itself played a not insignificant role in the increasing motivation among the Americans. The news of the massacre in Baugnez had just reached out. In addition, the U.S. troops that retook Stavelot met a ghastly sight. Everywhere in the little town lay the corpses of civilians who clearly had been brutally murdered by the Germans. The Americans were determined to never again surrender the residents of Stavelot to those killers. When SS-Kampfgruppe Knittel attempted to recapture Stavelot on 19 December, the American defenders inflicted over three hundred casualties on the attackers—more than one third of Knittel’s original strength—who soon had to cancel the attack.136

The situation grew more and more precarious to the Germans in La Gleize, where Peiper’s first priority now was to get fuel. For this purpose he finally despatched patrols northwards on 19 December, in an effort to capture two fuel dumps that he had been informed of. But at both these locations, the Americans were well prepared, and after repulsing the attackers, they evacuated the fuel.137

In the evening on December 19, the bridge in Stavelot—by then in no-man’s land—was blown up by American engineers while the artillery shelled the German positions on the river’s south side with explosives and smoke grenades.
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American prisoners are herded up the Rue du Village street in Stoumont. It is Tuesday, 19 December. On Saturday the German offensive had caught the Americans completely unprepared, and these G.I.s have yet to really grasp what has happened. The German officer in the foreground is SS-Hauptsturm-fuhrer Josef ‘Jupp’ Diefenthal, the commander of the III. (gepanzerte) Abteilung / SS-Panzer-Grenadier-Regiment 2. Diefenthal was awarded with the Knight’s Cross on 5 February 1945. After the war Diefenthal was tried for war crimes and was sentenced to death in the same trial as Peiper. The verdict was changed into imprisonment and Diefenthal was released in 1956. He died in 2001. (BArch, Bild 183-J28619/Buschel)





THE BATTLE FOR DOMÄNE BÜTGENBACH

In this situation, SS-Oberst-Gruppenführer Sepp Dietrich decided to shift the emphasis of his offensive to the northeast, in order to reestablish the link with Peiper via the town of Malmedy, three miles northeast of Stavelot. But instead of concentrating all available forces against Malmedy, the 6. SS- Panzerarmee divided its forces. At a conference in Manderfeld on the night of the 18th, Dietrich ordered SS-Obersturmbannführer Otto Skorzeny to attack Malmedy from the south with his little SS-Panzer Brigade 150. This idea came from Skorzeny himself, who thought that Malmedy was almost undefended, and that it thus would be possible to take it through a surprise attack with his group of vehicles disguised as U.S. tank destroyers. The significantly stronger 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ was set to attack six miles farther east, from Büllingen, where it was regrouped from the ’twin villages’ Rocherath-Krinkelt.

This was a double mistake. When the ’Hitler Jugend’ Division on 19 December was deployed to relieve SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, Highway N 32 from Büllingen to Bütgenbach was no longer ‘open.’ There were two major obstacles in front of the Germans—the farm estate Domäne Bütgenbach, and Schwarzenbüchel, the wooded hill just northwest of Büllingen.

Domäne Bütgenbach is located slightly less than a mile west of Büllingen, just on the northern side of Highway N 32 (today N 632), between Büllingen in the east and, a mile and a half farther northwest, Bütgenbach. On the farm’s northern side was a small ridge. South of the farmyard, on the other side of the N 32, was a large, open field, split in half by a planted hedge of trees and shrubs that ran diagonally up to the road. On the other side of the field, about a thousand yards away, was a thick forest called Bütgenbacher Heck. It was at Domäne Bütgenbach that the Americans had a dressing station when SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper arrived on 17 December. However, by this time, two days later, this had been evacuated. Just half an hour after SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper drove past at dawn on 17 December, U.S. 1st Infantry Division’s 26th Infantry Regiment and elements of the 634th Tank Destroyer Battalion and the 745th Tank Battalion arrived to establish a blocking position at Domäne Bütgenbach and Schwarzenbüchel. This alone was an impressive force for such a small area. In addition, the task to hold defensive positions here was facilitated by the fact that the Germans attacked piecemeal.

When 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ began its attack on the night of 19 December, most of SS-Sturmbannführer Jürgensen’s tank regiment has not yet arrived from Rocherath. The available forces— schwere Pänzerjager-Abteilung 560, two battalions of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 26, the staff of SS-Panzer-Regiment 12, and an artillery battalion—however almost immediately were rushed into an attack.* The attack on Schwarzenbüchel was repulsed already on the slope.
 
To the southwest, Domäne Bütgenbach was attacked by 200-300 men from SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 26 and Twelve Panzer IV/70 tank destroyers.138 In the darkness, the tank destroyers painstakingly crawled through the damp, softened mud towards the farm in the northwest. The Panzer IV/70 was ideal to sneak up unseen on the enemy— it had a height of only 6 ft 1 in (compared with the U.S. tank destroyer’s 8 ft 4 in or the Panther tank’s 9 ft 10 in)—but the Germans were unable to take any advantage of this at Domäne Bütgenbach, despite the darkness and the fog. In the marshy terrain that the German vehicles crawled out on, several Panzer IV/70s became mired. The noise when drivers revved the heavy Maybach engines, which ran on impure synthetic fuel, alerted the Americans, and soon starshells sank down above the field.139 From the top of the little ridge on the other side of the road, the Americans were able to spray the Germans with a terrible fire from machine guns, mortars, and anti-tank guns, and they also could provide the artillery with an excellent fire observation.
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With a triumphant smile, this German soldier leads the American POWs away from Stoumont. (BArch, Bild 183-J28533/Büschel)
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U.S. soldiers of the 117th Infantry Regiment, 30th Infantry Division during the street fighting in Stavelot. The soldier on the left is Private First Class James A. Insalaco, and next to him is Sergeant Joseph A. Martini with a 22mm grenade on an M7grenade launcher mounted on his Ml Garand rifle. With an M7, grenades could be fired at up to 350 feet. The third soldier is unidentified, but all were part of the B’ Company’s 1st Platoon. (Via Warren Watson.)
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A U.S. 3 inch Gun M5 L/50 anti-tank has taken up position to stem the German advance. (NARA, SC 198389)






THE MASSACRE IN STAVELOT

The fighting in conjunction with the German capture of Stavelot cost about thirty fatalities among the residents. But when the town had been taken by the Germans, these exacted a terrible revenge for what they perceived as part of the civilian population having taken part in the fighting on the American side. Peter Schrijvers describes how the Waffen-SS soldiers ‘for no apparent reason’ shot down two women and a man while the fighting still was in progress. Shortly afterwards, nine residents, accused of having fired on the Germans, were put against the walls of their homes and executed.1 The worst single massacre occurred in the garden outside the Legaye family’s house, where SS soldiers rounded up twenty-six people and then opened fire on them, with all but three getting killed. While inching along the road towards the west, the Germans continued to kill civilians. In Renardmont west of Stavelot, the SS soldiers forced twenty-one civilians into a washhouse and then opened fire straight into the crowd, killing all but eight— who escaped with gunshot wounds.2
 
There are different data on the number of victims of the killings in and around Stavelot on 18-19 December 1944. According to an American inquiry made in cooperation with the Red Cross after the war, 93 civilians were killed in Stavelot and adjacent villages, and 10 in Trois-Ponts.3 According to Schrijvers, the number of executed in Stavelot was 130.4 The memorial plaque in Stavelot says that 164 men, women and children were murdered by the Waffen-SS in December 1944.
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 U.S. war reporter Jean Marin at the site of the massacre at the Legaye house in Stavelot. (Via Warren Watson)
 







1 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 42.

2 Ibid., p. 47.

3 National Archives and Records Administration: Malmedy massacre Investigation–Report of the Subcommittee of Committee on Armed Services. United States Senate Eighty-first Congress, first session, pursuant to S. res. 42, Investigation of action of Army with Respect to Trial of Persons Responsible for the Massacre of American Soldiers, Battle of the Bulge, near Malmedy, Belgium, December 1944. 13 October 1949, p. 2; Weingartner, Crossroads of Death: The Story of the Malmedy Massacre and Trial, p. 248.

4 Schrijvers, p. 48.



Five Panzer IV/70s managed to work their way up to the American positions, but there two of them were knocked out by Bazookas, and the others retreated when their crews found that the infantry supposed to support them had been halted in the field. American patrols that ventured into the attack area in daylight found over 100 dead Germans and three destroyed Panzer IV/70s.140

Although it was obvious that the terrain was ideal for defense but hopeless to attack in, the Germans repeated their attack at dawn on 21 December—from exactly the same direction. By that time, the tanks of SS-Panzer-Regiment 12 had arrived, and were hurled into the attack. Elements of 12. Volksgrenadier-Division also took part.

The American artillery met this attack with a veritable firestorm. In the space of eight hours, the artillery of three infantry divisions—the 1st, 2nd, and 99th—fired more than ten thousand shells against the German forces who were advancing unprotected in the open fields south of Bütgenbach.141 One of the German tank commanders, SS- Oberscharführer Willy Kretzschmar, recalled:

Half of the right driving spocket of our Panzer was blown away and we rolled off the track. We were immobile. A row of trees and hedges located approximately 150 meters away was still occupied by American infantry. Using our turret and hull MGs, as well as explosive shells, we were able to keep them at bay for the time being. For two hours we played dead’ because of the intense artillery fire. The previously white, snow-covered pasture had turned black. When there was a break in the fire, I ran over to the closest Panzer IV, to ask that it pull mine back from the track. Regrettably, it had been knocked out. The other Panzer IVs and the self-propelled gun had suffered the same fate, most were knocked out by artillery and heavy mortar hits.142

‘We were hit in the tracks, which immobilized us,’ recalls another SS tank commander, SS-Oberscharführer Karl Hollander. ‘I ordered the crew to bail out, and we crawled back in the tracks created in the soft ground by our tank. Thereby, I was wounded in my right arm by grenade splinters. Shortly afterward, our tank received further hits and burned.’143

U.S. Lieutenant Colonel Derrill M. Daniel, who commanded the 26th Infantry Regiment’s 2nd Battalion, later said, ’The artillery did a great job. I don’t know where they got the ammo or when they took time out to flush the guns but we wouldn’t be here now if it wasn’t for them.’
 
At that stage, the fields south of Domäne Bütgenbach resembled a slaughterhouse with hundreds of dead German soldiers—many of them shred beyond recognition—scattered between dozens of knocked out tanks, tank destroyers, and armored personnel carriers. But the SS commanders would not give in, and ordered a third similar attack at dawn on 22 December, this time with all that remained of SS-Sturmbannführer Jürgensen’s SS-Panzer-Regiment 12. Once again the Germans attacked straight across the field south of Domäne Bütgenbach, with five Panther tanks in the lead, followed by Panzer IV tanks from the 5. and 6. Kompanie in Jürgensen’s armored regiment, Jagdpanthers from schwere Pänzerjager-Abteilung 560, and finally infantry in armored personnel carriers.144

Everything went well until the Germans were about 150 yards from the farm estate’s main building. What then followed is depicted in one of SS-Panzer-Regiment 12’s combat reports: ’Untersturmführer Schittenhelm has just reached the tree edge when a large flame shoots up from the rear of his tank. The vehicle is covered by thick, black smoke, and two men jump out. Hauptmann Hils assigns the order to go into position. He stands in the turret hatch on his tank and studies the map to find the orientation. Then he fires a flare to mark the final attack direction. The flare gleams over the terrain at the farm. Now we wait for “Marsch, marsch ”—the attack order. But when nothing happens I poke my head out of the turret hatch in my tank, only to see that Hauptmann Hils’ tank is on fire! […] Suddenly a completely indescribable American artillery fire sets in. The entire field is torn to pieces and several tanks receive direct hits.’145

Günther Burdack continues, ’The continually increasing fire from tank and anti-tank guns leads to increasing casualties among our tanks, but the panzer grenadiers also are lying unprotected as on a serving plate. About 100 yards in front of the Domaine, to the left of the forest track, the command tank of [Sturmbannführer] Jürgensen is knocked out; it immediately catches fire. […] The killed Panther and the trench of the forest track offers us protection from the increasing enemy fire, but a further retreat is out of the question. Every move draws mortar fire down on us, antitank guns even fire on individual soldiers who want to treat or recover the wounded. Only under cover of darkness do the remaining elements of 9. Company withdraw, taking all the wounded with them.’146

Among those evacuated with injuries, was SS-Sturmbannführer Arnold Jürgensen. His life could not be saved—he died of his wounds on 23 December. At that point—on the morning of 23 December—the 12. SS-Panzer-Division had even executed a fourth assault against Domäne Bütgenbach. SS-Unterscharführer Burdack reported that the advance initially was not disrupted by the Americans, who, he said, might not have been expecting a new attack after costly German effort on 22 December.147Indeed! But as soon as the American artillery opened fire again, the Germans withdrew as fast as they could across the blood-stained fields. Finally the battle of Domäne Bütgenbach was over.
 
Afterwards, U.S. patrols sent out into the fields south of Domäne Bütgenbach reported that they encountered dead German soldiers ’as common as grass.’ A Graves Registration unit counted 782 dead bodies. In addition, the Americans claimed to have knocked out forty tanks and tank destroyers against 250 own casualties.148

There is no reason to doubt the figure for killed German soldiers. Between 16 and 23 December, the12. SS-Panzer-Division sustained 568, and the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division 753 casualties.149 However, it is clear that the U.S. reports once again overestimated the German armor losses. The 12. SS-Panzer-Division indeed was dealt a terrible bloodletting, but not possibly as extensive as the American reports indicated. No compilation of the 12. SS-Panzer-Division’s losses in armor and tank destroyers at Domäne Bütgenbach exists, but a maximum can be calculated by subtracting the minimum of losses that the division sustained at the ’twin villages’ from the total losses during the month of December 1944. This shows that the 12. SS-Panzer-Division at most may have lost ten Panthers, seven Panzer IVs, and six Panzer IV/70s at Domäne Bütgenbach.150 To these total losses should be added a far greater number of combat vehicles that were put out of action, but afterwards could be salvaged and repaired. Hence, for instance, 3. Kompanie of I. Abteilung/ SS-Panzer-Regiment 12 was left without a single operational tank after the battle of Domäne Bütgenbach—out of twenty Panzer IVs at hand on 16 December.151 (Total losses in Panzer IVs in the 12. SS-Panzer-Division amounted to eight in December 1944.) The 12. SS-Panzer-Division definitely was inflicted even greater losses at Domäne Bütgenbach than at the ’twin villages.’

SKORZENY'S COUP ATTEMPT AGAINST MALMEDY

The American victory at Domäne Bütgenbach decided the outcome of the battle on 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s northern sector. It was not just that the Germans failed to break through, but the 12. SS-Panzer-Division was entirely neutralized for the next crucial days, and this enabled the Americans to extend their defensive victory all along the northern flank of the German breakthrough in the Ardennes. This in turn also sealed the fate of three other prominent task forces in the 6. SS-Panzerarmee—Peiper’s and von der Heydte’s two cutoff units, and Skorzeny’s SS-Panzer Brigade 150, which was deployed against Malmedy.

As we have seen, the Norwegian-American Task Force Hansen had moved into position at Malmedy already on the evening of 17 December, and while Skorzeny was assembling his forces for the attack, the 120th Infantry Regiment of U.S. 30th Infantry Division, the 740th Tank Battalion, and two platoons from the 823d Tank Destroyer Battalion arrived to bolster Hansen’s defensive positions. Also at this site, the Americans enjoyed the support of a powerful artillery, including a number of 155mm Long Tom guns.
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A German Panzer IV/70 (Sd.Kfz.162/1) tank destroyer. This was a development of the Jagdpanzer IV, and entered production in August 1944. With a 75mm StuK 42 L/70 Sturmkanone anti-tank gun and an 80mm frontal armor at a 45° slope, it was both better armed and better armored than its predecessor. Both versions, however, were built on the chassis of a Panzer IV tank. (NARA, III-SC-341654)





Skorzeny’s troops opened their attack against Malmedy during the wee hours of 21 December, with their force divided into two columns. The 120 men in one of these, Kampfgruppe Y, left Ligneuville, five miles south of Malmedy, at three in the morning. They advanced in three jeeps, a half-track vehicle, an American M8 armored car, and a Sherman. The commander of Kampfgruppe Y, Hauptmann Walter Scherf, describes the situation: ’The road was edged by steep slopes to the left and impassable terrain dropping steeply to the right of our advance direction. In addition the advance route to Baugnez passed through about a mile of dense forest. An additional obstacle was snow which, depending on the situation of the terrain, was 5 to 8 inches deep. It was impossible to advance in any kind of formation, particularly as it was pitch black. Enemy fire increased particularly at the bend in the road about 1,000 yards south of Baugnez. […] It was clear to us that the Americans had already been alerted.’152 The Germans might have guessed that the patrol that failed to return from a reconnaissance mission towards Malmedy on the day before, had been captured and revealed the German plan: in any case this was exactly what had happened.
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Along with the 26th Infantry Regiment of the 1st Infantry Division and the M10 tank destroyers of the 634th Tank Destroyer Battalion, U.S. 745th Tank Battalion played a crucial role during the Battle of Domäne Bütgenbach. When the battle began this tank battalion had 66 Sherman tanks, of which 10 were equipped with the new 76mm cannon, and 18 Stuarts. A few days later, 22 of the Sherman tanks had been lost, but the Americans held their position and the 12. SS-Panzer-Division was at least temporarily neutralized. (NARA, SC 198343)
 




The defenders were well prepared. ’B’ Company of 99th Infantry Battalion ’Viking’ was in position just on the road that Kampfgruppe Y took on its way north. On the railway embankment at Bellevue, just east of Malmedy, the ’Viking’ Battalion had placed its 81mm mortars.153 To the right (west) of the Norwegian-Americans, most of the 120th Infantry Regiment had dug in.
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The battle for Domäne Bütgenbach is over. This Sherman from the 745th Tank Battalion has survived, unlike the German Panzer IV tank a few yards away. (NARA, 111-SC-198278) And owing to the 291st Engineer Combat Battalion, they also were alerted. Just hours before the German attack began, the men of this unit had planted mines along the road that the Germans would take, and the leading German combat vehicle—the half-track—set off a mine that blew up in a bright explosion.
 




In fact, no other American battalion gave a greater contribution to the halting of the entire German 6. SS-Panzerarmee than the 291st Engineer Combat Battalion: On 17 December, a dozen of its men under Sergeant Hensel compelled SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper to halt south of Stavelot, on the 18th it halted Peiper’s advance decisively by first blowing up the bridges at Trois-Ponts, and then the one at Hâbièmont, and now it contributed to halt Skorzeny’s attack against Malmedy. The 291st would receive the Presidential Unit Citation for its performances during these crucial days, and its commander, 27-year-old Lieutenant Colonel David Pergrin, was awarded the Belgian Croix de Guerre.

No sooner had the half-track gone up in flames, the men of the ’Viking’ Battalion heard, to their great surprise, Germans screaming in English: ’Surrender or die!’ Sergeant Lloyd Jelleberg, one of the Norwegian- American soldiers, remembers thow ’they acted like they thought we would run. We thought they were drunk as they acted silly and made stupid decisions. They came across an open field. We were dug in and the engineers were covering the road overpasses with anti-tank guns. We lost a few men but the Germans were killed by the dozens. Our mortars ran out of 81mm but there was a German dump nearby so they used their 80mm. They were lucky they didn’t blow their barrels up.’154

Then the American artillery joined in—six entire artillery battalions and two anti-aircraft battalions. The top secret POZIT air burst grenades had promptly been brought forward to defend Malmedy, and now these were used for the second time in the war. Overall it was, to put it mildly, a clear case of ’overkill.’ When the POZIT shells detonated in the air, spraying razor-sharp steel fragments over the men, the small German force collapsed. Everywhere soldiers were torn up beyond recognition by the deadly metal bursts. Between sixty and seventy men were killed or wounded, others panicked and fled or surrendered. One of the latter, however, pulled himself together to address his captivators in a haughty tone, telling them, ’you can never win the war, we have so many secret weapons.’155 Apparently it did not strike him that that it was an American secret weapon that had defeated his unit, while the Germans had had no such asset at Malmedy. ’The artillery which we had behind us helped an awful lot,’ Jelleberg commented laconically.156_

Skorzeny’s main attack force—Kampfgruppe X under Hauptmann Adrian von Folkersam—began their advance to the chilling sound of the massive artillery fire that was laid over Scherf’s men. They knew that this could only be American fire, since there was no German artillery in the area. But von Folkersam still hoped to take the Americans by surprise. His force, two infantry companies and a tank company, had a Sherman and four of the brigade’s Panther tanks—the latter equipped with metal sheets and repainted with U.S. markings so that they would resemble M10 tank destroyers. They took the narrow little road that runs across the fields south of Malmedy—about a mile west of Scherf’s force—to the village of Falize, just above Malmedy. The German infantry moved into position at that place at midnight, without the Americans noticing anything. But when the Germans at half past five in the morning set off at full speed down the slope that leads into the town, something unexpected happened. The dark night changed into day as the whole area suddenly was brilliantly illuminated. The U.S. engineers had laid a web of tripwire mines and flares, and all of this pyrotechnics now went off.157

Two Panthers clanked down the road from Falize that winds down to Malmedy, but they did not come far. The leading tank, with Leutnant Peter Mandt as commander, struck a mine that detonated, and had to be abandoned. The other Panther turned back. The infantry and the other three tanks crossed the field down to the southern part of Malmedy. One of the U.S. soldiers in ’K’ Company, 3rd Battalion, 120th Infantry Regiment, Sergeant Francis S. Currey, personally gave a considerable contribution to the American victory, for which he later received the highest U.S. military award, the Medal of Honor, and Belgium’s highest award, the Ordre de Leopold. The citation for his Medal of Honor reads:

He was an automatic rifleman with the 3rd Platoon defending a strong point near Malmedy, Belgium, on 21 December 1944, when the enemy launched a powerful attack. Overrunning tank destroyers and antitank guns located near the strong point, German tanks advanced to the 3rd Platoon’s position, and, after prolonged fighting, forced the withdrawal of this group to a nearby factory. Sergeant Currey found a bazooka in the building and crossed the street to secure rockets meanwhile enduring intense fire from enemy tanks and hostile infantrymen who had taken up a position at a house a short distance away. In the face of small-arms, machinegun, and artillery fire, he, with a companion, knocked out a tank with one shot. Moving to another position, he observed three Germans in the doorway of an enemy-held house. He killed or wounded all three with his automatic rifle. He emerged from cover and advanced alone to within 50 yards of the house, intent on wrecking it with rockets. Covered by friendly fire, he stood erect, and fired a shot which knocked down half of a wall. While in this forward position, he observed five Americans who had been pinned down for hours by fire from the house and three tanks. Realizing that they could not escape until the enemy tank and infantry guns had been silenced, Sergeant Currey crossed the street to a vehicle, where he procured an armful of antitank grenades. These he launched while under heavy enemy fire, driving the tankmen from the vehicles into the house. He then climbed onto a half-track in full view of the Germans and fired a machinegun at the house. Once again changing his position, he manned another machinegun whose crew had been killed; under his covering fire the five soldiers were able to retire to safety. Deprived of tanks and with heavy infantry casualties, the enemy was forced to withdraw. Through his extensive knowledge of weapons and by his heroic and repeated braving of murderous enemy fire, Sergeant Currey was greatly responsible for inflicting heavy losses in men and material on the enemy, for rescuing five comrades, two of whom were wounded, and for stemming an attack which threatened to flank his battalion’s position.158

Leaving more than two hundred killed men behind, SS-Panzer Brigade 150 pulled back. Skorzeny wrote, ’I had no artillery with my brigade, and when I realized the strength of the enemy, I ordered a withdrawal to defensive positions south of Malmedy. We remained in these positions until 29 December, when we withdrew because of continuous losses to enemy artillery fire.’159

Meanwhile, von der Heydte’s paratroopers also met their final destiny. As we saw earlier, the air droppings of Oberstleutnant Friedrich Freiherr von der Heydte’s paratroopers in the spruce forests north of Malmedy became a failure. Since this force became widely dispersed, and von der Heydte himself only was able to assemble a few hundred men at the crossroads Baraque Michel north of Malmedy, these hid in the woods that today constitute the national park Hautes Fagnes-Eifel. After three days in cold and rain, with dwindling supplies and without any relief force in sight, von der Heydte realized that the mission was doomed. On the night of 19 December, he took off towards the east with his men in an effort to reach the German lines. They left their wounded in the hands of the thirty American prisoners that had been taken, along with a letter to Major General Maxwell Taylor, the commander of U.S. 101st Airborne Division, who was asked to ensure that the wounded were taken good care of. (Von der Heydte believed that his old adversary from Normandy was in the area.)
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The American artillery played a decisive role in the Battle of Malmedy. The picture shows a battery 155mm M1 howitzers in firing position. (US Army)
 




When the breakout-force on the morning of 20 December were discovered by U.S. infantry and had to flee back into the forest again, von der Heydte decided to divide the force into small groups of three men, each of which was to try to make it back to the German lines. 150 of the paratroopers managed to do so, but not their commander. After wandering about in the wintry countryside for two whole days, von der Heydte reached the town of Monschau, which he thought was in German hands, in the morning on 22 December. When it turned out that this was not the case, the exhausted paratroop officer felt that he had had enough. He knocked on a housedoor and was let in. There he wrote a letter of surrender which he conveyed to the American soldiers in the town. Thus ended Kampfgruppe von der Heydte’s saga.

Both sides now went over to the defensive along the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s entire northern front sector, from Rocherath-Krinkelt and Wirtzfeld in front of the Elsenborn Ridge in the east, across the Domäne Bütgenbach section, and on to the section south of Malmedy and Stavelot. As the emphasis of the German offensive was shifted to the 5. Panzerarmee, the front here would remain more or less static and ’dormant’ for more than three weeks.

THE END OF SS-KAMPFGRUPPE PEIPER

In the meantime, SS Kampfgruppe Peiper also approached its inevitable end. Since the Americans had managed to demolish the important Amblève bridge in Stavelot on 19 December, all supplies to the German armored spearhead at La Gleize, Stoumont, and Cheneux had to be brought across the frail wooden bridge at Petit Spay, east of Trois-Ponts. But owing to the bad road conditions on the southern side of River Amblève, so far no more than a small supply column had arrived. On 20 December, the British code breakers at Bletchley Park intercepted a message from SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper in Stoumont about an acute fuel shortage.160

It is possible that SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen with its twenty Panzer IV/70s could have come to the relief, but this unit was stranded in Recht, six miles southeast of Stavelot. Due to the road congestions in the rear area, it was extremely difficult to bring any fuel at all to Hansen’s vehicles. As if this was not enough, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ was ordered forward from the rear area on 17 December, and, two days later, also the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich.’ According to the original plan, these two divisions should have been deployed only as part of the second assault wave, when the I. SS-Panzerkorps had crossed the Meuse. But now they were straight away brought in with the task to relieve SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper.

The commander of SS- Panzergrenadier-Regiment 4 ’Der Führer’ of 2. SS- Panzer-Division, SS-Obersturmbannführer Otto Weidinger, describes the 6. SS- Panzerarmee’s chaotic supply situation: ’The difficulties regarding the fuel supply led to severe clashes between [the headquarters of] the Division and [the 6. SS-Panzerarmee headquarters]. Among other things, the. SS-Panzerarmee’s headquarters reported to the Army’s chief of supplies that supplies had arrived, while in reality this was not the case. No precautionary measures in the event railway filling stations were lost had been taken, so in a number of cases we lost much time sending trucks to places where there was no fuel available.’161

No wonder that von Rundstedt on the evening of 20 December decided to shift the main emphasis of the offensive from Sepp Dietrich’s SS Army to von Manteuffel’s 5. Panzerarmee. With this, the 2. and 9. SS-Panzer divisions were regrouped towards the Sankt Vith section, which meant that the relief of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper was assigned a lower priority. As far as the 2. SS-Panzer-Division is concerned, this unit, as mentioned in Chapter 4, was ordered to march from Blankenheim, twelve miles northeast of the Losheimer-Graben—in an arc over Hillesheim and Schönecken in Germany—to Reuland, in front of the American strongpoint at Oudler, six miles south of Sankt Vith. This fifty-mile mileage was carried out on clogged and icy small roads. For 20 December, Weidinger noted, ’Road congestions continued. […] At 1545 came the order to depart. Soon we started to run out of fuel. We still saw no supply transports.’162 Between noon on the 21st and forenoon on 22 December, the 2. SS-Panzerdivision remained stuck in the vicinity of Reuland.163

Although the 9. SS-Panzer-Division was sent straight to the west from its point of departure, it also ran into severe difficulties. Its vehicles—particularly fuel trucks—became hopelessly jammed on the congested roads. The division’s various sub-units arrived piecemeal at the front, where they immediately were hurled into the battle. This had severe repercussions for the armored reconnaissance battalion when this unit on 19 December was despatched against Poteau, northwest of Sankt Vith.

By the time SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen finally received the fuel required to resume its advance—in the evening on 19 December—the American steel ring around SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper had been further strengthened. Combat Command B of U.S. 3rd Armored Division was approaching from the north. In the southwest, the 82nd Airborne Division, with four regiments with tank support, was preparing to establish positions on a nine-mile-front along the western side of River Salm, from Trois-Ponts in the north to Salmchâteau in the south.
 
The operation to wipe out the enveloped SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper began on 20 December with a concerted attack from all sides. Meanwhile, a powerful U.S. artillery force subjected La Gleize, Stoumont, and Cheneux to intense shelling.

Combat Command B, 3rd Armored Division was composed of three Task forces. The most powerful among these, Task Force Lovelady under Lieutenant Colonel William B. Lovelady, mustered fifty-one tanks, including thirty-nine Shermans, of the 33rd Armored Regiment.164 In order to cut the supply line to Peiper at Petit Spay, just east of Trois-Ponts, where the small wooden bridge led across the Amblève, Task Force Lovelady set off in the afternoon on 20 December down the road that leads south a mile east of La Gleize. During the advance, the American armor surprised and annihilated two smaller German vehicle columns heading for La Gleize.*
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SS soldiers during the advance in the Ardennes. (NARA, III-SC-341656)
 




At the point where River Amblève bends from a southerly to an easterly direction at Trois-Ponts, three miles southeast of La Gleize, the road forms a ledge between steep, wooded cliffs immediately to the left of the road (in the American direction), and a sharp descent down to the river on the right side. The road also went under a railway viaduct on the line Trois-Ponts - Stavelot. As the American tanks passed under the viaduct and around the turn of the road at this point, they immediately became aware that the Germans were alerted and were waiting for them. A raging fire from at least one Königstiger (No. 132 with SS-Unterscharführer Willi Otterbein as commander), an antitank gun, and several Panzerfausts hit the Americans. Four or six Shermans caught fire and the remainder of the force quickly retreated into cover behind the trees at the road bend.165 Owing to fuel shortage, the Germans were unable to counter-attack in order to push back the American armored force to its point of departure.166 With Task Force Lovelady in position north of Trois-Ponts, SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper’s last supply line, across the Amblève at Petit Spay, was cut off.
 
However, the other U.S. attack forces did not succeed equally well. To the right of Lovelady, Task Force McGeorge—reinforced with A’ Company, 743rd Tank Battalion—attacked La Gleize along two small roads from the northeast. But here Peiper had positioned six Königstigers, and these effectively blocked the American advance. After losing five of his eighteen Shermans, the American unit commander, Major Kenneth McGeorge, withdrew his troops.167 The attacks conducted against Stoumont on 20 December—by the tanks of Task Force Jordan and 740th Tank Battalion, supported by 1st Battalion, 119th Infantry Regiment—also were repulsed. Americans and Germans fought bitterly throughout the night and into the next day for Saint Edouard Sanitorium, a nursing home for children located in a large stone building in the village’s northwestern outskirts. During all of this, at least two hundred and sixty terrified civilians—patients, nuns and villagers who had taken refuge at this place— huddled in the large building’s basement. What they were told by the grim-looking SS soldiers who called the nursing home ’Fortress Saint Edouard’ did little to reassure them: ’You have nothing to fear from us if you do not harm us. But we had to execute some people from Stavelot who fired at our troops from the windows of their houses.’168 Early on 21 December the Americans were pushed back, leaving the burnt-out hulks of four Shermans behind.169
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A destroyed Sherman tank. (National Museum of Military history, Diekirch)
 




Across the Amblève, southwest of La Gleize, a bloody battle raged throughout the night. When Peiper had withdrawn from the Lienne creek during the night of 18 December, he left Flak-Abteilung 84 under Luftwaffe Major Wolfgang von Sacken south of Amblève, at the first village after the bridge, Cheneux. Meanwhile, the 504th and 505th Parachute Infantry regiments of U.S. 82nd Airborne Division arrived at Werbomont, west of the Lienne. The commander of the 504th, Colonel Reuben Tucker, was ordered to immediately cross the little creek and advance towards Trois-Ponts. That same night Tucker’s regiment marched across a hastily prepared Bailey Bridge at Forges—where the bridge some of Peiper’s armored reconnaissance vehicles had used just a few hours earlier, had been demolished by the Americans.170At three in the morning the Americans bivouacked in the village of Rahier, slightly more than a mile southwest of Cheneux.171 At dawn on 20 December, Tucker despatched reconnaissance patrols that could establish that Cheneux was occupied by the enemy, and the decision was made to attack this village.
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But by that time the German garrison had been reinforced by 11. (gepanzerte) Kompanie/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2 under SS-Oberscharführer Rudi Rayer. Historians Luc Rivet and Yvan Sevenans describe how these SS soldiers trudged into the village, being ’in a foul mood,’ vandalizing houses and assaulting villagers.172 504th Parachute Infantry Regiment received reinforcement in the shape of some 703rd Tank Destroyer Battalion M36 Jackson tank destroyers that crossed on the Bailey bridge built at Hâbièmont. The M36 Jackson had been developed in response to the German heavily armored tanks, and was armed with a 90mm M3 anti-tank gun, which in principle could knock out any German tank. The first Jacksons were introduced at the front as late as in September 1944 and in December, there still were relatively few available. But now some of these were launched against Peiper’s outpost at Cheneux.
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U.S. paratroopers of the 82nd Airborne Division arrive at Werbomont, to the west of the Lienne. (NARA, 111-SC-2000487)





The Americans opened their attack on the afternoon of 20 December. They advanced uphill straight across the open terrain, and were met by fire from two 20mm anti-aircraft guns, machine guns, and mortars.173 The attack immediately stalled. Colonel Tucker decided to wait until after dark, and then he ordered the 1st Battalion to renew the attack, supported by Jackson TDs, while the 3rd Battalion circumvented the village to attack from the north. What followed was a bloodbath. Technical Sergeant George W. Corporan in 1st Battalion describes the nocturnal attack on Cheneux:

At 1930 the Battalion pushed off. Company B had to cross four hundred yards of flat terrain, giving the enemy perfect grazing fields of fire. Company C attacked over flat ground through a system of barbed wire fences vertical to the line of attack. The wire caught at the men’s clothing and equipment, slowing them and making them easy targets.

Company B, coming out of the woods in skirmish formation, moved through several fences and reached a point within 200 yards of the road block at the edge of Cheneux. Suddenly the 20mm guns, machine guns, mortars and artillery pieces in the town opened up, inflicting heavy casualties on the men who had no cover or concealment and could only keep advancing by short rushes. The two tank destroyers, supposed to move up the road with the companies, remained in the rear. The flak wagons swept the area, having full deflectional fire on the attackers. Staff Sergeant James M Boyd, third platoon sergeant Company B, said, ‘The men were falling like flies.’ The first two waves were almost completely wiped out.
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Spearheading a group of other tanks, a Sherman tank with a 76mm gun works its way through the mud on the battlefield. (NARA, SC 196105)
 




Company C moved out of the woods in a skirmish line, described as ‘dress right dress,’ on the left side of the road with the right man guiding on the road. At first the waves waited for the tank destroyers to move up. When they did not, the men moved on, since Company B was already advancing. MG 42 machine guns on Company C’s left flank opened up, inflicting numerous casualties as the men hit the first string of barbed wire fences. When the assault waves were in the open, where grazing fire was possible, the flak wagons in Cheneux opened up. The attack bogged down momentarily as the first assault wave was pinned down. The second wave moved up to the first in order to build a firing line. Men of Company B on the right side of the road, were yelling, ‘Come on!’ From then on, the advance had to be made over and through the barbed wire fences since no wire-cutters were available.

With the attack apparently stopped, Staff Sergeant Walsh of Company B stood up and yelled, ‘Let’s get the sons of bitches!’ His cry served to start the attack again as the men who were able stood up, yelling and screaming and drove forward toward the enemy road block at the edge of the town. The men fired until their ammunition was exhausted; then they used their rifles as clubs and drew trench knives as they converged on the road block and engaged the enemy in close-in fighting.

Sergeant Walsh crept to within 20 yards of a 20mm flak wagon in order to hurl a grenade at it. Because of a wound in his wrist, he was unable to pull the pin. He crawled back to one of his men, had him pull the pin, then returned to the cannon and knocked it out with the grenade. Private Barkley, Company C, flanked another 20mm, clambered aboard and slit the gunner’s throat. Men of Company C alone killed 20 of the enemy in close-in fighting.
 
Finally the two tank destroyers moved forward and fired into the enemy positions in the town and facilitated the advance of the men left in the companies. At 2200, the Battalion had gained the edge of the town, the enemy having withdrawn within the town itself.174

By that time, the 1st Battalion had lost two hundred and twenty-five men. ‘B’ Company was particularly badly hit—the Company had lost all officers and all but eighteen enlisted men. Of the original 119 enlisted men and eight officers in ’C’ Company, thirty-eight enlisted men and three officers remained.175 And the Americans had only managed to captured a couple of houses in the southern outskirts of Cheneux! The 703rd Tank Destroyer Battalion’s after action report reads, ’Throughout 21 December, the infantry held their ground and prepared to attack again that night. The Germans were offering stiff resistance and it was evident that they had no intention of giving up the remainder of the town.’176

While this took place, U.S. 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment crossed the Lienne, passed south of Cheneux and advanced through a no-man’s-land against Trois-Ponts. On the evening of 20 December the Regiment’s 2nd Battalion, under Lieutenant Colonel Benjamin H. Vandervoort, was issued with ’a Regimental order to cross the Salm River with one company and set up a defensive position on the adjacent high ground.’177 ’E’ Company crossed the river on a makeshift bridge of planks.178

To the east of River Salm, SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen meanwhile pushed forward with the greatest difficulty on waterlogged small rural roads in the countryside between Recht in the southeast and Trois-Ponts, where Hansen was intended to come to Peiper’s relief. Although the distance was not more than eight miles as the crow flies, it took the Germans most of the day to traverse this distance. They reached the area southeast of Trois-Ponts just after the U.S. ’E’ Company had crossed the Salm in this section to establish its small bridgehead. Hansen’s task force—where twenty-one Panzer IV/70s had constituted the main force on 16 December—joined the Panzer IV tanks from the 6. and 7. Kompanie/ SS-Panzer-Regiment 1, which had been stranded with empty fuel tanks southwest of Stavelot two days earlier. On the morning of 21 December, this sizable force attacked ’E’ Company, which was virtually destroyed. Only forty to fifty men of the American company made it back to the western side of the Salm.

However, the 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment’s contribution to save the situation on the American side during these days, by far outweighed the faux pas with ’E’ Company. By advancing to Trois-Ponts so rapidly, its 2nd Battalion could prevent SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen from laying a bridge across the Salm to relieve SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, and three miles farther south its 3rd Battalion prevented another German force—SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 19 of the 9. SS-Panzer-Division—from crossing the Salm at Grand-Halleux, whence Peiper’s men also could have been relieved. Thus, U.S. 82nd Airborne Division, and especially its 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment, played a crucial role in the destruction of 1. SS-Panzer-Division’s spearhead.
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U.S. paratroopers from Colonel Reuben Tucker’s 504th Parachute Infantry Regiment of the 82nd Airborne Division with their captive, a noticeably startled young SS soldier. The soldier at the front is Lieutenant Richard G. ‘Rivers’ Lariviere, a platoon commander in ‘H’ Company. He was at that time 26 years old. Lariviere, who frequently appears in James Megellas’ autobiography All the Way to Berlin, passed away on 13 February 1995, at the age of 82. (US Army)
 




In this new situation, SS-Standartenführer Hansen instead received the task of securing the eastern side of River Salm, from Trois-Ponts down to Grand-Halleux in the south, and to cross the Amblève at Petit Spay in order to attack Stavelot from the west, so that this supply route to Peiper could be reopened. SS-Sturmbannführer Emil Karst led the men in the I. Bataillon / SS- Panzergrenadie-Regiment 1 over the small wooden bridge at Petit Spay and then they climbed up the slippery, wooded ridge on the other side of the road, until they reached the railway track on the crest. There they proceeded on foot towards Stavelot.

But when the I. SS- Pänzerjager-Abteilung would follow, disaster struck. When the first tank destroyer, a Panzer IV/70 commanded by SS-Obersturmbannführer Otto Holst, crawled across the river, the small wooden bridge collapsed under the 25-ton vehicle, which became helplessly stuck in five-foot-deep water right up the steep northern river bank. The efforts to establish a temporary bridge had to be abandoned when the Americans directed artillery fire against the place.

Attacked by the armor of Task Force Lovelady, SS-Sturmbannführer Karst’s SS grenadiers, lacking heavy weapons, met the same fate as that of of ’E’ Company in the U.S. airborne battalion when it was attacked by the SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen east of the Salm. Thus failed this attempt to relieve SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, which nevertheless continued to successfully repel all U.S. attacks throughout 21 December. That day’s fighting cost the 1st Battalion, U.S. 119th Infantry Regiment alone a loss of nearly two hundred men, and the commander of the 2nd Battalion, Major Hal McCown, was taken prisoner. McCown was brought to La Gleize, where he was received by Peiper. John M. Nolan, who by that time served as a Platoon Sergeant in the 2nd Battalion, 119th Infantry Regiment, remembers:

’G Company received the order to move over a high ridge and down the other side to establish a roadblock. We were told it would close the last escape route for the German force that we had surrounded. It was a difficult climb to the top of the ridge with all of the equipment we carried, including anti-tank mines, but easier down the other side. When we were about to set-up the roadblock we were ordered to turn around and go back to where we began. We were told that our battalion commander, Major Hal McCown, had been captured and we needed to get out of there in a hurry.’ Nolan continues:

‘Several days before we had heard of what has been called the “Malmedy Massacre” and we feared for the life of our battalion commander. I believe our fears resulted in the order we received to ”Take No Prisoners” before we prepared to attack La Gleize on 24 December. Major Nathaniel Laney, the battalion executive officer, took over the unit as the acting battalion commander of our 2nd Battalion. It wasn’t until after our attack on LaGleize that we heard the good news that Major McCown had escaped. He returned to resume command of the battalion.’179

Peiper now decided to concentrate his forces at La Gleize, and after dark in the evening on 21 December, both Stoumont and Cheneux were evacuated. At the latter place the Germans abandoned fourteen anti-aircraft guns, five 105mm howitzers, two 75mm anti-tank guns, six armored personnel carriers, and four trucks.

On the night between 21 and 22 December, the Luftwaffe made its first—and only—attempt to supply SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper from the air.180 Twenty transport aircraft were despatched with instructions to drop supplies by parachute over Stoumont—not knowing that Peiper’s force had just withdrawn from that place. Only about ten percent of the dropped supplies—fuel, ammunition, and provisions—landed in German-held territory, the rest was taken care of by grateful American G.I.s. One of the SS men in La Gleize, SS-Rottenführer Rolf Ehrhardt, recalls:

’Since 13 December, we hadn’t had any more warm rations. We only received rations for three days. For days none of us ever had our fill. Many hadn’t eaten for days. It was similar with our sleep. We couldn’t even think about that. I believe that since the attack began I had only slept for more than an hour two or three times. For the most part all of the comrades, whether simple soldier or commander, were no different concerning their condition. We were well beyond the border of our performance capabilities and well overburdened. Our faces were unshaven and dirty. Our eyes burned and we all had a cold.’181

Throughout 22 December the Germans in La Gleize sent repeated requests for further air-dropped supplies, but to no avail. The weather simply rendered any further transport flights impossible.182 Peter Schrijvers describes the battle for the enveloped La Gleize, now subject to a deadly rain of U.S. artillery rounds: ’The church was being converted into a first-aid station. At dark the building rapidly filled with wounded SS men and American prisoners evacuated from Stoumont. The injured were white as chalk and moaned and cried. Straw on the floor soaked up the blood. Soldiers died before the eyes of the villagers who crept into a corner afraid to move. On the other side of the thick church wall a German tank blasted away at regular intervals. The civilians prayed with their priest that they might live for just a few more hours; they did not hope for more.’183

Charles B. MacDonald gives the perspective of the beleaguerers: ’Soon after midday [on 22 December], the commander of the 740th Tank Battalion, Colonel [George] Rubel, set up his borrowed 155mm self-propelled artillery piece alongside the Chateau de Froid-Cour, and close by the 105mm pieces he had found at the ordnance depot at Sprimont. With a clear view of La Gleize, the gunners wreaked havoc on the buildings in the village, and one of the rounds from the 155 chopped the top off the spire of the village church. From farther away, the 155mm howitzers of the 30th Division’s 113th Field Artillery Battalion added the fury of their fire, much of its shells armed with the VT fuse. Little would be left of La Gleize but rubble.’184 *

On the afternoon of 22 December, the tanks of Task Force McGeorge made a new attack against the village. The battle was fought between the tanks on both sides. Rolf Ehrhardt, who had taken shelter in the basement of the main building of the farm estate Wèrimont in the southern outskirt of La Gleize, recalled, ’The cellar was overcrowded with people, waiting for a break in the firing to count the number of Shermans destroyed. Pieces of stone and chalk rained down from the ceiling. The firing of our Tigers’ super guns could be clearly distinguished from the explosions of the enemy rounds. Each round fired from an 88 was a hit in our minds. Suddenly Tiger commander Hantusch burst into the cellar with both hands pressed to his head and yelled: ’’That was Hantusch’s last stand!” His Tiger had been hit several times, which so jolted the sensitive weapons system that the electrical firing system broke down. Then a hit on the turret had lightly wounded Hantusch in the head, and he was forced to abandon the smoking tank which could have burst into flames at any moment. Minutes later, the second Tiger commander, Obersturmführer Dollinger, arrived speechless in the cellar, bleeding heavily from the head. After he had been bandaged, he reported that the smoke from his gun had made it impossible to fire and adjust, and the enemy’s immediate response had taken away any last chance to hit them. The numerical superiority of the eight to ten Sherman and their continous fire more than compensated for the superior weapons in our hands. Dollinger’s tank had then been hit once more by a round which amputated the front third of his gun.’185 **
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Three M4 (105) Shermans, equipped with 105mm howitzers, shelling German positions. Of the 3rd Armored Division’s 240 serviceable Shermans on 18 December 1944, 29 were armed with 105mm howitzers. (NARA, SC 198396)
 




In spite of all hardships, Peiper’s men continued to offer a dogged resistance. Their POW Major McCown afterwards described his observations concerning SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper: ’Morale was high throughout the entire period. I was with them despite the extremely trying conditions. The discipline was very good […] The relationship between officers and men, particularly the commanding officer, Colonel Peiper, was closer and more friendly than I would have expected. […] He and I talked [Peiper spoke an excellent English] […] He was completely confident of Germany’s ability to whip the Allies.’186

However, not all the SS men were able to withstand the pressure. After the war, SS-Rottenführer Water Lehn told that ’morale was very muted, almost fatalistic’ in La Gleize.187 According to what emerged during interrogations after the war, Peiper had one of his soldiers executed on 22 December because this man had ripped his SS insignia from his uniform during a critical situation.188
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Tiger No. 213 with SS-Obersturmführer Wilhelm Dollinger as tank commander was put out of action when a projectile from a Sherman knocked off the front third of the barrel. The otherwise almost intact Königstiger, which was heavily scarred after several hits, was captured by the Americans when they took La Gleize two days later. Today, this Königstiger stands outside the Historical Museum December 1944 in La Gleize. A new wooden ‘barrel’ had been made, onto which a muzzle brake from one of the Panther tanks abandoned by Skorzeny’s forces at Malmedy has been fitted. (Photo: The author)
 




However, the attempts made by Task Force McGeorge to break into La Gleize on 22 December were repelled, with heavy losses inflicted on the Americans. On the afternoon of 23 December they returned, and this time managed to make their way to the northeastern outskirts of La Gleize with infantry and armor. But there SS panzer grenadiers stormed out of the houses, destroyed six Shermans with anti-tank weapons and forced the remainder into a hasty retreat along the road to the north.
 
In American captivity after the war, Peiper was asked about when he had realized that the operation was a failure. The response was: When he at 1700 hrs on 23 December via radio was ordered to break out with men and materiel.189 However, due to fuel shortage, it was impossible to bring along any of the heavy equipment, so the breakout had to be carried out on foot, through the sector in the south where there were no American troops. At one o’clock on the morning of 24 December, Peiper departed, leading eight hundred of his soldiers. Commanded by SS-Obersturmführer Dr. Willibald Dittmann, the wounded Germans, the majority of the American prisoners, and all heavy equipment were left behind in La Gleize.

A few hours later, the Americans mounted another attack against La Gleize, prepared to face a stiff resistance. Sergeant John M. Nolan was one of the first to enter the village. He said:

Shortly after daylight the artillery opened fire on the village. When their barrage ceased we were to begin our move to the objective. We began our movement on the high ground above the village. I was in the attack column with the lead Squad as we moved down on a sunken road leading into the village. To my surprise the road was lined with German Army vehicles parked ’bumper to bumper’ They were personnel carriers, tracked and wheeled. We began to sense that the Jerries had departed the area, and we would not have to fight our way into the village.

We finally arrived at the village limits and entered an area I would call a ’Town Square’ which was an open space. A large church building was at one end and in the middle of the ’Square’ I saw three Jerry’s with white armbands with a Red Cross on a sleeve of their uniforms. One of them was an officer wearing a beautiful ‘great coat.’ I noticed there was a band near the cuff of one sleeve, and written on it was ‘Adolf Hitler’s 1st SS Panzer Division.’ I took my knife and cut this strip from his sleeve and kept it for a souvenir. This was the first time that I became aware that the German Army unit opposing us was an SS unit. Years latter when I read an account of our action I discovered the name of the German Medical Officer was ’SS Lieutenant Colonel Doctor Willi Dittmann.’

We began searching all the buildings for possible enemy. I went into a school building and found a wounded paratroop officer lying on the floor with a Nazi flag partially covering him. On the way out I told a sergeant of what I had seen. He entered, and I soon heard a shot, and he came out of the building with a P38 Pistol in his hand. We heard later that one of our platoons that searched the church had found a number of U.S. Army prisoners, some of them wounded. 190 *

By that time, all the American soldiers had been informed that SS men had killed American POWs at Baugnez, and they also knew that Skorzeny’s troops operated behind Allied lines dressed in American uniforms. First Lieutenant Donald J. Strand in ’D’ Company, 119th Infantry Regiment, remembers how the Americans reacted when they discovered that several of the SS soldiers that were taken prisoner in La Gleize carried items of equipment from the U.S. Army:

’Our Battalion Commander in looking over the German soldiers saw many of them wearing brand new G.I. boots and wool trousers and here our own soldiers had on boots that the soles were wore thru and worn out wool trousers. He marched the German soldiers into the town square and made them in the snow and bitter cold take off their trousers and boots. We then handed them back to our own G.I.’s who needed them. I can still see the young arrogant German SS troops cry like babies over this as they stood barefoot in the snow and some without trousers on.’191

After a thirty-six-hour-march, Peiper and 770 of his men, exhausted, frozen, and starved, reached the German lines east of the Salm. They left behind considerable quantities of heavy equipment that had been essentially destroyed by the rearguard. Most of this was found by the Americans among the trees and bushes in the small valley south of the village. According to the first American report, compiled during the night of 24 December, twenty-eight tanks (fifteen Panthers, six Panzer IVs, and seven Königstigers), seventy half-track vehicles, eight armored cars, four anti-aircraft vehicles, six SPGs, two 75mm tank destroyers, eleven other vehicles, five 20mm anti-aircraft guns, six 120mm mortars, and an 88mm anti-aircraft gun were captured in La Gleize.* The personnel losses of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper amounted to 888 men.192 To this should be added the losses inflicted on other units that had joined Peiper’s task force during the advance, including SS-Kampfgruppe Knittel and Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 9.

This was the end not only of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper, but also of the entire German offensive on this front sector.

CONCLUSIONS AND RESULTS

On the whole, the I. SS-Panzerkorps’ and the 6. SS Panzerarmee’s participation in the offensive’s first eight to ten days were marked by a series of serious German mistakes. Although this mighty armored army initially stood against less than an entire U.S. infantry division (the 99th), and in spite of an almost total lack of American armor in the first line in this front sector, the 6. SS- Panzerarmee ran into great difficulties right from the start. The main explanation for this lies in inadequate strategic insights in the command of this army, while the U.S. units here were decidedly better commanded than farther south. Thereby, the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ sustained grievous losses in front of two American strongholds— Rocherath-Krinkelt and Domäne Bütgenbach—and then fell out of the 6. SS- Panzerarmee’s further offensive. This was obviously very serious in itself, since it concerned one of the two best equipped German divisions in Operation ’Herbstnebel.’

The other armored division in the I. SS-Panzerkorps, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division ’Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler,’ indeed made significant progress on 1718 December, when it advanced twenty-five miles and reached Stavelot. But essentially, this was nothing more than a pure transfer over an area quickly evacuated by only weak American units. That the I. SS-Panzerkorps and the 6. SS-Panzerarmee failed to assign sufficient forces to hold strategic points such as the river crossing at Stavelot, was due to a combination of orders assigned to SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper to race on towards the Meuse without any consideration to either the flanks or the rear area, and the fact that the German units supposed to occupy the areas left behind by this Kampfgruppe for various reasons were unable to keep pace with Peiper’s armored spearhead. The large amounts of military equipment that the Germans as a result had to abandon La Gleize, is an eloquent expression of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s failure.
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Private Glen T. Beymer from the 30th Infantry Division is guarding a German prisoner of war who is forced to take off his captured U.S. Army fatigue in the snow and cold. (NARA, SC 198678s, via Warren Watson.)
 




A comparison of the losses sustained by the SS Army and those sustained by the two Wehrmacht armies, also is quite illustrative. Between 16 and 23 December, the 6. SS-Panzerarmee inflicted a loss of more than 5,000 men killed, wounded, and missing on its opponent, while its own losses amounted to 7,630 men. During the same period, German 5. Panzerarmee admittedly also lost around 7,000 men, but inflicted around three times as high losses on its opponent.193
 
On the U.S. side, the commanders of the V Corps and the 2nd Infantry Division—Major Generals Gerow and Robertson—reacted with exemplary swiftness to the German attack, and took measures that within four or five days had neutralized the threat from the I. SS-Panzerkorps’ northern wing, which in turn created the conditions to deal with the threat from its southern flank. This is particularly remarkable in view of the relations of forces: Against in all about 50,000 troops with 78 tanks on the I. SS- Panzerkorps’ northern wing, the Americans could mount no more than about 35,000 men with 61 Sherman tanks between 16 and 21 December.** When the 6. SS-Panzerarmee opened its attack, the relations of forces were even more uneven: On 16 December, Sepp Dietrich’s army enjoyed a numerical superiority of more than four to one in troops (in the 5. Panzerarmee’s sector the Germans were threefold stronger than the Americans), and against 303 German tanks and tank destroyers in the I. SS-Panzerkorps, stood only a handful of tanks of U.S. 14th Cavalry Group in the first line.

Although the reactions by U.S. First Army’s headquarters in the early days were marked by a certain confusion, three U.S. divisions—the 30th Infantry, the 82nd Airborne, and the 3rd Armored—were mobilized relatively quickly to stem the 1. SS-Panzer-Division’s advance. By Christmas 1944, U.S. ground forces had succeeded in halting the I. SS-Panzerkorps.
 




* However, there also were several seasoned veterans with voluminous track records. So, for example, SS-Hauptsturmführer Rolf Möbius, who led the 2. Kompanie in schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501, was credited with the destruction of nearly one hundred enemy tanks. The famous SS-Hauptsturmführer Michael Wittmann (killed in August 1944)—credited with the destruction of 138 enemy tanks, including 14 British in a single day in June 1944—had served with the same unit. Among the men of the ‘Hitler Jugend’ Division was to be found the ‘ace’ SS-Oberscharführer Rudolf Roy, who during the fighting in Normandy in the previous summer had knocked out twenty-six Allied tanks in five days (including 13 on 9 August alone).

* Each regiment’s headquarters company in the U.S. Army included an Intelligence & Reconnaissance Platoon. This usually consisted of 18 men, in two reconnaissance squads, each with three jeeps—one equipped with a radio transmitter—and a platoon lead with a jeep. The task of such a reconnaissance platoon consisted of reconnaissance and patrol to obtain such intelligence about the enemy and the terrain that was not available to the battalion and regimental infantry companies.

* After liberation, a monument was erected over the eight Americans murdered in Ligneuville—John M. Borcina, Gerald R. Carter, Joseph Collins, Michael B. Penney, Casper S. Johnson, Abraham Lincoln, Clifford H. Pitts, and Nick C. Sulivan.

* In addition, the major railway junctions Hasselt and Neerpelt north of Liège were attacked by twenty Messerschmitt 262 jet bombers from I. Gruppe/Kampfgeschwader 51. Eighteen of these took off between 0744 and 0818 hrs on 18 December 1944. (National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/633. CX / MSS / T 402/56. West.)

* According to Peiper, two Panthers, a Panzer IV, and five other armored vehicles were destroyed in the U.S. air strike. (Peiper, An Interview with Obst Joachim Peiper: 1st SS Pz Regt (11 to 24 December 1944), p. 20.) According to Ralf Tiemann’s unit chronicle, three Panthers and five other armored vehicles were lost. (Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV / 2, p. 85.) Thorough studies by the research team Haasler et al came up with the result that four armored vehicles and only Panther, No. 131, were total losses, while one or two other tanks temporarily were put out of commission. (Haasler MacDougall, Vosters, and Weber, Duel in the Mist: The Leibstandarte During the Ardennes offensive, Vol. 2, p.113.)

* According to Meyer et al, Duel in the Mist: The Leibstandarte During The Ardennes offensive, Vol. 1, p. 132, ‘A’ Company, 823rd Tank Destroyer Battalion received four M10 tank destroyers, but the American Battalion’s after action report (823rd tank destr. Bn. after action report No. VII. From 010001 December 44 To 312400 December 44) mentions ‘four 3” guns, half tracks and necessary equipment with 2 German 75mm guns.’

* According to certain accounts, the first German major attack was carried out by twelve Panzer IV/70s already during the early hours on 19 December. But this finds no support in German reports, and according to U.S. 26th Infantry Regiment’s after action report, a German thrust was made at 0225 hrs on 19 December with no more than ‘twenty trucks with infantry and some tanks,’ which probably was nothing else than a reconnaissance thrust with armored vehicles from SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 26, which arrived at Büllingen on the evening of 18 December. This is supported by Hubert Meyer’s chronicle of the 12. SS-Panzer-Division, see Meyer, pp. 289 forward. See also Reynolds, pp. 90 forward.

* For an excellent and detailed description, see Haasler, MacDougall, Vosters, and Weber, pp. 80ff.

* A castle located a mile to the west of La Gleize, south of the road to Stoumont.

*™ Hantusch’s Königstiger No. 221 and Dollinger’s No. 213 fired at around fifteen U.S. tanks coming in from the east, but without hitting any of them, while the Americans put both German tanks out of commission through repeated hits. The Königstiger which today is parked outside the museum in La Gleize, is Dollinger’s No. 213.

* SS-Obersturmführer Dittmann was IVb, i.e. army surgeon, of the III. Bataillon/ SS-Panzergrenadier Regiment 2

* 119th Infantry Regiment. Secret Unit Report From 232200 December 1944 To 242200 December 1944. Various sources differ in terms of the American spoils of war. According to the 119th Infantry Regiment’s Unit Journal, 39 tanks (23 Panthers, 8 Panzer IVs, 7 Königstigers, and a captured Sherman), 70 half-track vehicles, 30 other vehicles, and 33 different kinds of artillery pieces were captured or destroyed. (119th Infantry Regiment, Unit Journal, December, 1944.) According to German sources, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division lost, among other equipment, 35 tanks and 60 armored cars in La Gleize. (Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV/2, p. 154.)

** Troop strength according to Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble; German tank strength according to Dugdale; American tank strength according to Richard C. Anderson Jr., historian and analyst working for the U.S. Government.





CHAPTER 7

THE ALLIED AVIATION INTERVENES: JABOS!

"This day was the day of the Air Force, but unfortunately it was not ours. Not a single German aircraft appeared over Bastogne. What had happened to the air support we had been promised for vital sectors? When the night fell a glow could be seen stretching back right to the West Waljor Ludwig Heiiml. The roads were marked by the lines of flaming vehicles"

Generalmajor Ludwig Heilmann, commander of German 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division, on 26 December 1944.1

AIR COMBAT OVER THE ARDENNES

During the night of 23 December 1944, the temperature suddenly dropped to 22 degrees. This was caused by an extreme high pressure, a so-called ’Russian high pressure,’ which came from the east, from Germany and spread over the Ardennes and northeastern France, where clouds and fog rapidly scattered.

To the Allies, the sudden clearing of the weather came just as it looked as darkest. The roar of aircraft engines at Allied airfields across western Belgium and northeastern France at dawn on 23 December 1944 announced the end of the German Ardennes Offensive. The first blow against the Offensive’s supply lines was executed by the British Royal Air Force Bomber Command, specialized in operations at night time. While the soldiers in the first line shivered in the Arctic cold, two hundred and seventy-two British bombers, most of them heavy four-engine Avro Lancasters and Handley Page Halifaxes, made their way across the increasingly moonlit night, towards two of the main hubs for the supply of the German Ardennes Front—the Rhine railway bridges at Koblenz and Bingerbrück. At Koblenz, one hundred and sixty-eight bombers destroyed two railway bridges and the Mosel station, thereby blocking all rail traffic to Mayen and Niederlahnstein—two other major hubs on the way to the Ardennes Front.2 The one hundred and six bombers that attacked Bingerbrück twenty miles further up the river, not only managed to completely destroy the railway station and sink two river ferries; their bombs also caused a landslide in the high vine hills, which buried the rail line Rüdesheim - Lamm under huge masses of earth.3

German OB West noted that ’the extent of the damage is so great that a large portion of the trains have to be unloaded on the Rhine’s right bank,’ which meant that the transfer to the front of units such as the 9. Panzer-Division and the 15. Panzergrenadier-Division was considerably delayed.4
 
The U.S. aviation, which operated in daylight, would carry out even more devastating airstrikes. In the dark hours early on 23 December—the sun does not rise until around eight forty-five in Belgium at this time of the year—the ground crews on airfields on both sides of the front line toiled to get combat aircraft operational. The Luftwaffe was, somewhat overconfident, just as certain as the Allied air command that the fine flying weather would favor its own side. At half past ten in the evening of 22 December, Generalmajor Dietrich Peltz, commander of the II. Jagdkorps, issued operational orders for the following day:

Jagdkorps II will support Army Group B by keeping free the attacking spearheads, protecting the main tank advance routes with screening to north and south. […] The weather will in the morning probably bring relief to us and difficulties to the enemy. In the afternoon the enemy will be able to fly. All forces are to be made ready, so as to be able to engage successfully in a possible air battle on a grand scale. […] From 0630 hrs 30 minutes readiness.5

The German unit commanders on the ground had a slightly more sober view of the situation. Oberst Heinz Kokott, C.O. of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division outside Bastogne, wrote:

’The weather cleared up—for the first time since the start of the offensive. This had been dreaded by everybody for it was well known what a clear day would mean! […] From now on, the enemy was able to bring a dreaded and very effective weapon into battle. On the basis of the assurances and promises which had been given by the superior command to both the unit commanders and the men prior to the offensive, it could only be hoped that this time the Luftwaffe would knock the enemy out of the skies!’6

Lieutenant General George S. Patton, the commander of U.S. Third Army, which had been assigned with the task to initiate a counter-offensive from the south, was unreservedly positive. ’A clear cold Christmas, lovely weather for killing Germans,’ he wrote in his diary.7

With its vast numerical superiority—on 23 December the Allies carried out around five thousand air sorties against just about eight hundred on the German side—the U.S. Army Air Force and the Royal Air Force struck with devastating force. When the day was over, the supply lines to the German Ardennes Front had been inflicted with heavy damage. In addition to that, the fighter-bombers of the 9th Air Force reported the destruction of two hundred and thirty German vehicles of all kinds on the roads leading to the front, and on the battlefield itself, several battles had been settled to the Allied advantage by Allied fighter-bombers used as flying artillery.8
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Republic P-47 Thunderbolt fighter-bombers are taking off to attack German ground targets in the Ardennes. The aircraft closest to the photographer was flown by First Lieutenant Archie Maltbie from the 365th Fighter Group. (NARA via Don Barnes)





In his account of the Ardennes Battle, Generalmajor Leo Zanssen, commanding the 15. Volkswerfer Brigade in LVIII. Panzerkorps, wrote, ’The bringing up of supplies of all kinds was rendered extremely difficult by the Allied air superiority and by the unceasing attacks on the supply lines. Traffic on the roads—also of individual vehicles—was next to impossible on days with clear visibility. The night movements of vehicles on the difficult roads to the Eifel brought about great delays and excessive wear and tear of vehicles. Concerning the losses in vehicles, about 50% had become total losses or requiring repairs. To my mind the failure of the offensive is due to the absolute air supremacy of the Allied forces’9

But some of the first fighter-bomber missions on 23 December in fact were performed by the Luftwaffe. In Chaudfontaine near Liège, nine German aircraft strafed and bombed U.S. First Army’s former headquarters. A 250-kilo bomb exploded right in front of Palace Hotel, where Hodges previously had been quartered. The commander of the First Army and his staff, however, had moved to Tongres (Tongeren) three days earlier.10

On the southern sector, the III Corps of Patton’s Third Army meanwhile reported, ’The enemy strafed columns and single vehicles and attempted to demolish bridges and supply installations.’11 But this cost the participating German units dearly. The inexperienced pilots knew very little about how to maneuver their aircraft to avoid anti-aircraft fire. A single squadron, the 8. Staffel of fighter wing Jagdgeschwader 4, lost six Focke Wulf 190 pilots on a mission at Sankt Vith.12

’After 0900 hrs the first [Allied] fighter-bombers of the day appeared,’ wrote Oberst Kokott. ’They swooped down on lines of communication and villages immediately behind the front line, setting vehicles and buildings on fire’13German fighter planes intervened to defend their ground troops, and as previously managed to force several fighter-bombers to jettison their bombs, but in the air combats that followed, the inadequately trained German pilots usually drew the shortest straw. French fighter ace Pierre Clostermann, who with the rank of a Flight Lieutenant flew a Hawker Tempest fighter with the RAF’s No. 274 Squadron during the Ardennes Battle, gave the following opinion on the German pilots on the Western Front at this time:

’In the Luftwaffe there seems to have been no ’middle” and German pilots could be divided into two quite distinct categories: The ”aces,” 15 to 20 per cent of the whole—pilots who were really superior to the average of Allied pilots. And the remainder—not up to much. Very brave, but incapable of getting the best out of their aircraft.’14
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The remains of a German vehicle column in the Ardennes after an airstrike. (NARA 111-SC-199253)
 




The German fighter interception of the Thunderbolt fighter-bombers of the 514th Fighter Squadron/406th Fighter Group as these attacked a train near Trier at nine forty-five in the morning on 23 December 1944 perfectly illustrates Clostermann’s description. Twelve Messerschmitt 109s from fighter group IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 4, vectored by ground radar observations, were positioned high above their opponents, who were burdened by bombs. It ought to have been a perfect and devastating bouncing of the Thunderbolts. Moreover, the German formation was led by Oberleutnant Hans Schleef, a veteran who had been in first-line service since the fall of 1940, recording ninety-eight aerial victories. But the pilots under Schleef’s command completely missed the opportunity and became easily outsmarted by the Americans, who split up their formation so that some Thunderbolt pilots stayed at ten thousand feet altitude while all German aircraft came down on the P-47 Thunderbolts that were ’on the deck.’ First Lieutenant Bernard J. Sledzick was one of the American pilots who served as the top cover. He explains, ‘Below us the battle was raging. Every time we saw an Me 109 on the tail of a P-47, we dove down causing it to break away.’15

It did not help that Schleef was on the German side and shot down a Thunderbolt; five Messerschmitt 109s were downed in quick succession—three of those by First Lieutenant Herbert W. Scraper—while only two Thunderbolts were lost. As so often, the engagement lasted just a few minutes, after which all aircraft had disappeared, ’and parachutes of downed pilots filled the sky.’16 During the return flight, one more aircraft on each side crashed.

But above all, the Allies were able to bring considerably more aircraft into the air than the Germans, and several operations with U.S. or British fighter-bombers—Jabos, as the Germans called them—could be carried out without being intercepted by German fighters. Thus, the fighter-bombers of U.S. 362nd and 406th Fighter groups attacked the Sauer/Sûre bridge at Echternach with rockets, napalm, and explosive bombs in successive waves; the 362nd Fighter Group also bombed bridges across the Sauer/Sûre at Bollendorf and across the Our at Vianden. The 368th Fighter Group bombed and strafed trains and railway stations in Germany at Cochem, Oberstein, and other places. The 370th Fighter Group strafed and bombed German troop and vehicle columns at Sankt Vith and Recht. Near Dinant, Lockheed P-38 Lightnings of the 370th and 474th Fighter groups struck down on 2. Panzer-Division’s advance force.

The Luftwaffe failed almost completely in their intentions to support their own ground troops through low-level attacks against American positions. A major German effort against ground targets at Bastogne between ten and ten thirty in the morning had to be canceled because the Messerschmitt and Focke Wulf planes were forced not only to jettison their bombs, but also to turn back home due to what was reported as an overwhelming presence of U.S. fighter aircraft.17
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A formation of U.S. Martin B-26 Marauder medium bombers of the 9th Air Force. This aircraft had a top speed of287 m.p.h. The crew consisted of seven men. Bomb load was 4,000 lbs., and armament consisted of four fixed and seven flexible .50 Colt-Browning machine guns. (US Army)
 




The frozen German soldiers at Bastogne and other sections in the Ardennes bitterly repeated what had become something of a mantra during the fighting in the West since the Allied invasion of Normandy in June 1944: ’Wo bleibt die Luftwaffe?’—’Where is the Luftwaffe?’ The fact however is that the Luftwaffe maintained a high activity throughout this 23 December 1944, which was characterized by a long series of air battles, sometimes of vast dimensions. When the activity of the U.S. fighter-bombers reached its peak during the morning, the German fighter bases were alerted that large formations of enemy bombers were approaching. From bases in northeastern France, about two hundred twin-engine medium bombers from the 9th Air Force were approaching, and from southern England intense radio traffic revealed that the 8th Air Force was about to launch a new large-scale operation with hundreds of four-engine bomber and escort fighters. It was necessary to concentrate the bulk of the German fighter aviation against this double threat.

As early as on 19 December, Lieutenant General Bradley’s 12th Army Group and the 9th Air Force had jointly drawn up a plan for a massive operation aimed at cutting off the German transports to the front area of the Ardennes by despatching the 9th Air Force’s medium bombers against rail bridges at Mayen, Euskirchen, Ahrweiler, and Eller, the marshalling yard at Prüm, the railway station at Kyllburg, the road bridge at Saarburg, and ten other communication targets.18 In addition, the strategic U.S. 8th Air Force in England had detached 2nd Air Division to the 9th Air Force to supplement the operations of the medium bombers with attacks by four-engine B-24 Liberator bombers against the same targets. Now that the weather finally allowed the staging of this plan, not only these forces were deployed, but also the 8th Air Force’s 1st and the 3rd Air divisions, with over three hundred B-17 Flying Fortresses against rail targets farther to the east in Germany. Moreover, fighter-bombers were directed against targets on the rail routes Wengerohr - Koblenz, Daun - Mayen, Ahrdorf - Sinzig, Euskirchen - Ehrang, and Pronsfeld - Gerolstein.19
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A U.S. Douglas A-20 Havoc attack bomber is set on fire through hits by German automatic cannon. This aircraft is an A-20J Havoc, serial number 43-10129, from the 416th Bomb Group of the 9th Air Force. The A-20J had a top speed of 317 m.p.h. The crew consisted of three men. The normal bomb load was 2000 lbs., and armament consisted of two fixed and three flexible .50 Colt-Browning machine guns. (US Air Force)
 




Captain Clyde Harkins, the pilot on one of the twin-engine B-26 Marauder bombers of the 558th Bomb Squadron, 387th Bomb Group, recalls:

’A target of high priority in this category was the railroad bridge at Mayen, Germany, which was one of the key bridges on the main railway from the German heartland to the Belgium Bulge. The 344-foot span of this bridge carried the enemy lifeline across the deep ravine of the Nette River, and its destruction would sever the railway for supplying the German offensive for a considerable period of time.

On the night of 22 December 1944 the 387th Bomb Group received its orders to attack this bridge the following morning. This was good news because for the past week at night our airbase near St. Quentin, France had been subjected to several German air raids, a strafing attack and some reports of enemy paratroopers dropping in our area.’20

But the Americans seemed to have forgotten their air war doctrine, FM 100-20. This, prepared by the two Britons Montgomery and Air Vice-Marshal Arthur Coningham in the summer of 1943, emphasized that ’air superiority is the requirement for the success of any major land operation,’ and that air forces therefore ’must be employed primarily against the enemy’s air forces until air superiority is obtained.’ FM 100-20 assigned the tactical air forces three prioritized tasks, where ’gaining the necessary degree of air superiority’ through ’attacks against aircraft in the air and on the ground’ had top priority.21 That the Americans began their air operations with what was priority number two, attacks against lines of communication to isolate the battlefield, perhaps was an expression of the difficult situation on the ground; in any case, it would cost the airmen of the 9th Air Force bomber units dearly. On top of that, most of the American fighters assigned to fly escort missions failed to locate the bombers, leaving most of the twin-engine bombers alone against the German Messerschmitt and Focke Wulf fighters. Clyde Harkins recounts:

Near Bastone we started receiving moderate flak which required our standard evasive action turns. Shortly afterward, radio transmissions warned us of enemy aircraft in the area and almost immediately we were attacked by 15-25 enemy fighters consisting mostly of Me 109s. I kept my six-ship flight in close proximity to the box leader to provide for a concentration of firepower from our two flights.

While looking down at the low flight in our box, I observed many enemy fighters pressing the attack with guns firing and pieces falling from the B-26s as they burned and spun out of control. As I recall the action now, it seemed like the whole thing was in slow motion with fighters moving in and B-26s falling out of the sky. […]

Also, the PFF ship broke off from our formation for some unexplained reason, and was later observed below and behind the formation being attacked and destroyed by enemy fighters. All of us had received some damage from flak and fighters that day. One ship in my flight had to return on single engine and another one was so extensively damaged that it was salvaged upon return to base.22

Of the 387th Bomb Group’s twenty-six B-26s, five were shot down. The bloodletting could have been even worse, had the pilots of German fighter group II. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 11 not been so inexperienced: Only three of them attacked in the classical way with the sun in the back—everyone else attacked by slowly climbing below the American bombers, whose gunners thus had plenty of time to aim their machine guns. Hence, six Messerschmitt 109s were downed by the bombers’ defensive fire. Neither did the Germans manage to ward off the bombing attack.

Despite the fighter attack and despite an intense anti-aircraft fire, Harkins made two bomb runs towards the target, which turned out to be covered by clouds, and during the second approach he found a gap in the overcast through which his bombardier, Lieutenant Warren Butterfield, could put his bombs right on the target. Among the 387th Bomb Group B-26s, only the aircraft of Harkins’ flight succeeded in hitting the target, but that sufficed. A reconnaissance flight the next day found that one span of the bridge had been destroyed and another partially destroyed. In addition, the railway tracks leading up to the eastern approach of the bridge were cut by a direct hit. Both Captain Harkins and another of the unit’s pilots were awarded with the Silver Star for this mission, and the 387th Bomb Group received a Distinguished Unit Citation.23,

When the I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 11 shortly after the attack against the 387th Bomb Group attempted to ward off the 397th Bomb Group’s attack on the railway bridge at Eller, these German pilots, flying heavily armed Focke Wulf 190 fighter aircraft, were able to down ten Marauders, but they lost five of their own number to the bombers’ defensive fire, and the remaining bombers managed to knock out this railway bridge too. Thereby an important supply route across the Moselle river to the Ardennes was interrupted.

Twenty minutes later, at five past eleven, Messerschmitt Bf 109s of I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 77 attacked the Marauder bombers of the 322nd Bomb Group, escorted by Lightning fighters from the 367th Fighter Group. This time the Germans managed to shoot down no more than two Marauders and a Lightning, but they damaged twenty-two bombers—all within the space of two minutes, after which most of the German fighter pilots had finished their ammunition and hurriedly left the place, which they did without losing a single ’109. Meanwhile, Euskirchen, target to the 322nd Bomb Group, was turned into ‘a single field of bomb craters’ as a German eyewitness later said.

Other U.S. medium bomber units managed to completely ward off German fighter attacks without sustaining any own losses. But the 391st Bomb Group, which was despatched against the railway bridge at Ahrweiler, had the misfortune of being subjected to attacks by five German fighter groups. One of these was IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 3, whose Focke Wulf 190s were especially heavily armored and equipped with the large-caliber 30mm automatic cannon for close attacks against heavy bombers. When the battle was over, sixteen of the 391st Bomb Group’s thirty-two Marauder bombers had blasted out of the sky. One of the few American fighter units that went into battle to defend the bombers was the 368th Fighter Group, which claimed to have shot down twenty-nine German fighters against only two own losses. One of the unit’s pilots, First Lieutenant William Garry, was recorded to have shot down three Focke Wulf 190s and rammed a fourth. Captain Jerry B. Tullis, and First Lieutenants Hugh P. Matthews and William J. Wayland claimed three shot down apiece.

In total, the air battles on the morning of 23 December 1944 cost a loss of forty-three U.S. aircraft—thirty-six bombers, six Thunderbolts, and a Lightning—and between thirty and thirty-three German fighters.

Meanwhile, the 8th Air Force’s heavy bombers, in total more than four hundred, with over four hundred and thirty escort fighters, appeared. This armada was met by no more than seventy-eight German fighters, of which the Americans were reported to have downed twenty-nine against own losses of a single bomber and one fighter.24That the German fighter defense failed to mobilize any significant strength was largely due to the more than one hundred and eighty fighters sent out by the 8th Air Force on a fighter sweep in advance. These swooped down on the German fighters as they took off from their airfields or assembled to climb to the assigned combat altitude. Guided by MEW (Microwave Early Warning) ground radar, fifty-six Thunderbolts from the 56th Fighter Group, led by fighter ace Colonel David C. Schilling, managed to surprise a large formation of German fighters circling in the air over Euskirchen’s airfield. The Thunderbolts pounced on the Germans with a devastating effect. Within minutes, the 56th Fighter Group had chalked up no less than thirty-seven enemy aircraft shot down for the loss of three of their own. Colonel Schilling contributed by knocking down five German fighters, thus bringing his personal score to twenty-two air victories. On the German side Oberfeldwebel Heinrich Bartels, an ace in Jagdgeschwader 27 with ninety-nine air victories, was killed.
 
Immediately after the American heavy bombers followed a formation of thirty four-engine Lancaster bombers and a pair of twin-engine Mosquitoes from RAF Bomber Command. These made a bold attempt to attack Cologne’s railway station without any fighter escort. Just as the British bombers began their bomb run, they were attacked by seventeen fighters from II. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 26. These were some of the first of the newest version of the Focke Wulf 190—the D-9, Dora-9—which was at least on par with the best Allied fighters. In what would become a repetition of the morning’s massacre on American bombers, the Germans shot down eight Lancasters, this time without any own losses.





[image: images]

Hit! The pilot of a German Focke Wulf 190 fighter bails out of his aircraft which has been struck by fire from the attacking American fighter’s heavy machine guns. The picture is taken from the American gun camera. (NARA via Peter Bjork)
 




Only now does it have seemed to have dawned on the Allies that the neutralization of the German aviation, in accordance with the air war doctrine, actually had the highest priority. The 9th Air Force’s fighter units were ordered out against the German fighter aircraft. With the aid of radio surveillance (known as Y Service) and MEW radar, the American fighter pilots managed to surprise several German fighter units as these were about to land after combat missions, in a situation when the German aircraft were short on fuel and with no or almost no ammunition left.

The first German fighter unit to suffer was the III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 53. The Messerschmitt 109s of this group were out on a ’Jabo hunting’ mission at noon, but without sighting any enemy aircraft. However, on the return flight the ’109s were surprisingly attacked by a large formation of Thunderbolts that shot down one of its Messerschmitts. II. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 53 also lost three Bf 109s in combat with Thunderbolts.

Other Thunderbolts, from the 36th and 373rd Fighter groups, meanwhile strafed the air bases of Cologne-Wahn and Bonn-Hangelar. At the former place, the Americans reported the bombing of several hangars and other buildings, and the destruction of nine aircraft on the ground.25 In connection with the attack on Bonn-Hangelar, the Americans clashed with some thirty Messerschmitt 109s and Focke Wulf 190s from I. and III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 2, and III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 77, and shot down seven ‘109s and five ‘190s. Several other German aircraft crashed while attempting to land at the by now bombed airfields. But this also cost the Americans heavily—they lost seven Thunderbolts, two of them shot down by the German ace Siegfried Lemke, piloting a Fw 190 Dora-9. Lemke, who commanded the III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 2 even though he only was an Oberleutnant, thus reached a total of fifty air victories.

However, the greatest effort was made by the 9th Air Force fighter to shield the front area from German fighters. This became evident to the German fighter pilots who at three in the afternoon were despatched to the frontal zone. At first, all available Focke Wulf 190s in I. Gruppe / Jagdgeschwader 11 were sent out, followed by an equally large formation from III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 11. ’It didn’t take long,’ one of the participating German aviators, Oberfähnrich Karl-Otto Buhmann, told German aviation historians Jochen Prien and Peter Rodeike, ’before Allied fighters, Thunderbolts as well as Spitfires and a couple of Mustangs, attacked us from all directions.’26





[image: images]

The Consolidated B-24 Liberator was, alongside the B-17 Flying Fortress, one of the U.S. Army Air Force’s two four-engine strategic bombers that carried out the air offensive against Germany between 1941 and 1945. The aircraft had a length of 67 ft 8 in and a wingspan of110 ft. The bomb load on long-range missions was 5,000 lbs. The armament consisted often flexible .50 M2 Colt-Browning machine guns. The aircraft had a crew of eleven and a top speed of290 m.p.h. (US Air Force)
 




When the uneven combat was over, the two German fighter groups had lost twenty Fw 190s—eleven alone from the I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 11, which thus lost a total of seventeen aircraft in combat that day—while they themselves were only able to count five victories. The III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 4 also participated in fighter sweeps across the front, and lost six Bf 109 without managing to achieve more than a single own victory.

Through this focus combating the German fighter aviation, the medium bombers of the 9th Air Force were able to complete the next major operation against the German lines of communication, on the afternoon of 23 December, without any interference from German fighters. The effect of their bombings stood clear to the 120th Infantry Regiment of the U.S. 30th Infantry Division when six aircraft from the 322nd Bomb Group made a navigational error and dropped eighty-six 250lb. demolition bombs over the American-controlled town of Malmedy in the belief that it was Hammersum in German-controlled area. Sergeant Lloyd Jelleberg in Norwegian-American 99th Infantry Battalion was standing on a hill overlooking the city when the bombs fell. ’I won’t forget it as long as I live,’ he said sixty-eight years after the event. ’Within a minute, the entire town had been turned into a burning, smoldering inferno. The twin-engine bombers came in at low altitude and dropped their bombs, even though we had markers out, and on Christmas Day, B-24s arrived to add to the devastation. It was terrible. Fires raged out of control across the town.’27

This was the start of three absolutely hellish days in the little Belgian town. Since the main water lines were severed and the reservoirs had been frozen, there was no possibility to fight the fires caused by the bombs with any efficiency.

The fires were still raging the next day, when a formation of eighteen B-24 Liberator heavy bombers from the 8th Air Force passed in the air above. Seeing the burning town, the airmen thought that it was their target in Germany and dropped their bombs, which multiplied the devastation in Malmedy. U.S. 120th Infantry Regiment sent a desperate message to the headquarters of the 30th Infantry Division: ’These planes are on us again; they are about to ruin us. Can you call them off?’28 Despite this, the fires in Malmedy attracted another four Marauder bombers on Christmas Day; these bomber crews had been sent out to attack Sankt Vith, which was in German hands, but instead they bombed Malmedy for the third consecutive day. In all, these American bombings caused 225 deaths among Malmedy’s population, and hundreds were injured, while the 120th Infantry Regiment lost thirty-seven killed and ninety wounded soldiers. Of the town’s 1,160 buildings, almost half were destroyed or made uninhabitable.

Although the Germans were those worst affected by the Allied air attacks, the American and British air offensive initially resulted in severe Allied losses. In total, the air operations on the Western Front on 23 December 1944 cost the Germans a loss of one hundred and thirtysix fighter planes.29 The Allied losses also were quite substantial—eighty-four aircraft.* Both sides were shaken by the results of the first day of intense flight activity. A report from the headquarters of German Heeresgruppe B read, ’An intense hostile air activity in the entire Army Group area, with fighter-bomber attacks against German spearheads, and four-engine bombers attacking roads and other communication targets in the front zone.’ To the German ground troops, it was utterly demoralizing to note that once again they could not even get a glimpse of any own aircraft, while they constantly had to take cover against Allied airstrikes. Therefore, the II. Jagdkorps issued a new order: In the future, a share of the German fighter aircraft must unconditionally be assigned to tactical support at the front, no matter how great the need of air defense against Allied bombing is.
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The crew of an M16 Multiple Gun Motor Carriage anti-aircraft mount is tensely observing the vapor trails of a raging dogfight in the blue sky above. The M16 MGMC was a variant of the half-track vehicle M3 equipped with a Maxson M45 Quad Mount with four .50-caliber M2HB machine guns. This weapon was baptized ‘the Meat Grinder’ by the soldiers because of its terrible effect when deployed against ground troops. (US Army)
 




On the Allied side it was once again determined to give the highest priority to fight the German aviation; the 8th Air Force even was commissioned to deploy every available heavy bombers in an ’all-out effort’ against German airfields and communication targets in the West on Christmas Eve.

24 December dawned with even clearer weather than on the previous day. Just before sunrise the Luftwaffe was despatched for a major effort to support their own ground forces, but was met with a massive Allied fighter screen. Hence, for example, fighter wing Jagdgeschwader 4 took off with thirty-three Messerschmitt 109s for a mission over the front area, but air combats with U.S. fighters cost them a loss of six aircraft without they themselves being able to list more than one shot down enemy machine.30Another two ’109s were lost in accidents, and two more were destroyed on the ground as the airfield Rhein-Main was attacked by U.S. fighter-bombers.31 The fighter group I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 77 launched twenty-four Messerschmitt 109s on ’Jabo hunting’ over the 5. Panzerarmee’s area of operations, but became embroiled in difficult fighting with Lockheed Lightning fighters that soon were reinforced by several Thunderbolts. This cost a loss of sixteen German fighters, while the Germans themselves were unable to record more than one enemy aircraft shot down.32

Virtually the only German aircraft that managed to break through the Allied fighter screen on this 24 December, were the jet-powered Arado Ar 234 B-2 bombers from III. Gruppe/ Kampfgeschwader 76. These the world’s first operational jet bomber had shortly before been transferred to this bomber group in order to support the Ardennes Offensive. With a top speed of 461 m.p.h.—even 413 m.p.h. with a bomb load of 2,200 lbs—an Arado 234 pilot could outrun any Allied fighter aircraft at any time. The Arado 234 had its baptism of fire flying reconnaissance missions over Normandy in the summer of 1944, but on Christmas Eve 1944, the first bomber attack with Ar 234s was carried out, led by Hauptmann Dieter Lukesch—a veteran who had made about four hundred bombing mission. With a whistling sound, eight of these jet planes swept in above the railway station at Liège in the morning and dropped one 1,100lb. bomb each, while a ninth machine attacked the railway station at Namur—an important railway hub in the western Ardennes, some twelve miles north of Dinant.33But there were far too few of these aircraft to have any real impact on the battle.

When the 8th Air Force entered the skies over Western Germany with two thousand heavy bombers escorted by over eight hundred fighters, the battle for air superiority was definitely decided to the Allied advantage. Two thirds of these bombers went in against eleven of the most important German airfields west of the Rhine, and the others attacked fourteen different communication targets in the same area.* While one airfield after another was destroyed, the Germans were able to launch a few hundred fighters against the bomber armadas. At the cost of terrible own losses—nearly forty percent of the participating German fighters were lost—they shot down twelve U.S. bombers and ten escort fighters. Another twenty-four U.S. aircraft crashed on the return flight.
 
Meanwhile, the 9th Air Force and British 2nd Tactical Air Force were able to operate over the Ardennes at their own discretion, now with even greater efficiency than on the previous day. Major General Weyland’s XIX Tactical Air Command, reinforced with three fighter groups from the IX Tactical Air Command and the 8th Air Force, alone was reported to have destroyed or damaged 117 armored vehicles and 588 other vehicles on this day.34 In total, the Allied aviation conducted more than five thousand sorties over the course of 24 December. Although the Luftwaffe on this day made its biggest bet on the Western Front since the invasion of Normandy, the average was five Allied aircraft on each German. This cost a loss of ninety-three Allied aircraft—of which about half were in aerial combat—and one hundred fifty-seven German planes. After this date, OB West, Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt, noted that due to the Allied air operations, ’almost all daytime transport, either troops or of their supplies was impossible. Even regrouping of troops in occupied positions was rendered extremely difficult by the bombardment.’35

The same kind of scenes played out on Christmas Day, the third day in a row with really excellent flying weather. Fritz Wegner, who with the rank of an Oberleutnant flew a Focke Wulf 190 in II. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 1, tells of one of that day’s aerial combats: ’Our Gruppe was directed to the area west of the Rhine, but before we got there we were intercepted by U.S. fighters, an awful lot of Mustangs. Suddenly the sky was full of them and they tore our formation to pieces. Alone against eight Mustangs, I was shot down at Hennef and managed to save my life by bailing out.’36 Another ninety-three German aircraft were lost on 25 December, while the German fighter pilots were reported to have shot down twenty-seven Allied aircraft.37

On Boxing Day the Luftwaffe managed to get no more than 404 aircraft into the air, and sixty-five of those were lost. The worst battered units belonged to the 3. Jagd-Division, which despatched a total of 276 fighters (164 Messerschmitt 109s and 112 Focke Wulf 190s) on ’Jabo hunting’ over the front area; they reported the shooting down of fourteen Thunderbolts, two Mustangs, and two artillery observer planes, but at a price of forty-five own aircraft and just as many pilots.38 The bloodbath on German fighter pilots continued on 27 December. On that day, 3. Jagd-Division sent all available aircraft to the area Dinant - Marche - Rochefort.39 But neither attacks against ground targets, nor ’Jabo hunting’ had any greater effect. Among eighteen Focke Wulf 190 pilots sent out by I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 1 to carry out attacks against ground targets in support of the 2. Panzerdivision near Dinant, only three returned to base.40 Meanwhile, III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 3 flew ’Jabo hunting’ in the same area, only to lose eight of its Messerschmitt 109s against the shooting down of three Thunderbolts.41 Against nearly three thousand Allied aircraft in the air on 27 December 1944, the Luftwaffe was not able to launch more than about four hundred German.
 
THE SANKT VITH WEDGE IS ELIMINATED

In the midst of this intense air activity, the Germans desperately attempted to continue their advance towards the Meuse. When the first sunrays began to shine down on the snowy battlefield in the Ardennes on Saturday 23 December 1944, the German offensive on the northern flank had finally been halted. While SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper came closer to its annihilation in La Gleize, the 12. SS-Panzer-Division spent the entire 23 December repairing its damaged vehicles and try to bring order to its shattered units in the rear area.

The fact that Model and von Rundstedt on 20 December decided to shift the emphasis of the offensive from the northern sector assigned to Sepp Dietrich’s SS, and to the sector where von Manteuffel’s 5. Panzerarmee was surging on forward, only underlined the fact that had already been established—that it was in this area that the German main attack de facto took place. In connection therewith, the 2. and 9. SS-Panzer divisions were shifted to the 5. Panzerarmee’s northern wing, where they once again were subordinated to SS-Obergruppenfuhrer Willi Bittrich’s II. SS-Panzerkorps. Quite ironically, on 23 December, General Lucht’s LXVI. Armeekorps, together with II. SS-Panzerkorps, were once again brought under the command of Sepp Dietrich’s 6. SS-Panzerarmee, but by that time it was Model rather than the weary SS general who effectively led the operations.

The section where the II. SS-Panzerkorps and the LXVI. Armeekorps operated became the scene of a dramatic development during the days immediately before Christmas. While the LXVI. Armeekorps, supported by the newly arrived Führer Begleit Brigade, managed to crush the American effort to hold the town of Sankt Vith, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ attacked from the north, from the area of Poteau (five miles northwest of Sankt Vith). Since the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ simultaneously attacked from the south, from the area northeast of Houffalize (about fifteen miles southwest of Sankt Vith), this formed a pincer that threatened to seal off and destroy the American forces that held wedge at Sankt Vith—7th Armored Division, and Combat Command B of the 9th Armored Division, plus the 112th and 424th Infantry regiments.

As we have seen before, Field Marshal Montgomery had at the last moment been able to persuade the commander of U.S. First Army, Hodges, to force Ridgway, the U.S. commander on this front section, to reluctantly give up his plan to hold this wedge and instead pull back behind River Salm, ten miles west of Sankt Vith. In the evening on 22 December, Ridgway dismissed Major General Jones, the commander of the 106th Infantry Division. At the same time he appointed Brigadier General Robert Hasbrouck—C.O. of the 7th Armored Division—to command all U.S. forces east of the Salm. Supported by Montgomery and his subordinate generals, Hasbrouck—who consistently had opposed Ridgway’s plan to hold out at Sankt Vith—immediately ordered a general retreat behind the Salm. There, the newly arrived 82nd Airborne Division had taken up defensive positions to meet the German advance. But the forces that this division was up against were quite overwhelming—in the south and southwest were the 2. SS-Panzer-Division and the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division, in the east and southeast the 9. SS-Panzer-Division, the Führer Begleit Brigade, the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, and the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division, and in the northeast the 1. SS-Panzer-Division (by this time still including SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper).
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Captain James R. Lloyd, liaison officer in the 9th Air Force, inspects a Panther destroyed by bombs dropped by U.S. fighter-bombers during the Ardennes Battle. (NARA, A-56251, via Peter Bjork)
 




It looked grim for the Americans when the Germans on 23 December launched their new attack with the 9. SS- Panzer-Division marching against Poteau, five miles northwest of Sankt Vith, and the Führer Begleit Brigade departing from Rodt, about two miles west of Sankt Vith. From Poteau, there were only about five miles to Vielsalm and its strategic bridge across the Salm. Would the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ succeed in taking this place quickly, the U.S. forces in the Sankt Vith wedge would be confined to a single river crossing for their retreat, the one at Cierreux south of Salmchâteau, some four miles farther to the south. It certainly would have meant the end of most of the 7th Armored Division—Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve, both of which were on the east side of the Salm at Poteau respectively northwest of Poteau.
 
During the night preceding the attack, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division had carried out a small tank raid against Poteau, destroying two U.S. tanks.42 When the mighty 9. SS-Panzer-Division was ready for the attack at dawn on 23 December, it finally was at full strength in that its Panzer Regiment finally had managed to make its way to the front on the crowded roads in the east.

Without a doubt, the clear weather on 23 December came in the nick of time for the Americans even on this front section. When the German attack formations moved forward to Poteau, they were hit by scores of twin-engine Lockheed Lightning fighter-bombers from the 370th Fighter Group that dropped bombs and sprayed the area with their heavy machine guns. This forced the Germans to halt and take cover, which was used by the Americans to lay an artillery barrage across the area. Five Panther tanks—including the one commanded by the C.O. of SS-Panzer-Regiment 9, SS-Sturmbannführer Eberhardt Telkamp (who, however, would escape unharmed)—were knocked out.43 Poteau could indeed be taken, but after that, incessant American fighter-bomber attacks made it impossible for the 9. SS-Panzer-Division to continue the advance, whereby the two Combat commands of the 7th Armored Division could be evacuated across River Salm at Vielsalm.
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A winter-camouflaged Panzer IV and a group of panzer grenadiers. On the tank’s front section a killed soldier has been placed. (BArch, Bild 101I-700-0275-16/Vennemann)





Against Oberst Remer’s Führer Begleit Brigade, further south, however, the U.S. aviation was hardly able to intervene, since both friend and foe were on the move, making it difficult to tell them apart. At eight in the morning on 23 December, Oberst Remer’s armor drove out from Rodt and followed the narrow little country road over the snow-covered fields towards Hinderhausen, five miles southwest of Sankt Vith.44 The task was to seal off the American forces that still remained in the southern part of the Sankt Vith wedge—Combat Command B of the 7th Armored Division, Combat Command B of the 9th Armored Division, Task Force Jones, and the 112th and 424th Infantry regiments. The German brigade’s main goal was the roads leading from Beho to Salmchâteau and Vielsalm respectively, which—as the Germans could figure out—were the American main routes of retreat.

But the Führer Begleit Brigade only had a third of the 9. SS-Panzer-Division’s strength, and also had a greater distance to cover—this on significantly worse roads. At Hinderhausen, the Americans had positioned a rearguard force, consisting of elements of the 31st Tank Battalion and the 87th Armored Cavalry Squadron, reinforced with a platoon from the 814th Tank Destroyer Battalion. The latter was equipped with the latest tracked tank destroyer, the M36 Jackson, armed with the dreaded 90mm M3 anti-tank cannon—the American equivalent of the German 88mm gun. While this rearguard force delayed the Führer Begleit Brigade, hundreds of U.S. vehicles streamed south from Maldingen and Commanster, on the other side of the spruce forest Weistervenn (Kapellenbusch), two miles further south and southwest, filling the two roads that led north towards Vielsalm and northwest towards Salmchâteau. The gallant little force at Hinderhausen actually managed to save the bulk of the U.S. forces from having their retreat sealed off.
 
When Remer’s brigade finally was able to break the American opposition at Hinderhausen, most American troops were already on their way across the Salm. According to the German report, the battle for Hinderhausen cost a loss of two German and four American tanks.45 The U.S. report admits the loss of two Shermans and a tracked tank destroyer.46

Führer Begleit Brigade continued on the same narrow roads—in principle nothing but wheel tracks—into the Weistervenn forest—where the Germans found a number of abandoned American tanks.47 U.S. 87th Armored Cavalry Squadron’s after action report shows that one of its company commanders ’lost control’ of a platoon of Sherman tanks and three tracked tank destroyers that had left Hinterhausen.48

The Germans soon reached the main road Beho - Vielsalm at Commanster, but found that the Americans had eluded the trap.49 Frustrated, Remer ordered his troops to continue straight across the snow-covered fields to the southwest, to sever the road that runs north along the Salm’s riverbank—the last remaining American retreat route. But at Rogery, halfway between the two main roads, the Americans had positioned another unit—this time a battalion of the 112th Infantry Regiment under Colonel Gustin M. Nelson (the same unit that had held out at the crossroads at Ouren for several days). By now, Nelson’s little force had lost all of its anti-tank weapons, but held its own while a desperate call went to Hasbrouck, into whose armored division the 112th Infantry Regiment had been incorporated. All that Hasbrouck’s badly mauled division could muster in the form of reserves were two tracked tank destroyers that drove at full speed to Rogery. They arrived just to see a group of German tanks coming down the hill to the east. A fierce gun fire drove back the Germans, and soon a platoon of Stuart tanks and a number of towed anti-tank guns arrived to reinforce the defense of Rogery.

No German tank losses at Rogery are known, but this small American force also managed to hold back the Führer Begleit Brigade for several hours. Oberst Remer, who knew nothing about the strength of his opponent, decided to wait until his artillery battalion had moved into position to shell Rogery. When the Germans finally managed to capture the small village, shortly after it had been evacuated by the Americans, the sun had almost set.

Owing to the 112th Infantry Regiment, Task Force Jones—the ad hoc unit commanded by the 814th Tank Destroyer Battalion’s C.O., Lieutenant Colonel Robert B. Jones, that held the southern flank of the Sankt Vith wedge—just barely managed to slip away. Its rear units, however, were intercepted by the most advanced force of the Führer Begleit Brigade—consisting of a few tank destroyers. By then, Task Force Jones was moving along the road between Bovigny and Salmchâteau, which winds northwards along the Salm. The troops had just started to cross the bridge at Cierreux, west of Rogery, when Remer’s force struck. Oberst Remer wrote:

’The advance force reported an enemy column in a northerly direction on the road from Bovigny to Salmchâteau. I ordered my men to block the road south of the mill at Cierreux and follow just behind the enemy columns in order to gain as much ground as possible without engaging the enemy. However, this was soon noticed by the enemy, and the tank at the rear opened fire. I myself witnessed how our tank destroyers put five enemy tanks and two anti-tank guns out of action by driving 50 meters ahead one at a time, firing a flare in such a manner that the enemy tank was completely lit up. In most cases the enemy target was destroyed with the first shot.’50
 
When the American column then reached the outskirts of Salmchâteau, it was attacked by tank destroyers from SS-Sturmbannführer Krag’s armored reconnaissance battalion of the 2. SS-Panzer-Division, which came from the southwest in the darkness and knocked out a whole row of Stuart tanks. According to the 7th Armored Division’s after action report, these engagements cost Task Force Jones the loss of a Sherman, three Stuart tanks, four Hellcats (from ’B’ Company of the 814th Tank Destroyer Battalion), two towed anti-tank guns, and two other vehicles.51 But the losses obviously were larger. Major John Medusky in the 508th Parachute Infantry Regiment of U.S. 82nd Airborne Division afterwards reported regarding Task Force Jones: 

’Their morale was low, and they had been shot at so often in the preceding days that they were all pretty jumpy. They had been told where we were, but they had received so many previous stories about the presence of friendly troops that did not materialize, that you could not blame them too much for what happened subsequently. At any rate, when they got several hundred yards south of Salmchâteau, and enemy small-arms fire and the Tiger tank opened on them, many of them abandoned their vehicles and equipment and took off on foot. About 300 men and 40 vehicles—approximately half the force that left the Bovigny area—succeeded in escaping through the Salmchâteau gap and on toward Grand-Sart.’52 According to another report from the 508th Parachute Infantry Regiment, Task Force Jones’ column consisted of 100 combat vehicles when it was subjected to the German attack.53
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The barely 31-year-old Major Otto Ernst Remerplayed a critical role in the suppression of the 20 July plot against Hitler in 1944. A few months later he was promoted to Oberst and appointed to command the Führer Begleit Brigade, which he led with great success in the Ardennes Battle. Remer died in 1997 in Spain. In the photo, which was taken during the Ardennes Battle in January 1945, Remer carries the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves, as well as the bracelet of the Grossdeutschland Division. The Führer Begleit Brigade still had organizational links to Panzerkorps Grossdeutschland.(BArch, Bild 183-2004-0330-500)
 




From the German side, Oberst Remer wrote, ’Because the enemy column was apparently stopped by the demolition of a bridge, about 12 tanks and 20 vehicles could be captured. The crews scattered into the terrain during the darkness.’54

In the general confusion, one of the American units was ’forgotten’—Colonel Nelson’s 112th Infantry Regiment, which at first had been ordered to retreat under the cover of Task Force Jones, only to receive a counterorder according to which the roles were reversed, with Nelson’s troops covering the retreat of Task Force Jones. But when this task was completed, Nelson received no new orders.

Over the course of 23 December, the weary men of the 112th—who lacked supplies since their supply roads had been sealed off—saw other American units stream past on their way west. When the last retreat column had passed, Colonel Nelson radioed the commander of the 7th Armored Division, Hasbrouck, to report this, but received no retreat orders.55

At three in the afternoon, Nelson decided in his sole discretion to allow a withdrawal of his men. Since the Germans by that time had taken the roads in the area, the Americans who departed at dusk had to make it on foot through the snow-covered hills in the area between Rogery in the south and River Salm in the north. It became a march in appalling conditions, where what remained of the regiment dissolved into countless small groups or even individual soldiers fighting to maintain the orientation in the frigid night, and to avoid detection by German patrols. Many were taken prisoner by the Germans or succumbed one way or another, but most managed to reach the lines held by the 82nd Airborne Division.56 A U.S. report describes the condition of the 112th Infantry Regiment when its exhausted and embittered soldiers staggered through the airborne division’s lines during the night of 23 December and through Christmas Eve, ’Rations low, morale low. The weather was very cold and the men were tired and hungry.’57

But the crisis was only temporarily resolved. Both the evacuated forces and the 82nd Airborne Division were subject to a new threat of being sealed off—this time from the two SS Panzer divisions ’Hohenstaufen’ (9.) in the northeast and ’Das Reich’ (2.) in the southwest.
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THE BATTLE FOR BARAQUE DE FRAITURE

SS-Sturmbannführer Krag’s armored reconnaissance battalion, which had intercepted Task Force Jones at Salmchâteau, represented only the eastern flank of SS-Oberführer Heinz Lammerding’s 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich,’ whose main force was heading north on Highway N 15 on 23 December.* This leads from Bastogne in the south, through Houffalize, and further northwards, via Manhay and on to Liège and the Meuse in the north. The ’Das Reich’ Division’s first goal on 23 December was the crossroads Baraque de Fraiture, where the N 15 crosses the east-west road between Salmchâteau at River Salm seven miles to the east, and La Roche on River Ourthe, ten miles to the west. Next, the 2. SS-Panzer-Division aimed at Manhay, the crossroads six miles farther to the northwest, where the main road west from Vielsalm crossed the N 15. Thus, this German force threatened to get up behind the American units that stood at River Salm in the east. If the 2. SS-Panzer-Division managed to capture Baraque de Fraiture and Manhay, and the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ also captured Grand- Halleux at the Salm north of Vielsalm, both the U.S. units that just had slipped out of the trap at Sankt Vith, and the 82nd Airborne Division, would find themselves enveloped.
 
To the Americans, it was crucial that Lammerding was stopped at Baraque de Fraiture. The problem was that there were no coherent units to meet the 2. SS-Panzer-Division frontally.

Baraque de Fraiture was located at the seam between the 82nd Airborne Division under Major General James M. Gavin and the 3rd Armored Division under Major General Maurice E. Rose, two of the U.S. Army’s toughest divisional commanders, both equally strong-willed and both with the same respect for the other. Gavin’s Corps commander, Ridgway, characterized Rose as ’one of the most gallant soldiers I have ever known.’58 Actually it was Rose’s responsibility to hold the main road N 15. But even if his division was a ’heavy armored division’—with 14,000 troops and 390 tanks instead of 10,500 men and 263 tanks, it was by now both fragmented and under heavy pressure from various German units.59 Combat Command B still was tied to the battle against SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper at La Gleize on the north side of Amblève, twelve miles northeast of the Baraque de Fraiture, and was currently subordinated to the 30th Infantry Division. Large parts of Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve were under heavy pressure from German 116. Panzer-Division—and as we have seen, one of its battlegroups, Task Force Hogan, was surrounded at Marcouray just east of the Ourthe river, ten miles or so southwest of Baraque de Fraiture.*

All that Rose’s armored division was able to assemble at Baraque de Fraiture was a Sherman platoon from the 3rd Battalion, 32nd Armored Regiment and a rifle platoon from ’I’ Company, 36th Armored Infantry Regiment. These joined the small and—to put it mildly—motley force that had been hastily pulled together and sent to Baraque de Fraiture.** Command of this force was assumed by the executive officer of the 589th Field Artillery Battalion, Major Arthur Parker, who a few days earlier had managed to escape the German envelopment of the 106th Infantry Division east of the Our river with three field howitzers. He thus had seen more than enough of the German attack ability. It did not help that the airborne general Gavin arrived at the small village of Fraiture just northeast of the crossroads at noon on 23 December to order Major Richard M. Gibson, commander of the 2nd Battalion, 325th Glider Infantry Regiment, to ’take command of all units regardless of designation at the crossroad.’60 (Italics in the original text.)
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A U.S. aerial photo of Baraque de Fraiture in the winter of 1944/1945. The photograph is taken from the south and clearly shows the main road N15 extending into the spruce forests north of the intersection, towards Manhay. At Baraque de Fraiture, the N15 crossed the smaller road between Salmcha-teau (although it is not entirely correctly written Vielsalm in the photograph) to the east and La Roche, via Samree, in the west. The well-known inn is right next to the intersection, on the right. Just off the glade in the photograph’s top right corner is the village of Fraiture. (US Army)
 




Accounts of the ensuing battle often emphasizes the fact that the crossroads Baraque de Fraiture is located at an altitude of over 2,000 feet. This may give the impression that the Americans were in position on top of a great height with excellent view of the lower ground from where the Germans attacked. But the surrounding landscape also is high. In fact, the greatest elevation, slightly more than 2,000 feet, is located 500 yards northwest of the crossroads. The main road N 15, where the Germans came on their advance towards the crossroads, ran in a barely perceptible uphill slope towards Baraque de Fraiture. When one stands in the middle of the crossroads and looks to the south or southwest—which was the Americans perspective on 23 December1944—almost no altitude difference can be sensed. Only the road and the open fields to the east—towards Salmchâteau—can be apprehended as something of a downhill.
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At half past three in the afternoon on 23 December, eight Panzer IVs from 7. Kompanie/ SS-Panzer-Regiment 2, led by SS-Obersturmfuh-rer Horst Gresiak in tank No. 701, rolled out on both sides of the N 15 southeast of Baraque de Fraiture. Their guns immediately knocked out two Shermans. (BArch, Bild 101I-277-0843-04A/Jacob)
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The inn ‘Laurent Jacquet’ at Baraque de Fraiture was the scene of heavy fighting on 23 December 1944. The building was partially destroyed by a German tank that ran straight into the building. The house was rebuilt, however, during the war and today is still run by the same family. Today it is called ’Auberge du Carrefour’ The picture was taken just before World War II and shows the inn as it looked when the battle begun. (Photo via Esmeralda Lejeune, Auberge du Carrefour.)





In American literature, the fight for Baraque de Fraiture usually is described as a kind of extended, quite heavy battle. An attempt by a small force of seventy to ninety men from Kampfgruppe Schumann from the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division to capture the crossroads through a surprise attack at five in the morning on 23 December, failed due to the American vigilance, and was repulsed after an hour of fierce close combat.61 Then it took until shortly before dusk before the Germans made another attempt to attack.

At half past three in the afternoon on 23 December, after twenty minutes of preparatory artillery fire, eight Panzer IVs from the 7. Kompanie, SS-Panzer-Regiment 2, led by SS-Obersturmführer Horst Gresiak in tank No. 701, advanced on both sides of the N 15 in the southeast. Their guns immediately knocked out two Shermans. Via radio, the Americans sent a request for permission to withdraw, but the answer from Major General Gavin was short and stern: ’Hold at all costs!’62

This order had barely been assigned, when another German force attacked behind the U.S. troops. Panzergrenadiers and a couple of assault guns from the III. Bataillon/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 4 ’Der Führer’ had penetrated the woods west of Baraque de Fraiture, and as these now stormed out of the forest, the defense collapsed.63 Captain Junior R. Woodruff, who commanded ’F’ Company of the 2nd Battalion, 325th Glider Infantry Regiment, radioed his regimental commander, Colonel George Billingslea, and desperately asked again for permission to pull back. Finally, he got the permission to do so, but for most of his men it was too late.64

The Americans departed heads over heel, with the three remaining Shermans setting off at full speed on the uphill to the north, and ’D’ Troop, 87th Cavalry Squadron reporting afterwards, ’All vehicles had been destroyed by enemy action and those still able to leave the position on foot were to do so.’65 Those Americans who failed to get away, took refuge in the tavern Laurent Jacquet at the crossroads, but this was not very helpful. One of these soldiers, Corporal John F. Gatens from the 589th Field Artillery Battalion, remembers how he heard a German officer shouting to them in broken English from the road outside, ’There is a German tank outside the door. His gun is pointing at you. Are you coming out or do I tell this guy to fire?’ The American soldiers came out on trembling knees and were searched by the Germans. Then they were herded together with a large group of other Americans that were lined up along the roadside with their hands over their heads. At some point a Panzer IV crashed right into the inn’s south side, but it is not quite clear when and why this took place.





[image: images]

This destroyed U.S. 105mm M2A1 howitzer testifies to the American defeat at Baraque de Fraiture.(NARA US Signal Corps)
 




When the battle was over, Gresiak’s tank company could count seventeen destroyed U.S. tanks, plus thirty destroyed or captured half-tracks and jeeps—all against own losses of four panzers.66 According to the U.S. report, eleven Sherman tanks and all four anti-tank guns, three 105mm howitzers, four half-tracks with ’Quad Fifty’ mounts, and eight 2 V ton trucks were lost at Baraque de Fraiture.67 Of the one hundred and nineteen men in Woodruff’s company, only forty-four came back from Baraque de Fraiture.68

The Americans who put up this brave fight to resist the SS troops at Baraque de Fraiture have today been honored with a monument at the crossroads—complete with such an M2A1 105mm field howitzer that was used to hold the important place, which today goes by the name of ’Parker’s Crossroad.’ The old tavern is still in use by the same family. The U.S. ground troops had indeed fought with great courage, but it was not really their earnings that the powerful 2. SS-Panzer-Division’s forward march actually was halted for most of 23 December.

ALLIED AIR POWER AGAINST GERMAN ARMOR

What in fact stopped the 2. SS-Panzer-Division from cleaving the U.S. forces between rivers Salm and Ourthe on 23 December, was the American aviation. Through ceaseless fighter-bomber attacks from sunrise on 23 December, the Thunderbolt pilots of the 406th Fighter Group and several other air units forced the Germans to take cover in the woods at Petites-Tailles southeast of Baraque de Fraiture.69

Then, when the crossroads finally was in German hands, the German divisional commander Lammerding decided to refrain from immediately continuing the advance, to avoid exposing his tanks to ambushes in the darkness from the woods that lined the N 15 north of Baraque de Fraiture. Instead, he sent panzer grenadiers from SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 4 ’Der Führer’ against the village of Odeigne, three miles farther to the west, on the night of the 23rd. With their Panzerfausts, these annihilated an entire platoon of Stuart tanks and captured the village.70But the rather confused nightly battle in the forest cost both sides dearly. The German regimental commander, SS-Obersturmbannführer Weidinger, wrote:
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Immediately after the defeat at Baraque de Fraiture, the Americans did not have much to fight the mighty 2. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Das Reich.’ In the village of Fraiture on the other side of the forest northeast of the crossroads, the 2nd Battalion, 325th Glider Infantry Regiment of U.S. 82nd Airborne Division had taken up positions. In this picture, airborne troops are loading a 75mm Pack Howitzer M8 (Airborne). This was an easily detachable howitzer used by the American airborne forces. The piece weighed 1,339 lbs., had a firing range of 9,600 yards, and a rate of fire of three rounds per minute. (US Army)
 




’The 3. Company’s losses were extremely heavy. The advance platoon was virtually wiped out. The Company then took up defensive positions around Fraiture. In the marshy combat area a sudden temperature drop caused widespread frostbite, which took a severe toll in both battalions. The losses due to frostbite already amounts to between three and five percent.’71

The U.S. airstrikes that over the course of 23 December prevented 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ from achieving a decisive breakthrough on the main road N 15 simply can’t be overestimated. As we had seen, the small American force at Baraque de Fraiture stood no chance against the powerful 2. SS- Panzer-Division. Neither were there any American forces in the rear area that would have been able to stop the SS Panzer Division. All that was available to meet the 2. SS- Panzer-Division along the N 15 north of Baraque de Fraiture on 23 December was ’C’ Company of Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division—which over the course of the day arrived at Manhay after the retreat from the sector south of Sankt Vith—and Task Force Brewster, a small force from the 3rd Armored Division. In addition to those forces, the 2nd Battalion, 325th Glider Infantry Regiment of the 82nd Airborne Division held the small hamlet of Fraiture about two thousand yards northeast of the crossroads. Without the American aviation’s contribution, these forces would have been swept away by the 2. SS- Panzer-Division on 23 December (as we shall see further on).

Had the 2. SS- Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ broken through, it would have had far-reaching consequences. Firstly, it could either have sealed off U.S. 82nd Airborne Division and the recently evacuated elements of the 7th Armored Division at River Salm in the east, or it could (as we will also see later) have forced the 82nd Airborne Division to hastily abandon its positions at the Salm river to retreat northwestwards. If any of this had taken place on 23 December, German 9. SS-Panzer-Division would have been able to come to SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper’s relief. Thus, the entire northern German flank would have been open for a renewed offensive by the I. SS-Panzerkorps. At this time, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division still had at least ninety tanks (including thirty-two Königstigers) at its disposal. In such a situation, it is entirely possible that Montgomery would have been compelled to shift the forces that now were fighting the advance units of the 2. Panzer-Division at Dinant to the northeast. Thereby, the Germans would probably have been able to be across the Meuse already by Christmas Eve.

While the aviation forced SS-Oberführer Lammerding’s armor to take cover, German 116. Panzer-Division was running out of steam. This division was advancing in parallel with the 2. SS-Panzer-Division, six miles farther to the west. As we saw earlier, in the evening on 20 December the advance force of the 116. Panzer-Division’s Kampfgruppe Bayer had reached a point northeast of the small town of Hotton, about twelve miles west-northwest of Baraque de Fraiture and only eighteen miles south of River Meuse at the town of Huy. Via the bridge across the Ourthe at Hotton, a road led straight to Marche, just six miles farther to the southwest. At this important road junction, U.S. 84th Infantry Division was marching up on the right flank of German XLVII. Panzerkorps’ 2. Panzer-Division and Panzer Lehr. Even here the Germans had, at least theoretically, a great opportunity. Would the 116. Panzer-Division have been able to take this river crossing, and then assemble sufficient forces against Marche, not only could the advance units of the 2. Panzer-Division have been spared their demise, but it could also have led to the Germans actually crossing the Meuse.

In fact, a small force consisting of a platoon from U.S. 51st Engineer Combat Battalion under Captain Preston B. Hodges, a Hellcat tank destroyer, and two tank platoons from the 3rd Armored Division managed to halt the 116. Panzer-Division’s advance force before the weather permitted any major air operations. This of course was facilitated by the relative weakness of the German vanguard force—which by that time had no more than four serviceable tanks and a couple of motorized support troops at its disposal. The German attack at dawn on 21 December began with the leading Panther tank driving back the armor from the 3rd Armored Division by destroying a Sherman and Stuart. But before this Panther—with Oberleutnant Kurt Kohn as commander—could make its way across the bridge, it was subject to fire from a 37mm anti-aircraft gun on the other side of the river. Private Lee J. Ishmael fired sixteen shells in the space of three minutes.72 Thus the turning mechanism of the Panther’s turret was blocked, and the tank was immobilized because several of its drive wheels were shot apart. Next, the Panther was completely destroyed by the Hellcat’s powerful gun.73 Another German tank, a Panzer IV, was so badly damaged that it was abandoned by its crew.
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Gunners from U.S. 195th Field Artillery Battalion prepare a 203mm M115 8-in howitzer to fire in the vicinity of Freyneux in December 1944. With its 16 ft 10 in long barrel the M115 fired 200lbs heavy HE M106 explosive shells with a range of fire of nearly 19,000 yards. (NARA, 111-SC-198372, US Army Signal Corps/S/Sgt Dwight Ellett)
 




Through this defensive battle, the Americans gained enough time for reinforcements—Combat Command Reserve, 3rd Armored Division from the north, and troops from the 84th Infantry Division from the south—to catch up. Generalmajor von Waldenburg, C.O. of the 116. Panzer-Division, wrote, ’Our own casualties in the battle of Hotton were heavy. Several of our tanks were lost through enemy artillery, others were damaged. The troops were tired, they had been in action without interruption from 16 December, continuously engaged in marches in cold, wet winter weather. Vehicles broke down due to continuous use in bad weather and bad roads.’74

On the morning of 22 December, von Waldenburg was ordered to re-route his advance towards Marche southwards and cross River Ourthe at La Roche, nine miles upstream (southeast) from Hotton. We have already seen how the bold commander of the 116. Panzer-Division had been rebuked by the Army commander von Manteuffel and the Corps commander Krüger for his wayward rapid thrusts. Not without bitterness, von Waldenburg wrote, ’The Division was now ordered to proceed in the very same vicinity, where it probably could have been on 20 December, had the Bertogne - Salle advance not been called off (19 December). This meant the loss of three important days, which undoubtedly played a large part during the coming battles east of Marche, and resulted in a tactical and operational disadvantage for the German attacks.’75

The situation was very complicated, and there was—as we shall see—an imminent threat to the 2. Panzer-Division, whose spearhead were in Hargimont, about twelve miles northwest of Ortheuville at the Western Ourthe (Ourthe Occidentale) and just four miles southwest of the positions held by the U.S. 84th Infantry Division at Marche. But by launching an attack from the northeast against the German force at Hotton on 23 December, Combat Command Reserve, 3rd Armored Division prevented von Waldenburg from making an immediate withdrawal of his advanced armor force. Thus, the Americans gained additional valuable time—even if it cost them a loss of six Shermans and two Stuarts.76

When von Waldenburg on 23 December had managed to assemble his tanks at La Roche, these were subject to aerial attacks by Lightning fighter-bombers from the 370th Fighter Group, and a flank attack by another force from the 3rd Armored Division, Task Force Kane of Combat Command B. However, the latter was forced to withdraw after having lost an entire platoon of Sherman tanks.77 Only on the evening on 23 December was Kampfgruppe Bayer able to start crossing the Ourthe at La Roche and begin the advance towards the northwest and Marche.

Christmas Eve dawned with even clearer skies than the previous day. The sun had barely risen before swarms of Allied fighter-bombers appeared above the battlefield. Their attacks were particularly intense in the area immediately east of the Ourthe, where the infantry of German 560. Volksgrenadier-Division held Task Force Hogan from U.S. 3rd Armored Division encircled at Marcouray. These air strikes drew the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division away from the exposed hills east of Marcouray on 24 December. An effort by seven twin-engine C-47 Skytrain transport planes to drop supplies to Task Force Hogan on the afternoon of that day, however, was less successful: all transport aircraft except one were shot down by anti-aircraft guns.78

Twenty-five miles farther to the northeast, on the other side of River Salm, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ had, as we have seen, ousted Colonel Rosebaum’s Combat Command A, 7th Armored Division from its positions at Poteau in the Sankt Vith area on 23 December. The British Ultra codebreakers in Bletchley Park intercepted an order from OB West von Rundstedt that the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’at any cost’ must cross the Salm.79
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This destroyed Sherman, covered in snow, was just one of many similar sad guises that the U.S. Army during the course of January 1945 encountered as it recaptured the area in the Ardennes which the Germans had captured in December 1944. (Via David E. Brown)
 




Hence, on the morning on 24 December large formations of Allied fighter-bombers were again vectored against the 9. SS-Panzer-Division. This time it was Typhoon planes of British 2nd Tactical Air Force, whose rocket projectiles knocked out at least forty of the ’Hohenstaufen’ Division’s motor vehicles and forced the German troops to take cover in the forests in the area.80 Only after dark late in the afternoon was the 9. SS-Panzer-Division able to resume its advance, and in the evening it reached the Salm, five miles west of Poteau.81 By that time, U.S. 7th Armored Division’s Combat Command A under Colonel Dwight A. Rosebaum had been able to pull back across the river at Vielsalm. Another effect of the American air attacks that held back the 2. SS-Panzer-Division on Highway N 15 at Baraque de Fraiture during most of 23 December, was that Colonel Rosebaum’s armor could continue through Lierneux and up to Manhay, five miles northwest of Baraque de Fraiture.82

The small village of Fraiture is located on the other side of the forest northeast of Baraque de Fraiture, two thousand yards or so north-east of the famous crossroads. Here, 2nd Battalion, 325th Glider Infantry Regiment could hold its positions still on the morning on 24 December, owing to the intervention of U.S. aircraft, as described in the American Battalion’s report:
 
’The enemy had penetrated the 2,000-yard gap in the regimental line between Fraiture and Regne [and] was now on the Battalion’s supply and evacuation route. […] Before half of the Battalion had left the town at 1015 a flight of eight American aircraft dive-bombed the crossroads to the southwest. Later captured enemy documents revealed that the enemy had planned a concerted attack on the positions at the crossroads and Fraiture with the mission of destroying the defensive force. The enemy plan was to attack the crossroads at 1030 with one Battalion of tanks, two battalions of infantry and one regiment of artillery in support. Another force was to outflank the crossroads to the west and hit Fraiture from the rear. The dive-bombers struck the lead elements of the attacking force just south of the crossroads at 1015 as the Battalion was evacuating Fraiture.’83* 

On the German side, SS-Oberführer Lammerding sent an urgent request for fighter cover.84 When this however failed to materialize, he drew the conclusion that, as on the previous day, it would be almost impossible to continue the advance in daylight. In spite of the risk of getting ambushed from the dark forests that lined the N 15, he ordered a resumption of the offensive as soon as the sun had set on 24 December. While the SS troops took cover from the enemy aviation in the forests, they were subject to a murderous artillery fire, whereby the commander of the III. Bataillon/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiments 4 ’Der Führer,’ SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Heinz Werner, was injured.85

Another effect of the large presence of allied fighter-bombers was an increased American artillery superiority. As soon as Allied fighter-bombers were present in the air in an area, nearly all German artillery in the vicinity held its fire, to not disclose their positions. According Generalleutnant Karl Thoholte, artillery adviser to Generalfeldmarschall Model in Heeresgruppe B, the Allied air superiority led to a decrease in the German artillery activity by between 50 and 60 percent. ’This had such a serious effect that it was impossible to keep the enemy heavy guns down,’ wrote Thoholte.86

Possibly it was due to the massive fire from the almost unopposed American artillery—which with the assistance of artillery observation planes started to fire with an increasing precision—that Lammerding decided to launch his attack before nightfall, which had serious consequences for the Germans. The 2. and 3. Panzer-Kompanies of SS-Panzer-Regiment 2 were assigned to continue west from Odeigne, towards the village of Freyneux, in order to drive away the American armored force that had been identified in the area, Task Force Richardson—consisting of the bulk of the 3rd Battalion, 32nd Armored Regiment, and ’I’ Company, 36th Armored Infantry Regiment. This maneuver was aimed at covering the advance along the N 15 from flank attack.87

SS-Untersturmführer Fritz Langanke, tank commander in one of the Panthers of 2. Panzer-Kompanie/ SS-Panzer-Regiment 2, recalls, ’The attack was to begin during the night. When we started our advance, it was, regrettably, already daylight.’88 Allied fighter-bombers immediately fell upon the German tanks with bombs and rockets. Langanke continues his description:

We drove towards a gently rising, snow-covered slope, which glimmered brightly in the light of the sun low above the horizon. We were looking out of the hatches in order to see better. We had barely advanced 100 meters when the Americans opened fire. They fired simultaneously on us and the 3. Kompanie whose vehicles were showing their rear to them. Then, everything happened very quickly. The panzer of Untersturmführer Seeger caught on fire with the first hit. He was able to jump out, badly burned, but the four comrades of his crew died in the vehicle. The panzer of Oberscharführer Pippert was stopped, after taking hits, and its gun hung down, obviously out of action. The crew bailed out. I could not make out the fate of the fourth vehicle, as it drove slowly backward, after having been hit. I noticed that the Americans also fired to our sides and beyond us. I turned my head further back and watched as panzers of the 3. Kompanie were knocked out from behind. In such a situation, when one was almost completely helpless, a terrible rage set in. We pulled ahead a little and opened fire ourselves. Because of the heavy fire setting in, to which was added increased fighter-bomber activity, the grenadiers jumped off and found, with some difficulty, some cover in the shallow ditch next to the row of trees to our right.89 

Langanke continued forward with his Panther and shot up a Sherman that had taken cover behind a pile of logs. Meanwhile, his own vehicle received an incessant fire from both fighter-bombers and one or more U.S. anti-tank guns, whose caliber nevertheless were insufficient to penetrate the Panther’s sloped front armor. But when this had received a dozen hits, the welds partially cracked up. Although the daylight shone through the cracks in the frontal armor, and although more armor-piercing shells hammered on the indomitable Panther, Langanke refused to give in. But when the tank had received around twenty hits, the driver, who was sitting just a few inches away from the exploding shells, had had enough. He went mad, and wildly screaming jumped out of the tank so that Langanke had to follow suit and pull him back into the vehicle.

In that situation, Langanke gave the orders to disengage. The mangled steel colossus rolled slowly back along the forest road, passing the two knocked out tanks, one of which by then was completely enveloped by flames. Langanke found that more and more American fighter-bombers mingled in the game and attacked the 3. Kompanie’s tanks. ’Every time the aircraft approached, we felt great anxiety in our panzers,’ Langanke recalls. ’The fighter-bombers, flying at very low altitude, had to pass right overhead and we were never sure if we might be their target.’90
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Panther tanks of the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Das Reich’ in the Ardennes. The German caption reads: ‘Ourgrenadiers are caught in a bitter fight with the Americans over a significant hill. To the sound of the battle alarm, Panther tanks are set in motion to join the battle.’ (BArch, Bild 183-J28646/SS-PK-Kriegsberichter Schulz)
 




The Thunderbolt pilots of the 397th Fighter Squadron, 368th Fighter Group claimed to have destroyed eleven German tanks and twelve trucks at Freyneux.91 This proved to be an exaggeration, but clearly these airstrikes contributed to the German tank losses.

SS-OBERSCHARFUHRER BARKMANN’S ACCIDENTAL RAID

But Task Force Richardson had been neutralized, and thus on Christmas Eve the 2. SS-Panzer-Division could begin its advance north along the N 15, with Manhay as the first goal. Against the SS armor stood, again, a rather motley U.S. defensive force. Manhay was defended by Combat Command A of the 7th Armored Division with thirty-one remaining tanks and six tank destroyers, plus ’C’ Company of Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division.92 In front of these forces, Task Force Brewster from the 32nd Armored Regiment (of Combat Command A, 3rd Armored Division) held positions at the crossroads Belle Haie, a mile or so after Baraque de Fraiture. Task Force Brewster consisted of three platoons of tanks, tank destroyers and infantry, reinforced by paratroopers from the 82nd Airborne’s 509th Parachute Infantry Regiment and ’C’ Company, 290th Regiment of the newly arrived and completely inexperienced 75th Infantry Division.93 This force had been put together only on the day before by the commander of the 32nd Armored Regiment, Lieutenant Colonel Walter B. Richardson, who placed it under the command of Major Olin F. Brewster, who was assigned with the somewhat unrealistic task to retake Baraque de Fraiture.

The Panther tanks in the 4. Panzer-Kompanie under SS-Hauptsturmführer Ortwin Pohl opened the attack at 2200 on 24 December. The vanguard consisted of the 3rd platoon under SS-Hauptscharführer Franz Frauscher. SS-Oberscharführer Ernst Barkmann, tank commander of Panther No. 401 later described the events:

’The tall fir trees that we pass on our way forward are weighted down by heavy snow. High above, the full moon shines from a starry sky so we can see all the contours from afar. To begin with, all goes well. From the south we reach the crossroads occupied by the opponent. We attack in double rows and open fire against all the identified goals with our anti-tank guns. The enemy hardly responds to our surprising attack.’94

In Belle Haie Major Brewster sent a request for permission to withdraw, but back came from Lieutenant Colonel Walter B. Richardson: ’Don’t give an inch unless I approve it!’95

In the midst of the assault on Belle Haie, SS-Hauptscharführer Frauscher on the German side radioed that he would continue along the N 15 towards Manhay. That he immediately thereafter became embroiled in a fierce battle with Brewster’s tanks, he could not communicate. In that situation, SS-Oberscharführer Barkmann decided to take the N 15 towards Manhay, a mile and a half farther to the north, to support his comrade. Unaware that he thus left Frauscher behind, Barkmann continued at full speed towards Manhay.

After a while Barkmann caught sight of a parked tank with the tank commander standing in the turret. Believing that it was Frauscher’s Panther, Barkmann stopped alongside this and called the tank commander. When the other man, terrified, popped into his tank and slammed the hatch, Barkmann realized his mistake—this was an American Sherman! Barkmann shouted out his orders, ’Gunner, the tank next to us is hostile! Fire!’ The Panther’s turret rotated to the right as quickly as possible, but the long gun barrel only banged against the Sherman’s turret. Barkmann’s driver, SS-Rottenführer Grundmeyer, however, reacted quickly and reversed at full speed before the enemy had time to start moving. At a distance of no more than a couple of yards, the gunner SS-Unterscharführer Horst Poggendorf fired an armor piercing shell that crashed into the rear of the Sherman, which exploded with a deafening bang. Large flames immediately shot out from the rear of the U.S. tank. Barkmann continues his account:

’We drive past the burning tank. Two other enemy tanks approach us from a forest clearing on the right. We immediately open fire! The first shows a hit effect by emitting a large black cloud of smoke, and the other one also is stopped.’96

Since he was unable to reach any radio contact with the Company, Barkmann assumed that Frauscher’s tank still was ahead of him, and continued forward. Suddenly a whole group of American tanks emerged in front of the lone Panther. These were seven Shermans from ’A’ Company of the 7th Armored Division’s 40th Tank Battalion, that had been positioned in a forest clearing at the Fond de la Justice on the road between Belle Haie and Manhay.97_

Barkmann decided to try to trick himself out of the dangerous situation, and actually managed to pass them all without a single shot being fired. The Americans must have taken the Panther for an American vehicle.

When the German tank passed the road bend after Fond de la Justice, open, snow-covered fields spread out to the right of the N 15. After a few minutes, two- and three-story houses suddenly piled up on both sides of the Panther. The Germans had driven straight into the enemy-held Manhay! The whole place was filled with American tanks and other military vehicles. Again luck was on the German side—the Americans apparently took the Panther for an own tank. Three hundred yards into the village, the main road between Marche and Trois-Ponts crosses the N 15, and the Panther made a U-turn to get out of Manhay again. But no sooner had the Germans started the trek out of the enemy-occupied village, when a jeep popped up on a counter course. An officer in the American vehicle’s passenger seat gave a signal to the tank to halt. ’Run over the jeep!’ Barkmann ordered. Just as the Panther crushed the jeep under its wide tracks, a Sherman appeared in front of the Germans, and in the next moment the two tanks collided. Only then did the Americans wake up and realize the alien tank’s identity.
 
Barkmann did not know this, but as he drove through the forest towards Manhay, the American defense lines had collapsed. Far behind him, SS-Hauptscharführer Frauscher finally passed Belle Haie, and in the path of Barkmann’s tank, his Panther attacked ’A’ Company of U.S. 40th Tank Battalion at Fond de la Justice. In rapid succession six of the seven Shermans were hit—five of them by gunfire from Frauscher’s Panther No. 431.98 Four Shermans turned into flaming wrecks, and the two other tanks that had been hit survived with damages. The surviving Sherman crews—who believed that their tanks had been hit by Bazookas99—retreated to Manhay.

Just before this took place, a U.S. attempt to counter-attack against Freyneux with ’C’ Company of the 14th Tank Battalion had been repulsed by SS-Untersturmführer Langanke. He had taken up position at the small road that leads north from Freyneux, when he saw some Shermans sliding in column down the snowy slope to the north. Langanke opened fire, setting all five American tanks on fire in rapid succession, as he himself recounted.100

The American attack force was commanded by Lieutenant Hugh Morrison, but he had placed his Sherman in the rear of the column, with Sergeant Meron J. Thompson’s tank in the lead. ’We had moved a short distance when I received the first hit which was on the barrel of my tank gun,’ recalled Thompson. ’The second one hit the engine, the third was underneath my feet.’ Thompson heard a loud explosion and then someone yelled in the radio, ’Thompson, get out! Your tank is on fire!’ Thompson needed no persuasion. He gave the crew order to bail out and jumped out through the suffocating smoke and landed in the snow. As he stood up, he could see three other tanks being hit consecutively.101

All tank crews had survived and they took refuge in the little ravine formed by the creek that runs up from the hills north of Freyneux. Only there did Thompson notice that he was injured. Dozens of small shrapnel had stained his entire face with blood, and in the severe cold the blood froze to ice, turning his face into a rigid mask. Tired, shaken, and frozen, the tank soldiers staggered back through the woods to the hamlet of Fosse, a mile north of Freyneux from which they had departed.*

’C’ Company of the 14th Tank Battalion in Combat Command B, 9th Armored Division reported four M4A-3 Shermans destroyed north of Freyneux. ’A’ Company lost three in a battle over the village Regne east of Baraque de Fraiture.102

But the 40th Tank Battalion’s escape from the Fond de la Justice was what triggered the panic on the American side. Lieutenant Colonel John C. Brown, C.O. of the 40th Tank Battalion, was in Manhay and witnessed the fight when Barkmann’s lone Panther surprised the Americans. ’All was quiet,’ said Brown, ’until suddenly a German tank which had worked its way in the column decided it was time to open up on the remainder of the column. The German side swiped a light tank of ’D’ Company, 40th Battalion, and then began to fire back at the column. Another light tank, several half-tracks, and a number of peeps [jeeps] were hit by the tank. The tank was not hit, and it is thought that he worked his way around to the East and back to his friendly column.’103
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The disputed road junction at Manhay. This American aerial photograph was taken from the south. In the upper left corner the adjacent village of Grandmenil can be seen. (US Army)
 




Barkmann depicts the continued battle from his perspective:

’A couple of enemy vehicles, including a Sherman, are pursuing us. A number of well-aimed shells destroy all of them. The burning vehicles block the road to the others. […] Now we can hear the battle sounds, and the loud bangs of Panther guns can be clearly distinguished. It sounds like music to our ears. The Company is attacking Manhay! The radio operator turns the radio to the American frequency where we can hear: “German Tiger! German Tiger! Help! Help!” Apparently, our Panzer Vs are mistaken for Tiger tanks, but there are none of those on this front section. Under heavy pressure, the enemy withdraws mainly westwards towards Grandmenil and to the northeast, in the direction of Vaux Chavanne. We shell the retreating enemy vehicles with our tank gun. Several vehicles run off the road and are left standing in the deep snow.’104 Barkmann counted the destroyed American vehicles: seven tanks, two tank destroyers, a half- track, and two jeeps.

A general confusion broke out on the American side, where tanks, half-tracks and other vehicles started up, swinging helter-skelter out on the roads out of Manhay. An officer of the 7th Armored Division desperately tried to stem the wild escape. ‘We’re not Abandoning Manhay! We’re going to reorganize!’ he shouted almost pleadingly as he stood by the roadside, but the terrified vehicle drivers paid no attention to him, and he had to jump aside to avoid getting run over. A captain from the 7th Armored Division came running and yelled, ‘Jerry tanks and infantry are streaming up the highway!’ Then he disappeared on the way north out of Manhay. The officer who tried to stop the escape, gave up and jumped up on one of the vehicles that were driving out of the village.
 
Lieutenant Colonel Richardson, the commander of the 3rd Armored Division’s 32nd Armored Regiment, was in a Manhay where utter panic prevailed. He called Lieutenant Goddard, the officer in charge for the mining of the bridge over the small stream outside the community, and screamed into the phone: ’Blow the bridge, Goddard!’ Back came the reply, ’I’ve been hit. All of my men are dead!’105

At that moment, the 4. Panzer-Kompanie’s Panther tanks came dashing along the road to the southeast, and wildly firing, they burst into Manhay. Richardson and Captain Maxwell, the commander of a tank destroyer platoon, found four Shermans that had been abandoned by their crews and climbed into one of them. But they had barely closed the hatch when they discovered a Panther in front of them—presumably the one commanded by the German Company commander SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Ortwin Pohl, who led the attack. ’Tigers!’ Richardson yelled.106 Maxwell fired the American tank’s gun, but the shell just bounced off the Panther’s frontal armor. In the next moment their own tank was lit up by a flare. Richardson and Maxwell knew what it meant. They were lucky to be able to bail out of the Sherman before a shell from Panther set it ablaze. The two officers jumped into a jeep and escaped in full career to Manhay’s neighboring village Grandmenil.

By then the street through Manhay was filled with burning and exploding American tanks. SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Pohl claimed to have knocked out four tanks in Manhay. SS-Hauptscharführer Franz Frauscher’s crew also was credited with the destruction of four with their Panther No. 431. This gave Frauscher a total of nine that evening, for which he was awarded with the Knight’s Cross a week later. Pohl’s Panthers did not remain in Manhay, but with mounted infantry from SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 they swung onto the icy road down towards Grandmenil, located in a small hollow only a thousand yards to the west of Manhay. When the Americans saw them coming, they hastily left even this small community, which quickly was occupied by the SS.107

The remnants of Colonel Dwight A. Rosebaum’s Combat Command A, 7th Armored Division, which had retreated from Poteau after holding this place for several days, were virtually wiped out in the Battle of Manhay -Grandmenil on 24 December—out of thirty tanks, twenty-one were lost. The personnel losses amounted to four hundred and sixty men, most of whom were captured. In Lieutenant Colonel Brown’s 40th Tank Battalion, ’A’ Company lost eight tanks, and ’C’ Company lost all of its tanks.108 Furthermore, the commander of ’A’ Company, Captain Malcolm O. Allen, Jr., was captured, and the commander of ’D’ Company, Captain Walter J. Hughes, was killed.109 (Allen later managed to escape and make it back to the own lines.) On the German side, not even a single tank was lost during the Battle of Manhay - Grandmenil, and the infantry losses also were quite limited.110 Colonel Rosebaum, who had just been recommended for a second Silver Star for his successful defense of Poteau, was made scapegoat for the American defeat at Manhay.* On the orders of Major General Ridgway, the divisional commander
 
Hasbrouck very reluctantly relieved him of the command of Combat Command A.111 Rosebaum was succeeded by Colonel William S. Triplet, previously commander of the 66th Armored regiment, 2nd Armored Division.

Major Olin F. Brewster of the 3rd Armored Division also was given the blame for the failure. He finally received permission to withdraw his task force from Belle Haie, but the directives issued by Lieutenant Colonel Richardson were not very encouraging, ’Get out now if you can, but don’t use the road you went up on, try east ’112 In the east there was nothing but high, forested hills, with no roads, so the instructions assigned to Brewster meant that he had to abandon the vehicles that had escaped destruction during the battle with the German armor—five Shermans and three other vehicles.113 After an arduous march at the head of his dejected men through deep snow in the terribly cold night, Brewster reported to his divisional commander, Major General Maurice Rose, on the following day. Olin Brewster describes what happened:

’General Rose was sitting behind his desk looking like he had just stepped out of a band box and said, ’’Brewster, what happened?” I explained the situation and he asked if I had any ammunition and fuel left. My answer was ”Yes.” He said, ”And you quit fighting?” My explanation was that I had very few vehicles left that could be replaced and I had some good soldiers that would be hard to replace and I chose to bring them out on foot to fight another day rather than stay surrounded and sacrifice them.

At this point I should mention that I had been on the go from the morning of 23 December to the evening of 25 December without sleep. I had not shaved that day and with all the winter clothes I had on I am sure I looked like ”Sad Sack” [a popular American comic book character of an Army Private experiencing the absurdities of military life and the bullying of his superiors].

Without hesitation, the General said, ”Brewster, you are under arrest for misbehavior before the enemy. Give the Chief your gun!”’114

A few days later, however, Rose withdrew his decision. Afterwards Brewster learned that Brigadier General Doyle O. Hickey, the commander of Combat Command A, 3rd Armored Division, had threatened to resign unless the charges against Brewster were dropped. ’However,’ Major General Rose said, ‘I am going to keep my eye on you and if you screw up again, I will throw the book at you.’115 A couple of months later Rose was killed in combat with German armor.

THE MARCH TOWARDS THE MEUSE IS HALTED

Following the success on Christmas Eve, three SS panzer divisions—the 2., the 9., and the 12.—were put under the command of Bittrich’s II. SS- Panzerkorps, which received new orders from Model: Instead of continuing north towards Liège, the Panzer Corps would, departing from Manhay, turn onto the main road to Hotton and Marche in the west and southwest. The purpose of this operation was to support the 116. Panzer-Division, and, farther westward, the 2. Panzer-Division.
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After the Battle of Manhay on Christmas Eve 1944. A destroyed Sherman of the 40th Tank Battalion. (US Army)
 




The advance of the SS armor from Baraque de Fraiture to Manhay and Grandmenil had created a ’notch’ in the American lines, so that their 82nd Airborne Division now found itself in a wedge protruding from the Manhay sector to Vielsalm, ten miles farther east, and thence along River Salm to Trois-Ponts, about six miles farther to the north. The 82nd Airborne Division, with the support of what remained of the badly mauled U.S. 112th Infantry Regiment, had a force of about fifteen thousand men at its disposal.116 Hitherto, the airborne division had played a most important role in the American defensive battle. Not only had it saved the forces in the Sankt Vith wedge from certain destruction, but it also had contributed to the destruction of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper. Field Marshal Montgomery, the Allied supreme commander in the North, argued that after a well-done job, the 82nd Airborne Division should now be withdrawn northwestwards from the Vielsalm sector on the Salm to a defensive line from Trois-Ponts and straight southwestwards, to Manhay. The C.O. of the XIII Airborne Corps, Ridgway, previously had been opposed to any retreat, but since his so-called ‘fortified goose egg’ tactics at Sankt Vith had been close to ending in a disaster, he did not oppose Montgomery’s retreat orders this time. Although the divisional commander Gavin was concerned about how a withdrawal would affect the morale of the troops (it turned out that it really had no negative effect), the 82nd Airborne Division was pulled back during the night of 24 December in accordance with Montgomery’s instructions.117 Thereby the division escaped a looming encirclement and was available for Montgomery’s counteroffensive when this came on almost two weeks later.

German 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen,’ which managed to seize Vielsalm on Christmas night, did its utmost to pursue and annihilate the retreating American troops, but was prevented from doing so by air attacks. A column of twenty tanks and fifty other vehicles that tried to make their way to Vielsalm on Christmas Day was attacked by U.S. 366th Fighter Group, whose pilots claimed to have knocked out ten of the vehicles.118 This compelled the ’Hohenstaufen’ Division to cancel its advance during the remainder of the day.

Christmas Day was the third day running with perfect flying weather, and the Allied aviation made 1,700 fighter and fighter-bomber sorties and 820 bomber sorties to crack the German offensive. Among other targets, Sankt Vith was heavily bombed by Marauders from the 9th Air Force, blocking all roads through the town by rubble and bomb craters. The town was bombed again the next day; throughout these two days it was impossible to get through the town. Although a German engineer battalion worked around the clock to clear a passage, the accessibility through the town remained limited for another two weeks.119 Through the bombing of Sankt Vith, the transfer of the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ to the II. SS-Panzerkorps’ left flank (between the 2. SS-Panzer-Division and the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division) at Samree was significantly delayed. The ’Hitler Jugend’ Division had to circumvent Sankt Vith, but when its long automotive column in the afternoon on 25 December was clogged between the houses in the village of Beho, six miles southwest of Sankt Vith, American fighter-bombers struck, causing mayhem and further delays.
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When the 2. SS-Panzer-Division pulled back from Grandmenil on 26 December 1944, seven Panther tanks were left behind for various reasons. One of them remains as a memorial of the bloody winter day in late 1944 when this village with barely three hundred inhabitants became a focal point in the great Ardennes Battle. (Photo: The author)
 




A few lines in the diary of Leutnant Behmen from German 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Artillerie-Regiment 1818 on 25 December clearly reflect the frustration the German soldiers felt about the Allied air attacks:
 
’We are ordered to proceed to Hinderhausen. Over us circle enemy planes. All along the road, there are tremendous bomb craters, but it seems that very little was hit. Shortly before reaching Hinderhausen, we see a dive-bomber start for us. We are able to stop the truck in time to get off the road as the bullets start flying about us. Nothing is to be seen of our air force; where is it? The heavy bombers fly toward the Reich, quiet and undisturbed. The AA is getting heavier but it doesn’t seem to bother them. Only two bombers are knocked down. The pilots “hit the silk” but the dogs are lucky, and the wind drives them toward the West. They actually regain enemy territory. If they had landed in our lines wed slay them! In the evening, we see the fires in Sankt Vith. I could cry from rage and tear the prisoners apart.’120

To German 2. SS-Panzer-Division, Christmas Day meant a pure gauntlet. Firstly, after the division had taken Manhay and Grandmenil, more intense airstrikes than ever were directed against it. Thunderbolt pilots from the 389th Squadron, 366th Fighter Group swooped down on twenty of the ’Das Reich’ Division’s tanks, and reported that ’the panzers were seen to turn tail and head south for cover.’121 Lightning fighter-bombers from the 428th Squadron, 474th Fighter Group spotted and attacked six dug down German tanks at Manhay and strafed several masked motor vehicles with their machine guns.* Later, the 429th Squadron, 474th Fighter Group attacked a formation of twelve SS tanks in the same area and claimed to have destroyed two of these.122

Moreover, the Americans had brought forth not only a new division, the 75th Infantry, but also a quite powerful artillery to the area. With artillery observers in place on the hills to the west, where they had a perfect view of Manhay and Grandmenil, and also artillery observation aircraft constantly in the air, the area became a veritable killing field for the SS troops. On Christmas Day alone nearly two thousand artillery shells were fired against Grandmenil, a community no larger than 400 by 600 yards. Among the soldiers wounded during the fighting on 25 December was SS-Oberscharführer Barkmann.

Although the 2. SS-Panzer-Division still had sixty serviceable tanks by Christmas 1944, most of them took no part in the fighting.123 This was partly due to the heavy snowfall and the almost impassable terrain, but particularly to the Allied airstrikes that deprived the division of most of its fuel supply. So while most of the division’s tanks stood idle inside the forests on both sides of the road between Vielsalm and Baraque de Fraiture, Grandmenil was held mainly with infantry, supported by only two tank platoons.124 Albeit at the cost of heavy casualties, the Germans, however, held out at Grandmenil until Boxing Day, when the artillery and air bombardment forced them to pull back to Manhay. Left behind in the small hamlet were seven Panther tanks—knocked out by enemy fire, abandoned due to technical errors, or simply because they had run out of fuel.

However, one German success was attained at Marcouray, six miles farther southwest—two miles north of La Roche. On 25 December, Task Force Hogan from U.S. 3rd Armored Division, which had been sealed off to the east of River Ourthe, had to do what both SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper and Task Force Brewster had done the day before—abandon their heavy equipment and try to reach their own lines on foot. The fact that these American troops managed to accomplish this, was due in no small part to the American aviation. Generalmajor Gerhard Triepel, the artillery commander in the LVIII. Panzerkorps, reported that the Germans captured around thirty tanks and a number of trucks and other vehicles in Marcouray. However, all these vehicles had been made unserviceable by the Americans.125
 
But this limited German success was eclipsed by German 116. Panzer-Division’s demise. As we have seen, the first units of the 116. Panzer-Division crossed River Ourthe at La Roche on the evening of 23 December, and continued to the northwest, towards the town of Marche. Because time was short and this division’s Kampfgruppe Bayer had been held up at Hotton and Soy by U.S. 3rd Armored Division, 116. Panzer-Division had to cross the Ourthe piecemeal.

First across the river on 23 December was the 116. Panzer-Division’s Kampfgruppe Stephan—consisting of Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 116 and I. Abteilung of Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 146. The Germans took the road that meanders steeply up between the wooded hills west of the Ourthe. Having advanced nearly six miles over this hilly landscape without encountering any resistance, they reached the village Grimbiemont at noon. A mile further west, it was found that the bridge over the small creek that ran across the road to Marche had been demolished, and reconnaissance patrols reported that U.S. forces moved into position in the southern outskirts of the villages of Verdenne and Marche, located on the other side of the wooded heights, two to three miles north of Grimbiemont.

While elements of the German panzer division’s Pänzerjager-Abteilung 238 and I. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment 156 started across the Ourthe at La Roche to join the leading units, German artillery went into position east of Grimbiemont, and the armored reconnaissance battalion advanced to positions among the trees on the heights in the north.

At noon on 24 December, the Germans attacked with Verdenne as the primary objective. They hit right at the seam between two of U.S. 84th Infantry Division’s regiments, the 334th and the 335th, and during the course of the afternoon Verdenne was captured. In the afternoon, the fighting was concentrated to a small castle situated in a forest clearing just northeast of Verdenne, and at night the Americans had been driven back to the main route between Marche and Hotton.

The 116. Panzer-Division’s mission was to carry on in a northwesterly direction, past Marche, to cover the 2. Panzer-Division’s flank. It looked promising for the Germans when even the main force of Kampfgruppe Bayer—Panzergrenadier-Regiment 60, a battalion (I. Abteilung) from Panzerartillerie-Regiment 146, a company of Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 675, plus thirteen Panthers and two Panzer IVs from Panzer-Regiment 16—arrived at Verdenne on Christmas Eve.

But U.S. forces that were rushed to the area now managed to prevent von Waldenburg’s forces from continuing their advance. The 116. Panzer Division indeed had sufficient fuel supplies—including those captured from the Americans—but air strikes made it almost impossible for the Germans to bring them across the Ourthe and to the battlefield at Verdenne.126 American reinforcements—including 155mm Long Tom artillery pieces from the 327th Field Artillery Battalion—flocked to the area. During Christmas night, units from the 84th Infantry Division, supported by the 771st Tank Battalion, counter-attacked, drew the Germans from Verdenne and surrounded them in the wooded area northeast of the village.
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During their march, these Sherman tanks were exposed to hostile fire from within a spruce forest. The picture is typical of the dense forests in the area where the 2. SS-Panzer-Division operated at the end of December 1944. (NARA, US Army Signal Corps)
 




A German attack on 25 December from La Roche by I. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment 156, along with five Panzer IVs and four Panthers led by Hauptmann Werner Baumgarten-Crusis, was ambushed by Sherman tanks and tank destroyers from ‘B’ Company, 771st Tank Battalion. These were supported by fighter-bombers, whose bombs set several Panthers on fire.127 Among Baumgarten-Crusis’ tanks, four Panthers and a Panzer IV were lost.128The U.S. tank company reported the destruction of eight German tanks against a loss of two own tank destroyers.129

The Battle at Verdenne/Marche was settled mainly by four factors—the American infantry’s dogged resistance, a highly skilled leadership on the U.S. side, the German inability to bring forward the 116. Panzer-Division anyway but piecemeal, and the American air strikes. During the night of 26 December, von Waldhausen sent further elements of his division across the river to join the fight at Verdenne. Shortly afterward, twin-engine medium bombers from U.S. 9th Air Force laid La Roche in ruins, and this finally put an end to the German ability to relieve the surrounded Verdenne garrison. Meanwhile fighter-bombers from two American Fighter groups, the 36th and 48th, focused on hammering the 116. Panzer-Division.

The Americans experienced a moment of crisis when a new German force on the morning of 26 December appeared at Hotton and attacked. This was Oberst Remer’s Führer Begleit Brigade, which had been transferred to the LVIII. Panzerkorps. Remer began his attack at half past ten on the morning of 26 December. While the 105mm and 150mm howitzers of his Artillerie-Abteilung exposed the American positions west of the Ourthe to their fire, the Brigade’s Panzergrenadier-Regiment crossed the river south of Hotton, with the II. Bataillon to the left and the III. Bataillon to the right. The II. Bataillon—commanded by Major Hubert Mickley, a most experienced officer who had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves—rapidly managed to capture the small village Hampteau slightly more than a mile southeast of Hotton, on River Ourthe’s western side. Meanwhile, the III. Bataillon established positions in the Bois de Hampteau Forest, also on the river’s western side, between Hampteau and Hotton. There were no more than two miles between the Führer Begleit Brigade’s positions west of the Ourthe and Kampfgruppe Bayer at Verdenne, and Remer’s men could see black smoke rise from behind the treetops where fierce fighting was going on.
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A U.S. 155 mm Ml gun fires on German positions in the Ardennes. The 22 ft 10 in long barrel earned this piece the name ‘Long Tom.’It could fire 95lb. HE M101 explosive shells, or 98lb. WP M104 white phosphorus shells with a range of fire of nearly 15 miles. White phosphorus was a particularly feared weapon among the Germans. About 20 percent of all U.S. artillery shells in World War II were loaded with white phosphorous. The ‘Long Tom’ also could be used to fight enemy armor. Its armor-piercing M112 shell could penetrate 152 mm of armor at a 30° impact angle at a distance of 1,000 yards. (NARA 111-SC-199101/PFC W. B. Allen)
 




By that time, the Führer Begleit Brigade had at least thirty serviceable Panzer IV tanks and a similar number of Sturmgeschutz III assault guns, so it was quite a considerable force that had marched up against the American flank at Verdenne.130 Oberst Remer was just about to send his panzer regiment into the battle when he suddenly received a counter-order. At Bastogne—which was held surrounded by the Germans since 22 December—the situation had deteriorated sharply, and this compelled Hitler to hastily order the Führer Begleit Brigade to cancel its attack at Hotton and instead quickly regroup to the Sibret area, southwest of Bastogne.131 ’I tried to change this order because I didn’t want to break up an attack during the day,’ Remer wrote afterwards. ’Such a maneuver is an extremely dangerous one, and could result in disastrous consequences. However, the Corps commander ordered me to move immediately, regardless of my present situation and I was obliged to discontinue my attack at once. At this time, I withdrew from the line and started toward Bastogne. Tanks of the 116. Panzer-Division, which had been pinched off in the Marenne [a thousand yards northeast of Verdenne] area, were left stranded by my withdrawal.’132

A final attack by the 116. Panzer-Division on Boxing Day was completely torn apart, as described in a report issued by U.S. 333rd Infantry Regiment, ’Eight tanks, ten half-tracks, several motorcycles, jeeps and 80 infantrymen struck the positions held by Company I and a machine gun section of Company M, 333rd. Hitting a string of mines planted across the road, the lead tank exploded, careening into a ditch. Bazooka teams went to work on the other tanks.
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This American 30-in M5 anti-tank gun was knocked out through a direct hit during the Battle of Verdenne. The German projectile has passed right through the gun shield. (NARA 111-SC-198424)
 




Pfc Clarence E. Love, Cherry Valley, Ark., and Pfc Alex V. Tiler, Paris, Tenn., set a second tank afire, while Pfc Carl R. Tisdale, Parteskala, Ohio, and Pfc Robert C. Holloway, Englewood, Calif., blew tracks off a third. Sgt. James M. Scanlan, Danville, Ky., a one-man team, scored a hit on the fourth, then saw it strike a mine and explode.’133

German sources confirm the loss of four Panzer IVs in this engagement.134 Two more tanks were destroyed by U.S. artillery later in the day. In the end, Oberst Bayer, the German commander at Verdenne, had no choice but to order a breakout attempt toward their own lines. This was made during the night of 26 December. Of the seventeen Panthers and seven Panzer IVs fielded by 116. Panzer Division in the Battle of Verdenne, only nine Panthers and not a single Panzer IV returned. The participating regiments were in shambles.
 
This was the end of the famous ’Windhund’ Division’s offensive capabilities. Since the American aviation largely prevented the supply of replacements for losses and spare parts, the 116. Panzer-Division was down to no more than fifteen serviceable tanks, nine armored reconnaissance vehicles, thirty to forty armored personnel carriers, and a handful of assault guns after the Battle of Verdenne.135’On 27 December 1944, all further intentions to attack were finally given up or made impossible,’ the divisional commander Generalmajor von Waldenburg established.136

On 29 December, the 116. Panzer-Division’s casualties since the opening of the offensive were reported as 1,907 men—224 killed, 787 injured and 777 missing (of which the majority had been captured at Verdenne), plus 119 non-battle related casualties.137 The Division’s armored regiment, Panzer-Regiment 16, reported a loss of thirty Panthers and eleven Panzer IVs during the same period138—out of originally forty-three Panthers and twenty-two Panzer IVs.139 The two armored infantry regiments, Panzergrenadier-Regiments 60 and 156, were withdrawn from the first line in order to rest and recuperate already on the evening of 27 December.140

The role played by U.S. aviation in the defeat of the 116. Panzer-Division cannot be underestimated. Of particular importance were the air strikes against the ’Windhund’ Division’s supply roads between 23 and 26 December. ’The daily care of necessary fuel became worse and worse,’ wrote von Waldenburg. ‘Only with strict supervision, all kinds of substitutes and many difficulties were we able to make ends meet and keep the necessary services going. As a result of the air situation, the whole supply service, around 25 December, could be affected only at night.’141

The setback also had severe repercussions on the morale of the German Panzer Division, as confirmed by von Waldenburg: ’The offensive had brought a refreshing impulse to the troops, coupled with hopes, that it still would be possible to turn fate in favor of German arms or at least, to influence it in that way, so that many outstanding attainments by individual soldiers were made, in spite of the limited possibilities of the sixth year of war. On the other hand, the failure of the offensive gave place to a great depression and hopelessness. The leaders and men were very much disappointed by the complete failure of promises expressly made by the high command in respect to the reappearance of the German air force.’142 As we shall see later, this decline in morale, however was only temporary.
 
By this time, both sides were so much worn down that the 116. Panzer-Division’s front section would remain relatively quiet until 3 January. The Germans estimated U.S. losses in ’the area north of La Roche’ to seventy tanks ’from the 3rd and the 7th U.S. armored divisions.’143 According to U.S. sources, the 3rd Armored Division and the 771st Tank Battalion lost forty-four and nine Shermans respectively in December 1944.144 If the 7th Armored Division’s losses in and around Manhay are added, the sum is roughly equivalent to the German data. However, it should keep in mind that a large part of the 3rd Armored Division’s tank losses were caused by SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper twenty miles farther to the northeast. In any case, the losses were of such a magnitude that the 3rd Armored Division was withdrawn from the front lines on 30 December, after only ten days of battle, to rest and refit at Ouffet Ocquier in the rear area.145 During the relatively quiescent period that followed, the 116. Panzer-Division was able to recover some of its strength, not least in terms of the motivation of their soldiers.
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This Panther frmrrth^ lf^rPanzer-Divis^Twas put out of commission by a U.S. air strike that placed a bomb on the bridge in the town of Houffalize which the tank was passing. The tanKlies helpless in the shallow waters of Rover Ourthe (Orientale). (NARA 111-SC-199190)





THE GERMAN SPEARHEAD IS SMASHED

The excellent flight weather really arrived in the nick of time for the Americans. On 23 December, when the 116. Panzer-Division crossed the Ourthe and reached Grimbiemont, southeast of Marche, Oberst Meinrad von Lauchert’s 2. Panzer Division—the lead unit of the XLVII. Panzerkorps—stood only three miles farther to the southwest. While American air attacks prevented the 2. SS-Panzer-Division from coming to the 116. Panzer-Division’s aid from Baraque de Fraiture and Manhay in the east, the Allied aviation would seal even the 2. Panzer-Division’s fate.

By now, General von Luttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps—with the 2. Panzer-Division to the right and Generalleutnant Bayerleins Panzer Lehr division to the left—constituted the German offensive’s spearhead.The vanguard force of the 2. Panzer-Division was Kampfgruppe von Bohm—the reinforced armored reconnaissance battalion Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 2 under Hauptmann von Bohm—along with Kampfgruppe von Cochenhausen under the command of Major Ernst von Cochenhausen. During the night of 22 December, these units were resting at Hargimont, two to three miles southwest of Marche, with sights set on the Meuse at Dinant, twenty-five miles farther to the west.
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The same Panther today. After the war, it was salvaged and put on display in Houff alize. (Photo: The author)








BLACK CHRISTMAS IN SANKT VITH

At three in the afternoon on Christmas Day 1944, seventy Marauder bombers from the 323rd and 387th Bomb groups came in above the important road junction of Sankt Vith, through which most of the II. SS-Panzerkorps’ supplies were transported. The first planes dropped 1,000lb. HE bombs that broke the stone buildings, leaving combustible material open to the thousands of incendiary bombs dropped by the following bombers.1 In all, 135 metric tons of bombs were dropped on the small town.

Exactly twenty-four hours later, a second air strike was delivered against Sankt Vith, this time by an even larger force. 282 of RAF Bomber Command’s four-engine bombers—146 Lancasters, 136 Halifaxes, and twelve twin-engine Mosquitoes. These two attacks wiped out around 90 percent of the buildings in the town and it is estimated that between 1,000 and 1,500 people lost their lives, nearly one in four of the entire population.2 Those who were lucky to escape unharmed or with minor wounds, took refuge in villages of Sankt Vith. or farms in the surroundings, or, in some cases, even in the railway tunnel at Lommersweiler, three miles southeast of the town.

1 Geschichts- und Museumsverein Zwischen Venn und Schneifel: 60. Jahrestag der Befreiung Belgiens. www.zvs.be/60jahre/?Ardennenoffensive:%DCberblick:Zeittafel. 23 Nov 2012.

2 Ibid.
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A British Avro Lancaster bomber above the burning town
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Just a few days earlier, this whole area had been virtually void of American units. But this had changed drastically. In fact, now one of the largest U.S. troop concentrations on the entire Western Front was made right at Marche. One of Field Marshal Montgomery’s first measures when he took command of the Allied forces opposing the northern part of the German Bulge in the Ardennes had been to transfer the headquarters of Major General J. Lawton Collins’ U.S. VII Corps from the Roer front to the Marche sector. This headquarters arrived on 22 December. ’Lightning Joe’ Collins was a very experienced commanding officer. In 1942/1943 he had commanded the U.S. forces in the battle against the Japanese at Guadalcanal. At Collins’ disposal were some quite effective units under capable commands. Elements of Combat Command A, 3rd Armored Division, and the bulk of the U.S. 84th Infantry Division had by then already arrived at Marche. Further to the west, Montgomery positioned British XXX Corps to defend the Meuse between Namur and Givet, and north of Marche, the entire U.S. 2nd Armored Division and the 4th Cavalry Group (759th Light Tank Battalion, 635th Tank Destroyer Battalion, the 4th and 24th Cavalry Reconnaissance squadrons, and the 87th Armored Field Artillery Battalion) arrived during the night of 22 December.

Lieutenant General Brian G. Horrocks, the C.O. of British XXX Corps, had fought in both the trenches of the First World War and during the war of intervention against Soviet Russia in 1919. He served under Montgomery both in France in 1940 and in North Africa, and has been described as one of the British Army’s best generals during World War II. Horrocks also was a successful athlete and represented the U.K. in the modern pentathlon at the Olympic Games in Paris in 1924. Quite interestingly, Ernest N. Harmond—who in December 1944 commanded Horrocks’ neighboring American unit, U.S. 2nd Armored Division—meanwhile was the U.S. representative in this Olympic sport.

Fifty-year old Major General Ernest N. Harmond probably was as close as one could get to the flat image of the boorish American general in Hollywood war movies; undoubtedly one of the U.S. Army’s most experienced and skilled armor officer, he was known for having a language as rough as his voice. In Tunisia in 1943, his contribution was crucial to the turning of the American defeat at Kasserine to a defensive victory. It was not without reason that Harmond’s 2nd Armored Division was called ’Hell on Wheels.’ Just as was the case with the 3rd Armored Division, the 2nd Armored Division was a ’heavy armored division’ and thus had an assigned strength of 14,000 men and 390 tanks (including 252 Shermans) instead of the standard 10,500 men and 263 tanks. Its actual strength when it was deployed against German 2. Panzer-Division, however, was 392 tanks (236 Shermans and 158 Stuarts) and 14,500 men, with another nearly 4,000 in various support units.146 When the 2nd Armored Division was formed at Fort Benning, the l renowned Brigadier General George S. Patton had been in charge of training. In December 1944, ’Hell on Wheels’ was one of the most combat experienced divisions in the U.S. Army in Europe. It had participated in the fighting in North Africa in late 1942, during the invasion of Sicily in the summer of 1943, and the subsequent fighting in southern Italy, and in June 1944 it landed in Normandy. The division was subordinated to the Ninth Army at Roer when the order came on 20 December to urgently regroup to theVII Corps to stop German 5. Panzerarmee from reaching the Meuse.147
 
 
Collins’ corps, however, also was under heavy pressure from the German forces in the northeast—closest were the 116. Panzer-Division, and farther to the east the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division, and the 2. and 9. SS-Panzer divisions. Hence, Collins could not allocate more than the 2nd Armored Division, the 4th Cavalry Group, and the 84th Infantry Division’s 335th Infantry Regiment against German 2. Panzer-Division. Moreover, elements of the 335th Infantry were tied up by the other panzer division in the XLVII. Panzerkorps, Generalleutnant Bayerlein’s Panzer Lehr, at Rochefort, six miles southwest of Marche.

In the area between Marche and Rochefort, German 2. Panzer-Division’s vanguard force—consisting of upwards a thousand combat vehicles—was being prepared on the night of 22 December 1944 to continue its advance towards River Meuse at Dinant on the following day. Things did not look bright to the Allies. At Dinant, British 3rd Royal Tank Regiment (included in the 29th Armoured Brigade, 11th Armoured Division) was instructed to weigh only a delay action and then leave the town and retreat to Saint-Gérard, five miles west of the Meuse.148 This certainly fit the warlike commander of British XXX Corps, Horrocks, who seriously proposed Montgomery to let the Germans get across the Meuse in order to beat them at Waterloo as a tribute to the Duke of Wellington—which the British field marshal of course turned down.149

But everything changed through the high pressure that over the course of the night became established over the area, dispersing the low pressure that had held the bulk of the Allied aircraft grounded. At ten in the evening of 22 December, a counter-order from the 29th Armoured Brigade’s staff arrived. The war diary of the 3rd Royal Tank Regiment reads, ’Orders from Brigade cancelling previous orders. River must now be held at all costs.’150

At the air base A-78 at Florennes, twenty-five miles west of Dinant—the most forward airbase of the 9th Air Force, where the two Lightning-equipped 370th and 474th Fighter groups were stationed—the night was filled with tense anticipation. The eerie glow from the battlefield in the east, and sometimes even a distant artillery thunder, reminded the men of just how close the Germans were. The ground personnel worked frantically through the night to get all the Lightnings operational when the morning dawned. They were quite aware that it might well hang on to them if the Germans would succeed in reaching the air base or not.

At eight forty-five on the morning of 23 December, as the sun began to rise above the horizon, the first Lightning planes rose aloft from Florennes. Burdened by their bombs they set course for the area south of Marche. The first air strike hit the III. Abteilung of Volksartilleriekorps 766, en route to reach the vanguard units. Six trucks and three half-tracks were hit. One of the destroyed vehicles was the battalion’s only fuel truck, and with it, 900 U.S. gallons of gas was lost. This would prove fatal for von Cochenhausen’s and von Böhm’s forces.151
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Major General Joseph Lawton Collins (left), C.O. of U.S. VII Corps, was handpicked by Field Marshal Montgomery (center). ‘Lightning Joe’ Collins had led U.S. 25th Infantry Division, the so-called ‘Tropic Lightning Division,’ against the Japanese on Guadalcanal and in New Guinea from 1942 to 1943. Prior to the landing in Normandy, he was appointed to command the VII Corps. Collins died in 1987, at the age of 91. The third person in the picture is the commander of U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps, Major General Matthew B. Ridgway. He often was at odds with his superior Montgomery during the Ardennes Battle, and in this photo one can almost imagine Ridgways feelings towards the British field marshal. (US Army)





The Lightning units in Florennes despatched everything they had against the 2. Panzer-Division’s advance, with the 474th Fighter Group conducting nine separate missions before the sun went down that night. Even a twin-engine P-61 Black Widow night fighter from the 422nd Night Fighter Squadron participated in the attempts to stem the march towards the Meuse through air attacks.

Over the course of 23 December, Highway N 4 on both sides of the Ourthe (Ourthe Occidentale) became lined with more and more burning or burnt-out German vehicles.* The 2. Panzer-Division’s and Panzer Lehr’s supplies went up in flames. But the advancing columns still were spared from any air attacks, mainly because it took until well into the afternoon on 23 December before the Americans began to realize just how deep the 2. Panzer-Division actually had penetrated. Therefore, the 2. Panzer-Division was able to continue its offensive in the same way as in the previous days. The events of that day reinforced the impression of the men in the German vanguard units that the U.S. forces in the area had received a final blow.

As we saw earlier, with joint forces, von Böhm’s and von Cochenhausen’s forces had beaten Task Force Doan from U.S. 3rd Armored Division and one of the battalions of the 335th Infantry Regiment at Hargimont, three miles southwest of Marche, in the evening on 22 December. The Germans pursued their retreating opponents up to Jamodenne and Aye, only a mile west of Marche. From there, von Böhm’s force proceeded on its continued reconnaissance thrust during the night of 22 December. A thousand yards northwest of Marche, von Böhm’s armored reconnaissance vehicles, which were accompanied by both artillery and some tanks, swung onto the highway N 4 and brazenly followed this in sharp uphills and downhills a bit to the north. After Sinsin, four miles northwest of Marche, they turned left onto a minor road.152 At Haversin, two miles further down the road, the advance patrol spotted an American unit with armor and anti-tank guns: A couple of M5 Stuart tanks from the 4th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron and some anti-tank guns from the 635th Tank Destroyer Battalion had just hours earlier been ordered into this small village.153 The Americans sensed no danger when they suddenly were exposed to a terrible fire from mortars and anti-tank guns from the forested hill south of Haversin, where von Böhm had positioned his unit on both sides of the railway. The U.S. force withdrew, and near the adjacent village of Haid the Germans shortly afterwards came upon an American armored car which promptly was knocked out by tank fire. At midnight on the night of 22/23 December, von Böhm sent a radio message to the headquarters of the 2. Panzer-Division: ’Spearhead has reached the area east of Harsin, 6 kilometers [3.75 miles] west of Marche.’154
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0845 hrs in the morning on 23 December. With the clearing weather, Lockheed P-38 Lightning fighter-bombers of the 370th Fighter Group taxi out to take off on the U.S. air base A-78 at Florennes, 25 miles west of Dinant. Their target is the 2. Panzer-Division’s supply columns on the highway south of Marche. The single-seat Lightning had a top speed of 445 m.p.h. Tests showed that at around 9,000 feet altitude it was 10-12 m.p.h. faster than the German Fw 190 A and Bf 109 G. The Lightning was armed with a 20mm cannon and four 12.7 mm .50-caliber machine guns in the nose. The max bomb load was 4,000 lbs., in fact just as much as a the B-26 medium bomber. (NARA 3A-5151)
 




A jeep with three ’Greif’ men in American uniforms drove ahead to reconnoitre. The jeep raced forward at full speed on small dirt roads that snaked across snow-covered fields, and soon came up to Leignon, a village with a station on the railway line Namur - Arlon, five miles northwest of Haversin. There, the Germans disguised as Americans met a lonely American paratrooper, Private First Class Milo Huempfner from the 82nd Airborne Division’s 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion. During a transfer a few nights earlier, he had accidentally run into a ditch and wrecked an ammunition truck, and had been ordered to stay behind and await the arrival of a recovery vehicle. With a conspicuously cultivated English, one of the officers asked if there were more U.S. troops in the village. When Huempfner replied in the negative, the jeep continued northwards towards the town Ciney.155

Later in the afternoon Milo Huempfner heard a terrible noise from the village street—’like a bunch of freight trains coming—just one hell of a roaring.’156 He rushed up and saw Hauptmann von Böhm’s entire column—with armored vehicles, tanks with mounted infantry, and trucks with artillery in tow—booming out between the houses. Huempfner immediately ran to his truck, which he poured gasoline on and set on fire, and then he was helped by the stationmaster at the railway station, Victor DeVille, to hide. In terror, Huempfner heard how Germans interrogated DeVille, and how he assured them there were no Americans in the resort.* Having encountered nothing but an American jeep in Leignon—which they immediately shot up—von Böhm’s men continued along the small rural road across the hills to the southwest and towards the evening they entered the village of Conneux, just six miles from Dinant at the Meuse.157
 
Meanwhile the main strength of Kampfgruppe von Cochenhausen also had resumed their advance. Von Cochenhausen left a panzer grenadier battalion in the Hargimont section, where heavy fighting continued to rage throughout the day. This battalion captured On, a mile southwest of Hargimont, and set up a semi-circular defensive position.158 Von Cochenhausen’s main force surged forward in a northwesterly direction—just south of the area where von Böhm advanced—and via Humain, Buissonville, four miles northwest of Hargimont, was reached by noon on 23 December. From there the Germans carried on straight to the northwest and joined von Böhm’s reconnaissance unit in Conneux, having completed a sixteen-mile advance from Hargimont on mainly poor back roads.

Enthusiastic about the success, the divisional commander, Oberst von Lauchert, appointed von Cochenhausen to ordinary C.O. of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 304 (he had until then only been deputy commander since the ordinary regimental commander, Oberstleutnant Christian Kübler, was injured). However, the new regimental commander also had some disappointing information to von Lauchert: The force that had reached Conneux would soon have exhausted all its fuel. And no new supplies were available—probably the most prominent result of the air strikes against the Germans supply traffic.

Meanwhile, the American picture of the German thrust grew clearer. Major General Harmon, the commander of the 2nd Armored Division, was having coffee in the headquarters at Havelange, twelve miles north-northwest of Marche, when suddenly a lieutenant, Everett C. Jones, his head covered with a bloody bandage, arrived. Jones came from ’D’ Company of the 82nd Armored Reconnaissance Battalion, and it was his armored car that had been knocked out by the German tanks at Haid earlier that day. Harmon immediately realized that his opponent von Lauchert instead of seeking battle had bent westwards and now advanced at full speed towards the Meuse. After a quick glance at the map, he decided to immediately send his armor to Ciney, where they could attack the Germans in the flank. Harmon ran to a grove nearby, where an armored battalion bivouacked, and issued a most informal order, ’Get down that road to a town called Ciney … block the entrances and exits and start fighting. The whole damn division is coming right behind you!’159

At nine in the evening on 23 December, the spearhead of the 2nd Armored Division—the 66th Armored Regiment and the 41st Armored Infantry Regiment—clashed with the Germans at Leignon. The flank unit left behind by von Cochenhausen at this place was sufficient to repel the American attack, but through this engagement, the Germans became aware that the American 2nd Armored Division was in the area.**

Reports of quite heavy fighting also came from Hargimont, where U.S. 3rd Armored Division’s Task Force Doan renewed its attacks. In the afternoon the Americans managed to push back the German panzer grenadier battalion to the effect that their connection with the German advance units temporarily were severed. But the intervention of a small Luftwaffe air defense unit with 88mm guns forced the Americans to pull back again. On the evening of 23 December, the Germans had taken back Jamodenne and Aye, west of Marche.160

Generalleutnant Bayerlein’s Panzer Lehr Division, tasked to cover the 2. Panzer-Division’s southern flank, also ran into difficulties. During their march from Saint-Hubert towards Rochefort, three to four miles southwest of Hargimont, this division ran the gauntlet of repeated U.S. air strikes. For example, at Nassogne, southeast of Rochefort, a column of ten tanks and twenty trucks was bombed and strafed by Thunderbolt fighter-bombers from the 356th Fighter Squadron, 354th Fighter Group. At Forrières, a bit farther to the west, other Thunderbolts attacked Panzer Lehr with napalm and HE bombs. At two in the afternoon on 23 December, twin-engine Lightning fighter-bombers from the 474th Fighter Group exposed Bayerlein’s troops to intensive bombing just southeast of Rochefort. On top of that, Panzer Lehr only had part of its strength in the lead: Kampfgruppe 901 had been left behind to support the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division in the siege of Bastogne, and Bayerlein had allocated elements of Kampfgruppe 902 to cover the southern flank. Thus, it was a rather weak German force that finally reached Rochefort, which was defended by the 3rd Battalion of U.S. 335th Infantry Regiment and the tank destroyers of U.S. 638th Tank Destroyer Battalion.
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Heading for the Meuse. The vehicle closest in the picture is an Opel Blitz truck towing a 10-cm leichte Feldhaubitze 42 field howitzer. This gun had a firing range of eight miles. Kampfgruppe von Böhm had two such pieces.
(BArch, Bild 183-J28639/Friedrich Zschäckel)
 




The only way into Rochefort ran between two hills where the Americans had dug in. Bayerlein decided to attempt a surprise attack. ’Augen zu, und hinein!’—’Close your eyes and run in!’—he said, and a battalion from Panzergrenadier-Regiment 902 set off at full speed, only to end up in a hellish crossfire that rapidly forced them to turn back again.

Bayerlein now ordered the infantry to take up positions to besiege Rochefort, while the reinforced armored reconnaissance battalion under Major von Fallois—the Panther tanks of the 5. and 6. Kompanies/ Panzer-Lehr-Regiment 130, tank destroyers from schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 559, and motorized artillery—was ordered to take a long detour southwest of Rochefort, where the little river Lomme was crossed before the advance could continue.

Meanwhile, Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt urged on Oberst von Lauchert, ’Well done with Conneux. Keep it up.’161 Even though it was dark, and although they had been marching all day, the soldiers of Kampfgruppe von Böhm carried on from Conneux further west across the high plateau. The vehicles jolted on frozen, snow-covered roads. In the light of the full moon, large, open fields could be seen on both sides of the road, now and then an occasional grove of trees, and here and there a few farmhouses. But nowhere were any Allied troops to be seen. It appeared as though it would be an easy final leg to the Meuse. At midnight, the leading vehicles drove up the hill into the small hamlet of Foy-Nôtre Dame, three miles west of Conneux. There they had to halt because the fuel by that time definitely was on the wane. Von Böhm’s frozen and weary men also needed to rest.

Von Böhm spread out his unit around Foy-Nôtre Dame: the most forward position was established in among the snow-capped fir trees in the Seminaire Forest, west of Foy-Nôtre Dame, only two miles from River Meuse. The small group of Greif commandos continued the road to Dinant in their jeep in an attempt to seize the bridge over the Meuse through a coup. They were never seen again. A note on 24 December 1944 in the war diary for British 3rd Royal Tank Regiment shows what happened: ’0200 Jeep manned by enemy tried to run through RB posns but was stopped by mines. 2 German SS killed; one wounded taken PW.’162

The outcome of the German offensive now hung in balance. On 23 December, the commander of the 5. Panzerarmee, von Manteuffel, contacted Model, the German Army Group commander, and told him that it must be determined whether the offensive towards the west was to continue, or if the forces first were to concentrate on the capture of Bastogne. ’In any case,’ said von Manteuffel, ’the senior command must urgently bring forward the available reserve forces.’163 This request was forwarded to Hitler, who released the 9. Panzer-Division and the 15. Panzergrenadier-Division from the forces ready for the second attack wave.
 
While the latter was routed to the Bastogne section, the 9. Panzer-Division was instructed to regroup to the XLVII. Panzerkorps section to provide the 2. Panzer-Division with flank support.164 For its participation in the Ardennes Offensive’s second attack wave, the 9. Panzer-Division had been reinforced with schwere Panzer-Abteilung 301, equipped with twenty-nine heavy Tiger I tanks.

However, there were two major differences between the German and the Allied reinforcements. To begin with, the Allied reinforcements already were in place, unlike the fresh German units. Of even greater importance was the fact that the Allies were able to carry out their movements in the rear area without being significantly disturbed by the opponent, while the Germans from 23 December and onward met increasing difficulties to bring even the most basic supplies to the front because of Allied air attacks.

Just a mile north of Kampfgruppe von Böhm at Foy-Nôtre Dame, on the other side of a little valley with some bare, frozen broadleaf trees, British 3rd Royal Tank Regiment had set up its headquarters in the mansion Château de Sorinnes. The manor’s owner, Baron Jacques de Villenfagne, and his cousin, Philippe le Hardy de Beaulieu, volunteered to locate the German positions. Warmly dressed and wrapped in white rags, they set out on the frigid night of 23 December. The snow-covered terrain was dimly lit by the full moon, but this was nothing the two men needed—they knew the area like the back of their hands. Therefore, they also knew how to avoid being discovered by the German guards. They sneaked around the area, marked all German vehicles and positions, stopped at farmhouses and villages and asked home owners what they had seen.

It was four in the morning when they, frozen but full of information, stepped into the heat of the Château de Sorinnes. There the British officers waited, and for more than an hour, Villenfagne and de Beaulieu briefed the Britons. They carefully drew their sightings on a map of the area: In the hamlet of Liroux, a mile and a half northeast of Foy-Nôtre Dame, there were German tanks both inside the village and in small groves of trees south of the hamlet. All the way from there to Foy-Nôtre Dame, German armor, artillery and other combat vehicles were deployed so that they would be able to intervene if the British tried to attack. The German armored force in the Seminaire Forest, west of Foy-Nôtre Dame, also was mapped.165 This was invaluable information for the 3rd Royal Tank Regiment and the Allied aviation, which prepared the attack against the German armored spearhead.

In fact, several Belgian civilians played a prominent role in the mitigation of the German advance towards the Meuse on this Christmas. While the bulk of von Cochenhausen’s motorized forces had to stay behind at Conneux due to fuel shortages, the remaining gas was used for a small group of Panther tanks with mounted infantry, some trucks with ammunition and a fuel truck that in the wee hours continued west. The plan was to reach the Meuse before dawn, seize the bridge and hold it until the main force had received fuel to follow up. These Germans drove into the area just south of the section where von Böhm’s troops were.
 
It was about six on the morning of 24 December when an anti-tank mine went off under one of these Panthers at the road junction just north of the village of Celles, slightly more than a mile southwest of Foy-Nôtre Dame. The loud explosion woke up Madame Marthe Monrique, the proprietor of the inn ’Pavilion Ardennais’ which was located right at the crossroads. She lit a candle and went up to see what was going on. When the Germans saw a light in her window, they banged on the front door and asked if she knew anything about the condition of the road up to the Meuse.

The Belgian woman knew that the American troops had left in a rush and hardly would have had any time to plant mines on the road, but she was not particularly thrilled at the prospect of a return of the Nazi occupiers, so she lied and said that the Americans had been working day and night to plant mines on the road from Celles to Dinant. This made the Germans hesitant to use the road, which could have brought them to Dinant in less than an hour. Instead, they went out into the fields alongside the road, which delayed them decisively. Three years after the war the Belgian authorities decided to donate the blown up tank to Madame Monrique as a token of their appreciation. Today, it stands as a rather famous monument outside the inn ’Le Tank’ at Celles.

When the small German armored force finally reached the outskirts of Dinant, it was nearly dawn. The road into Dinant winds between steep cliffs, so the Germans had no choice but to try to surprise their opponents by running at full speed. But when they came around the last corner and saw the first houses in Dinant, five Sherman tanks stood ready to meet them.

These Shermans were of the British-modified Firefly version, equipped with an Ordnance QF (Quick Firing) 17-pound 76.2mm (3 inch) anti-tank gun—probably the best anti-tank gun in Western Allied service. With the armor piercing APC (Armor Piercing, Capped) grenade, the 17-pounder had a terrible penetration capacity. At a distance of 1,500 meters (1,640 yards), a Sherman Firefly’s 17-pounder Mk IV could penetrate an armor 104 mm (4.1 in) thick at an angle of impact of 30 degrees, which is more than twice the penetration capacity of the American M3 gun, and a 40 mm (1.5 in) deeper penetration capacity than that of the improved U.S. 3-in M1 anti-tank gun. With the 17-pounder, the British had an anti-tank gun that could match the German Panther’s KwK 25 gun. The British maintained that the 17-pounder’s new APDS (Armorpiercing discarding sabot) sabot round could penetrate virtually any German armor whatsoever.

However, as the German tanks approached on this gray morning, most of the British tank crews slept in their tanks, unsuspecting. At the last moment, Sergeant F. ’Geordie’ Probert, the tank commander on one of those British tanks, woke to the sound of running engines and the clanking of tank tracks. He flung the turret hatch open and what he saw made the blood freeze in his veins: Germans—heading towards the bridge!
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The remains of the Panther tank from Kampfgruppe Cochenhausen that was destroyed by a mine at the northern entrance of Celles is still in place as a reminder of Hitler’s great winter offensive in 1944/1945. (Photo: The author)
 




Probert kicked the sleeping gunner beneath him and shouted, ’Fire!’ In a panic, the gunner missed the closest German tank. The grenade passed above it and slammed into an ammunitions truck, which exploded with a roar that must have woken up the entire town. The fire spread and soon the fuel truck also blew up, with the final quantity of expensive German fuel. Moreover, when the Germans saw the long barrels with the 17-pounder’s characteristic thick muzzle brakes on the Sherman tanks, they realized that they would not have any chance to break through on the narrow road between houses and steep cliffs inside Dinant. The by now totally exhausted men of the 2. Panzer-Division’s armed reconnaissance force swiftly withdrew back to Foy-Nôtre Dame. There, the German Ardennes Offensive ended.

On 24 December, the turn had come to the Allies to attack. It started with furious artillery shelling of the 2. Panzer-Division’s spearhead. Through the observations made by Baron de Villenfagne, the British artillery was able to pin-point the German vehicles and artillery pieces. During eighty minutes of uninterrupted artillery fire, a large number of German tanks, half-tracked vehicles and artillery pieces were destroyed.
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A British Sherman, a so-called Firefly, equipped with a 17-pound gun, guarding the Meuse in December 1944. (US Army)
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After the battle. An American half-track vehicle passes a Panzer IV that apparently has received a terrible hit as its more than three inches thick frontal armor is completely torn up, and also has cracked further up. The hit angle indicates that the tank has been knocked out from the air, possibly by an RP-3 rocket-projectile fired by a British Hawker Typhoon fighter-bomber. (NARA 111-SC-199108/Pvt. T.J. Halkins)
 




Throughout 24 December, the artillery and aviation played the main role on the Allied side in the Celles/Foy-Nôtre Dame section. Basically it can be said that what the artillery did not destroy during the bombardment in the morning, was dealt with by the aviation during the rest of the day. The Germans were virtually helpless, since they barely had any fuel to move their detected vehicles and artillery pieces. The devastation caused by artillery and aircraft was so extensive that the pilots of the sixth formation of Lightning fighter-bombers despatched to the area by U.S. 379th Fighter Group on this 24 December, failed to find any targets to attack, because ’all sighted vehicles were burning,’ and another formation of Lightning (from the 474th Fighter Group) was bombing the wooded area east of Celles.

Next, Harmon’s U.S. 2nd Armored Division launched its attack, heavily supported from the air. While Combat Command B performed a pincer attack against Celles, Combat Command A struck against Buissonville, nine miles east of Celles, in order to cut off the German force’s links to the rear area. The operation could be carried out in the knowledge that the German fighting vehicles in the area had almost completely run out of fuel—Montgomery had received this information through German radio messages that had been decrypted by Ultra.
 
Harmon exploited the tactical air support to a maximum. When the 3rd Battalion, 67th Armored Regiment of Combat Command B’s northern force (Task Force A) met resistance from three Panther tanks up on the farm of Mahenne, just east of Foy-Nôtre Dame, the American tanks pulled back behind the trees in the Bois de Jauvelan Forest in the east and called in aviation. Twelve Lightning fighter-bombers appeared and destroyed the three Panthers, after which the American ground force could pass without any trouble.* (Later, these German tanks were fired upon by British Sherman crews who, unaware that they already were destroyed, claimed to have knocked them out.)

Combat Command B’s southern pincer (Task Force B) departed from Ciney and scampered down to the small village of Conjoux, slightly more than two miles east-northeast of Celles. From there, it continued over the hills south of the Coreu Forest, between Conjoux and Celles, and soon reached the southern outskirts of Celle, where its tanks began to shell the German positions in the north.

Meanwhile, during the American advance ten miles farther to the east, Combat Command A met only a fairly weak German resistance, and on the evening of 24 December, the Americans seized Buissonville.166 Here they captured thirty-eight vehicles of various kinds, four antitank guns and six medium artillery guns, plus one hundred and eight POWs.167

By taking Buissonville, the Americans had sealed off the 2. Panzer-Division’s spearhead at Celles and Foy-Nôtre Dame. The 2nd Armored Division’s frequent use of tactical air support, however backfired shortly after the seizure of Buissonville, when a formation of Lightning fighter-bomber pilots by mistake attacked the American tanks in the village. When Combat Command A then tried to push on to the southeast, the Americans came upon the slightly larger force that von Lauchert had grouped in Hargimont, southwest of Marche, and had to withdraw.

The Germans now clung their hopes to the promised reinforcements from the 9. Panzer-Division. This division’s forty-seven Panthers, twenty-eight Panzer IVs, and eleven Panzer IV/70s might very well have been able to turn the table to the German advantage—not to mention what the Tiger I tanks of schwere Panzer-Abteilung 301 could have accomplished. General von Lüttwitz wrote:

’To the Corps, it was a trying Christmas Eve. We knew that victory or defeat balanced on the edge of a knife. If we succeeded in holding the 2. Panzer-Division’s march route open, and if the 9. Panzer-Division’s main force arrived on time, so that it could join the 2. Panzer-Division early on 25 December, an Allied attack against the 2. Panzer-Division’s long flanks would no longer be so worrisome.’168

Without doubt, it was the aviation that saved the situation for the Allies. The devastating bombings of the German communication hubs both blocked the 9. Panzer-Division’s movement and deprived it of much of the gasoline required for a quick march to the front. On 23 December it was reported that the 9. Panzer-Division could move ’only relatively slowly.’169 On 24 December, the 9. Panzer-Division stood more or less motionless because U.S. air attacks had halted or destroyed its supplies of fuel.170 Owing to the intense air attacks against lines of communication, the decision was taken to suspend the efforts to bring the division’s schwere Panzer-Abteilung 301 to the front at Celles. Instead, its heavy Tiger I tanks were unloaded at Nörvenich near Düren, to be held in reserve at that place.

The operations officer in the 2. Panzer Division, Oberstleutnant Rüdiger Weiz, wrote, ’Towards the evening [on 24 December] the commander of the 9. Panzer-Division [Generalmajor Harald von Elverfeldt] arrived at the division’s command post. His orientation revealed that his Division had been held up for 24 hours owing to a lack of gasoline. The arrival of the first elements of this Division could therefore not be expected for this evening, less so the planned relief of the 2. Panzer-Division in the course of the next 24 hours. Neither had the situation with the adjacent units turned to our advantage. Since both pockets reported that their supply of ammunition and gas would not allow them to continue the battle much longer, and since gas available at the front was not sufficient for the withdrawal of these forces, the nearly unsolvable question arose how to bring help to the elements fighting in the front line.’171

Panzer Lehr also was prevented, chiefly through the American aviation, from coming to the 2. Panzer-Division’s aid. Thunderbolt-equipped 379th Fighter Squadron of the 362nd Fighter Group alone was reported to have destroyed forty-five trucks in a single column in Panzer Lehr’s rear area.172
 
’The day began with a brilliant clear winter weather and a very active enemy aviation,’ a concerned General von Lüttwitz wrote for 25 December.173

On the same day, Panzer Lehr’s commander, Bayerlein, established that an entire anti-aircraft battery had been destroyed in an air attack while on the march, and that the road all the way from Champlon was lined with burned vehicles that had been loaded with supplies to the front. Moreover, Panzer Lehr’s armor repair shop in Birresborn was wiped out in a bombing raid. From Bayerlein’s forward observation post on this sunny Christmas Day, he could see swarms of Allied fighter-bombers carry out a massacre on the 2. Panzer-Division’s encircled troops.

In theory, the Germans still had a chance to resume their offensive. At a conference on 25 December, Generalfeldmarschall Model argued that it was high time to bring in all the reserves that stood at the offensive’s disposal. If this was carried out, he argued, all the Allied forces east of the Meuse could be destroyed if the 5. Panzerarmee turned north after it had reached the Meuse to link up with the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, which was supposed to continue westwards.174 He received the enthusiastic support from the 5. Panzerarmee’s commander, von Manteuffel, who said, ’Give me the reserves and I will take Bastogne and reach the Meuse!’175 However, both commanders agreed that everything depended on the neutralization of the Allied aviation. Von Manteuffel stressed that ’the reserves must have sufficient amounts of fuel,’ and that he needed air support. Hitherto, he said, he ‘had only seen the enemy’s air force.’176 Model seemed to turn to somewhat higher powers as he emphasized that the basic conditions for success were ’weather conditions that preclude enemy air operations.’177

In regard of the fact that the Luftwaffe in the West no longer had the ability to challenge the Allies for air superiority, and that no new extensive low pressure ridge could be expected over the next few days, the supreme commander in the West, von Rundstedt, was more realistic when he suggested Hitler call off the offensive because the supply routes had been cut by Allied air attacks.178 But to cancel the attack was out of the question to Hitler. To the contrary, he had set new plans—as we shall see later.

Meanwhile, bitter fighting continued to rage between U.S. 2nd Armored Division and German 2. Panzer-Division at Celles and Hargimont. On Christmas morning, British 3rd Royal Tank Regiment also joined the fight. Its Shermans drove through the valley between Sorinnes and Foy-Nôtre Dame while RAF Typhoon fighter-bombers came down at low altitude and fired their rocket projectiles against enemy vehicles. Shortly afterwards, the British troops were advancing between burning and smoking wrecks of German vehicles and guns, and took control of the little hamlet of Foy-Nôtre Dame. There they captured 148 German survivors, among them Hauptmann von Böhm.

Slightly more than a mile farther to the south, the surviving Germans of Kampfgruppe von Cochenhausen meanwhile had fled into the deciduous forests east of Celles, where they held out on Christmas Day. The Americans had no need to challenge them in direct combat, but instead called in air and artillery strikes. The American ground troops simply marked the wooded area where Germans had been identified with smoke grenades, and then several waves of fighter-bombers attacked until finally all German gunfire had ceased.
 
When a group of Panzer IV tanks later on Christmas Day attempted to counter-attack, the Americans called in artillery. The artillery of the 2nd Armored Division blasted more than two thousand grenades against the area. Afterwards, the American troops encountered the burned out wrecks of seven Panzer IVs and ten other vehicles.179

There was a glimmer of hope on the German side when a first task force from their 9. Panzer-Division reached Humain, two miles southeast of Buissonville, at three in the afternoon on 25 December.180 This force was able to block the attempts by U.S. 2nd Armored Division’s Combat Command A to break through towards Hargimont, another three miles farther to the southeast. Thus, Hauptmann Friedrich Holtmeyer’s Panzerjäger-Abteilung 38 of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2, and Panther tanks of the 9. Panzer-Division’s Panzer-Regiment 33 could regroup from this section to Rochefort. The aim was to strike from that place to relieve the encircled troops, barely ten miles farther to the north. However, owing to the Allied air superiority the Germans had to wait until darkness before they undertook any of these movements, and this resulted in new difficulties.181 ’It proved difficult,’ wrote the 2. Panzer-Division’s Oberstleutnant Rüdiger Weiz, ’to pull out elements from the front and to assemble them on narrow roads and in pitch darkness; the operation was also disturbed by the presence of enemy groups placed between Hargimont and Rochefort, and therefore lasted all through the night. Uncertain reconnaissance reports occasioned a halt shortly before Rochefort, but with beginning daylight it was possible to reach the area northeast of Custinne in a rapid advance via Ciergnon. In spite of strong enemy artillery and even stronger armored superiority, we came up to 900 yards of the pocket by afternoon [on 26 December].’182

But there the Americans subjected the relief force to what the Germans described as ’a hellish fire’ from artillery led by artillery observation planes and several formations of fighter-bombers.183 In addition to this, according to the German report, eighty American tanks counter-attacked.184According to a U.S. report, however, the battle was decided mainly by the aviation and the artillery.185 Several Panthers were knocked out and Hauptmann Holtmeyer was killed.186 The relief force was forced to revert to the defense.

The two efforts made by Panzer Lehr on this Boxing Day to relieve Kampfgruppe von Cochenhausen met the same fate—both were repulsed mainly by Allied air attacks.187 Moreover, Panzer Lehr’s own supply roads were cut off through a bombing attack by the 406th Fighter Group that destroyed every house in Saint-Hubert with the exception of the church.
 
Only now were all the new forces requested by Model and von Manteuffel released. On 26 December, the 12. and 340. Volksgrenadier divisions, and the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division received orders to regroup to the 5. Panzerarmee. But this was too late. Even the war diary of von Rundstedt’s headquarters noted that ’all plans are infeasible’ if it would not be possible to rapidly solve and repair ’the damage to the railways and other lines of communication caused by the massed enemy air attacks in recent days, as well as their consequences to the transport and traffic situation (of which the most important is that owing to the fuel situation it has become almost impossible to bring forward supplies).’188

After the war, von Manteuffel said, not without bitterness, ’I received the remaining reserves only on 26 December—and by then they could not be moved. They stood still due to a lack of fuel—stranded along a hundred-mile stretch—just when they were needed most.’189 Even where fuel was available, the Allied air strikes reached such an intensity that it became almost impossible to traverse the roads in the German rear area in daylight. Generalmajor Richard Metz, artillery commander in the 5. Panzerarmee, described the situation on Boxing Day, ’The air attacks were so powerful that even single vehicles for the transport of personnel and motorcycles could only get through by going from cover to cover.’

On that same 26 December, Generalfeldmarschall Model’s war diary noted, ’On the entire front there were very heavy enemy low-level attacks with a focus on the 5. Panzerarmee which made movement and supply on the battlefield nearly impossible for the whole day. An officer sent by the General Inspector der Panzertruppen has reported considerable destruction of vehicles as a result of low-level attacks. The Luftwaffe could only offer local and temporary relief in the face of the massive use of enemy aircraft over the battle zone.’ Before the end of the day, Model had been compelled to order Heeresgruppe B to ’cancel all supply traffic at daytime.’190 At that stage, this had already in practice been implemented. On that day, the Allied airmen reported ’a considerable decrease in enemy vehicular traffic during daylight hours.’191

At 1530 hrs on 26 December, Model gave the 2. Panzer-Division permission to withdraw to Rochefort.192Kampfgruppe von Cochenhausen was ordered to destroy all heavy equipment. Quite curiously, the encircled troops managed to make it to Rochefort without much disturbance by the enemy. Von Manteuffel wrote, ’The enemy followed only hesitantly and refrained from attacking our retreat route.’193

Meanwhile, on the night of 26 December, the Luftwaffe made a desperate attempt to relieve the 2. Panzer-Division by despatching nine twin-engine Junkers 88 bombers from bomber group I. Gruppe/ Lehrgeschwader 1 against the marshalling yards of Namur-Flawinne. Without being able to accomplish much, the Germans lost three Ju 88s, including the one flown by the unit commander, Hauptmann Rüdiger Panneborg. At the same time—at midnight on the night of 26/27 December—German 3. Jagd-Division reported that it intended to support the armor through low-level attacks in formations of thirty fighters each in the area of Dinant - Marche - Rochefort every five minutes from 0630 hrs in the morning on 27 December.194 But by that time, the Battle of the Meuse had already been decided. At one o’clock that night, the poor remnants of Kampfgruppe Cochenhausen—six hundred men on foot, with Major von Cochenhausen in the lead—reached the German lines at Rochefort.195
 
The mopping-operation carried out by American 2nd Armored Division’s Combat Command B against the last German positions at Celles is described in an American military study, ’Two Task Forces, each following an independent axis, each consisting of a reinforced battalion, secured the high ground overlooking the town. Then, in a coordinated attack, the combat command entered and cleared the village. When interviewed after the war the German general who commanded the elements of the 2nd Panzer Division that were trapped in the woods, stated that his vehicles were practically immobilized due to the shortage of gasoline.’196

Most depictions of the Ardennes Battle provide heavily exaggerated figures for the 2. Panzer-Division’s losses at Foy-Nôtre Dame/Celles at Christmas 1944. This can be explained by the fact that the Allies published greatly inflated figures immediately after the battle: Eighty-two tanks, eighty-three anti-tank guns and artillery pieces, and five hundred other vehicles, together with 1,213 prisoners of war and about 900 killed German soldiers. It should be noted that eighty-two tanks was more than the 2. Panzer-Division had at its disposal when the Ardennes Offensive began (fifty-six Panthers and twenty-eight Panzer IVs). These figures may have been the result of double-counting. Baron de Villenfagne from Château de Sorinnes walked around the area around Celles and carefully counted the German losses. He came up with different figures as he noted in a report, ’It was a great cemetery of destroyed vehicles and abandoned equipment, half-buried in the snow. The Germans left behind 840 vehicles, including 40 tanks and we counted 900 dead Germans in the woods and fields to the north of Celles.’197 But in terms of armor losses, even these figures are too high.

According to what military historian Jeff Dugdale has found in previously lost German original documents, the 2. Panzer-Division lost a total of thirty tanks in December 1944—eighteen Panthers and twelve Panzer IVs—plus two Flakpanzers, two StuG III assault guns, seven armored cars, and seven SPGs.198 It is likely that some of the thirty-five armored vehicles lost by the division were misidentified as ’tanks’ when the first count of the spoils at Foy-Nôtre Dame/Celles was made. But several captured U.S. vehicles also were to be found among the materiel abandoned or otherwise lost by the 2. Panzer-Division at Christmas 1944. In any case, it is probable that the battle of envelopment at Foy-Nôtre Dame/Celles accounted for most of the 2. Panzer-Division’s materiel losses in December 1944. However, the Germans hardly could have lost more than twenty tanks in that section.
 
CONCLUSIONS AND RESULTS

The results of the first twelve days of the German Ardennes Offensive largely confirmed the assumptions that had been made by the German High Command before the battle. As long as the Allies were deprived of their air support, the Germans were able to attain great success—with the exception of the I. SS- Panzerkorps in the north, which proved to be far less effective than the German planners had anticipated.

General von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps—the 2. Panzer-Division and Panzer Lehr—recorded impressive numerical successes: On 28 December, von Lüttwitz’ headquarters compiled a report of the number of enemy combat vehicles that had been destroyed or captured by the corps since the offensive had begun, and this included 325 tanks or tank destroyers and 267 other armored vehicles.199The other armored corps in the 5. Panzerarmee, LVIII. Panzerkorps—where the 116. Panzer Division constituted the main force—reported that in the same period it had destroyed 147 American tanks and 35 enemy armored reconnaissance vehicles, ’immobilized’ three American tanks, and taken a booty which included four American tanks.200 This gave a grand total for the 5. Panzerarmee’s both armored corps of 472 U.S. tanks or tank destroyers. These figures are actually quite well in line with available U.S. loss statistics, which indicate that U.S. First and Third Armies may have lost up to of 800-900 tanks and tank destroyers in the Ardennes in December 1944.
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On the small square in front of the church of Foy-Nôtre Dame, some of the pitiful remnants of Kampfgruppe von Böhm can be seen. To the left one of the force’s thirteen Sonderkraftfahrzeug 251 half-track vehicles, next to a Sonderkraftfahrzeug 234/2 Puma armored car. At the front of the picture we can see a 10.5cm leichte Feldhaubitze 42. German steel helmets, Panzerfausts and other equipment is strewn on the ground.
 





THE MASSACRE AT BANDE

German 2. Panzer-Division barely had seized Bande at Highway N 4, four miles southeast of Marche, when a force from the Nazi Security Service SD (Sicherheitsdienst) arrived at the small village. They were seeking retribution for an incident on 5 September 1944, when the Belgian resistance movement had attacked a German ammunition dump in the vicinity and killed three soldiers. On the morning of Christmas Eve, the SD men went from house to house in Bande, taking away all men from the age of 17 and up. These were brought to the remains of a burned down sawmill where they were interrogated and in many cases tortured. Officers from the 2. Panzer-Division tried in vain to put an end to the abuses. That same evening, the SD men took thirty-two of the prisoners to Café de la Poste, on the other side of the main road, where all were executed. On the following day another two men were killed by the SD in the same place.

Only one of the perpetrators, a Swiss volunteer, was identified after the war. In 1948 a Swiss military court sentenced him to 20 years in prison, but he was pardoned after twelve years.
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Memorial dedicated to the executed Belgians in Bande. (Photo: The author)
 




This illustrates not only the extent of the tank battles during the first two weeks of the Ardennes Battle, but also the complete superiority of the German tanks. The 2. Panzer-Division’s tank losses between 16 and 31 December can, minus the stock that was abandoned in Celles area, be estimated at between ten and fifteen tanks. Panzer Lehr lost no more than six Panthers between 16 December 1944 and 15 January 1945.201 In addition to that, seven Panzer IVs were lost between 16 and 31 December.202 Added to this, again excluding the abandoned equipment in the Celles area, the two armored divisions altogether lost about fifteen tank destroyers/assault guns. Overall, this means that the XLVII. Panzerkorps on average destroyed eight to ten American tanks or tank destroyers for each own corresponding loss—not included the abandoned equipment in the Celles area. Until 23 December, i.e. before the Battle of Celles, the 2. Panzer-Division’s personnel losses since the beginning of the offensive amounted to no more than forty-five killed, thirty-seven missing, and 173 wounded.203 Panzer Lehr’s casualties during the same period were on about the same level.

That the battle still ended in a German defeat, strategically and tactically, confirms the crucial role played by the Allied aviation—especially since the turning point came only with the shift in weather so that air operations on a larger scale could be carried out. If the Germans, through their armor, were superior on the ground, the Allies clearly had an even greater superiority in the air, and this proved to be decisive.

It is hardly conceivable that the 2. and 9. SS-Panzer divisions—two rested armored divisions—could have been prevented from relieving the 2. Panzer-Division and/or SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper without the efforts of the Allied air forces. The Allied aviation also played an important, though less decisive, role in the elimination of the 116. Panzer-Division’s offensive capability. What was of greater importance than anything else was the strategic defeating of General von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps, and particularly its up to then so successful spearhead, the 2. Panzer-Division. The fact that this unit was first deprived of its flow of supplies, and then enveloped, after which the relief forces (Panzer Lehr and the 9. Panzer-Division) were prevented from breaking the encirclement, so that the encircled German forces finally could be wiped out, was due more than anything else to the Allied aviation.
 
Another most important effect of the extensive Allied air attacks against the roads leading to the Ardennes Front, was that the third German assault wave never was employed. Von Rundstedt instead decided to use this force, amounting to about a dozen divisions, including 450 tanks and tank destroyers, in a new relief offensive further south—more about this later. In view of the circumstances, this probably was a rational decision, since the Allied air power made it impossible to bring forward sufficient supplies even to the units already in the first line in the Ardennes.

Besides SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper’s largely self-inflicted destruction, the defeat at Foy-Nôtre Dame/Celles inflicted a death blow to the German offensive against the Meuse and a crucial turning point in the Ardennes Battle.* More than anyone else, the victory belonged to the British Field Marshal Montgomery.**
 
Indeed, ’Lightning Joe’ Collins, Major General Harmon, and the U.S. troops commanded by them played the main role on the ground, and the victory definitely would have been inconceivable without them and the American aviation. On the ground, the victory belonged to these American troops. But it was Montgomery who had positioned Collins’ excellent VII Corps and Harmons’ tough ’Hell on Wheels’ Division in the strategic positions from where they were able to defeat both the 2. Panzer-Division and other German forces in the area. It should be kept in mind that U.S. First Army’s C-in-C, Lieutenant General Hodges, only three days earlier had wanted to use these forces at Sankt Vith—in a battle whose outcome would have been uncertain, to say the least. By instead allowing the Germans to advance until their supply lines were stretched thin, and then wait and see which opportunities emerged, Montgomery created the conditions for this brilliant U.S. victory. That many depictions of the battle fail to give him ’credit,’ is quite symptomatic of the aversion to the eccentric British field marshal that has propagated through time.

With the German offensive against River Meuse halted, the battle now focused on the town that has become synonymous with the Ardennes Battle, Bastogne. Thus Montgomery’s antagonists within the Allied command, Patton and Bradley, came in the limelight.
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U.S. 2nd Armored Division ‘Hell on Wheels’ arrives at the battle zone in the Ardennes in December 1944. (NARA SC 198342)






THE ATTACK THAT NEVER WAS

For a couple of days, German 25. Armee of Heeresgruppe H stood ready for an attack from its positions just east of the Maas (Meuse) estuary and directly towards Antwerp, about forty-five miles farther to the southwest. This thrust was not included in the original plan for Operation ‘Wacht am Rhein/Herbst Nebel.’ But then Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt on 18 December—owing to the fact that the 12. SS-Panzer-Division was stalled on 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s northern flank—ordered the cancellation of the 15. Armee’s planned follow-up attack from the northeast, he also ordered Heeresgruppe H to prepare the 25. Armee for an attack. According to von Rundstedt’s instructions, Antwerp was to be taken through the interaction of the 25. Armee from the north and the 6. SS-Panzerarmee from the south.1 The 25. Armee would employ three infantry divisions and the 6. Fallschirmjäger-Division.

On 19 December, von Rundstedt repeated his intention to despatch what he described as ‘an important complementary attack’ by the 25. Armee.2 But on the next day, the Red Army launched an attack in Hungary which would have consequences for the Ardennes Offensive. On 26 December, the same day that the Soviet forces encircled Budapest, Generaloberst Heinz Guderian, chief of the German Army Staff, arrived at Hitler’s headquarters on the Western Front, the ‘Eagle’s Nest.’ Guderian described the crisis in Hungary and was able to convince both Hitler and von Rundstedt about the need to reinforce the German positions in this sector at the expense of the Western Front. Since von Rundstedt did not want to weaken the Ardennes Front, nor Heeresgruppe G in the south, he had no choice but to deploy units from the section where Heeresgruppe H was strongest, namely 25. Armee. This immediately sent two divisions to the eastern front, the 344. and 711. Infanterie divisions. In practice this meant the death knell for von Rundstedt’s planned attack against Antwerp from the north.
 
1 OKW/WFSt/Op (H) West Nr 774427 g.Kdos.Chefs. 18. 12. 1944; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 151.

2 H.Gru.H. Ia Nr. 9/44 g.Kdos.Chefs. 19. 12. 1944; Jung, p. 156.
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(NARA, III-SC-341654)





* Sixty-six from the 9th Air Force (forty-two medium bombers, fourteen Thunderbolts, two Lightnings, and eight twin-engine C-47 Skytrain transport planes), eight from the 8th Air Force (four Mustangs, three Thunderbolts, and a B-17 Flying Fortress), nine Lancasters from RAF Bomber Command, and a Typhoon fighter-bomber from British 2nd Tactical Air Force.

* On the evening of 24 December, the Germans reported the following airfields badly damaged by air attacks: Giessen, Nidda, Ettinghausen, Altenstadt, Rhein-Main, Babenhausen, Grossostheim, Zellhausen, and Merzhausen. (National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/637. CX/MSS/T 409/45 West.)

* Today the road is designed N 30.

* As has been explained previously, the Belgian River Ourthe really consists of two rivers: on one hand, the Ourthe Occidentale (Western Ourthe), which from the Libramont runs to the northeast, about nine miles northwest of Bastogne. At a point west of Houffalize it flows into the Ourthe Orientale (Eastern Ourthe), which from the heights just north of the northernmost tip of Luxembourg’s border with Belgium runs to the southwest and west. The two joined river parts then continue from the area west of Houffalize in a northwesterly direction, passing through the resorts of La Roche and Hotton, then a bit further north bending to the north to eventually flow into the Meuse. In the main text above, the Ourthe refers to the ‘united’ river, the northwestern pace through La Roche and Hotton.

** The infantry of ‘F’ Company of the 2nd Battalion, 325th Glider Infantry Regiment (82nd Airborne Division) and a company of the 509th Parachute Infantry Battalion. (National Archives and Records Administration: 325th Glider Infantry Regiment: Combat Interview Colonel George Billingslea, CO, March 24, 1945.) This infantry was supported by tanks from ‘D’ Troop of the 87th Cavalry Squadron (of the 7th Armored Division), a platoon of anti-tank guns from the 643rd Tank Destroyer Battalion, three 105mm field howitzers from the 589th Field Artillery Battalion (of the 106th Infantry Division), and four of the 203rd Antiaircraft Artillery Battalion’s half-tracks, each equipped with a quadrupel M51 .50-Cal. ‘Quad Fifty’ antiaircraft gun mounting. (National Archives and Records Administration: Morning Reports of ‘D’ Troop, 87th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.)

* The U.S. Army aviation had no real dive-bombers, but what the report referred to were ordinary fighter-bombers that carried out their attacks while diving.

* In Fosse, Thompson was evacuated for medical treatment, at first to Liège and then to Paris. However, his Company commander was not informed about this, with the result that Thompson was written off as missing. On 13 January 1945, his wife Katherine, who only days earlier had given birth to the couple’s daughter, received a telegram from the War Department that her husband was missing in combat since 24 December 1944. Fortunately this was not true, and after eight anguished days Katherine Thompson received a new telegram announcing that Meron was alive and was only wounded. (Via Stephen Thompson.)

* Rosebaum had been awarded a Silver Star on 7 September 1944.

* However, a formation of Lightnings also mistakenly attacked U.S. positions during this day’s concentrated airstrikes against Grandmenil, with the result that three U.S. officers and twenty-six enlisted men were killed.

* This refers to the western tributary of the Ourthe, which from the Libramont area south of Bastogne runs to the northeast. The elements of 116. Panzer-Division that meanwhile also crossed the Ourthe, crossed the part of the river that further to the northeast runs in a northwesterly direction.

* Over the next two days, Huempfner would earn fame for his one-man guerrilla war against German forces in the area. When the 2nd Armored Division on Christmas Day drove the Germans from the village, they were met by Huempfner with eighteen German prisoners of war. For this he was awarded with the Distinguished Service Cross. He has also been honored with a plaque on a wall in Leignon.

** Previously, the Germans had identified the 84th Infantry and 3rd Armored divisions at Marche. (National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636 CX/MSS/R 404 (c) 63. BT 266 West.)

* Today, this is documented in pictures and words on a plaque on one of the houses of the farm estate Mahenne.

* The extent to which the German offensive shook the American confidence, is evidenced by the SHAEF’s American chief of staff, General Walter Bedell Smith, who in a conversation with Bradley, according to what the latter said after the war, as late as on 26 December 1944 expressed the belief that the Germans ‘will be across the Meuse in 48 hours.’ (Bradley, A Soldier’s Story, p. 482.)

** Military historian John Ellis, who is quite critical of the British field marshal, asserts that Montgomery’s restriction of the counterattack to ‘the western tip of the German penetration’ at Celles was ‘breath-takingly inadequate’ and concludes that ‘Montgomery did not really shine during the Allied counter-offensive in the Ardennes.’ (Ellis, Brute Force, p. 435.) But this review does not take the relation of forces into account. By this time, the Germans still had a quite powerful military capacity along the entire northern front sector of the Ardennes which had been assigned to Montgomery’s command. Even when Montgomery ten days later—after considerable Allied reinforcements had been brought forward while the German troops had been significantly worn down, and others had been transferred to the Bastogne section—launched his attempt to seal off the German Ardennes Bulge from the north, the troops under his command ran into severe difficulties. If Montgomery had not ‘restricted’ his attack to ‘the western tip’ in December 1944, but instead had attacked the SS Panzer divisions along the northern flank (as also suggested by Bradley and Patton), it probably would have resulted in such severe Allied losses that the cleansing of the Ardennes Bulge would have cost much more time and lives than now actually was the case.





CHAPTER 8

BASTOGNE: "NUTS!"

"They have us surrounded. The poor bastards!"

U.S. paratrooper of 101st Airborne Division in December 19

THE SIEGE OF BASTOGNE

’Nuts’—thus replied Brigadier General Anthony McAuliffe, the U.S. commander in Bastogne and the deputy commander of the 101st Airborne Division, when the Germans urged him to surrender on 22 December 1944. This expression could just as well be used to summarize the completely mad and furious battle that raged for this small Belgian town. During a couple of bloody winter weeks, both Americans and Germans deployed the best of what they had available on the Western Front in a tug of war over who would ultimately come out on top in the ruins of Bastogne. How many human lives this claimed has never been possible to determine, but close to sixty percent of the town was destroyed, as well as most of the eighty villages and smaller communities that lay within a ten-mile radius of the town. In this area of death and destruction, forests were burned and sooty, and fields plowed up by countless shells were riddled with smashed, twisted and burned military equipment of all kinds. This is the story of the Battle of Bastogne.

Bastogne is an ancient communications hub. Here, on the plains between the hilly areas around Wiltz in the east and at Houffalize and La Roche in the northwest, everything from nomads in prehistory to later-day traders and armies have passed in a north - south direction. In 1944 the town had a population of about four thousand people, and had an important station on the railway between Libramont in the southwest and Sankt Vith in the north. Several of the most important roads in the region converged here— roads leading from Sankt Vith and Houffalize in the north, from Clervaux in the east, from Arlon and Neufchâteau in the south, and from Marche in the west. It was the most important communications hub in the area where the 5. Panzerarmee was advancing on its march towards the Meuse. Therefore, in his instructions for Operation ’Wacht am Rhein’/ ’Herbstnebel,’ Hitler had particularly stressed how important it was to take this town. The fact that U.S. 101st Airborne Division reached the town before the Germans, was a serious dash of the Nazi dictator’s plans.
 
The town itself was no more about a mile and a half in length from the southwest to the northeast along the railway line Libramont - Sankt Vith, and extended about a thousand yards from the west to the east. But the battle for Bastogne was no urban warfare. The battle was fought in the surrounding villages, on the major fields that spread out to the north, the west, the south and the east of the town, and in the forests in the northeast and the southwest.

Since the Germans on 18 December had conquered Neffe east of Bastogne, this was the frontline just outside the entrance to the city, but to assault in this area, the attacker would have to advance across almost completely flat plains against a defender—the 501st Parachute Infantry Regiment—which was entrenched in stone buildings. To the north and the south of Neffe, the same open landscape spread out, over which the Americans had a perfect view from their higher-lying positions in Bastogne (the altitude difference is up to 200 feet). On the other side of the railway line between Bastogne and Bizory, northeast of the city, about two and a half miles from the population center, the 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment held positions in the planted forest Bois Jacques—where the spruce trees stood close, in straight rows—and also on both sides of the main road from Bastogne to Houffalize in the north. About a thousand yards west of this highway, the 502nd Parachute Infantry Regiment took over. Its defensive positions were anchored at Longchamps and Monnaville—three miles north-northwest of Bastogne—from where the defenders dominated the fields between the American positions and the forests a bit farther away in the north, the west and the east. This Regiment’s 1st Battalion also held Champs, three miles northwest of Bastogne. Here again, just like further south, the landscape was dominated by open fields. In the area just north of the main road from Bastogne to Marche, a forward position was held at Flamierge, about four miles northwest of Bastogne, by the 1st Battalion, 401st Glider Infantry Regiment—incorporated into the 327th Glider Infantry Regiment as its 3rd Battalion. Four miles farther to the southeast, south of the main road and two miles west of Bastogne, the 1st Battalion, 327th Glider Infantry Regiment had taken up positions in the village of Senonchamps. Here the Germans had the advantage of being able to hide their attack preparations in the forest Bois de Fragotte just west of Senonchamps. The 327th Glider Infantry Regiment also was responsibile for the defense south and southeast of Bastogne. To the south, just outside of Bastogne’s industrial area, the 326th Airborne Engineer Battalion, subordinateto the 327th Glider Infantry Regiment, had established its positions. Another two miles to the east, slightly more than a mile southeast of Bastogne, the 2nd Battalion of the 327th Glider Infantry Regiment held the village of Marvie. On this battalion’s left (northern) flank stood the 501st Parachute Infantry Regiment east of Bastogne. In all, the American lines around Bastogne extended over a length of some twenty miles. The surrounded area was at most sixmiles wide from the west to the east and five miles deep from the north to the south.
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Bastogne in the winter of 1944/1945. The photograph, taken from the east-northeast, clearly shows the open fields that dominated the landscape around Bastogne. (US Army)





Since many people had fled from Bastogne and the surrounding villages during the three days preceding the closing of the German ring around the town, and the acting mayor Leon Jacquin had ensured that large amounts of flour were brought into the city, plus the fact that meat and dairy products could be received from farms within the encircled area, there was no immediate food shortage. However, during the first few days the Americans had to make do with the ammunition they had brought along when they arrived at the town. A further difficulty was that the Airborne Division’s field hospital had been captured by German 116. Panzer-Division northwest of Bastogne on the evening of 19 December.

The Battle of Bastogne was no ordinary siege. One of its features was that the encircled troops were superior to their besiegers in most respects. When the 101st Airborne Division began to move in the direction of Bastogne on 17/18 December 1944, it had a strength of 805 officers and 11,035 soldiers, traversing in 380 vehicles. Until 20 December, the 101st Airborne’s four regiments (plus two battalions and four companies directly subordinated to the division) in Bastogne were joined by several other U.S. units—Combat Command B of the 10th Armored Division with eight battalions and about thirty tanks, and the remnants of Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division with nine remaining tanks, and a few other battalions that either escaped the German offensive or, like the 101st Airborne, were sent to Bastogne to defend this town. (Some of the latter were brought together into an ad hoc unit with the poetic but equally fully official designation SNAFU—the acronym for the American soldier’s gallow humor expression of the state of things, ’Situation Normal, All Fucked Up.’ In total, the U.S. strength in the encircled Bastogne amounted to about 18 000 men.1

On the German side stood the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division under Oberst Heinz Kokott. He had been instructed by the Corps commander, General Heinrich von Lüttwitz, to stay behind and deal with Bastogne while the panzer divisions in XLVII. Panzerkorps—the 2. Panzer Division and Panzer Lehr—raced on to the west in order to cross the Meuse. When the offensive began on 16 December, Kokott’s division was composed of three infantry regiments, an artillery regiment, and five other battalions subordinate to the division with a total of not more than 10,600 men.2 Since then, it had lost close to one thousand men in killed, wounded and missing, to which should be added non-battle related casualties.3 Kokott also hade at his disposal Kampfgruppe Hauser (also known as Kampfgruppe 901), under Oberst Paul von Hauser, which was left behind by Panzer Lehr as this division continued its advance south and west of Bastogne. Von Hauser’s force consisted of Panzer Lehr-Regiment 901, which mustered slightly more than three thousand men, and the 6. Kompanie from II. Abteilung/ Panzer Lehr-Regiment 103, plus the II. Abteilung of Panzer Lehr-Artillerie-Regiment, and the 3. Kompanie from Panzerjäger-Abteilung/Panzer Lehr. In total, barely twelve thousand men on the German side held eighteen thousand Americans besieged.
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Northeast of Bastogne, U.S. 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment held positions in the planted forest Bois Jacques, where the spruce trees stood in close, straight rows. (NARA SC 197412/R.P. Runyan)





Additionally, the U.S. troops in Bastogne in general were better trained and more battle experienced than Kokott’s men. The 101st Airborne Division ’Screaming Eagles’ can justifiably be regarded as an elite unit. When this division was transferred to the European combat zone, the troops had undergone a prolonged specialized training that included independent operation in small battle groups, night combat, defense against enemy armor, and operations with massive artillery support. Combat spirits among ’the Screaming Eagles’ was sky high, and the toughness they displayed in battle had earned them the enemy’s healthy respect. When the 101st Airborne Division was ordered to go into position to defend Bastogne, the unit had combat experience since the first day of the Battle of Normandy half a year earlier.
 
The 26. Volksgrenadier-Division was built around the demoralized remnants that were left after the division (then designated 26. Infanterie-Division) had been virtually wiped out by the Red Army’s Lvov-Sandomierz offensive late summer 1944. The unit was reformed in September 1944, through an injection of teenage recruits, and ’dispensable’ personnel from the Luftwaffe and the German Navy. Having received a training that can hardly be described as sufficient, the soldiers of the new 26. Volksgrenadier-Division were hurriedly rushed to the Western Front to help cover the gap left after the disastrous defeat in France in late summer 1944. The division was at most adapted for defensive battles, but definitely not for offensive operations. In addition to major deficiencies regarding the troop training standards, the division was under-equipped with anti-tank weapons. When the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division went into position at Neuerburg on the Western Front in early November 1944, only a minority of its soldiers had any combat experience at all.

The bold attack with infantry alone on 16 December 1944, cost the inexperienced 26. Volksgrenadier-Division dearly, and the first attack on Bastogne on 20 December—in cooperation with Kampfgruppe Hauser— broke down in a terrible American artillery barrage that caused additional bloody losses. A new attempt to storm the town two days later resulted in a loss of four hundred men in killed, missing or wounded. Oberst Kokott noted that the losses in officers were particularly high.4

In terms of armor, McAuliffe had a numerical superiority of four to one. Indeed, German XLVII. Panzerkorps had dealt Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division and Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division a terrible defeat east of Bastogne on 1819 December—the former unit escaped the battle with only about twenty tanks remaining, and of Combat Command Reserve, 9th Armored Division remained nine tanks. But at the same time, eight brand new tanks that were about to be delivered to the front had turned up in Bastogne, and at Neufchâteau southwest of Bastogne, a group of paratroopers encountered fourteen abandoned Shermans, which they promptly drove into Bastogne. Thus Bastogne’s defenders possessed around fifty tanks. On the German side, the only tanks available to Oberst Kokott were those of the 6. Kompanie from II. Abteilung/ Panzer Lehr-Regiment 103, which mustered fifteen Panzer IVs when the offensive began.5 Three of those had been lost during the attack against Bastogne on 20 December.6 Thus, Kokott disposed over no more than a dozen tanks as he was preparing a new assault on Bastogne after McAuliffe had rejected the offer of surrender on 22 December. Although the Panzer IV tank was technically superior to the American Sherman andStuart, it could hardly outweigh the American numerical superiority—especially as this was accentuated by a large force of tank destroyers.
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The 101st Airborne Division Screaming Eagles can justifiably be regarded as an elite unit. When this division was transferred to the ETO, its soldiers had undergone a prolonged specialized training that included independent operations in small battle groups, night combat, defense against enemy armor, and infiltration operations with massive artillery support. The morale among the ‘Screaming Eagles’ was sky high, and the toughness they showed in battle earned the enemy’s healthy respect. When the 101st Airborne Division was ordered to defend Bastogne, the unit had combat experience since the first day of the Battle of Normandy half a year earlier.(NARA, US Signal Corps)
 




Apart from the tanks in Bastogne, the Americans had a large number of tank destroyers from the 609th and 705th Tank Destroyer battalions. Both of these units were equipped with the M18 Hellcat, armed with the new M1 76mm anti-tank gun. These two battalions had a combined strength of seventy Hellcats before the battle of Noville— where no more than half a dozen were lost.

German Kampfgruppe Hauser was not equipped with any tank destroyers or assault guns, but the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division had fourteen Panzerjäger 38 (t) Hetzers in 2. Kompanie/ Panzerjäger-Abteilung 26 when the offensive began. All in all, there were close to one hundred and twenty American tanks and tank destroyers in Bastogne against around twenty in the surrounding German units.

However, the area in which the Americans held their greatest superiority at Bastogne, was—alongside the aviation—the artillery. Afterwards, McAuliffe said that ’airpower, artillery and the guts of GIs was what saved Bastogne.’7 As the ring closed around the town, eleven Field Artillery battalions with altogether one hundred and ten pieces were inside the surrounded area.8 Several of these were 155mm Long Toms, which surpassed everything thatthe Germans had in the shape of artillery at Bastogne. The American artillery fire controllers also had the advantage of the plains with large, open fields that spread out in front of their positions around Bastogne everywhere except in the northeast and southwest. Since the ground on top of that was covered with snow, German combat vehicles or troop concentrations could be spotted at a distance of several miles in clear weather.

On the German side, the Corps Artillery still had not managed to make its way to Bastogne on the narrow mountain roads. The 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Volk-Artillerie-Regiment 26 was composed of twenty heavy artillery pieces—twelve 150mm SFH-18 howitzers (schwere Feldhaubitze 18) and eight captured Soviet 122mm howitzers, SFH 396 (R). Each of the division’s three infantry regiments had eight 105mm IFH 18/40 infantry howitzers and a 75mm FK 16 field gun. Additionally, the division’s anti-tank battalion, Panzerjäger-Abteilung 26, had eighteen 75mm PaK 40 anti-tank guns. In Kampfgruppe Hauser, Panzer Lehr-Artillerie-Regiment’s II. Abteilung had six 105mm field howitzers, and the 3. Kompanie of Panzerjäger-Abteilung/Panzer Lehr had nine PaK 40s. In total then fifty howitzers or field guns and thirty anti-tank guns on the German side. How much of this was available at Bastogne on 23 December 1944 is not known.
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Certainly, the German envelopment of Bastogne resulted in a temporary shortage in artillery rounds on the American side (until the supply flights got underway on 23 December), but this problem was no less great on the German side, where the transportation of supplies had to be carried out on narrow and winding back roads in the Eifel mountains.

Added to the American superiority in terms of numbers, equipment and troop quality, was—from 23 December, the third day of the siege, and onward—the U.S. air support. No doubt, the U.S. forces in Bastogne would have been able to break out and join other American units further south at any time. But the task assigned to the ’Screaming Eagles’ was not to break out, but to hold the important road junction of Bastogne, thus in a decisive manner preventing the Germans from bringing up supplies to the front at the Meuse at the pace needed. Moreover, the encircled troops knew that Patton’s legendary Third Army was coming to relieve them from the south. And still, a certain ’siege mentality’ discerned on the U.S. side, at least among certain senior officers. Major General Troy Middleton, the commander of the VIII Corps, describes his impressions of the first five days and the frustration felt by the Americans because the weather did not allow for any noteworthy tactical air support:

Though we asked, for those first agonizing days we couldn’t get supplies flown in for air drops. We were running dangerously low on armor-piercing shells. We were also in poor shape medically because the Germans had captured intact the hospital of the 101st Airborne the night they were moving into Bastogne. The wounded kept coming in. And the cold! It was wicked. It’s hard to appreciate the diffculty weather can bring. At 1 A.M. one night the temperature descended to sixteen below zero. The metal of a rifle would stick to exposed skin at that temperature.9

The U.S. troops neither were used to, nor equipped for such a barbaric cold. ’Many of our casualties were because of frozen feet,’ said John Fague, who served as a Staff Sergeant during the Battle of Bastogne. ’It was cold and snow, the worst winter Belgium had in 40 years. We did not have the proper foot wear. We had leather shoes that were good in North Africa and Italy but not suitable for the cold and snow in Belgium. We would walk in the snow during the day and get our feet wet and then stand in a freezing fox hole all night. I heard that Sergeant Ferguson, our company sergeant, had to have his feet amputated. He was older than we boys. My feet turned a light grey and were very uncomfortable for several months but I did not have to be evacuated.’10

It was even worse to the Germans, who generally preferred captured U.S. outfit. ’The men suffered greatly from the cold weather. They had no winter clothing and on top of their uniforms were only thin linen coats for camouflage in snow’, wrote Oberst Kokott.11

Kokott probably had no great expectations when he renewed his attack against the heavily defended town at dawn on 23 December. In addition to the crippling cold, a heavy snowfall on the previous day had covered the entire area in a white blanket.

At seven in the morning, two hours before sunrise, 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39 attacked the small village of Flamierge, north of the main road to Bastogne from the northwest. One of the Americans who held positions here, Robert M. Bowen, by then a Technical Sergeant in ’C’ Company of the 401st Glider Infantry Regiment’s 1st Battalion, recalls, ’The Germans came again early in the morning out of a heavy fog which hung over the bitter cold, snow covered hills wearing snowsuits and with tanks painted white.’ The fight began adversely to the Americans. A Sherman was immediately knocked out, the anti-aircraft gun in Bowen’s position was frozen in the ground and could not be traversed to fire on the enemy, and ’the crew of the half-track vanished.’
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Oberst Heinz Kokott commanded German 26. Volksgrenadier-Division during the Ardennes Battle, and for a period was in command of all German units that besieged Bastogne.(BArch, Bild 146-2011-0118)
 




But soon the U.S. artillery fire set in. ’Everywhere the attacker was met by furious, well directed and sharply concentrated fire,’ wrote Kokott. ’The enemy artillery fire always lay at the decisive points in dense concentrations. As always, the enemy did not spare ammunition… The attacking infantry suffered heavily from the numerous anti-tank and tank guns and the wide angle salvos of the numerous enemy mortars. To judge by the messages coming in from the front, the enemy was having a great number of tanks at his disposal. For, in addition to the unmistakable fire of tank guns, all the messages also reported “the noise of tank engines”’12

At eight in the morning, the 26. Aufklärungs-Abteilung under Major Rolf Kunkel emerged from the Bois de Fragotte forest, two miles west of Bastogne, to attack. But here too, the Americans struck back with artillery and tanks. An hour later, with the day’s first rays of the sun, the American aviation appeared.
 
Since 19 December, Captain James E. Parker, a liaison officer from the 9th Air Force, had been stationed in Bastogne. He had set up an air control post with a radio transmitter in the town, and from there he was able to call the aircraft and lead their attacks against those sections of the front where air support was most badly needed. The heavy airstrikes at Bastogne in the morning on 23 December sufficed to force the entire German assault force to take cover and call off the attack. Then the American fighter-bombers shifted to attacks against houses and villages around Bastogne, in order to deprive the Germans of their accommodation facilities and to knock out their supplies. All around Bastogne, every village or larger farm was bombed at least once. Soon, the Belgian town was enveloped by a ring of smoke columns rising into the sky. Towards the evening, the smoke mingled with the winter haze and soon had covered the town in what could be compared to the famous London smog.

Inside the besieged town, paratroopers threw their helmets in the air and cheered at the sight of the Air Force’s effective work of destruction. Amidst all this, just before noon, they had even more reason for joy: a new kind of engine sound was heard, and between the columns of smoke in the sky, waves of C-47 Skytrain transport aircraft came thundering. They came from U.S. IX Troop Carrier Command, and behind the twin-engine C-47s, large numbers of parachutes developed. Beneath each of these hung a canister loaded with supplies for the encircled troops. During a four-hour period on 23 December, a total of two hundred and fifty-one C-47s came in, dropping nearly fifteen hundred supply canisters. The isolation was over! The acting mayor of Bastogne, Leon Jacquin, described the scenes in the town, ’The American soldiers were in raptures. Soldiers and civilians hugged each other. There was an explosion of feeling and a marked rise in morale; it is still an unforgettable memory. That day we were given the certainty of victory.’13

While the aviation held the Germans down, the Americans counterattacked with Team O’Hara’s tanks—drawn from Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division—at Bastogne’s southern front. They pushed back the Germans from the woods Bechou Bois, northeast of Assenois, and approached the small village. In a fierce melee, German 26. Panzerjäger-Abteilung managed, against a loss of two or three of its own tank destroyers, to knock out several U.S. tanks and halt the Americans.14
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A German artilleryman fires a Nebelwerfer rocket launcher. (BArch, Bild 101I-277-0840-26/Jacob)
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Douglas C-47 Skytrain, the military version of the civilian airliner DC-3, was the main transport aircraft in Allied service in World War II. The aircraft had a four-man crew and a cargo capacity of 28 fully equipped troops or 6,000 lbs. of cargo. The operational range was 1,300 miles. (NARA, 3A-5134)
 




At half past five in the evening of 23 December, an hour after sunset, the Germans resumed their attack. This time they attacked both from the northwest, at Flamierge, and from the southeast, towards the village of Marvie. At the latter place, U.S. 705th Tank Destroyer Battalion’s Hellcats and Team O’Hara’s Shermans encountered Kampfgruppe Hauser’s Panzer IVs.15 Following a fierce fight in the darkness, the Americans had to give up Marvie and pull back towards Bastogne. In the west, the 1st Battalion of the 401st Glider Infantry Regiment also was ordered to evacuate Flamierge and Mande Saint-Étienne (at Highway N 4, three miles northwest of Bastogne) to establish better positions closer to Bastogne.

But the German territorial conquests were only local, and overall, on 23 December the Americans had clearly showed the Germans that they would not be able to accomplish much at Bastogne with the forces available. Meanwhile, on the previous day Patton’s Third Army had begun to push on from south, and was closing in on Bastogne.
 
Desperate at the stiff-necked defense offered by the American ‘Screaming Eagles.’ Hitler decided already on 23 December to reinforce von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps with the 9. Panzer-Division and the 15. Panzergrenadier-Division—although these originally had been intended for the second assault wave. However, only the latter division’s Panzergrenadier-Regiment 115 under Oberst Wolfgang Maucke was assigned to Bastogne—the other units were tasked to join the offensive against the Meuse. But to Kokott, it was a most welcome reinforcement, since this regiment included a company of eighteen Panzer IV tanks from Panzer-Abteilung 115, plus a company of tank destroyers.

While Maucke’s armor was on the road from Germany, Kokott decided to hold back his troops all day on Christmas Eve—with the exception of a limited thrust whereby the 26. Aufklärungs-Abteilung managed to take the village of Senonchamps, just west of Bastogne. But by abandoning that exposed place, the Americans established new and better positions, from where the open, snow-covered fields on the flat landscape between Bastogne and Senonchamps could be easily covered. At Senonchamps, the German-occupied forest Bois de Fragotte had extended all the way to the western edge of the village.

Meanwhile, the American airmen were quite busy. The Thunderbolt pilots of the 406th Fighter Group carried out its missions with particular eagerness. One of them, Theodore E. Wegerski, said, ’Our zealousness to fly to the assistance of the 101st Airborne Infantry Division in Bastogne attributed largely to friendships formed between our respective units when we were neighbors for a period on the same reservation at Mourmelon.’16 On Christmas Eve 1944, the 406th Fighter Group dropped napalm bombs on the villages Cobru, Morhet, Chenogne, Wardin, and Marvie around Bastogne. German vehicles were bombed at Vaux, and in Noville ten German tanks were attacked. In all, the 406th Fighter Group claimed to have destroyed fifteen tanks and ninety-two other motor vehicles on that day.17 When this unit’s pilots on one occasion attacked the Germans at Noville, they dropped their bombs so close to the American lines that U.S. VIII Corps radioed the XIX Tactical Air Command and requested that the attack be called off before American troops were hit.18

These operations also cost the 406th Fighter Group dearly, as testified by one of the participating pilots, Lieutenant Howard M. Park, ’The flak tracers were like garden hoses with projectiles arcing lazily through the air towards me. I remember so vividly my slipping and sliding and skidding as streams of flak fire reached for me, sometimes within three feet of my wing surfaces. Despite skill, a lot of luck was needed to escape unscathed. The flak took a toll. It seemed as if the 513th [Squadron] was always first out and it seemed we lost one of four in the lead flight every time. Actually, we lost five of the 513th in three days, and seven in a week during which the group lost a total of 10 pilots.’19

The 406th Fighter Group was but one of several U.S. fighter-bomber units in action against the German communication lines and battle positions around Bastogne throughout 24 December. The 365th and 404th Fighter groups attacked Noville north of Bastogne, Chenogne in the southwest, and Harlange to the southeast, as well as the road between Dasburg and Bastogne at Marnach and Clervaux. At the two latter places, German vehicle columns also were bombed and strafed by the 377th Fighter Group, and at Bourcy, northeast of Bastogne, some of this unit’s pilots claimed to have destroyed fourteen trucks and three tanks. In the vicinity of Bourcy, U.S. bombs hit a German ammunition dump which detonated with an explosion that could be heard to Bastogne. Wherever the U.S. troops looked towards enemy-controlled territory, they could see countless thick, black smoke columns rise from the American aviation’s targets around Bastogne. The suffocating smoke from the fires remained in the air and gave the Americans a quite good idea of what it was like for the German soldiers who were subject to these incessant air strikes.

American Technical Sergeant Robert M. Bowen had been captured when the Germans overran the positions held by ’C’ Company, 401st Glider Infantry Regiment at Flamierge on 23 December. His account of what he experienced while he was brought from the front area by the Germans, gives a good image of the situation behind the front lines of the besiegers at Bastogne:
 
We were hustled out of the house early the next morning [24 December] to a captured American weapons carrier with an attached trailer. We started down the main street in a northeasterly direction. The town was flooded with German troops and tanks, all going in the direction of Bastogne. Once we left the city we could see the carnage left by the German offensive. Burning villages, wrecked and burning tanks, trucks and smaller vehicles. Corpses, American and German, bloody, sprawled grotesquely in many instances on the whipped snow, ignored by small bands of refugees which wandered about like lost children. In the distance toward Bastogne could be heard the dull explosion of crashing shellfire and the rumble of German artillery. We came to a small village finally, one that had been recently bombed and strafed by our fighter planes. Houses were ablaze, walls knocked in by bombs, German soldiers with terror-stricken faces still lay in roadside ditches. Rescuers were going through the houses searching for victims. The wounded were taken from the weapons carrier and into a field hospital just about the time our planes came back. The Germans shouted ‘Jabos! Der Teufel! Der Teufel!’ [‘Fighter-bombers! That s.o.b! That s.o.b.!’] Every able man rushed outside, firing every weapon available at the screaming, diving, bullet spitting planes. We in the operating room huddled on the floor as bullets splintered the walls.20
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The airfield at Chièvres, Belgium, December 1944. A P-47 D11 Thunderbolt from the 387th Fighter Squadron, 365th Fighter Group ‘Hell Hawks’ has had two 500lb. bombs mounted. The pilot, Lieutenant Gerald Kunkle, is about to enter the aircraft and take off for a new fighter-bomber missions over the German lines. (Don Kark via Don Barnes)
 




Inside Bastogne, McAuliffe sent a Christmas message to his men, ’What’s merry about all this, you ask?’ he wrote on a Christmas card that was printed in large numbers, with the common ’Merry Christmas’ at the top, ’We’re fighting - it’s cold - we aren’t home.’ The text continued:

’All true but what has the proud Eagle Division accomplished with its worthy comrades of the 10th Armored Division, the 705th Destroyer Battalion and all the rest? Just this: We have stopped cold everything that has been thrown at us from the North, East, South and West. We have indentifications from four German Panzer Divisions, two German Infantry Divisions and one German Parachute Division.

These units spearheading the last desperate German lunge, were headed straight West for key points when the Eagle Division was hurriedly ordered to stem the advance. How effectively this was done will be written in History; not alone in our Division’s glorious History but in World History. The Germans actually did surround us, their radios blared our doom. Their Commander demanded our surrender in the following impudent arrogance.’

Next, McAuliffe had inserted the text of the German surrender offer, and—to the amusement of many of the American soldiers—his laconic reply: ’Nuts!’

This was a language that appealed to the hardened veterans of the 101st Airborne, the ’Screaming Eagles.’ But that the fighting spirits also were high among the opponents stood clear to McAuliffe when he later that day visited a group of German prisoners of war that had been locked into a cell at the town’s police station. ‘We’ll be in Antwerp in a few weeks,’ one of them defiantly said in English. ’Soon you will find yourself in captivity, Herr General,’ another said.21


SERGEANT DEAM’S UNEXPECTED ENCOUNTER

On the evening of Christmas Eve 1944, a lone American paratrooper, First Sergeant Donald Deam, was on his way back to his comrades at the front at Mont, east of Bastogne. He had been in the town and carved out a bosom full of champagne and cognac bottles that he was about to share with his mates. He walked along the road that runs eastwards from Bastogne towards Neffe, which at that time was held by German Grenadier-Regiment 78.

About a mile west of Neffe, a narrow gravel road turned down to the right and passed through a small tunnel under the railway that ran parallel to the main highway, and Deam took this path. Just as he entered the tunnel, another man appeared on the other side, just a few feet away from him—a German soldier wearing a steel helmet, white snow oversuit and carrying a Sturmgewehr! Deam knew that with all the bottles in his arms he would be completely defenseless if the German raised his rifle to shoot, so he tried his hand at what is commonly called a disarming smile—here in the real literal sense.

It was successful! The German soldier’s eyes met his, and it was obvious that the other was not in the mood to kill. With the weapon lowered, the German asked:

‘Do you have a cigarette, yankee?’

Deam exhaled. He put down the bottles in the snow and pulled out a packet of cigarettes and offered it to the German. The two men sat down, facing each other, and smoked in silence. It all felt surreal. Deam opened a brandy bottle and invited the German, who took a few sips and then handed the bottle to Deam. This eased the situation. Soon both young men were involved in attempts to a conversation on what little they mastered of each other’s language. They showed each other photographs of their families, and Deam perceived that the German had studied at the Goethe University in Frankfurt (a university that had previously been known for its left alignment). Eventually they exchanged addresses.

When they parted, it felt as if they were old friends. They waved at each other. The German fired a kind of ‘salute’ into the air with his Sturmgewehr. Deam did the same with his submachine gun.

Deam did not tell his comrades anything of this. But decades after the war, he began to wonder whether he had dreamt it all. Then one day he was contacted by a German woman who worked as an interpreter for the United Nations in New York. It turned out that she was the daughter of the German soldier. In his old age, the veteran had told his daughter of the encounter with the American, and had given her the American’s address and asked her to visit him if she ever came to the United States. By that time, the German veteran had passed away, but finally Deam at least got to meet his daughter.

Donald Deam died himself in October 2008.

Source: Bande, Vanguard of the Crusade: The 101st Airborne Division in World War II, p. 230.



Meanwhile, a staff officer visited General von Lüttwitz on Hitler’s behalf to convey the Führer’s demand that Bastogne must be captured by the next day, Christmas Day. That forced von Lüttwitz and Kokott to launch the new attack as soon as Oberst Maucke’s Panzergrenadier-Regiment 115 arrived, during the night of 24 December, in order to avoid the American fighter-bombers.

To compensate for his own still relatively weak artillery, von Lüttwitz asked for support from the Luftwaffe. This he received, in the shape of a bombing raid on Christmas evening. Beginning at half past eight in the evening, twin-engine Junkers 88s from I. Gruppe/ Kampfgeschwader 66 and Lehrgeschwader 1 attacked the town in two waves, dropping a total of two tons of bombs in the light of flares.

On Rue de Neufchâteau No. 21 (the main road N 85), the 20th Armored Infantry Battalion of U.S. 10th Armored Division had set up an aid station for wounded soldiers in the basement of a three-story house. Here two female volunteers, the Belgian Renee Lemaire and the Congolese Augusta Chiwy were working as nurses. A bomb from the first German aircraft that came in over the town this evening fell straight on the house, which collapsed and caught fire. The two women struggled to get the wounded out of the burning building, but after entering the increasingly violent burning building one last time, Lemaire failed to return. Afterwards, her dead body was found in the burnt out ruins, together with the bodies of thirty U.S. soldiers.

While large parts of Bastogne’s center were laid into ruins by German bombs, Oberst Wolfgang Maucke was appalled, ten miles from there, to hear that his unit was to attack almost immediately. Maucke protested against the risk it meant to send his tank crews into the darkness, against a strong enemy whose positions were relatively unknown, and in a terrain not familiar to the newly arrived men. But he spoke to deaf ears. His Panzer IVs would form the spearhead of the major attack against Bastogne, which would be launched from all sides. Shortly before three o’clock on Christmas morning, a group of German aircraft flew past 502nd Parachute Infantry Regiment’s positions at Champs, three miles northwest of Bastogne, and attempted to hit the regimental headquarters in the adjacent Rolley with their bombs. At five in the morning, Panzergrenadier-Regiment 115 rolled out to attack.
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The center of Bastogne after the German air attack on Christmas night 1944. (NARA, 111-SC-198445/PFC Sam Gilbert)
 




The frigid Christmas night of 1944 was fateful for the entire German Ardennes Offensive. In the far north, the remnants of SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper were fleeing through enemy-held territory after the last 800 men had slipped through the U.S. containment on the evening of 23 December. They made it across the Amblève on a wooden footbridge, and hid throughout Christmas Eve on the wooded hills on the river’s south side. When darkness fell again, they stumbled through the forest and down the southern slopes. They managed to cross the paved road running west from Trois-Ponts, but shortly afterwards ran into a small American squad. The Germans were able to detach themselves from the enemy, but when they assembled again, they discovered that the prisoner of war that they had brought along, the American battalion commander Major Hal McCown, had managed to escape. Tired and hungry, the Germans continued southeastwards, through the woods, towards the river Salm. The temperature was around 4 degrees, but the torrential river still had not frozen. Somewhere on the other side of the river stood SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen, but the west side was controlled by U.S. 82nd Airborne Division. SS-Unterscharführer Karl Wortmann, who participated in Peiper’s march, describes the situation:
 
’In front of us in the valley we can see the Salm! What would happen now? Everyone able to swim was called forward. But in this cold temperature, not very many stepped forward. Most of us sat on a high embankment. Ten feet further down the Salm whirled past. The noise from the water sent shivers down the spine of us. But then we were ordered to carry the large stones that some self-sacrificing comrades placed in the icy water. Then we formed a human chain, and made it from stone to stone, sometimes with water up to the waist, until we reached the other side of the river.22

Twelve miles farther to the east, the badly mauled 12. SS-Panzer-Division—which barely had been able to repair all of its damaged combat vehicles after the battles of the ’twin villages’ and Domäne Bütgenbach—was marching along the road from Büllingen to Sankt Vith.* Just as the division arrived at Sankt Vith, the town became subject to a violent air attack which totally blocked the accessibility.

Some ten miles southwest of Trois-Ponts, the advance units of the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ spent a dismal Christmas Night in the small village of Grandmenil, just west of Manhay, where it was subjected to a terrible bombardment by American artillery. Another twelve miles farther to the southwest, the 116. Panzer-Division was driven out of Verdenne and became surrounded by U.S. 84th Infantry Division and the 771st Tank Battalion. Twenty miles farther to the west, German 2. Panzer-Division’s spearhead was approaching the end. Hemmed in between Celles and Foy-Nôtre Dame, virtually all of its heavy equipment had been smashed by a full day of Allied air attacks and artillery bombardment. Everywhere on blackened fields, plowed up by explosions, lay dead or mutilated German soldiers. It was like a scene from Dante’s Inferno.
 
In the far south, Patton’s Third Army, with an armored division in the lead, inexorably pushed on northward towards Bastogne. In the German rear area, the narrow and slippery roads on this anything but peaceful night were filled with German vehicle columns that sought to exploit the darkness to bring up supplies to the front. They did not have to bother with any lighting, since all roads were lined with bullet-riddled vehicles still in flames. It was their good fortune that the Allies barely had any night attack aviation.

Amidst all this, to comply with Hitler’s demands, a small German armored force was hurled into a hasty attack to take Bastogne.

In the light of the full moon, the tanks of Kampfgruppe Hauser drove across snow-covered fields just west of Marvie, heading towards Bastogne from the southeast. But this force was not the only one to attack. This time, Oberst Kokott despatched all forces at his disposal to comply with the Führer’s demand that Bastogne must fall on Christmas Day. Northeast of the town, Grenadier-Regiment 78 assaulted the positions held by U.S. 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment in among the pine trees in the Bois de Jacques forest. South of Bastogne, from the small village of Assenois, Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39 attacked. But the strongest attack was directed against the western section of the U.S. cauldron,’ between Champs and Hemroulle. While the infantry of Grenadier-Regiment 77 assaulted the U.S. positions at Champs from the northwest, the Panzer IV tanks of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 115 were despatched two miles farther to the south.

Everywhere the Americans met the Germans with a dogged resistance. ‘Very strong enemy fire,’ was reported by German Kampfgruppe Hauser and Grenadier-Regiment 78. The men of U.S. 326th Airborne Engineer Battalion fought with such stamina that the attacking German Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39 described it as a ’completely fanatical American resistance.’23 German Grenadier-Regiment 77 initially managed to push into Champs, but there they were tied down in bloody house-to-house fighting with U.S. 502nd Parachute Infantry Regiment. The Americans temporarily had to vacate the village, but a counter-attack with heavy artillery support managed to oust the Germans again.
 
Only Panzergrenadier-Regiment 115 accomplished a real break-through. In the cold night, the German tanks rolled straight east, across wide open, almost completely flat, snow-covered fields, heading towards Hemroulle, a mile and a half northwest of Bastogne. The Americans lured them into an ambush in the dark. Hellcat tank destroyers from the 705th Tank Destroyer Battalion, Sherman tanks of the 10th Armored Division, guns from the 463rd Parachute Field Artillery Battalion, and the paratroopers’ Bazookas caught the German tanks in a terrible crossfire. Afterwards, the bullet-riddled German tanks showed so many hits that it was impossible to determine which weapon had dealt the coup de grace. The German force was annihilated so quickly that it barely had time to send off a report to headquarters.

At nine in the morning, the American aviation joined in. Monday 25 December proved to be a day with even better visibility than the previous two days, and U.S. XIX Tactical Air Command despatched no less than 599 sorties, during which 74 tanks or other armored vehicles, plus 756 soft-skinned vehicles were claimed as destroyed or damaged.24 The fighter-bomber pilots were particularly effective in neutralizing the German artillery. For example, at 1145 hrs, one of them localated eight German artillery pieces at Assenois. Other planes were called in, and following their attacks, these German positions had been silenced.25 Elsewhere, four newly arrived 150mm howitzers of Artillerie-Regiment 33 were destroyed.

Oberst Kokott wrote, ’Towards noon—when everything had been committed and the artillery, while already running short of ammunition, was still directing its fire concentration with flexibility and full impact into the respective main areas (forest northeast of Grandes Fanges, Hemroulle and wooded sections to the north thereof)—the situation turned more and more to the worse.

The 15. Panzergrenadier-Division reported “that it had barely a single combat-fit tank at its disposal. “The tank battalion had been wiped out and annihilated in the area around Hemroulle and nothing was being heard of the “Kommandogruppe” (commando group) which had possibly made a breakthrough in the Bastogne direction.’26

Once again, the German divisional commander was forced to cancel the attack until the sun had set and the American aircraft disappeared. But on the afternoon of 25 December he received more bad news: In the south, Patton’s armor had finally broken through the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s defensive positions, and was advancing towards Bastogne. The Battle of Bastogne had to be settled urgently, so in the evening, the 26. Aufklärungs-Abteilung, Grenadier-Regiment 77, and ten Hetzer tank destroyers of the 26. Panzerjäger-Abteilung were assembled west of Hemroulle, the section where the armor of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 115 had met its final destiny. The plan was to strike eastwards while Grenadier-Regiment 78 renewed its attack towards the west on the other side of the U.S. ’cauldron.’

But everything went wrong from the start. With new airborne supplies dropped into the besieged town, the American artillery now was richly equipped with ammunition. The Bastogne artillery in fact subjected German Grenadier-Regiment 78 in the east to such a terrible shelling that it was unable to even begin its attack. When this artillery barrage was over, the whole regiment was in bloody shambles. In one of its battalions, not even forty men remained alive or uninjured.27.
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German soldiers have mounted these Panzer IVs just before the attack. These newly arrived tanks were rushed into combat before they had been coated with white camouflage paint.(BArch, Bild 101I-277-0835-02/Jacob)
 




However, on the western flank, the Germans attacked shortly after nightfall. In their initial onslaught, they managed to advance to a position nearly a mile west of Hemroulle, but there the tank destroyers were halted in front of an anti-tank ditch. These immediately became targeted by American anti-tank fire, which set five Hetzers on fire, including the command vehicle with 26. Panzerjäger-Abteilung’s commander, Hauptmann Heinz Junker.28 The remaining Hetzers rapidly withdrew under the cover of a smokescreen.

The ’desperate attempt,’ as Kokott described it, to achieve a decision at Bastogne on Christmas Day 1944, ended in a complete American victory. Kokott’s summary at the end of 25 December speaks a clear language:

’The 15. Panzergrenadier-Division was practically wiped out; the 26. Division counted more than 800 killed, wounded and missing. Grenadier-Regiment 77 had barely 300 men left in the front; one battalion had about 80 men, the other possibly 200 men. Aufklärungs-Abteilung 26 had, just as Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39, been reduced to a fragment of its original strength. The companies in the front had, at best, 20 to 25 men left. Supply formations, staffs and other rear echelon units were thoroughly combed out. The Replacement Training Battalion—having transferred in the meantime some formations to Panzergrenadier-Regiment 901 as well as Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39 and Grenadier-Regiment 78—had about 200 men left.
 
The losses of old, experienced subordinate commanders and men, the high losses of officers and trained specialists at the artillery and heavy infantry weapons, were of great importance.

A considerable amount of heavy weapons equipment had been destroyed by enemy fire and could not be replaced immediately.’29

The 5. Panzerarmee’s commander, General von Manteuffel, had no choice but to order the badly mauled 26. Volksgrenadier-Division and 15. Panzergrenadier-Division to revert to the defensive.30 McAuliffe’s men clearly had withstood the test.

The focus of the Battle of Bastogne now turned to the south.

PATTON’S OFFENSIVE BEGINS

’The present situation is to be regarded as one of opportunity for us and not disaster. There will be only cheerful faces at this conference table. By coming out of the Siegfried Line, the enemy has given us a great opportunity which we should seize as soon as possible. Instead of having to take the Siegfried Line pillbox by pillbox, we can now beat them by defending the Meuse while at the same time preparing our own offensive.’31

The Allied Supreme Commander Eisenhower tried to hold an upbeat tone when he met with his generals at the 12th Army Group’s headquarters in a drafty old French army barracks in Verdun shortly before noon on 19 December 1944.* This was a language that appealed to Lieutenant General George S. Patton, who commanded the TUSA (Third U.S. Army). He was mad because the German offensive had forced him to cancel his planned major offensive against the German Saar region, which he had hoped would be the largest ’Blitz offensive’ in the Army’s history.32
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’Hell,’ the belligerent Patton said, ’let’s have the guts to let the sons of bitches go all the way to Paris. Then we’ll really cut ’em up and chew ’em up!’33

But Eisenhower urged him toward restraint: the Germans would not be allowed across the Meuse. Instead, he would seal off the German attack wedge through a pincer attack with the First Army from the north and the Third Army from the south. For the simple reason that the Germans were weaker against the Third Army, Patton’s army was to open the offensive.

’When can you start?’ Eisenhower asked Patton.

’As soon as you’re through with me,’ came the eager reply.

But Eisenhower needed to know more exactly. -’Okay, the morning of 21 December, with three divisions!’ Patton said. It was typical of the by then already legendary George Patton, who had earned the nick-name ’Ol ‘Blood and Guts’ among his soldiers. (When he placed them in difficult situations, they sometimes ironically said: ’Sûre, his guts and our blood!’) Although a significantly greater strength than three divisions had been set in readiness for the Third Army’s offensive towards the north, Patton wanted to get started as soon as possible with the units that had arrived at the northern front.
 
But Eisenhower wanted to assemble the forces properly first. ’Don’t be fatuous, George,’ he said. ’If you try to go that early, you won’t have all the three divisions ready and you’ll go piecemeal.’ Then he made the decision by himself: ’You will start on the twenty-second and I want your initial blow to be a strong one!’

Much can be said about George Patton, but he could be really flexible. Two days earlier, he had been totally against sending an armored division north to aid the heavily pressed First Army, but when he sent the 10th Armored Division, he also immediately set about making plans to continue to the north with even more forces. By now, he and his staff had already developed three different plans for such an operation, and all he had to do was make a phone call to get the ball rolling.

Already on 18 December, Patton had agreed with Lieutenant General Omar Bradley, the commander of the 12th Army Group, to let the TUSA’s 4th Armored Division follow in the footsteps of the 10th Armored Division. At a conference in Luxembourg in the forenoon of that day, Bradley had briefed Patton on the situation in the Ardennes, which he described as ’fluid’ and ’extremely critical,’ and for that reason he ordered Patton to cancel his planned offensive against the Saar. That evening, Patton ordered Major General John Millikin to transfer the headquarters of his III Corps from Metz in France to Arlon in Belgium, some twenty-five miles south of Bastogne.34 In addition to the 4th Armored Division, III Corps possessed over two infantry divisions, the 26th and the 80th, with which Millikin would get started with an offensive northwards by 22 December. When Patton left Verdun on the afternoon of 19 December, the preparations were already in full swing.
 
But succeeding events would enforce a modification of the plans before they could be put into action. That it would be no easy undertaking stood clear to Patton when he on the same evening was reached by reports on how Combat Command B of the 10th Armored Division had been heavily decimated by General von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps east of Bastogne. It also annoyed Patton that the British field marshal Montgomery was asppointed to command all U.S. forces north of the line Givet - Prüm, and thus led the entire northern part of the pincer operation that Eisenhower described at the meeting in Verdun on 19 December. Although Eisenhower’s decision also meant that Major General Troy Middleton’s VIII Corps was submitted to the Third Army, Patton was highly displeased. As we have seen previously, he had very little confidence in Montgomery, to say the least.

While Patton’s divisions were on the march to their positions of departure for the new offensive northwards, the whole scene underwent further changes. Bradley had indeed been right when he described the situation as ’fluid.’ On 20 December, the day after the conference in Verdun, German forces swept forward south of Bastogne, sweeping aside all American resistance and cut off the two main roads running into the town from the south. Thus, also the relief of Bastogne became an important aim for the Third Army’s offensive. But the Third Army Commander was primarily aiming at the destruction of the German army units, and not relieving own enveloped units. ’To Patton,’ wrote U.S. military historian Charles B. MacDonald, ’relieving Bastogne was as irritating as a burr under the saddle of a horse.’35 When Patton inspected his troops in Arlon on that evening, he met Middleton. ’Troy,’ he said, ’of all the goddamn crazy things I ever heard of, leaving the 101st Airborne to be surrounded in Bastogne is the worst!’36

Next day, 21 December, the situation deteriorated further when the First Army’s positions at Sankt Vith were overrun, and the troops that would have formed the northern part of the intended pincers conducted a partially disordered retreat, with strong German armored forces in hot pursuit. Meanwhile German units streamed into the area south of Bastogne to reinforce the siege of this city. They pushed demoralized remnants of the 28th Infantry Division towards the west and the south. On 22 December, the day when Patton’s offensive began, the headquarters of this division fled to Neufchâteau, some twenty miles southwest of Bastogne.37 The 28th Infantry Division proved to be too badly mauled, regarding its numerical strength as well as combat spirits, to be used in Patton’s counteroffensive.
 




[image: images]

Seemingly endless American vehicle columns heading north, towards Bastogne. Patton and his troops were expecting a fairly easy march past Bastogne in order to not only relieve the besieged town, but mainly to cut off von Manteuffel’s 5. Panzerarmee. They had not reckoned with the stiff resistance that would be offered by a single German paratroop division. (NARA, 111-SC-199635)
 




Most of the literature on the German Ardennes Offensive in the winter 1944-1945 has focused on the Battle of Bastogne. Therefore, the offensive opened by Patton’s Army a few days before Christmas 1944 has also often been depicted as though its primary aim was to relieve Bastogne. In actual fact, the relief of Bastogne was not even part of the original plan, since this was made before the town became surrounded. Instead, this was intended to be a major offensive with most of the Third Army deployed along a forty-five-mile front from the German border and westwards, across Luxembourg and to Neufchâteau in southeastern Belgium.

Millikin’s III Corps—the one among the TUSA’s Army Corps that has received the greatest attention in war literature—initially marched up with three divisions on a twenty-five-mile front from Neufchâteau and eastwards. To the right of this corps, on a twenty-mile front up to the German border, stood the XII Corps under Major General Manton S. Eddy, with Combat Command X (the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command A, and the 10th Armored Division’s Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve), the 4th and 5th Infantry divisions, and the 109th Regimental Combat Team. The first task of the III Corps was indeed to break the German siege of Bastogne, but immediately thereafter, the Corps was to continue to the northeast, to Sankt Vith, and in interaction with the XII Corps ’slam a steel door’ behind the German armies in the Ardennes.38 Patton’s counter-offensive thus had far greater ambitions than the simple relieving of the 101st Airborne Division.

During the course of the offensive, additional units would arrive to reinforce the attacking force. Before the offensive began, the 6th Armored Division was instructed to regroup to the XII Corps, so that Combat Command X could be transferred to the III Corps. On 18 December, Patton ordered the 35th and 87th Infantry divisions to be withdrawn from the front in the southeast for a few days of rest and recuperation, in order to be deployed in the offensive northward. On the same day, Eisenhower instructed the newly formed 17th Airborne Division to move from England to the Continent, where it would eventually be submitted to the III Corps. That also applied to the 11th Armored Division, which on 20 December was ordered to urgently regroup from England to the Meuse Front, where it would form a line of defense between Givet and Sedan. When this armored division arrived in the combat zone, the threat at the Meuse had already receded, so that it could be assigned to the III Corps. Eventually, the TUSA ‘s 90th Infantry Division also was to be called in to the ’northern front,’ where it too was used to reinforce III Corps.
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Lieutenant General Patton (center) in conversation with Major General Willard S. Paul (right), C.O. of the 26th Infantry Division. 50-year-old Willard Stewart Paul had never led any troops in battle when his 26th Infantry Division was sent to France in September 1944. He passed away in 1966, at the age of 72. (NARA, SC 196125)
 




In all, even though not all were present at the same time, just over twelve American divisions—including over four armored divisions—would be involved in Patton’s counter-offensive. In all, the strength of the Third Army rose from 245,013 men on 30 November 1944 to 344,935 men on 31 December 1944.39 When the offensive began, the Third Army also was supported by no less than one hundred and eight artillery battalions with altogether 1,296 artillery pieces of at least 105mm caliber.40 ’I don’t see how the Boche can take this much artillery,’ an enthusiastic Patton jotted down in his diary.41
 
On top of this, General Otto P. Weyland’s XIX Tactical Air Command, responsible for direct air support of the Third Army, was reinforced with three Fighter groups from the IX Tactical Air Command—the 365th and 368th with Thunderbolts, and the 367th with Lightning—and, from the strategic 8th Air Force in England, Mustang-equipped 361st Fighter Group.

However, while Patton’s units began to roll, new German units also were heading for the area which the III Corps intended to seize: The LIII. Armeekorps, with the 79. Volksgrenadier-Division and the Führer Grenadier Brigade.42 The march order for the latter unit read: Cross River Our at Roth and then advance across Luxembourg, via Ettelbrück (taken by 352. Volksgrenadier-Division), to Martelange on the other side of the border with Belgium, some twelve miles south of Bastogne. There, on the central road of the three roads leading to Bastogne from the south, a small vanguard of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 of German 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division had moved into position on the evening of 21 December.

If the Führer Grenadier Brigade had been able to reach this place—right where Combat Command A of U.S. 4th Armored Division was advancing—Patton’s offensive would probably have taken an entirely different course. Indeed, the U.S. armored division was numerically superior, with 165 tanks against barely a quarter as many German, but the Führer Grenadier Brigade’s thirty-one serviceable Panthers and eight Panzer IVs were supplemented by forty-one tank destroyers.43 Moreover, the unit’s six thousand soldiers largely were hardened Eastern Front veterans hand-picked from Division Grossdeutschland, and the Brigade commander, Oberst Hans-Joachim Kahler, was a veteran who had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves.

The Führer Grenadier Brigade was in all respects an elite unit, but this could also be said about the American 4th Armored Division. Unlike most U.S. armored divisions, the 4th had chosen not to take any ’name,’ which was a particular figment by its former divisional commander— the tough Major General John Shirley Wood, usually called ’Tiger Jack’ or simply ’P.’ — ’They shall be known by their deeds alone,’ Wood had said about his armored troops when they landed in Normandy in July 1944. The 4th Armored developed into one of the American Army’s best armored divisions in Europe, much owing to its most capable commanding officer. Wood has been described as even tougher than Patton himself. In fact, Patton’s famous ’sweep’ through France in late summer of 1944 was much the work of Wood’s 4th Armored. However, like Patton, Wood had strong opinions about how the war should be conducted, and after a conflict with his closest superior in early December 1944, he was relieved from command and sent home to the States.

Nevertheless, the 4th Armored still was Patton’s favourite division, and he spent much time with its men. He liked its—well deserved—reputation as a ’slashing, freewheeling outfit.’44 He also selected his former chief of staff, Major General Hugh J. Gaffey, to be the division’s new commander. The 4th Armored Division included several other prominent American armored officers, such as Colonel Wendell Blanchard and Lieutenant Colonel Creighton W. Abrams, whom we shall become better acquainted with further on.

The outcome of a tank battle between the 4th Armored Division and a full-sized Führer Grenadier Brigade southeast of Bastogne around 23 December would have been anything but certain, but because of special circumstances, such a showdown would never take place. Still, the 4th Armored was to face another German elite division.

In heavy snowfall, at half past five in the morning on 22 December, U.S. III Corps’ counter-offensive started, supported by eleven Field Artillery battalions. ’Drive like hell,’ Patton said. Eisenhower issued an order of the day that bears a striking resemblance to the order of the day that his opponent von Rundstedt issued six days earlier:

’I call upon every man, of all the Allies, to rise now to new heights of courage, of resolution and of efforts. Let everyone hold before him a single thought—to destroy the enemy on the ground, in the air, everywhere—destroy him! United in this determination and with unshakable faith in the cause for which we fight, we will, with God’s help, go forward to our greatest victory.’45

By that time, the Germans had nothing more than limited forces against the III Corps—a few regiments of the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division faced the entire 4th Armored Division on the western flank, and two regiments of the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division were pitted against the American 26th and 80th Infantry divisions. ’The 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division was by no means equipped to handle the task of warding off an armored thrust towards Bastogne,’ noted the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s commander, Generalmajor Heilmann.46 At that stage, one of its three regiments, Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 13, still had not been able to assemble its full strength at the front, and among the division’s thirty StuG III assault guns, only half were in serviceable condition.47 The fact that Germans still managed if not to halt decisively, but at least to significantly delay the American offensive, is quite remarkable.

To the 4th Armored Division, it initially seemed to be a pretty simple game. The order issued by Major General Gaffey to the troops when the offensive began to roll northwards, read, ’You will drive in, relieve the force, and proceed from Bastogne to the north-east!’48 When the vehicles rumbled through no-man’s-land, everything went well. The only obstacle in the path of the Americans were some big holes that retreating Americans of the 28th Infantry Division previously had blown in the road to slow down the German advance. On the extreme left, Combat Command B, under Brigadier General Holmes E. Dager, took the road northwestwards from Arlon. The Americans continued through Habay-la-Neuve and then swung north into the great forest that extended until Fauvillers, twelve miles northwest of Arlon. The Americans, who had expected German assaults from within the dense, dark spruce forests, felt a relief when they at noon on 22 December came out among the large, open fields that extend from Hotte, just two miles north of Fauvillers, all the way up to Bastogne, about seven miles further north. Maybe this would be pretty easy, after all?

But right there, the American force met the first resistance. A small group of paratroopers from the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14 had laid an ambush and were waiting for the Americans. The fact that the Germans were prepared was not only due to the sighting of CCB ‘s marching columns at half past nine in the evening of 21 December by a Luftwaffe reconnaissance plane—the Americans also had the bad habit of sending their radio messages in plain text, and already on the morning of 20 December the British Ultra code breakers could establish that the Germans knew that ’American 4th Armored Division’ was heading north, ’possibly followed by 80th Division.’49
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A German soldier prepares to meet enemy tanks with a Raketenpanzer-büchse 54 Panzerschreck anti-tank rocket launcher. The Panzerschreck was able to knock out a Sherman at a distance of more than two hundred yards. Since this example of the weapon due to an unknown reason has no protection plate, the soldier carries a gas mask to protect his face against burns when the weapon fires. (BArch, Bild 101I-279-0943-22A/ Johannes Bergmann.)
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Oberstleutnant Kurt Gröschke, the commander of German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 during the Ardennes Battle, was one of the most experienced unit commanders in the German Paratroop Force. The picture was taken on 9 January 1945, when he was awarded with the Oak Leaves to the Knight’s Cross for his excellent leadership of this unit during the Ardennes Battle. Gröschke passed away in 1996, at the age of 88.(BArch, Bild 146-1981-104-07)





The German ambush forced Brigadier General Dager’s advance force to take cover. Major Albin Irzyk, commanding the 8th Tank Battalion in Combat Command B, ordered the Sherman tanks of ‘A’ Company forward. Their guns blew up a stone house and silenced the firing from the German side. But it was not long before the Americans would encounter the next obstacle.
 
When the leading U.S. vehicles gently rolled down the slippery slope that leads down to a stone bridge across River Sûre from Menufontaine, the Americans saw that the bridge was demolished. At this place, the Sûre usually is only five yards wide and not more than knee-deep, but because of the unusually heavy rainfalls during the previous weeks, it now was too deep and the current too strong to allow the river to freeze. Brigadier General Dager ordered the 22nd Armored Field Artillery Battalion to scoop 105mm explosive shells over the hill on the other side of the river, and engineer troops were called up. These worked all afternoon and into the evening of 22 December to complete a Bailey bridge. When this work was finished, and the tanks and trucks could begin rolling across the river, it had already grown dark.

The 8th Tank Battalion worked their way up the long hill on the way north. Just above the river, on the north side, lies the small village of Burnon. The Americans rapidly passed the village street—there were no more than two or three houses on each side—and when they came out on the fields on the other side, German paratroopers lay in wait among the spruce trees in the Fôret the Lambaichenet woods up to the right. The Germans had time to aim because the Americans could only traverse slowly and with great difficulty on the slippery and snowy uphill. When they reached the brow of the hill about a thousand yards off Burnon, the Germans fired a series of Panzerfaust shots. A couple of jeeps exploded with bright flashes of light, and the entire American force hurried back down to Burnon. There Brigadier General Dager ordered his men to go into night quarters.

Dager’s decision also was motivated by the fact that it had grown terribly cold, and furthermore, the 4th Armored Division’s two advancing combat commands had fallen far apart. Six miles farther to the southeast, Combat Command A under Brigadier General Herbert Earnest had become stuck in the small town of Martelange, the southernmost position reached by German 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division. Here too, the Germans were prepared—their aerial reconnaissance had detected the CCA’s vehicle columns on the main road N 4 between Arlon and Martelange at 0020 hrs on 22 December.

In this section, Brigadier General Earnest’s troops were pitted against Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15, led by Oberstleutnant Kurt Gröschke, one of the most experienced unit commanders in the German Paratroop Force. Gröschke himself had made combat jumps over the Netherlands and Narvik in 1940, and over Crete in 1941. Next he fought for two years on the Eastern Front, followed by combat operations in Italy, and, from June 1944, in Normandy. Gröschke was awarded with the Knight’s Cross in June 1944, and the following month he was appointed to command Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15.

Well aware of the fact that he was up against a considerably stronger enemy, Gröschke grouped his forces with great skill. Since the retreating Americans had demolished the town’s two bridges over River Sûre—which cuts Martelange into a northern and a southern part—this was nothing Gröschke needed to deal with. He positioned a small force—the 7. kompanie/ II. Bataillon—on the steep, wooded hills on the northern side of the river. This consisted of only about one hundred paratroopers, but from the top of their masked positions they could observe the town and the abutments below.50
 
The American engineers that were sent forward to construct a Bailey bridge immediately were exposed to an intense machine gun fire that forced them to take cover behind the houses. When a couple of Sherman tanks emerged, the Germans opened fire with Panzerschrecks and thus forced these too to seek refuge behind the houses.51 During the remainder of the day, Gröschke’s men subjected the Americans to fire from mortars that had been carefully aimed well in advance. Nightfall offered no relief to the Americans, because the clouds in the sky began to dissipate, and the full moon which was reflected in the snow made the slightest movement in front of the bridge visible to the Germans.

By the evening of 22 December, the 51st Armored Infantry Battalion of Combat Command A had taken such heavy casualties that Brigadier General Earnest was compelled to call in the 704th Tank Destroyer Battalion as a reinforcement.52

U.S. XII Corps, to the far right on Patton’s northern attack front, also stalled almost in its starting positions. As we have seen previously (Chapter 5), German LXXX. Armeekorps on the 7. Armee’s left flank had reverted to the defense following some limited territorial gains in the almost impassable mountainous area south of River Sauer/ Sûre on the border between Luxembourg and Germany. On either side of the Schwarze Ernz river (Ernz Noire), whose deep gorge effectively separated the two divisions of this corps, the 212. and 276. Volksgrenadier divisions became halted at between three and four miles depth into Luxembourgian territory. But at the same time as the Americans launched their attack on the morning of 22 December, Generalleutnant Franz Sensfuss renewed the attack with his 212. Volksgrenadier-Division. The two attacking forces collided and it resulted in a stalemate.

Major General Horace L. McBride’s American 80th Infantry Division—on the III Corps’ extreme right flank, six miles farther to the west—ended up in a similar situation. The 80th Infantry Division—known as the ’Blue Ridge Division’ because when it was set up during World War One, many of its soldiers came from the area around the Blue Ridge Mountains in the eastern United States— was fairly battle seasoned. It had received its baptism of fire in World War II in the breakthrough at Avranches in August 1944, and subsequently interacted with the 4th Armored Division in the sweep through France. The ’Blue Ridge Division’ started at dawn on 22 December in Mersch, with Ettelbrück, eight miles to the north, as the first goal. Its 319th Infantry Regiment advanced to the left and the 318th Infantry to the right, while the 317th Infantry was held in reserve so far. After inching through a no-man’s-land on and around the major road that runs north from the capital city of the Duchy of Luxembourg, the Americans reached up to the area just south of Ettelbrück at sunrise on 22 December.

This American attack also collided with a German advance. Grenadier-Regiment 914 from German 352. Volksgrenadier-Division had barely marched into Ettelbrück until its soldiers observed the 80th Infantry Division’s columns on the fields in the south. A German fire barrage quickly drove the Americans back to defensive positions.

This combat delayed the departure from Ettelbrück for the II. Bataillon of the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 915. The regiment’s I. Bataillon had just had time to embark on the road to Grosbous, eight miles farther to the southwest, when the 80th Infantry Division attacked. However, with the arrival of Grenadier-Regiment 914, the American attack could be halted, and the II. Bataillon of Grenadier-Regiment 915 and elements of Grenadier-Regiment 916 soon were able to continue the march to the west.

While the battered U.S. 109th Regimental Combat Team retreated westward from Ettelbrück—which was evacuated during the night of 19 December (see Chapter 5)—the regimental commander, Lieutenant Colonel James E. Rudder, ordered ’C’ Company of the 707th Tank Battalion to set up a rearguard force. In the gap between the two battalions of German Grenadier-Regiment 915, twenty-seven U.S. troops with a tank and three Bazookas laid an ambush on the road along which the leading German battalion had passed.53

The ambush hit Grenadier-Regiment 916 with a terrible effect. One of the German soldiers, Helmut Seibert, remembers how ’suddenly American tanks appeared and fired into our rows. Two guns, along with their draft horses, were immediately lost to direct hits, and I ran like mad in search of cover. Under mortar fire, which followed shortly thereafter, I crouched down in a roadside ditch.’54 Soon American artillery joined in, and then also troops from the 80th Infantry Division. These had heard the artillery rumble, and came in from the south. The Germans fled to Mertzig two miles northeast of Grosbous, with the main road ’littered with burning German vehicles and dead soldiers,’ according to the U.S. report.55 There they were able to establish defensive positions that halted U.S. 80th Infantry Division on this flank too.

U.S. 26th Infantry Division—’Yankee Division’— in the section between the 80th Infantry Division in the east and the 4th Armored Division in the west—was a relatively ’green’ division; neither its soldiers nor its divisional commander, Major General Willard S. Paul, had any combat experience when the unit was shipped over to France in September 1944. The following month, the division took part in the Third Army’s offensive in Lorraine in northeastern France. When the 26th Infantry Division on 12 December was withdrawn from the Lorraine front in order to rest and recuperate, it had sustained losses of more than six thousand men, and was down at about half its original fighting force.56 Since only 2,600 recruits arrived, men from rear units—clerks, kitchen personnel, drivers, etc.—had to be used to cover the gaps caused by the losses.

Only a week after the battered division had been withdrawn from the battle in Lorraine, it was ordered north to participate in Patton’s new offensive. To the veterans who had survived the Battle of Lorraine, this came as a shock, according to Major John J. Beeson, who served as a company commander in the ’Yankee Division’s’ 104th Infantry Regiment: ’It is certainly safe to say that their morale received a severe blow when this German counteroffensive rudely interrupted what they thought would be a month of reserve duty.’57 To the ’green’ soldiers of the Division, it was even worse. ’Some learned fast and lived but others were wounded or killed on their first day in action. Some who were taken prisoner were in a state of shock or bewilderment; some had but little idea of where they were and in a few cases did not know in which division they were in.’58
 
Similar to the other two divisions in the III Corps, the 26th Infantry made good progress as long as the soldiers were advancing through the no-man’s-land that extended between the III Corps’ departure area and German 7. Armee’s southernmost outposts. ’The general plan was for the 1st and 2nd Battalions of the 104th Infantry to attack along parallel routes by simply walking north until they met the enemy, with the 3rd Battalion initially following in reserve,’ Major Beeson wrote in an account after the war. ’There was no definite information of the enemy, either as to his strength or location.’59

Here, in the westernmost part of Luxembourg, the dramatic mountains turned into large, open fields and forests. The landscape indeed is somewhat rolling, but without the sharp elevation differences that can be found further east. During their march through this area, the nervous American soldiers opened fire on every place where the Germans might have set an ambush—groves, farmhouses, and even individual bushes.60

As was the case with the XII Corps and the 80th Infantry Division, the ’Yankee Division’s’ advance collided with a German advance. Its 104th Infantry Regiment reached Grosbous, southwest of Ettelbrück, more or less simultaneously with the I. Bataillon of German 352. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 915. The Germans, who were supported by two Hetzer tank destroyers, rapidly pushed back the Americans, and then advanced southwards, down the steep hill to the next village, Pratz. There they were themselves subjected to a devastating artillery fire.61 During the following night, the German forces withdrew.

On the ’Yankee Division’s’ left wing, the men of the 328th Infantry Regiment in the meantime made it through a no-man’s-land where they encountered soldiers from the 28th Infantry Division on the retreat, but no enemies—neither the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division nor the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division had yet reached this area. And still the U.S. regiment snailed forward with the greatest caution, supported by two companies of the 735th Tank Battalion.
 
Meanwhile, the alarm went off on the German side. The 7. Armee’s reserve, LIII. Armeekorps under General Edward von Rothkirch, had, as previously mentioned, been ordered to the front on the same day. Its original mission was to participate in the offensive by advancing to Libramont and Saint-Hubert, southwest of Bastogne.62 But this changed over the course of 22 December, when reports came in about the morning battles at Ettelbrück. In the wooded area that extended three miles from Grosbous to Martelange in the west (where Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 had a company), a large gap yawned in the German lines. And U.S. 328th Infantry Regiment was on its way from the south straight towards this area. General von Rothkirch ordered the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division—which became incorporated into his Corps—and the Führer Grenadier Brigade to rapidly deploy units to plug this gap. Generalmajor Heilmann, the paratroop division’s C.O., gave the task to Major Goswin Wahl, acting commander of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 13, who set his units in rapid motion towards the villages of Bigonville, Arsdorf, and Rambrouch in this section.63 The prime task was to prevent the Americans from getting across River Sûre, which in this area snakes between high mountains, first from the west to the east, and then bending southwards some six miles southeast of the town of Wiltz.

Although the ’Yankee Division’s’ 328th Infantry Regiment began its advance before the Germans—at six in the morning on 22 December—and furthermore only had six miles to cover to reach Rambrouch, the German paratroopers arrived there before the Americans. Shortly afterwards, they were joined by a small vanguard force—not more than a few dozen men—from the Führer Grenadier Brigade. This unit’s commander, Oberst Hans-Joachim Kahler, was faced with an even more difficult task than his colleague Major Wahl, since his motorized units had just started to cross River Our at Roth far to the east. In order to plug the gap in the front lines, Kahler had to give up the cohesion of his 6,000-strong brigade, which during the precipitous march westwards was stretched out along more than twenty-five miles. This would have dire consequences for the unit.
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American 26th and 80th Infantry divisions encountered great difficulties during their advance through hilly wooded areas and deep snow in central and western Luxembourg. The picture shows U.S. soldiers in a firing position. (NARA, SC 364311s)
 




It was not until well into the afternoon of 22 December that U.S. 328th Infantry Regiment approached Rambrouch and Arsdorf. Here the landscape begins to change from the open, rolling fields that dominate further south to an increasingly hilly terrain with large deciduous forests. U.S. 26th Reconnaissance Troop detailed a group that passed just east of Rambrouch and took the narrow forest road that runs down towards Arsdorf, a mile or so further north. The small village of Arsdorf is nestled between wooded heights just south of Sûre. From the heights that rise between the houses in the village and River Sûre’s gorge a thousand yards from the town’s northern outskirts, the crews of two German tank destroyers saw the American vanguard force slowly come rolling down the forest road on the other side of the village. A few well-directed shots was enough for the Americans to hastily retreat back up the hill again. The U.S. scouting force soon reported to the regimental staff, and when the other reconnaissance group reported that Rambrouch was defended by ’a strong German force’—a considerable exaggeration—the decision was taken to set up camp for the night a bit to the south.64

For some reason, the opportunity that Patton’s Third Army missed through the exaggerated caution of some of its units on 22 December 1944, has been overlooked in most depictions of the battle. If the two infantry divisions on the right flank of U.S. III Corps—heavily supported by armor and artillery—would have carried out their attack with greater determination, they would probably immediately have been able to tear a twelve mile wide gap in the German lines. Without any doubt, they had the strength to overpower the single German regiment in Ettelbrück and the weakened Grenadier-Regiment 915 in Mertzig/ Grosbous, some ten-twelve miles to the southwest—not to mention the small vanguard force that just had reached Arsdorf and Rambrouch, another twelve miles to the west. In any event, these German positions could easily have been circumvented at midday on 22 December.

The Americans definitely could have been across River Sûre before the evening on 22 December, and would thence have been able to threaten the vital communications hub of Wiltz, three miles north of the river and about ten miles southeast of Bastogne. This in turn would have posed such a serious threat to the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s eastern flank that this unit probably would have had to retreat from the positions it held in front of U.S. 4th Armored Division south of Bastogne. If this division in such a situation had turned to the northeast, into the area assigned to the two infantry divisions of U.S. III Corps, the Americans would have been able to create a quite dangerous wedge in the back of German 5. Panzerarmee southeast of Bastogne on 23 December—in a sector where the Germans at that time had nothing but comparatively weak units: The Panzer Lehr Division’s Kampfgruppe Hauser (of about a regiment’s size), Grenadier-Regiment 78 of 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, and the elements of the 5. Fallschirmjäger Division that would have had time to regroup there. (As we shall see, the clearing of the weather on 23 December also resulted in a situation where the American aviation could prevent most of the new units in the LIII. Armeekorps from reaching the frontlines.) From Wiltz, there were no more than ten miles up to Clervaux and one of the 5. Panzerarmee’s main supply routes. Of course, it is far from certain that such a maneuver could have accomplished a successfully sealing off of von Manteuffel’s panzer army—as we shall see, the Germans still had powerful reserves in the vicinity, albeit east of River Our—but if the thrust of U.S. III Corps on 22 to 23 December had been carried out with greater resolve, it definitely could have changed the entire strategic situation.
 
Through the exaggerated caution of the two U.S. infantry divisions, the Germans now instead were awarded time to bring forward new units that at least to a certain extent could plug the dangerous gap in the front. Then, when the American 26th and 80th Infantry divisions ran into these new German forces, the Americans recoiled back, and this gained the Germans even more time. The advance of the 26th and 80th Infantry divisions would eventually slow down to a snail’s pace. The 26th Infantry Division managed to cross River Sûre south of Wiltz only on the offensive’s sixth day. By that time, this division and the 80th Infantry Division faced more than three German divisions—the 352., the 79., and the 9. Volksgrenadier divisions, plus the Führer Grenadier Brigade.

‘MOVE ALL NIGHT!’

George Patton’s diary entry for 22 December 1944 is surprisingly low-key in its review of the limited results of the first day of the offensive, ’I am satisfied but not particularly happy over the results today.’65

In fact, Patton was deeply dissatisfied. After the war, Eisenhower told of how he on this day repeatedly was phoned by Patton, who expressed ’his disappointment because he could go no faster; at the Verdun conference on the morning of the nineteenth he had implied, or even predicted, that he would get into Bastogne in his first rush.’66 Then, when Patton in the evening was informed that the troops had stopped for the night, he seemed to have had enough. He contacted Millikin, the commander of the III Corps. ’This is our chance to win the war,’ Patton said, ’so the attack has to move all night!’67

At 2100 hrs on 22 December, the night encampments of the divisions received an order just as sharp as it was brief: ’Move all night!’68

Wisely, the infantry divisions of the III Corps now decided to try to circumvent the German defense positions. The 318th Infantry Regiment of U.S. 80th Infantry Division climbed the hills west of Ettelbrück, and from thence were able to seize a few blocks in the town’s western outskirts from the surprised Germans, who had not expected any American night attack.

In Pratz, in the southwest, Lieutenant Colonel Ralph A. Palladino again sent his 104th Infantry Regiment of the 26th Infantry Division up the long hill towards Grosbous—which proved to be abandoned by the Germans, who had retreated to Mertzig. But Palladino’s men came no further. A few hundred Germans of Grenadier-Regiment 915 under the new regimental commander Major Heinrich Hoffmeister (since Oberstleutnant Drawe had been wounded on the offensive’s second day), had braved the bitter cold and taken up positions among the bare deciduous trees in the woods southeast of Grosbous. They now laid an ambush which prevented the Americans from continuing to Mertzig.
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American soldiers on the march through a typical Ardennes landscape.(NARA, US Signal Corps)
 




Before the morning dawned, the men of Grenadier-Regiment 915 in Mertzig would however find that they were surrounded. When Lieutenant Colonel Palladino’s men failed to advance farther to the east, they continued northwards instead, to Dellen, two miles on. And on the other side of Mertzig, in the east, American trucks with the 2nd Battalion of the 80th Infantry Division’s 319th Infantry Regiment, jolted along the forest road to Oberfeulen just before midnight. This small village, located between Mertzig in the west and Ettelbrück in the east, had been found to be unoccupied by German troops. There the American soldiers dismounted and formed columns for a foot march on the road north, towards Heiderscheid, four miles away.

The night between 22 and 23 December 1944 was terribly cold—the high pressure which came in from the east had caused the temperature to plummet to below 4 degrees. Over the course of the night, it grew a little brighter as the clouds gave way and the full moon could spread its light across the wintry landscape. Shivering with cold, the insufficiently clad soldiers from the 319th Infantry Regiment’s 2nd Battalion marched the long, protracted uphill towards Heiderscheid on numb feet. Next to them, the tanks of the 702nd Tank Battalion slipped and slid in their best efforts forward on the slippery surface. On both sides, the road was surrounded by a dark, looming spruce forest, but the Americans completed the advance with no other losses than by frostbite.

In Heiderscheid however, a company from Major Ernst-Günter Lehnhoff’s Panzer-Füsilier-Bataillon of the Führer Grenadier Brigade (I. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment 99) had managed to get into position. A specialty of this brigade was that many of its troops wore fur boots and thick, lined winter clothes brought along from the Eastern Front. Hence, they could cope with the the bitter cold better than the Americans, and it did not take many rounds to make the numb young Americans lose their eagerness to fight.

However, through this nocturnal advance, U.S. 319th Infantry Regiment had blocked one of the escape routes for Major Hoffmeister’s German Grenadier-Regiment 915 in Mertzig in the south. Meanwhile, Colonel Ben Jacobs received orders to despatch his 328th Infantry Regiment along the road to the northeast from Rambrouch, six miles southwest of Heiderscheid, thereby definitively sealing off the German regiment. Having traversed a good deal of the road without incidents, Colonel Jacobs’ troops were halted outside the small village of Grevels, about halfway to Heiderscheid. There, the Führer Grenadier Brigade had grouped an entire platoon of Panther tanks, and these brought a quick end to this American advance too. With yet another of Lehnhoff’s Panzer-Füsilier companies in Eschdorf, another two miles to the northeast, a narrow corridor was thus held open for Major Hoffmeister’s cut off men in Mertzig.

On the extreme left flank of the III Corps—in the Belgian village of Burnon, some ten miles northwest of Rambrouch and about the same distance south-southwest of Bastogne— the troops of Brigadier General Dager’s Combat Command B and Major Irzyk’s 8th Tank Battalion also were alerted late in the evening of 22 December by the order to move all night.
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These German soldiers of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division have become cut off in Luxembourg, and are using the radio to establish the position of the main lines. (BArch, Bild 183-T1123-506/Langl)
 




The soldiers of Combat Command B cursed and grumbled. It was pitch dark and terribly cold, but the Germans at least seemed to have left their positions in the Lambaichenet Forest north of Burnon. It probably was the bitter cold that had driven them away. What the Americans, however, did not know was that the opponent at that point exactly knew about their plans. During a fight in the darkness a couple of hours earlier, a staff jeep from Combat Command B had been overpowered by a small group of paratroopers, and in the vehicle the Germans found documents that described the American attack plan.

About four miles north of Burnon, in Hompré, Oberst Arno Schimmel, the commander of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14, had established his command post. One of his battalions had also been located to this place. Schimmel now decided to send up a paratroop company, supported by a company of StuG III assault guns of Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 11, to Chaumont—about halfway between Hompré and Burnon. The small German force was divided so that five StuG IIIs and half of the paratroopers went into position behind some trees on the fields south of the village, west of the road from Burnon, while the rest recaptured the Fôret de Lambaichenet woods on the right hand side of the road. They were able to take up positions before the Americans arrived.

The Americans were barely two miles away, in Burnon, so they advanced with great caution in the darkness. It was only at sunrise on 23 December, just before nine o’clock, that their vanguard, ’B’ Troop, 25th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron, reached the road bend where the men could see Chaumont spread out a few hundred yards beneath the slope. Chaumont, which consisted of more than a dozen houses, is located in a small depression. The Americans suspiciously kept an eye on the wooded hill on the other, northern side of the village, where they thought that the Germans could have established firing positions. But instead, the Germans struck from both flanks.

Suddenly shells rained over the 25th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron column. Already in the first volley, a tank and three other vehicles blew up. These were left burning by the roadside while the other vehicles pulled back at breakneck speed.

The paratroopers at Chaumont definitely were no greenhorns, and they knew how to do their job. They had stormed into the village in the most brutal manner, broken into houses and transformed them into smaller fortifications. ’They are real bandits, all boys of between 17 and 20,’ said one of the villagers, Maria Lozet.69 ’We are going to push the Americans back to America,’ the presumptuous paratroopers declared to the terrified residents of Chaumont.

Afterward, one of the men of the 4th Armored Division said in regard to these paratroopers, with an allusion to McAuliffe’s famous words to the German parliamentaries who suggested that he surrender, ’In their way these panzer-trained paratroops are saying “nuts” to us. I want to describe these bastards because some observers have underrated them. They were to be unsure, inexperienced, being recently reorganised, but the fact is they didn’t act inexperienced. They were slick, savage, continously shooting, continously moving forward almost sullen in their bloody determination.’70
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Using anti-tank weapons, machine-guns and mortars, a hundred paratroopers of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 in position on the heights on the north side of River Sûre managed to hold back Combat Command A of U.S. 4th Armored Division at Martelange. The picture shows paratroopers of the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division carrying an iron stove to their pillbox in the Ardennes in the winter of 1944/1945. (BArch, Bild 183-2013-0226-501/Hanns Gross)
 




Meanwhile, Combat Command A had fallen far behind in the 4th Armored Division’s advance. This force remained in position throughout the night of 22/23 December, stuck on the south side of River Sûre at Martelange, six miles south-southeast of Chaumont. With anti-tank weapons, machine guns and mortars a hundred paratroopers of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 who held positions on the heights on the north side of the river, managed to prevent the American engineer troops from constructing a Bailey bridge. And from the east, the Führer Grenadier Brigade and the 79. Volksgrenadier-Division were on their way to join up. It could very well have been here that the Germans managed to finally halt the 4th Armored Division—had not 23 December 1944 also been the day when the weather cleared up so that the Allied aircraft could intervene in full strength. No less than seven different groups of fighter-bombers from the 9th Air Force, fighter planes from the 8th Air Force, and even British aircraft were deployed to support the III Corps.71 ’Fighter-bomber attacks in formations of up to 20 aircraft over Division sector,’ the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division reported.72

Hompré, where Chaumont’s defender had their command post, was turned into a blazing hell. ’The enemy fighter-bombers dived down towards Hompré,’ wrote the commander of the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, Oberst Kokott, ’and sprayed our columns with fire from their machine guns. While the anti-aircraft guns opened fire, all our soldiers directed their weapons up and fired all they had against the hated airplanes. Residential buildings went up in flames, vehicles burned, wounded lay in the middle of the street, horses that had been hit lashed.’73

Some of the heaviest air strikes were carried out against the bridges over the Our and Sauer/Sûre far to the east, at Luxembourg’s border with Germany, where the Führer Grenadier Brigade and the 79. Volksgrenadier-Division of German LIII. Armeekorps tried to get through. Hence, for example, the bridge at Echternach was exposed all day long to the incessant attacks by the 362nd, 377th, and 406th Fighter groups, whose Thunderbolt fighter-bombers attacked with rocket projectiles, napalm bombs and HE bombs. During the course of the day, larger and larger traffic jams formed at the increasingly heavily damaged bridges. This was where the heavy vehicles of the Führer Grenadier Brigade and the 79. Volksgrenadier-Division became stranded on the east side of the river. Those who managed to cross to the west side, had to crawl along the narrow, slippery roads that wound through the hilly area in Luxembourg, where they became easy prey for American fighter-bombers.
 
On the evening of 23 December, less than half of 79. Volksgrenadier-Division had managed to make its way to the combat zone—Volksgrenadier-Regiment 208 and I. Bataillon/ Grenadier-Regiment 212 went into position north of the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division. But the rest of Grenadier-Regiment 212 and the entire Grenadier-Regiment 266 still was on the German side of River Our, as well as the Division’s artillery regiment and Panzerjäger-Abteilung 179. The situation was similar to the Führer Grenadier Brigade: Because of enemy air attacks, only the 1124. Aufklärungs-Kompanie, the Panzer-Füsilier-Bataillon, two companies with a total of twenty-two Panthers from Panzer-Regiment 101, and a company of StuG IIIs from Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 911 had arrived at the front on 23 December.

As we have seen, a solitary company of Major Ernst-Günter Lehnhoff’s Panzer-Füsilier-Bataillon had repulsed the first American attack on Heiderscheid during the wee hours of 23 December. But American 80th Infantry Division made another attempt with the 319th Infantry Regiment’s 2nd Battalion on the morning of 23 December. With the support of Sherman tanks from the 702nd Tank Battalion and Thunderbolt fighter-bombers, they managed to now push the Germans out of the village. Oberst Kahler himself was badly wounded when his armored troop carrier was hit by a U.S. anti-tank gun.

The Germans retreated to the neighboring village of Eschdorf, slightly more than a mile farther to the west, where another of Major Lehnhoff’s Panzer-Füsilier companies had taken up positions. Major René de l’ Homme de Courbière temporarily took command of the brigade’s small frontal strength and ordered the Panther platoon in Grevels, three miles north, to shift to Eschdorf in order to try and regain Heiderscheid. But it was a poorly implemented counterattack. Twenty-nine combat vehicles—Sturmgeschütz IIIs, half-track vehicles, and some Panthers—simply drove straight out of Eschdorf, and in the open fields in the east they were met by tremendous American firepower. When eleven of the German vehicles, including at least one Panther, had been lost, de Courbière gave the order to retreat. This decided the fate of the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 915, which on 23 December was ordered to break out of its encirclement in Mertzig (six miles southeast of Eschdorf) by circumventing the American positions, and join the rest of the division in Ettelbrück, four miles to the northeast.74 When the exhausted remnants of Grenadier-Regiment 915 finally reached Ettelbrück, about ninety men was all that was left of the regiment.75
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U.S. soldiers inspect the battlefield after the Führer Grenadier Brigade’s attack against Heiderscheid has been repulsed. Among the bullet-riddled German combat vehicles are dead soldiers. Far to the left is a Sturmgeschütz III, and to the right, two Sonderkraftfahrzeug 251 armored personnel carriers.. (NARA, 111-SC-198412)
 




But just as on the previous day, the American 26th and 80th Infantry divisions failed to exploit their opponent’s weakness. The whole day these divisions acted relatively cautious, which allowed the Germans to gradually reinforce their defensive positions. It certainly seems as though the news that the armored elite unit Führer Grenadier Brigade arrived was enough to make the Americans wary. In any case, the commander of the III Corps, Major General Millikin, decided to also despatch Combat Command Reserve of the 4th Armored Division to the area where the Führer Grenadier Brigade was reported. Commanded by Colonel Wendell Blanchard, this combat command set off from Martelange towards Bigonville, three miles farther to the northeast, and two and a half miles northwest of Rambrouch, where U.S. 26th Infantry Division had been stalled. Thus Millikin hoped that it would be possible to help the two infantry divisions to break through in the direction of Wiltz.

Apart from artillery and support troops, the 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve consisted of the 53rd Armored Infantry Battalion and the 37th Tank Battalion—the latter led by Lieutenant Colonel Creighton W. Abrams, the legendary armor commander who later gave his name to the modern Abrams tank. Although Combat Command Reserve would be delayed by German paratroopers who on the day before had been rushed forward to plug the gap in the 7. Armee’s front lines, these would soon discover that they were up against a quite different kind of adversary.

The deputy commander of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 13, Major Goswin Wahl (who led this regiment throughout the Ardennes Battle), had placed his I. Bataillon in positions in the area around Flatzbour, about two miles east of Martelange, and at Bigonville a little further to the north.76 A company of paratroopers, wearing white snow oversuits, lay in wait with two StuG IIIs and a captured Sherman at the edge of the deciduous forest at Flatzbour. When CCR’s armored column at midday on 23 December came rumbling on the road just southwest of Flatzbour, the paratroopers opened fire and knocked out two of the 37th Tank Battalion’s Shermans.77
 
The Americans halted and managed to put both of the assault guns and the German Sherman tank out of commission. During the next hour, their artillery and tank guns bombarded the wooded area from where the Germans had shelled the Americans with mortars. Then a company of infantry was sent into the woods to ’clear up.’ When they encountered nothing more than tracks in the snow that they didn’t bother to follow, the troops returned to the road. No sooner had they climbed into their vehicles again than the Germans resumed their fire. Now the 37th Tank Battalion’s Shermans were ordered up front. But then it turned out that the field was mined with anti-tank mines, so the tanks were pulled back again. When the German mortars continued to claim casualties among the Americans, Colonel Blanchard ordered a halt for the rest of the day.78 But the men of Combat Command Reserve had not had their final say— they would prove to be a notch tougher than those in the 4th Armored Division’s other two Combat commands; or at least Blanchard used a significantly more efficient ’shock and awe tactic.’

While this took place, the single company from German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 held the entire Combat Command A down at Martelange also during most of 23 December. In fact, Oberstleutnant Gröschke, the commander of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15, had already at three in the morning on 23 December ordered back most of this company, with the exception of a small rearguard group which remained on the heights north of River Sûre.79 From there this little German group, using a single mortar, succeeded in holding down the American armored division until the U.S. engineer troops at two thirty in the afternoon—covered by a massive artillery fire—managed to place a Bailey bridge across the river. By that time, according to German reports, the small paratroop force had destroyed ten American tanks at Martelange.80

Meanwhile, Gröschke had been able to establish proper defensive positions in the next little community, Warnach—two miles north of Martelange. Here, Hauptmann Alfred Kitze, commander of the II. Bataillon/ Fallschirmjäger Regiment 15, had been assigned the task of grouping a small rearguard force. Kitze detailed fifteen paratroopers with four Panzerfausts from the staff of the 8. Kompanie under Leutnant Gebhard, two SMG platoons (machine gun platoons) from the 8. Kompanie, and a machine gun platoon from the 7. Kompanie. It had certainly been a totally inadequate strength even for a delay ingbattle, had it not been for the four StuG III assasult guns of Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 11 under Oberst Hollunder that also went into position at Warnach.

Brigadier General Earnest, commanding Combat Command A, 4th Armored Division, knew nothing of this when he ordered Lieutenant Colonel Delk Oden, the commander of the 35th Tank Battalion, to go into action with his tanks up the highway N 4 towards Bastogne. There were only about ten miles left to the American lines south of the town, and Earnest hoped to be there before midnight. Oden positioned the Stuart tanks of ’A’ Troop, 25th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron in the lead, followed by halftracks with infantry and Hellcat tank destroyers of ’A’ Company, 704th Tank Destroyer Battalion, and then a long column of Sherman tanks.

Warnach, located just to the east of Highway N 4 that runs north towards Bastogne, mainly consisted of twenty houses lined up along a small village street from the west to the east, with a small church in the middle. From the village street, a small dirt road ran diagonally to the south, through a little valley, and up a hill where a farm was located. Another six hundred yards away, on the other side of open fields, was a small copse.
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A German soldier with a Sturmgewehr 44 has taken cover in a house ruin. (Månsson)
 




It had grown dark this frigid evening when Lieutenant Colonel Oden’s vehicle column came out from behind the snow-covered trees in the forest on the highway’s east side. The Germans let the Stuart tanks pass, but when the half-tracks with infantry became visible, the StuG Ills opened fire. Two half-track vehicles were hit and burned with a dazzling firelight.81

Lieutenant Colonel Oden called back his units. The Hellcat tank destroyers went into cover and took the small village under such a heavy fire that the Germans fled back to the forest just north of the village. Then one platoon of Stuart tanks and an infantry platoon with twenty-six soldiers attacked. From both sides troops rushed towards the partly burning village, which they reached about simultaneously. After a fierce hand-to-hand combat, the Americans retreated. All tanks except one were left behind in Warnach, which remained in the hands of the German paratroopers.82
 
Shaken by the dogged resistance, Lieutenant Colonel Oden ordered his forces to wait until after midnight—while the artillery continued to shell the small cluster of stone houses—before he made another attempt to take Warnach. This time, seventeen Shermans of ’B’ Company, 35th Tank Battalion, supported by ’B’ Company, 51st Armored Infantry Battalion, attacked. The Germans watched as the Americans approached across the snow-covered fields south and west of the village. As at Martelange the previous night, the attacking force stood out clearly against the snow under a full moon. The paratroopers held their fire as long as possible. It was only when the Americans came in among the houses that they opened up with everything they had. ’Feuer freil’ The leading Sherman tank was hit almost simultaneously by three Panzerfausts and became standing fully ablaze, while the firelight turned night into day. Another three Shermans were destroyed by the 75mm guns of the StuG Ills, and after hard fighting man to man on the village street, the surviving Americans stumbled back across the fields. The German paratroopers proved to be incredibly tough, as the Americans established, ’These men fought fanatically, with no sign that surrender was an option they were willing to consider.’83

Meanwhile, Patton grew increasingly impatient. He had almost promised McAuliffe that he would be in Bastogne on that day, and now he received a call for help from the surrounded 101st Airborne, which by then was at the mercy of Kokott’s repeated attacks, ’Our situation is getting pretty sticky around here. The enemy has attacked all along the south and some Panthers and Tigers are running around in our area. Request you ask 4th Armored to put on all possible pressure.’84 Patton in turn phoned the headquarters of the III Corps and complained, ’There is too much piddling around. Bypass these towns and clear them up later. Tanks can operate on this ground nowl’85

But the divisional commander Gaffey and his Combat Commands were of a different opinion—they realized that from the villages (’towns’ according to Patton’s vocabulary) held by the Germans, the American supply lines could be cut off if the Americans advanced across the fields to circumvent these villages.
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With a strength of only 15 men with four Panzerfausts from the headquarters of the 8. Kompanie under Leutnant Gebhard, two machine-gun platoons from the 8. Kompanie, and a machine gun platoon from the 7. Kompanie, the II. Bataillon of German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 managed to halt Combat Command A of U.S. 4th Armored Division at Warnach. The battle for this small village cost the American unit quite dearly. Seen in the photo are destroyed Stuart tanks and Hellcat tank destroyers. (National Museum of Military history, Diekirch)
 




The situation looked the same at Chaumont on the 4th Armored Divisions left flank, five miles north-northwest of Warnach, where a company from Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14 and a company of StuG Ills from Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 11 had repulsed the CCB’s reconnaissance thrust on the morning of 23 December. It stood clear to the Americans that it would require a veritable storm attack to take possession of this tiny village. While the attack force was assembled on the heights south of Chaumont, the 105mm howitzers of the 22nd Armored Field Artillery Battalion’s M7 SPGs opened up on Chaumont and its surroundings. Then whole swarms of Thunderbolt fighter-bombers from the 406th Fighter Group appeared and dropped 500-lb bombs and sprayed the village with fire from their .50 cal. machine guns. The German losses caused by this bombardment are not known, but historian Peter Schrijvers describes it from the perspective of Chaumont’s residents:

’Flames soared from the homes of the Dessoys, the Davids, the Hormans, the Lozets, the Paquays, and the Charneux. The school, too, was ablaze. Felicien Rosieres and his wife were dead. So was Marie Horman.’86

Shortly afterwards other aircraft intervened— Messerschmitt Bf 109s from the Luftwaffe’s fighter group IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 4, and the men on the ground witnessed a furious dogfight.

The terrible air and artillery bombardment was more than the German defenders could take, and completely demoralized, these floated back towards Hompré. There they were brusquely halted and sent back to Chaumont by higher officers. Moreover, four tanks with mounted infantry were put at their disposal.87 ’After a while, the young soldiers of the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division managed to overcome their perfectly understandable initial shock and willingly adapted to the new situation,’ wrote Oberst Kokott.88

The American ground troops made the mistake of not immediately following up on the air strike against Chaumont. It took until half past two in the afternoon on 23 December before they attacked, with twenty-five Sherman tanks from Major Irzyk’s 8 th Tank Battalion and the infantry of Lieutenant Colonel Harold Cohen’s 10th Armored Infantry Battalion. While parts of the infantry went into the Fôret de Lambaichenet woods south of Chaumont, hundreds of soldiers and tanks came across the open fields that led down to the village from the south. While bitter close combat erupted in the dense spruce forest behind them, the troops of the American main force were able to enter Chaumont without having met anything but sporadic gunfire. But when the village street was filled with American troops, the Germans struck. Hidden behind a smokescreen, ten Sturmgeschütz IIIs and tanks came rolling down the hill up to the left and opened fire, while gray-clad paratroopers who clung atop the assault guns and tanks, jumped down and attacked the American infantry. According to one of the participating American soldiers, the Germans used captured American tanks, which still carried the emblems of the 7th Armored Division.89 Leaving eleven (own) Shermans and sixty-five killed behind, the Americans retreated from the village.
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Chaumont. At this place, Combat Command B of U.S. 4th Armored Division was inflicted severe losses by a company from Oberst Arno Schimmels Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14, supported by StuG IIIs from Sturmgeschütz-Brigade 11. The photo is taken from above the hill to the south of the village. The road on which the American half-track vehicle is driving, leads down to the small village of Chaumont, which is visible in the valley further down. In this photograph, the U.S. censor has painted over the face of the fallen American soldier lying in the snow to avoid identification. (NARA, 111-SC-199294/PFC D.R. Ornitz)
 




While this took place, the force that had entered the Fôret de Lambaichenet woods also was driven back. As the Americans staggered out of the woods again, Captain Fred Sklar, the commander of the 25th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron, was among those missing. He was injured and taken prisoner by the Germans, but has since been reported missing in action. His case still remains uncleared.90.

It was a terrible setback for the Americans, and it hit the tough armored soldiers’ self-esteem particularly hard. It would take two days before they made another attempt to take Chaumont.

In Bastogne, six miles farther to the north, McAuliffe could not hide his disappointment at Patton’s shortcomings. On the evening of 23 December, he sent a bitter message directly to the 4th Armored Division’s headquarters: ’Sorry I did not get to shake hands today. I was disappointed.’ Shortly afterwards came another acidulous message from someone in the 101st Airborne’s headquarters: ’There is only one more shopping day before Christmas!’

24 December began with intense American air attacks, and they lasted all day. Particularly intensive air strikes were carried out to support the XII Corps, which on this day renewed its efforts to break through the front held by German 212. and 276. Volksgrenadier divisions in the far east at Luxembourg’s border with Germany. Here the bridge over the Sauer/Sûre at Bollendorf was destroyed through these air attacks, and at the bridge at Wallendorf, a few miles farther to the north, Thunderbolts from the 405th Fighter Group fell down over a concentration of two hundred German vehicles. The American pilots sprayed the entire vehicle column with machine gun fire and saw how several fuel trucks caught fire, with the result that the flames spread to other vehicles. Within a short time, the entire column was covered by a huge, black cloud of smoke. When the pilots returned to base, they reported that at least seventy German vehicles had been set on fire at this place.91 But taking advantage of the rough terrain, the Germans still were able to prevent U.S. XII Corps from advancing more than about a mile.
 
U.S. III Corps was in a similar situation. In Ettelbrück, about twelve miles west of the border river at Bollendorf, German 352. Volksgrenadier-Division had despatched Grenadier-Regiment 914 to reinforce Grenadier-Regiment 916. U.S. 80th Infantry Division mainly refrained from any ground attacks and instead had its artillery shell the increasingly destroyed town, which also was subjected to incessant napalm bombings that caused raging fires.
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With telephone lines severed by artillery fire and aerial bombardment, ski-borne couriers became important on the German side. (BArch, Bild 146-1974-151-31)
 




At the front sector at Eschdorf and Heiderscheid, six miles west-northwest of Ettelbrück, the main part of the 80th Infantry Division and the 26th Infantry Division still had not managed to achieve any breakthrough to the branch of River Sûre that runs eastwards south of Wiltz. In view of the weakness of the German troops, the meager American successes in this section is quite remarkable. Because of the U.S. air attacks—especially against the bridges over the German border river—the Führer Grenadier Brigade’s artillery units had still on 24 December been unable to get through to the front, and one of the brigade’s three tank companies remained on the German side of River Our. The 79. Volksgrenadier-Division was in no better situation.

And still, U.S. 80th Infantry Division was pushed back as these German units mounted a surprising counterattack on Christmas Eve. The Germans advanced on a three-mile wide front—between the area northeast of Heiderscheid and Welscheid farther to the east—with the Führer Grenadier Brigade on the left and the 79. Volksgrenadier-Division on the right flank.92

The aviation of the XIX Tactical Air Command immediately intervened. Thunderbolts from the 362nd Fighter Group dropped napalm bombs on vehicle and troop columns in Bavigne and Bourscheid on roads leading to the German front in this area. The operations made on Christmas Eve by this Fighter Group against Eschdorf, a mile and a half west of Heiderscheid, illustrates the tremendous effect that air strikes could have on the morale of ground troops. ’P-47s of the 379th Squadron (362nd Fighter Group), out on their last mission of the day, swept low over the pine stands on the ridge, dropping fragmentation bombs and strafing. For some fifty Germans, well and wounded, this was the finishing touch; they came straggling out of the woods, hands high.’93 Alas, this could thus be achieved even against soldiers belonging to an elite unit such as the Führer Grenadier Brigade.

But the U.S. ground troops failed to take full advantage of these air strikes. It took until the next day before they entered the village of Eschdorf, and on the eastern flank, German 79. Volksgrenadier-Division exercised such a heavy pressure that U.S. 80th Infantry Division was forced to withdraw its 317th Infantry Regiment from Kehmen, which had been taken by the Americans on the previous day. The inhabitants of this village would have to wait another four weeks for their final liberation from the German occupation.

On the front section seven miles southwest of Heiderscheid, the 26th ’Yankee Division’ succeeded in taking Rambrouch on Christmas Eve, but that position had in any case become untenable for the Germans since the 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve two miles farther to the northwest had advanced from the Flatzbour area towards Bigonville. The 26th Infantry Division continued its advance only with the greatest caution. As the 735th Tank Battalion’s after action report says, the infantry occasionally refused to go forward unless it had a strong support by tanks or tank destroyers.94
 
As we have seen, on the evening of the 23rd, Combat Command Reserve, U.S. 4th Armored Division had been halted by the I. Bataillon of German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 13, but the next morning the Americans attacked the German positions in Bigonville. The CCR’s commander, Colonel Blanchard, put in a kind of lightning attack: A heavy artillery barriage drove the German defenders down into the cellars of the houses in the village, and while the shells thundered down in the small community, two Sherman companies with two companies of mounted infantry broke out of the woods east and west of Bigonville and worked as fast as possible uphill and through thick snow on the fields outside the village. Many of the German paratroopers, who by then had been reinforced by a small vanguard of the Führer Grenadier Brigade, were completely taken by surprise. The Americans were inside the village before they knew it. One of the German paratroopers, Josef Schröder, says:

We were sitting huddled under quilts, for want of anything else, which we had found in the house, and were awaiting the outcome, surrounded by potatoes. Suddenly we heard the sound of hobnail boots upstairs. I peeped from under the quilt and caught sight of American paratrooper’s boots, familiar from past combat with our brothers from the opposite side. Everything that followed happened in a flash. Two hand grenades exploded in the cellar. The quilts took the fragments. I thought the time had come now to surrender, so I ran to the cellar stairs, yelled ‘Stop firing’ and looked straight down the barrels of American rifles. ‘Hands up’ came the terse answer from above, and so with our hands above our heads the four of us went up the stairs one after the other.95

According to U.S. 37th Tank Battalion’s after action report, several women were among the captured Germans, and thirty-nine U.S. soldiers and three officers who had been the prisoners of the Germans in Bigonville, were also liberated.96

Combat Command A also made a little progress on Christmas Eve. In the by now completely devastated village of Warnach—three miles northwest of Bigonville— the small group of German paratroopers from Hauptmann Kitze’s II. Bataillon in Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 was unable to hold out against such a superior force much longer. On the morning of 24 December, the Americans renewed their attack—this time from three directions, with Sherman tanks from ’B’ Company, 35th Tank Battalion, the infantry of ’B’ Company, 51st Armored Infantry Regiment, and Hellcat tank destroyers from ’A’ Company, 704th Tank Destroyer Battalion. And yet, the ensuing combat was described as ’the most bitter fought by CCA during the whole Bastogne operation.’97 This cost the Americans the loss of another five Shermans—four destroyed by the German StuG IIIs, and a fifth knocked out by a Panzerfaust inside the village. The after action report of the 51st Armored Infantry Battalion reads:
 
’At 0530 “B” Company, mounted on tanks, moved east across the road to attack Warnach, and was met at the outskirts of the town by a hail of direct and small arms fire. Several hours of bitter street fighting drove the enemy armor and infantry into the northern portion of the town, where they defied efforts to dislodge them. At [illegible] it was decided to withdraw our small tank-infantry team slightly to the rear of the church, in order to employ artillery fire safely.’98

It should be borne in mind that the bitterly contested village was fairly modest in size. Most of the residential buildings in Warnach lay in a row on both sides of the no more than six to seven hundred yards long village street that runs from the west to the east. Behind (north of) the church, seven or eight houses lay in a row along a three hundred-yard-long road. In the other direction, to the north, another small road, lined by a dozen houses, ran through a small valley and up to a little hill, about 400 yards from the church, and there a farm was located. Warnach was surrounded by cattle fields. About a thousand yards away, dense spruce forests grew in the north, in the east and in the south, and a few hundred yards to the west, Highway N 4 passed across open fields, leading from the south to Bastogne in the north.
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Unlike the U.S. Army, the German Army was never fully motorized. Horse-drawn wagons played an important role throughout the war, especially towards the end, when Germany was low on fuel. Here a German soldier has stopped to water the horses in a river in the Ardennes in the winter of 1944/1945. (BArch, Bild 183-J28657/Kriegsberichter Etzold)
 




Guided by the thick smoke columns that rose from the totally devastated and burning village, Thunderbolt planes from the 362nd Fighter Group dived down on the house ruins, dropped sixteen demolition bombs and eight incendiary bombs, and fired eighteen rocket projectiles, which, according to Combat Command A, led to ’excellent results.’99 And still, the remaining paratroopers continued to play cat and mouse with the Americans among the house ruins in Warnach until after sunset on 24 December, when they under the cover of darkness retreated to the Tantimont forest in the north. When the Americans finally seized the pitiful remains of the village, they encountered—besides a large number of dead bodies, a number of wounded, and all the American soldiers who previously had been captured by the paratroopers—no more than four destroyed vehicles (a StuG III, two armored cars and a truck), plus three vehicles and an anti-tank gun abandoned among the ruins by the Germans.100 The German paratroopers had managed to bring along all the other equipment when they retreated. The battle cost ’B’ Company, 51st Armored Infantry Regiment a loss of sixty-one in killed or wounded, i.e. more than one third of its entire force.101
 
Taking the small heap of ruins that remained of Warnach after such a prolonged struggle indeed was no great victory for the 4th Armored Division. Bastogne remained surrounded, and the radio message sent by Patton to McAuliffe in an attempt to cheer him up on Christmas Eve, sounded hollow, ’Xmas Eve present coming up. Hold on.’ The increasingly grim commander in Bastogne sent his terse response not to Patton, but to the commander of the VIII Corps, Middleton, in Neufchâteau, ’The finest Christmas present the 101st could get would be relief tomorrow.’

The pressure on the Third Army to relieve Bastogne mounted. ’This has been a very bad Christmas,’ Patton wrote in his diary that evening. ’All along our lines we have received violent counterattacks.’102

But even if the relatively weak German ground forces had done more than might have been expected of them against Patton’s forces, there was of course no reason for the Germans to look particularly brightly on the situation. In particular, the Allied total air superiority caused serious concern. The air units led by the XIX Tactical Air Command, which supported the Third Army, conducted no less than 638 individual air missions on 24 December 1944, and were reported to have destroyed or damaged 117 armored vehicles and 588 other vehicles.103 This may have been an overestimation of the actual results, but Generalmajor Heilmann, the commander of the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division, made the following observation on this 24 December: ’When night fell a glow could be seen stretching back to the West Wall. The roads were marked by lines of flaming vehicles.’104
 
On the other side of the hill, Patton’s Third Army reported the following concerning 24 December 1944: ’The fighter bombers of the XIX TAC set so close a screen in front of the German Air Force that only one squadron was observed in the immediate Third Army battle area, and Bombay (IX Bomb Division) carried out 365 successful sorties without sighting an enemy aircraft.’105 Virtually the only German aircraft that managed to break through the Allied fighter screen on this day was a handful of jet-powered Arado Ar 234 B-2 bombers from bomber group III. Gruppe/ Kampfgeschwader 76 that attacked Liège and Namur.106 But for example the ground-attack wing Schlachtgeschwader 4, onto which such high hopes had been pinned, failed completely. An operation on the morning of 24 December to support their own ground troops south of Bastogne with about forty of the unit’s Focke Wulf 190 F-8s—many of them equipped with antitank rockets—ended in a total fiasco. Before they reached the front area they came under attack from U.S. fighters that shot down three Fw 190s. Another four crashed due to technical failures, and two others were reported missing after the mission.

’This day [24 December 1944] was the day of the Air Force, but unfortunately it was not ours. Not a single German aircraft appeared over Bastogne. What had happened to the air support we had been promised for vital sectors?’ wrote 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s Heilmann.107

That Schlachtgeschwader 4’s commander, the experienced Knight’s Cross wearer Oberstleutnant Ewald Janssen, was replaced by Oberst Alfred Druschel—who hitherto had coordinated the tactical air support of the 5. Panzerarmee108—would not change the situation.* Although Schlachtgeschwader 4 had a smaller proportion of inadequately trained aviators than the German fighter units in the West, the absence of an effective German fighter escort meant that the ground-attack airmen all too often were left completely at the mercy of Allied fighters—as was the case on 24 December 1944.

That the Germans still were able to resist the Third Army with such limited forces, was due in large part to a series of mistakes on the U.S. side. One of them was to spread out their forces too much. The Americans themselves were quite aware of this, and also that the hope for a ’Blitz’ that would sweep aside German 7. Armee and break ahead past Bastogne and further north had been too optimistic. Patton now took the decision to concentrate his efforts against Bastogne. The 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve, which just thirty-six hours earlier had been sent eastward, was ordered to turn around and at full speed move its troops to Neufchâteau on the Armored Division’s opposite flank. 109 Meanwhile, two battalions from the 80th Infantry Division’s 318th Infantry Regiment were shifted to the 4th Armored Division, which also was promised top priority for the XIX TAC ‘s direct air support on Christmas Day.

Millikin, the C.O. of the III Corps, also established that Patton’s idea of attacking around the clock had not produced much else than a total exhaustion of his troops— which also Patton himself admitted. So while the troops of the Armored Division’s Combat Command A and Combat Command B were allowed to rest during Christmas Night, Combat Command Reserve in the east departed from Bigonville, and drove back along the long and bad road to Neufchâteau, nearly twenty miles to the west.

On Christmas morning, Combat Command Reserve had assembled in its new area in the west, where the troops took Highway N 85 up towards Bastogne in the northeast. Colonel Wendell Blanchard, the CCR‘s commander, was a master at what could be described as a precursor to the later-days’ shock and awe tactics. Contrary to what Patton sometimes did, he avoided as far as possible going straight for the enemy pockets of resistance, but instead either evaded these to strike at weak points in the opponent’s lines, or, where this was not possible, he used artillery and direct air support in a way that even by American standards, was quite liberal.
 
A good three miles before Bastogne, the N 85 passes through Sibret. When the aerial reconnaissance revealed that the Germans had grouped a large force here, including armor, Blanchard decided to conduct a flanking movement to attack the little town in the flank. Therefore, he ordered his unit to veer off to the right about six miles before Sibret. This would lead Combat Command Reserve not only to a series of battles, but also to a place in the history of warfare.

Two and a half miles from the N 85, out in the open, windswept fields in the east, lay Remoiville, a small farming community with a few hundred inhabitants. This place was held by the III. Bataillon of German Fallschirmjäger- Regiment 14—a unit that would soon get acquainted with Blanchard’s famous attack tactics.

Behind the treetops of the grove on the other side of Remoiville, a smoke column rose against the blue sky. Loud bangs from artillery guns could be heard from that direction. That was Chaumont, a few miles away in the northeast, which was being bombarded by Combat Command B ahead of the final assault on Christmas evening. Soon it would be Remoiville’s turn. While Blanchard’s armor and motorized infantry were made ready for the assault, four artillery battalions started shelling the little village. It was the same tactic that had been used with such success against Bigonville. The Germans in Remoiville had been taken completely by surprise by the unexpected appearance of U.S. forces so far to the west, and the massive artillery barrier caused a bloodbath while the shocked survivors fled headlong down into the basements of the buildings.110 At that moment, Blanchard launched his armored attack.

Since Remoiville is located in a valley at a small creek, surrounded by a higher elevated terrain, the Americans were able to quickly get down amongst its thirty houses, many of which had been set burning by the artillery. When the Germans came up from the cellars where they had sought refuge, they immediately were overpowered by the American soldiers who flooded the village. Those who tried to offer resistance from the cellar air-holes were soon killed or driven out by direct fire from Sherman cannons. Three hundred and twenty-seven Germans, many of them wounded, were taken captive.
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Christmas morning 1944. Soldiers from Lieutenant Colonel George Jaques’ 53d Armored Infantry Battalion have left the road N 85 and are marching southeast across the windswept fields. They watch how the artillery of Combat Command Reserve, 4th Armored Division is shelling Remoiville, where the III. Bataillon/ Fallschirmjäger Regiment 14 has established defensive positions. (NARA, 111-SC-198452)





Meanwhile, the by now rested and reinforced troops in Combat commands A and B also came loose. This was not least due to the air support. On this 25 December, the XIX Tactical Air Command despatched eight different Fighter groups in tactical support of the III Corps.111 From Warnach, elements of Combat Command A, 4th Armoured Division continued towards the the northeast. A mile further ahead, the Germans were driven out of Tintange by Thunderbolts from the 362nd and 406th Fighter groups that set this little village burning with napalm bombs. This American thrust forced German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 to spread out its forces, since it suddenly also became necessary to block the road over Tintange against Wiltz, located eleven miles farther up in the northeast.

Meanwhile, the main force of Combat Command A carried on from Warnach along Highway N 4 towards the north. On their right side, the Tantimont forest stood in flames—also a result of napalm bombings—and Thunderbolt planes incessantly roamed in the air above the U.S. armored forces. Wherever the American soldiers turned their eyes, they could see black smoke columns rise from places that had been targets for fighter-bomber attacks, and on the snow-covered hills to the left, the artillery pieces in Combat Command B were in full action against Chaumont.

Oberstleutnant Gröschke, the commander of Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15, had no choice but to fall back to Hollange, three miles north of Warnach, where he established a new defensive position. As soon as this was observed by the American aviation, Brigadier General Earnest ordered his Combat Command A to halt in front of this village. ’The air support,’ a report from the 4th Armored Division established, ’was superior during the day and contributed particularly to the capture of Tintange. The air also reported that Hollange in front of CCA was strongly held and enabled the Division [4th AD] to fire the attached heavy artillery battalion on it during the night to soften it up for the next day’s attack.’112

Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14 also was pushed back. Through the American thrusts on Christmas Day, the positions at Chaumont suddenly were threatened not only frontally, by Combat Command B; in addition to this, Combat Command A had marched up in front of Hollange, slightly more than a mile to the southeast, and another two and a half miles to the west stood Combat Command Reserve. Challenged by virtually the entire 4th Armored Division—which also had been reinforced by elements from the 80th Infantry Division—the Germans had no other option than to evacuate their little force from Chaumont. Supported by a battalion of the 318th Infantry Regiment and with very strong air support, Combat Command B attacked on Christmas evening and finally managed to take the ruins of Chaumont in possession. ’By dusk the Americans were in control of Chaumont. The GIs were exhausted, disheveled, and bearded. They smashed all the German guns they could find. Then they brought bacon and coffee and implored the villagers to fix them a hot meal.’113
 
But even if the 4th Armored Division succeeded in gaining some territory on Christmas Day, no real breakthrough had yet been accomplished. From their positions in Hollange, German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 held Highway N 4 to Bastogne barred to Combat Command A. With Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14 concentrated in Remichampagne and the adjacent spruce forest Bois Cohet, about two miles northwest of Hollange, the Americans dared not let Combat Command B continue further north of Chaumont—which was located midway between the two villages—because this would mean exposing it to the risk of being sealed off. To the left of Combat Command B stood Combat Command Reserve, which just had seized Remoiville. Between this village and Remichampagne, a mile farther north, lay an open, snow-covered field, bordered by dark spruce forest on both sides. Since the sun would soon set and put an end to the close air support, Blanchard decided to halt his Combat Command Reserve for the night.

It should be kept in mind that at this point no more than a few days had passed since the Americans had been dealt a devastating defeat by a German force that they had not known the existence of, so although the 4th Armored Division and the Third Army enjoyed a considerable numerical superiority over their opponent, the U.S. caution should be seen in this light.

The situation was similar along the Third Army’s entire frontline: Where the Americans gained any territory on Christmas day, it was mainly due to the air operations. Far down to the southeast, the 5th Infantry Division of U.S. XII Corps could march into Echternach on Christmas Day, after this heavily bombed city had been evacuated by German 212. Volksgrenadier-Division. But then the XII Corps’ advance in the Luxembourg - German border area again grounded to a halt. Meanwhile, German 352. Volksgrenadier-Division withdrew Grenadier-Regiments 914 and 916 from their advanced positions in Ettelbrück, some twenty miles west-northwest of Echternach. This was the result not only of the previous day’s devastating American napalm bombing, combined with the fact that all German traffic to the town had been paralyzed by uninterrupted fighter-bomber attacks; moreover, the 317th Infantry Regiment of U.S. 80th Infantry Division had managed to advance far to the northwest of Ettelbrück. But this American success was to some extent neutralized by German 79. Volksgrenadier-Division, which pushed back the 317th Infantry Regiment through the counterattack launched on Christmas Eve, when Kehmen, four miles northwest of Ettelbrück, was recaptured by the Germans. On 25 December, the 317th Infantry Regiment was back in Niederfeulen—just two miles northwest of Ettelbrück—where it had been two days earlier. There, the 79. Volksgrenadier-Division managed to establish contact with the 52. Volksgrenadier-Division.114 One of the G.I.s of the 317th Infantry Regiment recalls:

’With little food or water remaining after maneuver over the frozen, inhospitable countryside, we encountered enemy resistance near Neiderfeulen on Christmas Day—a day I will never forget. It turned into one of the bloodiest battles L Company and its supporting companies would fight during the entire war. In frigid weather, over frozen snow-covered ground, the attack began up an open hillside that stretched for miles to its top. A hill that would be remembered forever by 317th dough’s as the “Bloody Knob.” Withering artillery, mortar, machine gun and rifle fire greeted us from all directions …. It was pure hell, fought in the worst weather conditions ever experienced in those parts.’115

When Patton had Christmas dinner with Bradley in Luxembourg in the evening on 25 December, the British Field Marshal Montgomery became the scapegoat for the lack of success. If Montgomery only had attacked in the north to relieve Patton in the south! Bradley just had returned from a meeting where he in vain had sought to persuade Montgomery to launch his attack prematurely, and he felt anything but pleased. He told Patton that Montgomery had said that ’the Germans had given us a real “bloody nose” it was useless to pretend that we were going to turn this quickly into a great victory.’ Bradley felt that Montgomery was ’more arrogant and egotistical than ever,’ and that the British Field Marshal had been ’scolding him like a school boy.’116 On top of this, said Bradley, Montgomery had not even invited his guest to lunch; Bradley’s Christmas lunch consisted of an apple!117

Patton on his behalf, felt that if only U.S. First Army was returned to Bradley’s 12th Army Group, ’we could bag the whole German army.’ That same evening he gave full vent to his frustration in his diary, ’Monty says that the First Army cannot attack for three months and that the only attack that can be made is by me, but that I am too weak!’118

Two days later Patton confided the frustration he felt with regard to his superiors to his diary, ’I wish Ike was more of a gambler, but he is certainly a lion compared to Montgomery, and Bradley is better than Ike as far as nerve is concerned. Of course he did make a bad mistake in being passive on the front of VIII Corps. Montgomery is a tired little fart. War requires the taking of risks and he won’t take them!’ Then he added, ’If I could get three more divisions, I could win this war now.’119_
 
Montgomery, however, had reason to be conservative in his judgment of the situation. That 25 December would be the day when the German offensive reached its peak, was of course not clear at the time— particularly not in the front sector commanded by Montgomery. On the previous day, the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ had dealt U.S. 7th Armored Division the heavy setback at Manhay as previously described. A counter-attack by Combat Command A of U.S. 3rd Armored Division and one of the regiments of the 75th Infantry Division was repulsed with severe American losses—of Task Force McGeorge’s seventeen tanks, only two remained after the clash with the 2. SS-Panzer-Division’s Panther tanks at Grandmenil.120 Farther to the southwest, the battle against German 116. Panzer-Division at Verdenne still hung in the balance, and although German 2. Panzer-Division appeared to have been halted near Dinant, the Allies knew that the Germans were bringing up new forces to this sector. Given how difficult it was for Patton’s Third Army to break through the relatively weakly held German positions in the south, it is easy to imagine what would have happened if Patton had been confronted with the more powerful German units that confronted Montgomery in the north.
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A battalion commander in a German Volksgrenadier-Division instructs his company commanders on the map of a battle section in Luxembourg. (BArch, Bild 183-2013-0226-502/Langl)
 




A single German submarine also had foiled the plans to reinforce the Allied front in the Ardennes with another U.S. division. On 24 December, U.S. 66th Infantry Division was shipped out from England with the intent to relieve the 94th Infantry Division, an experienced unit engaged against the German-controlled Atlantic ports in Brittany. Subsequently, the latter would be transferred to the Third Army, thus enabling Patton to detail another division (the 90th Infantry) to the counter-offensive in the Ardennes. But one of the ships which transported the 66th Infantry Division was sunk by the German submarine U 486 in the English Channel. Of the 2,235 persons on board, 515 soldiers followed the ship down, and another 248 died of hypothermia or drowning. Through this disaster, the 66th Infantry Division’s ability to relieve the 94th Infantry Division was delayed so that the expected reinforcement of Patton’s attack forces in the Ardennes could not be realized until a full week into the new year.

As elsewhere in American headquarters, the mood in the IX Tactical Air Command’s headquarters in Lège was somber on this Christmas Day.’Christmas 1944 was the saddest we had spent in a long time,’ was noted in its war diary.121 On Christmas Eve, the Germans had given the Allies a nasty surprise in that the new Arado 234—the world’s first jet bomber—was despatched in attacks against Liège. With a top speed of 461 m.p.h., the twin-engine jet bomber could outrun any Allied fighter at the time. Between 0914 and 0926 hrs on Christmas Eve, nine Ar 234s of the III. Gruppe/ Kampfgeschwader 76 took off from the airbase at Burg. Eight of these set course for Liège, where they between 0950 and 1000 hrs attacked a fully occupied rail station, gliding in from 13,000 to 6,500 feet altitude, each dropping one 500-kg (1,100 lbs) bomb. A ninth Arado attacked the railway station in Namur. The German jets landed full strength between 1022 and 1044 hrs, and the pilots reported, ’Flak badly aimed, attacks by up to 6 Spitfire and Thunderbolt but no German losses; direct hits on railway installations and railway stations.’122


GERMAN U-BOATS SUPPORTING THE ARDENNES OFFENSIVE

Although the German U-boat Fleet by this time was almost completely defeated, it actually contributed to the Ardennes Offensive. An invaluable contribution was made by the U-boats U 870, U 1053, U 1009, and U 1232, which went out in the Atlantic Ocean and sent weather reconnaissance reports ahead of the Ardennes Offensive. This allowed the Germans to establish that a relatively prolonged low pressure area would settle over the front zone from mid-December 1944—which decided the timing for the attack.

Several Type VII C submarines—equipped with a schnorkel to the diesel engines, which enabled them to remain submerged—entered the English Channel to strike against the supply traffic to France. The most important contribution was made by U 486, commanded by Oberleutnant zur See Gerhard Meyer. On 18 December, this U-boat sank the merchant vessel Silver Laurel (6,142 GRT) in the English Channel, and followed up this success with the torpedoing on Christmas Eve 1944 of the transport ship Leopoldville (11,509 GRT), which delayed the deployment of a new American division at the Ardennes front. On the previous day, another schnorkel-equipped U-boat, U 322 under Oberleutnant zur See Gerhard Wysk, sank the steamer Dumfries (5,149 GRT) south of Isle of Wight.

On 29 December, Wysk carried out a bold attack against Convoy TBC-21 in the English Channel south of Portland. With his torpedoes he managed to inflict such serious damage to two large Liberty ships—the Arthur Sewall (7,176 GRT) and the Blackhawk (7,191 GRT)—that they could not be saved. But the audacity would cost the German U-boat dearly; the Canadian corvette Calgary localized it and managed to destroy it with depth charges. Not a single man of the fifty-two on board survived.

One of Hitler’s vaunted ‘wonder weapons’ was used by the German U-boat fleet to support the Ardennes Offensive—the electric-powered two-man midget submarine Model XXVII B Seehund. This vessel was not a ‘controlled mine’ like some other midget submarines, but it was a torpedo-armed submarine that could return to base after completing its mission.

The Seehund received its baptism of fire on 1 January 1945, when seventeen boats were sent out against Allied supply shipping in Scheldt Estuary.1

Because of its small size, the Seehund was virtually undetectable with the Allied SONAR, and its silent electric engines also hardly could be heard by the hydrophones that the Allies used to detect sounds from submarines. After the war, British Admiral sir Charles Little, Commander-in-Chief, Portsmouth (approximately equivalent to the commander of the Homeland’s southern coast fleet) testified to the great threat that these Seehund could have been, ‘Fortunately for us these damn things arrived too late in the war to do any damage!’

It was Britain’s good fortune that the Seehund was rushed into service before its design was yet complete, and before the crews had time to familiarize themselves thoroughly with it. The first mission was a failure—only two boats returned, and only a single Allied ship was sunk. A new attempt to despatch eight Seehunds on 3 January was canceled due to inclement weather. A few days later, two Seehunds had to abort their mission due to engine failure. A further effort with five Seehunds against the coastal area of Margate was met with no success.

1 Schramm (red.), Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht, Vol. 8, 2 January 1945, p. 978.



Although the Germans only mustered small groups of Arado jet bombers, the two attacks staged against Liège each day on 24 and 25 December sufficed to startle the Allies. Three Messerschmitt 262 jet fighter-bombers from Kampfgeschwader 51 also bombed Liège on Christmas Day. And in Tongres (Tongeren), a V 1 struck just three hundred yards from the First Army’s headquarters, injuring sixty-five men of the staff personnel.123

During the following night, U.S. 4th Armored Division reported an unfortunate incident in conjunction with a German air raid, ’During the night, an unidentified plane strafed the PW closure at Bercheux. During the confusion several prisoners attempted to rush the guards, but they were unsuccessful as ten were killed and twenty-two wounded.’124

In an attempt to finally break the deadlock, Patton brought forward more troops. U.S. 35th Infantry Division had on 20 December, after 160 consecutive days in the first line, been withdrawn to Metz behind the front to rest and recuperate ahead of its upcoming use in the Third Army’s counteroffensive in the Ardennes. But already on Christmas evening, this division received orders to decamp again and march to the front sector to the right of the 4th Armored Division. Meanwhile, the XII Corps was instructed to regroup Combat Command X (Combat Command A, 9th Armored Division, and the 10th Armored Division’s Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve) to the III Corps’ left flank southwest of Bastogne.125 According to the original plan, the 6th Armored Division was supposed to replace it in the XII Corps, but Patton had by then given up on being able to achieve any significant breakthrough in this nearly impenetrable area. Therefore, it was determined that the 6th Armored Division also would be deployed towards Bastogne.
 
While the commander of the XII Corps, Major General Eddy, made up grandiose plans for a big offensive across River Sauer/Sûre, followed by an advance against German 5. Panzerarmee’s supply bridges ’from behind,’ Patton ordered the XII Corps to simply ’hold the positions.’126This also applied to the truncated 80th Infantry Division, which was transferred to the XII Corps. The experienced C-in-C of the Third Army understood that such a thrust into Germany as Eddy sketched probably would end in a disaster for the Americans. Although Patton was unaware of the details, one can in retrospect see that the Germans very well could have launched the armored units that by this time were made ready for an offensive into Alsace (Operation ’Nordwind’, see page 336) to isolate and destroy Eddy’s XII Corps if this had ventured across the river.

THE BREAKTHROUGH TO BASTOGNE

While Patton and Bradley had their Christmas turkey in Luxembourg, Colonel Blanchard and his staff officers in Combat Command Reserve, 4th Armored Division were leaning over a map that had just arrived with a liaison aircraft. This map showed all the German positions in the area—the result of the excellent U.S. air reconnaissance. No more than six miles remained to Bastogne, but first the German stronghold in Sibret on Highway N 85 had to be neutralized. Blanchard had tried to circumvent Sibret by veering off to the fields south of N 85, but now it seemed as though his Combat Command Reserve had no chance to avoid the positions held by German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 14. The Germans had fortified themselves in Remichampagne, two miles south of Sibret and a mile north of Remoiville. (The latter place had been taken by the Americans on Christmas Day.) To the left lay the dark spruce forest Bois Cohet—and there too, German paratroopers were in position—and to the right was another forest. Beyond this was the CCB ‘s operating area, where this Combat Command on Christmas evening finally managed to break the tenacious German resistance in Chaumont.
 
Thus, there was only one way—forward. Before the assault on Remichampagne, Blanchard made sure that he would receive a proper close air support. In fact, his unit was something of a pioneer in cooperation between air and ground forces. A close cooperation was established with one of the Fighter Groups under XIX Tactical Air Command’s control. Thomas J. Evans, who by that time served as a captain in ’C’ Company, 740th Tank Destroyer Battalion, explains:

’We had direct contact with a P-47 fighter group. We, the Combat Command, mostly, would call for air strikes if we ran into resistance that would take a head-on attack to overcome. The P-47s would come in and drop their 500-lb bombs and strafe the area. In my command vehicle, I had a crystal in my radio so that I could call for an air strike if it was necessary. All we had to do was call in a ’possible target’ and give them the map coordinates. […] Usually, if we had a target, we’d call for the planes, then fire a smoke round into the target area to indicate where it was. We got very good at it. The air to ground communication was well coordinated. Lots of times, on their days off, these fliers would come up to visit us, to get to know who they were talking to on the radio. They wanted rides in the tanks and souvenirs.’127 In order to avoid friendly air attacks, the tankers used luminous plastic panels that they draped over the back or the turret of their tanks.128

Moreover, Patton asked General Weyland to focus the air operations of his XIX Tactical Air Command on direct air support directly at the front lines on 26 December, for the second day in a row, so that the Third Army would finally be able to ’break loose.’ Weyland was only too happy to adhere to the request.





[image: images]

German paratroopers man a 20mm Flakvierling 38. This weapon had a rate of fire of 280 rounds per minute, i.e. 1,120 rounds from all four barrels, and was much feared by American fighter-bomber aviators when they carried out attacks at low altitude. (BArch, Bild 146-1981-069-25)
 




The sun had barely risen on the morning of 26 December—which turned out to be yet another clear and sunny day—before the paratroopers in Remichampagne heard the ominous sound of aircraft engines. At 0925 hrs, sixteen Thunderbolt fighter-bombers from the 362nd Fighter Group swept down and dropped their bombs over Remichampagne and the Bois de Cohet forest. They were met by an intense anti-aircraft fire, which shot down three Thunderbolts. Just before his hit aircraft crashed into the ground, the the 362nd Fighter Group’s deputy C.O., Major Berry Chandler, shouted the almost classic words over the R/T: ’I’m hit and going in - give ‘em hell!’ That also was what Blanchard’s men were determined to do!
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Allied air attacks on German transport routes played an important role to the outcome of the Ardennes Battle. The picture shows panicked horses while exploding bombs throw snow, dirt and smoke high into the air somewhere in the Ardennes in the winter of 1944/1945. (BArch, Bild 183-J28547/Henisch)
 




The air strike was the signal to the ground units. While the artillery began shelling the by now burning village and forest, the armor and infantry advanced across the snow-covered fields. The 37th Tank Battalion’s after action report describes the operation: ߣSimultaneously as the tanks and infantry started moving in, and the artillery was pouring it on, the P-47s started to bomb and strafe. The Bois de Cohet was given a good doing over. The coordination of tanks, infantry, artillery, and air was to perfection. Planes came over tanks at antenna altitude and strafed to the front.’129 The assault against Remichampagne was a repetition of the attacks against Bigonville and Remoiville. ’Assaulting immediately after the airstrike, B/37 and B/53 met only light resistance in Remichampagne, with the few defenders still dazed from the bombing.’130

By this time, the German troops that held the lines against the 4th Armored Division were pretty worn out. Not only were they fatigued after ten days of uninterrupted fighting, often with several consecutive days without any sleep. Early in the offensive, many of them had feasted on large amounts of captured American rations, but with the clearing of the weather on 23 December, the American aviation put an end not only to those profitable advances, but also to a large part of the transportation of supplies to the front. The Germans in the area south of Bastogne had already before that suffered great want of all kinds of maintenance, since there hardly were any proper roads from the depots in Germany to this sparsely populated area. Oberst Kokott wrote:
 
The transport of supplies to the entire southern section [i.e. south of Bastogne] was carried out on a single road, the one that went from Doncols [six miles southeast of Bastogne] to Lutremange [five miles to the southwest]. This was shared by the Panzer Lehr Division, the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division, and the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division. It takes no great imagination to imagine the massive traffic jams that this caused, particularly as the supply traffic to these three divisions was restricted to the hours of darkness. And this on a lousy, broken and narrow little road! Fortunately, in the early stages the enemy only directed weak fire—and only against certain sections—against this artery. […] We suffered a shortage of ammunition for heavy mortars and heavy howitzers. We managed to bring up the required quantities of infantry ammunition, but the bread supply did not occur for days on end. Sometimes up to ten men had to share a loaf of bread a day.131

’Prisoners have had no food for from three to five days,’ Patton wrote in his diary on 26 December. ’We should attack!’132 On top of this, the German paratroopers often had been unable to wash their uniforms since the offensive began. After the first week of endurance in rain and fog, these personal equipments were incredibly muddy and wet, and there often was not even an opportunity to dry them.133 When the severe cold hit, the moist uniforms froze, which increased the cases of frostbite in the German army. ’Since the American uniforms were of much better quality than our own,’ says the German soldier Friedrich Lademann, ’we took those from fallen or captured American soldiers.’134 But in the tense atmosphere created by the fear of Skorzeny’s Greif men in U.S. uniforms, this was not looked upon with approval by the Americans.
 
All along the frontlines, Thunderbolt and Lightning fighter-bombers attacked the 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s positions on this 26 December. ’As always during these days, large formations of American fighter-bombers attacked villages and towns in the rear area, as well as artillery positions, from nine o’clock in the morning and onward,’ wrote the commander of German 5. Panzerarmee, General von Manteuffel.135 On this day, the air units under command of Weyland’s XIX Tactical Air Command would perform 558 sorties, chiefly in close air support, dropping 157 tons of bombs.136

Under this air umbrella, the 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve was set in motion in the afternoon on 26 December to reach attack positions south of Sibret, which Blanchard had ordered his troops to occupy. The engines of the Sherman tanks of Lieutenant Colonel Creighton Abrams’ 37th Tank Battalion barked into life while the infantry of the 53rd Armored Infantry Battalion began its march across the snow-covered fields north of Remichampagne. Thick black smoke hung in the air above them while the tanks and half-tracks jerked forward in column on the small road. To the right, on the other side of a one hundred yard wide ravine that had been created when the earth eroded around a small creek that flows down from the hills in the north, the foot soldiers made it through the snow. Soon they had reached the road junction which they were supposed to take to the left toward Sibret. Here, a memorial to the fallen in World One has been erected at the roadside.

The sun stood low in the sky and cast long shadows over the winter-clad landscape—it already was three in the afternoon. Wheel tracks in both directions revealed a lively German traffic. With a smoking cigar between his lips, Lieutenant Colonel Abrams trudged off to his colleague Lieutenant Colonel George Jaques, C.O. of the 53rd Armored Infantry Battalion, to discuss how they would proceed. Thirty-year-old Creighton Abrams was known as one of the best armor officers in the entire U.S. Army. He had personally formed the 37th Tank Battalion, and led it to its great success during the ’sweep’ across France in the previous summer. Long after the war, he gave his name to the American Abrams tank.

’We’ve got everything here,’ Abrams told a reporter. ’You want the Air Force—give ‘em a ring. We’ve got artillery so thick a German louse couldn’t crawl through it.’ He called it ’Overpowering violence’—’to save American lives.’137
 
But now Abrams hesitated. Colonel Blanchard had indeed ordered them to go on against Sibret, but because of its location on a hill, this town promised to be quite a hard nut to crack. With about a thousand inhabitants—Sibret had a station on the railroad Libramont -Bastogne—it was not one of those small villages that the 4th Armored Division hitherto had been able to overpower in the Ardennes. But the primary cause for Abrams’ concern was that air reconnaissance had detected that the Germans had assembled quite a significant strength in Sibret, including tanks—which the 4th Armoured had yet to meet during its Ardennes operation (at least German-made tanks). These were part of a company from the 15. Panzergrenadier-Division’s Panzergrenadier-Regiment 104, with half a dozen Panzer IVs. Although the air and artillery support was available in abundance, Abrams knew that the presence of German tanks was to be taken seriously. By that time, his 37th Tank Battalion had no more than twenty Shermans left. Lieutenant Colonel Jaques fully shared his opinion regarding Sibret. Jaques’ own force also had waned after having taken some losses.

Suddenly a rising engine sound was heard in the distance. Above their heads, what they thought were ’hundreds’ of twin-engine C-47 transport aircraft passed at low altitude, heading towards Bastogne in the north. Shortly afterwards, the blue sky was filled with clusters of parachutes, each with a supply canister for the beleaguered Bastogne. ’That so vividly underscored the plight of the men at Bastogne,’ wrote Charles B. MacDonald, ’that Abrams took an ever-present cigar from his lips and proposed that they say to hell with Sibret and barrel-ass through to Bastogne.’138

Without informing Colonel Blanchard, Abrams and Jaques ordered each battalion’s ’C’ Company to go full speed on the road straight towards Bastogne, passing through Clochimont and Assenois. This was the ’C Team’ under Captain William A. Dwight. Abrams used the usual tactics against the two small villages that stood in the CCR’s way: Via radio, he had four artillery battalions and a battery of 155mm guns fire ten rounds each—a total of four hundred and twenty shells against the two villages. Then the Americans attacked.

They quickly made their way along the road running dead straight to Clochimont, which they reached in a few minutes. The Sherman tanks surged through the little village street at full speed. Clochimont consisted of no more than a dozen houses, and only a couple of them lay along the road that the tanks took. There were only few Germans in the village, but they offered a frantic resistance. A half-track vehicle exploded, hit by what probably was a Panzerfaust. Other Germans blew up one of the heavy steel girders that serve as telephone poles in Belgium, with the result that it crashed on top of a Sherman that had to be abandoned. From inside of the houses and behind hedges or trees, other Germans opened fire. But Abrams and Jaques had ordered the troops to just run straight through the village, so while some infantry platoons stayed behind to deal with the surviving Germans, Sherman tanks and half- track vehicles with infantry carried on.

With snow spraying from the tracks, they surged on along the frozen little country road, leading across open fields towards Assenois. But at this place, a thousand yards further on, the Germans had had time to assemble the defense. Assenois was occupied by only a composite force consisting of maintenance soldiers, a handful of paratroopers, and the guard force of Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39—lacking any other anti-tank weapons than Panzerfausts. On the previous day, 25 December, U.S. air bombs had turned the artillery in the small village into a smoldering heap of scrap. Still, the Germans were able to fight back the first American attack on the hills outside the village.
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From the hill above the small village of Clochimont, soldiers from Combat Command Reserve, 4th Armored Division watch as C-47 transport planes (to the left in the picture) are flying in supplies to the besieged troops in Bastogne. (NARA, 111-SC-199293)





Abrams’ and Jaques’ lightning thrust, however, came completely out of the blue to the headquarters of the XLVII. Panzerkorps. When Oberst Kokott, the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s commander, now contacted the headquarters to ask for reinforcements to Assenois, he learned that ’the Corps only knew about the fighting near Remichampagne and was surprised to hear that the front near Clochimont had been ripped open.’139 But the Germans responded with customary swiftness. In Sibret, Panzergrenadier-Regiment 104 received orders to advance to Assenois in the northeast. Between four and six Panzer IVs were immediately ready. Infantry would ’hitchhike’ with the tanks. There was less than a mile and a half to Assenois, which even was within sight from Sibret. The Germans could have been there in less than a quarter of an hour—which would have given the battle for this village an entirely different course.

But out in the open and unprotected fields on the way to Assenois they became exposed to the furious attacks from swarms of bomb dropping Thunderbolts which forced the armored relief force to turn back.140 Once again, Abrams had called in the 362nd Fighter Group, which after eight fighter-bomber missions reported that ’damage was done particularly to enemy vehicles and truck concentrations at Sibret.’ 141
 
Meanwhile, the Americans prepared a new ground assault against Assenois. This time the preparatory artillery fire was combined with an air strike by the 406th Fighter Group’s Thunderbolts, dropping napalm bombs. Then the ground troops attacked. The commander of Füsilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39, Oberstleutnant Walter Kaufmann, reported:

’The enemy started a second attack, using Nebelwerfer, phosphorous shells, and being well supported by artillery. He penetrated the village; some elements bypassed it to the east. Bitter street fighting has taken place in Assenois. Mines, anti-tank close combat weapons, and antitank guns have put a number of enemy tanks and personnel carriers out of commission. Some of the crews have been wounded and taken prisoners.’142

Hurling anti-tank mines in front of the American tanks, the Germans managed to destroy one of these, and three more were knocked out with Panzerfausts.143 While the fight was raging, three Shermans—with the tank baptized ’Cobra King,’ commanded by First Lieutenant Charles Boggess Jr., in the lead—raced straight through the little village. ’I used the 75 (mm main gun) like it was a machine gun,’ the gunner of Boggess’ tank, Corporal Milton Dickerman, recounted afterward. ’[Loader Private James G.] Murphy was plenty busy throwing in shells. We shot 21 rounds in a few minutes and I don’t know how much machine gun stuff.’ They covered a total of eight hundred yards on the narrow road that runs almost dead straight across the fields north of Assenois, and after just three to four minutes reached a concrete pillbox—an old Belgian fortification—just where a small gravel back road crosses the road. Boggess ordered fire and a 75mm grenade from the tank’s cannon exploded against the bunker wall. Afterward, the German crew inside the bunker was found dead.
 
At that moment, Boggess, standing in the turret hatch, saw supply canisters in parachute thud down in the snow around. He let the driver move up the tank to the still smoldering bunker, and in the dusk he saw motions among the trees just behind the bunker. Green American steel helmets stood out against the snow covered branches of the spruce trees. Bogges heaved himself up and yelled. ‘Come on out! This is 4th Armored!’

A voice called back, ’I’m Lieutenant Webster of the 326th Engineers, 101st Airborne!’ After a brief moment of hesitation, a man wearing the paratroopers’ brown coat stood up and emerged from the woods. ’Glad to see you!’ said Second Lieutenant Duane J. Webster with a broad smile.

It was ten to five in the afternoon of 26 December 1944. Bastogne’s isolation was over—at least according to the American history writing. In reality, only five Sherman tanks had driven in behind the German lines—the first three were followed by a fourth, with the commmander of the ’C Team,’ Captain Dwight (a fifth tank in the group was destroyed by the Germans). A tough fight remained before the German resistance in Assenois could be finally cracked. When it was over, in the wee hours on 27 December, the Americans reported the bagging of 428 prisoners.144

But even if Captain Dwight and First Lieutenant Boggess’ relief force only consisted of a handful of tanks, Combat Command Reserve had punctuated the German lines through the daring raid on 26 December, and almost immediately 260 wounded soldiers in twenty-two ambulances and ten trucks from Bastogne were sent down the same road as Dwight and Boggess had come. Meanwhile McAuliffe, commander in Bastogne, hurried to the 326th Engineer Combat Battalion’s positions, where he saluted Captain Dwight with the quite informal words, ’Gee, I’m mighty glad to see you!’

The 101st Airborne had held out in Bastogne at the price of terrible losses. In just ten days, every sixth soldier and every seventh officer in the 101st Airborne Division was either killed, wounded or captured—a total of 115 officers and 1,933 soldiers.145 To just relieve Bastogne had cost the 4th Armored Division even more in terms of losses per day. In only four days, between 23 and 26 December, fourteen hundred of the Division’s troops were killed, wounded or captured—every seventh man.146

On 27 December, the commander of the 101st Airborne Division, Major General Maxwell Taylor, arrived at Bastogne to reassume command of the Division. Brigadier General Anthony McAuliffe, the highly competent general who had led the forces in Bastogne during the difficult siege, returned to his ordinary position as the Airborne Division’s artillery commander. In January 1945 he was transferred from Bastogne to the Sauer front and the 103rd Infantry Division, which he was assigned to command. Major General Taylor also transferred the 101st Airborne Division’s command post from the Heintz Barracks—where McAuliffe had rejected the German offer to surrender with the immortal word ’Nuts’—to Château d’ Isle-la-Hesse, a large mansion just west of Bastogne.
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Among destroyed U.S. combat vehicles in the ruins of Bastogne, the newly arrived regular commander of the 101st Airborne Division, Major General Maxwell D. Taylor, hastens to confer with some of the division’s senior officers: Major James J. Hatch (S-3, operations officer, in the 502nd Parachute Infantry), Brigadier General Gerald J. Higgins (deputy commander of the 101st Airborne Division), Colonel Robert F. Sink (commander of the 506th Parachute Infantry), and Lieutenant Colonel Joseph H. Harper (commander of the 327th Glider Infantry). Of curiosity it could be noted that Robert F. Sink was played by Captain Dale Dye in the TV series ‘Band of Brothers’ (NARA, SC 199243/PFC E.L. Martin)
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During the night of 26 December 1944, Oberstleutnant Gröschkes Fallschirmja-ger-Regiment 15 was regrouped to the hills at the villages of Sainlez and Livâr-champs, just east of Highway N 4. Here they managed to halt Combat Command A, 4th Armored Division for an entire day. The picture shows two Sherman tanks of the 35th Tank Battalion in combat with Gröschkes paratroopers at Sainlez. Over the course of 27 December, the temperature in the Bastogne area rose from 17 degrees to just above the melting point, which is visible through frost on the tanks. (NARA, 111-SC-198523)
 




FOCAL POINT BASTOGNE

The 4th Armored Division’s two other Combat commands still enountered great difficulties in their attempts to widen the wedge to Bastogne. On Boxing Day, when Combat Command Reserve drove the Germans from Remichampagne and Clochimont, it enabled Combat Command B to resume its advance from Chaumont, two miles southeast of Remichampagne. But it did not take long before its 318th Infantry Regiment and 8th Tank Battalion soon were halted by fire from 88mm guns. Only when fighter-bombers had silenced eight of these could the advance continue.147 Still, on the evening of 26 December, Combat Command B had not reached beyond the intersection south of Clochimont, whence Combat Command Reserve had begun its thrust due north towards Bastogne a couple of hours earlier. The fighting on that day had cost Combat Command B such heavy losses, particularly in infantry, that its commander decided to halt at that place. Thus, the Germans could regroup during the following night, and for several days, Combat Command B was held checked by German Panzergrenadier-Regiment 104 in the area southeast of Assenois.

Sergeant Harry Traynor, at that time a driver of a Hellcat tank destroyer in the 1st Platoon of ’B’ Company, 704th Tank Destroyer Battalion—part of Combat Command B—tells of how ’the Ardennes Bulge and Bastogne bring back memories of biting, numbing cold, and white snow red with blood. It brings back memories of German 88s coming in day and night.’ Traynor continues, ’We had to learn that the enemy was using every trick in the book, covering their identity by using captured U.S. tanks,planes, and trucks. Intense fighting was the order of the day.’

The situation was further complicated because Combat Command A—which was supposed to advance to Bastogne along Highway N 4 in the east—remained in position at Hollange, three miles southeast of the positions reached by Combat Command B, throughout 26 December. Here, German Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 had moved into position after the loss of Warnach.

Through rapid raids behind the American lines, the German paratroopers were able to capture a number of the kind of luminous plastic panels that the U.S. ground forces used to mark ’friendly forces’ to the aviation, and therefore the close air support could not be used with the same effect as before.148 Moreover, in daytime the Germans had switched to making only short, quick movements, and then to quickly hide in the groves of trees or under roofs, to sweep away wheel tracks and mask the vehicles. Furthermore, their artillery regularly changed position. Indeed, this significantly delayed all transports, but also helped to reduce the number of vehicles knocked out through air strikes. For example, on the morning of 26 December, Combat Command A called in the aviation against a German vehicle column that had been sighted on the main road from Bastogne. But when the flight arrived at 1210 hrs, no trace could be seen of the German vehicles. Instead the aviators dropped their bombs over a small grove of trees about six hundred yards north of Hollange, from where German artillery fire had been observed—without having a clue if this artillery still was there.

It was mainly the risk of getting outflanked because of the American advance to Assenois, four miles to the north, that compelled the Germans to withdraw Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 15 from the positions at Hollange on the west side of the N 4 during the night of 26 December. Instead, these paratroopers reinforced the positions in the hills at the villages Sainlez and Livârchamps on the other side of the road—two thousand and three thousand yards respectively to the northeast of Hollange, and three miles south of Bastogne. There they held back Combat Command A for another full day.
 
With a gap opened to Bastogne from the south by the Americans, both sides now began to reinforce their positions in this front sector. As we have seen, U.S. 35th Infantry Division and Combat Command X (Combat Command A, 9th Armored Division and the 10th AD’s Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve) were instructed on 25 December to march up to the 4th Armored Division’s eastern and western flanks.*

Because of the turning point that was achieved along the entire western flank of the German Ardennes Front on 25-26 December, Field Marshal Montgomery informed Eisenhower on 27 December that he intended to start preparing for his own counter-offensive against the northwestern flank of the German Bulge. He expected to be ready to begin on 3 January. When Eisenhower received this information, he is said to have exclaimed, ’Praise God from whom all blessings flow!’** In any case, the Allied suprème commander hoped that Montgomery’s offensive would have the dual effect of beating the Germans in the Ardennes, and reducing the tensions between American generals and the British field marshal, which had become aggravated because of the German offensive.

Patton took the opportunity to ask Eisenhower to put the two fresh divisions, the 11th Armored and the 17th Airborne, recently shipped over from England to France, at the Third Army’s disposal. Eisenhower immediately agreed to this, although he added the sharp instructions that they must not be placed in the Saar region, but only at the Ardennes front. Meanwhile the Third Army’s 87th Infantry Division also was ordered to rapidly redeploy to the section southwest of Bastogne.

On the German side, Oberst Rèmer’s Führer Begleit Brigade was ordered on 26 December to regroup to the Sibret sector southwest of Bastogne, where the remnants of the 15. Panzergrenadier-Division had been positioned. As we have seen, the Führer Begleit Brigade’s departure from the Hotton section on River Ourthe sealed the fate of German 116. Panzer-Division. Moreover, the brigade’s march to the new combat zone was greatly delayed by air attacks. These were so intense that Rèmer found it necessary to let his forces take cover in the Hampteau forest south of Hotton and stay there until after sunset on 26 December. During the following night, fuel shortages hampered the brigade’s movèments over the icy roads along the southeastern side of River Ourthe (Ourthe Occidentale), via Champlon to Ortheuville on the Ourthe’s western branch. ’Fuel was so scarce that almost half of the vehicles had to be towed,’ wrote Oberst Rèmer.149

The events of 25 and 26 December led von Rundstedt and Model to the conclusion that they had to neutralize Bastogne and beat Patton before it was possible to resume the offensive towards the Meuse. Therefore, Generalleutnant Karl Decker’s XXXIX. Panzerkorps— which on 26 December had arrived with the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division at Houffalize—was also ordered to regroup to the Bastogne area and assume command of the German operations there.

In the evening on 27 December 1944, Hitler gave his approval to von Rundstedt’s and Model’s plan and ordered that ’the enemy wedge into Bastogne under all circumstances must be destroyed and cleaned up by concentrated attacks on its long flanks.’150 A few hours later, SS-Gruppenführer Hermann Priess received orders to detach two divisions—the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division and the 1. SS-Panzer-Division—from his I. SS-Panzerkorps at the northern Ardennes combat zone, and promptly shift them to the XXXIX. Panzerkorps in the area south and southeast of Bastogne. By that time, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division mustered twenty-five Panzer IVs, sixteen Panthers, and eighteen Panzerjäger I Vs, plus fifteen Königstigers from schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501.151 Along with Rèmer’s Führer Begleit Brigade, this thus meant a significant strengthening of the German forces at Bastogne. In fact, when Oberst Rèmer arrived in the Bastogne area, he established that 26. Volksgrenadier-Division had no antitank weapons left.152

Meanwhile General von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps established defensive positions in the far west, with the 9. Panzer-Division and the remainder of the 2. Panzer-Division in the Rochefort sector, and the bulk of Panzer Lehr at Saint-Hubert in the southwest.

Because of the Allied aviation, the Germans, however, were prevented from immediately bringing up all of their reinforcèments. The junction of Sankt Vith had been bombed to rubble on 25-26 December, and this made it impossible to use the major roads that ran through this city. Houffalize—where the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division had assembled—was razed in an attack by 9th Air Force B-26 bombers that cost the town’s population two hundred casualties. The Germans, who had sought refuge in the woods on the heights overlooking Houffalize, escaped with about fifty killed, but the damage caused by the bombs on the winding road up from the city, along with large amounts of rubble from collapsed houses, had a significant delaying effect on the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division’s march to Bastogne. At the same time, the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division’s columns were subjected to repeated fighter-bomber strikes which, according to U.S. estimates, resulted in the destruction of fifty-six vehicles, including eight tanks, and ’many soldiers killed.’153 The 3. Panzergrenadier-Division’s Panzer-Abteilung 103 alone was the target for seventeen air attacks over the course of 27 December. Although the American pilots’ estimates of the material damage they inflicted on the enemy were greatly exaggerated, the incessant air raids cost the Germans valuable time—besides the also actually considerable material losses. Generalmajor Friedrich von Mellenthin describes the sight that met him during a drive to the 9. Panzer-Division at the front northwest of Houffalize on 29 December:
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A series of photos from the gun camera of a U.S. fighter-bomber shows how the American aircraft, with the pilot Lieutenant Richard D. Law, 378th Fighter Squadron, 362nd Fighter Group, fires on the target, which suddenly explodes in a ball of fire.
(NARA A 5-294 via Peter Björk)





’The icebound roads glittered in the sunshine and I witnessed the uninterrupted air attacks on our traffic routes and supply dumps. Not a single German plane was in the air, innumerable vehicles were shot up and their blackened wrecks littered the roads’154

The constant attacks of American fighter-bombers are some of the surviving German veterans’ strongest memories from this winter battle. The diary notes for Unteroffizier Horst Helmus from the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, read:

’26 December 1944, Boxing Day: And over us … Jabos! They focus on Senonchamps with bombs and machine guns. Soldiers help the civilians to extinguish the flames and with the rescue work. They carry buckets of water to save what can be saved. In the streets, loose livestock run about. […]

Wednesday, 27 December 1944: Jabos, all day long! Always in formations of seven aircraft that drop demolition bombs and carry out low-level attacks, tormenting us with their machine guns until they are succeeded by a new formation—over and over again, from sunrise to sunset’155

In addition, the Allies launched their strategic aviation against the supply routes in western Germany, behind the Ardennes Front. On 27 December, 575 heavy bombers from the 8th Air Force attacked marshalling yards and rail bridges in the region, followed by attacks on the next day with more than one thousand heavy bombers escorted by six hundred fighters against such targets at Kaiserslautern, Homburg, and Koblenz.156 The following night, 167 British Lancaster bombers attacked the marshalling yards at Cologne-Gremberg. On 29 December, Ultra at Bletchley Park decrypted a German message that confirmed the efficacy of these airstrikes, ’Through the progressive destruction of railway lines and stations and several road junctions in the Eifel area, the supply situation is most seriously strained, and threatens to become really dangerous’157 A further consequence of the Allied air operations was that the 1. SS-Panzer-Division ’Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler’ was unable to begin its redeployment south until around noon on 29 December, because of inadequate supplies of fuel.158

The Führer Begleit Brigade was held down by U.S. fighter-bombers throughout 27 December, just like on the previous day—this time in the woods southeast of Ortheuville and northwest of Bastogne. ’Due to the enemy air activities, the brigade was compelled to take cover in the Bois de Herbaimont all day long’ said brigade commander Rèmer. ’The medical company, traveling during the day, was 40 per cent destroyed in a fighter-bomber attack lasting 35 minutes, in spite of all vehicles being painted white and carrying the red cross. A number of wounded men were thereby killed’159

The fact that the Führer Begleit Brigade took high alert against Allied air operations, however, cost the American transport aircraft that flew on Bastogne dearly. A formation from the 50th Troop Carrier Wing with fifty C-47 transport aircraft—each towing a Waco CG-4 (cargo glider) with ammunition and fuel—flew straight into the Führer Begleit Brigade’s flak. The U.S. report reads, ’Planes encountered a terrific barrage of heavy flak and small arms fire […] It is believed that a flak division must have moved to the area around Bastogne’160 The Germans claimed to have shot down ten C-47s.161 The actual U.S. losses on this 27 December amounted to nineteen C-47s and as many gliders. The hardest hit unit was the 440th Troop Carrier Group (one of two groups in the 50th Troop Carrier Wing), where only two—both severely damaged—out of its thirteen aircraft escaped the massacre.

However, the Führer Begleit Brigade was unable to intervene to defend Sibret on this day. Sibret, located on a height about four miles southwest of Bastogne, was a cornerstone of the siege of Bastogne. As we have seen, on the day before, the advance force of Combat Command Reserve, 4th Armored Division had avoided going straight on Sibret, which was held by a company of the 15. Panzergrenadier-Division’s Panzergrenadier-Regiment 104. But when Combat Command Reserve now—barely—had managed to punctuate the ring around Bastogne, the next task was to widen the breach. Therefore, the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command A was brought forward to the III Corps’ western flank. On 27 December, this force attacked Sibret and Villeroux, a mile closer to Bastogne. In Sibret, fierce fighting raged throughout 27 December and well into the next morning, but in the end the Americans had managed to seize most of the locality. In Villeroux, however, the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Fusilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39 managed to repulse the American assault. Only after a massive aerial and artillery bombardment on 28 December could the German resistance in Villeroux be subdued. Next, the Americans pushed on towards Chenogne and Senonchamps, two miles further north, to further widen the breach to Bastogne.

On the far western ’tip’ of the German Bulge in the Ardennes, two days of very intense bombardment by artillery and aircraft forced the Germans to relinquish the town of Rochefort on 29 December. The 9. Panzer-Division was pulled back to the hills two to three miles southeast of Rochefort, around Wavreille. There the 9. Panzer-Division’s left flank was linked to the positions held by 2. Panzer-Division from Wavreille to Bure, two miles further south, and on to Mirwart, another two miles to the south.162 The furthest advanced German position thus was the one held by the 9. Panzer-Division on its right flank at Hargimont, southwest of Marche.

The situation now was growing increasingly critical for the Germans. Von Lüttwitz wrote for 28 December 1944, ’Bastogne simply has to be taken!’163 The plan was for the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division to get established southwest of Bastogne, in the line Chenogne - the Bois de Fragotte forest, with the Führer Begleit Brigade—which was placed under the command of the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division—to the right, and the 15. Panzergrenadier-Division on the left, west of Bastogne, between Flamisoulle and Longchamps. But because of Allied air attacks, the main body of the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division had by the evening of 28 December still not reached its assigned area of operations, which spread the positions held by the Führer Begleit Brigade precariously thin.164 This brigade, which now finally could be deployed in the battle, however proved itself quite adequate to avert the continued American attacks.
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This C-47 was one of nineteen Skytrains shot down by the Flak of the Führer Begleit Brigade west of Bastogne on 27 December 1944. The aircraft in the picture was from the 94th Troop Carrier Squadron, 439th Troop Carrier Group, and was baptized ‘Aint Missbehavin’ by the crew. The pilot was Captain Ernie Turner, with Lieutenant Keistutis J. ‘Casey’ Narbutas as co-pilot, Staff Sergeant Richard G. Whitehurst as radio operator, and Staff Sergeant John E. Douglas as the crew commander. All escaped unharmed from the èmergency landing at Savy northwest of Bastogne, behind the American lines. (NARA, 3A-5323)





At dawn on 29 December the Germans overtook their opponent with a counter-attack to retake Sibret. This, however, was repulsed with bloody losses, whereupon U.S. 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command A again attacked Chenogne and Senonchamps. Unteroffizier Horst Helmus, anti-tank gunner in the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division, depicted the battle of Senonchamps on 29 December 1944 in his diary:

Tank alarm! Leutnant Wiemann gives the order to deploy the gun to the intersection in the village center. Jabos!!! No one can move in the street. […] Can-non—marrrrch! March! March! 50 yards backward and according to orders in the middle of the intersection. Shrubs and straw are used to mask the gun. And then it breaks loose. Loud bangs are heard everywhere. Unteroffizier Mayer has taken an observation position on a rooftop next to the cannon. My comrades take cover in partially emptied turnip cellars. Turnips roll out into the street. Down in the cellars they wait for it to come. – Tank Sound! – Helmus! – This is it! Out of the basèment, to the cannon. For safety, the comrades remain in the shelter for a little while in order to reduce our losses. In front of me I have a 30-yard field of fire along the road. How unpleasant the situation may be, they must come down this road, straight towards my cannon. Three infantrymen help me to turn the piece. Then I am left on my own again. The clanking from the tank tracks and the engine sound has now grown so that it seems as if the tanks are driving right past me, but I still can’t see them. Mayer is yelling impatiently down from his shelter: ’Man, when will you open fire!’ But no matter if I look through the gunsight or lean over the armor shield and look around, I see nothing. The tension is unbearable.

There—in the haze one of the beasts moves through the road bend. At first I see only the left track, a part of the barrel, a part of the front, and then it shows itself it in its full width. A Sherman! I crank like crazy in the lateral direction and try to align the piece. Has the Yankee discovered me yet? Ratatatata— the first burst of tracer bullets pass above my head. This is it! I crank like mad, I slip and fall, get back on my feet with torn pants. A shell slams into the wall of the house behind me. Panting and completely beside myself, I dash into the basèment, immediately followed by Mayer. ’I’ll shoot myself! I’ll shoot myself!’ He is unable to say anything else. It is impossible to determine whether the detonations are from shots being fired or hits, whether it is from tanks or anti-tank guns.
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Infantry with Panzerfausts come running after the tanks. A Sherman stands in front of the entrance to our cellar. The crew can be clearly heard talking with each other. It’s a horrible feeling to see the steel colossus through a small crack in the door.

Bombs go down nearby. Pungent hot air penetrates to us and the ground trembles. Nobody moves, although the comrades lay in multiple layers on each other. […]

Suddenly the village is filled with [German] soldiers. We can’t understand where they came from. We offer the ‘lately arrived’ comrades cigarettes. Destroyed tanks and armored vehicles are thoroughly plundered. A tank and three armored vehicles were destroyed by Pourmann’s cannon, five tanks were destroyed by the 7.5cm light howitzer, and two tanks and two armored vehicles were destroyed by the infantry’s Panzerfausts.

Panzerfaust duds are lying around among the turnips …’165

After fierce fighting, the Americans were pushed out of Senonchamps. In addition to several knocked out American tanks, the U.S. infantry had sustained such heavy losses that ‘morale was affected and, in some cases, the tanks were left to go on alone.’166 The commander of the Führer Begleit Brigade wrote: ’Penetrations which often got as far as the locality were mopped up by counter-attacks. In the evening, the situation was much the same as the previous day. During the night, bravely and skillfully conducted reconnaissance thrusts all the way to the forested areas south and southwest of Sibret reported the assembly of tanks and vehicles on the enemy side.’167

The Americans responded by calling in the Air Force. ’In the entire area constant low-level air attacks,’ German XLVII. Panzerkorps reported.168 On the afternoon of 29 December, fighter-bombers dropped incendiary bombs over Chenogne, where five German tanks or tank destroyers stood in flames when the aircraft left.169 But by that time, the intense combat activity since 23 December had taken a heavy toll on the U.S. air units, and despite great efforts by pilots and ground crews, the XIX Tactical Air Command’s aviation reached only 456 combat sorties on that day—down from 638 on 24 December and 558 on 26 December. The U.S. ground troops were not able either to follow up the air strikes. Three days of fighting had cost Combat Command A, 9th Armored Division about thirty of its fifty Sherman tanks.170

The state of the neighboring 4th Armored Division was only marginally better: on 30 December, this unit was down to a strength of forty-two Sherman tanks.171 This could be compared with the one hundred and eleven that the Division had on 24 December.172

With Sibret and Villeroux in American hands, the main road Bastogne - Neufchâteau was barely secured, but the Germans still held positions in the Bois de Fragotte forest and Senonchamps, a mile or so to the northwest, whence their artillery could cover the road with their fire. It stood absolutely clear to the Americans that they would have to fight for every inch of land in the breach opened to the besieged Bastogne.

The situation was similar at the III Corps’ eastern flank, where U.S. 26th Infantry Division finally began to work its way towards the river Sûre. German Fallschirmjager-Regiment 13, which had been inflicted with such severe losses by Combat Command Reserve, 4th Armored Division in Bigonville—actually the 26th Infantry Division’s western flank—had no choice but to retreat northward, behind River Sûre south of Wiltz.
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A German PaK 40 anti-tank gun in anticipation of advancing American tanks. Behind the house stands a captured U.S. M8 halftrack vehicle. Painting by Unteroffizier Horst Helmus, 26. Volksgrenadier-Division.





Three miles farther to the east, a mile south of the Sûre, the Führer Grenadier Brigade was in the meantime practically bombed out of Eschdorf. Only a small force had been left in the village when the bulk of the brigade on Christmas Eve launched the counter-attack against U.S. 80th Infantry Division farther to the east. This resulted in both sides getting entangled in horribly costly battles on the III Corps’ eastern wing, but in the meantime U.S. 26th Infantry Division in the west managed to make its way to River Sûre, which it crossed on 26 December.
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Horst Helmus, 26. Volksgrenadier-Division. (Foto: Helmus)





With the road junction Wiltz—three miles north of the Sûre—thus suddenly threatened, the strategic situation changed for the Germans. Although their 9. Volksgrenadier-Division—a newly committed division— had been ordered up to the combat zone already on 24 December, this unit still had not been able to reach the front line because of bad road conditions in the mountains and U.S. air strikes.173 Hence, Führer Grenadier Brigade was ordered to immediately cancel the counterattack that had begun on 24 December (see page 288), and to regroup—over Bourscheid and Goebelsmuhle—to the section north of the Sûre where the Americans had established a bridgehead. In addition, the Luftwaffe was brought in against the 26th Infantry Division’s river crossings.

On the afternoon of 26 December, these targets were attacked by three formations of German aircraft— with twelve Focke Wulf 190s, followed by six Messerschmitt Bf 109s, and finally seven Schlachtgeschwader 4 Focke Wulf 190s. But the Americans had already brought up a strong air defense to the area, and the 390th Antiaircraft Artillery (Automatic Weapons) Battalion was credited with the shooting down of thirteen of the attacking aircraft.174 Furthermore, various formations of Allied fighters arrived and chased the German aircraft eastwards. On the German side, fighter group II. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 1 lost eight, and ground-attack wing Schlachtgeschwader 4 lost five Fw 190s in the ’Bastogne area’ (the attacked sector is situated only six-seven miles southeast of Bastogne).175 Among those German pilots that got killed was Hauptmann Heinz Jungclaussen, squadron commander in the 3rd Staffel in Schlachtgeschwader 4, who with more than one thousand combat sorties was one of the war’s most experienced ground-attack aviators. Of the seven Focke Wulf 190s that he had taken off with, only two returned. U.S. 362nd Fighter Group claimed to have shot down eight or nine Focke Wulf 190s against the loss of a single Thunderbolt.

The Allied aviation was in total domination of the skies, and this forced the Führer Grenadier Brigade’s troops to lie in cover north of River Sûre at dawn on 27 December, while U.S. 26th Infantry Division surged across the river. But as soon as the American aircraft disappeared, the Germans launched an armored counter-attack that wiped out half a platoon of Sherman tanks at Kaundorf.176 ’But any hope of sweeping the north bank clear of the Americans evaporated when a dozen artillery battalions took the grenadiers under fire, followed less than two hours later by the Allied fighter-bombers,’ noted Hugh M. Cole. 177
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An M36 Jackson tank destroyer crosses a snow-covered field in Luxembourg during the fighting in the winter of 1944/1945. (NARA, SC 198612/Hustead)





The first elements of the 9. Volksgrenadier-Division did not reach the battle area until 27 December. It would take three full days before the division as a whole had marched up to the front. On 28 December, U.S. 26th Infantry Division was able to capture Büderscheid, a small village nestled between forested mountains on the road northwards from the Sûre towards Wiltz.

In comparison with the situation on the German side, U.S. 35th Infantry Division could move its 16,000 troops to the area that previously had been the 26th Infantry Division’s western flank with considerably greater ease. On 27 December, the 137th Infantry Regiment on 35th Infantry Division’s left flank crossed River Sûre on a bridge established by an engineer unit of Combat Command A, 4th Armored Division south of Tintange, northeast of Warnach, on the border between Belgium and Luxembourg. When the Americans came out from Tintange, the 2nd Battalion took the small road that turns off to the northeast, and the men of the 3rd Battalion began an arduous march due north through the deep snow in wooded and hilly terrain. While the 3rd Battalion was spared any ambushes in this difficult terrain during 27 December, the 2nd Battalion encountered a small force from the 5. Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon at the crossroads at Surré, less than two and a half miles northeast of Tintange. Here the Americans stood three miles north of Bigonville—where I. Bataillon/ Fallschirmjager-Regiment 13 had been almost annihilated by the 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve three days earlier. After a few hours of fighting, the Germans at Surré retreated.

This American thrust had significant consequences for the Battle of Bastogne. From Surré, what remained of Fallschirmjager-Regiment 13 withdrew back up the hill to the hills just east of Surré, where the regiment along with flame thrower groups from Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon 5 managed to halt the Americans. But due to U.S. 26th Infantry Division’s crossing of River Sûre further east, Fallschirmjager-Regiment 13 had to hold a line extending two and a half miles, to Bavigne, where contact was established with the Führer Grenadier Brigade. To block the gap north of Surré, Generalmajor Heilmann, the commander of the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division, had to regroup Fallschirmjager-Regiment 15 to Harlange, just two miles north of Surré, as quickly as possible. The positions held by Fallschirmjager-Regiment 15 at Sainlez and Livârchamps, a mile and a half northwest of Surré, would instead be taken over by Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14, which in turn was pulled away from the area west of Highway N 4. Thus, the entire 5. Fallschirmjager-Division was pushed eastwards, which enabled U.S. 4th Armored Division to take control of a two and a half mile wide area south of Bastogne. It was only through this that the breach to Bastogne was really established.

While Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14 strived to take over Fallschirmjager-Regiment 15’s positions, U.S. 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command A managed to take Sainlez, from where the Germans had been able to prevent the Americans from continuing their advance towards Bastogne on Highway N 4. The 3rd Battalion of U.S. 137th Infantry Regiment—which had pressed on northwards from Tintange—and a battalion from the 35th Infantry Division’s reserve infantry regiment, the 134th, now joined the 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command A. During the course of 28 December, these units managed to outflank Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14 and take the small village of Lutrebois just east of the N 4. Thus, the German positions at Livârchamps, three miles further south, became untenable. In the evening on 28 December, Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14 withdrew to Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, a mile northeast of the Livârchamps and two miles south of Lutrebois.

Through the appearance of U.S. 35th Infantry Division in the sector between the American 4th Armored Division in the west and 26th Infantry Division in the east, German 5. Fallschirmjager-Division was forced back to a semi-circular defensive position southeast of Bastogne— extending from Bavigne, eight miles southeast of the town, three miles westwards to the hills east of Surré, and thence to Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, three miles further to the northwest, and on to the wooded area east of Lutrebois, two miles to the north and three miles southeast of Bastogne. Thus, the German paratroopers had been pushed a mile and a half east of Highway N 4. On the afternoon of 28 December, the Americans established positions at the castle Château de Losange east of the N 4, a mile north of Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, and during the following night they also entered that village.

The German divisional commander Heilmann was ordered to counter-attack immediately to regain the lost positions, but the odds were too uneven—he had no more than a weakened paratroop regiment against two U.S. infantry battalions and one third of the 4th Armored Division! However, his 5. Fallschirmjager-Division again succeeded in creating a stalemate in the American advance. Certainly, the 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command A managed to link up with the 101st Airborne Division in Bastogne, but farther east, the U.S. advance was halted. After heavy fighting throughout 29 December, U.S. 134th Infantry Regiment had become stuck in Lutrebois, while ’K’ and ’L’ companies of the 137th Infantry Regiment’s 3rd Battalion still had not succeeded in driving out the German paratroopers from Villers-la- Bonne-Eau on the other side of the woods, just two miles further south; the few houses in this small village remained divided between Germans and Americans.

Slightly to the east, Oberstleutnant Groschke’s Fallschirmjager-Regiment 15 clung on to the the fortified farm estate Ferme Fuhrman just east of Harlange, where it managed to hold back the 320th Infantry Regiment on the 35th Infantry Division’s eastern flank. ’Locked in bitter battle,’ reported the 320th Infantry on the evening of 29 December. Still further east, U.S. 26th Infantry Division meanwhile clashed violently with German 9. Volksgrenadier-Division, which came to the aid of the Führer Grenadier Brigade and now counter-attacked south of Wiltz. Oberst Werner Kolb, commanding the 9. Volksgrenadier-Division, wrote:

’We succeeded in stopping completely the attack of the 26th American Division, which had been carried on successfully for over ten days. In spite of the commitment of enormous quantities of material, particularly of artillery and mortar ammunition, (15,000 shots were counted as fired on the divisional sector in one day and 3,000 shots a day were repeatedly fired at Noertrange—the divisional command post), the enemy did not score any successes worth mentioning. The intention of the Commander of the American 26th Infantry Div (according to a message intercepted by radio intelligence) to capture Wiltz on 1 January 45, was frustrated. The important Hill 490, southwest of Roullingen, after having been subjected to concentrated artillery fire, changed hands repeatedly, but always remained in enemy hands only for a short time. Every time, the enemy was expelled again in counter attack. […] Practically, it never came to infantry fighting. Only after the German front had been battered by the American superior artillery and mortar fire, the American infantry attacked and even then with support from tanks. In this stage of fighting, during which the enemy artillery had to cease firing, small German reserves, consisting often of no more than ten men, sufficed to repulse a manifold superior enemy infantry (even with attachéd tanks).’178

As we have already seen, the 26th Infantry Division ’Yankee’ was composed largely of recruits without any combat experience, and this stood them dearly when they now met the fresh 9. Volksgrenadier-Division, which had a cadre of quite combat experienced officers and NCOs. ’If even the veterans of the tough Yankee Division found the fighting between the Sûre and Wiltz in fog and freezing slush the hardest of the war, it is not surprising that it proved too much for some of the inexperienced men to take.’179

Farther northwest, the Americans were more successful. On this 29 December, U.S. 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command A, in close collaboration with fighter-bombers from the XIX Tactical Air Command, drove the Germans from Remoifosse—the last village on Highway N 4 before Bastogne, two miles south of the town. This opened this highway too to the previously completely surrounded town. The breach was further widened through an attack by the 327th Glider Infantry Regiment, Hellcat tank destroyers from the 705th Tank Destroyer Battalion, and Sherman tanks from Team O’Hara from within Bastogne, which managed to retake the village of Marvie, two miles southeast of the town. Thus the breach reached a width of four miles—from Marvie in the east to Villeroux in the west. The siege was definitely broken.
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Luxembourg, 30 December 1944. Three U.S. soldiers returning from a patrol mission. From the left to the right, Sergeant James Storey, Private Frank A. Fox, and Corporal Dennis Lavanoha They use sheets acquired from local residents as provisional snow oversuits. In the Ardennes, this became a regular practice in the U.S. Army, which, unlike the Germans lacked snow oversuits. (NARA, SC 197832/Hustead)





THE SS COUNTERATTACKS

But the Germans already were planning a powerful countermove. Their 1. SS-Panzer-Division ’Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler’ and 167. Volksgrenadier-Division now were brought up against U.S. 35th Infantry Division. The SS Division assembled in Lutremange, east of the American positions along the forest road between Villers-la-Bonne-Eau and Lutrebois, and the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division was positioned a mile northeast of Lutrebois. These two divisions would form the eastern part of the German counteroffensive. This actually was supposed to have been launched on 29 December, but since these two divisions’ march to their new combat area was seriously delayed, Generalfeldmarschall Model decided to postpone the attack date until the 30th.180 Not even then had the entire 167. Volksgrenadier-Division arrived at the new combat zone; this division had to start the attack almost without any heavy weapons.181

On the afternoon of 29 December, von Manteuffel summoned his unit commanders to a conference. The slender little general—he measured only 5’2” (158 cm)— looked grim when he met the 5. Panzerarmee’s corps and division commanders. He began by reproaching them for their inability to understand how important it had been to take Bastogne at an early stage, and expressed support for Hitler’s, von Rundstedt’s and Model’s perception that to resume the advance on the Meuse, it was absolutely vital to first capture this town and ’beat Patton.’ He described Bastogne as the ’central problem’ and explained that the new situation at this town offered the Germans an opportunity to deal the Americans a new major defeat, or at least to tie down large U.S. forces so that they could not be deployed against Germany itself.

The operation plan presented by von Manteuffel, consisted of three phases: In the first, the ring around Bastogne would be sealed again through a joint pincer movèment from the west and the east against the Americans in the south. Next, Patton’s Army was to be pushed southwards, and finally all forces would be deployed to wipe out the U.S. forces in Bastogne. For this purpose, all German troops around Bastogne were brought together into the ad hoc grouping Armeegruppe Lüttwitz under General von Lüttwitz’ command, with the XLVII. Panzerkorps southwest of Bastogne and Generalleutnant Decker’s XXXIX. Panzerkorps southeast of the town.182 Moreover, the Germans had finally been able to bring forward considerable artillery to the positions at Bastogne— in total 321 artillery pieces and 306 Nebelwerfer.183 However, this artillery suffered from a lack of ammunition due to the American air attacks against its supply lines.184 Nevertheless, the Luftwaffe had promised to support the attack by despatching all available aircraft in a bombing attack against Bastogne on the night preceding the new offensive.

The bombing was carried out on the night of the 29th, and it became the hitherto heaviest air raid on Bastogne. Fifty-two aircraft participated, most of them twin-engine Junkers 88 and Junkers 188 bombers from bomber wing Kampfgeschwader 66. Private First Class John Trowbridge from U.S. 501st Parachute Infantry Regiment rèmembers that night:

’We took over prepared positions, which had both foxholes and deep slit trenches, some with thin covering, which were better for sleeping. We felt safer here away from the front lines, until one moonlit night when Jerry came over bombing and strafing. We were enjoying the fireworks, watching the antiaircraft tracers filling the sky, until a bomb exploded a few yards away from our hole.’185

Inside the little town with its small and narrow streets, it was as if hell had opened its gates. Entire neighborhoods were burned and hundreds of houses collapsed. Convinced that the final battle and the fall of the town had come, between fifteen hundred and two thousand terrified residents escaped on foot, with possessions loaded onto overcrowded bicycles or small carts, out from the town along the open highway to the south.

The ground attack in the east began with a rather weak artillery bombardment, and at 0625 on 30 December— two hours before sunrise—the Germans assaulted.

Initially it looked quite promising for the attacking side. During the night, thick clouds had settled over the battlefield, and it was snowing, which severely hampered Allied air operations. But owing to a lack of radio discipline on the German side, the British code breakers at Bletchley Park had been able to warn of the impending attack already in the morning on the day before.186 In addition to that, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division operated entirely on its own, leaving the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division, the considerably lighter equipped Wehrmacht Division of the SS unit’s northern flank, without the crucial armor support. Contrariwise, the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division had assigned its Grenadier-Regiment 331 to the SS Division’s support.

SS-Brigadefuhrer Wilhelm Mohnke had divided his 1. SS-Panzer-Division into two battlegroups. On the northern flank, the division’s tanks, two battalions of panzer grenadiers, and an engineer company merged into SS-Kampfgruppe Pötschke under SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Werner Pötschke, the commander of SS-Panzer-Regiment 1. Its aim was to take Lutrebois and thence severe the main road N 4 for the Americans. The second battlegroup, SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen under SS-Standartenfuhrer Max Hansen—consisting of the I. SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung, the remaining panzer grenadiers, an SS reconnaissance platoon, and an engineer company—was assigned to recapture Villers-la-Bonne-Eau and then advance further on to cut off the N 4 at Sainlez. These SS troops also were supported by Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14. North of the SS Division, the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division was tasked to advance southwestwards, and cross the N 4, in the direction of Assenois.

At this time, the small village of Lutrebois consisted of mainly no more than thirty of those gray two-story stone houses that still are so typical of the countryside in this part of the Ardennes. These were lined up on either side of the narrow dirt road that from Remoifosse expired eastward from the N 4 and then bent south, parallel to the N 4, and connected three equally small villages in a row—Lutrebois, Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, and, in the far south, Livârchamps. Colonel Butler B. Miltonberger, the commander of the 134th Infantry Regiment, 35th Infantry Division had deployed two battalions to the defense of Lutrebois. The entire 2nd Battalion and ’A’ Company of the 654th Tank Destroyer Battalion were positioned against the wooded hill on the other side of the valley northeast of the village. The 3rd Battalion had placed ’L’ Company inside the village, with ’I’ Company and ’C’ Company in foxholes in the snow-covered fields to the east of the community.

Without any preparatory artillery fire—in order not to warn the opponent—the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division despatched Grenadier-Regiment 331 against Lutrebois at three in the morning on 30 December. The assault was made by the Regiment’s I. Batillon, reinforced with two platoons from the II. Bataillon. While the 2. Kompanie was advancing across the fields northwest of the village and the 3. Kompanie advanced on the southeast side, the men of the 1. Kompanie pushed into the village.187 In spite of being warned in advance, the Americans were caught totally by surprise. Forty U.S. soldiers that lay asleep in a barn received a brutal awakening, only to discover that they found themselves in captivity.188 The Germans assembled their prisoners in a line, and with a machine gun in the back of them these marched off to Doncols to be transported to prison camps in Germany.189

Intoxicated by the success, the Germans rushed forward in among the snow-covered young fir trees in the dark Chivresoux forest that extends from Lutrebois to Highway N 4, a thousand yards west of the village. In the forest’s southwestern edge, six hundred yards from Lutrebois, the 18th Century castle Château de Losange is located, and at this place the commander of U.S. 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command A, Brigadier General Herbert L. Earnest, had set up his command post.

The official U.S. account says that ’news of the attack reached CCA of the 4th Armored at 0635, and General Earnest promptly turned his command to face east in support of the 35th Division.’190 But rather, it was the Germans who brought their advance right up to Earnest’s front door! 51st Armored Infantry Battalion—the infantry battalion of Combat Command A, 4th Armored Division— was forced to hastily defend itself against the German advance. This is depicted in lively fashion in the battalion’s after action report:

At 0845 enemy machine gun fire from the woods east of the Battalion CP opened an enemy attack and German infantry followed the withdrawing troops of the 134th down the slope towards the Château. It was very difficult to fire on them since friendly infantry were emerging from the woods in the direct line of sight. The machine gun platoon which had outposted the Command Post with vehicles drew the first fire from both rifles and machine guns and one vehicle was abandoned for a short time as the fire became very intense and the half-track afforded little cover. About 15 rounds of mortar fire fell on and around the two buildings during the attack and tracers could be seen bouncing off vehicles and buildings. Men from Headquarters Company were placed at windows where observation on the attackers was good considering the denseness of the forest. Two tanks from ‘A’ Company of 35th Tank Battalion took up a position 50 yards north of the Château and all available small arms, machine guns, and 75mm tank gun fire power was poured into the enemy positions for a period of 10 minutes, driving the attackers back through the woods. Enemy killed and wounded could be seen lying at the edge of the woods.191
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A Panzer IV J of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division ’Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler’ in the Lutrebois area. This tank carries the new Wire Mesh armor skirts, in German Thoma Schurzen, and the new swiwel hatch at the commander’s cupola hatch. On one side, the Thoma Schurzen are missing due to unknown reasons. (BArch, Bild 183-J28683/SS-Kriegsberichter Jackisch)





One of the soldiers of the German attacking force said: ’After the 1. Kompanie advanced through the village they met heavy small arms fire from the edge of the woods on the western side of the village and had to withdraw back to it. Up to this time the German tanks had not been employed.’

The SS did not despatch its tanks against Lutrebois until several hours later, and by then the Americans were naturally fully alerted, manning all battle positions—now also reinforced with the entire Combat Command A, 4th Armored Division, including the 35th Tank Battalion.

’The atmosphere this day was spooky,’ said SS-Rottenfuhrer Rolf Ehrhardt, driver on a Panzer IV of the 7. Kompanie/SS-Panzer-Regiment 1. ’It was wet and cold, foggy and unreal.’192

The SS tanks came from the south, in column on the frozen little dirt road that runs across partially open fields parallel to the forest road between Villers-la-Bonne-Eau and Lutrebois, about a thousand yards east of this road. Rolf Erhardt continues, ’Not far from our road, which lay a bit beyond the meadow landscape, we saw between sixty and eighty of our infantry men laying on the ground. Obviously they had all been killed there. Suddenly one in the group lifted out his upper body and called to us noticeably with his hand waving. A machine gun began to fire from the nearby edge of the forest and the poor devil was hit many times. A storm of bullets from the machine gun hit our Panzer as well. As soon as we moved to the front to beat out the guns that had been firing on us, there was a tense stillness in the air. The left edge of the forest was probably occupied by strong American infantry forces.’193

A few minutes later, a U.S. artillery observation aircraft from the 22nd Armored Field Artillery Battalion arrived at the scene and started circling above the German troops. First Lieutenant Robert Pearson, the pilot of the single-seat Piper L-4 aircraft, decided to defy the miserable flying weather. Thus, the Germans were subjected to artillery fire even before Lutrebois had come into view. ’We could have hit the observation planes if we threw rocks at them, they were that close, and the incoming artillery shells followed every move we made,’ said Rolf Ehrhardt.194 Soon, Thunderbolt planes also appeared. ’In response to urgent calls from the Regiment,’ wrote the American regimental commander, Colonel Miltonberger, ’relays of P-47 Thunderbolts began zooming down over the enemy.’195 The American fighter-bomber pilots recklessly put down their aircraft almost to the ground in order to see anything in the bad weather.

With artillery shells exploding around them and Thunderbolt planes trying to dot the German tanks with their bombs, the SS tanks continued forward on the hills southwest of Lutrebois. Four hundred yards southeast of Lutrebois there was a spruce forest a bit to the left of the road. ’American infantry lay strewn across the left part of the forest and close to the road,’ recalled another tank soldier of the SS-Panzer-Regiment’s 7. Kompanie, SS-Sturmmann Manfred Thorn: ’The forest bordered the road for about one hundred meters, then you could see the first farm house of Lutrebois. At the end of the forest to the right stood a Panther.’196
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Flying a Piper L-4 artillery observation aircraft, First Lieutenant Robert Pearson from the 22nd Armored Field Artillery Battalion played an important role during the Battle of Lutrebois. The picture shows another L-4 in the Ardennes in the winter of 1944/1945. (US Army)





Oriented on the German armored column’s direction and position by radio from First Lieutenant Pearson in the Piper plane, Sherman tanks of the 35th Tank Battalion and M10 tank destroyers of ’A’ Company, 654th Tank Destroyer Battalion had laid an ambush inside the Chivresoux Forest. They waited until the German armor came out from behind the trees at the farm northeast of Lutrebois. The first tank to be eliminated was Sturmbannfuhrer Pötschke’s command vehicle, a Panther. It was probably this that Thorn saw. Pötschke himself managed to escape without injuries.

The other Panther tanks attempted a frontal assault, straight into the American line of fire. It was a typical SS surge, without any regard to their own losses. The Panthers insolently carried on in groups of two or three, past their own burning tanks, and as they entered the American line of fire, these too were knocked out. At this moment the American journalist Martha Gellhorn was in the command post of the 35th Tank Battalion—part of 4th Armored Division’s Combat Command A—where she heard the radio report of Lieutenant John Kingsley, commanding the 35th Tank Battalion’s ’B’ Company, ’Got one… Got two… Got three… We got ten and two more coming. Just wanted to keep you posted on the German tanks burning up here. It’s a beautiful sight, a beautiful sight, over!’197 According to the 35th Tank Battalion’s reports, a total of thirteen German tanks were knocked out, ’The first shot … put away the German commander’s tank and the other tanks milled about until all had been knocked out.’198 Upon the return to their base, the Thunderbolt pilots reported that they had knocked out four of these tanks.199 Owing to the Panther’s solid design, only four Panthers in all were total losses—the others could be towed away to be repaired, but in a single blow all that remained of the I. Abteilung/ SS-Panzer-Regiment 1 had nevertheless been neutralized.

The Americans hardly believed their eyes when the Panzer IV tanks of the II. Abteilung appeared, neatly in line, behind the forest edge. 35th Tank Battalion’s First Lieutenant John Kingsley commented, ’If that German tank company commander isn’t dead I wish they would make him a battalion commander. I wish they were all that dumb!’200

Within a few minutes, six of the 7. Kompanie’s seven Panzer IVs had been decisively hit. ’Six more German tanks came along and all were destroyed or disabled,’ reads the 35th Tank Battalion’s after action report. ’In the meantime the American tank destroyers took on some accompanying assault guns, shot up three of them, and dispersed the neighboring grenadiers.’201 Rolf Ehrhardt, who managed to bail out of his hit tank, said, ’There was only one Panzer IV left which had stood the furthest forward. Obviously it had driven with full power right through the area where the Americans had been firing. The frozen ground and the light foliage had certainly helped them.’202

According to the first U.S. reports, one of the German tanks was destroyed by a mine and two by artillery fire. The M10s of the 654th Tank Destroyer Battalion were reported to have despatched another sixteen, including eleven in cooperation with Combat Command A, 4th Armored Division.203 U.S. III Corps reported, ’At the close of the day it was reported that at least fifteen and perhaps thirty enemy tanks had been knocked out by ground forces. The air had also been active during the day, and the three squadrons which had been placed in support of the 35th Infantry Division reported good results.’204 At the end of the day, the Germans had not gone beyond Lutrebois. The offensive that was supposed to cut off Bastogne from the south lay in tatters.

SS-Kampfgruppe Hansen was met with no greater success in its attack on the southern flank. Seven Panzer IV/70 tank destroyers—the terrified the Americans thought they were Tiger tanks—took the lead in the assault on Villers-la-Bonne-Eau. They were followed by the paratroopers of Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14 and a flame thrower platoon of 5. Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon. The Germans, who came down the high hills surrounding the village, were able to penetrate the village without much difficulty. The 35th Infantry Division’s combat report describes the battle sequences:

’The panzers moved in close, blasting the stone houses and setting the village ablaze. At 0845 a radio message reached the CP of the 137th Inf asking for the artillery to lay down a barrage of smoke and high explosive, but before the gunners could get a sensing the radio went dead. Only one of the 169 men inside the village got out.’205 But then the German advance ground to a halt.

Frustration over the failure led to sharp divisions between the SS and the Wehrmacht units. ’The officers and men [of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division] were combat-weary and fatigued, [and] adding to the physical and tactical difficulties, the SS troopers did not cooperate at all with the neighboring paratroopers of the 5th Parachute to the south: One SS officer tried to have the commander of the 14th Parachute Infantry Regiment court-martialed for incompetence a few days later, and the bad feeling between the divisions was mutual.’206

The commander of the German paratroop division, Ludwig Heilmann—who carried some of the Third Reich’s highest awards for gallantry, the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves and Swords, and who had been promoted to Generalmajor for his division’s exceptional success during the first days of the offensive—wrote, ’The 1. SS-Panzer-Division blamed the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division for the lack of success, and a strained relationship developed between our two units. The SS spread a rumor that some paratroopers had been sitting and drinking in a friendly manner with some Americans in the cellar of one of the houses in Villers-la-Bonne-Eau. My Ic (intelligence officer) overheard a conversation that took place at the SS command post, where it was said something like that ”it’s high time that the paratroop division is cleaned up, it’s about time that someone up there took them by the nose.207

Although German 167. Volksgrenadier-Division on the northern flank had attacked almost without their heavy weapons (the transport of which had been delayed by U.S. air strikes), this Wehrmacht division made the initially most successful attack against the eastern flank of the American wedge to Bastogne. One third of the 12,000 soldiers of this division were veterans of the Eastern Front, and morale was high, according to the testimony of prisoners of war, who told their American captors that the Americans would be ’driven back to [the Normandy Invasion] beaches.’208
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Triumphant U.S. soldiers are posing on top of a knocked out Panther tank from the 1. SS-Panzer-Division. The four white rings that are painted on the barrel mark four destroyed enemy tanks. (Via David E. Brown)





On 30 December, the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division’s northern flank force managed to cut off Highway N 4 and reached as far as the Bois Bechou forest northeast of the Assenois. But without any support from the 1. SS-Panzer-Division, which by then had stalled farther to the southeast, the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division stood no chance alone against U.S. 4th Armored Division. The 167. Volksgrenadier-Division’s lead battalion was entirely ’cut to pieces,’ as divisional commander, Generalleutnant Hans Kurt Höcker, put it, and the division was driven back to the east of the highway again.209 This cost the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division three hundred and fiftycasualties.210

Although the German counter-attack failed to achieve its aim of cutting off Bastogne from the south, it had the effect of completely halting the U.S. III Corps. While U.S. 35th Infantry Division was thrown back from Lutrebois and Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, the 26th Infantry Division’s advance on Wiltz ten miles farther east was halted through a counterattack by Fallschirmjager-Regiment 15 at Hill 490 at Berlé, southwest of Wiltz. Further west, Middleton’s reactivated VIII Corps fared no better.

PATTON’S OFFENSIVE IS HALTED

While von Rundstedt, Model and von Manteuffel were mainly focused on Bastogne and concentrated their efforts to reclose the encirclèment of the town, the Americans regarded the battle for this town as basically completed. Eisenhower, Bradley and Patton now were focused on the Third Army’s planned continued advance past Bastogne and north to Sankt Vith to seal off the 5. Panzerarmee in the area northwest of Bastogne. It was for this purpose that considerable reinforcèments were brought forward. The III Corps had, as we have seen, despatched the 35th Infantry Division east of Highway N 4, and 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command A, at the Corps’ western flank, at the western highway N 85. In addition to that, the veteran 6th Armored Division was en route from the south to reinforce and eventually take over the section of the III Corps’ front area that was held by the 4th Armored Division. To the left (west) of the III Corps, Major General Middleton’s VIII Corps was reactivated, partly through the arrival of three new divisions—the 87th Infantry, the 11th Armored, and the 17th Airborne—plus the shifting of the 101st Airborne Division inside Bastogne, and Combat Command A, 9th Armored Division southwest of Bastogne, to this Corps .
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A Sturmgeschütz III and two Panzer IVs with mounted panzer grenadiers advance towards the battlefield. When the battle west of Bastogne began, the Führer Begleit Brigade had 24 operational Sturmgeschütz IIIs and 30 Panzer IVs. (BArch, Bild 101I-701-0356-30A/Utecht/Utrecht/Uetrecht)





According to the plan, the VIII Corps would break through the German front west of Bastogne, while the III Corps with the 6th Armored Division was supposed to break through in the area east and southeast of this town. Should this succeed, Patton’s army alone could have destroyed virtually the entire 5. Panzerarmee in a battle that would have eclipsed even the Battle at Avranches; such a devastating defeat might well have caused the entire German Western Front to collapse, which could have led to a quicker end of the war.

Patton and Middleton were optimistic as they positioned Combat Command A, 11th Armored Division and 87th Infantry Division on VIII Corps’ left wing, ten miles southwest of Bastogne, at Moircy and Remagne, twelve miles southeast of the German Bulge’s western tip at Wavreille. To the right (east) of the 87th Infantry Division, Combat Command B, 11th Armored Division reinforced the positions held by the battered Combat Command A, 9th Armored Division at Sibret, four miles southwest of Bastogne. The 17th Airborne Division would eventually also be deployed to this sector.

The troops of the 87th Infantry Division ’Golden Acorn’ consisted largely of former college students from the Northeast of the USA.211 The division had just been through its first battle—on the Saar Front on 3 December—when the order came to promptly regroup to the III Corps, 125 miles to the northwest. Thus, what Middleton received was not a particularly experienced division. The situation was similar regarding the 11th Armored and the 17th Airborne divisions, which were completely ’green’ outfits. The commanding officers of the 87th Infantry and 17th Airborne, Brigadier General Frank L. Culin, Jr., and Major General William M. Miley, had some personal combat experience from World War One, but like the C.O. of the 11th Armored Division, Brigadier General Charles S. Kilburn, none of them had any previous experience of leading troops in combat in World War II. They faced some highly experienced German units. Combat Command A, 11th Armored Division and the 87th Infantry Division at Moircy and Remagne in the west faced German Kampfgruppe 902 from Bayerlein’s Panzer Lehr Division. Combat Command B, 11th Armored Division was up against not only Rèmer’s Führer Begleit Brigade, but by this time, the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division also had arrived in this sector. These German units were tucked into General von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps. The 3. Panzergrenadier-Division had a long experience of fighting in Italy—including the battles at Cassino and Anzio—when it in the fall of 1944 was deployed to halt Patton at Metz. The division had more recently seen action in the Rocherath-Krinkelt sector. The divisional commander, Generalmajor Walter Denkert, had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross for his credentials as deputy commander of an armored division on the Eastern Front, when he in June 1944 was assigned to command the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division.
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When the newly arrived 11th Armored and 87th Infantry divisions opened the attack on 30 December 1944, the battlefield was covered in thick fog that made it impossible for the American aviation to provide any support.





(NARA, US Signal Corps)

With a combined strength of close to 30,000 troops and 350 tanks—186 Shermans and 51 Stuarts in the 11th Armored Division, 54 Shermans and 17 Stuarts in the 87th Infantry Division’s 761st Tank Battalion, and 21 Shermans and 17 Stuarts in Combat Command A, 9th Armored Division—the Americans, however, enjoyed a significant numerical superiority over their opponents, who on 30 December mustered about forty serviceable tanks and fifty tank destroyers in this section.*

The 11th Armored Division arrived at the battlefield on the afternoon of 29 December, and the 87th Infantry Division followed duly the next night. Although the 17th Airborne Division would not arrive until three days later, these two divisions were hastily thrown into Patton’s offensive. ’They put us in open trucks to get to the front and this was during one of the worst winters in decades—I’d never seen grown men crying before, it was so cold,’ said one of the men of the 87th Infantry Division, Private First Class James Hennessey. ’Then they threw us into battle!’212

As on the eastern flank of the wedge to Bastogne, the American offensive collided with the German attempt to reclose the encirclèment of Bastogne. According to von Manteuffel’s plan, the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division and its temporarily subordinated Führer Begleit Brigade would attack through and around Sibret with the aim of linking up with the 1. SS-Panzer-Division and the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division in the Assenois area south of Bastogne.213

Having had no time to get acquainted with the battlefield, and this also on a battlefield that was enveloped in thick fog—which in turn prevented the vital air support— the American soldiers marched out to their jump-off positions for the attack in the gray and cold morning on 30 December. The first goal of Combat Command B, 11th Armored Division was to take Chenogne, a village of thirty houses, a church, a school and a small shop, five miles west-southwest of Bastogne, on the other side of the Bois de Fragotte forest, and a mile northwest of Sibret.214To avoid the dense forest, the 11th Armored Division’s Combat Command B was positioned on a mile’s width west of Sibret, with 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command A in reserve.
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Four soldiers of U.S. 21st Armored Infantry Battalion in an M3 halftrack. From the left: Staff Sergeant John Fague, Private First Class Donald E. White, Private First Class Dock E. Deakle, and the driver, Technician Fifth Grade Orvin P. Rasnic. (John Fague)





But the Germans would be the first to attack, with Major Hubert Mickley’s II. (Schnell) Bataillon of the Führer Begleit Brigade’s Panzergrenadier-Regiment—as described by the brigade commander Oberst Rèmer,’ At the break of daylight, the II. Battalion started out, whilst the armored group expanded toward the south, gaining ground south of Chenogne. For the time being, the II. Battalion made good progress, however it got stuck on the Brul ditch just before Sibret in infantry fire and well placed artillery fire from Sibret. The brave commander (Oak Leaves holder, Major [Hubert] Mickley) was so badly wounded that he died a short time later when he tried to pull his battalion forward again. (The commander of the I. Battalion was likewise out of action by a traffic [accident] during the previous night).’215

Meanwhile, Remer’s two armored battalions pressed on southwards through Lavaselle—a tiny hamlet on the windswept fields a mile or so southwest of Chenogne and two miles northwest of the Sibret—in order to circumvent the American positions and assault Sibret from the south. As they approached Flohimont, the fog suddenly dispersed, as through a stroke of magic. In that moment both sides, to their amazèment caught sight of each other’s large tank forces. ’As the fog lifted,’ wrote Rèmer, ’the armored group, which was advancing on to Flohimont, recognized two armored groups of about 30 tanks each advancing to the north. As far as I recall, one was located in the area of Morhet [two miles west om Sibret], while the other was traveling in the direction of Jodenville [about half-way between Sibret och Morhet]. The armored group of the brigade opened fire at once and immediately put a number tanks out of action.’216

The German armored brigade had encountered the 11th Armored Division’s Combat Command B, whose Task Force Poker (41st Tank Battalion) and Task Force Pat (21st Armored Infantry Battalion) were advancing on the open fields west of Sibret. Lavaselle is located in a valley that runs from the east to the west, and both Americans and Germans had driven down into this valley from opposite directions when they discovered each other, with a large plain between them. The German force quickly retreated back to Bois de Valets, the forest that grows on the hill about two thousand yards north of Lavaselle, and from there they resumed the battle. John Fague, by then a Staff Sergeant in ’B’ Company, U.S. 21st Armored Infantry Battalion, describes the scene from the American perspective:
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M3 half-tracks of the 21st Armored Infantry Battalion after it has been repulsed in the attack on 30 December 1944. Shortly after this picture was taken, this vehicle assembly was subjected to a concentrated German artillery fire. Erstwhile Staff Sergeant John Fague rèmembers, ‘When I got out to the boys I found them huddled behind hedges and sprawled in ditches. They looked scared to death and thought I was crazy walking around in the open. Several of the boys had been wounded in the field and a couple killed. Two boys lost control of their nerves and broke down from battle fatigue’ (NARA, 111-SC-198464)







I rèmember as we dashed down the hill seeing several of our General Sherman tanks burning on the plain below. Our tanks were no match for the German low silhouette Tiger tanks with their ’88’ cannons. The tanks that we were leading were already on the crest of the slope facing the woods that concealed the enemy guns. The engagèment was on. Our tanks were blasting away and received fire. We pulled up beside our tanks and dismounted. We formed a skirmish line of infantry across the hill. It was easy to see that our tanks were taking a beating. All along the line tanks were beginning to burn. The German anti-tanks guns and ’88’ pieces were well dug in and camouflaged. We had rallied to register a preliminary artillery fire on the enemy position. Our artillery only now was beginning to land a few shells in the woods. As we lay in the snow Lieutenant [Roy C.] Stringfellow gave command to fix bayonets. I think every man in the platoon had a little of that hysterical feeling of fear which will grip a man. The enemy must be close or why the order to fix bayonets. I expected to see a wave of German infantry come charging over the slight rise in front of us. All the time a few shells were coming in on us. A piece of shrapnel hit the half-track. Our tanks were firing and being fired at. At the time the enlisted men were ignorant of the plan of attack. We did not know what we were to do. I had only the faint idea that the enemy fire was coming from the woods ahead. I saw some of our shells land in the woods 500 yards ahead. I blame our officers for not acquainting us with the situation.

I later learned we were to assault the woods with the tanks in support. Lt. Stringfellow must have decided that we were too far from our objective to make an open assault, so he gave the order to mount up. This order didn’t take any coaxing. We all piled into the vehicles. With all the equipment in the ’track’ it didn’t seem as if there was enough room. Several of the boys in their haste sprawled across the knees of us who were sitting. We were gripped with a fear that at any time one of those German antitank shells which were knocking out the tanks would hit our vehicle.217

The Germans clearly had the upper hand, both through their superior tanks—Panzer IVs*—and more combat experience than the American armored division. Although the fog had eased, the weather—low clouds and a heavy snowfall—remained sufficiently bad to prevent the Americans from making any use of their aviation. John Fague describes the further course of the combat:
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Soldiers of C Company, 1st Battalion of the 345th Infantry Regiment, U.S. 87th Infantry Division are enteringMoircy cautiously, in search of lurking German snipers. (NARA, 111-SC-199300)





’Because the armored group was itself located on a slope and was very soon under heavy tank fire and concentrated, well-placed artillery fire, it disengaged itself from the enemy, bringing the 21st Battalion with it, and continued to carry on the tank battle from the high terrain between Mande-Sainte-Marie and the patch of woods to the east. The 21st Battalion, disengaging itself, alas, among the tanks (rather than to the side), had considerable losses. Four of our tanks were thereby put out of action. The tank battle, led inexorably on both sides, lasted about two to three hours.’218

Against own losses of four Panzer IVs, the Führer Begleit Brigade claimed to have destroyed thirty American tanks. In the ranks of Combat Command B, 11th Armored Division, confusion and discouragèment ruled, as Fagueexplains:

At Jodenville the half-tracks were dispersed in a field behind the town and the men found what cover they could. This was the end of our action for the first day. Except for gaining the town the attack was a failure as I saw it. The failure was due to inexperienced officers and green troops. After our withdrawal from the hill the Lieutenant and I went into the town to contact the other officers and learn what the score was. The Krauts started to pour in mortar and artillery shells on the town and our vehicles. We ducked into a basèment and let the music play outside. As soon as the artillery had let up a little the Lieutenant sent me to where the vehicles were parked to bring the men into town where they could get protection in the buildings. When I got out to the boys I found them huddled behind hedges and sprawled in ditches. They looked scared to death and thought I was crazy walking around in the open. Several of the boys had been wounded in the field and a couple killed. Two boys lost control of their nerves and broke down from battle fatigue. One was from my squad.219

The VIII Corps fared no better on the western flank of its offensive. Combat Command A, 11th Armored Division began its attack with Task Force White (63rd Armored Infantry Battalion reinforced with two armored companies of the 42nd Tank Battalion) in the lead. The Americans advanced northwards from Laneuville, over the rolling fields up towards Remagne, ten miles southwest of Bastogne. But they did not get very far. On the bald little plateau just south of Remagne, slightly more than two miles from the jump-off positions, they were exposed to a terrible fire from a battle group of Panzer Lehr. Major Carl Sheely from the 63rd Armored Infantry Battalion said:

’At 0943 one tank leading “B” Company reached the high ground at (396-543). This tank was knocked out by German artillery. Artillery, mortar fire, and automatic weapons stopped the attack cold. The fighting was so heavy that the Battalion suffered about a hundred casualties in about 30 minutes. The men were ordered to dig in and defend.’220 This ambush cost Task Force White a loss of ten tanks.221

Combat Command A, 11th Armored Division then sent forward Task Force Blue (essentially most of the 42nd Tank Battalion) on the western flank in an effort to circumvent the German positions at Remagne. Through this move—made in coordination with the 345th Infantry Regiment of the 87th Infantry Division—the advanced German battle groups in the villages of Remagne and, a mile farther to the north-west, Moircy, were sealed off from Panzer Lehr’s main force. But the German Panzer division quickly rallied to a counter-attack. When Task Force Blue approached the crossroads at Pironpré, two thousand yards northeast of Moircy, the two leading Sherman tanks in the column were hit and set ablaze. Then it was as if ’all hell broke loose,’ as the commander of the 42nd Tank Battalion, Lieutenant Colonel Ahee, put it.222 An intense German fire, with ’everything from small arms to rockets,’ forced the Americans to withdraw and revert to the defensive.223

In the evening of 30 December, both sides could establish that the opponent’s attacks had thwarted their own offensive plans. Even German 3. Panzergrenadier-Division was soon halted before it had reached its first goal, Villeroux, two miles southwest of Bastogne.224 However, the ’moral victory’ belonged to the Germans, who had withstood an overwhelming American numerical superiority.
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From Morhet, just southwest of Lavaselle, an American M7 is shelling the Führer Begleit Brigade’s positions with its 105mm howitzer. (NARA, 111-SC-199014)





It was particularly humiliating to U.S. 11th Armored Division ’Thunderbolt.’ Its baptism of fire had ended in bloody losses and bitter tactical setbacks all along the line. In order to achieve a breakthrough, Combat Command A was regrouped from the westernmost flank— where the positions were taken over by Combat Command Reserve—to the battlefield at Chenogne, where Combat Command B had been repulsed by the Führer Begleit Brigade.225

The weather on New Year’s Eve was slightly better than on the previous day, and this was exploited by the aviation on both sides. Although German II. Jagdkorps was preparing for a major operation on the next day (more about this in the next chapter), it carried out 196 combat sorties on the last day of the year.226 Schlachtgeschwader 4 took off with twenty-two Focke Wulf 190 ground-attack aircraft at a quarter to eight in the morning, and twelve of these attacked Liège while seven others attacked various targets in the Liège area. One other aircraft aborted its mission and two others were lost.227 At around nine in the morning, Schlachtgeschwader 4 and various Luftwaffe fighter units were back over the frontlines, this time to support the ground troops at Bastogne.228 This, however, was less successful. Jagdgeschwader 4 alone lost seventeen Bf 109s and Fw 190s in combat with American fighters or in accidents.229 Among the unit’s killed pilots was Oberleutnant Hans Schleef, a veteran who had been in first-line service since the fall of 1940, and who had performed more than five hundred combat missions during which he was listed for ninety-nine air victories.

The German jet units were successful as usual. Ten Arado 234s from the III. Gruppe/ Kampfgeschwader 76 dropped one 500-kg bomb each over Bastogne and escaped the interception attempts by Mustang fighters from U.S. 352nd Fighter Group. The railway stations at Liège, Hasselt, and Neufchâteau were bombed by thirty Me 262s from Kampfgeschwader 51. These air raids were supplèmented with the usual ’hailstorm’ of V 1s, and on New Year’s Eve, twenty-one V 2s also were fired against different targets.

But of course, the Luftwaffe’s efforts were not much in comparison to the array of Allied aircraft that went into action when the weather cleared early on this 31 December. During the wee hours, the railway station Kalk-Nord in Cologne was bombed by 456 British bombers, while ninety-seven others dropped 530 tons of bombs on the small Belgian town of Houffalize—which by then still was burning following an attack by medium bombers from U.S. 9th Air Force on the day before. The sun had barely risen on 31 December, when 1,327 U.S. heavy bombers and 785 escort fighter took off from their bases in England to attack oil installations, various rail targets and bridges in western and northern Germany. Additionally, the 9th Air Force despatched 703 fighter-bombers.

The air strikes ordered by U.S. XIX Tactical Air Command were meant to pave the way for the 11th Armored Division when this on the morning of 31 December despatched Combat Command A against Lavaselle, slightly to the southwest of Chenogne. Major Carl Sheely in the division’s 63rd Armored Infantry Battalion reported that his troops were able to enter Lavaselle following ’an air strike of nine P-47s and massed artillery that reduced whatever German resistance was in Lavaselle and the 63rd Armored Infantry Battalion moved into the town.’230 But the Americans soon were hit by a series of counter-attacks from the Führer Begleit Brigade, which halted their further advance. The 11th Armoured Division’s chronicle states, ’On 31 December, the Germans counter-attacked with tanks, infantry, self-propelled guns and heavy artillery support. The battalion [42nd Tank Battalion 11th Armored Division] hung on and pushed the enemy back with help from air support, artillery and every other available weapon. The battalion [42nd Tank Battalion, 11th Armored Division] lost several tanks, but knocked out several German combat vehicles.’231

Meanwhile, 11th Armored Division’s Combat Command B assembled for a new effort to capture Chenogne. By that time, German 3.Panzergrenadier-Division had taken over the defense of this village, where twelve to fifteen Panzer IV/70 tank destroyers had been deployed.232 The American attack was preceded by an air strike by Thunderbolts from the 362nd Fighter Group, but the weather soon deteriorated again, and after just a few hours the ground fog caused all flight operations in the area to cease.
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These men from U.S. 26th Infantry Division suddenly find themselves subject to a burst of German mortar shells. (NARA SC 199093)







The first American ground assault, performed by the 21st Armored Infantry Battalion, was repulsed by a murderous German fire from within Chenogne. Staff Sergeant John Fague found himself lying flat on a snow-covered field, surrounded by nothing but dead and wounded comrades. He rèmembers, ’Sergeant Carl E. Petersen from Oregon and William Kidney from Toledo, Ohio were dead. Bill Bassert and Charles Höcker from Philadelphia were badly wounded. Johnny Kale, who was lying near me, began to whine in pain. He yelled to me he was hit’ Despite his exposed location-only a few dozen yards ahead a German machine gun opened fire against the slightest movèment out there in no man’s land-Fague managed to give his wounded comrade first aid. But the question he could ask himself was how long it would be before he also would lay there, bleeding from several wounds.

’Every time I hear that machine gun rip off a burst I tried to draw my buttocks more into the hole or pull in a leg,’ Fague said. ’At this time I experienced the loneliest and most desolate feeling I had ever gone through. I looked back and could see none of the rest of the platoon behind me. The few boys on my right had either been killed or were lying face down very still. On my left and in front there was nothing but Krauts. A few yards to my right lay a dead German. He must have been killed the day before, as he was frozen stiff’.’233

But soon the Americans launched the entire 22nd Tank Battalion in the attack. The Germans were pushed back towards Chenogne, and the Americans ended up in a fierce battle in among the houses in the village. ’The Germans fought hard and cleverly,’ noted Berry Craig in the 11th Armored Division’s Chronicle. ’They hid tanks under haystacks. American casualties mounted. The 22nd Tank Battalion lost two Shermans as they entered Chenogne. The enemy destroyed two more Shermans and a light Stuart tank in the town’234

Generalmajor Walter Denkert, the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division’s commander, describes the situation as viewed from the German perspective, ’If we succeeded in repelling all the attacks, this was due to a large extent to the Mark IV tank destroyers. They were not caught by the artillery barrage laid down by the enemy and were able to fight the tanks at long range. It is a well-known fact that the sight of their own tanks burning has a paralysing effect on attacking forces and therefore the main reason for the failure of attacks also in this case may be seen in the high number of tanks put out of action. I no longer rèmember the exact figures, but I do rèmember that reports of knocked out enemy tanks continously arrived at the command post of the 29 Pz Gren Regt north of the Bois des Valets, where the advanced command post of the Division had transferred to’235

On the evening of New Year’s Eve, the Americans had barely gained a foothold in the outskirts of Chenogne. There they were ordered to dig foxholes. Staff Sergeant Fague and a friend of his had barely got their foxhole completed when the Germans launched a terrible artillery fire. ’Robert Fordyce was killed in his hole behind us,’ Fague said. ’His hole wasn’t deep enough to protect him properly. While the barrage was going on, James O. Cust and I sat in our hole looking at each other. We were two frightened, cold, exhausted boys. Every time a shell hit, we closed our eyes and flinched. Shells crashed around our hole and threw dirt on us. How long would this shelling last I wondered. Would the next shell hit us?’236
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A German soldier with a field telephone during the Ardennes Battle. (BArch, Bild 146-1974-097-40)





During two days of attacks, the 11th Armored Division ’Thunderbolt’ had, in spite of terrible losses, not achieved anything more than to take command of a few square miles of snow-covered fields and a few farms in the area south and west of Chenogne, plus a couple of houses in the outskirts of the hotly contested village. The goal—to smash up the German lines west of Bastogne and in cooperation with the 87th Infantry Division advance on to Houffalize and Sankt Vith, thereby turning the entire Ardennes Battle into an American strategic victory—had ignominiously failed.

A furious Patton reproached the divisional commander, Brigadier General Kilburn, for an ’uninspired direction of the division.’237 But the 11th Armored Division had fought hard. This is evident not least from the division’s own losses on 30-31 December—three hundred and forty men had been killed, wounded or missing. Captain Kenneth W. Moeller from the 11th Armored Division’s headquarters noted, ’In two days we had lost 30% of our tanks and 20% of our personnel—that was more than we lost all the rest of our time in combat in Europe.’ To a large extent, the 11th Armored Division’s failure and high losses were because this inexperienced division had been thrown headlong into an offensive in an area that it had no time to get acquainted with, against some of the 5. Panzerarmee’s most experienced units. But if the American shortcomings on December 30 and 31 showed anything, it was that the Americans had great difficulties on the ground whenever air support lacked.

Not even the battle-hardened 6th Armored Division, which was deployed in Bastogne on New Year’s Eve, was able to break through when this division on New Year’s Eve was launched against the badly mauled German Grenadier-Regiment 78 east of Bastogne. The men of the 6th Armored Division proudly called themselves the ’Super Sixth,’ and along with the 4th Armored, this was one of the best armored divisions in the U.S. Army. The unit commander, Major General Robert Walker Grow, saw his career end in disgrace a few years after the war, when he as the former military attaché in Moscow was court-martialed on charges of negligence because parts of his diary had ended up in Soviet hands.238 However, Grow deserves to be mentioned alongside ’Tiger Jack’ Wood, Creighton Abrams, and other prominent American armored officers during World War II. Like the ’Desert Fox’ Rommel on the German side, Grow spent as little time as possible in his headquarters, but rather was with his troops in the front line, where he formed an opinion about the situation on the battlefield.

When Combat Command A on 30 December 1944 arrived at Bastogne as the lead elèment of the 6th Armored Division, Grow and his men could look back on a highly successful campaign. Having landed in Normandy in July 1944, they completed a stunning sweep through Brittany and fought inside the German border at Saarbrücken before at Christmas time they were ordered up to the Ardennes Front. Patton’s intention was to use the ’Super Sixth’ as the spearhead of the Third Army’s continued offensive past Bastogne to seal off German 5. Panzerarmee. The first task of the ’Super Sixth’ was to crush the rather weakly held German front east of Bastogne, thereby opening the way to Sankt Vith in the north. The men of the 6th Armored knew nothing of what awaited them as they marched through Bastogne’s icy streets.

Combat Command A, mainly composed of the 69th Tank Battalion and the 44th Armored Infantry Battalion, attacked already at noon on 31 December.239 The German positions were overwhelmed with a massive fire from the artillery that the 6th Armored Division was so richly equipped with. Apart from the division’s own three artillery battalions, the attack received the support from four battalions of the 193rd Field Artillery Group, which also arrived at Bastogne on New Year’s Eve, plus artillery from the 101st Airborne Division. Hugh M. Cole noted laconically that ’the role of the artillery would be of prime importance in all the fighting done by the 6th Armored in what now had come to be called ”the Bastogne pocket.”’240
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An American soldier inspects the holes made by German armor-piercing projectiles in a Sherman tank of the 11th Armored Division on New Year’s Eve 1944. (NARA SC 199244)







Neffe—located on the main road just a thousand yards from Bastogne’s eastern entrance—had hitherto been the most advanced German position at Bastogne. The village had been seized by Panzer Lehr on 18 December, and since then this position had been held by the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 78. Now the 6th Armored Division’s Combat Command A drove the Germans away from the twenty or so houses that constituted this small village. But largely due to the lack of air support, the Americans were unable to get much further. They could take the forested slopes of the ridge to the east of Neffe, but then intense German gunfire brought them to a halt. ’Snow squalls clouded the landscape,’ wrote Cole, ’and the fighter-bombers sent to blast targets in front of CCA could not get through the overcast, and the armored infantry made little progress.’241,

Three miles farther to the south, rugged battles were raging throughout New Year’s Eve, as U.S. 35th Infantry Division and Combat Command A, 4th Armored Division in vain tried to recapture the two villages Lutrebois and Villers-la-Bonne-Eau. The Germans themselves refrained from trying to resume their own attack in this area, probably, according to the III Corps’ after action report, because of ’the volume and accuracy of artillery fire which had been placed on his assembly areas during the night and morning.’242 Throughout the night and the morning of 31 December, this artillery bombarded Lutrebois with repeated series of Time on Target salvoes (TOT). Time on Target meant that the artillery calculated the time to the impact of each fired shell, and in regard to this, the different artillery pieces opened fire at different times so that all the grenades would hit the target simultaneously. This substantially increased the artillery’s lethal effect, because it gave the opponent no time to take cover.

But when U.S. 35th Infantry Division on the next morning attacked Lutrebois with its 134th Infantry Regiment, supported by the 35th Tank Battalion, the Americans were met with such an intense fire from machine guns, mortars, and anti-tank guns that they immediately returned to their jump-off positions. Simultaneously, the attack carried out by the 137th Infantry Regiment against Villers-la-Bonne-Eau was stymied by German Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14. Two days of fighting over these two small villages cost both sides grim losses. The 1. SS- Panzer-Division reported near four hundred casualties on 30-31 December, and the already battered 5. Fallschirmjager-Division sustained just as high losses.243 On the American side, the 35th Infantry Division meanwhile lost five hundred and eighty men in killed, wounded or missing—of which the main part, around three hundred men, had been captured by the Germans.244The losses were on the whole very high for U.S. III Corps, which on the last day of the year reported its losses after ten days of offensive as 3,330 men killed, wounded and missing, of which however only 303 had been killed.245 This also applied to material losses. Despite replacèments, the tank strength of the 735th Tank Battalion, supporting the 26th Infantry Division, deeclined from 56 Shermans on 24 December 1944 to 37 on 2 January 1945.246

In spite of a considerable numerical superiority, particularly in armor and artillery, the Third Army’s major offensive northwards had been halted all along the line as the new year 1945 began. Even though von Manteuffel’s own offensive also had failed utterly, the defensive victory attained by halting Patton was of the same magnitude to the German side as the halting of the German offensive in front of the Meuse had been to the Allies. In particular, the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division had performed considerably well. Having wiped out all American resistance south of Bastogne during the offensive’s first week, the paratroopers had managed to delay U.S. 4th Armored Division in a way that could hardly have been expected in view of the uneven relations of forces. At the price of appalling losses of their own, the paratroopers thus bought Model precious time, which he could use to regroup his armor and panzer grenadier units. These then managed to completely halt Patton’s offensive. This in turn allowed the Germans to achieve a new turnabout in the Ardennes Battle—a turnabout that neither was expected by the Allies, nor is especially well documented in post-war literature, a turnabout that would cause the usually tough Patton to distressedly write in his diary, ’We can still lose this war.’
CONCLUSIONS AND RESULTS: 16-31 DECEMBER 1944

Thus, 1944 ended in a way that neither side had anticipated two weeks earlier. As far as the Allied are concerned, the German Ardennes Offensive and its great initial success had come as a huge shock. Despite cocky statèments by some commanders, confusion reigned from the top to the bottom on the Allied side. This found its expression among soldiers at the front in the shape of mass surrenders and panic, and in the higher military echelons not least in the shape of an intensified conflict between the U.S. and British commanders.

The American forces had sustained very high losses, particularly in captured soldiers and in tanks. As we saw previously, the U.S. Army’s own loss statistics are often shrouded in mystery, sometimes with obvious understatèments. There simply are no really reliable statistics on the number of U.S. soldiers who were captured during the Ardennes Battle’s first two weeks. The Germans, on the other hand—who of course more easily could count the number of captured American soldiers—gave clear figures. According to German data, 24,000 American soldiers were captured in the Ardennes through the end of 1944.247

It is even more difficult to obtain fully reliable figures for U.S. tank losses in the Ardennes Battle through the end of 1944. According to statistics produced by the highly esteèmed American military historian Richard C. Anderson Jr., Patton’s Third Army lost 132 Shermans with 75mm or 76mm guns between 17 December 1944 and 1 January 1945.248 For the First Army, losses are reported as 398 Shermans in December 1944.249 In total, therefore, the two U.S. armies should have lost 530 Sherman tanks. But due to an unfortunate culling in American military archives, several conspicuous gaps remain. Thus, for example, the 10th Armored Division’s losses in December 1944 are given as seven Shermans, but Team Cherry from Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division alone lost about twenty Shermans in the Battle of Longvilly; thereto must be added the losses inflicted on Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division in Bastogne after the Battle at Longvilly, and those of the 10th Armored Division ‘s Combat commands A and R. Another example is the 9th Armored Division’s losses, which officially are recorded as forty-five Shermans in December 1944, but this is the number that only one of the division’s armored battalions, the 2nd Tank Battalion of Combat Command Reserve, lost during the tank battles on 17 and 18 December.250 In addition to that, the 19th Tank Battalion of the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command A lost around thirty Shermans between 27 and 29 December alone.251 Moreover, the 14th Tank Battalion of the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command B lost at least thirteen Shermans between 17 and 24 December alone.252 In spite of a well-functioning supply of replacèments for losses on the American side, the 9th Armored Division’s tank strength dropped by eighty tanks between 16 December 1944 and 2 January 1945—from 176 to 96.253

Since the Sherman losses in the 9th and 10th Armored divisions were at least fifty tanks more than the official figures, it is reasonable to assume that the total U.S. Sherman losses in the Ardennes Battle until the end of 1944 is rather at least 600. If the losses of an estimated 200 light tanks, mainly M5 Stuarts, and 100 tank destroyers are added, the Americans probably lost at least about nine hundred tanks and tank destroyers. In addition to these, about 400 M8 and M20 armored cars also were lost.* This indicates that the German figures on U.S. armor losses in the Ardennes Battle actually could be quite accurate. According to those figures, a total of 1,230 American ’tanks and armored vehicles’ and over 400 artillery pieces were destroyed or captured in the Ardennes until the shift of the year 1944/1945.254
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The U.S. tank losses in the Ardennes Battle were the highest ever inflicted on the U.S. Army. The exact figure has never been clarified, but it may be 900 tanks and tank destroyers between 16 and 31 December 1944 alone. (The Paul Warp Collection)





TANK LOSSES IN HEERESGRUPPE B, 16-31 DECEMBER 1944
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Note that the totals do not quite match with the official German loss figures for Heeresgruppe B during this period, 77 Panzer IVs, 132, Panthers, and 13 Tigers, a total of 222. This may possibly be explained by a certain delay in unit reports to the Army Group Headquarters.

* Estimate.

Main source: Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 — February 1945 — Ardennes and Nordwind — Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I. Also Jentz, Germany’s Panther Tank: The Quest for Combat Supremacy. Regarding 116. Panzer-Division: Bundesarchiv-Militararchiv RH 24/58, Kriegstagebuch LVIII. Panzer-Korps, Meldung 116. Pz.Div., Abt. Ia, Nr. 1101/44 g.Kdos. vom 29.12. 1944.


NEW CONFLICTS IN THE ALLIED COMMAND

In regard to the American numerical superiority and air power, the results achieved by Bradley and Patton after one week of offensive by U.S. Third Army must be regarded as no more than moderate. The relatively sparsely manned German positions south of Bastogne had been swept aside, but that was all. The aim of the attack plan, to cut off the 5. Panzerarmee in the Ardennes, had not been accomplished.

Under the impression of this situation, British Field Marshal Montgomery sent the suprème commander Eisenhower a letter on 29 December, warning him that the Allies risked ‘fail again.’1 Montgomery now made a new attempt to convince Eisenhower to appoint a suprème commander of all Allied ground forces on the Western Front. He argued that it was not sufficient that the two Allied army groups—Bradley’s 12th and his own 21 Army Group—merely collaborated, but that they also had to be brought under a unified command. At the same time, he repeated what he previously had stated, that this was a task that Eisenhower could not attend at the same time as he served as the suprème commander of all forces in Western Europe. Montgomery had pointed out to Eisenhower that ‘direct operational command of land armies in war involved close touch with subordinate commanders and therefore was a whole-time job,’ and in unvarnished terms said that this was not carried out at all.2 Now he suggested, without trying to hide his intentions, that he himself would be appointed to that position. Montgomery was so anxious that he even suggested Eisenhower how he would express himself when he announced this decision:

’From now onwards full operational direction, control, and co-ordination of these operations are vested in the C-in-C 21 Army Group, subject to such instructions as may be issued by the Suprème Commander from time to time.’3

In view of the fact Montgomery was well aware of how sensitive this issue was for American generals as well as U.S. domestic opinion, it seems pretty clear that the field marshal really felt a quite great concern about Bradley’s and Patton’s relative shortcomings.

However, on the same day as Montgomery sent his letter to Eisenhower, the same demands in a most unfortunate manner appeared in the British press. On 29 December, retired British lieutenant general sir Douglas Brownrigg wrote in the London newspaper the Evening that it was absolutely necessary to appoint a unified suprème commander of all ground forces in northwestern Europe as soon as possible, and that Eisenhower needed to be free to deal with the duties concerning politics and the military rule in the liberated countries. Brownrigg even bluntly urged Eisenhower to choose his ’most prominent commander’ for such a position, and did not fail to point out that ’Montgomery has been successful in every operation which he has been involved in.’

It was like poking a stick in a hornet’s nest. The Americans, who already were upset by the stinging defeat they had been inflicted by Model and von Manteuffel, responded with the fury of the humiliated. Sir Brownrigg’s article was the culmination of a more or less implicit criticism of Eisenhower’s leadership that had been voiced by the British press since the beginning of the German Ardennes Offensive. Many—including Bradley and Patton—suspected that Montgomery himself, directly or indirectly, was behind these media articles. However, it should be noted that Montgomery a few days into January 1945 sharply had turned against this media criticism of Eisenhower. However, the fact remains that Lieutenant General Brownrigg wrote his article immediately after a meeting with Montgomery.

Montgomery’s assessment that U.S. Third Army’s difficulties would make Eisenhower more open to the idea of a unified suprème command of all ground forces proved to be totally unfounded. On the contrary, Eisenhower reacted with an unusual vehèmence and wrote a letter to the Combined Chiefs of Staff (CCS)—the highest Allied military command—where he asked them to choose between him and Montgomery. Eisenhower knew that he had nothing to fear; he just had received a telegram from the American Chief of Staff of the Army, General George Marshall, who, owing to the critical articles in the British press informed Eisenhower that he enjoyed the full confidence of President Roosevelt, and that ’the appointment of a British officer to hold operational command or control over Bradley would be entirely unacceptable in America.’4

What seèmed to be shaping up into a really severe command crisis for the Allies, was averted only by the intervention of Montgomery’s chief of staff, Major General Francis de Guingand. He was informed by phone by Eisenhower’s chief of staff, Lieutenant General Walter Bedell Smith, about how upset Eisenhower was, and immediately flew to Eisenhower’s headquarters. There de Guingand managed to persuade the suprème commander to wait another day to send his letter to the CCS, and then flew to Montgomery to inform him of the reaction his letter had caused.

Montgomery realized the grave situation and hurried to write a letter that Eisenhower received next day, New

Year’s Eve:

’Dear Ike, I have seen Freddy and I understand you are greatly worried by many considerations in these very difficult days. […] Very distressed that my letter may have upset you and I would ask you to tear it up. Your very devoted subordinate Monty.’5

To Montgomery’s great relief, the reply came on New Year’s Day:

’Dear Monty, I received your very fine telegram this morning. I truly appreciate the understanding attitude it indicates. With the earnest hope that the year 1945 will be the most successful for you of your entire career, as ever Ike.’

The command crisis was averted—temporarily…

1 Montgomery, Th e Memoirs of Field-Marshal the Viscount Montgomery of Alamein, K.G, p. 319.

2 Ibid., p. 316.

3 Ibid., p. 318.

4 Ibid., p. 319.

5 Ibid.



On the German side, 222 tank losses were recorded in the Ardennes from 16 to 31 December: 77 Panzer IVs, 132 Panthers, and 13 Tigers, plus 102 assault guns and tank destroyers.255

Neither to the Germans did the year end as had been expected fourteen days before. Despite initial large and exhilarating successes, the great offensive onto which such high hopes had been pinned, had stalled. The combination of Allied counter-moves on the ground and an Allied air power that prevented or in a decisive manner delayed both the supply of maintenance and replacèments, and of major German redeployments, caused the advance to stall. What had been a triumphant march towards the Meuse and Antwerp—where the most optimistic Germans had believed that they would have been able to celebrate the New Year—had turned into a bloody war of attrition at Bastogne. The German personnel losses reached appalling levels. Until the end of the year, more than 44 000 men had been killed, wounded or written off as missing.256

The armored divisions—the trump card of the German offensive—had been precariously worn down, much because of the difficulties in getting spare parts and replacèments. Hence, on the last day of the year, Panzer Lehr reported that it still had a strength of 23 Panthers and 27 Panzer IVs—the initial strength when the offensive began was 29 Panthers (26 serviceable) and 34 Panzer IVs (30 serviceable). Thus, the decline in the number of tanks was not particularly high, but the number of serviceable tanks on the last day of the year was just five Panthers and seven Panzer IVs.257 Ahead of the Offensive, the 116. Panzer-Division reported a strength of 90 tanks and tank destroyers. Of these, 47 were lost (30 Panthers, 11 Panzer IVs, and 6 tank destroyers), but of the remaining 49, only 17 (12 tanks and 5 Panzerjäger) were operational on 29 December.258 The 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ had lost no more than 11 of its original 58 Panthers and a single of its 34 Panzer IVs by the end of the year, but of the remaining tanks, only 12 Panthers and 16 Panzer IVs were in serviceable condition on the last day of the year.259 The 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ meanwhile mustered a full seven operational Panthers (out of 23 at hand), and 13 Panzer IVs (out of 29).260

On the American side, the situation in terms of replacèments for losses was completely different. For example, U.S. 7th Armored Division lost 110 tanks (78 Shermans and 32 Stuarts) in December 1944.261 And still this did not reduce the division’s tank strength more than from 256 (174 Shermans and 82 Stuarts) on 16 December 1944 to 203 (150 Shermans and 53 Stuarts) on 5 January 1945.262

However, that the German commanders would have regarded the Ardennes Offensive as a failure already by this time—at the shift of the year—must be dismissed as largely a reconstruction after the war. The German military command’s view of the situation is evidenced by Percy E. Schramm’s abstract of a conference in the OKW headquarters in early January 1945:

At the beginning of the new year, the senior military command drew a balance sheet. Was the offensive, as it had developed, to be regarded as a failure or a success? The interim goal to cross the Meuse had not been achieved, nor the ultimate goal, the conquest of Antwerp. Both of these goals had been set due to our intent to regain the initiative, which we had lost on 6 June 1944, and in order to neutralize the threat of a hostile advance to the Rhine which had existed both from the Aachen area and from the upper Rhine. […] At the beginning of the offensive several serious threats had existed: first, that the enemy would advance past Düren to Cologne, secondly, that he would cross the Rhine in the section that was held by Heeresgruppe Oberrhein in order to force back our units to the Black Forest, and thirdly, that he would advance to the Saarpfalz and threaten the Rhine Palatinate. If our offensive was considered from this perspective, it was not only to be regarded as a success, but at that time as a quite great success. The opponent’s previous intentions had been thwarted, and the threats that existed at Düren, the Saar and the Upper Rhine had all been elminated. Based on the information available, we could see that the enemy had employed practically all of his available units in the West, and that several of these could be regarded as battleunworthy for the foreseeable future. Particularly revealing of the enemy’s situation was the fact that he deployed airborne troops in ground combat, as this irregular use of these very valuable divisions indicated that no other units were available. Furthermore, it was a great relief to us that the threat of airborne operations, as the Battle of Arnhem had demonstrated so clearly, was eliminated in the near future. In so far as it applied to regain the initiative, the Ardennes Offensive’s objectives were considered as reached.263

But out on the cold and windswept front, it was a gloomy New Year’s Eve. The soldiers on both sides shivered in their foxholes while an increasing snowfall covered the fallen men that lay out there in the dark. One of the American soldiers in the perimeter around Bastogne, Sergeant Layton Black from the 502nd Parachute Infantry Regiment of the 101st Airborne Division, rèmembers that night:

‘Sleep would have come if it had not been for the sound of a wounded German soldier’s moan. Out in front of us, so very close, he was to die slowly. Yet, in so doing, he surely saved my men’s lives. He was the only proof we had that the Germans had been out there on this night, for we were yet to see them.’264

On the other side of the perimeter, Staff Sergeant John Fague—from Company ’B’, 21st Armored Infantry Battalion—experienced a harsh New Year’s Eve on the outskirts of the heavily disputed village Chenogne:

’Midnight, New Year’s Eve 1944-45. I was in a foxhole, cold, shivering, miserable, wondering if I would live to see the New Year in. Hell I was going to try. I had my rifle lying on a pile of dirt in front of me and three hand grenades there, just for good measure.’265

On the westernmost front, near Marche, German artillery officer Leutnant Ernst Schwörer of the 116. Panzer-Division wrote in his diary on the last day of 1944: ‘Our efforts have stalled everywhere. In our division we are short on tanks and particularly ammunition. The infantry has been mown down again. The enemy offers stiff resistance … What has become of our great plans? Have they given up on all of them? Or can we simply stand no more? … We no longer see our own air force. In clear weather, all lines toward the rear are cut in daytime … They already have destroyed all the bridges. We can’t understand how such an attack can be launched with nothing more than us, a few attack divisions, available. We no longer have any access to aerial reconnaissance. We rush ahead and then, when we can’t go any further, backwards again … We celebrate the New Year in a very somber mood. Soon, everything will be over.’266

Leutnant Schwörer and everyone else on the German side had every reason to worriedly gaze towards the sky. Between 23 and 31 December, U.S. 9th Air Force and the two fighter groups temporarily assigned from the 8th Air Force, carried out no fewer than 10,305 combat sorties, reporting the destruction of 2,323 German motor vehicles, 207 armored vehicles of all types, 173 artillery positions, and 620 train cars, 45 locomotives, 333 buildings, and seven bridges.267On the last day of the year, 703 combat flights were carried out. In the southern front section, the units subordinate to the XIX Tactical Air Command were reported to have knocked out more than 500 German motor vehicles and 23 armored vehicles.

Late on the evening of New Year’s Eve, German armaments minister Albert Speer was on the road in a car from a tour of inspection in the Ardennes. He felt quite dejected. He had seen a total Allied air superiority and widespread havoc on all roads. Several times he and his travel companion, liaison officer Manfred von Poser, had been close to getting hit by gunfire from the ever èmerging Jabos. Speer now drove towards Hitler’s ’Eagles Nest,’ the temporary headquarters on the Western Front, where he would report back to the Führer.

The armaments minister was amazed to find Hitler in a state of elation.268

’We will soon be up from this valley,’ proclaimed Hitler. ’In the end we will be victorious!’

Albert Speer could only shake his head. He knew nothing of the two big ’New Year surprises’ that Hitler had in store for the Allies.
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This Sherman was turned over by a Nebelwerfer rocket in the town of Diekirch. (National Museum of Military History, Diekirch)





* This division had been ordered to regroup to the section that was held by the 2. SS-Panzer-Division southwest of Manhay. A few days later the advance units of the 12. SS-Panzer-Division barely had been deployed in the battle in this area when the division was ordered to regroup to the Bastogne sector.

* That the Allied Supreme Commander was not quite so optimistic is evident by the message that he had his deputy chief of staff, Major General Barker, convey to the War Department in Washington on the following day: ’Unless we are supported more strongly, we might lose the war!’ (Crosswell, Beetle: the Life of General Walter Bedell Smith, p. 840.)

* Janssen, who had served as a Stuka and ground-attack pilot since 1937, and had completed more than four hundred combat missions on the Western and Eastern fronts, was demoted to become a simple airport commander at the Cottbus air base.

* Eventually, however, the units of the 10th Armored Division would remain with the XII Corps.

** The first verse line of a well-known church hymn by the English Bishop Thomas Ken.

* See map

* The Führer Begleit Brigade hade thirty serviceable Panzer IVs and twenty-four StuG IIIs, Panzer Lehr five Panthers and seven serviceable Panzer IVs (out of thirty disposable Panthers and twenty-seven Panzer IVs) and four Jagdpanzer IVs, and the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division ten serviceable Jagdpanzer IVs and twelve StuG IIIs. (Dugdale, Panzer Division, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4B, pp. 50 and 100, and Volume I, Part 4A, p. 9.)

* Tiger tanks, which Fague mentions, were not present at this place, but it was quite common for the Allies to misidentify Panzer IVs as Tiger Is, which were quite similar in appearance from the front.

* According to the loss statistics compiled by the American historian Richard C. Anderson, Jr., U.S. Army losses on the Western Front amounted to 17 M8s and 3 M20s during the period of 20 October to 20 November 1944, 87 M8s and 277 M20s during the period of 20 November to 20 December 1944, and 200 M8s and 18 M20s during the period of 20 December 1944 to 20 January 1945. Since the losses in M8 armored cars were unusually high during the American retreat between 16 and 23 December 1944, and it can be assumed that some of the M8 loss reports during this period lagged behind and were recorded during the following period. The same may apply to losses in light tanks, which, according to the same source, amounted to 83 in the period of 20 October to 20 November 1944, and 134 between 20 November and 20 December 1944, and 208 during the period of 20 December 1944 to 20 January 1945. As far as tank destroyers (M10, M18, and M36) are concerned, the American losses on the Western Front are recorded at 57 during the period of 20 October to 20 November 1944, and 127 between 20 November and 20 December 1944, and 122 during the period of 20 December 1944 to 20 January 1945. That most of these losses were caused in the Ardennes, is evidenced by the fact that the U.S. Ninth Army, again according to Anderson, lost exactly four Shermans and two M5 Stuarts through the entire period 13 December 1944 to 19 January 1945.






CHAPTER 9

NEW YEAR’S DAY 1945: NEW BLOWS AGAINST THE ALLIES

”Our task was: ”Clear Eindhoven’s airfield.”This would be the Luftwaffe’s last major victory, and by destroying 116 aircraft at Eindhoven’s airfield, Jagdgeschwader 3 contributed greatly.”

Major Karl-Heinz Langer, commander of the III. Gruppe of Luftwaffe Jagdgeschwader 3 on 1 Januari 1945.1

OPERATION ’BODENPLATTE’

New Year’s Day 1 January 1945 dawned with a brilliant sunshine on the snowy landscape. At the airbase Frescaty near the French city of Metz was Technical Sergeant Marion Hill from the 365th Fighter Group ’Hell Hawks’ of U.S. 9th Air Force. He explains:

’The weather on New Year’s Day was clear and cold. Everyone was looking forward to a full day of successful missions. […] Usually just after briefings were finished, the next hour or so was light in duties and we would take the opportunity to relax. […] I happened to look up at the ring of hills about 500 feet high that surrounded Metz and our base in the form of a U. At the same time we heard ack-ack firing in Metz and then saw flashes from the wings of a large number of planes. Everyone at about the same time yelled ’Messerschmitts!’ and dived for any cover that could be found. […] I and one other fellow dived for a foundation wall of burned-out barracks. The barrier protected us in one direction only, but was better than nothing. As we were lying there, the first pass of the Germans was right overhead: they missed us. Then I looked toward the east of the field where the German planes were flying back and forth, parallel to the way we were lying. They worked their way across the field, firing all the time until they were overhead.’2

Almost exactly at the same time, Joe Roddis, one of the ground crew in No. 485 Squadron, RAF, was on his way to one of the hangars at the airbase Maldegem in northwestern Belgium. He explains:

’As we came around the corner of the hanger the sound of aircraft engines in flight made us look across the airfield in the direction of the control tower. Three or four planes, slightly banked, were coming around the tower heading for our dispersal in a shallow dive at a height of about 30 metres. I distinctly rèmember saying to Bill Parker: “The Yanks are out early this morning.” They looked like Mustangs and before he could reply, the leading edges of the incoming planes started to flash and sparkle and all hell broke loose.

The visitors were doing a very thorough job in reducing our Spitfires to ashes. They took turns to dive onto our parked aircraft and after each run across a Spitfire burst into flames, exploded and sagged in the middle. They were so clinical and accurate in what they were doing. […] When eventually the 109s had either run out of ammunition or were getting low on fuel, they departed as quickly as they had arrived. Apart from two parked in the hangar, only three aircraft survived to fly again.’3

This was Operation ’Bodenplatte’—the Luftwaffe’s last major offensive effort on the Western Front—which had struck the Allied tactical air forces at full strength.

When the C-in-C of the Luftwaffe, Reichsmarschall Hermann Göring on 14 November 1944 submitted his operational orders to the German Air Force for its participation in the Ardennes Offensive, ’a single, concentrated stroke against all Allied airfields in the front area’s proximity in order to neutralize the tactical aviation’ was at the top of the priority list.4 The detailed plan for this massive airbase attack—one of the largest in World War II—was made by the commander of the II. Jagdkorps, Generalmajor Dietrich Peltz, in consultation with Generalfeldmarschall Model.5

Peltz was one of the German Air Force’s foremost experts on tactical air attacks. Already in 1936 he had served as a flight officer at one of the Luftwaffe’s first dive-bomber units, and conducted more than one hundred combat missions with a Junkers 87 Stuka during the campaigns in Poland and on the Western Front in 1939 and 1940. Then he was transferred to a bomber unit specialized in low-level attacks and equipped with the twin-engine dive bomber Junkers 88, and participated in the Battle of Britain and the war on the Eastern Front from 1941 to 1942. The following year Peltz was appointed to General der Kampfflieger. This was a title, not a military rank; at that time, Peltz was an Oberst, but in January 1944 he was promoted to Generalmajor. With his mere 29 years of age, he thus was the youngest general in Europe since Napoleon—which should say a good deal about his abilities.

The position as General der Kampfflieger meant that Peltz was responsible both for the German bomber aviation’s development, and that he took an active part in the planning of its operations. In this position, he often ended up in dispute with his counterpart in the German fighter aviation, Generalleutnant Adolf Galland, General der Jagdflieger. Their disagreèments mainly were about different perspectives and priorities regarding strategy and resource allocation. The controversy became acute in matters concerning the new jet plane Messerschmitt 262. Galland wanted to see it exclusively as a fighter plane, while Peltz—who in a memorandum had called for ’jet bombers for action against England as soon as possible’—in May 1944, on the orders of Hitler, took over responsibility for all matters relating to this aircraft. Galland’s two biographers Raymond F. Toliver and Trevor J. Constable wrote, ’Relations with the Bomber Arm thereafter became increasingly strained, as Peltz took steps to prepare bomber
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Generalmajor Dietrich Peltz, the commander of II. Jagdkorps in the Luftwaffe, was in charge of Operation ‘Bodenplatte,’ the air attack against Allied airfields on New Year’s morning 1945. Peltz was one of the German dive-bomber pioneers. During the Battle of Britain in 1940 and on the Eastern Front in 1941, he distinguished himself for low-level precision-attacks with a twin-engine Junkers Ju 88. Later Peltz was appointed to General der Kampfflieger, in charge of the German Bomber Aviation’s development and planning. Carrying the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves and Swords, Peltz was one of the highest awarded German soldiers of World War II. Peltz passed away in 2001, at the age of 87. (BArch, Bild 183-S73637)





Geschwader for Me 262 operations. […] The two major arms of the Luftwaffe struggled with each other.’6

The tension between the two branches of the German Air Force culminated in January 1945, when Reichsmarschall Göring relieved Galland from his position as General der Jagdflieger and soon afterwards appointed Peltz as commander of the Reich Air Defense.

The controversy between Galland and Peltz has influenced the image of Operation ’Bodenplatte’ in history writing, where Peltz often has come to be seen in a rather negative light. In short, Operation ’Bodenplatte’ can be described as ’Göring’s and Peltz’ venture,’ and the operation not only was an alternative to the big plan for which Galland planned to use his fighter reserves, the ’Big Blow’ as Galland called it, but it also negated Galland’s plan. More on this below.

However, as far as Operation ’Bodenplatte’ is concerned, there hardly was anyone better suited to plan the massive blow against Allied airfields on the Western Front than Dietrich Peltz. Lieutenant General Carl Spaatz, at that time commander of the U.S. Strategic Air Forces in Europe, characterized Peltz as the most competent commander the Germans had.7

In actual fact, ’Bodenplatte’ followed nothing but the usual pattern for large-scale military operations since the beginning of World War II: The German invasions of Poland in 1939, on the Western Front in 1940, and of the Soviet Union in 1941 all opened with extensive air base attacks. The Battle of Britain was largely, at least during its initial phase, nothing but a single air base attack operation to create the basic conditions for a planned invasion of the British Isles. Likewise, the great Soviet ground operation at Kursk in July 1943 began with a massive air operation against German airfields. In modern time, U.S. and NATO operations against Iraq in 2003 and Libya in 2011 began with large-scale air attacks against the opponent’s air bases and air defense structures. In view of the completely devastating Allied air superiority, at no other point could it have been more motivated to try to neutralize the opponent’s aviation than at the Ardennes in the winter of 1944/1945.

Having drawn up the outlines of the operation, Peltz summoned all Luftwaffe wing and group commanders on the Western Front to a planning conference on 5 December.* The meeting took place in the II. Jagdkorps’ headquarters in the picturesque Flammersfeld, a small spa town with half-timbered houses and five hundred rural residents, about forty minutes drive north from Koblenz. There met some of the Luftwaffe’s most experienced and skilled unit commanders of the entire war.** Three of the participants, the commanders of the 3. Jagd-Division and the 8. Jagd-Division, Generalmajor Walter Grabmann and Oberst Gotthardt Handrick, plus Jagdfliegerführer Mittelrhein, Oberstleutnant Hanns Trubenbach—all with experience in leading air units going back to the pre-war years—were brought into Peltz’ planning and command staff for ’Bodenplatte.’8

Although the opposite has been suggested, nothing else can be said except that Operation ’Bodenplatte’ was planned both carefully and with great skill, like much else concerning the German Ardennes Offensive. It was determined that the entire German fighter and ground-attack aviation in the West would perform a single, simultaneous strike against the Allied airfields on the Western Front. The attack was to be made at dawn, and the approach flight would be carried out at low altitude, 60 to 120 feet, to avoid detection by Allied radar. The night fighter wings were instructed to participate, each with a pair of Junkers 88s as pathfinders for each of the German attack formations. A total of seventy Ju 88s with crews particularly skilled in navigation were detailed for this purpose. These would guide the attack forces by the use of signal flares and smoke bombs, since strict radio silence was ordered during the operation.

Just as with the ground operation, the preparations for ’Bodenplatte’ were made under the strictest secrecy. For instance, the German air units remained at their regular air bases at a relatively large distance from the front lines. This made it necessary for the aircraft to use drop tanks during the approach flight, so no bombs could be used during ’Bodenplatte’. Instead, the attacks were carried out with aircraft machine guns and automatic cannons. To the advantage of the German commanders, it should be noted that the preparations for this vast operation completely overrode the Allied intelligence organization. The attack came as a complete surprise.

The only real weakness of ‘Bodenplatte’ was the inadequate training standards of the average participating airman. In order to overcome this, to some extent, they practiced low-level attacks against training airfields and aircraft dummies on the ground throughout December 1944. But the flight skills of the majority of the hastily trained young pilots left much to be desired. For that reason, it was deèmed impractical to take off early for an attack at sunrise, which otherwise would have been ideal as it could reduce the risk of encountering enemy fighters in the air. Instead the attack time was set at 0920, so that the inexperienced pilots could carry out the final and most important part of their approach flight in daylight; at this time of the year, the sun rises at 0843 in Belgium.

According to the original plan, ‘Bodenplatte’ would have been deployed on the same morning as the ground troops started their large offensive in the West. This, however, was in contrast to the plan for ’Herbstnebel,’ which—as we have seen—said that the offensive would begin once the weather outlook indicated a period of several days of bad flying weather. Fog, low clouds, rain and sleet also made it impossible to execute Operation ‘Bodenplatte’ during the first seven days of ’Herbstnebel.’ When the high pressure arrived on 23 December, which unleashed the air forces on both sides on a large scale, the weather cleared up from the east, with the Allied airfields farthest away to the west still covered in mist at dawn. Thereby, it was not possible to execute ‘Bodenplatte’ on that day either. The huge air battle on 23 December cost Germans dearly. Besides one hundred and thirty-six shot down fighter planes, at least sixty-five were damaged, and to these were added the non-combat losses. Thus, to launch Operation ‘Bodenplatte’ on the next day was out of the question.

Over the four days of clear weather that followed, the Luftwaffe could only react defensively against the Allied air strikes. This cost the II. Jagdkorps a further severe bloodletting—it lost more than five hundred aircraft in combat between 23 and 27 December. The new low pressure that settled over the area on 28 December came as a blessing to Peltz’ Air Corps. While bombed air base installations were repaired and the units were replenished with newly manufactured aircraft and newly trained pilots, preparations were made for ’Bodenplatte.’

When the forecast on 31 December 1944 for the next day suggested cloudless skies, a light southwestern breeze and a temperature of 23 degrees—quite ideal flying weather—it was decided to deploy the attack on New Year’s Day. On the afternoon of New Year’s Eve, the code words ’Varus’ and ’Teutonicus’ were submitted to the German air units. ’Varus’ meant that the operation would take place within 24 hours; ’Teutonicus’ was the signal that the German unit commanders would inform their airmen and have all aircraft readied. At half past seven in the evening came the next code message that had been determined at the conference in Flammersfeld: ’Hermann.’ This meant that the attack would be deployed next morning at 0920 hours. (This has given rise to the fairly common misconception that the operation had the codename Operation ’Hermann.’)

Despite the bloody losses that their units had sustained in the past weeks, it was not demoralized German pilots who received their orders. On the contrary, the instructions were received with some enthusiasm, suggesting a still high morale. One of the flight officers of Jagdgeschwader 1 (JG 1), Oberleutnant Fritz Wegner—after the war he would advance to become a lieutenant general in the Bundesluftwaffe—confirms that the German fighter pilots who in the morning of 1 January 1945 climbed into their aircraft were ’filled with confidence.’9

In dark first morning of the last year of the war, hundreds of Messerschmitt 109s and Focke Wulf 190s— along with Arado 234 jet bombers from III. Gruppe/ Kampfgeschwader 76 and Messerschmitt 262 jet fighter-bombers from Kampfgeschwader 51—taxied out on the runways of thirty-five airfields from Stuttgart-Echterdingen in the south to Delmenhorst, ten miles from Brèmen in the north. It has been argued that the exact number of the participating German aircraft is not known—a common estimate is between 850 and 900—but the fact is that various German messages picked up by the British Ultra decoders at Bletchley Park placed the number at exactly 622.10 In any event, it was the absolute maximum that the Luftwaffe at this time was able to deploy on the Western Front. They belonged to thirty-four fighter groups from the wings Jagdgeschwader JG 1, JG 11, JG 2, JG 3, JG 4, JG 6, JG 26, JG 27, JG 53, JG 54, and JG 77, and jet planes from III./KG 76 and KG 51. Moreover, the night fighter wings Nachtjagdgeschwader NJG 1, NJG 5, NJG 100, and NJG 101 contributed with pathfinders.

The Allies were completely caught with their pants down. Oberleutnant Emil Clade, one of the pilots of Jagdgeschwader 27, said, ’As we arrived over [the airfield at] Melsbroek everything was peaceful. The AAA batteries were not manned and around the fuel stations, bombers and fighters were standing in circles as if cows around a water hole. Without hesitation everybody dove down on this prey as they arrived over the field.’11 On this airfield alone, the Germans counted 125 Allied aicraft destroyed on the ground.12

In Jagdgeschwader 4, the II. Gruppe took off with seventeen Focke Wulf 190s at 0708 hrs, followed by the I., III., and IV. Gruppen with twenty-six, nine, and sixteen Messerschmitt 109s respectively at 0720.13 Oberleutnant Lothar Wolf from this fighter wing tells of how American pilots came calmly walking towards their parked Thunderbolt fighter-bombers at the airbase at Saint-Trond when the Germans struck. Feldwebel Werner Hohenberg from Jagdgeschwader 2, which also attacked this airfield, rèmembered how excited he was when the German aircraft dived down against their target and he could see large numbers of Thunderbolt planes lined up, ’wingtip at wingtip, as on a parade.’14 According to U.S. data, 41 aircraft were destroyed or damaged at Saint-Trond, where the 48th and 404th Fighter groups of Brigadier General Richard E. Nugent’s XXIX Tactical Air Command were stationed. The actual number may have been higher. Hohenberg said:

Firing from all our guns, we attacked the airfield, and already after our first attack so many of the Thunderbolts were burning that the thick smoke from the fires made it hard to see anything when we made our next low-level attack. But as far as I can judge, we managed to set fire to most if not all of the American aircraft at the air base at Saint-Trond. It must have been a staggering blow to the American units on that base. I felt elated when we set course for home. This feeling remained when I shortly afterwards ended up in U.S. custody after my plane had been shot down by antiaircraft fire.15

From the attack on the airfield at Maldegem, where Jagdgeschwader 1 was reported to have destroyed thirty fighters on the ground, one of the German airmen, Oberfeldwebel Fritz Haspel said, ’We flew straight towards the target and were fired at by a machine gunner who sat atop a tower. A burst of fire from a Messerschmitt silenced him. Within a few minutes all the parked aircraft stood on fire, apart from one, which probably had empty fuel tanks.’16Similar scenes took place at the air base Metz-Frescaty, where Oberfeldwebel Kurt Opitz in Jagdgeschwader 53 was one of the attacking German pilots. Opitz headed straight for forty Thunderbolts parked wingtip to wingtip, and with just the first volley he could set several of them on fire.

From the attack on Brussels-Evere, Feldwebel Heinz Gomann from Jagdgeschwader 26 rèmembered, ’Within minutes everything combustible was burning: aircraft, petrol trucks, hangars, etc.’ Afterwards Jagdgeschwader 26 could sum up the results of the attack on Evere to 104 aircraft destroyed on the ground—twenty B-17 and B-24 four-engine bombers, twenty-four twin-engine aircraft and sixty fighters.17

The situation looked the same at the air base at Eindhoven, according to one of the pilots of the attacking Jagdgeschwader 3, Feldwebel Oskar Bösch, ’In the shortest possible time the field was engulfed in flames and smoke and after some 4-5 attacks visibility was almost reduced to zero.’18 On the ground at that air base the Dutch pilot Flight Lieutenant Zinnicq Bergmann, who had volunteered to fly for the Allies, became a helpless witness to the murderous efficiency of the German attack, ’Even if they had fired with their eyes closed, they would have hit something. Next to about 300 aircraft, most of them parked in line, the airfield was filled with vehicles of every type, fuel and ammo dumps and stocks of all sorts of equipment. Fire started all over the airfield…’19

The Germans counted 116 Allied aircraft put out of commission at Eindhoven’s air base.20 The Allies’ own loss reports are, as we shall see, highly incomplete. However, of the 107 British Typhoon fighter-bombers at that base, 60 were recorded as destroyed or damaged.21 In addition to this, at least 30 Mustang and Spitfire fighter aircraft from 39 Wing were destroyed or damaged at this base, in 83 GCS eight aircraft were destroyed or damaged, and six other aircraft destroyed or damaged. Thus, in total at least 103 Allied aircraft were put out of action at Eindhoven on 1 January 1945.22

In fact, it has never been possible to establish the total number of Allied aircraft put out of action through Operation ’Bodenplatte.’ Research made on the subject has arrived at most remarkable conclusions. John Manrho and Ron Pütz, who compiled an in-depth research in a voluminous book on ’Bodenplatte,’ write, ’What were the actual losses on the Allied airfields? Several attempts have been made to calculate this, but regrettably until this day no exact numbers are known.’23 Manrho’s and Pütz’ examination of the official Allied loss figures led them to conclude that these are far too low.24 Donald Caldwell, author of several highly esteèmed works on aviation history, wrote, ’In their embarassment at having been taken completely by surprise, the Allied air commanders failed to compile a comprehensive list of their losses.’25 British air war historian Norman Franks points out in his work on ’Bodenplatte’ that some authors have ’hinted at a conspiracy to hide the true, unacceptable, total of aircraft destroyed’ on 1 January 1945.26

Thus, for instance, the official Allied figure of the number of destroyed British aircraft at Brussels-Melsbroek is 47 (with another 14 damaged).27 But according to the close examination made by John Manrho and Ron Pütz, more British aircraft than that were destroyed, and there is photographic evidence that shows that a large number of U.S. aircraft at the base also were destroyed.28 The Germans reported that they put a total of 125 aircraft at the base out of commission (including 85 totally destroyed). But survivors on the ground asserted that the losses could have been even higher. Michael Wetz, one of the pilots based at Brussels Melsbroek, said, ’Afterwards, I think I counted 150 burning aircraft on the field.’29
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‘German planes were flying back and forth. They worked their way across the field, firing all the time until they were overhead,’ recalls Technical Sergeant Marion Hill from the air base Frescaty on 1 January 1945. A few minutes later, rows of Thunderbolt fighter-bombers had been turned into burning scrap heaps on the airfield. (Bryan Price via Don Barnes)
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‘Firing from all our guns, we attacked the airfield, and already after our first attack so many of the Thunderbolts were burning that the thick smoke from the fires made it hard to see anything when we made our next low-level attack. But as far as I can judge, we managed to set fire to most if not all of the American aircraft at the air base at Saint-Trond.’ That was how one of the German pilots who participated in the air attacks against Allied air bases on 1 January 1945, Feldwebel Werner Hohenberg of Jagdgeschwader 2, experienced the situation. (Bryan Price via Don Barnes)
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Across southern Netherlands, central Belgium and northeastern France, scenes such as these could be seen at dawn on 1 January 1945— burning Allied aircraft and destroyed air base installations. With Operation ‘Bodenplatte,’ the Germans achieved the same total surprise as with ‘Herbstnebel’ two weeks earlier. (Bryan Price via Don Barnes)
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It has never been possible to determine the exact number of Allied aircraft that were put out of commission during Operation Bo-denplatte.’ ’In their embarassment at having been taken completely by surprise, the Allied air commanders failed to compile a comprehensive list of their losses,’ wrote U.S. aviation historian Donald Caldwell. Contrary to what has often been claimed, the German Armed Forces High Command noted that the German ground troops were granted ’a brief relief’ in the Allied air strikes as a result of Operation ’Bodenplatte.’ (Bryan Price via Don Barnes)







At Metz-Frescaty, the losses on the ground were reported as 22 destroyed and 11 damaged Thunderbolts, all belonging to the 365th Fighter Group.30 But the neighboring unit at the same air base, the 368th Fighter Group, noted that several among its Thunderbolts also were ’destroyed or seriously damaged,’ apart from the losses inflicted on the 365th Fighter Group during the Luftwaffe raid against Frescaty.31 However, no aircraft of the 368th Fighter Group are included in the official compilation of aircraft losses at Metz-Frescaty on 1 January 1945. The authors of the chronicle of 365th Fighter Group, Barnes, Crump, and Sutherland, have interviewed several veterans who were at Metz-Frescaty that fateful day, and describe the airfield as ‘a miniature Armageddon’ after the German attack.32

At Gilze-Rijen, which was attacked by Ar 234 jet bombers from III./ KG 76, Allied sources say that only one fighter-bombers hade been destroyed while about half a dozen others received some kind of damage. According to German photo reconnaissance, however, twenty-five destroyed aircraft could be seen on the ground on the aerial photographs.33

One of the Allied airmen who experienced Operation ’Bodenplatte,’ was World War II’s leading French fighter ace Pierre Clostermann, who with the rank an RAF Flight Lieutenant in the RAF’s No. 274 squadron was present at the airbase Volkel on New Year’s Day 1945. In his well-known war memoirs, Le Grand Cirque, which was released shortly after the war, Clostermann was highly critical of the official Allied loss figures. Still in the book’s last edition, published in 2004 (in total, nearly three million copies of his book have been printed), two years before the author’s death, Clostermann holds the same opinion:

’The American censorship and the Press services, in a flat spin, tried to present this attack as a great Allied victory, by publishing peculiar figures. We pilots were still laughing about them three months later.’34

U.S. historian Danny S. Parker writes:

The quoted Allied losses appear greatly under-counted for reasons that to this day remain obscure. In a report dated January 3rd, the RAF recorded losses included 144 aircraft destroyed and another 84 seriously damaged. The USAAF acknowledged only 134 losses with 62 planes damaged beyond repair. Whether this figure included the 40 admitted ground losses of the Eighth Air Force (16 B-17s, 14 B-24s, 8 P-51s, 2 P-47s) is unclear. Neither estimates include the approximately 70 aircraft shot down by the Germans during the operation.35

Thus, at least 340 aircraft were totally destroyed on the ground (196 American and 144 British), while 84 British and an unspecified number of U.S. aircraft were damaged. Moreover, if the 70 shot down Allied aircraft are included, the number increases to 494. If 40 destroyed aircraft from the 8th Air Force are added, the total reaches at least 534.

Not even the Allies’ own loss statistics are very consistent. According to a report by the SHAEF, the British losses are given as 168 destroyed aircraft, and according to statistics from British 83 Group, this unit alone recorded 127 combat aircraft totally destroyed and 133 damaged.36 If the 133 damaged aircraft of 83 Group are added, the total rises to 583.

The first German compilation, made by the II. Jagdkorps on the evening on 1 January 1945, and based on ’yet incomplete reports,’ found that 398 Allied aircraft hade been ’with certainty’ destroyed, and another 93 had ’probably’ been destroyed on the ground, to which an additional 31 ’with certainty’ and one ’probably’ had been shot down in air combat.37 Following air photo reconnaissance flights over the attacked airfields, the results were specified on the following day to 402 Allied aircraft destroyed and 114 damaged on the attacked airfields.38Another 79 were claimed to have been shot down in the air, bringing the grand total to 593. After further reconnaissance flights, the number of destroyed Allied aircraft were three days later corrected to ’at least 500.’39 It is not known whether this reduces the number of aircraft that were reported to have been damaged, but it can safely be assumed that at least a hundred Allied aircraft were damaged in addition to those that were completely destroyed or written off. It is therefore quite possible that about six hundred, or even more, Allied aircraft were put out of action by the Luftwaffe’s surprising lightning attack in Operation ’Bodenplatte’ at dawn on 1 January 1945. Quite interestingly, in the 1981 edition of his memoirs, Pierre Clostermann wrote, ’In total, 800 Allied aircraft were put out of action within a couple of minutes.’40

It should also be taken into account that most of the German pilots available for ’Bodenplatte’ were totally inadequately trained in flying, gunnery, and navigation. Of the thirty-four fighter groups equipped with Messerschmitt 109 and Focke Wulf 190 piston-engine aircraft, only a third managed to carry out their attacks with success against fully manned Allied airfields according to the plan. Of the remainder, ten groups never even managed to locate their targets, while the others either conducted entirely unsuccessful attacks or attacked airfields where there proved to be no more than a handful of aircraft.

Jagdgeschwader 11, which employed around ninety fighters, was intercepted by eight Thunderbolts from U.S. 366th Fighter Group in the air above its target, the air base Asch. The confusion that these eight American fighter pilots caused among the German pilots was so large that additional Thunderbolt planes and a dozen Mustangs from the 352nd Fighter Group, led by fighter ace Lieutenant Colonel John C. Meyer, managed to take off from the airfield in the midst of the German attack. Despite their numerical disadvantage, the vastly superior American fighter pilots shot down one German fighter plane after another in what from the ground looked like pure clay dove shooting. Lieutenant Colonel Meyer managed to shoot down a Focke Wulf 190 while he took off from the runway. Two of his pilots, Captain William T. Whisner, Jr. and Lieutenant Sanford K. Moats, shot down four German fighters apiece, and Captain Henry M. Stewart II and Lieutenant Alden P. Rigby claimed three each. When the remainder of Jagdgeschwader 11 returned to their air bases after the mission, twenty-four aircraft were missing. Among the casualties were two of the unit’s most experienced pilots— the Geschwader commander Major Günther Specht and the commander of the III. Gruppe, Hauptmann Horst-Günther von Fassong. The American losses were confined to two aircraft in the air, and four destroyed on the ground at Asch.

Other German units, such as the III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 53, were seriously affected by Allied fighter interception during the approach flight. Still others were overtaken by Allied fighters during the return flight and suffered dearly. Allied anti-aircraft fire took a further large toll on the attackers. For example, Jagdgeschwader 2 made its approach flight just where the German V 1s used to pass on the way to Liège or Antwerp, and where, consequently, large amounts of anti-aircraft guns were deployed. Of about eighty fighters, Jagdgeschwader 2 lost no less than forty-three.

In addition, several German aircraft were by mistake shot down by their own air defense—although the number that were lost for this reason in reality was somewhere between 30 and 35 and not 100, as it has sometimes been inferred. That so many German aircraft fell victim to ’friendly fire’ can be explained partly by the fact that the secrecy surrounding ’Bodenplatte’ was so high that the air defense never was informed about the operation, and also that the Germans dismounted the aircraft’s IFF sets whereby the air defense could identify those as German—this in order to avoid the risk that these valuable instruments fell into enemy hands.

Still other German fighter pilots simply lost the orientation and made èmergency landings with empty fuel tanks somewhere in hostile territory. In total, ’Bodenplatte’ cost the participating German units a loss of 280 aircraft (271 Bf 109s/Fw 190s and nine Ju 88s), and another 70 returned with battle damage. The personnel losses were 143 killed or missing, 70 captured, and 21 wounded. Among those who failed to return were three wing commanders (Geschwaderkommodore), five group commanders (Gruppenkommandeur), and fourteen squadron commanders (Staffelkapitan).*

This obviously was a terrible blow to the Luftwaffe, but the question is whether the German losses have not been overemphasized in history writing. Oberst Hajo Herrmann, a highly skillful tactician in the Staff of the II. Jagdkorps at this time, asserted that ’Bodenplatte’ was by far the most advantageous of the few opportunities that still were available for the badly mauled Luftwaffe at this late stage in the war:

’The operation had a preventive nature, as a surprising tactical assault, and was well prepared… In this way we hoped to achieve an effect that would not have been possible through air combat.’41

The disastrous air battle—from the German point of view—between Jagdgeschwader 11 and two small American fighter squadrons over Asch gives an indication of the extrèmely limited potential that the German fighter force, at this time, had to assert itself against the Allied aviation.

This leads us back to Fighter General Galland’s alternative plan—der grosse Schlag, the ’Big Blow’ According to this, the great fighter reserves built up in Germany and on the Western Front in late fall of 1944 were to be deployed in one concentrated attack against a larger formation of American heavy bombers. In his memoirs, Galland said that he expected to be able to deploy at least 2,000 fighters in an initial attack, followed by two attack waves of 150 and 500 fighters respectively, as well as approximately 100 night fighter aircraft that would block the retreat routes to the Swedish and Swiss airspace. Thereby, said Galland, the Germans would have been able to shoot down 400-500 U.S. heavy bombers against own losses of perhaps 400 aircraft and 100-150 pilots.42

According to Galland, and many of his followers, this could have led to such a shock to the Allies that they would have had to cancel their strategic air offensive. However, this plan had to be shelved when Galland’s fighter reserve was transferred to the Western Front for tactical missions. ’On 20 November the transfers to the Western Front began, despite my objections and reports,’ Galland wrote. He continued, ’After that, I saw no meaning to continue the fight.’43

However, it may justifiably be questioned whether Galland’s estimates were realistic. Firstly, it is highly doubtful that as many as 2,000 fighters could have been deployed at one and the same time. There hardly is any reason to believe that more than one thousand German fighters could have been mobilized against a larger formation of heavy bombers. There also was a real case that was similar to the “’Big Blow,’ and which gives an indication of how things would have looked, had Galland’s plan been carried out:

On 27 November 1944 the 8th Air Force despatched force of 483 heavy bombers, escorted by 730 fighters, against rail targets in Germany. On that day, the Luftwaffe employed every available fighter plane in a maximum effort to repel the American attack. According to Allied estimates, 750 German fighters—a record number, never to be reached again—were pitted against the American formations.44

The result of this massive German effort represents a devastating verdict on the capability of the German fighter aviation at this time: the German fighter pilots managed to shoot down not even one of the nearly five hundred American bombers, but were locked into bitter air fighting with the American fighter escort, which according to the German sources resulted in the shooting down of eighty-one German and only ten U.S. fighter planes.45 The American fighter pilots reported how they had ’attacked the novice [German] formations that stupidly clung together while Mustangs shot them down.’46

The generally rather harsh judgment of postwar writers on ’Bodenplatte’ must be seen in light of the controversy between the leaderships of the German fighter and bomber forces (where the former early on managed to create a distinct concept of the history), and—not least—of the extrèmely embarrassing fact that the Allies were caught totally off guard by the German Air Force.

What often is overlooked when ’Bodenplatte’ is discussed, is the golden opportunity to deal Luftwaffe a defeat of gigantic proportions relative to the massive deployment of German aircraft. In depictions of ’Bodenplatte,’ the so successful—from the American perspective—air battle over Asch on 1 January 1945 is usually given much attention; focus should rather be on the many similar ’Asch air battles’ that should have taken place, had the Allies not been taken by surprise and actually failed to bring up their fighters against the German formations in most places. The relatively few Allied fighters that attacked the German formations in the air managed to shoot down an estimated 150 German aircraft. It is easy to imagine what the result would have been if instead of a few dozen there had been hundreds of Allied fighter pouncing on the German machines as these came in on cruising speed and at low altitude. Had the Allies learned of the German intentions in advance, and despatched their entire fighter armada—with reinforcèments from the 8th Air Force (which actually had 650 fighters in the air over western Germany a few hours after ’Bodenplatte’)—they might very well have been able to achieve a Turkey shoot of vast dimensions, an Allied fighter aviation’s ’Big Blow’ against the Luftwaffe.* But now the Germans apparently managed to conceal their preparations too cleverly for the Allies. The notion of the lost opportunity hardly could have escaped the officers of the Allied staffs when the result of New Year’s Day 1945 was evaluated. On top of this, the fact that the Allies were taken by surprise led to far from insignificant losses.

To dismiss the Allied losses on the ground (nowadays usually set at 300 destroyed aircraft and a further 180 damaged) as low—not uncommon when Operation ’Bodenplatte’ is discussed—only testifies to an ignorance of air war history. Nowhere can even the idea of one hundred aircraft losses to the enemy be described as a failure or a poor result. For example, during the famous Battle of Britain Day on 15 September 1940, when it is considered that the Luftwaffe’s spine was broken, the Germans lost fifty-seven aircraft. No writer would dream of describing that as particularly mild losses.

The 500-600 Allied aircraft put out of action by the Luftwaffe through ’Bodenplatte’ was a result that the Germans by this time never would have been able to achieve in air combat at a price of 280 own aircraft. Pierre Clostermann is absolutely certain in his review of ’Bodenplatte’: ’This operation had been brilliantly worked out and superbly executed. […] The Luftwaffe’s success, won at the cost of 280 or so machines, succeeded in nearly paralysing the tactical air force for more than one week’47
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Three pilots of U.S. 365th Fighter Group, Lieutenant Robert Tracey, Lieutenant Bob Thoman, and Lieutenant John Vitz, posing for the photographer in front of the remains of Thomans’ Thunderbolt, dubbed ‘Ma Cherie on the afternoon of 1 January 1945. This was not what the American airmen, who had dismissed the Luftwaffe just a bit too early, had expected. Astonishment is clearly read in their faces. (Bryan Price via Don Barnes)





What German generals said after the war is one thing, but the German High Command’s view of Operation ’Bodenplatte’ in January 1945 is summarized by Percy E. Schramm, responsible for the War Diary of the German Armed Forces High Command (OKW): ‘A great success.’48 This opinion was shared by many of the German airmen who participated in the operation. For example Oberleutnant Emil Clade from Jagdgeschwader 27, said,’ From my own perspective I believed that the attack had been a success.’49 Donald Caldwell describes the scene when the pilots of the III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 26 returned to base after completing the mission on 1 January 1945, ’It was an enthusiastic group of pilots who landed back on Plantlünne. Heinz Gehrke recalls buzzing the field while happily and vigorously rocking his wings, signaling his victory at Evere’50 Oberleutnant Lothar Wolf from Jagdgeschwader 4 describes the impression made on the German fighter pilots by the great devastation wrought on the attacked Allied air bases, ’It was a rare but to us at that time truly wonderful sight.’51 For 1 January 1945, the war diary for the III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 3 reads:

The fighter aviation attacks Allied airfields in Holland, Belgium and northern France. Our Gruppe took off with 15 aircraft that we contributed to the Geschwader formation. Our task was: “Clear Eindhoven’s airfield. This would be the Luftwaffe’s last major victory, and by destroying 116 aircraft at Eindhoven’s airfield, Jagdgeschwader 3 contributed greatly.’52

Needless to say, the mood was different in some of the Luftwaffe units that had sustained very high losses, such as Jagdgeschwader 2 or Jagdgeschwader 11, but heavy losses of their own was something that the German pilots were accustomed to since more than a year.* It is difficult to find any support for the rather common assertion that Operation ‘Bodenplatte’ was what definitely broke the spine of the Luftwaffe. The losses sustained during ’Bodenplatte’ were high indeed—they amounted to the highest loss inflicted to the Luftwaffe in a single day during the entire war— but the II. Jagdkorps had been dealt even greater losses during the two days 23-24 December 1944, with 293 fighter aircraft.53 During those forty-eight hours, the personnel losses were almost as high as during ’Bodenplatte’: 205 pilots killed, missing, captured or wounded. And still the Luftwaffe managed to carry out this powerful operation on 1 January 1945, and on the next day the Germans could despatch nearly five hundred aircraft on combat missions over the Western Front.54 On 14 January 1945 a new major effort was made with probably at least 700 German fighter aircraft in the air in the West. After that, almost all air units of the II. Jagdkorps were shifted to the Eastern Front, where these German airmen—along with far more experienced colleagues in the old Eastern Front air units—helped to temporarily halt the Soviet offensive in front of Berlin’s gates.

The II. Jagdkorps had in practice ceased to exist as a very effective fighter force after the Battle of Normandy in August 1944. But that did not mean that its aviators could not carry out major efforts by exercising great energy. Because of the extrèmely high losses, morale paradoxically remained at a relatively high level; the fighting spirits of those who arrived fresh from flight schools was always on top—they often never realized how difficult the situation was until it was too late for themselves.

After the attack on the air base Metz-Frescaty, the Messerschmitt 109 ’White 11’ from IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 53 with Oberfeldwebel Stefan Kohl at the controls was shot down by ground fire and crashed near the airfield. Kohl tried to get back to the German lines on foot, but was arrested by French resistance fighters and taken to the air base. There he was interrogated by Major Robert Brooking in the 386th Fighter Squadron’s command post barrack. Brooking had led the crucial air strike against SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper at Cheneux on 18 December, for which he received a Silver Star. But now little more than smoldering scrap heaps remained of many of the aircraft that had performed this famous mission.

Even though it was the German pilot who was in captivity, he appeared in a merry and superior manner, almost as if the roles had been reversed. While Brooking asked his questions, Oberfeldwebel Kohl suddenly got up from his chair, walked to the window, pointed with one thumb at the rows of bullet-riddled and still smoldering Thunderbolt planes and said with a broad smile in perfect English, ’What do you think of That?’55
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As Major Robert Brooking of U.S. 386th Fighter Squadron interrogated the shot down German pilot Oberfeldwebel Stefan Kohl from Jagdgeschwa-der 53 Pik As’ the German suddenly stood up from his chair and walked over to barrack window, pointed at the rows of destroyed Thunderbolt fighter-bombers and asked the American in perfect English: ‘What do you think of that?’ Afterwards, when the Americans were to take a photo of Kohl outdoors, he insisted on first polishing his boots, combing his hair and straightening his flight jacket. (Via Don Barnes)





It was too much for Brooking, who, boiling with anger, rushed out. He knew too well that the German was right—’the squadron was in a shambles,’ as he himself said later.56 Brooking’s own airplane, dubbed ’The Fickle Finger’—with which he had performed the famous attack on Peiper’s column—was just one of many that had gone up in flames during the German attack.57

Afterwards, when the Americans wanted to take a photo of Kohl outdoors, he first insisted on polishing his boots, combing his hair and straightening his flying suit. 58 The photograph of Kohl shows a smiling, confident young man with the fur collar half-raised and the forage cap jauntily askew. The guarding U.S. military police looks extrèmely embarrassed. Afterwards Kohl commented that Americans ’probably feared that I would steal one of the aircraft and fly home.’59

Another of the downed and captured German fighter pilots, at Saint-Trond, told his captors that ’this is just as the Führer said it would be,’ and then added: ’Germany yesterday, Belgium today and United States tomorrow!’60

’Bodenplatte’ of course had a psychological impact even on the Allied side, although the detrimental effects could be limited because the whole truth was not cabled out. Pierre Clostermann says that ’Allied public opinion would have been dealt a staggering blow’ if the true extent of the damage inflicted by the Luftwaffe had come to light.61But the headquarters of course understood what it really looked like. ’Operation Bodenplatte,’ said Danny S. Parker, ’made an indelible impression on Allied air commanders.’62

It made the Allied generals fear that it was the beginning of a renewed offensive on the northern German attack flank against Liège. The American strategic air commander Spaatz ’now estimated the war in Europe would not end before late summer.’63

The losses inflicted on the Allies during ’Bodenplatte,’ had hit a tactical aviation that already was heavily weakened. When the Allies landed in Normandy in June 1944, the 9th Air Force mustered around 2,000 aircraft, including about 1,500 fighters, but the accumulated losses caused this strength to dwindle. Between June and September, 900 fighters/fighter-bombers were lost. Before the invasion, the Allies had calculated that losses of up to 20 percent could be fully replaced, but the loss ratio reached 25 percent in June and increased to 26.7 percent in August. In early December 1944, the fighter strength of the 9th Air Force was down to 1,300 aircraft, and would continue to decline. Despite relatively few days of flying weather during this month, the loss ratio reached a record level of nearly 29 percent. This combined with the sharp decline in the flow of newly manufactured aircraft from the USA in the fall and winter, meant that the strength of some Fighter Groups in the 9th Air Force dropped to less than half of the assigned number—from 75 to only 35 aircraft.64
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Major Robert Brooking, C.O. of U.S. 386th Fighter Squadron. The photograph was taken in late 1944 and shows him in the cockpit of his P-47 Thunderbolt ‘The Fickle Finger’ which not only took part in the attack against SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper on 18 December 1944, but which was also destroyed when Jagdgeschwader 53 ‘Pik As’ strafed the airbase on New Year’s Day 1945. (Robert Brooking via Don Barnes)





As evidence for the view that the German air base attacks on 1 January 1945 did ’not really’ damage the striking capacity of the Allied tactical aviation, it is sometimes asserted that the air units of XIX Tactical Air Command alone conducted 407 combat sorties on 2 January1945. Among other things, the 405th Fighter Group is reported to have bombed German tanks at Clervaux while the 354th Fighter Group attacked targets right at the front. On that same day, the Luftwaffe carried out up to five hundred combat sorties over the front, including three hundred over Bastogne alone.65 In regard to the results during previous days in December 1944 (for example, on 26 December, when the Germans despatched 404 aircraft and lost 65, most of them in air combat), the launching of so many aircraft from both sides over such a limited area would have been expected to produce extensive aerial combats and heavy Luftwaffe losses on 2 January 1945. But interestingly, nothing of the kind occurred on this day. Jagdgeschwader 1 reported one aircraft missing on a combat mission, Jagdgeschwader 4 lost four, and Jagdgeschwader 53 five Messerschmitt 109s in air combat.66 None of the other participating German fighter units lost any aircraft in aerial combat on the Western Front on this 2 January 1945, which indeed is strange if so many Allied aircraft were in the air. In addition, on this 2 January, German aircraft supported a German counter-offensive east of Bastogne, where U.S. 6th Armored Division was particularly hard hit, as we shall see later. Nevertheless, e.g. III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 11 met no other opposition than ground fire as its Focke Wulf 190 fighter aircraft carried out a fighter sweep in the front area—despite the fact that some of the pilots flew astray on the way home and then happened to pass low over an American fighter air base.67The III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 53—which operated in the same area as the XIX Tactical Air Command—also undertook a mission over the front area to combat enemy fighter-bombers, but returned to base without having seen any such.68 IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 53—one of the few German units that was inflicted with any losses whatsoever in aerial combat on the Western Front on that day—was able to carry out low-level attacks against American tanks at the front quite undisturbed by enemy aircraft. When the German aircraft later landed at their own air base, they were, however, bounced by eight Mustang fighters (probably from the 361st Fighter Group, which claimed to have shot down five German aircraft).69

Interestingly, an evaluation of Operation ’Bodenplatte’ made by Oberst Rudolf Wodarg of the Luftwaffe Intelligence Department on 27 January 1945, noted that the German air base attacks on 1 January 1945 ’impeded’ the Allied air effort ’during the first days of January as a result of oil storage depots being burned out, restricted landing at airfields, re-routing of aircraft, and the recall of air transports.’70 Percy E. Schramm notes in a summary of the discussions in the German Armed Forces High Command that the German ground troops had ’a brief relief’ in the Allied air strikes as a result of Operation ’Bodenplatte.’71

A common objection to the effect of ’Bodenplatte’ is that the Americans were able to replace their aircraft losses fairly quickly. This is true, but not to the extent that otherwise was normal. Winter storms in the Atlantic made it very difficult to bring replacèments for the losses to the Continent, particularly in the shape of fighters, whose limited range meant that they could not be flown over from the USA. On 27 December 1944, Lieutenant General Spaatz received a report from the commander of the 9th Air Force, Major General Hoyt Vandenberg, on the miserable replacèment situation:

’Replacèment fighter aircraft including P-47, P-38 and P-61 negligible during past ten days. Operational efficiency of each command will be seriously affected unless fighters of all types are furnished to the TACs immediately. This applies particularly to the 474 and 370 Ftr Gps. IX TAC estimates that 422 Night Ftr Sq will be non-operational within one week if replacèments are not received.’72

It has been argued that it would have been more effective if the Germans had concentrated on shooting down an equal number of Allied aircraft in the air, since this also would have entailed high Allied losses of trained airmen—supposedly more difficult to replace. Except the fact that this hardly could have been accomplished by the inadequately trained German pilots in the West at that time, it is an argument that does not hold up to examination—as historian Dannny S. Parker shows, ’Even had a large number of Allied pilots been killed, the results could not have been decisive, for by the beginning of 1945, so imposing was the advantage of Allied air juggernaut, that they were no longer lacking in trained aircrew or aircraft.’73

In fact, it was easier to replace pilot losses than aircraft losses, because the men could always be flown over from the USA via Canada, Greenland, and Iceland, while the aircraft had to be stowed on board ships that had to contend with heavy seas in the Atlantic.
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The pitiful remains of Brooking‗s P-47 Thunderbolt ’The Fickle Finger’ at Metz-Frescaty on 1 January 1945. (Bryan Price via Don Barnes)





Overall, Operation ’Bodenplatte’ actually allows itself to be described as the War Diary for III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 3 put it, as the Luftwaffe’s last major victory. Without doubt, the operation gave a dividend that probably can be considered significantly higher than what might have been expected given the average poor standard of the participating pilots—no doubt the result of good and professional planning on the German side. It produced, in Hajo Herrmann’s words, ’a result that was not possible through air combat.’ While it may not have been quite as Pierre Clostermann put it, that the entire tactical aviation was almost paralyzed for more than a week—during the following week, more bad weather was what mainly kept the Allied tactical aircraft on the ground—the losses on the Allied side of course gave the German ground forces in the Ardennes a certain relief. The final verdict is that ’Bodenplatte,’ like the Ardennes Offensive, after all, may be considered as the most rational move on the basis of Hitler’s perspective. It is difficult to see how the II. Jagdkorps could have been more effectively used at the turn of 1944/1945; the objection that ’Bodenplatte’—or for that matter the Ardennes Offensive—failed to bring about a new turning point in the war is senseless: Overall, the most rational from the German people’s perspective had neither been to concentrate forces on the Western Front or to the defense in the East, or to despatch all fighters against the American bombers, but it would have been to make peace as soon as possible, because the war was irrevocably lost. However, this could not have been the Nazi dictator’s perspective.
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The Luftwaffe’s attempt to support the German ground troops during the Ardennes Battle resulted in a terrible bloodletting among the German pilots. Long after the battle, the whole area was strewn with German aircraft wrecks. In this picture, Lieutenant Paul A. Warp, adjutant of the 68th Tank Battalion, U.S. 6th Armored Division, is posing in the cockpit of a downed Focke Wulf 190. (The Paul Warp Collection)





OPERATION ’NORDWIND’

The Ardennes Offensive was based on several strong foundations. We have already seen the masterful German masking of the preparations, the brilliant organizational apparatus that brought the great forces to the front, the concentration of total superior tanks, the timing of the offensive to a period of poor flying weather, the bombardment of Liège and Antwerp by V rockets, the operation of modern submarines against Allied traffic across the English Channel, and now even the surprising mass attack against the Allied air bases.

And when the Allied aviation now had made it more or less impossible to bring forward the third German assault wave to the Ardennes front, von Rundstedt took the decision to launch this in another diversionary offensive seventy miles to the south.

Operation ’Bodenplatte’ was only one of the two big surprises for the Allies in the new year. Half an hour before midnight on New Year’s night, German 1. Armee attacked from positions southeast of Saarbrücken, seventy miles south of the Ardennes, southwards, against U.S. Seventh Army. Thus began a new German offensive, Operation ’Nordwind’ (’North Wind’). The attack plan was drafted by Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt and aimed at taking advantage of the fact that parts of Patton’s Third Army had left this sector of the front to attack northwards. Hitler expanded the plan into a double pincer operation with a view to surround and annihilate U.S. Seventh Army and French First Army (1re Armee) in Alsace, and recapture Strasbourg.

Although they had expected a German attack in this area, the Americans were taken by surprise and thrown back. They would have retreated from Strasbourg, had it not been for the sharp protests from the French Commander Charles de Gaulle, who argued that this would be tantamount to a ’national disaster.’ Instead, the Americans quickly brought up reinforcèments to the threatened front area. Having retreated about ten miles, they managed to halt the Germans, who then shifted the emphasis of the assault southeast, to the front on the Rhine, about twenty miles southwest of Karlsruhe. On 5 January, the XIV. SS-Armeekorps crossed the Rhine at Gambsheim, six miles north of Strasbourg, and established a one mile wide bridgehead on the western side of the river. Two days later, the southern part of the pincer operation was launched as German 19. Armee south of Strasbourg attacked north from the so-called ’Colmar Pocket’—the only remaining Germans foothold west of the Rhine in Alsace since Strasbourg had been seized by the Allies on 23 November.

Although this combined German offensive was considerably less extensive than the Ardennes Offensive and did not lead to as large territorial gains, it caused the Allies heavy losses and a series of embarrassing tactical defeats. On 8 January, Combat Command B, U.S. 12th Armored Division attempted to counter-attack at Gambsheim, but was repelled with, according to German data, a loss of 14 tanks and over 100 other combat vehicles. During the advance from the Colmar Pocket, German LXIV. Armeekorps succeeded on 9 January in encircling a French combat group in Obenheim, which ended with more than 700 French prisoners being taken. Another French force was surrounded and destroyed at Erstein, a bit farther to the northwest.

In the sector north of Strasbourg, Kampfgruppe Feuchtinger (the 21. Panzer-Division and the 25. Panzergrenadier-Division) advanced south from the Franco-German border north of the Gambsheim bridgehead and on 9 January assaulted Hatten, ten miles from the German point of departure. This sparked a week-long battle with U.S. 14th Armored Division, which cost the Americans about 75 tanks.74 Another 150 American tanks were knocked out but could be repaired afterwards. The German armor losses are estimated at around 50 tanks and tank destroyers.75

It was only when the Germans were forced to transfer units from the Alsace Front to the Eastern Front, where the great Soviet winter offensive was launched on 12 January, that the German attacks petered out. First of all, the LXIV. Armeekorps was halted south of Strasbourg, and eventually even the northern forces were. But the battle was not yet over. Now that the Americans went over to the counter-attack, they sustained some of their worst losses in this front sector. On 16 January, U.S. 12th Armored Division renewed its attack against the bridgehead at Gambsheim, but was again repulsed. On 17 January, this division’s Combat Command B clashed with the 10. SS-Panzer-Division ’Frundsberg’ at Herrlisheim in the Gambsheim bridgehead. In a two-day battle, the SS Division succeeded in wiping out two entire U.S. battalions—the 17th Armored Infantry Battalion and the 43rd Tank Battalion—and knocked out all the tanks in the 23rd Tank Battalion and captured the commander of the 43rd Tank Battalion, Lieutenant Colonel Nicholas Novosel. According to U.S. sources, the Germans captured 42 of the 12th Armored Division’s Sherman tanks.76

As a result of this defeat, U.S. Seventh Army retreated across River Moder, just six miles north of Strasbourg. Thus, the Germans had regained about 40 percent of Alsace/Elsass.

But any further German success was not possible. More and more units left the Alsace Front to be sent to the Eastern Front, including Kampfgruppe Feuchtinger. The Allies now vigorously counter-attacked against the ’Colmar Pocket’ in the south, and this was compressed more and more until it was completely annihilated after the first week of February.

Although Operation ’Nordwind’ never managed to fully accomplish its objectives, it contributed in the big picture to further shake up the Allied commanders, which resulted in the Ardennes Battle becoming more drawn out than it might otherwise have been.


GERMAN ’WONDER WEAPON’ AGAINST LUXEMBOURG

As we have seen, the Germans employed their latest arms technology in the Ardennes Offensive, in a concentration not seen in any other operation. One of the ‘wonder weapons’ that was introduced for the first time in connection with this operation, was a huge gun leveled against the city of Luxembourg, where both the U.S. 12th Army Group and the Third Army had their headquarters located. The specialty of this gun was not its caliber, 15 cm, but its enormous range of fire.

This weapon went under several different names. Two of these—Hochdruckpumpe (high pressure pump) and Tausendfüssler (millipede)—was because the long barrel was fitted with a row of multiple propellant charges that went off as the projectile passed to provide an increased muzzle velocity. Otherwise, this weapon was known as the Fleissiges Lieschen (Busy Lizzie) or simply V 3 (Vergeltungswaffe 3).

Originally the idea was to shell London with a 130-meter (427 ft) long barrel from Mimoyecques on the French Channel coast. The German plan called for several such guns firing up to 600 shells per day against London. However, this could not be materialized before Montgomery’s troops in early September 1944 forced the Germans to evacuate the area.

Two smaller versions, each with a 50-meter (164 ft) barrel fitted with twelve propellant charges were mounted, however, by Artillerie-Abteilung 705 at Lampaden, eight miles southeast of the German city of Trier. Like the V 2 rocket, the V 3 operations were commanded by SS-Gruppenführer Hans Kammler. In December 1944 he received orders from Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt to employ his two V 3s to support Operation ‘Herbstnebel’ by shelling the city of Luxembourg.

The first piece was ready for operations on 30 December 1944. In Kammler’s presence, seven shells with a muzzle velocity of 935 meters (3,068 ft) per second were fired in quick succession on New Year’s Eve. They hit the city of Luxembourg, at a distance of 27 miles. This created panic among both civilians and military personnel in the city, where no one thought that the Germans had any artillery piece with such a range of fire.1

The V 3, however, had a more psychological than material effect. Although the second V 3 started shelling Luxembourg on 11 January 1945, not more than one hundred and eighty-three 97-kg (213-lb) shells had been fired by the time the U.S. Army on 22 February forced the Germans to suspend this activity. Only 142 shells landed in Luxembourg, including not more than 44 in the urban area—which cost the relatively limited number of ten killed and thirty wounded. The action of the V 3, however is yet another evidence of the huge efforts made by the Germans for the Ardennes Offensive.

1 Toland, p. 352.
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The liberators are here! A Belgian boy is watching as a column of Sherman tanks roll into his village, which the Germans left shortly before. But although the German offensive towards River Meuse was halted, drawn out and bloody battles remained before the Ardennes finally would be totally liberated from the occupiers. (NARA, lll-SC-198123)





* Some depictions give the incorrect date 15 December. However, the summons, which were intercepted by British Ultra, show that 5 December was the correct date. (National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/626. CX/MSS/T. HP 8624 West.)

** Among them wing commanders such as Oberstleutnant Herbert Ihlefeld, Oberstleutnant Kurt Bühligen, Major Heinz Bär, Major Günther Specht, Oberst Josef Priller, Oberstleutnant Gustav Rödel, and Oberstleutnant Helmut Bennemann, and group commanders such as Major Karl Borris, Major Anton Hackl, Hauptmann Walter Krupinski, Major Julius Meimberg, Hauptmann Franz Götz, and Hauptmann Robert Weiss. The fighter general Galland also was present.

* One of the wing commanders lost during ’Bodenplatte’ was Oberst Alfred Druschel, who had coordinated the tactical air support of the 5. Panzerarmee at the opening of the Ardennes Offensive, before he, a few days later, succeeded Oberstleutnant Janssen to command Schlachtgeschwader 4. (National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/633. CX/MSS/T 401/92. West.)

* During the huge air battle near the Mariana Islands in the Philippine Sea on 19-20 June 1944—when U.S. aircraft carrier-based fighters were reported to have shot down 402 Japanese aircraft against own losses of only 29 planes—one of the American fighter pilots from aircraft carrier Lexington was heard saying: ’It was just like an old turkey shoot down home.’ Commander Paul D. Buie on Lexington forwarded this to the press, who named this highly uneven air battle the ’Great Marianas Turkey Shoot.’

* Feldwebel Werner Hohenberg, who was shot down by American anti-aircraft fire and was captured shortly after the attack on the air base at Saint-Trond, however said that later that day he met several other downed and captured pilots from Jagdgeschwader 2, and that ’they were all in good spirits and full of confidence.’ (Interview with the author.)





CHAPTER 10

JANUARY 1945: RENEWED GERMAN ATTACKS

”We can still lose this war.”

Lieutenant General George S. Patton, commander of U.S. Third Army, diary notes on 4 January 1945.

THE BATTLE OF CHENOGNE

As the New Year 1945 dawned, the Americans still were, despite great efforts, far from the operational breakthrough that Eisenhower and Patton had hoped for. Due to its numerical superiority and strong air support, Patton’s Third Army had managed to achieve a breach to the forces that held Bastogne, but the efforts to develop this success into a major breakthrough that strategically transformed the entire Ardennes Battle into an American success had failed. When the tactical air support for various reasons did not materialize, the offensive slowed down and eventually was reduced to bitter battles over just a few hundred yards of snowy farmland or over any small village with a few dozen houses.

The situation was especially bad on the western flank of the Bastogne sector, where Middleton’s VIII Corps, not even with two new divisions—the 87th Infantry and the 11th Armored-was able to accomplish anything else than to push back the outnumbered German forces a few miles. But when New Year’s Day dawned with excellent flying weather—Middleton could not know anything of Operation ’Bodenplatte,’ which just had begun—a powerful new attempt was made to break through three miles southwest of Bastogne. The attack was launched on a four mile-wide front and was directed northwards. Middleton employed the 11th Armored Division, with Combat Command A on the left and Combat Command B in the center—against Chenogne—and the 19th Tank Battalion and 60th Armored Infantry Battalion of the 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command A to the right, towards the Bois de Fragotte woods just east of Chenogne.1 The aim was to first conquer Chenogne and the Bois de Fragotte woods, and then to cross the main road N 4 west of Bastogne, and continue north to link up with the VII Corps of U.S. First Army; the latter would, according to Montgomery’s assurances, launch a major attack in the Hotton - Manhay section, twenty miles north of Bastogne, two days later. But not much went according to the American plans, not least because most of the expected air support failed to turn up.

The 11th Armored Division’s Combat Command A was first out early this New Year’s morning. This was the most advanced American unit on this front section. The night before it had taken Rechrival, a small cluster of houses two miles northwest of Chenogne, after Führer Begleit Brigade had abandoned this place following a devastating American bombing raid against Lavaselle on the ridge a few miles further south. The plan was to launch a flank attack to force the Germans to give up their staunchly defended positions in Chenogne. While ’D’ Company, 42nd Tank Battalion in the early New Year’s morning rolled forward over the snow-covered fields north of Lavaselle, the soldiers could hear the terrible roar as thirteen U.S. artillery battalions opened up on Chenogne. From this small village, across the ridge to the right of these American tanks, thick, black smoke rose into the sky. The commander of the tank battalion’s ’D’ Company, Captain George D. Warriner, switched on the radio transmitter and called his crews to cheer them up, ’Keep going! This is going great!’ It would be the last anyone heard of him.

Initially, the Americans barely met any resistance, but when the tanks of the 42nd Tank Battalion slid downhill into German-occupied Hubermont—a couple of farms a few hundred yards north of Rechrival—German infantry lay in firing positions in houses and behind spruce trees in the roadside. ’Several enemy tanks that broke into Hubermont were put out of action in close combat [i.e. with anti-tank weapons],’ wrote the brigade commander Oberst Rèmer.2 According to German sources, another eight U.S. tanks were destroyed by a battery of 88mm anti-aircraft guns positioned in a grove of trees atop a small hill a mile northeast of Hubermont.3

The American assault formations were already badly mauled when the main tanks a few minutes later came down the hill and had passed the first farm—basically the tank crews had driven straight through the little hamlet and now had large, open field ahead. ’The sight that met me I’ll never forget,’ recalls the commander of one of the tank platoons, First Lieutenant Eli J. Warach, As far as the eye could see to the right of us, to the left of us, and in depth in front of us were enemy tanks—big enemy tanks. Later we were told they were Tiger tanks—but no difference, Tiger, Panther or any other variety, many of them carried the infamous ‘88—the scourge of even big tanks. It was so bad that I knew, absolutely knew, we were dead.’4

In this situation, Rèmer had employed his armored regiment—which still mustered about fifty serviceable Panzer IVs and StuG IIIs, which quite unsurprisingly made a terribly frightening impression, especially on the crews of the light Stuart tanks. Soon the fields around Hubermont were filled with smoldering and burning U.S. tank wrecks. ’D’ Company, 42nd Tank Battalion alone lost twelve of its fifteen Stuarts.5 Thunderbolt fighter-bombers quickly were on the spot and forced the Germans to retreat in among the fir trees, but the heavy losses forced Combat Command A to abort the attack northwards.
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However, by creating a two mile-deep-wedge in the German lines, Middleton was able to launch the next phase of the operation—the attack on Chenogne, where the Germans had held out for four days. This small community consisted of thirty-two residential houses, a church, a small schoolhouse, a store, and a station building on rail line 624 between Sainte-Ode (five miles to the northwest) and Bastogne. Chenogne is located in a little hollow just west of the large Bois de Fragotte forest. Its 150 inhabitants were mainly farmers.6 But after a heavy American bombing raid on 29 December, and in particular the bombardment from thirteen artillery battalions on New Year’s morning, the little community had been turned into a heap of ruins. 7

The first attack, which came on from the south— where the 21st Armored Infantry Battalion and the 22nd Tank Battalion had managed to seize a couple of buildings in the village’s outskirts during the previous night— was met with no success. ’The Krauts were ready,’ recalls Staff Sergeant John Fague of the 21st Armored Infantry Battalion. ’As soon as our boys started over the crest of the hill into the town, the German machine guns sprang to life. Mortars opened up on the tanks. More artillery was called for. Our tanks and assault guns were moved up the crest to try to knock out those machine guns. […] The medics were very busy that morning. All across the line were cries of “Medic! Medic! Bring a stretcher!” The Germans were extrèmely accurate with their mortar fire. It seèmed as if they could drop their shells right in the turrets of our tanks. Several wounded tankers were lying in a shell hole waiting for medical aid.’8

This cost the 22nd Tank Battalion a loss of six tanks and twenty-one men.9 But the Germans were increasingly repressed by the superior American firepower. In addition, they were outflanked by the 41st Tank Battalion which came from the hills in the northwest. Meanwhile, the 60th Armored Infantry Battalion and 19th Tank Battalion from Combat Command A, 9th Armored Division went into the woods east of the village.10 All of this caused the German resistance in Chenogne to collapse. The 3. Panzergrenadier-Division was pulled back to a new defensive line, between Senonchamps (two miles northeast of Chenogne) and the Führer Begleit Brigade’s positions two and a half miles further to the north-west.11 It appears as though the Germans in the end had left only second class troops to delay the Americans in Chenogne and the Bois de Fragotte. The 60th Armored Infantry Battalion’s after action report gives a good image of the troops that the Americans encountered when they entered the Bois de Fragotte, ’Two abandoned 88 mm guns and five other abandoned AT positions were located in the woods. Fresh tank trails found indicated a withdrawal from this sector. In these woods we captured our first prisoners other than German (i.e. Polish, Czech, etc.) All prisoners had very low morale.’12 *

Even though the Americans finally managed to seize Chenogne and, a little further northwest, Houmont and Hubermont, this was still extrèmely limited territorial gains, and it had cost a great deal of American blood. According to German sources, the Americans lost forty-eight tanks during the fighting at Bastogne on 1 January 1945.13
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A Sherman knocked out by German fire near Bastogne in early January 1945 is salvaged. U.S. veterans of the Ardennes Battle said that one of their worst tasks was to clean the inside of a knocked out tank that had been salvaged for repair. The remains of the dead crew members had to be scraped and scrubbed off. New tank crews that were assigned with repaired vehicles with plugged bullet holes could readily imagine what an easy prey they were to the German anti-tank weapons. (NARA, SC 197936)





The rugged combat at Chenogne and Hubermont on New Year’s Day 1945 brought Middleton’s attack to a complete halt on this front section. Generalmajor Denkert, German 3. Panzergrenadier-Division’s commander, wrote, ’By the evening of 1 January 1945, we succeeded in building up this new main line of resistance. In this area the enemy contended himself with the capture of Chenogne, so that the new main line of resistance was no longer attacked on this day.’14

THE 6TH ARMORED DIVISION IS DRIVEN BACK

The American failure to turn the battle to their advantage encouraged the Germans to continue their own aggressive posture against Bastogne. They still hoped that a seizure of this important transport hub would enable a resumption of the offensive towards River Meuse. And although Hitler at least temporarily had given up on the possibilities to reach Antwerp, he was of the opinion—not entirely incorrect— that a continued offensive in the Ardennes was motivated because it tied down large Allied forces. He also had some hopes that it would be possible to resume the offensive with its original target if the offensive in Alsace (’Nordwind’) was sufficiently successful.15

The German attempts to take Bastogne during the last week of December 1944, however, revealed that the available troops were insufficient to defeat the reinforced U.S. forces in the area. Therefore, on New Year’s Eve the I. SS-Panzerkorps with the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division and the 9. and 12. SS-Panzer divisions—thus transferred from the II. to the I. SS-Panzerkorps—were ordered to regroup south to the Bastogne sector. There the 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ was to take over the front section north of Bastogne, while the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ was ordered to march up northeast of the town, while the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division would occupy positions east of Bastogne. On the latter division’s southern flank, southeast of Bastogne, the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division of Generalleutnant Karl Decker’s XXXIX. Panzerkorps (which also included the 1. SS-Panzer-Division and the remnants of the battered 5. Fallschirmjager-Division, plus Kampfgruppe Hauser from Panzer Lehr) joined in. What would really frighten the Americans was that schwere Panzer-Abteilung 506, commanded by Major Eberhard Lange, also marched up at Wardin in the same sector. This had thirteen serviceable Tiger tanks, most of which were Königstiger (only the 4. Kompanie had the Tiger I, which nevertheless also was armed with a 88mm gun).16 Schwere Panzer-Abteilung 506 had participated in the destruction of the Allied airborne force at Arnhem in September 1944, and in November 1944 it had smashed an attack by U.S. 2nd Armored Division ’Hell on Wheels’ by knocking out fifty-seven of its Shermans in a single day.

With the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend,’ the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division and the Tiger tanks, the German positions were considerably reinforced in the section east of Bastogne, where Grenadier-Regiment 78 just had been pushed back by the newly arrived U.S. 6th Armored Division.

As we saw earlier, this American armored division’s Combat Command A had taken Neffe, on Bastogne’s eastern outskirts, on New Year’s Eve. The transfer of Combat Command B to the front was delayed by traffic jams on the slippery winter roads as two entire U.S. armored divisions simultaneously were brought to Bastogne—the 6th and the 11th. But on New Year’s morning the two Combat commands of the 6th Armored Division were in position to launch an attack northwards from Neffe. Four battalions— two armored and two infantry—supported by the majority of the 603rd Tank Destroyer Battalion, were deployed on a front no more than a mile and a half wide. To the already heavily decimated German Grenadier-Regiment 78, which still had not received any support from the other German units, this was a completely overwhelming force. By that time, Grenadier-Regiment 78 had been in continuous battle since 16 December. Since the regiment held some of the most advanced German positions at Bastogne, it had sustained very heavy losses, particularly to American artillery.
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Covered by Sherman tanks, these soldiers from the 44th Armored Infantry Battalion, 6th Armored Division are using pickaxes to dig foxholes in the frozen ground to the east of Neffe. (NARA, 111-SC-198465)





On the left (western) flank, Combat Command B—with the 68th Tank Battalion and the 50th Armored Infantry Battalion—advanced across a mile of open fields against Bizory, a small station town about two miles northeast of Bastogne on the railway to Sankt Vith. After about an hour’s fight, the Germans retreated to Mageret, the adjacent village a mile further southeast. There the I. Bataillon/ Grenadier-Regiment 78 attempted to establish new positions on the hill just west of the village, Hill 510. But by deploying Combat Command A from positions a thousand feet south of Mageret, U.S. 6th Armored Division managed to drive away the Germans from this place too. Encouraged by these successes, the 68th Tank Battalion and the 50th Armored Infantry Battalion continued northwards and entered Arloncourt, slightly to the northeast of Mageret. But beyond that, the Americans came no further.

German 167. Volksgrenadier-Division—which a few days previously had been launched in the failed German attack southeast of Bastogne—swiftly regrouped one of its battalions north and pitted it against the 44th Armored Infantry Battalion on the American eastern flank. On the previous day, the 44th Armored Infantry Battalion had entrenched atop the ridge that begins just east of Neffe and runs south. One third of the men in the 167. Volksgrenadier-Division were battle-hardened veterans from the Eastern Front, and after heavy fighting these succeeded in forcing the Americans out of the wooded area to the east of Neffe.

This enabled Grenadier-Regiment 78 to concentrate its forces for a counter-attack against Combat Command B. While the American artillery was focused against the German positions on the ridge east of Neffe, Grenadier-Regiment 78 attacked two miles further north on New Year’s night. The Americans were completely taken by surprise, and their 68th Tank Battalion retreated from Arloncourt back to Mageret, while U.S. 50th Armored Infantry Battalion took refuge in the woods on the other side of the fields west of Arloncourt.

To Major General Grow, C.O. of the 6th Armored Division ’Super Sixth,’ it was clear that a fierce battle was impending east of Bastogne. Although he had launched almost all of his armored division against basically a weakened German infantry regiment, he had in two days failed to achieve anything more than to move front lines one or two miles ahead. It was far from the expected strategic breakthrough that the Americans sought to achieve— according to the plan, the 6th Armored Division would crush the German positions east of Bastogne and advance to Sankt Vith in the north. Had Grow and Patton known what force their opponent was in the process of building up east of Bastogne, they probably would have acted differently.

The units deployed by the Americans southwest of Bastogne had led Generalfeldmarschall Model to, at least temporarily, give up trying to annihilate the U.S. breach from the south to Bastogne. Instead he concentrated his forces for an attack against the town from the northeast and the north. Due to this plan, the I. SS- Panzerkorps was to attack on 2 January—the day after ’Bodenplatte’—which meant that the respective attacks of both sides once again came to collide. ’All my troops are just where they should be,’ wrote an expectant Patton in his diary on 1 January 1945.17

But with the Allied aviation to some extent neutralized by the previous day’s massive attack on the Allied airfields, it was the Luftwaffe which first appeared in the air above the battlefield. On the morning of 2 January, Messerschmitt and Focke Wulf fighter-bombers came roaring over Bastogne and dropped their bombs on the Americans. With more and more German planes in the air above them—on this day the Luftwaffe despatched three hundred aircraft in tactical air support only at the Bastogne sector18—the soldiers of German 167. Volksgrenadier-Division marched out to follow up the previous day’s attacks against U.S. 44th Armored Infantry Battalion on the hills east of Neffe. To the Germans, it was just like ’the good old days’! But they would soon be reminded that this was 1945 and not 1940. During the previous night the Americans had prepared a Time on Target artillery volley against the German positions.

The Germans had barely begun to leave their jump-off positions when a threatening rumble was heard from Bastogne. Before they knew it, the earth seèmed to dissolve into a terrible explosion. In a matter of seconds, artillery shells from nine American artillery battalions rained down on the Germans, who had no chance to escape on the bald ridge. All that was left was a large, blackened area. Of the German assault group remained nothing.
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A 155 mm Long Tom at Bastogne. (The Paul Warp Collection)





Meanwhile, a mile and a half farther to the northeast, the newly arrived 340. Volksgrenadier-Division attacked Mageret with the 1. Kompanie of its 340. Fusilier-Bataillon, supported by a platoon of assault guns and a machine gun platoon.19 Departing from Arloncourt, the German troops stormed down the snowy hill east of the village, managed to overpower Combat Command B, 6th Armored Division and soon were inside Mageret. But the Americans immediately struck back. Inside the small woods east of the village, tanks of the U.S. 69th Tank Battalion had moved into position, and these now opened fire in the back of the Germans, who were forced to retreat back across the fields towards Arloncourt in the north. There, the Germans were bombed and strafed by one of their own aircraft, whose pilot dived out of the clouds and thought that what he saw was an American attack on Arloncourt.20

Major General Grow felt certain of victory when his 6th Armored Division began its attack. The 68th Tank Battalion was despatched from Mageret for a new attempt to take Arloncourt, while the 50th Armored Infantry Battalion came out from the forest to the north and attacked Oubourcy and Michamps, about a thousand yards north of Arloncourt. South of the railroad that runs in an east-westerly direction south of Mageret, Combat Command A meanwhiled attacked Wardin from two directions.

But the tank drivers in ’B’ Company, 68th Tank Battalion, which was supposed to seize Arloncourt, could not handle the slippery winter road. The Sherman tanks slid back and forth on their tracks, and eventually the unit commander had to order a halt. Soldiers were sent back to Mageret to collect straw that they could sprinkle in front of the tanks so that these could move on.

While this took place, battle noise was heard from the fields a little farther up in the northeast, where the 50th Armored Infantry Battalion moved in among the handful of houses that constituted Oubourcy. In this place, there was nothing more than a small group of German soldiers who soon came out with their hands in the air. But when the Americans attacked the adjacent village Michamps, the Germans were prepared. In Bourcy, the slightly larger village a mile further north, Nebelwerfer batteries opened fire. Trailing long puffs of flame, the rockets came whistling against Michamps, where they tore the American infantry formations to pieces. The American battalion commander, Lieutenant Colonel Arnold R. Wall, was severely wounded and had to be evacuated.

At that stage, the armor entered—on both sides! Königstiger tanks of Major Lange’s schwere Panzer-Abteilung 506 had been on the march towards the battle area on the road from the east when the fighting broke out. These arrived at Arloncourt just in time to meet ’B’ Company of U.S. 68th Tank Battalion, and two Königstigers were in firing position to fight the Shermans as these belatedly could resume their attack.

The American tanks rolled in a column up the hill heading towards Arloncourt. Through the small armored glass of the turret cupola, the leading Sherman tank commanders could see the first houses in Arloncourt slightly up to the left. But suddenly they discovered something else too. The Sherman in the front stood in flames! And then the next one also burned. The warning cry went through the communications radio, ’Anti-tank guns!’ The Americans had not discovered the whitewashed Königstigers that completely melted into the snow-covered landscape.

While the drivers of the remaining Sherman tanks desperately reversed to get away, the gunner on Königstiger number two pushed down the pedal that made the turret rotate to the left. This Königstiger had established a firing position a short distance down the hill to the right. ’Feuer!’ An armor-piercing shell crashed out of the long barrel and the next Sherman blew up.

With snow swirling around the tracks, the American tanks made it helter-skelter at full speed back towards Mageret. Meanwhile the 88mm guns of the Königstigers boomed and methodically set one Sherman tank after another on fire. In the end, fifteen Shermans of U.S. 68th Tank Battalion’s ’B’ Company stood like burning torches out on the snow-covered field between Arloncourt and Mageret. Only one managed to escape back to Mageret under the cover of a smoke screen.21 But the fight was not over.

It is possible that the Königstigers regrouped south and that they also were responsible for the seven tanks that U.S. 15th Tank Battalion lost shortly afterwards.22 The 6th Armored Division made a great effort to achieve a breakthrough on this 2 January, and Combat Command A was reinforced by the 15th Tank Battalion and the 9th Armored Infantry Battalion to relieve the battered 44th Armored Infantry Battalion in the attempt to capture Wardin, a mile and a half south of Mageret. But both the armor that attacked from the north, and the infantry, which attacked from the wooded hills south and southwest of Wardin, sustained heavy losses.

In the meantime, another German armored force went into action a bit farther to the north. Five Panthers and six Panzer IVs rumbled out from Bourcy. These belonged to the I. Abteilung of SS-Panzer-Regiment 12. In the leading Panther’s turret stood SS-Obersturmführer Rudolf von Ribbentrop, who had taken command following SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Jurgensen’s death at Domane Bütgenbach. Although the 23-year-old son of the German Foreign Minister had been wounded in the mouth by shrapnel less than two weeks earlier, he was back in the first line to lead the ’Hitler Jugend’ Division’s armor.

This armored thrust went straight on Michamps and Oubourcy, where it hit the 50th Armored Infantry Battalion with a terrible impact. With soldiers dropping dead or wounded to the left and the right, the American infantry retreated in the direction of the planted spruce forest Bois Jacques. Von Ribbentrop’s tank crews reported the destruction of nine Shermans and several anti-tank guns without any own losses.23 It may be assumed that the tanks knocked out by von Ribbentrop’s tankers belonged to the two other tank companies—with a total of thirty-four Shermans and Stuarts—that Combat Command B, 6th Armored Division sent forward for a counter-attack at Arloncourt after ’B’ Company’s annihilation at the hands of the Königstigers. The U.S. report says that these two other tank companies were forced back ’under fire on an arc of 220 degrees.’

A bit further south, Combat Command A temporarily managed to occupy Wardin, but in the early hours on 3 January the Germans took back the heavily disputed village in a counter-attack supported by assault guns.24 When U.S. 9th Armored Infantry Battalion withdrew, one quarter of its men had been lost in Wardin or on the blood-stained slopes south of the village.

The 6th Armored Division had been dealt a stinging setback that indeed also had repercussions on the troop’s morale.25 The Bastogne front turned out to be completely different than anything the men of the ’Super Sixth’ had ever experienced before. On top of the stiff-necked German resistance came the relentless cold. One of the division’s soldiers, Sergeant Mike Sovan, tank commander in a 15th Tank Battalion Sherman, said many years after the war, ’I was never as scared in my life as I was at Bastogne. It was freezing and I was afraid of dying from the cold.’26

And it would get even worse in the next few days!

On the other side of the frontlines, the mood was different. The proud SS soldiers who marched into the ruins of Michamps introduced themselves to the terrified villagers as ’those who never retreat.’27

But the Germans also had taken severe casualties. Their 167. Volksgrenadier-Division was badly decimated, and the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division definitely could have had a better start in their participation in the Battle of Bastogne. When Generalfeldmarschall Model visited the Bastogne front in the afternoon on 2 January, he found that neither the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division nor the 12. SS-Panzer-Division had managed to bring up all its subordinate units to the front. Therefore he decided to postpone the attack until 4 January.
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Two soldiers of the 6th Armored Division view a U.S. 2 V2-ton truck destroyed in a German air attack when the Luftwaffe on 2 January 1945 suddenly not only appeared over the battlefield at Bastogne, but also seèmed to dominate the air. On this day, the Germans despatched about 300 aircraft over the Bastogne section, and sustained only limited own losses in the air. (NARA, 111-SC-199354/Lapine)





MONTGOMERY ATTACKS

Model, however, would be preceded by Montgomery, who on 3 January opened his major offensive. The attack was carried out along a 35-mile wide front against the western side of the German Bulge, with the British forces striking in the southwest, against the western tip of the Bulge, U.S. VII Corps in the center, and U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps on both sides of River Salm. The most powerful among these forces was U.S. First Army’s VII Corps, which was directed against Houffalize, with the aim of linking up with U.S. Third Army at that place, thereby cutting off the German Bulge.

Ahead of the offensive, Major General ’Lightning Joe’ Collins, the VII Corps commander, had assembled a considerable force. At the end of December, its two armored divisions, the 2nd and the 3rd, and the 84th Infantry Division ’Rail Splitters,’ were joined by a fourth U.S. division, the 83rd Infantry Division ’Thunderbolt.’ Like the other units of the Corps, this was a battle experienced unit that had been in first-line service since Normandy in June 1944. The divisional commander, Major General Robert C. Macon, had been in combat action since the invasion of North Africa in November 1942. Under his command, the 83rd Infantry Division developed into a rather willful unit that became known to use any means of transport—regardless of whether it was abandoned German equipment or civilian vehicles. At one period the division even is supposed to have used a conquered Messerschmitt 109 fighter! All this led an American reporter to call the 83rd Division the ’RagTag Circus.’

The 2nd and 3rd Armored divisions had been replenished through an addition of two hundred Sherman tanks from British units further north.28 In total, the VII Corps mustered more than 100,000 troops, 616 tanks and around four hundred artillery pieces on 2 January 1945.29 In troops, Collins had a numerical superiority of seven to one against his opponent; in this section, the Germans had a total of about 15,000 men in the first line.30 The probably numerically strongest among the German units here was the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division, which on the night of New Years Eve arrived at the sector southeast of Manhay to replace the 9. SS-Panzer-Division as this was shifted southwards to the Bastogne area.31 But the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division hardly was fit to meet ’Lightning Joe’ Collin’s force. As we have seen previously (Chapter 6), this division was in a quite bad shape already when, on 16 December it was launched into the Ardennes Offensive on the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s section, and since then it had lost about fifteen hundred of its 9,500 men.32

The situation was even worse with this division’s neighbor, the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division, which was under-strength when the Ardennes Offensive began. By this time, it had melted down to a strength of 2,500 troops. The 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ also had been dealt heavy losses—especially through the persistent American artillery bombardment—and was down to 6,000 front-line soldiers.33 Although its pure battle losses were confined to eleven Panthers and a single Panzer IV, the difficulties in bringing up spare parts from Germany had resulted in a rapid decline in the number of combat ready tanks in the division.34 On 2 January 1945, one day before the American offensive, the ’Das Reich’ Division reported a total of twenty-eight serviceable tanks.35 In terms of armor, the Americans thus had a numerical superiority of more than twenty to one.

Yet despite their numerical superiority, the Allies would encounter a rugged and skillfully conducted German defense that slowed down the advance to a snail’s pace. To top it all, the offensive began in circumstances—including bad weather—that made it impossible for the Allied aircraft that had escaped destruction in Operation ’Bodenplatte’ to be deployed to support the ground troops. Danny S. Parker writes:
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Between densely growing pine trees in a snowed Ardennes forest, these SS panzer grenadiers of the 2. SS-Panzer-Division have built a wooden pillbox that offers some protection against the cold and the blizzards. There seems to be nothing wrong with the soldiers’ mood. The picture is probably taken during the relatively quiet period around the turn of the year, before Montgomery’s offensive started on 3 January 1945. (BArch, Bild 183-J28648/Rottensteiner)





’If the German position was breached then the Americans could be almost certain that an enemy riposte was soon to follow, typically preceded by a sharp artillery barrage and paced by a handful of tanks or assault guns. Of course, such counterattacks would have to be thrown back before the advance could continue. And so the battle continued in a monotonously grim series of winter battles, horrifyingly reminiscent of a World War I version of Valley Forge. Casualties were high and advances were deliberate and painfully slow.’36

In the southwest, British XXX Corps was pitted against the 2. Panzer-Division of General von Lüttwitz’ XLVII. Panzerkorps, which still held the most advanced German positions in the Ardennes. But after the devastating defeat in the vicinity of Dinant at Christmastime, this badly mauled division had been pulled back to defensive positions in the area south of Rochefort, about midway between Bastogne in the southeast and Dinant in the northwest. On the 2. Panzer-Division’s right (northern) flank, in the sector south of Marche, was the 9. Panzer-Division. The section south of the 2. Panzer-Division was held by Panzer Lehr.
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British 6th Airborne Division’s first objective on 3 January was the small village of Bure, six miles southeast of Rochefort. The attack, carried out by the 7th Parachute Battalion and 13th (Lancs) Parachute Battalion of the 5th Parachute Brigade, was supported by the Belgian SAS—a special force of Belgian commandos—and armor from the 29th Armoured Brigade. The attack force came down the hills to the north and northwest of Bure. Since one of the British Sherman tanks was blown up by a mine, the other tank crews became more cautious. When the paratroopers reached the valley between the hills in the north and the village itself, the Germans opened fire with machine guns and mortars. The commander of ’A’ Company, 13th Parachute Battalion, Major Jack Watson, recalled:

’The Germans knew we were there; they were waiting for us and as soon as we started to break cover, I looked up and I could see about a foot above my head the branches of trees being shattered by intense machine gun fire and mortaring. They obviously had the guns on fixed lines and they pinned us down before we even got off the start line. This was the first time I’d led a company attack and within minutes I’d lost about one-third of them. I could hear the men of my left-hand platoon shouting for our medics.’37

Next the 2. Panzer-Division counter-attacked with Panther tanks (which the British mistook for Tiger tanks), and these met the 29th Armoured Brigade in what developed into an armor battle, as described by Major Jack Watson, ’When we told H.Q. we had German tanks in the area they decided to bring in our own tanks in support, but they were no match for the Tigers. We had Shermans, and by the end of the battle 16 of them had been blown up.’38

The report from ’A’ Squadron, 29th Armoured Brigade, reads, ’Bure was, in fact, one of the nastiest spots the Squadron had ever been in. The Germans clung to the houses and ruins, hid in cellars and catacombs, fighting and sniping grimly to the end. It wasn’t a place for a depleted battalion and half a troop of tanks. Finally the attack was abandoned and our forces withdrawn.’39

Some twelve miles farther to the northeast, on the other side of River Ourthe, * U.S. 2nd Armored Division and 84th Infantry Division, the force on U.S. VII Corps’ right, flank, simultaneously launched its attack.* This force marched up on no more than about six miles’ width between Hotton and Manhay. Its first objectives were La Roche and Houffalize. In this sector, the Germans had nothing but weak elèments of the 116. Panzer-Division—which had the bulk of its strength on the other side of the Ourthe—and, to the east of these, units from the 2. SS-Panzer-Division of the II. SS-Panzerkorps.

During the first hours of the attack on 3 January, the Americans only encountered sporadic and disorganized resistance, and the main obstacle to their advance were the wintery roads. Sleet and rain poured down, and when the temperature dropped in the morning hours, the wet surface froze to ice. The American vehicle drivers were not at all accustomed to these conditions, so tanks and all kinds of vehicles skidded and slid around, collided with each other, drove into ditches and blocked the roads along which they tried to advance.40

Elèments of II. Bataillon/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ’Deutschland’ were overpowered and surrendered—including most of the 6. Kompanie.41 But the Germans soon had reorganized their defense positions. The 116. Panzer-Division was placed under command of the II. SS-Panzerkorps, and in Mâgôster two SS companies were grouped for a delaying action. Trinal, barely a mile to the northeast, was taken by the Americans almost without any opposition. But then the real fighting began. SS-Obersturmführer Georg Vilzmann, commander of one of these two SS units—5. Kompanie/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 4—describes the grim battle for the tiny village of Mâgôster:
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A Waffen-SS.(Månsson)





We counted 21 enemy tanks north of Mâgôster. But our grenadiers held their positions despite heavy fire from enemy artillery and tanks, although we only had a weak fire support. At 1030, the enemy attacked Mâgôster’s southeastern part with 14 tanks. Here, panzer grenadier Stephan performed particularly well. With his machine gun he relentlessly fired at the mass of the enemy infantry and thus separated them from the tanks. […]

At eleven o’clock, the enemy armor withdrew to the wooded area at Hill 405. At first I thought that our own side had launched a counter-attack, but it soon became clear that the enemy had succeeded in penetrating Mâgôster to the left of us, where 9. Kompanie of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ’Deutschland’ was, in Mâgôster’s northern part. […] Then the enemy renewed his attack from the wooded area at Hill 405, while Mâgôster’s southwestern part and the hill behind this was subjected to a heavy shelling from his artillery. […]

I grouped my company, which by then had melted down to 20 men, in a circle defense around the crossroads in the southern part of Mâgôster and the surrounding house ruins. […] The enemy attacked from all sides and soon there was no way out, so I decided to group my men in defensive positions in the last five houses and the chapel. […] We fought from house to house in some of the fiercest battles of my life. My grenadiers fought to defend each remainder of a wall and even the smallest mound.

At one o’clock the enemy managed to capture my command post. His tanks rolled forward as if on a parade to support the infantry. At around half past one we had to give up the last house and the chapel on the right hand side of the street. Then the remainder of my company, the signals group, and the few men of the 9. Kompanie of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ’Deutschland’ entrenched themselves in the two last house ruins, where we continued the unequal combat with Panzerfausts and handgrenades. Grenadier Niessen neutralized an enemy machine gunner who had taken up position in the house across the street. Oberscharführer Frenske fired his English submachine gun against a group of enemy soldiers who tried to cross the street, and neutralized the entire group.

I myself fired a Panzerfaust against a rocket launcher that the enemy had positioned at the chapel. However, I was unable to observe the effect of my fire because the enemy fired simultaneously and hit my position. As through a miracle I was unhurt, but the man next to me was injured.42

Having tied down the Americans in Mâgôster for several hours, Vilzmann and his SS troops finally were forced to withdraw. Covered by a powerful volley of Nebelwerfer rockets, they managed to break out and retreat to their own positions near Devant-Tave, a mile and a half further southeast. Vilzmann wrote, ’By the sound of the approaching Nebelwerfer rockets, I was able to determine that they would hit nearby. In the next moment the whole volley came crashing down, exactly on the ruined buildings at the crossroads where we had been. Their impact was terrible. The enemy’s armor was dazzled by the explosions and his infantry threw themselves into cover.’43

After Mâgôster further difficulties lay in wait for the Americans. Sergeant Theodore Draper from the 84th Infantry Division’s 335th Infantry Regiment describes this from the American perspective:
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German panzer grenadiers behind a Panzer IV during the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945. Drawing by the German soldier Horst Helmus.





The main objective that day was Devant-Tave past a cluster of woods and a hill. The tanks could not get through the woods and our infantry had to push ahead. We got through the woods safely and one company began to step out to cross the hill. 88s were waiting for them. 88s and rockets and mortars swept the hill and crashed into the woods. We had to pull back. Light tanks were used to evacuate the wounded; nothing else was possible in the snow. At three o’clock in the afternoon, we again tried to take Devant-Tave but again we could not get over that hill. We withdrew for the night east of Mâgôster.44

Meanwhile the Sherman tanks from Combat Command A, 2nd Armored Division that advanced to the east of Beffe—the adjacent village just southwest of Mâgôster— were subjected to a counter-attack by SS-Panzer-Regiment 2 and had to retreat.45 Roscoe Blunt, who served as a Private First Class in the 84th Infantry Division, witnessed the tank battle. He rèmembers how he lay in cover while one Sherman tank after another was hit and knocked out by fire from the superior guns of the Panther tanks. Afterwards, the whole field was filled with burning and knocked out Shermans and not that many destroyed German tanks.46 As darkness fell, the Americans withdrew to the hills outside of Beffe.47

Manhay, five miles northeast of Mâgôster, marked the seam between the two western and the two eastern divisions of U.S. VII Corps. Its 3rd Armored Division under Major General Maurice Rose—with 208 tanks and 177 tank destroyers—despatched Combat Command A and Combat Command B on a just two mile-broad front east of Highway N 15, between Manhay and the Lienne creek in the east. With the support of the 83rd Infantry Division, the American armored division’s first task was to seize the crossroads Baraque de Fraiture. The attack began with a very heavy artillery fire with the use of air burst shells (POZIT).48 In the village of Malempré, two miles southeast of Manhay, a group of civilians became witnesses to the terrible psychological effect of such a concentrated artillery fire. They huddled in the basèment of a house, when suddenly a weeping German soldier bolted down the stairs. He screamed that his two comrades had been killed and then he put a gun to his head and pulled the trigger.49

Yet the assault forces immediately faced a stiff resistance on this section. ’The Germans,’ said Belton Y. Cooper, a captain in the 3rd Armored Division, ‘were past masters at defense against armor by using their own armor skilfully. They took every advantage of their superior armor and used the buildings and rubble of the small fortified villages to conceal their tanks and self-propelled guns. Even when attacking one of these strong-points with a combination of infantry supported by armor and preceded by a quick, heavy artillery barrage, we still sustained heavy losses in our tanks.’50
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The battle is over for this time one of the bloody days in early January 1945. Private First Class Frank Vukasin from ‘C’ Company, 331st Infantry Regiment of U.S. 83rd Infantry Division puts a new clip into his M1 Garand rifle. In front of him in the snow are two dead Germans, probably from the 2. SS-Panzer-Division. Vukasin survived the battle and was awarded a Bronze Star. He passed away in January 1995, at the age of 76. (NARA, 111-SC-198859)





The 2. SS-Panzer-Division went into position in the ruins of Malempré with SS-Panzer-Aufklarungs-Abteilung 2, under SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Ernst Krag, and an armored battalion from the III. Abteilung (gepanzert) ’Der Führer.’ Throughout 3 January, the 3rd Armored Division’s Task forces Lovelady and McGeorge made repeated attempts to seize this village, but German fire repeatedly drove them back, leaving a growing number of burning tanks behind. These were added to the snow-covered Sherman wrecks that had been there since the previous clash between the 2. SS-Panzer-Division and the 3rd Armored Division at the adjacent Belle Haie on Christmas Eve. During one of these attacks on 3 January alone, the Germans saw seven Sherman go up in flames.51

It was not until the American artillery towards the end of the day had laid the entire village in ruins, whereby air burst shells again came into use, that the Germans pulled back. By that time, all but five of the village’s seventy-four houses had been turned into piles of gravel, and the village church was half destroyed. But the Germans only regrouped to new fighting positions, and throughout the following night they fired on the Americans in Malempré with mortars, artillery and Nebelwerfer. When Task Force Lovelady’s Sherman tanks started to advance southwards from Malempré, they ended up in a German ambush. While the American tanks were held up in a minefield, they came under fire from a masked Panther which quickly set two Shermans ablaze.

To the left of the VII Corps was U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps under Major General Ridgway. This included the substantially reinforced 82nd Airborne Division, plus the 30th Infantry Division and what remained of the two divisions that had been almost completely destroyed in the first days of the German offensive—424th Infantry Regiment of the 106th Infantry Division and 112th Regimental Combat Team of the 28th Infantry Division. Moreover, the reconstructed remainders of another division that had been quite badly mauled during the Ardennes Battle’s first days, U.S. 7th Armored Division, was held in the airborne corps’ reserve. Furthermore, the XVIII Airborne Corps would soon receive an additional division, the 75th Infantry Division. Against this force, the Germans could mount no more than two weakened infantry divisions, the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division west of River Salm, and the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division on the river’s east side, south of Amblève. These were subordinated to the XIII. Armeekorps, which had been hastily deployed forward to organize the defense of the northwestern corner of the German Bulge when the I. SS- Panzerkorps in late December was transferred to the Bastogne sector. The corps commander, General Hans-Gustav Felber, was highly experienced and had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross for his merits as a corps commander during the invasion of the Soviet Union in 1941.

However, the opening onslaught by XVIII Airborne Corps against the Germans of XIII. Armeekorps on the morning of 3 January was carried out only by the 82nd Airborne Division with supporting units, and was directed against the positions held by 62. Volksgrenadier-Division. Since U.S. 82nd Airborne Division had evacuated its positions along River Salm at Vielsalm at Christmas time, these two units had been standing against each other along the road that runs to the southwest from Trois-Ponts at Salm and crosses the Lienne creek on its way to Manhay. Here, the front lines were just a few miles south of La Gleize, where SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper had met its demise a few weeks earlier.
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An American medic pulls a wounded soldier on a sled through the snow. (NARA, SC 198 546)





Ridgway’s plan was to first break through on the western flank, and then employ the two ’leftover’ regiments from the north, and the 30th Infantry Division from the north-east in a pincer operation. The 7th Armored Division was held back for the honor of recapturing Sankt Vith, which this division had been forced to give up two weeks previously.

When Ridgway opened his assault, the 517th Parachute Infantry Regiment was able to take Trois-Ponts almost without a fight—the Germans were in no position to hold this advanced position, which was beset by U.S. forces in the north and the west. But slightly to the west of this town, U.S. independent 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion sustained terrible losses. Its soldiers attacked from positions atop the fir-covered ridge on the north side of the road that runs from Trois-Ponts and southwestwards. Once across the road, a painstaking ripple through the snow in an open field began. In the woods five hundred yards ahead, one hundred and fifty Germans from Major Werner Duve’s Grenadier-Regiment 183 lay in cover and silently observed as the American lines drew closer.52 Carefully hidden among the pine trees, a Sturmgeschütz III stood ready. Behind the houses of the farm Laurent lurked another StuG III.

The Germans held their fire until the Americans were at a distance of about two hundred yards. ‘Then all hell broke loose,’ recalled one of the surviving American paratroopers, Staff Sergeant Charlie Fairlamb.53 Machine guns and mortars brought about a terrible carnage on the unprotected paratroopers. Shortly afterwards the two StuG IIIs rumbled forward and opened fire with their guns. Another American, Corporal Joe Cicchinelli said, ’It was just annihilation. You could hear the cries and screams of the guys as they went down. The snow was red with their blood.’54

It was only after Private Charles Miller had managed to knock out one of the German assault guns with a Bazooka—this after crawling through the snow all the way to a firing position close to his target—that the Americans were able to even evacuate their wounded.

To the right of the 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion, two of the 82nd Airborne Division’s regiments meanwhile attacked along a three mile-wide front. Just over a mile southwest of the battlefield where the 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion was being slaughtered, at Basse-Bodeux, the 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment attacked, supported by 740th Tank Battalion’s ’A’ Company. The American tanks advanced on the small country road that ran south, with the infantry on both sides of the road.55 This force was pitted against German Grenadier-Regiment 190, whose antitank weapons destroyed three U.S. tanks.56 ’Apart from two minor enemy penetrations, the Regiment holds positions,’ Grenadier-Regiment 190 reported to the headquarters of the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division.57

But the third regiment of the German division, Grenadier-Regiment 164, failed to achieve much against U.S. 325th Glider Infantry Regiment, which in cooperation with the armor of 740th Tank Battalion’s ’B’ Company, attacked two miles farther to the south.58 Not only did artillery inflict severe losses on the Germans here, but in addition to that, U.S. 3rd Armored Division pushed back German 12. Volksgrenadier-Division in the front section immediately west of Grenadier-Regiment 164’s positions. Since the front ran in a southwesterly direction, the American breakthrough in the southwest forced the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division to fall back. Major Duve was ordered to pull back his Grenadier-Regiment 183 to Rochelinval just west of River Salm, about two miles south of Trois-Ponts. There the Germans would meet U.S. 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion in yet another bloody battle a couple days later. Meanwhile, Grenadier Regiment 190 took up new positions south of Duve’s regiment, and Grenadier-Regiment 164 fell back to the southeast. The commander of the latter regiment, Oberst Jüttner, had three Königstigers—abandoned when the SS left the area two weeks previously—at his disposal, and these would be used to delay the American advance—more on this later.

Lieutenant Richard Durkee of ’A’ Company, 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion, rèmembers the sight that met him when he turned around and looked back at the field where the paratroopers had assaulted on the morning of 3 January:

’As we staggered down the road, I happened to look back at the battlefield, and the sight will never leave me. The bodies of our comrades were strewn about where they had fallen and were practically covered with snow. […] In the first day of the push we had lost our company commander, two platoon leaders and 68 men.’59
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Forward again! Mounted upon a Sturmgeschütz III, a German soldier instructs his comrades.
(BArch, Bild 101I-709-0339-19A/Gerhard Gronefeld)
 




THE GERMANS REGAIN THE INITIATIVE AT BASTOGNE

While all of this took place in the north, the Germans struck with a devastating force at Bastogne. But first off to attack were the Americans. After a terribly cold night, the 101st Airborne Division’s 501st Parachute Infantry Regiment attacked northeast of Bastogne in the morning on 3 January, with the objective of driving the Germans from the southern part of the planted spruce forest Bois Jacques. This led to a series of German counter-attacks so powerful that it may seem as if the offensive planned by Model for 4 January had started a day earlier. The charging Americans immediately faced an intense artillery and Nebelwerfer fire, causing heavy casualties. In the afternoon, SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 26 of 12. SS-Panzer-Division attacked both the 501st Parachute Infantry Regiment and 6th Armored Division’s Combat Command B. U.S. 50th Armored Infantry Battalion’s after action report describes the ensuing battle:

’Only men and tanks were in combat since the aircraft from both sides could not take off because of the bad weather, and the observation by the artillery deteriorated all the time. Finally, when the visibility was down to zero, the Germans played their trump card: They sent their reserves into battle. These exerted such a pressure that the much weakened battalion had to be withdrawn to its starting line west [sic] of the Bois Jacques to avoid being encircled. The extended line could not be held. […] Everything seèmed to work, as in a giant conspiracy, in favor of the Nazis. The heavy cold, the extrèmely poor visibility, the lack of contact and organization helped the enemy.’60
 
With an armored force of twenty tanks (thirteen Panzer IVs and seven Panthers) from SS-Panzer-Regiment 12, and no less than fifty-six tank destroyers (forty-three Panzer IV/70s and thirteen Jagdpanthers) from schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 560 in the lead, the Germans pushed back their opponents two miles.61 Several Sherman tanks employed by the Americans to assist their infantry were helplessly knocked out. Indeed, the infantry of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 26 was inflicted with bloody losses out on the open, snow-covered fields, where it was exposed to fire of American machine guns, mortars and artillery, but when darkness fell, the Germans had reached the outskirts of Mageret and Bizory.

At the same time, three miles farther to the northwest, 9. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ attacked at Longchamps, with thirty tanks from SS-Panzer-Regiment 9 and infantry from SS-Panzergrenadier regiments 19 and 20.62 The positions held by ’F’ Company of 2nd Battalion, U.S. 502nd Parachute Infantry Regiment were overpowered. One of the American paratroopers, Private First Class Walter F. Zagol, said, ’F Company was caught in the open by the German tanks and infantry. […] My company commander put up the white flag on his submachine gun and surrendered his men as the German tanks started to mow down our men in the hedges we were in.’63

This fight cost the 502nd Parachute Infantry Regiment a loss of close to one hundred and twenty men, including forty taken prisoner. This is particularly noteworthy given that the Americans actually knew of the German attack plans in advance. During the previous night, an orderly from SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 19 had got lost in the dark and was captured. It turned out that the POW carried the detailed German attack plan, so on the morning of 3 January, U.S. 101st Airborne Division had directed all the artillery in the area against that section.64 Shortly after the demise of ’F’ Company, a concentrated artillery fire slammed down on the German troops, who were forced back after taking some very heavy losses. Several of their tanks were left behind on the battlefield. But the American airborne division also sustained high casualties through the German attack. When 9. SS-Panzer Division renewed its attack during the following night, the Germans were able to take Longchamps and the adjacent village Monnaville, three miles north-northwest of Bastogne, after a couple of hours of night fighting.65

The Americans fared no better west of Bastogne, despite their great numerical and material superiority. A German report describes the situation for the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division, which stood against U.S. 11th Armored Division in the front area immediately to the west of Bastogne, in early January 1945, ’In the preceding battles our infantry had dwindled to such a degree that the new main line of resistance could be occupied only in the form of widely scattered small strongpoints. […] Already the irreplacable loss of signal communication facilities to the troops brought it about that several Kampfgruppen were forced to act on their own responsibility without orders from higher command organs. On these occasions not only young officers but even non-commissioned officers repeatedly distinguished themselves in a very prominent way. The training principle of “independence of subordinate commanders” which had already been taught during peace time now showed its far-reaching effect.’66
 
The 3. Panzergrenadier-Division’s most vulnerable position was at Senonchamps, in a mere thousand yardwide wedge south of Highway N 4 just west of Bastogne. There the Germans were pitted against U.S. 101st Airborne Division in the east and the 11th Armored Division in the west. A heavy pounding by almost all the artillery in Bastogne and 11th Armored Division’s artillery against this section, succeeded in forcing the Germans to retreat to new positions on the heights just north of Mande Saint-Etienne, a mile and a half northwest of Senonchamps, on 2 January. When U.S. 327th Glider Infantry Regiment and the 10th Armored Division entered Senonchamps, they found the village void of any German troops. But the scenes that met the Americans spoke of heavy fighting. Private First Class Charles Kocourek from the 327th Glider Infantry Regiment rèmembers how he first saw two or three burning American tanks, and then he and his comrades discovered several dead American soldiers stacked on top of each other in a hen house.67

Mande Saint-Etienne also could be seized without any opposition by the 11th Armored Division, since the Germans abandoned this village in a tactical withdrawal to the north. But shortly afterward, the soldiers who had entered Mande Saint-Etienne were subjected to a deadly rain of German artillery rounds. By that time the American armored division was in a quite bad shape. ’We were too exhausted and frost-bitten to carry out any effective attack,’ recalls Staff Sergeant John Fague.68
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A ‘tank grave’ for the Americans. During its first five days of battle, U.S. 11th Armoured Division ‘Thunderbolt’ lost around 70 tanks and nearly 1,000 men. (US Army)





During its first five days of battle, the 11th Armoured Division lost around seventy tanks and up to one thousand men.69 According to German data, the fighting in the Ardennes on 3 January 1945 cost the Allies a loss of forty-eight tanks.70 That same day, Major General Middleton, the VIII Corps Commander, decided to pull the 11th Armored Division out of action.71 ’We licked our wounds, repaired our tanks, and resolved to fight smarter on our return to action,’ said Kenneth W. Moeller of the 11th Armored Division’s headquarters.72 The 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command A, which had sustained such heavy losses at Sibret at the end of December, also was withdrawn from first-line service on 3 January.73

This coincided with the arrival to this front section of U.S. 17th Airborne Division—totally fresh from troop training. The single armored battalion of the 11th Armored Division that was left in the first line proved to be totally inadequate for the task of supporting the ’green’ airborne division, which lacked both tanks and anti-tank guns.

Just as was the case with the 11th Armored Division and the 87th Infantry Division a few days earlier, the 17th Airborne Division barely had arrived in the battle area before Middleton ordered it to attack. The Corps Commander was eager to break through to link up with U.S. First Army in the north.

The 87th Infantry Division was again launched on Middleton’s western flank. Its first task was to smash the German positions at Pironpré, Bonneru and Jenneville at the crossroads ten miles west of Bastogne. But taking advantage of minefields and the rugged terrain, a German battlegroup of no more than thirty men and six tanks from Panzer Lehr managed to hold back basically an entire American division. The 87th Infantry Division Chronicle reads:

’The Germans had set up elaborate defensive positions at Jenneville, Bonneru and Pironpré to protect their main supply road from Houffalize. The entire area was heavily mined and booby trapped, the mountainous terrain covered with dense evergreen forests. In places, snow was waist deep.’74

Repeated attacks against Pironpré on 3 and 4 January 1945 cost the 87th Infantry Division a loss of nearly one hundred and fifty men killed, wounded and missing.75 According to Generalleutnant Fritz Bayerlein, Panzer Lehr Division’s commander, German tanks grouped behind piles of logs at the sawmill in Pironpré managed to knock out every single of the attacking American tanks.76

Further east, the 17th Airborne Division ended up in an even worse situation. Supported by the 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion, the airborne soldiers began their attack in a whirling blizzard on the morning of 4 January.77 The first objective was to take control of Highway N 4 between Mande Saint-Etienne and Flamierge west of Bastogne.

A mile west of Mande Saint-Etienne, the N 4 crosses a not particularly high ridge, but on this height, soldiers of the Führer Begleit Brigades had dug in with machine guns and mortars. The men of the 17th Airborne Division that were pitted against these positions were to call the place ’Dead Man’s Ridge.’ The 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion’s after action report noted that ‘the enemy resisted our attack with heavy mortar and M.G. fire and small groups of infantry.’78 Oberst Rèmer, the Führer Begleit Brigade’s C.O., wrote, ’Because of our shortage in artillery ammunition, the enemy was repelled with nothing but infantry arms and machine gun fire. We opened fire only at the last moment, as the enemy was advancing up the slope, and the opponent suffered heavy losses.’79

Here, ’E’ Company, 2nd Battalion of U.S. 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment lost three company commanders in close succession. But as the paratroopers lay in cover in the snow, a shrill cry was heard, ‘Fix bayonets!’ It seèmed to have an electrifying effect on the young men, who stood up and, defying any enemy fire, stormed up the slope—yelling ’Geronimo’—the battle-cry shouted by paratroopers before they jump from their planes—and managed to overpower the German positions.

But this was futile. On the afternoon of 4 January the Germans launched nine Panzer IV/70s from the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division in a counter-attack.80 This hit the Americans with such an impact that they reported up to twenty attacking German tanks.81 As so often, the Americans believed that it was Tiger tanks. One of the men of the 513rd Parachute Infantry Regiment, Private First Class Al Bryant, describes that fateful 4 January 1945:

We finally made it to the road just north of the small village. It had high banks on both sides and that is where we were told to dig in. The Tiger tanks were shelling the tree tops that bordered the village. The raining shrapnel caused me to give thanks that I was not in the village. Our anti-tank weapons were useless against German Tiger tanks. When our bazookas fired a missle and it hit one of the tanks it might knock off a little metal but no real harm was done. We had a trooper dug in with a bazooka about forty feet in front of us. He fired his bazooka at a Tiger tank, the tank fired back and our trooper was directly hit by an eighty-eight millimeter shell. One of his body parts landed near me.

We had four tanks in support.Two were knocked out almost immediately by the Tiger tanks. In a disabled tank one of the crew was screaming for help. In plain view of the enemy our medic Captain climbed up on the tank and pulled him out. The surviving crew member had both feet blown off. We were out of anti-tank ammunition and up the road came two Germans under a white flag. The one in the back was holding a light machine gun. They told our officer in charge that down in the village where our wounded were being kept, they had a Tiger tank with the cannon pointed at them and they would be killed if we didn’t surrender. One of our troopers tried to bayonet the German holding the white flag and machine gun but several of our troopers stopped him. I rèmember that the officer who surrendered us was not our regular Battalion commander.

As the Germans marched us away, we passed a Tiger tank with the tank commander standing up in the turret. I held up two fingers in the shape of a ‘V’. Big mistake. The tank commander pulled out what looked like a forty-five pistol, aimed it at me and started shouting in German (which I didn’t understand). Luckily, there was someone nearby who understood German and told me that the person holding the gun wanted my gloves. I don’t need to go into detail on how quickly I responded to this request.82

The fighting for the ’Dead Man’s Ridge’ cost the 17th Airborne Division a loss of 275 men on this unit’s first day of battle alone.83 The Germans counted five destroyed U.S. tanks and two hundred prisoners, among them eight officers who were interrogated that same evening by Generalmajor Denkert at his command post in Wyompont, a mile northwest of Bastogne.84
 
A concerned Patton wrote in his diary, ’The 17th Airborne, which attacked this morning, got a very bloody nose and reported the loss of 40% in some of its battalions. This is, of course, hysterical. A loss for one day of over 8% to 10% can be put down to a damn lie, unless people run or surrender.’ Regarding the divisional commander, Major General William Miley, Patton wrote, ’General Miley did not impress me when I met him in Bastogne … He told me he did not know where his right regiment was, yet he was not out looking for it.’85

During the following night the Führer Begleit Brigade despatched twenty tanks in a counter-attack against the 17th Airborne Division’s western flank at Houmont and Pinsamont—which had cost the 11th Armored Division so dearly to seize a few days earlier—and forced the 193rd Parachute Infantry Regiment to retreat a mile. Eleven U.S. tanks deployed to support the 17th Airborne Division were eliminated. In his report for 6 January, Oberst Rèmer made the following observation:

The experience of the last several days had shown that the enemy did not begin his attacks, as a rule, until after a rather long artillery preparation. Then, if the attack following it met any resistance, it was immediately cancelled. Then an artillery preparation began again, followed by an infantry attack. That was repeated a number of times during the day. It was not until almost no resistance took place from the main line of resistance that the enemy infantry went forward. A paralysis of our heavy weapons, especially of the artillery, was hardly brought about, however, except temporarily by fighter-bombers. […] The command of the brigade was struck by the fact, during the last several days, that the enemy attacks were led in a quite disorganized manner in respect to time and place.86

While this took place west of Bastogne, German I. SS-Panzerkorps opened the attack east of the town as planned by Model. Following an artillery preparation by all available German artillery pieces and Nebelwerfers at dawn on 4 January, the Germans attacked the positions held by 501st Parachute Infantry Regiment and 6th Armored Division northeast of Bastogne. This was yet another day when the weather made the ground troops have to fight without air support. The Germans attacked in a southwesterly direction along the railroad Bastogne - Sankt Vith—with the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division to the west of the rail track, and SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 26 and Panzer IV/70 tank destroyers of Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12 to the east. The German advance proceeded at a rapid rate. In the forest Bois Jacques west of the German attack formations, the armor of Team O’Hara from Combat Command B, 10th Armored Division, came rumbling through the snow to meet the German assault. SS-Oberscharführer Ewald Rien, one of the panzer grenadiers of 7. Kompanie/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 26, wrote:

’After some 800 yards, the spearheads came under machine gun fire. Oberscharführer Kowalski and I went forward and determined that the fire came from tanks. We had no more Panzerfausts, so we fired a rifle-grenade at the tank. That was apparently enough to make the crew bail out. A closer look showed that we had captured two operational Shermans. The companies continued to advance and reached the lane and railroad bridge Foy-Mageret [about a thousand yards northwest of Bizory] at first light of the day.’87
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Then eight Panzer IV/70s intervened and forced the remaining American tanks to retreat back into the forest. On the evening of 4 January, 501st Parachute Infantry Regiment had been pushed back around a mile and a half. To the right (east) of this regiment, 6th Armored Division’s Combat Command B had been pushed back to Bizory, about two miles northeast of Bastogne, and to Mageret, a thousand yards to the southeast. This was quite something else than what the tough armor soldiers of the 6th Armored Division ’Super Sixth’ under Major General Robert Walker Grow had expected. Despite their numerical superiority— two days earlier the 6th Armored Division reported a strength of 271 tanks and tank destroyers, while the 12. SS-Panzer Division had no more than a third as many—they had to fall back.88 The order to retreat triggered panic in some quarters in the U.S. ranks. Under these circumstances, they could not hold Mageret either, and the 6th Armored Division fell back to positions on Hill 510, just west of Mageret. Slightly more than a mile farther to the south, the attempts by 6th Armored Division’s Combat Command A to seize Wardin transformed into a hasty retreat down the hill west of the city. Historian John Toland captured the situation when he wrote:

’The early darkness added even more terror to the retreat. The dense woods, the lonely trails, even open fields were fearsome places. Some, particularly the new replacèments who had yet found no comrade to trust, were running back in sheer panic. Others pulled back slowly, making the Germans pay for each yard of advance.

The Germans, tanks and men camouflaged in white, surged forward in triumph. They were hungry, frozen, low on supplies and ammunition but high in morale. […] Reports of[American] men drifting back from the front were alarming. Entire units, claimed many wildeyed refugees, had been cut off and were being wiped out. Back at Division, General Grow had no clear idea of how great his casualties were. But he did know it was the worst day in the history of his 6th Armored Division.’89

The losses sustained by the Americans through the German attacks on 3-4 January 1945 were some of the largest throughout the Ardennes Battle. The 101st Airborne Division and 6th Armored Division alone reported eight hundred and forty-one killed, wounded or missing during these two days. The after action report for the 50th Armored Infantry Battalion of Combat Command B, 6th Armored Division, reads:
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Panther tanks and panzer grenadiers in armored troop carriers roll out against the enemy. (BArch, Bild 183-R98065)





’By the night of 4 January, so many officers and NCOs in key positions had been lost that the battalion was completely confused. There was another retreat, to a line which ran from the railway northeast of La Hez to the railroad junction northwest of Bizory. There, a mixed company from the remains of the infantry was set up. All officers of “A” Company had become casualties.’90

Cleo B. Wheeler, who served in the 6th Armored Division’s 603rd Tank Destroyer Battalion, rèmembers how the setbacks affected the American soldiers, ’Snow was falling January 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 at Bizory, Mageret and Oubourcy. Our hands were freezing, our guns were freezing, and our spirits were freezing. Lines extended, three days lost. Tanks, guns, and infantry standing toe-to-toe, fighting for every inch of ground’91
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SS panzer grenadiers advance through a burning Belgian village in early January 1945. The new German offensive came as a shock to the Allies and even caused the tough Patton to express doubts in an Allied victory in the war. To Major General Grow, 4 January 1945 was the worst day in the 6th Armored Division’s history. (BArch, Bild 183-J28577/ SS-PK-Kriegsberichter Pospesch)





Instead of leading the American offensive, the 6th Armored Division became just another American division to be overthrown by Model’s panzer forces. Patton wrote in his diary, ’The Germans are colder and hungrier than we are, but they fight better’92

AMERICAN SETBACKS IN THE SOUTHEAST

Patton could not count on any support from the front section southeast of Bastogne, where his 26th and 35th Infantry divisions of the III Corps were held back by the 1. SS-Panzer-Division, the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division, the Führer Grenadier Brigade, and the 9. Volksgrenadier-Division. On New Year’s Eve, Major General Willard Paul’s 26th Infantry Division was pushed back by a counter-attack of Fallschirmjager-Regiment 15 at Berlé, five miles southeast of the 6th Armored Division’s positions at Wardin. When renewed American attacks were repelled on New Year’s Day, the 26th Infantry Division cancelled all efforts to break through towards Wiltz for the moment.
 
In the meantime, the 35th Infantry Division under Major General Paul W. Baade intensified its efforts to capture the small villages of Lutremange (three miles south-southwest of Wardin) and Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, a bit to the south. These had been lost to the 1. SS-Panzer-Division on 30 December. On New Year’s night, the German positions on this front section were exposed to one of the most powerful artillery barrages throughout the entire Ardennes Battle. U.S. 161st Field Artillery Regiment alone fired 2,226 shells on 31 December, and 2,895 on 1 January, including no less than eight Time on Target volleys where all shells hit the target simultaneously. A large number of air burst shells also were used. ‘Hitler, count your men’ the American soldiers said to each other as they watched how round after round buried the German positions in flames, smoke and huge fountains of spraying mud.93 This went on for days on end. Between 3 and 7 January, the 35th Infantry Division’s artillery, under Brigadier General Theodore L. Futch, fired 41,385 shells against the German positions.94

And yet, it took the Americans almost two weeks to regain the lost territory. The 134th Infantry Regiment’s chronicle noted, ’The Germans were fighting in excellent defensive terrain with good road networks. The entire area was filled with towns and villages and every house was transformed into a miniature fortress. Every hill and every small woods had to be taken separately. The 137th fought for 13 days before it battered down the defenses of Villers-la-Bonne-Eau.’95
 
On 3 January, the Americans managed to recapture Lutrebois, just north of Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, but an attempt on the next day to encircle the 1. SS-Panzer-Division and Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14 at Lutremange, Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, and the Luxembourgian border community of Harlange a bit further to the southeast, ended in a failure. On the morning of 4 January, the 1st Battalion of U.S. 35th Infantry Division’s 134th Infantry Regiment struck towards the southeast from Marvie, barely two miles northeast of Lutrebois. This advance, which was directed towards the Gros Bois forest in the southeast, collided head on with a simultaneous attempt by 1. SS- Panzer-Division’s Kampfgruppe Pötschke to take back Lutrebois. Although the SS troops failed to attain this objective, their thrust halted their opponent’s advance and cut the American battalion in two, with a significant force—at least ’C’ Company—isolated in the dense Gros Bois forest. The American battalion commander, Colonel Dan E. Craig, immediately issued an order to break out. One of the men in ’C’ Company, Private First Class Nathaniel Schaeffer, recalled:
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This picture bears witness to the fierce battle between U.S. 35th Infantry Division and German Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14 for Lutremange, just northeast of Villers-la-Bonne-Eau. In the foreground, a German 88mm anti-aircraft gun, probably turned over by an aviation bomb. Across the road, a destroyed Sherman. Further back a destroyed unidentified vehicle.
(NARA, 111-SC-198854)
 




’As we got ready to move, I can still rèmember some of the men begging, imploring, and entreating us not to leave them behind. I distinctively recall one man in particular, he had received four wounds, one in a vital part, struggle to his hands and knees and attempt to follow us by creeping along on his fours. What a sight to see him finally collapse, unable to keep up.’96

From the German side, SS-Sturmmann Manfred Thorn, crew member in a Panzer IV tank of the 7. Kompanie/ SS-Panzer-Regiment 1, described that same battle, ‘We surged forward at full speed with our tanks and blazed away at the forest with explosive shells and machine guns. We halted about a hundred yards in front of the woods and continued our fire, which had a terrible impact on Americans. Soon, two American soldiers with their hands above their heads èmerged from among the trees. We held our fire and motioned for them to come. It proved to be a paramedic and a sergeant. The medic told us that two companies from the 134th Regiment of U.S. 35th Infantry Division were in the woods and had been inflicted with very heavy casualties. A while after the medic had returned into the forest, about 150 Americans surrendered.’97

The other men of ’C’ Company retreated through Gros Bois, until they reached the western edge of the forest. Between the cut off Americans and friendly positions in Lutrebois, lay a thousand yard-wide open field which was impossible to cross in daylight. The American regimental commander, Colonel Butler B. Milton Berger, wrote, ’As the afternoon wore on, the men, numbed with cold, stood about talking in low whispers on the possibility of reaching friendly positions. Snow continued to fall intermittently, and the bitter cold penetrated through the heavy clothing. Feet were swelling with “trench foot” Some men nibbled on D rations in an effort to gain some energy. Water in canteens either had been given to the wounded (for taking sulfa tablets), or was frozen, and some of the men were scooping snow from the trees to eat.’98

When darkness fell, they set off. With two men abreast, they formed a human chain in order to maintain contact in the dark night. As quiet as possible they carefully tread out on the field. But after a few minutes, the silence was broken by the clattering sound from German machine guns. The entire column stopped, and a few seconds later, men began to rush back into the woods. It degenerated into a rout, with each man trying to save himself. Company commander Captain William M. Denny, awarded with the Silver Star for valor in combat, was one of the few who did not flee, but instead was captured by the Germans.99

Of ’C’ Company’s one hundred and twenty men, only thirty-seven returned to the American lines during the night of 4 January. A few stragglers followed in the following days. One of them was Sergeant Frank L. Mazzi, who was left alone, injured, behind the German lines. He ran into another lonely American, Second Lieutenant Lawrence Eschelman, and under the cover of darkness they reached the village Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, which was still in German hands. But they managed to avoid being detected and slipped down into the basèment of one of the houses, where they lived on carrots and potatoes for seven days until the village finally was captured by U.S. troops.
 
The fighting on 4 January 1945 cost U.S. 35th Infantry Division 317 casualties. Thus, since the 1. SS-Panzer-Division launched its attack on 30 December, this division had lost no less than 1,603 troops, of whom 531 had been captured or written off as missing. This represented more than a ten per cent-loss in less than a week. On 5 January the divisional commander Major General Baade requested permission to cancel the attacks.100 His request was granted. But even during the period of positional warfare on 5-7 January, the 35th Infantry Division lost 714 men, of whom 308 were captured or written off as missing.

CRISIS IN THE ALLIED COMMAND

On 5 January, not much of an Allied offensive could be seen in the Ardennes. Both southeast and southwest of Bastogne, as well as along the entire Bastogne front, the Americans had sustained bloody losses and been forced back onto the defensive. And Montgomery’s massive offensive in the west and northwest still was not particularly successful. Certainly, at the tip of the German Bulge’s western tip, British 6th Airborne Division and 29th Armoured Brigade finally late in the evening on 5 January managed to capture the last house ruins in Bure. But by then, the British had been fighting for three full days to take this small village, and it had cost them heavy casualties. The 13th Lancashire Parachute Battalion alone had 189 casualties. And beyond Bure, the Germans continued to offer a frantic resistance.

Further north, the 53rd Welsh Infantry Division and British 33rd Armoured Brigade had taken over the positions previously held by U.S. 84th Infantry Division at Marche west of River Ourthe. These British units opened the attack on 4 January—only to be almost immediately halted by the 116. Panzer Division, which had established positions in the forested hills east of Marche. Only on the previous day, the 116. Panzer-Division had received reinforcèments in the shape of the 7. Kompanie/ Panzer-Regiment 16 with fourteen assault guns. The war diary of II. Abteilung in 116. Panzer-Division’s Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 146 for 5 January, reads:

’Throughout the day the enemy attempted to break our front line, and in the Aux Bruyères sector, he managed to infiltrate the woods with weak forces. But we immediately deployed a battle group with a handful of tanks that hurled the enemy back to his starting positions.’101

In the northeast, U.S. VII Corps and XVIII Airborne Corps remained entangled in bitter fighting with German forces who offered an often absolutely fanatical resistance. It took U.S. 2nd Armored Division three full days to cover the three miles between Manhay and Odeigne in the south. Odeigne, located on the other side of a large, wooded height south of Manhay, was subject to American artillery shelling that began on the night of 2 January and continued for 48 hours. Throughout 5 January, U.S. 2nd Armored Division’s Combat Command B and SS troopers fought for every house, every group of trees, every garden wall in Odeigne. The last of the die-hard SS soldiers held out inside the church tower until all but one had been killed.
 
By that time, the two armored divisions in the U.S. VII Corps had lost close to eight hundred men since the offensive began three days earlier.102 The task force of Combat Command B, 2nd Armored Division that fought the battle of Odeigne had to be withdrawn from combat and was replaced by the Division’s Combat Command Reserve.103

What attracted the greatest attention on this 5 January, undoubtedly was the fact that the Germans continued to be on the offensive against Bastogne. Early on 5 January, the 12. SS-Panzer-Division and 340. Volksgrenadier-Division continued their advance northeast and east of the town. Following the costly fighting on 4 January, U.S. 6th Armored Division’s Combat Command A left their positions without any fight, according to German reports. As the troops of German 340. Volksgrenadier-Division took over the area, they encountered large quantities of abandoned weapons and equipment that suggested a hasty retreat.104 Mageret now was entirely in German hands. For a few hours they also held Hill 510 just west of the village, but a terrible artillery barrier from inside Bastogne made it necessary to leave this position. The Germans counted in four hundred American prisoners.105

The German offensive proceeded unabaited on the next day, 6 January. SS-Unterscharführer Alfred Schulz of SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12 wrote, ’After several nocturnal battles we had cleared, together with our infantry, the wooden terrain up to Bastogne. The panzers of Obersturmführer [Georg] Hurdelbrink (commander of the 1. Kompanie), Untersturmfuhrer [Günther] Rehn (2. Kompanie) and Unterscharführer Schulz (2. Kompanie) had advanced the farthest. In the morning of 6 January, we were firing on enemy targets immediately north of Bastogne.’106

The 6th Armored Division’s chronicle dryly remarks that ’the Germans held the upper hand for five days, directing tank-infantry teams against the entire front.’107 Concerning Bastogne, the 68th Tank Battalion’s chronicle noted, ’The whole city resembled a slaughterhouse. It will probably never be known how desperate our situation was.’108

These new German successes were added to the effects of both Operation ’Bodenplatte’ and Operation ’Nordwind’—the German New Year’s offensive in Alsace— and of course also the Allied shortcomings. All in all this contributed to a worry in the Allied staffs that grew into pure panic. Even the tough Lieutenant General Patton confided the nervousness he felt in his diary on 4 January, ’We can still lose this war.’109

Patton obviously was in no better mood the next day, when he wrote a letter to his wife Beatrice: ’Those Germans are vicious fighters … Sometimes even I get skeptical about the end of this show.’110

British Prime Minister Winston Churchill and the Chief of the Imperial General Staff, Field Marshal Alan Brooke, were just as alarmed as they visited the front area in the Ardennes during those days. When Churchill visited the SHAEF headquarters, Eisenhower emphasized how anxious he was to get help from the Soviets ’to take the pressure from the Ardennes battle.’111 This prompted Churchill to send a wire on 6 January to the Soviet dictator Stalin with a plea for help from the Red Army:
 




[image: images]

A German soldier with a panzerfaust. (BArch, Bild 101I-709-0337A-10A/Gerhard Gronefeld)
 




The battle in the West is very heavy … You know yourself from your own experience how very anxious the position is when a very broad front has to be defended after the temporary loss of the initiative … I shall be grateful if you can tell me whether we can count on a major Russian offensive on the Vistula front, or elsewhere, during January.112

That same day, Churchill—code-named ’Colonel Warden’— despatched a similar telegram to U.S. President Roosevelt— code name ’Admiral Q’: ’There is this brute fact: we need more fighting troops to make things move.’ But from where were these new troops to be taken within a reasonable time?

The only man who could rèmedy the situation in a decisive manner was Joseph Stalin, who already on 7 January delivered an answer that gave Churchill hope. The Soviet major offensive on the Eastern Front actually was scheduled for 20 January, but now Stalin promised to assist his allies by launching the attack earlier:

Taking into account the position of our Allies on the Western Front, the GHQ of the Suprème Council has decided to accelerate the completion of our preparation, and, regardless of weather, to commence the large-scale offensive operation against the Germans along the whole Central Front not later than the second half of January.113
 
Churchill hurriedly informed Eisenhower about this good news and then dictated a reply to Stalin, ’I am most grateful to you for your thrilling message. I have sent it over to General Eisenhower for his eyes only. May all good fortune rest upon your noble venture.’114

In the midst of this critical situation, what has passed into history as the Allied ’Battle of the Generals’ reached a new climax. It began with the British newspaper Daily Mail’s first page headline on 6 January: ’MONTGOMERY: Full Story of Breach Battle, British Halted Drive to the Meuse Line.’ The article read, ’The knowledge that Field Marshal Montgomery is now in full control there will be received with relief in this country.’

Next day Montgomery held a press conference at his headquarters in Belgian Zonhoven. Dressed in civilian beige corduroy pants, a blue-gray shirt, the paratroopers’ coat with a colonel’s insignia, and a red paratrooper beret jauntily askew on his head, the colorful field marshal received more than one hundred Allied reporters in a small brick building.

’Monty is still the showman,’ commented a British reporter for United Press. ’This dress may look rather curious,’ Montgomery said with a smile, and then he started to speak about the Ardennes Battle.

’As you know,’ he began, ’von Rundstedt attacked on 16 December and drove a deep wedge into the center of the First US Army. He split the American forces in two, and for a time the situation looked as if it might become awkward.’

’At that time,’ Montgomery continued, ’when I saw what was happening, having no jurisdiction down that was myself, I took certain measures to ensure that if the Germans did get to the Meuse, they would not get over it. I set in motion certain movèments that would ensure balance and poise to meet a situation that might become threatening. Those were purely precautions. I was thinking ahead up here in the north and taking certain measures.’

Having related how Eisenhower assigned him with the command of all Allied troops north of the German Bulge, he said that ’my view is that the really big thing in war is morale.’ He developed a bit on this, and then continued with what many of those present apprehended as a broadside against the U.S. Army, ’Applying that idea to this battle, you will find that having had this hard blow put in and the American Army being parted, it was clear that the battle area must be untidy. Therefore, the first thing I did when I was brought into this business by General Eisenhower was to busy myself getting the battle area tidy.’

With mounting indignance, the American reporters heard the British field marshal tell them that ’I got it sorted out, got reserves in the right places, and got balance. I regrouped the American and British areas and regrouped the whole show.’

Next, Montgomery spoke about American VII Corps, the main force of the Allied counter-offensive in the north, ’That US VII Corps has been formed by me for offensive action, but it took a knock. I said: “Dear me, this can’t go on. It’s being swallowed up in battle” I set to work and managed to form the corps again. Once more pressure was such that it began to disappear in a defensive battle. I said, “Come, come” and formed again…’
 
Indeed, Montgomery also praised the American soldiers by saying, ’I have spent my military life with the British soldier, and I love him and I think he is first class. I have now formed a great deal of affection and admiration for the American soldier, and would say that he is a very brave soldier…’ But that would not help. Most of the American reporters reacted strongly at what they perceived as a condescending tone towards the Americans in Montgomery’s speech. Montgomery finished with a few words about his immediate superior, General Eisenhower:

’We are the greatest friends. It grieves me to see uncomplimentary articles about him in the British press. He bears a great burden. He needs our full support and has the right to expect it. Let us all rally around the captain of the team and so help to win the match. Nobody objects to healthy criticism, but I appeal for an end to the destructive criticism which is impairing Allied solidarity, breaking up the team and helping the enemy.’

The American reporters were absolutely furious. As they saw it, the British field marshal tried to take credit for all American achievèments. Hugh Shuck at U.S. Daily News sent an agitated telegram to his editorial, ’To borrow expression of American General Tony McAuliffe, ”Nuts to you, Monty”’115

But that evening British Daily Mail published a commentary on Montgomery’s press conference. The front page headline read, ’Montgomery Foresaw Attack: Acted ’’On Own” to Save Day.’ The article, which appeared as the newspaper’s editorial, claimed that the Germans had been halted in front of the Meuse in December because Montgomery, on his own initiative, had taken command of the Allied armies along the northern part of the German Bulge before this had been accepted by the superior command, and it continued:

’Apparently the situation was so desperate that Field Marshal Montgomery, using his own initiative, threw in all his weight and authority and asserted his leadership which those round him accepted.’

On its part, British BBC announced, apropos Montgomery, ’It is the most brilliant and difficult task he has yet managed. He found no defense lines, the Americans somewhat bewildered, few reserves on hand and supply lines cut.’ 116

After the war, Montgomery wrote in his memoirs that ’it probably [was] a mistake to have held this conference at all,’ since ’so great was the feeling against me on part of the American generals, that whatever I said was bound to be wrong. I should therefore have said nothing.’117 Montgomery also pointed out in his memoirs what he might have said, but saved the audience from hearing. ’What I did not say was that, in the Battle of the Ardennes, the Allies got a real ”bloody nose,” the Americans had nearly 80,000 casualties, and that it would never had happened if we had fought the campaign properly after the great victory in Normandy, or had even ensured tactical balance in the dispositions of the land forces as the winter campaign developed.’118
 
To top it all, a German radio station in Arnhem transmitted a distorted, completely anti-American version of the BBC broadcast, pretending to be the genuine BBC broadcast. This fake version was heard in Lieutenant General Bradley’s headquarters, which allowed itself to be taken in by the fraud. This resulted in a veritable explosion of indignation. Bradley hastily convened a press conference in Luxembourg in order to explain why Eisenhower had transferred U.S. First Army and half the Ardennes sector to Montgomery. But British Daily Mail struck back with an editorial on 11 January, calling Bradley’s press conference ’a Slur on Monty.’

THE ALLIED STRATEGIC AVIATION INTERVENES

However, while Patton was concerned that the war could be lost, while Churchill appealed to Stalin for help from the East, and while the British and Americans were arguing about who conducted the war in the best way, the power of the German offensive subsided. In the absence of the tactical 9th Air Force, the strategic U.S. 8th Air Force, operating from bases in Britain, stepped in. Certainly, it had even earlier attacked various communication targets in western Germany—railway stations, marshalling yards, road junctions, and bridges—in addition to its ongoing strategic air offensive against German plants for the production of synthetic fuels, but after 1 January 1945 the 8th Air Force was entirely directed against communication targets in western Germany. On New Year’s Day, 850 heavy bombers of the 8th Air Force had attacked various German oil targets. But the next day it was different: The 8th Air Force despatched over a thousand heavy bombers with five hundred escort fighters against lines of communication and tactical objectives in western Germany. On 3 January, 1,168 heavy bombers and 589 fighters were deployed against various communication lines in western Germany, including railway bridges across the Rhine.

On 4 January 1945 the entry in the war diary of the German Armed Forces High Command read:

Our own units muster sufficient strengths in troops, artillery and armor, but these resources can not be utilized due to a lack of ammunition and fuel, which is the result of Allied air attacks on the railway network in the rear area. Since the enemy also directs his air attacks against the road network, this effect is amplified. An order has now been issued to withdraw the Flak from the battlefield, so that this may be used to protect roads and depots.119

The next day the 8th Air Force despatched over a thousand heavy bombers, escorted by almost 600 fighters, against different communication targets in western Germany. The supply situation at the German Ardennes Front deteriorated. On this 5 January, the war diary of II. Abteilung/ Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 146 of the 116. Panzer-Division recorded, ’During the day the battalion engages the enemy’s movèments with only short salvoes, as we now are very short on ammunition . .,’120
 




[image: images]

When the Allied tactical aviation was unable to support the ground troops, the strategic aviation took over. On 2 January 1945, U.S. 8th Air Force despatched 1,011 heavy bombers escorted by 500 fighters against lines of communication and tactical objectives in western Germany. Most of the 8th Air Force’s heavy bombers were Boeing B-17 Flying Fortresses, as seen in this picture. 715 of the bombers participating in the operation on 2 January 1945 were of this type. (US Air Force)
 




In this situation, the German High Command decided to return the 9. SS-Panzer-Division from the sector north of Bastogne to the II. SS-Panzerkorps’ front section farther to the northwest, in order to bolster the defense against U.S. VII Corps. However, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division’s supply situation was not much better. On 5 January, the commander of this division’s I. Bataillon/SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 20, SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Karl Appel, wrote in a letter to Otto Skorzeny, ’Very serious shortages of supplies, particularly clothing and boots.’121

But things would get even worse. During the night of 5 January, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division had assembled in the town of Houffalize, when suddenly the sky lit up by flares. A few minutes later an RAF bomber formation appeared at an altitude of 6,000 feet—nine twin-engine Mosquitoes and 131 four-engine Avro Lancasters. Each of the latter had the capacity to carry a bomb load of 14,000 lb. The attack took place between 0300 and 0330 hrs. Virtually all of Houffalize was destroyed and 189 civilians were killed. The 9. SS-Panzer-Division was hit just as hard. One of the soldiers in this division, SS-Unterscharführer Heinz Pech, described the effect of the bombing:
 
’The town, crowded with personnel and vehicles, suffered heavy damage. All the vehicles were damaged beyond immediate repair, and the bulk of mobile equipment of the 2. Bataillon of 19. SS-Grenadier-Regiment was destroyed. Many vehicles were buried under collapsed houses. I saw two anti-tank guns destroyed, and heard that more had been eliminated. Casualties among military personnel appear to have run as high as 50%. Traffic was delayed for about 10 hours.’122

Meanwhile, Model began to pull back even the 12. SS-Panzer-Division from the front and to the I. SS-Panzerkorps reserve, so that it would be prepared to meet the U.S. counter-offensive. Starting on 7 January, Oberst Tolsdorff’s 340. Volksgrenadier-Division gradually took over the 12. SS-Panzer-Division’s positions northeast of Bastogne, while the 26. Volksgrenadier-Division under Heinz Kokott (who on New Year’s Day was promoted to Generalmajor) regained their old positions left by the 9. SS-Panzer-Division north of the disputed town.

WAR OF ATTRITION WEST OF BASTOGNE

However, the fact that the German lines at Bastogne grew increasingly thinner, did not immediately lead to any major American successes. Far out on the German Bulge’s southwestern tip, around the small town of Saint-Hubert, nearly twenty miles west of Bastogne, Panzer Lehr Division’s Kampfgruppe 902 under Oberstleutnant Joachim Ritter von Poschinger held an eight-mile-wide wedge that separated British XXX Corps in the north from U.S. 87th Infantry Division in the south. Generalleutnant Bayerlein, commanding the Panzer Lehr Division, wrote:

’The Saint-Hubert sector was attacked unceasingly from 28 December on. But the positions were held by very weak defensive forces in fairly heavy battles […] All enemy attacks were repelled, and a great number of enemy tanks were destroyed. In particular all enemy attempts by an enveloping attack to break through the woods both sides of Hatrival and west of Vesqueville [a mile southwest of and a mile southeast of Saint-Hubert respectively] towards Saint-Hubert, failed.’123





[image: images]

Supported by Panzer IV tanks, these German panzer grenadiers have taken up positions on a snow-covered field. (BArch, Bild 101I-277-0844-15/Jacob)
 




As we saw earlier (page 352), in early January the 87th Infantry Division renewed its attempts to break through at the crossroads at Pironpré, four miles southeast of Saint-Hubert, where a small German force of thirty men and six tanks from Panzer Lehr had taken up positions behind minefields in the hilly, forested terrain. As this attack also was repulsed with bloody losses, the American divisional commander, Brigadier General Frank L. Culin, Jr., decided to attempt another attack two miles farther to the east, at Tillet. This section was defended by the II. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment FBB of Oberst Rèmer’s Führer Begleit Brigade. To give extra impetus to Culin’s attack, his division was supported by the 3rd French paratrooper regiment (3ème Regiment de Chasseurs Parachutistes) and the 761st Tank Battalion. The former, part of the British special forces, the SAS (Special Air Service), had distinguished itself during the fighting in Brittany in June 1944 (then designated the 4th Airborne Battalion, 4e Bataillon d’ Infanterie de l’ Air de l’Armee de l’ Air). The 761st Tank Battalion, commanded by Lieutenant Colonel Hollis E. Hunt, was the first African-American armored unit, and it carried the proud name of the ’Black Panthers.’
 
The 87th Infantry Division attacked on 6 January, with the 346th Infantry Regiment in cooperation with the 761st Tank Battalion and the French paratroopers. Although the Führer Begleit Brigade’s battalion was numerically inferior, it was supported by flanking units from Kampfgruppe 902, as Generalleutnant Bayerlein pointed out, ’Anti-tank units which were placed well to the edge of the woods northwest of Tillet were able to interfere very effectively and successfully in the battle of the neighbor (Brigade Rèmer) near Gerimont and Tillet and they succeeded in putting out of action a number of enemy tanks and of inflicting losses on the attacking Infantry.’124 Oberst Rèmer reported on the combat on 6 January, ’During the day, repeated attacks were made against the section held by the II. battalion [of the panzer grenadier regiment] at Tillet. We managed to hold our positions, but at the price of very hard fighting.’125

Thus opened a battle which would rage for several days over Tillet—a small village located in a valley, surrounded by pine-clad heights. Beneath these hills there were open, snow-covered slopes, on which the Americans tried to advance—straight into the German fire. Many years later, one of the tank soldiers of the 761st Tank Battalion ’Black Panthers,’ Eddie MacDonald, said, ’I shall never forget Tillet. It took us one week to drive the Germans out of that town. They were really dug in. After an hour of fighting we knew we were fighting SS troops [a misconception which probably derived from the designation of the unit, the Führer Begleit Brigade].’126 On his part, Oberst Otto Rèmer characterized the U.S. troops at Tillet as the best he had ever encountered, ’excellent fighters’ who frequently ’came behind our lines where they stabbed many of our guards with their knives.’127 According to Rèmer, these were the only American soldiers ’for which we had respect, even during night fighting.’128

Meanwhile Patton exerted a mounting pressure on Major General Miley, the commander of the 17th Airborne Division—which had been overthrown by the Führer Begleit Brigade on 4-5 January—to resume the attack a bit farther to the east. According to Patton, virtually no German forces remained in front of the 17th Airborne Division. After the war, Miley told U.S. military historian Edward G. Miller, ’[Third Army] was still insisting there was nothing in front of us. Our patrols indicated that they were still out there. We couldn’t tell how many. But the Army said they were all pulling away from our front. And so we pushed.’129

On the evening of 6 January, the 17th Airborne Division received the orders to attack at nine o’clock the next morning. When the commander of ’I’ Company, 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment, Lieutenant Eugene Crowley, oriented his men, one of them raised his voice against ’the very idea of going in broad daylight over snow-covered, open terrain, completely dominated by an enemy-held ridge, when at least a good part of the attack route could be crossed in darkness.’ All that Crowley could say was, ’Orders are orders!’130
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Patton’s assertion that there only were weakly manned German positions was not completely taken out of the air. At that stage, the Führer Begleit Brigade was in a miserable state after nearly three weeks of incessant fighting. Indeed, the III. Bataillon of the Brigade’s panzer grenadier regiment had managed to repel the 11th Armored Division on 30-31 December, but at the cost of a heavy draining of its own strength. Oberst Rèmer had no choice but to pull back this battalion from the front. In addition, one third of the panzer grenadier regiment’s two other battalions were withdrawn to form an operational reserve. Thus, the Brigade’s six-mile front—between Tillet in the west and the section west of Mande Saint-Etienne in the east—was held by utterly weak forces. The II. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment FBB, facing the 87th Infantry Division at Tillet, was the Brigade’s strongest battalion. On its left (eastern) flank, the I. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment FBB had no more than one hundred and fifty men in the first line against the entire U.S. 17th Airborne Division. Indeed, this battalion was supported by the Brigade’s panzer regiment, with some thirty serviceable tanks, but the commitment of these was strongly hampered by the increasing fuel shortage.131

In accordance with the orders, the 17th Airborne Division launched its assault at 0900 on 7 January. The paratroopers came out of the dark woods Bois de Valets and Bois de Fragotte south of Flamizoulle and Mande Saint-Etienne, with the 193rd Glider Infantry Regiment on the right flank, the 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment in the center, and the 194th Glider Infantry Regiment to the left. Under the cover of fog and snowfall, and with artillery shells crashing down on the enemy positions in the north, the men of the 193rd Glider Infantry Regiment and the 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment managed to cross the main road N 4—linking Bastogne with Marche—and started to plod through the snow towards the two villages Flamizoulle and Flamierge up to left on the other side of the road.
 
A group of German soldiers who had taken up positions in a forest south of Flamizoulle (a mile northwest of Mande Saint-Etienne) succeeded in halting the 193rd Glider Infantry Regiment, despite the heavy American artillery support. But in the open fields to the west of the grove, the American shelling made it impossible for other German units to hold their positions. Under the cover of a relentless artillery fire, hundreds of green-clad soldiers from the 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment surged ahead across the fields, which by then had been completely plowed up by artillery shells. Gasping with exhaustion and more or less blinded by the snowfall, they ran head on towards their goal, Flamierge—the small village located on top of the ’Dead Man’s Ridge,’ a couple of hundred yards north of the N 4 and a thousand yards west of Flamizoulle. The 1st and 2nd battalions attacked straight from the south, while the 3rd Battalion under Major Morris Anderson, supported by five Sherman tanks, made a flanking movèment from the east. But there the Germans had grouped the three tank destroyers on a small hill. In the snowy mist the Americans failed to observe this threat until it was too late. One after another, four tanks were knocked out, and the fifth stopped.132

Next the German tank destroyers directed their fire against the troops of the 3rd Battalion, who were totally unprotected out in the fields. The shells exploded amidst the paratroopers and bloody body parts flew in all directions. The American advance instantly transformed into a rout back to the jump-off positions. Within short, of the 3rd Battalion’s one hundred and sixty-one men, less than one hundred remained.133
 
But as the jittery survivors lay flat on the ground, desperately seeking cover, the German fire suddenly stopped. A thousand yards to the right lay the men of the 193rd Glider Infantry Regiment, and to the left, a violent gunfire was heard from Flamierge, where the 1st and 2nd battalions were fighting with the Germans in the southern outskirts of the village. But in front of the men of Major Anderson’s 3rd Battalion, all resistance seèmed to have vanished. It turned out that the German tank destroyers had pulled back— probably because they had run out of ammunition. Major Anderson’s remaining men stood up and continued their rush across the field. This time everything went well, and when the Americans—apparently without being detected by the opponent—penetrated Flamierge from the east, the German resistance collapsed.

Generalmajor Denkert, the commander of the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division, immediately organized a counter-attack, for which he was reinforced by armor from the 9. Panzer-Division.134 But when the Germans attacked on the afternoon of 7 January, the Americans were prepared. A raging fire tore huge gaps among the supporting German infantry and hit several of the armored vehicles. The Germans were forced into a hasty retreat. ’Flamierge was defended tenaciously,’ Denkert wrote. ’We gained the impression that the enemy troops which were fighting there had been especially trained for combat in towns. As far as I can rèmember, prisoners brought in to Tronle belonged to an air landing division and I was very favorably impressed by their appearance.’135

Meanwhile U.S. 194th Glider Infantry Regiment attacked on the other side of Highway N 4—slightly farther to the south—and took Millomont, no more than a handful of houses a mile and a half southwest of Flamierge. From there the Americans continued towards the adjacent village of Renuâmont, on the other side of a two to three hundred yard-wide field. Oberst Rèmer describes the battle from the German perspective, ’In Renuâmont, into which the enemy thrust immediately thereafter, a weak company of about 20 men was assembled to hold on to two farms. Although surrounded and repeatedly attacked, it was still fighting stubbornly and bravely at 0300.’136

Less than three miles farther to the west, the battle of Tillet raged on between the II. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment FBB and U.S. 87th Infantry Division’s 346th Infantry Regiment, supported by the 761st Tank Battalion and the French paratroopers. It was an absolutely furious battle in which both sides fought with the same obstinacy. One of the soldiers of ’I’ Company, 346th Infantry, Staff Sergeant Curtis F. Shoup, distinguished himself during the fighting on this 7 January in such a way that he was posthumously awarded the Medal of Honor—bestowed upon just 464 men during World War II. The justification for the award reads:
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An M10 tank destroyer opens fire on German positions during a night battle in the Ardennes in January 1945.
(The Paul Warp Collection)
 




Near Tillet, Belgium, his company attacked German troops on rising ground. Intense hostile machine gun fire pinned down and threatened to annihilate the American unit in an exposed position where frozen ground made it impossible to dig in for protection. Heavy mortar and artillery fire from enemy batteries was added to the storm of destruction falling on the Americans. Realizing that the machinegun must be silenced at all costs, Staff Sergeant Shoup, armed with an automatic rifle, crawled to within 75 yards of the enemy emplacèment. He found that his fire was ineffective from this position, and completely disregarding his own safety, stood up and grimly strode ahead into the murderous stream of bullets, firing his low-held weapon as he went. He was hit several times and finally was knocked to the ground. But he struggled to his feet and staggered forward until close enough to hurl a grenade, wiping out the enemy machinegun nest with his dying action. By his heroism, fearless determination, and suprème sacrifice, Staff Sergeant Shoup eliminated a hostile weapon which threatened to destroy his company and turned a desperate situation into victory.137

But when the day was over, Oberst Rèmer could report that all attacks against Tillet had been repulsed again.138

With the situation in this area thus reasonably under control, the I. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment FBB and the Führer Begleit Brigade’s panzer regiment were assembled for a counter-attack against the 17th Airborne Division on the evening of 7 January. The Germans attacked at nine thirty, in total darkness. The first objective was Flamierge, which was assaulted from two sides. American 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment’s 2nd Battalion was overpowered and fell back south, with the result that even the men of the 1st Battalion left their positions. The two American battalions retreated south across Highway N 4 and halted only in the forest Bois de Valets, where they manned their old positions. The 193rd Glider Infantry Regiment, on the American airborne division’s eastern flank, also was forced back. Thus, Major Anderson’s 3rd Battalion, 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment, found itself cut off in Flamierge.

Meanwhile, a hastily assembled German combat group consisting of only twenty-five men from the I. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment FBB managed to force the 194th Glider Infantry Regiment to abandon the positions south of the N 4 that recently had been conquered by this American regiment. While a few Germans occupied positions in the southern outskirts of Renuâmont, blocking the American possibilities to bring forward reinforcèments, the rest of the combat group managed to enter the village without being detected in the darkness. At a given signal, the Germans opened fire on the Americans, who were completely taken by surprise. The fighting raged from house to house, and the Germans seèmed to be everywhere. The Americans never realized how small the attack force was, as they constantly found themselves being fired at from several directions—from the south, where the exit was blocked, from the north, where the German combat group attacked, and also from the two farms where twenty encircled German troops held out since earlier that day. ’Despite the fact that the unshaken young company commander lost his right hand in close combat at the beginning,’ wrote Oberst Rèmer, ’he led this undertaking to a full success and did not take leave from the Brigade until the following morning.’139 The combat was over in a short time and one hundred and fifty soldiers of the 194th Glider Infantry Regiment were led away into captivity. Oberst Rèmer continues, ’Apparently, this nocturnal attack must have caused a very great panic, because we were able to occupy Hubermont and Millomont again almost without a fight.’140
 
This allowed the I. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment FBB to push forward one mile to Laval, thereby re-establishing the previously lost connection with the II. Bataillon at Tillet, a bit farther to the west.

The Führer Begleit Brigade’s situation was decidedly better the next day, 8 January, than it had been early on the 7th. With U.S. 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment split in two—two battalions had been driven back to the Bois de Valets south of Highway N 4 and one battalion was hemmed in at Flamierge—and the 194th Glider Infantry Regiment repulsed, the threat from the 17th Airborne Division was at least temporarily neutralized. Throughout 8 January the Germans noticed nothing but small reconnaissance operations by the American airborne division. Rèmer now was able to concentrate his forces on a counter-attack against his strongest opponent, the 87th Infantry Division ’Golden Acorn,’ and its subordinate units at Tillet. Supported by a heavy anti-aircraft battery, the II. Bataillon/ Panzergrenadier-Regiment FBB was able to drive back the 87th Infantry Division a mile and a half, past the positions the division had held before it launched its attack.

While this took place, German 3. Panzergrenadier-Division launched a new counter-attack against the Americans in Flamierge. But at this place, Major Anderson’s 3rd Battalion, 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment held its positions all day, defying a local German numerical superiority. The Americans evacuated the village only on the night of 8 January, and under the cover of darkness they succeeded in filtering through the sparsely manned German lines and were able to reach the rest of the regiment in the Bois de Valets forest. In this, they were aided by the extrèmely cold night—a temperature of 6 degrees was measured—which limited the German soldiers’ desire to move across the open fields more than they had been ordered to.
 
When the 3rd Battalion, 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment returned to Bois de Valets, no more than 81 officers and 1,036 soldiers remained of this regiment—out of an original strength of 144 officers and 2,290 soldiers six days earlier.141
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A knocked out Sherman of the 761st Tank Battalion ‘Black Panthers’ is salvaged near Tillet in January 1945.
(NARA, SC 199013)





MONTGOMERY’S OFFENSIVE RUNS INTO DIFFICULTIES

While the Germans were on the offensive at several places at Bastogne, Montgomery’s counter-offensive stalled almost along the entire front. On 7 January, German 2. Panzer-Division, at the tip of the German western flank, mounted a surprising counter-attack which rapidly drove British 6 th Airborne Division and the 29th Armoured Brigade away from Bure—the village that had cost the British so much blood to conquer just two days earlier. A war correspondent of Australian Associated Press reported, ’Crews of German Panther tanks who had their armor destroyed fought as infantry to recapture Bure. They are fighting like tigers in the Bure-Jèmelle area, evidently in an effort to stabilise the tip of the salient.’142

Ten miles farther to the northeast, the 53rd Welsh Infantry Division and British 33rd Armoured Brigade were locked into bitter fighting with German 116. Panzer-Division, which was entrenched in the wooded hills around Grimbiémont, three miles southeast of Marche. These German positions could be captured only on 7 January, by which time the 53rd Welsh was completely worn down. Having sustained 627 casualties, the divsion was pulled out of combat and handed over its heavy equipment to the 51st Highland Division, which arrived in its place. This resulted in a break in the British advance. The 116. Panzer-Division reported a relative calm at the front throughout 8 January.143
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Sherman tanks of the 3rd Armored Division open fire on German positions during Montgomery’s offensive in January 1945. (NARA, 111-SC-198597)
 




On the other (eastern) side of River Ourthe, U.S. 2nd Armored and 84th Infantry divisions—the two divisions on the right flank of ’Lightning Joe’ Collins’ U.S. VII Corps—advanced southwards, towards La Roche. If they managed to take this strategically important town, with its bridge over the Ourthe, the German force in the Grimbiémont section—six miles west of the river—would be enveloped. However, a small composite force from the 116. Panzer-Division (which on 8 January again was placed under the command of II. SS-Panzerkorps) and the 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ managed to hold its own against the American attack.144 German tanks and antiaircraft guns deployed on the heights outside of Samrée, two miles northeast of La Roche, held back the Americans for four whole days. Sergeant Theodore Draper from U.S. 84th Infantry Division participated in this battle. He said, ’Samrée was seemingly impregnable. It was perched on an 1,800 foot hill. First we had to take two other hills, northeast and northwest of it. Our troops had to move through 1,500 yards of rolling ground in knee-deep snow. The enemy had perfect observation of every inch of the way. To tell the truth, it was hard to see how we could make it.’145

Meanwhile, three miles northeast of Samrée, U.S. 3rd Armored Division and 83rd Infantry Division were tied down in a fierce battle over the crossroads Baraque de Fraiture following the capture of Malempré on 3 January. According to the combat report of 2. SS-Panzer-Division’s SS-Panzer-Aufklarungs-Abteilung 2, which held defensive positions in this section, soldiers from the 3. Kompanie of SS-Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 2 destroyed a number of U.S. tanks in close combat inside the village.146 Only on 7 January, when a local weather improvèment allowed the American aviation to interfere, could the SS unit be driven off from the crossroads. But immediately south of the road junction, the Americans were halted again. By that time, SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ’Deutschland’ had arrived to reinforce the positions held by the small SS armored reconnaissance battalion.147

An American attempt to break through on 8 January cost the 3rd Armored Division’s 33rd Armored Regiment a loss of 15 Sherman tanks.148 For four days, SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Ernst Krag’s SS-Panzer-Aufklarungs-Abteilung 2 and SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 held the Americans outside of Tailles, just south of Baraque de Fraiture.

Farther to the northeast, Major General Ridgway’s U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps continued to exert a pressure on German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division between the Salm river to the east and the Lienne creek to the west. Ridgway’s first goal when he launched his attack on 3 January, was Vielsalm, a town that had 4,000 inhabitants before the war and which was a major communications hub and crossing over the Salm. When the XVIII Airborne Corps opened its offensive, the distance to Vielsalm was no more than four miles, but on the offensive’s third day, the 82nd Airborne Division had only reached Arbrefontaine, two miles from the U.S. jump-off positions. On this section, Grenadier-Regiment 164 from German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division fought a quite successful delaying action against the U.S. advance. This regiment was led by one of the most prominent German unit commanders of the Ardennes Battle, Oberst Arthur Jüttner. He had been in almost continuous first-line service since the campaign in Poland in 1939. Jüttner had extensive experience fighting on the Eastern Front, where he had fought battles such as those at Demyansk in 1942 and Kursk in 1943, and had been awarded with the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves. Before the war ended, he would also receive the Swords to the Oak Leaves, as one of only one hundred and fifty-nine Germans during World War II.
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On 6 January, Jüttner’s men repulsed an American attempt to break through, and inflicted heavy casualties on the attackers. Leutnant Haase’s StuG III was reported to have knocked out three American tanks.

The 62. Volksgrenadier-Division also mustered a couple of the gigantic Königstiger tanks that had been left behind by schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501 in this area, and on this 6 January one of these steel colossuses destroyed five Shermans. John Brush, a U.S. Army engineer, wrote:
 
‘6 January 1945 […] As we rounded the curve, we passed five knocked-out American Sherman tanks dispatched by a German Tiger Royal tank parked at the next bend. It probably sat there and let all five of the American tanks get around the corner before shooting the last one to block the road and then picking off the others one by one. All had neat holes through their armor from the Tiger’s 88mm cannon. The Tiger’s front armor was scarred by armor-piercing shells, one of them even embedded in the armor about five inches deep. The Tiger Royal had been destroyed by a direct hit on the side by a bomb. The turret was blown off, and the frontal armor was split open, which enabled us to see that the tank’s armor was nearly twelve inches thick.’149

On 7 January, the American divisional commander, Major General James Gavin, despatched all the Parachute Infantry regiments of the 82nd Airborne Division, supported by the 628th Tank Destroyer Battalion. They managed to break through, but before the Americans could attack Vielsalm it was necessary to secure Tier du Mont, the two-mile-long wooded ridge just southwest of the town. On the way to Tier du Mont the Americans had to take Goronne, a small village two to three miles west of Vielsalm.

Here, two of the best unit commanders of the Ardennes Battle clashed. Against Oberst Jüttner and his Grenadier-Regiment 164, entrusted with the defense of Goronne and Tier du Mont, stood Lieutenant Colonel Benjamin Vandervoort Hayes, the C.O. of the 2nd Battalion, 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment. ‘Vandy’ Vandervoort was a legendary American paratrooper. He had excelled in Sainte-Mere-Eglise in Normandy and during operation ‘Market Garden.’ Ridgway characterized him as ‘one of the bravest and toughest battle commanders I ever knew.’

The whole 82nd Airborne Division advanced along the only navigable route from Arbrefontaine against Goronne, ‘creating a traffic congestion known only on Times Square on Saturday night,’ as Major William Carpenter, one of the officers in Vandervoort’s battalion, put it.150 But right there, Oberst Jüttner had a surprise in store for his opponent. At the edge of the forest north of the road he had positioned a lonely Königstiger, and this rapidly knocked out two Shermans and two tank destroyers.151 ’Everyone now stalled due to the Tiger Royal standing in the way,’ rèmembers Major Carpenter. It was only when a tank destroyer managed to get around the German tank and score two hits in the lesser armored rear end on this, that the Königstiger could be neutralized.’152 But the Königstiger had not only delayed the Americans—among the men wounded by the German steel colossus was Lieutenant Colonel Vandervoort. He was rushed to the rear lines with severe injuries.
 
One of the men of the 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment, Private Allen Langdon, said that the loss of Vandervoort ’stunned the battalion, which had come to believe that its long-time commander was invincible.’153 Vandervoort’s injuries were so severe that he was forced to give up his military career. Thus the U.S. Army lost, according to U.S. Army historian SLA Marshall, ’a file that was destined for higher commands.’154

Meanwhile, the Germans folded in the face of the superior force and retreated to Tier du Mont. The 504th and 508th Parachute Infantry regiments marched on towards the ridge. Among the trees on the crest, Grenadier-Regiment 164 aimed the barrels of eight 88mm guns towards the thousand-yard-wide open terrain below, as this was filled with American paratroopers slowly plodding through the deep snow. Oberst Jüttner held the fire until the paratroopers were halfway out on the field. Then the Germans opened fire with a devastating effect. The snow was stained red with blood, but the surviving Americans continued forward, yelling the paratroopers’ battle cry, ’Geronimo!’ When the paratroopers then fought their way up the slippery slope, German soldiers opened up on the vulnerable men with their fire arms.

Afterwards Major General Gavin described the assault of Tier du Mont as ‘the finest job I’ve ever had done for me.’ The Americans managed to capture Tier du Mont, but afterwards the participating units were too badly mauled to be launched against Vielsalm. What remained of German Grenadier-Regiment 164 pulled back from Goronne and Tier du Mont and retreated to Vielsalm, where they set up defensive positions on the eastern side of the Salm river. Here they held the Americans at bay for more than a week. Three days later, the Americans were compelled to withdraw the battered 82nd Airborne Division from first-line service. By then it had sustained more than one thousand casualties in just a few days of offensive. One of its regiments, the 508th Parachute Infantry, had lost 887 men since it had been deployed against the German Ardennes Offensive barely three weeks earlier.155 The 504th Parachute Infantry Regiment also had been dealt severe losses, although not as heavy as those of the 508th—433 men.156 One of the soldiers of the 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment, Staff Sergeant Wheatley Christiansen, rèmembers that when his ’G’ Company was withdrawn from the front, ’we were down to less than fifty percent strength. In the past, we had lost more men killed, but no other place took quite a toll as the Ardennes.’ In the 82nd Airborne Division’s chronicle, Guy Lofaro wrote, ’Most telling was the loss of so many veterans, men whose battlefield experience had proved invaluable in the past.’157

While the three paratrooper regiments of the 82nd Airborne Division were subjected to this bloodletting on 7 January, other elèments of German 62. Volksgrenadier-Division inflicted even worse losses on the 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion—subordinate to the 82nd Airborne Division—as this battalion attacked farther to the north on that same day.

By that time, the 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion was completely run down. As we saw earlier, it was badly depleted already during the first day of the attack on 3 January. In the following days, this battalion struggled forward during difficult fighting in dense forests against small retrograde forces of Grenadier-Regiment 183. Meanwhile Major Werner Duve, the German regimental commander, grouped the bulk of his troops in defensive positions at Rochelinval at River Salm—two and a half miles south of Trois-Ponts, from where the Americans had launched their offensive. A battalion of 105mm field howitzers from Artillerie-Regiment 162 and a number of 88mm guns were also brought forward to this place. From the height where Rochelinval is located, the Germans could master a large area west and northwest of the village. They understood that the Americans would come out of the woods farther to the west, and that these would then be forced to cross the open fields to reach Rochelinval and River Salm. It would be a bloodbath…





[image: images]





With bayonets fixed, these German soldiers keep a sharp look-out towards a sector from which the enemy has been reported. 
(BArch, Bild 101I-277-0844-16/Jacob)
 
When the 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion reached the forest edge below Rochelinval on the evening of 5 January, only 250 of the 643 men who had started the offensive three days earlier remained. The battalion was ordered to dig in and await further orders, and during the following day it was replenished with large stocks of new ammunition. While the Germans sat in their warm quarters in the village and waited, the Americans shivered in their icy foxholes among the snow-covered fir trees northwest of the village. Then came the order: 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion will attack and take Rochelinval at dawn on 7 January!

The battalion commander, Lieutenant Colonel Wood G. Joerg, protested. His battalion was severely weakened, and his remaining men were too exhausted and cold. To reach Rochelinval from their positions in the forest, the 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion would have to cross a 300-yard wide open valley, covered by snow twelve inches deep—at first down the hill, and then uphill, straight against the German machine guns, mortars and cannons. But the order remained unchanged.

Three miles farther to the northeast, on the eastern side of River Salm, U.S. 30th Infantry Division had launched an attack towards the south on 6 January. Here, Regimental Combat Team 112* managed to overpower the weak positions held by a couple of companies of German 18. Volksgrenadier-Divisions Grenadier-Regiment 294.158 Over the course of 6 January, the112th Regimental Combat Team succeeded in gaining fairly much terrain south of Stavelot, which thus made it possible to break up the German resistance at River Salm through an attack from two directions. Therefore, it was regarded necessary to despatch the 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion without any delay, even though its strength definitely was on the wane.

During the small hours of 7 January, the men of the 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion took up attack positions. But everything seèmed to be against them. To begin with, communications with the artillery which was supposed to prepare the attack, failed, so that only a few volleys were fired—which resulted in nothing more than an alert to the Germans. Then there was no armor support. The 740th Tank Battalion’s ’D’ Company was supposed to deploy two Stuarts and one of the new M24 Chaffee tanks to the attack on Rochelinval.** However, according to the tank battalion’s report, these were unable to participate ’due to woods and narrow trails.’159

Without any snow oversuits—clad in their usual olive green uniforms which stood out well against the white background—the paratroopers surged forward through the deep snow. One of those who participated in this attack, Lieutenant Richard Durkee, recalled, ’Our route of attack was a little country lane with scattered brush on each side. We were about 250 yards from the town and there was a fence to our right.The Germans were sitting up there in the town, just waiting for us. But orders were orders.’160
 
Another of the men of 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion, Sergeant Don Garrigues, said, ’The riflèmen charged out of the woods, down the sloping area and across the cleared field. The Germans were fully awake by that time and had taken positions behind a rock fence. They seèmed to have a sizable force, including several machine guns and automatic weapons. Several of our riflèmen fell from the hail of enemy bullets. I was firing point blank at a German machine gun and our tracers were crossing. Pascal from Company A was lying beside me feeding the ammunition belt into the machine gun. Soon a burst of bullets tore into his arm and shoulder. He yelled, ”I’m hit!” and managed to crawl toward a depressed area behind us while I kept firing. A short time later I felt a jolt like getting hit on the shoulder with a ball bat. At first I thought that was it and then I felt the burning pain and blood. I instinctively yelled ”Medic!” and began crawling and pulling myself toward the depression or ditch behind me. It wasn’t long before a medic came to where I was lying and gave me a shot of morphine.’161

The battalion commander, Lieutenant Colonel Joerg, who personally led the attack, grabbed the uniform sleeve of his liaison officer, Lieutenant John Belcher, and yelled, ’We’re supposed to have three tanks. Where the hell are they? Go find them!’162 The M24 Chaffee tank was ordered forward to ’fire five rounds into the town of Rochelinval and pull back again.’163 But before it had time to go into firing position, Lieutenant Colonel Joerg was hit by German gun fire and killed. The M24’s commander, Staff Sergeant Parks, fired all he had against Rochelinval, expending all the 48 shells of the tank’s 75mm cannon and almost all of the machine gun ammunition. But eventually, a hailstorm of German mortar shells compelled Parks to order a withdrawal.164

Owing to the fire support from the tank, Lieutenant Durkee was able to make it uphill to the outskirts of the village. When he reached there, he saw that only he and another man remained of his group. Durkee continues his story:

Then I saw one man about 50 yards back down to draw and recognized him as my runner, Private Pat Casanova, and I yelled at him to get the riflèmen up to me so we could continue the attack, and his answer is something I will never forget. He shouted back, ‘Sir, they’re all dead.’

Well, I figured we had had it. I told the bazookaman to crawl back down the draw and I would cover him. I figured there wasn’t any sense in attacking the town with two men. He got about three feet when a machine gun opened up on him and put about a quarter of a box of ammunition into him. I crawled around the bend in the lane, moving back, and I saw the reason for Casanova’s answer: there at our machine guns were the men who had been having such a great time the night before eating steak sandwiches.
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A U.S. 155 mm Howitzer M1 howitzer of the 254th Field Artillery Battalion under Lieutenant Colonel William M. Thomson, ready to fire on German positions in the Ardennes. The 254th Field Artillery Battalion was part of the 82nd Airborne Division. (NARA, 111-SC-198446/CPL PJ. Petrony)
 
They were lying this way and that, some face up staring at the sky with sightless eyes, and others face down in the snow. Looking on down the lane I could see men sprawled every two or three yards. They were not wounded because they were in plain view of the Krauts, who had been using them for target practice or something because they had been hit many times. How I ever got out of that alive, God only knows… I found out I was now company commander of a company of nine men…165

In the meantime, Grenadier-Regiment 183 was pulling out of Rochelinval, leaving only a small retrograde force behind; but this was chiefly due to other reasons than the attack by the 551st PIB. At the same time, Regimental Combat Team 112 managed to occupy the villages of Wanne and Spineux just on the other (eastern) side of River Salm. On 7 January, a counter-attack by the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division with Panzerjäger-Abteilung 1818 and Grenadier-Regiment 294 was shot to pieces, whereafter nothing remained to the German units but to retreat to Logbiermé, just two miles east of Rochelinval.166 Thereby the positions of Grenadier-Regiment 183 became threatened, so this regiment had to fold back about a mile to the south, to new positions north of Grand-Halleux. The final conquest of Rochelinval was quite undramatic, as described in the 740th Tank Battalion’s after action report:

The other two M5A1’s were called up and the M24 withdrew for a resupply of amunition. As there had been no AT fire it was decided to run the two tanks into town with the Infantry (about a squad). The M24 furnished a base of fire and the M5 tanks moved in to about 400 yards from the town and sprayed positions and hedgerows with .30 cal, then moved up. The enemy began coming out of foxholes and surrendering. The two tanks moved into town 100 yards apart firing .30 cal and 37mm in all likely positions and basèments. At this time so many were surrendering that Staff Sergeant Parks and Sergeant Curtis manned AA guns to avoid hitting friendly infantry while they exposed themselves to the volume of small arms fire that a tank naturally draws. At 1130 the town was occupied. About 200 prisoners were taken and escorted to the rear. When tanks had taken a defensive position the crews dismounted and assisted in flushing fox-holes that had been by-passed.167
 
This battle marked the end of the independent 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion. Afterwards, no more than fourteen officers and ninety-six soldiers remained of the battalion. Two days later the unit was removed from the front, and on 27 January Major General Gavin dissolved the battalion. The remaining men were transferred to the 82nd Airborne Division.

North of Grand-Halleux, German Grenadier-Regiment 183 established new lines linked with those of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division in the east. In this front section, these two German divisions would hold the Americans checked for a whole week. By gaining some valuable time to the Germans, the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division enabled a new division, the 326. Volksgrenadier-Division, to arrive and take up positions in the Vielsalm sector.168 Three weeks later the commander of Grenadier-Regiment 183, Major Duve, was awarded with the Knight’s Cross.

THE FINAL GERMAN ASSAULT

On 8 January 1945, the Allied offensive had been halted virtually everywhere in the Ardennes. Instead, it was the Germans who attacked. As we have seen, they retook Bure from the British on 7 January, and in the area west of Bastogne they pushed back U.S. 87th Infantry Division and the 17th Airborne Division between one and two miles, and recaptured Flaimerge on 8 January.

To the east of Bastogne, the 12. SS-Panzer-Division’s attack continued on 8 January. Here the Germans had advanced so far that they stood merely two miles from the center of Bastogne. Generalfeldmarschall Model now ordered the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ to seize Hill 510, the strategically important height just west of Mageret.

But this time the 12. SS-Panzer Division’s commander, SS-Brigadefuhrer Hugo Kraas, protested. Twice in recent days, on 4 and 5 January, the Germans had taken this hill, but on both occasions, concentrated American artillery barriers had forced them to abandon the exposed spot. Moreover, by this time Kraas’ division was in the process of withdrawing from the combat zone in order to be placed in the reserve behind the front. But Model would not budge. Hill 510 was to be taken!

The task of carrying out the attack was assigned to SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Johannes Taubert’s 12. SS-Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon, although only its 2. Kompanie, with no more than eighty-one men, remained at the front. The assault force would be supported by the armor of the I. Abteilung of SS-Obersturmführer Rudolf von Ribbentrop’s SS-Panzer-Regiment 12, and the entire division artillery with Korpsartillerie-Abteilung 501 and the Nebelwerfer rocket launchers. On 7 January, SS-Brigadefuhrer Kraas, SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Taubert, and the commander of the assault company, SS-Obersturmführer Hans Richter, reconnoitred the front zone. Richter recalls:
 
’We climbed onto an armored personnel carrier and were made, as best as possible, familiar with the area. It had snowed, the weather was misty, the visibility was poor. During the scouting we encountered several panzers of von Ribbentrop’s Kompanie which were securing in the direction of Bizory. After returning to the divisional command post, the divisional commander gave orders to provide snow suits to camouflage the attackers. Around noon, the 2. Kompanie reached Magaret. The vehicles were left outside the village and camouflaged. The required preparations, such as putting together concentrated and elongated charges, readying flame throwers, etc., were carried out.’169

At six thirty in the morning of 8 January—one hour before sunrise—the German preparatory artillery fire opened up. The Americans, who enjoyed a substantial numerical advantage in artillery, immediately answered the fire, thereby focusing on the German assembly in Mageret. Although this small village had been the scene of many battles during the previous three weeks, many of the resort’s buildings still were relatively unharmed. But now these were blasted into ruins, and soon the village stood in flames. Thus, the Germans could not take advantage of the darkness, and when they launched their attack, the attack formations were lit by the glow from the fires in Mageret.

In spite of a furious fire from American machine guns and mortars, the SS troopers continued their attack up the hill, where they fell upon their enemy in close combat. With the help of explosives and flamethrowers, several dug-in American tanks were disposed of.170 At 0939 hrs, SS-Obersturmführer Richter could report the objective secured—Hill 510 was in German hands.

The seizure of the height had cost the SS company thirty casualties—including most of its platoon commanders. The forty men who remained were subjected to a hellish American artillery fusillade, and soon a company of Sherman tanks èmerged to counter-attack. But SS-Obersturmführer von Ribbentrop’s tanks drove up to meet the Shermans. The results described in U.S. 68th Tank Battalion’s after action report, ’Six tanks of “A” Company were knocked out like clay pigeons.’171 The remaining American tanks withdrew under the cover of a smoke screen.

However, the small German force could not possibly hold their positions atop the naked height that offered no protection against the U.S. artillery. Soon, the decision to withdraw had to be taken. With shells exploding all around, the SS soldiers crawled back through the snow, and, disheartened and exhausted, with many of their comrades left behind, reached Mageret at eleven in the morning.

Thus ended the last German offensive in the Ardennes. The last elèments of the 12. SS-Panzer Division ’Hitler Jugend’ now were pulled back to be held in reserve, with SS-Obersturmführer von Ribbentrop’s armor and SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12 in Michamps, a mile and a half northeast of Mageret, and the rest of the division in the II. SS-Panzerkorps’ rear area between Houffalize and Sankt Vith. Its attempts to break through and seize Bastogne had definitely failed, but in return, the Germans had halted U.S. 6th Armored Division’s advance and even forced the proud ’Super Sixth’ onto the defensive. The battles of 3-4 January had cost the 12. SS-Panzer-Division a loss of forty killed, one hundred and ten wounded, and forty missing.172 It can be estimated that the division lost at least as many men during the following days. Its material losses at Bastogne amounted to thirteen tanks (seven Panzer IVs and six Panthers), twenty-four tank destroyers (seventeen Panzer IV/70s and seven Jagdpanthers), and eighteen armored personnel carriers.173
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Two German machine-gunners are working their way through the snow to reach a better firing position. (BArch, Bild 101UI-Bueschel-091-07A/Buschel)





In a way, the small German combat force atop Hill 510 on the morning of 8 January 1945 captured the entire German situation in the Ardennes in a nutshell; in view of the circumstances, the gains were quite remarkable, but in the long run unsustainable. Above all, as it was noted in the German High Command’s war diary, the Allied air attacks made the German situation increasingly difficult.174 On 6 January, U.S. 8th Air Force’s campaign against German lines of communication in the rear of the Ardennes Front continued with air attacks against bridges over rivers Rhine and Moselle, and marshalling yards at Cologne, Koblenz, Ludwigshafen, Worms, and other places. On the next day, more than a thousand heavy bombers took off against these targets. On 8 January, communication nodes in e.g. Dasburg and Clervaux and in the area south of Sankt Vith were targeted by over seven hundred Flying Fortresses and Liberators. Aided by H2X ground mapping radar, the Americans could drop their bombs even through a heavy overcast—which offered a good protection against German Flak.* The effect of these attacks is obvious from the report dispatched to the Army High Command by the 5. Panzerarmee on 8 January, ’The acute fuel crisis continues unchanged. On 7 January there were again no allocations and thus stocks diminished further. […] Supply situation in ammunition extrèmely strained, because bringing-up is not assured in any way. Allocations again did not cover current consumption. Present quantities of stocks are so small that only continuous bringing-up can meet the serious situations. […] The rations supply situation remains critical.’175 Two days earlier, the 6. SS-Panzerarmee had reported, ’Supply situation continued extrèmely strained. Also in respect of ammunition. Armee [sic] had no stocks whatever of light field howitzer or medium field howitzer ammunitions either in trains or dumps. […] The only two roads available completely blocked by halted motor transports.’176 On 12 January it was reported that the Führer Begleit Brigade had thirty serviceable tanks, but ‘no fuel in entire brigade.’177
 
In view of the deteriorating situation, Hitler issued an order on 8 January to withdraw the units facing U.S. VII Corps to a line extending from Dochamps in the north (four miles northeast of La Roche) to Longchamps (twelve miles farther to the south-southeast and four miles north-northwest of Bastogne). Since Hitler assumed that when the Allies became aware of this, they would shift the emphasis of their attacks to another front sector, he also instructed Heeresgruppe B to immediately release two panzer corps, four ’schnelles’ (mobile) Verbands, two Volksartilleriekorps, and two Werferbrigades from the front and group these as an intermediate reserve northeast of Sankt Vith and east of Wiltz in order to maintain the freedom of action.178 Next day, Hitler specified the order to apply to the two SS panzer corps with the four SS-Panzer divisions.179 The 6. SS-Panzerarmee was ordered to take command of this force, ’to be able to meet the enemy’s counter-attack.’180 This in practice meant that the Führer abandoned the offensive posture in the Ardennes, but on the other hand, Heeresgruppe B’s ability to fulfill its new role, to tie down as large Allied forces as possible in the Ardennes, was reinforced.

THE BATTLE OF THE HARLANGE WEDGE

While the Germans thus pulled units out of the battle, new units were brought forward on the Allied side. To the west of Bastogne, U.S. 87th Infantry Division at Tillet was reinforced with the 691st Tank Destroyer Battalion, and (arriving from the 4th Infantry Division) the 12th Infantry Regiment, whereby this division consisted of thirteen infantry battalions instead of the standard nine. To the east of Bastogne, U.S. 4th Armored Division went into position on a narrow sector to the left of Combat Command B, 6th Armored Division at Mageret. But the most important injection of new forces was the arrival of the 90th Infantry Division, which—completely undetected by the enemy— took up positions between the 35th Infantry Division and 26th Infantry Division, some six miles southeast of Bastogne. The 90th Infantry Division was a veteran unit that had been in first-line action since the landing at Utah Beach in Normandy on 6 June 1944. The divisional commander, 52-year-old Major General James A. Van Fleet, was yet another student from the so-called ’class the stars fell on’ at West Point—together with other prominent commanders such as Eisenhower and Omar Bradley. Van Fleet landed in Normandy on 6 June 1944 at the head of an infantry regiment, and was appointed to command the 90th Infantry Division in October 1944.

Patton hoped that these reinforcèments finally would make it possible to break the frustrating impasse, which he so often had held his subordinate unit commanders accountable for. He was so disappointed with the commanders of the 11th Armored and the 17th Airborne divisions, Kilburn and Miley, that he even considered dismissing them both.181 He called the commanders of the VIII Corps and III Corps, Middleton and Millikin, ‘too cautious’ and in his diary he complained that he ’had to use the whip’ on them.182 ’I know their men are tired,’ Patton wrote, ’but so are the Germans.’ He expressed his annoyance that his subordinate commanders did not seem to understand that ’we have to push people beyond their endurance in order to bring this war to an end.’183

Patton really had reason to feel dissatisfied. His famous TUSA—Third U.S. Army—had seen its offensive get stalled along the line. The ’Super Sixth’—the 6th Armored Division—had been inflicted a humiliating defeat at the hands of the 12. SS-Panzer-Division east of Bastogne. In the southwest, four of the Third Army’s divisions—the 9th Armored, the 11th Armored, the 17th Airborne, and the 87th Infantry—had been repulsed by comparatively weak German units. Southeast of Bastogne, the III Corps had been forced to give up on trying to retake the small villages of Lutrebois and Villers-la-Bonne-Eau after the 35th Infantry Division had been inflicted too heavy casualties. To the right of the 35th Infantry Division, Major General Willard Paul’s 26th Infantry Division was stuck in a positional warfare south of the objective assigned to the division when it had launched its offensive nearly three weeks earlier, Wiltz. And XII Corps down in the southeast had been bogged down in the rugged terrain along the border between Luxembourg and Germany.

It was only right at the seam between the III and the XII Corps that any success at all could be achieved. On 7 January, a surprise attack by U.S. 80th Infantry Division managed to take the two Luxembourgian villages Goesdorf and Dahl, two to three miles southeast of Wiltz. ’This attack keeps the enemy off balance,’ Patton scribbled down in his diary.184 It may sound like an exaggeration that the loss of these villages would have such a large effect on the German position, but events over the next two days would confirm the veracity of Patton’s assessment.

Patton’s diary entry for 8 January reads:

’I determined to renew the attack on Houffalize on the 9th by adding to the present stalled attack of the 87th Infantry and 17th Airborne divisions, a new attack by the 101st Airborne and the 4th Armored divisions. The attack in the morning will comprise eight divisions. The VIII Corps from left to right—87th Infantry, 17th and 101st Airborne divisions and the 4th Armored Division. The III Corps—6th Armored, 35th Infantry, 90th Infantry, and 26th Infantry divisions’185





[image: images]

Lieutenant Colonel George B. Randolph, C.O. of the 712th Tank Battalion, lies in the snow between two American tanks in Nothum, killed by shrapnel from German artillery on the morning of 9 January 1945. (NARA, 111-SC-198482/ PFC S. Gilbert)
 




The deployment of the 90th Infantry Division would prove to be absolutely crucial. This was assembled against the wedge that the Germans still held south of Bastogne. Here, General Rothkirch’s LIII. Armeekorps manned positions from the area south of Harlange, six miles southeast of Bastogne, to Villers-la- Bonne-Eau, two miles farther to the west. Thereby U.S. 6th Armored Division in the area east of Bastogne was separated from the 26th Infantry Division further southeast, south of Wiltz, which was an obstacle to Patton’s operations.

But when the 90th Infantry Division attacked straight from the south towards Harlange on the morning of 9 January, the German positions in the ’Harlange Wedge’ had been considerably weakened. When U.S. 80th Infantry Division’s captured Dahl, the threat against Wiltz, the important communications hub three miles farther to the northwest, increased. This prompted General Brandenberger, German 7. Armee’s commander, to deploy the bulk of the Führer Grenadier Brigade to this section.186 Left remaining in the Harlange Wedge was only the Führer Grenadier Brigade’s Panzer-Fusilier-Bataillon and 929. Infanterie-Bataillon, along with Grenadier-Regiment 36 from 9. Volksgrenadier-Division and the already heavily decimated 5. Fallschirmjager-Division. According to Generalmajor Heilmann, the commander of the latter unit, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division had begun to withdraw from this section already on 6 January, and by the time the Americans struck, the SS division’s panzer regiment had pulled out.187 Numbering 13,000 troops, U.S. 90th Infantry Division actually was four times stronger than these German units.

Following a brief artillery fire—lasting a mere ten minutes so as not to give the Germans time to prepare—the 90th Infantry Division attacked shortly before ten in the morning of 9 January, with the 357th Infantry Regiment, supported by the 712th Tank Battalion. Although the Germans were taken completely by surprise by the unexpected appearance of the 90th Infantry Division, they offered a quite effective resistance. The German paratroop division’s only heavy weapons was a lonely 88mm gun, which under Leutnant Teske from Fallschirm-Panzer Jager-Abteilung 5 was positioned atop Hill 490 between Bavigne and Berlé, three miles southwest of Wiltz. This turned out to be sufficient to inflict sizable losses on the attacking Americans during the first hours of the attack. 712th Tank Battalion sustained particularly bloody losses, including the battalion commander, Lieutenant Colonel George B. Randolph, who was killed by German artillery.188 Lieutenant Colonel Randolph’s popularity among his men was attested by Patton, who once said that he would ’give anything in the world if the Third Army had as much confidence’ in him ‘as the 712th Tank Battalion boys do in Colonel Randolph.’ The armored battalion’s ’B’ Company also lost its company commander and a platoon commander during the morning hours on 9 January.189 This single German gun even gave echo in Patton’s diary, which noted that ’the 90th Infantry Division, making the main effort, received heavy casualties from artillery and rocket fire just after the jumpoff’.’190

But American artillery soon zoomed in on Hill 490, and after a few hours the ’88 was silenced. At two in the afternoon, Sherman tanks of the 712th Tank Battalion had managed to crawl up the slippery slope and capture the height. From there, they continued, along with the Infantry in the 457th Infantry Regiment, downwards, towards the Berlé, which was taken two hours later. There, twenty-four Germans, including the commander of the Führer Grenadier Brigade’s 929. Infanterie-Bataillon, were captured.

Deprived of the support of heavy arms, German LIII. Armeekorps now was subjected to a murderous fire from more than a thousand U.S. artillery pieces.191 Oberst Werner Bodenstein, chief of staff of the Corps, wrote, ’We suffered serious losses and casualties in these battles mainly because of the almost uninterrupted strong enemy artillery fire which caused high losses in the battles in the wooded regions, but more so as we were unable to find proper shelter in the frozen ground.’192

This had a significant demoralizing effect on the Germans, and many of them totally lost their nerves. The Paratroop Division’s commander, the experienced Generalmajor Ludwig Heilmann, wrote, ’Many fled towards Wiltz, while others desperately tried to offer resistance. In Doncols, the commander of our Panzerjäger-Abteilung surrendered without a fight. The commander of Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14 hid in a house in Doncols. The commander of the division’s Granatenwerfer-Bataillon [mortar battalion] personally reported that he had lost his entire battalion, including all mortars. Nothing was heard from Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14. It was the end of our division’193 U.S. 712th Tank Battalion’s after action report for 9 January testifies to the breakdown of the combat morale on the German side:
 
’Around 1730 two columns of German Infantry approached the CP, one column on each side. They were halted and when they started running for cover, the platoon leader directed fire on them. During the firing a voice was heard calling on one side, ”Stop firing, for God’s sake stop firing! We’re Americans, we’re G.I’s returning from a patrol! Please stop firing!” After the firing had ceased, the voice was heard again, ”We’re Germans. We want to give up and be taken as P.W’s.” Twenty-seven prisoners were taken and an undetermined number killed.’194

Meanwhile, the Germans were assualted from both the northwest and the southwest. U.S. 35th Infantry Division’s 320th Infantry Regiment, and Combat Command A of the 6th Armored Division attacked on a two-milewide front in the Marvie area in the northwest.195 Three miles further south, the 35th Infantry Division’s 137th Infantry Regiment once again attacked Villers-la-Bonne-Eau, which was held by Fallschirmjager-Regiment 14 and a panzer grenadier battalion of the 1. SS-Panzer-Division. During the course of a few hours, American artillery fired no less than six thousand shellss against this little hamlet, which consisted of not more than fifteen by that time totally collapsed houses.196

Next day, 10 January, U.S. 90th Infantry Division despatched another regiment, the 359th, on the right flank. As this powerful American attack coincided with Hitler’s orders to withdraw the SS Panzer divisions—including the 1. SS-Panzer-Division, which had been the cornerstone of the German defense at Villers-la-Bonne-Eau—from combat, Model decided on 10 January to evacuate the Harlange Wedge. The SS Division deposed three Panthers and two Wirbelwind anti-aircraft tanks to cover the retreat. But just as the small road from Harlange to Bohey, five miles farther to the northeast—the only escape route available to the Germans—was filled with vehicles and marching columns on this 10 January, the weather cleared up.

The German troops marched back along the road in a temperature of five degrees when Thunderbolt fighter-bombers appeared from behind the tree tops. Panic broke out. In the next moment the road had turned into a jumble of burning vehicles.

The three Panther tanks of the 1. SS- Panzer-Division had engaged U.S. 712th Tank Battalion, holding back the Americans for a short time, but when the American aviation now entered the scene, this German force retreated. Not without bitterness, Generalmajor Heilmann noted that ’the SS troops failed to follow the orders, and instead vanished without a trace.’197
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Private William J. Birthold from the 357th Infantry Regiment, U.S. 90th Infantry Division, with a BAR machine guns near Doncols during the Battle of the Harlange Wedge.
(NARA, 111-SC-199107/ T/4 Harding)
 




The German infantry units in the Harlange Wedge found themselves helplessly at the mercy of artillery bombardment and strafing Thunderbolt planes. The retreat turned into a rout, with the unit cohesion disintegrating into small groups of men who made it through the Gros Bois woods in the north. This became the next target to the powerful American artillery, with dire consequences to the men who were trapped there.

When the American soldiers later entered the woods, they met a terrible sight. Colonel Butler B. Milton Berger, commander of the 35th Infantry Division’s 134th Infantry Regiment, wrote, ’The advancing men were conscious of the smell of broken evergreens, and the death which had visited the woods so frequently. They saw the effects of the days of murderous mortar barrages of Companies D, H and M, and of the 4.2s, and of the unprecedented artillery fire which had torn through the woods. Never had they seen as many German dead, left on the battlefields’198 The Americans counted over one thousand POWs.199

The Battle of the Harlange Wedge undoubtedly was one of the greatest American successes since the Battle of the Ardennes had begun. German 5. Fallschirmjager-Division, whose losses amounted to the disastrous eight thousand men since 16 December—virtually had ceased to exist as an effective fighting unit.200 Von Manteuffel contacted the paratroop division’s commander Heilmann, and furiously told him that he personally had seen hundreds of leaderless paratroopers ’in tattered uniforms’ wander about the roads leading away from the front.201 It was, as Heilmann put it, the end of the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division.
 
When the demoralized remnants of the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division were ordered to carry out a counter-attack under the command of the SS, Heilmann crashed. ’Now it dawned on me,’ he wrote, ’that the Prussian militarism and the fanaticism of the SS was capable of any act of madness at any time.’202 Heilmann continued, ’In this situation I chose, for the first time in my military career, to go my own way. With nothing but the purpose of saving human lives, I pulled back my Pionier Bataillon and Fallschirmjager-Regiment 15 from the front and positioned them behind Wiltz, so that they could not be placed under the command of the SS.’203 On 12 January Generalmajor Heilmann was released from the command of the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division, which was subordinated to the SS.204 But the counter-attack never came to be. After the Battle of Harlange, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division was grouped as a reserve in the area between Houffalize and Sankt Vith.

And still, the remaining German troops managed to create new defense lines west of Wiltz, and prevented the Americans from capturing this town.

The losses also were significant on the American side. The 35th and 90th Infantry divisions sustained more than five hundred casualties on 9-10 January. To the 35th Infantry Division the Battle of the Harlange Wedge was something of a Pyrrhic victory. Of an initial strength of 16,092 troops, 3,391 had been lost in three weeks— including nearly one-third (911 men) in the category ’captured or missing.’ Patton had no choice but to withdraw the badly mauled division from the front.

BLACK PANTHERS AT TILLET

Meanwhile, Middleton’s U.S. VIII Corps renewed its efforts to break through in the area west of Bastogne. While the 17th Airborne Division, which had become one of Patton’s ’problem childs,’ remained passive south of Laval and Hubermont—where the American paratroopers had been pushed by the Führer Begleit Brigade on 7-8 January—the heavily reinforced 87th Infantry Division ’Golden Acorn’ attacked Tillet again on 9 January. But the Führer Begleit Brigade also had been reinforced, albeit limited in scope, so that its grenadier companies at least reached a strength of thirty men each, and the tank companies eighty.205

Although sustaining heavy casualties, the Americans refused to give up in this sector. Captain Charles A. Gates, commanding ’C’ Company, 761st Tank Battalion, led ten Sherman tanks against a height held by German tanks and anti-tank guns. The 761st Tank Battalion ’Black Panthers’ already had made itself famous for its high morale.

During the bitter fighting at Tillet on 9 January, the Sherman tank of Sergeant Theodore Windsor, one of Gates’ platoon commanders, was knocked out, whereby the driver was killed. Instead, Windsor climbed into Sergeant William McBurney’s tank, which made a solo raid far behind the German lines. Eventually even this tank was destroyed, but Windsor, McBurney and his driver survived. They crawled almost three miles through the snow, back to their own lines.206 Eight Shermans, including Gates’ own, were shot up, but the Americans fought on. Gates, who survived, continued to lead the assault on foot, with the two remaining—damaged—Sherman tanks. The tank commanded by Lieutenant Moses E. Dade had the turret blown off, but Dade undauntedly carried on, charging the German positions with his still-functioning front machine gun. The other remaining Sherman tank received several hits, but when Gates called the tank commander, Sergeant Frank C. Cochran, and asked about the condition, the reply came back, ’They’ve hit me three times, but I’m still giving them hell!’207
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This tank soldier from the 761st Tank Battalion ‘Black Panthers’ was identified by the NARA as Corporal Carlton Chapman, machine-gunner in a Sherman. However, veterans of the units have found that this is a misidentification, and that it in fact is tank driver Technician Fourth Grade Claude Mann from Chicago. The 761st Tank Battalion performed excellently in the Battle of Tillet in January 1945. Oberst Rèmer, the commander of German Führer Begleit Brigade, described the American soldiers at Tillet as the best he had ever encountered, excellent fighters’ who frequently came behind our lines where they stabbed many of our guards with their knives’ (NARA, 111-SC-196106-S)
 




After five hours of fighting, the hill finally was in American hands. By that time, the men of the 761st Tank Battalion had destroyed a Panzer IV, three anti-tank guns and eight machine gun positions, and 106 killed German soldiers lay sprawled in the blackened ground on and around the hill.208 For his performance on that day, Captain Charles A. Gates was awarded the Silver Star, the third highest U.S. award for valor in combat.209
 
In the evening of 9 January, Oberst Rèmer, the commander of the Führer Begleit Brigade, was ordered to withdraw to Amberloup, a mile and a half north of Tillet. Next day the exhausted but triumphant soldiers of the 87th Infantry Division and the 761st Tank Battalion hoisted the Stars and Stripes over the ruins of Tillet.

PATTON IS HALTED AGAIN

However, when U.S. Third Army meanwhile launched an attack to the north and east of Bastogne—attempting to sever the German supply lines—things were quite different. On the morning of 9 January, the 101st Airborne Division despatched 501st and 506th Parachute Infantry regiments, supported by armor, to take Recogne and Noville north of Bastogne. The American attack formations were completely massacred by a concentrated mortar and artillery fire. The commander of the Headquarters Company in the 506th PIR’s 3rd Battalion, Captain James Morton, wrote:

’Headquarters 3rd was caught in a woods by a mortar barrage and my men dropped at every quarter. Webb went out of his mind. Beard, now a lieutenant, was shot in the arm. Lundquist was killed … Kopala, my runner, was hit at my side. A mortar shell hit the trees above us. Fragments wounded Kopala severely, but I was unscathed. I was blown off my feet twice, a most unpleasant experience.’210

The artillery and mortar fire was followed by a counter-attack with tanks of the 9. Panzer-Division’s Panzer-Regiment 33. ’Never have I lived through such a nightmare,’ wrote the field surgeon in 3rd Battalion, 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment, Captain Bernard L. Ryan. ’All night long, shells screamed into the woods, direct fire from tanks. It was nearly impossible to evacuate the wounded. They were dying like flies. Through the whole night we heard the screams of the wounded and the moans of the dying.’211 The next morning the snow in the forest was criss-crossed by numerous blood trails where badly wounded men had tried to crawl back to their own lines. This failed attack cost the 3rd Battalion, 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment alone a loss of one hundred fifty-six men. Among those wounded was the famous commander of the 501st Parachute Infantry Regiment, Colonel Julian J. Ewell.

To the east of Bastogne, Combat Command B, 6th Armored Division and the 4th Armored Division made a joint attempt to recapture Mageret on the morning of 10 January. Although Combat Command B, 6th Armored Division had been dealt heavy losses in the previous days, and the 4th Armored Division was severely decimated after the advance to Bastogne in December—by that time it had just fifty tanks remaining, out of the one hundred and sixty-five it had disposed on 22 December—it was a quite strong attack force to be launched against just a small village.212 The German troops of the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division offered a frantic resistance, supported by three temporarily detailed Panther tanks from the 12. SS-Panzer-Division— commanded by SS-Untersturmfuhrer Willi Engel.213 The chronicle of U.S. 4th Armored Division noted, ’As it advanced, the lead elèments of CCB were hit with heavy mortar and artillery fire. A proliferation of machine guns and panzerfaust teams were positioned in the woods, which slowed the tanks down further.’214
 
The Americans and Germans were in the midst of bloody fighting for Mageret when the Third Army headquarters at noon on 10 January received a new SHAEF order that struck Patton as a bomb. He wrote in his diary: 

’Higher authority decided that an armored division should be withdrawn from the line as a precautionary measure against the possible German attack from Saarbrücken. The attack of the 101st Airborne and 4th Armored Divisions was therefore called off at noon, and the 4th Armored will withdraw during darkness. At the same time the 101st Airborne Division and the 6th Armored Division will link up. The entire VIII Corps will limit offensive operations to vigorous patrolling.’215

The 4th Armored Division was ordered to urgently regroup to the city of Luxembourg in the south. The German Ardennes Offensive and Operation ’Nordwind’ had made the Allied superior command so nervous that it feared a new German offensive of almost the same size as the Ardennes Offensive just when a turning point finally had been reached in the Ardennes. The SHAEF was afraid that such an imagined major offensive was about to be launched further south, directed against the city of Luxembourg, with the intention of linking the German forces in the Ardennes with those who were on the offensive in Operation ’Nordwind.’

’This is the second time,’ lamented Patton, ’I have been stopped in a successful attack due to the fact that the Germans have more nerve than we.’ But as we have seen, only a few days earlier, Patton himself had, under the impression of the German offensive successes against his own army, scribbled down in his diary, ’We can still lose this war.’

GERMAN PANZER RESERVE

But the Germans had nowhere near the resources that such an additional offensive would have required. However, they still mustered considerable forces against the Allies in the Ardennes. In those days they were busy shortening the front lines and building up a powerful armored reserve in the rear area, in order to reinforce their positions in the Ardennes with the purpose of tying down even larger Allied forces. That was the reason why the German resistance farthest to the west suddenly declined. On 10 January, the British were able to retake Bure without a fight—which finds its explanation in that the 2. Panzer-Division, starting the night of 9 January, completely withdrew from the front lines.216 The 9. Panzer-Division also left the section farthest to the west and regrouped to Michamps, northwest of Bastogne, where the division on 12 January was subordinated to the LVIII. Panzerkorps.217 And at the bottom of the German Bulge’s southeastern corner—around Diekirch, where the 79. and 352. Volksgrenadier divisions stood against U.S. XII Corps—the headquarters of the LXXXV. Armeekorps under General Baptist Kniess was shifted to the 1. Armee (participating in the ’Nordwind’ offensive) on 10 January. The 79. Volksgrenadier-Division on the Corps’ northern flank was subordinated to the LIII. Armeekorps, and the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division was added to the LXXX. Armeekorps.218
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A German 75mm PaK 40 anti-tank gun in position on a snow-covered field. The soldier on the far left wears a fur hat from Russia. (BArch, Bild 101I-690-0201-28/Kripgans)





It was this sudden regrouping on the German side that made the Allied suprème command so anxious. Already on the morning of 8 January 1945, the Ultra decrypted a German radio message dealing with the 9. Panzer-Division’s redeployment in the Marche and Rochefort sectors.219

On 10 January it was noted in Lieutenant General Hodges’ diary in the headquarters of U.S. First Army, ’The British continued to advance from the west without encountering any enemy opposition other than that of heavy minefields. There is no question now but that the Boche is pulling out all his heavy equipment leaving only light reconnaissance forces in the west in an attempt to slow down the advance. It is an orderly withdrawal and in no sense a rout or retreat.’220

Also in the Saint-Hubert area, Panzer Lehr Division prepared for the evacuation to the east.221 On 11 January, French 3ème Regiments de Chasseurs Parachutistes could capture Saint-Hubert without difficulties.222 Meanwhile, the troops of U.S. 87th Infantry Division marched through Bonneru and Pironpré where previously so much blood had been shed. In the northeast, Samrée was seized, and before noon on 11 January, U.S. 84th Infantry Division was able to enter the town of La Roche, which had been abandoned by the Germans on the day before. On the evening of the 11th, German 5. Panzerarmee reported that its units had completed the withdrawal ’according to the plan.’223
 
It was a major relief to the paratroopers of U.S. 17th Airborne Division when they resumed the attack on 12 January, and it turned out that they only met a very weak resistance, so that with relative ease they were able to retake Flamierge—this time definitively. During the previous night, the Führer Begleit Brigade also had been detached from the front to join the reserve that Hitler was assembling for another surprising blow againt the Allies in the Ardennes.224 That he really had this in mind, was suspected faster than no one else by the SHAEF.

As the Allies were well aware of at this point, the German armor in the Ardennes was far from beaten. In the SS panzer units deployed to the rear area, damaged and unserviceable tanks could be repaired relatively quickly. With just over three hundred tanks and tank destroyers in these units—and the artillery in two Volksartilleriekorps and two Werferbrigade—Hitler disposed of a reserve force which in other circumstances might have, if not turned the battle, at least extended it by several weeks.*

CONCLUSIONS AND RESULTS

Although several accounts of the fighting in the Ardennes during the winter of 1944/1945 tend to focus on the period up to the relief of Bastogne on 26 December 1944, the bloody battles in the snow east and northeast of this town, in conjunction with the 12. SS-Panzer-Division’s renewed offensive at the end of the first week of January 1945, are what have created the dominant image of American soldiers against German armor in the cold and snow during this winter battle.

At the start of the second week of January 1945, the Allied counter-offensive had failed miserably in the aim of destroying the German forces in the Ardennes—in spite of a manifold numerical superiority. And not only that—their opponent Generalfeldmarschall Model even had managed to regain the initiative east and north of Bastogne. While the 12. SS-Panzer-Division pushed U.S. 6th Armored Division ’Super Sixth’ back towards Bastogne, other German units met the Allied counter-offensive west and northwest of the disputed town with a resistance just as stubborn as that offered by the American soldiers at Bastogne during the first days of the German Ardennes Offensive. Just as the German qualitatively superior tanks had played the decisive role during the German operational breakthrough on 16-17 December 1944, these tanks now prevented the Allies from accomplishing a similar breakthrough.

The only sector of the Ardennes front where the Allies until 10 January 1945 had managed to both overpower and completely crush any major German units, was—quite symptomatically—the area where the Germans almost completely lacked any armor: the Harlange Wedge southeast Bastogne. There, U.S. Third Army finally could settle the score with the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division, the German division that, although fairly lightly equipped, had inflicted such humiliating setbacks, such extensive losses and so much frustration to the Americans in the previous three to four weeks. The price the 5. Fallschirmjager-Division had to pay was absolutely ghastly. When the Battle of the Harlange Wedge was over, most of the paratroopers who had crossed River Our less than four weeks previously were either killed, wounded or in U.S. captivity.
 
The Allied successes during the period of clear flying weather between 23 and 27 December—including the relief of Bastogne—and the difficulties the Allied ground forces ran into when the air support for various reasons ceased, highlights the important role played by the Allied aviation. That the U.S. strategic 8th Air Force could be deployed—often with more than one thousand heavy bombers at a time—when the tactical aviation could not be used, also serves to illustrate the Allied material superiority. The German ability to bring forward at least the minimum of maintenance required by the front troops to perform not only an elastic defense in the west, but also a new offensive at Bastogne, may be regarded as a remarkable feat.

By that time, the U.S. Army had sustained not only significant losses in personnel and equipment—on 10 January 1945 the Germans reported the destruction or capture of 350 Allied tanks since the shift of the year225 — but also a severe blow to its pride. This—again—came into evidence through the strong reaction from the American side on Montgomery’s press conference on 7 January 1945.
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Due to fuel shortage and snowed-in roads, the Germans even had to resort to using dog teams to bring forward supplies to the frontlines. (BArch, Bild 183-2013-500/Bauer-Altvater)
 




However, at that stage it should have been quite clear to the German high command that the desired turning point of the war could not be achieved—not least because of the threat they saw looming on the Eastern Front. On 9 January, the diary of the German Armed Forces High Command recorded, ’Hostile attack intentions all along the Eastern Front: Apart from Hungary, concentrations of forces have been observed at Baranowo, Puławy, Magnuszew [all positions located in Poland], and East Prussia. The Army General Staff estimated that the attack will be initiated against Heeresgruppe A [in Poland] in the direction of Baranowo - Częstochowa, possibly combined with a flanking movèment around Warsaw. In the East Prussian sector we expect a thrust over River Narew towards Thorn, and an attack over the eastern border to the west and southwest.’226

As we shall see, this feared Soviet offensive would exert no small influence on the German military operations in the Ardennes.
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A 155 mm Long Tom of 514th Field Artillery Battalion’s B’ Battery, U.S. 90th Infantry Division, shelling German positions in Luxembourg in January 1945.
(NARA, 111-SC-199418)
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Below: These German soldiers are clearly marked by several weeks of bloody winter war. As the Soviet big offensive came on 12 January 1945, prompting the Eastern Front to collapse like a house of cards, it was clear to the Germans that the war was lost. For another few days however, the hope remained that it would be possible to halt the Red Army. (BArch, Bild 101I-277-0844-17/Jacob)





* Probably soldiers from the parts of Poland and Czechoslovakia that had been incorporated into Germany.

* This refers to the branch of the Ourthe river that from the area west of Houffalize flows to the northwest, passing through La Roche and Hotton.

* The reconstructed 112th Infantry Regiment of the 28th Infantry Division, which had been more or less wiped out in December 1944, now had been subordinated to the 30th Infantry Division.

** The M24 Chaffee was intended to replace the somewhat obsolete light tank Stuart. The Chaffee was armed with a 75mm M6 gun and three machine guns. Like other light tanks it was relatively lightly armored, with a frontal armor only one inch thick. The first thirty-four Chaffees were taken into service in November 1944, and the tank treated above was one of two M24 Chaffees received by the 740th Tank Battalion in December 1944.

* The H2X was a radar device mounted in the aircraft, through which flight crews could see an image of the ground below.

* On 15 January 1945, the 1. SS-Panzer-Division and its subordinate schwere SS-Panzer Abteilung 501 reported a strength of sixty tanks and fifteen tank destroyers—thirty Königstigers, nineteen Panzer IVs, twelve Panthers, eleven Panzer IV/70s, and four StuG IIIs. Its ’twin division,’ the 12. SS-Panzer-Division, meanwhile reported a strength of thirty-nine tanks and tank destroyers. The 9. SS-Panzer-Division was reported to muster thirty-nine tanks and thirty-three tank destroyers. At about the same time, the 2. SS-Panzer-Division had fifty-five tanks (thirty Panthers and twenty-five Panzer IVs) and fourteen Panzerjäger IVs.





CHAPTER 11

THE BLOODY FINAL BATTLE

”The first burst hit four of us before we could find cover in the ditch below the machine gun’s trajectory. Herrig was hit along the top of both shoulders, Friedenheimer was hit through the lung, I took a bullet in the back of my pack and was knocked down to my knees. Behind me was Milton Cohen, a private, one of the eighteen year old replacèments that had joined us two weeks earlier. He was hit in the teeth with the bullet exiting his head behind his right ear, and I will never forget his plaintive call for his mother.” John M. Nolan, Sergeant in U.S. 119th Infantry Regiment in January 1945.
 
THE RED ARMY GOES INTO ACTION

It is doubtful if even Hitler himself believed that a new blow against the Allies with a large reserve force of SS armor could be realized. Not because the opportunities were not available in the Ardennes, but because he sensed that the respite he had been granted by the Red Army’s pause to assemble its forces for a new attack in the east had hastily drawn to a close.

On 9 January 1945 the Führer was briefed about signs that a Soviet offensive on the Eastern Front probably was imminent. The same day he changed his orders regarding the SS reserve force: Instead of being held in readiness near Sankt Vith, this was now to be transferred to Germany, behind Heeresgruppe G’s front, in order to rest and replenish.1

In response to Churchill’s appeal to Stalin on 6 January to bring forward the Red Army’s winter offensive, Marshal Ivan Konyev, commanding the Red Army’s 1st Ukrainian front, received a phone call on 8 January from the Soviet dictator who instructed the marshal to launch the attack more or less immediately.

The Ardennes Offensive’s fate was sealed at five o’clock in the morning on 12 January 1945, when the 1st Ukrainian Front’s 32,000 artillery pieces and heavy mortars—with a density of 500 barrels per mile—opened a terrible barrage against German 4. Panzerarmee’s positions in southern Poland. After several hours of bombardment, heavy Josef Stalin tanks—steel monsters equipped with a 122mm gun—rumbled toward the tattered German defense positions. In the evening a 25 mile wide and twelve mile deep gap yawned in the 4. Panzerarmee’s lines.

On the Western Front the Allied soldiers and generals received this news with great exhilaration. Now they knew that the end had come to the Germans! Combat morale, which had suffered so many trials in the past month, soared. The very next day, a beaming Patton wrote in his diary, ’Attitude of troops completely changed. They now have full confidence that they are pursuing a defeated enemy.’2
 
On 13 January the Soviet offensive was extended as the 3rd Belorussian Front attacked East Prussia, and the following day marshals Zhukov’s and Rokossovskiy’s 1st and 2nd Belorussian fronts struck on both sides of Warsaw. Just as during operation ’Bagration’ in the past summer, the German front fell completely apart. Generaloberst Heinz Guderian, Chief of the German Army General Staff, appealed to Hitler to give top priority to the Eastern Front—an absolutely superfluous request. As early as on 13 January, Hitler issued orders to send two infantry divisions (the 269. and 712.) from the Western to the Eastern Front, and the next day Dietrich’s 6. SS-Panzerarmee plus Volksartilleriekorps 405 and VAK 408 in Heeresgruppe B received similar orders.

On 14 January the Führer also granted Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt’s request to allow Heeresgruppe B to carry out an actually fairly drastic retreat. The new front line would run from Cherain (six miles northeast of Houffalize) towards the south-southwest to Bourcy (eight miles northeast of Bastogne), and another three miles southeastwards to Longvilly. This meant that not only to would Houffalize be evacuated, but—and this was really quite startling—that the Germans would also abandon the Bastogne Front.

On 15 January, Hitler held a last meeting with von Rundstedt and Model at the ’Eagle’s Nest,’ where he instructed them to hold the Western Allies at bay as long as possible. Then Hitler boarded his train and went to Berlin, never again to return to the Western Front. Within a week thereafter, the I. SS-Panzerkorps, the II. SS-Panzerkorps, Generalleutnant Karl Decker’s XXXIX. Panzerkorps, the Führer Begleit Brigade, the Führer Grenadier Brigade, two of the Army’s panzer divisions, one infantry division and two additional Volksartilleriekorps were ordered to regroup to the Eastern Front.3 To cover the 6. Panzerarmee’s rail transport, the III. Flak-Korps was also attachéd to this army, and eventually shifted to the Eastern Front. Meanwhile three fighter wings and a ground-attack wing—JG 1, JG 6 and JG 11, and SG 4—were immediately transferred from the West to the Eastern Front. During the next few days, these were accompanied by the majority of the German aviation in the West—JG 3, JG 4, JG 54, JG 77, JG 300, and JG 301. Overall it was a bloodletting that Heeresgruppe B never would recover from.
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DELAYING ACTION

But even if the fate of the Ardennes Offensive was sealed, it was not over yet. General Hasso von Manteuffel now was—on his 48th birthday on 14 January—appointed to command the Ardennes sector, and with the utmost skill he organized a withdrawal to the recommended line in a way that would cost the Western Allies as much blood as possible. Von Manteuffel wrote, ’I informed the troops of my decision to fall back fighting delaying actions, stressing the fact that by their mutual co-operation, liaison within the army was to be maintained to prevent a breakthrough by the enemy within the zone of our army.’4 No decline in the German morale could yet be observed. ’The Germans north and northeast of Bastogne are resisting viciously in order to preserve their escape routes,’ Patton noted in his diary.5 When Combat Command B, 6th Armored Division on 13 January made another effort to recapture Mageret east of Bastogne, the Americans became embroiled in new hard battles with the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division. U.S. 50th Armored Infantry Battalion’s after action report reads:

’The enemy counter-attacked, re-entered the town, and fought savagely from house to house. Employing an unprecedented number of bazookas, they knocked out three of our tanks and battled throughout the nite with unabated fanaticism. It was not until the following morning that we were able to root the final fanatics from their last ditch positions, and “A” Company assisted “B” Company in this job. Although this vicious battle took a heavy toll in the ranks of the Battalion, it would be difficult to compute German losses since the fanatical enemy was sacrificing vast numbers of men and material in a desperate, reckless effort to stop our advance.’6
 
In the British sector northwest of Bastogne, a group of Panther tanks lay in wait in the village of Nisramont, four miles southeast of La Roche, when the 51st Highland Division’s main armored column came rumbling in on the afternoon of 13 January. In a quick exchange of fire, the Panthers destroyed four British tanks and then departed.7

Further north, U.S. VII Corps made desperate and very costly attempts to resume the advance. Having advanced four to five miles in five days, the 3rd Armored and 83rd Infantry divisions on the Corps’ left (eastern) flank were halted at Tailles, two miles south of the crossroads Baraque de Fraiture on 7 January. The Americans tried to circumvent this German stronghold and regrouped to Petite-Langlire, five miles farther to the east. Here the 3rd Armored Division and the 329th and 331st Infantry regiments of the 83rd Infantry Division, supported by the 774th Tank Battalion, made a concentrated attack on 10 January. This section of the German front had been held only by the weak 12. Volksgrenadier-Division, but by this time it had been bolstered through the recent arrival of the 9. SS Panzer-Division’s armored reconnaissance battalion. The German defense was facilitated by numerous dense fir copses, and additionally, the SS battalion had positioned an 88mm gun and two Panther tanks in such a way that they could dominate the entire area.8
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This Sherman of the 6th Armored Division was knocked out by a hit—possibly from a Panzerschreck—above the tracks, during the bitter battle for Mageret on 13-14 January 1945. In the foreground a dead German soldier from the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division. (NARA, SC 199214)
 




The Americans, who advanced across open fields between the fir copses, became easy targets for the German guns and mortars. The situation is described in the 329th Infantry’s combat report, ’The opposition from the enemy consisted of all types of fire, but it was the fire from the enemy tanks which caused most casualties and which held up the advance. 5 or 6 enemy tanks were estimated to be in or near the objective, changing their positions from time to time, and they commanded the open terrain between the objective and our troops. This operation was proving to be the toughest since Normandy, because in addition to the battle casualties, which were beginning to mount up, the number of those with frozen feet was increasing.’9

Following three failed attack attempts, the Americans had to cancel all further efforts, having sustained grievous losses. The 774th Tank Battalion alone lost nine tanks and a tank destroyer.10 The 3rd Armored Division also was badly mauled. ’The heavy losses we had sustained so far in the Battle of the Bulge resulted in a series of critical shortages of tank crews,’ said Captain Belton Cooper of the 3rd Armored Division. ’The M4 Sherman normally had a five-man crew. […] As casualties became more acute, we first had to eliminate the assistance driver. This denied the tank the use of the ball-mount machine gun, which was particularly effective against infantry. Later on, we had to eliminate the assistant gunner, and the tank commander had to double as the loader.’11
 
But since the Germans, from 10 January and onward, pulled back to the line Dochamps - Longchamps, the elèments of the 2. SS-Panzer-Division, 560. Volksgrenadier-Division, SS-Panzer-Aufklarungs-Abteilung 9, and 12. Volksgrenadier-Division that faced U.S. 3rd Armored and 83rd Infantry divisions gradually became outflanked. When the stronghold at Samrée, four miles southwest of Tailles, fell on 11 January, and the Americans and British entered the town of La Roche another three miles farther to the southwest, U.S. 3rd Armored and 83rd Infantry division could finally ’get going.’

Through the capture of Samrée, Major General ’Lightning Joe’ Collins, the highly competent commander of VII Corps, was able to concentrate against Tailles -Petite-Langlire. On 12 January, he assaulted the German positions in this section with a hugely superior force—the 2nd Armored Division’s Combat Command B, and the 84th Infantry Division’s 333rd Infantry Regiment of the western flank, and practically the entire 3rd Armored and 83rd Infantry divisions on the eastern flank. The battle raged all day, costing both sides heavy casualties.
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U.S. combat vehicles on fire and equipment of the 3rd Armored Division is lying scattered around near Petite-Langlire, where a U.S. attack on 10 January 1945 was repelled by an 88mm gun and two Panther tanks from SS-Panzer-Aufklarungs-Abteilung 9 under SS-Hauptsturmbannfuhrer Karl-Heinz Recke. (NARA, 111-SC-199019/Roberts)
 




At Tailles, Combat Command B, 2nd Armored Division and the 333rd Infantry Regiment faced the 2. SS-Panzer-Division’s SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 and its armored reconnaissance battalion, SS-Panzer-Aufklarung-Abteilung 2 under SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Ernst Krag, and—immediately to the left of these forces—the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division. The U.S. infantry which on the morning of 12 January attacked Tailles from the area south of Baraque de Fraiture, and, on the other side of the main road to Houffalize, attempted to advance across the open terrain toward the small village of Petites-Tailles, was hastily forced to turn back by a concentrated German fire. New attempts to attack were made continually, but this resulted in nothing but bloody losses to the attackers. Meanwhile American artillery transformed both villages into smoldering heaps of ruins.
 
Then, in the afternoon, the armor of Combat Command B, 2nd Armored Division was brought forward against Tailles. Although three U.S. tanks were destroyed by German tank destroyers, the American tanks managed to reach and enter the village.12 But here the Americans became tied down in bitter fighting with SS soldiers who barricaded themselves in house ruins, and behind garden walls and earth mounds.

To the left of the SS force, however, the weakened 560. Volksgrenadier-Division proved unable to withstand the 2nd Armored Division’s powerful attack. In Chabrehez, a mile to the west of Tailles, a command post was captured by American armor, whereby the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division lost two of the battalion staffs in Grenadier-Regiment 1129.13 Here the Americans took one hundred and forty prisoners.14 As Chabrehez is located on a hill just west of Tailles, the Americans could outflank the positions held by the SS.

On the evening of 12 January, SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 and SS-Panzer-Aufklarungs-Abteilung 2 received orders to leave their positions in order to be withdrawn from combat altogether.15 At nine in the evening the battle was over. In Tailles the Americans found that the SS had left behind seventy foreign soldiers in German service, and these immediately surrendered.16

At Petite-Langlire on the eastern flank, the Germans also evacuated their positions hastily, having offered a frantic resistance all day long. The fighting at this place cost two platoons of ’C’ Company, U.S. 774th Tank Battalion a loss of seven of their ten tanks.17 However, the two Panther tanks at Petite-Langlire managed to slip away.18

As the Americans continued their advance through the Bois de Ronce forest in the south, they again were reminded of the fighting methods used by their enemy. The 774th Tank Battalion’s after action report recorded, ’One of our tanks after being hit by 88mm fire was not stopped but continued to advance. Shortly thereafter it was rendered immobile by AT shell fire, killing one of the crew. The remaining four crewmen after stripping the vehicle attempted to escape by foot. Their bodies were found 150 yards from the tank and as expected were completely searched and machine gunned. Each man was reported as being shot through the head with one shot.’19

By that time the situation was quite desperate for the German front units in this front sector. The 560. Volksgrenadier-Division had sustained such heavy losses that Grenadier-Regiment 1129 had to be disbanded, with the remaining troops transferred to a battalion that was subordinated to the division’s second regiment, Grenadier-Regiment 1130.20 In the 2. SS-Panzer-Division, the operations officer, SS-Obersturmbannführer Albert Stückler, wrote:

’Wherever [the opponent] achieved any breakthrough in forested areas, he gained terrain with surprising swiftness, while our own units, considerably weakened through severe losses, were able to hold a circle defense only with the greatest difficulty in daytime, and then at night to pull back to new but unprepared positions. Effective counter-attacks could be carried out only with tank support, and in general it gave nothing but temporary reliefs.

The men of the infantry units and all participating divisions performed amazingly well in the bitterest cold. But when the terrible weather conditions with constant temperature fluctuations around the freezing point were added to the opponent’s material superiority, the combat effectiveness of our inadequately equipped units declined rapidly. For instance, in our division the losses due to frostbite and disease were almost as high as the combat losses.’21

And still the German rearguard forces continued to offer a stiff resistance. U.S. 331st Infantry Regiment’s after action report on 13 January—a day that cost this regiment a loss of eighty-one men—reads, ’Attack was slowed down by dug-in tanks and infantry. […] Our tanks moved forward to meet the enemy and knocked out one tank and lost one Sherman.’22 On that day, the armor of ’C’ Company, 774th Tank Battalion carried on through the Bois de Ronce forest, heading towards the next village, Cherain, four miles further south. Suddenly two German soldiers appeared on the road. Holding their hands above their heads they approached the tank column. ‘Upon closer inspection,’ reported the commander of the leading U.S. tank, ‘they were found to be shielding a bazooka team. The sergeant fired one round of HE into the group annihilating the bazooka, crew and all.’23

Meanwhile on VII Corps’ western flank, 2nd Armored Division’s Combat Command A advanced towards the town of Houffalize, ten miles southeast of Samrée. The badly mauled German 116. Panzer-Division fell back, but received reinforcèments from elèments of the Panzer Lehr Division, the 2. Panzer-Division and the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division.24 This came in the last moment for the Germans, who were ordered to hold the line Nadrin - Wibrin - Nisramont, four to five miles northwest of Houffalize.

When Panzer Lehr’s task force—elèments of Kampfgruppe 902—arrived at Nadrin during the night of 13 January, it was found that there were no troops at all from the 116. Panzer-Division at this place.25 But the Germans, suffering a shortage of both ammunition and fuel, could not hope for more than to delay the U.S. advance slightly.26

In Wibrin, a mile or so farther to the east, a small task force from the 116. Panzer-Division took up defensive positions. On a hill in at the village’s southern edge, just behind the church, two Panthers and a tank destroyer were grouped to block the road into the village from the north. A couple of miles farther ahead, on the wooded hills north of Wibrin, the easternmost task force of U.S. 2nd Armored Division’s Combat Command A—Task Force B (the 66th Armored Regiment plus the 3rd Battalion of the 335th Infantry Regiment and a tank destroyer platoon)— meanwhile was being readied to assault the village.

On the morning of 14 January, the German tank crews at Wibrin caught sight of six green Sherman tanks that came struggling through the deep snow on the fields northeast of the village. The American tanks, which carried mounted infantry, were of the model Sherman III (M4A2), equipped with diesel engines, which the British had handed over to U.S. 2nd Armored Division to cover its previous losses. These stood no chance against the German tanks. When the Americans were almost upon the village, the Panther cannons opened fire. Four Shermans immediately burst into flames. The two remaining disappeared behind the first row of buildings along the village street. But when they showed up behind the church, the German tank destroyer, commanded by Leutnant Max-Dieter von Elterlein, opened fire. The American tanks were hit while they tried to run down the hill to the right of the church. One was immediately eliminated. The second one received a hit which bounced off the frontal armor and split the gun barrel open like a peeled banana. The next hit killed the entire crew. (This one still remains as a memorial below the church at Wibrin.)
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A German anti-aircraft crew work to make an 88mm antiaircraft gun ready for departure for a new stage in the gradual retreat. The five painted rings on the barrel indicate as many destroyed tanks or shot down aircraft.
(BArch, Bild 101I-725-0194-21/Gdtz)
 




THE ALLIED AVIATION RETURNS

However, 14 January 1945 also was the day when the bad weather which had prevailed for so long finally relented. The sun shone from a clear sky, which meant that the Allied aircraft could venture into the battle at full strength. By now most, if not all, of the losses suffered by the Allied air through ’Bodenplatte’ had been replaced.

’The biggest thing of the news today was the fact that the fighter-bombers were able to get aloft again,’ was noted in Lieutenant General Courtney H. Hodges’ diary. On the German side, General Walter Lucht, commanding officer of the LXVI. Armeekorps, was less upbeat when he wrote on 14 January, ’A clear, cold day with a lively fighter-bomber activity.’27

To the Germans in Wibrin suddenly, as Leutnant von Elterleins put it, ’all hell broke loose.’28 No less than seven artillery observation planes appeared in the skies above the village. Soon large amounts of fighter-bombers also made their entrance, shooting and bombing any opposition in front of VII Corps into smithereens. War correspondent Ronald Monson of the Australian newspaper The Argus describes the scene as it looked when the Allied aircraft made their impressive appearance on this 14 January:
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Outside the inn ’Le Lion’ in Houffalize, this German Sonderkraft-fahrzeug 250/1 has been knocked out by a U.S. air attack. (NARA C-56251 A.C. via Peter Björk)
 




’Vapour trails streaking across the sky from the west marked the coming of the vanguard of our air armada. Then gleaming silver planes raced into view. They came in scores and in hundreds until the blue of the heavens was agleam with them, and their spreading vapour trails swelled to the dimensions of a cloud belt that covered a vast swathe of the sky. There were heavy bombers, medium bombers, and rocket-firing Typhoons. They all had their targets. German troops struggling along icy side roads to get away from encroaching British and American troops caught it first.’29

German 116. Panzer-Division’s combat report reads:

’Following a powerful artillery fire, the enemy attacked Wibrin with tanks supported by low-flying aircraft. The weak garrison put up a brave fight but could not prevent the enemy from penetrating the village, and eventually—deprived of all connections to the right and the left—it had to retreat to the hills south of the village.’30

A bit farther to the west, in Nadrin, the task force of Kampfgruppe 902 found itself exposed to attacks not only frontally, but, according to Panzer Lehr’s divisional commander, Bayerlein, ’also on the sides from the northeast, i.e., from the area of Wibrin, by stronger forces (infantry and armor).’ Bayerlein continued, ’The envelopment resulted from the fact, that the 116. Panzer-Division had already yielded to the attack and so exposed the flank of Kampfgruppe 902. The enemy succeeded in capturing Nadrin at noon and Filly in the evening. By that, Kampfgruppe 902 lost a great number of personnel who were taken prisoners because they could not fight their way through the envelopment.’31

U.S. 2nd Armored Division was able to advance three miles.32 On the evening of 14 January, a weak force from Kampfgruppe 902 held positions at the small stream at Achouffe, two and a half miles southeast of Nadrin and two miles northwest of Houffalize, while Panzer Lehr’s armored reconnaissance battalion—which by then had a first-line strength of no more than about 150 troops with a handful of operational tanks—was positioned somewhat further back.33 A mile farther to the northeast, U.S. 3rd Armored and 83rd Infantry divisions meanwhile advanced from Petite-Langlire to Courtil—a distance of almost three miles. U.S. 331st Infantry Regiment’s after action report noted that the German artillery fire subsided as compared with the previous day.34

At 0930 am on 14 January, von Manteuffel’s staff in the 5. Panzerarmee reported that any movèment of troops was prevented by ’an extrèmely heavy fighter-bomber activity,’ and called for an urgent Luftwaffe fighter cover. The German Air Force’s II. Jagdkorps responded by directing 216 fighters to the Houffalize area alone until 1100 hrs. In fact, the Luftwaffe’s fighter force conducted another large-scale operation on this 14 January. However, at the front the German soldiers saw nothing of this. The explanation is simple: British Ultra decrypted the message from the II. Jagdkorps so that powerful Allied fighter formations could be despatched to intercept the German aircraft.35
 
The fighter groups II. and III. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 26 were attacked by at first seven 366th Fighter Group Thunderbolts, and then twenty-five Mustangs from the 78th Fighter Group before they had even entered Belgian airspace. Even though these German units were equipped with the modern Focke Wulf 190 D-9s, Messerschmitt Bf 109 G-14s and Bf 109 K-4s, in addition to their numerical superiority, they stood off badly against the American fighter pilots. The Americans shot down twelve German aircraft and forced the remainder to abort their mission to the Sankt Vith - Houffalize area, all at a cost of only two of their own aircraft lost.36 The next group of Jagdgeschwader 26 ’Schlageter,’ the I. Gruppe, had taken off with thirty Focke Wulf 190 D-9s as it was ambushed by the Royal Air Force’s Norwegian Spitfire squadrons, Nos. 331 and 332, and lost three planes.
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American troops enter Foy. This heavily contested village was captured by the 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment 13 January 1945, was recaptured by the Germans at dawn on 14 January, but was finally taken back by the Americans through an attack by Combat Command B, 11th Armored Division a few hours later. (NARA, US Signal Corps)
 




I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 1 was attacked by Spitfires from British Nos. 401 and 402 squadrons and lost eleven Focke Wulf 190s, with the result that this unit also failed to complete its mission.37 Jagdgeschwader 2 ’Richthofen’ had its formations ripped apart by other Spitfires and lost ten Focke Wulf 190 D-9s without being able to shoot down more than two of its opponent’s aircraft.38Jagdgeschwader 77 despatched two groups to cover their own ground troops at the front, but ran into the same fate and lost twelve planes.
 
While the Luftwaffe’s effort against the Houffalize sector thus was thwarted, the Allies launched large bomber formations against targets in Germany, forcing the German aviation to change priorities. RAF Bomber Command sent No. 3 Group with one hundred and thirty-four Lancaster bombers against Saarbrücken’s rail station. Powerful German fighter formations from Jagdgeschwaders 4, 11, and 53, roughly about two hundred aircraft, were directed against this formation. But these became embroiled in difficult fighting with U.S. fighters and failed to shoot down even a single bomber.

Since the clear weather over the front enabled U.S. 9th Air Force and British 2nd Tactical Air Force to be deployed at full scale, U.S. 8th Air Force could return to its strategic bombing. Nine hundred 8th Air Force heavy bombers, escorted by eight hundred fighters, marched across blue skies against various oil targets in Germany. Against this armada, the Luftwaffe launched IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 3 and IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 54, together with Jagdgeschwaders 300 and 301—the two latter fighter wings totaling one hundred and eighty-nine interceptors—plus a handful of Me 262 jet fighters from Jagdgeschwader 7. In the ensuing air battle, seven American bombers, eleven escort fighters and no less than one hundred and fourteen German fighters (including three Me 262s) were shot down. The Luftwaffe’s inability at this time to do anything against the Allied aviation once this was airborne, can not be more clearly illustrated.

Despite a massive effort of the German fighter force—probably at least in the order of 700 aircraft—U.S. 9th Air Force lost no more than eleven Thunderbolts and Marauder bombers on 14 January. In all, the Allies conducted four thousand combat sorties on 14 January, and of these about a quarter were made above the Ardennes.

The from the German point of view of failed air operations on this day would prove to be the Luftwaffe’s last major operation against the Western Allies. Shortly afterwards most of the German Air Force was regrouped to the Eastern Front.

Throughout 14 January Allied fighter-bombers struck down on German ground troops and vehicle columns as if there was no German Air Force, and the German soldiers on the ground did not see any of their own fighter planes. Battered German ground units were strafed and bombed during the retreat and had their vehicles shot to pieces. Burning vehicle wrecks were heaped in large quantities, particularly at the fords across creeks.39 The 9th Air Force was reported to have destroyed three hundred trucks, damaged between sixteen and thirty tanks and silenced thirty artillery positions. When Task Force B of Combat Command A, 2nd Armored Division on the next day, after the capture of Achouffe continued towards Houffalize two miles further southeast, the march was hampered by destroyed German vehicles and other equipment that cluttered the road to Houffalize, rather than German resistance.40 The situation looked the same to U.S. 3rd Armored Division, which reported the road south of Bihain completely blocked by German vehicles which had been destroyed by American aircraft and artillery.41

On the German side, what remained of the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division had to be pulled out of combat.42Instead, SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 19 of 9. SS-Panzer-Division was moved forward to Sterpigny, five miles northeast of Houffalize, with the task of holding back U.S. 3rd Armored Division and to prevent Houffalize from getting outflanked. The German troops were assigned with clear orders: ’Houffalize must be held!’43
 
But further south a dramatic turn of events took place. Generalmajor Denkert’s German 3. Panzergrenadier-Division had been asked to retake Flamierge, northwest of Bastogne, which had been captured by U.S. 17th Airborne Division on 12 January.44 Just as Denkert was about to launch his attack, U.S. 11th Armored Division appeared on his left flank. This armored division now had recovered its strength after the losses it had sustained in late December, and marched straight through Bastogne and attacked towards the north on 13 January. Combat Command A and Combat Command Reserve were deployed along the road that runs northwest from the town and through Longchamps towards Bertogne. This thrust was aimed at reaching Houffalize from the south.45 As this attack hit the German front four miles northeast of Flamierge, the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division hastily had to cancel its planned attack and instead fall back to Bertogne. However, during the following night, massive Allied air attacks forced the Germans to evacuate this place too, and to retreat further north and east.

But the 11th Armored Division’s Combat Command B was unable to participate in the American thrust to the northwest, since this force was needed northeast of Bastogne. Here a surprise attack by U.S. 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment on 13 January—immortalized through an episode of the TV series ’Band of Brothers’— had captured Foy, two miles northeast of Bastogne, on the main road to Houffalize. But Oberst Theodor Tolsdorff, C.O. of German 340. Volksgrenadier-Division, immediately organized a counter-attack, supported by the 9. Panzer-Division, which had been placed at the LVIII. Panzerkorps’ disposal.46 Faced with this superiority, the U.S. paratroopers were forced out of this so bitterly contested hamlet again at dawn on 14 January. But shortly afterwards both Combat Command B, 11th Armored Division and the U.S. aviation joined the fight for Foy. On this 14 January, Major General Weyland’s XIX Tactical Air Command directed no less than seven hundred and fifty fighter-bomber sorties in support of the northbound attack from the Bastogne sector. Afterwards this was described as’the biggest day since summer.’47 The after action report of Combat Command B, 11th Armored Division provides a vivid picture of the situation the German troops had to endure when the Allied aviation could operate freely:

’Following an artillery preparation, the armored task force attacked Recogne [a thousand yards northwest of Foy] and the infantry task force attacked Foy at 0930 [on 14 January]. Both towns were retaken against light enemy opposition. Maneuvering along the fringe of some woods on high ground to the west, the tank task force then attacked Cobru [a mile north of Foy] from the left rear with immediate success. Simultaneously the infantry task force pushed NE along the main highway. A German 9 tank counterattack from Vaux [slightly less than a mile north of Cobru] about 1500 was broken up by an air mission on Vaux, and artillery fire, again adjusted by an air operation, which destroyed 4 of the 9 advancing enemy tanks. […]
 
An artillery observation plane spotted the enemy counterattack against CCB from Vaux and adjusted mass fire in support of the action during the day. One Squadron air mission was obtained and turned over to CCB for bombardment and strafing of enemy tanks in Vaux.’48

A little farther east at the Bastogne front, U.S. 6th Armored Division was supported on 14 January by scores of American fighter-bombers that attacked German troops in Michamps, Oubourcy, and Longvilly with napalm and HE bombs.49 This enabled this division, which previously had faced such adversity, to finally ‘get going,’ and as darkness fell that day, it had recaptured not only the previously so heavily contested villages of Wardin and Mageret, but also Benonchamps, a mile southeast of Mageret. Thus, the front had moved three miles east of Bastogne, and the Americans could inspect the battlefield where the fighting had raged for four weeks. A U.S. Army officer recalls:

It was appalling to me to imagine the fighting that must have gone on there. Many bodies still lay where they’d fallen, partly covered by blankets of snow. One long, wide, gradual hillside was strewn with the carcasses of burned-out Shermans and a few German Tiger tanks. Evidently our losses had been several times greater than those of the enemy, probably because of the powerful 88s mounted on their tanks. Further on it seèmed that our Air Force had gotten in some good licks, for the fields were littered with the debris of German tanks and trucks. […] Standing nearby were several German tanks, apparently abandoned because they were out of gas. They seèmed undamaged, and even in respose they were fearsome, with those wicked 88mm rifles sticking out ten yards, it seèmed.50
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The picture, which was taken in the vicinity of the villages of Wardin and Mageret, shows a pair of completely burnt out Sherman tanks. (US Army)
 




As we have seen, the planned withdrawal of the 2. and 9. SS-Panzer divisions had already been delayed because elèments of these divisions were being used as fire brigades in troubled sectors. On 14 January, Oberst Rèmer’s Führer Begleit Brigade was also called in, to be launched from Michamps, two miles east of Foy, in a counter-attack against U.S. 6th Armored Division. But the Germans immediately were beset by violent American air attacks and artillery fire, including the use of air burst shells. Oberst Rèmer wrote:

’The task force met infantry fire and increasingly well-aimed artillery fire from the deep right flank and had to defend itself against flanking counterthrusts. Thus the attack had become futile and had to be cancelled. Having suffered considerable losses from shells exploding in the tree-tops, the task force retreated from the forest. During the remainder of the day we held defensive positions southwest of Oubourcy against enemy counterattacks.’51

One of the American fighter-bomber formations erroneously attacked its own forces during the defensive battle against the Führer Begleit Brigade, and this cost the 502nd Parachute Infantry Regiment’s 3rd Battalion twelve killed and twenty wounded.52 Among those killed was the battalion commander, Lieutenant Colonel John Stopka.

But continued air strikes were essential to repel Oberst Rèmer’s forces. The chronicle of U.S. 68th Tank Battalion, which stood against the Führer Begleit Brigade southwest of Michamps, clearly illustrates this: ’On the morning of January 15th, we called for and received an air strike on the small woods that had been so bothersome. Then after the welcome P-47s had worked it over thoroughly by bombing and strafing, the woods was attacked and cleared; this job being accomplished with methodical efficiency on the doughs’ part, and took them most of the day.’53 All day on 15 January, the P-47 Thunderbolt fighter-bombers from the 362nd Fighter Group flew in close-support of the 6th Armored Division, which thereby was able to push another thousand yards ahead to take Arloncourt and Oubourcy.54

With the eastern flank thus secured, Combat Command B, 11th Armored Division and the 101st Airborne Division’s 501st and 506th Parachute Infantry regiments attacked Noville, the next village on the main road from Bastogne to Houffalize, in the morning on 15 January. This is depicted in the 11th Armored Division’s combat report, ’After carefully registering each battalion, by air OP [observation planes], on its portion of the objective, massed artillery fires were brought down at 1100 to destroy or neutralize known enemy positions in the forward edges and on commanding terrain within the woods. That portion of the woods north of the Noville-Bourcy highway was also softened by an air strike. At 1145, bypassing Noville to the east, CCB launched its combined tank and infantry attack, and with closely coordinated supporting fires took their objective by 1530.’55_

Oberst Tolsdorff realized that the Allied air superiority made i t futile to try to hold the place, so he only left a smaller rearguard force with a couple of tanks from the 9. Panzer-Division to delay the Americans. One of the American paratroopers who went into Noville, First Sergeant Carwood Lipton, recalled:

’We were well past the center of the town and the first knocked-out Sherman tanks when, suddenly, a German tank roared out from behind a building on the 3rd Platoon side of the road and raced up the road toward us, firing its machine guns as it came. […] We in the 2nd Platoon jumped behind the buildings and dived under the knocked-out Sherman. The German tank then stopped dead and, swiveling its turret, put a shell into each of the knocked-out tanks to prevent anyone from using their guns to put a shell into him as he went by. When these shells hit the Sherman, it felt like they jumped a foot in the air. That didn’t save the German tank, though. When it roared on out of town and reached the higher grounds north of town, we saw one of our P-47 fighter planes strafe it and drop a five-hundred-pound bomb on it, finishing it off.’56
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Noville after the battle. According to the U.S. caption, this Sturmge-schutz III and the armored vehicle across the street were knocked out by U.S. fighter-bombers in conjunction with artillery.
(NARA 55970 A.C. via Peter Björk)
 




Meanwhile the 11th Armored Division’s Combat Command A attacked in the sector northwest of Noville. This unit had taken Bertogne, barely three miles west of the main road Bastogne - Houffalize, on 14 January, and on the 15th it was deployed towards the east. Prior to the attack, the positions held by German Grenadier-Regiment 77 between Bertogne and the main road were exposed to a lengthy and powerful attack by fighter-bombers and artillery. When the 11th Armored Division a couple of hours later cleared the area, more than four hundred German prisoners could be taken.57
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16 January 1945. Sherman tanks from Combat Command A, 11th Armored Division at Mabompré. A few hours earlier, in the dark, tanks from German 2. Panzer-Division had knocked out nine of that unit’s Shermans. (NARA, 111-SC-455221)





NEW TANK BATTLES AT BASTOGNE

But when darkness fell on 15 January and the American aircraft disappeared, the Germans counter-attacked with a group of 2. Panzer-Division tanks, temporarily ordered back to the front.58 They ambushed a column of tanks from Combat Command A, 11th Armored Division when these just after seven in the evening crossed the Vaux brook near Mabompré, two miles northwest of Noville. After a brief firefight in which nine Shermans were set burning, the Americans pulled back to the heights at Vellereu in the west.59 Private First Class William W. Fee of 55th Armored Infantry Battalion, 11th Armored Division described the following day’s advance through this area, ’As we drove down the road [east, to near Mabompré, according to the battalion history], we could see terrific damage on all sides. At least every 100 yards was a knocked-out tank, in the ratio of two U.S. to one German. Most of them were still smoking. You could see where the German tanks had been, waiting for the U.S. tanks to sweep around a corner. Some of the German tanks were on the edge of woods, others behind a single tree—for concealment from the air, I supposed. The US tanks had been hit in the road and had been hauled off to the side, to let other vehicles pass. There were no large groups of prisoners, so I wondered if anybody had survived the tank battle.’60

The Germans, however, concentrated their forces at Bastogne primarily to prevent the Americans from breaking through northeast of the town, which would otherwise threaten to cut off the important maintenance road from Dasburg. The fighting had already moved to Longvilly, six miles northeast of Bastogne. The German situation deteriorated when U.S. 6th Armored Division was reinforced with two infantry regiments and one armored battalion that could be released when the Harlange wedge was cleared up—the 35th Infantry Division’s 320th Infantry Regiment, and the 90th Infantry Division’s 359th Infantry Regiment and 712th Tank Battalion. This more than offset the withdrawal of U.S. 4th Armored Division on 10 January. In addition, half the 101st Airborne Division—the 327th Glider Infantry Regiment and the 502nd Parachute Infantry Regiment—already were engaged on this front section. The Führer Begleit Brigade and the 9. Panzer-Division were placed under the command of Oberst Tolsdorff, the 340. Volksgrenadier-Division’s C.O. He immediately positioned the Führer Begleit Brigade’s panzer regiment at Allerborn on the road between Bastogne and Clervaux.

This was the area where the 2. Panzer-Division had wiped out most of U.S. 9th Armored Division’s Combat Command Reserve one month earlier, and the clash on 16 January 1945, when the Führer Begleit Brigade attacked again, showed several similarities with this battle, as described by the brigade commander Rèmer:

’An assembly of enemy tanks just north of Longvilly was observed at dawn on 16 January. It was wiped out by our assault guns, which during the fueling had been moved up to firing range without being detected. Eleven of the enemy tanks were put out of action. This blow, which caused panic in the enemy camp, could not be exploited because the battalion in the area was still engaged in establishing a defensive position, and no other forces were available at that time. An enemy attack which temporarily reached a crossroads south of Moinet collapsed under combined heavy flak and artillery fire’61
 
So while U.S. 6th Armored Division was halted by the Führer Begleit Brigade on the road to Clervaux, the 101st Airborne Division pushed the Germans from Bourcy, three miles northwest of Longvilly. The role played by air support during the fight for Bourcy on 16 January is described by one of the participating American troops, Technician Fifth Grade Richard Kazinski, As we approached the top of the hill, we saw five Tiger Royals waiting for us. Our Sherman tanks were no match for them. Our tank shells bounced off the Royals like ping-pong balls. It was quite a show when the Air Corps came in to take care of them. We had front-row seats for the performance’62
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This M36 Jackson has received a direct hit outside Bastogne and is completely burnt out. (NARA, 111-SC-198393/PFC William A. Newhouse)
 




German sources show that schwere Panzer-Abteilung 506 had to destroy two Königstiger after these had been made unserviceable. On the whole, schwere Panzer-Abteilung 506 failed to meet the expectations of this heavy armored battalion. To some extent, this was because it was used as a kind of fire brigade. Shortly after it had been employed at Arloncourt east of Bastogne on New Year’s Day, it was sent southwards, to defend Wiltz. Back at Bastogne on 13 January it lost a Königstiger through eight direct hits from a Sherman’s 76mm gun.63General von Manteuffel grew increasingly dissatisfied with the battalion’s accomplishments, and when the battalion commander Major Lange after the mishap in Bourcy complained that his armor had been committed piecèmeal, von Manteuffel relieved him of his command. Lange was replaced by Hauptmann Kurt Heiligenstadt, who apparently accomplished no better with the heavy armored battalion. Apart from the tank battle at Arloncourt on New Year’s Day, when almost an entire American Sherman company was wiped out, schwere Panzer-Abteilung 506 did not come particularly well off in the Ardennes.

RENDEZVOUS IN HOUFFALIZE

The Luftwaffe did its part again in trying to relieve the hard-pressed German ground forces on 16 January, but with the bulk of the aviation transferred to the Eastern Front, one hundred and seventy-five aircraft was all that could be brought into action. In the vicinity of Worms the fighter groups I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 2 and I. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 4 clashed with Thunderbolts of 365th Fighter Group ’Hell Hawks’ When the combat had ended, six Focke Wulf 190 D-9s, three Bf 109 G -14s and K-4s and two Thunderbolts had gone down.64 Other German fighter units came off lighter (II. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 4, IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 53, and IV. Gruppe/ Jagdgeschwader 300 lost one aircraft each), but the German ground troops still could not notice any relief from enemy air attacks—and neither did the majority of the Allied airmen notice any German air force effort. Three hundred and eleven 9th Air Force A -20, A-26, and B-26 medium bombers flew against road and rail bridges, communication hubs and vehicle workshops in the German rear area without losing a single aircraft to German fighters.

Meanwhile, the last German forces withdrew through Houffalize’s steep, winding streets and retreated to the southeast, towards Tavigny. The earlier order to hold Houffalize at any price had been drastically altered on 14 January, when Hitler issued the order to fall back to the line Cherain (six miles northeast of Houffalize) - Bourcy - Longvilly. U.S. 2nd Armored Division and 84th Infantry Division, in hot pursuit of the Germans, failed to annihilate them on the nortern side of River Ourthe, which had been the aim. A report from German 116. Panzer-Division recorded that only small rearguard forces were able to hold back the American forces long enough for the Germans to evacuate.65

At one o’clock on the night between 15 and 16 January, a reconnaissance force from Combat Command B, 2nd Armored Division rolled down the long hill which lead into Houffalize and established that the town was completely void of Germans.66 Since the German units that had faced U.S. 11th Armored Division now fell back eastwards in accordance with the retreat order, this American division— which now constituted the spearhead of Patton’s Third Army—could race northwards to link up with U.S. First Army’s 2nd Armored Division and 84th Infantry Division in Houffalize at 0930 am on 16 January.

The soldiers that marched into the heavily bombed city met an eerie sight: ’The stink of the charred heap of rubble hiding countless corpses in its twisted bowels sickened the soldiers. Still more upsetting was the sight of survivors drifting through the ruins like specters, their faces gaunt and ashen, and their eyes frighteningly hollow and empty. Some appeared to wander about aimlessly.’67

While American First Army was returned to Bradley’s 12th Army Group from Montgomery’s 21 Army Group (which, however, retained control of U.S. 9th Army), the Battle of the Ardennes went into its final phase. Both sides now saw the possibility to withdraw more of their severely battered units from the battle. The two U.S. armored divisions that met in Houffalize, the 2nd and the 11th, were among these. The previous two weeks of offensive had cost the 2nd Armored Division 1,196 casualties.68 By advancing to Houffalize, the 11th Armored Division had restored its honor after the setbacks in late December. However, the past four days of first-line service had not been without serious losses for this division, which between 13 and 16 January sustained 434 casualties and lost thirty-two tanks.69 All in all, the 11th Armored Division recorded the loss of eighty-six tanks— fifty-four Shermans and thirty-two Stuarts—between 30 December 1944 and 17 January1945.70_
 
After a month-long epic battle, the 101st Airborne Division ’The Screaming Eagles’ also was withdrawn from the Ardennes. Its losses at Bastogne amounted to 4,455 men in killed, wounded and missing.71

Field Marshal Montgomery also felt that British XXX Corps had completed its task in the Ardennes and regrouped the corps to the front in the southern Netherlands, where it would participate in the planned offensive against the Rhineland. The British corps had participated to a relatively limited extent in the Battle of the Ardennes, and its total losses were about fifteen hundred men.72

On the German side, the 2. SS-Panzer-Division, the 116. Panzer-Division, the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division, and the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division were among the units that now were withdrawn from first-line service. The 2. SS-Panzer-Division ’Das Reich’ recorded a loss of sixty-eight tanks (thirty-four Panzer IVs and twenty-eight Panthers) during the Ardennes Battle—quite high losses for a German panzer division—while claiming to have destroyed two hundred and twenty-four enemy tanks.73 Its personnel losses amounted to 3,437 killed, wounded and missing.74 The 116. Panzer-Division lost 1,055 men in killed, wounded and missing during the twelve days between 3 and 15 January alone, when the division fought a defensive battle against the Allied counter-offensive.75 The 3. Panzergrenadier-Division had lost over two thousand men, one quarter of its full strength, in just four weeks of battle in the Ardennes.76But no unit had been as battered as the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division, where 4,153 out of an original strength of 11,000 men had been killed, wounded or listed as missing since the opening of the Ardennes Offensive.77 This division was, according to German military terminology, totally consumed.’
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By giving widespread publication to photos such as this, Allied propaganda tried to give the image of the meeting between U.S. First and Third armies in Houffalize as a great victory. Here, Technician Fifth Grade Ancel Casey in an M8 armored car of the Third Army’s 11th Armoured Division is shaking hands with Sergeant Rodney Himes and Private First Class Alfred Gernhardt, both from the First Army’s 84th Infantry Division, on 16 January 1945. However, this was a hollow victory. The encirclèment of German 5. Panzerarmee as sought by Eisenhower and Patton when they launched the offensive four weeks previously, had failed; the Germans had slipped out of the trap. (NARA, 111-SC-199155/ Hawkins)





But it was a hollow victory that the Allies had won at Houffalize. For four weeks, they had endeavored to link up the American Third and First armies in this town, with the intention of thereby enveloping large parts of German 5. Panzerarmee in the west, but when these two U.S. forces finally met, the German troops had successfully evacuated all territory west of Houffalize. And the battle was far from over. The Germans were not only outnumbered and outgunned, they also were tired and hungry, and they wore moist fatigues that froze on the body when the temperature dropped, but many of them still continued to offer an almost incomprehensibly furious resistance.

RIDGWAY’S PINCER OPERATION FAILS

The focus of the battle now shifted to the two flanks. In the north, Major General Ridgway’s American XVIII Airborne Corps had, as we have seen, managed to dislodge the Germans from the lower (northern) side of River Salm on 7 January, through a combined operation with the 82nd Airborne Division from the northwest and the 30th Infantry Division from the north. But then the American offensive stalled again—despite the relative weakness of the opposing German forces. Heinz Trammler, one of the soldiers of German 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, wrote in his diary, ’We are beaten down to the last one-quarter of the company. If our enemy only knew how thin our lines are!’78
 
A major reason why the XVIII Airborne Corps was unable to keep advancing, was that the 82nd Airborne Division became so heavily decimated during the first days of the January offensive that it had to be pulled out of combat. In its place the 75th Infantry Division was ordered to assume positions on the western side of the Salm river, at Grand-Halleux and Vielsalm, six miles west of German-held Sankt Vith. This newly formed American division had been completely ’green’ when it was transferred to the VII Corps’ front section two days before Christmas 1944. During its first battle, the division was completely overthrown and driven out of Grandmenil west of Manhay by the 2. SS-Panzer-Division. Ridgway had a particularly bad first impression of the division, disregarding the fact that he was a personal friend of the divisional commander, Major General Fay B. Prickett. On Christmas Day, the 75th Infantry Division’s 289th Infantry Regiment had been temporarily shifted to the XVIII Airborne Corps for an attempt to retake Grandmenil. But this failed miserably. Instead, the men of the 75th Infantry Division were driven back again, which even enabled the Germans to take Sadzot, two miles west of Grandmenil. And now this ’green’ division, on which Ridgway already had low expectations, was about to relieve the veteran 82nd Airborne Division. In addition, it took the 75th Infantry Division quite some time to get into position for the attack, and this delayed its participation in the offensive.
 
U.S. 30th Infantry Division, to the east of River Salm, two miles northeast of Grand-Halleux and directed towards the south, was far more experienced. This division had played a crucial role when SS-Kampfgruppe Peiper was annihilated at La Gleize on 22-24 December. In the first week of January 1945, the veterans in this division had ousted German 18. Volksgrenadier-Division from the villages of Wanne and Spineux in a two mile-deep and a mile and a half wide area on the eastern side of the lower (northern) Salm. But then even the 30th Infantry Division got stuck. Although the opposing 18. Volksgrenadier-Division was so run down that it only had the equivalence of a regiment’s strength, it was able to hold back the reinforced 30th Infantry Division through a very skillful use of the hilly terrain.

The precious time bought by the weakened 18. and 62. Volksgrenadier divisions through their embittered resistance, could be used to bring forward new German units to the XIII. Armeekorps under General Hans Felber, who coordinated the German defense on this front section. The 326. Volksgrenadier-Division went into position at Vielsalm.79 This division was by no means a rested unit— on the contrary, it arrived straight from the the Roer Front, where it had sustained severe losses, not least due to the first American use of air burst artillery shells. But any new addition to the heavily pressured Ardennes Front was much needed for the Germans. 62. Volksgrenadier-Division’s even worse battered regiments were placed under the command of the 326. Volksgrenadier-Division. A mile and a half south of Vielsalm, at Provedroux, SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 20 of the 9. SS-Panzer-Division arrived to take up positions. The U.S. forces that on 9 January made an attempt to attack from the bridgehead east of River Salm at Salmchâteau, halfway between Vielsalm and Provedroux, were completely crushed between these two German units.80’No Americans would pass here,’ 9. SS-Panzer-Division’s chronicler Wilhelm Tieke noted laconically.81

When Ridgway on 12 January ordered the XVIII Airborne Corps to resume the offensive, the Americans had lost much of the advantage acquired a few days earlier. By now, Felber’s German XIII. Armeekorps was firmly established in a semicircle defense from Provedroux in the south, north along the Salm river to Grand-Halleux, thence to Hinoûmont, slightly more than a mile northeast of the U.S. positions at Wanne.
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German soldiers with panzerfaust anti-tank weapons and stick grenades thrust into their belts are getting ready for close combat with enemy tanks. The large age differences in the German Army at this time, in early 1945, is evident in this picture.
(BArch, Bild 183-H28150)
 




Ridgway’s plan was to carry out a pincer operation with the 75th Infantry Division from the west and two divisions from the north to envelop and annihilate Felber’s Corps. Ahead of the attack, the 30th Infantry Division moved to the east, to Malmedy, while the 106th Infantry Division went into position north and west of Hinoûmont. The 106th Infantry Division, which had been virtually wiped out in December, had been reformed through the addition of the 517th Parachute Infantry Regiment to the division’s remaining infantry regiment, the 424th. The idea was to provide the 106th with an opportunity to revenge itself for the humiliating defeat on 16-18 December. On 7 January, the 424th Infantry Regiment arrived at Wanne and Wanneranval to replace the 112th Regimental Combat Team.

But when the 106th and 30th Infantry divisions went into action at dawn on 13 January, the 75th Infantry Division still was not ready. There could be no talk of a surprise attack. The heights just south of Hinoûmont dominate the lower lying landscape to the north, west and south. Here, the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division had positioned Grenadier-Regiment 294. From this location one has a good view of Stavelot, down in the Amblève valley two miles further north, and in the west the Germans could keep the U.S. positions at Wanne and Wanneranval, a mile from Hinoûmont, under constant supervision.
 
During the night of 12 January the Americans established a bridgehead south of Amblève at Stavelot, and at half past four in the morning the 517th Parachute Infantry Regiment began to work its way up the slopes to the south. Here they passed the snow-covered wrecks of burned half-tracks and other combat vehicles left behind by the 1. SS-Panzer-Division after the Battle of Stavelot four weeks earlier.

Barely three miles farther to the southwest, the 1st Battalion, 424th Infantry Regiment meanwhile tried to circumvent Hinoûmont from the southwest; its soldiers laboriously toiled up the slippery western slope of the high ridge that rises from the landscape about a mile southwest of Hinoûmont. The Germans observed their movèments and waited until the Americans had reached the crest. Then they opened fire with artillery pieces that had already been directed toward this place. Next, tanks and assault guns attacked. The American battalion was inflicted terrible losses—including the battalion commander and his operations officer—and had to withdraw.

Meanwhile the men of the 3rd Battalion, 424th Infantry Regiment were savagely cut down as they tried to move through the open, snow-covered valley west of Hinoûmont. A tank platoon that was supposed to have supported the attack, reported that it was unable to intervene due to a combination of mechanical failure, slippery roads and thick snow cover in the valley. What remained of the 3rd Battalion, 424th Infantry took refuge in among the bare trees in a small forest just west of Hinoûmont. Although they were subjected to a continued German mortar fire, the trees at least gave them protection from direct fire. Meanwhile the Americans paid back through their own very powerful artillery bombardment of Hinoûmont. Among the Germans who fell here on 13 January 1945, was Heinz Trammler.

Further east, U.S. 30th Infantry Division attacked southwards from Malmedy and the area immediately to the east of this town. Here the Americans faced German 3. Fallschirmjager-Division, which now had been subordinated to Generalleutnant Otto Hitzfeld’s LXVII. Armeekorps, which throughout the period was tasked to cover the northern flank of the German breakthrough in the Ardennes. When the I. SS-Panzerkorps in late December regrouped to the Bastogne sector, the LXVII. Armeekorps’ area of operations was extended to include the German Bulge’s front facing north. Apart from the 3. Fallschirmjager-Division, this Corps also mustered the 246. and 277. Volksgrenadier divisions.

Since 5 January, the 3. Fallschirmjager-Division again was commanded by its ordinary C.O., the highly experienced Generalleutnant Richard Schimpf, who now had recovered from the wounds he sustained in the Falaise pocket in August 1944. The former acting divisional commander, Generalmajor Walter Wadehn, was commissioned to lead the formation of a new paratroop division in Germany.

U.S. 119th Infantry Regiment, on the 30th Infantry Division’s right (western) flank, immediately ran into a stiff resistance from the German paratroopers ensconced atop the ridge that rises out of the landscape just south of Malmedy, north of the village of Bellevaux. What it looked like from the attacking American infantry’s perspective is described by one of the men of the 119th Infantry, Sergeant John M. Nolan:

Private First Class Cletus Herrig was the lead scout with Bob Friedenheimer the second scout. As the platoon approached the crest of the ridge Herrig spotted German soldiers in foxholes and yelled back that they were dug-in some thirty yards ahead. Cletus could speak German so we told him to call to them and demand that they surrender. I thought I could fire a rifle grenade into their position, but when it landed the deep snow cushioned the impact and it failed to explode.

Cletus kept trying to talk them into surrender, when suddenly all hell broke loose! No one who has ever heard the sound of a MG 42 German machine gun open fire will ever forget it. This machine gun was pointed down toward the ditch line where we were crouched spraying us with bullets. The first burst hit four of us before we could find cover in the ditch below the machine gun’s trajectory. Herrig was hit along the top of both shoulders, Friedenheimer was hit through the lung, I took a bullet in the back of my pack and was knocked down to my knees. Behind me was Milton Cohen, a private, one of the eighteen year old replacèments that had joined us two weeks earlier. He was hit in the teeth with the bullet exiting his head behind his right ear, and I will never forget his plaintive call for his mother.
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Two German soldiers in firing positions with an MG 42 machine gun and a Sturmgewehr. The MG 42 had the somewhat incredible rate of fire of 1,500 rounds per minute. Owing to a mechanism that allowed the barrel to be replaced in no more than a few seconds, a single MG 42 was capable of holding down a large group of enemy soldiers for a long time, and to inflict terrible losses on them.
(BArch, Bild 101I-691-0244-11/Leher) 





The ’Jerries’ had us pinned down and we could not move forward in the face of their machine gun fire on the road and ditch line. The phrase ’all hell broke loose’ again applied to our situation when the Germans began to drop 81mm mortar rounds on our position. There are few things more fearful to an exposed infantryman than incoming mortar or artillery fire. To compound this fear the ’jerries’ included in their barrage ’screaming meemies,’ enemy rockets that made a horrendous noise, and caught us unprepared as targets for this form of artillery. When they came in on us I perceived their sound was comparable to a railroad boxcar flying sideways through the air with both of its doors open.

During this combat, ’G’ Company, 119th Infantry Regiment was reduced from a strength of one hundred and forty-one (one hundred and thirty-four enlisted and seven officers) to eighty men (seventy-eight enlisted and three officers).82

The 119th Infantry Regiment managed to overcome the German resistance only after tanks and artillery had been employed. John Nolan said, ’Each tank’s main gun, its machine gun, the BARs, and the M-l rifles of the third platoon created a sheet of fire concentrated on the enemy position at the crest of the hill. There was no way the third platoon could be stopped by any counter fire from the entrenched German troops. [Sergeant Frank] Wease and his men, with their tank support, surged through the enemy line along the trees on the ridge. The German troops that were still alive immediately surrendered.’83

The 117th Infantry, in the center of the 30th Infantry Division’s attack front, encountered only slight resistance as it advanced south along the road from Malmedy, and in the evening of 13 January its troops established positions at Baugnez, the site of the infamous massacre of American prisoners of war in December 1944. On the following day the Americans made the grisly discovery that the frozen corpses of the dead prisoners still remained on the ground where they had been shot; since Baugnez had been in noman’s land for four weeks, no one had been able to bury them.

But the hardest battles were those the 120th Infantry Regiment, on the far left of the 30th Infantry Division’s front, became embroiled in. At Thirimont, three miles southeast of Malmedy, this regiment clashed with the westernmost battalion of Fallschirmjager-Regiment 9, the I. Bataillon, on 13 January. The 120th Regiment advanced on a thousand-yard wide front just to the left (east) of the 119th Regiment. On the 120th Regiment’s western flank, its 2nd Battalion made a first attempt to take Thirimont through an attack straight from the north on the morning of 13 January. But the German battalion’s 2. Kompanie had taken up positions in Gros Bois—a dense mixed forest a thousand yards north of Thirimont, just a stone’s throw east of Baugnez. When the American soldiers came marching on both sides of the road south, the paratroopers opened a furious fire from within the forest. Caught in the middle of wide-open, snow-covered fields, the Americans had no possibility of escaping. It was a new veritable massacre. While their comrades fell to the right and left, the survivors fled. They left behind a field strewn with bodies in the bloodstained snow. Companies ’E’ and ’F’ were most hardly hit; no more than nine men in each company remained after the German ambush.84 But ’G’ Company, which had been at the forefront of the American battalion, managed to get through and stormed in full career down the hill and into the northern part of Thirimont, where the soldiers managed to capture some of the village’s sturdy stone houses and take fifty German prisoners. But the German paratroopers soon assembled for a counter-attack, and with the support of half a dozen assault guns they took back the terrain north of Thirimont. Thus the American ’G’ Company was surrounded. The men were ordered to break out, and under the cover of darkness some of them managed to make their way back to the own lines, but at that point one hundred men were missing in ’G’ Company.
 
With the 2nd Battalion’slaughtered’—as Private First Class Howard J. Melker of the 120th Infantry Regiment put it—the 1st Battalion was called upon to try to take Thirimont in a night attack. The soldiers plodded through knee-deep snow on both sides of the small country road that wound across the fields northwest of Thirimont. By striking at night time—something the Germans did not anticipate—the Americans managed to get almost up to Thirimont. But just as they were about to sneak into the village, they were detected and subjected to a murderous machine gun fire from the wooded height Hauts Sarts just west of Thirimont. The battle raged for several hours at dawn on 14 January. ’The company had the job of taking ten farm houses on the outskirts of town,’ recalled Private First Class Melker. ’The battle was fierce; we were fighting the Nazi’s best. Herman Göring’s paratroopers and Hitler’s SS troopers. Casualties were high, stretchers going to the rear were ambushed, killing bearers and wounded. Running out of stretchers doors of houses were used.’85 At dawn the 1st Battalion was forced onto the defensive northwest of the village.

An attempt by the 3rd Battalion to assault the Hauts Sarts from the west on 14 January was also repulsed. It was only through an overwhelming American deployment of artillery, tanks and tank destroyers that the Germans could be blasted out of Thirimont and Hauts Sarts over the course of 15 January. ’The artillery laid in a trèmendous barrage and slaughtered the enemy and saved us all,’ commented Howard J. Melker.86 Still, the battle raged until the evening of 15 January. Another of the men who fought the battle of Thirimont, Sergeant Francis S. Currey from ’K’ Company, 120th Infantry Regiment, talks about how a group of American soldiers at one point was on the ground floor of one of the houses in Thirimont, whereas Germans were barricaded on the upper floor, ’We were lobbing grenades at them, and they were lobbing grenades at us.’87 The fight for this little village cost the 120th Infantry Regiment a loss of no less than four hundred and fifty men in killed, wounded or missing. The German losses are not known.

’The battle for the town of Thirimont,’ Michael Collins and Martin King, authors of Voices of the Bulge, commented, ’is one in the history of the Battle of the Bulge that is rarely rèmembered, except by the divisions who fought against one another.’88

By holding U.S. 120th Infantry Regiment in Thirimont for three days, the German paratroopers made it difficult for the other two regiments of the 30th Infantry Division to advance much further south—unless they would run the risk of getting outflanked and possibly even enveloped. The 117th Infantry Regiment, in the center, met no other resistance than from weak German rearguard forces but contented itself by moving forward from Baugnez to Ligneuville on 14 January. Thus German 18. Volksgrenadier-Division was able to withdraw its Grenadier-Regiment 294 from Hinoûmont (five miles west-southwest of Ligneuville) in good order during the night of 13 January. It had fulfilled its task at this place by holding back U.S. 106th Infantry Division to save German 326. Volksgrenadier-Division on River Salm in the west from being cut off. In the woods a few miles farther to the southwest, between Grand-Halleux in the west and Recht in the east, the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division established new defensive positions. Nowhere did Ridgway’s plans to encircle the German divisions meet with any success.
 
The 326. Volksgrenadier-Division (including the since 9 January subordinated remains of the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division) thus had its back free when U.S. 75th Infantry Division opened its attack at River Salm farther to the southwest.89 This was the real baptism of fire for the American division commander, Major General Fay B. Prickett. During the 75th Infantry Division’s fighting in late December, elèments of the unit had been subordinated to other divisions, such as the 3rd Armored. But now, 51-year-old Prickett led the attack operation. His previous combat experience was limited to the Mexican Expedition of 19161917, in order to capture the revolutionary ’Pancho’ Villa. That enterprise ended in failure, but the enemy Prickett now, twenty-seven years later, faced, was considerably more dangerous.

Ridgway had assigned Prickett with the task of encircling the 326. Volksgrenadier-Division, which held positions east of River Salm on both sides of the town of Vielsalm. For this purpose Prickett despatched two regiments in a pincer operation—one south of Vielsalm and one at Grand-Halleux, about three miles north of Vielsalm. The plan was that the 75th Infantry Division then would continue eastwards to link up with the 30th Infantry Division, thereby enveloping also the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division. But nothing of this would succeed.

In fact, Prickett’s division ran into troubles straight from the onset. As we saw earlier, the Allied aviation drove off most of the Luftwaffe from the combat zone during the great air battles on 14 January, but a lone German plane managed to break through and at 1930 hours bombed the 75th Infantry Division’s command post, with several staff officers getting killed.90

A few hours later, during the night of the 14th, the 75th Infantry Division began its attack. It was opened by the 289th Infantry Regiment. At three in the morning its 2nd Battalion crossed icy bridges across the Salm near Provedroux just south of Salmchâteau.91 Before dawn, the whole regiment established a bridgehead in the woods on the other side of the river. By that time, 9th SS Panzer Division’s SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 20, which had held these positions a few days earlier, had been withdrawn. The Americans attacked just at the seam between the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 164 at Salmchâteau and the 326th Volksgrenadier-Division’s Grenadier-Regiment 751 further south. Since the attack was carried out in darkness—what the Germans did not expect—the Americans managed to establish a foothold around the small village of Beche, just east of Salmchâteau (mainly located on the river’s western side). But the success was short-lived. Prickett’s opponents, the 326. Volksgrenadier-Division’s commander, Generalmajor Dr. Erwin Kaschner, was a very experienced unit commander who had been in service on the Eastern Front for several years, and then at Normandy. Kaschner immediately despatched Grenadier-Regiment 164—one of the subordinated units of 62. Volksgrenadier-Division—from the north. At that stage, this regiment mustered a first-line strength of only 229 men (with another 208 in the rear area and 282 lightly wounded).92 But—as we have seen before— the excellent regimental commander, Oak Leaves holder Oberst Arthur Jüttner, was one of the most prominent German unit commanders in the Ardennes. Jüttner quickly organized defense positions, which, supported by artillery, halted the less experienced Americans.93
 
The 75th Infantry Division’s 291st Infantry Regiment, which would form the northern arm of the pincer operation, fared worse. This regiment launched its attack at Grand-Halleux, where the 82nd Airborne Division had managed to establish a bridgehead across River Salm just before this division was withdrawn from combat. But at this place, Kaschner had positioned Grenadier-Regiment 190—also of the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division—in well-fortified defensive positions.
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U.S. soldiers from the 75th Infantry Division on the march to the front in January 1945. (NARA, 111-SC-199406)
 




On the right flank of the American attack, at Hourt in the southern outskirts of Grand-Halleux, the Germans had barricaded themselves in well-masked pillboxes of thick timber—each with three to four men with automatic weapons—perched on heights with a perfect view of the river gorge below, where the American infantry launched their attack.94 Here the American regiment’s 1st Battalion was halted already in its jump-off positions.

To the east of Grand-Halleux the American attack was preceded by a half-hour’s artillery fire against the German positions. At seven thirty in the morning, while it was still dark, the American 2nd Battalion attacked, in terribly cold weather and 18 to 24 inches of snow, straight across an open field, against a forest about five hundred yards further ahead—where the Germans lay in position. ’As soon as we started the attack, the whole tree line opened up with machine guns, grenades, mortar fire and all the fire power they had,’ rèmembers one of the American soldiers who were involved in the attack, John Graber.95

Within a short time, seventy-two men of ’G’ Company had been mowed down, and ’E’ Company lost sixty-five men. ’Our OD clothing made us look like ducks on a pond,’ said Technical Sergeant Robert H. Justice from ‘E’ Company. ’With the entire area covered with snow [the Germans] could detect every movèment we made from their positions in the woods. We were pinned down by automatic weapons fire and had no communication to reach anyone to ask for any type of mortar or artillery fire.’96

In that stage, the Americans despatched tanks from the 750th Tank Battalion, but these were also driven back. One of the survivors of ’G’ Company, Private Peter G. Dounis, recalls, ’I heard a U.S. tank approaching. I ran out and motioned it to stop, because the road ahead was possibly mined. The tank men told me to get out of the way. After 75-100 yards, they hit a mine!’97 A platoon of tanks almost managed to reach the German positions, but was close to being cut off since it lacked infantry support, and had to fight its way back to its own lines.98 ’The action went on all day and well into the night with relentless firing of many rifles and automatic weapons as well as interdiction and interspersing of tracer bullets directed in the open field or delivering ammo,’ rèmembers Peter G. Dounis.99

For some reason, this 15 January 1945 is officially regarded as the end of what is called the Battle of the Bulge, the Ardennes Battle.100 This is a notion hardly shared by the surviving veterans of the 75th Infantry Division’s 291st Infantry Regiment, who instead know the day as the ’Black Monday.’ Of the original six officers and 187 enlisted men in ’G’ Company, 2nd Battalion, only one officer and 35 enlisted men remained.

With the 75th Infantry Division ground to a halt more or less in its jump-off positions, and the 30th Infantry Division tied down in three days of fierce battle at Thirimont, Major General Ridgway was extrèmely frustrated. This was noted by Lieutenant General Hodges, First Army’s commander, when he that same day visited the XVIII Airborne Corps’ headquarters in Francorchamps near Spa. ’According to General Ridgway,’ Hodges’ diary reads, ’resistance is nowhere near as stiff as the soldiers would have people believe.’101

Ridgway was particularly disappointed with Major General Prickett and his 75th Infantry Division. Hodges regarded this division as ’tired and exhausted’ and sarcastically described it as ’not one of the First Army’s best divisions.’102 This was especially heavy for Ridgway, because, as we have seen, he was a close friend of Prickett. The next day, on 16 January, Ridgway visited him at the 75th Infantry Division’s headquarters. When the tough C.O. of the Airborne Corps asked Prickett what the Corps could do to help him, Prickett replied, according to Ridgway’s memoirs, ‘Just pray for me!’103
 
THE 3RD ARMORED DIVISION IS PULLED OUT

When Prickett attacked, there had been the hope that the mighty 3rd Armored Division, which advancing in a southeasterly direction approximately six miles southwest of the 75th Infantry Division’s section, would be able to determine the situation to the Americans’ advantage. This was a ’heavy armored division,’ i.e. it had a roughly 50 percent greater strength than the standard American armored division, and the divisional commander, Major General Maurice Rose, was one of the toughest American officers in the Ardennes. If the 3rd Armored Division would manage to seize the German positions six miles southwest of Salmchâteau, the armored division would be able to roll up the entire German front from the south between River Salm and Sankt Vith. But on the German side, Model had at the last minute ordered up an SS armored force to counter the American thrust.

At first everything seèmed to go well for Rose’s division. In the clear flight weather on 14 January, Thunderbolt planes from the 366th Fighter Group bombed the two villages of Montleban and Bâclain. Meanwhile the 3rd Armored Division’s spearhead—Task Force Lovelady of Combat Command B—surged ahead across the farm fields between these villages, towards Cherain, about a mile farther to the south.

The thirty houses which constituted Cherain, six miles west-southwest of Vielsalm, lined one of the few highways that ran from the west to the east in the Ardennes. If the Americans took Cherain and the neighboring village Sterpigny—on the other side of a three hundred-yard field to the east of Cherain—the road would lay open to the area south of Sankt Vith. From Cherain and Sterpigny, the Americans would also be able to roll up the whole Salm section in front of the 75th Infantry Division. Ultimately, this could lead to Felber’s XIII. Armeekorps getting cut off from the south. To the Germans it was imperative that the 3rd Armored Division and the supporting 83rd Infantry Division was held back, at least until the German troops in the north could conduct an orderly retreat.

The exhausted troops of the 560. Volksgrenadier-Division and SS-Panzer Division ’Das Reich,’ who had fought a ten-day delaying action against these two divisions of U.S. VII Corps, had by then been taken out of combat. In their place arrived elèments of the 9. SS Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen.’ To this division’s III. Bataillon/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 19, SS-Panzer-Regiment 9, and II. Abteilung/ SS-Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 19 the time in the reserve became quite short: On 14 January, they arrived at Cherain and Sterpigny—the northern cornerstone of the new German front line against U.S. VII Corps. They barely had time to take up positions until American tanks appeared on the rural road north of Cherain. This was Task Force Lovelady with supporting infantry from the 3rd Battalion of the 83rd Infantry Division’s 330th Infantry Regiment. The American infantry regiment’s after action report describes the ensuing combat:
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Left: barely concealed behind spruce boughs, this German 88mm anti-aircraft gun is deployed against enemy tanks.
(BArch, Bild 101I-152-1805-19/Tritschler)
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Apparently suffering from the harsh winter cold, this German tank commander stands in the turret of his Panzer IV.
(BArch, Bild 101I-277-0843-19A/Jacob)
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Left: On 16 January 1945, this M7 SPG of B’ Battery, 54th Armored Field Artillery Battalion, 3rd Armored Division explodes after receiving a direct hit during the Battle of Cherain and Sterpigny. (NARA, SC 199151)
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A Panther tank and two Bergepanther armoured recovery vehicles at the front in January 1945. (BArch, Bild 183-R98066)





’The column got within 1220 yards of Cherain where the advance was halted by high-velocity fire. At 1300 [on 14 January 1945], the attack was resumed against heavy artillery and direct fire weapons. After advancing 300 yards, the tanks were forced to withdraw after having lost tanks to high-velocity guns located in and around Cherain.’104

Task Force Lovelady pulled back about a thousand yards north of the village.105 There preparations were made for another attempt to break through with a considerable concentration of forces, as outlined in the American report: ’The plan for the day of 15 January called for Task Force Orr and Task Force Miller (Combat Command A) to take over Bâclain [1 mile N Cherain] and Mont le Ban [1 mile NW Cherain]; Task Force Kane to pass through [Task Force] Yeomans and take the high ground south of Brisy [1½ miles SW. Cherain]; Task Force Welborn (Formerly Task Force Walker) to attack through Sterpigny, thence to Retigny [1 miles SE Cherain], allowing Lovelady to come into Cherain under reduced pressure.’106

The attack on Cherain on 15 January, which would mean the end of Task Force Lovelady’s tanks, is depicted from a participating American unit’s perspective:

The road which touched Cherain had to be cut and, come hell or AT guns, snow or ice, the 3rd Armored Division intended to do the job. Lt. Glen M. Alford led one company in an attack. He had eight tanks, or, as the saying goes—first there were eight… Alford’s company had barely moved out when a German Mark IV was sighted and knocked out. Immediately afterward, Lt. Sheldon C. Picard observed a column of self-propelled 88mm artillery pieces and directed artillery fire on it. The mission had begun well, but the fortunes of war turned suddenly hostile. Alford’s tank hit a mine and was immobilized. He was unhurt. A wicked cross fire caught two more of the force. That left five. Desperately trying to hold the vital road, Jerry threw everything in his anti-tank book at the advancing armor. Lt. Picard’s tank was knocked out along with another of the force. And now there were three! Sgt. Maurice L. Humphries assumed command and resolutely continued to drive forward. German fire lanced out from flanks and direct front. The enemy was well dug in and camouflaged. ’Can’t see a damned thing,’ muttered Corporal Octaviano Carrion, ’excepting for one Heinie, and I blew him right out of his hole.’ The ambush was nearly complete. An armor piercing round crashed through Carrion’s tank. Hot metal splashed the gunner’s face. Humphries, searching wildly for a target, spotted a Mark V. His gunner, Corporal Leslie Underwood, bounced five rounds off the heavy enemy vehicle. The Panther’s return fire sent one round through the turret, another into the final drive. It was bail out or die! As Humphries went over the side he noted bitterly that all of his small command had been stopped. Sgt. Bill Burton’s Sherman had all hatches open and that meant only one thing—a hit.107

The 330th Infantry Regiment’s after action report summarizes the attack against Cherain on 15 January: ’The attack progressed to the stream where the infantry came under extrèmely accurate machine gun and mortar fire. All of the supporting tanks were put out of action by anti-tank fire. The attack was unsuccessful. The infantrymen were forced to take cover in the water of the streams to escape the enemy fire.’108 At 1530 hrs, Task Force Lovelady reported the loss of all of its tanks.109 ’I,’ ’K,’ and ’L’ companies of the 330th Regiment’s 3rd Battalion were reduced to a combined strength of two officers and seventeen enlisted men.110
 
Colonel John C. Welborn’s Task Force Welborn, which simultaneously attacked the adjacent village of Sterpigny, fared no better, as the 36th Armored Infantry Regiment’s after action report for 15 January shows:

’At 12:10: Companies ”D” and “E” [of the 36th Armored Infantry Regiment] with the 1st Battalion 33rd Armored Regiment [3rd Armored Division] attacked Sterpigny. Dug in enemy infantry along the axis of advance, mine fields, and direct fire from tanks on both flanks stopped the advance after short gains. Heavy smoke was laid down and the attack resumed. Upon reaching the town several Mark V tanks opened up and quickly knocked out ten light tanks and the infantry of both ”D” and “E” were cut off. The situation was critical. Company ”F” was on a road block east of Bâclain where they remained for this period.’111
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The open hatches on this Sherman indicate that it has been knocked out. The crew has bailed out. (NARA, US Signal Corps)





Task Force McGeorge met a similar fate when it was called in to reinforce the attack on Sterpigny. Staff Sergeant James K. Cullen was part of the infantry from the 36th Armored Infantry Regiment which had been assembled to support Task Force McGeorge. He explains:

We attacked Sterpigny from a wooded hill to the Northwest of the village. ’D’ Company was with us as part of Task Force McGeorge, but the combined companies didn’t add up to a full platoon. My squad consisted of Roy Plummer, Wesley Pitzer, Reuben Kline, Earl Cordell, Vernon Spores and me. […] We approached the edge of town through a severe shelling when we crossed the fields. We picked up a tank from the 33rd Armored Regiment and followed it into town as it crept behind some of the buildings to the right of the road. Flat trajectory gunfire cracked near us as we moved slowly forward. From that we knew that there was an anti-tank gun or a tank aiming at us. Later we learned that it was a Panther.

Our tank went into a space between two buildings to try for a shot at the German Panther. He moved forward with my squad right behind him. I had my hand on the hull of the Sherman when there was a trèmendous crack and a cloud of dust. The crew of the Sherman bailed out. The Panther had put a shell through the corner of the building and into the Sherman, knocking it out. It was our last tank.
 
I decided to take my group to the other side of the street then to work our way up to where the Panther was sitting. To cross the road, we waited until their tank fired a burst of machine gun fire, then we ran over. He had been firing down the street at intervals. I guess just to let us know he was there.

Once on the other side, we met more of our task force from ’D’ Company. and a number of tankers who had lost their tanks in the field above Sterpigny and Cherain.112

The attacks carried out by Task Force Kane and Task Force Yeoman also broke down in the concentrated German fire. Task Force Hogan fared slightly better, but had to fight for thirty hours until it finally was able to take the three farms in Cherain’s western outskirts that go by the name of Vaux.

On 16 January, the Americans resumed their attack. Task Force Lovelady now had been replaced by Task Force Bailey (a company of Sherman tanks and an infantry company from Combat Command A, 3rd Armored Division), and Task Force Hogan joined Task Force Kane. The final battle of Sterpigny is described from the German perspective:

’In the end, the defenders are pushed out from Sterpigny. But at the small bridge over the creek just behind the village the American attack is halted again. This bottleneck is dominated by German tanks and a few serviceable artillery pieces from II. Abteilung/ SS-Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 9. By nightfall, 20 tanks of the U.S. 3rd Armored Division have been destroyed at this one place. To the right of the III. Bataillon/ SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 19, SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 20 has moved into position on both sides of Courtil [three miles northeast of Sterpigny], where it holds back the American 83rd Infantry Division.’113

When the 9. SS Panzer-Division ’Hohenstaufen’ from 16 January onward withdrew, this was just as much due to an order to definitively leave the Western Front and transfer to the Eastern Front, as due to the pressure from U.S. 3rd Armored Division. The exact numbers of the American losses at Cherain - Sterpigny on 14-17 January 1945 are not known, but Task Force Lovelady alone lost all its tanks, Task Force Welborn lost ten tanks, and Task Force Hogan was reduced to twelve Shermans and ten Stuarts, while Task Force Kane only had eleven Shermans and seventeen Stuarts left.114 The 3rd Armored Division’s operational branch recorded a loss of 125 Shermans and 38 Stuarts between 16 December 1944 and 16 January 1945.115Since the division recorded the loss of 44 Shermans between 16 and 31 December, more than 80 would hence have been lost between 1 and 16 January1945.116

On the German side it was reported that SS-Oberscharführer Gussnerlach, a tank commander in the ’Hohenstaufen Division,’ destroyed 14 American tanks and two armored reconnaissance vehicles in two days of the battle.117

With the 9. SS-Panzer-Division, another of the German armored units disappeared from the Ardennes. Four weeks of fighting had cost the division a loss of over 2,000 men in killed, wounded and missing, but of its original 66 tanks, 39 still remained. In its last combat against the Americans, the 9. SS-Panzer-Division had inflicted the 3rd Armored Division such heavy losses that it was pulled away from the front three days after the Battle of Cherain -Sterpigny.

MONTGOMERY BRINGS IN THE V CORPS

By despatching the 9. SS-Panzer-Division against American 3rd Armored Division, Model managed to prevent a total collapse of his army group’s northern flank. This certainly was a skilled operation and a clever use of the scarce resources at hand, but it only gave a temporary relief. When Montgomery on 15 January—at the height of the Battle of Cherain and Sterpigny—launched yet another division in the offensive, 1st Infantry Division of U.S. V Corps, Model had no choice but to allow the withdrawal of Felber’s embattled XIII. Armeekorps.

The 1st Infantry Division ’Big Red One,’ was one of the American Army’s most combat experienced units in Europe. The name The Big Red One was derived from the red color of the dressing epaulettes. The division took part in the American Army’s very first battles against the Germans in North Africa in November 1942, and when the Allies planned the landing in Sicily in July 1943, Patton made a special request for the 1st Infantry Division to take the lead. On 6 June 1944, The Big Red One again was in the forefront during the landing in Normandy. Since late 1943, the division had been commanded by the austere but highly capable Major General Clarence R. Huebner, who personally had enhanced the unit’s combat value. But when German 6. SS-Panzerarmee broke through in the Ardennes in December 1944, Huebner had—as late as on 13 December—been transferred to the V Corps’ headquarters. Brigadier General Clift Andrus, artillery commander in the 1st Infantry Division since the landings in Algeria in November 1942, was appointed to become the division’s new commander—a task he handled brilliantly. The 1st Infantry Division—part of U.S. First Army’s V Corps—was deployed to block the SS Panzer Army’s front to the north. It was mainly the work of the Big Red One that had repelled the 12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend’ with such bloody losses at Domane Bütgenbach on 19-22 December 1944.

The former divisional commander Huebner received a new task as on 15 January 1945 he was assigned to lead the V Corps—on the very same day as this corps began its counter-offensive from the north.* Supported by the 2nd Infantry Division’s 23rd Infantry Regiment, the 1st Infantry Division attacked due south on 15 January, to the left (east) of U.S. 30th Infantry Division, between Waimes and Bütgenbach. The goal was Sankt Vith, about ten miles farther to the south. But German 3. Fallschirmjager-Division fought hard to prevent the Americans from severing the XIII. Armeekorps’ supply lines. In Faymonville, about a mile southeast of Waimes, the II. Bataillon/ Fallschirmjager Regiment 9 held the Americans at bay for two days. This was two miles northeast of Thirimont, where the 30th Infantry Division meanwhile was fighting for the third consecutive day to break the German paratroop division’s westernmost positions.
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U.S. soldiers from ‘G’ Company, 23rd Infantry Regiment of the 2nd Infantry Division take cover from machine gun fire from German paratroopers of the III. Bataillon/ Fallschirmjager-Regiment 9 outside of Ondenval on 16 January 1945. (NARA, 111-SC-199162)
 




The battle for Faymonville raged in bitter cold— the temperature dropped below five degrees. Leonard E. Richardson, who served as a First Lieutenant in the 16th Infantry Regiment, one of the regiments of the 1st Infantry Division, recalls that up to half of the infantry weapons froze and would not fire. On a single day twenty-one men of Richardson’s ‘E’ Company were evacuated with frostbite, and some platoons were down to a strength of five fighting men.118 The American advance was additionally hampered by knee-deep snow, and the German paratroopers’ firepower in Faymonville was enhanced by the 37mm gun of a captured American M8 armored car.

Two miles farther to the east, the German parachute division’s 5th and 8th regiments held positions on the heights south of Bütgenbach. At this place, the American 16th and 18th Infantry regiments advanced across the fields where the 12. SS-Panzer-Division four weeks previously had taken such bloody losses. The Americans passed snow-covered wrecks of the ’Hitler Jugend’s’ abandoned tanks and tank destroyers, which still remained where they had been shot up, but now the roles were reversed. Neither the men of the 1st Infantry Division nor the 23rd Infantry Regiment would agree that the Battle of the Bulge was over on 15 January 1945.
 
It was only when the 23rd Infantry Regiment on 16 January—in cooperation with the 30th Infantry Division’s 117th Infantry Regiment from the southwest—managed to squeeze the III. Bataillon of Fallschirmjager-Regiment 9 out from Ondenval, just east of Thirimont, that the Germans retreated from Faymonville in the northeast. This allowed the Americans to make their way to the outskirts of the village of Schoppen—a mile southeast of Faymonville— which was defended by Fallschirmjager-Regiment 8.

On 16 January, the Germans held a nearly eighteen-mile long coherent front from Büllingen in the east, through Schoppen and the wooded area south of Ligneuville, to Grand-Halleux at River Salm in the southwest. Ligneuville had been evacuated on the day before. On the western edge of this front, U.S. 75th Infantry Division still was held back, and on the eastern flank the Americans were prevented from moving forward across the old battlefield south of Bütgenbach. But coordinated with the withdrawal of the 9. SS-Panzer-Division from Cherain farther to the southwest, German 326. and 62. Volksgrenadier divisions were pulled back from the positions at River Salm during the following night, so that the depleted U.S. 75th Infantry Division finally was able to march into Vielsalm and Petit-Thier, two miles farther to the northeast. With this German retreat, the completely worn-down 62. Volksgrenadier-Division departed from the front and started its march back to the German border.

At that time, the sky once again clouded in, and a heavy snowfall reduced visibility so much that any Allied air effort became totally impossible. The American ground forces had to do without ’the Air.’
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German paratroopers in firing position with a sniper rifle.(Bild 101I-554-0854-06A/Staaf)





While what remained of the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division marched past the snow-covered ruins of Sankt Vith, the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division took up positions four miles northwest of the town—on the wooded hills south of Kaiserbaracke, where the north-south highway from Malmedy to Sankt Vith crosses the dual track railway that runs from Born in the east to Recht in the west. Here the Germans repelled the 30th Infantry Division when its forces came rolling down the road from the north on 17 January.

Meanwhile, the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division’s right (northeastern) flank was secured by Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 9, which tied down U.S. 23rd Infantry Regiment in fierce fighting in the Wolfsbusch, ’the Wolf Forest’—the deep spruce forest that begins just south of Thirimont and extends down to Kaiserbaracke, three miles further south. Here, the troops of the 23rd Infantry Regiment had to fight their way up the slippery wooded slopes, exposed to constant assaults by small groups of masterfully disguised German paratroopers. ’Slow progress by 1st Div which was having its hands full with last ditch elements of the 3rd Para Div who have reputed themselves for being such tough cookies,’ was noted in Lieutenant General Hodges’ diary.119 Hodges also complained about the ’uniformly slow’ advance of the XVIII Airborne Corps, and met Major General Ridgway to discuss the situation. Ridgway was upset at ’the general lack of aggressiveness and good leadership especially in the case of the 75th Infantry Division.’120
 
As we have seen, the ordinary ’G.I. Joe’ fought with great bravery and even was prepared to perform virtually suicidal tasks when circumstances demanded. As the Germans saw it, the U.S. Army often carried out its field operations in a rigid manner, which favored the Germans in many situations. Oberstleutnant Moll, operations officer of the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, describes this: ’Our division’s combat strength constantly declined, but despite the enemy’s great material superiority, he was not able to accomplish more than limited local successes. This was mainly because the enemy fought his battle in a most schematic manner. The enemy never attacked before 0900 am, and “went to sleep”? at 1700 hrs. Owing to the enemy’s stereotypical approach, we were able to overcome several seemingly hopeless situations because our soldiers could regroup undisturbed during night time.’121

On 17 January Model decided to submit Felber’s XIII. Armeekorps to the 6. SS-Panzerarmee. Sepp Dietrich immediately ordered both artillery and a handful of tanks from his four SS panzer divisions to support the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division. On the next day—while Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 5 still held U.S. 18th Infantry Regiment down at Bütgenbach—Fallschirmjäger Regiment 8 launched a counter-attack in the forests northeast of Kaiserbaracke. ’The heaviest kind of hand-to-hand fighting went on all during the day,’ was noted in Lieutenant General Hodges’ diary. ’The enemy efforts were contained [but] little progress was made in clearing the defile itself.’122 On 19 January, Oberstleutnant Reichhelm, operations officer in Heeresgruppe B, reported that the American thrust towards Sankt Vith had been ’sealed off’ with the support of tanks from the 9. SS-Panzer-Division.123
 
By holding out on both flanks the Germans could conduct an orderly retreat from the advanced positions at rivers Salm and Amblève—where Major General Ridgway had intended to encircle them. On 20 January, they held a coherent front line from the sector south of Bütgenbach and to the southwest, through Born and the forested area south of Poteau, three miles west of Sankt Vith. All that U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps managed to accomplish through a week’s offensive was to push back the German lines between two and five miles in a southeasterly direction. On that day Ridgway and Hodges met again to discuss the situation. Hodges’ diary entries for 20 January 1945 reads:

’It has now been recommended that both the CG [Major General Prickett] and Art Commander [Brigadier General Albert C. Stanford] of the 75th Div be relieved from their command to revert to the rank of Colonel, although this action has not yet taken place pending approval of higher headquarters.’124

Three days later the proposed actions against generals Prickett and Stanford were executed, except that Prickett escaped being demoted. Instead he was assigned as the deputy commander of the XXI Corps and after the war he had his honor restored by leading the Mauthausen War Criminal Tribunal against Nazi concentration camp guards. Brigadier General Albert Charles Stanford fared less well. A veteran of the First World War, Stanford had been artillery commander in the 34th Infantry Division in North Africa and Italy (participating in the battles of Monte Cassino and Anzio) when he shortly before the Invasion of Normandy was appointed artillery commander in the 75th Infantry Division. Demoted and humiliated, Stanford returned to the USA, where he a few months later retired with the rank of colonel. He passed away in 1952, at the age of fifty-seven.

 THE BATTLE OF OBERWAMPACH

Following the American capture of Houffalize on 16 January and the tank battle at Cherain - Sterpigny on 1417 January, the fighting on the entire central sector of the Ardennes Front—from the Sâlmchateau section in the north to Bastogne in the south—virtually ceased. As we have seen, the two American armored divisions in the VII Corps, the 2nd and the 3rd, were withdrawn from combat. Most of the 83rd Infantry Division, the infantry division that operated in support of the 3rd Armored Division, also was pulled out, as was the 774th Tank Battalion.125 Only one of the 83rd Infantry Division’s regiments, the 329th, was left remaining at the front in order to cover the 75th Infantry Division from the south. The 329th Infantry Regiment cautiously pursued the retreating Germans and on 19 January reached Bovigny, two miles south of Sâlmchateau. There the Americans paused for three days.126 Farther to the southwest, the 84th Infantry Division, which had supported U.S. 2nd Armored Division, remained passive at Houffalize for five days.127 Through the American inactivity on this front section, the Germans were able withdraw the 12. Volksgrenadier-Division and transfer it to the Roermond section, forty miles north of the Ardennes Front, where Montgomery attacked with British 2nd Army.128

The northernmost of U.S. Third Army’s corps, Major General Troy Middleton’s VIII Corps, also was instructed to suspend its further advance. Patton’s plan was to try to hold the Germans in the area north of Bastogne while his own units were launched to the northeast from Bastogne in order to cut off the German supply lines. However, as previously depicted, U.S. 6th Armored Division was unable to break through the Führer Begleit Brigade’s defensive positions at Allerborn on the road between Bastogne and Clervaux in the northeast.

Two miles farther to the southwest, however, U.S. 90th Infantry Division, which marched up south of the 6th Armored Division, succeeded in capturing Oberwampach on 16 January. At that point nothing but weak and demoralized remnants of German 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division stood at this place.129 The American conquest of Oberwampach was the beginning of a terribly bloody battle. The obstinacy with which the Germans tried to recapture this small village, clearly illustrates the amazing fighting spirit of the German soldier even at such a late stage of the war.

The first German attack was carried out by no more than forty SS soldiers from 1. SS-Panzer-Division’s SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2, supported by a tank and three Sturmgeschütz IIIs. This was the remains of SS-Kampfgruppe Keil, which under the command of SS-Obersturmführer Rupprecht Keil had not yet been withdrawn from the area.130 The after action report for U.S. 90th Infantry Division’s 358th Infantry Regiment on 17 January reads:

’At 0330 the Germans suddenly attacked Oberwampach. Some 40 men of 1st SS Division, one tank and three assault guns entered the town firing their weapons and yelling at the top of their voices. Unfortunately for them the first few buildings were unoccupied and the ẞnoise served only to further alert the waiting infantryman of the 1st Battalion who called for prepared fires and quickly repulsed the attack. The enemy tanks and survivors withdrew. At daylight the Battalion found 22 dead SS and 3 wounded who were promptly captured.’131

When this attack had failed, German 2. Panzer-Division—on the march back to Germany—was ordered to deploy a task force to block any further American advance in this area.132 Moreover, a pair of Tiger I tanks from schwere Panzer-Abteilung 301, subordinated to the 9. Panzer-Division, were vectored towards Oberwampach.133

At nine in the morning on 17 January, a larger German force came dashing down the snow-covered hills northeast of the small village. This was 2. Panzer-Division’sKampfgruppe Gutmann, consisting of eleven Panzer IVs, two Panthers and three StuG IIIs, plus the infantry of Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2.134 Led by Oberst Joachim Gutmann, this was the most powerful formation the 2. Panzer-Division could mount at that time. Gutmann’s task was clear: Take Oberwampach and defend it with the three StuG IIIs and five 120mm mortars.135

But the American defenders proved to be too much for the Germans. U.S. 358th Infantry Regiment, grouped in Oberwampach, was supported not only by ’A’ Company of the 712th Tank Battalion and the 773rd Tank Destroyer Battalion, but also by no less than fourteen artillery battalions. During the previous night, these had been preparing a Time on Target volley (TOT). The simultaneous impact of hundreds of artillery shells had an absolutely devastating effect on the German attack formations, which retreated, leaving behind a large number of dead in the by now completely blackened and plowed up hills. An attempt to repeat the attack ninety minutes later was shattered by yet another TOT volley.
 
The Germans responded with a prolonged artillery and mortar shelling of Oberwampach. In the meantime, a pincer attack involving both 2. Panzer-Division and 1. SS-Panzer-Division was prepared. At 1300 hrs on 17 January, Kampfgruppe Gutmann again came across the bloodstained hills northeast of Oberwampach. This time, however, the panzers were accompanied by no more than one hundred and fifty panzer grenadiers from Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2, with four Hanomag half-track vehicles.136 U.S. 358th Infantry Regiment’s after action report describes the ensuing combat:
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This U.S. soldier is posing next to a neutralized German Sturmgeschütz III in the Ardennes in January 1945. (NARA, 56251 A.C. via Peter Björk)





’No fire hindered their approach until the enemy were close to the village when they were met by point blank fire from tanks, Tank Destroyers and riflemen. The lead vehicle—an armored scout car containing the infantry CO—was pierced at 10 yard range by one of our tanks. The leader took cover, leaving his command without direction as he was subsequently captured. Five enemy tanks were set afire. As the enemy turned to flee his routes of withdrawal were covered by our armor and further tanks were destroyed. Enemy personnel casualties were heavy.’137

Obviously the coordination between the Wehrmacht and the SS did not work so well. In any case, the SS troops attacked only a couple of hours later, when the 2. Panzer-Division already had been repulsed. Despite the fact that they only had one of their StuG IIIs left remaining, the SS soldiers performed a completely death-defying attack and managed to penetrate southeastern Oberwampach, where they captured an American tank destroyer and occupied four houses. But that was just as far as they managed to get.138 SS-Oberscharführer Willi Detering, who participated in the attack, recalled:

We began our assault on Oberwampach after dark, at around seven in the evening. Approximately one hundred yards in front of Oberwampach we were subjected to infantry fire from the windows in the first houses in the community. We immediately returned the fire. After a Sturmgeschütz III had taken up positions and opened fire on the houses, these were quickly abandoned by the Americans. When we entered the village our Untersturmführer and a couple of soldiers were hit and wounded. But the American gunfire soon subsided and we could work our way up to about the center of Oberwampach. Where the street turns to the right, we suddenly were exposed to fire from an anti-tank gun. Our Sturmgeschütz pulled back slightly and a light machine gun and two gunners were grouped to cover this.

At midnight, we heard the sound of two tanks from the American side. They subjected us to such a heavy fire that we were unable to leave our positions. At dawn the Americans intensified their fire and then launched a counter-attack. We were then forced to retreat from Oberwampach. We went into position outside the village and saw how the Americans re-occupied the houses which they had previously abandoned. There was no chance for us to get any reinforcements, especially regarding tank destroyers. When darkness fell again, we withdrew to Keil’s command post.139

While the SS soldiers and the Americans fought inside the village, the Wehrmacht unit launched yet another attack. Oberst Gutmann’s place was taken by Oberst von Puttkamer, and by this time two heavy Tiger I tanks from schwere Panzer-Abteilung 301, and a task force from the Führer Begleit Brigade, had arrived at positions to the east of the village. ’The day was scarcely an hour old when the Germans swarmed like angry bees on Oberwampach,’ reads the American regiment’s after action report. ’They came from the northeast, east and southeast with tanks in support and harried the town with fire until finally repulsed about 0330. Two tanks which accompanied them were hit. One burned but the other limped off into the darkness. When light came the Germans held seven houses of the southeast end of Oberwampach. Supporting tanks and TDs maneuvered to position for direct fire at the enemy-held houses. Directed by a forward observer who crawled to where he was finally pinned by enemy fire, artillery crashed down on the stronghold. The Germans withdrew to a barn on the outskirts leaving a Tiger tank as lone sentinel to guard their retreat. Two PWs were captured—huge men from the Remer Brigade.’140

U.S. 344th Field Artillery Battalion alone fired six thousand shells during the Battle of Oberwampach. One of the men in ’B’ Company, 773rd Tank Battalion, Lieutenant Leon M. Wood, who led the 2nd Platoon, was reported to have knocked out five German tanks with his M10 tank destroyer.141 The German losses were terrible. Included among these was one of the Tiger Is which schwere Panzer-Abteilung 301 had been forced to leave behind at Oberwampach since it had been made unable to move.142But through these counter-attacks, the Germans had also halted U.S. 90th Infantry Division.
 
 XII CORPS GETS ANOTHER CHANCE

For nearly a month, Patton had been frustrated in his efforts to reach the Our’s river crossings in the area east of Bastogne, in order to ’slam a steel door’ behind German 5. Panzerarmee. In December 1944, U.S. XII Corps tried to advance northwards parallel to the river, but this failed due to a combination of German resistance and rugged terrain. Probably the most favorable moment had been when 26th and 80th Infantry divisions of the III Corps on 22 December launched their surprising thrust northwards towards Wiltz. But because of an exaggerated caution on behalf of these two divisions, the Americans lost the element of surprise, and since Christmas time, the front had not moved more than three miles north in the direction of Wiltz, which remained in German hands. When all efforts by the 6th Armored Division, the 35th Infantry Division, and the 90th Infantry Division to break through to the northeast from the area east of Bastogne also failed, Patton again turned to Major General Eddy’s XII Corps and instructed this to resume its offensive from the south.
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American medics push an assault boat loaded with medical equipment down to River Sûre. (US Army)
 




In view of the extremely difficult terrain of the area—high, forested mountain peaks rose sharply, intersected by steep ravines and countless waterways, and snow and ice hampered the accessibility further—this may be regarded as a rather desperate move. But Patton realized that everything had to be put at stake to envelop and destroy as large German units as possible west of River Our, so that his men would be spared from facing them when they later advanced into Germany itself. ’I know you’re tired,’ he told his troops on 17 January, ’but you’ll have to keep fighting!’143The next morning the new offensive began.

River Sûre flows eastwards from the hills in southeastern Belgium and into Luxembourg, cleaving the duchy in half. A short distance southeast of Wiltz, the river bends south down to Ettelbrück, five miles farther to the south, and there it turns east again, to unite with River Our on the border with Germany. Patton instructed the 80th Infantry Division to attack eastwards in the area between Wiltz and Ettelbrück, while the 4th and 5th Infantry divisions further southeast would cross the Sûre from the south to the north between Ettelbrück and the border with Germany in the east.

At three in the morning of January 18, while still pitch black, the 4th and 5th Infantry divisions put their small assault boats and rubber rafts in the river’s icy waters. By now, the Americans had learned from the Germans and crossed the river with the same infiltration tactics as their opponents had applied on 16 December 1944. Quietly, without the artillery firing a single shell, thousands of men paddled across to the north bank of the river. This eight-mile-wide sector was held by not more than a single German division—the battered 352. Volksgrenadier-Division, which at this time was reduced to less than a regiment’s size. Only at one place—just east of Diekirch—was one of the assault boat groups detected and fired upon by German machine guns, and here the Americans quickly pulled back and crossed the river a little bit away.144

A few hours later, the 80th Infantry Division under Major General Horace McBride struck the German western flank on a one-mile-wide front from Ettelbrück in the south and up to the area just south of Wiltz. This was indeed a gamble. The 80th Infantry Division was faced by the entire LIII. Armeekorps under General Rothkirch, with 79. Volksgrenadier-Division to the left and the 276. Volksgrenadier-division to the right. Although both of these divisions had been decimated during the preceding weeks of fighting—which certainly also was true for the 80th Infantry Division—the 276. Volksgrenadier-Division (which recently had been transferred from the LXXX. Armeekorps) still had about seventy percent of its original strength.145

While the LIII. Armeekorps largely managed to hold out against McBride’s flank attack, the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division proved unable to withstand the powerful onslaught from the 4th and 5th Infantry divisions. Diekirch was abandoned almost without a fight. Here the Americans took one hundred fifty-eight prisoners from Grenadier-Regiment 914—’some of them very young, exhausted, frozen and half-starved,’ as reported by the commander of the 3rd Battalion of 5th Infantry Division’s 2nd Infantry Regiment, Lieutenant Colonel Robert Connor.146

But the German commanders reacted swiftly and decisively to the American attack. Already on 18 January, General Brandenberger, C.O. of the 7. Armee, ordered the LIII. Armeekorps to transfer the bulk of its artillery to the LXXX. Armeekorps and the 352. Volksgrenadier-Division.Meanwhile Generalfeldmarschall Model regrouped strong armored forces to the threatened sector. He ordered the2. Panzer-Division to abandon its positions northeast of Oberwampach, and instead march southwards. Then he contacted Generalleutnant Bayerlein, commander of the Panzer Lehr Division, and ordered him to deploy a task force to Diekirch. Bayerlein immediately issued marching orders to Kampfgruppe 902.147

The weather still did not permit any large-scale Allied air support, for which the Germans were infinitely grateful. But soon it would be too much of a good thing. The light snowfall that started at dawn on 18 January, soon developed into a blizzard that would rage for three whole days. Within a few hours, all roads in the area had been covered with thick snow drifts. The situation was complicated by the fact that many of the roads now hidden under up to five feet deep snow, ran along cliff edges where one wrong move could be fatal. To the Germans, who lacked fuel for their plow trucks, it was a disaster. Generalleutnant Bayerlein, who on 18 January made it to the 79. Volksgrenadier-Division’s command post to acquaint himself with the situation, realized that it would take days rather than hours for his motorized units to reach the combat zone.
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German artillerymen are making a Nebelwerfer ready to fire another volley of rockets. (BArch, Bild 101I-277-0840-33/Jacob)
 




U.S. 4th and 5th Infantry divisions were able to continue the advance northward throughout the next day. Although these two units also were stalled by the snowstorm, they stood in Bastendorf, two miles from their starting positions, on the evening of the 19th. Thus, the 79. Volksgrenadier-Division, German LIII. Armeekorps’ southernmost division, was threatened with being outflanked from the east. During the following night this division withdrew eastwards across the Sûre, this without being noticed by the Americans. Next day, the amazed American soldiers of the 80th Infantry Division’s 318th Infantry Regiment were able to enter Burden, on the western side of the Sûre, without encountering any resistance. Squatting, and with their nerves on edge, the Americans searched the small village from house to house. They had no illusions concerning the Germans. Six days earlier, they had been exposed to a minor German attack that emanated from Burden. Thereby, the American regimental commander, Colonel Lansing McVicker, was taken prisoner. Shortly afterward, the Americans carried out a counter-attack and took back the ground they had lost. There, they encountered Colonel McVickers body. He had been killed by a bayonet stab, not far from the place where he was captured.148
 
The 4th and 5th Infantry divisions’ advance soon also ground to a halt. On 20 January, the 5th Infantry Division reached Brandenburg, about two miles northwest of Bastendorf, but there the division decided to revert to the defense; there seemed to be indications that the Germans were preparing a counter-attack from Vianden, three miles farther to the northeast.149

Patton tried to improve the situation by ordering the III Corps to resume its attack in a northeasterly direction east and northeast of Bastogne on that same day. But the American forces once again were halted by the German armored forces, as before. At Wincrange, a mile southwest of Antoniushof on the road between Bastogne and Clervaux, the German task force which had assembled under Oberst Remer, thwarted all U.S. attempts to get through.150

Then, when U.S. 80th Infantry Division’s 318th Infantry Regiment attacked across the Sûre at Dirbach, four miles northwest of Burden, on the morning of 21 January, the first armored units from Panzer Lehr had arrived, and these struck the U.S. infantry regiment with a terrible impact.151This is described in a report from the 318th Infantry, ’The 2nd Battalion became ’boxed”? in a deep gorge south of the river. What had appeared as a steep slope on the 1/50,000 map actually was found to be a perpendicular cliff. The 2nd Battalion, unable to descend to the river, became a target for some very heavy artillery fire. Lt Col William Boydston, C.O. of the 2nd Battalion, was killed by Nebelwerfer fire.’152_

Percy Smith, at that time a First Sergeant of the American battalion’s ’G’ Company, remembers the terrible scenes during the German artillery and Nebelwerfer bombardment:

’The bodies of soldiers and equipment were scattered over the ground. Parts of bodies dangled from tree limbs. Wounded members of the headquarters staff wandered around dazed and incoherent. A soldier was holding his intestines; another was looking at his arm laying on the ground. Colonel Boydston was reclining in a half sitting position at the base of a tree … Colonel Boydston beckoned to Lieutenant Coupto (his aide). He spit out a mouthful of blood and told him to deliver a message to his family. Colonel Boydston’s eyes grew filmy then closed. He expired in the arms of the bitterly weeping LieutenantCoupto.’153
 
At the same time, German 9. Volksgrenadier-Division, which on 16 January had been released at the front by 276. Vo lksgrenadier-Division, was ordered to return to the Our’s western side to establish a solid defense line between Vianden and Brandenburg.154 There, the Germans managed to halt and reverse U.S. 4th Infantry Division as it tried to advance towards Vianden on 21 January.155

That evening, exactly one month had passed since Patton had launched his offensive, aimed at determining the Battle of the Ardennes. It was now 21 January 1945, and it stood perfectly clear to the Third Army’s commander that he once again had failed to sever the 5. Panzerarmee’s lines of communication. At the front, shivering and frustrated U.S. soldiers looked up against the gray sky and asked themselves, ’Where is the Air Force?’156

RIDGWAY IS HALTED IN FRONT OF SANKT VITH

On the northern side of the German Bulge, Major General Ridgway, the commander of U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps, tried to get the advance running again on 20 January. As we have seen, his attempt to outflank the German forces in the area through a pincer movement had failed, and on 20 January, the Germans held a line from the area south of Bütgenbach and southwestwards up to a forested area south of Poteau, three miles west of Sankt Vith. But now Ridgway brought forward Major General Robert Hasbrouck’s 7th Armored Division, which had been held in reserve since it was taken out of action just before the end of the year.* This was the division that had been dealt the stinging defeat at Sankt Vith a month earlier, and now the idea was that it would have the honor to recapture the town. In order to complete this task, the armored division received the support of the independent units 517th Parachute Infantry Regiment and 509th Parachute Infantry Battalion.
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Sherman tanks of the 7th Armored Division on the advance towards Sankt Vith in January 1945. (NARA, 111-SC-199467)
 




Against Ridgway’s 30th Infantry Division, 7th Armored Division, and 75th Infantry Division, stood the German 18. and 326. Volksgrenadier divisions (both of which had been badly mauled), and the 246. Volksgrenadier-Division, which just had arrived from the Monschau area in the northeast. Furthermore, the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division held the northern flank, against U.S. 1st Infantry Division and a regiment of the 2nd Infantry Division. Had it not been for the support given to these German units by SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 25 under SS-Sturmbannführer Siegfried Müller, plus a couple of tank platoons from the 1., 9., and 12. SS-Panzer divisions, which served as fire brigades on this section, it is doubtful that the Germans would have been able to hold their positions for so long.

The 7th Armored attacked to the east of the highway from Malmedy to Sankt Vith. Combat Command A—17th Tank Battalion and 23rd Armored Infantry Battalion—rolled off at 0930 in the morning on 20 January, with the backing of the paratroopers of 2nd Battalion, 517th Parachute Infantry Regiment. The morning was cold and a light snowfall reduced visibility slightly. A formation of fighter-bombers from the IX Tactical Air Command were deployed to support the offensive, but the operation had to be aborted since the pilots were unable to see anything to attack on the ground. The small village of Deidenberg, about five miles north of Sankt Vith, proved to be occupied by no more than a handful of Germans who quickly took off when the tanks came rumbling across the snow-covered fields.157

But when Combat Command B at noon on 20 January approached Born, a stone’s throw from the road to Sankt Vith, things looked different. From the wooded hill west of the village, a couple of hundred German soldiers from the 18. Volksgrenadier and 3. Fallschirmjäger divisions—supported by three tanks and tank destroyers from the 12. SS-Panzer-Division—effectively blocked the highway.158 When the American tanks came out of the Wolfsbusch forest in the north, along with the 509th Parachute Infantry Battalion, they were met by a raging fire. A German tank destroyer knocked out two Shermans in quick succession, while mortar fire was directed against the infantry. The Americans were forced to pull back into the forest again.

During the rest of the afternoon, the German positions and the village was bombarded with mortars and anti-tank guns. When the German return fire slowed, the Americans resumed their attack. This was at 1645 hrs, and there was only thirty minutes left until darkness set in. Supported by the troops of the American parachute infantry battalion’s ’B’ Company, two Shermans surged forward on the eastern flank, and a few hundred yards farther to the left, three other Shermans and soldiers of the para battalion’s ’A’ Company advanced across the snow-covered fields. Meanwhile, a Sherman and a platoon of paratroopers cautiously moved along the road furthest to the west.

At 1655 the headquarters received a radio call from Captain Leslie D. Winship, commander of the parachute infantry battalion’s ’B’ Company, ’Continuing advance against slight resistance.’ Five minutes later his agitated voice was heard on the radio again, ’Am meeting stiff resistance!’159 Then the broadcast stopped, but intense gunfire was heard from his unit’s direction.
 
A German tank destroyer had knocked out the leading Sherman, and Winship had been badly wounded. While a paramedic gave the company commander first aid, a huge German tank suddenly appeared up behind a small grove of trees, and a group of German soldiers in snow oversuits captured the Americans. This was one of four German tanks that made a surprising entrance. Another five Shermans were knocked out, and the American infantry had to abandon the houses they had managed to occupy in Born.

Again the Americans were back inside the dark, cold forest. As usual, their artillery took over. Between 2300 and 2345 Born was subjected to the fire of no less than thirteen artillery battalions. Then the Americans attacked again, and this time it was no problem to overpower the by now completely shell-shocked German defenders. The Americans assembled fifteen hundred prisoners plus a rich war booty, much of which, however, was more or less badly damaged by the bombardment. Captain Winship’s dead body also was found.
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A German soldier leaves his cover, armed with a stick grenade in one hand and a so-called Hohlhaftladung to fight an enemy tank in close-combat. The Hohlhaftladung was a kind of magnetic mine with a 3.5 to 1.7-kilo explosive with a shaped charge effect. According to German veterans, this weapon had great penetration capabilities even on quite thick armor. However, the attacking soldier had to take cover quickly once the charge was primed, because it detonated within five seconds. (BArch, Bild 101I-709-0337-30/Gerhard Gronefeld)
 




Major General Ridgway was anything but satisfied, which he demonstrated with all the clarity one could wish for. To the First Army’s commander, Lieutenant General Hodges, he expressed the view that the 7th Armored Division had become ’sluggish.’ Ridgway even made direct contact with the C.O. of the armored division’s Combat Command B, which had been slowed down at Born, and told him that if his unit could not handle this small village on its own, the rest of the armored division would haveto intervene. Then he informed the armored division’s commander, Hasbrouck, that if he could not get ’the get the job done’ Ridgway would instead despatch the 30th Infantry Division to take Sankt Vith.160
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Captain George King of the 365th Fighter Group ‘Hell Hawks’ starts his P-47 Thunderbolt with two 500lb. bombs under the wings for a new combat mission over the Ardennes. This P-47D30 was a brand new aircraft received by the 365th Fighter Group to replenish the unit after the severe losses during Operation ‘Bodenplatte.’ When the weather cleared on Monday 22 January 1945, the ‘Hell Hawks’ had the opportunity to pay back. (NARA, 3A-5146)
 




Hodges also did not seem particularly pleased with the results of the first day of the attack. His diary reads, ’XVIII Corps continued the attack; resistance was extremely heavy in Born which was finally cleared after six o’clock; 165 armored reconnaissance vehicles, 8 assault guns, and 4 tanks were captured and over one hundred dead Boche were found in the town. We lost 8 tanks, 5 of which can be repaired.’161

On the German side, Generalfeldmarschall Model ordered all available forces to be launched in a counterattack north of Sankt Vith on the morning of 21 January. Soldiers from the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, an infantry battalion from the 246. Volksgrenadier-Division, and a handful of tanks from the 9. SS-Panzer-Division attacked from Nieder-Emmels, two miles southwest of Born.162 The Germans managed to overpower a few American infantry positions, but when they entered the Bois d’Emmels—the mixed forest between Nieder-Emmels and Born—the American artillery had zeroed in on their targets. ’After an initial success the attack was halted in the woods,’ reported Oberstleutnant Moll, operations officer in the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division. ’Our forces had to be pulled back.’163

 MASSACRE FROM THE AIR

On this day, 20 January 1945, the weather began to improve slightly. U.S. 9th Air Force was able to despatch 166 twin-engine B-26 Marauder, A-26 Invader, and A-20 Havoc bombers and attack bombers against a railway viaduct and a bridge at Euskirchen and railway yards in Mayen in the rear area of the German Ardennes Front. Even more directly relevant at the front was the fact that several Thunderbolt and Lightning fighter-bombers appeared to drop bombs and strafe the Germans at Sankt Vith.*

This coincided in time with worsening news from the Eastern Front reaching the German first-line troops in the West. These had previously heard that battles were fought in the borderlands of both East Prussia and Silesia. On 21 January the German Wehrmachtsbericht mentioned two cities in East Prussia: ’Gumbinnen … bitter street fighting rages in the city … Following heavy fighting, the enemy managed to penetrate Tilsit.’ Such news had a great drain on the morale of the German troops on the Western Front. One man who really received a strong impact from the reports from the Eastern Front was Adolf Hitler. On the night of 19 January he told Oberbefehlshaber West, Generalfeldmarschall von Rundstedt, to be prepared that ’the entire 6. Panzerarmee, including the four SS Panzer divisions and the two Führer brigades could be ordered to the Eastern Front’164 Decision on the matter would, Hitler added, be taken the next afternoon. The following day, the Soviet forces broke through the German defense in East Prussia. At 1855 hrs on 20 January came the order from Hitler: The SS armor shall promptly shift to the Eastern Front!165
 
The Allies soon were informed about it. On the evening of 20 January, the Ultra code breakers at Bletchley Park intercepted German radioed orders to the 3. Jagd-Division to deploy all available fighters to seal off a particular area from the Allied aviation.166 Given the dilapidated state of the German aviation in the West, this was a sign that something big was in the offing. In the evening the next day the Ultra intercepted a message in which Generalfeldmarschall Model announced that the 5. Panzerarmee from 1200 hrs on 22 January would take over command of all units on the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s former front section, ’except the SS formations which will be pulled out’167 This was the final death knell for the German Ardennes operations.

Just as the road to the river crossings at the Our were cluttered with withdrawing vehicles, the cloud cover dispersed. On Monday 22 January 1945, the sun shone over a sparkling winter landscape. The Allied planes were up early. At dawn, Captain Wilfred B. Crutchfield from the 362nd Fighter Group swept in over the German border in his P-47 Thunderbolt, nicknamed ’Kentucky Colonel,’ and saw something truly amazing: From the river crossing at Dasburg a huge vehicle column wound almost all the way to the town of Prüm, some twenty miles farther to the northeast—there was everything from tanks to horse-drawn wagons.168 ’This discovery,’ wrote 9th Air Force historian Kenn C. Rust, ’was one part in the beginning of one of the greatest days in the history of the 9th Air Force’169

At around the same time, Lieutenant Howard Nichols from the XIX TAC’s 10th Photo Reconnaissance Group, spotted a huge traffic jam on the other side of the river. At least four hundred vehicles were standing almost still along the narrow road that winds down the forested mountain slope towards the bridge across the Our’s river gorge at Dasburg. The traffic was barely visibly moving through the narrow bottleneck. Nichols immediately radioed ground control and called for ’a massive airstrike’170

Similar reports came in from elsewhere in the Ardennes. An American report from 22 January 1945, reads, ’Air reconnaissance showed at almost any hour of the day great columns of vehicles of all descriptions leaving the bulge on all roads that lead back to Germany’171 A soldier from the Führer Begleit Brigade gives the German perspective:
 
22 January 1945. The road is filled with all kinds of troops— soldiers on foot, baggage vehicles, 7.5cm anti-tank guns, tanks from various units, heavy artillery pieces, each drawn by sixteen draft horses. We admire the gunners who manage the transport on these narrow roads with its tight curves, but feel sorry for the nags. The column becomes increasingly compressed because the soldiers on foot determine the marching pace. Just as it starts to turn light at dawn, the column stands in front of a fairly deep river gorge. The road descends in hairpin curves. At the bottom the Our River flows, but still it is not sufficiently light to be able to see it. First the trucks and the tanks move down the hill. Then follows the large artillery pieces, whose eight different spans are able to get through the hairpin curves only with great difficulty. It is with the greatest difficulty that the gunners manage to prevent the extremely heavy pieces from just crashing down the steep hill. We hear their cries: ’Stop! Stop! Whoa! Whoa!’ - And everything stops.

By now the trucks at the front of the column have arrived down to the bridge, but it appears to be damaged by bombs. We need the bridge because the river gorge is too steep. But the biggest problem is that the road is so incredibly narrow. It is impossible to overtake or turn back, otherwise at least the tanks might have been able to cross the river, but now they can not get past the trucks. We soon realize that the enemy fighter-bombers have us caught in a mouse trap. It feels like it turns light too fast, and this turns out to be one of those beautiful winter days with clear blue skies, as so often is when it is as cold as this. Now we have to look out for airplanes!

Soon, the first formations of fighter-bombers appeared— Thunderbolts and Lightnings, weighted down by bombs. The German soldier continues his story from Dasburg, ’Someone yells, “Abandon vehicles!”? Everyone but the wagon drivers hurl themselves to cover. In the same moment they pop up behind the ridge—at first it looks like a swarm of bees, but we know it is fighter-bombers. They carry out their attack methodically, starting with the part of the column at the top of the mountain. Two or three artillery pieces, each with sixteen horses, plunge down the slope. Further down trucks are crushed and tanks get stuck. One artillery piece after another is destroyed by bombs. The last ones are disconnected from their limbers and the panicked horses rear. The fighter-bombers continue to drop their bombs, farther and farther down the road. When they are rid of their bombs, they turn loose on us with their heavy machine guns. The attack continues for about half an hour. Afterwards, not the slightest movement can be seen. We only hear the cries of the wounded men and the horrific screams from horses.’

The 362nd Fighter Group, to which Captain Crutchfield belonged, was in the lead. Over the course of six hours its pilots made incessant low-level attacks against the German vehicle columns and claimed to have destroyed seven tanks, seven half-tracked vehicles, and another 315 motor vehicles, plus fifteen horse-drawn carriages of various kinds. The price for this success was five shot down Thunderbolts, with only one of the pilots being able to save himself by parachute.

Meanwhile the bombers of the 9th Air Force were made ready. Two formations of twin-engine Marauders from the 387th and 394th Bomb groups headed for the bridge at Dasburg. They were guided by four Marauder pathfinders. At 1200 hrs, the leading pathfinder aircraft with Lieutenant Edward B. Fitch as the pilot dropped its marking bombs.
 
They hit exaclty on target on the bridge. Two minutes later, twenty-seven Marauders from the 387th Bomb Group unloaded one hundred and eight 1,000lb bombs. The result was, according to the report,’ excellent and superior.’172 At 1212 hrs, the 394th Bomb Group bombed from 12,000 feet. The bridge at Dasburg—the 5. Panzerarmee’s lifeline—was totally obscured in smoke and fire. Afterwards it turned out that it still hung in its abutments, but large parts of the bridge itself had been destroyed by bomb hits. The entire bridge and the road on both sides of the river was filled with burning and destroyed vehicles, and dead or wounded soldiers and horses.

The bulk of the 9th Air Force’s fighter-bombers now concentrated against the German vehicle and troop columns. The worst affected were those on the river’s west side, where tightly packed columns of vehicles remainedstuck between five-foot high snow banks on the narrow road. All three Tactical Air commands in the 9th Air Force were in action, and at 1300 hrs the British 2nd Tactical Air Force was also called in.173 Douglas A-26 Invader attack bombers from the 416th Bomb Group also joined in during the course of the afternoon to strafe the German columns.174The nose armament on these twin-engine aircraft, eight .50in (12.7mm) machine guns, had a devastating effect on the vehicle columns.
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The result of an American fighter-bomber attack against a German vehicle column. (NARA, 111-SC-199253)
 




Concentrated bombing also was directed against the tightly packed vehicle columns that tried to cross the bridge at Obereisenbach a little further south. Generalmajor Triepel, artillery commander of German LVIII. Panzerkorps, reported, ’The road Marnach -Dasburg - Daleiden was totally blocked. Bombing had resulted in the crossing point at Dasburg being so ploughed up that it took a considerable time to prepare a crossing for vehicles. The vehicles stood in a long row, one close behind the other, all the way from Dasburg to Marnach. Using bombs and guns, fighter-bombers constantly attacked these congestions. The results were fairly grisly. On the road Hosingen - Obereisenbach a column had also been totally wiped out by pattern bombing.’175
 
Not only the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s transport columns were affected by these air strikes. General Rothkirch’s LIII. Armeekorps, which was about to retreat across the Sûre’s western branch, was torn to pieces. This also applied to the vehicles of Panzer Lehr and the 2. Panzer-Division which were about to face the offensive by U.S. XII Corps in the south. When the commander of Panzer Lehr, Generalleutnant Bayerlein, tried to reach Hosingen on the evening of 22 January, he barely was able to get through because of all the burning or burnt out vehicles, overturned artillery pieces, horse carcasses, and all sorts of dispersed material. Bayerlein counted at least three hundred wrecked vehicles on this road section alone. There were obvious signs of panic. Several of the vehicles apparently had been driven off the road, where they had overturned and been abandoned.176

In the Sankt Vith sector, aviation reports also could vector in U.S. artillery against the German columns that were closest to the front.177

Altogether, the 9th Air Force claimed to have destroyed nearly sixteen hundred trucks, twenty-eight tanks, twelve other armored vehicles, forty horse-drawn carriages and sixty artillery pieces or anti-tank guns during 1,063 fighter-bomber sorties on 22 January.178 How large the actual German losses were is impossible to determine. Although a considerable part of the stock that was reported as destroyed by the American airmen, were counted two or three times by different pilots, and actual German losses were not quite as high, it is beyond doubt that the Allied aviation on this day inflicted most terrible German losses on the ground. The cost for this was in comparison relatively modest, fifteen fighter-bombers lost. Throughout the day, not even a single German aircraft had appeared in the area!

’Worse than the Falaise pocket. Biggest day in TAC history of destructions,’ Major General Weyland, commander of the XIX Tactical Air Command, triumphantly wrote in his diary.179 Lieutenant General Hodges’ diary entry reads almost the same, ’Greater successes than those chalked up in the Falaise pocket. .,’180

The U.S. Army Air Force’s official history of World War II says, ’The most successful attack was staged by the medium bombers on the Dasburg bridge during the morning of 22 January when serious damage to the bridge led to a terrific traffic congestion on all exit routes in the area of Clerve, Dasburg, and Vianden. The resultant havoc which fighter-bombers of XIX TAC wrought among the enemy’s stalled columns far surpassed the destruction in the Falaise gap of August 1944.’181 That the devastation surpassed the results at Falaise was an opinion shared by the commander of German 7. Armee, General Erich Brandenberger.182

One of the American soldiers who a few days later marched forward on these roads, Captain Richard Durst in the 11th Infantry Regiment, explains:

’The scene sickened even the most hard hearted of our number. It was terrible! The battered remnants of enemy motor vehicles, horse-drawn conveyances, artillery pieces, and miscellaneous equipment along with the mutilated bodies of scores of enemy personnel and horses virtually filled the road along which we were marching, the roadside ditches, and the adjacent snow-covered fields.’183

This was a blow that the German forces in the Ardennes would never recover from, and this of course also produced consequences at the front, especially regarding the soldiers’ morale. ’The ground opposition offered to our troops today was generally everywhere light,’ Lieutenant General Hodges noted.184

On that day, 22 January, Hitler issued new orders: all territory west of River Our was now to be evacuated in stages, and the troops would fall back to a line from the Roer to Weiden and thence to Kesternich - the area west of Krinkelt - the area west of Schönberg - the Our sector - the West Wall.185

On 23 January, Patton’s Third Army and Hodges’ First Army opened a unified general offensive due east along the Ardennes Front. Here and there some German units still offered a furious resistance. Throughout 23 January, U.S. 6th Armored Division battled with German 15. Panzergrenadier-Division at Troisvierges, five miles northwest of Clervaux. Panzer Lehr halted U.S. 5th Infantry Division at Hoscheid, while the 2. Panzer-Division forced U.S. 4th Infantry Division to fight hard to take Fouhren, five miles farther to the southeast. But overall, tendencies of dilution and breakdown of morale became more evident among the German troops in the Ardennes.

Further north, Combat Command A, 7th Armored Division was able to enter Sankt Vith without much difficulty in the afternoon on 23 January—exactly one month and one day after this division had been forced out of this place. ’There were not many enemy putting up a show of resistance,’ Hodges noted, ’but artillery and Nebelwerfer fire was heavy and did cause casualties.’186 It was not a pleasant sight that met the Americans as they marched through the ghostly ruins of the devastated city. ’All we could see,’ recalls Lieutenant George Wilson, one of these soldiers, ’were the jagged outlines of the shattered walls that had once been buildings. It was like a nightmarish surrealistic painting. Nothing was undamaged; there was no sign of life.’187

Tuesday, 23 January also was a day with excellent flight weather. Although the American fighter-bombers could not reach the same level of operations as on the previous day, seven hundred and fifty fighter-bomber sorties meant a new massive effort. During incessant attacks against the German columns that continued to encumber the roads, the American pilots claimed to have destroyed 993 trucks, nine tanks, twenty-one other armored vehicles, eighteen horse-drawn carriages, and seventeen artillery pieces or anti-tank guns. Additionally, the railway traffic to the east of the Our was attacked, and as a result thereof, the destruction of six locomotives and one hundred and fifty rail cars was reported, and as well as the severing of rail tracks at forty-six places. The American losses were confined to six fighter-bombers.188

Concerning the results of the attacks against the roads, it may be assumed that the American claims on this day were the result of an even higher proportion of ’double counting’ than on the previous day. ’The entire Ardennes front,’ said one of the German soldiers, ’reminded me of a giant anthill with reverse circadian rhythm. As soon asdarkness fell, everyone took the advantage of this as a cover against the swarms of fighter-bombers. And then when the next day dawned, almost no life could be seen on the roads. Only now and then a soldier dashed from house to house, after first having peeked up at the sky. But as soon as it grew dark again, everything seemed to pour out of caverns to form huge, winding columns on the roads’
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U.S. soldiers of the 30th Infantry Division in the outskirts of Rodt, northwest of Sankt Vith, on 23 January 1945. (NARA, 111-SC-199413)
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On the afternoon of 23 January, the American war photographer Technician Fifth Grade Hugh F. McHugh from the 165th Signal Photo Company took this image of soldiers from the 7th Armoured Division as they recaptured Sankt Vith, the town the division had lost a month earlier.(NARA, 111-199031/McHugh)
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This image of soldiers from the 23rd Infantry Regiment of the 2nd Infantry Division advancing towards Wallerode, northwest of Sankt Vith on 25 January 1945, was the last photo the American war photographer Technician Fifth Grade Hugh F. McHugh ever took. Just a few seconds later he was hit by a fatal bullet from a German sniper. Today he rests at the American War Cemetery Henri-Chapelle near Liège, along with 7,991 other American soldiers who died in World War II. (NARA, 111-SC-199228/ McHugh)
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This image was taken by war photographer Private First Class Peter J. Petrony from the U.S. Signal Corps and shows how American paratroopers of the 3rd Battalion, 504th Parachute Infantry Regiment, supported by Sherman tanks from ‘C’ Company, 740th Tank Battalion, advance along a forest road towards Herresbach, northeast of Sankt Vith on 28 January 1945.(NARA, 111-SC-199509, Signal Corps Photo ETO-HQ-45-10668/Petrony)





For the third day in a row, the Luftwaffe was almost entirely absent, despite clear weather. Not even the jets appeared. On the afternoon of 23 January the British Ultra decrypted a report from the Arado 234 base at Rheine, ’Since there was a continual fighter screen over the A/F, 5 attempts to take off were fruitless. One aircraft was destroyed and burned out while towed during an attack by Tiefflieger.’189 Next day, 24 January, four Ar 234s managed to get airborne, and these bombed ships in the port of Antwerp, but otherwise the Luftwaffe’s operations in the west were confined to occasional reconnaissance flights and twenty-two fighters who covered the Arado 234 airfield at Rheine. 190 For 25 January, II. Jagdkorps was ordered to provide the ground troops of Heeresgruppe B with air cover against Allied air attacks, with the flying units in 30 minute-standby from 0700 hrs.191 But this failed to materialize.
 
Despite deteriorating weather, 312 American fighter-bomber sorties were made on 24 January, and 581 on the 25th. These were reported to have knocked out a total of twenty-one tanks and 982 other vehicles without having seen anything of the Luftwaffe in the air.192 On 25 January Heeresgruppe B reported, Air Situation: Morning—100 twin-engine bombers at Euskirchen/Malmedy/Sankt Vith. Approximately 400 fighter-bombers, concentration in the Sankt Vith area. Afternoon—75 twin-engine bombers with fighter escort at Aachen/Sankt Vith. Approximately 300 fighter-bombers at Eifel and Lower Rhine.’193

 GERMAN COLLAPSE

These Allied airstrikes contributed, along with the disastrous news from the Eastern Front, to the total collapse of the already embattled German morale. On 24 January Soviet 2nd Belorussian Front broke through in southwestern East Prussia and reached the coast at Elbing. Thus, most of East Prussia around the major city of Königsberg was surrounded. This could not be concealed by the German authorities, and that same day the German Military Forces’ news bulletin reported, ’In the western part of East Prussia the enemy pushed north and northwest to the area south of Elbing and Mohrungen.’194 Next day it was announced that Soviet troops had captured the German city of Oppeln, southeast of Breslau in Silesia.195On 27 January the Wehrmacht news bulletin admitted ’several deep penetrations’ in the industrial region of Upper Silesia, and reported that fighting now took place in the city of Schneidemühl in Pomerania.196 This news more than hinted at a disaster for the German defense on the Eastern Front, but the German soldiers in the Ardennes understood that the reality was even worse than what these reports actually announced, since the Armed Forces news bulletin simultaneously despatched this report from the Ardennes, ’Enemy attacks in the area northeast of Sankt Vith, at Luxembourg’s northern border and in the Clervaux area broke down in our concentrated fire.’197
 
In fact, the German morale in the Ardennes, and thus the entire defensive battle, collapsed entirely during these days. Whole units disbanded as exhausted, starving, dirty and now also increasingly disheartened troops began marching east, towards the German border, or gave up as soon as U.S. troops approached, or simply deserted at the first opportunity. The forests in the areas abandoned by the Wehrmacht, became filled with deserters—many of them Poles, Czechs, or others of non-German nationalities—who begged civilians for food and asked for help to hide.198

On 24 January—the day the German Armed Forces’ news bulletin stated that the Allied attack broke down in concentrated German fire—U.S. 26th Infantry Division mopped up the last German resistance in Wiltz. Further north, other American troops reached River Clerve, and northeast of Sankt Vith U.S. 1st Infantry Division took Möderscheid, previously held with such tenacity by III. Bataillon/ Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 5 of the 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division. Next day, when U.S. 101st Infantry Regiment and 6th Cavalry Group liberated Clervaux, the last pitiful remnants of the Panzer Lehr Division hobbled across River Our at Gemünd. All that remained of that panzer division was five thousand men with five serviceable tanks, seven anti-tank guns and nine artillery pieces.199 The retreat was performed in such a haste and under such chaotic conditions that fifty serviceable tanks had to be abandoned because no fuel could come through on roads blocked by bombed vehicles.200 On 26 January, U.S. 90th Infantry Division stood on a three-milewide front between Heinerscheid and Lieler, northeast of Clervaux, right at the small wooded area that borders River Our.

On 28 January, the Americans initiated their last offensive in the Ardennes, aimed at breaking through the German West Wall at Losheimergraben. The main thrust was performed by Ridgway’s XVIII Airborne Corps, which attacked along a six-mile-wide front north of Sankt Vith. For this operation, the 1st Infantry Division was transferred to the northern flank of the airborne corps, while Ridgway placed the 82nd Airborne Division on the southern flank. Thus this previously so battered airborne division returned to the front. Just as the 7th Armored Division had received the honor of retaking Sankt Vith, Ridgway now gave the troops of the 82nd Airborne the honor of dealing the final blow against the German forces who had conducted the Ardennes Offensive.
 
’Plowing through the deep snow,’ wrote Charles B. MacDonald, ’the two divisions of the XVIII Airborne Corps encountered only sporadic opposition, often taking the form of occasional patrols or scattered rifle fire.’201 During the first day of the attack alone, the Americans took nearly one thousand German prisoners.202 American reports spoke of a total breakdown of the morale among the paratroopers of German 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division, which previously had offered an almost fanatical resistance. According to Lieutenant General Hodges’ diary on 28 January, these ’once the pride of Marshal Göring’ displayed an ’all-time low for the Wehrmacht morale.’203

U.S. First Army’s Intelligence Department even reported on a veritable rebellion among 3. Fallschirmjäger-Division’s soldiers, ’Forced to go into combat despite frozen feet and despite lack of hot food for three days, [they] are now finally rebelling. News of the Russian advances has reached all soldiers on the Western Front, mainly in the form of rumors but to this is added a final crowning blow to their already lowered morale and there seems little doubt.’204

What had began as a successful offensive by highly motivated Germans against Americans who were saturated by their assuredness in victory, deteriorated after one week into a bloody war of attrition between Americans who put their trust in their material superiority and fanatically fighting Germans, and eventually it all turned into a pure mopping up operation. In just the first three days of U.S. XVIII Airborne Corps’ final offensive, more than three thousand German prisoners were taken.205 On the last day of the month, the XVIII Airborne Corps crossed the border into Germany. By that time, V Corps and VIII Corps also took part in the offensive.

But Hodges, Ridgway and Patton would be deprived of the opportunity to deal a final devastating blow against their main opponent, von Manteuffel’s 5. Panzerarmee, this time not due to the Germans. While the defeated and scattered remnants of this panzer army limped back into Germany, pursued by determined and well-equipped American forces, political considerations within the Allied supreme headquarters took over again.

On 1 February, General Eisenhower issued orders to halt U.S. First Army’s offensive and shift substantial parts of its troops to the north, to the Ninth Army, which still was subordinate to Montgomery’s 21 Army Group. This decision was made even though the First Army’s advance scarcely met any resistance. 206 * According to Eisenhower, the reason for this order was British objections that the First Army’s continued advance on the Rhine threatened to ’spread out forces’ rather than, as the master plan prescribed, invest in an attack by the British army group in the north, with the Ruhr area as the main object. As usual, Eisenhower was under strong pressure from Montgomery, to whom he also had promised to ’make a decision on Bradley’s offensive by the first day of February.’207 Having taken the brunt of the German offensive, Hodges’ First U.S. Army, which finally seemed to be close to dealing the final blow against the enemy, had to see its role reduced to basically that of a mere flank cover of Montgomery’s offensive.
 
How Hodges reacted to this is quite clear by the comment on the order as noted by the secretaries in his diary, ’A blow to the General and to his key staff officers.’208 Hodges turned to Bradley, the 12th Army Group Commander, to get his support for pursuing the offensive and destroy the weak opponent. Hodges argued, with good reason, that a continued attack had every opportunity to ’be turned into a real smash.’209 But it was to no avail; Hodges only managed to obtain permission to continue the advance for four more days. On 2 February, the 504th Parachute Infantry Regiment could advance three miles through the West Wall, taking one pillbox after another.210Next day, Losheim, Krewinkel, Roth, and Bleialf, all taken by the Germans on the Ardennes Offensive’s first day, were captured. Only at the latter place did the Americans meet any resistance whatsoever. But notwithstanding this, Hodges had to order his victorious troops to halt.

By that time the German troops were not only demoralized and beaten, but a wide gap had also been torn in the German front lines between the 277. Volksgrenadier-Division at Rocherath-Krinkelt and its adjacent unit to the north, the 62. Volksgrenadier-Division. ’There is no sense in not saying that this is an extreme disappointment to Hodges and to the staff,’ was noted in the First Army’sdiary.211

By shifting the emphasis of their offensive north of the Ardennes, the Allies launched their main attack exactly at the sector where the German defense was still most effective: Montgomery’s advance was seriously delayed as the Germans flooded the Urft Valley and the Roer, with the effect being reinforced by rivers Rhine and Maas (Meuse) overflowing their banks due to the heavy thaw that suddenly set in. Thereby the Allies lost three whole weeks. The offensive could not be properly resumed until the water had subsided. Only on 28 February were the Allies able to advance to the Rhine south of Düsseldorf. No one could be more surprised at the respite thereby granted to the Germans than the German soldiers who narrowly escaped out of the Ardennes across River Our.

As we have seen, the Ardennes Offensive had made the Allied supreme command so nervous that on repeated occasions it had cancelled successful local attacks in the Ardennes. It can be assumed that this psychological factor played a not unimportant role in Eisenhower’s and Montgomery’s decision to allow Montgomery and not the American generals to take charge of the main assault once ’the Bulge’ had been eliminated. This in turn had a significant impact on the shaping of postwar Europe, because it gave the Soviet Red Army the opportunity to conquer large areas in the east while the British and Americans were held back west of the rivers Roer, Maas and Rhine.
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Surrendering German soldiers in the Ardennes in January 1945. During the last days in January 1945, several thousand German soldiers simply gave up. More and more of them realized that the war was lost and that there was no longer any use to risk their lives. (NARA, 208-YE-105)





* Major General Gerow, the previous commander of V Corps, was appointed to command the newly formed U.S. Fifteenth Army, tasked to replenish U.S. Army units that had been heavily decimated during the Ardennes Battle.

* Hasbrouck was promoted to Major General on 5 January 1945.

* On that day the XVIII Airborne Corps submitted the following report from the German West Wall: ‘Pillboxes were almost unoccupied, there was no artillery fire, and small arms fire was the only kind of oppostition.’ (Sylvan and Smith, p. 284.)





THE ARDENNES OFFENSIVE: FINAL RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

History is not always, at least not exclusively, written by the winners. The dominant image of the Ardennes Battle has largely been formed by what was said by defeated German generals during the years immediately after the war. From there comes the popular conception of the Ardennes Offensive as poorly planned, inadequately prepared and ’doomed to fail’

Through the epithet invented by the Allied press— the ‘Rundstedt Offensive’—the German commander-inchief in the West at the time, von Rundstedt, has more than anyone else, besides Hitler, come to be associated with the failed Ardennes Offensive. However, after the war, von Rundstedt managed to successfully give the image of the Offensive as a desktop product’ that ’no one’ believed in.1 The latter however is not in agreement with what, for instance, the OKW’s secretary, Percy E. Schramm has to say, namely that both von Rundstedt’s and Model’s experienced chiefs of staff, Westphal and Krebs, believed in the attack plan as it was introduced to them by Jodl. After the war, Model’s operations officer, Oberstleutnant Reichhelm, said that he reacted with enthusiasm to the attack plan.

The commander of Heeresgruppe B, Model, died by his own hand in April 1945, and thus could not be interviewed after the war. His biographer Walter Görlitz, however, argues that Model was of the opinion that the goal of Antwerp could have been reached ‘if it would be possible to totally surprise the enemy, and if all the promised units actually would be at hand,’ although he felt that the ‘small solution’ (the envelopment and the destruction of the American troops at Aachen) should be executed first, in order to create the conditions for a further advance to Antwerp.2 As is well known, the commander of the 5. Panzerarmee, von Manteuffel, also advocated the ’small solution,’ but as we also have seen, many of his demandswere met before the attack. Von Manteuffel has not either spoken as categorically as von Rundstedt did after the war regarding the Ardennes Offensive, but he acknowledged that he in December 1944 actually expected to be able to reach the Meuse in four to six days if all went well.3 At one point after the war, he said he still believed that the operation plan had been ’brilliant.’4
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Soldiers of a German Volksgrenadier-Division attack in the Ardennes in December 1944. (BArch, Bild 183-2005-0509-500/Langl)





In his famous study Panzer Battles, Generalmajor Friedrich von Mellenthin—who served in the headquarters of the 9. Panzer-Division during the Ardennes Battle, shortly afterward to be placed as von Manteuffel’s chief of staff—describes the Ardennes Offensive as ’the last great achievement of the German General Staff, a stroke in the finest traditions of Gneisenau, Moltke, and Schlieffen.’5 He also expressed the opinion that historiography has not given those responsible for the detailed staff work associated with Operation ’Wacht am Rhein/Herbstnebel’ the appreciation they deserve.6

That a basically beaten Germany, bombed into ruins, in the sixth year of the war, only a couple months after some of the greatest military defeats ever dealt to German troops, managed to raise this substantial offensive force, testifies to a masterful preparation work. Although the opposite has been argued, the Germans moved forward sufficient amounts of both fuel and ammunition for this great offensive. The entire buildup of forces, in a situation where the enemy dominated the air, occupies a special position in the history of warfare. The fact that the Germans, in addition to all of this, managed to take their enemy with such total surprise, bears witness, as we have seen, more of skill and discipline on the German side than of the mistakes of the Allies. After the war, Model’s operations officer, Reichhelm, wrote, ’The assembly, despite several small mistakes which could be equalized, was accomplished without friction. With regard to the high degree of secrecy, the endless terrain obstacles (especially for the armored units) and the abundance of untrained troops, this was a considerable attainment.’7
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A Sturmgeschütz III of the Waffen-SS in the Ardennes in December 1944. (BArch, Bild 183-2005-0509-500/Pospesch)
 




Friedrich von Mellenthin notes that ’the Wehrmacht achieved a surprise every bit as staggering as the one in the same area in May 1940,’ and opines that ’under normal conditions of war and with reasonable equality of force’ the Germans would have ’won a great victory.’8

The choice of both opponent—the Western Allies, who were militarily weaker than the Red Army—and the front section to be attacked, the Ardennes, the weakest Allied point, was an expression of classical military theory. The basic idea, to amass a force as great as possible for a last-ditch attack against the enemy’s weakest spot in an effort to reverse the fortunes of war, descended directly from military theorist Clausewitz.

Furthermore, the Germans concentrated their most advanced weaponry to the Ardennes Offensive and to its support—the heavy Königstiger tanks, the Sturmgewehr 44 assault rifle, the Me 262 and Ar 234 jet aircraft, the V 1 and V 2 flying bombs, the V 3 ’super gun,’ and the Seehund electric-powered submarine. The Allies had nothing equivalent to these weapons, many of which were put into combat for the first time right in and for the Ardennes Offensive. On top of that, the German leadership—at all levels—brought about a pure miracle with their soldiers’ motivation to keep fighting. Only a few months after the collapse of the Western Front in August-September 1944, one of the officers of the 2. Panzer-Division noted that morale among the German troops who stood in readiness to attack in the West was even ’better than at the beginning of the war.’9

While several accounts tend to emphasize the 6. SS-Panzerarmee in the portrayal of the German side of the Ardennes Offensive, Friedrich von Mellenthin highlights the 5. Panzerarmee when he discusses this Offensive in his famous Panzer Battles: ’The preparations of Manteuffel’s Fifth Panzer Army had been extraordinarily thorough. His troops were brilliantly commanded and their morale could not have been higher. Sweeping through the utterly bewildered Americans, his spearheads made rapid progress along the difficult roads of the Ardennes and by 20 December had taken Houffalize and then went on thrusting towards the Meuse crossing at Dinant.’10 The 5. Panzerarmee indeed deserves attention for its great successes, but even more so, for some reason the 7. Armee’s performance during Operation ’Herbstnebel’ has largely been neglected in historiography. Under the leadership of General Erich Brandenberger, German 7. Armee created the conditions for the 5. Panzerarmee’s advance past Bastogne and toward the Meuse by covering the panzer army’s southern flank. Thereafter, although almost devoid of armor, Brandenberger’s Army prevented Patton’s Third U.S. Army from breaking through and cutting off the 5. Panzerarmee, which saved Model’s Heeresgruppe B from a total disaster, at least for the time being.

On the American side, the picture is more complex. In essence, the Allied military leadership actually acted better during the German offensive’s initial phase than later on, when the Allies themselves were on the offensive. Eisenhower’s and Bradley’s swift decisions to regroup the 82nd and 101st Airborne divisions, and the 7th Armored Division to the Ardennes Front resulted in decisive German difficulties in bringing forward supplies to the offensive, since the communications hub of Sankt Vith could be held during the Ardennes Offensive’s first six days, while the even more important hub Bastogne could be held throughout the battle. Similarly, Montgomery’s efforts on the northern flank during the days before Christmas 1944 were absolutely crucial.

But even if the initial German advance was slowed through the dogged resistance offered by the American first-line soldiers during the first two days, coupled with the Allied generals’ rapid deployment of units to the Ardennes Front, the German upper hand was strengthened from day to day during the offensive’s first six or seven days. However, this only applies with the exception of the 6. SS Panzerarmee, which put itself in great difficulties from the third day of the attack, when one of its two oversized SS panzer divisions rushed over River Amblève at Stavelot without properly securing the river crossing, while the other SS panzer division ran headlong in among the buildings in the heavily defended ’twin villages’ Rocherath-Krinkelt nearly twenty miles further back.

Without doubt, Sepp Dietrich’s 6. SS-Panzerarmee was the Ardennes Offensive’s Achilles heel, at least with regard to the ground units. Interrogated by U.S. intelligence officers shortly after the war, Generalmajor Siegfried Westphal, Generalleutnant Bodo Zimmermann, and Oberst Zolling—chief of Staff, operations officer, and intelligence officer respectively of von Rundstedt’s OB West headquarters during the Ardennes Battle—were in total agreement in their harsh review of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee. They pointed out ’a tactical incompetency of the command of 6 Panzer Army, from the top to the lowest unit’ as well as an ’insufficient flexibility of the SS units, although these were far better equipped in personnel and materiel than the Army divisions,’ as some of the main reasons that the Ardennes Offensive was not even more successful.11 They argued that the 6. SS-Panzerarmee was ‘not capable of moving large units quickly and without friction, or to transfer them, not to speak of employing them tactically correctly,’ and they continued, ’From this incapacity resulted in the impossibility of transferring strong units of 6 Panzer Army to the south. For the same reason, it was not successful in dissolving the tactical encirclement of our own troops.’12

Friedrich von Mellenthin held the view that it was ’a great misfortune that Hitler placed his Schwerpunkt with the S.S. army,’ whose commander ’had no real understanding of armored warfare ’13 According to Percy E. Schramm, it was purely political reasons that gave Sepp Dietrich and his SS units the lead role in the Ardennes Offensive.14

’If Manteuffel had been adequately supported from the north, it is difficult to say how far the American position would have deteriorated,’ wrote von Mellenthin, and added laconically, ’but Sixth S.S. Panzer Army did notget on so well.’15

Certainly, the 6. SS-Panzerarmee faced highly skilled American unit commanders—not least the commanders of the V Corps and the 2nd Infantry Division, generals Gerow and Robertson—but the SS Army’s numerical superiority was overwhelming: Initially, Sepp Dietrich’s forces had four times as many soldiers, and commanded more than ten times more, and moreover qualitatively superior, tanks than what the Americans had in the first line. The German failure on this front section is quite remarkable and can probably be primarily explained by the SS panzer army’s tactical failings ’from the top to the lowest unit,’ as expressed by Westphal et al.

That the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s subordinate units on top of this generally were less trained than those of the 5. Panzerarmee, was admitted by Sepp Dietrich after the war.16 Generalmajor Carl Wagener, chief of staff in the 5. Panzerarmee, wrote, ’The insufficient training condition of the SS organizations, especially among their commanders and subordinate commanders, was also to blame for the failure. [The 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s] motorized units, having no driving technique and no road discipline, were soon standing hopelessly wedged into four columns beside each other on those roads selected for advance, but still blocked by the enemy. It did not help them any to force their way into the sector of the Fifth Panzer Armee and thus clog the northern roads.’17

Despite the almost total failure of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, the less strong 5. Panzerarmee, supported by the 7. Armee in the south, still came quite close to crossing the Meuse. As we have seen, the Battle of the Meuse was decided by a very narrow margin. At the turn of 1944/1945, two American divisions—the 28th and 106th Infantry divisions—had been almost obliterated. Several armored divisions in the 12th Army Group also had been severely mauled. Two of Bradley’s eight armored divisions—the 3rd and the 7th—were in such bad shape that they had to be pulled out of battle and regrouped to the rear area. A further armored division, the 9th, was essentially neutralized: Its Combat Command Reserve was practically wiped out, Combat Command B was out of action to replenish its losses, and Combat Command A was next in line to be taken out of action because of heavy losses. Another two armored divisions, the 4th and the 10th, had been badly decimated and no longer functioned as full-strength divisions. Hence, on New Year’s Day 1945, Bradley had no more than four armored divisions worthy of the name—the 2nd, the 5th, the 6th, and the newly arrived 11th Armored Division. Otherwise, the 12th Army Group had to rely on a number of armored battalions, distributed among the various infantry divisions. On 30 December, these had a total of 646 serviceable Sherman tanks (not including 105mm howitzer Shermans).18

In spite of the severe setbacks suffered by the I. SS-Panzerkorps at Rocherath-Krinkelt, Dömane Bütgenbach, and La Gleize, and by the 2. Panzer Division at Celles, Heeresgruppe B was far from finished at the turn of 1944/1945. At that time, Model still had about 1,000 tanks and tank destroyers in the first line, of which about half were in serviceable condition.19 Had the transportation of spare parts and other supplies to the front not been hindered by the Allied aviation, the number of serviceable vehicles would of course have been higher.
 
According to the original German plan, a third attack wave would at this stage have been deployed against the Meuse and Antwerp. This third wave included five panzer or panzer grenadier divisions (the 11. and 21. Panzer divisions, the 10. SS-Panzer-Division, the 25. Panzergrenadier-Division, and the 17. SS-Panzergrenadier-Division).20 At the end of 1944, these mustered a combined strength of about 450 tanks and tank destroyers, of which about two-thirds, or around 300, were immediately serviceable. Had the Allies not been able to launch their massive air operation against the German supply lines on 23-25 December 1944, von Rundstedt and Model would in principle have been in position to launch around 1,500 tanks and tank destroyers, of which perhaps 1,000 could have been immediately deployable, in a third attack wave against the Meuse and Antwerp at the shift of the year 1944/1945.

This would have forced the Americans to bring back the worn armor units that had been taken out of combat, and to regroup to the Ardennes from both the Ninth Army in the north and the Third Army in the south. In all, on 30 December 1944, Bradley’s 12th Army Group was able to muster 1,990 Sherman tanks (including 1,780 serviceable—not including 105mm howitzer Shermans), plus around 1,300 tank destroyers.21 It is of course difficult to say what the outcome would have been of such a huge clash between these armored forces, if the Americans would have lacked their vital air support, but the fact that the Germans between 16 and 31 December 1944 knocked out at least 600 Shermans and around 100 tank destroyers against own losses of 222 tanks and 100 tank destroyers, might give a hint.

With a better trained Wehrmacht force under a more professional command instead of the 6. SS-Panzerarmee, it hardly is far-fetched to imagine that the Germans would have been able to push the Americans another twenty miles back. U.S. historian Danny S. Parker, who has made several high-profile studies of the Battle of the Bulge, provides an interesting and often overlooked perspective on the dramatic reversal of the situation that in turn could have resulted:

Had the German advance reached the Liège-Namur area, severe disruption of the flow of U.S. supply to the First Army would have resulted. Moreover, the magnitude of the Allied supply in this area and the fact that it had been stockpiled by rail over a period of weeks made total evacuation impossible. Thus, the advance of the German forces to the Meuse River line in the north posed a grave danger to the Allied forces.22
 
A U.S. Army Report established that such a scenario ’would have seriously disrupted all U.S. supply operations north of the Ardennes and jeopardized supply and support of the U.S. First and Ninth armies to an extent which, if continued, would have seriously affected their combat effectiveness.’ 23 In these circumstances it would have been the Americans rather than the Germans who would have had problems in employing their entire tank strength. To develop this to a counterfactual balance of different scenarios is not the purpose of the present work, but it can be stated that ’Operation Wacht am Rhein / Herbstnebel’ perhaps was not as ’doomed in advance’ as has been claimed.

Hugh M. Cole’s voluminous work, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, published by the U.S. Army Military History Department, can almost be regarded as the U.S. Army’s ’official’ compilation of the Ardennes Battle. Its conclusions are that the German offensive failed due to the followingfactors: 24

1. The initial American defense had been more tenacious than anticipated; complete and rapid rupture of the defensive positions had not been achieved.

2. Tactical support and logistic transport had not kept pace with the advance of the combat formations.

3. Close operational control and fluidity of movement for the mass of maneuver required free use of the road net in the salient. This had been denied the attacker, most notably at Bastogne and Sankt Vith but at other points as well.

4. The flanks of the salient had not been brought forward to keep pace with the drive in the center; the shoulders of the salient had jammed.

5. The operational build-up of the forces in the salient had taken place so slowly as to deny real depth to the attack.

6. The tactical reaction of the American forces and their commitment of reserves had been more rapid than anticipated.

It is indeed surprising to find that Cole and other U.S. Army historians are limited to those factors. Even though American resistance initially was far stronger than the Germans had anticipated, the southern half of the German attack front forced all American units except the 101st Airborne Division into a hasty retreat between the second and sixth day of the attack. Supplies to the 5. Panzerarmee’s lead units lagged precariously behind for a couple of days, but with the fall of Sankt Vith, this was overcome on 21 December. The 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s inability to establish itself as far west as the 5. Panzerarmee certainly reduced the German offensive power, but the fact that the 7. Armee also was unable keep pace with the 5. Panzerarmee was mainly due to a factor that Cole does not mention—the Allied air strikes against the German traffic routes. On the whole, the weakness on the German flanks was of much greater significance to the failure of the offensive than the factors indicated by Cole as more important. Furthermore, the German forces launched in the first assault wave had never been intended to cross the Meuse and continue on towards Antwerp on their own; other rested units stood ready to be employed, but neither this, nor the reason why these were deployed only in limited scope, is discussed by Cole. The factor placed in the last place by Cole, the rapid commitment of new U.S. forces to the Ardennes, should actually have been placed first in the order of priority among the factors he mentioned.
 
From his horizon, SS-Obersturmbannfuhrer Otto Weidinger, a regimental commander in German 2. SS-Panzer-Division during the Ardennes Battle, saw the failure of the offensive as due to the following reasons: 1. Inadequate troop training, lack of equipment and lack of fuel maintenance on the German side; 2. deficiencies in the battle command on the German side; 3. the lack of German air support; 4. the material superiority of the Allies; 5. the German leadership’s failure to believe in the possibility of a success.25
 
Even if the Germans would have had ever so well-trained troops, however, there would be nothing they could have done against the Allied air superiority when the weather cleared on 23 December. It is highly noteworthy that Cole does not even mention this by far most important—and decisive—factor in the failure of the German offensive. The massive Allied air strikes against especially the road network in the German rear area began at the same moment as the Germans started to employ their second assault wave. Among the units in the second assault wave, only the 3. Panzergrenadier-Division was able to reach the first line (at Elsenborn ridge on the 6. SS-Panzerarmee’s northern flank) without delay. But it was initially unable to achieve much due to the I. SS-Panzerkorps’ failure, which gave the Americans the opportunity to strengthen their defensive positions at the Elsenborn ridge, particularly in artillery. Moreover, the division lacked the necessary, and planned, armored support from the 12. SS-Panzer-Division, which by then had been temporarily neutralized. The deployment of the other divisions in the second assault wave was severely delayed, with crucial implications for the future course of the offensive, due to the following reasons:

9. SS-Panzer-Division, delayed due to disorder in the traffic in the SS rear area, then held up by Allied air attacks

2. SS-Panzer-Division, delayed due to disorder in the traffic in the SS rear area, then held up by Allied air attacks

9. Panzer-Division, delayed through Allied air attacks 15. Panzergrenadier-Division, delayed through Allied air attacks

Führer Grenadier Brigade, delayed through Allied air attacks

79. Volksgrenadier-Division, delayed through Allied air attacks

9. Volksgrenadier-Division, delayed through Allied air attacks
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The Allied air supremacy played a crucial role during the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945. These two German Flakpanzer IV Wirbelwind (‘Whirlwind) anti-aircraft gun tanks, each armed with four 20mm cannon, were knocked out in an air attack in Houffalize, according to the American photo caption.(NARA, 559 69 A.C. via Peter Björk)
 




[image: images]
 
The U.S. Army was, unlike the German, fully motorized, and possessed a large number of transport vehicles. In addition, the Americans gave proof of a much greater logistical ability in bringing forward large amounts of vehicles on the often small and cramped roads in the Ardennes. In this picture, two American vehicle columns pass each other in the Ardennes. (NARA, 111-SC-199339)
 




The completely overwhelming Allied air power simply made it impossible for von Rundstedt to deploy his third assault wave. (Instead, he used the majority of these units in the improvised operation ’Nordwind’ further south, which may be regarded as perhaps the most rational move in the current situation.)

To the first wave’s units, which were at the front, the Allied air superiority brought insurmountable problems. The destruction of the 2. Panzer-Division’s lead unit at Celles, the 116. Panzer-Division’s weakness at Verdenne, and the 2. SS-Panzer-Division’s inability to advance further from Manhay and Grandmenil—all these crucial shortcomings of the German offensive during the Christmas period in 1944 were primarily due to the effect of Allied air power. As far as German 7. Armee is concerned, the Führer Grenadier Brigade’s armor might well have been able to tip the scale to the German advantage in defensive battles against U.S. 4th Armored Division at the same time, had it not been for American air attacks that prevented the Germans from bringing forward this élite brigade in time.

The Allied air superiority also secured the extensive regrouping of Allied forces, which also was a key to the final outcome of the battle. Although Cole does not mention the effect of Allied air power when he lines up the factors that are said to have explained the failure of the German offensive, he touches on it implicitly when he discusses the Allied regroupings:
 
Not only did the American divisions have a very large number of vehicles and trailers organic to the unit, but the number of line of communications trucks and trains available in the forward area was enormous. Perhaps even more important, the movement of American ground transport was unaffected by harassment and attack from the air. The First Army moved more than 48,000 vehicles to the battle zone during the period 17-26 December, and the XII Corps used only two roads to move 11,000 vehicles in four days over a distance of 100 miles. In contrast to the bitter German experience, the American tactical and supply moves seldom were beset by road stoppages and traffic jams, except, of course, in the initial hours of the German penetration. Although it is manifestly true that the Germans made good intelligence usage of the American radio traffic control net, this was balanced by the speed and certainty with which American transport moved.26

While the Allies also were able to secure a flow of spare parts and replacements for their losses, the Germans were forced to adapt to a situation where the roads in the rear area were largely blocked to traffic in daylight. General Horst Stumpff, inspector of the armored troops in the German replacement army, describes one of the consequences that this had:

’Another great difficulty was the lack of spare parts. This, of course, had been a problem for us for some time, but it became extremely acute during the Ardennes Offensive. At one time, we did get reserves of new tanks, but rather than use gasoline to run them to the front, we disassembled these tanks and used the spare parts to repair the tanks then in echelon repair. […] The number of new tanks sent up was very small.’27

The operations officer of Heeresgruppe B, Oberstleutnant Günther Reichhelm, categorically claims that ’the attack of the Army Group was crippled because of the enemy air superiority.’28 This is an opinion shared by many. For example Generalleutnant Karl Thoholte, artillery advisor to Generalfeldmarschall Model in Heeresgruppe B, also believes that ’the enemy air force brought about the decision to our disfavor.’29

Historian Danny S. Parker shares that view. ’The use of Allied air power against the German Ardennes Offensive was historic,’ he wrote. ’Never before had air power blunted an enemy’s surprise counter-offensive from the sky.’30 Thus he joins to the conclusion previously drawn by Friedrich von Mellenthin in Panzer Battles: ’The Ardennes battle drives home the lesson that a large-scale offensive by massed armor has no hope of success against an enemy who enjoys supreme command of the air.’31

In all the Allied air forces carried out 63,741 combat sorties in the West between 16 December 1944 and 16 January 1945, which cost them a loss of 647 aircraft.32 Up until 31 January 1945, this aviation claimed the destruction of 11,378 motor transport vehicles, 1,161 tanks and other armored vehicles, 472 artillery positions, 507 rail engines, 6,266 rail cars, and 36 bridges.33 Although these claims were found to be markedly exaggerated, it is beyond doubt that air power was the most important single element of the Allied victory in the Ardennes Battle.

The Luftwaffe’s fighter units in the West proved to be hopelessly inferior in aerial combat with the Allied air armadas—which with the experience of the preceding months kept in mind, hardly could have come as a surprise to the German high command. Operation ’Bodenplatte’ on New Year’s Day 1945 indeed was a serious—and not entirely unsuccessful—attempt to reduce the threat from the air against the German ground forces. But alongside Hitler’s decision to assign the main thrust of the offensive to the SS divisions under Sepp Dietrich’s command, the Luftwaffe’s weakness during the Ardennes Offensive must be regarded as one of the gravest faults of the German preparations for Operation ’Herbstnebel.’

While the ground forces of Heeresgruppe B were strengthened at the expense of the Eastern Front during the build-up phase for ’Herbstnebel,’ the large quality gap between German air units on the Western Front and the Eastern Front remained. After two years of murderous war of attrition against large formations of American heavy bombers, most of the Luftwaffe veterans in the West had been lost. The gaps created by high losses were filled by young, hastily trained pilot recruits who barely stood any chance against the far better trained Allied airmen.

On the Eastern Front things were quite different. There, the Germans had a concentration of arguably the most experienced combat pilots of the entire war. These were seasoned veterans such as fighter pilot Erich Hartmann (who ended the war with 352 air victories) and attack and dive-bomber pilot Hans-Ulrich Rudel, who conducted 2,500 combat missions, during which he is reported to have destroyed 519 tanks and 800 other combat vehicles. In fact, the Luftwaffe units on the Eastern Front may be regarded as pure élite units, where at least half of the aviators were far superior to even the best Allied pilots in terms of combat experience. One of these Eastern Front pilot veterans, Alfred Grislawski, told the author how he experienced the air combats against the Americans and the British over Normandy: ’I felt that I was so totally superior to them that I could predict exactly what their next maneuver would be.’34

To not transfer this élite to the Western Front to support ’Herbstnebel’ was a departure from the Clausewitzian principle of pulling together all the best forces for one last desperate attempt to turn around the fortunes of war. If that would have taken place, there are strong indications that the concentration of fighter pilot veterans from the Eastern Front—along with the best of the ‘Western’ units—really would have been able to attain the necessary air superiority over the battlefield and rear areas. Indeed, experience also tells us that it would have been much harder to defeat the U.S. strategic 8th Air Force, which (as did happen during the first days of January 1945) could have been employed against the German transport axes in the place of a neutralized tactical aviation. But at the same time, the roles in the Ardennes could have become reversed as compared to what actually happened in 1944, if the Eastern Front’s force of 650 German ground-attack aircraft had been deployed against the Allied traffic routes in the Ardennes. Without doubt, the deployment in the Ardennes of the élite aviation from the Eastern Front would have had a significant impact on the battle on the ground.

The Ardennes Battle is surrounded by many myths and misunderstandings. Perhaps the most common one is that the entire offensive was based on the premise that the Germans would capture Allied fuel supplies, since the required quantities of fuel were supposed to have been lacking. The German front troops in the Ardennes indeed suffered from fuel shortages—they suffered from a growing shortage of most types of maintenance—but this had other causes. While fuel shortages meant that the troops in the front line were unable use many of their tanks, the 10. SS-Panzer-Division in reserve position in the area west of Bonn had a fuel supply of eight consumption units. ’Quite obviously,’ Cole’s study establishes, ’the German problem had been transport rather than an overall shortage of fuel.’35

It is frequently argued that von Rundstedt on 25 December 1944, under the impact of the devastating Allied air strikes against German supply lines, recommended the suspension of the entire offensive. But the fact that he simultaneously ordered an offensive in Alsace— operation ’Nordwind,’ with the explicit purpose of creating conditions for the resumption of the Ardennes Offensive— suggests that he might not have intended to definitively cancel ’Herbstnebel.’36 What is more, Percy E. Schramm, responsible for the war diary of the German Armed Forces High Command, was able to show that von Rundstedt at a conference with Hitler and Generaloberst Jodl on 26 December was of the opinion that ’the planned thrust from the Ardennes over the Meuse could still be regarded as practical.’37 On that same day von Rundstedt issued orders to ’increase the attack capacity of the spearhead [of Heeresgruppe B].’38
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These three soldiers from a German Volksgrenadier-Divi-sion are greeted with hot drinks after the retreat back to Germany from the Ardennes in late January 1945. (BArch, Bild 183-J28548/Henisch)
 




But would—as was claimed after the war by Rudolf Freiherr von Gersdorff, former chief of staff of German 7. Armee39—a general retreat back to the West Wall at Christmas 1944 have been beneficial for the Germans? It is doubtful that such a thing would have restricted either the German or the Allied losses, since the Allies in such a scenario were likely to have quickly followed up with a powerful counter-offensive—there really is nothing that speaks to the contrary. Had the Germans retreated at that stage, the Allies would moreover have been able to strike anywhere along the long front line, but as long as the Bulge in the Ardennes was held, it compelled the Allies to concentrate their efforts there, which allowed the Germans to economize their much more limited forces.

Another common perception of the Ardennes Battle in the winter of 1944/1945—particularly on the American side—is that the British field marshal Montgomery overall had a negative influence on the battle, that Montgomery delayed the Allied victory by his ’excessive caution.’ But Montgomery’s personal contribution was crucial to save the entire northern central section of the Ardennes front—the Sankt Vith and River Salm areas— from a complete collapse during the days before Christmas 1944. According to Brigadier General Robert Hasbrouck, one of the most important American unit commanders in that battle, ’if it had not been for Montgomery, the First U.S. Army, and especially the troops in the Sankt Vith salient, would have ended up in a debacle that would have gone down in history.’40 It is also argued that Montgomery unnecessarily delayed the Allied victory by his failure to immediately launch his counter-attack when the German advance had been halted. As we have seen, however, despite a considerable mobilization of forces, the Allies were only with the greatest difficulty, and at the cost of heavy losses, able to advance, fitfully and slowly, when Montgomery on 3 January 1945 unleashed his counter-offensive. Had the attack commenced nine days earlier, as some on the Allied side wished, the units under Montgomery’s command would not have been as strong, and the German units they encountered not as worn down by the incessant Allied air and artillery bombardment.
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One of many thousand of young men who died in the Ardennes Battle. 23-year-old Leutnant Hans-Joachim Giffey of German 406. Volksartilleriekorps was hit by shrapnel in the leg on the offensive’s second day. When he arrived at the hospital he was already dead. (Peter Figur)
 




On the whole, the Americans performed better during their defensive phase of the Ardennes Battle than when they later were on the offensive. The Third Army’s offensive that began on 22 December, can hardly be described as particularly brilliant. The fact that the weakly equipped German 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division for several days managed to hold back the 4th Armored Division— considered one of the U.S. Army’s best units—must be regarded as one of the German Army’s most outstanding achievements in the Ardennes Battle. This, combined with the remarkable restraint of the two U.S. Infantry divisions inching to the right of the 4th Armored Division, resulted in the failure of Patton’s aim to seal off the 5. Panzerarmee west of Bastogne.

The setbacks for U.S. 11th Armored Division— which had to be taken out of action after a few days of operations west of Bastogne—and the halting of the 35th Infantry Division during the last days of the year, were important links in the chain of failures for Patton’s offensive that culminated with the 6th Armored Division getting overthrown by von Manteuffel’s counter-offensive east of Bastogne on 4 January 1945. On the Ardennes Front’s opposite flank, an increasingly furious Major General Ridgway saw his XVIII Airborne Corps fail to complete a pincer operation, which in regard to the balance of forces probably ought to have succeeded. Meanwhile, the Germans gave ample proof of skills in leading the battle and husbanding their limited resources that aroused envy in the Allied camp.

The decisive strike against the German military power in the Ardennes finally was dealt not by the Western Allies, but by the Soviet Union. When the obviously far more powerful Red Army struck on 12 January 1945, causing the German Eastern Front to collapse, this immediately had serious consequences in the Ardennes. The first effect was that large parts of the forces deployed in the Ardennes— including most of the aviation and 800 tanks—were transferred to the Eastern Front.41 Then it was not long until the embattled German morale finally broke down entirely. With this, the decisive factor that had enabled the Germans to hold back the numerically superior Allied forces for so long, vanished.

Overall, the almost seven-week Ardennes Battle gives evidence that the German Army indeed was more effective in combat than the U.S. Army. This also can be observed through the survey conducted by American military historian Trevor N. Dupuy. ’Time after time during the Battle of the Bulge,’ wrote Dupuy, ’German soldiers outfought their American opponents. […] The Germans were better, at least during the first days of the battle and, on balance, in most instances for the entire campaign. […] In close-fought battles they usually inflicted casualties on the Americans at a rate greater than the Americans inflicted casualties on them.’42
 
Of course, the Germans were no ’supermen’— moreover, they were worse fed and generally more exhausted than their American opponents—but they usually were better trained, had a military doctrine more suited to the realities of battle, and they actually often were more motivated than the Americans. In addition to that, the German organization was better suited for the battlefield’s realities than the American; the different ways to take care of recruits alone could play a crucial role. While German first-line units immediately integrated an entire, cohesive group of recruits and allowed them to merge with the front unit so that the newcomers immediately became able to be effective in combat, American recruits arrived as perplexed and anonymous individuals who quite frequently were left to their own fate, and consequently had a very limited combat value during their first period at the front (which they often did not survive).

Furthermore, the German equipment in many cases was superior to that of their opponent. With their Sturmgewehr assault rifles, a small group of German soldiers often was able to outperform a much larger U.S. infantry unit in firepower. In the case of tanks, the quality gap was even greater, which naturally had repercussions on the morale of both sides. In a final summary of the Battle of the Bulge, the veterans of U.S. 3rd Armored Division’s memorial book pointed out that they ’had seen too often the result when a Sherman and a Panther tank slugged it out muzzle to muzzle. Unless it could catch the enemy at a disadvantage, the Sherman usually lost and was left wrecked and burning.’43
 
Aside from the American artillery with its TOT volleys and POZIT air burst shells, there was nothing the German soldiers in the Ardennes feared more than the Allied aviation. Just a single Piper artillery observation aircraft or a small group of Thunderbolt fighter-bombers circling in the air would often suffice to silence all German artillery in an entire section for fear of being bombed or subjected to a well-aimed artillery fussilade. Emerging fighter-bombers often made terrified German tank crews abandon their vehicles and hurl themselves to cover in the nearest ditch. This was not entirely unjustified; according to a 6. SS-Panzerarmee report, it had been shown that a single direct hit by a British Typhoon fighter-bomber’s rocket-projectile could suffice to completely destroy a Panther tank.44 Although the accuracy of these RPs was poor, the German tank crews were quite unwilling to take any risks. The 250lb HE bombs that U.S. fighter-bombers used also had shown their ability to overturn a tank, and the American napalm bombs were especially feared.

An additional dimension of the Ardennes Battle was the hardship during the harsh winter climate. Many of the American troops still had their summer boots in the Ardennes. Soldiers with frostbite were given alcohol to drink to ease the pain—which of course exacerbated the problems. During the Ardennes Battle, the U.S. Army evacuated 15,000 men with frostbite. When Americans in these circumstances captured German soldiers dressed in U.S. items of equipment, they must be forgiven if it was hard for them to imagine that the German equipment gave an even worse protection against the cold.
 
To the U.S. Army, the Ardennes Battle was the bloodiest it ever fought in World War II. Unfortunately, it has proved difficult to determine the exact losses for either side. The most common official U.S. figure for personnel losses in the Ardennes Battle between 16 December 1944 and 28 January 1945 is 80,987 men, broken down as follows:
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However, during the war, Major General Franklin A. Kibler, operations officer of the 12th Army Group, recorded combat losses of 81,810 men (killed, wounded and missing) of the 12th Army Group between 22 December 1944 and 14 January 1945 alone. The study made by the research group around Trevor N. Dupuy nevertheless considered that most of these figures are too high. Dupuy et al gives the U.S. personnel losses in the Ardennes Battle up to 16 January 1945 as 62,439 men, divided as follows:
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According to these sources, the U.S. losses in killed was higher—calculated as an average per day—during the Allied offensive phase in January 1945 than in the defensive phase in December 1944 (which makes it even more remarkable that the January battles are relatively neglected in previous historiography).
 
But there are several problems with the figures above. It is indeed strange to find that the Germans counted 24,000 American prisoners of war in the Ardennes Offensive until the end of 1944, while various U.S. sources give the number of missing and captured soldiers during the same period as anything between roughly 17,000 and 19, 000.47

Recent data from the U.S. Department of Defense list 89,500 men (19,000 killed, 47,500 wounded, and 23,000 missing) as lost in the Ardennes Battle—thus significantly differing from the figures above. An official report from the United States Department of the Army indicates even higher American losses in the Ardennes—19,246 killed, 62,489 wounded, and 26,612 captured or missing, giving a total of 108,347. This agrees fairly well with the German registration of a total of 26,430 captured Allied soldiers during the Ardennes Battle between 16 December 1944 and 25 January 1945.48 According to a summary made after the war, 28,178 men of the U.S. Army were captured in the European theater of war in December 1944 and January 1945, but this number also included shot down airmen.49
 
However, it is undisputed that because of the Ardennes Battle, the months of December 1944 and January 1945 came to surpass all other months concerning U.S. losses during the fighting in Europe in World War II.50

To the American losses should be added the British and Canadian casualties in the Ardennes—200 killed, 969 wounded, and 239 missing, in all 1,408 men.51 Although different figures are given in different sources, the numbers vary between 1,400 and 1,500.
 
The German loss statistics for the Ardennes Battle between December 1944 and late January 1945 are not more clear than those on the American side: They range from at most 120,000 and, according to recent German research, 68,000 casualties.52 The research group around Trevor N. Dupuy indicates the German personnel losses in the Ardennes Battle up to 16 January 1945 as 65,685 men, divided as follows:53
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German historian Hermann Jung specifies losses by army throughout the period 16 December 1944 to late January 1945:54
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Private Frank Kelly, an MP in the 4th Armored Division, leads off a column of German prisoners of war captured in the Bastogne area while U.S. soldiers in a half-track pass by (NARA, 111-198450/Gilbert)
 




According to a summary made by the German Armed Forces High Command, the Germans sustained the following losses on the entire Western Front during the period 16 December 1944 - 25 January 1945:55

Killed 12,652

Missing 30,582

Wounded 38,600

In total 81,834

It can be assumed that both sides sustained similarly high casualties in the Ardennes Battle. A comparison of the table immediately above and the tables of the American losses further above, indicates that each side sustained higher losses—as an average per day—when it was on the offensive: The Germans in December 1944 and the Americans in January 1945.

The dominant cause of casualties on both sides proved to be artillery fire, which was the rule during World War II. The proportion of casualties caused by artillery fire was higher on the German side. For example, 86 percent of 9. Volksgrenadier-Division’s casualties during the Ardennes Battle were inflicted by American artillery fire.56 In Führer Begleit Brigade the corresponding share was 60 to 70 percent.57 On the American side, a compilation shows that 60 percent of the losses in the Third Army in December 1944 were due to German artillery fire, mortar fire, or mines.58 This difference between the two sides is explained not only by the superior U.S. artillery, but also by the Allied air supremacy. Thereby, the Allies were able not only to provide their artillery with fire-control from artillery observation aircraft, but also, to a large extent, to prevent the German artillery from fighting the American artillery. Generalleutnant Thoholte, artillery advisor to Generalfeldmarschall Model in Heeresgruppe B, stated that ’this had such a serious effect that it was impossible to keep the enemy heavy guns down.’59

In addition to that, Allied air attacks were responsible for a not insignificant share of the German losses—15 to 20 percent in the Führer Begleit Brigade.60 While gunshot wounds accounted for 25 percent of the losses in U.S. Third Army, only 10-20 percent of the German losses were caused by gunshot wounds. Hence, in close combat the American losses surpassed the German in the ratio of 1.5 to 1.
 
An interesting relationship that emerges from the statistics is that the number of wounded was significantly higher as a percentage of the total number of killed and wounded on the American side (82 percent) than in the German Army (69 percent, according to Dupuy et al), indicating that the Americans were better equipped to care for their wounded, while a larger proportion of German soldiers died from their injuries. Dupuy’s numbers also suggest that the German difficulties in taking care of their wounded increased as the battle progressed (the share of wounded among all casualties dropped from 75 percent in December to 63 percent in January), which can be assumed to be the effect of not least the air attacks against the German lines of communication.

On both sides several units were almost completely worn down when the Battle was over. The commander of the 2nd Battalion of U.S. 82nd Airborne Division’s 325th Glider Infantry Regiment, Lieutenant Colonel Charles W. Major, noted in a report, ’The Battalion left Sisonne, France, on 18 December 1944 with 685 effectives, and received 150 replacements during the action. On 4 February 1945, the Battalion strength was 221 effectives.’ 61 On the German side, 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division lost half its original strength in four weeks, 8,334 men.

In terms of materiel losses, the Germans reported that they destroyed 1,742 Allied tanks and anti-tank guns and captured another 91 in the Ardennes between 16 December 1944 and 25 January 1945.62 As we saw earlier, the U.S. losses in armored vehicles in the Ardennes in December 1944 probably amounted to around 600 Sherman, 200 light tanks (mainly M5 Stuart), 100 tank destroyers and 400 M8 and M20 armored cars. According to estimates made by Richard C. Anderson, First U.S. Army lost 152 Shermans between 29 December and 28 January.63 According to George Patton, Third U.S. Army’s medium tank losses during the Ardennes Battle between 23 December 1944 and 29 January 1945 amounted to 264 Shermans.64 Since 130 of the latter occurred in December 1944, total U.S. losses in Sherman tanks in the Ardennes in January 1945 can be estimated at about 270.

Richard C. Anderson has calculated the U.S. losses in light tanks at 134 for the period 20 November - 20 December 1944, 208 for the period 20 December - 20 January 1945, and 93 between 20 January and 20 February 1945, in all then 435. Regarding other American tanks, Anderson gives the following numbers:
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After the battle, the Americans have started to salvage some of the destroyed equipment. Among the rows of knocked out Sherman tanks is a German Jagdpanzer IV. (NARA, SC 197793/T/4 Merge)





Thus, it can be calculated that the Americans lost up to 2,000 armored vehicles during the Ardennes Battle—about 1,200 tanks (up to 900 Sherman and more than 300 light tanks), 150 tank destroyers, 450 armored cars and 150 self-propelled guns. These figures are remarkably close to the German figures for American losses in armored vehicles during the Ardennes Battle, 1,833.

In several cases, American armored divisions were inflicted absolutely disastrous losses. U.S. 7th Armored Division, for instance, lost 103 tanks (72 Shermans and 31 Stuarts) between 17 and 30 December 1944 alone.65 The 11th Armored Division lost 86 tanks (54 Shermans and 32 Stuarts) in no more than a couple weeks of fighting between late December 1944 and early January 1945.66 The 3rd Armoured Division was even more roughly handled, losing 163 tanks (125 Shermans and 38 Stuarts) in the month between 16 December 1944 and 16 January 1945.67

The German battle losses in AFVs were significantly lower. According to Swiss military historian Eddy Bauer the Germans lost 324 tanks in combat in the Ardennes.68 Between 16 December 1944 and 15 January 1945 the panzer units in the Ardennes Battle recorded the loss of 196 Panther tanks: 69
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As we have seen before, the relations between the number of Panzer IV losses and Panther losses in December 1944 were in the ratio of 1 to 2, and Tiger losses to Panther losses were 1 to 10. This therefore appears to confirm Bauer’s figures. To these figures should be added an estimated 150 assault guns and tank destroyers lost in combat during the Ardennes Battle.

However, the total number of German AFVs lost in the Ardennes was significantly higher. In the area recaptured by U.S. VIII Corps after the Ardennes Battle, 322 destroyed or abandoned German tanks were found.70 All in all, the Germans employed over 1,800 tanks and tank destroyers/assault guns in the Ardennes Battle (including 340 replacements for losses). About 800 were transferred to the Eastern Front in January 1945.71 The panzer units that took part in the Ardennes Battle and were not transferred to the Eastern Front, mustered a total of 250 tanks (151 Panthers and 62 Panzer IVs) and 137 tank destroyers/ assault guns, in all just under 400, on 5 February 1945.72 This indicates that a total of nearly 600 tanks and tank destroyers/assault guns were lost in the Ardennes. The Dupuy Institute has arrived at a number of between 527 and 554:73

16-20 Tigers

191-194 Panthers

141-158 Panzer IVs

179-182 tank destroyers/assault guns

According to Ralf Tiemann’s estimates of German material losses in the Ardennes, a total of 550 tanks and tank destroyers/assault guns, and 5,000 other vehicles were lost.74 The difference between combat losses and the total number of AFV losses is explained through the fact that a number of vehicles had to be abandoned because of fuel shortage during the German retreat in January 1945. However, the proportion of abandoned vehicles appears to have been greatly exaggerated in some German accounts. Hence, for instance von Manteuffel wrote, ’The fact that we were compelled to blow up such a large number of tanks during the retreat in January 1945, was mainly due to the fact that we had too few recovery vehicles, which in turn was caused by fuel shortages. I seem to remember that the number of tanks that we lost because of this lack of recovery vehicles was five times higher than the number we lost in battle’75 A closer study of the German armor losses in the Ardennes reveals that there could hardly have been more than one hundred tanks and tank destroyers/assault guns that were left behind in this manner when the Germans finally withdrew from the Ardennes. It should be added, however, that even among the nearly 500 tanks and tank destroyers/assault guns lost by the Germans until mid-January, 1945, a number had to be abandoned and destroyed by their own crews for various reasons.
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According to German records, 1,742 Allied tanks and tank destroyers were destroyed in the Ardennes between 16 December 1944 and 25 January 1945. This image shows destroyed and captured American combat vehicles at Poteau on 18 December 1944. (NARA, III-SC-198251)





Nevertheless, in pure armor battles, the Germans outperformed their American opponents completely. The 2. SS-Panzer-Division was reported to have knocked out 224 American tanks against own losses of 28 Panthers and 34 Panzer IVs.76 Even this ratio of 3.6 to 1 was inferior to the results of many of the Wehrmacht panzer divisions. The 5. Panzerarmee’s XLVII. Panzerkorps had a ratio of eight to ten destroyed U.S. tanks or tank destroyers for each own loss. An even better result was recorded by the Führer Begleit Brigade, which claimed to have destroyed 178 American tanks in the Ardennes.77 The Brigade’s own losses amounted to 10 to 12 tanks to enemy AT gun or tank fire, and another five to land mines.78 Overall this means that Oberst Remer’s brigade on average was able to knock out around fifteen U.S. tanks for each loss of its own. Stürmgeschutz-Brigade 244, which supported the 18. Volksgrenadier-Division, probably had an unsurpassed ratio during the Ardennes Battle, destroying 54 American tanks against an own loss of no more than two StuG IIIs.79
 
An Allied investigation in February 1945 of 75 destroyed or abandoned German tanks or tank destroyers/assault guns in the Ardennes, showed that these were lost due to the following reasons:80
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Of the 37 combat vehicles above which undoubtedly were lost in combat, 27 thus were destroyed by fire from AT guns or tanks, four by artillery fire, and six by air attacks. This suggests that the Allied aviation may have destroyed as many as eighty to ninety German tanks and tank destroyers/assault guns during the Ardennes Battle. However, this material probably has an overrepresentation of AFVs knocked out by air attacks, since the examination was carried out within an area of six to fourteen square miles around tanks or tank destroyers/assault guns claimed to be knocked out by the aviation. However, the Allied air forces in all probability caused even greater losses than indicated above, since German fighting vehicles frequently were abandoned by their crews because of air attacks, whereafter the stationary vehicles could be fairly easily knocked out by ground fire.
 
In hindsight, the Germans might have had the possibility— albeit small—to actually reach Antwerp in the winter of 1944/1945. The basic conditions for this to be attained, however, had been that instead of Sepp Dietrich’s 6. SS-Panzerarmee, there had been better trained Wehrmacht soldiers under a more qualified command, and that the air force that supported the attack had been of higher quality. In any case, the so-called ’small solution’ probably would have been possible to carry out with success. Hence, in military terms, operation ’Herbstnebel’ was not as unrealistic as so often is claimed.

But the whole venture’s rasion d’être either was political—to shock the population of the Western countries and render it impossible for their governments to continue the war—or to gain so much time that the German ’wonder weapons’ could be deployed on a larger scale. In both respects, the plan was unrealistic. The idea that one of the Western Allied countries in early 1945 could have been compelled to withdraw from the war can not be considered as anything but the Nazi dictator’s desperate wishful thinking. As is evidenced by circumstances, the German industry stood in front of its complete collapse at the turn of 1944/1945, and it entirely lacked the capacity to produce the required quantities of new submarines, jet planes, and V 2 rockets.

A military critique of ’Herbstnebel’ could also be that even if the Germans could have succeeded in reaching Antwerp, their protracted southern flank would have been beset by Patton’s powerful Third Army, and perhaps also by further Allied forces. Owing to the need to detail German units against this threat against the flanks, it is doubtful that the desired annihilation of the Allied armies thus encircled east of Antwerp could have been realized.

Still, the Germans were quite successful in many respects. Above all, the fact that they managed to catch their opponent with such a total surprise at dawn on 16 December 1944 must be emphasized; this is the single most important factor to the actually remarkably great German successes at this late stage of the war. The Ardennes Battle during the first days of the German offensive was the last major tactical defeat dealt to the Allied forces in World War II.
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Despite efforts to clean up the battlefield, the Ardennes remained filled with





But even if all circumstances had been as the Germans wished, the Ardennes Offensive would not have had a chance to turn the fortunes of war to Hitler’s advantage. However, it could have overthrown the entire Allied strategy. The result in this case could have been that the Red Army would meet the Western Allied armies on the Rhine in the summer of 1945 instead of—as turned out to be the case—at the Elbe, two hundred miles farther to the east, in late April 1945. Had the war lasted a few weeks more than that, our history books would probably have mentioned the names of two German cities instead of Hiroshima and Nagasaki.

Even though the Ardennes Offensive failed to reach its goal, and instead ended in a German tactical defeat, it may be regarded as a German strategic success insofar as it caused a delay in the Allied offensive plans. In addition to the actual respite of five or six weeks that the Germans gained on the Western Front through the attack on 16 December 1944, and then by holding out for so long in the conquered area, the initial German victories had a psychological impact that made the Western Allied supreme command more hesitant and cautious. The mere decision to halt U.S. First and Third armies in the Ardennes in early February 1945, delayed the Allied advance into Germany by at least a month.

When the Ardennes Offensive was initiated, the distance to the German capital Berlin was the same from the Western and the Eastern fronts. In the end, the most significant effect of operation ’Herbstnebel,’ perhaps was that the Red Army came to conquer Berlin, while the American troops met the Russians seventy-five miles farther to the west. In the end, the Soviet Union became the real victor of the Ardennes Offensive.
 
destroyed military equipment long after the war ended. In this picture, probably taken in the summer of 1945, we can see a destroyed Sherman, and in the background a Panther with its turret blown off. (National Museum of Military history, Diekirch)
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APPENDIX 1

GERMAN AND U.S. MILITARY UNIT STRUCTURES IN DECEMBER 1944

The German and American armies were based on more or less the same organizational principles

Platoon was called Zug in the German Army.

The assigned strength of a Zug was 48-50 man, divided into several Gruppe of each on average ten men, and a command Trupp (Platoon Headquarters) consisting of a platoon commander (Zugführer), a deputy platoon commander, an orderly and occasionally also a signaler.

The assigned strength of an American Platoon was most commonly 41 men, divided into three Squads of each 12 men, plus a Platoon Headquarters consisting of the platoon commander and four men.

Company was called Kompanie in the German Army.

The assigned strength of a German company Kompanie was up to 200 men, divided into three rifle platoons, three anti-tank squads, and a company headquarters, plus support units.

The assigned strength of an American Company was 193 men, divided into four platoons—three rifle platoons and a Weapons Platoon consisting of the Platoon Headquarters and one Section each for mortars (17 men) and machine guns (12 men).

Battalion was called Bataillon or Abteilung in the German Army (In the cavalry, the armored troops, the anti-tank units, the artillery and the signal units the battalion was called was called Abteilung.)

The assigned strength of a German infantry Bataillon was 860 men, divided into three rifle companies (numbered 1-3), a battalion headquarters and various support and supply units.

The assigned strength of an American infantry Battalion was 860 men, divided into a Battalion Headquarters with four officers, a Headquarters Company with around 120 men, a Heavy Weapons Company with around 160 men, and three rifle companies. The three rifle companies in the American battalions were ’numbered’ according to the following: 1st Battalion: Companies A, B, and C, plus D, which was the Heavy Weapons Company; 2nd Battalion: Companies E, F, and G, plus H, which was the Heavy Weapons Company; 3rd Battalion: Companies I, K, and L, plus M which was the Heavy Weapons Company. (Note: In most cases there was no ‘J’ Company due to the risk of misreading the handwritten ‘I’ and ‘J.’)

Regiment was called Regiment (alternatively Volksgrenadier-Regiment or Grenadier-Regiment) in the German Army.
 
The assigned strength of a German infantry Regiment usually was around 3,000 men, divided into three battalions, a regimental headquarters, and various support and supply units.

The assigned strength of an American infantry Regiment was 3,118 men, divided into a Regimental Headquarters and a Headquarters Company, three battalions (numbered 1-3), and various support and supply units.

Division was called Division in the German Army.

The assigned strength of a German Volksgrenadier-Division was slightly above 10,000 men, divided into two infantry regiments (Volksgrenadier-Regiment), an artillery regiment, an engineer battalion, an anti-tank battalion, a signals battalion, and a Fusilier-Grenadier-Kompanie (sometimes a Fusilier-Grenadier-Bataillon) which was a combined reconnaissance/rifle unit, and various support and supply units.

The assigned strength of an American Infantry Division was 14,253 men, divided into a headquarters company, three infantry regiments, four Field Artillery Battalions, an Engineer Battalion, an antitank battalion (Tank Destroyer Battalion), an air defense battalion (Anti-aircraft Automatic Weapons Battalion), various support and supply units, and often also a Tank Battalion.

Corps was called Korps in the German Army.

A German Korps and an American Corps usually consisted of two to five divisions. In both cases, the Corps were numbered with Roman numbers.

A (numbered) Army was called Armee in the German Armed Forces.

A German Armee and an American Army usually consisted of two to six corps. In both cases, the Armies were numbered with Arabic numbers.

Army Group was called Heeresgruppe (alternatively Armeegruppe) in the German Army.

A German Heeresgruppe and an American Army Group usually consisted of two to four armies. The German Heeresgruppe was usually numbered by either characters or geographical names. The American Army Groups were numbered with Arabic numbers.
 
Armored units

By this time, the German armored divisions (Panzer-Division) consisted of one armored regiment (Panzer-Regiment), two regiments of armored infantry (Panzergrenadier-Regiment), an artillery regiment (Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment), and one each engineer battalion (Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon), anti-tank battalion (Panzerjäger-Abteilung), air-defense battalion (Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung), and reconnaissance battalion (Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung).

A German armored regiment was divided into a headquarters platoon (Stabs-Zug) and two armored battalions (Panzer-Abteilung), each with a headquarters platoon (Stabs-Zug) and four companies (companies Nos. 1-4 in I. Panzer-Abteilung; companies Nos. 5-8 in II. Panzer-Abteilung). Usually, the Panthers and the Panzer IV tanks were separated into different companies, sometimes also different battalions.

The assigned strengths of German armored units was: Tank platoon (Zug) five tanks; company (Kompanie, consisting of four platoons and two command tanks) 22 tanks; battalion (Abteilung) 88 tanks; regiment (Regiment) 176 tanks. Owing to the lack of tanks, the German armored regiment consisted of fewer tanks by this time.

An American armored division normally consisted of three Tank Battalions, three Armored Infantry Battalions, four Armored Field Artillery Battalions, an Armored Engineer Battalion, an anti-tank battalion (Tank Destroyer Battalion), and an air-defense battalion (AAA AW, AntiAircraft Artillery—Automatic Weapons Battalion), plus a reconnaissance battalion (Cavalry Squadron).

An American tank battalion was divided into a Headquarters Company with two Sherman medium tanks and three 105mm howitzer Shermans, three companies of each 17 Sherman medium tanks and a 105mm howitzer Sherman, a company of 17 light tanks (most usually Stuarts), and a Service Company. Hence, the assigned strength of an American tank battalion was 59 medium tanks and 17 light tanks. Including the light tanks of the division’s reconnaissance battalion, the assigned strength of a U.S. armored division was 10,500 men and 263 tanks (177 Shermans and 86 Stuarts). However, most U.S. armored divisions in the Ardennes were reinforced to a strength of around 12,000 men.

Some of the American armored divisions were so-called heavy armored divisions—each consisting of two Armored Regiments of three tank battalions and an infantry regiment apiece. The assigned strength of a heavy armored division was 14,000 men and 390 tanks (including 252 Shermans). During the Ardennes Battle, the 2nd and the 3rd Armored divisions were heavy armored divisions.

Apart from the heavy armored divisions, the American armored divisions were divided into three combined sub-units—Combat Command A, Combat Command B, and Combat Command Reserve (CCA, CCB, and CCR), each consisting of a tank battalion, an armored infantry battalion, an armored field artillery battalion, and a platoon of anti-tank guns or tracked tank destroyers.
 
Artillery

A German artillery regiment (Artillerie-Regiment) consisted of three light (leichte; with light guns) battalions (Abteilung) and a heavy (schwere; with heavy guns) battalion, each consisting of three batteries (Batterie) with four pieces each (guns or rocket artillery).

The American artillery battalion normally consisted of three batteries of four guns apiece. However, there were exceptions: The Armored Field Artillery Battalion consisted of 18 guns. The 240mm Howitzer Battalion consisted of six 203mm 8 inch M-1 guns.

Other units

The German unit Brigade had no assigned strength, other than that it was smaller than a division. For instance, Stürmgeschutz-Brigade 244 was about company-size, while the Führer Begleit Brigade consisted of an armored regiment, a panzer grenadier regiment, an air-defense regiment, and an artillery battalion with altogether 6,000 men.

The German divisions often were divided into ad hoc task forces, Kampfgruppe. A Kampfgruppe usually consisted of elements from the various sub-units of a division. The strength of such a Kampfgruppe varied from somewhat larger than a regiment to somewhat larger than a battalion.

The American cavalry—in reality a mechanized force—was divided into the Cavalry Group (about the equivalence of a regiment), the Cavalry Squadron (about the equivalence of a battalion) and the Cavalry Troop (about the equivalence of a company).
 




APPENDIX 2

COLOR PROFILES OF MILITARY VEHICLES AND AIRCRAFT DURING THE ARDENNES BATTLE
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M 10

US Army, unknown unit.
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Panzerkampfwagen V Panther

Panzerkampfwagen V Panther, modified to appear as an American M10.
Kampfgruppe X, SS-Panzer Brigade 150.
This tank was knocked out at Malmedy on 21 December 1944.
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Panzerkampfwagen VI Ausf. B Königstiger (Tiger II)

Stab/schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501/1. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler’
This tank passed through Tondorf on the afternoon on 16 December 1944, heading for the front. Its further fate is unknown.
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Panzerkampfwagen VI Ausf. B Königstiger (Tiger II)

Schwere SS-Panzer-Abteilung 501/1. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler.’
Tank commander: SS-Unterscharfuhrer Kurt Sowa.
During the attempts to retake the bridge at Stavelot on 19-20 December 1944, this tank was hit by several shells from an American M10 commanded by Sergeant Ray Dudley,1st Platoon, ’C’ Company, 823rd Tank Destroyer Battalion.
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Sherman M4A3(76)

2nd Tank Battalion, 9th Armored Division.
Clervaux, 17 December 1944.
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Sherman M4A3

6th Armored Division.
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PanzerIV/70

1. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler.’ 
16 December 1944.
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JagdpanzerIV

116. Panzer-Division "Windhund"
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M5 Stuart

US Army, unknown unit.
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M5 Stuart

US Army, unknown unit.
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Panzerkampfwagen V Panther Ausf. G

9. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Hohenstaufen.’ 
This Panther was lost in the Sterpigny/Baclain area in December 1944.
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Panzerkampfwagen V Panther Ausf. G

2. Panzer-Division.
Abandoned by crew in Marnach in January 1945, probably due to lack of fuel.
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M 36 Jackson

US Army, unknown unit.
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M 36 Jackson

US Army, unknown unit.
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Jagdpanther

Schwere SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 560/12. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Hitler Jugend.’ 
This Jagdpanther was knocked out at Dömane Bütgenbach in December 1944.
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Jagdpanther

Schwere SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 560/12. SS-Panzer-Division ’Hitler Jugend.’ 
This Jagdpanther was knocked out at Dömane Bütgenbach in December 1944.
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Sherman M4A3(76)

37th Tank Battalion, 4th Armored Division. Tank commander: 
Lieutenant Colonel Creighton W. Abrams, commander of the 
37th Tank Battalion.
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Sherman M4A3

69th Tank Battalion, 6th Armored Division. 
This tank was knocked out at Longvilly during the fighting east of Bastogne in January 1945
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Panzerkampfwagen IV Ausf. H

2. Panzer-Division.
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Panzerkampfwagen IV Ausf. J

SS-SS-Kampfgruppe Pieper/ 1. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler.’
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M 10

US Army, unknown unit.





[image: images]

Sherman M4A3E2 “Jumbo”

37th Tank Battalion, 4th Armored Division. Tank commander: Charles Boggess Jr. 
This tank was the first to break through to December 1944.
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Panzerkampfwagen V Panther Ausf. G

116. Panzer-Division ‘Windhund.’ 
This Panther was lost when the bridge it was traversing in Houffalize was hit by a bomb. The tank was salvaged in September 1948 and is presently exhibited in Houffalize.
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Panzerkampfwagen V Panther Ausf. G

II. Abteilung/Panzer-Regiment 130/130. Panzer Lehr-Division.
This tank was damaged by a mine at Neffe, east of Bastogne, on 3 January 1945, and was abandoned during the German retreat.
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Messerschmitt 262 A-2a

1. Staffel/Kampfgeschwader 51 ‘Edelweiss.’
Airbase Hopsten (Germany), December 1944.
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P-47D-28-RE Thunderbolt

514th Fighter Squadron, 406th Fighter Group. Pilot: Lt. Donald 0. Dorman, Jr.
Shot down over Wolfsfeld/Konz (Germany) on 17 December 1944. The pilot bailed out and became a POW.
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P-51D-10-NA Mustang

487th Fighter Squadron, 352nd Fighter Group. Pilot: Captain William T. Whisner, Jr.
Airbase Y-29, Asch (Belgium). With this aircraft, Captain Whisner shot down four German fighters over Asch on 1 January 1945.
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Messerschmitt Bf 109 K-4

12. Staffel/Jagdgeschwader 77 ‘Flerzas.’ Pilot: Feldwebel Flans Rossner.
Shot down by U.S. fighters near Düsseldorf (Germany) on 23 December 1944, pilot killed.
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Focke Wulf 190 D-9

4. Staffel/Jagdgeschwader 2 ’Richthofen.’ Pilot: Feldwebel Werner Hohenberg.
Shot down by AAA fire on 1 January 1945. The pilot belly-landed and was captured.
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P-47D-30-RE Thunderbolt

353rd Fighter Squadron, 354th Fighter Group. Pilot: Major Glenn T. Eagleston.
Airbase Rosieres-en-Flaye, January 1945.
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P-47D-22-RE Thunderbolt

509th Fighter Squadron, 405th Fighter Group. Pilot: Lt. Robert L. Whitehead.
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P-47D-28-RA Thunderbolt

356th Fighter Squadron, 354th Fighter Group. Pilot: Major George ’Max’ Lamb.
This aircraft was recorded as destroyed in a landing accident at the airfield Rosieres (Belgium)/A-98 on 1 January 1945, with Lieutenant Cecil E. Buchanan at the controls.
 




APPENDIX 3 | TANKS AND ANTI-TANK GUNS IN THE ARDENNES BATTLE
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GERMAN VEHICLE GUNS:
PENETRATION AT VARIOUS DISTANCES WITH A VERTICAL HIT IN 90° ANGLE WITH A PANZERGRANTEN-PATRONE 39 (PZGR 39) SHELL AGAINST 30° SLOPED ARMOR
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U.S. VEHICLE GUNS:
PENETRATION AT VARIOUS DISTANCES WITH A VERTICAL HIT IN 90° ANGLE WITH AN ARMOR PIERCING SHELL AGAINST 30° SLOPED ARMOR
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GERMAN ANTITANK AND ANTIAIRCRAFT GUNS:
PENETRATION AT VARIOUS DISTANCES WITH A VERTICAL HIT IN 90° ANGLE WITH AN ARMOR PIERCING SHELL AGAINST 30° SLOPED ARMOR
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U.S. ANTITANK AND ANTIAIRCRAFT GUNS:
PENETRATION AT VARIOUS DISTANCES WITH A VERTICAL HIT IN 90° ANGLE WITH AN ARMOR PIERCING SHELL AGAINST 30° SLOPED ARMOR
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COMPARISON BETWEEN A PANTHER (AUSF. G) AND AN M4A3 SHERMAN:
EACH TANK CAN PENETRATE ITS OPPONENT’S ARMOR THROUGH A HIT IN 90° ANGLE AT THE FOLLOWING DISTANCE
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APPENDIX 4

ORDER OF BATTLE, THE ARDENNES BATTLE

1.1 GERMAN UNITS

Oberkommando West OB West Generalfeldmarschall Gerd von Rundstedt

Heeresgruppe B (Generalfeldmarschall Walter Model)

6. SS-Panzerarmee (SS-Oberstgruppenfuhrer Josef ‘Sepp’ Dietrich)

schwere Panzer-Abteilung 506

Kampfgruppe von der Heydte

schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 653

Sturmpanzer-Abteilung 217

Stürmgeschutz-Brigade 394, 667 and 902

Mörser-Batterie 1110, 1098 and 1120

Mörser-Batterie 54 cm 428

schwere Kanonen-Batterie 1123

Brücken-Kolonne B (GE) 967 and 968

Brücken-Kolonne J (GE) 175

Brücken-Kolonne mot. 895, 844 and 851

Brücken-Bau-Bataillon 655

Front-OT OT-Brigade 4

2. Flak-Division

Flak-Sturm-Regiment 2, 3 4

LXVII. Armeekorps (Generalleutnant Otto Hitzfeld)

17. Volkswerfer-Brigade

88. 89. Werfer-Regiment

Volksartilleriekorps 405

Sturm-Möser-Kompanie 1001

246. Volksgrenadier-Division (Oberst Peter Korte)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 404, 352 and 689

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 246

Artillerie-Regiment 246

Nachrichten-Abteilung 246

Pionier-Bataillon 246

272. Volksgrenadier-Division (Generalmajor Eugen König)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 980, 981 and 982

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 272

Artillerie-Regiment 272

Nachrichten-Abteilung 272

Pionier-Bataillon 272

326. Volksgrenadier-Division (Oberst Erwin Kascher)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 751, 752 and 753

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 326

Artillerie-Regiment 326

Nachrichten-Abteilung 326

Pionier-Bataillon 326

3. Panzergrenadier-Division (Generalmajor Walter Denkert)

Panzergrenadier-Regiment 8 and 29

Panzer-Abteilung 103

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 3

Panzeraufklarungs-Abteilung 103

Artillerie-Regiment 3

Flak-Abteilung 312

Nachrichten-Abteilung 3

Pionier-Bataillon 3

I. SS-Panzerkorps (SS-Gruppenführer Hermann Priess)

4. Volkswerfer-Brigade

51. and 52. Werfer-Regiment

9. Volkswerfer-Brigade
14. and 15. Werfer-Regiment

Volksartilleriekorps 388

Volksartilleriekorps 402

schwere SS-Artillerie-Abteilung 501

SS-Panzer-Brigade 150 ‘Rabenhügel’ (SS-Obersturmbannfuhrer Otto Skorzeny)

SS-Jagdverband Mitte (ett kompani)

SS-Fallschirmjäger-Abteilung 600 (two companies)

Sonderverband Jungwirth (two companies)

7. (reserve) Panzergrenadier Kompanie

II. Panzer-Regiment (4. Kompanie)

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 655 (1. Kompanie)

Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 190 (1. Kompanie)

Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 2 (1. Kompanie)

I./Artillerie-Abteilung 40 (4. batterie)

Einheit Stielau

12. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Hitlerjugend’ (SS-Standartenführer Hugo Kraas)

SS-Panzerregiment 12

schwere SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 560

SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12

SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 25 and 26

SS-Aufklarungs-Abteilung 12

SS-Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 12

SS-Flak-Abteilung 12

SS-Panzer-Nachrichten-Abteilung 12

SS-Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 12

277. Volksgrenadier-Division (Oberst Wilhelm Viebig)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 289, 990 and 991

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 277

Artillerie-Regiment 277

Nachrichten-Abteilung 277

Pionier-Bataillon 277

12. Volksgrenadier-Division (Generalmajor Gerhard Engel) Fusilier-Regiment 27

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 28 and 89

Fusilier-Bataillon 12

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 12

Artillerie-Abteilung 12

Nachrichten-Abteilung 12

Pionier-Bataillon 12

1. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler’ (SS-Oberfuhrer Wilhelm Mohnke)

SS-Panzer-Regiment 1

schwere SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 501

SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 1

SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 1 and 2

SS-Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 1

SS-Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 1

SS-Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung 1

SS-Panzer-Nachrichten-Abteilung 1

SS-Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 1

3. Fallschirmjäger-Division (Generalmajor Walter Wadehn, deputy of Generalleutnant Richard Schimpf)

Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 5, 8 and 9

Fallschirm-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 3

Fallschirm-Artillerie-Regiment 3

Fallschirm-Luftn achrichten-Abteilung 3

Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon 3

II. SS-Panzerkorps (SS-Obergruppenfuhrer Willi Bittrich)

Volksartilleriekorps 410

schwere SS-Artillerie-Abteilung 502

9. SS-Panzer-Division ‘Hohenstaufen’ (SS-Brigadeführer Sylvester Stadler)

SS-Panzer-Regiment 9

SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 9

SS-Panzer-Grenadier-Regiment 19 and 20

SS-Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 9

SS-Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 9

SS-Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung 9

SS-Panzer-Nachrichten-Abteilung 9

SS-Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 9

2. SS-Panzer-Division (SS-Brigadeführer Heinz Lammerding)

SS-Panzer-Regiment 2 ȘDas Reichâ

SS-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 2

SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ‘Deutschlandߣ

SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 4 ‘Der Führerߣ

SS-Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 2

SS-Panzer-Artillerie Regiment 2

SS-Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung 2

SS-Panzer-Nachrichten-Abteilung 2

SS-Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 2

5. Panzerarmee (General der Panzertruppen Hasso von Manteuffel)

schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 653

Russisches Bataillon 669 [Russian volunteers]

Mörser-Batterie 1099, 1119 and 1121

Mörser-Batterie 54 cm 638

12,8 cm Kanonen-Batterie 1094 and 1095

Festungs-Artillerie-Batterie 25/975

Pionier-Bataillon (mot) 207 and 600

Brücken-Kolonne J mot 894, 897 and 957

Front-OT OT-Brigade

3 Flak-Brigade XIX

Führer Begleit Brigade (Oberst Otto-Ernst Remer)

Panzer-Regiment FBB

Panzergrenadier- Regiment FBB

Artillerie-Bataillon

FBB Flak-Regiment FBB

Panzer-Aufklarungs-Kompanie FBB

SS-Panzer-Nachrichten-Kompanie FBB

LXVI. Armeekorps (General der Artillerie Walther Lucht)

16. Volkswerfer-Brigade

86. and 87. Werfer-Regiment

Stürmgeschutz-Brigade 244

Heeres-Artillerie-Abteilung 460

18. Volksgrenadier-Division (Generalmajor Günther Hoffmann-Schonborn)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 293, 294 and 295

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 1818

Artillerie-Regiment 1818

Nachrichten-Abteilung 1818

Pionier-Bataillon 1818

62. Volksgrenadier-Division (Generalmajor Friedrich Kittel)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 164, 183 and 190

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 162

Artillerie-Regiment 162

Nachrichten-Abteilung 1818

Pionier-Bataillon 162

LVIII. Panzerkorps (General der Panzertruppe Walter Kruger)

7. Volkswerfer-Brigade

84. and 85. Werfer-Regiment

Volksartilleriekorps 401

Flak-Regiment 1

116. Panzer-Division (Generalmajor Siegfried von Waldenburg)

Panzer-Regiment 16

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 226

Panzergrenadier-Regiment 60 and 156

Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 116

Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 146

Heeres-Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung 281

Panzer-Nachrichten-Abteilung 228

Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 675

560. Volksgrenadier-Division (Oberst Rudolf Langhauser)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 1128, 1129 and 1130

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 1560

Artillerie-Regiment 1560

Nachrichten-Abteilung 1560

Pionier-Bataillon 1560

XLVII. Panzerkorps (General der Panzertruppen Heinrich von Luttwitz)

15. Volkswerfer-Brigade

55. and 85. Werfer-Regiment

Volksartilleriekorps 766

Flak-Regiment 182

2. Panzer-Division (Oberst Meinrad von Lauchert)

Panzer-Regiment 3

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 38

Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2 and 304

Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 2

Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 74

Heeres-Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung 273

Panzer-Nachrichten-Abteilung 38

Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 38

26. Volksgrenadier-Division (Oberst Heinz Kokott)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 77 and 78

Fusilier-Grenadier-Regiment 39

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 26

Aufklarungs-Abteilung 26

Artillerie-Regiment 26

Nachrichten-Abteilung 26

Pionier-Bataillon 126

130. Panzer-Lehr-Division (Generalleutnant Fritz Bayerlein)

Panzer -Regiment 130

schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 559

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 130

Panzergrenadier-Regiment 901 and 902

Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 130

Panzer-Artillerie -Regiment 130

Panzer-Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung 311

Panzer-Nachrichten-Abteilung 130

Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 130

7. Armee (General der Panzertruppen Erich Brandenberger)

12,8 cm Kanonen-Batterie 1092,1093,1124 and 1125

Mörser-Batterie 1122

schwere Kanonen-Batterie 660

Beobachtungs-Abteilung 44 and 45

Pionier-Bataillon 47

Festungs-Panzerjäger-Abteilung 501

Pionier-Regiment 673

Pionier-Bau-Bataillon 677

Brücken-Kolonne B (GE) 964 and 965

Brücken-Kolonne J mot. 961 and 966

Brücken-Bau-Bataillon 605

Front-OT OT-Brigade 1

Flak-Brigade I

LXXXV. Armeekorps (General derInfanterie Baptist Kniess)

Volkswerfer-Brigade 18

schwere Nebelwerfer-Regiment 90 and 91

406. Volksartilleriekorps

schwere Panzerjäger-Abteilung 668

5. Fallschirmjäger-Division (Oberst Ludwig Heilmann)

Fallschirmjäger-Regiment 13, 14 and 15

Stürmgeschutz-Brigade 11

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 5

Fallschirm-Artillerie-Regiment 5

Fallschirmager-Flak-Abteilung 5

Fallschirm-Luftn achrichten-Abteilung 5

Fallschirm-Pionier-Bataillon 5

352. Volksgrenadier-Division

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 914, 915 and 916

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 352

Aufklarungs-Abteilung 26

Artillerie-Regiment 352

Nachrichten-Abteilung 352

Pionier-Bataillon 352

LXXX. Armeekorps (General der Infanterie Franz Beyer) 

Volkswerfer-Brigade 8

Werfer-Regiment 2 and Werfer-Lehr-Regiment 1

408. Volksartilleriekorps

276. Volksgrenadier-Division (Generalmajor Kurt Mohring)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 986, 987 and 988

Infanterie-Bataillon 276

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 276

Artillerie-Regiment 276

Nachrichten-Abteilung 276

Pionier-Bataillon 276

212. Volksgrenadier-Division (Generalleutnant Franz Sensfuss)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 316, 320 and 423

Infanterie-Bataillon 212

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 212

Artillerie-Regiment 212

Nachrichten-Abteilung 212

Pionier-Bataillon 212

LIII. Armeekorps (General der Kavallerie Edwin Graf von Rothkirch und Trach)

Festungs-MG-Batallion 44

Festungs-Artillerie-B atallion XIII/999

Führer Grenadier Brigade

Panzer-Regiment FGB [101. Panzer-Regiment]

Panzergrenadier- Regiment FGB [99. Panzergrenadier-Regiment]

Panzer-Artillerie-Bataillon FGB

Heeres-Flak-Artillerie-Regiment FGB

Panzer-Nachrichten-Kompanie FGB

9. Volksgrenadier-Division (Oberst Werner Kolb)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 36, 57 and 116

Fusilier-Kompanie 9

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 9

Artillerie-Regiment 9

Nachrichten-Abteilung 9

Pionier-Bataillon 9

79. Volksgrenadier-Division (Oberst Alois Weber)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 208, 212 and 226

Fusilier-Abteilung 179

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 179

Artillerie-Regiment 179

Nachrichten-Abteilung 179

Pionier-Bataillon 179

Additions after 22 December 1944

To LXVII Panzerkorps 23 December 1944:

9. Panzer-Division (Generalmajor Harald von Elverfeldt) -Panzer-Regiment 33

schwere Panzer-Abteilung (Funklenk) 301

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 50

Panzergrenadier-Regiment 10 and 11

Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 9

Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 102

Heeres-Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung 287

Panzer-Nachrichten-Abteilung 85

Panzer-Pionier-Bataillon 86

To LXVII Panzerkorps 23 December 1944:

15. Panzergrenadier-Division (Oberst Hans-Joachim Deckert)

Panzer-Abteilung 115

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 33

Panzergrenadier-Regiment 104 and 115

Panzer-Aufklärungs-Abteilung 115

Panzer-Artillerie-Regiment 33

Heeres-Flak-Artillerie-Abteilung 315

Nachrichten-Abteilung 33

Pionier-Bataillon 33

To 5. Panzerarmee 24 December 1944:

XXXIX. Panzerkorps (General der Panzertruppen Karl Decker)

167. Volksgrenadier-Division (Generalleutnant Hanskurt Hocker)

Grenadier-Regiment 331, 339 and 387

Fusilier-Kompanie 167

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 167

Artillerie-Regiment 167

Nachrichten-Abteilung 167

Pionier-Bataillon 167

To I. SS-Panzerkorps 27 December 1944:

340. Volksgrenadier-Division (Generalleutnant Theodor Tolsdorff)

Volksgrenadier-Regiment 694, 695 and 696

Fusilier-Kompanie 340

Panzerjäger-Abteilung 340

Artillerie-Regiment 340

Nachrichten-Abteilung 340

Pionier-Bataillon 340

1.2 U.S. UNITS

Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Forces (SHAEF) (General of the Army Dwight D. Eisenhower)

12th U.S. Army Group (Lieutenant General Omar N. Bradley)

First U.S. Army (Lieutenant General Courtney H. Hodges)

5th Belgian Fusilier Battalion

143rd and 413th Antiaircraft Artillery Gun Battalion

825th Tank Destroyer Battalion

9th Canadian Forestry Company

86th Engineer Heavy Pontoon Battalion

V Corps (Major General Leonard T. Gerow)

102nd Cavalry Group, Mechanized

186th, 196th, 200th and 955th Field Artillery Battalion

254th Engineer (Combat) Battalion

134th, 387th, 445th, 460th, 461st, 531st, 602nd, 639th

863rd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion

187th Field Artillery Group

751st and 997th Field Artillery Battalion

190th Field Artillery Group

62nd, 190th, 272nd and 268thField Artillery Battalion

406th Field Artillery Group

76th, 941st, 953rd and 987th Field Artillery Battalion

1111th Engineer Combat Group

51st, 202nd, 291st and 296th Engineer Combat

Battalion

1st Infantry Division ‘Big Red One’ (Brigadier General Clift Andrus)

16th, 18th and 26th Infantry Regiment

5th, 7th, 32nd and 33rd Field Artillery Battalion

1st Engineer Combat Battalion

745th Tank Battalion

634th and 703rd Tank Destroyer Battalion

103rd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

2d Infantry Division ‘Indianhead’ (Major General Walter M. Robertson)

9th, 23rd and 38th Infantry Regiment

12th, 15th, 37th and 38thField Artillery Battalion

2nd Engineer Combat Battalion

741st Tank Battalion

612th and 644th Tank Destroyer Battalion

462nd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

9th Infantry Division ‘Octofoil’ (Major General Louis A. Craig)

[Not on the Ardennes Front]

39th, 47th and 60th Infantry Regiment

26th, 34th, 60th and 84th Field Artillery Battalion

15th Engineer Combat Battalion

38th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron

746th Tank Battalion

376th and 413th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic

Weapons Battalion

78th Infantry Division ‘Lightning’ (Major General Edwin P. Parker, Jr.) [Not on the Ardennes Front]

309th, 310th and 311th Infantry Regiment

307th, 308th, 309th and 903rd Field Artillery Battalion

303rd Engineer Combat Battalion

709th Tank Battalion

CCR, 5th Armored Division

628th and 893rd Tank Destroyer Battalion

522nd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

2nd Ranger Battalion

99th Infantry Division ’Checkerboard’ (Major General Walter E. Lauer)

393rd, 394th and 395th Infantry Regiment

370th, 371st, 372nd and 924th Field Artillery Battalion

324th Engineer Combat Battalion

801st Tank Destroyer Battalion

535th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

VII Corps (Major General Joseph Lawton Collins) [Ardennes Front from 22 December 1944]

4th Cavalry Group, Mechanized

29th Infantry Regiment

French Light Infantry Brigade

509th Parachute Infantry Battalion

297th and 298th Engineer Battalion

740th Tank Battalion

759th Light Tank Battalion

18th, 83rd, 87th, 183rd, 193rd, 957th and 991st Field Artillery Battalion

635th Tank Destroyer Battalion

342nd, 366th, 392nd, 1308th and 1313th Engineer General

Services Regiment

18th Field Artillery Group

188th, 666th and 981st Field Artillery Battalion

142nd Field Artillery Group

195th and 266th Field Artillery Battalion

188th Field Artillery Group

172nd, 951st and 980th Field Artillery Battalion

2d Armored Division ’Hell on Wheels’ (Major General Ernest N. Harmon) [Ardennes Front from 22 December 1944]

41st Armored Infantry Regiment

66th and 67th Armored Regiment

14th, 78th and 92nd Armored Field Artillery Battalion

17th Armored Engineer Battalion

18th Reconnaissance Squadron

702nd Tank Destroyer Battalion

195th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

3rd Armored Division ‘Spearhead’ (Major General Maurice Rose) [from V Corps 22 December 1944]

36th Armored Infantry Regiment

32nd and 33rd Armored Regiment

54th, 67th and 391st Armored Field Artillery Battalion

23rd Armored Engineer Battalion

83rd Reconnaissance Squadron

643rd Tank Destroyer Battalion

486th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

[22-25 December 1944 to XVIII Airborne Corps, then to VII Corps: CCB with the reinforced 2nd Bn of 33rd Armored Regiment, two reinforced companies of the 36th Armored Infantry Regiment and minor groups from other units]

84th Infantry Division ‘Railsplitters’ (Brigadier General Alexander R. Bolling) [Ardennes Front from 21 December 1944]

333rd, 334th and 335th Infantry Regiment

325th, 326th, 327th and 909th Field Artillery Battalion

309th Engineer Combat Battalion

771st Tank Battalion

638th Tank Destroyer Battalion

557th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

VIII Corps (Major General Troy H. Middleton)

687th Field Artillery Battalion [south]

178th Engineer Combat Battalion [south]

341st Engineer General Service Regiment [south]

635th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion [south]

174th Field Artillery Group [north]

965th, 969th and 770th Field Artillery Battalion

333rd Field Artillery Group [north]

333rd 771st Field Artillery Battalion

402nd Field Artillery Group [north]

559th, 561st and 740th Field Artillery Battalion

422nd Field Artillery Group [south]

81st and 174th Field Artillery Battalion

1107th Engineer Combat Group [south]

44th, 159th and 168th Engineer Combat Battalion

1128th Engineer Combat Group [south]

35th and 158th Engineer Combat Battalion

14th Cavalry Group, Mechanized

106th Infantry Division ‘Golden Lions’ (Major General Alan W. Jones)

422nd, 423rd and 424th Infantry Regiment

589th, 590th, 591st and 592nd Field Artillery Battalion

81st Engineer Combat Battalion

820th Tank Destroyer Battalion

634th and 563rd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic

Weapons Battalion

9th Armored Division (Major General John W. Leonard)

CCA: 19th Tank Battalion and 60th Armored Infantry Battalion in the south

CCR: 2nd Tank Battalion and 52nd Armored Infantry Battalion in the center

CCB: 14th Tank Battalion and 27th Armored Infantry Battalion in the north

3rd, 16th and 73rd Armored Field Artillery Battalion

9th Armored Engineer Battalion

89th Cavalry Squadron

811th Tank Destroyer Battalion

482nd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

7th Armored Division ‘Lucky Seventh’ (Brigadier General Robert W. Hasbrouck) [from 16 December 1944]

CCA, CCB and CCR

23rd, 38th and 48th Armored Infantry Battalion

17th, 31st and 40th Tank Battalion

434th, 440th and 489th Armored Field Artillery

Battalion

33rd Armored Engineer Battalion

87th Reconnaissance Squadron

814th Tank Destroyer Battalion

203rd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

28th Infantry Division ‘Keystone’ (Major General Norman D. Cota)

109th Regimental Combat Team in the south

110th Regimental Combat Team in the center

112th Infantry Regiment in the north

107th, 108th, 109th and 229th Field Artillery Battalion

103rd Engineer Combat Battalion

707th Tank Battalion

630th Tank Destroyer Battalion

447th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

101st Airborne Division ‘Screaming Eagles’ (Brigadier General Anthony C. McAuliffe, deputy of Major General Maxwell D. Taylor) [from XVIII Airborne Corps 18 December 1944]

501st, 502nd and 506th Parachute Infantry Regiment

327th Gilder Infantry Regiment

401st Glider Infantry, 1st Battalion

321st and 907th Glider Field Artillery Battalion

377th Parachute Field Artillery Battalion

326th Parachute Engineer Battalion

705th Tank Destroyer Battalion

775th Field Artillery Battalion

377th Airborne Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion

Subordinated to 101st Airborne Division from 18 December 1944: CCB, 10th Armored Division with the 3rd Tank Battalion and 20th Armored Infantry Battalion plus elements of other units of 10th Armored Division

XVIII Airborne Corps (Major General Matthew B. Ridgway) [Ardennes Front from 18 December 1944]

551st Parachute Infantry Battalion

517th Parachute Infantry Regiment

254th, 275th, 400th and 460th Field Artillery Battalion

79th Field Artillery Group

153rd, 551st and 552nd Field Artillery Battalion

179th Field Artillery Group

259th and 965th Field Artillery Battalion

211th Field Artillery Group

240th and 264th Field Artillery Battalion

401st Field Artillery Group

187th and 809th Field Artillery Battalion

82d Airborne Division All American’ (Major General James M. Gavin)

504th, 505th and 508th Parachute Infantry Regiment

325th Glider Infantry Regiment

376th and 456th Parachute Field Artillery Battalion

307th Airborne Engineer Battalion

80th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

30th Infantry Division ‘Old Hickory’ (Major General Leland S. Hobbs) [from V Corps 21 December 1944]

117th, 119th and 120th Infantry Regiment

113th, 118th, 197th and 230th Field Artillery Battalion

105th Engineer Combat Battalion

743rd Tank Battalion

823rd Tank Destroyer Battalion

110th and 431st Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion

99th Infantry Battalion ‘Viking’

526th Armored Infantry Battalion

CCB, 3rd Armored Division [from V Corps 22 December 1944, to VII Corps 25 December 1944]

Reinforced 2nd Battalion of 33rd Armored Regiment

 Two reinforced companies of 36th Armored Infantry Regiment

Smaller groups from other units in the division

Third U.S. Army (Lieutenant General George S. Patton, Jr.)

109th, 115th, 217th and 777th Antiaircraft Artillery Gun Battalion

456th, 465th, 550th and 565th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic

Weapons Battalion

631st Tank Destroyer Battalion

III Corps (Major General John Millikin) [Ardennes Front from 22 December 1944]

6th Cavalry Group, Mechanized

183rd 145th, 188th, 243rd and 249th Engineer Combat Battalion

1306th Engineer General Service Regiment

467th and 468th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

179th, 274th, 776th and 777th Field Artillery Battalion 193rd Field Artillery Group

177th, 253rd, 696th, 776th and 949th Field Artillery

Battalion

203rd Field Artillery Group

278th, 742nd and 762nd Field Artillery Battalion

4th Armored Division (Major General Hugh J. Gaffey)

CCA, CCB and CCR

10th, 51st and 53rd Armored Infantry Battalion

8th, 35th and 37th Tank Battalion

22nd, 66th and 94th Armored Field Artillery Battalion

24th Armored Engineer Battalion

704th Tank Destroyer Battalion

25th Cavalry Squadron

467th and 489th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic

Weapons Battalion

26th Infantry Division ‘Yankee’ (Major General Willard S. Paul)

101st, 104th and 328th Infantry Regiment

101st, 102nd, 180th and 263rd Field Artillery Battalion

101st Engineer Combat Battalion

735th Tank Battalion

818th Tank Destroyer Battalion

390th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion

80th Infantry Division ‘Blue Ridge’ (Major General Horace L. McBride)

317th, 318th and 319th Infantry Regiment

313th, 314th, 315th and 905th Field Artillery Battalion

305th Engineer Combat Battalion

702nd Tank Battalion

610th Tank Destroyer Battalion

633rd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

XII Corps (Major General Manton S. Eddy)

2nd Cavalry Group, Mechanized

808th Tank Destroyer Battalion

372nd, 398th and 1303rd Engineer General Service Regiment

452nd and 457th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion

161st, 244th, 277th, 334th, 336th and 736th Field Artillery Battalion

276th Armored Field Artillery Battalion

177th Field Artillery Group

215th, 255th and 775th Field Artillery Battalion

182nd Field Artillery Group

802nd, 945th and 974th Field Artillery Battalion

183rd Field Artillery Group

695th and 776th Field Artillery Battalion

404th Field Artillery Group

273rd, 512th and 752nd Field Artillery Battalion

1103rd Engineer Combat Group

106th and 204th Engineer Combat Battalion

4th Infantry Division ‘Ivy’ (Major General Raymond O. Barton)

8th, 12th and 22nd Infantry Regiment

20th, 29th, 42nd and 44th Field Artillery Battalion

4th Engineer Combat Battalion

70th Tank Battalion

802nd and 803rd Tank Destroyer Battalion

377th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

5th Infantry Division ‘Red Diamond’ (Major General S. Leroy Irwin)

2nd, 10th and 11th Infantry Regiment

19th, 21st, 46th and 50th Field Artillery Battalion

7th Engineer Combat Battalion

737th Tank Battalion

818th Tank Destroyer Battalion

449th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

10th Armored Division ‘Tiger’ (Major General William H. H. Morris, Jr.)

CCA, CCB and CCR

20th, 54th and 61st Armored Infantry Battalion

3rd, 11th and 21st Tank Battalion

419th, 420th and 423rd Armored Field Artillery

Battalion

609th Tank Destroyer Battalion

55th Armored Engineer Battalion

90th Reconnaissance Squadron

796th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

[Note: CCB with 3rd Tank Battalion and 20th Armored Infantry Battalion, plus elements of other units subordinated to VIII Corps from 17 December 1944]

Additions after 22 December 1944

To VII Corps 22 December 1944, then to XVIII Airborne Corps: 75th Infantry Division (Major General Fay B. Prickett)

289th, 290th and 291st Infantry Regiment

730th, 897th, 898th and 899th Field Artillery Battalion

275th Engineer Combat Battalion

750th Tank Battalion

629th and 772nd Tank Destroyer Battalion

440th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

To VII Corps 26 December 1944:

83rd Infantry Division ‘Thunderbolt’ (Major General Robert C. Macon)

329th, 330th and 331st Infantry Regiment

322nd, 323rd, 324th and 908th Field Artillery Battalion

308th Engineer Combat Battalion

774th Tank Battalion

772nd Tank Destroyer Battalion

453rd Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

To III Corps 26 December 1944:

35th Infantry Division ‘Santa Fe’ (Major General Paul W. Baade)

134th, 137th and 320th Infantry Regiment

127th, 161st, 216th and 219th Field Artillery Battalion

60th Engineer Combat Battalion

654th Tank Destroyer Battalion

448th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

To III Corps 30 December 1944:

6th Armored Division ‘Super Sixth’ (Major General Robert W. Grow)

CCA, CCB and CCR

9th, 44th and 50th Armored Infantry Battalion

15th, 68th and 69th Tank Battalion

128th, 212th and 231st Armored Field Artillery

Battalion

25th Armored Engineer Battalion

86th Cavalry Squadron

603rd Tank Destroyer Battalion

777th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

To VIII Corps 29 December 1944:

87th Infantry Division ‘Golden Acorn’ (Brigadier General Frank

L. Culin, Jr.)

345th, 346th and 347th Infantry Regiment

3eme Regiment de Chasseurs Parachutistes, SAS

334th, 335th, 336th and 912th Field Artillery Battalion

312th Engineer Combat Battalion

761st Tank Battalion

691st Tank Destroyer Battalion

549th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons

Battalion

To VIII Corps 29 December 1944:

11th Armored Division ‘Thunderbolt’ (Brigadier General Charles S. Kilburn)

CCA, CCB CCR

21st, 55th and 63rd Armored Infantry Battalion

22nd, 41st and 42nd Tank Battalion

490th, 491st and 492nd Armored Field Artillery

Battalion

56th Armored Engineer Battalion

602nd Tank Destroyer Battalion

41st Cavalry Squadron

575th and 778th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion

To VIII Corps 1 January 1945:

17th Airborne Division ‘Golden Talon’ (Major General William

M. Miley)

507th and 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment

193rd and 194th Glider Infantry Regiment

680th and 681st Glider Field Artillery Battalion

466th Parachute Field Artillery Battalion

139th Airborne Engineer Battalion

155th Airborne Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion

To III Corps 6 January 1945:

90th Infantry Division ‘Tough Hombres’ (Major General James A. Van Fleet)

357th, 358th and 359th Infantry Regiment

343rd, 344th, 345th and 915th Field Artillery Battalion

315th Engineer Combat Battalion

773rd Tank Destroyer Battalion

537th Antiaircraft Artillery Automatic Weapons Battalion

1.3 BRITISH UNITS

21 Army Group (Field Marshal Bernard Law Montgomery)

XXX Corps (Lieutenant-General Brian Horrocks)

2nd Household Cavalry Regiment

11th Hussars

73rd Antitank Regiment, Royal Artillery

4th and 5th Regiment, Royal Horse Artillery

7th, 64th and 84th Medium Regiment, Royal Artillery

27th Light AA Regiment, Royal Artillery

6th Airborne Division (Major-General Eric Bols)

3rd and 5th Parachute Brigade

6th Airlanding Brigade

53rd Light Regiment, Royal Artillery

3rd and 4th Airlanding Anti-Tank Battalions, Royal

Artillery

6th Airborne Armoured Reconnaissance Regiment,

Royal Armoured Corps

249th Airborne Field Company Royal Engineers

3rd and 591st Parachute Squadron Royal Engineers

3rd and 9th Airborne Squadron Royal Engineers

286th Airborne Field Park Company Royal Engineers

6th Airborne Divisional Signals Company Royal

Signals

22nd Independent Parachute Company Army Air

Corps

51st (Highland) Infantry Division (Major-General Thomas G. Rennie)

152nd, 153rd and 154th Infantry Brigade

126th, 127th, and 128th Field Regiment, Royal

Artillery

2nd Derbyshire Yeomanry

61st Antitank Regiment, Royal Artillery

40th Light AA Regiment, Royal Artillery

274th, 275th and 276th Field Companies Royal

Engineers

239th Field Park Company Royal Engineers

16th Bridging Platoon Royal Engineers

51st Divisional Signals Company Royal Signals

1/7 Machine Gun Battalion Middlesex Regiment

53rd (Welsh) Infantry Division (Major-General Robert Knox Ross)

71st, 158th and 160th Infantry Brigade

81st, 83rd and 133rd Field Regiment, Royal Artillery

53rd Recce Regiment, Royal Armoured Corps

71st Antitank Regiment, Royal Artillery

25th Light AA Regiment, Royal Artillery

244th, 282nd and 555th Field Companies Royal

Engineers

285th Field Park Company Royal Engineers

22nd Bridging Platoon Royal Engineers

53rd Divisional Signals Company Royal Signals

29th Armoured Brigade (Brigadier Roscoe Harvey)

23rd Hussars Regiment

3rd Royal Tank Regiment

8th Rifle Brigade

33rd Armoured Brigade (Brigadier H.B. Scott)

144th Regiment, Royal Armoured Corps

1st Northamptonshire Yeomanry

1st East Riding Yeomanry

34th Army Tank Brigade (Brigadier G W.S. Clarke)

9th Royal Tank Regiment

107th and 147th Regiment, Royal Armoured Corps
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NOTES

Notes to Chapter 1

1 Shores and Thomas, 2nd Tactical Air Force. Volume Two: Breakout to Bodenplatte, p. 291.

2 Bergström, Bagration to Berlin: The Final Air Battles in the East 1944-1945, p. 59.

3 Ibid., p. 60.

4 Carell, Verbrannte Erde: Schlacht zwischen Wolga und Weichsel, p. 432.

5 Ellis, Brute Force, p. 382.

6 Zetterling, Normandy 1944: German Military Organization, Combat Power and Organizational Effectiveness, p. 32.

7 Bayerlein, Panzer Lehr Division (24-25 Jul 44). A-902, p. 2.

8 Ibid., p. 3.

9 Ibid., p. 3.

10 Zetterling, p. 32; Hastings, Overlord: D-Day and the Battle for Normandy, p. 236.

11 Montgomery, The Memoirs of Field-Marshal the Viscount Montgomery of Alamein, K.G, p. 259.

12 Wilmot, The Struggle for Europe, p. 399.

13 Rust, The 9th Air Force in World War II, p. 98.

14 Wilmot, p. 399.

15 Gooderson, Air Power at the Battlefront: Allied Close Air Support in Europe 1943-45, p. 112.

16 Wilmot, p. 422.

17 Schramm, Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht (hadanefter KTB OKW), vol. 7, p. 352.

18 Bergström, p. 83.

19 Der Heeresarzt im Oberkommando des Heeres/GenstdH/ GenQu/Az. 1335/c/d (IIb): Personelle blutige Verluste des Feldheeres - Berichtigte Meldung fur die Zeit vom 1.6. 1944 bis 10.1. 1945.

20 Ellis, Cassino, the Hollow Victory: The Battle for Rome January-June 1944, p. xii.

21 Okdo.d.H.Gr. B I1 Nr 6704/44 g.Kdos. Chefs. 29.8. 1944.

22 Liddell Hart, Andra världskrigets historia, del 2, p. 225.

23 Carell, Unternehmen Barbarossa, p. 328.

24 Shulman, The German Defeat in the West, p. 198.

25 Nobécourt, Hitler’s Last Gamble: The Battle for the Ardennes, p. 81.

26 Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv, RH 19/IV, Anlage 2101; Kriegstagebuch OB West, 11. September 1944.

27 Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv, RH 19/IV, Anlage 2078; Kriegstagebuch OB West, 10. September 1944.

28 MacDonald, United States Army in World War II European Theater of Operations: The Siegfried Line Campaign, p. 43.

29 OB West Ia Nr. 8138/44 g.Kdos. vom 15.9. 1944; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 33.

30 Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 33.

31 Ellis, Brute Force, p. 398.

32 The Administrative History of Operations of 21 Army Group on the Continent of Europe 6 June 1944 8 May 1945. MCHS 0514, p. 47; Wilmot, The Struggle for Europe, p. 472.

33 Montgomery, The Memoirs of Field-Marshal the Viscount Montgomery of Alamein, K.G, p. 266.

34 Bradley, A Soldier’s Story, p. 396.

35 Bradley, A Soldier’s Story, p. 396.

36 Montgomery, p. 268.

37 Ibid.

38 Montgomery, p. 269.

39 Liddell Hart, p. 230.

40 KTB OKW, vol. 7, p. 395.

41 Eisenhower, Crusade in Europe, p. 299.

42 Liddell Hart, p. 233.

43 Ibid., p. 228.

44 Keppler, Fighting of the I SS-Panzer-Corps in Northern France (from 16 August to 18 October 1944). B-623, p. 31.

45 MacDonald, United States Army in World War II European Theater of Operations: The Siegfried Line Campaign, p. 48.

46 Elstob, Hitler’s Last Offensive: The Surprise German Assault that triggered the Battle of the Bulge, p. 37.

47 Ibid., p. 39.

48 Bradley, A Soldier’s Story, p. 431.

49 Ibid.

50 Blitz Street”, Channel 4, 10 May 2010. http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=saU3ftuG7CQ

51 Wilmot, p. 495.

52 Reichhelm, Report of Colonel (GSC) Reichhelm of the General Staff, concerning his activity as operations officer of Army Group B during operations in the West from fall 1944 to Spring 1945, A-925, p. 3.

53 Erickson, The Road to Berlin, p. 246.

54 Ibid., p. 416.

55 Ibid., p. 416.

Notes to Chapter 2

1 Kreipe, The Kreipe Diary, 22 July-2 November 1944. P-069, p. 34.

2 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 2.

3 Ibid.

4 Kreipe, pp. 34-35.

5 Schramm, The Preparations for the German Offensive in the Ardennes (Sep to Dec 1944). A-862, p. 62.

6 Kreipe, pp. 34-35.

7 Ibid., p. 35.

8 Wilmot, The Struggle for Europe, p. 560.

9 Schramm, A-862, p. 69.

10 Ibid., p. 65.

11 Schramm (red.), Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht (henceforth KTB OKW), Vol. 7, p. 313.

12 Ellis, Brute Force: Allied Strategy and Tactics in the Second World War, p. 365.

13 Gooderson, Air Power at the Battlefront: Allied Close Air-Support in Europe 1943-45, p. 183.

14 Ibid., p. 192.

15 Galland et al, Fighting the Bombers: The Luftwaffe’s Struggle Against the Allied Bomber Offensive, p. 143.

16 Caldwell and Muller, The Luftwaffe over Germany: Defense of the Reich, p. 205.

17 Groehler, Geschichte des Luftkriegs, p. 428.

18 Ellis, p. 381.

19 Ibid., p. 431.

20 Ibid., p. 381.

21 Schramm, A-862, p. 74.

22 Kraemer, Sixth Panzer Army in the Ardennes. ETHINT-021, p. 1.

23 Schramm, A-862, p. 85.

24 Schramm, A-862, p. 85.

25 Ibid., p. 87.

26 Ibid.

27 Ibid.

28 KTB OKW, vol. 8, 2 Jan 1945, p. 978.

29 Intervju med Adolf Galland.

30 The Strategic Air War Against Germany 1939-1945: The Official Report of the British Bombing Survey Unit, p. 70.

31 Ibid., p. 72.

32 Vajda and Dancey, German Aircraft Industry Production 1933-1945, p. 139.

33 Wilmot, p. 556.

34 The U.S. Strategic Bombing Survey: European Theater of Operations: Second Edition January 1947, p. 16.

35 Wilmot, p. 554.

36 Schramm, A-862, p. 96.

37 Reichhelm, Report of Colonel (GSC) Reichhelm of the General Staff, concerning his activity as operations officer of Army Group B during operations in the West from fall 1944 to Spring 1945, A-925, p. 8.

38 Ibid., p. 9.

39 Ibid., p. 11.

40 Ibid., p. 12.

41 Ibid.

42 Schramm, A-862, p. 101.

43 Reichhelm, A-925, p. 12.

44 Ibid.

45 Grundgedanken der Operation ”Wacht am Rhein”. Geheime Kommandosache, Chefsache. Anlage 2 zu Chef WFst. Nr. 20/44 g.H.Chefs.St. 1. 11. 1944; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 305.

46 von Manteuffel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen-Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). Foreign Military Study B-151, p. 29.

47 Ibid., p. 42.

48 Ibid.

49 Ibid.

50 Ibid., p. 43.

51 Ibid., p. 48.

52 Ibid., p. 64.

53 Ibid.

54 Ibid.

55 Ibid., p. 65.

56 Schramm, A-862, p. 116.

57 Ibid., p. 120.

58 Ibid., p. 127.

59 Gruchmann, Andra världskriget: Första delen 1939-1944, p. 38.

60 Ibid., p. 39.

61 Ibid., p. 55.

62 Schramm, A-862, p. 127.

63 Vajda and Dancey, p. 144.

64 Der Reichsmarschall des Grossdeutschen Reiches und Oberbefehlshaber der Luftwaffe Nr. 10325/44 g.Kdos. Chefs. 14.11. 1944; Jung, p. 139.

65 Groehler, p. 455.

66 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/633. CX/MSS/T 401/92. West.

67 Der Reichsmarschall des Grossdeutschen Reiches und Oberbefehlshaber der Luftwaffe Nr. 10325/44 g.Kdos. Chefs. 14.11. 1944; Jung, p. 139.

68 Ambrose, Citizen Soldiers: From the Beaches of Normandy to the Surrender of Germany, p. 145.

69 Ellis, p. 431.

70 KTB OKW, vol. 7, p. 428.

71 Ibid., p. 442.

72 Ibid.

73 Elstob, Hitler’s Last Offensive, p. 209.

74 OKH/GenStdH/Org.Abt. Nr. I/20981/44 g.Kdos. 1. 12. 1944: Jung, p. 37.

75 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 485.

76 H.Gr. B/Ia Nr. 0051/44 g.Kdos.Chefs. 9.11. 1944; Meyer, The 12th SS, p. 211.

77 Schramm, A-862, p. 167.

78 Ibid., pp. 169-170.

79 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 79.

80 KTB OKW, Vol. 7, p. 443.

81 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 21.

82 Ibid.

83 Ibid., p. 20.

84 Ibid., p. 21.

85 Schramm, A-862, p. 132.

86 Ibid., p. 133.

87 Ibid., p. 123.

88 Ibid., p. 173; KTB OKW, Vol. 7, p. 444.

 Notes to Chapter 3

1 Schramm, The Preparations for the German Offensive in the Ardennes (Sep to Dec 1944). A-862, p. 106.

2 Ibid.

3 von Manstein, Verlorene Siege, p. 13.

4 Ambrose, Eisenhower, Vol. 1: Soldier, General of the Army, President-Elect (1893-1952), pp. 44ff.

5 Metz, Eisenhower as Strategist: the Coherent Use of Military Power in War and Peace, p. 15.

6 Wilmot, The Struggle for Europe, p. 116.

7 Delaforce, The Battle of the Bulge: Hitler’s Final Gamble, p. 25.

8 Montgomery, The Memoirs of Field-Marshal the Viscount Montgomery of Alamein, K.G, p. 262.

9 Metz, p. 34.

10 Gelb, Ike and Monty: Generals at War, p. 183.

11 Ambrose, Eisenhower, Vol. 1: Soldier, General of the Army, President-Elect (1893-1952), pp. 271f.

12 Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 34.

13 Ibid., p. 35.

14 Delaforce, p. 28.

15 Wilmot, p. 613.

16 Ibid., p. 596.

17 Delaforce, p. 23.

18 Parker, p. 35.

19 Ellis, Brute Force, p. 378.

20 Ibid., p. 337.

21 Ibid., p. 413.

22 Ibid., p. 414.

23 Delaforce, p. 28.

24 Blumenson, Patton Papers, 1940-1945, p. 288.

25 Mitcham, Panzers in Winter, p. 18.

26 Wilmot, p. 605.

27 Ellis, p. 432.

28 Ibid., p. 386.

29 Ibid., p. 433.

30 Ibid., p. 387.

31 Butler, SS-Leibstandarte: The History of the First SS-Division 1934-45, p. 188.

32 Höhne, The Order of the Death’s Head: The Story of Hitler’s SS, p. 439.

33 Parker, p. 37.

34 Schramm, A-862, p. 112.

35 Sylvan and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 2.

36 Ibid., p. 1.

37 Schramm, A-862, p. 112.

38 Ibid.

39 Ibid., p. 113.

40 von Manteuffel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen-Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). B-151, p. 118.

41 Ridgway and Martin, Soldier: the memoirs of Matthew B. Ridgway, p. 114.

42 Price, Troy Middleton: A Biography, p. 175.

43 Letter from General Patton to General Middleton 25 April 1945. www.87thinfantrydivision.com/History/87th/LetterPatton2.html. 7 Oct 2012.

44 Blumenson, p. 496.

45 Wilmot, p. 400.

46 Kaune, General Troy H. Middleton: Steadfast in Command. A Monograph by United States Army School of Advanced Military Studies, p. 28.

47 Balkoski, Omaha Beach: D-Day June 6, 1944, p. 17.

48 Kokott, 26th Volks Grenadier Division in the Ardennes Offensive. Battle of Bastogne Part I. B-040, p. 86.

49 van Creveld, Fighting Power: German and U.S. Army Performance, 1939-1945, p. 168.

50 Ibid., pp. 158 and 153.

51 ”Auftragstaktik and Innere Führung: Trademarks of German Leadership” av Major General Werner Widder, German Army. Military Review, l, September-October 2002. http:// usacac.leavenworth.army.mil/CAC/milreview/download/ English/SepOct02/widder.pdf.

52 van Creveld, p. 38.

53 Truppenführung: Heeresdienstvorschrift 300, p. 1.

54 War Department. War Department Field Manual FM 100-5. Operations. 15 June 1944, p. 27.

55 Truppenführung: Heeresdienstvorschrift 300, p. 1.

56 War Department. War Department Field Manual FM 100-5. Operations. 15 June 1944, p. 34.

57 War Department. FM 100-5 Field Service Regulations: Operations. May 22, 1941, p. 24.

58 Truppenführung: Heeresdienstvorschrift 300, p. 5.

59 English and Gudmundsson, On Infantry, p. 63.

60 Ibid.

61 Truppenführung: Heeresdienstvorschrift 300, p. 5.

62 Ibid., p. 1.

63 Ibid.

64 Franz Halder et al, Gutachten zu Field Service Regulations. U.S. Army Historical Division Study MS P-133, 1953, p. 2. Quoted in van Creveld, p. 38.

65 Metz, p. 6.

66 War Department. War Department Field Manual FM 100-5. Operations. 15 June 1944, p. 34.

67 English and Gudmundsson, p. 63.

68 Ibid., p. 64.

69 van Creveld, p. 46.

70 Colonel T. J. Cross i Department of the Army, The Personnel Replacement System, Pamphlet No. 20-211, Washington D.C., 1954, p. 467. Quoted in van Creveld, p. 77.

71 William Claire Menninger, Psychiatry in a Troubled World: Yesterday’s War and Today’s Challenge, New York, 1948, p. 345. Quoted in van Creveld, p. 95.

72 Fritz, Frontsoldaten: The German Soldier in World War II, p. 205.

73 Ibid., p. 241.

74 von Manteuffel, B-151, pp. 129-131.

75 Gutmann, Ardennes Follow-Up: 2d Panzer Division (16-20 Dec 44 & 13-17 Jan 45). P-109e, p. 3.

76 Reichhelm, Report of Colonel (GSC) Reichhelm of the General Staff, concerning his activity as operations officer of Army Group B during operations in the West from fall 1944 to Spring 1945. A-925, p. 26.

77 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 140.

78 Ibid., pp. 140-141.

79 Fussell, Wartime: Understanding and Behavior in World War II, p. 136.

80 Ibid., p. 141.

81 Ibid., p. 142.

82 ”Best Warriors Compete” av Wayne Cook, The Bulge Buster, Winter 2009-2010, p. 11 www.usar.army.mil/arweb/organization/commandstructure/USARC/TNG/75BCTD/News/Bulge%20Buster/Pages/default.aspx. 20 Aug 2012.

83 voicesofthebulge.blogspot.se/p/author-q.html. 20 Aug 2012.

84 van Creveld, p. 73.

85 Ibid., p. 74.

86 Marshall, Men Against Fire: The Problem of Battle Command, p. 17.

87 Ibid., pp. 15ff.

88 Ambrose, Citizen Soldiers, p. 276.

89 Wilson, If You Survive p. 214.

90 Cooper, Death Traps: The Survival of an American Armored Division in World War II, p. 115.

91 Fussell, p. 122.

92 Moll, Bericht über den Einsatz der 18. V.G.D. in der Ardennen-Offensive (16.12.1944 bis 25.1.1945). B-734, p. 68.

93 Fussell, p. 120.

94 Ibid.

95 Richard C. Anderson, Jr., ”US Army in World War II Artillery and AA Artillery”. Military History Online. www.militaryhistoryonline.com/wwii/usarmy/artillery.aspx. 10 Oct 2012.

96 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 177.

97 Schramm, Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht (hädanefter KTB OKW, Vol. 7, p. 445.

98 Heilmann, Ardennen-Offensive. 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division. Foreign Military Study B-023, p. 11.

99 Ibid.

100 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 91.

101 Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV/2, p. 37.

102 Heilmann, B-023, p. 12.

103 Ibid., pp. 13-14.

104 Ibid., p. 14.

105 Tiemann, p. 37.

106 Nobécourt, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 124.

107 Heilmann, B-023, p. 15.

108 Schramm, A-862, p. 213.

109 von Manteuffel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen-Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). B-151A, p. 2.

110 Schramm, A-862, p. 248.

111 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 2.

112 Wilmot, p. 573.

113 Tolhurst, St Vith: US 106th Infantry Division, p. 40.

114 Ibid., p. 39.

115 Durr, The Cadre Division Concept: The 106th Infantry Division Revisited, p. 23.

116 Tolhurst, p. 39.

117 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I; Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive.

118 KTB OKW, Vol. 7, pp. 439 and 445.

119 OB West Ia Nr 10697/44 geh. 16.12. 1944.

Notes to Chapter 4

1 von Manteuffel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen-Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). B-151A, p. 7.

2 ’’Germany’s Last Greater Offensive in the West”. Lieutenant Hans Joachim Neutmann. Edited by Dieter Stenger, January 2008. Veteran Voices, Stenger Historica. www.stengerhistorica.com/History/WarArchive/VeteranVoices/Neutmann.htm.3 May 2012.

3 ”Hans Poth: From the Kriegsmarine to the Infantrie”. Veteran Voices, Stenger Historica. www.stengerhistorica.com/ History/WarArchive/VeteranVoices/Poth.htm. 3 maj 2012.

4 von Manteuffel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen-Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). B-151, p. 147.

5 Judge, Colonel D. J. ”Cavalry In the Gap: The 14th Cavalry Group (Mechanized) and the Battle Of the Bulge”. The 14th Cavalry Association. www.14cav.org/g1-bulge.html. 30 July 2010.

6 Gaul, The Battle of the Bulge in Luxembourg: The Southern Flank December 1944-January 1945. Volume I: The Germans, p. 240.

7 ’’Germany’s Last Greater Offensive in the West”. Lieutenant Hans Joachim Neutmann. Edited by Dieter Stenger, January 2008. Veteran Voices. Stenger Historica. www.stengerhistorica.comHistoryWarArchiveVeteranVoices/Neutmann.htm. 3 May 2012.

8 Schäfer, Reinicke, Hermann, and Kittel, Die Mondschein-Division: Die 62. Infanteriedivision 1938-1944, die 62. Volksgrenadierdivision 1944-1945, p. 269.

9 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 120.

10 Schäfer, Reinicke, Hermann, and Kittel, p. 278.

11 von Manteuffel, B-151s. 147.

12 von Waldenburg, Commitment of the 116th Panzer-Division in the Ardennes (First part from 16 -26 Dec 1944). A-873, p. 2.

13 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 20.

14 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 120.

15 Ibid., p. 147.

16 Ibid., p. 147.

17 Ibid., p. 119.

18 Gutmann, Ardennes Follow-Up: 2d Panzer Division (16-20 Dec 44 & 13-17 Jan 45). P-109e, p. 1.

19 Gary Schreckengost. ”Battle of the Bulge: U.S. Army 28th Infantry Division’s 110th Regimental Combat Team Upset the German Timetable”. World War II, januari 2001; von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 26.

20 von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945. A-939, p. 5.

21 Horst Helmus, Personal Diary.

22 Sylvan and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 213.

23 Ibid.

24 MacDonald, A Time for Trumpets, p. 120.

25 Schäfer, Reinicke, Hermann, and Kittel, p. 279.

26 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 166.

27 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 120.

28 National Archives and Records Administration: Company “B” 820th Tank Destroyer Battalion, APO #339 U.S. Army, Battle Report 11 December to 31 December 1944 Inclusive.

29 Weiss, 560. Volks-Grenadier-Division: Angriffschlacht in den Ardennen, p. 17.

30 Ibid.

31 Cole, p. 196.

32 National Archives and Records Administration: Co. E, 112th Infantry. To: S-1, 112th Infantry. Company History for December, 1944. APO # 28, U.S. Army.

33 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 6.

34 National Archives and Records Administration: Company “B” 820th Tank Destroyer Battalion, APO #339 U.S. Army, Battle Report 11 December to 31 December 1944 Inclusive.

35 Kriegstagebuch II./Pz.Rgt. 16; Guderian, Das letzte Kriegsjahr im Westen Die Geschichte der 116. Panzer-Division -Windhund-Division - 1944-1945, p. 349.

36 National Archives and Records Administration: Company “B” 820th Tank Destroyer Battalion, APO #339 U.S. Army, Battle Report 11 December to 31 December 1944 Inclusive.

37 Kriegstagebuch II./Pz.Rgt. 16; Guderian, Das letzte Kriegsjahr im Westen Die Geschichte der 116. Panzer-Division - Windhund-Division - 1944-1945, p. 349.

38 Cole, p. 203; MacDonald, pp. 133-134.

39 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 7.

40 Guderian, p. 350.

41 MacDonald, p. 110.

42 Källa: Richard C. Anderson Jr., historian and analyst working for the U.S. Government.

43 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

44 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 145.

45 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 27.

46 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 707th Tank Battalion. October thru December 44. AAR # 253 U.

47 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 27.

48 Cooper, Death Traps: The Survival of an American Armored Division in World War II, p. 105.

49 Gary Schreckengost. ”Battle of the Bulge: U.S. Army 28th Infantry Division’s 110th Regimental Combat Team Upset the German Timetable”. World War II, januari 2001.

50 Strauss, Die Geschichte der 2. (Wiener) Panzer-Division, p. 181.

51 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 -Ardennes and Nordwind -Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4A, ss. 8-9.

52 von Manteuffel, B-151, p. 147.

53 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 475.

54 Cole, p. 182.

55 Horst Helmus, Personal Diary.

56 Cole, s. 182.

57 Kokott, 26th Volks Grenadier Division in the Ardennes Offensive. Battle of Bastogne Part I, B-040, p. 33.

58 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 707th Tank Battalion. October thru December 44. AAR # 253 U.

59 Kokott, B-040, p. 26.

60 Horst Helmus, Personal Diary.

61 Guderian, p. 592.

62 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 8.

63 Kriegstagebuch LVIII: Panzerkorps, 17.12. 1944. Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv, RH 24/58; Guderian, p. 351.

64 History of 811th Tank Destroyer Battalion. www. tankdestroyer.net/images/stories/ArticlePDFs/811th-Tank-Destroyer-Battalion-History_Part_2.pdf.

65 Zaloga, Battle of the Ardennes (2): Bastogne, p. 29.

66 MacDonald, p. 265.

67 Guderian, p. 351.

68 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 8.

69 Weiss, 560. Volks-Grenadier-Division: Angriffschlacht in den Ardennen, p. 18.

70 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 8.

71 Guderian, p. 587.

72 National Archives and Records Administration: Headquarters, 28th Infantry Division, APO 28, U. p. Army, Office of the A C of S, G-1, 4 January 1945. After action report, Unit Report No. 6. From: 010001 Dec 1944 To: 312400 Dec 1944. Hq., 28th Inf Div., 15 January 1945, In The Field. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, 28th Infantry Division, Operational Reports, Box 8479.

73 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 10.

74 MacDonald, p. 134.

75 Gary Schreckengost, ”Battle of the Bulge: U.S. Army 28th Infantry Division’s 110th Regimental Combat Team Upset the German Timetable”. World War II Magazine, January 2001.

76 MacDonald, ss. 134.

77 Mitcham, Panzers in Winter, p. 124.

78 Strauss, p. 181.

79 Cole, p. 190.

80 Gutmann, Ardennes Follow-Up: 2d Panzer Division (16-20 Dec 44 & 13-17 Jan 45). P-109e, p. 3.

81 MacDonald, p. 276.

82 Colonel H.E. Fuller, Report of Operations of the 110th Infantry Combat Team 16-18 December 1944.

83 Ibid.

84 Ibid.

85 von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945, p. 7.

86 Fuller, Report of Operations of the 110th Infantry Combat Team 16-18 December 1944.

87 MacDonald, p. 296.

88 Ibid.

89 Cole, p. 206.

90 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 707th Tank Battalion. October thru December 44. AAR # 253 U.

91 MacDonald, p. 297.

92 Ibid., p. 275.

93 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 64.

94 Weaver, Guard Wars: The 28th Infantry Division in World War II, p. 227.

95 Ibid.

96 Summers, Armor at Bastogne, p. 21.

97 Kokott, B-040, p. 39.

98 Toland, Battle: The Story of the Bulge, p. 170.

99 Stanley Frank. ”The Glorious Collapse of the 106th”. The Saturday Evening Post, 9 november 1946. http://www.indianamilitary.org/106ID/Articles/SatEvenPost/SatEvenPost.htm. 30 July 2010.

100 Kelly and Goldstein, The Fightin’ 589th, p. 94.

101 Prien and Rodeike, Jagdgeschwader 1 und 11, Teil 3 - 1944-45, p. 1352.

102 Rust, The 9th Air Force in World War II, p. 132.

103 Luftwaffe Loss list. Matti Salonen.

104 Luftwaffe Loss list. Matti Salonen; MACR 9th US Air Force, 17 December 1944; Shores and Thomas, 2nd Tactical Air Force, Volume Two, p. 359.

105 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

106 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

107 Moll, Bericht über den Einsatz der 18. V.G.D. in der Ardennen-Offensive (16.12.1944 bis 25.1.1945). B-734, p. 19.

108 Cole, p. 275.

109 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 58.

110 Ibid., p. 170.

111 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/633. CX/MSS/T 401/16. HP 6448 West.

112 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

113 Ibid.

114 Ibid.

115 MacDonald, p. 333.

116 Mitcham, Panzers in Winter, p. 115.

117 Ardennen Poteau ’44 Museum, 18th December 1944: What really happened at the ambush on the road Poteau - Recht, p. 10.

118 Reynolds, Men of Steel, p. 75.

119 Engineer Memoirs, EP 870-1-25: ’’General William M. Hoge”. US Army Corps of Engineers. 31 Jan 93, p. 129. http://publications.usace.army.mil/publications/eng-pamphlets/EP_870-1-25/toc.htm. 11 July 2012.

120 Sullivan, Air Support for Patton’s Third Army, p. 126.

121 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-30 November, 1944. Headquarters 7th Armored Division. APO 257, U. p. Army.

122 Cole, p. 277.

123 Moll, Bericht über den Einsatz der 18. V.G.D. in der Ardennen-Offensive (16.12.1944 bis 25.1.1945). B-734, p. 31.

124 Lucht, The LXVI AK in the Schnee-Eifel, B-333, p. 12.

125 Tieke, Im Feuersturm letzter Kriegsjahre: II. SS-Panzerkorps mit 9. und 10. SS-Division ”Hohenstaufen” und ”Fundsberg”, p. 420.

126 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 -Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4A, ss. 120-121.

127 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/634. CX/MSS/T 403/82 HP 9880 West.

128 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

129 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/634. CX/MSS/T 403/23 West.

130 Remer, The Fuehrer-Begleit-Brigade (The Brigade under the command of Remer) in the Ardennes Offensive (16 Dec 44 to 26 Jan 45), B-592, p. 8.

131 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/634. CX/MSS/T 403/23 West.

132 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 67.

133 Cole, p. 294.

134 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 52nd Armd Inf Bn. 9th Armored Division 20 Oct 44 thru 8 May 45. AAR 425-U.

135 Ibid.

136 Ibid.

137 Clark Marsh, ”The Life most never knew”. http://searcyyesteryear.blogspot.se/2010/08/clark-marsh-life-most-never-knew.html. 16 June 2012.

138 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 52nd Armd Inf Bn. 9th Armored Division 20 Oct 44 thru 8 May 45. AAR 425-U.

139 Cole, p. 296; MacDonald, p. 286.

140 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 52nd Armd Inf Bn. 9th Armored Division 20 Oct 44 thru 8 May 45. AAR 425-U.

141 Gutmann, Ardennes Follow-Up: 2d Panzer Division (16-20 Dec 44 & 13-17 Jan 45), P-109e, p. 9.

142 MacDonald, p. 287.

143 Gutmann, p. 3.

144 Ibid.

145 Ibid.

146 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 52nd Armd Inf Bn. 9th Armored Division 20 Oct 44 thru 8 May 45. AAR 425-U.

147 Ibid.

148 Ibid.

149 Ibid.

150 Marshall, Men Against Fire: The Problem of Battle Command, p. 16.

151 National Archives and Records Administration: Notes on Bastogne Operation. Headquarters Third United States Army, January 15, 1945. APO 403, p. 2.

152 Ibid.

153 Cole, p. 485.

154 MacDonald, p. 186.

155 Bradley, A Soldier’s Story, p. 465.

156 Ibid.

157 Toland, Battle: The Story of the Bulge, p. 170.

158 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 179.

159 Ridgway and Martin, Soldier: the memoirs of Matthew B. Ridgway, p. 114.

160 Crosswell, Beetle: The Life of General Walter Bedell Smith, p. 810.

161 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview: Lt Col Charles W Major, CO 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, Capt Herbert L. Little, S-3, 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, 25 March 1945.

162 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 707th Tank Bn. Nov-Dec 1944.

163 Bayerlein, Panzer Lehr Division (1 December 1944 - 26 January 1945). Foreign Military Study A-941, p. 67.

164 Kokott, B-040, p. 42.

165 Bayerlein, A-941, p. 67.

166 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 67; acording to Bayerlein this was not until 2000 hrs. (Bayerlein, A-941, p. 67).

167 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 67.

168 Bayerlein, A-941, p. 68.

169 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 67.

170 Summers, Armor at Bastogne, p. 16.

171 Price, Troy Middleton: A Biography, p. 237.

172 Summers, Armor at Bastogne, p. 22.

173 Ibid., p. 50.

174 Bayerlein, A-941, p. 67.

175 Bayerlein, Commitment of Pz Lehr in the first Days of Ardennes Offensive (16 Dec 44 -21 Dec 44). Foreign Military Study A-942, p. 5.

176 Bayerlein, Commitment of Pz Lehr in the first Days of Ardennes Offensive (16 Dec 44 -21 Dec 44). Foreign Military Study A-942, p. 5.

177 Strauss, Die Geschichte der 2. (Wiener) Panzer-Division, p. 182.

178 Ibid.

179 Kokott, B-040, p. 58.

180 McManus, Alamo in the Ardennes, p. 190.

181 Kokott, B-040, p. 58.

182 Ibid.

183 Cole, p. 302.

184 McManus, p. 192.

185 Cole, p. 303.

186 Kokott, B-040, p. 63.

187 Quarrie, The Ardennes Offensive: V Panzerarmee: Central Sector, p. 41; Zaloga, Battle of the Ardennes (2): Bastogne, p. 44.

188 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 69.

189 Strauss, p. 182; von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945, p. 9; Bayerlein, A-941, p. 87.

190 Cole, p. 309.

191 History of 811th Tank Destroyer Battalion. http://www.tankdestroyer.net/images/stories ArticlePDFs/811th-Tank-Destroyer-Battalion-History_Part_2.pdf.

192 Sylvan and Smith, p. 221.

193 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/635. CX/MSS/T 405/37 West.

194 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 144.

195 Crosswell, Beetle: The Life of General Walter Bedell Smith, p. 840.

196 Nobécourt, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 206.

197 MacDonald, p. 340.

198 Ibid., p. 339.

199 Moll, B-734, p. 20.

200 Mitcham, Panzers in Winter, p. 110.

201 Prien and Rodeike, Jagdgeschwader 1 und 11, p. 1353.

202 Delaforce, The Battle of the Bulge, p. 99.

203 MacDonald, p. 344.

204 Bowen John D. (red.) ”A German Diary of Lt Behmen, OC 2 Troop, 1818 Artillery Regt, 18 VG Div”. WW II Musings. Volume 3, Issue 3, June 1995.

205 The Information Section, Analysis Branch, Hq Army Ground Forces, Washington 25 DC, 1 Mar 1947, as found in the records of the National Archives and Records Administration, RG 407, Archives II.

206 Cole, p. 166.

207 Ibid., p. 170.

208 OB West Ia Nr. 12207/44 g.Kdos vom 22. 12 1944.

209 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

210 Ibid.

211 Ibid.

212 Weiss, 560. Volks-Grenadier-Division: Angriffschlacht in den Ardennen, p. 29.

213 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 78.

214 MacDonald, p. 311.

215 Remer, B-592, p. 9.

216 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

217 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/634. CX/MSS/T 404/49 HP 9983 West.

218 Remer, B-592, p. 9.

219 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 -Ardennes and Nordwind -Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4A, ss. 110-111.

220 Wisliceny, Ardennen-Offensive vom 16.12.1944 -20.1.1945: SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ”Deutschland” Foreign Military Study # 20, p. 13.

221 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/634. CX/MSS/T 404/49 HP 9983 West.

222 Schäfer et al, p. 281.

223 Cole, p. 404.

224 ”Hans Poth: From the Kriegsmarine to the Infantrie”. Veteran Voices. Stenger Historica. www.stengerhistorica.com/History/WarArchive/VeteranVoices/Poth.htm. 3 May 2012.

225 Toland, p. 179.

226 Ibid.

227 MacDonald, p. 473.

228 Toland, p. 179.

229 Ibid., p. 180.

230 Schrijvers, p. 170.

231 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

232 Tieke, p. 424.

233 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

234 MacDonald, p. 478.

235 Ibid.

236 Remer, Fuehrer Begleit Brigade In the Ardennes. European Theater Historical Interrogations ETHINT-80, p. 6.

237 Remer, The Fuehrer Escort Brigade in the Ardennes Offensive (Part II). Foreign Military Study B-838, p. 18.

238 Remer, B-592, p. 13.

239 Cole, p. 412.

240 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 44.

241 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

242 Cole, p. 412.

243 MacDonald, p. 480.

244 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

245 Remer, B-592, p. 14.

246 Cole, p. 409.

247 Remer, B-592, p. 14.

248 Schäfer et al, p. 284.

249 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report. 17th Tank Battalion. Box 15714 (7th Armored Division 607-TK-(17)-0.1 to 607-TK-(17)-0.7) of Record Group 407 (Adjutant General’s Office).

250 Lucht, The LXVI AK in the Schnee-Eifel, B-333, p. 16.

251 Schäfer et al, p. 284.

252 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T 407/6 West.

253 The Bulge Bugle, Volume XIII, No. 1, February 1994. www.veteransofthebattleofthebulge.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/1994-Feb.pdf. 15 July 2012.

254 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

255 Ibid.

256 Cole, p. 422.

257 Ibid.

258 Cole, p. 422; Zaloga, Battle of the Ardennes (1): Sankt Vith and the Northern Shoulder, p. 91; Miller, Nothing less than full victory: Americans at war in Europe, 1944-1945, s 183; Cross, The Battle of the Bulge, p. 127.

259 Elstob, Hitler’s Last Offensive, p. 299.

260 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3. 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945, p. 373.

261 Ridgway and Martin, Soldier: the memoirs of Matthew B. Ridgway, p. 120.

262 Ibid.

263 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 158.

264 Cole, p. 408.

265 National Archives and Records Administration: Headquarters, 28th Infantry Division, APO 28, U. p. Army, Office of the A C of S, G-1, 4 January 1945. After action report, Unit Report No. 6. From: 010001 Dec 1944 To: 312400 Dec 1944. Hq., 28th Inf Div., 15 January 1945, In The Field. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, 28th Infantry Division, Operational Reports, Box 8479.

266 Guderian, p. 355.

267 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv, RH 24-58; Guderian, p. 354.

268 McManus, Alamo in the Ardennes, ss. 161-162.

269 Cole, p. 309.

270 Guderian, p. 357.

271 Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv, RH 27/116: IIa-Akten 116. Pz.Div.; Guderian, p. 358.

272 Mitcham, Panzers in Winter, p. 127.

273 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 11.

274 Schrijvers, p. 129.

275 Cole, p. 309.

276 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report 52nd Armd Inf Bn. 9th Armored Division 20 Oct 44 thru 8 May 45. AAR 425-U.

277 Ibid.

278 Schrijvers, p. 135.

279 Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv, RH 24/58: Kriegstagebuch LVIII. Panzerkorps; Guderian, p. 360; von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 11.

280 National Archives and Records Administration: 508th Parachute Infantry Regiment: Combat Interview with Major J.W. Medusky, S-3, 508th Parachute Regiment, 15 February 1945.

281 National Archives and Records Administration: Journal of the 7th Armored Division’s Division Trains. Box 15723 (7th Armored Division 607-TR-0.7), Record Group 407 (Adjutant General’s Office).

282 Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv, RH 24/58: Kriegstagebuch LVIII. Panzerkorps; Guderian, p. 358.

283 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/634. CX/MSS/T 403/23 West.

284 Ibid..

285 Koskimaki, The Battered Bastards of Bastogne, p. 116.

286 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 14.

287 National Archives, Kew: War Diary 3 Royal Tank Regiment, 22 December 1944.

288 Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 155.

289 Cooper, Death Traps: The Survival of an American Armored Division in World War II, p. 105.

290 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 13.

291 Ibid., p. 14.

292 Cole, p. 358.

293 National Archives and Records Administration: Journal of the 7th Armored Divisions Division Trains. Box 15723 (7th Armored Division 607-TR-0.7), Record Group 407 (Adjutant General’s Office).

294 National Archives and Records Administration: After action report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

295 Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv, RH 24/58, Kriegstagebuch LVIII. Panzerkorps; Guderian, p. 365.

296 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 18.

297 Dressler et al, Armor Under Adverse Conditions: 2nd and 3rd Armored Divisions in the Ardennes Campaign 16 December 1944 to 16 January 1945, p. 24.

298 Tagesmeldung 5. Panzer-Armee vom 22.12. 1944; Quarrie, The Ardennes Offensive: V Panzerarmee: Central Sector, p. 69.

299 Strauss, p. 182.

300 Price, Troy H. Middleton: A Biography, p. 231.

301 Koskimaki, p. 82.

302 Ibid.

303 Strauss, p. 182.

304 MacDonald, p. 491.

305 von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945, p. 5.

306 MacDonald, p. 500; Cross, The Battle of the Bulge, p. 145.

307 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 189.

308 Price, Troy H. Middleton: A Biography, p. 248.

309 Kokott, B-040, p. 71.

310 Cole, p. 458.

311 OB. West Ia Nr. 12126/44 g.Kdos. vom 20.12 1944.

312 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 189.

313 MacDonald, p. 501.

314 Koskimaki, p. 181.

315 Toland, p. 166.

316 Strauss, p. 10.

317 Kokott, B-040, p. 28.

318 Ibid., p. 51.

319 von Manteuffel, Fifth Pz Army (11 Sep 44 -Jan 45). ETHINT-46, p. 9.

320 Kokott, B-040, p. 71.

321 Weaver, Guard Wars: The 28th Infantry Division in World War II, p. 228.

322 Kokott, B-040, p. 99.

323 Bayerlein, A-942, p. 8; Cole, p. 325.

324 Kokott, B-040, p. 76.

325 Nobécourt, p. 232.

326 von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945. A-939, p. 12.

327 Semmler, SS-Flak: Memoirs of SS-Sturmmann Helmut Semmler, SS-Flak-Abteilung 9, 9 SS-Panzer-Division Hohenstaufen, Ardennes, 1944-45, p. 7.

328 Bowen John D. (red.) ”A German Diary of Lt Behmen, OC 2 Troop, 1818 Artillery Regt, 18 VG Div”. WW II Musings, Volume 3, Issue 3, June 1995.

329 von Luettwitz, A-939, p. 11.

330 Weiz, 2. Pz.Div. vom 21.12-26.12.44 in der Ardenneroffensive (Vorstoss auf Dinant). B-456, p. 1.

331 Strauss, p. 183.

332 Ibid.

333 Blunt, Foot Soldier, p. 107.

334 Weiz, B-456, p. 2.

335 G-3 Supplement Official Record of Combat by Major Murray H. Fowler, Information and Education Officer of the 3rd Armored Division, i boken Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitaliserad till Internet av Staff, 3rd Armored Division History Website. http://www.3ad.com/. 21 juli 2010.

336 Elstob, p. 282.

337 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/634. CX/MSS/T 720/21. HP 9982 West; Bennett, Ultra in the West, p. 212.

Notes to Chapter 5

1 Gaul, The Battle of the Bulge in Luxembourg: The Southern Flank December 1944-January 1945. Volume I: The Germans, p. 190.

2 von Gersdorff, Evaluation and Equipment of the Units Attached to Seventh Army during the Ardennes Offensive. A-932, p. 1.

3 Hatfield, Rudder: From Leader to Legend, p. 218.

4 Ibid., pp. 218 and 225.

5 Ibid., pp. 218 and 225.

6 Heilmann, Ardennen-Offensive. 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division. B-023, p. 3.

7 Ibid.

8 Ibid., p. 22.

9 Gaul, p. 201.

10 MacDonald, A Time for Trumpets, p. 149.

11 Gaul, p. 210.

12 von Gersdorff, A-932, p. 2.

13 National Archives and Records Administration: 109th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division Unit Report No. 6, From: 0001 1 December 1944 To: 2400 31 December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the US Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, 109th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division, Unit Reports, October-December 1944, Box 8593.

14 von Gersdorff, A-932, p. 2.

15 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 60th Armd Inf. Battalion 9th Armored Division Oct 44 thru March 45. AAR # 361-U.

16 von Gersdorff, A-932. A-930, p. 3.

17 Sensfuss, 212th Volksgrenadier Division (Ardennes). A-930, p. 3.

18 Ibid., p. 4.

19 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 70th Tank Bn. Nov-Dec 1944.

20 Sensfuss, A-930, p. 6.

21 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 516.

22 von Gersdorff, A-932, p. 2.

23 National Archives and Records Administration: 109th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division Unit Report No. 6, From: 0001 1 December 1944 To: 2400 31 December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the US Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, 109th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division, Unit Reports, October-December 1944, Box 8593.

24 Gaul, The Battle of the Bulge in Luxembourg: The Southern Flank December 1944-January 1945. Volume II: The Americans, p. 88.

25 MacDonald, A Time for Trumpets, p. 358.

26 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 136.

27 Sensfuss, A-930, p. 6.

28 von Gersdorff, A-932, p. 1.

29 Hatfield, p. 229.

30 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 225.

31 MacDonald, p. 303.

32 John C. McManus,”Battle of the Bulge: 687th Field Artillery Battalion’s Stand at the Crossroads Cafe”. World War II, March 2007.

33 Ibid.

34 Ibid.

35 Heilmann, B-023, p. 29.

36 The 28th Infantry Division Association. 28th Infantry (Keystone) Division (Mechanized), p. 124.

37 Benedict B. Kimmelman, ”The Example of Private Slovik”. American Heritage Magazine, Vol. 38, Issue 6. September/ October 1987.

38 Glass, The Deserters: A Hidden History of World War II, p. xi.

39 Major Goswin Wahl in Gaul, Vol. I, p. 190.

40 Heilmann, B-023, p. 31.

41 National Archives and Records Administration: Headquarters, 28th Infantry Division, APO 28, U. p. Army, Office of the A C of S, G-1, 4 January 1945. After Action Report, Unit Report No. 6. From: 010001 Dec 1944 To: 312400 Dec 1944. Hq., 28th Inf Div., 15 January 1945, In The Field. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, 28th Infantry Division, Operational Reports, Box 8479.

42 National Archives and Records Administration: 109th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division Unit Report No. 6, From: 0001 1 December 1944 To: 2400 31 December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the USArmy Adjutant General, World War II Records, 109th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division, Unit Reports, October-December 1944, Box 8593.

43 Weaver, Guard Wars: The 28th Infantry Division in World War II, p. 240.

44 Brandenberger, Ardennes Offensive of Seventh Army (16 Dec 1944-25 Jan 1945). A-876, ss. 30 and 65; Heilmann, B-023, p. 33.

45 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/635. CX/MSS/T 406/7. West; Bodenstein, LIII Corps (1 Dec 1944 - 22 Jan 1945), p. 3.

46 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944—February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind— Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4B, p. 88.

Notes to Chapter 6

1 Kokott, 26th Volks Grenadier Division in the Ardennes Offensive. Battle of Bastogne Part I. B-040, p. 86.

2 Mitcham, Panzers in Winter, p. 47.

3 Nobécourt, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 191.

4 Ibid., p. 182.

5 Messenger, Hitler’s Gladiator, p. 2.

6 Eisenhower, The Bitter Woods, p. 128.

7 von der Heydte, An Interview with ObstLt von der Heydte: German Paratroops in the Ardennes. ETHINT-75, p. 2.

8 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4C, p. 14.

9 Ibid., p. 77.

10 Ibid., p. 15.

11 Ibid., p. 79.

12 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 472.

13 Ibid.

14 Dugdale, p. 37.

15 Dietrich, Sixth Panzer Army, Ardennes. ETHINT-015, p. 2.

16 Ibid., p. 26.

17 Kokott, B-040, p. 86.

18 Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 236.

19 Ibid., p. 238.

20 MacDonald, A Time for Trumpets, p. 163.

21 Wijers, The Battle of the Bulge. Volume One: The Losheim Gap, p. 43.

22 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 82.

23 MacDonald, p. 163.

24 Kaschner, 326. Volksgrenadier-Division. Ardennes (16 Dec - 25 Jan 45). B-092, p. 4.

25 MacDonald, p. 166.

26 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report. 801st Tank Dest. Battalion. Jun 44 thru Feb 45, Apr 45. AAR # 581 U.

27 Viebig, 277th Volks Grenadier Division, November 1944-January 1945. B-273, p. 6.

28 Engel, The 12th Infantry Division in the Battle of Aachen (16 November to 3 December 1944). B-764, p. 34.

29 Dietrich, ETHINT-015, p. 3.

30 Kershaw, The Longest Winter: The Battle of the Bulge and the Epic Story of World War II’s Most Decorated Platoon, p. 122.

31 Wijers, p. 68.

32 Priess, Ardennen: Einsatz des I. SS-Panzerkorps waehrend der Ardennen-Offensive Dezember - Januar 1944 - 1945. A-877, p. 28.

33 Cole, p. 85.

34 Priess, A-877, p. 29.

35 Viebig, B-273, p. 9.

36 Fieger, 989th Grenadier Regiment (14 Dec 44 - 17 Dec 44). B-025, p. 6.

37 Viebig, B-273, pp. 11-12.

38 Fieger, B-025, p. 7.

39 MacDonald, p. 179.

40 Ibid., p. 180.

41 Ibid., p. 181.

42 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 14.

43 Cuppens, Was wirklich geschah, p. 34.

44 MacDonald, p. 183.

45 Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV/2, p. 51.

46 Ibid., p. 52.

47 Via Hans Wijers.

48 Peiper, An Interview with Obst Joachim Peiper: 1st SS Pz Regt (11-24 Dec 1944). ETHINT-10, p. 15.

49 Nobécourt, p. 186.

50 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/633. CX/MSS/T 402/22. HP 9755 West.

51 Viebig, B-273, p. 12.

52 Karl Wortmann, Battle Report. www.oldhickory30th.com/Stoumont44.pdf.

53 Smart, Terror at Honsfeld: The Story of Company ‘B’ 612th Tank Destroyer Battalion, p. 6.

54 Ibid.

55 Agte, Jochen Peiper: Commander Panzerregiment Leibstandarte, p. 480.

56 Smart, p. 7.

57 Ibid., pp. 8-9.

58 Cole, p. 261, med hanvisning till 81st Cong., 1st sess., Report of the Subcommittee on Armed Services, United States Senate, Malmedy Massacre Investigation (dated 13 October 1949). Cf., Records of the War Crimes Branch, USFET, 1946.

59 Tiemann, p. 59.

60 Cole, p. 261, med hänvisning till 81st Cong., 1st sess., Report of the Subcommittee on Armed Services, United States Senate, Malmedy Massacre Investigation (dated 13 October 1949). Cf., Records of the War Crimes Branch, USFET, 1946.

61 MacDonald, p. 209.

62 Schrijvers, p. 35.

63 Tiemann, p. 60.

64 Cross, From the Beaches to the Baltic: The Story of the 7th Armored Division in WWII, pp. 77-78.

65 Toland, Battle: The Story of the Bulge, p. 58.

66 MacDonald, p. 327.

67 Peiper, ETHINT-10, p. 17.

68 Schrijvers, p. 35.

69 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

70 Tiemann, p. 63.

71 Peiper, ETHINT-10, p. 17.

72 National Archives and Records Administration: 14th Tank Battalion Combat History.

73 Toland, pp. 64-65.

74 Tiemann, p. 71.

75 Lloyd Jelleberg, interview by the Author.

76 National Archives and Records Administration: 526th Armored Infantry Battalion, After Action Report, 1-31 December 1944.

77 Priess, Ardennen: Einsatz des I. SS-Panzerkorps waehrend der Ardennen-Offensive Dezember - Januar 1944 - 1945. A-877, p.30.

78 Kraas, Die 12.SS-Panzer-Division “Hitler Jugend” in der Ardennen-Offensive, FMS # 23, p. 4.

79 Ibid., p. 5.

80 Kompanie-Kameradschaft, Die 3. Kompanie, SS-Panzerregiment 12, p. 79.

81 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/633. CX/MSS/T 401/16. HP 6448 West.

82 MacDonald, p. 382.

83 Priess, A-877, p. 31.

84 Cole, p. 396.

85 Bericht des Kameraden Heinz Stork über die Ardennen-Offensive.

86 Kompanie-Kameradschaft, Die 3. Kompanie, SS-Panzerregiment 12, p. 87.

87 National Archives and Records Administration: Unit Journal, 741st Tank Bn, I Dec 44-31 Dec 44. RG407, Box 16703, ARBN-741-0.1.

88 Kompanie-Kameradschaft, Die 3. Kompanie, SS-Panzerregiment 12, p. 87., pp. 87-88.

89 Meyer, The 12th SS, p. 280.

90 Schrijvers, p. 18.

91 Smith, Meacham, and Hiller, Vitamin Charley: A History of CO. C, 741st Tank Battalion in World War II, p. 45.

92 OKW/WFSt/Op (H) West Nr 774427 g.Kdos.Chefs. 18. 12. 1944; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 151.

93 Mitcham, Panzers in Winter, p. 73.

94 Zaloga, Battle of the Ardennes (1): Sankt Vith and the Northern Shoulder, p. 44.

95 Dugdale, p. 83.

96 Meyer, The 12th SS, p. 282.

97 Reynolds, Men of Steel, p. 87.

98 Denkert, Commitment of 3d Panzer Grenadier Division in the Ardennes Offensive. A-978, pp. 1-2.

99 Kompanie-Kameradschaft, Die 3. Kompanie, SS-Panzerregiment 12, p. 94.

100 Nyquist, Bataljon 99, pp. 141-142.

101 Lloyd Jelleberg, interview by the Author.

102 Peiper, ETHINT-10, p. 20.

103 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 182.

104 Collins and King, Voices of the Bulge, p. 40.

105 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 182.

106 Sylvan and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 226.

107 Peiper, An Interview with Obst Joachim Peiper: 1st SS Pz Regt (16-19 Dec 1944. ETHINT-11, p. 8.

108 Ibid., p. 5.

109 Peiper, ETHINT-10, p. 23.

110 Peiper, ETHINT-11, p. 8.

111 Tiemann, Chronicle of the 7. Panzer-Kompanie, 1. SS-Panzer Division ”Leibstandarte”, p. 117.

112 National Archives and Records Administration: 526th Armored Infantry Battalion, After Action Report, 1-31 December 1944.

113 Pergrin and Hammel, First Across the Rhine: The Story of the 291st Engineer Combat Battalion, p. 126.

114 William C. Baldwin, ”Builders & Fighters - U.S. Army Engineers in World War II”. Engineer Pamphlet 870-1-42, 18 Dec 92, p. 455. 140.194.76.129/publications/eng-pamphlets/EP_870-1-42_pfl/c-7-4.pdf. 22 Nov 2012.

115 Peiper, ETHINT-10, p. 20.
 
116 Barnes, Crump, and Sutherland, Thunderbolts of the Hell Hawks: 365th Fighter-Bomber Group in Words, Pictures and Illustrations, p. 109.

117 Haasler, MacDougall, Vosters, and Weber. Duel in the Mist: The Leibstandarte during the Ardennes offensive, Volume 2, p. 110.

118 Dorr and Jones, Hell Hawks! The Untold Story of the American Fliers Who Savaged Hitler’s Wehrmacht, p. 163.

119 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 185.

120 Reynolds, p. 80.

121 Dorr and Jones, p. 164.

122 Ibid., p. 165.

123 Ibid.

124 Rust, The 9th Air Force in World War II, p. 132.

125 Karl Wortmann. Battle Report. www.oldhickory30th.com/Stoumont44.pdf.

126 Peiper, ETHINT-10, p. 20.

127 Turnbull, “I Maintain the Right”: The 307th Airborne Engineer Battalion in WW II, paginering saknas (Kindle-version).

128 Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV/2, p. 88.

129 Agte, p. 486.

130 de Meyer, Haasler, MacDougall, Vosters, and Weber, Duel in the Mist: The Leibstandarte during the Ardennes offensive, Volume 1, p. 31.

131 Cole, p. 340.

132 National Archives and Records Administration: 823rd Tank Destr. Bn. After Battle Report No. VII. From 010001 December 44 To 312400 December 44.

133 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Journal 3rd Bn., 119th Infantry. APO 30, U.S. Army.

134 Cole, p. 338.

135 Peiper, ETHINT-10, p. 21.

136 Mitcham, p. 87.

137 de Meyer, Haasler, MacDougall, Vosters, and Weber, pp. 175ff.

138 Vannoy and Karamales, Against the Panzers, p. 284.

139 National Archives and Records Administration: 634th Tank Destroyer Battalion After Action Report December 1944. AAR 290. Headquarters 745th Tank Battalion A.P.O. 250.

140 Vannoy and Karamales, p. 286.

141 Cole, p. 132.

142 Meyer, p. 300.

143 Bericht des Kameraden Karl Hollander über die Ardennen-Offensive. Via Mirko Bayerl.

144 Kompanie-Kameradschaft, Die 3. Kompanie, SS-Panzerregiment 12, p. 98.

145 Ibid., pp. 98-99.

146 Wijers, Battle of the Bulge, Volume Two, pp. 90-92.

147 Ibid., p. 94.

148 MacDonald, p. 407.

149 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, pp. 473 and 475.

150 Dugdale, p. 83.

151 Kompanie-Kameradschaft, Die 3. Kompanie, SS-Panzerregiment 12, p. 102.

152 Wijers, Battle of the Bulge, Volume Two, p. 279.

153 Lloyd Jelleberg, interview by the Author.

154 Lloyd Jelleberg, interview by the Author.

155 Giles, The Damned Engineers, p. 311.

156 Lloyd Jelleberg, interview by the Author.

157 Giles, The Damned Engineers, p. 304.

158 U.S. Army Center of Military History. Medal of Honor Recipients: World War II. www.history.army.mil/html/moh/wwII-a-f.html. 18 May 2012.

159 Wijers, Battle of the Bulge, Volume Two, p. 293.

160 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T400/20. HP 9926 West.

161 Weidinger, Division Das Reich, Band V, p. 361.

162 Ibid.

163 Weidinger and Schmager, Kameraden bis zum Ende: das SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 4 “DF” 1938 bis 1945, p. 358.

164 Haasler, MacDougall, Vosters, and Weber, p. 11.

165 Ibid., pp. 86-87.

166 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T 400/20. HP 9926 West; Bennett, Ultra in the West, p. 213.

167 Haasler, MacDougall, Vosters, and Weber, p. 102.

168 Schrijvers, p. 55.

169 Haasler, MacDougall, Vosters, and Weber, p. 141.

170 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview Colonel Reuben Tucker, CO 504th Paratroop Regiment, 28 March 1945. GL-458.

171 National Archives and Records Administration: 1st Bn, 504th Parachute Infantry Regt, 82nd A/B Division: Combat Interview Technical Sergeant George W. Corporan.

172 Rivet and Sevenans, La bataille des Ardennes: Les civils dans la guerre, pp. 60-61, quoted in Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 52.

173 Megellas, All the Way to Berlin, p. 223.

174 National Archives and Records Administration: 1st Bn, 504th Parachute Infantry Regt, 82nd A/B Division: Combat Interview Technical Sergeant George W. Corporan.

175 Ibid.

176 National Archives and Records Administration: Headquarters 703rd Tank Destroyer Basttalion. After Action Report, December 20, 1944 - January 1, 1945. APO 230.

177 National Archives and Records Administration: 2d Bn,505 Prcht Inf. Combat Interview Major William Carpenter, CO, Captain Charles E. Sammon (S-3), 27 Mar 45.

178 ”December 21, 1944, Trois-Ponts, Belgium” by Corporal Gordon A. Walberg, A Btry, 80th A.A.A. Bn, 82nd Airborne Division. Salmvalley 1944-1945. salmvalley1944-1945.over-blog.com/10-index.html. 21 July 2012.

179 John M. Nolan, interview by the Author.

180 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/635. CX/MSS/T 406/33. West.

181 Tiemann, Chronicle of the 7. Panzer-Kompanie, 1. SS-Panzer Division ”Leibstandarte”, p. 122.

182 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/635. CX/MSS/T 406/37. West.

183 Schrijvers, p. 60.

184 MacDonald, p. 459.

185 Agte, p. 492.

186 Reynolds, pp. 132-133.

187 Agte, p. 493.

188 Testimony Joachim Peiper on 06/21/1946 and 06/22/1946. NA. U.S. v. Bersin, 153/3/000189-90 (1965); quoted in Westemeyer, Joachim Peiper, p. 164.

189 Peiper, ETHINT-10, p. 23.

190 John M. Nolan, interview by the Author.

191 ”The Battle of Stoumont - La Gleize, December 17th thru 25th 1944” av First Lieutenant Donald J. Strand. www.criba.be/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=346&Itemid=4. 5 June 2012.

192 Dugdale, p. 37.

193 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble.

Notes to Chapter 7

1 Heilmann, Ardennen-Offensive. 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division. B-023, p. 33.

2 OB. West Ia Nr. 12301/44 g.Kdos. 24.12.1944.

3 Kriegstagebuch OKW West, 23 December 1944.

4 Ibid.

5 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/635. CX/MSS/T 406/68. West.

6 Kokott, 26th Volks Grenadier Division in the Ardennes Offensive. Battle of Bastogne Part I. B-040, p. 97.

7 Blumenson, Patton Papers, 1940-1945, p. 606.

8 Craven, and Cate, Army Air Forces in World War II. Europe: Argument to V-E Day, January 1944 to May 1945, p. 690.

9 Zanssen, 15th Volks Werfer Brigade (16 Dec 1944 - 25 Jan 1945). B-286, pp. 3-4.

10 Sylvan, and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 231.

11 National Archives and Records Administration: III Corps After Action Report December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, III Corps, After Action Reports, December 1944, Box 2735.

12 Luftwaffe Loss list. Matti Salonen.

13 Kokott, B-040, p. 129.

14 Clostermann, The Big Show, pp. 211ff..

15 Sledzik, Memoirs of a World War II Fighter Pilot, p. 23.

16 Ibid.

17 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T 407/70 West.

18 12th AG, Recommendations and Air Requests for 18-19 Dec. 1944; Craven, and Cate, Army Air Forces in World War II. Europe: Argument to V-E Day, January 1944 to May 1945, p. 690.

19 Craven and Cate, p. 690.

20 Clyde Harkins, ”23 December 1944 Battle of the Bulge”. B26. com http://www.b26.com/index.html. 15 Nov 2010.

21 War Department. War Department Field Manual FM 100-20: Command and Employment of Air Power. 21 July 1943. Washington: United States Government Printing Office, 1944.

22 Clyde Harkins.

23 National Archives and Records Administration: Headquarters Ninth Air Force, General Orders Number 140. APO 696, US Army, 23 July 1945.

24 Freeman, Mighty Eighth War Diary, p. 398.

25 Craven and Cate, p. 690.

26 Prien, and Rodeike, Jagdgeschwader 1 und 11, p. 1367.

27 Lloyd Jelleberg i intervju med forfattaren.

28 MacDonald, A Time for Trumpets, p. 465.

29 Prien, and Rodeike, Jagdgeschwader 1 und 11, p. 1360.

30 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/637. CX/MSS/T 409/51. BT 373 West; Luftwaffe loss list. Matti Salonen.

31 Luftwaffe loss list. Matti Salonen.

32 Prien, Jagdgeschwader 77, p. 2225.

33 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/637. CX/MSS/T 409/35. BT 360 West.

34 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports, Third US Army, 1 August 1944 - 9 May 1945: December Operations. N-11480-A-4, p. 180.

35 von Rundstedt, The Ardennes Offensive. ETHINT-47, p. 8.

36 Prien, and Rodeike, p. 1380.

37 Ibid., p. 1377.

38 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/638. CX/MSS/T 411/2. BT 467 West.

39 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/639. CX/MSS/T 437/27. BT 454 West.

40 Prien, and Rodeike, p. 1386.

41 Prien, and Stemmer, Messerschmitt Bf 109 im Einsatz bei derIII. /Jagdgeschwader 3, p. 395.

42 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

43 Tieke, Im Feuersturm letzter Kriegsjahre: II. SS-Panzerkorps mit 9. und 10. SS-Division ”Hohenstaufen” und ”Fundsberg”, p. 426.

44 Remer, The Fuehrer-Begleit-Brigade (The Brigade under the command of Remer) in the Ardennes Offensive (16 Dec 44 to 26 Jan 45). B-592, p. 14.

45 Ibid., p. 15.

46 National Archives and Records Administration: Headquarters 87th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron Mechanized. After Action Report, Month of December, 1944.

47 Remer, B-592, p. 15.

48 National Archives and Records Administration: Headquarters 87th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron Mechanized. After Action Report, Month of December, 1944.

49 Remer, B-592, p. 15.

50 Ibid., p. 16.

51 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

52 National Archives and Records Administration: 508th Parachute Infantry Regiment: Combat Interview with Major J.W. Medusky, S-3, 508th Parachute Regiment, 15 February 1945.

53 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview with Lt Col Luis G. Mendez, Jr, CO, 3rd Bn, 508th Parachute Infantry, 1st Lt John T. Little, S-2,3rd Bn, 508th Parachute Infantry, 28 March 1945.

54 Remer, B-592, p. 16.

55 Weaver, Guard Wars: The 28th Infantry Division in World War II, p. 236.

56 Ibid.

57 National Archives and Records Administration: History of Headquarters Company, 112th Infantry, December 1944 by James T. Nesbitt, File 328-INF (112).

58 Ridgway, and Martin, Soldier: the memoirs of Matthew B.Ridgway, p. 115.

59 Cooper, Death Traps: The Survival of an American Armored Division in World War II, p. 105.

60 National Archives and Records Administration: Lt Col Charles W Major, CO 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, Capt Herbert L. Little, S-3, 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, 25 March 1945.

61 National Archives and Records Administration: 325th Glider Infantry Regiment: Combat Interview Colonel George Billingslea, C.O., 24 March 1945.

62 National Archives and Records Administration: Morning Reports of ”D” Troop, 87th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

63 Weidinger, Einsatz in der Ardennen-Offensive vom 16.12.1944 bis 17.2.1945 der SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiments 4. P-109b, p. 11.

64 National Archives and Records Administration: 325th Glider Infantry Regiment: Combat Interview Colonel George Billingslea, C.O., 24 March 1945.

65 National Archives and Records Administration: Morning Reports of ”D” Troop, 87th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

66 Weidinger, Division Das Reich, p. 367.

67 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview Lt Col Charles W Major, CO 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, Capt Herbert L. Little, S-3, 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, 25 March 1945.

68 National Archives and Records Administration: 325th Glider Infantry Regiment: Combat Interview Colonel George Billingslea, C.O., 24 March 1945.

69 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 228.

70 MacDonald, A Time for Trumpets, p. 548.

71 Weidinger, Division Das Reich, p. 370.

72 Hechler, Holding the Line: The 51st Engineer Combat Battalion and the Battle of the Bulge December 1944-January 1945, p. 41.

73 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 379.

74 von Waldenburg, Commitment of the 116th Panzer-Divisionin the Ardennes. Chapter II Dec 20 - Dec 26,1944. A-873, p. 20.

75 Ibid., p. 21.

76 Cole, p. 384.

77 Ibid., p. 386.

78 MacDonald, p. 554.

79 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T407/71. BT 208 West.

80 Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 186.

81 Tieke, p. 427.

82 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports of the 40th Tank Battalion (7th Armored Division) August 1944 - June 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

83 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview, Lt Col Charles W Major, CO 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, Capt Herbert L. Little, S-3, 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, 25 March 1945.

84 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/637. CX/MSS/T405/28. BT 335 West.

85 Weidinger, Einsatz in der Ardennen-Offensive vom 16.12.1944 bis 17.2.1945 der SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiments 4. P-109b, p. 12.

86 Thoholte, Army Group В Artillery, Ardennes. B-311, p. 9.

87 Dressier et al, Armor Under Adverse Conditions: 2nd and 3rd Armored Divisions in the Ardennes Campaign 16 December 1944 to 16 January 1945, p. 13.

88 Fey, Armor Battles of the Waffen-SS 1943-45, p. 199.

89 Ibid., pp. 200-201.

90 Ibid., p. 202.

91 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 263.

92 Delaforce, The Battle of the Bulge, p. 173.

93 Lt Col Olin F. Brewster, ”What Really Happened, Belle-Haie, Belgium, December 1944”. Battle of the Bulge Memories. http://www.battleofthebulgememories.be/en/stories/us-army/563-what-really-happened-belle-haie-belgium.html. 12July 2012.

94 Weidinger, Division Das Reich, p. 370.

95 MacDonald, p. 553.

96 Weidinger, Division Das Reich, p. 375.

97 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports of the 40th Tank Battalion (7th Armored Division) August 1944 - June 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

98 Delaforce, p. 175.

99 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports of the 40th Tank Battalion (7th Armored Division) August 1944 - June 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

100 Fey, p. 204.

101 Via Stephen Thompson.

102 U.S. Army Armored School. Narrative of the Action of Combat Command ”B”, 9th Armored Division, during the period, 16 through 23 December 1944.

103 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview with CO 40th Tk Bn. Lt. Col. John C. Brown, Manhay, 11 January 45. Adjutant General’s Records (Record Group 407), Folder 287, Box 24097.

104 Weidinger, Division Das Reich, p. 380.

105 Toland, Battle: The Story of the Bidge, p. 251.

106 Ibid.

107 Wisliceny, Ardennen-Offensive vom 16.12.1944 - 20.1.1945: SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ”Deutschland“. FMS #20, p. 8.

108 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports of the 40th Tank Battalion (7th Armored Division)August 1944 - June 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

109 Ibid.

110 Wisliceny, FMS # 20, p. 8.

111 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 257.





112 ”What Really Happened, Belle-Flaie, Belgium, December1944”, av Lt Col Olin F. Brewster. Battle of the Bulge Memories, www.battleofthebulgememories.be/en/stories/us-army/563-what-really-happened-belle-haie-belgium.html. 12July 2012.

113 National Archives and Records Administration: 509 Para Inf. GL-192.

114 Lt Col Olin F. Brewster, ”What Really Flappened, Belle-Haie, Belgium, December 1944”. Battle of the Bulge Memories.www.battleofthebulgememories.be/en/stories/us-army/563-what-really-happened-belle-haie-belgium.html. 12 July 2012.

115 Ibid.

116 Cole, p. 583.

117 LoFaro, The Sword of St. Michael: The 82nd Airborne Division in World War II, p. 471.

118 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 287.

119 Herington, Australia in the War of 1939-1945, Series Three - Air, Volume IV: Air Power Over Europe, 1944-1945, p. 388.

120 Bowen John D. (red.) ”A German Diary of Lt Behmen, OC 2 Troop, 1818 Artillery Regt, 18 VG Div”. WW II Musings. Volume 3, Issue 3, June 1995. www.battleolfhebulge.org/musings/Mus0695.pdf.

121 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 284.

122 Ibid., p. 290.

123 Kraemer, Sixth Panzer Army in the Ardennes. ETHINT-022, p. 1.

124 Ibid.

125 Triepel, LVIII Panzer Corps. Ardennes Offensive, 1 November 1944 to 1 February 1945. B-506, p. 5.

126 von Waldenburg, A-873, p. 23.

127 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 245.

128 Kriegstagebuch II./Pz.Rgt. 16; Guderian, Das letzte Kriegsjahrim Westen Die Geschichte der 116. Panzer-Division - Windhund-Division - 1944-1945, p. 378.

129 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 771st Tank Battalion Nov thru Dec 44, Jan 45. AAR# 594U.

130 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4B, p. 100.

131 von Manteulfel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen-Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). Foreign Military Study B-151A, p. 156.

132 Remer, Fuehrer Begleit Brigade In the Ardennes. ETHINT-80, p. 9.

133 Railsplitters: The Story of the 84th Infantry Division.

134 Guderian, p. 380.

135 von Waldenburg, Commitment of the 116th Panzer-Division in the Ardennes. Part III 27 Dec 44 - 27 Jan 45. A-874, p. 2.

136 Ibid., p. 1.

137 Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv RH 24/58, Kriegstagebuch LVIII. Panzer-Korps, Meldung 116. Pz.Div., Abt. Ia, Nr. 1101/44 g.Kdos. vom 29.12. 1944; Guderian, p. 383.

138 Ibid.

139 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4B, p. 24.

140 von Waldenburg, A-874, p. 6.

141 Ibid., pp. 2-3.

142 Ibid., p. 4.

143 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3, p. 380.

144 Zaloga, Panther Vs. Sherman, p. 73.

145 ”Rest, Refit, & Move Out”, і kapitlet ”Battle of the Bulge December 18,1944 - Late January, 1945” in Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitalized byStaff,3rd Armored Division History Website, www.3ad.com/ 21 July 2010.

146 Stridsvagnsstyrka enligt Richard C. Anderson Jr., historian and analyst working for the U.S. Government; personell styrka enligt Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 464.

147 Bressler, 2d Armored Division in the Ardennes, p. 1.

148 National Archives, Kew: War Diary 3 Royal Tank Regiment, 22 December 1944.

149 Baxter, Field Marshal Bernard Law Montgomery, 1887-1976: A Selected Bibliography, p. 107; Montgomery, The Memoirs of Field-Marshal the Viscount Montgomery of Alamein, K.G, p. 310.

150 National Archives, Kew: War Diary 3 Royal Tank Regiment, 22 December 1944.

151 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 225.

152 Weiz, 2. Pz.Div. vom 21.12-26.12.44 in der Ardenneroffensive (Vorstoss auf Dinant). B-456, p. 2.

153 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 635th T.D. Battalion (Towed) June 44 thru May 45. AAR# 612 U.

154 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T 407/14. BT 171 West.

155 Orfalea, Messengers of the Lost Battalion: The Heroic 551st and the Turning of the Tide at the Battle of the Bulge, p. 200.

156 Ibid., p. 201.

157 Weiz, B-456, p. 2.

158 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T 407/54. BT 199 West; Weiz, Weiz, B-456, p. 2.

159 MacDonald, p. 567.

160 Weiz, B-456, pp. 2-3.

161 OB.West Ia Nr. 11343/44 geheim. 23.12.1944; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 165; National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T 407/16. BT 208 West.

162 National Archives, Kew: War Diary 3 Royal Tank Regiment, 22 December 1944.

163 von Manteuffel, B-151A, pp. 92-93.

164 Jung, p. 166.

165 Project 1944. www.project1944.be/Celles/Page3/Celles3.html.

166 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 86.

167 Cole, p. 441.

168 von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945. A-939, p. 16.

169 KTB OB. West, 23.12. 1944; Jung, p. 167.

170 Jung, p. 168.

171 Weiz, B-456, p. 7.

172 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 262.

173 von Luettwitz, A-939, p. 17.

174 Jung, p. 171.

175 Liddell Hart, På andra sidan kullen, p. 342.

176 Ibid.

177 OB.H.Gru.B Ia Nr. 11637/44 g.Kdos. 25.12. 1944: Jung, p. 172.

178 Jung, p. 172.

179 Bressler, 2d Armored Division in the Ardennes, p. 4. 

180 von Luettwitz, A-939, p. 17.

181 Weiz, B-456, p. 8.

182 Ibid., p. 9.

183 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 294.

184 von Manteufiel, B-151A, p. 87.

185 Dressler et al, Armor Under Adverse Conditions: 2nd and 3rd Armored Divisions in the Ardennes Campaign 16 December 1944 to 16 January 1945, p. 49.

186 Strauss, Die Geschichte der 2. (Wiener) Panzer-Division, p. 185.

187 Delaforce, The Battle of the Bulge, p. 259.

188 KTB OB West 26. 12 1944; Jung, p. 175.

189 Liddell Hart, p. 343.

190 KTB OB. West, 26. 12. 1944; Jung, p. 173.

191 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports, Third US Army, 1 August 1944 - 9 May 1945: December Operations. N-11480-A-4, p. 181.

192 von Luettwitz, A-939, p. 19.

193 von Manteufiel, B-151A, p. 88.

194 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/639. CX/MSS/T 437/27. BT 454 West.

195 von Luettwitz, A-939, p. 20.

196 Dressier et al, p. 46.

197 Elstob, Hitler’s Last Offensive, p. 336.

198 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4A, p. 39.

199 OB. West Ia Nr. 12626/44 g.Kdos. 1.1. 1945; Jung, p. 185.

200 OB. West I1 Nr. 12470/44 g.Kdos. vom 28.12. 1944; Jung, p.

201 Jentz, Germany’s Panther Tank: The Quest for Combat Supremacy, p. 153.

202 Dugdale, Volume I, Part 4A, p. 9.

203 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 473.

Notes to Chapter 8

1 Garand, U.S. Army Medical Units during the German Counteroffensive in the Ardennes (16 December 1944 - 23 January 1945), p. XI-53.

2 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 475.

3 Ibid.

4 Kokott, 26th Volks Grenadier Division in the Ardennes Offensive. Battle of Bastogne Part I, B-040, p. 127.

5 Bayerlein, Commitment of Pz Lehr in the first Days of Ardennes Offensive (16 Dec 44 - 21 Dec 44). Foreign Military Study A-942, p. 7.

6 MacDonald, A Time for Trumpets, p. 501.

7 Veterans of the Battle of Bulge, Battle of the Bulge, p. 23.

8 MacDonald, p. 503.

9 Price, Troy H. Middleton: A Biography, p. 248.

10 John Fague, e-mail till forfattaren, 30 Nov. 2012.

11 Kokott, B-040, p. 128.

12 Ibid., p. 128.

13 Nobécourt, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 236.

14 Kokott, B-040, p. 128.

15 Quarrie, The Ardennes Offensive: V Panzerarmee: Central Sector, p. 42.

16 Wegerski, 514th Fighter Squadron, The Raider Squadron.

17 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 261.

18 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 474.

19 Parker, p. 228.

20 Robert M. Bowen, “Gloomy Christmas”. Centre de Recherches et d’Informations sur la Bataille des Ardennes. http://www.criba.be/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=468:gloomy-christmas&catid=1:battle-of-the-bulge-us-army&Itemid=6.

21 MacDonald, p. 525.

22 Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV/2, p. 153.

23 Kokott, B-040, p. 151.

24 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports, Third US Army, 1 August 1944 - 9 May 1945: December Operations. N-11480-A-4, p. 181.

25 Summers, Armor at Bastogne, p. 79.

26 Kokott, B-040, p. 154.

27 Ibid., p. 159.

28 Ibid., p. 160.

29 Ibid., p. 165.

30 von Manteuffel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen-Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). Foreign Military Study B-151A, p. 97.

31 Eisenhower, Crusade in Europe, p. 350.

32 Cole, p. 485.

33 Eisenhower, p. 350.

34 Delaforce, The Battle of the Bulge, p. 28.

35 MacDonald, p. 515.

36 Ibid.

37 National Archives and Records Administration: Headquarters, 28th Infantry Division, APO 28, U. p. Army, Office of the A C of S, G-1, 4 January 1945. After Action Report, Unit Report No. 6. From: 010001 Dec 1944 To: 312400 Dec 1944. Hq., 28th Inf Div., 15 January 1945. In The Field. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, 28th Infantry Division, Operational Reports, Box 8479.

38 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports, Third US Army, 1 August 1944 - 9 May 1945: December Operations. N-11480-A-4, p. 172.

39 Ibid. 145 och 196.

40 Blumenson, Patton Papers, 1940-1945, p. 604.

41 Ibid.

42 Bodenstein, LIII Corps (1 Dec 1944 - 22 Jan 1945). B-032, 1.

43 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4B, p. 88.

44 MacDonald, p. 519.

45 Eisenhower, p. 352.

46 Heilmann, Ardennen-Offensive. 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division. B-023, p. 32.

47 Ibid. 32-33.

48 Cole, p. 525.

49 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/635. CX/MSS/T 402/56. West.

50 Summers, p. 116.

51 Fox, Patton’s Vanguard: The United States Army Fourth Armored Division., p. 343.

52 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 290.

53 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 707th Tank Bn. Nov-Dec 1944.

54 Gaul, The Battle of the Bulge in Luxembourg: The Southern Flank December 1944-January 1945. Volume I: The Germans, p. 148.

55 National Archives and Records Administration: 109th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division Unit Report No. 6 From: 0001 1 December 1944 To: 2400 31 December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the US Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, 109th Infantry Regiment, 28th Infantry Division, Unit Reports, October-December 1944, Box 8593.

56 Beeson, The Operations of Company D, 104th Infantry (26th Infantry Division) in the Attack from Bettborn to Buschrodt, Luxembourg, 22-24 December 1944, p. 5.

57 Ibid.

58 Elstob, Hitler’s Last Offensive, p. 352.

59 Beeson, p. 5.

60 Cole, p. 523.

61 Ibid., p. 521.

62 Bodenstein, B-032, p. 1.

63 Heilmann, B-023, p. 32.

64 Cole, p. 521.

65 Blumenson, p. 604.

66 Eisenhower, p. 358.

67 Cole, p. 516.

68 Fox, p. 374.

69 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 290.

70 Delaforce, p. 245.

71 National Archives and Records Administration: Notes on Bastogne Operation. Headquarters Third United States Army, January 15, 1945. APO 403, p. 4.

72 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T 408/40. BT 257 West.

73 Kokott, B-040, p. 130.

74 Gaul, The Battle of the Bulge in Luxembourg: The Southern Flank December 1944-January 1945. Volume I: The Germans, p. 59.

75 Ibid., p. 94.

76 Heilmann, B-023, p. 32.

77 National Archives and Records Administration: 37th Tank Battalion After Action Report - December 1944 w/supporting documents.

78 Cole, p. 530.

79 Fox, p. 343.

80 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/636. CX/MSS/T 408/41. BT 258 West.

81 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 51st Armd Inf. Battalion 4th Armored Division 23 Aug thru 9 May 45. AAR “79U. 842-22.

82 Cole, p. 529.

83 Fox, p. 349.

84 Delaforce, p. 239.

85 G-3 Journal, 4th Armored Division, 23 December 1944. Cit. i Summers, p. 124.

86 Schrijvers, p. 290.

87 Kokott, B-040, p. 131.

88 Ibid., p. 132.

89 John J. Di Battista, “With CC B / 4th Armored Division in the Bulge”. www.battleofthebulgememories.be/fr/stories/us-army/157-with-cc-b-4th-armored-division-in-the-bulge.html. 3 Jan. 2012.

90 U. p. Secretary of Defense, Defense Prisoner of War - Missing Personnel Office: Service Personnel Not Recovered Following WW II. www.dtic.mil/dpmo/wwii/reports/arm_m_s.htm. 27 Nov. 2012.

91 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 261.

92 Kniess, LXXXV. Armeekorps, Ardennes, 16 December 1944 to 12 January 1945. B-030, p. 6.

93 Cole, p. 541.

94 Ibid., p. 523.

95 Josef Schröder, MILK: Auch eine Wehnachtsgeschichte. homepage.mac.com/guyries/page9/page18/page38/page38.html. 28 April 2011.

96 National Archives and Records Administration: 37th Tank Battalion After Action Report - December 1944 w/ supporting documents.

97 Cole, p. 529.

98 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 51st Armd Inf. Battalion 4th Armored Division 23 Aug thru 9 May 45. AAR #79U. 842-22.

99 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 262.

100 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 51st Armd Inf. Battalion 4th Armored Division 23 Augthru 9 May 45. AAR #79U. 842-22.

101 Fox, p. 350.

102 Blumenson, p. 605.

103 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports, Third US Army, 1 August 1944 - 9 May 1945: December Operations. N-11480-A-4, p. 180.

104 Heilmann, B-023, p. 33.

105 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 266.

106 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/637. CX/MSS/T 409/35. BT 360 West.

107 Heilmann, B-023, p. 33.

108 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/633. CX/MSS/T 401/92. West.

109 National Archives and Records Administration: 37th Tank Battalion After Action Report - December 1944 w/supporting documents.

110 Summers, p. 122.

111 National Archives and Records Administration: III Corps After Action Report December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, III Corps, After Action Reports, December 1944, Box 2735.

112 Summers, p. 140.

113 Schrijvers, p. 291.

114 Kniess, B-030, p. 6.

115 Murrell, Stories of the Men of the 80th Infantry Division, p. 36.

116 MacDonald, p. 589.

117 Crosswell, Beetle: The Life of General Walter Bedell Smith, p. 822.

118 Blumenson, p. 606.

119 Ibid., p. 608.

120 Cole, p. 597.

121 Parker, p. 303.

122 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/637. CX/MSS/T 409/35. BT 360 West.

123 Sylvan and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 236.

124 Clarke, Combat History of the 4th Armored Division, 25 December 1944. Cit. i Summers, Armor at Bastogne, p. 139.

125 History of 811th Tank Destroyer Battalion.

126 Cole, p. 508.

127 Wissolik och Smith, Reluctant Valor: The Oral History of Captain Thomas J. Evans, United States Third Army, 4th Armored Division, 704th Tank Destroyer Battalion, pp. 30-31.

128 Ibid.

129 National Archives and Records Administration: 37th Tank Battalion After Action Report - December 1944 w/supporting documents.

130 Miles, Fighting Without Boundaries: Unleashing Initiative on the Tactical Battlefield, p. 32.

131 Kokott, B-040, p. 100.

132 Blumenson, p. 607.

133 Via Friedrich Lademann.

134 Friedrich Lademann, interview by the author.

135 von Manteuffel, B-151A, p. 98.

136 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Reports, Third US Army, 1 August 1944 - 9 May 1945: December Operations. N-11480-A-4, p. 182.

137 Stars and Stripes, 27 December 1949. www.stripes.com/mobile/news/tank-veteran-recalls-yule-dash-to-bastogne-1.26981. 17 July 2012.

138 MacDonald, p. 530.

139 Kokott, B-040, p. 171.

140 Ibid., p. 172.

141 National Archives and Records Administration. III Corps After Action Report December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, III Corps, After Action Reports, December 1944, Box 2735.

142 Kokott, B-040, p.173.

143 Zaloga och Gerrard, US Army tank crewman 1941-45: European theater of operations, 1944-45, p. 49.

144 National Archives and Records Administration: 37th Tank Battalion After Action Report - December 1944 w/supporting documents.

145 National Archives and Records Administration: U.S. Army, 101st Airborne Division, After Action Report, Belgium and France, December 1944. Chief of Staff Annex, After Action Report, Chief of Staff, 101st Abn Div., 17-27 Dec 44 #6, Box 14378, Report Files, 1941-54, RG 407.

146 Delaforce, p. 243.

147 Summers, p. 146.

148 National Archives and Records Administration: III Corps After Action Report December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, III Corps, After Action Reports, December 1944, Box 2735.

149 Remer, The Fuehrer-Begleit-Brigade (The Brigade under the command of Remer) in the Ardennes Offensive (16 Dec 44 to 26 Jan 45). B-592, p. 19.

150 OB. West Ia Nr. 12470/g.Kdos. 28 december 1944; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 177.

151 Ripley, SS Steel Rain: Waffen-SS Panzer Battles in the West, 1944-1945, p. 200.

152 Remer, B-592, p. 20.

153 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 322.

154 Mellenthin, Panzer Battles p. 409.

155 Horst Helmus, dagbok.

156 Freeman, Mighty Eighth War Diary, pp. 406-407.

157 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/640. CX/MSS/T 416/58 West.

158 Reynolds, Men of Steel, p. 147.

159 Remer, B-592, p. 19.

160 Narrative on Glider Resupply Mission of 27 December 1944. www.the-snafu-special.com/passe/datas/repulse.pdf. 28 June 2011.

161 Remer, B-592, p. 20.

162 von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945. A-939, p. 22.

163 Ibid.

164 Denkert, 3 Pz Gren Division (from 28 Dec 44 to 25 Jan 45). C-002, p. 2.

165 Horst Helmus, dagbok.

166 Elstob, Hitler’s Last Offensive, p. 351.

167 Remer, B-592, p. 20.

168 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/639. CX/MSS/T 414/21. BT 744 West.

169 Schrijvers, p. 299.

170 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 291.

171 Cole. p. 627.

172 WW II Journal #3, 2007, “Battle of the Bulge”, p. 89.

173 Kolb, The Ardennes-Offensive in the sector of the 9 Volks Gren Div (25 Dec 1944 until 25 Jan 1945). B-521, p. 14.

174 Anti Aircraft Artillery Notes, Number 18, February 1945. CG, European T of Opns, APO 887. www.scribd.com/haraoi_conal/d/35664170-Anti-Aircraft-Artillery-Notes-No-18-19-21 -february-28-february-1945.

175 Luftwaffe Loss list. Matti Salonen.

176 Elstob, p. 352.

177 Cole, p. 638.

178 Kolb, B-521, pp. 20 and 31.

179 Elstob, p. 352.

180 OB. West Ia Nr. 12309/44 II. Ang., 29 December 1944; Jung, p. 181.

181 Reynolds, p. 147.

182 OB. West Ia Nr. 12521/44 g.Kdos., 30 December 1944; Jung, p. 180.

183 KTB OB West, 30 December 1944; Jung, p. 183.

184 Reynolds, p. 149.

185 Cit. i Koskimaki, Battered Bastards of Bastogne, p. 388.

186 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/639. CX/MSS/T 414/34. BT 752 West.

187 Interrogation Report 135th Inf Regt. IPW 60. 31 Dec 44.

188 Ibid.

189 Miltonberger and Huston, 134th Infantry Regiment. “All Hell Can’t Stop Us”: Combat History of World War II, p. 163.

190 Cole, p. 626.

191 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 51st Armd Inf. Battalion 4th Armored Division 23 Aug thru 9 May 45. AAR #79U. 842-22.

192 Tiemann, Chronicle of the 7. Panzer-Kompanie, 1. SS-Panzer Division “Leibstandarte”, p. 130.

193 Ibid.

194 Ibid., p. 131.

195 Miltonberger and Huston, p. 163.

196 Tiemann, p. 128.

197 Fox, p. 443.

198 Reynolds, p. 150.

199 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 51st Armd Inf. Battalion 4th Armored Division 23 Aug thru 9 May 45. AAR #79U. 842-22.

200 The 4th Armored: From the Beach to Bastogne. Stars & Stripes. www.lonesentry.com/gi_stories_booklets/4tharmored/index.html. 4 June 2012.

201 Reynolds, p. 150.

202 Tiemann, Chronicle of the 7. Panzer-Kompanie, 1. SS-Panzer Division “Leibstandarte”, p. 133.

203 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 654th Tank Destroyer Battalion for the Period 1 December to 31 December 1944. APO 403.

204 National Archives and Records Administration: III Corps After Action Report December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, III Corps, After Action Reports, December 1944, Box 2735.

205 Cit. i Reynolds, p. 152.

206 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 300.

207 Heilmann, B-023, pp. 36-37.

208 Interrogation Report 134th Inf Regt. IPW 60. 30 Dec 44.

209 Cole, p. 626.

210 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 301.

211 Mitchell Kaidy, “The power and the glory: The 87th Division attacks”. www.unithistories.com/units_index/default.asp?file=../units/87th%20inf.div.asp. 27 Nov. 2012.

212 Ronald Leir, “Living History: Hear vets combat memories in Bayonne”, Tuesday, February 08, 2005. www.6thcorpscombatengineers.com/JamesHennessey.htm. 27 Nov. 2012.

213 Denkert, 3 Pz Gren Division (from 28 Dec 44 to 25 Jan 45), C-002, p. 3.

214 Via Roger Marquet.

215 Remer, B-592, pp. 24-25.

216 Ibid.

217 Fague, The Battle of the Bulge: One Small Corner, p. 11.

218 Ibid., p. 12.

219 Ibid.

220 Interview with Major Carl Sheely and Executive Officer Captain Clarence A. Rechter, 63 AIB, 11th AD. Battalion Command Post, Buret, Belgium. January 25,1945. Post Combat Interviews Regarding the 11th Armored Division. 11th Armored Division Legacy Group. www.11tharmoreddivision.com/history/11th_AD_interviews.html. 6 Aug. 2011.

221 Parker, Battle of the Bulge: Hitler’s Ardennes Offensive, 1944-1945, p. 227.

222 Post Combat Interviews Regarding the 11th Armored Division. 11th Armored Division Legacy Group. www.11tharmoreddivision.com/history/11th_AD_interviews.html. 27 Dec. 2011.

223 Ibid.

224 Denkert, C-002, p. 5.

225 After Action Report 11th Armored Division 23 December 1944 to 18 January 1945. www.11tharmoreddivision.com/history/after_action_report.htm. 27 Dec. 2011.

226 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 360.

227 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/640. CX/MSS/T 416/41. BT 930 West.

228 Ibid.

229 Luftwaffe Loss list. Matti Salonen.

230 Interview with Major Carl Sheely and Executive Officer Captain Clarence A. Rechter, 63 AIB, 11th AD. Battalion Command Post, Buret, Belgium. January 25,1945. Post Combat Interviews Regarding the 11th Armored Division. 11th Armored Division Legacy Group. www.11tharmoreddivision.com/history/11th_AD_interviews.html. 6 Aug. 2011.

231 Craig, The 11th Armored Division “Thunderbolt,” Volume II, p. 33.

232 Denkert, C-002, p. 7.

233 Fague, p. 16.

234 Craig, p. 23.

235 Denkert, C-002, p. 8.

236 Fague, p. 17.

237 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 299.

238 Se George F. Hofmann, Cold War Casualty: The Court-Martial of Major General Robert W. Grow, Grow av Kent State University Press 1993.

239 Burke, Combat Record of the Sixth Armored Division in the E.T.O., July 18, 1944 - May 8, 1945, p. 147.

240 Cole, p. 629.

241 Ibid.

242 National Archives and Records Administration: III Corps, After Action Reports, December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records. Box 2735.

243 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, pp. 301-302.

244 35th Infantry Division in the Battle of the Bulge. www.coulthart.com/134/ardennes.htm. 26 Dec. 2011.

245 National Archives and Records Administration: III Corps After Action Report December 1944. Record Group 407, Records of the U.S. Army Adjutant General, World War II Records, III Corps, After Action Reports, December 1944, Box 2735.

246 “Battle in the Bulge”, WW II Journal #3, 2007.

247 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3: 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945. 3 January 1945, p. 388.

248 Källa: Richard C. Anderson Jr., historian and analyst working for the U.S. government.

249 Drea, Unit Reconstitution: a Historical Perspective Prepared for the Combined Arms Research Activity Operations (CAORA). Combined Arms Research Library No. 3.

250 Cole, p. 309.

251 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 291.

252 US Army Armored School, C.C.B. 9th Armored Division Battle of the Bulge 16-25 December 1944. www. battleofthebulgememories.be. 28 Dec. 2011.

253 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, pp. 479 och 482.

254 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3: 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945. 3 januari 1945, p. 388.

255 Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht, vol. 8, p. 1359.

256 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, pp. 471-477.

257 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind - Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4A, p. 9.

258 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv, RH 24-58: Kriegstagebuch LVIII. Panzerkorps 29 december 1944.

259 Dugdale, Volume I, Part 4A, p. 110.

260 Dugdale, Volume I, Part 4C, p. 77.

261 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

262 Källa: Richard C. Anderson, Jr.

263 Schramm, The Course of Events of the German Offensive in the Ardennes (16 Dec. 1944-14 Jan. 1945). A-858, pp. 10-11.

264 Cit. i Koskimaki, The Battered Bastards of Bastogne, p. 396.

265 Fague, p. 18.

266 Cit. i Guderian, Das letzte Kriegsjahr im Westen, p. 391.

267 Craven och Cate (red.). Army Air Forces in World War II. Europe: Argument to V-E Day, January 1944 to May 1945, p. 701.

268 Speer, Tredje riket inifrån: Katastrof och dom 1944-194, p. 510.

Notes to Chapter 9

1 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv RL 10/639: Kriegstagebuch III./JG 3; Manrho and Pütz, Bodenplatte, p. 138.

2 Marion Hill in Manrho and Pütz, Bodenplatte, p. 400.

3 Joe Roddis in Manrho and Pütz, p. 26.

4 Der Reichsmarschall des Grossdeutschen Reiches und Oberbefehlshaber der Luftwaffe Nr. 10325/44 g.Kdos. Chefs. 14.11. 1944.

5 Herrmann, Bewegtes Leben, p. 380.

6 Toliver and Constable, Fighter General, p. 254.

7 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 455.

8 Forsyth, Jagdverband 44, p. 7.

9 Fritz Wegner i Prien and Rodeike, Jagdgeschwader 1 und 11, Teil 3: 1944-1945, p. 1398.

10 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/642. CX/MSS/T 419/27. BT 958, BT 1211, BT 1235 West.

11 Emil Clade i Manrho and Pütz, p. 348.

12 Manrho och Pütz, p. 368.

13 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/640. CX/MSS/T 416/62 West.

14 Werner Hohenberg, interview by author.

15 Ibid.

16 Fritz Haspel i Prien and Rodeike, p. 1404.

17 Caldwell, The JG 26 War Diary, Volume 2 1943-1945, p. 413.

18 Oskar Bösch in Manrho and Pütz, p. 127.

19 Zinnicq Bergmann in Manrho and Pütz, p. 123.

20 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv RL 10/639: Kriegstagebuch III./JG 3.

21 Franks, The Battle of the Airfields: 1 January 1945, p. 204.

22 Manrho and Pütz, pp. 503-506.

23 Ibid., p. 460.

24 Ibid.

25 Caldwell, p. 415.

26 Franks, p. 201.

27 Manrho and Pütz, pp. 366-368.

28 Ibid.

29 Michael Wetz in Manrho and Pütz, p. 352.

30 Manrho and Pütz, p. 414.

31 368th Fighter Group History & Time Line of Events. www.368thfightergroup.com/368-timeline-w.html. 28 Dec. 2011.

32 Barnes, Crump och Sutherland, Thunderbolts of the Hell Hawks: 365th Fighter-Bomber Group in Words, Pictures and Illustrations, p. 121.

33 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files AIR 20/9941. XC 020194. Memorandum 25 feb 1945 GAF Operations Staff Ic Fremde Luftwaffen West No. 1160/45 G.Kdos. Subject: Attacks on British and American Airfields.

34 Clostermann, The Big Show, p. 218.

35 Parker, p. 447.

36 Ibid.

37 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/640. CX/MSS/T 416/78. BT 953, 958 West.

38 Schramm, Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht (henceforth KTB OKW), Vol. 8. 2 January 1945, p. 977.

39 KTB OKW, Vol. 8. 5 January 1945, p. 995.

40 Clostermann, Det stora vansinnet: jaktflygare i andra världskriget - en fransk jaktpilots minnen från Royal Air Force, p. 201.

41 Herrmann, p. 381.

42 Galland, Die Ersten und die Letzten, p. 331.

43 Ibid., pp. 332-333.

44 Freeman, The Mighty Eighth, p. 195.

45 Prien and Rodeike, p. 1332.

46 Freeman, p. 195.

47 Clostermann, p. 218.

48 Schramm, The Course of Events of the German Offensive in the Ardennes (16 Dec. 1944-14 Jan. 1945). A-858, p. 13.

49 Emil Clade in Manrho and Pütz, p. 369.

50 Caldwell, p. 414.

51 Lothar Wolf i Prien and Rodeike, p. 1404.

52 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv, RL 10/639: Kriegstagebuch III./JG 3; Manrho and Pütz, p. 138.

53 Prien and Rodeike, pp. 1360 och 1371.

54 KTB OKW, vol. 8, p. 981.

55 Dorr and Jones, Hell Hawks! The Untold Story of the American Fliers Who Savaged Hitler’s Wehrmacht, p. 185.

56 Ibid., p. 186.

57 Via Don Barnes.

58 Franks, p. 144.

59 Stefan Kohl, cit. i Manrho and Pütz, p. 410.

60 Parker, p. 417.

61 Clostermann, p. 218.

62 Parker, p. 455.

63 Ibid.

64 Aviation historian W. A. Jacobs in Cooling, Case Studies in the Development of Close Air Support, p. 277.

65 KTB OKW, Vol. 8, p. 981.

66 Luftwaffe Loss list. Matti Salonen.

67 Prien and Rodeike, p. 1422.

68 Prien, ”Pik-As”: Geschichte des Jagdgeschwaders 53, Teil 3, p. 1501.

69 Ibid., p. 1503.

70 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files AIR 20/9941. XC 020194.

71 Schramm, A-858, p. 14.

72 Parker, p. 333.

73 Ibid., p. 448.

74 O’Keeffe, Battle Yet Unsung: The Fighting Men of the 14th Armored Division in World War II, p. 175.

75 Zaloga, Operation Nordwind, p. 65.

76 Sylvan and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 270.

Notes to Chapter 10

1 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 60th Armd Inf. Battalion 9th Armored Division Oct 44 thru March 45. AAR # 361-U.

2 Remer, The Fuehrer-Begleit-Brigade (The Brigade under the command of Remer) in the Ardennes Offensive (16 Dec 44 to 26 Jan 45). B-592, p. 30.

3 Ibid., p. 31.

4 Eli J. Warach, “A Toast to those who fought the Battle of the Bulge”. www.11tharmoreddivision.com/history/a_toast_to_those_who.html.

5 Joseph L. Crooks, “Rechrival, Belgium”. www.11tharmoreddivision.com/history/d42tk_crooks.htm.
 
6 Via Roger Marquet.

7 Denkert, 3 Pz Gren Division (from 28 Dec 44 to 25 Jan 45), C-002, p. 12.

8 Fague, The Battle of the Bulge: One Small Corner, p. 21.

9 Marquet, Du sang, des ruines et des larmes: Chenogne 1944-1945, p. 88.

10 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 60th Armd Inf. Battalion 9th Armored Division Oct 44 thru March 45. AAR # 361-U.

11 Denkert, C-002, p. 12.

12 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 60th Armd Inf. Battalion 9th Armored Division Oct 44 thru March 45. AAR # 361-U.

13 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3. 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945, p. 387.

14 Denkert, C-002, p. 12.

15 Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 180.

16 Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 238.

17 Blumenson, Patton Papers 1940-1945, p. 612.

18 Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht (hädanefter KTB OKW), vol. 8, p. 981.

19 Burke, Combat Record of the Sixth Armored Division in the E.T.O., July 18, 1944 - May 8, 1945, p. 153.

20 National Archives and Records Administration: The 68th Tank Battalion in Combat. 407-606 TK (68)-9.

21 National Archives and Records Administration:. 407-606 TK (68)-9; Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 238; Schneider, Tigers in Combat, Vol. I, p. 274.

22 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 633.

23 Kurowski, Panzer Aces: German Tank Commanders of WW II, p. 209.

24 Burke, p. 153.

25 Toland, Battle, p. 336.

26 ”War Tales”. donmooreswartales.com/2010/05/19/mikesovan. 18 July 2012.

27 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 308.

28 MacDonald, United States Army in World War II European Theater of Operations: The Last Offensive, p. 26.

29 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, pp. 482-483; MacDonald, p. 27.

30 Mitcham, Panzers in Winter, p. 157.

31 Tieke, Im Feuersturm letzter Kriegsjahre: II. SS-Panzerkorps mit 9. und 10. SS-Division ”Hohenstaufen” und ”Fundsberg”, p. 439.

32 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 475.

33 MacDonald, p. 28.

34 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 - February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind -Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I, Part 4A, p. 107.

35 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 483.

36 Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 245.

37 Checkerboard Newsletter, March 1993, ”The British at Bure During the Battle of the Ardennes”. Criba. www.battleofthebulgememories.be/en/stories/british-army/814-the-british-at-bure-during-the-battle-of-the-ardennes.html. 9 May 2012.

38 Ibid.

39 Guy Blockmans, ”Battle of Bure, January 1945: Account of the battle by Units of the 29th Armoured Brigade supporting 13th Para”. Criba. www.battleofthebulgememories.be/en/stories/british-army/210-battle-of-bure-january-1945.html. 9 May 2012.

40 Draper, 84th Infantry Division in the Battle of the Ardennes, p. 29.

41 Wisliceny, Ardennen-Offensive vom 16.12.1944 - 20.1.1945: SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ”Deutschland“. FMS # 20, p. 10.

42 Weidinger, Division Das Reich, Band V, pp. 401-403.

43 Ibid., p. 404.

44 Draper, p. 30.

45 Weidinger, p. 405.

46 Blunt, Foot Soldier: A Combat Infantryman’s War in Europe, pp. 125-127.
 
47 Draper, p. 30.

48 Cooper, Death Traps: The Survival of an American Armored Division in World War II, p. 114.

49 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 317.

50 Cooper, p. 114.

51 Weidinger, p. 417.

52 Schäfer, Reinicke, Hermann, and Kittel, Die Mondschein-Division: Die 62. Infanteriedivision 1938-1944, die 62. Volksgrenadierdivision 1944-1945, p. 293.

53 Orfalea, Messengers of the Lost Battalion: The Heroic 551st and the Turning of the Tide at the Battle of the Bulge, p. 264.

54 Ibid.

55 National Archives and Records Administration: 2d Bn, 505 Prcht Inf. Combat Interview Major William Carpenter, CO, Captain Charles E. Sammon (S-3), 27 Mar 45.

56 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 740th Tank Battalion January thru April 1945. AAR# 491.

57 Schäfer et al, p. 291.

58 National Archives and Records Administration: 325th Glider Infantry Regiment: Combat Interview Colonel George Billingslea, C.O., 24 March 1945.

59 ”The 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion” av Les Hughes. cit. ur Dan Morgan, The Left Corner of My Heart (Alder Enterprises, Wauconda, WA, 1984). www.insigne.org/551-history.htm. 2 April 2012.

60 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 50th Armored Infantry Battalion. National Archives, Record Group No. 407-606TK(69)-0.3.

61 Ripley, SS Steel Rain: Waffen-SS Panzer Battles in the West, 1944-1945, p. 202.

62 Meyer, The 12th SS, p. 337.

63 Walter F. Zagol i Koskimaki, The Battered Bastards of Bastogne, p. 418.

64 Koskimaki, Battered Bastards of Bastogne, p. 425.

65 Tieke, p. 441.

66 Denkert, C-002, p. 13.

67 Charles Kocourek in Koskimaki, p. 410.

68 Fague, p. 31.

69 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 11th Armored Division, After Action Report 11th Armored Division, 23 December 1944 to 31 January 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 11th Armored Division; Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 307.

70 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3. 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945, p. 387.

71 “Memories: The European Theater Of Operations 1944-45” av Kenneth W. Moeller, Division Headquarters. The 11th Armored Division Legacy Group. www.11tharmoreddivision.com/history/moeller_memories.htm. 5 Dec. 2012.

72 Ibid.

73 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 60th Armd Inf. Battalion 9th Armored Division Oct 44 thru March 45. AAR # 361-U.

74 Stalwart and Strong: the Story of the 87th Infantry Division.

75 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 309.

76 Bayerlein, Additional Questions - Ardennes Offensive. A-943, p. 4.

77 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 630th T.D. Battalion. AAR# 6150. Unit Report No. 7. From: 010001 January 1945 To 312400 January 1945. HQ 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion. APO 230 United States Army.

78 Ibid.

79 Remer, B-592, pp. 34-35.

80 Denkert, C-002, p. 17.

81 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 630th T.D. Battalion. AAR# 6150. Unit Report No. 7. From: 010001 January 1945 To 312400 January 1945. HQ 630th Tank Destroyer Battalion. APO 230 United States Army.

82 ”The 513th Parachute Infantry Regiment Memories” (Reprint from Thunder From Heaven Volume 55 Number 1 - March 2008 [Final edition]) på The 17th Airborne. www.ww2-airborne.us/units/513/513_memories.html. 28 March 2012.

83 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 309.

84 Denkert, C-002, p. 19.

85 Blumenson, Patton Papers, 1940-1945, p. 615.

86 Remer, B-592, pp. 35-36. 

87 Meyer, p. 343.

88 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, pp. 483. 

89 Toland, Battle, p. 336.

90 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 50th Armored Infantry Battalion. National Archives, Record Group No. 407-606TK(69)-0.3.

91 Veterans of the Battle of Bulge. Battle of the Bulge, p. 91.

92 Blumenson, p. 615. 

93 Miltonberger and Huston, 134th Infantry Regiment. “All Hell Can’t Stop Us”: Combat History of World War II, p. 164-165.

94 134th Infantry Regiment ”All Hell Can’t Stop Us”: Presenting the 35th Infantry Division in World War II 1941 - 1945: The Beginning of the End Ardennes Campaign, 16 Dec 44 - 25 Jan 45. www.coulthart.com/134/35chapter_10.htm.

95 Ibid.

96 Miltonberger and Huston, p. 168.

97 Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV/2, p. 187.

98 Miltonberger and Huston, p. 168.

99 Ibid., p. 169. 

100 MacDonald, p. 38.

101 Guderian, Das letzte Kriegsjahr im Westen: Die Geschichte der 116. Panzer-Division – Windhund-Division – 1944-1945, p.395.

102 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, p. 319.

103 Bressler, 2d Armored Division in the Ardennes, p. 10.

104 Meyer, p. 345. 

105  Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3. 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945, p. 391.

106 Meyer, p. 347.

107 Brest to Bastogne: The Story of the 6th Armored Division. www.lonesentry.com/gi_stories_booklets/6tharmored/index.html.

108 National Archives and Records Administration: The 68th Tank Battalion in Combat. Record Group No. 407-606TK(68-9). 

109 Blumenson, p. 615.

110 Ibid. 

111 Toland, p. 339.

112 Elstob, Hitler’s Last Offensive, p. 362.

113 Toland, p. 342.

114 Ibid., p. 343.

115 Ibid., p. 342.

116 Delaforce, The Battle of the Bulge, p. 315.

117 Montgomery, The Memoirs of Field-Marshal the Viscount Montgomery of Alamein, K.G, p. 314.

118 Ibid., p. 315.

119 WFStab/KTB. Mitteilung des Oberst d.G. Meyer-Detring (Abt.- Leiter Op H) am 4.1.45, 18 Uhr. KTB OKW, Vol. 8, p. 990.

120 Guderian, p. 396.

121 Tieke, p. 443.

122 Uffz Heinz Pech, 6 Co 19 SS Pz Gren Regt, captured 21 Jan vic Geilich. US Strategic Bombing Survey PW Intell Bulltn No 1/40, National Archives; WW II Musings. Vol. 2, Issue 3, March 1994.  www.battleofthebulge.org/musings/Mus0394.pdf.

123 Bayerlein, A-943, p. 3.

124 Remer, B-592, p. 34.

125 Remer, B-592, p. 34.

126 Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 218.

127 Remer, Fuehrer Begleit Brigade In the Ardennes. ETHINT-80, p. 12.

128 Remer, B-592, p. 33.

129 Miller, Nothing less than full victory, p. 185.

130 Ambrose, Citizen Soldiers, p. 380.

131 Remer, B-592, p. 32.
 
132 Miller, p. 185.

133 Ambrose, p. 381.

134 Denkert, C-002, p. 21.

135 Ibid.

136 Remer, B-592, p. 35.

137 U.S. Army Center of Military History. Medal of Honor Recipients World War II.www.history.army.mil/html/moh/wwII-m-s.html. 5 April 2012.

138 Remer, B-592, p. 35.

139 Ibid., p. 36.

140 Ibid., p. 35.

141 Miller, p. 185.

142  The Mercury, 8 Jan 1945. trove.nla.gov.au/ndp/del/ page/1871470. 2 April 2012.

143 Guderian, p. 399.

144 Ibid.

145 Draper, p. 38.

146 Weidinger, p. 417.

147 Wisliceny, FMS # 20, p. 11.

148 Cooper, The Survival of an American Armored Division in World War II, p. 115.

149 Green and Brown, War Stories of the Battle of the Bulge, pp. 147-148.

150 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview Major William Carpenter, CO, 2d Bn, 505 Prcht Inf, Captain Charles E. Sammon (S-3) 2d Bn, 05 Prcht Inf, 27 Mar 45.

151 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 740th Tank Battalion January thru April 1945. AAR# 491.

152 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview Major William Carpenter, CO, 2d Bn, 505 Prcht Inf, Captain Charles E. Sammon (S-3) 2d Bn, 05 Prcht Inf, 27 Mar 45.

153 Langdon, Ready: The history of the 505th Parachute Infantry Regiment, 82nd Airborne Division, World War II, p. 112.

154 Ibid., p. 113.

155 National Archives and Records Administration: 508th Parachute Infantry Regiment: Combat Interview with Major J.W. Medusky, S-3, 508th Parachute Regiment, 15 February 1945.

156 National Archives and Records Administration: 504th Parachute Infantry Regt, 82nd A/B Division: Combat Interview Technical Sergeant George W. Corporan.

157 LoFaro, The Sword of St. Michael: The 82nd Airborne Division in World War II, p. 496.

158 Moll, Bericht über den Einsatz der 18. V.G.D. in der Ardennen-Offensive (16.12.1944 bis 25.1.1945). B-734, p. 51.

159 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 740th Tank Battalion January thru April 1945. AAR# 491.

160 ”The 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion” by Les Hughes. cit. ur Dan Morgan, The Left Corner of My Heart (Alder Enterprises, Wauconda, WA, 1984). www.insigne.org/551-history.htm. 2 April 2012.

161 www.infantry.army.mil/museum/outside_tour/monuments/551st_para_inf.htm. 2 April 2012.

162 Orfalea, p. 302.

163 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 740th Tank Battalion January thru April 1945. AAR# 491.

164 Ibid.

165 ”The 551st Parachute Infantry Battalion” by Les Hughes. cit. ur Dan Morgan, The Left Corner of My Heart (Alder Enterprises, Wauconda, WA, 1984). hwww.insigne.org/551-history.htm. 2 April 2012.

166 Moll, B-734, p. 51.

167 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 740th Tank Battalion January thru April 1945. AAR# 491.

168 KTB OKW, Vol. 8, 7 January 1945, p. 999.

169 Meyer, p. 349.

170 Ibid., p. 350.
 
171 National Archives and Records Administration: The 68th Tank Battalion in Combat. Record Group No. 407-606TK(68-9).

172 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 310.

173 Reynolds, Men of Steel, p. 173.

174 WFStab/KTB. Mitteilung des Oberst d.G. Meyer-Detring (Abt.- Leiter Op H) am 4.1.45, 18 Uhr. KTB OKW, vol. 8, p. 990.

175 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/647. CX/MSS/T 429/100. BT 2295 West.

176 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/647. CX/MSS/T 429/113. BT 2351 West.

177 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/647. CX/MSS/T 429/6. West.

178 KTB OKW, vol. 8, p. 1346.

179 Ibid.

180 Ibid., p. 1353.

181 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 307.

182 Blumenson, p. 616.

183 Ibid.

184 National Archives and Records Administration: Notes on Bastogne Operation. Headquarters Third United States Army, January 15, 1945. APO 403, p. 7.

185 Ibid.

186 Bodenstein, LIII Corps (1 Dec 1944 - 22 Jan 1945). B-032, p. 8.

187 Heilmann, Ardennen-Offensive. 5. Fallschirmjäger-Division. B-023, p. 39.

188 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 712th Tank Bn July 44 - Mar 45. AAR 249. 846-64.

189 Ibid.

190 National Archives and Records Administration: Notes on Bastogne Operation. Headquarters Third United States Army, January 15, 1945. APO 403, p. 8.

191 National Archives and Records Administration: Records for the Third US Army. File 103-0.5; WW II Musings. Vol. 3 Issue 1 February 1995.

192 Bodenstein, B-032, p. 7.

193 Heilmann, B-023, p. 40.

194 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 712th Tank Bn July 44 - Mar 45. AAR 249. 846-64.

195 Burke, p. 168.

196 Reynolds, p. 156.

197 Heilmann, B-023, p. 39.

198 Miltonberger and Huston, p. 173.

199 MacDonald, p. 40.

200 Bodenstein, B-032, p. 7.

201 Heilmann, B-023, p. 41.

202 Ibid.

203 Ibid.

204 Ibid.

205 Remer, B-592, p. 36.

206 Wilson, The 761st ”Black Panther” Tank Battalion in World War II, p. 128.

207 Ibid., p. 132.

208 Ivy, A Study in Leadership: The 761st Tank Battalion and the 92d Division, p. 70.

209 Wilson, p. 128.

210 Koskimaki, p. 456.

211 Ibid.

212 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 336.

213 Kompanie-Kameradschaft, Die 3. Kompanie, SS-Panzerregiment 12, p. 111.

214 Fox, Patton’s Vanguard: The United States Army Fourth Armored Division, p. 450.

215 National Archives and Records Administration: Notes on Bastogne Operation. Headquarters Third United States Army, January 15, 1945. APO 403, p. 8.

216 Strauss, Die Geschichte der 2. (Wiener) Panzer-Division, p. 189.

217 von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945. A-939, p. 26.

218 Kniess, LXXXV. Armeekorps, Ardennes, 16 December 1944 to 12 January 1945. B-030, p. 6.

219 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/644. CX/MSS/T 415/8. BT 1641 West.
 
220 Sylvan and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 256.

221 Bayerlein, A-943, p. 5.

222 Sylvan and Smith, p. 256.

223 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/646. BT 1800 West.

224 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/647. CX/MSS/T 429/1. BT 12250 West.

225 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3. 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945, p. 396.

226 KTB OKW, Vol. 8, p. 1002.

Notes to Chapter 11

1 Schramm (red.), Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht (hädanefter KTB OKW), Vol. 8, p. 1347.

2 National Archives and Records Administration: Notes on Bastogne Operation. Headquarters Third United States Army, January 15, 1945. APO 403, p. 9.

3 OKW/WFSt/Op. (H) Nr. 88149/45 g.Kdos.Chefs. vom 22.1. 1945; Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 194.

4 Delaforce, The Battle of the Bulge, p. 302.

5 National Archives and Records Administration, Washington DC. Notes on Bastogne Operation. Headquarters Third United States Army, January 15, 1945. APO 403.

6 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 50th Armored Infantry Battalion. Record Group No. 407-606TK(69)-0.3.

7 Delaforce, p. 289.

8 Tieke, Im Feuersturm letzter Kriegsjahre: II. SS-Panzerkorps mit 9. und 10. SS-Division ”Hohenstaufen” und ”Fundsberg”, p. 445.

9 National Archives and Records Administration: 329 th Infantry, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 83rd Infantry Division. A.P.O. 319.1/401, U.S. Army.

10 National Archives and Records Administration: 329th Infantry, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 83rd Infantry Division. A.P.O. 319.1/401, U.S. Army; National Archives and Records Administration: 331st Infantry, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 83rd Infantry Division. A.P.O. 83, U.S. Army; National Archives and Records Administration: 774th Tank Battalion, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 774th Tank Battalion. A.P.O. 230, U.S. Army.

11 Cooper, Death Traps: The Survival of an American Armored Division in World War II, p. 115.

12 Weidinger, Division Das Reich, p. 418.

13 Bader, 560. Volksgrenadier-Division: Ardennes Campaign 16 December 1944 to 25 January 1945. B-024, p. 6.

14 Draper, 84th Infantry Division in the Battle of the Ardennes, p. 43.

15 Wisliceny, Ardennen-Offensive vom 16.12.1944 - 20.1.1945: SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 3 ”Deutschland“. FMS #20, p. 12.

16 Draper, p. 43.

17 National Archives and Records Administration: 774th Tank Battalion, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 774th Tank Battalion. A.P.O. 230, U.S. Army.

18 National Archives and Records Administration: 329th Infantry, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 83rd Infantry Division. A.P.O. 319.1/401, U.S. Army.

19 National Archives and Records Administration: 774th Tank Battalion, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 774th Tank Battalion. A.P.O. 230, U.S. Army.

20 Bader, B-024, p. 6.

21 Stueckler, Ardennes Project: Report on 2d SS Panzer Div, 16 Dec 1944-17 Jan 1945. P-032e; Weidinger, p. 411.

22 National Archives and Records Administration: 331st Infantry, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 83rd Infantry Division. A.P.O. 83. Unitede States Army.
 
23 National Archives and Records Administration: 774th Tank Battalion, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 774th Tank Battalion. A.P.O. 230, U.S. Army.

24 Gutmann, Ardennes Follow-Up: 2d Panzer Division (16-20 Dec 44 & 13-17 Jan 45). P-109e, p. 6.

25 Bayerlein, Additional Questions - Ardennes Offensive. Description of Operations from 11 to 20 January 1944 in Area of Houffalize. Foreign Military Study A-945, p. 1.

26 Kriegstagebuch II./Pz.Art.Rgt. 146; Guderian, Das letzte Kriegsjahr im Westen: Die Geschichte der 116. Panzer-Division – Windhund-Division –1944-1945, p. 403.

27 Lucht, The LXVI Corps in the Ardennes (3-15 Jan 1945). B-769, p. 8.

28 Guderian, Das letzte Kriegsjahr im Westen: Die Geschichte der 116. Panzer-Division – Windhund-Division – 1944-1945, p. 405.

29 The Argus, 16 januari 1945. trove.nla.gov.au/ndp/del/ page/28672?zoomLevel=3.

30 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv RH 27/116: Abschlussmeldung der 116. Panzer-Division über die Abwehrkämpfe v. 3.1 – 15.1.1945: Guderian, p. 405.

31 Bayerlein, A-945, pp. 1-2.

32 Bressler, 2d Armored Division in the Ardennes, p. 13.

33 Bayerlein, A-945, p. 2.

34 National Archives and Records Administration: 331st Infantry, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 83rd Infantry Division. A.P.O. 83. United States Army.

35 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/646. CX/MSS/T. BT 2323 West; Bennett, Ultra in the West, p. 219.

36 Caldwell, The JG 26 War Diary, Volume Two, pp. 419-420.

37 Prien and Rodeike, Jagdgeschwader 1 und 11, Teil 3, p. 1429.

38 Luftwaffe Loss list. Matti Salonen.

39 Guderian, p. 405.

40 Sylvan and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 262.

41 G-3 Supplement Official Record of Combat by Major Murray H. Fowler, Information and Education Officer of the 3rd Armored Division, in the book Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitalized by Staff, 3rd Armored Division History Website. www.3ad.com. 21 July 2010.

42 Bader, B-024, p. 6.

43 Bayerlein, A-945, p. 2.

44 Denkert, Commitment of 3d Panzer Grenadier Division in the Ardennes Offensive. Foreign Military Study A-978, p. 5.

45 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 11th Armored Division, After Action Report. 11th Armored Division, 23 December 1944 to 31 January 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 11th Armored Division.

46 Remer, The Fuehrer Escort Brigade in the Ardennes Offensive (Part II). B-838, p. 1; von Luettwitz, Einsatz des XXXXVII. Panzer-Korps in den Ardennen 1944/1945. A-939, p. 26.

47 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 467.

48 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 11th Armored Division, After Action Report. 11th Armored Division, 23 December 1944 to 31 January 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 11th Armored Division.

49 Burke, Combat Record of the Sixth Armored Division in the E.T.O., July 18, 1944 - May 8, 1945, p. 176.

50 Wilson, George. If You Survive s. 233.

51 Remer, B-838, p. 2-3.

52 Koskimaki, The Battered Bastards of Bastogne, p. 497.

53 Lt. Robert J. Burns and Lt. John S. Dahl, ”Unit History of the 68th Tank Battalion. www.super6th.org/tank68/index.html. 12 April 2012.

54 Burke, p. 180.

55 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 11th Armored Division, After Action Report. 11th Armored Division, 23 December 1944 to 31 January 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 11th Armored Division.
 
56 Carwood Lipton i Koskimaki, p. 502.

57 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 11th Armored Division, After Action Report. 11th Armored Division, 23 December 1944 to 31 January 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 11th Armored Division.

58 Gutmann, P-109e, p. 5.

59 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 11th Armored Division, After Action Report. 11th Armored Division, 23 December 1944 to 31 January 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 11th Armored Division.

60 Fee, William W, ”With the Eleventh Armored Division in the Battle Of the Bulge: A Retrospective Diary”. www.11tharmoreddivision.com/history/fee/fee_retro_diary.htm. 17 April 2012.

61 Remer, B-838, p. 5.

62 Richard Kazinski in Koskimaki, p. 507.

63 Schneider, Tigers in Combat, Vol. 1, p. 275.

64 Luftwaffe Loss list. Matti Salonen; Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 473.

65 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv RH 27/116: Abschlussmeldung der 116. Panzer-Division über die Abwehrkämpfe v. 3.1 – 15.1.1945: Guderian, p. 407.

66 Bressler, p. 14.

67 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, p. 339.

68 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, p. 464.

69 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 11th Armored Division, After Action Report. 11th Armored Division, 23 December 1944 to 31 January 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 11th Armored Division.

70 Ibid.

71 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 466.

72 Ibid., p. 471.

73 Weidinger, p. 419.

74 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 472.

75 Bundesarchiv/Militärarchiv RH 27/116: Abschlussmeldung der 116. Panzer-Division über die Abwehrkämpfe v. 3.1 –	15.1.1945: Guderian, p. 408.

76 Dupuy, Bongard and Anderson, p. 473.

77 Ibid., p. 477.

78 Annex No. 5 to G-2. Periodic Report No. 51 106th Inf Div. Translation of Diary captured by 424 Inf Reg 106 Us Inf Div. Vic Henumont (P-7297), 13 Jan 45. members.tripod.com/camp_atterbury/Diaries/Diaries. html#GermanDiary. 9 May 2012.

79 KTB OKW, vol. 8, 7 januari 1945, p. 999.

80 Schäfer, Reinicke, Hermann and Kittel, Die Mondschein-Division: Die 62. Infanteriedivision 1938-1944, die 62. Volksgrenadierdivision 1944-1945, p. 298.

81 Tieke, Im Feuersturm letzter Kriegsjahre, p. 445.

82 Via John M. Nolan.

83 30th Infantry Division Old Hickory: “January 13, 1945 by John M. Nolan, 30th Infantry Division.” www.oldhickory30th.com/119th%20IR%20Company%20G%20histories.htm. 12 maj 2012.

84 “War History of Howard J. Melker” på The 30th Infantry Division In World War II. www.30thinfantry.org/personal.shtml. 17 May 2012.

85 “War History of Howard J. Melker” på The 30th Infantry Division In World War II. www.30thinfantry.org/personal.shtml. 17 May 2012.

86 Ibid.

87 Collins and King, Voices of the Bulge: Untold Stories from Veterans of the Battle of the Bulge, p. 298.

88 Ibid., p. 297.

89 Kaschner, 326. Volksgrenadier-Division. Ardennes (16 Dec - 25 Jan 45). B-092, p. 6.

90 Sylvan and Smith, Normandy to victory: the war diary of General Courtney H. Hodges & the First U.S. Army, p. 261.
 
91 Headquarters 75th Infantry Division, 1945. 75th Infantry Division in Combat: The Battle in the Ardennes 23 Dec 1944 - 27 Jan 1945, p. 9.

92 Schäfer at al, p. 299.

93 Headquarters 75th Infantry Division, 1945. 75th Infantry Division in Combat: The Battle in the Ardennes 23 Dec 1944 - 27 Jan 1945, p. 10.

94 Ibid.

95 John Graber, ”Battle of Grand-Halleux, January 1945” Salmvalley 1944- 1945. salmvalley1944-1945.over-blog.com/article-battle-of-grand-halleux-january-1945-72179254.html.

96 Technical Sergeant Robert H. Justice, “Remembrance of Battle at Grand-Halleux, January 15-16, 1945”. Criba. www.battleofthebulgememories.be/en/stories/us-army/567-remembrance-of-battle-at-grand-halleux-january-15-16-1945.html. 7 April 2012.

97 Pvt Peter G. Dounis, ”The Battle of Grand-Halleux”. Criba. www.battleofthebulgememories.be/en/stories/us-army/568-the-battle-of-grand-halleux.html. 19 May 2012.

98 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 750th Tank Battalion 22 Dec 44 - Apr 45. AAR # 493-U.

99 Pvt Peter G. Dounis, ”The Battle of Grand-Halleux”.

100 Ambrose, Citizen Soldiers, p. 392.

101 Sylvan and Smith, p. 261.

102 Ibid., p. 263.

103 Ridgway, and Martin, Soldier: the memoirs of Matthew B. Ridgway, p. 120.

104 National Archives and Records Administration: 330th Infantry Regiment. Report After Action Against the Enemy. Hq 330th Infantry. APO 83, US Army.

105 G-3 SUPPLEMENT Official Record of Combat by Major Murray H. Fowler, Information and Education Officer of the 3rd Armored Division, in the book Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitalized by Staff, 3rd Armored Division History Website. www.3ad.com/ 21 July 2010.

106 Ibid.

107 ”Ambush of 3AD Tanks”, i kapitlet ”Battle of the Bulge December 18, 1944 - Late January, 1945” in the book Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitalized by Staff, 3rd Armored Division History Website. www.3ad.com. 21 July 2010.

108 National Archives and Records Administration: 330th Infantry Regiment. Report After Action Against the Enemy. Hq 330th Infantry. APO 83, US Army.

109 G-3 Supplement Official Record of Combat by Major Murray H. Fowler, Information and Education Officer of the 3rd Armored Division, in the book Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitalized by Staff, 3rd Armored Division History Website. www.3ad.com. 21 July 2010.

110 National Archives and Records Administration: 330th Infantry Regiment. Report After Action Against the Enemy. Hq 330th Infantry. APO 83, US Army.

111 ”Excerpts from the After Action Reports produced by Haynes Dugan on the History of the 36th Armored Infantry Regt. 3rd Armored Division.” www.criba.be/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=102:sterpigny-and-cherain-belgium-january- 1945&catid=1:battle-of-the-bulge-us-army&Itemid=6.

112 Staff Sergeant James K. Cullen, ”Sterpigny and Cherain, Belgium. January 1945.” www.criba.be/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=102:sterpigny-and-cherain-belgium-january- 1945&catid=1:battle-of-the-bulge-us-army&Itemid=6.

113 Tieke, p. 448.

114 G-3 Supplement Official Record of Combat by Major Murray H. Fowler, Information and Education Officer of the 3rd Armored Division, in the book Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitalized by Staff, 3rd Armored Division History Website. www.3ad.com. 21 July 2010.

115 Ibid.

116 Coox, Naisawald and VanLoan, Survey of Allied Tank Casualties in World War II.

117 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3. 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945, p. 415.

118 “History of Company ’E’, 16th Infantry. 1942-1945 by Leonard E. Richardson 1st Lt., 16th Infantry.” www.ww2lhawebpages.com/THEFIRSTDIVISION/HISTORY_16th.html. 7 sept. 2012.

119 Sylvan and Smith, p. 264.

120 Ibid.

121 Moll, Bericht über den Einsatz der 18. V.G.D. in der Ardennen- Offensive (16.12.1944 bis 25.1.1945). B-734, p. 57.

122 Sylvan and Smith, p. 265.

123 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/651. CX/MSS/T 437/27 West.

124 Sylvan and Smith, p. 267.

125 National Archives and Records Administration: 774th Tank Battalion, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 774th Tank Battalion. A.P.O. 230, U.S. Army.

126 National Archives and Records Administration: 329th Infantry, Action Against Enemy, Reports After/After Action Reports. Headquarters 83rd Infantry Division. A.P.O. 319.1/401, U.S. Army.

127 Draper, p. 51.

128 KTB OKW, vol. 8, p. 1024.

129 Remer, B-838, p. 6.

130 Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV/2, p. 198.

131 National Archives and Records Administration: 358th Infantry Regiment. Summary of Operations.

132 KTB OKW, vol. 8, p. 1019.

133 Remer, B-838, p. 6.

134 National Archives and Records Administration: 358th Infantry Regiment. Summary of Operations.

135 Ibid.

136 Ibid.

137 Ibid.

138 Ibid.

139 Tiemann, p. 202.

140 National Archives and Records Administration: 358th Infantry Regiment. Summary of Operations.

141 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report 773rd T.D. Battalion Aug 44 - May 45. APO 604-U.

142 Schneider, Tigers in Combat, Vol. 1, p. 275.

143 Toland, Battle: The Story of the Bulge, p. 365.

144 MacDonald, United States Army in World War II European Theater of Operations: The Last Offensive, p. 49.

145 Wagner, 276. Volks-Grenadier-Division (21 January - 16 March 1945). B-444, p. 3.

146 Gaul, The Battle of the Bulge in Luxembourg: The Southern Flank December 1944-January 1945. Volume II: The Americans, p. 169.

147 Bayerlein, Panzer Lehr Division (1 December 1944 – 26 January 1945). A-941, p. 84.

148 Veterans of the Battle of Bulge, Battle of the Bulge, p. 80.

149 MacDonald, p. 50.

150 Remer, B-838, p. 7.

151 Bayerlein, A-941, p. 85.

152 National Archives and Records Administration: 317th Inf, 80th Div. Crossing of the Sure River, the Capture of Hosingen. Date: 1st-27th Jan 1945. Combat Interview Major James Hayes, S-3, 317th Inf. 4th Feb 1945.

153 The Attack Will Go On: The 317th Infantry Regiment in World War II. A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University, by Dean James Dominique, 2003, p. 73. http://etd.lsu.edu/docs/available/etd-0710103-051947/unrestricted/Dominique_thesis.pdf.

154 Kolb, The Ardennes-Offensive in the sector of the 9 Volks Gren Div (25 Dec 1944 until 25 Jan 1945), B-521, p. 26.

155 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/651. CX/MSS/T 437/3 West.

156 MacDonald, p. 451.

157 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 January, 1945. Headquarters 7th Armored Division. APO 257 U.S. Army.

158 Ibid.
 
159 Broumley, The Boldest Plan is the Best: The Combat History of the 509th Parachute Infantry Battalion during WW II, p. 264.

160 Ibid.

161 Sylvan and Smith, p. 268.

162 Kaschner, B-092., p. 8.

163 Moll, Bericht über den Einsatz der 18. V.G.D. in der Ardennen- Offensive (16.12.1944 bis 25.1.1945). B-734, p. 58.

164 KTB OKW, vol. 8, p. 1353.

165 Ibid., p. 1354.

166 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/650. CX/MSS/T 435/60 West.

167 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/651. CX/MSS/T 401/16. BT 2998 West.

168 Col. William R. Carter, USAF, ”Air Power in the Battle of the Bulge: A Theater Campaign Perspective”. Airpower Journal, Winter 1989.

169 Rust, The 9th Air Force in World War II, p. 140.

170 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 479.

171 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 January, 1945. Headquarters 7th Armored Division. APO 257 U. S. Army.

172 Rust, p. 140.

173 Sylvan and Smith, p. 270.

174 Rust, p. 141.

175 Triepel, LVIII Panzer Corps. Ardennes Offensive, 1 November 1944 to 1 February 1945. B-506, p. 9.

176 Kurowski, Elite Panzer Strike Force: Germany’s Panzer Lehr Lehr Division in World War II, p. 199.

177 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 January, 1945. Headquarters 7th Armored Division. APO 257 U. S. Army.

178 Rust, p. 141.

179 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 482.

180 Sylvan and Smith, p. 270.

181 Craven and Cate (red.). Army Air Forces in World War II. Europe: Argument to V-E Day, January 1944 to May 1945, p. 705.

182 Brandenberger, Ardennes Offensive of Seventh Army (16 Dec 1944-25 Jan 1945). MS A-876, p. 148.

183 Gaul, The Battle of the Bulge in Luxembourg: The Southern Flank December 1944-January 1945. Volume II: The Americans, p. 192.

184 Sylvan and Smith, p. 270.

185 KTB OKW, vol. 8, pp. 1354-1355.

186 Sylvan and Smith, p. 271.

187 Wilson, If You Survive s. 235.

188 Rust, p. 142.

189 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/652. CX/MSS/T 439/62. BT 3285 West.

190 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/652. CX/MSS/T 439/40. BT 3269 West.

191 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/652. CX/MSS/T 441/10. BT 3410 West.

192 Rust, p. 142.

193 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/654. CX/MSS/R 441 (c) West.

194 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3. 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945, p. 415.

195 Ibid., p. 417.

196 Ibid., p. 419.

197 Ibid., p. 420.

198 Schrijvers, The Unknown Dead, pp. 338 and 357.

199 Bayerlein, Panzer Lehr Division (1 December 1944 – 26 January 1945). A-941, p. 85.

200 National Archives, Kew: Ultra files HW 5/654. CX/MSS/T 441/76 West; Delaforce, p. 311.

201 MacDonald, p. 63.

202 Sylvan and Smith, p. 280.

203 Ibid., p. 277.

204 Ibid.

205 Ibid., p. 281.

206 MacDonald, p. 67.

207 Ibid.

208 Sylvan and Smith, p. 284.
 
209 Ibid., p. 286.

210 Ibid.

211 Ibid.

Notes to The Ardennes Offensive—Final conclusions and results

1 Liddell Hart, På andra sidan kullen: tyska generaler om andra världskriget, p. 331.

2 Görlitz, Model: Der Feldmarschall und sein Endkampf an der Ruhr, p. 222.

3 von Manteuffel, Fifth Pz Army (11 Sep 44 - Jan 45). ETHINT-46, p. 9.

4 Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 289.

5 Mellenthin, Panzer Battles p. 406.

6 Ibid.

7 Reichhelm, Report of Colonel (GSC) Reichhelm of the General Staff, concerning his activity as operations officer of Army Group B during operations in the West from fall 1944 to Spring 1945. A-925, p. 22.

8 Mellenthin, p. 406.

9 Gutmann, Ardennes Follow-Up: 2d Panzer Division (16-20 Dec 44 & 13-17 Jan 45). P-109e, p. 3.

10 Mellenthin, p. 408.

11 Westphal, Zimmermann and Zolling, Commander in Chief West - 34 Questions, 1 Sept - 8 May 1945. A-896, pp. 5-6.

12 Ibid.

13 Mellenthin, p. 408.

14 Schramm, The Preparations for the German Offensive in the Ardennes (Sep to Dec 1944). A-862, p. 118.

15 Mellenthin, p. 408.

16 Dietrich, Sixth Panzer Army, Ardennes. ETHINT-015, p. 26.

17 Parker, Battle of the Bulge, p. 289.

18 Via Richard C. Anderson.

19 Dugdale, Panzer Divisions, Panzer Grenadier Divisions, Panzer Brigades of the Army and the Waffen SS in the West Autumn 1944 – February 1945 - Ardennes and Nordwind – Their Detailed and Precise Strengths and Organisations, Volume I.

20 Schramm (red.), Kriegstagebuch des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht (henceforth KTB OKW), Vol. 7, pp. 439 and 445.

21 Via Richard C. Anderson Jr., historian and analyst working for the U.S. government.

22 Parker, p. 151.

23 Ibid.

24 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 670.

25 Weidinger, Einsatz in der Ardennen-Offensive vom 16.12.1944 bis 17.2.1945 der SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiments 4. P-109b, p. 20.

26 Cole, p. 666.

27 Stumpff, Tank Maintenance in the Ardennes. FMS # 61, p. 2-3.

28 Reichhelm, A-925, p. 24.

29 Thoholte, Army Group B Artillery, Ardennes. B-311, p. 10.

30 Parker, To Win the Winter Sky, p. 9.

31 Mellenthin, p. 410.

32 Rickard, Advance and Destroy: Patton as Commander in the Bulge (no page numbers).

33 Craven and Cate (red.), Army Air Forces in World War II. Europe: Argument to V-E Day, January 1944 to May 1945, p. 711.

34 Alfred Grislawski in interview with the author.

35 Cole, The Ardennes: Battle of the Bulge, p. 667.

36 Schramm, A-858, p. 6.

37 Ibid., p. 7.

38 Ibid., p. 8.

39 von Gersdorff, Results of the Ardennes Offensive. A-933, pp. 1-2.

40 The Bulge Bugle, Volume XIII, No. 1, February 1994. www.veteransofthebattleofthebulge.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/1994-Feb.pdf. 15 July 2012.

41 Jung, Die Ardennen-Offensive 1944/45, p. 195.

42 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, Hitler’s Last Gamble, pp. 498-499.

43 End of a Bad Dream, i boken Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitaliserad till Internet av Staff, 3rd Armored Division History Website. www.3ad.com/ 21 July 2010.

44 ULTRA BT 942, PRO 31/20. National Archive, Kew; Bennett, Ultra in the West, p. 218.

45 Rickard, Advance and Destroy: Patton as Commander in the Bulge (no page numbers).

46 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, ss.464ff.

47 Die Wehrmachtsberichte 1939-1945. Band 3: 1. Januar 1944 bis 9. Mai 1945. 3 January 1945, p. 388.

48 Schramm, A-858, p. 20.

49 Pogue, Pogue’s War: Diaries of a WWII Combat Historian, p. 328.

50 Pogue, United States Army in World War II: European Theater of Operations: The Supreme Command, p. 543.

51 National Archives and Records Administration: G-2 SHAEF to G-2 SHAEF, 2 Feb 45, SHAEF G-3 file Battle of the Ardennes. GCT/370-49/Ops A.

52 Rickard, Advance and Destroy: Patton as Commander in the Bulge (no page numbers).

53 Dupuy, Bongard, and Anderson, pp. 472ff.

54 Jung, p. 378.

55 KTB OKW, Vol. 8, p. 1362.

56 Kolb, The Ardennes-Offensive in the sector of the 9 Volks Gren Div (25 Dec 1944 until 25 Jan 1945). B-521, p. 35.

57 Remer, The Fuehrer Escort Brigade in the Ardennes Offensive (Part II). B-838, p. 18.

58 Cole, p. 656.

59 Thoholte, B-311, p. 9.

60 Remer, B-838, p. 18.

61 National Archives and Records Administration: Combat Interview: Lt Col Charles W Major, CO 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, Capt Herbert L. Little, S-3, 2d Bn 325th Glider Inf, 25 March 1945, p. 113.

62 KTB OKW, vol. 8, p. 1362.

63 Via Richard C. Anderson Jr., historian and analyst working for the U.S. government.
 
64 Patton, Mitt krig – minnen från andra världskriget, p. 179.

65 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 7th Armored Division, Period 1-31 December, 1944. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 7th Armored Division.

66 National Archives and Records Administration: After Action Report, 11th Armored Division, After Action Report 11th Armored Division, 23 December 1944 to 31 January 1945. Division Records, Entry 427, Record Group 407. File 607: 11th Armored Division.

67 G-3 SUPPLEMENT Official Record of Combat by Major Murray H. Fowler, Information and Education Officer of the 3rd Armored Division, i boken Spearhead in the West: Third Armored Division, digitalized by Staff, 3rd Armored Division History Website. www.3ad.com/ 21 July 2010.

68 Bauer, Ardenneroffensiven, p. 87.

69 Jentz, Germany’s Panther Tank, p. 152.

70 National Archives & Records Administration: Combat Interview, Maj Gen Troy H. Middleton, CG VIII Corps. Zeulenroda, Germany, 20 April 1945. RG 407, Box 24137, ML 130, pp. 1-2.

71 Jung, p. 195.

72 Anl. 4 zu Nr. 630/45 g.Kdos. Gen.Insp.d.Pz.Tr.: Panzerlage Ob. West. Stand: 5.2. 45.

73 The Dupuy Institute Forum. www.dupuyinstitute.org/ubb/Forum5/HTML/000010-3.html.

74 Tiemann, Die Leibstandarte, Band IV/2, p. 206.

75 von Manteuffel, Die 5. Panzer-Armee in der Ardennen- Offensive (16. Dezember 1944 bis 25. Januar 1945). B-151, p. 127.

76 Miles Krogfus, ”The Story of Das Reich Panzers”. AFV News, January 1987.

77 Remer, Fuehrer Begleit Brigade In the Ardennes. ETHINT-80, p. 13.

78 Remer, B-838, p. 18.

79 Hart and Hart, German Tanks of World War II.

80 Gooderson, Air Power at the Battlefront, p. 121.



images/00011.jpeg





images/00010.jpeg





images/00013.jpeg





images/00012.jpeg





images/00015.jpeg





images/00014.jpeg
Wacht am Rhein
g 100t
h £} Smits

Preilny Doy,

Calais
Gent+

Brussels|

~Armhem C

4

.

«Dsseldorf
+Cologne
6.SS-Panze
(Dietrich)

Ardewnes






images/00031.jpeg
Unit Kinigstiger Tank destroyers and
of assault guns®
%

TSS-Panzer- s

@






images/00030.jpeg
T6a80

76

92,560

4 T o

16303

709,703





images/00033.jpeg





images/00032.jpeg
Unit A M4 4 Total M5 Stuart | Total number
Sherman w/ | Sherman w/ | Sherman w/ | number of of tanks.
PSmmgun | T6mm gun [ 105mm
howitzer | Shermans
i Armored oS 18 186 %0
Division
1808 oty e Eg
Ilthavrnky
32nd Cavalry o 0]
Squadron,
|4u.:mvw
7n7lthnk ED © % 0 g
Baalior
)Mh!nfamry
Division
7th|mnrcd % = £l i B 56
mm/m»m Iz 76 = 916 2 3
Corps
s Tank | 40 3 % T @
Batalion, 2nd
Infantry
Diion, v
Cor
Toi k16 % © W 7 7
Batalion, 4th
Infaniry
Division, 3rd
Grand foial | 203 527 57 507 755 757






images/00035.jpeg





images/00034.jpeg
German 5. Panzerarn





images/00037.jpeg





images/00036.jpeg





images/00028.jpeg





images/00027.jpeg





images/00029.jpeg
roop strength
1.2

0,700

Division

inzer Lehr-Division
Volksgrenadier-Division

Toual for 3. Panzerarmee
s,

352
212, Volksgrenadier-Division
3

or 7 Armee
olols





images/00020.jpeg





images/00022.jpeg





images/00021.jpeg





images/00024.jpeg





images/00023.jpeg





images/00026.jpeg





images/00025.jpeg





images/00017.jpeg





images/00016.jpeg





images/00019.jpeg





images/00018.jpeg





images/00051.jpeg





images/00050.jpeg





images/00053.jpeg





images/00052.jpeg





images/00055.jpeg





images/00054.jpeg





images/00057.jpeg





images/00056.jpeg





images/00059.jpeg





images/00058.jpeg





images/00049.jpeg





images/00040.jpeg





images/00042.jpeg





images/00041.jpeg





images/00044.jpeg





images/00043.jpeg





images/00046.jpeg





images/00045.jpeg





images/00048.jpeg





images/00047.jpeg





images/00039.jpeg





images/00038.jpeg





images/00071.jpeg





images/00070.jpeg





images/00073.jpeg





images/00072.jpeg





images/00075.jpeg





images/00074.jpeg





images/00077.jpeg





images/00076.jpeg





images/00079.jpeg





images/00078.jpeg





images/00060.jpeg





images/00062.jpeg





images/00061.jpeg





images/00064.jpeg





images/00063.jpeg





images/00066.jpeg





images/00065.jpeg





images/00068.jpeg





images/00067.jpeg





images/00069.jpeg





images/00091.jpeg





images/00090.jpeg





images/00093.jpeg





images/00092.jpeg





images/00095.jpeg





images/00094.jpeg





images/00097.jpeg





images/00096.jpeg





images/00099.jpeg





images/00098.jpeg





images/00080.jpeg





images/00082.jpeg





images/00081.jpeg





images/00084.jpeg





images/00083.jpeg





images/00086.jpeg





images/00085.jpeg





images/00088.jpeg





images/00087.jpeg





images/00089.jpeg





images/00187.jpeg
The Attack in the Center { X
o Shn /

h Smiles

N

XVIII ABn Corps - erbomon

Hbiemonts

) \
_ADutbl< i Cors

pei
e
“Chabrches

LaRowhe)|

s an 28 Dec 1944

“Stogmont

oLa Gieize

) 5o

Salmehtean|

oy
Sterpiany,
«Chesin

s+ Rt






images/00186.jpeg





images/00189.jpeg





images/00188.jpeg





images/00183.jpeg





images/00182.jpeg





images/00185.jpeg





images/00184.jpeg





images/00181.jpeg
e






images/00180.jpeg





images/00176.jpeg





images/00175.jpeg





images/00178.jpeg





images/00177.jpeg





images/00172.jpeg





images/00171.jpeg





images/00174.jpeg





images/00173.jpeg





images/00179.jpeg





images/00170.jpeg
German 6. SS-Panzerarmee is Halted
&

4

Sewme
o






images/00165.jpeg





images/00164.jpeg





images/00167.jpeg





images/00166.jpeg





images/00161.jpeg





images/00160.jpeg





images/00163.jpeg





images/00162.jpeg





images/00169.jpeg





images/00168.jpeg





images/00154.jpeg





images/00396.jpeg





images/00153.jpeg





images/00395.jpeg





images/00156.jpeg





images/00398.jpeg





images/00155.jpeg





images/00397.jpeg
o
EN

N . zzszsriu =






images/00150.jpeg





images/00392.jpeg





images/00391.jpeg





images/00152.jpeg





images/00394.jpeg





images/00151.jpeg





images/00393.jpeg





images/00158.jpeg





images/00157.jpeg





images/00399.jpeg
Foneiateng T
e

3 3 el e Vi sblo s e o Smsssuton s sl





images/00159.jpeg





images/00390.jpeg





images/00143.jpeg





images/00385.jpeg





images/00142.jpeg





images/00384.jpeg
T
08ise3

mor






images/00145.jpeg





images/00387.jpeg





images/00144.jpeg





images/00386.jpeg





images/00381.jpeg





images/00380.jpeg





images/00141.jpeg





images/00383.jpeg





images/00140.jpeg





images/00382.jpeg





images/00147.jpeg





images/00389.jpeg





images/00146.jpeg





images/00388.jpeg
<T N

xnaxauMB AS






images/00149.jpeg
The March Towards Sanki Vith 16-20 December 1944






images/00148.jpeg
German 6. $S-Panzerarmee 16-20 December 1944

Y






images/00132.jpeg





images/00374.jpeg





images/00131.jpeg





images/00373.jpeg





images/00134.jpeg





images/00376.jpeg





images/00133.jpeg





images/00375.jpeg





images/00370.jpeg





images/00130.jpeg





images/00372.jpeg





images/00371.jpeg





images/00139.jpeg





images/00136.jpeg





images/00378.jpeg





images/00135.jpeg





images/00377.jpeg





images/00138.jpeg





images/00137.jpeg





images/00379.jpeg





images/00121.jpeg





images/00363.jpeg
Reason toloss

Aieatack
Amor gl
Do
orsbandoned
Othercause
Unknown cause

Tosl

Tiger11

Panther

Panser1v

Tank destroyers

Total





images/00120.jpeg





images/00362.jpeg





images/00123.jpeg





images/00365.jpeg





images/00122.jpeg





images/00364.jpeg





images/00361.jpeg
Unit Panthers lost
16 Dec 1944-
15 Jan 1945
-Panzer-Division 30
12. SS-Panzer-Division 24
. SS-Panzer-Division 24
9. §S-Panzer-Division 30
Panzer-Brigade 150 5 0
2. Panzer-Division 20 2
116. Panzer-Division 30
Panzer Lehr-Division 6
9. Panzer-Division 16 11
Fiihrer Grenadier Brigade 11
Totals 196

Thereof
1 Jan-
15 Jan 1945

36





images/00360.jpeg





images/00129.jpeg





images/00128.jpeg





images/00125.jpeg
German 6. SS-Panzerarmee 16-20 December 1944

E TN
o [\ BELGIUM™\
\ \

£






images/00367.jpeg





images/00124.jpeg





images/00366.jpeg





images/00127.jpeg





images/00369.jpeg





images/00126.jpeg





images/00368.jpeg





images/00110.jpeg





images/00352.jpeg





images/00351.jpeg





images/00112.jpeg





images/00354.jpeg





images/00111.jpeg





images/00353.jpeg





images/00350.jpeg





images/00118.jpeg





images/00117.jpeg





images/00359.jpeg





images/00119.jpeg





images/00114.jpeg





images/00356.jpeg
Killed Missing (inc. POWs) Yomded Totals
1 m. L s 15560 235
Vs 2305

2jan S e
Touls Ee 2539 2 @23





images/00113.jpeg





images/00355.jpeg
Peri
16 Dee- 2Jan
287an

Shn

Totals

Killed
13

o1y

1076

i)
(646

Wounded Totals

no 115
i 726 swien2
B





images/00116.jpeg





images/00358.jpeg
5 Panverarmee
SS-Panzerarmne 3818
e 2516

7

Toals

Killed

1415

10749

Missing (inc. POWS)
8276

Totals

212

67675





images/00115.jpeg





images/00357.jpeg
Period
16Dec
2han

Touls

Jan
161

Killed
6531

frers

Missing (ind. POWS)
17565

26054






images/00341.jpeg





images/00340.jpeg





images/00101.jpeg





images/00343.jpeg





images/00100.jpeg





images/00342.jpeg





images/00107.jpeg





images/00349.jpeg





images/00106.jpeg





images/00348.jpeg





images/00109.jpeg





images/00108.jpeg





images/00103.jpeg





images/00345.jpeg





images/00102.jpeg





images/00344.jpeg





images/00105.jpeg





images/00347.jpeg





images/00104.jpeg





images/00346.jpeg





images/00330.jpeg





images/00332.jpeg





images/00331.jpeg





images/00338.jpeg





images/00337.jpeg





images/00339.jpeg





images/00334.jpeg





images/00333.jpeg





images/00336.jpeg





images/00335.jpeg





images/00321.jpeg





images/00320.jpeg





images/00327.jpeg





images/00326.jpeg





images/00329.jpeg





images/00328.jpeg





images/00323.jpeg





images/00322.jpeg





images/00325.jpeg





images/00324.jpeg





images/00319.jpeg





images/00310.jpeg





images/00316.jpeg
Montgomery's Combat Zone

TR i)






images/00315.jpeg





images/00318.jpeg





images/00317.jpeg





images/00312.jpeg





images/00311.jpeg





images/00314.jpeg





images/00313.jpeg





images/00309.jpeg





images/00308.jpeg





images/00305.jpeg
ombat Zone

S A

g

ik SO
P
o e






images/00304.jpeg





images/00307.jpeg





images/00306.jpeg





images/00301.jpeg
The Combat Zone West of Bastogne

mm amp
pre—— -

Aonssing ”’"‘“’memk -
Millomonta N3
Reviime gy

s ”mm"ke hrival
o B i e

s \ Gt ok ot 9]
7

R
erainon

,5‘/
-

/

ochimonte o
asomrs

“~






images/00300.jpeg





images/00303.jpeg





images/00302.jpeg





images/00198.jpeg





images/00197.jpeg





images/00199.jpeg





images/00194.jpeg





images/00193.jpeg





images/00196.jpeg





images/00195.jpeg





images/00190.jpeg





images/00192.jpeg





images/00191.jpeg





cover.jpeg
THE ARUENNES

1944 -194 5 Hmers winTe orzusiv
.






images/00297.jpeg





images/00296.jpeg





images/00299.jpeg





images/00298.jpeg





images/00293.jpeg





images/00292.jpeg





images/00295.jpeg





images/00294.jpeg
The Last German Attack Northeast of Bastogne
3-4 January 1945

9.85. Pz Noville

340.VGD.

502 PIR

US, lines on the night of 2 Jan 1945
= US,. lines on the night of 3 Jan 1945
< German attacks 34 January 1945

167. V6D

By






images/00291.jpeg





images/00290.jpeg





images/00286.jpeg





images/00285.jpeg





images/00288.jpeg





images/00287.jpeg





images/00282.jpeg





images/00281.jpeg
)
) smate
ol
P A

Millomonta
Reruimane
Hubermonte

" Basto
R O

Tl
ronpee

Gerimone B =
osamonts touron B st g 912
S SChenome.

| sodenvilen






images/00284.jpeg





images/00283.jpeg





images/00289.jpeg





images/00280.jpeg





images/00275.jpeg





images/00274.jpeg





images/00277.jpeg





images/00276.jpeg





images/00271.jpeg





images/00270.jpeg





images/00273.jpeg





images/00272.jpeg





images/00279.jpeg





images/00278.jpeg





images/00002.jpeg
CASEMATE  Vaktel
publishers férlag





images/00001.jpeg
Christer Bergstrom

The Ardennes 1944-1945
Hitler’s Winter Offensive

Vil T Pabsing
et e





images/00004.jpeg
Waffen-SS

U.S. Army

(o equivalence)

Reichsfiihrer SS

no
General of the Army

SS-Oberst-Gi

General

SS.

ieutenant General

SS-

ajor General

SS.

rigadier General
no i

berst

SS-Oberfiihrer
B

‘olonel

Lieutenant Colonel

ajor

ajor

Hauptmann

‘aptain

Oberleutnant

irst Lieutenant (1/Lt)

Leutnant

econd Lieutenant (2/Lt)

ergeant Major

aster Sergeant

eldwebel

ergeant First Class

Scharfiihrer

taff Sergeant

Jnteroffi

ergeant

ool

Gefreiter
Oberschilt

SS-Sturmmann
S-Oberschilt

rivate First Class (PFC)

SoldavSchiitze/Grenadier

SS-Schiitze

rivate





images/00003.jpeg





images/00006.jpeg





images/00005.jpeg





images/00008.jpeg





images/00007.jpeg





images/00009.jpeg





images/00264.jpeg





images/00263.jpeg





images/00266.jpeg





images/00265.jpeg





images/00260.jpeg





images/00262.jpeg





images/00261.jpeg





images/00268.jpeg
Panzer
v

Panther

Total number
of tanks

1. SS-Panzer-

I

Division

8

2. SS-Panzer-
Division

9. SS-Panzer-
Division

Panzer-Brigade
150

2. Panzer-
Division

116. Panzer-
Division

Panzer Lehr-
Division

9. Panzer-
Division

Fiihrer Begleit
Brigade

Fiihrer Grenadier
Brigade

5.
Panzergrenadier-
Division

Totals






images/00267.jpeg





images/00269.jpeg





images/00253.jpeg
4

-





images/00252.jpeg





images/00255.jpeg





images/00254.jpeg





images/00251.jpeg
{

7

rl»_“ll!‘ i";’-‘-

¥





images/00250.jpeg
Anberlougs
s

Tl e s
Yot e R s

it oo B
Jensigs” os T tChase
N N~
i
el Sl (0
e Mothct bl ¢
A7 cocinind 7

/

Y






images/00257.jpeg





images/00256.jpeg





images/00259.jpeg





images/00258.jpeg





images/00242.jpeg





images/00241.jpeg





images/00244.jpeg





images/00243.jpeg





images/00240.jpeg





images/00249.jpeg





images/00246.jpeg





images/00245.jpeg





images/00248.jpeg





images/00247.jpeg





images/00231.jpeg





images/00230.jpeg





images/00233.jpeg





images/00232.jpeg





images/00239.jpeg





images/00238.jpeg





images/00235.jpeg





images/00234.jpeg





images/00237.jpeg





images/00236.jpeg





images/00220.jpeg





images/00222.jpeg





images/00221.jpeg





images/00228.jpeg





images/00227.jpeg





images/00229.jpeg





images/00224.jpeg





images/00223.jpeg





images/00226.jpeg
__~ Patton's Offensive 22-26 December 1944
‘ o St

/
Duuciey
)

(O

LUXEMBOURG ™«
\

) o

ey
BELGIUM






images/00225.jpeg





images/00211.jpeg





images/00210.jpeg





images/00217.jpeg





images/00216.jpeg





images/00219.jpeg
Bastogne 24-25 December 1944
2km
¢, Bertogne

> oville
7. %2 vo Moyl

*Sille  Giviye \ b omnavill,
champs ~*%,
14 .&_ Y o
o

& oChamps \
* Rolley

eHemroulle

Luzerys

-\ni\l#’ 26.VG
/Senonclanip®|

#Chenogne

Villerouse,

Sibret®™, . 2 Remoifosse
Assenoiy
| eLutrebois
Losange ®

#Clochimont

© Hompré






images/00218.jpeg





images/00213.jpeg





images/00212.jpeg





images/00215.jpeg





images/00214.jpeg





images/00209.jpeg





images/00200.jpeg





images/00206.jpeg





images/00205.jpeg
The German Spearhead is Crushed, 23-25 December 1944
Y 3
e

o
C
\ | =5 Alld Aricks-






images/00208.jpeg





images/00207.jpeg





images/00202.jpeg





images/00201.jpeg





images/00204.jpeg





images/00203.jpeg





images/00404.jpeg
Gun_ Shell 100m__ 1S0m | 1.000m [1.500m |2,000m
90mm Gun M1 1Stmm [ 130mm [ 107mm | S8mm | 73 mm
Us3

76.2mm 3-inch
Gun M5 L/S0





images/00403.jpeg
Gun_
S Pak 43

Shell
PAGr 30

Use
‘Antiank

100m
202 mm

L7s
Shmm Pak 43 /41

ZeE

Anitank

02 mm

TS mm

Shmm FIaK 36,
Us6

ZeE]

Antaircral,
antitank

Tomm

TT0mm

T Pak 40
s

ZeE]

Anitank

Smm






images/00405.jpeg
Vehicle

Panther can penetrate

Sherman with

76.2mm gun can
penetrate its opponent
«

‘Sherman with 75mm
‘gun can penetrate its
of

1500 m

2,000 m





images/00400.jpeg
PRy SIS _ rochiror SO ek el
pove |
ot i st g
Er T T o [T
Prtiripmi b i
T T[T |
[ -
S [ T
T T o | S
[—— B
ey b= e
e T R T (o | e
ot | S
[y ey
ST T T g
pe= - =]
bt e 0.1 .
VS e
e e e T T e
Ry T s
T Ve
e e | T O T ot S R T o T o | S
fit NIIE CAMAS LS | T 3 e
T e
B,

S aiul o






images/00402.jpeg
Gun_
90mm Gun M3 153

76 2mm Gun MTAZ
Uss

76 3mm 3-inch Gun M7

08 mm

FSmmGun M3 L0

Timm

TSmm Gun M6 L3

7mm Gun M6 153






images/00401.jpeg
Gun

Yebice

88 mm KwK 43 L/71
(PaK 43/1 LI71)

Tiger
Jasdvanmcr

500 m
185 mm

1000 m

[ 165 mm |

1500 m

[148 mm |

132 mm

Panther,
Panzer IV/70

24 mm

T mm

59 mm

Smm

(StiK 40 L/48)

Panzer IV,
il

96 mm

SZmm

74 mm

Grmm

75 mm PaK 39 L/4%

Jagdpanzer IV,
Jagdpanzer 38(t) Hetzs

106 mm

96 mm

SZmm

74 mm

Grmm






